THE CAMBRIDGE HANDBOOK OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF COPING

Edited by Ellen A. Skinner and Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck

Contents

	List of Contributors Preface	<i>page</i> viii xi
1	A Systems Perspective on the Development of Coping: "We're Going to Need a Bigger Boat"	
	ELLEN A. SKINNER AND MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK	1
	Part I Theoretical Perspectives on the Development of Coping	
2	Toward a Lifespan Theory of Coping Development: A Social Ecological Approach	
	CAROLYN ALDWIN, MARIA KURTH, AUSTIN BROCKMANN, AND HYE SOO LEE	59
3	Attachment, Regulation, and the Development of Coping SOPHIA W. MAGRO, FAITH VANMETER, AND GLENN I. ROISMAN	79
4	Social Context, Psychological Needs, and the Development of Coping	
	JACQUELYN N. RAFTERY-HELMER AND WENDY S. GROLNICK	109
5	Processes of Stress Resistance and Stress Resilience: The Role of Behavioral Control and the Medial Prefrontal Cortex	
	MICHAEL V. BARATTA AND STEVEN F. MAIER	128
	Part II Methods for Studying the Development of Coping	
6	Capturing Coping: Innovative Designs and Considerations for Studying the Topography of Adolescents' Coping	
	KATHRYN L. MODECKI, MEGAN DUVENAGE, MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK, SAMANTHA ROBINS, AND BEP UINK	157
7	Resilience and Coping in Development: Pathways to Integration FANITA A. TYRELL AND ANN S. MASTEN	183
	Part III Neurophysiological and Experiential Bases of the Development of Coping	
8	The Development of Neurobiology Underlying Stress and Coping EMILY M. COHODES, ELIZABETH R. KITT, LUCINDA M. SISK,	207
	AND DYLAN G. GEE	207

9	Biological Systems Underlying the Development of Adaptive Functioning and Coping CHRISTINE SIGRIST, JULIAN F. THAYER, AND JULIAN KOENIG	235
10	Childhood Adversity and the Development of Coping DANTE CICCHETTI AND JASON JOSÉ BENDEZÚ	246
11	Adolescence, Physiological Adaptation, and the Development of Stress Responses KAREN D. RUDOLPH, WENDY TROOP-GORDON, AND ZIHUA YE	276
	Part IV Psychological Foundations of the Development of Coping	
12	Attention, Temperament, Self-Regulation, and the Development of Coping	
	ÁNGELA HOYO, ÁNGELA CONEJERO, AND M. ROSARIO RUEDA	305
13	The Development of Emotion Regulation and Coping in Early Childhood	
	PAMELA M. COLE, TAWNI B. STOOP, AND GABRIELLE S. CARDWELL	325
14	Toward a More Inclusive, Contextualized Approach to Studying Executive Functions and Self-Regulation in the Context of Coping JELENA OBRADOVIĆ, LILY STEYER, AND MICHAEL J. SULIK	351
15	The Development of Accommodative Coping: Conditions and Consequences from a Lifespan Perspective WERNER GREVE AND CATHLEEN KAPPES	382
16	The Development of Temperament, Personality Traits, and Coping in Childhood and Adolescence REBECCA L. SHINER, TESSA VAN DEN BERG, MARCEL A. G. VAN AKEN, AND ODILIA M. LACEULLE	401
	Part V Social Contexts and the Development of Coping	
17	Coping Development as an Everyday Interpersonal Process: Broadening Definitions and Investigations of Coping SUNHYE BAI AND RENA L. REPETTI	427
18	Parenting, Socialization of Emotion, and the Development of Coping TRACY L. SPINRAD, XIAOYE XU, NANCY EISENBERG, ANGEL DUNBAR,	
	AND FANTASY LOZADA	447
19	Temperament, Family Context, and the Development of Coping LILIANA J. LENGUA, LISA SHIMOMAEDA, MICHELE R. SMITH, STEPHANIE	160
	F. THOMPSON, AND KRYSTAL H. PARRISH	408

20	Interparental Conflict, Parental Relationship Dissolution, and the Development of Children's Coping	
	C. AUBREY RHODES	489
21	Autonomy, Self-Determination, and the Development of Coping in Adolescence stijn van petegem, nele flamant, bart soenens, and maarten vansteenkiste	510
22	Peer Stressors and Peer Relationship Dynamics in the Development of Coping MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK, ALEX A. GARDNER, AND THOMAS A. KINDERMANN	538
23	Income, Income Inequality, Community, and the Development of Coping: The Reformulated Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model MARTHA E. WADSWORTH, JARL A. AHLKVIST, ALLISON PEQUET, AND CHELSEA O. MAYO	560
24	Culture, Diversity, Context, and the Development of Coping: A Phenomenological Perspective BRONWYN NICHOLS LODATO, JENNIFER HALL, AND MARGARET BEALE SPENCER	581
	Part VI Application and the Development of Coping	
25	Social Media Use and Misuse, Stress, and the Development of Coping	
	NAUSIKAÄ BRIMMEL, ANNELEEN MEEUS, AND STEVEN EGGERMONT	597
26	Clinical Treatments for Child Emotional Disorders and the Development of Coping: The Case of Irritability MARIA KANGAS AND RONALD M. RAPEE	612
27	Fostering the Development of Academic Coping: A Multi-level Systems Perspective	
	ELLEN A. SKINNER AND KRISTEN E. RAINE	641
28	Youth Programs and the Development of Coping SYDNEY C. SIMMONS, JULIA M. AUGENSTERN, AND PATRICK H. TOLAN	680
	Index	702

Despite broad interest in how children and youth cope with stress and how others can support their coping, this is the first Handbook to consolidate the many theories and large bodies of research that contribute to the study of the development of coping. The Handbook's goal is field building – it brings together theory and research from across the spectrum of psychological, developmental, and related sciences to inform our understanding of coping and its development across the lifespan. Hence, it is of interest not only to psychologists but also to neuroscientists, sociologists, and public health experts. Moreover, work on stress and coping touches many areas of applied social science, including prevention and intervention science, education, clinical practice, and youth development, making this Handbook a vital interdisciplinary resource for parents, teachers, clinical practitioners, social workers, and anyone else interested in improving the lives of children.

ELLEN A. SKINNER is a professor in the Developmental Science and Education concentration in the Department of Psychology at Portland State University, USA. She is a leading expert on the development of motivation, coping, and academic identity in school. She conducts research and publishes widely in the developmental and educational sciences, including numerous articles and book chapters, three books, two edited volumes, and several special issues. With Dr. Zimmer-Gembeck, she has coauthored multiple seminal works on the development of coping, including several reviews, the first annual review chapter on the topic, and a recent book.

MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK is a professor in the School of Applied Psychology and the Centre for Mental Health at Griffith University, Australia. After being inspired to study development when she was a PhD student working with Dr. Skinner, she has now attracted more than AUD\$25 million in research funding and has published more than 300 articles, books, and book chapters. She co-leads the Griffith Centre for Mental Health and is Director of the Family Interaction Program, which has a history of over 20 years of evaluating innovative parenting programs that have helped to improve the family relationships of thousands of Australians.

Cambridge Handbooks in Psychology

Series Editor for Developmental Psychology NANCY EISENBERG, Arizona State University

Edited by Ellen A. Skinner Portland State University

Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck Griffith University





Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge CB2 8EA, United Kingdom

One Liberty Plaza, 20th Floor, New York, NY 10006, USA

477 Williamstown Road, Port Melbourne, VIC 3207, Australia

314-321, 3rd Floor, Plot 3, Splendor Forum, Jasola District Centre, New Delhi - 110025, India

103 Penang Road, #05-06/07, Visioncrest Commercial, Singapore 238467

Cambridge University Press is part of Cambridge University Press & Assessment, a department of the University of Cambridge.

We share the University's mission to contribute to society through the pursuit of education, learning and research at the highest international levels of excellence.

www.cambridge.org

Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9781108831420

DOI: 10.1017/9781108917230

© Cambridge University Press & Assessment 2023

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press & Assessment.

First published 2023

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Skinner, Ellen A., editor. | Zimmer-Gembeck, Melanie J., editor.

Title: The Cambridge handbook of the development of coping / edited by Ellen A. Skinner, Portland State University, Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck, Griffith University, Queensland.

Description: Cambridge, United Kingdom ; New York, NY : Cambridge University Press, 2023. | Series: Cambridge handbooks in psychology | Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2022054285 (print) | LCCN 2022054286 (ebook) | ISBN 9781108831420 (hardback) | ISBN 9781108932929 (paperback) | ISBN 9781108917230 (epub)

Subjects: LCSH: Adjustment (Psychology) | Stress (Psychology) | Developmental psychology. Classification: LCC BF335.C354 2023 (print) | LCC BF335 (ebook) | DDC 155.2/4–dc23/eng/20230310 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054285 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054286

ISBN 978-1-108-83142-0 Hardback

Cambridge University Press & Assessment has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

Despite broad interest in how children and youth cope with stress and how others can support their coping, this is the first Handbook to consolidate the many theories and large bodies of research that contribute to the study of the development of coping. The Handbook's goal is field building – it brings together theory and research from across the spectrum of psychological, developmental, and related sciences to inform our understanding of coping and its development across the lifespan. Hence, it is of interest not only to psychologists but also to neuroscientists, sociologists, and public health experts. Moreover, work on stress and coping touches many areas of applied social science, including prevention and intervention science, education, clinical practice, and youth development, making this Handbook a vital interdisciplinary resource for parents, teachers, clinical practitioners, social workers, and anyone else interested in improving the lives of children.

ELLEN A. SKINNER is a professor in the Developmental Science and Education concentration in the Department of Psychology at Portland State University, USA. She is a leading expert on the development of motivation, coping, and academic identity in school. She conducts research and publishes widely in the developmental and educational sciences, including numerous articles and book chapters, three books, two edited volumes, and several special issues. With Dr. Zimmer-Gembeck, she has coauthored multiple seminal works on the development of coping, including several reviews, the first annual review chapter on the topic, and a recent book.

MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK is a professor in the School of Applied Psychology and the Centre for Mental Health at Griffith University, Australia. After being inspired to study development when she was a PhD student working with Dr. Skinner, she has now attracted more than AUD\$25 million in research funding and has published more than 300 articles, books, and book chapters. She co-leads the Griffith Centre for Mental Health and is Director of the Family Interaction Program, which has a history of over 20 years of evaluating innovative parenting programs that have helped to improve the family relationships of thousands of Australians.

Cambridge Handbooks in Psychology

Series Editor for Developmental Psychology NANCY EISENBERG, Arizona State University

Edited by Ellen A. Skinner Portland State University

Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck Griffith University





Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge CB2 8EA, United Kingdom

One Liberty Plaza, 20th Floor, New York, NY 10006, USA

477 Williamstown Road, Port Melbourne, VIC 3207, Australia

314-321, 3rd Floor, Plot 3, Splendor Forum, Jasola District Centre, New Delhi - 110025, India

103 Penang Road, #05-06/07, Visioncrest Commercial, Singapore 238467

Cambridge University Press is part of Cambridge University Press & Assessment, a department of the University of Cambridge.

We share the University's mission to contribute to society through the pursuit of education, learning and research at the highest international levels of excellence.

www.cambridge.org

Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9781108831420

DOI: 10.1017/9781108917230

© Cambridge University Press & Assessment 2023

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press & Assessment.

First published 2023

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Skinner, Ellen A., editor. | Zimmer-Gembeck, Melanie J., editor.

Title: The Cambridge handbook of the development of coping / edited by Ellen A. Skinner, Portland State University, Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck, Griffith University, Queensland.

Description: Cambridge, United Kingdom ; New York, NY : Cambridge University Press, 2023. | Series: Cambridge handbooks in psychology | Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2022054285 (print) | LCCN 2022054286 (ebook) | ISBN 9781108831420 (hardback) | ISBN 9781108932929 (paperback) | ISBN 9781108917230 (epub)

Subjects: LCSH: Adjustment (Psychology) | Stress (Psychology) | Developmental psychology. Classification: LCC BF335.C354 2023 (print) | LCC BF335 (ebook) | DDC 155.2/4–dc23/eng/20230310 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054285 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054286

ISBN 978-1-108-83142-0 Hardback

Cambridge University Press & Assessment has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

Despite broad interest in how children and youth cope with stress and how others can support their coping, this is the first Handbook to consolidate the many theories and large bodies of research that contribute to the study of the development of coping. The Handbook's goal is field building – it brings together theory and research from across the spectrum of psychological, developmental, and related sciences to inform our understanding of coping and its development across the lifespan. Hence, it is of interest not only to psychologists but also to neuroscientists, sociologists, and public health experts. Moreover, work on stress and coping touches many areas of applied social science, including prevention and intervention science, education, clinical practice, and youth development, making this Handbook a vital interdisciplinary resource for parents, teachers, clinical practitioners, social workers, and anyone else interested in improving the lives of children.

ELLEN A. SKINNER is a professor in the Developmental Science and Education concentration in the Department of Psychology at Portland State University, USA. She is a leading expert on the development of motivation, coping, and academic identity in school. She conducts research and publishes widely in the developmental and educational sciences, including numerous articles and book chapters, three books, two edited volumes, and several special issues. With Dr. Zimmer-Gembeck, she has coauthored multiple seminal works on the development of coping, including several reviews, the first annual review chapter on the topic, and a recent book.

MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK is a professor in the School of Applied Psychology and the Centre for Mental Health at Griffith University, Australia. After being inspired to study development when she was a PhD student working with Dr. Skinner, she has now attracted more than AUD\$25 million in research funding and has published more than 300 articles, books, and book chapters. She co-leads the Griffith Centre for Mental Health and is Director of the Family Interaction Program, which has a history of over 20 years of evaluating innovative parenting programs that have helped to improve the family relationships of thousands of Australians.

Cambridge Handbooks in Psychology

Series Editor for Developmental Psychology NANCY EISENBERG, Arizona State University

Edited by Ellen A. Skinner Portland State University

Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck Griffith University





Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge CB2 8EA, United Kingdom

One Liberty Plaza, 20th Floor, New York, NY 10006, USA

477 Williamstown Road, Port Melbourne, VIC 3207, Australia

314-321, 3rd Floor, Plot 3, Splendor Forum, Jasola District Centre, New Delhi - 110025, India

103 Penang Road, #05-06/07, Visioncrest Commercial, Singapore 238467

Cambridge University Press is part of Cambridge University Press & Assessment, a department of the University of Cambridge.

We share the University's mission to contribute to society through the pursuit of education, learning and research at the highest international levels of excellence.

www.cambridge.org

Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9781108831420

DOI: 10.1017/9781108917230

© Cambridge University Press & Assessment 2023

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press & Assessment.

First published 2023

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Skinner, Ellen A., editor. | Zimmer-Gembeck, Melanie J., editor.

Title: The Cambridge handbook of the development of coping / edited by Ellen A. Skinner, Portland State University, Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck, Griffith University, Queensland.

Description: Cambridge, United Kingdom ; New York, NY : Cambridge University Press, 2023. | Series: Cambridge handbooks in psychology | Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2022054285 (print) | LCCN 2022054286 (ebook) | ISBN 9781108831420 (hardback) | ISBN 9781108932929 (paperback) | ISBN 9781108917230 (epub)

Subjects: LCSH: Adjustment (Psychology) | Stress (Psychology) | Developmental psychology. Classification: LCC BF335.C354 2023 (print) | LCC BF335 (ebook) | DDC 155.2/4–dc23/eng/20230310 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054285 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054286

ISBN 978-1-108-83142-0 Hardback

Cambridge University Press & Assessment has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

Despite broad interest in how children and youth cope with stress and how others can support their coping, this is the first Handbook to consolidate the many theories and large bodies of research that contribute to the study of the development of coping. The Handbook's goal is field building – it brings together theory and research from across the spectrum of psychological, developmental, and related sciences to inform our understanding of coping and its development across the lifespan. Hence, it is of interest not only to psychologists but also to neuroscientists, sociologists, and public health experts. Moreover, work on stress and coping touches many areas of applied social science, including prevention and intervention science, education, clinical practice, and youth development, making this Handbook a vital interdisciplinary resource for parents, teachers, clinical practitioners, social workers, and anyone else interested in improving the lives of children.

ELLEN A. SKINNER is a professor in the Developmental Science and Education concentration in the Department of Psychology at Portland State University, USA. She is a leading expert on the development of motivation, coping, and academic identity in school. She conducts research and publishes widely in the developmental and educational sciences, including numerous articles and book chapters, three books, two edited volumes, and several special issues. With Dr. Zimmer-Gembeck, she has coauthored multiple seminal works on the development of coping, including several reviews, the first annual review chapter on the topic, and a recent book.

MELANIE J. ZIMMER-GEMBECK is a professor in the School of Applied Psychology and the Centre for Mental Health at Griffith University, Australia. After being inspired to study development when she was a PhD student working with Dr. Skinner, she has now attracted more than AUD\$25 million in research funding and has published more than 300 articles, books, and book chapters. She co-leads the Griffith Centre for Mental Health and is Director of the Family Interaction Program, which has a history of over 20 years of evaluating innovative parenting programs that have helped to improve the family relationships of thousands of Australians.

Cambridge Handbooks in Psychology

Series Editor for Developmental Psychology NANCY EISENBERG, Arizona State University

Edited by Ellen A. Skinner Portland State University

Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck Griffith University





Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge CB2 8EA, United Kingdom

One Liberty Plaza, 20th Floor, New York, NY 10006, USA

477 Williamstown Road, Port Melbourne, VIC 3207, Australia

314-321, 3rd Floor, Plot 3, Splendor Forum, Jasola District Centre, New Delhi - 110025, India

103 Penang Road, #05-06/07, Visioncrest Commercial, Singapore 238467

Cambridge University Press is part of Cambridge University Press & Assessment, a department of the University of Cambridge.

We share the University's mission to contribute to society through the pursuit of education, learning and research at the highest international levels of excellence.

www.cambridge.org

Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9781108831420

DOI: 10.1017/9781108917230

© Cambridge University Press & Assessment 2023

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press & Assessment.

First published 2023

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Skinner, Ellen A., editor. | Zimmer-Gembeck, Melanie J., editor.

Title: The Cambridge handbook of the development of coping / edited by Ellen A. Skinner, Portland State University, Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck, Griffith University, Queensland.

Description: Cambridge, United Kingdom ; New York, NY : Cambridge University Press, 2023. | Series: Cambridge handbooks in psychology | Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2022054285 (print) | LCCN 2022054286 (ebook) | ISBN 9781108831420 (hardback) | ISBN 9781108932929 (paperback) | ISBN 9781108917230 (epub)

Subjects: LCSH: Adjustment (Psychology) | Stress (Psychology) | Developmental psychology. Classification: LCC BF335.C354 2023 (print) | LCC BF335 (ebook) | DDC 155.2/4–dc23/eng/20230310 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054285 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2022054286

ISBN 978-1-108-83142-0 Hardback

Cambridge University Press & Assessment has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

Contributors

JARL A. AHLKVIST, Pennsylvania State University, USA CAROLYN ALDWIN, Oregon State University, USA MARCEL A. G. VAN AKEN, Utrecht University, The Netherlands JULIA M. AUGENSTERN, University of Virginia, USA SUNHYE BAI, Pennsylvania State University. USA MICHAEL V. BARATTA, University of Colorado, USA JASON JOSÉ BENDEZÚ, University of Minnesota, USA TESSA VAN DEN BERG, GGZ Centraal and Utrecht University, The Netherlands NAUSIKAÄ BRIMMEL, KU Leuven, Belgium AUSTIN BROCKMANN, Oregon State University, USA GABRIELLE S. CARDWELL, Pennsylvania State University, USA DANTE CICCHETTI, University of Minnesota, USA EMILY M. COHODES, Yale University, USA PAMELA M. COLE, Pennsylvania State University, USA ÁNGELA CONEJERO, University of Granada, Spain ANGEL DUNBAR, University of Maryland, USA MEGAN DUVENAGE, Griffith University, Australia STEVEN EGGERMONT, KU Leuven, Belgium NANCY EISENBERG, Arizona State University, USA NELE FLAMANT, Ghent University, Belgium ALEX A. GARDNER, Griffith University, Australia DYLAN G. GEE, Yale University, USA WERNER GREVE, University of Hildesheim, Germany WENDY S. GROLNICK, Clark University, USA JENNIFER HALL, Columbia University, USA

ix

ÁNGELA HOYO, University of Granada, Spain MARIA KANGAS, Macquarie University, Australia CATHLEEN KAPPES, University of Hildesheim, Germany THOMAS A. KINDERMANN, Portland State University, USA ELIZABETH R. KITT, Yale University, USA JULIAN KOENIG, University of Cologne, Germany MARIA KURTH, Oregon State University, USA ODILIA M. LACEULLE, Utrecht University, The Netherlands HYE SOO LEE, Yonsei University, Korea LILIANA J. LENGUA, University of Washington, USA BRONWYN NICHOLS LODATO, University of Chicago, USA FANTASY LOZADA, Virginia Commonwealth University, USA SOPHIA W. MAGRO, University of Minnesota, USA STEVEN F. MAIER, University of Colorado, USA ANN S. MASTEN, University of Minnesota, USA CHELSEA O. MAYO, Pennsylvania State University, USA ANNELEEN MEEUS, KU Leuven, Belgium KATHRYN L. MODECKI, Griffith University, Australia JELENA OBRADOVIĆ, Stanford University, USA KAREY L. O'HARA, Arizona State University, USA KRYSTAL H. PARRISH, University of Washington, USA ALLISON PEQUET, Pennsylvania State University, USA JACQUELYN N. RAFTERY-HELMER, Worcester State University, USA **KRISTEN E. RAINE, Portland State University, USA** RONALD M. RAPEE, Macquarie University, Australia RENA L. REPETTI, University of California, Los Angeles, USA C. AUBREY RHODES, Arizona State University, USA SAMANTHA ROBINS, Griffith University, Australia GLENN I. ROISMAN, University of Minnesota, USA

KAREN D. RUDOLPH, University of Illinois, USA M. ROSARIO RUEDA, University of Granada, Spain IRWIN N. SANDLER, Arizona State University, USA LISA SHIMOMAEDA, University of Washington, USA REBECCA L. SHINER, Colgate University, USA CHRISTINE SIGRIST, University of Cologne, Germany SYDNEY C. SIMMONS, University of Virginia, USA LUCINDA M. SISK, Yale University, USA MICHELE R. SMITH, University of Washington, USA BART SOENENS, Ghent University, Belgium MARGARET BEALE SPENCER, University of Chicago, USA TRACY L. SPINRAD, Arizona State University, USA LILY STEYER, Stanford University, USA TAWNI B. STOOP, Pennsylvania State University, USA MICHAEL J. SULIK, Stanford University, USA JULIAN F. THAYER, Ohio State University, USA STEPHANIE F. THOMPSON, University of Washington, USA PATRICK H. TOLAN, University of Virginia, USA WENDY TROOP-GORDON, Auburn University, USA FANITA A. TYRELL, University of Maryland, USA BEP UINK, Murdoch University, Australia FAITH VANMETER, University of Minnesota, USA STIJN VAN PETEGEM, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium MAARTEN VANSTEENKISTE, Ghent University, Belgium MARTHA E. WADSWORTH, Pennsylvania State University, USA SHARLENE A. WOLCHIK, Arizona State University, USA XIAOYE XU, Arizona State University, USA ZIHUA YE, University of Illinois, USA

Preface

Working on this Handbook has been like taking a master class in the development of coping, a master class taught by experts all across the fields of stress neurophysiology, regulation, coping, interpersonal relationships, and resilience. Our goal for the Handbook is field building – we want to bring together theory and research from across the spectrum of psychological and developmental sciences that can inform our understanding of how coping develops across childhood, adolescence, and early adulthood. Stress and coping cut across many subareas within psychology and related areas of science, and so this Handbook draws upon and should be of interest to a broad swath of psychologists (including those focusing on clinical, counseling, developmental, educational, personality, social, and neurophysiological psychology), as well as clinicians, public health experts, sociologists, and neuroscientists. In fact, research on "coping" represents one of the most popular topics in psychology over the last 50 years and one that is still of major interest today – not only in other areas of science but also to the media and general public.

An important segment of work on stress and coping focuses on children, adolescents, and young adults. Issues involved in their coping also touch many areas of applied social science, including prevention and intervention science, and are relevant to practitioners interested in parenting, education, clinical practice, social work, and teaching. Despite broad interest in coping among children and young people, and despite broad consensus that developmental level shapes everything about how they are able to cope with stress, this is the first Handbook to focus in depth on theories and research on the development of coping. This Handbook explores the interface between coping and the many content areas related to it, ranging from brain development to social relationships to overarching community structures.

In our own efforts in this area (e.g., Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016), we have been struck by how much relevant and fascinating work is happening *outside* research on coping proper. This work illuminates key facets of the coping process, its underlying constituents, and its social contexts. In each of these areas are strands of work that focus on development. Hence, the Handbook includes chapters not only from researchers whose substantive areas of expertise sit squarely within the territory circumscribed by coping but also from experts in areas that do not even use the term "coping" but whose concerns nevertheless overlap with issues relevant to coping and its development. So, for example, the Handbook includes chapters from researchers who do not consider their work to focus primarily on coping itself. These authors address the question, "What would you like colleagues interested in the development of coping to know about research in your area?" Other authors, clearly experts in coping, do not consider their work to focus primarily on its development; they

answer the question, "What would you like colleagues interested in development to know about your research on coping?"

We owe an enormous debt to all the authors in this Handbook and especially to those who were writing outside their comfort zones. In each chapter you will see thoughtful and generative contributions to theory and research relevant to the development of coping. Authors were eager to learn more about mainstream coping research and generous in their thinking about its development. In fact, as the chapters came in, we were so impressed by their ideas and insights that we started asking authors to include a table of "take-home messages" for researchers interested in the development of coping. We felt that they, like us, would continue to use this Handbook as a reference for future research in the area. In this way, we hope the Handbook can build conceptual and empirical bridges between coping and the many other areas of psychology it touches, including most especially work on the development of regulation and resilience.

Organization of The Cambridge Handbook of the Development of Coping

This Handbook is organized around a developmental systems view of coping as an integrated multi-level system that operates on the level of action, but draws on underlying processes from neurophysiological and psychological levels; and is embedded in higher-level social, interpersonal and societal contexts that shape its functioning and development. We organized the Handbook and recruited authors according to that multi-level systems model, with a special focus on researchers studying regulation, resilience, and social relationships.

Connections to Regulation

Developmental models often define coping simply as "action regulation under stress" (Compas et al., 1999; Eisenberg et al., 2009; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Because stress activates multiple subsystems, including attention, emotion, behavior, motivation, volition, and cognition, developmentalists argue that coping is both less and more than regulation (Compas et al., 2014). On the one hand, it is less than regulation because it only examines the subset of regulatory activities taking place under stressful conditions. On the other hand, it is more than any one kind of regulation (e.g., attention regulation or emotion regulation), because it involves the coordination of all of these kinds of stress reactions.

Dual process models of regulation can help parse coping into (1) stress reactivity (or action readiness) and (2) action regulation, in which "action" refers to the amalgam of goal-directed emotion-infused attention and behavior that appear on the ground during transactions with stressful events. That emergent action, or coping, reflects the balance between stress reactivity and regulation, with adaptive strategies the result of low reactivity and/or strong regulatory capacities, and maladaptive (or stress-affected) coping the product of high reactivity and/or immature or disabled regulatory capacities. Hence, central to the study of coping are theories and research on stress reactivity and regulation of all kinds. Of special interest to developmentalists is work that focuses on how and why such reactive and regulatory processes develop or show age-graded qualitative shifts.

Connections to Resilience

Coping can be considered an adaptive process that contributes to how adversity shapes the development of children and youth. Specifically, coping encompasses a set of processes children and young people can deploy when dealing with the proximal stressors created by adversity. Under stressful conditions, coping can make a material difference, sometimes warding off or protecting youth from negative outcomes and building coping resources for dealing with future events. Hence, episodes of coping can contribute to the development of resilience, and programs designed to promote resilience can consider coping as a potential intervention lever to boost adaptation under stressful conditions. As a result, frameworks designed to capture resilience, and especially multi-level developmental systems frameworks (e.g., Masten et al., 2021), provide a natural home for the study of coping. Of special interest to developmentalists are ways in which age-graded changes in coping capacities contribute to resilience during different developmental periods.

Coping as a Site of Development

Coping itself, operating on the plane of action, is also a location where development takes place – where regulatory capacities can be practiced and consolidated, and from which resilience resources emerge. The coping system comprises a set of adaptive processes designed to detect and respond to challenges and threats, which can be broken into multiple tasks, including (1) *radar*, or detection and appraisal of challenges and threats; (2) *reactivity and readiness*, or preparation and coordination of responses to threat or challenge; (3) *regulation*, or sequential adaptation of the complex actions urged by reactivity and readiness to changes in ongoing conditions during interactions with stressful events; (4) *recovery*, or deactivation and resetting of stress responses and rejuvenation of coping resources; and (5) *re-evaluation*, or processes through which coping episodes are debriefed and lessons are learned for future encounters. Each of these steps show development (e.g., radar comes to anticipate threats and not just to react to those that arrive) and all of their development is shaped by ongoing coping interactions.

Social Contexts and Development

Since coping entails the arc of transactions between individuals' actions and stressors over time, it carries with it the seeds of development on many fronts. It is observable and salient to other people in the lives of children and youth, and it is also influenced by the social context, including interpersonal resources and supports, relationships, and the participation of other people. Hence, social partners, settings, and higher-order contexts (e.g., poverty and racism) can be considered parts of the larger coping system. Of special interest to developmentalists are the ways in which children learn to cope by coping, and in which the contributions of social contexts to coping may also show agegraded changes and shifts. In the grand scheme of things, we hope to begin creating a framework that bridges areas that study developmental changes in how children and adolescents deal with adversity, contributing to the area of resilience and linking it all the way down to research on the many kinds of regulation.

Overview of the Sections and Chapters in this Handbook

The Handbook contains 28 chapters, beginning with an introductory chapter (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck; Chapter 1) designed to provide some context for the chapters that follow. Our chapter starts with a historical accounting of stress and coping theory and research, especially the transactional theory of stress and coping, which has dominated the field for at least the past 40 years (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004; Lazarus, 2000; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, 1987). We show how developmental systems conceptualizations of coping, which incorporate and expand on transactional perspectives, can scaffold our understanding of the development of coping (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck, 2021). We lay out five big ideas of a developmental systems view and show how they open pathways for examining agegraded transformations in coping. We then explain how together these ideas suggest that the human coping system undergoes successive reorganizations as the *means* of coping – the coping equipment available to individuals – changes from birth to late adolescence. We end with an overview of the implications of a developmental systems approach for prevention and remediation efforts, highlighting especially the role of coping transactions themselves as sites for the development of robust stress neurophysiology, regulatory resources, stress resistance, and resilience.

The 27 chapters that follow have been organized into six sections, or parts. The first part includes four chapters on *Theoretical Perspectives on the Development of Coping*. Following on, we include two chapters on *Methods for Studying the Development of Coping* and then the content shifts to specific topics, presented in 17 chapters, that cut across three areas: *Neuropsychological* research on the developing human stress system, characteristics at the *Psychological* level that are interwoven into stress and coping processes and development, and *Social Contexts*, including interpersonal relationships and higher-order societal forces, that shape coping and development of *Coping*, which includes four chapters addressing the interface of stress and coping with social media, clinical treatments, education, and programs for positive youth development.

Theoretical Perspectives on the Development of Coping

In the first section on theoretical perspectives, we encounter complex ideas about how coping develops throughout childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. Each chapter in this section makes its contribution by applying a distinct theoretical lens to describe and explain coping and its development – including lifespan developmental theory, attachment theory, self-determination theory, and theories of control. In the first of these chapters, Aldwin et al. (Chapter 2) provide a comprehensive developmental introduction to our topic by drawing together coping research conducted within many specific age groups and articulating a general lifespan (meta) theory of coping development. This chapter also highlights key complexities of coping, such as raising the possibility that the development of coping is nonlinear, describing how coping is embedded within many layers of social context, and arguing that coping is rarely an individual endeavor but depends on coping partners (e.g., dyadic coping).

Following this chapter by Aldwin et al., three chapters introduce us to widely influential theories of social and behavioral development that can be used to frame the developmental study of coping. Taken together, these chapters draw from hundreds of theoretically-derived studies of development to summarize what this research reveals about the interface of stress and coping development with parent-child attachment (Magro et al.), psychological needs and social contexts (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick), and perceptions of control (Baratta & Maier). Magro et al. (Chapter 3) illustrate how themes of stress and coping are interwoven throughout attachment theory and research (Ainsworth et al., 1978/2015; Bowlby, 1982). Thus, this chapter is unequivocal in arguing that the development of coping is a product of social relationships, especially relationships with caregivers alongside experiences of early-life stress. Moreover, they also provide a comprehensive empirical case as well, by reporting the results of a systematic review of the associations of coping with observational, representational, and self-report measures of attachment.

Raftery-Helmer and Grolnick (Chapter 4) rely on self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2017) to guide their consideration of the role of social contexts in children's stress appraisals and coping responses. They focus specifically on the roles of parents and teachers in meeting children's needs for autonomy, relatedness, and competence. Drawing on research on parenting, teacher-student relationships, and stress and coping, they then unpack how elements of the social context (i.e., parent and teacher behaviors) that meet or thwart children's needs can contribute to children's primary stress appraisals of threat versus challenge, and their coping responses. Finally, in this section, Baratta and Maier (Chapter 5) take us on a deep dive into animal studies of controllability to consider processes that contribute to stress resistance (higher threshold of reactivity) and resilience (quicker recovery) to adverse events. After introducing the study of control in animal research, they address many important questions regarding how stressful experiences have differential impacts on neurobiology and behavior depending on their controllability. This is methodical research, which they then apply to human stress and coping, showing why efforts to exert control, as seen in coping and emotion regulation, may buffer against stressor impact and help protect individuals against harmful long-term effects of stress exposure.

Overall, the authors of the chapters in this first part identify commonalities in conceptualizations and operationalizations between the ideas at the heart of each

theory and issues central to coping in childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. The broad scope of this research, with methods ranging from observational studies to survey research to controlled animal studies, was surprising in its coherence – drawing similar conclusions about how coping is shaped by social and physical contexts and often mediated by neurophysiological responses and (in human studies) by individual appraisals, expectations, values, and beliefs. The chapters in this section remind us how much we can learn about the development of coping if we pay close attention to these theories and the empirical research testing them. They also reveal many new possibilities for future study of the development of coping that can be generated from existing developmental theories.

Methods for Studying the Development of Coping

The second section turns to methodology, with two chapters touching on substantive questions about stress and coping, while also raising ideas for new research designs and ways to answer important empirical questions about stress, emotion, coping, adaptation, and development. In this part, authors of the first chapter (Modecki et al.; Chapter 6) cover the many methodological and design challenges (and opportunities) facing researchers who want to study the development of coping. This chapter directs our attention to the advantages and accompanying challenges of attempting to study coping as an unfolding developmental process, highlighting intensive approaches to data collection and the growing use of passive data collection from smartphones and other devices to operationalize concepts related to stress and coping.

The core methods chapter by Modecki et al. is followed by a chapter from experts on resilience (Tyrell & Masten; Chapter 7). They draw upon their expertise in these expansive domains to propose ways that this research could be productively integrated with theories and research on stress and coping. The authors argue that bidirectional scientific communication could enhance the research of those interested in resilience and those interested in stress and coping. This chapter is particularly helpful for considering how to use designs common in studies of resilience to address important questions about coping and its development. The authors do this while also raising important issues such as discrimination and dynamics at many levels. Overall, the two chapters in this section move us closer to addressing some of the big developmental questions of how to best describe and explain diverse pathways of adaptation and maladaptation, keeping in the mind the ultimate purpose of optimizing developmental trajectories across the lifespan.

Multiple Levels of the Development of Coping: Neurophysiological, Psychological, Interpersonal, and Societal Foundations

Parts III, IV, and V include 17 comprehensive and thought-provoking chapters, which start with a focus on the role of human neurophysiology in the development of

coping and move outward to incorporate the roles of psychological processes, and then social environments, both micro (e.g., family, peers, schools) and macro (neighborhood, community). Part III covers *Neurophysiological and Experiential Bases of the Development of Coping* with four chapters (Chapters 8–11). Part IV covers *Psychological Foundations of the Development of Coping* with five chapters (Chapters 12–16). Part V covers *Social Contexts and the Development of Coping* with eight chapters (Chapters 17–24). Each chapter includes an in-depth consideration of its topics and we were inspired by how these chapters not only bring together core findings, but also build on them to propose many new ideas for integrative theories and future research. Thus, the chapters, as a whole, are more than the sum of their parts. We are especially enthusiastic about the chapters' complementarity: Chapters from one area can be used to expand on topics raised only briefly in chapters from another area, while individual chapters can be used to answer important questions that arise from discussions in other chapters.

Neurophysiological and Experiential Bases of the Development of Coping: Within Part III, the four chapters consider neurobiological systems involved in stress responding and regulation within the body *and* the importance of experiences taking place outside the body in shaping the development of coping and adaption more generally. Cohodes et al. (Chapter 8) and Sigrist et al. (Chapter 9) focus most on development within the body by describing the details of neurobiological developments related to the human stress system (Cohodes et al.) and the dynamical biological systems framework of human adaptation (Sigrist et al.). They explain how bodily systems are involved in stress reactivity and regulatory responses (coping), describing development of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, the autonomic nervous system, the central nervous system, and integrated neurovisceral systems. Yet, each chapter also acknowledges the central importance of social experience early in life, by showing how human biological systems and their development are shaped by experiences of caregiving, deprivation, and other resources and adversities.

Such programming via early experience is thoroughly explored in the next chapter by Cicchetti and Bendezú (Chapter 10). They address how and why child maltreatment is so detrimental to human development, concentrating on its impact on the stress system. They carefully lay out these complex literatures, and then thoughtfully present essential details and make important connections to the development of stress reactivity and coping. The last chapter in this section, by Rudolph et al. (Chapter 11), considers the physiological and psychological changes of adolescence, but also pays close attention to changing social experiences and contexts and their roles in adolescents' coping with stress (and other stress responses). This chapter draws on the substantial research base focusing on this period of life as a time of reorganization and change in stress appraisals, regulation, and coping. The authors summarize the many physiological changes that have been documented in the stress system over the pubertal transition and beyond, which are so important to later life pathways. They also emphasize the importance of social contexts and interactions, given the many experiences of new stressors and shifts in regulation and coping abilities that are features of adolescents' lives. Overall, each chapter in this section pays explicit attention to important ideas about developmental timing as crucial to a complete mapping of the development of coping and related patterns of adaptation or maladaptation.

Psychological Foundations of the Development of Coping: For the five chapters in Part IV, we asked authors to summarize and then apply their expertise on important psychological foundations of development that we argue are closely connected to the development of coping (see Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Thus, five chapters in this section review person-level psychological factors and highlight their importance for understanding coping, proposing a range of new research ideas along the way. These chapters carefully detail relevant theory and research on attention (Hoyo et al.; Chapter 12), emotion regulation (Cole et al.; Chapter 13), executive functioning (Obradović et al.; Chapter 14), accommodative coping (Greve & Kappes; Chapter 15), and personality (Shiner et al.; Chapter 16).

Social Contexts and the Development of Coping: Eight chapters make up Part V, with all authors asked to apply their expertise on social contextual influences to the development of coping. The chapters in this part are organized to address microsocial system influences first. Bai and Repetti (Chapter 17) start off this part with a very developmental chapter that gives us one of the most comprehensive summaries available on how the social context can influence stress, physiological responses to stress, and coping processes. They also address theory, methodology (especially ecological momentary assessment and observations), research, and applied interventions. The next four chapters focus on the important social contexts of parenting and family. Each enriches our understanding of the development of coping by integrating research on emotion socialization (Spinrad et al.; Chapter 18), child temperament (Lengua et al.; Chapter 19), interparental conflict (O'Hara et al.; Chapter 20), and autonomy in adolescents (Van Petegem et al. ; Chapter 21). Next, a chapter appears on the interface of peer stress and peer relationships with the development of emotion and coping (Zimmer-Gembeck et al.; Chapter 22).

Although many of these first six chapters in Part V also simultaneously consider higher-level societal contexts that have an impact on parenting, families, and peer relationships (e.g., culture, gender socialization, and work), the last two chapters explicitly direct their attention to macrosocial system influences. These chapters address income inequality and poverty (Wadsworth et al.; Chapter 23) and culture and diversity (Nichols Lodato et al.; Chapter 24), thoroughly considering how community and societal conditions can amplify the influence of stress and coping or change how stressful experiences occur and unfold. Of course, focusing only on person-level factors or only on social contexts (or only on *one* social context) in any single chapter turned out to be impossible, so each chapter in Part V (as well as the chapters in Part IV) gifts us with many innovative ideas for how to conceptualize and investigate multiple levels of influence that can help describe and explain the development of coping.

Application and the Development of Coping

Finally, Part VI is the icing on the multi-level cake of the development of coping, with each of the four chapters addressing Application and the Development of Coping. Given that most of the researchers who work in the areas addressed in this Handbook are all essentially concerned with improving the development of children and youth, we wanted to end the Handbook by coming back to why the study of the development of coping is so important. Thus, each chapter in this part considers what is known about stress and coping in specific applied areas of research. The aim here was to reveal possibilities for how we can support healthy developmental pathways through research on how children and adolescents cope and expand their coping skills in multiple venues: through resources and interactions available online (Brimmel et al.; Chapter 25) or through clinical interventions (Kangas & Rapee; Chapter 26), experiences in educational settings (Skinner et al.; Chapter 27), and youth development programs (Simmons et al.; Chapter 28). The authors consider these issues by addressing how empirical studies directed at improving children's and adolescents' lives often target coping and, thus, can be informative about how coping develops. Across the whole of Part VI, we were encouraged to see how research on stress and coping can be applied to improve multiple outcomes (e.g., social support, well-being, mental health, or academic success) in multiple settings, including mental health interventions, schools, and programs that support children and youth.

Conclusion

In sum, we view each chapter in this volume as indispensable for any researcher, practitioner, educator, or student who wants an updated account of cutting-edge research on the development of coping broadly construed – the unfolding of children's and adolescents' experiences as they attend to, react to, manage, regulate, think about, come to understand, and learn from their responses in the face of stress. These chapters also provide all of us with a map to follow in conducting future research – in many directions – that identifies and addresses the unknowns that still remain about coping as a developmental process of adaptation and change, and how to turn the experience of stress and coping away from risks for mental and physical health problems and toward supporting learning and growth along constructive pathways of development.

References

- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, E., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978/2015). *Patterns of attachment*. Erlbaum.
- Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment and loss: Retrospect and prospect. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 52(4), 664–678. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.1982.tb01456.x
- Compas, B. E., Connor, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (1999). Getting specific about coping: Effortful and involuntary responses to stress in development. In M. Lewis & D. Ramsay (Eds.), *Soothing and stress* (pp. 229–256). Erlbaum.

- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/10 .1111/ajpy.12043
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. Plenum. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- Eisenberg, N., Valiente, C., & Sulik, M. J. (2009). How the study of regulation can inform the study of coping. In E. A. Skinner & M. J. Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.), *Coping and the development of regulation* (pp. 75–86). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.in-Chief), New directions in child and adolescent development. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.241
- Folkman, S., & Moskowitz, J. T. (2004). Coping: Pitfalls and promise. Annual Review of Psychology, 55, 745–774. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456
- Lazarus, R. S. (2000). Toward better research on stress and coping. American Psychologist, 55(6), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.6.665
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. European Journal of Personality, 1(3), 141–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2410010304
- Masten, A. S., Lucke, C. M., Nelson, K. M., & Stallworthy, I. C. (2021). Resilience in development and psychopathology: Multisystem perspectives. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 17, 521–549. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-081219-120307
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327922par0404_1
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. Annual Review of Psychology, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping from birth to emerging adulthood: Neurophysiological and social underpinnings, qualitative shifts, and differential pathways towards psychopathology and resilience. Springer.
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2021). Coping flexibility: Variability, fit, and associations with efficacy, emotion regulation, decentering, and responses to stress. *Stress and Health*, *37*(5), 846–861. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.3043

1 A Systems Perspective on the Development of Coping

"We're Going to Need a Bigger Boat"

Ellen A. Skinner and Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck

This is the first Handbook dedicated to the development of coping. That situation represents something of a paradox, given two historical facts. First, there has been overwhelming scientific interest in the topic of stress and coping for almost 100 years and, second, an important branch of this work has always focused on children and youth (Frydenberg, 2014). Coping is of fundamental importance because it marks an adaptive process people use to deal with the challenges and problems they encounter in their everyday lives. It can protect individuals from the ravages of stress, contribute to resilience, and build resources for dealing with future challenges. It represents a topic of enduring empirical study, examined across the biological, psychological, and social sciences, accounting for thousands of investigations each year, starting even before it first appeared as a term in Psychological Abstracts in 1967.

A branch of this work focuses on coping in children and youth. Inspired by long-standing interest in the effects of stress on children, researchers have examined the impact of major life events, like maternal deprivation and exposure to wartime conditions, on children's development since the early 1900s. Seminal publications mapping this domain include the longitudinal studies undertaken by Lois Murphy and colleagues at the Menninger Clinic in the 1950s focused on vulnerability, coping, and growth from infancy to adolescence (Murphy, 1957, 1974; Murphy & Moriarity, 1976); the volume *Stress, Coping*, and Development edited by Norman Garmezy and Michael Rutter (1983); the *Psychological Bulletin* paper by Bruce Compas, entitled "Coping with Stress during Childhood and Adolescence" (1987); the book by Carolyn Aldwin on *Stress, Coping, and Development* (2007); and our own annual review chapter, the first on the development of coping, and the book that followed (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016).

There is great interest in the coping of children and youth, stemming both from basic questions (such as its connection to psychopathology; Compas et al., 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016) and from the realization that interventions to support coping can be a lever to help young people (Wolchik & Sandler, 1997). Moreover, there is complete consensus that development shapes every aspect of how people cope. The tools that infants, toddlers, children, adolescents, and adults have at their disposal to deal with stressful transactions – from appraisals to strategies to recovery from stress - differ fundamentally. A comparison between the neurophysiological reactivity of the infant and the metacognition of the emerging adult seems to reveal the operation of coping on different planets.

And yet, there is no thriving area of research on how coping develops. In this chapter and volume, we address the paradox intimated by this Handbook: How can there be immense interest in the coping of children and youth along with universal acknowledgment that development shapes every aspect of coping, and, still, so little research examines the development of coping that this Handbook is the first to focus on the topic? We answer this paradox with a paradox of our own. We argue that there are two barriers to the realization of this rich and programmatic area of study.

The first barrier can be found in the conceptualizations of coping that dominate the field today. As explained later in more detail, these conceptualizations view coping as a transactional process (e.g., Lazarus & Folkman, 1984); they direct researchers' attention to the different ways people can cope (e.g., via problem-solving or escape) and their antecedents (e.g., social support, pessimism) and consequences (psychological functioning, distress). Such conceptualizations, focused on individual differences in how adults deal with stressful life events, were never intended as vehicles for understanding how children and youth learn to deal with everyday stressors in the contexts of daily life. The study of adults involves the deployment of responses from an existing repertoire of coping actions; the study of infants, children, and youth also involves the construction of a new repertoire of coping capacities. Transactional theories alone are not equipped to explain how children and youth get better (or worse) at coping as they traverse successive developmental tasks and stages.

We believe that "developmentally friendly" conceptualizations of coping are needed (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007) and the first goal of this chapter is to explain what such conceptualizations entail. At the most general level, they go back to definitions of coping as an adaptive process (e.g., White, 1974) and make clear that it is inherently intertwined with development. At its core, coping depicts how people detect, appraise, deal with, and learn from actual and anticipated stressful encounters. The processes used to accomplish these tasks arise from many levels, and so coping is an organizational construct that

includes a tightly integrated bio-psychosocial-cultural system incorporating neurophysiological, attentional, emotional, motivational. behavioral. cognitive. social. interpersonal, and cultural processes. From this perspective, it becomes clear that - paraphrasing the police chief's reaction the first time he saw the great white shark in the film Jaws – "We are going to need a bigger boat." In other words, we argue for a developmental systems view of coping that organizes this fundamental adaptive process according to multiple levels that are integrated to serve the functions of coping during transactions involving stressful events. From this vantage point, the successive age-graded reorganizations of this larger system start to become visible.

The second barrier to the developmental study of coping turns out to be the term "coping" itself. As we discovered while working on our book on this topic (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016), once a developmental systems perspective is adopted, it becomes clear that a wide range of developmental phenomena are directly relevant to this system, few of which are actually labeled "coping." So, for example, multiple neurophysiological systems subserve stress reactivity and regulation. All of them show age-graded changes and shifts (Engel & Gunnar, 2020; Lupien et al., 2009), and their developmental trajectories differ depending on the temperamental characteristics (Rueda & Rothbart, 2009) and interpersonal contexts in which they operate (Gunnar & Hostinar, 2015). These neurophysiological processes directly impact the functioning and development of the coping system; however, they are rarely referred to as "coping." A developmental systems view releases theorists from the constraints of research on coping proper, while also providing a clear map of the range of topic areas relevant to the organization and functioning of the coping system. Most importantly, it directs researchers to the (sometimes thin) strands of work in each of these areas that look at their normative and differential development. These threads hold the keys to the development of coping.

Hence, the second goal of this chapter is to show how a developmental systems perspective on coping can provide a guidebook to identify work directly relevant to the development of coping that has not always been explicitly connected to its study (e.g., Compas, 1987: Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). We provide an overview of the primary areas we see as relevant to the development of the coping system, covering work from neurophysiology (Engel & Gunnar, 2020) and regulation (Compas et al., 2014, 2017; Eisenberg et al., 1997) to higher-order social contexts (e.g., Wadsworth, 2015; Wadsworth et al., 2020). This was the map we used to identify and invite authors for this volume, and we hope it can help answer the paradox of the missing research on the development of coping. There is no burgeoning literature called "research on the development of coping." but there is a burgeoning research literature on the development of coping. It has been there all along, but we need a broader more integrative developmental systems perspective to recognize the many rich and complex areas of study that can inform our understanding of coping and its development.

A Bigger Boat: Developmental Systems Conceptualizations of Coping

Because coping represents a fundamental adaptive process, designed to protect people from danger and help them engage effectively with demands and challenges, it is not surprising that it has been considered from a variety of perspectives, often reflecting the established paradigms of the day. From each of these iterations, the field has accumulated insights that inform the way we view coping today. For example, coping can trace its roots to psychoanalytic work on defenses (Freud, 1949). This perspective influenced several generations of ego psychologists (Haan, 1977; Valliant, 1986; see Cramer, 1998), who conceptualized coping as an outcome of personality processes ordered along a hierarchy of ego maturity. Lasting legacies of this approach include the notions that coping involves reactions, not only to external stressors but also to intrapsychic pressures, that some modes of coping are not conscious, and that the ego (or self) and its regulatory functions are key to how coping unfolds.

A second strand of theorizing about coping can be traced back to the biomedical research on stress, starting in the early 1930s. Parallel to the idea that exposure to toxins does not lead in any direct fashion to specific health outcomes, this branch gave us the idea of coping as a form of "host resistance" to stress. It also highlighted the notion of the active individual and the importance of examining specific stressors or demands when trying to make sense of coping. Over its history, coping has also been defined as a specific person-context transaction, an indicator of competence, personality in action under stress, a repertoire of strategies, fewer symptoms of mental or physical health problems, a function of emotion, an outcome of temperament, an expression of stress physiology, a quality of action regulation, and resilience. (For historical overviews, see Aldwin, 2007; Frydenberg, 2014; Lazarus, 1993; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Murphy, 1974; Parker & Endler, 1996; Snyder, 1999.)

Transactional Models of Coping

Today the field of stress and coping is dominated by transactional models (Aldwin, 2007). This perspective defines coping as "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to
manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (Lazarus & Folkman. 1984. p. 141). Transactional approaches insist that individuals' responses can only be understood by considering the actual stressors they face as well as the social and personal resources available in the situation at the time (Folkman & Lazarus, 1985). One of their biggest contributions has been to underscore coping as a cyclical recursive process that unfolds over time, involving stressors, appraisals, coping responses, and outcomes. Central to this process are individuals' ever-changing appraisals of the significance and meaning of stressful encounters.

As depicted in Figure 1.1, transactional models hold that coping is initiated by psychological stress, defined as "a particular relationship between the person and the environment that is appraised by the person as taxing or exceeding his or her resources and endangering his or her well-being" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 19). Based on the significance of the outcome and the resources available, individuals can appraise (an actual or anticipated) stressful encounter as, for example, a challenge, threat, harm, or loss. These appraisals,

along with personal and social resources, influence the kinds of coping that will be employed, which in turn affects the outcome, for better or for worse. An individual's coping can resolve or exacerbate the stressful situation and calm or heighten psychological distress. These outcomes then feed into the next iteration. Such cyclical transactions continue until the stressor is resolved or the individual accepts the situation, escapes, or gives up. The arc of these transactional processes describes a coping episode.

Research on Coping during Childhood and Adolescence

Over the last 50 years, this framework has guided most of the research on coping across the lifespan. The field is anchored by "ways of coping," or the actual actions individuals show on the ground when dealing with stressors. A range of responses have been considered, such as problem-solving, escape, supportseeking, and distraction, and have been assessed using a variety of methodologies. For older children, adolescents, and adults, self-report questionnaires are most often employed, and young children's coping has



Figure 1.1 Coping depicted as a *transactional process* of appraising and dealing with demands.

been captured using direct observation and reports from parents and teachers. The bulk of this research targets individual differences in the links between steps in the transactional process. For example, to establish their valence and importance, studies examine the connections between different ways of coping and a range of indicators of functioning in children and youth, such as psychological adjustment, well-being, academic performance, peer relationships, internalizing and externalizing behaviors, and distress.

Over many years, these studies have identified ways of coping that seem to be productive in that they relate to positive functioning and well-being; these include effort exertion, problem-solving, negotiation, focus on the positive, and emotion approach coping. A second set of responses seem to be unproductive in that they are linked with psychodistress, disorder, and logical poorer functioning; they include escape, avoidance, helplessness, rumination, and opposition. A third set, which includes some relatively common ways of responding to stress, are inconsistent in their links to potential outcomes; they include help-seeking, supportseeking, and emotion-focused coping. These responses may be omnibus coping strategies that can be deployed in adaptive or maladaptive ways (e.g., seeking support to rejuvenate versus to co-ruminate) or they may be doubleedged swords, in that they are used when distress is high (so are sometimes positively correlated with ill-being) but are also helpful in dealing with distress (and so are sometimes also linked with better outcomes).

Based on the idea that productive coping can protect children and youth from the otherwise negative effects of stressful events, researchers have also conducted studies to investigate interindividual differences in the resources that make adaptive coping more likely. Such studies have uncovered a range of coping resources, both personal (e.g., perceived control, intelligence, optimism, sociability) and interpersonal (e.g., warmth, provision of instrumental aid or emotional comfort from parents, siblings, teachers, and peers). The malleability and importance of coping have been demonstrated in programs designed to support, coach, or teach children and youth to cope more constructively. The study of such programs provides evidence that coping can be changed for the better and that such changes often result in improvements in well-being and functioning (e.g., Sandler et al., 1997; Wadsworth et al., 2020).

Much has been learned from these decades of research on individual differences in ways of coping. However, little of it directly pertains to coping's development. The study of individual differences can provide information about the current functioning of coping on the ground, but not about the developmental history that gave rise to it, nor about how the functioning of that system is enabled and constrained by the current developmental organization of the organism expressing it, nor about how coping transactions themselves may contribute to future development. For this, a developmentally friendly conceptualization is needed. To fill this gap, we favor a developmental systems approach.

Five Ideas from a Developmental Systems Conceptualization of Coping

An interesting feature of developmental systems perspectives is that they lead to a response of "yes and" to most views of coping. Systems approaches view different conceptualizations of coping the same way that the parable of the five blind men and the elephant views their different perspectives on the elephant – a leg as a tree trunk, a tusk as a spear, an ear as a fan, a side as a wall, the trunk as a snake. Different theories all perceive

important facets of the phenomenon, but there are two problems: Each perspective is incomplete, and no one recognizes the whole of the elephant. The construction of a developmental systems conceptualization of coping is organized around a simple question with a complex answer. The question is: "What is the elephant (i.e., the coping system)?." And the complex answer? "All those subsystems that make it up (the parts) and how they are organized (structured) and work together (operate) to serve their adaptive functions (the whole)."

So just as the elephant is not a tree trunk plus a spear, a fan, a wall, and a snake, coping is more than a list of appraisals, emotional reactions, and things people do in times of trouble. It is more than the sum of its parts. The coping described in transactional approaches is just the tip of the developmental system's iceberg. A developmental systems conceptualization can be explained in five big ideas, summarized in Table 1.1. We provide an overview of each of these ideas and show how, by contributing to a developmentally friendly view of coping, they identify other areas of research integral to coping and its development. We end by examining the implications of these big ideas for age-graded shifts in the organization and functioning of the whole coping system and for interventions designed to foster its development at different ages.

Idea 1. Coping as Action Regulation under Stress

The first idea is based on the recognition that coping is a fundamental adaptive process (White, 1974) designed to scaffold both defense and constructive engagement with challenging demands. From this perspective, coping is not just a series of things we do. It is part of an evolutionarily conserved process that allows us to guide and direct our actions so they will be more effective in keeping us alive while

allowing us to learn from encounters with challenging and threatening events. What are we doing during these encounters that allows us to "deal with" or "manage" transactions that hold the potential for harm and loss, but also for learning and growth? Developmentalists have converged on one answer: We are regulating our actions. Our actions in all their multiplicity (e.g., fight, run, freeze, push, seek comfort, strategize, get help, work together) are the tools humans employ to fend off danger and build capacities for more effective action in the future. Adaptation under stressful conditions calls for the skillful deployment of actions, guided by goals, coordinated with others, exquisitely tuned to conditions in the organism and on the ground at the moment, and constantly changing as those conditions change. No one can do this at birth, yet most people have gotten much better at it by the time they reach adulthood.

Hence, to describe the full scope of how people manage or deal with stressful personcontext transactions, developmentalists define coping as "action regulation under stress" (Compas, 1987, 2009; Compas et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Sandler et al., 1997; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2009). From this perspective, coping depicts how individuals initiate, mobilize, energize, channel, guide, coordinate, organize, modulate, dampen, and direct their actions (or how they fail to do so) under stressful conditions. Dual process models of regulation suggest two components one depicting the target to be regulated, such as an emotion or impulse, and the other describing the set of processes that regulate it. In work on emotion, these are referred to as "emotion" and "emotion regulation" (Cole et al., 2004); in work on temperament, "reactivity" and "regulation" (Rothbart et al., 1994); in work on willpower, the "hot" emotional and the "cool" cognitive systems Table 1.1 Five big ideas in a developmental systems conceptualization of coping

- 1. *Coping as a balance between reactivity and regulation*. Coping can be defined as action regulation under stress.
 - Coping entails stress reactivity (or action tendencies) and action regulation.
 - Constructive versus unproductive (stress-affected) coping reflects the (im)balance between reactivity and regulation.
 - Both impulsigenic (reactivity) and regulatory processes develop.
 - A crucial function of coping is to contribute to the development of constructive action tendencies, regulatory capacities, and everyday resilience.
- 2. *Tasks of an adaptive process*. To protect individuals from threats and dangers while allowing them to interact constructively with challenges and demands, the coping system accomplishes five basic tasks.
 - These are (1) *radar* or threat detection and appraisal; (2) *readiness* or coordination of responses to threat or challenge; (3) *regulation* or adapting responses to changes in ongoing conditions; (4) *recovery* or re-setting and revitalizing coping resources; and (5) *re-evaluation* or learning from encounters with stress.
 - Each of these tasks can be accomplished with whatever equipment the infant, child, or adolescent has available to them at their particular developmental stage and current state.
- 3. *Place and purpose of the study of coping*. The study of coping is located between regulation and resilience.
 - Coping as an *episodic process* corresponds to transactional models of stress, appraisal, coping, and outcomes. These depend on situational personal and interpersonal resources as well as previous coping episodes. Short-term, episodes produce coping assets and liabilities.
 - Coping as an *interactional process* overlaps with work on regulation, where coping can be a coordinating construct that provides an integrative platform for the operation of multiple impulsigenic and regulatory processes under "hot" stressful conditions.
 - Coping as an *adaptive process* overlaps with work on resilience, where coping can be a protective
 factor, explanatory mechanism, intervention lever, resource for everyday resilience, and site for
 building stress resistance and resilience.
- 4. *Hierarchical structure of coping*. Coping can be organized as families of action types that serve adaptive functions within which are nested multiple ways of coping (as seen in subscales in coping measures), within which are nested a virtually infinite number of instances of coping.
 - Higher-order categories represent an action typology that classifies the tools individuals can use to coordinate their actions with environmental affordances during stressful transactions, according to their effectiveness, individuals' goals, and personal and social resources available.
 - Core categories of coping are a taxonomy of multi-functional regulatory packages.
 - Each of these families includes ways of coping that are graded by age. Infants, children, and youth have the means to express the coping functions depicted in each of these families, but the specific ways and instances of coping depend on age.
- 5. Coping emerges from an integrated multi-level system that is developing. Coping is a bio-psychosocial-cultural process, visible on the level of individual action, but the product of an integrated multi-level system that includes the neurophysiological and psychological subsystems that give rise to it and the interpersonal and societal contexts in which it is embedded. It can be organized in five levels.
 - *Level of action.* Coping unfolds on the plane of action as an episodic process that involves appraisals, reactivity (action tendencies), action regulation, coping outcomes, recovery, and learning under stressful conditions.

Table 1.1 (cont.)

- Underlying processes. Coping is shaped by underlying neurophysiology and psychological subsystems.
- Overarching processes. Coping is deeply social and contextual.
- *Processes at all these levels are developing.* Their development is reciprocally related to the development of coping.

(Metcalfe & Mischel, 1999); in work on motivation, "intrinsic" and "extrinsic" motivation (Deci & Ryan, 1985).

Action Tendencies and Action Regulation

In coping, these dual processes can be labeled "stress reactivity" (or more generally "action tendencies") and "action regulation." Both are adaptive. Stress reactivity is the product of a fast, emotionally driven, impulsive "hot" system that appraises and reacts to external stimuli or situations relatively automatically and with little conscious control. This hot system has strong temperamental, motivational, and emotional bases; however, it also incorporates experiences through conditioning and learning. Although reactivity or impulses are often portrayed as problematic, they serve an important adaptive function – to quickly bring the organism into a state of readiness to act. This hot system is adaptive in two ways: (1) it is more flexible and differentiated than reflexes, and yet (2) it triggers environmentally tuned actions faster than a more cognitively mediated system.

The second component comprises regulatory processes, which work with the hot system to channel, coordinate, and sequence the actions it urges. Regulation is sometimes considered the product of a "cool" system because some of the most effective regulatory strategies are cognitive and deliberate. However, this system has a range of processes at its disposal, including neurophysiological, habitual, attentional, and social processes, that operate already in neonates and infants (e.g., Kopp, 1989). Regulatory processes are also adaptive: (1) by allowing actions to be more informed, deliberate, and flexible, they provide more options than externally triggered reactivity, and (2) they benefit from intentionality and so can be more attuned to individuals' higher-order principles and long-term priorities, goals, and values.

As in other areas, there is active discussion about how reactivity and regulation work together during coping. Researchers generally agree that they mutually influence each other over time (Compas et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner, 1999). For example, an extreme reaction to stress elicits many coping responses. Or, conversely, proactive coping allows a person to avoid situations in which they would be overwhelmed (Aspinwall & Taylor, 1997). Some researchers suggest that any given response reflects a balance between the two subsystems (Metcalfe & Mischel, 1999). In terms of coping, this implies that maladaptive (or our preferred term "stress-affected," Wadsworth, 2015) coping is the product of a strong stress reaction and/or a weak (immature or disabled) regulatory system, whereas productive coping is the result of a mild stress response and/or a strong action regulation system. The effects of stress on the functioning of regulatory subsystems are studied widely (e.g., in work on hot executive functions; Zelazo & Carlson, 2012). Although high levels of stress may disrupt or overwhelm regulatory processes, moderate levels seem to create a zone of heightened regulation, during which subsystems become more cooperative and regulatory capacities can be practiced and consolidated (e.g., Jamieson et al., 2018; Kopp, 1989; Repetti & Robles, 2016; Sapolsky, 2015).

Developmental Connections

Conceptualizations of coping as action readiness and regulation under stress are developmentally friendly because they build bridges to the rich developmental literatures on reactivity and regulation, including their temperamental and neurophysiological bases and the social forces that shape them. Most importantly, they connect coping to research on age-graded pathways and reorganizations of stress reactivity and regulation across successive developmental levels (Cole et al., 2019; Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006; Kopp, 1989; Nigg, 2017; Thompson, 2015). These theories and bodies of research lay out guideposts to chart the development of coping.

Idea 2. Coping Operates between Regulation and Resilience

The second big idea of a systems perspective is that any given system, like the coping system, can operate on multiple levels and over multiple timescales. Such a perspective allows coping to be integrated with the larger landscape of research focused on stress and the development of children and youth. As pictured in Figure 1.2, coping operates on three levels, each with its own timescale. At the middle level, coping functions as an episodic process. This is the level with which coping researchers are most familiar because it depicts the kinds of transactional models prevalent today (e.g., Figure 1.1), and connects them up with antecedents - previous coping episodes - and consequences, namely, resources and liabilities for coping with future stressful encounters.

Coping also operates at a lower-order level in real time, and so overlaps with work on regulation; and at a higher level over developmental time, and so overlaps with work on resilience (Chapter 7, this volume). The study of coping is located in between these streams of research. Coping is essential to a full understanding of the effects of stress on children and adolescents because it not only depicts the individual's active role in the transactional process of dealing with the demands that adversity brings into a child's life, but also has the potential to consider how these episodes unfold and accumulate across time, and so shape development. Such an analysis makes clear how coping fits with work on regulation and resilience: where they overlap with coping, how research on coping can contribute to them, and how the study of coping can be informed by them.

Coping and Regulation

As can be seen in Figure 1.2, episodes of coping (shown in the middle level) contain coping as an interactional process (shown in the lowest level). Here, coping depicts the actions of infants, children, and youth as they deal with specific demands (e.g., novelty, delay. noncontingency) restraint. during moment-to-moment exchanges on the ground in real time; this process overlaps with the primary concerns of research on regulation (Compas et al., 2014, 2017; Eisenberg et al., 1997; McClelland et al., 2015; Thompson, 2015). However, coping differs from specific kinds of regulation in three ways. First, it considers regulation only under a subset of conditions, namely, during stressful transactions. So, coping overlaps completely with that portion of regulation that is hot (e.g., hot executive processes), but also includes cool regulatory processes when they are deployed under stress.



Figure 1.2 Multi-level conceptualization of coping as a *developmental* process, an *episodic* process, and an *interactional* process.

Integrated Models of Regulation: The second way coping differs from work on regulation is based on the targets of regulatory efforts. Researchers have made connections from coping to many kinds of regulation, including emotion regulation (Compas et al., 2014; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Kopp, 1989), behavioral self-regulation (e.g., Metcalfe & Mischel, 1999), attention deployment (e.g., Wilson & Gottman, 1996), ego control and resiliency (Block & Block, 1980), and self-regulation more generally (Aspinwall & Taylor, 1997). In research on regulation, these specific forms are typically studied separately. However, because stress can activate a variety of responses physiological, emotional, attentional, behavioral, cognitive, and so on - coping includes efforts to coordinate and manage all of them. Hence, during stressful encounters, all these forms of regulation can be considered subsystems that work together to shape the actions described by coping (Compas et al., 1997; Holodynski & Friedlmeier 2006; Skinner, 1999). During coping, their combined regulatory effects can be positively synergistic (e.g., when planning calms emotion or comfortseeking refreshes resources for problemsolving) or they can work at cross-purposes and show antagonistic effects (e.g., when motivational urges are so strong they derail cognitive processes or when actions are forced before emotions are consulted) or block each other (e.g., when strong approach and avoidance tendencies bring action to a standstill).

Hence, of greatest interest to coping researchers are integrative models that consider how multiple kinds of regulation work together. Until recently, such information was hard to come by because it was dispersed across a wide range of relatively siloed areas of study, each one focusing on a different target of regulation (e.g., emotion, attention, behavior) or different regulatory process (e.g., executive functions, delay of gratification, effortful control). Only recently have researchers begun to propose syntheses that integrate these overlapping areas of study (e.g., Cole et al., 2019; Gagne, 2017; McClelland et al., 2015). Although most have focused on early development, some have also extended their conceptualizations to middle childhood (Nigg, 2017) and adolescence (Casey, 2015; Compas et al., 2017; Steinberg et al., 2018). These emerging perspectives are of great interest to coping researchers, especially because several of them are explicitly developmental (e.g., Cole et al., 2019; Nigg, 2017).

Impulsigenic Processes: Third, coping differs from typical work on regulation because it is focused not only on the development of regulatory processes, but also on the development of impulsigenic so-called processes (e.g., Duckworth & Steinberg, 2015); these are the processes that lead to action readiness and reactivity. As can be inferred from its name, most research on regulation focuses on regulatory processes. From this perspective, conceptualizations of impulses (see Sharma et al., 2014 for a review) typically consider them to be problematic because they interfere with selfcontrol and socially appropriate behavior. Coping researchers, however, are very interested in subsystems that generate the *targets* of regulation, such as impulses or emotional reactions. They argue that anything that makes action tendencies more constructive also makes coping easier (e.g., Compas et al., 1999; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994). Hence, work on processes that affect stress reactivity and action readiness, like emotions, intrinsic motivation, impulsivity, and temperamental dimensions (like reactivity, exuberance, and sociability), are highly relevant to the development of coping.

Coping and Resilience

As shown in the top panel of Figure 1.2, the territory of coping also extends upward where

it functions as an adaptive process operating across developmental time; here it overlaps with work on risk and resilience, which trace the effects of adversity on the development of competence and psychopathology (Denckla et al., 2020; Masten et al., 2021; Chapter 7, this volume). Coping fits under the larger umbrella of resilience because it can help buffer the development of children and youth from the otherwise deleterious effects of stress, risk, and adversity. Coping depicts that slice of "big R" resilience that examines how adversity brings a range of actual stressful experiences into the daily lives of individuals, and how through their own actions and reactions, children and youth attempt to deal with them (i.e., everyday resilience; DiCorcia & Tronick, 2011; Spencer, 2006). At this level, the construct of coping serves many purposes for resilience (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner. 2016). It can be considered a protective factor itself, an explanatory mechanism (in that other protective factors may exert their positive effects by boosting adaptive coping), an intervention lever, a resource for everyday resilience, and a site where stress resistance and resilience are built. Hence, coping researchers look to work on resilience to bridge to the higher-order contexts of adversity (e.g., poverty, racism) and frame the long-term developmental outcomes and pathways that are at stake.

Developmental Connections

The view that coping operates on three levels (Figure 1.2) contributes to developmentally friendly conceptualizations of coping because it builds out from transactional views of coping as an episodic process to span the conceptual space from coping as an interactional process operating in real time, accumulating all the way up to coping as an adaptive process operating across developmental time. Systems perspectives identify the place and purpose of research on coping: It operates between and overlaps with regulatory processes below and resilience processes above. Both areas are inherently developmental and so they can inform coping theorists about how to construct developmental systems conceptualizations. The most important steps are listed in Table 1.2 (for more details, see Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016, pp. 8–11). Coping, in turn, can provide important connections down to research on regulation and carry them all the way up to processes of resilience and development.

Idea 3. The Coping System Accomplishes Five Basic Tasks

The third big idea of a systems perspective is that by returning to a consideration of coping as a basic adaptive process, it is possible to see that the steps described in transactional models - including cognitive appraisals and intentional actions – are just examples of how the basic tasks of coping can be carried out during particular age periods (in the case of transactional models, the age period of adulthood). At its heart, the coping system comprises a set of adaptive processes designed to detect and respond to challenges and threats, which can be broken into a series of tasks. As superimposed on the transactional model in Figure 1.3, these include: (1) radar, or detection and appraisal of challenges and threats; (2) reactivity and readiness, or preparation and coordination of responses to threat or challenge; (3) regulation, or sequential adaptation of the complex actions urged by reactivity and readiness to changes in ongoing conditions during interactions with stressful events; (4) recovery, or deactivation and resetting of stress responses and replenishment of coping resources; and (5) re-evaluation, or processes through which coping episodes are debriefed and lessons are learned for future encounters.

Table 1.2 Desiderata for developmental systems conceptualizations of coping

- 1. Coping is an episodic (cumulative) process that:
 - gives traction with respect to the ways in which social contexts, settings, partners, and individual characteristics shape how it unfolds;
 - has a place to carry forward previous coping episodes; and
 - shows how short-term coping resources and vulnerabilities (both individual and social) accumulate over time.
- 2. Coping is an interactive (coordinating) process that:
 - is built on what we know about temperament and neurophysiology particularly from a developmental perspective;
 - has a place for neurophysiology, behavior, emotion, attention, cognition, and motivation; and
 - explains how they are organized and change in response to changing demands, appraisals, and resolutions.
- 3. Coping is an **adaptive** (proximal) process that:
 - specifies its function in adaptation under stress and its role in the development of mental and physical health, problems, and disorder;
 - can be part of an iterative process of change in response to environmental and intrapsychic demands, including individual and social interactional processes; and
 - functions as a mediating process between adversity and resilience or vulnerability.
- 4. Coping is a systemic, integrated, cumulative, coordinating, proximal developmental process that:
 - applies across the lifespan but looks different at different ages;
 - provides an avenue for determining how coping is shaped by normative and differential developmental changes; and
 - operates as a mechanism of the development of coping capacities.

As can be seen in Figure 1.3, each of these functions is located on an arrow connecting two elements in the transactional model of coping. Radar (i.e., detection) comprises the connection between outside stressors and appraisals, depicting processes through which external events enter the coping system as interpretations of the meaning of stressful encounters. Reactivity/readiness comprises the link between appraisals and action tendencies, depicting processes through which these interpretations initiate preparation for managing upcoming encounters with stress. Regulation sits on the arrow between actions and their consequences, depicting how actions are repeatedly modified based on their effects in ongoing transactions with stressful events. Recovery depicts the connection between resolutions of stressful interactions and local conditions, including processes of downregulation, healing, and repair. Finally, re-evaluation comprises the link between resolutions and the future, as lessons are learned about the entire episode. These lessons can inform any subsequent step in the coping process, including stress generation, appraisals, readiness, or recovery. Such feedforward effects constitute one form of growth in the face of adversity and demonstrate that some of the most important transactions influencing the development of produced coping are by the coping system itself.

Developmental Connections

Breaking coping down into these basic tasks opens the door to the possibility that each task can be carried out at every age, as explained by



Figure 1.3 The coping system as a set of adaptive processes designed to detect and respond to challenges and threats, comprising five functions: (1) *radar* or threat detection and appraisal; (2) *readiness* or coordination of responses to threat or challenge; (3) *regulation* or adapting responses to changes in ongoing conditions; (4) *recovery* or deactivation and resetting of stress responses, repair, and revitalization of coping resources; and (5) *re-evaluation* or learning from encounters with stress.

Lois Murphy, the researcher who guided the first great longitudinal study of coping in children and youth, "with whatever equipment [the child] ha[s] at his developmental stage" (1974, p. 71). This big idea allows researchers to select a task, such as detecting threats or evaluating lessons learned, and to consider the attentional, motivational, emotional, cognitive, and/or metacognitive "equipment" that can be used to carry it out at different ages. For example, the "radar equipment" of neonates may involve the activation of sensory and attention systems in response to threats and distress, whereas by the end of the first year, radar may come to involve social referencing. In the same vein, appraisal processes likely emerge as implicit expectancies over the first months of life, and only later are carried out by representational systems – still many years away from the full-blown conscious reflective appraisals familiar to coping researchers. These same considerations can be applied to the other tasks carried out by the coping system, leading to the realization, for example, that action readiness can be carried out by the emotion system during toddlerhood or by executive functions during early childhood. Regulation can be a cognitive activity during middle childhood or a metacognitive activity during adolescence. Recovery can be

falling asleep during infancy or losing oneself in songwriting during adolescence. Revaluation can be a conversation with Dad during early childhood or a diary entry during emerging adulthood. Adults have available to them the full range of tools they need to accomplish these tasks – as seen, for example, in their capacity to appraise the likelihood of future threats and to take preemptive coping action (Aspinwall & Taylor, 1997). Infants, children, and adolescents do not. They are discovering and building the tools they will need for these tasks as they grow.

Hence, each task shows normative agegraded developments (e.g., radar, instead of just reacting, begins to anticipate incoming stressors). Such an analysis may open connections between precursor or rudimentary coping capacities and multiple subsystems that show qualitative shifts with age. As summarized in Table 1.3, surfacing these tasks can contribute to developmentally friendly conceptualizations of coping because they can be used to sketch the developmental potentials of a coping system.

These developmental potentials depict a system that can increasingly monitor and

appropriately appraise more (current and future) demands using its own and other's "radar"; maintain composure under higher levels of appraised threat with more capacity to withstand multiple demands and better "fallbacks"; respond increasingly in measured socially competent ways that reflect integration of ongoing emotional, attentional, and motivational reactions; more flexibly adjust actions to meet changing environmental demands without losing sight of genuine priorities; recover more quickly from setbacks; and at the same time take more away from stressful encounters, learning how to prevent and deal with future challenges and how to deploy coping in line with future goals (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, p. 136).

Idea 4. Ways of Coping as Families in an Action Typology

The fourth insight from a developmental systems perspective focuses on "ways of coping" – the building blocks of the coping area. Conceptualizations of coping (and of regulation, which is basically plowing the same field) have found it challenging to translate the

Table 1.3 Developmental potentials of the coping system

Coping system that can:

- increasingly monitor and appropriately appraise more (current and future) demands using its own and other's "radar";
- 2. maintain composure under higher levels of appraised threat with more capacity to withstand multiple demands and better "fallbacks";
- 3. respond increasingly in measured socially competent ways that reflect integration of ongoing emotional, attentional, and motivational reactions;
- 4. more flexibly adjust actions to meet changing environmental demands without losing sight of genuine priorities;
- 5. recover more quickly from setbacks; and
- 6. take more away from stressful encounters, learning how to prevent and deal with future challenges and how to deploy coping in line with future goals.

Source: Skinner and Zimmer-Gembeck (2007), p. 136.

"bewildering richness of behavior relevant to it" (Pearlin & Schooler, 1978, p. 4) into a set of core categories. As befits a fundamental adaptive process, literally hundreds of ways of coping have been identified and assessed, creating a thicket of partially overlapping category systems and measures. To bring some order to this confusion, researchers have suggested multiple higher-order categories that could be used to classify lower-order ways of coping based on single *functions* (e.g., problem- vs. emotion-focused coping), *orientations* (approach vs. avoidance), or *topological features* (e.g., cognitive vs. behavioral modes).

Taxonomies of coping, like all taxonomies, should contain categories that are mutually exclusive, functionally homogeneous, functionally distinct from other categories, and exhaustive. Hence, each of the distinctions suggested is problematic as a higher-order category of coping, but for different reasons: (1) categories created by single functions are not mutually exclusive, because all ways of coping serve multiple functions (e.g., problem-solving can also calm emotions); (2) categories like avoidance are functionally heterogeneous (e.g., one can move away from a stressor via terrified escape or via intentional distraction with a pleasurable activity); and (3) categories based on modes are not functionally distinct because all ways of coping can be enacted in multiple modes (e.g., one can seek comfort via behavioral responses, such as by going to find someone, or via cognitive ones, such as through prayer).

Families of Coping

Developmentalists, though conceptual and empirical means, have identified about a dozen core categories of coping that reflect its operation as a basic process of adaptation (Connor-Smith et al., 2000; Skinner et al., 2003; Walker et al., 1997). From this perspective, higher-order categories represent a taxonomy that classifies the tools individuals can use to coordinate their actions with environmental demands during stressful transactions. For example, problem-solving is an adaptive strategy because it allows people to find or create actions that are effective in the environments where stressful transactions are taking place. It is this *coordination* – in this case between actions and environmental contingencies – that is the hallmark of adaptation (White, 1974).

Core categories can be viewed as higherorder *families* of coping that sit at the top of a hierarchical structure (Skinner et al., 2003). Each family contains many members or wavs of coping (as seen, for example, in subscales of coping measures). In fact, each family includes all the ways of coping that serve those same functions. So, for example, members of the Problem-Solving family include not only its corresponding lower-order way of coping (i.e., strategizing) but also other ways that serve to coordinate actions and contingencies, such as effort exertion, instrumental action, mastery coping, cognitive decision-making, positive self-instruction, primary control engagement, task orientation and preparation, task management, planning, and repair. For each coping family member, there are innumerable possible lower-order *instances* of how these ways of coping can be enacted in different circumstances by different people of different ages.

Coping families can be viewed as multifunctional categories of regulatory packages. They include ways of coping that have been commonly studied, like Problem-Solving, Information- and Comfort-Seeking, and Escape. They also hold places for other kinds of coordinating actions that have not always been included in measures of coping, like Accommodation, Negotiation, Helplessness, and Social Isolation. Each of these families is both problem- and emotion-focused; is oriented toward either approach or avoidance; and can be enacted in a range of modes. Most importantly, these 12 families are relatively comprehensive, in that they can accommodate the vast majority of the over 400 different individual ways of coping included in measures of coping during childhood, adolescence, and adulthood (Skinner et al., 2003). As depicted in Table 1.4, Core categories represent an action typology that categorizes how individuals coordinate actions and affordances, according to (1) their effectiveness, (2) their goals, and (3) their personal and social resources (Skinner et al., 2003).

Coordinating Actions and Contingencies: As can be seen in Table 1.4, the first four coping families are organized around the adaptive process of coordinating actions with contingencies, and so regulate engagement and disengagement in the face of stress. Besides Problem-Solving, described previously, productive families include Information-Seeking, where an individual pauses in their efforts to deal with a stressor in order to obtain "fresh intelligence," that is, to secure instrumental information about current contingencies and new actions that could potentially be effective. The families organized around this adaptive function - focused on how to deploy one's actions to be efficacious in a given environment - have a long history of study in research on mastery, perceived control, selfefficacy, and learned helplessness (e.g., Dweck, 1999; Folkman, 1984; Maier & Seligman, 2016; Skinner, 1995, 1996; Thompson et al., 1993). Problem-Solving and Information-Seeking are both scaffolded by perceptions of control and competence; individuals who hold these beliefs are more likely to problem-solve and seek information about existing contingencies and how to operate them more effectively (e.g., Raftery & Grolnick, 2015).

Developmental conceptualizations focus on coping transactions as sites for learning and

growth, and so tend to highlight constructive coping families. But if stress reactivity is too high or regulatory systems are overwhelmed, individuals show stress-affected ways of coping. When it comes to the coordination of actions and contingencies, two families signal that a coping system is overtaxed: one oriented to avoidance and one to approach. The avoidance family is *Escape*, which includes multiple family members, both behavioral (e.g., leaving) and cognitive (e.g., denial). These responses serve to remove the individual from the stressful encounter, but they do so in ways (e.g., through panic or fear) that heighten distress and undermine subsequent engagement. The approach family is Helplessness, and it includes continued engagement with the threatening stressor even though the regulatory system is no longer functioning effectively. These forms of engagement - like confusion and mental exhaustion – are not productive. They amplify the feeling of powerlessness and magnify distress. Ways of coping from both these families are made more likely by histories of experience with objective noncontingency and subjective beliefs that events are out of one's control. Escape under a variety of different names (see Table 1.4) is one of the most common subscales on measures of coping; and helplessness has its own productive area of study active over the last 50 years (Maier & Seligman, 2016).

Coordinating Reliance and Social Resources: The next four coping families depicted in Table 1.4 are organized around the adaptive function of coordinating reliance on others with the social resources available, and so regulate cooperation and self-reliance during stressful transactions. The key constructive family here involves *Support-Seeking* and its family members, all of which serve to bring individuals into contact with trusted others in times of danger (for examples, see Table 1.4).

Adaptive process	Family function in adap- tive process	Family of coping	Definition of coping family	Ways of coping that are family members
Coordinate repertoire of actions with contingencies in the environment	Adjust actions to be effective	1. Problem-Solving	Attempts to figure out what to do to solve problems, repair mistakes, or prevent them in the future	Strategizing, approach, instrumental action, effort exertion, mastery, planning, repair
	Find additional strategies or contingencies	2. Information-Seeking	Collecting instrumental information about what is happening and how to deal with it more effectively	Social referencing, help-seeking, study, observation, consulting, instrumental aid, reading, internet search
	Find limits of action	3. Helplessness	Stress reaction in which thoughts or next steps become unclear or disorganized	Confusion, flailing, cognitive interference, cognitive exhaustion, resignation
	Evade noncontingent environment	4. Escape	Attempts to avoid or remove oneself from difficulties or undesired outcomes	Flight, mental avoidance, physical avoidance, denial, wishful thinking, disengagement
Coordinate reliance on others with social resources available	Find own strengths Protect social resources	5. Self-Reliance	Attempts to regulate one's flagging emotions and behaviors by bolstering confidence and optimism	Self-encouragement, emotion regulation, behavioral regulation, emotional expression, emotional approach
	Use available social resources and replenish own resources	6. Support-Seeking	Turning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, encouragement, or cheer	Contact-seeking, comfort-seeking, spiritual support, social emotional support

Table 1.4 Core categories of coping as families of action types that serve adaptive functions

	Find limits of resources	7. Delegation	Attempts to get other people to do the work, solve the problem, or take the consequences	Executive help-seeking, self-pity, dependency, complaining, whining, entitlement	
	Withdraw from unsupportive contexts	8. Isolation	Attempts to avoid others or prevent them from finding out about the occurrence of negative events	Freeze, concealment, social withdrawal, avoiding others, abandonment, loneliness	
Coordinate hierarchy of preferences with available options	Choose to adjust preferences to options	9. Accommodation	Attempts to authentically appreciate and fit one's goals and preferences into existing conditions	Acceptance, distraction, cognitive restructuring, focus on the positive, concession, self-encouragement, endorsement	
	Find and create new options	10. Negotiation	Attempts to work cooperatively with current power structure to create better choices	Bargaining, standing up, persuasion, cooperation, priority setting, compromise	
	Give up preferences	11. Submission	Preoccupation or capitulation to negative features of a stressful situation	Rumination, self-blame, rigid perseveration, intrusive thoughts, anxiety, amplification	
	Remove constraints	12. Opposition	Blaming other people for the negative outcome	Fight, blame others, projection, aggression, venting, explosion, revenge	

Notes: Adaptive processes in light gray are considered "stress-affected" in that they are more likely under conditions of threat, whereas adaptive processes in white are more likely under conditions appraised as challenges.

This family is one of the most common subscales in measures of coping, the focus of research on social support (e.g., Taylor, 2011; Taylor & Stanton, 2007), and a core construct in attachment theory under the label "proximity seeking" (Bowlby, 1969/1973). Supportseeking is a productive way of coordinating reliance with social resources because it provides respite, recovery, and an opportunity to build resources for re-entering the fray (e.g., experiences of comfort and encouragement can bolster emotion and motivation).

The second productive family serving these adaptive functions involves Self-Reliance, or individuals' attempts to regulate their own behaviors (e.g., via self-encouragement), emotions (e.g., via self-soothing), or motivation (e.g., via determination). This process is adaptive because it allows people to discover their own strengths, protect others, and conserve social resources. Such a functional analysis is consistent with research on the role of perceived social support (e.g., when individuals know that supports are available but do not call on them) as well as with research on attachment showing that a secure base scaffolds both proximity seeking and greater exploration and self-reliance in children (Ainsworth, 1979; Bowlby, 1969/1973).

Stress-affected families organized around reliance on others include an avoidance and an approach version. When the coping system is overwhelmed, it can lead to avoidance via *Social Isolation*, in which individuals attempt to protect themselves by withdrawing socially and preventing others from finding out about the stressful situation. Members of this family, like concealment and social withdrawal, are unproductive because they both prevent the individual from accessing needed resources and can escalate feelings of loneliness and abandonment (Gardner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2018; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2016). The core category involving approach is *Delegation*, in which individuals try to offload the job of dealing with stressors onto other people. Members of this family, like dependency, entitlement, or executive help-seeking, are unproductive because they not only prevent individuals from building their own coping capacities but also amplify feelings of victimhood and self-pity; they can also exhaust social resources and alienate potential supporters.

Coordinating Preferences and Options: The final four coping families depicted in Table 1.4 are organized around the adaptive processes involved in coordinating one's genuine preferences with the options available in the environment, and so regulate concession and defense. The prototypical family here is Accommodation, in which individuals attempt to flexibly adjust their preferences to fit into current situational constraints (Chapter 15, this volume). This coping family has been discussed under many names (e.g., Morling & Evered, 2006), and its members include ways like acceptance and focus on the positive (see Table 1.4). This family is adaptive because it allows people to "get into it if you can't get out of it," maintain integrity despite losses or constraints, and focus on the positive features of stressful situations (Brandtstädter, 2009: Brandtstädter & Renner, 1990). These strategies are complemented by the family Negotiation, in which people attempt to create new options through bargaining, persuasion, and selection of goals to prioritize (Chapter 21, this volume). These ways of coping are constructive because they can uncover new possibilities on the ground, and help people act in ways that defend their high-priority goals (Baltes & Baltes, 1990).

Central to these families are autonomy and self-determination. These psychological resources allow people to take ownership for their coping and to act in ways that are consistent with their true preferences and priorities (Ntoumanis et al., 2009; Skinner & Edge, 2002; Van Petegem et al., 2017, 2019). The hallmarks of the constructive coping families of Accommodation and Negotiation are flexibility, authenticity, and choice. Unlike perceived control and support-seeking, which represent well-established pillars in coping research, discussions of ownership and selfdetermination in coping have not been as well developed, and have even sometimes been labeled "secondary control," which makes no sense because accommodative processes are not secondary, and they are not control (Skinner, 2007).

When coping systems are overrun, the two unproductive coping families organized around concession and defense involve the nonautonomous responses of Submission and Opposition (Chapter 21, this volume). Ways of coping in the Submission family, like capitulation, resignation, and rumination, are not autonomous because they are not willingly endorsed and so amplify internal pressure (e.g., through negative emotions like anxiety, self-blame, or guilt); they can also interfere with effective action and undercut social support. Opposition, which can involve aggression, blaming others, or revenge, is also nonautonomous because its goals are determined by outside forces; actions are recruited to oppose the agenda of others - without guidance from internal preferences and priorities. It is not adaptive because it tends to amplify anger, undermine coping from more constructive families, and repel other people (Carver & Harmon-Jones, 2009).

Developmental Connections

The identification of a dozen hierarchically organized families of coping forges connections to development in at least three ways. First, it creates bridges to other actionoriented topics, like perceived control, helplessness, attachment, and selfdetermination, that have long been implicated in children's coping (Compas, 1987; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2015) because they focus on how individuals and their social partners face important classes of stressors (such as noncontingency, separation, or coercion). These theories are near-neighbors that help elaborate the substance of coping: They explain how cognition, emotion, and motivation are organized (or disorganized) under stress, and how they are coordinated in the service of action at different ages. They also explain how specific belief systems, like perceived control, internal working models, and autonomy orientations, develop and can shape coping appraisals and action; and why certain social resources, like responsiveness, scaffolding, and autonomy support, should make a difference to how children and vouth experience and learn to cope with challenges and threats.

Second, a hierarchical structure of coping connects ways of coping to the development of both regulation and resilience. At the bottom of the hierarchy are instances of these overlap completely with coping; instances of regulatory efforts that take place under stressful conditions. In fact, regulation researchers have always borrowed heavily from the catalogue of coping categories to classify regulatory attempts (e.g., Compas et al., 2014; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Gross & Thompson, 2007). At the top of the hierarchy, core coping categories are connected to basic adaptive processes - those that coordinate actions and environmental affordances, social resources, and personal values and goals. This connection helps to highlight the functional significance of coping and link it to the development of resilience and vulnerability. In some fundamental sense, the coping system has the potential to both preserve the organism and shepherd its development during stressful encounters - to bring it to safety, to extract an outcome from the environment, to connect with others, to reach its goals. And in the 22



Figure 1.4 A view of families of coping as adaptive functions that allows researchers to identify developmentally graded ways of coping within a family by mapping how those same functions can be achieved through different means at different ages.

process, coping creates learning in its broadest sense, about the qualities and actions of the organism, its genuine priorities, the trustworthiness of social partners, and opportunities in the context.

Developmentally Graded Family Members: Third, this idea - that coping categories are a taxonomy of action types that serve multiple functions in dealing with stress - allows researchers to identify age-graded ways of coping. Functional analyses of each coping family can be used to identify how those combinations of functions can be achieved through different ways of coping based on the equipment available to individuals at different developmental levels, as depicted in Figure 1.4. For example, before the prototypical actions of problem-solving emerge during early

childhood, infants can be seen trying to coordinate their actions with the physical contingencies in the environment (e.g., Watson, 1966; Watson & Ramey, 1972). At even younger ages, infants begin to coordinate their actions with social contingencies. Initial expressions of distress turn into communications, when neonates start to intentionally direct their signals to caregivers, waiting after a bid to see whether a response is forthcoming before they signal again (e.g., Paavola et al., 2005). Since these actions are used when the infant is distressed, they can be considered early members of the Problem-Solving family of coping. In fact, they are integral to the problem-solving and instrumental actions of "external coping" provided by caregivers in response to infants' signals (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

Support-seeking provides another clear example of developmental progression. Its prototypical family member proximity seeking has been used as an organizing construct in work on attachment to provide an umbrella for the myriad ways that infants and young children can get to caregivers when they are distressed (Chapter 3, this volume). The means that infants use to accomplish this function change with age. They start with cries, signals, and reaching - which bring caregivers to them – and later develop more active means like crawling and walking – which bring them closer to the caregiver. Family members extend all the way up the age range, for example, as an adolescent phones home or a young adult comforts themselves with thoughts of their late grandmother. The identification of age-graded members of coping families paves the way for the documentation of developmental trajectories and transformations in coping from birth to emerging adulthood - as new equipment comes online that creates new ways to carry out each set of functions (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

Idea 5. Coping Emerges from an Integrated Multi-level System

The fifth and final big idea of a systems perspective is, of course, about the complexity of the system itself. The key idea is that coping, although manifest at the level of individual action, is the product of a multi-level system, including the neurophysiological and psychological subsystems that give rise to it, and the interpersonal and societal contexts in which it is embedded. As depicted in Figure 1.5, this perspective anchors coping to the level of action, where it is visible in the episodic processes depicted by transactional models. Definitions of coping as action regulation under stress differentiate the intertwined processes of stress reactivity, action tendencies, and regulation that emerge on that level. The repeated operation of this system results in the accumulation of episodes involving both adaptive and maladaptive responses, and so creates a developmental signature of coping, as depicted in Figure 1.5 by a trail of slices of coping.

Underlying Neurophysiological and Psychological Processes

A focus on reactivity and regulation on the plane of action dictates the psychological processes underlying coping; these include the attentional, emotional, motivational, behavioral, cognitive, and metacognitive subsystems that jointly generate action tendencies and regulate them under stress. At the neurophysiological level are the biological subsystems used to detect and react to stress, to regulate stress reactivity, and to recover and learn from stressful transactions. Most centrally, these involve the sympathetic-adrenal medullary axis (SAM), the parasympathetic nervous system, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis, the amygdala, the hippocamand the prefrontal cortex (PFC), pus. especially the anterior cingulate cortex because it subserves both cognitive and emotional processing (Compas, 2006).

Developmental Connections: A multi-level conceptualization of coping is developmentally friendly in that it pinpoints many neurophysiological and psychological subsystems that change and develop, both normatively and differentially, all of which can influence the development of coping on the level of action. At the neurophysiological level, all these subsystems show age-graded changes that can impact how the coping system is organized and functions (e.g., Engel & Gunnar, 2020; Lupien et al., 2018; Mulkey & du Plessis, 2019; Porges, 2018). For example, a history of caring and responsive interactions



Figure 1.5 An integrative multi-level conceptualization of coping as a biopsychosocial process that includes: (1) the *neurophysiological level*, including psychobiological subsystems used to detect and react to stress and to regulate stress reactivity, most centrally, the sympathetic-adrenal medullary (SAM) axis, the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS); the hypothalamic-pituitary axis (HPA), the amygdala, the hippocampus, and the prefrontal cortex (PFC), especially the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC); (2) the *psychological level*, including the attentional, emotional, and motivational subsystems involved in stress reactivity and regulation; and (3) the *level of action*, including the behavioral, cognitive, and metacognitive subsystems that jointly generate action tendencies and that integrate and regulate them.

with caregivers typically opens the neonate's stress neurophysiology to comfort from social others and normatively leads many of these systems to go into a period of hyporesponsivity by about the age of 3 months (Gunnar & Hostinar, 2015). This shift establishes the

neurobiological foundations for supportseeking as an omnibus coping category; it also reduces stress reactivity, improves stress recovery, and supports more constructive engagement and coping with all manner of demands and challenges. The same principle holds for the development of coping-relevant processes at the psychological level. For example, the development of cognitive processes opens the way for appraisals to move from implicit to explicit expectations, and eventually to emerge as fully reflective and metacognitive processes.

Not all normative developmental changes signal progress, however. At the neurophysiological level, early life stress can produce changes that exacerbate stress reactivity and undermine regulation (e.g., Engel & Gunnar, 2020; Lupien et al., 2009) in ways that make stress-affected coping more likely at subsequent stages. Or at the psychological level, age-graded changes in motivation, such as those found in the academic domain, typically comprise declines in many features (e.g., intrinsic motivation, self-efficacy, engagement) students negotiate school transitions as (Wigfield et al., 2015). These motivational losses correspond to age-graded changes in the deployment of academic coping over the same developmental periods (e.g., Skinner & Saxton, 2020; Chapter 27, this volume). At every age, coping on the level of action emerges from the integration and balance among the developmental forces acting on it, some of which reflect advances (e.g., in coping capacities) and some of which reflect constraints (e.g., in performance factors that influence its deployment).

Overarching Social Forces

As depicted in Figure 1.6, coping and the reactivity and regulation it entails are deeply social phenomena, and so are decisively shaped by *interpersonal relationships* and other social forces (Compas, 1987; Garmezy & Rutter, 1983; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016; Chapters 3 and 17, this volume). As the steps in coping episodes unfold, other people (especially caregivers, but also extended family, friends and other peers, teachers,

mentors, and so on) can participate directly in these transactions (Chapters 3, 18, 19, 20, and 22, this volume). Social partners can reduce or amplify demands, corroborate or question appraisals, suggest or prevent ways of coping, offer interpretations of coping transactions that consolidate learning or escalate distress, and create or prevent short- and long-term consequences. Some of these interpersonal processes can even be called cocoping or co-regulation, as for example in coproblem-solving or co-rumination (Waller et al., 2014; Chapters 17 and 22, this volume). At the same time, interpersonal relationships and interactions scaffold individuals' coping, as depicted in processes of parenting, emotion and coping coaching, and socialization (Bradlev, 2007: Eisenberg, 2020: Howe & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2022; Kliewer et al., 1994; Power, 2004; Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007; Chapter 18, this volume). At its most general, this level includes the relationships, social interactions, and local contexts that create the interpersonal matrix within which the structure and functioning of coping's many neurophysiological, psychological, reactive, and regulatory subsystems develop.

Finally, a systems perspective highlights the role of higher-order factors at the *cultural* and societal level that shape processes of coping in multiple ways (e.g., Chun et al., 2006; Clauss-Ehlers, 2008; Kuo, 2011; Chapter 23, this volume). Such forces operate directly, by driving differential risks and resources into the niches occupied by children and youth from subgroups who sit on different rungs in the ladder of society's status hierarchy (Spencer, 2006; Chapter 24, this volume). Societal factors influence the stressors that are allowed to make their way into the lives of children and youth, and the resources they can access to deal with them. These forces also impact coping indirectly by shaping the societal stressors and resources that influence their



Figure 1.6 An integrative multi-level conceptualization of coping as a biopsychosocial process that adds: (4) the *interpersonal level*, including participation in coping by social partners as well as interpersonal relationships (such as with caregivers, extended family, friends, peers, and teachers) that create the interpersonal matrix within which the structure and functioning of coping's many subsystems develop; and (5) the *societal level*, including the demands that specific niches within society allow to impinge on children and adolescents as they develop and the supports that are available to them, as well as the societal stressors and resources that influence their social partners and contexts, like neighborhoods, homes, and schools.

social partners and contexts, like neighborhoods, homes, and schools (Tolan & Grant, 2009; Wadsworth et al., 2018). Moreover, the cultural communities in which children and adolescents are embedded also offer higherorder collective coping strategies, focused, for example, on mutual support, cooperation, collective efficacy, spirituality, sense of purpose, strong positive cultural/racial/ethnic identities, and fighting for social justice (e.g., Hope & Spencer, 2017; Kuo, 2013; McNamara et al., 2013; Spencer et al., 2003; Wadsworth et al., 2018).

Integrated System

A multi-level perspective lays out the complex system that comprises the coping of infants. children, and youth, and shows the many constructs and areas of research that need to fit inside this "bigger boat." At the same time, it highlights the *integration* of all these processes in service of the functions of coping. So, for example, the neurophysiological subsystems that underlie threat detection. stress reactivity. regulation, and recovery can be thought of as a single multi-level integrated neurovisceral "super-system" (Koenig, 2020; Smith et al., 2017; Thayer & Lane, 2009; Chapter 9, this volume) that, when working optimally, supports flexible functioning that is wellcalibrated to internal and external conditions. When stress is low, it supports constructive goal-directed engagement with social and physical environments. If uncertainty or novelty appear, it instigates an observant and cautious readiness for action. In the face of challenge, it can marshal short-term energetic resources and enhanced regulation. If transactions become threatening, it can trigger automatic stress reactions that activate fight or flight behaviors; if these fail, it can initiate the shutdown of a "freeze" response (i.e., immobilization). When danger has passed, it can

rapidly switch off resource-expensive reactions and then more slowly reset the entire system to homeostatic functioning, allowing a return to productive social and physical interactions or, if needed, a pause for rest and recovery.

In the same vein, the psychological processes that underlie stress reactivity and action regulation, including emotional, attentional, behavioral, motivational, volitional, and cognitive subsystems, can be thought of as an integrated "super-system" that subserves adaptations to environmental challenges, threats, and dangers (e.g., Cole et al., 2019; Nigg, 2017). In other words, action readiness and regulation coping - comprises a unitary holistic system that is hierarchical, dynamic, and flexible, with first lines of defense and fallbacks. This system is adaptive because it continuously attunes itself to changing neuropsychological, social, and external affordances and demands (Lupien et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2017; Thayer & Lane, 2009), allowing up- and downregulation of attentional and energetic resources needed to deal effectively with goal-directed action under stress.

All the processes studied as parts of stress reactivity, action readiness, and regulation (e.g., executive function, cognitive control, attention regulation, emotion regulation) can be considered parts of a biopsychosocial system that can be (re)assembled into a wide variety of functional units in response to patterns of internal and external demands. Paraphrasing Joëls and Baram's (2009) apt description of stress, all of these "coping instruments" can be considered parts of the "biopsychobehavioral symphony of coping." By focusing on the ways that coping systems can be organized and function, it may be possible to glimpse the development of this system as the sequential emergence of these levels and their successive integration (e.g., Loman & Gunnar, 2010; McEwen et al., 2016; Porges, 2018; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

Such analyses may begin to explain how coping systems show qualitative age-graded shifts as infants, children, and adolescents develop.

How Does the Coping System Develop?

A systems perspective specifies two ways in which coping develops: (1) it develops according to parts, that is, the system changes as each part develops; and (2) it develops according to wholes, as the organization and functioning of the entire system undergo qualitative shifts. In previous sections, we provided a few examples of the development of the coping system's parts by following the five big ideas and examining how they create entryways into age-graded changes in coping. Each idea forges theoretical links to developing subsystems, thus guiding investigation of how the development of component processes underlying coping combine to influence the emergence of new coping abilities at successive ages. In this section, we focus on reorganizations of the whole. We consider the development of coping to be a lifelong process (Aldwin, 2007), beginning at or before birth, that proceeds through multiple qualitative reorganizations, and is influenced at every step by the participation of social partners, interactions, relationships, and contexts (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016). In fact, it can be argued that the roles played by social partners also show qualitative shifts in organization as infants, children, and adolescents develop.

Perhaps the easiest way of understanding the organization of each of these developmental periods is that the *means* of coping – the coping equipment available to individuals – changes with age. For example, the emergence of language brings new means of appraising stressful situations and of seeking help.

Qualitative shifts in the coping system coalesce to produce new kinds of appraisal and action tools that can, with scaffolded practice, be successively applied to deal with stressful transactions. From this perspective, general appraisal and action mechanisms of coping accumulate developmentally, starting with stress responses guided by reflexes that fuse "coping" actions to the sensory system during the neonatal period; and adding implicit appraisals and regulation via action schemes during infancy; supplemented by explicit appraisals and voluntary coping through direct action during preschool age; coping appraisals and actions using reflective cognitive means during middle childhood; and metacognitive means during adolescence. At every age, these shifts allow coping appraisals and actions to become more effectively calibrated to internal capacities and external affordances, better coordinated with other people, and guided by increasingly autonomous values and goals. So far, evidence suggests that new means do not replace old means, they augment them, creating a broader and more differentiated repertoire of coping tools as children develop (Rochat, 2015), such that individuals can always use earlier means of coping (e.g., interpersonal instead of individual coping or behavioral instead of cognitive coping) as back-ups if stress is high or capacities are diminished (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

Qualitative Reorganizations in the Coping System from Birth to Emerging Adulthood

Given definitions of coping as reactivity and action regulation under stress, its development closely follows the development of stress reactivity and regulation (Engel & Gunnar, 2020) and of integrated executive regulatory processes (Cole et al., 2019; Nigg, 2017). Like

all regulation, the coping system develops from external modes of coping, carried out largely by caregivers during the first year of life, to increasingly internal and autonomous forms as children and adolescents develop (e.g., Ryan & Deci, 2017; Sameroff, 2010). These normative developments unfold in coping systems that differ even before birth in their neurophysiological and temperamental underpinnings, and in the interpersonal contexts provided by caregivers and other social partners. From birth, infants are also active participants in coping processes, communicating their emotional reactions and preferences, expressed initially through undifferentiated behaviors, and then communicated and acted on intentionally as development continues. All of coping's subsystems are also shaped by objective stressors, that is, the actual challenges, adversities, threats, and losses children and their families encounter daily. We offer our current working model of the development of coping, comprising six age-graded reorganizations. These six periods are outlined in Table 1.5, along with the changing role of social partners. Each is described here only briefly to provide a sense of how the coping system undergoes qualitative changes over development (for details, see Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

Neonatal Period: Stress Reactivity and "External Coping" via the Caregiver

The development of coping starts before birth, as underlying neurophysiological and temperamental foundations are laid down that will eventually make the tasks of coping easier or harder to accomplish (Engel & Gunnar, 2020). The first coping system, like all subsequent systems, is both neurophysiological (rooted in temperament; Derryberry et al., 2003) and social (based on attachment; Sroufe, 1996). At birth, neonates' coping equipment starts as reflexive reactions fused to a vigilant and reactive sensory and neurophysiological system. This system produces a diffuse set of undirected emotional expressions, to which caregivers respond, using increasingly more effective strategies for repair and comfort (Sroufe, 1996). Adult actions can be viewed as "external coping," because they fulfill all the functions of a coping system, such as monitoring and detecting threats, protecting, removing stressors, soothing, comforting, and learning how to deal with stress more effectively (Engel & Gunnar, 2020; Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006).

Two major reorganizations take place in the coping system during the first 3 months of life – one neurophysiological and one social. The first starts at birth. Until then the neurophysiological systems subserving coping are accustomed to operating *inside* the mother's body so, following birth, a qualitative reorganization is needed so these systems can develop the capacity to establish stable homeostatic functioning outside such a protective environment (Lupien et al., 2018). In the context of a secure attachment relationship, the neurophysiological systems subserving stress reactivity (e.g., the HPA axis) go into a period of hyporesponsivity (Gunnar & Hostinar, 2015). This shift reduces stress reactivity and frees resources for practicing the up- and downregulation needed to move the neonate from homeostatic functioning (e.g., digestion and sleep) to constructive engagement (i.e., alert participation) to coping with stress (i.e., regulation), and back again (i.e., recovery; Engel & Gunnar, 2020).

The second reorganization during this period involves a shift from strictly neurophysiological reactivity, regulation, and recovery to the beginnings of interpersonal regulation of these systems by caregivers. Based on a history of caring and responsive interactions, infants' neurobiological systems

Developmental period	Approximate ages	Nature of coping appraisals	Nature of coping actions	Role of social partners	Nature of regulation
1. Neonate	Birth to 3 months	Sensory systems	Reflexes; stress reactivity	Carry out coping actions based on neonate's emotional expressions	External regulation
2. Infancy	First year	Implicit appraisals	Coordinated action schema	Carry out coping actions based on infant's intentional communications Social buffering	Interpersonal co-regulation
3. Toddlerhood	Second year	Explicit appraisals	Emotional action regulation	Participate in demands and coping responses Social buffering	Cooperative self-regulation
4. Early childhood	Ages 2–5	Inferential appraisals	Coping using voluntary direct actions	Available for direct help and participation Peers added	Intrapersonal self-regulation
5. Middle childhood	Ages 6–8	Cognitive reappraisals	Coping using cognitive means	Cooperate with and support child's coping efforts Friends added	Coordinated self-regulation
6. Adolescence					
Early	Ages 10-12	Reflective reappraisals	Reactivity increases Coping using metacognitive means	Reminder coping Social buffering decreases	Proactive self-regulation
Middle	Ages 14-16		Coping based on personal values	Back-up coping	Identified self-regulation
Late	Ages 18–22		Coping based on long- term goals; Emotion- and problem-focused coping integrated	Monitoring coping	Integrated self-regulation

Table 1.5 Broad outlines of possible developmental shifts in the means of coping from birth through adolescence

develop the capacity to be up-regulated (i.e., engaged) and down-regulated (i.e., comforted) by caregivers, thus opening them to regulation from social partners (Feldman, 2017) and creating a sheltered venue for neonates to practice their own burgeoning regulatory capacities. This development also paves the way for the introduction of a crucial omnibus coping strategy, namely, proximity seeking (Bowlby, 1969/ 1973), upon which future coping will be built. This coping family is well-integrated with neonates' actual emotions, motivations, and neurophysiological states because responsive caregiving is based on infants' genuine preferences as they are expressed in real time (Sroufe, 1996).

Hence, by about 3 months of age, infant coping has become an integrated stress reactivity and regulatory system that is tuned to safety and thus hyporesponsive – capable of both supporting homeostatic functions and dispatching energetic resources for responding to external demands. As part of the developmental tasks of this period, dyads build out from newborns' stress neurophysiology to create a stable biobehavioral platform for infants on the level of reactivity and regulation that will support the subsequent development of coping systems that children can (eventually) operate for themselves.

Infancy: Implicit Appraisals, Intentional Action Regulation, and Co-regulatory Coping

The fundamentals of regulatory coping processes, such as attention and working memory, are present in newborns but undergo qualitative transformations as infants develop (Kopp, 1989; Posner et al., 2014). The healthy progress of these biobehavioral subsystems, such as the emergence of executive attention and the expansion of working memory capacity, is dependent on safe and rich social and physical worlds, including dependable care, secure attachments, and opportunities for stimulating interactions (Pallini et al., 2018). Three developments, important to reorganizations in the coping system during the first year, involve advances in coping appraisals, coping actions, and the capacity to coordinate coping with social partners.

First, stress reactivity and regulation are lifted off relatively automatic neurophysiological subsystems and come to be triggered and guided by infants' implicit appraisals of challenging and stressful encounters; as studied, for example, in research on internal working models (Bretherton, 1996; Sherman et al., 2015) and generalized expectations of contingency (Watson, 1966). Implicit appraisals are constructed from the running total of infants' cumulative experiences in interactions with the interpersonal and physical environments, so they are tightly integrated with transactions on the ground. Such appraisals likely work outside of conscious awareness to identify and decipher the meaning of challenging and threating transactions, and so open the door for the practice of intrinsic coping responses based on fundamental emotional and motivational processes (Barrett & Campos, 1991).

The second major development of this period involves infants' coping actions. They become more robust and goal-directed as sensorimotor intentionality emerges and is consolidated (Zeedyk, 1996), thus readying intrinsic action systems for authentic expression, exploration, interaction, and tenacity. These advances systematically convert preferences to purposes, and so are utilized to guide goal-directed actions and communications aimed at dealing with and overcoming challenges and problems. The onset of locomotion brings a range of new means of coping (Campos et al., 2000).

Third, the interpersonal nature of the coping system is transformed, moving away from

largely external coping carried out by caregivers (under the supervision of infant preferences) and toward a co-regulatory system created by both caregiver and baby where infants learn to help negotiate stressful transactions (Evans & Porter, 2009; Gianino & Tronick, 1988). Within this dyadic system, infants' newly constructed appreciations and goal-directed actions increasingly participate in "coping packages" that are co-generated and co-enacted by caregiver and infant and stored as action schema for use in future stressful encounters (Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006). Together, these social relationships and coping capacities (and their feedback in reprogramming developing stress neurophysiology toward higher tipping points and faster recovery) may lead to improved biobehavioral stress resistance and stress resilience by the end of the first year (DiCorcia & Tronick, 2011).

32

Toddlerhood: Explicit Appraisals, Emotional Action Regulation, and Cooperative Coping

Three important developments underlie agegraded shifts in coping during the second year of life. As during previous age periods, these involve transformations in the tools used for coping appraisals and actions as well as the reorganization of the interpersonal system. First, representational capacities emerge (e.g., as seen in language). This transforms the "radar" of coping so that implicit appraisals become explicit belief systems that interpret the experience of potentially stressful interactions and shape subsequent reactivity and readiness for action. This emerging appraisal system, because it is still tied to actual transactions on the ground, continues to provide a stream of realistic information to the coping system. At the same time, the experiences of most toddlers are taking place in the protected environment of a secure attachment relationship, so these beliefs are positively biased,

creating a psychological buffer that positively colors explicit interpretations of challenging and threatening experiences.

Second, the development of emotion and self-systems, as seen in burgeoning self- and emotional awareness, understanding, and (Thompson, 2015). regulation integrates intrinsic motivational and goal-directed action systems with emotion, and converts "emotional action regulation" to coping efforts guided by an increasingly agentic self. This transformation generates more durable intentions and coping actions. It also creates new sources of potential stress (e.g., experiences of self-conscious emotions like guilt and shame; interpersonal goal conflicts) that produce new venues where coping can be practiced.

Third, when the capacity for shared intentionality emerges (Tomasello & Carpenter, 2007), this advance transforms the nature of the interpersonal coping system, which up until now was co-regulatory. It increasingly becomes a cooperative "triadic" system; in addition to the toddler and caregiver, it now includes the problems faced by the child as an object of their joint attention, which they can face as a united front (Tomasello, 2007). In this emerging system, children's stressors and problems, as well as their coping appraisals and actions, can now become topics of joint conversation. As children learn to "use their words" to express desires and feelings, they can discuss and reflect on these motivational and emotional states, consider alternative goals suggested by others, and employ words to take on those goals and to encourage themselves to focus on and enact these new behaviors.

Crucial to the development of this cooperative coping system is the caregiver's continued support for genuine communication and productive regulation of emotions and emotionally inspired actions, sometimes called emotion or coping coaching (Gus et al., 2015;

Morris et al., 2017) or socialization (Eisenberg, 2020; Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2022). Although these transformations can be somewhat "bumpy" (Brownell & Kopp, 2007; Lewis et al., 2004), toddlers begin to become reciprocally concerned about the emotions and problems of their caregivers, forming a relationship characterized by a mutually responsive orientation (An et al., 2021; Kochanska et al., 2008). Just as a secure attachment opened neonates' stress neurophysiology to the regulation of caregivers during the first months of life, a secure attachment during toddlerhood opens the child's volition to the regulation of caregivers, promoting young children's willingness to cooperate with the caregiver in dealing with conflicts and problems.

Early Childhood: Inferential Appraisals, Voluntary Action Regulation, and Individual Coping

Three crucial developments contribute to qualitative shifts in coping during early childhood, when coping undergoes the transformation from an *interpersonal* to an *intrapersonal* process. First, regulation evinces perhaps its most important qualitative shift - it becomes truly voluntary. For researchers who define coping as entailing voluntary efforts (e.g., Compas et al., 1999), this transition marks the beginning of coping proper. The emergence of voluntary coping, like all other developments in the coping system, is a Neurocognitive biopsychosocial process. executive capacities, like attention, working memory, and inhibitory control, improve but also become more differentiated and better coordinated during early childhood (Nigg, 2017), shaped by the quality of home and preschool contexts. Young children exercise regulatory capacities when they have structured opportunities to follow routines and rules,

respond to adults' requests for appropriate behavior, and constructively negotiate interpersonal interactions with peers (Laursen et al., 2001; McClelland et al., 2015). The transactions most relevant to coping are those, like emotion regulation, that take place in hot situations, involving young children's desires and goals (e.g., Thompson, 2015). Increased integration among regulatory subsystems enables a range of new coping responses, such as the intentional generation of alternative action options (Keen, 2011).

Second, advances in theories of mind and affect allow young children to appraise conflicts and difficulties using increasingly more complex mental models that, through the incorporation of inferential concepts, begin to grant others a range of understandings, emotions, and desires that differ from oneself and from reality. Especially important to coping are conversations with social partners about everyday problems and dilemmas - discussions that take others' perspectives and consider alternative causal interpretations and possible actions in the face of stressful events. Interestingly, at this same age, relationships with friends and other peers supplement those with adult attachment figures and begin to take on the role of buffering children's neurophysiology from the effects of stressful transactions (Engel & Gunnar, 2020).

Third, the emergence of a moral compass, as depicted in research on the development of conscience (Kochanska et al., 2010), offers young children a set of tools to coordinate the goals and actions of the self with those of others using increasingly internalized moral values and principles. As capacities for voluntary self-regulation develop, social partners (e.g., family members and preschool teachers) create "problems" for young children by demanding increasingly more mature and socially appropriate rule-governed behavior. Such problems occasion episodes of coping

where children must coordinate their actions and emotions according to these demands.

The emergence of voluntary coping actions can be considered a shift from self-control or compliance based on co-regulation with adults to genuine self-regulation, initiated by an increasingly mastery-oriented self. Throughout this period, involvement of caregivers is essential, but they must figure out how to scaffold young children as they test-drive their own self-regulated coping systems. This inevitably involves the construction of "redemption routines" and debriefing conversations following coping fails. Together, these developments again shift the coping system's center of gravity to an increasingly more autonomous self, as young children can appraise and deal with problems and stressors using their own interpretations and actions as a first line of defense, with direct participation of caregivers now relegated to a second-line back-up.

Middle Childhood: Cognitive Reappraisal, Mental Modes of Coping, and Coordination with Demands

The "five-to-seven-year shift" (Sameroff & Haith, 1996) marks the beginning of a new developmental period for the coping system. Although children's regulatory capacities have undergone multiple reorganizations by this age, they are still relatively basic (McClelland et al., 2015). Important advances are occasioned by the "cognitive revolution" (Case & Griffin, 1990; Case et al., 1988), when selfregulatory strategies that were previously expressed as actions on the ground increasingly become "cognitivized," that is, reconstructed as a psychological inventory of action options (Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006). Three key changes underlie reorganizations of the coping system during this age period, involving appraisals, coping actions, and coordination with others.

First, "cognitivization" results in the emergence and consolidation of new representational capacities that permit children to deliberately reappraise stressful events in ways that influence their emotional responses and coping actions (Davis-Kean et al., 2009). This allows them to integrate their executive processes with motivational and emotional impulses (now also stored as cognitive reflections), enabling regulation to become more autonomous and so require fewer resources to enact. These developments also give children the capacity to intentionally track their own emotional and motivational states and begin to modulate them through coping strategies like cognitive reframing and positive selftalk (Band & Weisz, 1990; Davis et al., 2010).

Second, regulatory capacities are exercised, strengthened, and consolidated into more advanced executive processes like goaldirected problem-solving. Studies of the development of regulation reveal a hierarchy of such processes that continue to grow throughout this period (Nigg, 2017), becoming more differentiated, context independent, and complex. These new mental means are incorporated in problem-solving and emotion regulation, contributing to the emergence of more complex executive processes, like strategizing, sequencing, and planning. This leads to improvements in children's abilities to identify, negotiate, and enact constructive solutions, even under demanding conditions, such as interpersonal conflict. Across this age range, children are increasingly able to differentiate and deploy a wider range of coping options. During early childhood, coping shows little differentiation: young children primarily seek support from caregivers, intervene directly in stressful situations, withdraw, or use behavioral activities to distract themselves. During middle childhood, however, all these strategies become more differentiated as a host of mental means are added. For example, problem-

solving and distraction become more diverse and flexible as children increasingly draw upon both behavioral and cognitive tactics.

Third, as executive functions continue to grow, children can more intentionally and appropriately coordinate ways of coping with changing internal and external affordances and constraints. For example, children not only rely on additional sources of support (such as teachers, peers, and extended family members), but also become more selective and attuned to stressor- and context-specific information when seeking advice, help, or comfort. Together, these emerging capacities allow children to employ a wider range of behavioral and cognitive coping tools for productively dealing with stressors from both the instrumental (e.g., academic; Skinner & Saxton, 2020) and interpersonal (e.g., peer conflict; Seiffge-Krenke & Pakalniskiene, 2011) domains, while at the same time becoming better able to tune into internal emotional and motivational states and intentionally work to restore well-being, recover, and learn from stressful encounters.

Such coping transactions, when supported by caring social partners (both peers and adults), contribute to the continued development of pragmatic and constructive selfsystems during middle childhood (as seen, for example, in increasing feelings of coping efficacy, sense of belonging, and autonomous orientations) that will anchor children's subsequent efforts to manage the challenges and stressors they encounter. During middle childhood, these developments collectively produce a system that seems to be particularly sturdy and resilient. At this age, children have a wider range of flexible appraisal and action tools than at younger ages, but do not yet have to deal with the increasing stress reactivity and social sensitivity that will challenge the

Adolescence: Heightened Reactivity, Proactive Regulation, and Increased Coping Flexibility

The development of coping during adolescence covers many years and seems to be even more extended today with longer periods between puberty and becoming established in work, forming long-term relationships, or having children. Thus, this topic could fill its own chapter (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016) and even its own book (Frydenberg, 2018: Seiffge-Krenke, 2013). The shift to adolescence begins around ages 10-12, with the onset of puberty and other neurophysiological developments, which are accompanied by changing patterns of thinking and feeling about the self, relationships, and society (Spear, 2000). In addition, the social worlds of youth expand, bringing a greater range of potential social supports and stressful experiences. Three important developments underlie transformations in the coping system during this age period, including notable changes in stress reactivity systems, richer tools for social and emotional understanding, and advances in metacognitive processes.

First, neurophysiological stress reactivity systems generally come out of their period of hyporesponsivity during adolescence, just as encounters with actual stressful events are normatively on the rise and the power of attachment figures to physiologically buffer stress appears to be waning (Engel & Gunnar, 2020). The onset of puberty seems to bring with it greater motivational and emotional sensitivity to some hot events, especially threats, rewards, and interpersonal interactions. Such reactivity may outstrip the developing capacities of the regulatory system, producing what appear to be setbacks in regulatory functioning despite normative advances in executive processes (e.g., Casey, 2015; Steinberg et al., 2018; Chapter 11, this volume). Some researchers suggest that such elevated stress reactivity creates repeated opportunities for youth to practice and grow their developing regulatory and coping "muscles" in these emotionally and motivationally hot situations (Casey, 2015; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). In fact, researchers even hypothesize that the reopening of the neurophysiology subserving stress reactivity and regulation that accompanies puberty allows for a recalibration of those systems, including reorganization and repair following early life stress (DePasquale et al., 2019).

Second, adolescents' tools for appraisal are enriched by normative advances in empathy, understanding of emotions, and affective theory of mind, allowing youth to generate richer and more accurate depictions of the complex factors in play during stressful transactions. The continued development of selfsystem processes during this period also influences adolescents' appraisals and reevaluations of distressing experiences. For example, important transitions may take place between ages 14 and 16, when autonomy and identity become increasingly salient (Côté, 1996; Van Petegem et al., 2018; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2010; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2018).

Third, beginning in adolescence, metacognitive capacities emerge, allowing more sophisticated future-oriented executive processes that can proactively anticipate problems, and consider both long-term goals and effects on others (Case et al., 1988; Davis et al., 2010). These burgeoning capabilities enable youth to more intentionally and flexibly use executive processes to coordinate their actions with changing internal and external conditions, such as the demands and resources available in specific situations. Normative improvements in the flexibility of regulatory systems can result in some unreliability in actions on the ground, but they also foster the capacity to better align (and realign) coping strategies with specific stressors as these encounters unfold.

Toward the middle and end of adolescence, this emerging complex of self-regulatory skills allows adolescents to integrate problemfocused and emotion-focused coping, as youth are increasingly able to use the developmentally more demanding skills of hot executive functions to maintain access to their higherorder cognitive capacities under increasingly challenging conditions of risk and reward. Despite overall developmental trends that indicate normative improvements, it is important to underscore that the hot regulatory processes so crucial to coping are harder for children and adolescents to deploy at every age and develop more slowly across the entire age range (Cohen et al., 2016).

Heightened focus on peers and then romantic partners during this period contributes to improved interpersonal coping, and adds supplementary, increasingly important, layers of support and protection for coping. Additional important transformations may take place from middle to late adolescence (about ages 20-22), when significant social transitions motivate better coping, as well as ushering in potentially stressful new experiences, such as leaving home (Arnett, 2000). Neurobiological developments continue, further integrating decision-making (Reyna & Farley, 2006) with the processing of emotions (Spear, 2000). In terms of coping, improvements in metacognitive and emotion regulation capacities enable adolescents to better manage their stress reactions, select and structure their environments, and consider long-term consequences, thereby becoming more able to deal with local stressors without losing sight of future goals and priorities. By the beginning of emerging adulthood, these burgeoning "metacapacities" enable young adults to construct a reflective representation of the entire coping system. With practice and support, their coping becomes increasingly autonomous and responsible; they get help when needed and learn from their mistakes. In other words, they

increasingly take ownership for the development of their own coping.

Building Up from Neurophysiology and Down from Social Contexts

To end this section, we offer a picture of what we think is developing as the coping system undergoes successive transformations. One way of looking at this process, pictured in Figure 1.7, is that from birth to emerging adulthood, the multi-level coping system pictured in Figure 1.6 is sandwiched between the neurophysiological layer below and the interpersonal and societal layers above. At birth, coping equipment consists only of reflexes at



Social context

Figure 1.7 Broad developmental phases in the development of coping. Age-graded shifts in the implementation of the basic tasks of coping are scaffolded by (1) the development of neurophysiological subsystems and (2) changes in the demands and supports provided by social partners, and especially caregivers. The balance of influence between biological systems and environmental provisions shifts over time, such that biological tendencies and social forces are more prominent influences on coping in the early years, but the normative development of coping progressively entails a larger and larger role for the active individual in shaping stress responses and regulatory activities with increasing age, as represented by the smaller and smaller arrows that emanate from neurophysiology and the social context as development proceeds. The boxes that contain "coordination" are represented as growing larger and larger as these functions are successively accomplished first by reflexes, then by an intentional infant, an agentic toddler, and finally by a deliberate young child capable of volitional self-regulation, who becomes more reflective and proactive over middle childhood and all during adolescence.

the level of action and fused sensory, attention, emotion, and motivation systems at the psychological level. The task of the caregiver and the neonate is to begin building out an increasingly more complex and effective appraisal and action system, slowly creating a larger and larger role for the active individual in carrying out the tasks of radar, readiness, regulation, recovery, and re-evaluation. These new coping tools will function more effectively to the extent that they are tightly coordinated with neurophysiological layers below and social layers above. Close cooperation with neurophysiological subsystems allows coping to be continually updated with accurate information about the organism's genuine states, emotions, goals, and preferences. Close coordination with social partners allows these systems to co-regulate, cooperate, and work together to carry out coping tasks.

As shown in Figure 1.7, in many ways the development of the coping system is the progressive expansion of the appraisal and action systems as infants, children, and adolescents grow and change. The role for the active individual in shaping stress responses and regulatory activities expands with increasing age. These transformations are represented by the boxes that contain "coordination": They grow larger and larger as these functions are carried out first by reflexes, then successively accomplished by an intentional infant, an agentic toddler, and finally by a deliberate young child capable of volitional self-regulation, who becomes more reflective and proactive over middle childhood and all during adolescence. The balance of influence between biology and environmental provisions shifts over time, such that biological tendencies and social forces are more prominent influences on coping in the early years, but their influences become less central as they are successively incorporated into developing psychological and action subsystems with increasing age. These changes are represented by the smaller and smaller arrows that emanate from neurophysiology and the social context as development proceeds. This pattern is the same one described by many developmentalists for agegraded changes in regulatory processes (e.g., Sameroff, 2010).

Translation to Practice: Supporting and Repairing the Development of Coping

We end with a few thoughts about the important work of practitioners, clinical researchers, and prevention scientists in supporting the development of coping, as they use foundational research to design prevention and intervention programs to improve the way that children and youth react to and deal with stress, either directly or via those who support them (e.g., Compas et al., 2010; Lewis & Frydenberg, 2002; Pincus & Friedman, 2004; Sandler et al., 1997; Wadsworth et al., 2018; Chapters 26 and 28, this volume). While examining the effects of such programmatic efforts, some researchers have been moved to ask whether interventions really change anything (e.g., Seiffge-Krenke, 2004). We think that a developmental systems perspective has the potential to help explain why coping can be resistant to change, why it is such an important target for intervention, and where some effective levers for fostering its development may lie.

Why the Coping System Is Challenging to Change

A developmental systems approach may help explain why it can be difficult to change the ways that children and youth cope (e.g., Seiffge-Krenke, 2004). Such difficulty makes more sense if coping is not seen primarily as a "strategy" to be taught, but instead as a mode of adaptation that reflects a history of thousands upon thousands of transactions that have created an individually and developmentally organized system. To paraphrase Ross Thompson's (1991) apt description of the development of emotion regulation: "Psychologically, [coping] is a painstaking developmental process because it requires intervening into phylogenetically deeply-rooted [stress reactivity] systems with psychologically complex control mechanisms" (p. 271).

The same can be said of coping interventions. From a developmental systems perspective, coping actions are not just things that children and adolescents happen to do. They emerge from an "apparent reality" (Fridja, 1988) created by a history of actual transactions with demands and stressors. This system also acts as a set of reality-generating processes through its effects on seeking out or avoiding challenge, making stressful situations better or worse, and deciding what such transactions reveal about the self and the world (Conway et al., 2012; Liu, 2013). The longer these processes have been operating, the more consolidated the system becomes. A developmental systems perspective (see Figure 1.6) makes visible the complex, integrated, self-sustaining system that interventionists are up against, and highlights the challenges inherent in making qualitative shifts to improve or repair its functioning.

Moreover, because of the cognitive demands involved in learning new strategies, most programs to improve coping target older children, in late middle childhood or adolescence (i.e., about 10 years old or older; e.g., Cunningham et al., 2002; Frydenberg et al., 2004). On the one hand, as can be inferred from the discussion of age-graded reorganizations of the coping system, the focus on this age makes sense. The cognitive means that can be used for appraisal and coping actions at this age create a pathway for children to benefit from direct instruction. On the other hand, however, middle childhood and early adolescence are very late in the developmental game. Just as the building blocks of coping emerge and develop, starting even before birth, interventions to support the healthy development of coping can also be initiated prenatally and continue across the lifespan (Lupien et al., 2009, 2018). A developmental systems perspective suggests two approaches – one focused on parts and one on wholes – to help identify the levers that can orchestrate transformations in coping systems, both of which suggest agegraded strategies for intervention.

Where the Levers to the Development of Coping Lie: Parts

A systems perspective identifies an almost infinite number of pathways through which practitioners and interventionists can reach the coping system. Figure 1.6, which outlines many of the essential parts of this system, can be used as a menu: Interventionists can walk up its levels for program ideas, starting with support for stress neurophysiology (e.g., strengthening the parasympathetic nervous system), psychological processes (e.g., increasing motivation), appraisals (e.g., inducing reactivity (e.g., downplaying optimism), threat), regulatory capacities (e.g., boosting executive attention), or interpersonal relationships (e.g., increasing social skills; e.g., Larose et al., 2019). A developmental view of the coping system sends interventionists back to the previous sections on age-graded reorganizations, so that program designs can be informed by detailed information about when different subsystems successively come online, dictating the periods during which each subsystem shows its most active development, and what each needs to scaffold the healthy negotiation of the tasks central for each age. For example, developmental models, like polyvagal theory or the life-cycle model of stress, can provide blueprints for the timing and
experiences expected by each of the neurobiological systems involved in reactivity and regulation (Engel & Gunnar, 2020; Gee & Casey, 2015; Lupien et al., 2018; Porges, 2018).

Programs can use this information as a guide to suggest the focus of coping interventions at different ages. For example, at birth, programs could help establish the kind of secure attachment that allows the neonate's multi-level stress neurovisceral physiology - like the hippocampus, amygdala, HPA axis, SAM, vagal circuits, or PFC – to sequentially develop along healthy lines (Cooke et al., 2019; Lupien et al., 2009, 2018; Pallini et al., 2018). Or, when language emerges, programs could work with caregivers so they can nurture their toddlers' clear and accurate communication about feelings and desires, and coach their constructive expression regulation (e.g., England-Mason & and Gonzalez, 2020). Or, during early childhood, programs could show parents how to foster authentic and willing self-regulation, even in the face of frustration and setbacks (Boldt al., 2020; Grolnick et et al., 2019). Complementary school-based programs involving socio-emotional learning (Corcoran et al., 2018) or sports (Waters et al., 2022) are also likely to support the development of coping, since they focus on core competencies (i.e., selfawareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decisionmaking) and provide guided practice to help children deal constructively with their own and others' emotions, goals, and conflicts. All approaches have in common that they target the hot reactivity and regulatory capacities so crucial to coping, can focus on children younger than those typically included in coping interventions, and work to change the ways adults in children's lives (primarily caregivers, families, and teachers) socialize and coach reactivity and regulation during demanding episodes.

Each of these age-graded approaches also represents a gift that keeps on giving. For example, the initial focus on establishing a secure attachment not only supports the healthy development of stress neurobiology during infancy, but also allows it to open up so it can subsequently benefit from the coregulation of caregivers (Gunnar & Hostinar, 2015): the same secure attachment later fosters a mutually responsive orientation that facilitates the socialization of emotion and selfregulation (Kim et al., 2015). In the same vein, early efforts to quiet stress physiology and emotional reactivity make subsequent selfregulation easier; and parent emotion socialization may also reach down and reprogram some of the neural substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation (Tan et al., 2020).

Prevention and Remediation

Practitioners rightly focus on prevention, given that the effects of early life adversity on the development of the neurobiological systems involved in stress reactivity and coping can be epigenetic, structural, and permanent (e.g., Engel & Gunnar, 2020; McEwen et al., 2016). Researchers seeking to discover remediation strategies are guided by the fact that the effects of early life stress follow two principles (Lupien et al., 2018): Effects are cumulative (Sameroff, 2010) and they seem to be concentrated on the neurobiological systems that are developing at the time that adversity is experienced (Gee & Casey, 2015; Lupien et al., 2018; Chapter 10, this volume).

If prevention is not possible, then the ideal scenario is to detect and intervene on a time frame that is very close to the adverse experiences, so that brain systems are still plastic. This insight has led to routine screening for adverse experiences during pediatric visits, followed by two-generation interventions that target both caregiver and infant for services and treatment (Ford et al., 2019). However, once nonnormative structural or functional changes have taken place, their effects cannot always be reversed, so interventions focus on reprogramming systems that are still open, creating compensatory processes, and focusing on strengthening the next developmental layers that are laid down (Lupien et al., 2018; Maier. 2015). The search for remediation strategies ranges from bottom-up interventions, such as pharmacological regimens, to higher-level top-down programs, such as physical exercise (Boparai et al., 2018: McEwen & Gianaros, 2011). Despite the specificity of problems with stress reactivity and regulation created by early exposure to adversity, however, the strongest counterweight to these early adverse experiences seems to converge on the same antidote: massed experiences in safe and enriched environments, but - perhaps surprisingly- not ones that are stress-free (Crane et al., 2019; Masarik & Conger, 2017; Repetti & Robles, 2016). Instead, growth, recovery, and potential reprogramming are especially likely in high-quality social contexts (homes and schools) that offer active social, cognitive, and physical stimulation, exploration, and manageable challenge.

Where the Levers to the Development of Coping Lie: Wholes

Hence, to the list of programs designed to support the development of coping and all its underlying parts, we would add one more key intervention lever: coping transactions themselves. If a developmental history of experiences with stress created the coping system, it is a new history of experiences with stress that will transform it. A wholistic view of the coping system highlights multiple crucial points of entry for interventions, focused on coping actions themselves, but also on the neurobiology, appraisal processes, and social contexts that shape them. This perspective reinforces lessons learned from coping

interventions, that improving coping not only requires new coping actions that solve problems and support emotional expression and regulation, but also necessitates changes in both individuals' ways of viewing themselves and the world and in the social context itself – including the stressful demands and interpersonal supports involved in children's coping (e.g., Compas et al., 2010; Kovacs & Lopez-Duran, 2012; Spencer et al., 2003).

As befits a systems approach, all these features – neurophysiological reactions, coping appraisals, coping actions, and social contexts will have to be shifted simultaneously to transform the system. Each level of this system is important, but as children develop, the relative emphasis may change, from neurophysiological to social to actions and finally appraisals. In fact, across childhood and adolescence, appraisals take on a bigger role and offer a bigger handle to adults wishing to support and rework coping. To be effective in creating developmental shifts in both coping and emotion regulation, interventions take on ever more hyphenated names, like cognitive-behavioral (Mennin et al., 2013) or contextual emotion-regulation (Kovacs & Lopez-Duran, 2012) therapies, in recognition of the bio-psycho-social-cultural processes inherent in coping appraisals and actions (Compas et al., 2014; Goldin et al., 2013).

Coping Transactions as Important Sites for the Development of Coping

Descriptions of the successive reorganizations of the coping system highlight a crucial developmental process: Infants, children, and adolescents learn to cope by coping. That is, the equipment children and youth need to cope well (i.e., the tools used in radar, readiness, regulation, recovery, and reevaluation) are built, an episode at a time, during encounters with stress. These interactions are the grist from which integrated stress reactivity and flexible regulatory capacities (and all the other components of the coping system) are made. Coping transactions reprogram stress neurophysiology (Gee & Casey, 2015; Maier & Watkins, 2010; Ortiz & Conrad, 2018), strengthen regulatory muscles, sculpt attachment relationships, build implicit appraisals and action schema used to deal with challenge and threat, contribute to the development of emotion regulation and understanding, and enable the internalization of moral rules used to guide conscience. It is during interactions with demands and difficulties that coping tools are assembled, tools like problem-solving, negotiation, cooperation, self-reliance, concession, and defense. It is clear, for example, that the primary way children learn to problemsolve is by encountering problems.

Coping is a complex, recursive dynamic system in which top-down and bottom-up processes are shaped by their workings together during stressful transactions. Such transactions comprise thousands upon thousands of episodes whose experience, described using the inverted-U function of the stress response, range from understimulated to engaged to challenged to threatened to overwhelmed and back again (Sapolsky, 2015). The entire coping system - its parts and its organizations - are cumulatively shaped by the processes of coping themselves. Hence, constructive coping is an important target of intervention. It not only helps protect children and youth from the harmful effects of daily stressors, but it also promotes their development, strengthening and consolidating processes from stress neurophysiology to reactivity/readiness to regulation to social relationships.

Coping Transactions in the Zone of Just Manageable Challenge

A primary task of adults is to ensure that the stressors children face in the major domains of

their lives are tackled in a zone of "just manageable challenge," where events are demanding but within the child's capacity to deal with effectively (e.g., Crane et al., 2019; Jamieson et al., 2018; Masarik & Conger, 2017; Repetti & Robles, 2016; Sapolsky, 2015). These experiences promote stress resistance and resilience, but this zone represents a moving target, requiring continual monitoring and readjustment of both demands and supports. Social contexts face a "Goldilocks" dilemma, balancing between challenge and threat (Dhabhar, 2018; Sapolsky, 2015). Coping capacities need to be exercised and stretched to grow, but if the system is overwhelmed, it shuts down and produces patterns of stress-affected coping.

Development complicates this equation. On the one hand, as infants, children, and youth acquire new competencies, these provide new resources for coping. As a result, individuals are more able to deal effectively with new demands and are more likely to seek out new opportunities to exercise developing capacities. On the other hand, however, developmental advances also provide new avenues for experiencing threat and harm. For example, the emergence of locomotion brings with it a range of new coping tools, but it also increases the probability that an infant will fall down the stairs. This dual developmental progress, of expanding resources and risks, continues throughout all the years of childhood and adolescence. For example, during adolescence, close peer relationships become an important source not only of support and satisfaction but also of conflict and heartache (Clarke, 2006). In fact, it might be possible to argue that the emergence of new risks and dangers is as important to the development of the coping system as is the emergence of new competencies since risks provide age-graded opportunities to learn to cope with ever more demanding challenges.

From this analysis, it becomes clear that the roles of social partners and social contexts in the development of coping are as complex as the coping system itself. In fact, as pictured at the top of Figure 1.6, it might even be possible to consider social partners' ways of participating (proactively and reactively) in children's coping as a form of coping with someone else's coping. It seems possible that caregivers (and others responsible for development) use an individual's changing signals of distress versus engagement (made visible on the level of action as coping responses themselves) as information to calibrate the demands made and resources offered in helping them deal with stressful situations.

It is important for those attempting to change the course of coping to keep in mind the many strategies available to them, especially at higher levels of the social context. For example, socio-emotional learning programs can transform classrooms and school contexts and help children develop caring relationships with teachers, peers, friends, and classmates. These relationships and climates support children as they attempt to deal productively with everyday stressors inside and outside school. Or, for children and youth who are confronted every day by stressors stemming from racism, discrimination, and poverty, communal experiences of civic engagement and social action may create a context for collective coping (Rodriguez et al., 2019). Of greatest interest may be multi-level or multi-systemic interventions that address actions, identities, interpersonal, and societal contexts all at the same time (Hope & Spencer, 2017; Wadsworth et al., 2020).

Conclusion

If coping does indeed represent a force in development, then the goal of parents, teachers, and those who work on prevention

or intervention is not merely to increase or decrease the use of a given coping strategy. Instead, they are attempting to induce a qualitative shift that transforms the coping system itself. The end game is to create a stable growth dynamic, that is, to adjust the processes of coping so that the entire system continues to create interactions that allow coping capacities to grow. This means attending not just to the surface characteristics of families of coping. such as problem-solving and negotiation, but also understanding their role in guiding development. Problem-solving is not just a "good" way of coping; it allows individuals to bring their actions in line with their own goals and the actualities of the current context for achieving them. Negotiation is not just a "good" idea; it permits individuals to identify their genuine priorities and discover and create options for realizing them.

Supporting "good coping" is like helping children and adolescents build tools they can use to shape their own development. Good coping allows people to seek optimally challenging contexts, to avoid or escape from overwhelming situations, to negotiate unavoidable harms and losses, to foresee stressful events, and to proactively take protective measures. Good coping permits individuals to listen closely to their own genuine desires and emotions, even when distressed, to appraise realistically yet optimistically, and to take the perspectives and wishes of others into consideration when trying to construct a causal account of stressful situations. Good coping enables people to respond autonomously and intentionally - to problem-solve and seek information so actions are more effective: to cooperate and shoulder responsibility so efforts are well coordinated with others; and to negotiate and accede in ways that are true to authentic values and priorities. Good coping deploys actions that are effective now and aligned with long-term goals, incorporates

respite and recovery, and coaxes growth from mistakes, failures, and unbearable losses. That idea – that the tools of coping have the power to influence development (e.g., Brandtstädter, 2009; Skinner & Edge, 1998) – has been an inspiration in our continued interest in unlocking the secrets and understanding the development of coping.

In the original proposal for this Handbook, we had intended to write a concluding chapter, entitled something like "An Emerging Agenda for the Study of the Development of Coping," where we would draw together threads from all the chapters into an organized and enumerated list. However, after the honor of reading all of these inspiring chapters, we have changed our minds. In keeping with the idea of the "bigger boat" called for by a developmental systems view of coping, we now understand that this whole book, embodied in every chapter, is the emerging agenda for the study of the development of coping. Generative and messy and mysterious – the agenda is the whole damn boat.

References

- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1979). Infant-mother attachment. American Psychologist, 34(10), 932–937. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.34 .10.932
- Aldwin, C. M. (2007). Stress, coping and development: An integrative perspective. Guilford Press.
- An, D., Kochanska, G., Yeager, N., Sivagurunathan, N., Praska, R., Campbell, R., & Shin, S. Y. (2021). Children's emerging receptive, positive orientation toward their parents in the network of early attachment relationships. *Attachment & Human Development*, 23(5), 687–709. https://doi.org/10 .1080/14616734.2021.1906722
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55(5), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469

- Aspinwall, L. G., & Taylor, S. E. (1997). A stitch in time: Self-regulation and proactive coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, 121(3), 417–436. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.121.3.417
- Baltes, P. B., & Baltes, M. M. (1990). Psychological perspectives on successful aging: The model of selective optimization with compensation. In
 P. B. Baltes & M. M. Baltes (Eds.), Successful aging: Perspectives from the behavioral sciences (pp. 1–34). Cambridge University Press.
- Band, E. B., & Weisz, J. R. (1990). Developmental differences in primary and secondary control coping and adjustment to juvenile diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 19(2), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp1902_7
- Barrett, K. C., & Campos, J. J. (1991). A diacritical function approach to emotions and coping. In E. M. Cummings, A. L. Greene, & K. H. Karraker (Eds.), *Life-span developmental psychology: Perspectives on stress and coping* (pp. 21–41). Erlbaum.
- Block, J. H., & Block, J. (1980). The role of egocontrol and ego-resiliency in the organization of behavior. In W. A. Collins (Ed.), *Development of cognition, affect, and social relations: The Minnesota symposia on child psychology* (Vol. 13, pp. 39–102). Erlbaum.
- Boldt, L. J., Goffin, K. C., & Kochanska, G. (2020). The significance of early parent-child attachment for emerging regulation: A longitudinal investigation of processes and mechanisms from toddler age to preadolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 431–443. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000862
- Boparai, S. K. P., Au, V., Koita, K., Oh, D. L., Briner, S., Harris, N. B., & Bucci, M. (2018).
 Ameliorating the biological impacts of childhood adversity: A review of intervention programs. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *81*, 82–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.04 .014
- Bowlby, J. (1969/1973). Attachment and loss. Vols. 1 and 2. Basic Books.
- Bradley, R. H. (2007). Parenting in the breach: How parents help children cope with developmentally challenging circumstances. *Parenting: Science*

and Practice, 7(2), 99–148. https://doi.org/10 .1080/15295190701306896

- Brandtstädter, J. (2009). Goal pursuit and goal adjustment: Self-regulation and intentional selfdevelopment in changing developmental contexts. Advances in Life Course Research, 14(1–2), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr .2009.03.002
- Brandtstädter, J., & Renner, G. (1990). Tenacious goal pursuit and flexible goal adjustment: Explication and age-related analysis of assimilative and accommodative strategies of coping. *Psychology and Aging*, 5(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.5.1.58
- Bretherton, I. (1996). Internal working models of attachment relationships as related to resilient coping. In G. G. Noam & K. W. Fischer (Eds.), *Development and vulnerability in close relationships* (pp. 3–27). Erlbaum.
- Brownell, C. A., & Kopp, C. B. (2007). Socioemotional development in the toddler years: Transitions and transformations. Guilford Press.
- Campos, J. J., Anderson, D. I., Barbu-Roth, M. A., Hubbard, E. M., Hertenstein, M. J., & Witherington, D. (2000). Travel broadens the mind. *Infancy*, 1(2), 149–219. https://doi.org/10 .1207/S15327078IN0102_1
- Carver, C. S., & Harmon-Jones, E. (2009). Anger is an approach-related affect: Evidence and implications. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(2), 183–204. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013965
- Case, R., & Griffin, S. (1990). Child cognitive development: The role of central conceptual structures in the development of scientific and social thought. *Advances in Psychology*, 64, 193–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4115(08) 60099-0
- Case, R., Hayward, S., Lewis, M., & Hurst, P. (1988). Toward a neo-Piagetian theory of cognitive and emotional development. *Developmental Review*, 8(1), 1–51. https://doi .org/10.1016/0273-2297(88)90010-X
- Casey, B. J. (2015). Beyond simple models of selfcontrol to circuit-based accounts of adolescent behavior. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 295–319. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015156

- Chun, C.-A., Moos, R. H., & Cronkite, R. C. (2006). Culture: A fundamental context for the stress and coping paradigm. In P. T. P. Wong & L. C. J. Wong (Eds.), *Handbook of multicultural perspectives on stress and coping* (pp. 25–53). Springer.
- Clarke, A. T. (2006). Coping with interpersonal stress and psychosocial health among children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35, 11–24. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10964-005-9001-x
- Clauss-Ehlers, C. S. (2008). Sociocultural factors, resilience, and coping: Support for a culturally sensitive measure of resilience. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 29(3), 197–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2008 .02.004
- Cohen, A. O., Breiner, K., Steinberg, L., Bonnie, R. J., Scott, E. S., Taylor-Thompson, K. A., ..., Casey, B. J. (2016). When is an adolescent an adult? Assessing cognitive control in emotional and nonemotional contexts. *Psychological Science*, 27(4), 549–562. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797615627625
- Cole, P. M., Martin, S. E., & Dennis, T. A. (2004). Emotion regulation as a scientific construct: Methodological challenges and directions for child development research. *Child Development*, 75(2), 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00673.x
- Cole, P. M., Ram, N., & English, M. S. (2019). Toward a unifying model of self-regulation: A developmental approach. *Child Development Perspectives*, *13*(2), 91–96. https://doi.org/10 .1111/cdep.12316
- Compas, B. E. (1987). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(3), 393–403. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0033-2909.101.3.393
- Compas, B. E. (2006). Psychobiological processes of stress and coping: Implications for resilience in children and adolescents. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1094(1), 226–234. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1376.024
- Compas, B. E. (2009). Coping, regulation, and development during childhood and adolescence.In E. A. Skinner & M. J. Zimmer-Gembeck

(Eds.), Coping and the development of regulation (pp. 87–99). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.-in-Chief), New directions in child and adolescent development. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.245

- Compas, B. E., Champion, J. E., Forehand, R., Cole, D. A., Reeslund, K. L., Fear, J., ... Roberts, L. (2010). Coping and parenting: Mediators of 12-month outcomes of a family group cognitive behavioral preventive intervention with families of depressed parents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(5), 623–634. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020459
- Compas, B. E., Connor, J., Osowiecki, D., & Welch, A. (1997). Effortful and involuntary responses to stress: Implications for coping with chronic stress. In B. J. Gottleib (Ed.), *Coping with chronic stress* (pp. 105–130).
 Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-9862-3_4
- Compas, B. E., Connor, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (1999).
 Getting specific about coping: Effortful and involuntary responses to stress in development.
 In M. Lewis & D. Ramsay (Eds.), *Soothing and stress* (pp. 229–256). Erlbaum.
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal* of *Psychology*, 66(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/10 .1111/ajpy.12043

- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Counseling and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- Conway, C. C., Hammen, C., & Brennan, P. A. (2012). Expanding stress generation theory: Test of a transdiagnostic model. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(3), 754–766. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0027457
- Cooke, J. E., Kochendorfer, L. B., Stuart-Parrigon, K. L., Koehn, A. J., Kerns, K. A. (2019). Parentchild attachment and children's experience and regulation of emotion: A meta-analytic review. *Emotion*, 19(6), 1103–1126. https://doi.org/10 .1037/emo0000504
- Corcoran, R. P., Cheung, A. C., Kim, E., & Xie, C. (2018). Effective universal school-based social and emotional learning programs for improving academic achievement: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 50 years of research. *Educational Research Review*, 25, 56–72. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.12.001
- Côté, J. E. (1996). Sociological perspectives on identity formation: The culture-identity link and identity capital. *Journal of Adolescence*, 19(5), 417–428. https://doi.org/10.1006/jado.1996.0040
- Cramer, P. (1998). Coping and defense mechanisms: What's the difference? *Journal of Personality*, 66(6), 895–918. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00037
- Crane, M. F., Searle, B. J., Kangas, M., & Nwiran, Y. (2019). How resilience is strengthened by exposure to stressors: The systematic selfreflection model of resilience strengthening. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 32*(1), 1–17. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2018.1506640
- Cunningham, E. G., Brandon, C. M., & Frydenberg, E. (2002). Enhancing coping resources in early adolescence through a schoolbased program teaching optimistic thinking skills. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 15(4), 369–381. https://doi.org/10.1080/1061580021000056528
- Davis, E. L., Levine, L. J., Lench, H. C., & Quas, J. A. (2010). Metacognitive emotion regulation:

Children's awareness that changing thoughts and goals can alleviate negative emotions. *Emotion*, *10*(4), 498–510. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0018428

- Davis-Kean, P. E., Jager, J., & Andrew Collins, W. (2009). The self in action: An emerging link between self-beliefs and behaviors in middle childhood. *Child Development Perspectives*, 3(3), 184–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606 .2009.00104.x
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. Plenum Press.
- Denckla, C. A., Cicchetti, D., Kubzansky, L. D., Seedat, S., Teicher, M. H., Williams, D. R., & Koenen, K. C. (2020). Psychological resilience: An update on definitions, a critical appraisal, and research recommendations. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *11*(1), Article 1822064. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2020 .1822064
- DePasquale, C. E., Donzella, B., & Gunnar, M. R. (2019). Pubertal recalibration of cortisol reactivity following early life stress: A crosssectional analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 60(5), 566–575. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12992
- Derryberry, D., Reed, M. A., & Pilkenton-Taylor, C. (2003). Temperament and coping: Advantages of an individual differences perspective. *Development and Psychopathology*, 15(4), 1049–1066. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579403000439
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2018). The short-term stress response: Mother nature's mechanism for enhancing protection and performance under conditions of threat, challenge, and opportunity. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 49, 175–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.03.004
- DiCorcia, J. A., & Tronick, E. (2011). Quotidian resilience: Exploring mechanisms that drive resilience from a perspective of everyday stress and coping. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35, 1593–1602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .neubiorev.2011.04.008
- Duckworth, A. L., & Steinberg, L. (2015). Unpacking self-control. *Child Development*

Perspectives, 9(1), 32–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cdep.12107

- Dweck, C. S. (1999). Mastery-oriented thinking. In C. R. Snyder (Ed.), *Coping: The psychology of what works* (pp. 232–251). Oxford University Press.
- Eisenberg, N. (2020). Findings, issues, and new directions for research on emotion socialization. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 664–670. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000906
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress: The roles of regulation and development. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Plenum Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-2677-0_2
- Engel, M. L., & Gunnar, M. R. (2020). The development of stress reactivity and regulation during human development. In A. Clow & N. Smyth (Eds.), *International review of neurobiology* (Vol. 150, pp. 41–76). Academic Press.
- England-Mason, G., & Gonzalez, A. (2020). Intervening to shape children's emotion regulation: A review of emotion socialization parenting programs for young children. *Emotion*, 20(1), 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1037/ emo0000638
- Evans, C. A., & Porter, C. L. (2009). The emergence of mother–infant co-regulation during the first year: Links to infants' developmental status and attachment. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 32(3), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0033291705005891
- Feldman, R. (2017). The neurobiology of human attachments. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(2), 80–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.11.007
- Folkman, S. (1984). Personal control and stress and coping processes: A theoretical analysis. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 46(4), 839–852. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.46.4 .839
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1985). If it changes it must be a process: Study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*,

48(1), 150–170. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.48.1.150

Ford, K., Hughes, K., Hardcastle, K., Di Lemma, L. C., Davies, A. R., Edwards, S., & Bellis, M. A. (2019). The evidence base for routine enquiry into adverse childhood experiences: A scoping review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *91*, 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019 .03.007

Freud, S. (1949). The ego and the id. Hogarth Press.

Fridja, N. H. (1988). The laws of emotion. American Psychologist, 43, 349–358. https://doi .org/10.1037/0003-066X.43.5.349

Frydenberg, E. (2014). Coping research: Historical background, links with emotion, and new research directions on adaptive processes. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66, 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12051

Frydenberg, E. (2018). *Adolescent coping: Promoting resilience and well-being*. Routledge.

Frydenberg, E., Lewis, R., Bugalski, K., Cotta, A., McCarthy, C., Luscombe-Smith, N., & Poole, C. (2004). Prevention is better than cure: Coping skills training for adolescents at school. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 20(2), 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02667360410001691053

Gagne, J. R. (2017). Self-control in childhood: A synthesis of perspectives and focus on early development. *Child Development Perspectives*, *11*(2), 127–132. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep .12223

Gardner, A. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2018). Rejection sensitivity and responses to rejection: Serial mediators linking parenting to emerging adults' depression and trait anxiety. *Journal of Relationships Research*, 9. https://doi.org/10 .1017/jrr.2018.8

Garmezy, N., & Rutter, M. (Eds.). (1983). Stress, coping and development in children. McGraw-Hill.

Gee, D. G., & Casey, B. J. (2015). The impact of developmental timing for stress and recovery. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 1, 184–194. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2015.02.001

Gianino, A., & Tronick, E. Z. (1988). The mutual regulation model: The infant's self and

interactive regulation, coping and defensive capacities. In T. Field, P. McCabe, & N. Schneiderman (Eds.), *Stress and coping across development* (pp. 47–68). Erlbaum.

- Goldin, P. R., Ziv, M., Jazaieri, H., Hahn, K., Heimberg, R., & Gross, J. J. (2013). Impact of cognitive behavioral therapy for social anxiety disorder on the neural dynamics of cognitive reappraisal of negative self-beliefs: Randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association Psychiatry*, 70(10), 1048–1056. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.234
- Grolnick, W. S., Caruso, A. J., & Levitt, M. R. (2019). Parenting and children's self-regulation. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of parenting: Vol. 5. The practice of parenting* (33rd ed., pp. 44–65). Routledge. https://doi.org/10 .4324/9780429401695-2
- Gross, J. J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 3-24). Guilford Press.
- Gunnar, M. R., & Hostinar, C. E. (2015). The social buffering of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical axis in humans: Developmental and experiential determinants. *Social Neuroscience*, 10, 479–488. https://doi.org/10 .1080/17470919.2015.1070747
- Gus, L., Rose, J., & Gilbert, L. (2015). Emotion coaching: A universal strategy for supporting and promoting sustainable emotional and behavioural well-being. *Educational & Child Psychology*, 32(1), 32–51. https://www .cypsomersethealth.org/resources/SECP/ emotion_coaching_universal_strategy.pdf
- Haan, N. (1977). Coping and defending: Processes of self-environment organization. Academic Press.

Holodynski, M., & Friedlmeier, W. (2006). Development of emotions and emotion regulation. Springer.

Hope, E. C., & Spencer, M. B. (2017). Civic engagement as an adaptive coping response to conditions of inequality: An application of phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST). In N. J. Cabrera & B.
Leyendecker (Eds.), *Handbook on positive* development of minority children and youth (pp.

421-435). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43645-6_25

Howe, S., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2022). Person-centred parent emotion socialization and child temperament: Relations to children's emotion regulation and anxiety and depressive symptoms. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *31*, 2644–2659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-022-02289-y

Jamieson, J. P., Crum, A. J., Goyer, J. P., Marotta, M. E., & Akinola, M. (2018). Optimizing stress responses with reappraisal and mindset interventions: An integrated model. *Anxiety*, *Stress*, & *Coping*, 31(3), 245–261.

Joëls, M., & Baram, T. Z. (2009). The neurosymphony of stress. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(6), 459–466. https://doi.org/10 .1038/nrn2632

Keen, R. (2011). The development of problem solving in young children: A critical cognitive skill. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.031809 .130730

Kim, S., Boldt, L. J., & Kochanska, G. (2015). From parent–child mutuality to security to socialization outcomes: Developmental cascade toward positive adaptation in preadolescence. *Attachment & Human Development*, *17*(5), 472–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2015 .1072832

Kliewer, W., Sandler, I., & Wolchik, S. (1994). Family socialization of threat appraisal and coping: Coaching, modeling, and family context. In K. Hurrelman & F. Nestmann (Eds.), Social networks and social support in childhood and adolescence (pp. 271–291). de Gruyter.

Kochanska, G., Aksan, N., Prisco, T. R., & Adams,
E. E. (2008). Mother–child and father–child mutually responsive orientation in the first
2 years and children's outcomes at preschool age: Mechanisms of influence. *Child Development*, *79*(1), 30–44. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01109.x

Kochanska, G., Koenig, J. L., Barry, R. A., Kim, S., & Yoon, J. E. (2010). Children's conscience during toddler and preschool years, moral self, and a competent, adaptive developmental trajectory. Developmental Psychology, 46(5), 1320–1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020381

Koenig, J. (2020). Neurovisceral regulatory circuits of affective resilience in youth: Principal outline of a dynamic model of neurovisceral integration in development. *Psychophysiology*, 57(5), Article e13568. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13568

Kopp, C. B. (1989). Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(3), 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.343

Kovacs, M., & Lopez-Duran, N. L. (2012). Contextual emotion regulation therapy: A developmentally based intervention for pediatric depression. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 21(2), 327–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2012.01 .002

Kuo, B. C. (2011). Culture's consequences on coping: Theories, evidences, and dimensionalities. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 42(6), 1084–1100. https://doi.org/10 .1177%2F0022022110381126

Kuo, B. C. H. (2013). Collectivism and coping: Current theories, evidence, and measurements of collective coping. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48(3), 374–388. https://doi.org/10 .1080/00207594.2011.640681

Larose, M. P., Ouellet-Morin, I., Vitaro, F., Geoffroy, M. C., Ahun, M., Tremblay, R. E., et al. (2019). Impact of a social skills program on children's stress: A cluster randomized trial. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 104, 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.02.017

Laursen, B., Finkelstein, B. D., & Betts, N. T. (2001). A developmental meta-analysis of peer conflict resolution. *Developmental Review*, 21(4), 423–449. https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.2000.0531

Lazarus, R. S. (1993). Coping theory and research: Past, present, and future. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 55, 234–247. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/8346332

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.

Lewis, M. D., Zimmerman, S., Hollenstein, T., & Lamey, A. V. (2004). Reorganization in coping behavior at 1 1/2 years: Dynamic systems and normative change. *Developmental Science*, 7(1), 56–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2004 .00323.x

- Lewis, R., & Frydenberg, E. (2002). Concomitants of failure to cope: What we should teach adolescents about coping. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 72(3), 419–431. https:// doi.org/10.1348/000709902320634483
- Liu, R. T. (2013). Stress generation: Future directions and clinical implications. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(3), 406–416. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.01.005
- Loman, M. M., & Gunnar, M. R. (2010). Early experience and the development of stress reactivity and regulation in children. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(6), 867–876. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.05.007
- Lupien, S. J., Juster, R.-P., Raymond, C., & Marin, M.-F. (2018). The effects of chronic stress on the human brain: From neurotoxicity, to vulnerability, to opportunity. *Frontiers in Neuroendrocrinology*, 49, 91–105. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.02.001
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behavior and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10, 434–445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2639
- Maier, S. F. (2015). Behavioral control blunts reactions to contemporaneous and future adverse events: Medial prefrontal cortex plasticity and a corticostriatal network. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 1, 12–22. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ynstr.2014.09.003
- Maier, S. F., & Seligman, M. E. (2016). Learned helplessness at fifty: Insights from neuroscience. *Psychological Review*, 123(4), 349–367. https:// doi.org/10.1037/rev0000033
- Maier, S. F., & Watkins, L. R. (2010). Role of the medial prefrontal cortex in coping and resilience. *Brain Research*, 1355, 52–60. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.brainres.2010.08.039
- Masarik, A. S., & Conger, R. D. (2017). Stress and child development: A review of the family stress model. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 13, 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.05 .008

- Masten, A. S., Lucke, C. M., Nelson, K. M., & Stallworthy, I. C. (2021). Resilience in development and psychopathology: Multisystem perspectives. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 17, 521–549. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev-clinpsy-081219-120307
- McClelland, M. M., Geldhof, G. J., Cameron, C. E., & Wanless, S. B. (2015). Development and self-regulation. In W. F. Overton, P. C. M. Molenaar, & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science: Theory and method* (pp. 523–565). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118963418.childpsy114
- McEwen, B. S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2011). Stress- and allostasis-induced brain plasticity. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 62, 431–445. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurey-med-052209-100430
- McEwen, B. S., Nasca, C., & Gray, J. D. (2016).
 Stress effects on neuronal structure:
 Hippocampus, amygdala, and prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.171
- McNamara, N., Stevenson, C., & Muldoon, O. T. (2013). Community identity as resource and context: A mixed method investigation of coping and collective action in a disadvantaged community. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 43(5), 393–403. https://doi.org/10 .1002/ejsp.1953
- Mennin, D. S., Ellard, K. K., Fresco, D. M., & Gross, J. J. (2013). United we stand: Emphasizing commonalities across cognitivebehavioral therapies. *Behavior Therapy*, 44(2), 234–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.02 .004
- Metcalfe, J., & Mischel, W. (1999). A hot/coolsystem analysis of delay of gratification: Dynamics of willpower. *Psychological Review*, *106*(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X .106.1.3
- Morling, B., & Evered, S. (2006). Secondary control reviewed and defined. *Psychological Bulletin*, *132*(2), 269–296. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.269
- Morris, A. S., Criss, M. M., Silk, J. S., & Houltberg, B. J. (2017). The impact of parenting on emotion

regulation during childhood and adolescence. *Child Development Perspectives*, *11*(4), 233–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12238

- Mulkey, S. B., & du Plessis, A. J. (2019). Autonomic nervous system development and its impact on neuropsychiatric outcome. *Pediatric Research*, 85(2), 120–126. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-018-0155-0
- Murphy, L. B. (1957). Learning how children cope with problems. *Children*, 132–136.
- Murphy, L. B. (1974). Coping, vulnerability, and resilience in childhood. In G. V. Coelho, D. A. Hamburg, & J. E. Adams (Eds.), *Coping and adaptation* (pp. 47–68). Basic Books.
- Murphy, L., & Moriarity, A. (1976). Vulnerability, coping, and growth: From infancy to adolescence. Yale University Press.
- Nigg, J. T. (2017). Annual Research Review: On the relations among self-regulation, self-control, executive functioning, effortful control, cognitive control, impulsivity, risk-taking, and inhibition for developmental psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 58(4), 361–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12675
- Ntoumanis, N., Edmunds, J., & Duda, J. L. (2009). Understanding the coping process from a selfdetermination theory perspective. *British Journal* of Health Psychology, 14(2), 249–260. https://doi .org/10.1348/135910708X349352
- Ortiz, J. B., & Conrad, S. D. (2018). The impact from the aftermath of chronic stress on hippocampal structure and function: Is there a recovery? *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 49, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.02.005
- Paavola, L., Kunnari, S., & Moilanen, I. (2005). Maternal responsiveness and infant intentional communication: Implications for the early communicative and linguistic development. *Child: Care, Health & Development, 31*(6), 727–735. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214 .2005.00566.x
- Pallini, S., Chirumbolo, A., Morelli, M., Baiocco, R., Laghi, F., & Eisenberg, N. (2018). The relation of attachment security status to effortful self-regulation: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 144(5), 501–531. https://doi.org/10 .1037/bul0000134

- Parker, J. D., & Endler, N. S. (1996). Coping and defense: A historical overview. In M. Zeidner & N. S. Endler (Eds.), *Handbook of coping* (pp. 3–23). Wiley.
- Pearlin, L. I., & Schooler, C. (1978). The structure of coping. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 19, 2–21. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2136319
- Pincus, D. B., & Friedman, A. G. (2004). Improving children's coping with everyday stress: Transporting treatment interventions to the school setting. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 7, 223–240. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10567-004-6087-8
- Porges, S. W. (2018). Polyvagal theory: A primer. In S. W. Porges & D. Dana (Eds.), *Clinical* applications of the polyvagal theory: The emergence of polyvagal-informed therapies (pp. 50–69). W. W. Norton.
- Posner, M. I., Rothbart, M. K., Sheese, B. E., & Voelker, P. (2014). Developing attention: Behavioral and brain mechanisms. *Advances in Neuroscience*, Article 405094. https://doi.org/10 .1155/2014/405094
- Power, T. G. (2004). Stress and coping in childhood: The parents' role. *Parenting*, 4(4), 271–317. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327922par0404_1
- Raftery, J. N., & Grolnick, W. S. (2015). Children's coping with academic failure: Relations with contextual and motivational resources supporting competence. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 36(8), 1017–1041. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0272431615594459
- Repetti, R. L., & Robles, T. F. (2016). Nontoxic family stress: Potential benefits and underlying biology. *Family Relations*, 65(1), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12180
- Reyna, V. F., & Farley, F. (2006). Risk and rationality in adolescent decision-making: Implications for theory, practice, and public policy. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 7(1), 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j .1529-1006.2006.00026.x
- Rochat, P. (2015). Layers of awareness in development. *Developmental Review*, 38, 122–145.
- Rodriguez, I., Kozusznik, M. W., Peiró, J. M., & Tordera, N. (2019). Individual, co-active and

collective coping and organizational stress: A longitudinal study. *European Management Journal*, *37*(1), 86–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .emj.2018.06.002

- Rothbart, M. K., Derryberry, D., & Posner, M. I. (1994). A psychobiological approach to the development of temperament. In J. E. Bates & T. D. Wachs (Eds.), *Temperament: Individual differences at the interface of biology and behavior* (pp. 83–116). American Psychological Association.
- Rueda, M. R., & Rothbart, M. K. (2009). The influence of temperament on the development of coping: The role of maturation and experience. In E. A. Skinner & M. Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.), *Coping and the development of regulation* (pp. 19–32). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.-in-Chief), *New directions in child and adolescent development*. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.239
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Selfdetermination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press.
- Sameroff, A. (2010). A unified theory of development: A dialectic integration of nature and nurture. *Child Development*, 81(1), 6–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01378.x
- Sameroff, A. J., & Haith, M. M. (Eds.). (1996). The five-to-seven year shift: The age of reason and responsibility. University of Chicago Press.
- Sandler, I. N., Wolchik, S. A., MacKinnon, D., Ayers, T. S., & Roosa, M. W. (1997).
 Developing linkages between theory and intervention in stress and coping processes. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook* of children's coping: Linking theory, research, and intervention (pp. 3–40). Plenum Press.
- Sapolsky, R. (2015). Stress and the brain: Individual variability and the inverted-U. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(10), 1344–1346. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nn.4109
- Seiffge-Krenke, I. (2004). Adaptive and maladaptive coping styles: Does intervention change anything? *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 1(4), 367–382. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2004.11453396

Seiffge-Krenke, I. (2013). Stress, coping, and relationships in adolescence. Psychology Press.

- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Pakalniskiene, V. (2011). Who shapes whom in the family: Reciprocal links between autonomy support in the family and parents' and adolescents' coping behaviors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(8), 983–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-010-9603-9
- Sharma, L., Markon, K. E., & Clark, L. A. (2014). Toward a theory of distinct types of "impulsive" behaviors: A meta-analysis of self-report and behavioral measures. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140, 374–408. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034418
- Sherman, L. J., Rice, K., & Cassidy, J. (2015). Infant capacities related to building internal working models of attachment figures: A theoretical and empirical review. *Developmental Review*, 37, 109–141. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.dr.2015.06.001
- Skinner, E. A. (1995). Perceived control, motivation, and coping. Sage.
- Skinner, E. A. (1996). A guide to constructs of control. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 71, 549–570. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0022-3514.71.3.549
- Skinner, E. A. (1999). Action regulation, coping, and development. In J. Brandtstädter & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), Action and self-development: Theory and research though the life-span (pp. 465–503). Sage.
- Skinner, E. A. (2007). Secondary control critiqued: Is it secondary? Is it control? Commentary on Morling and Evered. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133, 911–916. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133 .6.911
- Skinner, E., & Edge, K. (1998). Reflections on coping and development across the lifespan. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 22(2), 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 016502598384414
- Skinner, E., & Edge, K. (2002). Self-determination, coping, and development. In E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), *Handbook of self-determination research* (pp. 297–337). University of Rochester Press.
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping:

A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0033-2909.129.2.216

- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2020). The development of academic coping across late elementary and early middle school: Do patterns differ for students with differing motivational resources? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(4), 339–353. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0165025419896423
- Skinner, E. A., & Wellborn, J. G. (1994). Coping during childhood and adolescence:
 A motivational perspective. In D. Featherman, R. Lerner, & M. Perlmutter (Eds.), *Life-span development and behavior* (pp. 91–133).
 Erlbaum.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2009). Challenges to the developmental study of coping. In E. Skinner & M. Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.). Coping and the development of regulation (pp. 5–17). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.-in-Chief), New directions in child and adolescent development.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress, neurophysiology, social relationships, and resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer.
- Smith, R., Thayer, J. F., Khalsa, S. S., & Lane, R. D. (2017). The hierarchical basis of neurovisceral integration. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 75, 274–296. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.02.003
- Snyder, C. R. (1999). Coping: Where are you going? In C. R. Snyder (Ed.), *Coping: The psychology of what works* (pp. 324–333). Oxford University Press.
- Spear, L. P. (2000). The adolescent brain and agerelated behavioral manifestations. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, 24, 417–463. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00014-2

- Spencer, M. B. (2006). Phenomenology and ecological systems theory: Development of diverse groups. In W. Damon & R. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed., pp. 829–893). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9780470147658.chpsy0115
- Spencer, M. B., Fegley, S. G., & Harpalani, V. (2003). A theoretical and empirical examination of identity as coping: Linking coping resources to the self processes of African American youth. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(3), 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0703_9
- Sroufe, L. A. (1996). Emotional development: The organization of emotional life in the early years. Cambridge University Press.
- Steinberg, L., Icenogle, G., Shilman, E. P., Breiner, K., Chein, J., Bacchini, D., ... & Takash, H. M. S. (2018). Around the world, adolescence is a time of heightened sensation seeking and immature self-regulation. *Developmental Science*, 21(2), Article e12532. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/desc.12532
- Tan, P. Z., Oppenheimer, C. W., Ladouceur, C. D., Butterfield, R. D., & Silk, J. S. (2020). A review of associations between parent emotion socialization behaviors and the neural substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation in youth. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 516–527. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000893
- Taylor, S. E. (2011). Social support: A review. In H. S. Friedman (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of health psychology* (pp. 189–214). Oxford University Press.
- Taylor, S. E., & Stanton, A. L. (2007). Coping resources, coping processes, and mental health. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 3, 377–401. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy .3.022806.091520
- Thayer, J. F., & Lane, R. D. (2009). Claude Bernard and the heart–brain connection: Further elaboration of a model of neurovisceral integration. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33, 81–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .neubiorev.2008.08.004
- Thompson, R. A. (1991). Emotional regulation and emotional development. *Educational Psychology*

Review, *3*, 269–307. http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 23359228

- Thompson, R. A. (2015). Relationships, regulation, and early development. In R. M. Lerner (Series Ed.) & M. Lamb (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child* psychology and developmental science: Vol. 3. Socioemotional processes (7th ed.; pp. 201–246). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118963418 .childpsy306
- Thompson, S. C., Sobolew-Shubin, A., Galbraith, M. E., Schwankovsky, L., & Cruzen, D. (1993). Maintaining perceptions of control: Finding perceived control in low-control circumstances. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64(2), 293–304. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.64.2.293
- Tolan, P. H., & Grant, K. (2009). How social and cultural contexts shape the development of coping: Youth in the inner-city as an example. In E. Skinner & M. Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.). *Coping and the development of regulation* (pp. 61–74). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.-in-Chief), *New directions in child and adolescent development*. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.242
- Tomasello, M. (2007). Cooperation and communication in the 2nd year of life. *Child Development Perspectives*, *1*(1), 8–12. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2007.00003.x
- Tomasello, M., & Carpenter, M. (2007). Shared intentionality. *Developmental Science*, *10*(1), 121–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687 .2007.00573.x
- Valliant, G. E. (1986). Empirical studies of ego mechanisms of defense. American Psychological Association.
- Van Petegem, S., Brenning, K., Beyers, W., & Baudet, A, & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2018). Intimacy development in late adolescence: Longitudinal associations with perceived parental autonomy support and adolescents' self-worth. *Journal of Adolescence*, 65(1), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence .2018.03.008
- Van Petegem, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J, Baudet, S., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Zimmermann, G. (2019). Adolescents' responses

to parental regulation: The role of communication style and self-determination. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 65, Article 101073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .appdev.2019.101073

- Van Petegem, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Brenning, K., Mabbe, E., Vanhalst, J., & Zimmermann, G. (2017). Does the general parenting context modify adolescents' appraisals and coping with a situation of parental regulation? The case of autonomy-supportive parenting. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26, 2623–2639. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0758-9
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9, 96–100. https://doi .org/10.1111/cdep.12112
- Wadsworth, M. E., Ahlkvist, J. A., McDonald, A., & Tilghman-Osborne, E. M. (2018). Future directions in research and intervention with youths in poverty. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 47(6), 1023–1038. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2018.1485108
- Wadsworth, M. E., McDonald, A., Joos, C. M., Ahlkvist, J. A., Perzow, S. E., Tilghman-Osborne, E. M., ... & Brelsford, G. M. (2020). Reducing the biological and psychological toxicity of povertyrelated stress: Initial efficacy of the BaSICS Intervention for early adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(3–4), 305–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12400
- Walker, L. S., Smith, C. A., Garber, J., & Van Slyke, D. A. (1997). Development and validation of the pain response inventory for children. *Psychological Assessment*, 9, 392–405. https://doi .org/10.1037/1040-3590.9.4.392
- Waller, J. M., Silk, J. S., Stone, L. B., & Dahl, R. E. (2014). Co-rumination and co-problem solving in the daily lives of adolescents with major depressive disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(8), 869–878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2014.05.004
- Waters, A. M., Sluis, R. A., Usher, W., Farrell, L. J., Donovan, C. L., Modecki, K. L., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Castle, M., & Hinchey, J.

(2022). Kick starting youth wellbeing and mental health care in sport: Efficacy of an integrated model of care within a junior rugby league development program. *Behavior Research & Therapy*, *157*, Article 104166. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.brat.2022.104166

- Watson, J. S. (1966). The development and generalization of "contingency awareness" in early infancy: Some hypotheses. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, *12*, 123–135.
- Watson, J. S., & Ramey, C. T. (1972). Reactions to response-contingent stimulation in early infancy. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 18, 219–227.
- White, R. W. (1974). Strategies for adaptation: An attempt at systematic description. In G. V. Coelho, D. A. Hamburg, & J. E. Adams (Eds.), *Coping and adaptation* (pp. 47–68). Basic Books.
- Wigfield, A., Eccles, J. S., Fredricks, J. A., Simpkins, S., Rooeser, R. W., & Schiefele, U. (2015). Development of achievement motivation and engagement. In R. M. Lerner (Ed.). *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science* (pp. 1–44). Wiley. https://doi.org/10 .1002/9781118963418.childpsy316
- Wilson, B. J., & Gottman, J. M. (1996). Attention The shuttle between emotion and cognition: Risk, resiliency, and physiological bases. In
 E. M. Hetherington & E. A. Blechman (Eds.), Stress, coping, and resiliency in children and families (pp. 189–228). Erlbaum.
- Wolchik, S. A., & Sandler, I. N. (Eds.). (1997). Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention. Plenum.
- Zeedyk, S. (1996). Developmental accounts of intentionality: Toward integration. *Developmental Review*, 16, 416–461. https://doi .org/10.1006/drev.1996.0018
- Zelazo, P. D., & Carlson, S. M. (2012). Hot and cool executive function in childhood and adolescence: Development and plasticity. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 354–360. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00246.x
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Locke, E. M. (2007). The socialization of adolescent coping: Relationships at home and school. *Journal of Adolescence*, 30(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.adolescence.2005.03.001

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Nesdale, D., Webb, H. J., Khatibi, M., & Downey, G. (2016). A longitudinal rejection sensitivity model of depression and aggression: Unique roles of anxiety, anger, blame, withdrawal, and retribution. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44, 1291–1307. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-016-0127-y

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Rudolph, J., Kerin, J., & Bohadana-Brown, G. (2022). Parent emotional regulation: A meta-analytic review of its association with parenting and child adjustment. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 46(1), 63–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 01650254211051086
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2010). Adolescents coping with stress: Development and diversity. *School Nurse News*, 27(2), 23–28. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20344979/
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping and regulation: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.) *Developmental psychopathology* (3rd ed., Vol. 4, pp. 485–544). Wiley. http://au.wiley.com/WileyCDA/ WileyTitle/productCd-1118121791.html
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., van Petegem, S., Ducat, W., Clear, S., & Mastro, S. (2018). Parent-child relationships and romantic development: A review and argument for research on autonomy supportive parenting. In B. Soenens, M. Vansteenkiste, & S. Van Petegem (Eds.), *Autonomy in adolescent development: Towards conceptual clarity* (pp. 168–192). Psychology Press.
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Webb, H. J., Pepping, C. A., Swan, K., Merlo, O., Skinner, E. A., Avdagic, E., & Dunbar, M. (2015). Review: Is parent-child attachment a correlate of children's emotion regulation and coping? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 41(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025415618276

Part I Theoretical Perspectives on the Development of Coping

2 Toward a Lifespan Theory of Coping Development

A Social Ecological Approach

Carolyn Aldwin, Maria Kurth, Austin Brockmann, and Hye Soo Lee

Introduction

To our knowledge, there is no general theory of how coping develops across the lifespan (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016). Most of the developmental coping literature, especially longitudinal studies, is focused either early in life (i.e., childhood and adolescence) or in later life (i.e., 65+). Thus, there are good attempts at theory development in both childhood and adolescence (e.g., Compas et al., 2017; Skinner & Saxton, 2019; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007) and in later life (Aldwin & Igarashi, 2016; Brandtstädter et al., 2010; Charles, 2010; Heckhausen et al., 2019, 2021), but none that are lifespan theories. As we shall see, there are themes that emerge at both ends of the lifespan that might provide a scaffolding for a true lifespan theory.

The major takeaway points are indicated in Table 2.1. The first four points address the developmental aspects of coping. First, coping adheres to the general tenets of lifespan developmental theory (Baltes, 1987): that it is plastic, develops across the lifespan, exhibits individual differences in trajectories, and is multidimensional and multidirectional (1 & 2). The next two focus on developmental trajectories in childhood and adulthood (3 & 4). However, the importance of the social context cannot be overemphasized (5). Finally, there are points of similarity in coping theories across the lifespan, involving both greater efficiency and specificity, as well as better use of energy management (6). Thus, the organization of the chapter will follow this outline.

The first two sections of this chapter will first review theories of coping and development across the lifespan, and then review longitudinal studies on changes in coping in childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. As many have noted, coping is embedded in both immediate social contexts (Thoits, 2011) and more distal sociocultural ones (Aldwin & Igarashi, 2015). Thus, social ecological factors should be considered in any lifespan theory of coping development. To illustrate how social factors may influence coping development, we will review the developmental literature from this perspective, with an emphasis on dvadic coping in adulthood. Finally, we will identify key issues that need to be addressed in a theory of the development of coping across the lifespan.

Theories of Coping Development across the Lifespan

Theories of Coping in Early Life

There have been several good reviews of theories of coping in childhood and adolescence (see Compas et al., 2017; Skinner & Saxton, 2019; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011), and, indeed, there are several chapters devoted to this in the current volume. For the purposes of this chapter, we will focus on work that provides the best extensions to connections with

Table 2.1 Summary of major conclusions

- 1. Coping is plastic and develops across the lifespan. Developmental trajectories can vary by type of coping strategy, and individual differences in trajectories may also occur.
- 2. The development of coping strategies is not necessarily linear. During some types of transitions and/ or particularly difficult circumstances, individuals may revert to earlier modes of coping.
- 3. In childhood, the developmental course is fairly easy to depict. Very young children typically engage in behavioral emotion-focused coping (e.g., crying), and problem-focused coping may not emerge until ages 6–8. Cognitive emotion-focused coping also starts emerging around age 8. Adolescents begin tailoring their coping strategies to the demands of specific situations.
- 4. In adulthood, change in coping strategies is characterized by a decrease in maladaptive emotionfocused strategies, a greater use of proactive coping to decrease and/or mitigate the occurrence of stressors, better emotion regulation, and, in general, a decrease in coping effort, perhaps signifying more efficacious coping.
- 5. Coping development occurs in a social context. In childhood, it is scaffolded by caregivers and teachers. In adolescence, peer relations become important, although adults are still relied upon, especially for difficult problems. In adulthood, dyadic coping may become particularly salient for the development and maintenance of coping efficacy.
- 6. In general, coping development across the lifespan may be characterized by two dynamics greater efficiency in coping effort and greater specificity to address particular situational demands, both of which allow for the conservation of energy and resources that may wane with age.

the adult literature. Skinner and Zimmer-Gembeck (2007, 2016) identified different types of coping trajectories in childhood and adolescence, which Zimmer-Gembeck and Skinner (2011) described as reflecting two overarching issues: increases in *coping capacity* and *better deployment* of coping strategies, which is similar to constructs of coping flexibility and efficacy in adulthood (Aldwin & Revenson, 1987).

There is no doubt that there are increases in coping capacity in childhood and adolescence, with a shift from behavior to cognition in both emotion- and problem-focused coping. This means that very young children express emotions behaviorally, and could be argued largely to also have behavioral problem-focused strategies (e.g., banging at puzzle pieces, hoping that they will go together eventually). This shifts to more cognitive strategies around ages 6–8, with increasing sophistication and differentiation through adolescence and early adulthood in understanding how to better fit appropriate coping strategies to contextual demands and opportunities. However, strategies relying on high cognitive function like planning, list making, reflection, commitment, and ambition may not emerge until young adulthood (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007).

Theories of Coping in Adolescence

In adolescence, a curious phenomenon is that there may be a decrease in problem-focused coping and an increase in emotional expression (see Compas, 1987; Skinner & Saxton, 2019), for reasons that are not clear. We hypothesize two possibilities. First, adolescence entails many transitions, including psychological, social, neurobiological, hormonal, and cognitive shifts (see Chapter 8 in this volume). As our literature review indicates, transitions can be very stressful and may be a time when individuals return to earlier forms of coping. A second possibility reflects changes in dyadic coping. That is, dyadic coping in early childhood primarily occurs between the children and their parents and teachers, who (hopefully) attempt to promote emotion regulation through emotional processing, as well as action regulation through processing stressful transactions (see Chapter 18 in this volume). However, in adolescence, there is a shift from relying on parents for coping to relying more on peers and significant others. Given that the prefrontal cortex is still developing during adolescence, it is not surprising that a return to emotional expression may become dominant in adolescent peer groups, if the stress exceeds an individual's regulatory capacity.

Theories of Coping in Adulthood

The language used to describe coping in later life is a little different from that used in child development (see Aldwin, Lee, Choun, & Kang, 2019 for a primer of general coping terms and models). Briefly, problem-focused coping strategies are behaviors and actions aimed at managing the problem, while emotion-focused coping strategies are directed at the attendant negative emotions. However, in traditional coping scales, most of these involve either emotional expression or suppression, neither of which seem to manage negative affect very well, so Stanton et al. (2000) proposed an emotion-processing measure, which is much more similar to how emotion regulation is perceived in the child development literature (e.g., recognizing, understanding, and managing negative emotions). Other common strategies include seeking social support, religious coping or prayer, and cognitive reappraisal or meaning making, which are attempts to manage the meaning of the situation. Anticipatory and proactive coping strategies are directed at managing either imminent or foreseeable problems, respectively, and may involve efforts to

prevent them or to mitigate their adverse effects (Aspinwall & Taylor, 1997).

In adulthood, theories of developmental change in coping strategies have focused on the widely found decrease in the number of coping strategies used. Contrasting theories focus on motivation (or changes in goal management) versus energy/resource management (see Aldwin et al., 2021).

Age-Related Changes in Motivation

We have known for over 50 years that older adults use fewer coping strategies, but the reason for this is a matter of some debate. The earliest interpretation of this was that older adults were simply more passive copers (Gutmann, 1974). In a similar vein, Schulz and Heckhausen (1996) hypothesized that older adults have less control over their environment, so they shift from primary (problemfocused) to secondary (emotion-focused) control coping. In the child developmental literature, however, it is widely acknowledged that control over internal processes is critical to the development of effective environmental regulation (Eisenberg, 2020), which calls into question the primary versus secondary distinction. Further, both types of coping decrease with age (Brennan et al., 2012), and older adults often use problem-focused coping with seemingly uncontrollable stressors, such as managing a chronic illness (Aldwin, 1991). Heckhausen et al. (2010) modified this theory to acknowledge that both primary and secondary control processes are necessary to achieve goals, and the field is shifting toward emphasizing changes in motivation and goals rather than assuming passivity among older adults. Both Heckhausen et al. and Brandtstädter and Rothermund (2002) address compensatory secondary control, which entails shifting goals to accommodate decreases in resources seen in later life.

Rothermund and Brandtstädter (2003) proposed a dual-process model, in which assimilative processes (that is, problem-focused strategies) are used for the achievement of personal goals. In later life, however, limited resources may necessitate goal adjustment, which is accomplished using accommodation processes. Using longitudinal data, they showed that individuals who shift from assimilative to accommodation processes in later life have higher levels of life satisfaction (Rothermund & Brandtstädter, 2003). Later versions of this theory proposed that extrinsicinstrumental goals are supplanted in later life by ego-transcendent goals (Brandtstädter et al., 2010).

Increase in Coping Efficiency

An alternative explanation for the decrease in coping effort with age may have more to do with resource/energy management (Hobfoll, 2011). In later life, energy and other resources often begin to wane, and older adults may simply be coping more efficiently. Both the strength and vulnerability integration (SAVI) (Charles, 2010; Charles & Luong, 2013) and the coping, appraisal, and resilience in aging (CARA) models (Aldwin & Igarashi, 2016) have noted these possibilities. The SAVI model is based on socioemotional selectivity theory (Carstensen, 2006), which posits that older adults become more selective in their social relations and activities, with a greater focus on the selection of relationships and activities that have personal meaning. To avoid the increased physiological cost of stressors with age, older adults decrease the likelihood of stressful events through both proactive and anticipatory coping. Older adults may also downregulate distress by making more benign appraisals of stressful events. However, these strategies may not work well with very negative and uncontrollable stressors and may leave older adults vulnerable to adverse physiological effects.

The CARA model (Aldwin & Igarashi, 2016) starts with the premise that older adults recognize their increased physiological vulnerability to stress and focus on not only appraisal processes but also coping efficacy. The broader perspective with age leads older adults to be less likely to appraise situations as problems and to rate problems as less stressful. They have also learned what coping strategies have worked in the past for similar problems, and thus may have become more efficient copers, allowing them to husband their resources. Thus, it is noteworthy that cross-sectional studies find no age differences in coping efficacy, or how well individuals think they handled the problem (Aldwin et al., 1996; Newth & DeLongis, 2004), which has been supported by analyses showing stability in coping efficacy over 20 years (Aldwin, Lee, Choun, & Kang, 2019).

It is possible that the inclusion of resource management into coping theory may tie together theories of coping development in early as well as later life. Infants and toddlers have coping strategies that are not very efficacious on their own and highly costly in terms of energy and resources (i.e., throwing a tantrum). This is gradually supplanted by more efficacious strategies (e.g., cognitive vs. behavioral emotion regulation), analogous to the shift from costly innate to more efficient learned immunity. Thus, coping may become more efficient and autonomous over the lifespan, with notable exceptions, for example during stressful transitions, or a decrease in cognitive resources in later life, which may impair coping.

It must be emphasized that stress and coping processes occur within a social context, which may both greatly affect coping efficacy. For example, Dixon (2011) has shown that older adults perform more competently in dyads, including on cognitive testing, and it would make sense that parents facilitate their children's coping efficacy as well their developmental coping trajectories. Thus, the next two sections will examine empirical, longitudinal studies of the development of coping strategies across the lifespan, and then explore the influence of dyadic dynamics on the development of coping.

Recent Longitudinal Studies of Change in Coping across the Lifespan

As mentioned earlier, there have been a number of good reviews of coping development, especially in childhood, but many of the studies reviewed were cross-sectional. Therefore, this section will focus on recent longitudinal studies of change in coping across the lifespan. Please note that many different fields study coping, and thus we will be drawing on a far-ranging literature. While the social context plays an extremely important role in the development of coping strategies, much of that research is not longitudinal, and thus will be reviewed in the section on the social ecology of coping development.

Childhood

Not surprisingly, there are fairly welldocumented changes in coping strategies in childhood. In the elementary school years, children tend to cope with academic demands by increasing their utilization of problemfocused coping (Skinner & Saxton, 2019). They also solicit social support from various social partners (e.g., parents, teachers, peers) and use various media outlets. From grades three to five. German children exhibited decreases in the use of avoidant and emotional coping strategies involving anger (Eschenbeck et al., 2018). The trend generally holds for young elementary-aged children until the transition toward middle school when coping with academic stress. During this time, children decrease the use of behavioral emotionfocused strategies and increase in both cognitive emotion-focused and problem-focused coping. They also start utilizing more peerbased social support (also see Skinner & Saxton, 2019).

However, transitions may be difficult. Israeli children transitioning between late elementary school and middle school during grades 3–6 increased in projection (i.e., blaming others) as a means of coping and decreased positive coping behaviors for both academics and social stress (Ben-Eliyahu & Kaplan, 2015). There are also individual differences in coping trajectories. While some children during this transition move toward more problem-focused behaviors, others maintain emotion-focused strategies as their primary coping strategies, specifically projection and avoidance.

The context may influence the development of coping strategies in childhood. Children aged 5-9 who were living with acute lymphoblastic leukemia tended to employ fewer coping strategies over time, with the exception of utilizing self-soothing, often through the use of stuffed animals, and were more likely to rely on exercising control where possible as a means of coping (Leibring & Anderzén-Carlsson, 2019). However, if there was little to no control over a circumstance or procedure, there was a tendency to cope by acceptance of the circumstances and recognition of what they could and could not change. These children coped by controlling the situation as best they could while understanding and accepting elements of their illness and treatment that they could not control.

Children coping with the aftermath of a natural disaster displayed a variety of coping outcomes (La Greca et al., 2013). Notably, children who survived Hurricane Andrew fit into several categories: those that were resilient, those that were recovering from the stress, and those that were chronically stressed. Those who were chronically stressed in the aftermath of a natural disaster were more likely to adopt less adaptive coping behaviors centered around emotion-focused coping. In those who were resilient, there tended to be a transition out of emotion-focused coping behavior and a move toward problem-focused behaviors. Children who were recovering tended to utilize some of both strategies (La Greca et al., 2013).

Thus, there is a consistency in broad developmental coping trajectories from behavioral emotion-focused coping to more cognitive emotion-focused and problem-focused coping, both among ordinary schoolchildren and those undergoing more extreme stress. Transitions and trauma may pose particular difficulties, resulting in a return to earlier coping strategies, and some children are slower to effect this transition than others.

Adolescence/Emerging Adulthood

New research on changes in coping during adolescence is limited and often focused on a narrow age range, from late high school to early college, but there has been some work done at earlier ages. For example, in an interesting study which went beyond the usual problem- versus emotion-focused coping trajectories, Malin et al. (2019) found that a sense of purpose was linked to an increased employment of positive reframing as a means to cope, during the final semester of 8th grade through to the end of 9th grade. In addition, Chow et al. (2016) found reciprocal relationships between attachment style and friendship intimacy in 6th through 12th graders. Those with avoidant attachment styles were more likely to be excluded from friendships, and being excluded from friendships created more attachment anxiety. Nonetheless, the majority of the research we found focused on the transition to university.

During the first year of higher education, around the age of 18, adolescents tend to display varied coping strategies (Heffer & Willoughby, 2017). The use of problemfocused coping behaviors was correlated with academic success and lower perceived stress over time, as compared to peers who employed more emotion-focused and avoidant coping strategies. They tended to adjust better when they employed more positive coping behaviors, with negative coping behaviors correlated with lower emotion regulation skills. Park et al. (2020) focused on the first 2 years of college. Students became more likely to utilize social support in coping with stress, and less likely to utilize emotion-focused strategies such as suppression over time. The progression, however, was not all positive. During this time, students were less likely to use cognitive reappraisals as a means to cope and were more likely to turn to substance use. But among students who were socially engaged and scored high for eudaimonic well-being, there was an increase in use of adaptive coping methods over time, such as positive reframing and emotional social support-seeking.

Conley et al. (2020) also observed that students were less likely to utilize cognitive reappraisals during freshman and sophomore years of college, but this study found declines in social support, in contrast to Park et al. (2020). However, students rebounded to baseline levels over their junior and senior years. Maladaptive and avoidant behaviors such as suppression and substance use increased over the first 2 years of college, and then decreased over the final 2 years, while still remaining higher than baseline levels. One negative coping behavior that tended to increase during this time was substance use and specifically alcohol (Conley et al., 2020; McCarty & Lawrence, 2016), perhaps due to the increased accessibility or attainment of legal age to purchase and consume alcoholic beverages.

.

It is not only college students who may return to earlier modes of coping during transitions. Younger police recruits displayed decreases in task-oriented coping and outreach strategies over their first year of employment, with noted increases in avoidant coping (McCarty & Lawrence, 2016). However, there were some group differences. Both those with lower education, and married or partnered recruits, were less likely to use task-oriented coping approaches over the first year (McCarty & Lawrence, 2016). In contrast, police recruits in rural agencies exhibited increases in task-oriented approaches and religious coping, compared to their more urban peers. The reasons for this divergent trend are unclear, although perhaps the wide area often covered by rural police officers encouraged more autonomy, necessitating task-oriented approaches. Further, the sample was overwhelmingly male, and it would be interesting to see if similar changes were seen among female recruits

Summary

Thus, coping trajectories from childhood through early adulthood display many of the basic principles of lifespan developmental theory (Baltes, 1987). In early childhood, developmental trajectories are fairly clear, with a shift from behavioral to cognitive emotion-focused coping and the development of problem-solving skills. There also is a shift in emotion-regulating scaffolding from primary caregivers, to teachers and peers, and a growing shift toward autonomy. Starting in middle childhood, however, both individual differences and plasticity emerge, with school transitions often problematic for some, causing a return to earlier modes of coping. As Baltes noted, culture becomes more important in adult development,

especially in later life, and thus such clear trajectories may not emerge.

Mid-Life and Later Adulthood

Whether and how coping trajectories change in mid-life and later adulthood is a matter of some debate. In general, we know that less adaptive forms of coping (e.g., escapism) tend to decline with age, that older adults tend to become more experienced at emotion regulation, especially in interpersonal situations, and that older adults are more likely to use proactive and anticipatory coping behaviors to avoid stress and/or minimize its adverse effects (Aldwin et al., 2021). As mentioned earlier, we also know that the number of coping strategies used, or coping effort, in general declines. The primary issue is whether older adults become more passive copers or increase in coping efficiency. That is, do older adults use fewer strategies because they do not believe they can affect the situation, or is it because they know what works for them and thus become more efficient? For example, Beeslev et al. (2018), using a lifespan sample, found that the utilization of positive reframing and taking direct action to cope tended to show a linear increase over a year. During this time, there were noted decreases in some forms of social and emotional coping, and no changes to use of acceptance or denial techniques. Indeed, short-term studies often find relative correlational stability in coping strategies, even after a major medical life event (Aldwin et al., 2021), although coping efficiency increased in patient sample who had had myocardial infarctions (Kristofferzon et al., 2005). Relative stability in aggregate analyses does not address the considerable individual differences in whether and how individuals change, with those who changed their coping strategies after a Parkinson's diagnosis having more optimal outcomes (Frazier, 2002).

Longer-term studies are more likely to find change, but the nature of that change varies as a function of the type of measure and the age of the sample. For example, Havward and Krause (2016) found that most older adults decreased in negative religious coping (e.g., blaming God) and increased in positive religious coping, but several different types of coping trajectories were identified, demonstrating individual differences in how coping strategies change over time. Over a 20-year period, Brennan et al. (2012) reported modest declines in approach and avoidant methods of coping. Aldwin et al., (2019) also found decreases in overall coping effort across 26 years in older men. Others have found both linear and nonlinear effects. For example, Diehl et al. (2014), using a defense mechanism measure in middle-aged adults, found that the use of suppression strategies and other defense mechanisms decreased linearly over 8 years, but more mature mechanisms increased until the mid-sixties and then leveled off. The increase in mature mechanisms was more likely to be seen in women and higher SES Rothermund and Brandtstädter groups. (2003) found that compensatory coping, roughly equivalent to problem-focused coping, increased until age 70, but then declined. In contrast, Martin-Joy et al. (2017), in a 70-year qualitative study, found that use of mature defense mechanisms increased until very late life. Thus, how coping changes with age may vary as a function of type of coping assessed, the design of the study, and the age group of the sample.

Preliminary analyses by Aldwin et al., (2019) in an older sample revealed that coping efforts decreased from mid-life to the mid-sixties, but then increased in later life. However, different classes of coping trajectories were found, with most showing declines in coping effort, but one class increased after about age 80. Coping efficacy, on the other hand, was largely stable across this age range.

Summary

The lifespan principles of plasticity and individual differences clearly apply to the coping strategies that older adults use. How coping changes across time does not necessarily follow a clear developmental trend, but there is some indication both problem-focused coping and mature defenses increase from mid-life to the mid-sixties. While coping effort decreases, at least until very late life, efficacy remains stable, suggesting that, through long years of experience, older adults have found the coping strategies that work for them (Aldwin & Igarashi, 2016).

The Social Ecology of Coping Development

Just as stress can spill over into families and relationships (Repetti et al., 2009), coping is also likely to be a joint effort. There is ample evidence that coping occurs and develops within close interpersonal relationships (dyads), illustrating a social-ecological influence. Berg and colleagues (2016) argued that dyadic coping likely develops throughout one's lifetime, as "parent-child relationships and early romantic relationships may set the stage for dyadic coping during middle and late life" (p. 268). Therefore, the purpose of this section is to examine whether dyadic coping changes across time for three developmental stages: early childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. The literature on dyadic coping will also be reviewed.

Childhood

Emotion regulation is largely examined during childhood and has substantial overlap with

coping, as the ability to regulate emotions is thought to be foundational for the eventual development of problem-focused coping (Compas et al., 2014). Relationships with parents are extremely important for the development of coping strategies in early life. There are several approaches to studying this. First, much of the research has focused on the impact of attachment styles on coping and suggests that securely attached children have better emotion regulation than avoidantand ambivalently-attached children (see Cooke et al., 2019; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2017). The second focuses on co-regulation, which usually occurs between mother-infant dyads, although this can also occur within the larger family context. According to Paley and Hajal (2022, p. 19), co-regulation refers to the "processes by which caregivers provide external regulation or scaffolding for a child to facilitate the development of emotion regulation over the first several years of life." The third focuses more broadly, on socialization, and argues that children learn coping in three ways, through coaching, especially from parents, modeling, and the environmental context, in which coping behaviors are learned, enacted, and reinforced (or discouraged) (Kliewer et al., 1994, 2006). There is evidence that this social regulation is associated with better cortisol profiles in young children under stress (Gunnar & Donzella, 2002). Thus, children likely learn these skills to process and regulate their emotions through engaging in dyadic coping with parents, other caretakers, and peers (Berg et al., 2016).

Unfortunately, not all parents model supportive or healthy behaviors for their children, which can result in levels of low emotional suppression (Bariola et al., 2012) and high emotional dysregulation (Morelen et al., 2016), similar to that of their mothers. When parents can regulate their emotions and behaviors appropriately, both child and parent have better emotion processing (Lukenheimer et al., 2011; Wilson & Durbin, 2013). This also extends to child-teacher dyads (Silkenbeumer et al., 2018), suggesting co-regulation within these dyads. However, not all studies find associations between this sort of dyadic scaffolding if the parent is not modeling age-appropriate skills. When preschoolers were granted more autonomy during a free-play task, they were less compliant and emotionally regulated during the cleanup task than those children whose mothers were more actively involved in the task (Lincoln et al., 2017).

Socialization is another predictor of later coping and reactions to stress (Kliewer et al., 2006; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Modeling these behaviors during early childhood is important as socialization efforts are associated with fewer conduct problems in later childhood (Johnson et al., 2017). For example, emotion-focused socialization from parents at age 3 was associated with more dyadic positive synchrony (similar intensity of positive emotion) that predicted less aggressive behavior when the child was 5 years old (Lukenheimer et al., 2020). Further, children become more active dyadic partners with age, as older children make more attempts to guide parents during various laboratory tasks than younger children (Wilson & Durbin, 2013). As Berg et al. noted, the emotion (2016)regulation developed through parent-child dyads may set the stage for better coping in subsequent years. For example, Perry et al. (2020) demonstrated а link between supportive responses from parents at age 5 with better emotion expression (e.g., less risk-taking and internalizing behaviors) at age 15 through higher emotion regulation at age 10. In general, support-seeking is stable among elementary and middle-schoolers but increases in adolescence (Skinner & Saxton, 2019: Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

Adolescence

A shift away from parents and adults and toward peers, friends, and romantic partners is observed in adolescence (Berg et al., 2016). This might account for the anomaly noted by Skinner and Saxton (2019), in which teens change their developmental pathway to less adaptive coping. Presumably, this may reflect the tendency to return to earlier modes of coping during transitions mentioned earlier, but also could conceivably reflect peer pressure. However, coping also becomes more self-reliant during this stage of development (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Nonetheless, teens continue to seek support from adults, especially for uncontrollable stressors (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

Higher parental empathy (as reported by parents) was associated with better emotional regulation among their children (Manczak et al., 2016). Adolescents exhibited fewer externalizing behaviors when mothers engaged in more dyadic coping with the child's father 2 years earlier; this relationship was mediated through material warmth when the child was 14 (Skinner et al., 2021).

Children with serious illnesses such as depression (Rueger et al., 2016), diabetes (Carroll & Marrero, 2006), and cancer (Decker, 2007), have better illness outcomes if they rely on parents for guidance. For example, adolescents with Type 1 diabetes were more efficacious in their coping when more maternal collaborative coping occurred, but only when the stress was perceived as shared (Berg et al., 2009). Decker (2007) found that although support from both friends and parents was important when experiencing cancer diagnosis and treatment, adolescents were more satisfied with support from parents.

Social support also plays a role in the development of romantic relationships. Adolescents who had low friendship quality during the transition to high school engaged in less supportive romantic behaviors (Schachter et al., 2019). Indeed, dyadic studies indicate complex relationships within adolescent dyads. For example, males had higher relationship satisfaction when their girlfriends perceived less stress within the relationship (Breitenstein et al., 2018), and negative romantic feelings were associated with more negative affect (Rogers et al., 2018). Further, higher levels of dyadic coping from one's partner were associated with lower stress within the relationship, especially for those facing additional stress exposures (Breitenstein et al., 2018).

Thus, the dyadic scaffolding of emotion regulation can provide healthier patterns of coping in adolescence. There is an interesting link between better emotion regulation in childhood and the development of friendship networks and romantic relationships in adolescence. Better dyadic coping within relationships may also help adolescents deal more successfully with external stressors.

Adulthood

Social influences continue to be important in how individuals cope in adulthood (Aldwin, 2007). For example, Thoits (2011) has argued that social networks influence both appraisal and coping processes. Individuals provide feedback on whether or not a person should perceive a situation as problematic, and, if so, how stressful it typically is. They can also influence coping in ways similar to that described by Kliewer et al. (2006) in childhood - through modeling, direct instruction, encouragement, and discouragement. However, relatively little empirical evidence exists on precisely how social networks and support influence coping in adulthood, with the exception of dyadic coping.

Definition of Dyadic Coping Dyadic coping is a response to a partner or a couple's stress,

which can be both positive and negative (Bodenmann, 1997, 2005). Positive dyadic coping includes common coping (joint coping and problem-solving) and delegated coping (taking over responsibilities of the other partner to reduce their stress). Negative forms include hostile coping (sarcasm and minimization of the seriousness of problems) and ambivalent coping (unwillingness to support or the perception that support is not needed). Not surprisingly, studies that examine dyadic coping in adulthood have found many benefits for positive dyadic coping in domains of emotional, psychological, and physiological wellbeing (Berg et al., 2016; Staff et al., 2017), but often more for men than women (Butler & Randall, 2013; Falconier & Kuhn, 2019).

Another approach to dyadic coping, the relationship-focused coping model (DeLongis & O'Brien, 1990), may shed light on how people engage in specific activities to help their partner during times of chronic stress. Relationship-focused coping refers to "cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage and sustain social relationships during stressful episodes" (O'Brien et al., 2009, p. 18), and includes strategies such as empathic responding that reflect attempts to understand one's partner and to respond in a caring, supportive manner.

Benefits of Dyadic Coping There are surprisingly few studies of dyadic coping in later life. Drawing largely upon the developmental literature, Berg and Upchurch's (2007) review suggested that older adults might be more collaborative due to their higher marital satisfaction, lower levels of conflict, and greater emotion regulation abilities. These positive characteristics were largely thought to reflect greater experience over long lifespans or survival of better relationships. These benefits extend to couples across adulthood and varying duration. Both older married couples (Landis et al., 2013) and young adult dating couples (Papp & Witt, 2010) had higher relationship satisfaction when dyadic coping levels were also high, underscoring benefits of dyadic coping throughout adulthood.

In general, empathic responding is associated with reduced marital tension (DeLongis & Zwicker, 2017; O'Brien et al., 2009) and higher marital satisfaction (Stephenson et al., 2013). When couples are coping with cancer, relationship functioning is higher when they engage in dyadic coping (Hagedoorn et al., 2011; Traa et al., 2015).

However, few studies have specifically examined developmental changes in dyadic coping in adulthood. In other words, how do couples in romantic relationships learn to cope more positively and efficiently with stress with their partners? This presumably would result not only in more stable relationships but perhaps in benefits to well-being for both members of the couple.

Age Differences in Dyadic Coping: In general, older adults are less likely to have arguments, largely due to use of avoidant strategies (Charles et al., 2009). This extends to dyads, as studies suggest older couples handle conflict discussions better than younger couples. Older adults used more collective pronouns (e.g., "we") and were more satisfied with conversations with their partners than younger couples (Rohr et al., 2019). They also had lower rates of disagreement during conflict conversations than middle-aged couples (Levenson et al., 1993), even when controlling for marital satisfaction (Carstensen et al., 1995). In a 13-year longitudinal study, negative behaviors decreased, positive behaviors increased during conflict conversation, and marital satisfaction increased across age groups (Verstaen et al., 2020). However, when disagreements did occur, older adults were more physiologically reactive to disagreements than middle-aged adults, including higher systolic blood pressure and blood pressure reactivity (Smith et al., 2009).

Few studies have directly addressed age difference in dyadic coping. Breitenstein et al. (2018) contrasted stress dynamics in adolescent/young adult couples (aged 16–23 years) with their middle-aged parental dyads. While both groups felt more stress when their partner engaged in less dyadic coping, the parents were more sensitive to external stress. Unfortunately, age differences in coping for the entire sample were not examined; however, within age groups, there were no associations between age and coping.

Bodenmann and Widmer (2000) compared dyadic coping among young (<30), middleaged (31-50), and older adult couples (51-81), and found that older couples by far had the highest level of relationship satisfaction. However, they did not present the raw means for coping strategies by couple but only presented group differences after covarying relationship satisfaction. Thus, their finding that older adults used less positive dyadic coping may be a bit misleading, given the strong relationship between age and relationship satisfaction.

Acquati and Kayser (2019) found younger couples generally had more difficulty with facing cancer when compared with middleaged couples, despite both groups engaging in dyadic coping. This suggests possible age differences in effectiveness of dyadic coping across stressful events. Alternatively, there may be differences in the types of stressors experienced between young and middle-aged couples, or perhaps the latter may engage in more relationship-focused coping.

Relationship Duration Differences: Along with age, relationship duration also contributes to use of and outcomes of dyadic coping. Staff and colleagues (2017) conducted a narrative analysis review and found that couples with longer relationship durations tend to use dyadic strategies more than those with shorter relationship durations. Berg and colleagues

(2016) noted that dyadic coping appears beneficial for intimate couples of varying relationship durations.

However, other studies found mixed results: Relationship duration was either unrelated to marital satisfaction (Fallachai et al., 2019; Hilpert et al., 2016) or was negatively associated with relationship satisfaction under certain circumstances, for example same-sex male couples (Feinstein et al., 2018) or among wives only (Rusu et al., 2019). Johnson et al. (2016) found that supportive dvadic coping declined across a 5-year period, although there was variation in this rate of change. Decline was steeper for those who had higher baseline levels, while their partners experienced more gradual decline. Thus, there are undoubtedly individual differences in the relationship between relationship duration and dyadic coping. Studies are needed that can examine long-term relationships between these factors.

Summary: Dyadic coping could provide an interesting context in which to study how the social context influences the development of coping strategies in adulthood. However, the current studies are limited by a paucity of longitudinal studies and a tendency to ignore the context in which the dyadic coping occurs, as well as individual variation in coping trajectories. In addition, studies tend to condense different coping strategies into a single predictor, even though a factor analysis of the English version of the Dyadic Coping Inventory (Bodenmann, 2008) showed that it was multidimensional (Randall et al., 2016), including both problem- and emotion-focused components, as well as elements of provided and perceived support. Summing different types of dyadic coping into a composite indicator does not allow for an examination of the differential developmental trajectories, or how socialization of coping within dyads might occur. What leads couples to engage in empathic dyadic coping as opposed to the acrimonious, divorce-prone pattern that Carrère and Gottman (1999) observed? A closer theoretical and empirical linkage between the theories of how coping changes with age, the clinical marital literature, and dyadic coping researchers might prove fruitful.

We suggest that future research focus on three areas. First, more longitudinal studies are needed to examine how and why dvadic coping changes with age, and the factors that influence its development. For example, dyadic support in early childhood is related to better adolescent emotion expression (Perry et al., 2020). Although supportive dyadic coping might decrease across adulthood (Johnson et al., 2016), this might reflect the general decrease in coping effort seen in later life (Aldwin, 2007). Studies examining how couples learn to help, model, socialize, and support each other's self-regulation and become more efficacious problem-solvers would be a welcome addition to the literature.

Second, it would be helpful if the dyadic coping measures more closely reflected individual coping measures to better allow comparison between the two. Anecdotally, parents of infants rapidly learn that their own emotion regulation helps soothe infants. It would also make sense that adults in long-term romantic relationships may help each other develop better regulatory skills, given that Carrère and Gottman (1999) demonstrated that divorce rates were much higher among couples who escalated their disagreements than those who practiced better emotion regulation.

Finally, there is a surprising dearth of dyadic coping studies in diverse samples, including different ethnicities and social classes. While there was a cross-national study showing that the slope between dyadic coping and marital satisfaction appeared shallower in African countries (Hilpert et al., 2016), we identified only a few studies that specifically examined dyadic coping in ethnic minorities (e.g., Mendez-Luck et al., 2019; Mitchell et al., 2015). Thus, further understanding of social class and ethnic differences in dyadic coping would be a much-needed contribution to the literature.

Summary and Integration

It is premature to propose a new theory of coping across the lifespan. However, we feel that similar issues emerge at different points in the lifespan. The first reflects the emphasis on resource/energy management, important in how individuals cope with stress. Across the lifespan, it is important to develop efficacious means of coping with both the adverse situation and the attendant emotional distress through the process of energy management at the biological, psychological, and social levels. As we have seen, infants and young children have very costly and rather ineffective means of coping with stress, such as tantrums or other emotional displays to attract attention, necessitating reliance on others for more effective coping. Emotion regulation shifts from behavioral to more cognitive management strategies, which become more complex and nuanced through young adulthood and may also be more energy efficient. Problem-focused coping emerges more in middle childhood and becomes sophisticated and responsive to situational demands in adolescence and young adulthood. Issues in resource management continue throughout adulthood, but may become particularly salient in later life as older adults may have less energy to cope and need to avoid the health costs of stress reactions. Thus, we argue that, in general, there is an increase in efficacious coping throughout the lifespan, with coping becoming more nuanced and situation-specific, as well as tailored to individual needs and preferences. Issues of increase in the number and flexibility of coping strategies need to addressed, paired with

increases in specificity. It is important to understand the processes through which individuals increase their coping capacity and become more efficient copers, especially in the context of dyadic coping.

Second, the importance of the social context for the development of coping strategies cannot be overemphasized. Parents and teachers socialize children into culturally appropriate emotion-regulation and problem-focused coping strategies, but this is also influenced by peers and later through romantic dyads, as well as by others within one's social contexts. In adulthood, coping clearly keeps developing, and how the social context influences the increases in emotion regulation and coping efficacy is, as yet, unclear. From a life course perspective, which examines how individual lives are embedded within larger social contexts, this suggests that there are probably cohort and period effects in coping strategies, which, to our knowledge, have not yet been explored.

Finally, the lifespan principles of plasticity and individual differences in trajectories also need to be incorporated. The research on transitions reviewed earlier shows that individuals can return to developmentally earlier modes of coping under both transitions and chronic stressors such as major illness and disability. Nonetheless, there are individual differences in how people undergo transitions and in how they cope with stress. Thus, more research on the developmental and contextual factors that influence coping trajectories is needed.

References

- Acquati, C., & Kayser, K. (2019). Dyadic coping across the lifespan: A comparison between younger and middle-aged couples with breast cancer. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 404. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00404
- Aldwin, C. M. (1991). Does age affect the stress and coping process? Implications of age differences

in perceived control. *Journal of Gerontology*, 46 (4), P174–P180. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/ 46.4.P174

- Aldwin, C. M. (2007). Stress, coping, and development: An integrative approach (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Aldwin, C. M., & Igarashi, H. (2015). Successful, optimal, and resilient aging: A psychosocial perspective. In P. A. Lichtenberg, B. T. Mast, B. D. Carpenter, & J. Wetherell (Eds.), *APA handbook of clinical geropsychology: Vol 1. History and status of the field and perspectives on aging* (pp. 331–359). American Psychological Association.
- Aldwin, C. M., & Igarashi, H. (2016). Coping, optimal aging, and resilience in a sociocultural context. In V. Bengston & R. A. Settersten III (Eds.), *Handbook of the theories of aging* (3rd ed., pp. 551–576). Springer Press.
- Aldwin, C. M., Igarashi, H., Choun, S., & Spiro, A. III. (2019, October). *The coping, appraisal, and resilience in aging (CARA) model.* Biannual Meetings of the Society for the Study of Human Development, Portland, Oregon.
- Aldwin, C. M., Lee, H., Choun, S., & Kang, S. (2019). Coping. In T. A. Revenson & T. A. R. Gurung (Eds.), *Handbook of health psychology* (3rd ed., pp. 225–238). Taylor & Francis.
- Aldwin, C. M., & Revenson, T. A. (1987). Does coping help? A reexamination of the relation between coping and mental health. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 53(2), 337–348. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.2.337
- Aldwin, C. M., Sutton, K. J., Chiara, G., & Spiro, A. III (1996). Age differences in stress, coping, and appraisal: Findings from the Normative Aging Study. *Journals of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, 51, 179–188. https://doi. org/10.1093/geronb/51B.4.P1796
- Aldwin, C. M., Yancura, L., & Lee, H. (2021).
 Stress, coping, and aging. In K. W. Schaie & S.
 L. Willis (Eds.), *Handbook of the psychology of aging* (9th ed., pp. 275–286). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816094-7.00016-7
- Aspinwall, L. G., & Taylor, S. E. (1997). A stitch in time: Self-regulation and proactive coping.

Psychological Bulletin, *121*(3), 417–436. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.121.3.417

- Baltes, P. B. (1987). Theoretical propositions of lifespan developmental psychology: On the dynamics between growth and decline. *Developmental Psychology*, 23(5), 611–626.
- Bariola, E., Hughes, E. K., & Gullone, E. (2012). Relationships between parent and child emotion regulation strategy use: A brief report. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 21(3), 443–448. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10826-011-9497-5
- Beesley, V., Smith, D., Nagle, C., Friedlander, M., Grant, P., DeFazio, A., & Webb, P. (2018). Coping strategies, trajectories, and their associations with patient-reported outcomes among women with ovarian cancer. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 26(12), 4133–4142. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00520-018-4284-0
- Ben-Eliyahu, A., & Kaplan, A. (2015). Growth curve modeling analysis of social and academic coping during elementary school. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 41, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2015.09.001
- Berg, C. A., Sewell, K. K., Hughes Lansing, A. E., Wilson, S. J., & Brewer, C. (2016).
 A developmental perspective to dyadic coping across adulthood. In J. Bookwala (Ed.), *Couple relationships in the middle and later years: Their nature, complexity and role in health and illness* (pp. 259–280). American Psychological Association.
- Berg, C. A., Skinner, M., Ko, K., Butler, J. M., Palmer, D. L., Butner, J., & Wiebe, D. J. (2009). The fit between stress appraisal and dyadic coping in understanding perceived coping effectiveness for adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23(4), 521–530. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015556
- Berg, C. A., & Upchurch, R. (2007). A developmental-contextual model of couples coping with chronic illness across the adult life span. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*(6), 920–954. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.6.920
- Bodenmann, G. (1997). Dyadic coping: A systematic-transactional view of stress and coping among couples: Theory and empirical findings. *European Review of Applied Psychology*, 47(2), 137–140.

- Bodenmann, G. (2005). Dyadic coping and its significance for marital functioning. In T. A. Revenson, K. Kayser, & G. Bodenmann (Eds.), *Couples coping with stress: Emerging perspectives* on dyadic coping (pp. 33–49). American Psychological Association.
- Bodenmann, G. (2008). Dyadisches Coping Inventar (DCI). Test manual [Dyadic Coping Inventory (DCI). Test manual]. Huber & Hogrefe.
- Bodenmann, G., & Widmer, K. (2000). Coping with stress by the elderly: A comparison of young, middle-aged and elderly couples. *Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie und Geriatrie*, 33(3), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003910070063
- Brandtstädter, J., & Rothermund, K. (2002). The life-course dynamics of goal pursuit and goal adjustment: A two-process framework. *Developmental Review*, 22(1), 117–150. https:// doi.org/10.1006/drev.2001.0539
- Brandtstädter, J., Rothermund, K., Kranz, D., & Kühn, W. (2010). Final decentrations: Personal goals, rationality perspectives, and the awareness of life's finitude. *European Psychologist*, 15(2), 152–163. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/ a000019
- Breitenstein, C. J., Milek, A., Nussbeck, F. W., Davila, J., & Bodenmann, G. (2018). Stress, dyadic coping, and relationship satisfaction in late adolescent couples. *Journal of Social & Personal Relationships*, 35(5), 770–790. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0265407517698049
- Brennan, P., Holland, J., Schutte, K., & Moos, R. (2012). Coping trajectories in later life: A 20-year predictive study. *Aging & Mental Health*, 16(3), 305–316. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13607863.2011.628975
- Butler, E. A., & Randall, A. K. (2013). Emotional coregulation in close relationships. *Emotion Review*, 5(2), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1754073912451630
- Carrère, S., & Gottman, J. M. (1999). Predicting divorce among newlyweds from the first three minutes of a marital conflict discussion. *Family Process*, 38(3), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1545-5300.1999.00293.x
- Carroll, A. E., & Marrero, D. G. (2006). The role of significant others in adolescent diabetes. *The*

Diabetes Educator, 32(2), 243–252. https://doi. org/10.1177/0145721706286893

- Carstensen, L. L. (2006). The influence of a sense of time on human development. *Science*, *312*(5782), 1913–1915. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1127488
- Carstensen, L. L., Gottman, J. M., & Levenson, R. W. (1995). Emotional behavior in long-term marriage. *Psychology & Aging*, 10(1), 140–149. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.10.1.140
- Charles, S. T. (2010). Strength and vulnerability integration: A model of emotional well-being across adulthood. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(3), 1068–1091. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021232
- Charles, S. T., & Luong, G. (2013). Emotional experience across adulthood: The theoretical model of strength and vulnerability integration. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22 (6), 443–448. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413497013
- Charles, S. T., Piazza, J. R., Luong, G., & Almeida, D. M. (2009). Now you see it, now you don't: Age differences in affective reactivity to social tensions. *Psychology & Aging*, 24(3), 645–653. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016673
- Chow, C. M., Ruhl, H., & Buhrmester, D. (2016). Reciprocal associations between friendship attachment and relational experiences in adolescence. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 33(1), 122–146. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0265407514562987
- Compas, B. E. (1987). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(3), 393–403. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.101.3.393
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal*

of Psychology, 66(2), 71-81. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajpy.12043

- Conley, C. S., Shapiro, J. B., Huguenel, B. M., & Kirsch, A. C. (2020). Navigating the college years: Developmental trajectories and gender differences in psychological functioning, cognitive-affective strategies, and social wellbeing. *Emerging Adulthood*, 8(2), 103–117. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696818791603
- Cooke, J. E., Kochendorfer, L. B., Stuart-Parrigon, K. L., Kohen, A. J., & Kerns, K. A. (2019). Parent-child attachment and children's experience and regulation of emotion: A metaanalytic review. *Emotion*, *19*(6), 1103–1126. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000504
- Decker, C. L. (2007). Social support and adolescent cancer survivors: A review of the literature. *Psycho-Oncology: Journal of the Psychological, Social & Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer, 16*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.1073
- DeLongis, A., & O'Brien, T. B. (1990). An interpersonal framework for stress and coping: An application to the families of Alzheimer's patients. In M. A. P. Stephens, J. H. Crowther, S. E. Hobfoll, & D. L. Tennenbaum (Eds.), *Stress and coping in later-life families* (pp. 221–239). Hemisphere.
- DeLongis, A., & Zwicker, A. (2017). Marital satisfaction and divorce in couples in stepfamilies. *Current Opinions in Psychology*, 13 (1), 158–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. copsyc.2016.11.003
- Diehl, M., Chui, H., Hay, E., Lumley, M., Grühn, D., & Labouvie-Vief, G. (2014). Change in coping and defense mechanisms across adulthood: Longitudinal findings in a European American sample. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(2), 634–648. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0033619
- Dixon, R. A. (2011). Evaluating everyday competence in older adult couples: Epidemiological considerations. *Gerontology*, 57 (2), 173–179. https://doi.org/10.1159/000320325
- Eisenberg, N. (2020). Findings, issues, and new directions for research on emotion socialization. *Developmental Psychology*, *56*(3), 664–670. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000906664

- Eschenbeck, H., Schmid, S., Schröder, I.,
 Wasserfall, N., & Kohlmann, C. (2018).
 Development of coping strategies from childhood to adolescence. *European Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1027/2512-8442/a000005
- Falconier, M. K., & Kuhn, R. (2019). Dyadic coping in couples: A conceptual integration and a review of the empirical literature. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 571. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00571
- Fallahchai, R., Fallahi, M., & Randall, A. K. (2019). A dyadic approach to understanding associations between job stress, marital quality, and dyadic coping for dual-career couples in Iran. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 487. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00487
- Feinstein, B. A., McConnell, E., Dyar, C., Mustanski, B., & Newcomb, M. E. (2018). Minority stress and relationship functioning among young male same-sex couples: An examination of actor–partner interdependence models. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 86(5), 416–426. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/ccp0000296
- Frazier, L. D. (2002). Stability and change in patterns of coping with Parkinson's disease. *The International Journal of Aging & Human Development*, 55(3), 207–231. https://doi.org/ 10.2190/UA78-79LB-4GCF-8MJT
- Gunnar, M. R., & Donzella, B. (2002). Social regulation of the cortisol levels in early human development. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 27 (1–2), 199–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(01)00045-2
- Gutmann, D. L. (1974). Alternatives to disengagement: The old men of the Highland Druze. In R. A. LeVine (Ed.), *Culture and personality: Contemporary readings* (pp. 232–245). Aldine.
- Hagedoorn, M., Dagan, M., Puterman, E., Hoff, C., Jeron Meijerink, W. J. H., DeLongis, A., & Sanderman, R. (2011). Relationship satisfaction in couples confronted with colorectal cancer: The interplay of past and current spousal support. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 34(4), 288–297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-010-9311-7

- Hayward, R. D., & Krause, N. (2016). Classes of individual growth trajectories of religious coping in older adulthood: Patterns and predictors. *Research on Aging*, 38(5), 554–579. https://doi. org/10.1177/0164027515593347
- Heckhausen, J., Brandstätter, V., Fishbach, A., Freund, A. M., Lachman, M. E., & Robert, P. (2021). Goal changes and healthy aging. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 76(Suppl. 2), S105–S114. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/ gbab038
- Heckhausen, J., Wrosch, C., & Schulz, R. (2010). A motivational theory of life-span development. *Psychological Review*, 117(1), 32–60. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0017668
- Heckhausen, J., Wrosch, C., & Schulz, R. (2019). Agency and motivation in adulthood and old age. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70, 191–217. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-10304
- Heffer, T., & Willoughby, T. (2017). A count of coping strategies: A longitudinal study investigating an alternative method to understanding coping and adjustment. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(10), Article e0186057. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0186057
- Hilpert, P., Randall, A. K., Sorokowski, P., Atkins, D. C., Sorokowska, A., Ahmadi, K., ... & Yoo, G. (2016). The associations of dyadic coping and relationship satisfaction vary between and within nations: A 35-nation study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, Article 1106. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01106
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2011). Conservation of resources theory: Its implication for stress, health, and resilience. In S. Folkman (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of stress, health, and coping* (pp. 127–147). Oxford University Press.
- Johnson, A. M., Hawes, D. J., Eisenberg, N., Kohlhoff, J., & Dudney, J. (2017). Emotion socialization and child conduct problems: A comprehensive review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 54, 64–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.04.001
- Johnson, M. D., Horne, R. M., & Galovan, A. M. (2016). The developmental course of supportive dyadic coping. *Developmental Psychology*, 52
(12), 2031–2043. https://doi.org/10.1037/ dev0000216

- Kliewer, W., Parrish, K. A., Taylor, K. W., Jackson, K., Walker, J. M., & Shivy, V. A. (2006). Socialization of coping with community violence: Influences of caregiver coaching, modeling, and family context. *Child Development*, 77(3), 605–623. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00893.x
- Kliewer, W., Sandler, I. N., & Wolchik, S. A. (1994). Family socialization of threat appraisal and coping: Coaching, modeling, and family context. In F. Nestmann & K. Hurrelmann (Eds.), *Social networks and social support in childhood and adolescence* (pp. 271–291). Walter de Gruyter.
- Kristofferzon, M. L., Löfmark, R., & Carlsson, M. (2005). Coping, social support and quality of life over time after myocardial infarction. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 52(2), 113–124. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03571.x
- La Greca, A., Lai, B., Llabre, M., Silverman, W., Vernberg, E., & Prinstein, M. (2013). Children's postdisaster trajectories of PTS symptoms: Predicting chronic distress. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 42(4), 351–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10566-013-9206-1
- Landis, M., Peter-Wight, M., Martin, M., & Bodenmann, G. (2013). Dyadic coping and marital satisfaction of older spouses in long-term marriage. *GeroPsych*, 26(1), 39–47. https://doi. org/10.1024/1662-9647/a000077
- Leibring, I., & Anderzén-Carlsson, A. (2019). Fear and coping in children 5–9 years old treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A longitudinal interview study. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 46, e29–e36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pedn.2019.02.007
- Levenson, R. W., Carstensen, L. L., & Gottman, J. M. (1993). Long-term marriage: Age, gender, and satisfaction. *Psychology & Aging*, 8(2), 301–313. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.8.2.301
- Lincoln, C. R., Russell, B. S., Donohue, E. B., & Racine, L. E. (2017). Mother-child interactions and preschoolers' emotion regulation outcomes: Nurturing autonomous emotion regulation.

Journal of Child & Family Studies, 26(2), 559–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0561-z

- Lukenheimer, E. S., Hamby, C. M., Lobo, F. M., Cole, P. M., & Olson, S. L. (2020). The role of dynamic, dyadic parent-child processes in parental socialization of emotion. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 566–577. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/dev0000808
- Lukenheimer, E. S., Olson, S. L., Hollenstein, T., Sameroff, A. J., & Winter, C. (2011). Dyadic flexibility and positive affect in parent-child coregulation and the development of child behavior problems. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 23(2), 577–591. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S095457941100006X
- Malin, H., Morton, E., Nadal, A., & Smith, K. (2019). Purpose and coping with adversity: A repeated measures, mixed-methods study with young adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 76 (1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2019.07.015
- Manczak, E. M., DeLongis, A., & Chen, E. (2016). Does empathy have a cost? Diverging psychological and physiological effects within families. *Health Psychology*, 35(3), 211–218. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000281
- Martin-Joy, J. S., Malone, J. C., Cui, X. J., Johansen, P. Ø., Hill, K. P., Rahman, M. O., ...
 & Vaillant, G. E. (2017). Development of adaptive coping from mid to late life: A 70-year longitudinal study of defense maturity and its psychosocial correlates. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 205(9), 685–691. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/NMD.000000000000711
- Mendez-Luck, C. A., Miranda, J., Mangione, C. M., Yoon, J., & VanGarde, A. (2019). The Juntos Pilot Study: A diabetes management intervention for Latino caregiving dyads. *The Diabetes Educator*, 45(5), 507–519. https://doi. org/10.1177/0145721719866619
- McCarty, W., & Lawrence, D. (2016). Coping, confidence, and change within the academy: A longitudinal look at police recruits. *Police Practice & Research*, 17(3), 263–278. https://doi. org/10.1080/15614263.2014.958486
- Mitchell, A. M., Owen, J., Adelson, J. L., France, T., Inch, L. J., Bergen, C., & Lindel, A. (2015).

The influence of dyadic coping in relationship education for low- income racial and ethnic minority couples. *Journal of Family Therapy*, *37* (4), 492–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6427.12057

- Morelen, D., Shaffer, A., & Suveg, C. (2016). Maternal emotion regulation: Links to emotion parenting and child emotion regulation. *Journal* of Family Issues, 37(13), 1891–1916. https://doi. org/10.1177/0192513X14546720
- Newth, S., & DeLongis, A. (2004). Individual differences, mood, and coping with chronic pain in rheumatoid arthritis: A daily process analysis. *Psychology & Health*, 19(3), 283–305. https://doi. org/10.1080/0887044042000193451
- O'Brien, T. B., DeLongis, A., Pomaki, G., Puterman, E., & Zwicker, A. (2009). Couples coping with stress: The role of empathic responding. *European Psychologist*, 14(1), 18–28. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.14.1.18
- Paley, B., & Hajal, N. J. (2022). Conceptualizing emotion regulation and coregulation as familylevel phenomena. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 25(1), 19–43. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10567-022-00378-4
- Papp, L. M., & Witt, N. L. (2010). Romantic partners' individual coping strategies and dyadic coping: Implications for relationship functioning. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 24 (5), 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020836
- Park, C. L., Williams, M. K., Hernandez, P. R., Agocha, V. B., Lee, S. Y., Carney, L. M., & Loomis, D. (2020). Development of emotion regulation across the first two years of college. *Journal of Adolescence*, 84(1), 230–242. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2020.09.009
- Perry, N. B., Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2020). Maternal socialization of child emotion and adolescent adjustment: Indirect effects through emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000815
- Randall, A. K., Hilpert, P., Jimenez-Arista, L. E., Walsh, K. J., & Bodenmann, G. (2016). Dyadic coping in the US: Psychometric properties and validity for use of the English version of the Dyadic Coping Inventory. *Current Psychology*,

35(4), 570-582. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-015-9323-0

- Repetti, R., Wang, S. W., & Saxbe, D. (2009). Bringing it all back home: How outside stressors shape families' everyday lives. *Current Directions* in Psychological Science, 18(2), 106–111. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01618.x
- Rogers, A. A., Ha, T., Updegraff, K. A., & Iida, M. (2018). Adolescents' daily romantic experiences and negative mood: A dyadic, intensive longitudinal study. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 47(7), 1517–1530. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10964-017-0797-y
- Rohr, M. K., Nestler, S., & Kunzmann, U. (2019). A trouble shared is a trouble halved: Age differences in emotional experience and expression during couples' conversations. *Psychology & Aging*, 34(6), 848–861. https://doi. org/10.1037/pag0000386
- Rothermund, K., & Brandstädter, J. (2003). Coping with deficits and losses in later life: From compensatory action to accommodation. *Psychology & Aging*, 18(4), 896–905. https://doi. org/10.1037/0882-7974.18.4.896
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., Pyun, Y., Aycock, C., & Coyle, S. (2016). A meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(10), 1017–1067. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000058
- Rusu, P. P., Bodenmann, G., & Kayser, K. (2019). Cognitive emotion regulation and positive dyadic outcomes in married couples. *Journal of Social & Personal Relationships*, 36(1), 359–376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517751664
- Schacter, H. L., Lessard, L. M., & Juvonen, J. (2019). Peer rejection as a precursor of romantic dysfunction in adolescence: Can friendships protect? *Journal of Adolescence*, 77(1), 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2019.10.004
- Schulz, R., & Heckhausen, J. (1996). A life-span model of successful aging. *American Psychologist*, 51(7), 702–714. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0003-066X.51.7.702
- Silkenbeumer, J. R., Schiller, E. M., & Kärtner, J. (2018). Co- and self-regulation of emotions in

the preschool setting. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 44, 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecresq.2018.02.014

- Skinner, A. T., Gurdal, S., Chang, L., Oburu, P., & Tapanya, S. (2021). Dyadic coping, parental warmth, and adolescent externalizing behavior in four countries. *Journal of Family Issues*, 43(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X21993851
- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2019). The development of academic coping in children and youth: A comprehensive review and critique. *Developmental Review*, 53, Article 100870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2019.100870
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress, neurophysiology, social relationships, and resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer.
- Smith, T. W., Uchino, B. N., Berg, C. A., Florsheim, P., Pearce, G., Hawkins, M., Henry, N. J. M., Beveridge, R. M., Skinner, M. A., Ko, K. J., & Olsen-Cerny, C. (2009). Conflict and collaboration in middle-aged and older couples II: Cardiovascular reactivity during marital reaction. *Psychology & Aging*, 24(2), 274–286. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016067
- Staff, H. R., Didymus, F. F., & Backhouse, S. H. (2017). The antecedents and outcomes of dyadic coping in close personal relationships:
 A systematic review and narrative synthesis. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 30*(5), 498–520. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2017.1329931
- Stanton, A. L., Kirk, S. B., Cameron, C. L., & Danoff-Burg, S. (2000). Coping through emotional approach: Scale construction and validation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(6), 1150–1169. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-3514.78.6.1150

- Stephenson, E., DeLongis, A., Esdaile, J. M., & Lehman, A. J. (2013). Depressive symptoms and rheumatoid arthritis: Spouse emphatic responding as a buffer. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 66(4), 532–541. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/acr.22161
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *Journal of Health & Social Behavior*, 52(2), 145–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022146510395592
- Traa, M. J., De Vries, J., Bodenmann, G., & Den Oudsten, B. L. (2015). Dyadic coping and relationship functioning in couples coping with cancer: A systematic review. *British Journal of Healthy Psychology*, 20(1), 85–114. https://doi. org/10.1111/bjhp.12094
- Verstaen, A., Haase, C. M., Lwi, S. J., & Levenson, R. W. (2020). Age-related changes in emotional behavior: Evidence from a 13-year longitudinal study of long-term married couples. *Emotion*, 20 (2), 149–163. https://doi.org/10.1037/ emo0000551
- Wilson, S., & Durbin, C. E. (2013). Mother-child and father-child dyadic interaction: Parental and child bids and responsiveness to each other during early childhood. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 59(3), 249–279. https://doi.org/ 10.1353/mpq.2013.0018
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Webb, H. J., Pepping, C. A., Swan, K., Merlo, O., Skinner, E. A., Avdagic, E., & Dunbar, M. (2017). Review: Is parent-child attachment a correlate of children's emotion regulation and coping? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 4(1), 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025415618276

3

Attachment, Regulation, and the Development of Coping

Sophia W. Magro, Faith VanMeter, and Glenn I. Roisman

Introduction

Attachment theory proposes that one of the most important functions of early relationships is to support a child's use of an adult to appropriately regulate emotions in times of stress (Ainsworth et al., 1978/2015). A child's tendency and ability to use a caregiver as a safe haven when faced with a stressor in order to organize emotions and promote safety is considered to be the key function of the attachment system (Bowlby, 1982; Sroufe, 1996). In this chapter, we (1) summarize claims made by attachment theorists about the importance of attachment quality for predicting an individual's ability to effectively self-regulate; (2) describe different traditions in the measurement of attachment across the lifespan; and (3) introduce some definitional and methodological approaches to the study of emotion regulation and coping. We additionally highlight the conceptual links between attachment, emotion regulation, and coping. Finally, we review literature that has estimated associations between various measures of attachment at different life stages and coping and offer suggestions for future research in this field.

Attachment Theory: An Overview

Bowlby (1982) argued that emotional bonds are formed between infants and their primary caregivers through the activation of the attachment system. This system, when functioning normatively, promotes the safety of the infant in the vulnerable first few years of life. Under optimal conditions, the infant uses the caregiver as a secure base from which to explore the environment as well as a safe haven to return to when a threat is perceived. More specifically, the quality of an attachment relationship is theorized to depend primarily upon the quality of the caregiving experienced in the first year of life and beyond, including parental sensitivity, availability, and consistency (Bowlby, 1982).

A central tenet of attachment theory is that the quality of these early caregiving relationships continues to have an impact on behaviors through the lifespan. More specifically, experiences with primary caregivers are internalized by the child and take the form of "representational or working models" (Bowlby, 1973, p. 203). These internal working models, in turn, are assumed to shape children's perceptions of, as well as their responses to, environmental cues. These models become generalized over time and are thought to influence relationships with others and responses to challenges over the lifespan (Bowlby, 1973; Bretherton & Munholland, 2016).

Preparation of this manuscript was supported by the National Institute of Mental Health of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number T32MH015755. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Manuscript preparation was also in part supported by a University of Minnesota Interdisciplinary Doctoral Fellowship to the second author.

Regulation and Coping

Because regulation is a part of normal functioning, the ability to identify and regulate emotions appropriately is a vital aspect of healthy development (Compas et al., 2001). Emotion regulation is defined as the process of modulating, managing, and modifying emotions to achieve a goal and has been discussed as the ability to both control and communicate affect in social situations (Eisenberg & Spinrad, 2004; Thompson & Meyer, 2007). Coping is defined as behavioral and cognitive efforts that manage internal and external demands perceived as threatening or stressful to the individual (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; VanMeter et al., 2020). Coping is a goal-oriented process in which individuals direct their thoughts and behaviors toward resolving the source of stress and managing reactions to the stressor (Jackson et al., 2017; Lazarus, 1993).

Though typically discussed as distinct constructs, coping and emotion regulation are conceptually linked. Both are processes of regulation and include efforts toward regulation such as attempting to modify a behavior, emotion, thought, or psychological response (Compas et al., 2014, 2017; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Further, researchers have included many of the same strategies when studying both constructs, including cognitive reappraisal, avoidance, and emotional expression (Compas et al., 2017).

Where the constructs differ is that coping refers more specifically to a broad regulatory response to *stress*, whereas emotion regulation refers to responses to a much wider range of situations (positive or negative), but more specifically to the regulation of emotion-like behaviors, attention, and motivation (Compas et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 2010; Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004; Gross, 2013). These concepts are further differentiated by the fact that coping refers specifically to volitional processes (Compas et al., 2014), whereas emotion regulation includes volitional processes as well as automatic ones (Gross, 2013). Though differences between the two exist, coping and emotion regulation share several key elements. Despite the conceptual overlap of these terms, most researchers do not study them in concert. Instead, two parallel fields have developed that examine the constructs separately (Compas et al., 2014). The current chapter will discuss both regulatory functions, with a focus on the relation between attachment and coping with stress.

Conceptualizations and Measurements of Coping

Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) model of stress and coping has widely dominated the coping literature. Lazarus and Folkman initially posited two overarching dimensions of coping that capture the general characteristics of responses to stress: problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping. Problem-focused coping is defined as responses that are directed toward resolving a stressor (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), such as taking action to alter a stressful situation. Emotion-focused coping, on the other hand, is defined as efforts to alleviate emotions that occur in response to a stressor (Compas et al., 2001; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), such as expressing emotions or using emotions to seek attention and/or support from others. Since Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) identification of these dimensions of coping, researchers have continued to develop an increasing number of subtypes of coping, such as avoidant, social support, passive, and active coping (Compas et al., 2001; Coyne & Gottlieb, 1996). In fact, Skinner and colleagues (2003) reported that there have been over 400 subtypes of coping conceptualized in published studies.

Not surprisingly, then, a wide variety of coping measures have been developed. Generally, coping measures aim to assess how individuals respond to stressors, whether that be general stress or specific stressors (e.g., interpersonal problems, academic or career stress, or chronic illness). Most studies have relied on self-assessments, such as the Ways of Coping Questionnaire (Folkman & Lazarus, 1985) and the Coping Orientation to Problem Experience Inventory (COPE: Carver et al., 1989), to assess coping. The benefit of self-assessments is that, although coping is volitional, it can be an internal process that might not be observable, as is the case with cognitive reappraisal (i.e., changing the way an individual thinks about the problem to alleviate stress: Lazarus & Alfert, 1964). However, some studies, particularly with infants and young children, rely on observational measures of coping, such as the Coping Strategies Rating Questionnaire (Smith et al., 2006). Although this may allow for a less biased record of behavior, as these measures are less susceptible to self-report biases (von Baeyer et al., 2009), this strategy likely does not fully capture internal coping strategies that may be utilized by an individual.

Attachment and Coping

During infancy, emotion regulation is a dyadic process between the infant and their caregiver (Roque et al., 2013; Thompson, 1994). When distressed, infants' caregivers work to regulate their infants' emotions by holding, talking to, or otherwise distracting the infant (Sroufe, 1996). As children develop, caregivers still play an important role in children's regulation. They assist in the expression of emotion and help children utilize strategies that reduce distress (Roque et al., 2013; Sroufe, 1996). In this sense, caregivers and children participate in co-regulation, in which caregivers primarily teach regulatory skills and also assist with regulation itself. Successful co-regulation is essential to the development of children's healthy, independent regulatory abilities (Diamond & Aspinwall, 2003; Fogel, 1993).

Attachment theory is centered around the impact of the parent-child relationship on a range of developmental outcomes (Ainsworth, 1978/2015: Bowlby. 1982). Attachment scholars have claimed that early relationships are uniquely impactful and affect a range of behavioral processes over the lifespan (Carlson & Sroufe, 1995). The attachment relationship is where children begin to develop the ability to recognize and regulate emotions and develop the capacity to cope with stress (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2017). It is in this attachment relationship that children are able to use an adult to assist in regulation of stress. The attachment relationship also is informed especially by a caregiver's sensitivity to the child (Ainsworth, 1978/2015; Weinfield et al., 1999). This sensitivity itself can be considered a type of co-regulation, as caregivers must be sensitive to the cues of their children and respond in a timely, appropriate, and ultimately effective manner. Reliably experiencing these reciprocal interactions, reflected in a secure attachment relationship, is what builds regulatory and expressive skills that children can later utilize independently (Sroufe, 1996; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2017). Ultimately, attachment bonds develop alongside and together with regulatory skills, including coping with stress.

It is possible that an individual's regulatory abilities are influenced by the quality of the attachment bond through expectations formed early in life about caregivers' behavior and warmth (i.e., internal working models) that then influence their own relational behavior throughout their lives (Bowlby, 1982). Children first learn regulatory abilities such

81

as requesting support and using distraction to alleviate distress through the aid or modeling of a caregiver (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2017). This provides a foundation for the development of patterns of regulation that differ between individuals (Siegel, 2001; Sroufe, al., Zimmer-Gembeck 1996: et 2017). Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) transactional theory of stress and coping posits that individuals are constantly appraising stimuli within their environments, and when stimuli are appraised as threatening, the resulting distress initiates a coping response to attempt to address that threat (Biggs et al., 2017). These appraisals, which are central to the formulation of coping responses, may work in parallel with individuals' expectations of responses that are informed by internal working models. Having a secure, healthy attachment relationship of course does not mean that an individual never experiences negative emotions, but rather that they have the ability to successfully manage stressful, difficult, or threatening situations (Roque et al., 2013), at least in part, because their caregiver assisted with regulation and modeled regulatory skills.

The remainder of this chapter reviews work that has examined the association between the quality of attachments and coping behaviors. Based on what is known about the development of attachment styles and regulation, it would be expected that individuals who experience a secure attachment relationship to a caregiver would have successfully engaged in co-regulation with their caregiver, and would thus be more likely to utilize adaptive coping strategies, such as problem-focused coping, active coping (i.e., actively and flexibly managing the stressor rather than avoiding the stressor; Cassidy, 2008), and more specifically, support-, comfort-, and help-seeking strategies of coping. On the other hand, individuals with an anxious attachment relationship have been predicted to engage in coping strategies that

emphasize emotional reactions that aim to elicit attention from others, including aggression, crying, and emotive language (Wei et al., 2005). This strategy might have adaptive functions in infancy, such as gaining the attention of an unavailable parent, but might be maladaptive outside of the attachment relationship (Bowlby, 1973). Conversely, individuals with an avoidant attachment relationship with a caregiver might be expected to engage in avoidant coping strategies. These individuals might have had a withdrawn or rejecting caregiver, and thus may have developed more selforiented coping strategies and may be less likely to seek support, help, and comfort when faced with stress (Roque et al., 2013; Spangler & Grossmann, 1993). Said another way, the skill of avoiding or distancing the self from stressors was built into the internal working model as a way to adaptively cope with stress. Finally, individuals with a disorganized attachment relationship with a presumably frightening or inconsistent (Baer & Martinez, 2006) caregiver are hypothesized to utilize an inconsistent pattern of coping strategies, switching between adaptive and maladaptive forms of regulation (DeOliveira et al., 2004). Thus, children might develop less adaptive and more maladaptive coping strategies because they experienced inconsistent caregiving.

Studies of Attachment and Coping

Next we review the literature on the association between attachment and coping. Our goal was to represent the range of conceptualizations and measurements of attachment behavior from infancy to adulthood. As such, any study that used a well-validated measure of attachment (see Ravitz et al., 2010) was considered for inclusion. Our definition of coping was more broad, in that studies employing either a measure of coping strategies used generally or in response to a specific stressor (e.g., military deployment) were considered. The literature is organized by measurement of attachment to facilitate comparison of studies within each subfield.

Observational Measures of Attachment

The earliest studies of attachment and its consequences were conducted with infants and young children. Infant attachment has been traditionally assessed using the Strange Situation procedure developed by Ainsworth and colleagues (1978/2015), wherein an infant undergoes a set of two increasingly stressful separations from a primary caregiver. Infant behavior toward the caregiver during reunion "episodes" (e.g., comfort-seeking, avoidance, anger) is coded in order to classify the infant's attachment style as secure, insecure-anxious, insecure-avoidant. or disorganized (Ainsworth et al., 1978/2015). Subsequently, the Attachment Q-Sort was developed, which allowed for observations of infant-caregiver interactions in home and other ecologically valid settings. Infants are scored on their similarity to the prototypically secure infant (Waters, 1995).

Despite the long-standing tradition of assessing attachment early in life using observational techniques, however, relatively few studies have been conducted that examine the association between infant attachment quality and strategies for coping with stressors (Tables 3.1A and 3.2A). Overall, these studies provide some preliminary evidence that early coping behaviors are associated with infant attachment quality. Of the reported effects, 56.0% were consistent with a positive association between attachment security and adaptive coping, whereas only 1 out of 25 (4.0%)showed a positive, significant association between attachment insecurity and adaptive coping. For example, in their study of 223 urban, low-income infants, Vondra and colleagues (2001) observed that infants rated as secure more often from ages 12 to 24 months were more likely to use assertive, sociable, and competent (though not adaptable) coping skills at age 24 months. No clear pattern emerged that differentiated the avoidant, ambivalent, and disorganized infants from one another, though they were generally less likely to use the various adaptive coping skills that were rated by observers using the Early Coping Inventory (Zeitlin et al., 1988).

In general, the studies conducted in this area are strong in their use of large sample sizes and multiple measurements of early attachment quality. Both Vondra and colleagues (2001) and Howard (2009) assessed attachment behavior over several assessments, which is important given the difficulty of fully capturing a child's attachment quality in one brief assessment (Roisman & Booth-LaForce, 2014). However, this body of work is significantly limited by the lack of well-validated measures of coping in infancy and early childhood. Furthermore, each study used a different design and measure of coping, making it difficult to interpret the consistency of results.

The interpretation of these results is further complicated by the close relation between infant attachment behavior and early regulatory behaviors. As discussed above, the Strange Situation procedure is designed to be stressful. Attachment codes are primarily dependent upon how effectively an infant is able to use a caregiver to recover from the stress of separation. This complication is reflected in studies like those by Spangler and Grossmann (1993), who conceptualized infant coping as "orientation during the Strange Situation," and Braungart and Stifter (1991), who conceptualized infant coping as "regulation of negative affect" during the Strange Situation. Clearly, more studies are needed that assess attachment early in life and follow up participants at later ages,

Study	N, country, ages	Attachment measure	Coping measure
A: Observational mea	sures of attachment in infancy and chi	ildhood	
Fuertes et al. (2009) Howard (2009)	48, Portugal, 3m (T1), 12m (T2) 394, USA, 4.5y (T1), 5.5y (T2)	Strange Situation (12m) Attachment Q-Sort (4.5, 5.5y)	Still Face Paradigm (3m) Early Childhood Coping Puppet Interview (5.5y)
Vondra et al. (2001)	223, USA, 12m (T1), 18m (T2), 24m (T3)	Strange Situation (12, 18, 24m)	Early Coping Inventory (24m)
B: Self-reported paren	tal attachment in childhood		
Abraham and Kerns (2013)	106, USA, 8–12y	Kerns Security Scale	Children's Coping Strategies Checklist
Contreras et al. (2000)	62, USA, 9–11y	Kerns Security Scale	Children's Coping Strategies Checklist
Hébert et al. (2018)	505, Canada, 6–13y	Kerns Security Scale	Self-Report Coping Scale
Jagadeesan (2013)	673, USA, 6–12y	Kerns Security Scale	Coping Strategies Questionnaire
Kerns et al. (2007)	52, USA, 9–11y	Kerns Security Scale	Children's Coping Strategies Checklist
Tur-Porcar et al. (2018)	1,447, Spain, 7–12y	Kerns Questionnaire of Perceived Parental Attachment to the Mother and Father	Coping Assessment Questionnaire for Children
C: The Adult Attachm	nent Interview		
Dawson et al. (2014)	141, USA, 14y (T1), 22y (T2)	Adult Attachment Interview (14y)	COPE Scale (22y)
Scharf et al. (2004)	88, Israel, 17–18y (T1), 18–19y (T2)	Adult Attachment Interview (17–18y)	Ways of Coping Scale (18–19y)
Seiffge-Krenke (2006)	112, Germany, 21y	Adult Attachment Interview	Coping across Situations Questionnaire
Seiffge-Krenke and Beyers (2005)	112, Germany, 14y (T1), 15y (T2), 16y (T3), 17y (T4), 21y (T5)	Adult Attachment Interview (21y)	Coping across Situations Questionnaire (14, 15, 16, 17, 21y)

Table 3.1 Description of samples and measures for studies reporting an association between attachment and coping strategies

D: Attachment prototypes

Birnbaum et al. (1997)	233, Israel, 20–62y	Hazan and Shaver prototypes	Ways of Coping Checklist
Kemp and Neimeyer (1999)	193, USA, 18y	Bartholomew's Relationship Scales Questionnaire	Ways of Coping Checklist
Mikulincer et al. (1993)	127, Israel, 20–37y	Hazan and Shaver prototypes	Ways of Coping Checklist
Mikulincer and Florian (1995)	92, Israel, 18y	Hazan and Shaver prototypes	Ways of Coping Checklist
Myers and Vetere (2002)	111, England, 18–38y	Hazan and Shaver prototypes	Coping Resources Inventory
Nelson (2004)	138, USA, 22y	Bartholomew's Relationship Questionnaire	Ways of Coping Checklist

E: Continuous scales of attachment anxiety/ambivalence and avoidance

Alexander et al. (2001)	184, Australia, 30y	Attachment Style Questionnaire	Ways of Coping Checklist
Belizaire and Fuertes (2011)	155, USA, 40y	Experiences in Close Relationships Scale	Brief COPE
Ben-Ari and Hirschberg (2009)	146, Israel, 14–16y	Hazan and Shaver Attachment Scale	Rahim Organizational Conflict Inventory
Berry and Kingswell (2012)	57, England, 19–32y	Experiences in Close Relationships Scale – Revised	COPE Scale
Deniz and Işik (2010)	421, Turkey, 17–32y	Bartholomew's Relationship Scales Questionnaire	Coping with Stress Scale
Fuenfhausen and Cashwell (2013)	191, USA, 22–60y	Experiences in Close Relationships Questionnaire – Revised	Dyadic Coping Inventory
Gatmaitan (2013)	102, USA, 18–68y	Experiences in Close Relationships – Short Form	Problem-Focused Style of Coping Questionnaire
Han (2009)	381, USA, 18–60y	Experiences in Close Relationships Scale	Brief COPE
Holmberg et al. (2011)	75, Canada, 18–50y	Experiences in Close Relationships Inventory – Revised	COPE Scale

Study	N, country, ages	Attachment measure	Coping measure
Howard and Medway (2004)	75, USA, 14–19y	Adolescent Relationship Scales Questionnaire	Adolescent COPE
Li and Yang (2009)	326, Taiwan, 18-22y	Revised Adult Attachment Scale	Coping Strategy Indicator
Lopez et al. (2001)	55, USA, 22y	Experiences in Close Relationships – Short Form	Problem-Focused Style of Coping Questionnaire
Lussier et al. (1997)	526, Canada, 18–70y	Hazan and Shaver Attachment Scale	Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations
Marques (2006)	146, USA, 18–24y	Bartholomew's Relationship Scales Questionnaire	Ways of Coping Checklist
Ognibene and Collins (1998)	81, USA, not reported (undergraduate college students)	Bartholomew's Relationship Scales Questionnaire	Ways of Coping Checklist; Social and achievement-related stressors vignettes
Perlman et al. (2016)	225, USA, 18–25y	Experiences in Close Relationships – Short Form	Brief COPE
Zheng (2018)	119, USA, 18–43y	Experiences in Close Relationships Scale	Brief COPE

Study	Attachment subscale	Coping subscale	Result $(t, F, r, b, \text{ or } \beta)$
A: Observational measures	of attachment in infancy and childhoo	d	
Fuertes et al. (2009)	Attachment security	Positive other-directed coping	F(2,45) = 10.55, p < .001 avoidant < secure; resistant < secure
	Attachment security	Negative other-directed coping	F(2,45) = 8.49, p < .005 avoidant < resistant; secure < resistant
	Attachment security	Self-directed coping	F(2,45) = 12.10, p < .001 resistant < avoidant; secure < avoidant
Howard (2009)	Attachment security (T1)	Coping adaptiveness	r =055, p = .29
	Attachment security (T2)	Coping adaptiveness	r = .003, p = .956
Vondra et al. (2001)	Stable avoidant vs. secure vs. ambivalent attachment	Adaptable regulation	F(2,70) = 19.88, p < .001 ambivalent < avoidant; ambivalent < secure
	Stable avoidant vs. secure vs. ambivalent attachment	Assertive regulation	ns
	Stable avoidant vs. secure vs. ambivalent attachment	Sociable regulation	F(2, 67) = 3.61, p < .05 ambivalent < secure
	Stable avoidant vs. secure vs. ambivalent attachment	Competent exploration	F(2, 69) = 9.46, p < .001 ambivalent < secure
	Frequency avoidant attachment	Adaptable regulation	r = .21, p < .01
	Frequency avoidant attachment	Assertive regulation	ns
	Frequency avoidant attachment	Sociable regulation	ns
	Frequency avoidant attachment	Competent exploration	ns
	Frequency secure attachment	Adaptable regulation	ns
	Frequency secure attachment	Assertive regulation	$r = .18, \ p < .05$

Table 3.2 Results from studies reporting an association between attachment and coping strategies

Table 3.2 (cont.)

Study	Attachment subscale	Coping subscale	Result $(t, F, r, b, \text{ or } \beta)$
	Frequency secure attachment	Sociable regulation	r = .25, p < .001
	Frequency secure attachment	Competent exploration	r = .30, p < .001
	Frequency ambivalent attachment	Adaptable regulation	$r =39, \ p < .001$
	Frequency ambivalent attachment	Assertive regulation	ns
	Frequency ambivalent attachment	Sociable regulation	$r =18, \ p < .05$
	Frequency ambivalent attachment	Competent exploration	$r =19, \ p < .05$
	Frequency disorganized attachment	Adaptable regulation	ns
	Frequency disorganized attachment	Assertive regulation	$r =24, \ p < .01$
	Frequency disorganized attachment	Sociable regulation	ns
	Frequency disorganized attachment	Competent exploration	$r =24, \ p < .01$
B: Self-reported parental attack	nment in childhood		
Abraham and Kerns (2013)	Attachment security Attachment security	Social support coping Problem-solving	r = .33, p < .01 r = .21, p < .05
Contreras et al. (2000)	Attachment security	Constructive coping	r = .61, p < .001
Hébert et al. (2018)	Attachment security (father)	Avoidance coping	r =10, ns (boys) r =24, $p < .001$ (girls)
	Attachment security (father)	Approach coping	r = .15, p < .07 (boys) r = .01, ns (girls)

	Attachment security	Avoidance coping	$r =15, \ p < .07 \ (boys)$
	(mother)		$r =22, \ p < .001 \ (girls)$
	Attachment security	Approach coping	r = .07, ns (boys)
	(mother)		r = .16, p < .05 (girls)
Jagadeesan (2013)	Attachment security	Avoidant coping	$r =44, \ p < .001$
	Attachment security	Preoccupied coping	$r = .21, \ p < .001$
Kerns et al. (2007)	Attachment security	Constructive coping	r = .26, p < .10
Tur-Porcar et al. (2018)	Attachment (mother)	Functional coping	r = .292, p < .01
	Attachment (mother)	Dysfunctional coping	r = .017, ns
	Abandonment (mother)	Functional coping	$r =073, \ p < .01$
	Abandonment (mother)	Dysfunctional coping	$r = .141, \ p < .01$
	Attachment (father)	Functional coping	$r = .237, \ p < .01$
	Attachment (father)	Dysfunctional coping	r =001, ns
	Abandonment (father)	Functional coping	r =036, ns
	Abandonment (father)	Dysfunctional coping	$r = .092, \ p < .01$
C: The Adult Attachment Inter	view		
Dawson et al. (2014)	Preoccupied attachment	Maladaptive coping	$\beta = 0.16, \ p < .05$

Dawson et al. (2014)	Preoccupied attachment	Maladaptive coping	$\beta = 0.16, \ p < .05$
	Dismissing attachment	Maladaptive coping	$\beta = 0.22, \ p = .01$
Scharf et al. (2004)	Autonomous vs. dismissing attachment	Emotion-focused coping	t(78) = 0.11, ns
	Autonomous vs. dismissing attachment	Problem-focused coping	t(78) = 2.07, p < .05 autonomous > dismissing
Seiffge-Krenke (2006)	Secure attachment	Active coping	$r = .225, \ p < .05$
	Secure attachment	Internal coping	$r = .182, \ p < .05$
	Secure attachment	Withdrawal	$r =174, \ p < .05$
	Dismissing attachment	Active coping	$r =260, \ p < .01$
	Dismissing attachment	Internal coping	r =058, ns
	Dismissing attachment	Withdrawal	r =002, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Active coping	r = .045, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Internal coping	$r =196, \ p < .05$
	Preoccupied attachment	Withdrawal	$r = .276, \ p < .01$

Table 3.2 (cont.)

Study	Attachment subscale	Coping subscale	Result $(t, F, r, b, \text{ or } \beta)$
Seiffge-Krenke and Beyers	Secure vs. dismissing vs.	Active coping	F(4, 424) = 8.15, p < .001
(2005)	preoccupied attachment		dismissing $<$ secure
	Secure vs. dismissing vs.	Growth in active coping	F(8,424) = 3.02, p < .01
		Internal coning	distinissing < secure, preoccupied < secure
	preoccupied attachment	Internal coping	115
	Secure vs. dismissing vs.	Growth in internal coping	$F(8, 424) = 3.69, \ p < .001$
	preoccupied attachment		preoccupied < dismissing; preoccupied < secure
	Secure vs. dismissing vs. preoccupied attachment	Withdrawal	ns
	Secure vs. dismissing vs. preoccupied attachment	Growth in withdrawal	ns
D: Attachment prototypes			
Birnbaum et al. (1997)	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Social withdrawal	F(2,230) = 14.23, p < .01 ambivalent > secure; avoidant > secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Wishful thinking	F(2,230) = 4.71, p < .05 ambivalent > avoidant; ambivalent > secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Self-defeating thoughts	F(2,230) = 9.42, p < .01 ambivalent > secure; avoidant > secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Problem-solving	F(2,230) = 2.16, ns
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Support-seeking	F(2,230) = 0.88, ns
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Distancing	F(2,230) = 0.60, ns
Kemp and Neimeyer (1999)	Secure vs. fearful vs. preoccupied vs. dismissing attachment	Social support-seeking	F(3, 182) = 1.40, p < .39

	Secure vs. fearful vs. preoccupied vs. dismissing attachment	Distancing	ns
Mikulincer et al. (1993)	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. anxious attachment	Problem-focused coping	ns
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. anxious attachment	Emotion-focused coping	F(2, 120) = 4.84, p < .01 ambivalent > avoidant; ambivalent > secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. anxious attachment	Support-seeking	F(2, 120) = 3.94, p < .05 ambivalent < secure; avoidant < secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. anxious attachment	Distancing	F(2, 120) = 4.07, p < .05 ambivalent < avoidant; avoidant > secure
Mikulincer and Florian (1995)	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Problem-focused coping	ns
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Emotion-focused coping	F(2, 89) = 9.20, p < .01 ambivalent > avoidant; ambivalent > secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Support-seeking	F(2, 89) = 7.08, p < .01 ambivalent > avoidant; ambivalent < secure
	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Distancing coping	F(2, 89) = 6.18, p < .01 ambivalent < avoidant; secure < avoidant
Myers and Vetere (2002)	Secure vs. ambivalent vs. avoidant attachment	Coping resources	F(2, 108) = 7.82, p < .0001 ambivalent < secure; avoidant < secure
Nelson (2004)	Secure vs. fearful vs. preoccupied vs. dismissing attachment	Confrontive coping, distancing, planful problem-solving, positive reappraisal, social support-seeking, and escape- avoidance	ns

E: Continuous scales of attachment anxiety/ambivalence and avoidance

Anxiety over relationships	Problem-focused coping	r =07, ns
Anxiety over relationships	Social support-seeking	r = .13, ns
Anxiety over relationships	Emotion-focused coping	$r = .40, \ p < .001$
Discomfort with closeness	Problem-focused coping	r =04, ns
	Anxiety over relationships Anxiety over relationships Anxiety over relationships Discomfort with closeness	Anxiety over relationshipsProblem-focused copingAnxiety over relationshipsSocial support-seekingAnxiety over relationshipsEmotion-focused copingDiscomfort with closenessProblem-focused coping

Table 3.2 (cont.)

Study	Attachment subscale	Coping subscale	Result $(t, F, r, b, \text{ or } \beta)$
	Discomfort with closeness	Social support-seeking	r = .00, ns
	Discomfort with closeness	Emotion-focused coping	$r = .41, \ p < .001$
Belizaire and Fuertes (2011)	Attachment avoidance	Adaptive coping	r =33, p < .001
	Attachment avoidance	Maladaptive coping	r =08, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Adaptive coping	r = .21, p < .001
	Attachment anxiety	Maladaptive coping	r = .44, p < .001
Ben-Ari and Hirschberg (2009)	Attachment security	Avoiding strategy	r =16, p < .05
	Attachment security	Dominating strategy	r = .12, ns
	Attachment security	Obliging strategy	r = .06, ns
	Attachment security	Compromising strategy	r = .30, p < .001
	Attachment security	Integrating strategy	r = .26, p < .001
	Attachment avoidance	Avoiding strategy	r = .03, ns
	Attachment avoidance	Dominating strategy	r = .26, p < .001
	Attachment avoidance	Obliging strategy	r =16, p < .05
	Attachment avoidance	Compromising strategy	$r =22, \ p < .01$
	Attachment avoidance	Integrating strategy	r =18, p < .01
	Attachment anxiety	Avoiding strategy	r = .35, p < .001
	Attachment anxiety	Dominating strategy	r =02, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Obliging strategy	r = .10, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Compromising strategy	r = .01, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Integrating strategy	r =09, ns
Berry and Kingswell (2012)	Attachment anxiety	Problem-focused coping	r =14, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Positive emotion-focused coping	r = .04, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Dysfunctional coping	$r = .51, \ p < .05$
	Attachment avoidance	Problem-focused coping	$r =41, \ p < .05$
	Attachment avoidance	Emotion-focused coping	$r =27, \ p < .05$
	Attachment avoidance	Dysfunctional coping	r = .14, ns
Deniz and Işik (2010)	Fearful attachment	Social support-seeking	r = .07, ns
	Fearful attachment	Problem-focused coping	r =01, ns
	Fearful attachment	Avoidance	$r =14, \ p < .01$
	Dismissing attachment	Social support-seeking	r = .09, ns

	Dismissing attachment	Problem-focused coping	r = .23, p < .001
	Dismissing attachment	Avoidance	r =11, p < .01
	Secure attachment	Social support-seeking	r = .05, ns
	Secure attachment	Problem-focused coping	r = .15, p < .01
	Secure attachment	Avoidance	r = .15, p < .01
	Preoccupied attachment	Social support-seeking	r = .09, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Problem-focused coping	r =07, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Avoidance	r =01, ns
Fuenfhausen and Cashwell (2013)	Attachment anxiety	Dyadic coping	r =53, p < .05
	Attachment avoidance	Dyadic coping	r =73, p < .05
Gatmaitan (2013)	Attachment anxiety	Reactive (emotional) coping	r = .50, p < .001
	Attachment anxiety	Suppressive (avoidant) coping	r = .46, p < .001
	Attachment avoidance	Reactive (emotional) coping	r = .42, p < .001
	Attachment avoidance	Suppressive (avoidant) coping	r = .39, p < .001
Han (2009)	Attachment insecurity	Maladaptive coping	$\beta = 0.83, \ p < .001$
	(Anxiety and avoidance latent factor)	(Active avoidance, non-problem- solving latent factor)	
Holmberg et al. (2011)	Attachment anxiety	Social support-seeking (partner)	$\beta = 0.16$, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Social support-seeking (friends/ family)	$\beta = 0.12$, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Distancing	$\beta = 0.25, \ p < .05$
	Attachment anxiety	Positive emotion-focused coping	$\beta = 0.29, \ p < .05$
	Attachment anxiety	Problem-focused coping	$\beta = 0.22, \ p < .10$
	Attachment avoidance	Social support-seeking (partner)	$\beta = -0.60, \ p < .001$
	Attachment avoidance	Social support-seeking (friends/ family)	$\beta = -0.52, \ p < .001$
	Attachment avoidance	Distancing	$\beta = 0.09$, ns
	Attachment avoidance	Emotion-focused coping	$\beta = -0.26, p < .10$
	Attachment avoidance	Problem-focused coping	$\beta = -0.23, p < .10$
Howard and Medway (2004)	Secure attachment	Negative avoidance	r =32, p < .01
	Secure attachment	Anger	r =04, ns
	Secure attachment	Family communication	r = .35, p < .01

Table 3.2 (cont.)

Study	Attachment subscale	Coping subscale	Result $(t, F, r, b, \text{ or } \beta)$
	Secure attachment	Positive avoidance	r = .22, ns
	Fearful attachment	Negative avoidance	$r = .40, \ p < .01$
	Fearful attachment	Anger	r = .21, ns
	Fearful attachment	Family communication	r =22, ns
	Fearful attachment	Positive avoidance	$r =28, \ p < .05$
	Dismissing attachment	Negative avoidance	r = .30, p < .01
	Dismissing attachment	Anger	r = .01, ns
	Dismissing attachment	Family communication	r =07, ns
	Dismissing attachment	Positive avoidance	r = .02, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Negative avoidance	r = .32, p < .01
	Preoccupied attachment	Anger	r = .04, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Family communication	r =03, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Positive avoidance	r = .10, ns
Li and Yang (2009)	Attachment security	Problem-solving	r = .03, ns
	Attachment security	Social support-seeking	r = .07, ns
	Attachment security	Avoidance	r =13, p < .05
Lopez et al. (2001)	Attachment anxiety	Reactive (emotional) coping	r =51, p < .01
	Attachment anxiety	Suppressive (avoidant) coping	r =20, ns
	Attachment avoidance	Reactive (emotional) coping	$r =34, \ p < .05$
	Attachment avoidance	Suppressive (avoidant) coping	r =34, p < .05
Lussier et al. (1997)	Attachment security	Task-oriented coping strategies	r = .26, p < .05
	Attachment security	Emotion-oriented coping strategies	r =06, ns
	Attachment security	Avoidance	r = .02, ns
	Attachment anxiety/ ambivalence	Task-oriented coping strategies	$r =11, \ p < .05$
	Attachment anxiety/ ambivalence	Emotion-oriented coping strategies	$r = .31, \ p < .05$
	Attachment anxiety/ ambivalence	Avoidance	$r = .28, \ p < .05$

Attachment avoidance	Task-oriented coping strategies	$r =18, \ p < .05$
Attachment avoidance	Emotion-oriented coping strategies	$r = .31, \ p < .05$
Attachment avoidance	Avoidance	r = .10, p < .05
Secure attachment	Confrontive coping	r =027, p = .747
Secure attachment	Distancing	r =136, p = .108
Secure attachment	Self-controlling	r =112, p = .184
Secure attachment	Seeking social support	r = .047, p = .581
Secure attachment	Accepting responsibility	r =014, p = .865
Secure attachment	Escape-avoidance	r =161, p = .056
Secure attachment	Planful problem-solving	r = .045, p = .596
Secure attachment	Positive reappraisal	r = .140, p = .097
Fearful attachment	Confrontive coping	r = .034, p = .691
Fearful attachment	Distancing	r = .116, p = .165
Fearful attachment	Self-controlling	r = .248, p = .003
Fearful attachment	Seeking social support	r =145, p = .083
Fearful attachment	Accepting responsibility	r = .099, p = .240
Fearful attachment	Escape-avoidance	r = .234, p = .005
Fearful attachment	Planful problem-solving	r = .061, p = 464
Fearful attachment	Positive reappraisal	r = .042, p = .613
Preoccupied attachment	Confrontive coping	r = .133, p = .115
Preoccupied attachment	Distancing	r =125, p = .135
Preoccupied attachment	Self-controlling	r = .145, p = .084
Preoccupied attachment	Seeking social support	r =043, p = .609
Preoccupied attachment	Accepting responsibility	r = .121, p = .150
Preoccupied attachment	Escape-avoidance	r = .200, p = .016
Preoccupied attachment	Planful problem-solving	r =154, p = .065
Preoccupied attachment	Positive reappraisal	r =083, p = .322
Dismissing attachment	Confrontive coping	r =029, p = .727
Dismissing attachment	Distancing	r = .266, p = .001
Dismissing attachment	Self-controlling	r = .140, p = .094
Dismissing attachment	Seeking social support	r =099, p = .237

Marques (2006)

Table 3.2 (cont.)

Study	Attachment subscale	Coping subscale	Result $(t, F, r, b, \text{ or } \beta)$
	Dismissing attachment	Accepting responsibility	r = .011, p = .895
	Dismissing attachment	Escape-avoidance	r = .079, p345
	Dismissing attachment	Planful problem-solving	r = .059, p = .482
	Dismissing attachment	Positive reappraisal	r = .084, p = .314
Ognibene and Collins (1998)	Secure attachment	Social support-seeking	r = .33, p < .01
	Secure attachment	Confrontive coping	r = .16, ns
	Secure attachment	Distancing	r =01, ns
	Secure attachment	Escape-avoidance	r =10, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Social support-seeking	r = .33, p < .01
	Preoccupied attachment	Confrontive coping	r = .22, p < .05
	Preoccupied attachment	Distancing	r = .06, ns
	Preoccupied attachment	Escape-avoidance	r = .33, p < .01
	Dismissing attachment	Social support-seeking	r =12, ns
	Dismissing attachment	Confrontive coping	r =04, ns
	Dismissing attachment	Distancing	r = .10, ns
	Dismissing attachment	Escape-avoidance	$r =19, \ p < .10$
	Fearful attachment	Social support-seeking	r =18, ns
	Fearful attachment	Confrontive coping	r =14, ns
	Fearful attachment	Distancing	$r =20, \ p < .10$
	Fearful attachment	Escape-avoidance	$r =19, \ p < .10$
Perlman et al. (2016)	Attachment avoidance	Adaptive coping	$r =246, \ p < .01$
	Attachment avoidance	Maladaptive coping	r = .383, p < .01
	Attachment anxiety	Adaptive coping	r = .035, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Maladaptive coping	$r = .440, \ p < .01$
Zheng (2018)	Attachment avoidance	Adaptive coping	$r =218, \ p < .05$
	Attachment avoidance	Maladaptive coping	r = .173, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Adaptive coping	r =148, ns
	Attachment anxiety	Maladaptive coping	$r = .260, \ p < .01$

Notes: ns = not significant. All *p*-values greater than 0.050 were considered nonsignificant.

when the activation of the attachment system can be conceptualized as a precursor of later coping ability, rather than a separate system from the infant coping response. In particular, it will be helpful to compare the predictive significance of infant attachment for clearly attachment-relevant coping behaviors like social support-seeking, versus other adaptive but less-relevant coping strategies, like practical problem-solving.

Self-Reported Attachment in Childhood

Although the majority of research in parentchild attachment has focused on observational work with infants, Bowlby's (1982) theory proposed that attachment relationships are developmentally significant across the lifespan. Methodological challenges related to the development of appropriate measures of attachment quality in middle childhood have slowed work in the middle childhood period; however, in recent years, research on parent-child attachment with older children has become more common (Brumariu et al., 2018). In particular, the Kerns Security Scale (Kerns et al., 1996) has become one of the most frequently used measure of childhood attachment quality. Studies using the Kerns Security Scale to study the association between attachment and coping are summarized in Tables 3.1B and 3.2B.

Similar to those studies using observational measures of parent-child attachment, the majority of reported effects supported a positive association between attachment security and adaptive coping behaviors (60.0%), whereas only one provided evidence of an association between security and maladaptive coping (i.e., preoccupied coping; 5.0%). For example, using the largest sample identified in this domain, Tur-Porcar and colleagues (2018 surveyed 1,447 Spanish youth (ages 7–12

years) regarding their attachment security and abandonment fears toward their mother and father. Children who reported higher levels of attachment to their mother and father were more likely to report using functional coping strategies on the Coping Assessment Questionnaire for Children (Richaud, 2006), whereas those endorsing high levels of abandonment toward mother and father were more likely to endorse dysfunctional coping strategies. Additionally, fear of abandonment by mother was also associated with less use of functional coping strategies.

Overall, it appears that self-reported attachment security to parents in childhood is associated with more adaptive coping, and also in some cases with lower maladaptive coping (i.e., less avoidant coping, less dysfunctional coping). Likewise, there is some evidence that insecure states of mind (i.e., fear of abandonment) are associated with an increased likelihood of using less adaptive coping skills. Conclusions drawn from this body of literature are strengthened by the presence of largely consistent results from several large samples representing different populations (e.g., high- and low-risk caregiving; various countries). However, none of the studies reviewed above were longitudinal, making it difficult to establish the directionality (or, perhaps more likely, transactional nature) of the association between parentchild attachment quality and coping behavior.

The Adult Attachment Interview

Attachment theory has expanded over the last four decades to include the assessment of attachment states of mind in adolescents and adults. In the mid-1980s, Main and her colleagues (George et al., 1996) developed the Adult Attachment Interview (AAI). During the AAI, individuals are asked a series of questions about their childhood experiences with their primary caregivers. Responses are most typically coded for coherence, or the extent to which an individual tells internally consistent stories about their childhood experiences without becoming emotionally dysregulated (Ravitz et al., 2010; Roisman, 2009). Adults are then inductively sorted into categories that conceptually parallel the original coding of the Strange Situation paradigm: secure/autonomous, dismissing, preoccupied, or unresolved (Main & Goldwyn, 1998).

Few studies have been conducted using the AAI in adolescence or adulthood to study the association between attachment security and coping. In our review, we identified four studies relying on data from three independent samples that reported an association between AAI states of mind and self-reported coping strategy use (Tables 3.1C and 3.2C). Altogether, 12 out of 19 (63.2%) reported effects supported a relation between attachment security and higher rates of adaptive, or lower rates of maladaptive, coping. No studies reported significant effects supporting a negative association between attachment security and adaptive coping. For example, Dawson and colleagues (2014) administered the AAI to 175 US participants at age 14 years. The sample was followed until age 22 years, when participants self-reported on their use of coping strategies using the COPE scale (Carver et al., 1989). Results showed that preoccupied and dismissing states of mind at age 14 predicted greater use of maladaptive coping skills at age 22 (Dawson et al., 2014). Conversely, there is some evidence that self-reported coping skills in adolescence are predictive of subsequent attachment states of mind in young adulthood (Seiffge-Krenke, 2006; Seiffge-Krenke & Beyers, 2005).

In summary, evidence from two samples suggests that attachment states of mind are associated with subsequent coping strategies (Dawson et al., 2014; Scharf et al., 2004); the other has provided evidence that coping in adolescence and young adulthood is in turn predictive of attachment states of mind (Seiffge-Krenke & Becker-Stoll, 2004; Seiffge-Krenke & Beyers, 2005). Dismissing attachment states of mind have been associated with less problem-focused coping and less social network use to deal with stressors. Preoccupation, on the other hand, was associated with more maladaptive and ambivalent coping, but also less use of internal (e.g., problem-solving) coping strategies. Security seems to be associated with use of a wider variety of coping strategies. Importantly, these findings are collectively based on only three samples. Although all three studies used the AAI, interview transcripts were coded in different ways, with some studies using continuous scores and others using categorical assignments. Additionally, coping was measured in different ways across all three samples, making it challenging to synthesize results. More work is needed to clarify the generalizability of these findings.

Self-Reports of Attachment in Adolescence and Adulthood

At about the same time that the AAI was being developed in the field of child psychology, social and personality psychologists were developing self-report measures of attachment orientations for use with adults (Hazan & Shaver, 1987). Notably, although both the child psychology and social/personality psychology traditions of attachment measurement originated from the same early studies on infant attachment, narrative measures of

98

adult attachment (i.e., the AAI) and self-report measures of attachment have limited convergence (Roisman et al., 2007). Although variation in (in)security as reflected in the AAI appears to be more strongly associated with the quality of early caregiving experienced by adults during childhood (Steele et al., 2014), both types of measurement are associated with adult outcomes (Roisman, 2009; Roisman et al., 2007).

Hazan and Shaver (1987) argued that the three patterns of attachment seen in infants should correspond to three styles of relating to romantic partners in adulthood. In early research in this area, participants were presented with three narrative descriptions of attachment patterns and asked to rate the extent to which they were similar to each description, as well as select the pattern that best described them. Building on these ideas, Bartholomew and Horowitz (1991) developed a four-category measure of attachment that grouped adults by asking participants to select a prototype they most identified with. Subsequently, self-reports of attachment style in adulthood moved toward continuous, rather than categorical, measurement of attachment security (e.g., Fraley et al., 2000). Most typically, adults are rated on their degree of attachment anxiety and attachment avoidance using Likert-type questionnaires; individuals with low scores on both anxiety and avoidance are considered to have a secure attachment orientation.

Prototype Approaches

We identified six studies that used an attachment-prototype measure to assess attachment orientation (Tables 3.1D and 3.2D). Of the results reported in these studies, 55.6% supported a positive relation between secure attachment and more adaptive (or less

maladaptive) ways of coping. The remaining 44.4% of associations were nonsignificant. Notably, this subset of studies was more consistent in use of coping measures, with five of the six employing the Ways of Coping Checklist (in various forms; Folkman & Lazarus, 1985) to assess coping strategies.

In the largest-sample study identified in this domain, Birnbaum and colleagues (1997 presented the Hazan and Shaver (1987) prototypes to 233 Israeli adults, aged 20-62 years. They observed that ambivalent and avoidant individuals were much more likely than secure individuals to use social withdrawal, wishful thinking, and self-defeating thoughts as strategies for coping with stress; however, there was no difference between the three groups in use of problem-solving, social support-seeking, or distancing. In contrast, neither study that used Bartholomew's Scales Ouestionnaire Relationship (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991) observed an association between self-reported attachment style and coping behaviors (Kemp & Neimeyer, 1999; Nelson, 2004).

Taken together, studies using a categorical approach to adult attachment assessment have yielded mixed results. Several studies have supported the general notion that secure attachment is associated with more adaptive coping strategies (e.g., social support-seeking) and insecure attachments are associated with more maladaptive coping (e.g., social withdrawal, emotion-focused coping). However, others have found no association between selfreported attachment categories and coping. Given that prototype assessments of attachment are generally considered less valid and have fallen out of favor, future research should focus on alternative methods of assessing adult attachment, including the AAI and continuous measures of self-reported attachment.

99

Continuous Measures of Attachment

The most well-developed literature concerning the association between attachment and coping skills utilized self-reports of attachment anxiety/ambivalence and avoidance. As reported in Tables 3.1E and 3.2E, 35.1% of reported effects supported a positive association between attachment security and adaptive coping, 58.1% of reported effects were nonsignificant, and 6.8% of reported effects supported a *negative* association between attachment security and adaptive coping.

Although many continuous measures of self-report attachment exist, three of the most commonly used in this literature were Hazan and Shaver's (1987) Attachment Scale, the Experiences in Close Relationships questionnaire, in its various forms (Brennan et al., 1998; Fraley & Shaver, 2000), and continuous measures of attachment based on the Bartholomew and Horowitz four-prototype model. For example, Lussier and colleagues (1997) observed that attachment anxiety/ ambivalence and avoidance (as measured with Havan and Shaver's [1987] Attachment Scale) were associated with less use of task-oriented coping strategies and more emotion-oriented coping strategies and avoidance (as measured with the Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations; Endler et al., 1990). Interestingly, attachment security was associated with more task-oriented coping strategies, but not associated with the maladaptive strategies of emotion-focused coping or avoidance. Similarly, Han (2009) observed in a large sample of US adults aged 18-60 years that higher levels of attachment anxiety and avoidance were associated with less use of problemsolving and more avoidance to cope with stressors. In contrast, however, Deniz and Işik (2010) observed in a large sample of Turkish undergraduate students that problem-focused coping was more often utilized by those high

on dismissing attachment and secure attachment. Furthermore, social support-seeking was less common for those who endorsed fearful or dismissing attachment behaviors and more common for those rated as more secure (Deniz & Işik, 2010).

Overall, a mixed pattern of results has emerged from the literature focused on anxious/ambivalent and avoidant attachment. In general, those more secure (i.e., low in both anxiety and avoidance) are more likely to use adaptive, problem-focused coping strategies. However, no clear pattern emerged in our review of the literature to suggest that anxious/ambivalent individuals, as compared to avoidant individuals, use specific coping strategies. Rather, it appears that those high on either anxiety or avoidance (or both) are more likely to use maladaptive coping skills generally.

Conclusion

Although our review of the literature generally supported the claims of attachment theorists that security is indicative of more adaptive regulation in times of stress, more empirical work would be valuable in this area. First, although no clear pattern of differential associations between anxious and avoidant attachments on the one hand and coping skills on the other was observed, it is important to recognize the role that inconsistency in the measurement of coping may have played. The variety of coping measures used in the studies reviewed may obscure meaningful differences in associations between various types of insecure attachment and coping behaviors. Greater consistency in the measurement of both attachment and coping in adult samples (as well as the use of measures from multiple traditions within the same studies) can help clarify this finding in future reviews.

Second, our review of the literature highlighted a discrepancy in the volume of studies that examine attachment behaviors and states of mind at various ages. Young adults were greatly overrepresented in the body of work conducted thus far, with a particular overrepresentation of self-report attachment measures as opposed to those using behavioral observations (i.e., the Strange Situation or Attachment Q-sets) or the AAI. Given that these latter types of assessments are primarily used by developmental scientists, rather than social and personality psychologists, it is no surprise that there is also a lack of high-quality longitudinal work to clarify the developmental course of coping behaviors. A great deal of work remains to be done in clarifying whether attachment behaviors early in life are predictive of coping skills across developmental stages. Such studies can help clarify whether an adaptively functioning attachment system is indeed a developmental precursor to adaptive coping behaviors, or is better conceptualized as a mere marker of self-regulation skills. Experimental work that strives to increase adaptive, secure attachment behavior in early childhood (e.g., interventions like child-parent psychotherapy or attachment and biobehavioral catchup; Dozier x Bernard, 2017; Lieberman, 2004) could also be useful in shedding light on the causal link between attachment behavior and subsequent regulation and coping skills. Until such work is done, it remains a possibility that coping behaviors early in life are better conceptualized as contributing to the formation of a secure attachment, rather than the other way around (or both; e.g., Fuertes et al., 2009).

Finally, nearly all of the studies reviewed assessed attachment behavior as it relates to primary caregivers, or attachment states of mind as they relate to romantic partners. However, attachment behaviors and states of mind can vary toward different important figures in children's and adults' lives (e.g., Magro et al., 2020; Van IJzendoorn et al., 1992). Work that strives to capture attachment behavior more holistically better represents the complexity of the attachment system and is likely to lead to clearer results regarding the association between attachment and coping behaviors.

101

In addition to these empirical gaps, theoretical work remains to be done. First, it is clear that emotion regulation and coping are highly related concepts. Yet, researchers have generallv studied these constructs separately (Compas et al., 2014). Future work would benefit from an integration of these two fields to clarify important questions about developmental progression, adaptive behaviors, and precursors. Second, it remains unclear whether the attachment systems and regulation systems are best conceptualized as separate or nested, with attachment behaviors serving a regulatory function. For example, social support-seeking is identified frequently as an adaptive coping mechanism but is also a key marker of secure attachment behavior. Securely attached infants return to their caregivers when in need of protection from stressors or organization of emotions; securely attached adults turn to partners in times of need for emotional support. Disentangling these constructs (for example, by studying the extent to which attachment security predicts various types of adaptive coping that have more or less relevance to the attachment system) remains a challenge for researchers who wish to understand the theoretical relation between attachment and coping, as well as the developmental importance of a secure attachment relationship for the eventual development of adaptive self-regulation and coping skills.

See Table 3.3 for some takeaway messages from this chapter.

Table 3.3 Takeaway messages regarding the study of attachment, regulation, and coping

1: Attachment is theoretically relevant to the development of both regulation and coping.

- The attachment relationship is the context in which children begin to develop the ability to recognize and regulate emotions and develop the capacity to cope with stress with the assistance of an adult (i.e., co-regulation). Reliably experiencing sensitive, reciprocal interactions builds regulatory and expressive skills that individuals can later utilize in an independent fashion. Ultimately, attachment bonds develop alongside and together with regulatory skills, including coping with stress. Secure attachment is therefore a gateway to adaptive coping because effective strategies are learned through consistent and effective co-regulation.
- Regulatory abilities may also be influenced by the quality of the attachment bond via expectations formed early in life about caregivers' behavior and warmth (i.e., internal working models). Coping appraisals, which are central to the formulation of coping responses, may work in parallel with individuals' expectations of interpersonal responses, informed by internal working models.
- Individuals with an anxious attachment might engage in coping strategies that emphasize emotional reactions that aim to elicit attention from others, given that this strategy likely served an adaptive function in infancy (i.e., gaining the attention of a typically unavailable parent). Conversely, individuals with an avoidant attachment might use more avoidant coping strategies, given their experience with withdrawn or rejecting caregivers who were less likely to offer support or comfort in times of stress. Finally, individuals with a disorganized attachment relationship with a presumably frightening or inconsistent caregiver might utilize an inconsistent pattern of coping strategies, switching between adaptive and maladaptive forms of regulation.

2: Mixed empirical evidence exists to suggest that attachment and coping are related.

- Of the effects reported in identified studies, 43.1% were in support of a positive relation between attachment security and higher (lower) adaptive (maladaptive) coping skills. However, 51.7% of findings were null and 5.2% were in a nonhypothesized direction.
- Most studies have examined cross-sectional associations between attachment security and coping. A small number have reported correlations between attachment early in life and subsequent coping behavior, as well as coping behaviors and subsequent attachment security. More work remains to be done to determine the extent to which associations are longitudinal and reciprocal between the constructs.
- Most of the evidence in this field has been gathered using self-reported attachment questionnaires with young adult samples in the USA. More work remains to be done to understand the predictive significance of early attachment behavior and early self-reported attachment to parents for subsequent coping behaviors later in life.

References

Abraham, M. M., & Kerns, K. A. (2013). Positive and negative emotions and coping as mediators of mother-child attachment and peer relationships. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 59(4), 399–425. https://doi.org/10.1353/ mpq.2013.0023

Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. N. (1978/2015). Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the Strange Situation. Psychology Press.

Alexander, R., Feeney, J., Hohaus, L., & Noller, P. (2001). Attachment style and coping resources as predictors of coping strategies in the transition to parenthood. *Personal Relationships*, 8(2), 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2001.tb00032.x

Baer, J. C., & Martinez, C. D. (2006). Child maltreatment and insecure attachment: A meta-analysis. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 24(3), 187–197. https://doi. org/10.1080/02646830600821231

Bartholomew, K., & Horowitz, L. M. (1991). Attachment styles among young adults: A test of a four-category model. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 61(2), 226–244. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.2.226

Belizaire, L. S., & Fuertes, J. N. (2011). Attachment, coping, acculturative stress, and quality of life among Haitian immigrants. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 89(1), 89–97. https:// doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2011.tb00064.x

Ben-Ari, R., & Hirshberg, I. (2009). Attachment styles, conflict perception, and adolescents' strategies of coping with interpersonal conflict. *Negotiation Journal*, 25(1), 59–82. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1571-9979.2008.00208.x

Berry, K., & Kingswell, S. (2012). An investigation of adult attachment and coping with examrelated stress. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 40(4), 315–325. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03069885.2012.685861

Biggs, A., Brough, P., & Drummond, S. (2017). Lazarus and Folkman's psychological stress and coping theory. In C. L. Cooper & J. C. Quick (Eds.), *The handbook of stress and health:* A guide to research and practice (pp. 349–364). John Wiley & Sons.

Birnbaum, G. E., Orr, I., Mikulincer, M., & Florian, V. (1997). When marriage breaks up: Does attachment style contribute to coping and mental health? *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14(5), 643–654. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0265407597145004

Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss: Vol. 2. Separation: Anxiety and anger. Basic Books.

Bowlby, J. (1982). *Attachment and loss: Vol. 1. Attachment* (2nd ed.). Basic Books.

Braungart, J. M., & Stifter, C. A. (1991). Regulation of negative reactivity during the Strange Situation: Temperament and attachment in 12month-old infants. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 14(3), 349–364. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0163-6383(91)90027-P

Brennan, K. A., Clark, C. L., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult

attachment: An integrative overview. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rhodes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 46–76). Guilford Press.

Bretherton, I., & Munholland, K. A. (2016). The internal working model construct in light of contemporary neuroimaging research. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications* (3rd ed., pp. 102–127). Guilford Press.

Brumariu, L. E., Madigan, S., Giuseppone, K. R., Movahed Abtahi, M., & Kerns, K. A. (2018). The Security Scale as a measure of attachment: Meta-analytic evidence of validity. *Attachment* & *Human Development*, 20(6), 600–625. https:// doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2018.1433217

Carlson, E., & Sroufe, L. A. (1995). The contribution of attachment theory to developmental psychopathology. In D. Cicchetti & D. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental processes and psychopathology: Vol. 1. Theoretical perspectives and methodological approaches* (pp. 581–617). Cambridge University Press.

Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267–283. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.2.267

Cassidy, J. (2008). The nature of the child's ties. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of* attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications (2nd ed., pp. 3–22). Guilford Press.

Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87

Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110

103

- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal* of *Psychology*, 66(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajpy.12043
- Contreras, J. M., Kerns, K. A., Weimer, B. L., Gentzler, A. L., & Tomich, P. L. (2000). Emotion regulation as a mediator of associations between mother-child attachment and peer relationships in middle childhood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 14(1), 111–124. https://doi. org/10.1037//0893-3200.14.1.111
- Coyne, J. C., & Gottlieb, B. H. (1996). The mismeasure of coping by checklist. *Journal of Personality*, 64(4), 959–991. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00950.x
- Dawson, A. E., Allen, J. P., Marston, E. G., Hafen, C. A., & Schad, M. M. (2014). Adolescent insecure attachment as a predictor of maladaptive coping and externalizing behaviors in emerging adulthood. *Attachment & Human Development*, 16(5), 462–478. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/14616734.2014.934848
- Deniz, M. E., & Işik, E. (2010). Positive and negative affect, life satisfaction, and coping with stress by attachment styles in Turkish students. *Psychological Reports*, 107(2), 480–490. https://doi.org/10.2466/02.09.10.20. PR0.107.5.480-490
- DeOliveira, C. A., Bailey, H. N., Moran, G., & Pederson, D. R. (2004). Emotion socialization as a framework for understanding the development of disorganized attachment. *Social Development*, 13, 437–467. https://10.111/j.1467-9507.2004.00276.x
- Diamond, L. M., & Aspinwall, L. G. (2003). Emotion regulation across the life span: An integrative perspective emphasizing selfregulation, positive affect, and dyadic processes. *Motivation and Emotion*, 27(2), 125–156. https:// doi.org/10.1023/A:1024521920068
- Dozier, M., & Bernard, K. (2017). Attachment and biobehavioral catch-up: Addressing the needs of infants and toddlers exposed to inadequate or problematic caregiving. *Current Opinion in*

Psychology, *15*, 111–117. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.003

- Eisenberg, N., & Spinrad, T. L. (2004). Emotionrelated regulation: Sharpening the definition. *Child Development*, 75(2), 334–339. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00674.x
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Eggum, N. D. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 6, 495–525. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. clinpsy.121208.131208
- Endler, N. S., Parker, J. D. A., Ridder, D. T. D., & van Heck, G. L. (1990). *Coping inventory for stressful situations*. Multi-Health Systems Inc.
- Fogel, A. (1993). Developing through relationships: Origins of communication, self, and culture. University of Chicago Press.
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1985). If it changes it must be a process: Study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 48(1), 150–170. https://doi:10.1037/0022-3514.48.1.150
- Folkman, S., & Moskowitz, J. T. (2004). Coping: Pitfalls and promise. Annual Review of Psychology, 55, 745–774. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456
- Fraley, R. C., & Shaver, P. R. (2000). Adult romantic attachment: Theoretical developments, emerging controversies, and unanswered questions. *Review of General Psychology*, 4(2), 132–154. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.4.2.132
- Fraley, R. C., Waller, N. G., & Brennan, K. A. (2000). An item response theory analysis of self-report measures of adult attachment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(2), 350–365. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.2.350
- Fuenfhausen, K. K., & Cashwell, C. S. (2013). Attachment, stress, dyadic coping, and marital satisfaction of counseling graduate students. *The Family Journal*, 21(4), 364–370. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1066480713488523
- Fuertes, M., Lopes-dos-Santos, P., Beeghly, M., & Tronick, M. (2009). Infant coping and maternal

interactive behavior predict attachment in a Portuguese sample of healthy preterm infants. *European Psychologist*, 14(4), 320–331.

- Gatmaitan, J. P. (2013). Attachment, dispositional hope, and problem-focused coping styles of adult substance abuse clients. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 74(1).
- George, C., Kaplan, N., & Main, M. (1996). Adult attachment interview. [Unpublished manuscript]. University of California, Berkeley.
- Gross, J. J. (2013). Emotion regulation: Taking stock and moving forward. *Emotion*, 13(3), 359–365. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032135
- Han, S. (2009). Emotion regulation, coping, and attachment in bingeing behaviors [Doctoral dissertation]. Purdue University. https://search. proquest.com/docview/304990533/abstract/ 394A0EECB8414907PQ/1
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(3), 511–524. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.3.511
- Hébert, M., Daspe, M.-E., & Cyr, M. (2018). An analysis of avoidant and approach coping as mediators of the relationship between paternal and maternal attachment security and outcomes in child victims of sexual abuse. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy,* 10(4), 402–410. https://doi.org/10.1037/ tra0000321
- Holmberg, D., Lomore, C. D., Takacs, T. A., & Price, E. L. (2011). Adult attachment styles and stressor severity as moderators of the coping sequence. *Personal Relationships*, *18*(3), 502–517. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2010.01318.x
- Howard, J. M. (2009). Early childhood coping: Measure development and relationships with attachment security and psychological functioning [Doctoral dissertation]. Northwestern University. https://search.proquest.com/ docview/304973148/abstract/ E6B6732797F44E3PQ/1
- Howard, M. S., & Medway, F. J. (2004). Adolescents' attachment and coping with stress.

Psychology in the Schools, *41*(3), 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.10167 105

- Jackson, Y., Huffhines, L., Stone, K. J., Fleming, K., & Gabrielli, J. (2017). Coping styles in youth exposed to maltreatment: Longitudinal patterns reported by youth in foster care. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 70, 65–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chiabu.2017.05.001
- Jagadeesan, L. M. (2013). Attachment and social behavior in middle childhood: A comparison of maltreated and non-maltreated children. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 74(2).
- Kemp, M. A., & Neimeyer, G. J. (1999). Interpersonal attachment: Experiencing, expressing, and coping with stress. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 46(3), 388–394. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.46.3.388
- Kerns, K. A., Abraham, M. M., & Schlegelmilch, A. (2007). Mother–child attachment in later middle childhood: Assessment approaches and associations with mood and emotion regulation. *Attachment & Human Development*, 9(1), 33–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730601151441
- Kerns, K. A., Klepac, L., & Cole, A. (1996). Peer relationships and preadolescents' perceptions of security in the child-mother relationship. *Developmental Psychology*, 32(3), 457–466. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.32.3.457
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993). Coping theory and research: Past, present, and future. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 55(3), 234–247. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00006842-199305000-00002
- Lazarus, R. S., & Alfert, E. (1964). Short-circuiting of threat by experimentally altering cognitive appraisal. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 69(2), 195–205. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/h0044635
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Coping and adaptation. In W. D. Gentry (Ed.), *The handbook of behavioral medicine* (pp. 282–325). Guilford Press.
- Li, M., & Yang, Y. (2009). Determinants of problem solving, social support seeking, and avoidance: A path analytic model. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 16(3), 155–176. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016844

- Lieberman, A. F. (2004). Child-parent psychotherapy: A relationship-based approach to the treatment of mental health disorders in infancy and early childhood. In A. J. Sameroff, S. C. McDonough, & K. L. Rosenblum (Eds.), *Treating parent-infant relationship problems: Strategies for intervention* (pp. 97–122). Guilford Press.
- Lopez, F. G., Mauricio, A. M., Gormley, B., Simko, T., & Berger, E. (2001). Adult attachment orientations and college student distress: The mediating role of problem coping styles. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 79(4), 459–464. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2001.tb01993.x
- Lussier, Y., Sabourin, S., & Turgeon, C. (1997). Coping strategies as moderators of the relationship between attachment and marital adjustment. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14(6), 777–791. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0265407597146004
- Magro, S. W., Fraley, R. C., & Roisman, G. I. (2020). Early maternal sensitivity and teacher– student relationship quality across grade school: Enduring or transient associations? *Child Development*, 91(4), e883–e901. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.13322
- Main, M., & Goldwyn, R. (1998). Adult attachment rating and classification systems [Unpublished manuscript]. University of California, Berkeley.
- Marques, S. (2006). The relationship between attachment style and coping strategies in late adolescence. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 66(7), 3975.
- Mikulincer, M., & Florian, V. (1995). Appraisal of and coping with a real-life stressful situation: The contribution of attachment styles. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(4), 406–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0146167295214011
- Mikulincer, M., Florian, V., & Weller, A. (1993). Attachment styles, coping strategies, and posttraumatic psychological distress: The impact of the Gulf War in Israel. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 64(5), 817–826. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.64.5.817

- Myers, L. B., & Vetere, A. (2002). Adult romantic attachment styles and health-related measures. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 7(2), 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548500120116058
- Nelson, I. V. (2004). The influence of attachment styles on individuals' patterns of coping responses to interpersonal and noninterpersonal stressors [Doctoral dissertation]. Georgia State University. https://search.proquest.com/ docview/305186112/abstract/ 310EE5C48BD64F03PQ/1
- Ognibene, T. C., & Collins, N. L. (1998). Adult attachment styles, perceived social support and coping strategies. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *15*(3), 323–345. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0265407598153002
- Perlman, M. R., Dawson, A. E., Dardis, C. M., Egan, T., & Anderson, T. (2016). The association between childhood maltreatment and coping strategies: The indirect effect through attachment. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *177*(5), 156–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00221325.2016.1220912
- Ravitz, P., Maunder, R., Hunter, J., Sthankiya, B., & Lancee, W. (2010). Adult attachment measures: A 25-year review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 69(4), 419–432. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.08.006
- Richaud, M. C. (2006). Evaluación del afrontamiento en niños de 8 a 12 años [Coping assessment in 8- to 12-year-old children]. *Revista Mexicana de Psicología*, 23(2), 193–201. http:// www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=243020649005
- Roisman, G. I. (2009). Adult attachment: Toward a rapprochement of methodological cultures. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(2), 122–126.
- Roisman, G. I., & Booth-LaForce, C. (2014).
 General discussion. In C. Booth-LaForce & G. I.
 Roisman (Eds.), The Adult Attachment
 Interview: Psychometrics, stability and change
 from infancy, and developmental origins.
 Monographs of the Society for Research in Child
 Development, 79(3), 126–137.
- Roisman, G. I., Holland, A., Fortuna, K., Fraley,R. C., Clausell, E., & Clarke, A. (2007). TheAdult Attachment Interview and self-reports of

attachment style: An empirical rapprochement. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 92(4), 678–697. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.4.678

- Roque, L., Veríssimo, M., Fernandes, M., & Rebelo, A. (2013). Emotion regulation and attachment: Relationships with children's secure base, during different situational and social contexts in naturalistic settings. *Infant Behavior* and Development, 36(3), 298–306. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.infbeh.2013.03.003
- Scharf, M., Mayseless, O., & Kivenson-Baron, I. (2004). Adolescents' attachment representations and developmental tasks in emerging adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(3), 430–444. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.40.3.430
- Seiffge-Krenke, I. (2006). Coping with relationship stressors: The impact of different working models of attachment and links to adaptation. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-005-9015-4
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Becker-Stoll, F. (2004). Coping in adolescence and attachment representation in young adulthood. *Kindheit und Entwicklung*, 13(4), 235–247.
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Beyers, W. (2005). Coping trajectories from adolescence to young adulthood: Links to attachment state of mind. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 15(4), 561–582.
- Siegel, D. J. (2001). Toward an interpersonal neurobiology of the developing mind: Attachment relationships, "mindsight," and neural integration. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 22(1–2), 67–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 1097-0355(200101/04)22:1<67::AID-IMHJ3>3.0,CO;2-G
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705

- Smith, C. L., Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., Chassin, L., Morris, A. S., Kupfer, A., ... & Kwok, O. M. (2006). Children's coping strategies and coping efficacy: Relations to parent socialization, child adjustment, and familial alcoholism. *Development & Psychopathology*, *18*(2), 445–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(99)00056-3
- Spangler, G., & Grossmann, K. E. (1993). Biobehavioral organization in securely and insecurely attached infants. *Child Development*, 64(5), 1439–1450. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 1131544
- Sroufe, L. A. (1996). Emotional development: The organization of emotional life in the early years. Cambridge University Press.
- Steele, R. D., Waters, T. E. A., Bost, K. K., Vaughn, B. E., Truitt, W., Waters, H. S., Booth-LaForce, C., & Roisman, G. I. (2014). Caregiving antecedents of secure base script knowledge: A comparative analysis of young adult attachment representations. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(11), 2526–2538.
- Thompson, R. A. (1994). Emotion regulation: A theme in search of definition. *Monographs of* the Society for Research in Child Development, 59(2–3), 25–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.1994.tb01276.x
- Thompson, R. A., & Meyer, S. (2007). Socialization of emotion regulation in the family. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 249–268). Guilford Press.
- Tur-Porcar, A. M., Domenech, A., & Mestre, V. (2018). Family linkages and social inclusion: Predictors of prosocial behavior in childhood. *Anales de Psicologia*, 34(2), 340–348. https://doi. org/10.6018/analesps.34.2.308151
- Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Sagi, A., & Lambermon, M. W. E. (1992). The multiple caretaker paradox: Data from Holland and Israel. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, 57, 5–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cd.23219925703
- VanMeter, F., Handley, E. D., & Cicchetti, D. (2020). The role of coping strategies in the pathway between child maltreatment and internalizing and externalizing behaviors. *Child*

Abuse & Neglect, 101, Article 104323. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104323

- von Baeyer, C. L., Forsyth, S. J., Stanford, E. A., Watson, M., & Chambers, C. T. (2009). Response biases in preschool children's ratings of pain in hypothetical situations. *European Journal of Pain*, *13*(2), 209–213. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejpain.2008.03.017
- Vondra, J. I., Shaw, D. S., Swearingen, L., Cohen, M., & Owens, E. B. (2001). Attachment stability and emotional and behavioral regulation from infancy to preschool age. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(1), 13–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/s095457940100102x
- Waters, E. (1995). Appendix A: The Attachment Q-Set (Version 3.0). *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 60(2/3), 234–246. https://doi.org/10.2307/1166181
- Wei, M., Vogel, D. L., Ku, T.-Y., & Zakalik, R. A. (2005). Adult attachment, affect regulation, negative mood, and interpersonal problems: The mediating roles of emotional reactivity and emotional cutoff. *Journal of Counseling*

Psychology, 52(1), 14–24. https://10.1037/0022-0167.52.1.14

- Weinfield, N. S., Sroufe, L. A., Egeland, B., & Carlson, E. (1999). The nature of individual differences in infant-caregiver attachment. In J. Cassidy & P. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical application* (pp. 68–88). Guilford Press.
- Zeitlin, S., Williamson, G. G., & Szczepanski, M. (1988). Early coping inventory. Scholastic Testing Service.
- Zheng, K. (2018). Acculturative stress, attachment style and coping style of Mainland Chinese international students in the United States. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering, 78(7).
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Webb, H. J., Pepping, C. A., Swan, K., Merlo, O., Skinner, E. A., Avdagic, E., Dunbar, M. (2017). Is parent–child attachment a correlate of children's emotion regulation and coping? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *41*(1), 74–93. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0165025415618276

4 Social Context, Psychological Needs, and the Development of Coping

Jacquelyn N. Raftery-Helmer and Wendy S. Grolnick

Introduction

Olivia and Emma sit patiently at their desks as their respective teachers return graded math tests. In one classroom, Ms. White hands Olivia her exam. Olivia's eyes are drawn to the 50 and large F written in red ink at the top of the paper. Ms. White watches as Olivia's eyes well up with tears and she inches closer to her student, whispering, "it can feel disappointing when we don't do as well as we hope. I wonder if you would like to meet up after class to review where you got stuck." Olivia quietly nods. After class, Ms. White patiently goes over each problem, highlighting for Olivia where she made errors and providing feedback on the parts of the problem that she did answer correctly. Olivia eagerly listens, taking notes that she can later refer back to. "I have some extra problems that might help you practice. Would you like to try them at home or work on them together now?" Ms. White asks. Olivia grins, "I would like to try them now!" She quickly finishes the first problem. "Does this answer look right?" Ms. White nods, pointing out the steps that Olivia correctly completed and gently encouraging Olivia to continue. The second question seems more difficult. Olivia writes an answer, pauses, and then scribbles it out. "That doesn't seem right," she says. Ms. White patiently waits as Olivia reviews her notes, and is careful not to offer any uninvited help. "Ah, I got it!" Olivia exclaims several minutes later. Olivia and Ms. White work together for the next 15 minutes with Ms. White providing help when asked but otherwise serving as a reassuring and encouraging presence as Olivia tries the problems on her own. When Olivia finishes the worksheet, she asks Ms. White if there are any others to take home. After school, Olivia tells her Mom how disappointed she was about the grade but insists that "it will be OK because I'm going to work on some extra math problems that Ms. White gave me."

Across the hall, Ms. Marshall hands Emma her test. About to cry, Emma, too, feels that same sting of failure when she sees an F and 50 scrawled across the top. "You can do better, Emma," Ms. Marshall insists. Emma grabs her test and is about to head for the lunchroom but Ms. Marshall stops her, "I can tell you didn't study for this one." Emma is about to protest and tries to insist that she did, in fact, study - a lot - but Ms. Marshall just holds her hand up. "You need to do these extra problems tonight for practice." Rolling her eyes, Emma stuffs the extra practice problems into her backpack and quickly leaves the classroom. When a friend asks Emma how she did on the test, she insists that Ms. Marshall made the test too hard, didn't cover the material, and is just an "all around horrible teacher." "I stink at math anyways," she says, taking the test and throwing it in the trash. After school, when Emma's dad asks about her day, she does not mention the math test and doesn't bother working on the extra problems.

Table 4.1 Take-home messages

- 1. Children can appraise stressors as threats or challenges.
- 2. Coping strategies can be active and adaptive, such as problem-solving, help-seeking, and support for feeling or defensive and less adaptive such as blame, cognitive avoidance, and rumination.
- 3. The degree to which children appraise stressors as threats or challenges depends on their motivational resources and the environment.
- 4. Environments that support autonomy, provide structure, and are involved promote motivational resources that impact children's appraisal of stress and coping strategy use.

Both Emma and Olivia encountered the stress of failure, an experience that is inevitable for children attempting to learn something new. However, their divergent responses highlight individual differences in how students understand and cope with such stress and how social contexts. like the interactions these students had with their teachers, drastically impact how children understand and cope with stressful experiences. Olivia had a warm and supportive teacher who gave her strategies to understand why she struggled, while allowing her to continue to take ownership over her work. For her, the 50 on her math test was an opportunity to master her math skills as she channeled her efforts into understanding what happened and doing better next time. Emma's teacher was controlling, rejecting, and provided few opportunities for Emma to learn from her mistakes. As a result, her low mark was a sign of her incompetence, and her behavior was aimed at restoring her self-esteem by either blaming (Ms. Marshall, the subject) or ignoring the experience altogether.

This chapter explores the coping strategies that students employ following a variety of stressful situations in which children find themselves, with a focus on the social context. Many scholars agree that coping is a personal resource that includes the ways in which children adapt to stress via attempts to regulate affect, behavior, cognition, and physiology, and efforts to modify the environment (Compas et al., 2001; Skinner & Saxton, 2019). Broadly, when

students confront a stressful situation, they must appraise the situation, or interpret its meaning, mobilize resources, both internal and in the environment, and then engage in coping strategies. In our efforts to understand why students differ in their appraisals of stress and the strategies they use to cope with stressors, we will hone in on the social context, with a particular focus on the impact of parents and teacher. The focus on the social context is consistent with the wealth of data collected by myriad scholars (e.g., Compas et al., 2005; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner, 1999) showing that the social environment can influence how stress is experienced and the coping strategies that a person ultimately employs. In doing so, we will utilize self-determination theory (SDT; Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2017). Self-determination theory delineates the psychological resources that children need when confronted with stressful situations and how interpersonal contexts that do or do not meet these needs affect children's coping responses. We summarize the primary takeaway messages from this chapter in Table 4.1.

An Introduction to Self-Determination Theory

Self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2017) asserts that people have basic psychological needs – those for autonomy, competence, and relatedness. The need for autonomy refers to the universal psychological

Context, Needs, and the Development of Coping

111

need to feel volitional and for a person to experience their own behaviors as autonomously initiated and not pressured from within or by others (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2017; Ryan & Connell, 1989; Ryan et al., 1992). It is important to note that autonomy is not analogous to independence. While independence refers to not depending upon other people, autonomy entails feeling choiceful about behaving, irrespective of whether the behavior includes relating to others in more dependent or independent ways. A need for competence entails needing to feel effective, and believing outcomes can be controlled (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Harter, 1982; Ryan & Deci, 2017; Skinner et al., 1990). Lastly, SDT proposes that people need to feel a sense of relatedness or connection and thrive when they feel loved and valued by others (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Leary, 2010).

Self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2017) also posits that children construct and revise self-system processes – beliefs, attitudes, and motivational propensities - based on their experiences of environments as supporting or thwarting their psychological needs. When a person's need for autonomy has been met, they will develop autonomous self-regulation. Scholars have suggested that self-regulation exists along a continuum. At one pole, children engage in behavior because of externally imposed contingencies (e.g., "I work on my math problems because Ms. Marshall will be angry at me if I don't"). At the other end, they engage in behavior out of a sense of the importance of or value for the activity (e.g., "I work on my math problems because it's important for me to figure out what I don't understand"), or because the activity is inherently interesting (e.g., "I work on my math problems because math is fun!").

When a person's need for competence has been satisfied, they will come to believe that they can be successful and can prevent failure outcomes, or develop a sense of perceived control (Connell, 1985; Muldoon et al., 2005). When this need is met, a person will also feel competent (Harter, 1982), believing themselves to be capable of mastery. A person's sense of self-worth and security with themselves and in their relationships are connected to the need for relatedness. When the need for relatedness has been met, people feel secure in their relationships and worthy of positive regard and love (Bretherton, 1985; Crittenden, 1990).

A Self-Determination Theory Perspective on Coping

To understand how social contexts impact coping we must first understand how children appraise stressful situations. There is abundant literature suggesting that children can appraise stressful situations in different ways (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) and that how children appraise stressors is linked to the coping strategies that they utilize. In their seminal work formulating the cognitive theory of stress and coping, Lazarus and Folkman (1984) proposed two appraisal processes. First, the researchers suggested that when a person encounters a potential stressful situation, they first evaluate its relevance to well-being (e.g., does this stressful situation pose a potential benefit or harm to self-esteem?) in what is called a primary appraisal. In this early work, Lazarus and Folkman (1984) differentiated a primary appraisal of threat from a primary appraisal of challenge. When a person appraises the stressor as a threat it is seen as harmful in that it provides a risk of harm or loss. When a person perceives a stressor as a challenge, however, they will see the opportunity for mastery or personal growth in the situation. With secondary appraisals, a person evaluates what, if anything, can be done to overcome the stressor, prevent harm or loss,
and improve the benefit or opportunity. In doing so, a person evaluates their own coping strategies, the potential effectiveness of these strategies, and their own sense of efficacy to implement them (Folkman et al., 1986; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

An SDT perspective on coping suggests that primary appraisals are best understood in relation to the three psychological needs (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016, 2018; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994). Situations that potentially jeopardize a person's experience of autonomy, competence, or relatedness are objectively stressful. However, according to SDT, whether a stressor is appraised as a threat to these needs or a challenge depends upon whether a person's environment supports their autonomy, competence, or relatedness. Specifically, children who feel controlled are likely to appraise stressors as threatening because their need for autonomy has not been met. For example, students who feel controlled in their classroom may focus on the coercive consequences that may follow their low grade and thus see the failure as a threat. With regard to competence. when children aren't clear about what is expected and about the contingencies in the environment and don't see themselves as effective or in control of outcomes, a stressful situation will be perceived as an insurmountable threat. Without confidence in their own capacity to affect change or solve problems, they will feel helpless in ameliorating or mitigating the stressor. Finally, with regard to relatedness, children with insecure relationships, who perceive others as unsupportive or unavailable may be threatened by stressful experiences because of an assumption that they will have to navigate difficult situations alone.

In contrast, stressors are more likely to be experienced as a challenge for children when their social contexts meet their psychological needs. For example, students who feel

choiceful about their academic endeavors will most likely perceive failure as an unavoidable consequence of learning something new and difficult instead of as another means to be controlled by the environment. For children who feel competent or believe that they can be effective in producing favorable outcomes, stressful situations will be appraised as a challenge to undertake, a problem to solve, and an opportunity to expand their skills. Lastly, students who feel connected to others – to parents, to teachers, to peers - and who feel secure in these relationships will also be more likely to see stressors as challenging, feeling equipped to tackle the hard situation because they have access to supportive others that can be leveraged.

theoretical link between This needsatisfying social contexts and primary stress appraisals has been supported by a series of research finding. For instance, recent research in both the education (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick. 2018) and health domains (Ouested et al., 2011) has shown that contexts that support autonomy, competence, and relatedness predict primary stress appraisals (Ntoumanis et al., 2009; Skinner & Edge, 2002). Raftery-Helmer and Grolnick (2018) conducted research to determine whether children's perceptions of how much autonomy support they received from their parents might affect how they appraise school-related setbacks. In particular, they measured children's perceptions of parental autonomy support around academics and their appraisal of academic failure as a threat or challenge. They found that when students perceived their parents as providing autonomy support, they were less likely to appraise the academic setback as a threat. One interpretation of this work is that children whose parents support their autonomous problem-solving may take greater responsibility for their academic work and thus are less likely to feel threatened by academic failure.

In another study examining the link between need satisfaction and primary stress appraisals, Quested and colleagues (2011) measured young-adult elite dancers' basic psychological need satisfaction 1 month before a solo dance performance, and 2 hours before the solo performance. Dancers reported on whether they appraised the upcoming solo as either a threat or challenge. The authors found that dancers who perceived their dance schools as supporting their three psychological needs were more likely to appraise an upcoming dance performance as a challenge. Dancers who perceived their dance school as less supportive of their autonomy, competence, and relatedness saw upcoming the performance as more threatening. The authors suggested that when dancers' needs are supported, they are armed with psychological resources - feeling more authentic and in control, more competent, and generally supported - and thus see themselves as more able to handle the upcoming performance demand. In contrast, if dancers feel less autonomous, competent, and connected, they may be more likely to perceive their personal resources as inadequate. Thus, it is not that surprising that these dancers felt threatened by the upcoming performance.

Another study showed that when mothers supported children's autonomy by allowing them to choose and try new things, their children had higher optimism (Hasan & Power, 2002). These findings provide further evidence that when environments meet children's psychological needs, they will perceive stressful situations through a lens that might allow them to experience the stressor as a challenge to overcome. Children's appraisals of stressors are important to an understanding of coping, especially because they predict the specific strategies that they go on to utilize in response to stress.

Coping Strategies

Coping is best understood as a personal resource that includes the ways that children adapt to stressors by modifying the environment and regulating behavior, affect, physiology, and cognitions (Compas et al., 2001). Although there are hundreds of distinct coping responses, children commonly utilize one of six sets of strategies in response to a stressful situation. Most coping frameworks include responses that involve individuals taking an active approach to try and solve the problem or deal with the stress at hand. Within the literature, these types of responses have been referred to as problem-solving (e.g., problemfocused coping - Carver et al., 1989; problemsolving - Causey & Dubow, 1992; Spirito et al., 1991; direct problem-solving - Band & Weisz, 1988) and positive coping (Tero & Connell, 1984), and include specific behaviors such as cognitive decision-making, direct action, logical analysis, problem-solving, and self-reliance (Skinner & Wellborn, 1997). Broadly, these approaches involve efforts to manage the demands of the task (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) and an outward orientation and focus on ameliorating the stress and mastering the environment. Many coping frameworks also include responses aimed at seeking contact with others (Skinner & Wellborn, 1997). Several theorists now suggest that it is important to distinguish between strategies aimed at seeking guidance and problem-focused support and those that involve seeking emotional reassurance and social support (Ayers et al., 1996). Thus, support-seeking may be best understood as two distinct coping strategies: help-seeking (Skinner & Wellborn, 1997) and support for feeling (Ayers et al., 1996). In the literature, help-seeking has been understood as using other people as resources to assist in seeking solutions. For children to effectively respond to stressors, they must first monitor the situation, realize that they cannot overcome the stressor on their own, and request assistance from others. Specific responses have included seeking information, direct assistance, and advice (Skinner & Wellborn, 1997). Support for feeling, in contrast, broadly refers to children's attempts to seek out others to listen to their feelings or provide some empathic understanding so that the stressor is perceived as less emotionally distressing (Avers et al., 1996). While distinct, these three coping strategies problem-solving, adaptive help-seeking, and support for feeling - broadly comprise an active approach to stress with an eye toward mitigating the stressor's effects. As such, coping researchers suggest that children who appraise stressful situations as a challenge will more frequently engage in these three strategies.

Other coping strategies reflect defensive responses that shift children's attention away from a task and onto their internal experience to restore feelings threatened by a stressor. To do this, children may pay attention to certain features of the stressful situation (Gross & Thompson, 2007), but may do so by perseverating on things outside of their control. Thus, children may respond to stress by blaming others, venting or showing some other physical release of emotions, becoming aggressive, or confronting others. Broadly, these strategies have been referred to as blaming others (Spirito et al., 1991), uncontrollable emotional discharge (Skinner & Wellborn, 1997), or externalizing (Causey & Dubow, 1992). Other children disengage from stressful situations and deliberately conceal their emotional reactions (Schutz et al., 2006) by denying the significance of the event or engaging in cognitive avoidance (Gross & Thompson, 2007; also called denial (Tero & Connell, 1984). Lastly, many general coping frameworks include responses involving self-denigration and worry

about long-term consequences of setbacks, which has been called anxiety amplification (Tero & Connell, 1984), or internalizing (Causey & Dubow, 1992). Responses within this cluster include rumination, worry, selfdenigration, self-blame, a focus on the negative, and anxious anticipation. Many theorists suggest that rumination is actually a manifestation of experiential avoidance, or a person's unwillingness to come into contact with distressing internal experiences (Haves et al., 1996; Lyubomirsky et al., 1999; Mellings & Alden, 2000). These three coping strategies blame, cognitive avoidance, and rumination, (and their associated constructs) - share that they are all inwardly focused, with efforts to restore or protect the self and would be expected when students feel threatened by a stressful situation.

Research suggests that stress appraisals do predict strategy use (e.g., Folkman et al., 1986). For example, when academic failure or negative feedback is perceived as a challenge, students cope by focusing their attention on their environments so that they can seek out information to understand why the failure occurred and actively problem-solve so that they can complete the task at hand (Skinner & Wellborn, 1997; Skinner et al., 2003, 2013). In contrast, when failure is appraised as a threat, children's coping responses are rigidly focused inward on the self, and students are highly motivated to protect their self-esteem and other internal experiences compromised by the failure. In doing so, these students are more likely to utilize strategies like blame (others and themselves) and oppositional behavior. Even further, recent research on academic coping (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2018) has shown that students who experience failure as a threat tend to use more defensive strategies to cope with failure including blame, rumination, and avoidance. In turn, these students are less engaged in and participate less in

115

the classroom. Relatedly, Reschley et al. (2008) found that when 7th-10th grade students felt positive emotions following a negative stressor, they were more likely to report using behavioral (i.e., social support-seeking) and cognitive (i.e., problem-solving) coping strategies. Within a college student sample (Doran et al., 2011), highly amotivated students, or those without motivation or who see little value in pursuing college, were less likely to endorse acceptance, active coping, planning, and seeking social support when coping with an academic examination. While the work by Reschley and colleagues (Reschley et al., 2008) and Doran and colleagues (Doran et al., 2011) didn't measure stress appraisals directly, both studies suggest that the way that children experience stress (with positive affect or as incongruent with valued action) impacts the specific strategies that children utilize.

Need-Supportive Contexts

Along with the growing body of literature systematically examining individual differences in children's experiences of stressful situations and the strategies they use to cope with these experiences, there is increasing recognition of the importance of understanding the social contexts that support or undermine coping. In addition to delineating the intrapersonal resources children need when confronted with negative feedback, SDT also specifies interpersonal contexts, like parent-child or teacherchild relationships, that support these psychological needs. They are: (a) autonomy support, (b) structure, and (c) involvement. Autonomy support involves caregivers' and teachers' support for children's autonomous initiations, points of view, and perspectives (Grolnick & Ryan, 1989). Autonomy-supportive behaviors support children's interests (e.g., allowing a child to participate in a math activity of their

choosing), actively solicit the child's perspective, communicate that their point of view has value, and support children's active problemsolving. Such practices facilitate children's autonomy, helping them to feel volitional and autonomously motivated (Grolnick & Ryan, 1989). In contrast, controlling behavior involves pressuring children toward specific outcomes (e.g., imposing the adult's agenda by demanding a child participate in math practice problems against their preference) and often entails ignoring or dismissing a child's perspective or solving problems for them.

Structure, whereby environments provide specific informational feedback, predictable consequences, and clear and consistent expectations, meets children's need for competence (Farkas & Grolnick, 2010). Structure allows children to anticipate outcomes in the environment and plan their behavior. The opposite of structure has been conceptualized as chaos – a term used to describe environments that are arbitrary, inconsistent, noncontingent, unpredictable, and not dependable, and that prevent children from feeling effective in planning and managing their behavior (Skinner & Wellborn, 1994, 1997).

Involvement helps children to feel related to others. Involved adults know about, take an interest in, and are active participants in a child's life (Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994) through their provision of both tangible (e.g., time, attention) and psychological (e.g., emotional support, warmth) resources. At the obverse is neglect, which includes diminished, inactive, or indifferent interactions with a child. Whereas involvement sends a clear message to a child that they belong and are valued, neglect communicates that a child is not worthy of time or attention.

A number of empirical studies have found that autonomy support, structure, and involvement are associated with children's coping (see Bradley, 2007 and Power, 2004 for reviews on parenting and coping) We review the literature on each of these contextual dimensions, starting with autonomy support.

Autonomy Support

While the coping area highlights the importance of support for competence and relatedness, there has been less attention on autonomy support as relevant to coping (e.g., Skinner & Edge, 2002). However, there are a few studies illustrating its significance. Specifically, Friedel et al. (2007) found that when parents pressured their children through peer comparison and prioritized academic grades, children were more likely to endorse performance goals and respond to negative feedback with maladaptive coping or noncoping. However, when parents supported students' autonomous problem-solving, their children were more likely to adopt mastery goals and report high self-efficacy, and in turn stayed behaviorally and emotionally engaged after failure. Raftery-Helmer and Grolnick (2016) showed that autonomy support directly predicted defensive coping (a composite measure that included rumination, blame, and avoidance), finding that when children perceive their parents as autonomy supportive, they were less likely to use defensive coping strategies. In this same study (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016), autonomy support also indirectly predicted defensive coping through perceived control. In particular, when children perceived their parents as autonomy supportive, they were less likely to feel that luck or factors outside their control caused their academic successes and failures, and in turn they were less likely to respond to failure defensively. This work replicated earlier findings showing that children whose mothers frequently use psychological control responded to negative feedback with higher selfdevaluation and shame (Assor & Tal, 2012), whereas children whose mother provided autonomy support were less likely to blame themselves or attribute failure to internal factors (Pomerantz & Ruble, 1998). Similarly, Knee and Zuckerman (1998) found that students who reported high parental autonomy support used less defensive coping in response to academic stressors. While less work has examined teacher effects on coping, one study by Zimmer-Gembeck and Locke (2007) using a composite measure of teacher behavior (including teacher autonomy support, structure, and involvement) found that these teacher behaviors predicted students' active coping strategies, including direct problemsolving, cognitive decision-making, and seeking understanding. When examining coping with other types of stress, researchers have also found effects of autonomy support. In one study, parents and adolescents completed questionnaires about family members' autonomy support and adolescents reported on their coping (active coping and withdrawal) with conflict in a 4-year longitudinal study. Using cross-lagged analyses, the authors found that adolescents' perceptions of family autonomy support were associated with their use of active coping over time (Seiffge-Krenke & Pakalniskiene, 2011).

Structure

There have been some conflicting findings on the impact of structure on coping. Some work has shown that structure uniquely predicts children's coping strategies. For instance, Raftery-Helmer and Grolnick (2016) found that children who perceived their parents as employing more structure were less likely to endorse using defensive coping strategies (avoidance, blame, rumination) following academic failure feedback. In this study, the effect of parental structure on defensive coping was both direct and indirect through perceived control. There are

Involvement

The research on involvement is more robust, with consistent positive effects of parent and

two possible interpretations of these findings.

First, parental structure may impact children's

coping by helping children to believe that they

can control outcomes and shield them from

believing that their own academic success and

failure hinges on luck or some unknown cause.

Second, the direct effect of parental structure on coping may indicate that when parents

implement high structure in their homes, they

may be teaching their children strategies to

manage setbacks that directly translate to

adaptive coping behaviors. In addition,

Zimmer-Gembeck and Locke (2007) combined

structure with other contextual dimensions

(e.g., autonomy support and involvement) and

showed that this composite predicted greater

use of cognitive decision-making, direct

problem-solving, and seeking understanding.

Children whose parents provide high structure

have also been shown to use fewer aggressive

coping strategies in response to everyday stres-

Other studies, however, have not uncovered

links between structure and coping. Raftery-

Helmer and Grolnick (2018) found that for

sixth-grade students, neither parent nor

teacher structure was associated with defensive

or mastery coping strategies in response to

academic failure, over and above the effects

of autonomy support and involvement. The

authors cautioned that these results might not

replicate for younger students or those less

confident navigating academic work, in light

of research showing strong independent effects

of structure on positive outcomes in more

novel domains (e.g., mother-daughter conver-

sations about sex, children's early experiences

being unsupervised; Grolnick et al., 2014;

sors (Hardy et al., 1993).

teacher involvement for coping. Coping theorists have long suggested that when the interpersonal context is involved, warm, attentive, and supportive the child should feel less threatened by stressful events (Sandler et al., 1989). As a result, they should come to understand their feelings better and feel more able to cope (Hardy et al., 1993), resulting in more active and approach-oriented coping. Empirical research examining multiple different stressors supports this. Parental involvement has been shown to directly predict active coping strategies following failure including the use of problem-solving, help-seeking, and support for feeling (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016). Parental involvement was particularly associated with support for feeling, which is consistent with findings from Gonzalez-DeHass et al.'s (2005) systematic review illustrating that parental involvement offers a sense of security and connection, particularly vital following negative feedback when students are at risk of disengaging from academic work altogether. This pattern of findings was replicated by Raftery-Helmer and Grolnick (2018) who showed that both parent and teacher involvement were directly associated with mastery coping. It is likely that involvement might be impacting the feasibility of different coping strategies. For instance, without involved parents or teachers, students may feel that they don't have supportive others from whom they can elicit emotional support and receive help, and so these may not be useful coping strategies.

Research examining coping in response to everyday stressors also shows consistent effects of parent involvement. Kliewer and colleagues (1996) measured parents' and elementary children's perceptions of the family environment and the parent-child relationship and children's coping strategies. The more children

117

perceived their mothers as accepting, the more active coping and support coping both girls and boys reported. Interestingly, among boys only, perceptions of paternal acceptance were associated with support coping and parents' perceptions of a cohesive and nonconflictual home environment were associated with active coping. Hardy and colleagues (1993) also found that mothers who reported being very supportive of their child had children who used the greatest variety of coping strategies but also were more likely to use avoidant strategies when they appraised the everyday stressor as outside of their control, which has been shown to be an adaptive way to alleviate emotional distress in stressful situations that can't be changed (Altshuler Ruble. & 1989). Interestingly, when researchers have examined both teacher and parent involvement together, the effects of parent involvement appear more robust. For instance, Zimmer-Gembeck and Locke (2007) found that reports of positive family relationships (a composite that included involvement alongside autonomy support and structure) were associated with adolescents' use of more active coping and fewer avoidant strategies in response to problems at home and at school. The effects of teachers were more limited in their effects, only predicting increased use of active coping strategies in response to stressors in the classroom. Valiente and colleagues (2004) also found that involvement/support predicted coping with a variety of stressful situations. Parents and their 7-12-year-old children completed daily diaries of stressful events and parents' and children's responses. Experimenters coded mothers' supportive strategies (e.g., talking about the problem, comforting, reasoning) and nonsupportive strategies (punish, reprimand). Average and daily supportive parental responses were associated with children's more constructive coping (e.g., asking for help, trying to solve the problem).

Culture and Context of Coping

While SDT may explain how and why children's coping may be influenced by social contexts, ecological perspectives (Bronfenbrenner & Ceci. 1994) suggest that the use and effectiveness of coping strategies may differ in different contexts and cultures. In light of this, we would like to draw attention to mixed results, complexities, and how context and culture may moderate findings within the coping literature. Certain coping strategies may or may not be useful or sanctioned in particular contexts. For example, active coping strategies that emphasize problem-solving and personal responsibility may be detrimental for youth with limited political status and power to affect their circumstances (Tolan & Grant, 2009). For instance, in a sample of low-income African American adolescent boys, only avoidant coping, and not active coping, showed a protective effect, attenuating the relationship between stress and externalizing symptoms (Grant et al., 2000). One possible interpretation of these findings is that coping strategies usually viewed as adaptive (e.g., active, support-seeking) may not be in the context of stressors over which children have little control (Compas et al., 2001). It is possible that active coping for these adolescent males might include aggressive behavior and that avoidance (both cognitive and behavioral) might decrease the likelihood that low-income urban males would engage in externalizing behaviors. Therefore, utilizing avoidant coping may be protective for some children (adolescent boys), for some outcomes (externalizing behaviors) and in some contexts (uncontrollable stressors). In addition, seeking social support may be less effective for youth whose social resources may be overwhelmed by their own stressors. This underscores the importance of examining the function of specific coping strategies (e.g., to master the environment vs. preserving internal resources) and the feasibility of specific strategies in addition to uncovering the specific supports (e.g., parent, teacher) most helpful within different contexts.

In the same vein, the impact of contextual factors on coping may depend on cultural or developmental considerations. While to our knowledge there are no studies that have looked at this directly in the realm of coping utilizing an SDT perspective, the parenting literature more broadly speaks to the importance of cultural context. Recent research has shown that the same parenting behaviors may be perceived differently by children of different cultural backgrounds. In one study looking at the relations between parental autonomy support and adolescent outcomes, Marbell-Pierre and colleagues (2019) measured two types of autonomy support: perspective-taking/open exchange and allowance of decision-making/ choice. Across both the United States and Ghana, perspective-taking/open exchange predicted higher school engagement, intrinsic motivation, and self-worth, and also lower depression. However, decision-making (e.g., "My parents allow me to decide things for myself") and choice (e.g., "My parents allow me to make choices whenever possible"), when combined, were not negatively related to perceived parental controllingness (Marbell-Pierre et al., 2019) in a sample of Ghanaian youth, but were negatively correlated with parental controllingness among a US sample of children. The authors propose that in Ghana, a society characterized as both hierarchical and collectivist, parents making unilateral decisions is culturally sanctioned and isn't perceived by children as undermining autonomy. Such findings are consistent with research showing that some autonomy-supportive behaviors, like allowing choice, are not consistently related to autonomous motivation in collectivistic groups (e.g., Bao & Lam, 2008;

Iyengar & Lepper, 1999) and support a "universalism without uniformity" perspective in that autonomy support is universally beneficially but does not uniformly present itself across cultures (e.g., Soenens et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2007). Therefore, when thinking about social context, it may be important to consider the child's experience over and above the observed behavioral practice.

In thinking about coping within a development context, this "universalism without uniformity" (Soenens et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2007) perspective may also apply. Research outside the coping literature has shown that parental structure may offer the most benefits when children are taking part in less familiar or more uncomfortable experiences. For example, Grolnick and colleagues (2014) found that parental structure predicted sixthgrade students' perceived competence in the unsupervised domain (but not the academic or responsibilities domain). The authors reasoned that because unsupervised time was novel for these children and thus stressful at this particular developmental stage children may need more structure and did not see the structure as intrusive. Mauras and colleagues (2013), in their study of mother-child conversations, found that parental structure was strongly related to daughters feeling autonomous, engaged, related, and satisfied with the conversation when discussing sex, an uncomfortable topic of discussion for any adolescent. Parental structure, however, did not relate to these outcomes for everyday conversations. It is possible that structure may be experienced as controlling when it is implemented around personal issues or those that a child may not want to have rules around, yet may be very important when children are vulnerable or struggling to feel competent. Even in work on academic coping, the effects of structure have been mixed, with some studies showing positive effects for active coping (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016) but others showing no effects (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2018), suggesting that the developmental features of the sample may filter a child's experience of structure as being competence-supportive. For instance, Raftery-Helmer and Grolnick's work may raise questions about whether structure may be most important for younger children or when children are less comfortable navigating situations.

Summary and Future Directions

An SDT perspective helps to address two important questions about children's coping what features of a person's environment predict coping responses and why (see Figure 4.1)? While a myriad of social contextual factors have been the subject of empirical investigation, SDT points us to what people universally need - to feel autonomous, to feel competent, and to feel connected to others - and the features of the environment that support these needs. In fact, studies reliably find that autonomy support, structure, and involvement predict active, adaptive coping that, while not uniformly measured, includes strategies like support for feeling, problem-solving, and help-seeking (e.g., Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016, 2018). This perspective, however, offers even greater utility in that it articulates not just what features of the environment

will predict helpful coping but why. Specifically, SDT tells us that autonomysupportive, structured, and involved environments foster internal motivational resources. namely autonomous self-regulation, perceived control and competence, and relational security that will serve as resources associated with how children experience stress. Those children armed with motivational resources will view stressful situations as a challenge to overcome and will utilize coping strategies that will allow them to reengage. Without such motivational resources, students will see stressors as a sign of their own incompetence in a coercive and isolated world. Preoccupied with their own feelings and self-perceptions in the face of these stressors, the strategies utilized will likely involve attributing the situation to outside factors (e.g., blaming), ignoring the threat (e.g., avoidance), or engaging in a cycle of self-deprecation (e.g., rumination).

While this theoretical perspective has moved the literature on coping in important directions, there is a lot more work to be done. In this section, we delineate a number of limitations to the current body of research on coping and directions for future research.

First, the vast majority of studies on coping have been cross-sectional. While many researchers interpret contextual correlates of coping as predictors (i.e., parenting or teacher behavior predicting coping), the nature of



Figure 4.1 A theoretical model.

these relationships has not been empirically established. While social contexts could impact coping strategies, the reverse is equally, likely with coping impacting the way others treat us (Pomerantz & Eaton, 2000; Seiffge-Krenke & Pakalniskiene, 2011).

As an example, across multiple studies there has been an established link between parental autonomy support and defensive coping (Assor & Tal, 2012; Friedel et al., 2007; Knee & Zuckerman, 1998: Rafterv-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007) with children less likely to use defensive strategies when they perceive their parents to be autonomy supportive. It is entirely possible, and even likely, that parents may react to their child's helpless responding with control. To disentangle the direction of effects in this work, future research should use longitudinal designs, particularly given that cross-sectional data collection is inadequate for testing mediation or process models (Maxwell & Cole, 2007). In fact, while we have proposed a theoretical model in this chapter (see Figure 4.1) that suggests that contexts impact coping through their effects on appraisals and motivational resources, it is important to consider bidirectional and transactional processes. For instance, Skinner et al. (2016) found that baseline use of coping strategies of problemsolving, help-seeking, comfort-seeking, selfand accommodation reliance. predicted improvement in feelings of effectiveness and motivational functioning across a period of 3-5 months. Therefore, we recommend that this conceptual model be tested by measuring constructs at various time points to determine their temporal sequence.

A second limitation of the literature is that studies have predominately relied upon selfreport measures of both context and coping strategy use. This is problematic both empirically (because correlations among study variables could be a measurement artifact) and theoretically. Children's reports of their environment may differ from parents' or teachers' own perceptions of their behavior or codings of observations of independent raters. Thus, using multiple informants and independent observations of parent and teacher behavior may help elucidate how children's experience of their environments might differ from adults' observed behavior. It will be important to investigate whether parents' actual behavior (based on independent observational coding) or children's perceptions of their parents are more important in predicting coping, which could have implications for interventions. In addition, coping has been almost exclusively measured by asking children what they do (often retrospectively) when they are confronted with stressors. Reporter bias is a clear concern in this work and future research should consider measuring coping behavior through independent observation, or find some more objective indicators of reengagement following stress (e.g., Skinner et al., 2009) that may be indicative of adaptive or defensive coping strategy use.

Lastly, interactions between contextual dimensions (e.g., autonomy support, structure, and involvement) have been hypothesized, yet rarely uncovered, likely because questionnaire measures confound the dimensions or assess them within different domains (e.g., measuring autonomy support around homework but structure in general). Research outside of coping underscores the importance of examining these dimensions in combination. For example, Grolnick and colleagues (2014) applied rigorous measurement to examine the interaction between parenting dimensions by differentiating parental structure from the way it was implemented, either in a highly controlling or a more autonomy-supportive manner, to determine whether the impact of parental structure would differ if implemented in an autonomy-supportive or controlling way. Children and parents completed semistructured interviews assessing structure and the manner with which that structure was implemented (autonomy supportive or controlling) in the domains of homework and studying, unsupervised time. and responsibilities. Trained raters coded the interviews for four components of structure and four components of autonomy-supportive implementation of structure. Parental structure predicted children's perceived competence, particularly for unfamiliar domains (e.g., unsupervised time; Grolnick et al., 2014) and across the transition to middle school (Grolnick et al., 2015). Providing structure in an autonomysupportive way (by jointly establishing rules; engaging in open exchange; and providing empathy and choice) also predicted positive outcomes (e.g., engagement, perceived competence, achievement) for personal and conventional issues (e.g., homework and studying; responsibilities). Thus, it seems essential to differentiate parental structure from the way it is implemented to ensure that the structure is not inadvertently undermining autonomy (e.g., Cheon et al., 2020).

Recent research has also measured autonomy support around academic involvement activities. Lerner and Grolnick (2020) found that when children felt choiceful, understood, and were able to initiate self-directed behaviors, they experienced more positive affect when their mothers were involved. In contrast, when mothers were controlling and pressuring, children had more negative affect toward the involvement. They also found an interaction between autonomy support and maternal involvement in predicting children's autonomous motivation. Specifically, communicating interest in a child's academics positively predicted autonomous motivation, but only when mothers were globally perceived to be autonomy supportive, and not when they were generally perceived as controlling. In an extension

of this work, Lerner et al. (2022) measured how autonomy-supportive mothers were when involved in their children's academic activities. This work represents an important first step. one that, to our knowledge, has not been taken in the coping literature, to measure interacting contextual dimensions. For instance, while parents may be generally autonomy supportive, they may become controlling in the context of specific involvement activities, findings that would be masked if researchers continue to measure global contextual dimensions separately. In, fact, Lerner et al.'s study showed that autonomy-supportive involvement was associated with academic outcomes such as autonomous motivation, perceived competence, and worry; relations that were not seen when measuring involvement and autonomy support more generally. Examining interactions among contextual dimensions is noticeably absent from the coping literature and represents an important area of future work.

Conclusions

Let's return to Olivia and Emma, our two students disappointed by the sting of failure. In our effort to understand why Olivia responded to her failing math grade with active attempts to figure out what happened and get the tangible help and emotional resources she needed, we might turn to her available resources and environment. It is likely that she feels volitional and choiceful in her academic efforts, allowing her to see failure as part of the process of learning some new and important math skills. We might speculate that her experience of her classroom is one of consistency, predictability, and feedback hallmarks of structure - that would allow her to feel in control of outcomes and plan her behavior. We might suspect that she has many supports, especially Ms. White, on whom she can consistently rely to help when she feels stuck. With others in her corner, Olivia may feel that she can rally people around her and navigate the challenges and disappointments that are thrown her way. When we think about Emma, we might wonder about the ways that her environment is failing to meet her needs. Especially in light of Ms. Marshall's response, we might wonder whether she feels controlled or coerced, whether she experiences chaos, or even isolation, knowing that her experience with others and her world may serve as filters of her experience of negative feedback as one that is unmanageable and threatening. While removing all obstacles, negative feedback, failure, disappointment, and everyday stressors would not serve our children well, we can help all the Emmas of the world by finding ways to intervene to create need-supportive environments so difficult situations are not a roadblock but just an inevitable hurdle to confront and part of the process of growing and thriving.

References

- Altshuler, J. L., & Ruble, D. N. (1989). Developmental changes in children's awareness of strategies for coping with uncontrollable stress. *Child Development*, 60(6), 1337–1349. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130925
- Assor, A., & Tal, K. (2012). When parents' affection depends on child's achievement: Parental conditional positive regard, self-aggrandizement, shame and coping in adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 35(2), 249–260. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.adolescence.2011.10.004
- Ayers, T. S., Sandler, I. N., West, S. G., & Roosa, M. W. (1996). A dispositional and situational assessment of children's coping: Testing alternative models of coping. *Journal of Personality*, 64(6), 923–958. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00949.x
- Band, E. B., & Weisz, J. R. (1988). How to feel better when it feels bad: Children's perspectives

on coping with everyday stress. *Developmental Psychology*, *24*(2), 247–253. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0012-1649.24.2.247

- Bao, X., & Lam, S. (2008). Who makes the choice? Rethinking the role of autonomy and relatedness in Chinese children's motivation. *Child Development*, 79(2), 269–283. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01125.x
- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 117(3), 497–529. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Bradley, R. H. (2007). Parenting in the breach: How parents help children cope with developmentally challenging circumstances. *Parenting: Science* and Practice, 7(2), 99–148. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15295190701306896
- Bretherton, I. (1985). Attachment theory: Retrospect and prospect. *Monographs of* the Society for Research in Child Development, 50(1/2), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.2307/3333824
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Ceci, S. J. (1994). Naturenurture reconceptualized in developmental perspective: A bioecological model. *Psychological Review*, 101(4), 568–586. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.101.4.568
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(6), 267–283. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1257
- Causey, D. L., & Dubow, E. F. (1992). Development of a self-report coping measure for elementary school children. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 21(1), 47–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1207/s15374424jccp2101_8
- Cheon, S. H., Reeve, J., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2020).
 When teachers learn how to provide classroom structure in an autonomy-supportive way:
 Benefits to teachers and their students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 90, Article 103004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
 tate.2019.103004
- Compas, B. E., Champion, J. E., & Reeslund, K. (2005). Coping with stress: Implications for

preventative interventions with adolescents. *Prevention Researcher*, *12*(3), 17–20.

- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Connell, J. P. (1985). A new multidimensional measure of children's perceptions of control. *Child Development*, 56(4), 1018–1041. https:// doi.org/10.2307/1130113
- Crittenden, P. M. (1990). Internal representational models of attachment relationships. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *11*(3), 259–277. https:// doi.org/10.1002/1097-0355(199023)11:3<259:: AID-IMHJ2280110308>3.0.CO;2-J
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. Plenum. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- Doran, J. Stephan, Y., Maiano, C., & Le Scanff, C. (2011). Motivational predictors of coping with academic examination. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 151(1), 87–104. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00224540903366768
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress. In S. A. Wolcik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Plenum. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.15.2.183
- Farkas, M. S., & Grolnick, W. S. (2010). Examining the components and concomitants of parental structure in the academic domain. *Motivation* and Emotion, 34, 266–279. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11031-010-9176-7
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R. S., Dunkel-Schetter, C., DeLongis, A., & Gruen, R. J. (1986). Dynamics of a stressful encounter: Cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(5), 992–1003. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.5.992
- Friedel, J. M., Cortina, K. S., Turner, J. C., & Midgley, C. (2007). Achievement goals, efficacy

beliefs and coping strategies in mathematics: The roles of perceived parent and teacher goal emphases. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 32(3), 434–458. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2006.10.009

- Gonzalez-DeHass, A. R., Willems, P. P., & Doan Holbein, M. F. (2005). Examining the relationship between parental involvement and student motivation. *Educational Psychology Review*, 17, 99–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10648-005-3949-7
- Grant, K. E., O'Koon, J. H., Davis, T. H., Roache, N. A., Poindexter, L. M., Armstrong, M. S., Minden, J. A., & McIntosh, J. M. (2000).
 Protective factors affecting low-income urban African American youth exposed to stress. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 20(4), 388–417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431600020004002
- Grolnick, W. S., Raftery-Helmer, J. N., Flamm, E. S., Marbell, K. N., & Cardemil, E. V. (2015). Parental provision of academic structure and the transition to middle school. *Journal of Research* on Adolescence, 25(4), 668–684. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jora.12161
- Grolnick, W. S., Raftery-Helmer, J. N., Marbell,
 K., Flamm, E. S., Cardemil, E. V., & Sanchez,
 M. (2014). Parental provision of structure:
 Implementation and correlates in three domains. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 60(3), 355–384.
 https://doi.org/10.13110/
 merrpalmquar1982.60.3.0355
- Grolnick, W. S., & Ryan, R. M. (1989). Parent styles associated with children's self-regulation and competence in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(2), 143–154. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.81.2.143
- Grolnick, W. S., & Slowiaczek, M. L. (1994).
 Parents' involvement in children's schooling:
 A multidimensional conceptualization and motivational model. *Child Development*, 65(1), 237–252. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131378
- Gross, J. J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 3–24). Guilford Press.
- Hardy, D. F., Power, T. G., & Jaedicke, S. (1993). Examining the relation of parenting to children's

coping with everyday stress. *Child Development*, *64*(6), 1829–1841. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 1131472

- Harter, S. (1982). The perceived competence scale for children. *Child Development*, 53(6), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129640
- Hasan, N., & Power, T. G. (2002). Optimism and pessimism in children: A study of parenting correlates. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 26(2), 185–191. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/01650250114300003
- Hayes, S. C., Wilson, K. G., Gifford, E. V., Follette, V. M., & Strosahl, K. (1996).
 Experiential avoidance and behavioral disorders: A functional dimensional approach to diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(6), 1152–1168. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-006X.64.6.1152
- Iyengar, S. S., & Lepper, M. R. (1999). Rethinking the value of choice: A cultural perspective on intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(3), 349–366. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.3.349
- Kliewer, W., Fearnow, M. D., & Miller, P. A. (1996). Coping socialization in middle childhood: Tests of maternal and paternal influences. *Child Development*, *67*(5), 2339–2357. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996. tb01861.x
- Knee, C. R., & Zuckerman, M. (1998). A nondefensive personality: Autonomy and control as moderators of defensive coping and self-handicapping. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 32(2), 115–130. https://doi.org/ 10.1006/jrpe.1997.2207
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/CBO9780511808678
- Leary, M. R. (2010). Affiliation, acceptance and belonging: The pursuit of interpersonal connection. In S. T. Fisk, D. T. Gilbert, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), *Handbook of social psychology* (5th ed., Vol. 2, pp. 864–897). Wiley. https://doi. org/10.1002/9780470561119.socpsy002024
- Lerner, R. E., & Grolnick, W. S. (2020). Maternal involvement and children's academic motivation and achievement: The roles of maternal

autonomy support and children's affect. Motivation and Emotion, 44(3), 373–388. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09813-6

- Lerner, R. E., Grolnick, W. S., Caruso, A. J., & Levitt, M. R. (2022). Parental involvement and children's academics: The roles of autonomy support and parents' motivation for involvement. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 68, Article 102039. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2021.102039
- Lyubomirsky, S., Tucker, K. L., Caldwell, N. D., & Berg, K. (1999). Why ruminators are poor problem solvers: Clues from the phenomenology of dysphoric rumination. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 77(5), 1041–1060. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.5.1041
- Marbell-Pierre, K. N., Grolnick, W. S., Stewart, A. L., & Raftery-Helmer, J. N. (2019). Parental autonomy support in two cultures: The moderating effects of adolescents' selfconstruals. *Child Development*, 90(3), 825–845. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12947
- Mauras, C. P., Grolnick, W. S., & Friendly, R. W. (2013). Time for "the talk"... now what? Autonomy support and structure in motherdaughter conversations about sex. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 33(4), 458–481. https://doi. org/10.1177/0272431612449385
- Maxwell, S. E., & Cole, D. A. (2007). Bias in crosssectional analyses of longitudinal mediation. *Psychological Methods*, 12(1), 23–44. https://doi. org/10.1037/1082-989X.12.1.23
- Mellings, T. M., & Alden, L. E. (2000). Cognitive processes in social anxiety: The effects of selffocus, rumination and anticipatory processing. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 38(3), 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(99) 00040-6
- Muldoon, O. T., Lowry, R. G., Prentice, G., & Trew, K. (2005). The factor structure of the multidimensional measure of children's perceptions of control. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 38(3), 647–657. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.paid.2004.05.020
- Ntoumanis, N., Edmunds, J., & Duda, J. L. (2009). Understanding the coping process from a selfdetermination theory perspective. *British Journal*

of Health Psychology, *14*(2), 249–260. https:// doi.org/10.1348/135910708X349352

- Pomerantz, E. M., & Eaton, M. M. (2000). Developmental differences in children's conceptions of parental control: 'They love me, but they make me feel incompetent." *Merrill Palmer Quarterly*, 46(1), 140–167. https://www. jstor.org/stable/23093346
- Pomerantz, E. M., & Ruble, D. N. (1998). The role of maternal control in the development of sex differences in child self-evaluative factors. *Child Development*, 69(2), 458–478. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1998.tb06202.x
- Power, T. G. (2004). Stress and coping in childhood: The parents' role. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 4(4), 271–317. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327922par0404_1
- Quested, E., Bosch, J. A., Burns, V. E., Cumming, J., Ntoumanis, N., & Duda, J. L. (2011). Basic psychological need satisfaction, stress-related appraisals, and dancers' cortisol and anxiety responses. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 33(6), 828–846. https://doi.org/ 10.1123/jsep.33.6.828
- Raftery-Helmer, J. N., & Grolnick, W. S. (2016). Children's coping with academic failure: Relations with contextual and motivational resources supporting competence. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *36*(8), 1017–1041. https://doi. org/10.1177/0272431615594459
- Raftery-Helmer, J. N., & Grolnick, W. S. (2018). Parent and teacher effects on academic coping and classroom engagement: Testing a motivational model. *Motivation and Emotion*, 42, 638–652. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-018-9676-4
- Reschley, A. L., Huebner, E. S., Appleton, J. J., & Antaramian, S. (2008). Engagement as flourishing: The contribution of positive emotions and coping to adolescents' engagement at school and with learning. *Psychology in the Schools*, 45(4), 419–431. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327922par0404_1
- Ryan, R. M., & Connell, J. P. (1989). Perceived locus of causality and internalization: Examining reasons for acting in two domains. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(5),

749–761. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.5.749

- Ryan, R. M., Connell, J. P., & Grolnick, W. S. (1992). When achievement is not intrinsically motivated: A theory of internalization and self-regulation in school. In A. K. Boggiano & T. S. Pittman (Eds.), *Achievement and motivation:* A social-developmental perspective (pp. 167–188). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0025742
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Selfdetermination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327922par0404_1
- Sandler, I. N., Miller, P., Short, J., & Wolchik, S. A. (1989). Social support as a protective factor for children in stress. In D. Belle (Ed.), *Children's social networks and social supports* (pp. 277–307). John Wiley & Sons.
- Schutz, P. A., Hong, J. Y., Cross, D. I., & Osbon, J. N. (2006). Reflections on investigating emotion in educational activity settings. *Educational Psychology Review*, 18, 343–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-006-9030-3
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Pakalniskiene, V. (2011). Who shapes whom in the family: Reciprocal links between autonomy support in the family and parents' and adolescents' coping behaviors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(8), 983–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-010-9603-9
- Skinner, E. A. (1999). Action regulation, coping, and development. In J. Brandtstädter & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), Action and self-development: Theory and research through the life span. (pp. 465–503). Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/ 9781452204802.n16
- Skinner, E. A., & Edge, K. (2002). Selfdetermination, coping, and development. In E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), Selfdetermination theory: Extensions and applications (pp. 297–337). University of Rochester Press. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping:

A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216

- Skinner, E. A., Kindermann, T. A., & Furrer, C. J. (2009). A motivational perspective on engagement and disaffection: Conceptualization and assessment of children's behavioral and emotional participation in academic activities in the classroom. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 69(3), 493–525. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/00131644083232
- Skinner, E., Pitzer, J., & Steele, J. (2013). Coping as part of motivational resilience in school: A multidimensional measure of families, allocations, and profiles of academic coping. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(5), 803–835. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0013164413485241
- Skinner, E. A., Pitzer, J. R., & Steele, J. (2016). Can student engagement serve as a motivational resource for academic coping, persistence, and learning during late elementary and early middle school? *Developmental Psychology*, 52(12), 2099–2117. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000232
- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2019). The development of academic coping in children and youth: A comprehensive review and critique. *Developmental Review*, 53, Article 100870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2019.100870
- Skinner, E. A., & Wellborn, J. G. (1994). Coping during child and adolescence. A motivational perspective. In D. Featherman, R. Lerner, & M. Perlmutter (Eds.), *Life-span development and behavior* (Vol. 12, pp. 91–133), Erlbaum. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0165025419896423
- Skinner, E. A., & Wellborn, J. G. (1997). Children's coping in the academic domain. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 387–422). Plenum Press. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0013164413485241
- Skinner, E. A., Wellborn, J. G., & Connell, J. P. (1990). What it takes to do well in school and whether I've got it: A process model of perceived

control and children's engagement and achievement in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1), 22–32. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-0663.82.1.22

- Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Van Petegem, S. (2015). Let us not throw out the baby with the bathwater: Applying the principle of universalism without uniformity to autonomysupportive and controlling parenting. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(1), 44–49. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12103
- Spirito, A., Stark, L. J., Grace, N., & Stamoulis, D. (1991). Common problems and coping strategies reported in childhood and early adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 20, 531–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01540636
- Tero, P. F., & Connell, J. P. (1984, April). When children think they've failed: An academic coping inventory. Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Tolan, P., & Grant, K. (2009). How social and cultural contexts shape the development of coping: Youth in the inner city as an example. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 124, 61–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cd.243
- Valiente, C., Fabes, R. A., Eisenberg, N., & Spinrad, T. L. (2004). The relations of parental expressivity and support to children's coping with daily stress. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *18*(1), 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.18.1.97
- Wang, Q., Pomerantz, E. M., & Chen, H. (2007). The role of parents' control in early adolescents' psychological functioning: A longitudinal investigation in the United States and China. *Child Development*, 78(5), 1592–1610. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01085.x
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Locke, E. M. (2007). The socialization of adolescent coping behaviors: Relationships with families and teachers. *Journal of Adolescence*, 30(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2005.03.001

5 Processes of Stress Resistance and Stress Resilience

The Role of Behavioral Control and the Medial Prefrontal Cortex

Michael V. Baratta and Steven F. Maier

Introduction

Exposure to traumatic/adverse events and circumstances in humans is frequent, with prevalent lifetime occurrences estimated to range from 50% to 85% in the general population (Benjet et al., 2016; Kessler et al., 1995). However, individuals differ quite dramatically in how they respond to these circumstances. For example, the prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder is roughly 10% in the general population (White et al., 2015), and most individuals do not develop any stress-related psychopathology following the experience of potent adverse events (Horn et al., 2016).

Clearly, there must be factors that determine how an individual reacts to adverse events. Initially, the focus was on genetic and environmental vulnerability factors that predispose an individual to react negatively to adverse events later in life (e.g., early life abuse; see Targum & Nemeroff, 2019 for review), or aspects of the event itself (e.g., uncontrollability; Seligman & Maier, 1967) that lead to negative outcomes. The implicit view was that individuals that remain relatively unaffected by an adverse event or situation do so because they lack vulnerability ingredients. For example, exposure to aversive events over which the organism (human and animal) has no behavioral control (uncontrollable) produces a range of behavioral and neurochemical changes (see later in

the chapter) that do not occur if the organism has the ability to exert some behavioral control (controllable) over the events, even if the duration, intensity, etc., of the uncontrollable and controllable events are equated (Maier & Seligman, 1976). Originally, it was thought that the controllable stressor subjects are protected because controllable events simply lack the critical uncontrollability element. That is, uncontrollability was thought to be the active process (see Maier & Seligman, 2016, for discussion and Minor et al., 1991, for a different perspective). However, a variety of work has indicated that there are a number of genetic, epigenetic, developmental, and experiential factors that can *actively* confer resistance (the adverse event has reduced impact) or resilience (recovery is more rapid) (Cathomas et al., 2019; Horn et al., 2016; Nestler & Waxman, 2020), and these are not simply the absence of vulnerability processes. For example, in the case of the uncontrollability/controllability dimension, the presence of control leads to active learning that is essential for the protective effects of control (see later in the chapter).

Resistance/resilience is the topic of this chapter. At the level of basic research (e.g., animal studies), it is often difficult to discern whether a manipulation has affected initial impact of an adverse event or speed of recovery, so we will use the term resilience as a generic term to describe a blunted total impact of an adverse event or circumstance. In the animal literature, resilience has been studied in two very different ways. In one, a group of

This work was supported by NIH Grants R01 MH050479 (SFM) and R21 MH116353 (MVB).

129

subjects is exposed to a negative event (e.g., social defeat) and some behavior or behaviors (e.g., social interaction) are measured at a later time. As with any measure, there will be a distribution of scores. It is often implicitly assumed that one end of the distribution on the behavioral measure is "good" (e.g., lots of social interaction) and one end is "bad" (e.g., social avoidance). Subjects at the "good" end are viewed as resilient, and then efforts are made to uncover neurochemical, endocrine, immunological, or circuit processes that characterize this subset. Of course, comparisons can also be made to nonstressed controls.

A variety of exciting results have emerged using the above strategy (e.g., Vialou et al., 2014). A second and different approach has been to identify experiences, manipulations, and aspects of the adverse events that produce diminished stressor impacts. Human research has focused on personal characteristics such as emotional regulation capacity (McRae & Gross, 2020), reappraisal (Kalisch et al., 2015; Troy et al., 2010), the use of active coping (Aspinwall, 2010), prevalence of positive emotions (Fredrickson & Levenson, 1998), etc. These are, of course, difficult to study in animals. Here, attention has focused on environmental variables or experiences that organisms can have that produce later resilience. Exercise (Greenwood & Fleshner, 2019), enriched environments (Lehmann & Herkenham, 2011), and early-life mild stressor exposure (Lyons et al., 2010) are examples. In addition, aspects of the adverse event or situation itself can also contribute to stressor resistance/resilience. The controllability of the adverse event or situation (Baratta & Maier, 2019) and the presence of safety signals during the adverse situation (Christianson et al., 2011) are examples.

Our charge in this chapter is to focus on the role of behavioral control and its circuitry in resilience and coping. By control is meant the ability to alter the adverse event or situation by means of one's own behavior. It should be noted that this concept is very close to a number of others: self-efficacy, locus of control, and contingency have similar meanings (Bandura, 1997; Dickinson & Balleine, 2000). In humans, it is clear that it is perceived control, not actual control, that is critical in buffering the impact of the stressor (Ly et al., 2019). In animals, of course, it is only possible to study actual control. Two aspects of control have received experimental attention. One has typically been studied in the context of positive rewards, and concerns whether the exertion of control in and of itself is reinforcing or of value. This is not a topic for discussion here, although it should be noted that both humans and animals (e.g., Catania & Sagvolden, 1980) prefer control and will choose to perform an operant response to obtain rewards rather than getting the very same reward "for free." Indeed, in humans, it has been shown that subjects will choose a smaller controllable reward over a larger uncontrollable reward and that the exercise of control per se activates neural circuits that are critical for goaldirected behavior (Wang & Delgado, 2019). The other, the topic of this chapter, has been studied in aversive contexts and concerns whether and how control buffers the organism against the impact of the adverse events being experienced, as well as later exposures to adversity. We will next discuss control and resilience, and then consider the implications of this work for several general issues concerning resilience. Please see Table 5.1 for a glossary of acronyms used in the chapter.

Behavioral Control

The study of behavioral control in animals, where the details of circuitry and neurochemistry can be studied, requires experimental designs in which animal subjects with control

Tat	ole	5.1	G	lossary	of	acronyms
-----	-----	-----	---	---------	----	----------

Acronym	Explanation
5-HT	serotonin
ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone
BNST	bed nucleus of the stria terminalis
CBT	cognitive behavioral therapy
CRH	corticotropin-releasing hormone
CS	conditional stimulus
DLS	dorsolateral striatum
DMS	dorsomedial striatum
DRN	dorsal raphe nucleus
ES	escapable shock
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
IL	infralimbic
IS	inescapable shock
LC	locus coeruleus
LH	lateral habenula
MDT	mediodorsal thalamus
mPFC	medial prefrontal cortex
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
PAG	periaqueductal gray
pERK	phosphorylated extracellular signal- regulated kinase
PL	prelimbic
PVN	paraventricular nucleus
S-R	stimulus-response
SN	substantia nigra
US	unconditional stimulus

over some aspect of the adverse event or situation can be compared with subjects that lack control but receive the identical adverse event or situation. A design ensuring that subjects with and without control over some aspect of the stressor receive physically identical events requires the use of a stressor over which the experimenter has instantaneous control so that events received by the subject without control can be yoked to those determined by the subject with control. Few adverse events that can be used in a laboratory meet this requirement.

For example, consider the difficulty of manipulating the controllability of restraint, social defeat, etc. (but see Drugan et al., 2005), in a way that equates physical exposure. Maier and Seligman, and Weiss, developed what has come to be called the "triadic design" at the same time (Maier et al., 1969; Seligman & Maier, 1967; Weiss, 1968). Subjects were used in triplets. When the subjects were rats (the subjects in all but the initial studies), each was placed in a small Plexiglas box with its tail protruding from the rear, with electrodes fixed directly to the tails. Two of the subjects received periodic electric shocks delivered via the electrodes fixed to the tails. For one of the rats (escapable shock, ES) each tailshock terminated whenever the rat turned a small wheel located on the front wall of the small chamber. For the second rat (inescapable shock, IS), turning the wheel was of no consequence and each shock terminated at the same instant that the ES subject turned the wheel. The third subject did not receive tailshock. Thus, ES and IS subjects received identical physical tailshocks, but the ES rat had behavioral control over an aspect of the stressor (the duration of each of the tailshocks), while the IS subject did not (see Figure 5.1A). This design allows determination of whether any behavioral, neurochemical, endocrine, or other consequence is caused by exposure to the tailshock stressor per se (here, IS and ES subjects would be the same and differ from the nonshocked control) or to the control factor (ES and IS would differ). Tailshock rather than footshock was used because it is difficult to administer truly uncontrollable footshocks. This is because, even with scrambled gridshocks, postural adjustments on shock grids can modulate current density, which determines the aversiveness of the footshocks (Campbell & Masterson, 1969). This is noted because allowing the operant response to only reduce the intensity of each shock rather than terminating the shock



Figure 5.1 (A) Illustration of the stressor controllability paradigm. (B) Schematic diagram of the neural circuits involved in stressor controllability phenomena. In the absence of control (inescapable stress; IS), serotonergic (5-HT) cells in the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) are potently activated leading to increased 5-HT release within the DRN and its projection regions that are the proximate mediators of IS-induced behaviors. In contrast, control over the stressor (escapable shock; ES) is detected by medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) neurons that participate in the corticostriatal action-outcome system. Following detection, a separate population of mPFC neurons project to the DRN and activate local inhibitory GABAergic neurons, thereby inhibiting DRN 5-HT release and preventing the behavioral impact of the stressor.

duplicates the protective effects of full escape (Alloy & Bersh, 1979).

Not surprisingly, IS in the above paradigm produces many of the same behavioral outcomes as do other stressors. This is not surprising because the stressors used in the literature (restraint, social defeat, predator odor, chronic mild stress, etc.) are typically uncontrollable. It might be noted that many of these behavioral outcomes (e.g., social avoidance) have typically been produced by repeated or chronic stressors (e.g., repeated social defeat), but a single session of IS produces them as well (see Hammack et al., 2012, for a discussion), perhaps because a session of IS is a potent

stressor. However, these outcomes do not follow ES (see later on for exceptions), even though the tailshocks are exactly the same from a physical perspective. That is, the presence of control blunts the behavioral impact of the adverse event being experienced. Moreover, control most often completely blocked the behavioral impact of the stressor so that ES subjects were indistinguishable from nonshocked controls. In addition, the controls in many of these experiments were home cage controls rather than controls restrained in the wheel-turn boxes as in the original studies. Thus, ES subjects often behaved as did subjects that had received no stressor at all.

Importantly, the experience of control over the potent tailshock stressor does more than mitigate the behavioral effects of the stressor over which control is exerted. Of special importance for understanding resilience, exposure to ES (but not IS) blocks the behavioral effects of IS occurring at a later time in a different environment (Maier & Seligman, 1976; Williams & Maier, 1977), a phenomenon that has been coined "behavioral immunization." Behavioral immunization has two important characteristics. First, it is long-lasting, persisting for at least 35 days following the ES experience (Kubala et al., 2012). Second it is transsituational and independent of context. In the most dramatic example, Amat et al. (2010) reported that exposure to ES completely blocked the behavioral effects of social defeat administered 7 days later. Great care was taken to minimize any cues that might have occurred in common between the ES and social defeat experiences (e.g., the two manipulations occurred on different floors of the building and were administered by different experimenters). Exposure to IS exacerbated rather than blocked the impact of social defeat. demonstrating that it was the occurrence of control and not the tailshocks per se that led to behavioral immunization.

Does Control Reduce the "Stressfulness" of the Aversive Event?

Perhaps the most obvious explanation of the protective effects of control would be that control reduces the "stressfulness" of the adverse events being experienced so that they are less impactful. It is less obvious how this could account for behavioral immunization, but "toughening up" effects have been reported (Lyons et al., 2010). Whether the overall experience of ES is less "stressful" relative to physically identical IS has been assessed with several measures of hypothalamic-pituitary-

adrenal (HPA) axis and autonomic activity. Maier et al. (1986) measured plasma levels of both adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and corticosterone, during and after ES and voked IS using parameters exactly as in the behavioral studies. ES and IS produced exactly the same, very robust, ACTH and corticosterone rises and time courses of decay (replicated by Helmreich et al., 2012). Thinking that hypothalamic measures might be more sensitive to differences, Helmreich et al. (1999) assessed gene expression within the hypothalamus (paraventricular nucleus, PVN) for peptides known to be important in regulating pituitary-adrenal activity. Both ES and IS produced the same increases in corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH), neurotensin, enkephalin, and arginine-vasopressin messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA). With regard to autonomic activity, Thompson et al. (2013) assessed a large number of autonomic measures during and after ES and yoked IS, and in no case did ES produce a smaller autonomic response. Thus, if HPA and autonomic activity are taken to be agreed-upon "stressometers," ES is not less stressful than IS. This is not to say that conditions/parameters could not be found in which control reduces HPA or autonomic activity, but with parameters that produce the behavioral differences above, control does not reduce either.

An alternative approach is to focus on neural circuitry. Logically, control might be expected to reduce neural activity in regions that are critical in producing the behavioral sequelae of IS. Thus, three questions need to be addressed: 1) What are the key neural changes produced by IS that lead to the wide array of behavioral changes that follow exposure to IS?; 2) Do these neural changes fail to occur if the tailshocks are controllable (ES)?; and 3) Why do these changes fail to occur if the stressor is controllable? We will consider these issues in turn.

Neural Mediation of the Behavioral Effects of Uncontrollable Stress

It would be difficult to find a neutral structure that directly mediates all of the behaviors that are altered by prior exposure to IS. For example, escape behavior is proximately regulated by the periaqueductal gray (PAG) and striatum (Franklin, 2019; Kimura et al., 2003), while fear processes are regulated by the amygdala (Ressler & Maren, 2019). However, there are a number of brain regions that project to and modulate numerous other structures that include those that are known to proximately mediate many of the behaviors altered by IS. The locus coeruleus (LC) and the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) are perhaps the clearest. For a number of reasons that are no longer relevant we focused on the DRN. The DRN is the largest of the raphe nuclei and sends serotonergic (5-HT) projections to numerous regions, including many of those that are the proximate mediators (e.g., PAG, striatum, amygdala) of the behaviors altered by IS. The role of the DRN in mediating the behavioral effects of IS has been reviewed extensively (Hammack et al., 2012; Maier & Watkins, 1998) and only a brief discussion is possible here. The most salient findings are that: a) IS intensely activates DRN 5-HT neurons as indicated by the expression of immediate-early genes such as c-fos in identified 5-HT neurons within the DRN (Grahn et al., 1999) and extracellular levels of 5-HT within the DRN measured by microdialysis (Maswood et al., 1998); b) 5-HT is released in critical projection regions such as the amygdala and PAG during IS and later behavioral testing (Amat et al., 1998a, 1998b); c) IS induces changes within the DRN such that the DRN is sensitized and activated during later behavioral testing (Rozeske et al., 2011) - moreover the duration of DRN 5-HT sensitization matches the duration of the behavioral effects of IS (Rozeske et al., 2011); d) pharmacological inhibition of DRN 5-HT activation during IS or during later behavioral testing both prevent the behavioral consequences of IS (Maier et al., 1994; Maier, Grahn, & Watkins, 1995) (demonstrating necessity); e) blockade of 5-HT receptors in structures such as the amygdala (Christianson et al., 2010), PAG, and striatum (Strong et al., 2011) during behavioral testing prevents the corresponding behavioral effects of IS (necessity); and f) pharmacological activation of DRN 5-HT neurons in the absence of stressor exposure mimics the typical effects of IS (Maier, Busch, et al., 1995), thereby demonstrating sufficiency.

Clearly, if DRN 5-HT activation is the key neural change produced by IS that mediates the behavioral sequelae of IS, then ES, even though the physical tailshocks are exactly the same, should not produce DRN 5-HT activation. This is so because ES does not produce the behavioral changes. Indeed, ES does not activate DRN 5-HT neurons (Grahn et al., 1999; Maswood et al., 1998), does not lead to the release of 5-HT in projection regions of the DRN (Amat et al., 1998a, 1998b), and does not sensitize DRN 5-HT neurons (Rozeske et al., 2011). These IS/ES differences are sufficiently dramatic that we will show an example. Figure 5.2 shows extracellular levels of 5-HT, indicating 5-HT release, in the basolateral amygdala (a projection region of the DRN). 5-HT was measured using in vivo microdialysis before, during, and after ES and yoked IS. During IS, 5-HT release increased substantially, with release being maintained for the duration of the session and several hours thereafter. ES also produced a rapid increase in extracellular 5-HT, but as the subjects learned to turn the wheel to terminate the tailshocks 5-HT levels dropped all the way back to baseline. That is, even though the tailshocks continued, 5-HT did not increase even slightly.



Figure 5.2 Extracellular levels of 5-HT in the basolateral amygdala expressed as a percentage of baseline (mean \pm s.e.m). Groups received escapable shock, yoked inescapable shock, or restraint in the wheel-turn apparatus. Samples were collected every 20 minutes before, during, and after experimental treatment. (Adapted with permission from Amat et al., 1998a).

Recall that prior exposure to ES blocks the behavioral impact of IS and other stressors such as social defeat occurring much later (behavioral immunization). If DRN 5-HT indeed mediates the behavioral effects of uncontrollable stressors, then the prior ES exposure should prevent the DRN activation produced by the subsequent IS or social defeat – it does (Amat et al., 2010).

Why Does ES Fail to Activate DRN 5-HT Neurons?

Differential Input to the DRN

The DRN receives inputs from a large number of stress-responsive structures, with these inputs driving DRN 5-HT activity. For example, the DRN receives most of its glutamatergic input from the lateral habenula (LHb), as well as noradrenergic projections from the LC and CRH projections from the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST). Interestingly, intra-DRN blockade of either glutamatergic (Grahn et al., 2000), noradrenergic (Grahn et al., 2002), or CRH receptors (Hammack et al., 2002, 2003) during IS is sufficient to reduce IS-induced DRN 5-HT activation and block the typical behavioral consequences. Thus, it appears that the DRN is a site of convergence of stressor-induced activity and operates as an integrator of activity from disparate regions that process stressor exposure. The DRN then in turn modulates numerous regions that are proximate mediators of the behaviors that are produced by adverse events.

Since ES fails to increase DRN 5-HT activity, the most obvious possibility is that ES fails

to activate inputs to the DRN from the LHb, LC, or BNST. We have examined this possibility in detail. For example, Dolzani et al. (2016) first determined that optogenetic inhibition of glutamatergic neurons that project from the LHb to the DRN during IS prevents both the 5-HT activation and later behavioral effects. They then examined the activity of these LHb neurons during ES and voked IS, and surprisingly, both IS and ES produced equivalent activation. That is, stressor exposure per se stimulated the activity of glutamatergic neurons in the LHb that project to the DRN – the LHb is not sensitive to the control dimension even though input from this structure to the DRN is necessary to produce DRN 5-HT elevation and behavioral change. The same conclusions pertain to LC and BNST input to the DRN (McDevitt et al., 2009).

Top-Down Inhibition from the Medial Prefrontal Cortex

If both ES and IS produce equivalent excitatory inputs to the DRN, yet ES does not activate DRN 5-HT neurons, the only possibility is that the experience of control must lead to *inhibitory* input to the DRN that opposes or cancels the stressor-induced activation. Intriguingly, the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), particularly the prelimbic (PL) region, sends excitatory pyramidal glutamatergic projection to the DRN (Vertes, 2004) that synapse preferentially on GABAergic inhibitory interneurons (Jankowski & Sesack, 2004). These GABAergic inhibitory interneurons in turn synapse onto, and inhibit, the 5-HT neurons. Thus, activation of the mPFC and its output to the DRN would be expected to actively inhibit DRN 5-HT neuronal firing and 5-HT release in projection regions of the DRN, and this is indeed the case (Hajós et al., 1998, 1999).

The foregoing suggests the possibility that the exercise of behavioral control during the tailshock stressor leads to top-down inhibition of the DRN by the mPFC. The first question might be whether ES, relative to IS, does indeed activate PL neurons that project to the DRN. It is not enough to measure whether ES activates the PL, since most PL projections go to other regions and only a small percentage of PL pyramidal cells (perhaps 2%) project to the DRN. To answer this question Baratta et al. (2009) injected a retrograde tracer into the DRN, thereby labeling PL cells that project to the DRN. Then, animals received ES and yoked IS and neural activation markers such as c-fos were examined in the PL cells that were retrogradely labeled and project to the DRN. ES dramatically activated PL cells that project to the DRN, and equivalent IS did not. Next, we asked whether the activation of the PL by ES was necessary for behavioral control to be protective. Amat et al. (2005) microinjected an inhibitor of neural activity into PL during exposure to ES and IS. IS still produced its usual behavioral consequences, but now having control was not protective - the PL activation was necessary for protection to occur. It should be noted that the ES subjects learned to turn the wheel to terminate the tailshocks, and did so perfectly (see later in the chapter for explanation). However, without PL activation this exercise of operational control was not protective. Moreover, behavioral immunization to the effects of later occurring stressors was also blocked. Interestingly, PL blockade at the time of the later stressor was also necessary, even if ES occurred in the absence of inhibition of the PL (Amat et al., 2006). Finally, pharmacological activation of the PL during uncontrollable stressor exposure prevented the typical effects of IS (Amat et al., 2006). That is, PL activation was sufficient for protection as well as necessary.

Although the above data indicate that PL activation by ES is necessary for both the

immediate and long-term protective effects of control, they do not indicate why. The mPFC could be critical either because a) the mPFC detects the presence of control or is part of a circuit that detects control, b) control is detected elsewhere with this information then communicated to the mPFC that then uses and acts on this information by exerting inhibitory control over the DRN, or c) both.

Some insight can be gained by considering that the concepts of control and contingency are formally identical. Maier et al. (1969) defined control over an event (e.g., tailshock termination) as occurring in а twodimensional space formed by the conditional probability of the event occurring given that a behavioral response (e.g., turning the wheel) has occurred and the conditional probability of the event occurring given that the response has not occurred. Control is absent (the event is uncontrollable) along the diagonal of the space where the two conditional probabilities are equal – here, it doesn't matter whether the organism makes the response or not. Some degree of control is present at all points in the space away from the diagonal - the event can be made more probable either by making or withholding the response (Figure 5.3). With regard to ES, the conditional probability of shock terminating given the occurrence of wheel turning is 1.0, and the conditional probability of the shock terminating in the absence of a wheel turn is 0.0. Thus, the situation is very far from the diagonal of the space, and indeed is along an axis of the space. This is exactly the same as others have later defined the contingency between a response and a reward as being the mathematical difference between these two probabilities (Liljeholm et al., 2011).

This is noted because there has been considerable effort directed at uncovering the neural mechanisms by which instrumental contingencies are learned. The history of psychology



Figure 5.3 Contingency space showing the relationship between two conditional probabilities involving a response and its outcome. P (Rft/R) is the conditional probability of shock termination given that the reponse has occurred (turning a wheel). P (Rft/NoR) is the conditional probability of shock termination given that the response has not occurred. Control is absent (uncontrollable) along the diagonal of the space where the two conditional probabilities are equal.

witnessed a debate between those who argued that instrumental learning involves the formation of stimulus-response (S-R) bonds and those who held that instead instrumental learning is goal directed and involves the formation of action-outcome associations. A variety of research directed at understanding the neural mechanisms that mediate instrumental positive reward learning (e.g., a rat learning to press a lever for food) has made it clear that there are at least two different neural systems by which organisms can learn instrumental responses (see reviews by Balleine & Dezfouli, 2019; Dezfouli & Balleine, 2012). One internalizes S-R associations and has been called "habit learning." It is inflexible and insensitive to contingency but rather only to

pairing of response and reward (pairing is represented by the conditional probability of reward given a response). Here, rewards occurring in the absence of the response are without impact and do not weaken the response. This type of learning is mediated by a circuit that includes the sensorimotor cortex and the dorsolateral striatum (DLS). A different system is sensitive to contingency, is flexible and goaldirected, and internalizes expectation of reward. It has been called the "action-outcome" or "goal-directed" learning system and is mediated by a circuit from mPFC, particularly the PL, to the dorsomedial striatum (DMS), to the substantia nigra (SN), to the mediodorsal thalamus (MDT), back to the mPFC. This is not a simple loop as many of the connections between regions are bidirectional. It should be noted that these same two systems are present in humans (e.g., Hartogsveld et al., 2020).

This research directed at understanding the neural mechanisms that underlie instrumental learning has almost entirely involved appetitive instrumental learning, learning to obtain food, water, etc. Thus, whether aversively motivated instrumental learning, such as escape learning, also employs these two systems is unknown. However, a plausible idea is that control over adverse events is detected by the action-outcome / goal-directed learning system, and that this is necessary for control to be protective.

One way to examine these issues is to focus on the dorsal striatum since the DMS is a part of the goal-directed system while the DLS is a component of the habit system. We (Amat et al., 2014) first examined whether ES or IS would activate the DMS, the DLS, or both. IS did not induce activity in either structure, as might be expected since these subjects do not have an instrumental response. ES, however, induced activity in the DMS but not the DLS, suggesting that the goal-directed learning system is activated during controllable tailshocks. We next inactivated either the DMS or the DLS during ES and yoked IS. Interestingly, the subjects learned the wheelturn escape response at the same rapid rate during either condition, suggesting that both systems can support escape learning. When the DMS was blocked and so the act/outcome system could not be engaged, now ES activated the DLS indicating that the ES subjects used the habit system to learn the response. Thus, the subjects preferentially used the goal-directed system to learn the wheel-turn escape response, but would use the habit system when the goal-directed system was not available.

As just noted, rats can use either learning system to acquire the escape response that controls tailshock durations. Will learning the controlling response using both systems resistance to contemporaneous produce and future adverse events (behavioral immunization)? To answer this Amat et al. (2014) inactivated either the DMS or the DLS during exposure to ES and IS. When the DLS was inactivated, having control was still protective, as would be expected from the results presented thus far. However, when the DMS was inactivated, control was no longer protective/resilience-inducing, even though the subjects turned the wheel and exerted operational control. DRN 5-HT activation and 5-HT release was also measured under these conditions, and having control did not reduce DRN 5-HT activation if the escape response was acquired while the DMS was inactivated. Thus, having a controlling escape response is protective only if it is acquired using the goaldirected system. It is not control per se that is protective, but rather the activation of the goal-directed system during an adverse event or situation. This also explains why, as already described, inhibition of the PL during ES eliminated protection, even though the subjects

137

turned the wheel to terminate the tailshocks – the habit system was being used, not the goaldirected system.

Learning that there is control over tailshock termination via the goal-directed PL-DMS-SN-MDT-PL circuit cannot, by itself, inhibit DRN 5-HT activation and block the behavioral consequences of IS or produce immunization to later uncontrollable stressors. As already noted, DRN inhibition is produced by the activation of PL pyramidal neurons that project to the DRN. One possibility is that the PL neurons that project to the DMS as part of the goal-directed learning circuit also project to the DRN, so that learning control automatically inhibits the DRN. To determine whether this is so we microinjected one color of fluorescent retrograde tracer into the DRN and a different color into the DMS. The question was whether the two colors would come to reside in the same or in different cells within the PL. The answer was clear - there were virtually no neurons within the PL that expressed both colors and so the PL cells that project to the DMS and the DRN are different, although closely intermixed populations of cells.

So, the PL cells that project to the DRN must receive input that carries the information that the stressor is controllable (Figure 5.1B). Recall that the goal-directed circuit includes a projection from the MDT back to the PL. A recent anatomical study (Kuramoto et al., 2017) indicates that the glutamatergic projection from the MDT to the PL has unusual properties. Each individual projecting neuron innervates a roughly 1 mm cube of PL tissue. Because the PL cells that innervate the DMS and the DRN are intermixed, it is very likely that the same MDT neuron that innervates PL cells that project to the DMS and are part of the goaldirected leaning circuit also innervates PL cells that project to the DRN. If this were so, the circuit that detects control would automatically innervate/activate the PL cells that use this information to inhibit the DRN. To explore this issue we injected a retrograde tracer into the DRN and an anterograde tracer into the MDT, and indeed, PL neurons that project to the DRN are innervated by MDT neurons.

Circuit Plasticity

The fact that exposure to ES will block the DRN activation and behavioral changes produced by uncontrollable stressors occurring as much as 35 days later (Kubala et al., 2012) suggests that experiencing control over an adverse event produces long-term changes ("plasticity") in the circuitry that regulates neural responding to uncontrollable stressors. A number of findings suggest that the PL is a critical site of plasticity. Amat et al. (2006) exposed subjects to either ES, IS, or no stressor at Time 1 and IS in a different environment at Time 2 7 days later. As is typical, ES at Time 1 blocked the behavioral and DRN-activating effects of IS at Time 2. However, pharmacological blockade of PL activity during the IS at Time 2 eliminated the immunizing effects of the prior ES. That is, PL activity at Time 2 was required for the expression of the enduring impact of the experience of control, suggesting that the PL is the site of plasticity.

The production of plasticity generally requires the activation of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-type glutamate receptors and the production of new proteins called "plasticity proteins," such as phosphorylated extrasignal-regulated kinase (pERK). cellular Indeed, pERK is produced by ES, but not IS, in the PL (Christianson et al., 2014). Importantly, pharmacological inhibition of the production of new proteins within the PL after exposure to ES at Time 1 prevented ES from being immunizing (Amat et al., 2006). ES still blunted the immediate impact of the stressor, so the immediate effects of experiencing control require PL activation (see earlier in chapter) but not the production of new proteins within the PL, but the long-term protection produced by control does. Moreover, blockade of just the production of pERK in the mPFC was sufficient to prevent immunization as is NMDA receptor blockade (Christianson et al., 2014).

Thus, the evidence suggests that the PL is the site of plasticity that mediates the longterm protective effects of control, but the PL contains neurons that are part of both the circuit that detects control and the circuit that uses this information to inhibit the DRN. ESinduced plasticity could occur in either population of PL neurons, or both. So, one possibility is that the uncontrollable stressor at Time 2 now activates the goal-directed learning circuit, even though it normally does not. This would be the equivalent of an "illusion of control" at a psychological level. However, a) PL neurons that project to the DMS were not activated by IS at Time 2 even if preceded by ES at Time 1, b) the DMS was not activated by IS at Time 2, and c) DMS inhibition at Time 2 did not reduce the immunizing effects of Time 1 ES. Thus, there is no evidence that PL neurons that project to the DMS are a site of plasticity.

However, IS at Time 2 did activate PL neurons that project to the DRN if controllable tailshocks had occurred at Time 1 even though uncontrollable stressors normally do not, and DRN 5-HT activity was inhibited. That is, PL neurons that project to the DRN behaved very differently after an experience of ES that had occurred 7 days earlier. Longterm plasticity often involves the growth of dendritic spines, and indeed, the experience of ES produces a persistent alteration of dendritic spines on specifically PL neurons that project to the DRN (Baratta et al., 2019).

So, the experience of behavioral control over tailshocks induces long-lasting changes in PL neurons that project to the DRN. Of course, the experience of control activates these neurons consequent to detection of control, thereby inhibiting DRN 5-HT activation. Is the simple activation of this pathway sufficient to produce the long-term changes in the pathway? To answer this, Amat et al. (2008) pharmacologically activated PL neurons that project to the DRN (as well as other PL neurons) and administered IS 7 days later. PL activation at Time 1 was not sufficient to produce immunization. In another group the PL was activated during exposure to IS at Time 1 and IS was administered in a different environment 7 days later. Intriguingly, pharmacological activation of the PL during IS did produce immunization. That is, the DRN activation produced by IS at Time 2 as well as the behavioral effects of the IS were blocked.

The foregoing suggests that plasticity is produced when PL neurons that project to the DRN are activated in the presence of an aversive event. That is, a second signal must converge onto the DRN projecting PL neurons for plasticity in this pathway to result. The identity of this signal is not known, although it must be the product of experiencing an adverse event. This scenario clarifies what seems like a conundrum. We all have numerous experiences with control over events during development, and numerous occasions during which the goal-directed learning circuitry is activated, yet we are not immunized against the impact of uncontrollable adverse events. It may be that the experiences have to be with control over adverse events, thereby providing that second signal, for the detection circuitry to activate and induce plasticity in the PL-DRN pathway.

Sex – Do Females Utilize This Circuitry?

The research that we have just reviewed all used male subjects. Baratta et al. (2018)

explored whether females would also be protected by behavioral control, as are males. Surprisingly, females were *not*. ES produced the same behavioral effects as did IS, and having control did not activate PL neurons that project to the DRN or blunt DRN 5-HT activation.

One possibility would be that females did not learn the wheel-turn escape response, but females learned to turn the wheel to terminate tailshocks at the same rate or even faster than did males (Baratta et al., 2018). Recall that males that learn the wheel-turn escape response using the habit system are not protected by having the escape response. So, perhaps the females used the habit system rather than the goal-direct system to learn the response. Indeed, the DLS rather than the DMS was activated during the ES session in females. This would suggest that females would be protected by control if they were forced to learn the escape response with the goal-directed system. One way to do this is to prevent the use of the habit system by pharmacologically inhibiting the DLS; when this was done, control was protective.

It is not known why females use the habit system preferentially in the wheel-turn task. The mPFC is critical to the goal-directed circuit, and both catecholamines (Arnsten, 2015; Datta et al., 2019) and CRH (Uribe-Mariño et al., 2016) released at high levels within the mPFC can interfere with mPFC function. This is noted because both stress-induced catecholamines (Heinsbroek, van Haaren, Feenstra, Boon, & van de Poll, 1991; Heinsbroek, van Haaren, Feenstra, Endert, & van de Poll, 1991) and CRH (Valentino et al., 2013) are greater in females than males. Alternatively, female bias toward the habit system may be more general (Schoenberg et al., 2019). An intriguing possibility is that females learn instrumental tasks more rapidly than do males, and so females shift more quickly to control of behavior by the habit system than males (Schoenberg et al., 2019).

Does Control Engage Other mPFC Circuits?

As mentioned earlier, only a small fraction (2%) of mPFC cells project to the DRN. The mPFC sends dense projections and exerts topdown inhibition over other subcortical structures that coordinate responses to threat. For example, the infralimbic (IL) region of the mPFC (just ventral to the PL) regulates the suppression of conditioned fear responses through its projections to the amygdala (Milad & Quirk, 2002; Quirk et al., 2010). The exact details of the prefrontal-amygdala circuits that are critical for this suppression are an area of intense study (Giustino & Maren, 2015); however, it is clear that activation of the IL inhibits the expression of fear across a variety of experimental contexts. Furthermore, successful fear extinction training produces plasticity within subsets of IL neurons, including those that project to the amygdala (Bloodgood et al., 2018; Herry et al., 2010). The foregoing suggests a framework in which experiences that increase IL output to the amygdala might lead to the suppression of fear. Not all individuals who experience a traumatic event develop an anxiety disorder, so an understanding of circumstances that might reduce fear conditioning and/or facilitate fear extinction is critical.

Several groups have shown that stress exposure can enhance later fear conditioning, an effect that can persist for up to several months in rats. In these experiments the stressors used were uncontrollable, and unsurprisingly, IS facilitates subsequent fear conditioning that occurs 1 week later in a novel environment (Baratta et al., 2007). Providing a controlling response over the streshowever, not only prevents this sor,

141

facilitation, but also reduces subsequent fear conditioning. That is, ES animals exhibit lower levels of fear (assessed by freezing) during tests for contextual and auditory-cued fear compared to animals that are never exposed to stress. Moreover, ES given after fear conditioning accelerates later fear extinction, while IS interferes with extinction. In addition to identifying factors and/or procedures that facilitate extinction, there is considerable interest in preventing fear relapse. There are several well-documented phenomena in which extinguished fear responses reappear, including the spontaneous recovery of fear that occurs with the passage of time following the completion of extinction training (Bouton et al., 2006). Importantly, the experience of ES potently reduces spontaneous recovery of contextual fear when assessed 2 weeks after extinction (Baratta et al., 2007). Thus, behavioral control produces long-lasting acceleration and permanence of fear extinction.

Given the involvement of the IL in the suppression of conditioned fear, it is not surprising that inactivation of the mPFC during ES prevented the fear-buffering effects of ES on subsequent fear conditioning 1 week later (Baratta et al., 2007). It is commonly assumed that the amount of fear measured during testing reflects the associative strength of the fear memory. However, fear responding can also be attributed to the strength of *fear expression* to a given level of conditioning. That is, experiential factors such as ES can modify later fear behavior by altering the amount of fear expressed rather than altering fear learning (conditioning/acquisition). IL inactivation before the fear test, but not before acquisition, eliminates the reduction in fear produced by prior ES (Baratta et al., 2008). The implication here is that the experience of control reduces the expression of conditioned fear rather than interfering with fear learning. Clearly, ES rats form an association between the conditional

stimuli (CS; context and auditory tone) and unconditional stimulus (US; footshock), but don't express that association with fear responses if they had prior experience with ES, and the IL is essential for this suppression. These data are consistent with the extinction studies previously described in which behavioral control is given 24 hours after conditioning and 1 week before extinction. In these studies the reduced fear response during extinction occurred almost immediately during the first session of extinction, before any extinction learning could have possibly occurred, further suggesting that the experience of control inhibits fear expression. In sum, behavioral control confers resistance to future conditioned fear processes and this protection is due to changes in IL function. Although the IL has been the focus, it does not necessarily rule out a role for the PL in the fear-buffering properties of prior ES. The IL receives dense projections from the PL, which is situated immediately dorsal to the IL (Hoover & Vertes, 2007). It is entirely possible that the amygdala-projecting neurons of the IL receive direct input from the PL neurons that participate in the detection of instrumental control. This represents a potential framework for how control information can be transmitted to mPFC output neurons involved in the regulation of fear, although this has yet to be tested.

Do All Manipulations That Lead to Resilience Use the mPFC Circuitry?

In view of the data suggesting that behavioral control produces resilience in the face of future adverse events via action at the mPFC, it is natural to wonder whether other, or even all manipulations that lead to resilience do so via the mPFC and top-down inhibition. As noted, exercise (Greenwood et al., 2003), enriched environments (Zeeni et al., 2015), the

provision of safety signals (Rogan et al., 2005), and early-life mild stressor exposure (Lyons et al., 2010) also produce resilience. Of these, as far as we can determine, the role of the mPFC has only been explored with regard to safety signals and exercise. Safety signals are stimuli that indicate to the subject that an aversive event will not occur for a given period of time in an environment in which aversive events occur unpredictably. The provision of such signals reduces the impact of the adverse situation (e.g., Weiss, 1971). Christianson et al. (2008) set out to determine whether the protective effects of safety signals require the use of the mPFC as does control, and they did not. Instead, safety signals required the use of the insular cortex. Christianson et al. (2008) went on to determine whether the insular cortex might also be important for the protective effects of behavioral control and it was not, providing a complete double dissociation between the mechanisms by which control and safety signals exert their effects. With regard to exercise, 6 weeks of access to running wheels blocks the behavioral and DRN activating effects of IS (Greenwood et al., 2003), but the mPFC is not involved. Even lesion of the mPFC fails to reduce the protective effects of exercise (Greenwood et al., 2013). Interestingly, females are protected by exercise (Tanner et al., 2019), again suggesting that the failure of control to be protective in females is caused by a quite specific difference from males. In sum, this all points to the fact that there are multiple pathways through which stress resistance/resilience is earned.

Does Control Blunt All Aspects of the Reaction to Adverse Events?

It is natural to assume that manipulations that produce resilience essentially attenuate the stressor, so that it is experienced as less aversive. If this were the case, all aspects of the reaction to the adverse event or circumstance should be blunted, but that is clearly not the case. It has already been described that the HPA and autonomic reactions to tailshock are not reduced by having a controlling wheel-turn escape response, even though many behavioral and neurochemical sequelae are reduced or eliminated. Moreover, not even all behavioral sequelae of tailshock are blunted by control (Woodmansee et al., 1993).

How is the selective action of control to be understood? An answer is that it is all in the circuitry. As already described, control over tailshock is detected by the PL-DMS-SN-MDT-PL goal-directed learning circuit. By itself, this cannot be protective and only represents learning/cognition. For this learning to modulate behavioral, endocrine, or neurochemical consequences of the stressor, the structures that represent control learning must communicate to and alter activity in other regions that mediate the behavioral, endocrine, or neurochemical responses in question. For example, IS produces later social avoidance, and this effect is prevented if the tailshocks are controllable (ES). IS produces social avoidance in part because it activates DRN 5-HT neurons. Having control over the tailshocks blocks this effect because neurons in the goal-directed circuit innervate PL neurons that project to and inhibit DRN 5-HT activity.

From this perspective, behavioral control will only blunt reactions to the stressor whose proximate mediating neural structures receive input from the goal-directed learning circuit. Consider the HPA axis response. Cells in the PVN of the hypothalamus manufacture CRH and secrete it into the portal vasculature. CRH then travels to the pituitary, leading to the secretion of ACTH into the bloodstream. ACTH travels to the adrenal gland via the bloodstream, and there leads to the secretion of corticosterone (or cortisol) into the blood. The relation between the DRN/5-HT and HPA activity is complex (see Lowry, 2002 for a review). 5-HT innervation of the PVN is sparse (Sawchenko et al., 1983) and other transmitters, such as norepinephrine, are major mediators of PVN activity in response to stressors (Herman, 2018). Thus, it is unlikely that the HPA response to IS is determined predominantly by the DRN.

Thus, the PL-DRN pathway that is activated by control would not prevent the PVN/ HPA response. Interestingly, although the mPFC can regulate PVN activity, it does so not by a direct projection to the PVN, but rather indirectly via a projection to BNST, which in turn projects to the PVN (Johnson et al., 2019). From the present viewpoint, we would only expect the HPA response to tailshock to be modulated by control if the mPFC cells that project to the BNST are modulated by control, as are the mPFC cells that project to the DRN. Baratta (unpublished data) retrogradely labeled the mPFC cells that project to the BNST, administered ES or voked IS, and examined activity markers in the retrogradely labeled cells. The mPFC cells that project to the BNST were unaffected by control - IS and ES produced the same level of activation. Thus, the PVN cannot "know" about control and so the HPA response would not be blunted.

Since different resilience-producing manipulations utilize different circuitries, this circuitbased view would suggest that different resilience-producing manipulations will blunt different reactions, or patterns of reactions, to adverse events. In support, exercise, which does not utilize the mPFC as a mediator of its resilience-inducing effects, does blunt the HPA response to stressors (Hare et al., 2014).

Summary and Conclusions

Research on stressor controllability began with the finding that behavioral (Maier et al.,

1969) and physiological (Weiss, 1968) consequences of equated inescapable and escapable shocks differed. Thus, Maier et al. (1969) found that subjects given IS later failed to learn to escape footshocks in a shuttlebox, while Weiss (1968) found that rats given IS formed stomach ulcers. Neither outcome occurred if the shocks were escapable. Partly because little was known concerning the behavioral sequelae of stressor exposure, Maier and Seligman assumed that it was the uncontrollability of IS that led to the production of shuttlebox escape learning failure rather than that control actively blunted the impact of the stressor (or both). They argued that ES failed to produce shuttle escape deficits not because the subjects learned that the stressor was controllable but simply because it lacked the key uncontrollability ingredient. The DRN and its role in mediating the behavioral consequences of IS was not studied till years later, and the fact that IS activated DRN 5-HT neurons, but ES did not, seemed to support the idea that it was the uncontrollability of IS that is the active factor in promoting ES-IS differences. It was natural to assume that IS stimulated the DRN while ES simply failed to do so.

However, the research reviewed in this chapter suggests that instead (or possibly in addition), the presence of control leads to an active process that ultimately inhibits the DRN 5-HT activation produced by stressors. It should be noted that this top-down inhibition may not be limited to the DRN, as there is evidence that the amygdala-dependent processes are inhibited as well (Baratta et al., 2008). This active process begins with the recruitment of the goal-directed learning system. As already described, simply exercising operational control (i.e., turning the wheel and terminating tailshocks) is not sufficient to blunt stressor effects, rather, the goal-directed system must be used to acquire/control the escape response.

Why would this be adaptive? It can be argued that the purpose of instrumental learning is to allow an organism to learn what actions *cause* what outcomes in the environment. If an outcome closely follows a behavior this could be chance, or it could be because the behavior has a causal relationship to the outcome. Clearly, it would be adaptive to internalize causal relationships and not chance occurrences since performing the behavior in the future will only produce the outcome if the relationship had been causal. If an organism were only sensitive to the pairing between an act and an outcome (the conditional probability of the outcome given the occurrence of the act) it could not distinguish between a "real" causal and a chance relationship. Rather, the organism would have to be sensitive to the contingency between act and outcome since evaluating the causal nature of the relationship requires a consideration of both the conditional probability of the outcome following the response (pairing) and the conditional probability of the outcome in the absence of the response. It is only the goaldirected system, not the habit system, that is sensitive to contingency.

It is also adaptive that there is plasticity in the system if the event being controlled is aversive. When confronting a new threat an organism can begin by responding actively, attempting to exert behavioral control, or passively. If the event or situation cannot be influenced by behavioral means it is likely most adaptive to behave passively, conserving energy and other resources until action can be effective (de Kloet et al., 2019). Indeed, many of the behavioral changes that follow exposure to uncontrollable stressors such as IS represent a shift toward passivity - escape failure, social avoidance, reduced aggression and dominance, freezing, etc. On the other hand, if the event or situation can be mitigated behaviorally then active responding would likely be favorable. Under the assumption that environments tend to be stable, at least over the short haul, then if an organism experiences control over an adverse event it is reasonable to bias the system toward initial active responding in the future. Of note, in one of the few studies that have examined the impact of developmental timing for behavioral control, the proactive effects of ES persisted longer when given during adolescence than adulthood (Kubala et al., 2012). Future efforts toward understanding this age-graded effect may choose to focus on how control-induced plasticity in the mPFC system differs between these two stages of life.

The final issue to be discussed concerns the relationship(s) between behavioral control and coping more generally. The concept of coping has been used in a broad way. Sometimes the term is used to refer to a strategy, sometimes to a style, and sometimes to a process. Coping is often identified as any response to stress, volitional or automatic, cognitive, emotional, or behavioral. In the animal literature the major distinction is between active versus passive coping, or proactive fight/flight versus reactive conservation-withdrawal (Koolhaas et al., 1999). If, in an adverse situation, the subject behaves actively, then it is said to be engaging in active coping, whereas if it behaves passively (often this is freezing), then it is said to be passively coping. The assumption seems to be that the organism is always "coping," with no consideration that an organism might be failing to cope or to not be engaged in a coping strategy. From this perspective, behavioral control would be seen as a form of active or proactive coping and might be central to active coping in general.

With regard to humans, many of the forms of coping that have been studied contain an element of control and are intertwined with the concept of control. At the experimental level coping is often studied in the context of the

regulation of negative emotions. Emotion regulation has been defined as "processes that individuals utilize to change the trajectory (e.g., type, intensity, and time course) of their emotional experience" (Kim et al., 2019, p. 215). Notice the similarity to how behavioral control has been defined, with the difference being that here the control is exerted not by an overt behavioral response but rather by internal processes. Cognitive reappraisal would be a specific example (Cutuli, 2014). Here, subjects are asked or taught to reduce the negative affect produced by a stimulus (e.g., a snake) by thinking about it differently (e.g., "the snake is not poisonous and can't hurt me"). Interestingly, as with behavioral successful control, reappraisal involves engagement of top-down inhibition from regions of the mPFC to limbic structures, although dorsolateral regions may be of more importance here (Ray & Zald, 2012) (but see Urry et al., 2006). In any event, the determination of what regions of rat mPFC are analogous to what regions of human mPFC is complex. Here, the interesting question is the extent to which control and its circuitry is part of the mediation of the impact of reappraisal and perhaps other forms of emotion regulation.

Poor regulation of negative emotions has been argued to be at the core of a number of psychological/psychiatric disorders, and mPFC dysregulation and impaired top-down inhibition of stress-responsive limbic and brainstem structures have been implicated (e.g., Huang et al., 2014). Interestingly, cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) has been argued to restore this top-down inhibition (DeRubeis et al., 2008), although the evidence for this is still sparse (Franklin et al., 2016). In CBT individuals are taught skills that they can use to reduce destructive negative thoughts and emotions, as well as to evaluate real circumstances. Embedded in this is that they are

taught that there are things that they can do to improve their circumstances – control. The extent to which this is involved in the beneficial effects of CBT is largely unexplored.

References

- Alloy, L., & Bersh, P. (1979). Partial control and learned helplessness in rats: Control over shock intensity prevents interference with subsequent escape. *Learning & Behaviour*, 7(2), 157–164. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03209265
- Amat, J., Aleksejev, R. M., Paul, E., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2010). Behavioral control over shock blocks behavioral and neurochemical effects of later social defeat. *Neuroscience*, 165(4), 1031–1038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .neuroscience.2009.11.005
- Amat, J., Baratta, M. V., Paul, E., Bland, S. T., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2005). Medial prefrontal cortex determines how stressor controllability affects behavior and dorsal raphe nucleus. *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(3), 365–371. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1399
- Amat, J., Christianson, J. P., Aleksejev, R. M., Kim, J., Richeson, K. R., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2014). Control over a stressor involves the posterior dorsal striatum and the act/outcome circuit. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 40(3), 2352–2358. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ejn.12609
- Amat, J., Matus-Amat, P., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (1998a). Escapable and inescapable stress differentially alter extracellular levels of 5-HT in the basolateral amygdala of the rat. *Brain Research*, 812(1–2), 113–120. https://doi.org/10 .1016/s0006-8993(98)00960-3
- Amat, J., Matus-Amat, P., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (1998b). Escapable and inescapable stress differentially and selectively alter extracellular levels of 5-HT in the ventral hippocampus and dorsal periaqueductal gray of the rat. *Brain Research*, 797(1), 12–22. https://doi .org/10.1016/S0006-8993(98)00368-0
- Amat, J., Paul, E., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2008). Activation of the ventral medial prefrontal cortex during an uncontrollable

stressor reproduces both the immediate and long-term protective effects of behavioral control. *Neuroscience*, *154*(4), 1178–1186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04 .005

- Amat, J., Paul, E., Zarza, C., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2006). Previous experience with behavioral control over stress blocks the behavioral and dorsal raphe nucleus activating effects of later uncontrollable stress: Role of the ventral medial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(51), 13264–13272. https://doi .org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3630-06.2006
- Arnsten, A. F. (2015). Stress weakens prefrontal networks: Molecular insults to higher cognition. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(3), 1376–1385. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nn.4087
- Aspinwall, L. G. (2010). Future-oriented thinking, proactive coping, and the management of potential threats to health and well-being. In S. Folkman (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of stress, health, and coping* (pp. 334–365). Oxford University Press.
- Balleine, B. W., & Dezfouli, A. (2019). Hierarchical action control: Adaptive collaboration between actions and habits. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 2735. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019 .02735
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control.* Freeman.
- Baratta, M. V., Christianson, J. P., Gomez, D. M., Zarza, C. M., Amat, J., Masini, C. V., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2007). Controllable versus uncontrollable stressors bi-directionally modulate conditioned but not innate fear. *Neuroscience*, 146(4), 1495–1503. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.03.042
- Baratta, M. V., Gruene, T. M., Dolzani, S. D., Chun, L. E., Maier, S. F., & Shansky, R. M. (2019). Controllable stress elicits circuit-specific patterns of prefrontal plasticity in males, but not females. *Brain Structure and Function*, 224(5), 1831–1843. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-019-01875-z
- Baratta, M. V., Leslie, N. R., Fallon, I. P., Dolzani, S. D., Chun, L. E., Tamalunas, A. M., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2018). Behavioural and

neural sequelae of stressor exposure are not modulated by controllability in females. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 47(8), 959–967. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13833

- Baratta, M. V., Lucero, T. R., Amat, J., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2008). Role of the ventral medial prefrontal cortex in mediating behavioral control-induced reduction of later conditioned fear. *Learning and Memory*, 15(2), 84–87. https:// doi.org/10.1101/lm.800308
- Baratta, M. V., & Maier, S. F. (2019). New tools for understanding coping and resilience. *Neuroscience Letters*, 693, 54–57. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neulet.2017.09.049
- Baratta, M. V., Zarza, C. M., Gomez, D. M., Campeau, S., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2009). Selective activation of dorsal raphe nucleus-projecting neurons in the ventral medial prefrontal cortex by controllable stress. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(6), 1111–1116. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568 .2009.06867.x
- Benjet, C., Bromet, E., Karam, E. G., Kessler, R. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Ruscio, A. M., ... & Koenen, K. C. (2016). The epidemiology of traumatic event exposure worldwide: Results from the World Mental Health Survey Consortium. *Psychological Medicine*, 46(2), 327–343. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0033291715001981
- Bloodgood, D. W., Sugam, J. A., Holmes, A., & Kash, T. L. (2018). Fear extinction requires infralimbic cortex projections to the basolateral amygdala. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(2), Article 60. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0106-x
- Bouton, M. E., Westbrook, R. F., Corcoran, K. A., & Maren, S. (2006). Contextual and temporal modulation of extinction: Behavioral and biological mechanisms. *Biological Psychiatry*, 60(4), 352–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .biopsych.2005.12.015
- Campbell, B. A., & Masterson, F. A. (1969).
 Psychophysics of punishment. In B. A. Campbell
 & R. M. Church (Eds.), *Punishment and aversive* behavior (pp. 3–42). Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Catania, A. C., & Sagvolden, T. (1980). Preference for free choice over forced choice in pigeons.

Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior, 34(1), 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1980 .34-77

- Cathomas, F., Murrough, J. W., Nestler, E. J., Han, M. H., & Russo, S. J. (2019). Neurobiology of resilience: Interface between mind and body. *Biological Psychiatry*, 86(6), 410–420. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.04.011
- Christianson, J. P., Benison, A. M., Jennings, J., Sandsmark, E. K., Amat, J., Kaufman, R. D., Baratta, M. V., Paul, E. D., Campeau, S., Watkins, L. R., Barth, D. S., & Maier, S. F. (2008). The sensory insular cortex mediates the stress-buffering effects of safety signals but not behavioral control. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(50), 13703–13711. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4270-08.2008
- Christianson, J. P., Flyer-Adams, J. G., Drugan, R. C., Amat, J., Daut, R. A., Foilb, A. R., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2014). Learned stressor resistance requires extracellular signalregulated kinase in the prefrontal cortex. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 8, Article 348. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00348
- Christianson, J. P., Jennings, J. H., Ragole, T., Flyer, J. G., Benison, A. M., Barth, D. S., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2011). Safety signals mitigate the consequences of uncontrollable stress via a circuit involving the sensory insular cortex and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(5), 458–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011 .04.004
- Christianson, J. P., Ragole, T., Amat, J., Greenwood, B. N., Strong, P. V., Paul, E. D., Fleshner, M., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2010). 5-hydroxytryptamine 2C receptors in the basolateral amygdala are involved in the expression of anxiety after uncontrollable traumatic stress. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(4), 339–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009 .09.011
- Cutuli, D. (2014). Cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression strategies role in the emotion regulation: An overview on their modulatory effects and neural correlates. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 8, Article 175.

- Datta, D., Yang, S. T., Galvin, V. C., Solder, J., Luo, F., Morozov, Y. M., Arellano, J., Duque, A., Rakic, P., Arnsten, A. F. T., & Wang, M. (2019). Noradrenergic α1-adrenoceptor actions in the primate dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(14), 2722–2734. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2472-18 .2019
- de Kloet, E. R., de Kloet, S. F., de Kloet, C. S., & de Kloet, A. D. (2019). Top-down and bottomup control of stress-coping. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 31(3), 1–16. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jne.12675
- DeRubeis, R. J., Siegle, G. J., & Hollon, S. D. (2008). Cognitive therapy versus medication for depression: Treatment outcomes and neural mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(10), 788–796. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2345
- Dezfouli, A., & Balleine, B. W. (2012). Habits, action sequences and reinforcement learning. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *35*(7), 1036–1051. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568 .2012.08050.x
- Dickinson, A., & Balleine, B. W. (2000). Causal cognition and goal-directed action. In C. Heyes & L. Huber (Eds.), *The evolution of cognition* (pp. 185–204). The MIT Press.
- Dolzani, S. D., Baratta, M. V., Amat, J., Agster, K. L., Saddoris, M. P., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2016). Activation of a Habenulo-Raphe circuit is critical for the behavioral and neurochemical consequences of uncontrollable stress in the male rat. *eNeuro*, 3(5). https://doi .org/10.1523/ENEURO.0229-16.2016
- Drugan, R. C., Eren, S., Hazi, A., Silva, J., Christianson, J. P., & Kent, S. (2005). Impact of water temperature and stressor controllability on swim stress-induced changes in body temperature, serum corticosterone, and immobility in rats. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry* and Behavior, 82(2), 397–403. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.pbb.2005.09.011
- Franklin, G., Carson, A. J., & Welch, K. A. (2016). Cognitive behavioural therapy for depression: Systematic review of imaging studies. *Acta Neuropsychiatrica*, 28(2), 61–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/neu.2015.41
Franklin, T. B. (2019). Recent advancements surrounding the role of the periaqueductal gray in predators and prey. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 13, Article 60. https://doi.org/10 .3389/fnbeh.2019.00060

Fredrickson, B. L., & Levenson, R. W. (1998). Positive emotions speed recovery from the cardiovascular sequelae of negative emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, 12(2), 191–220. https:// doi.org/10.1080/026999398379718

Giustino, T. F., & Maren, S. (2015). The role of the medial prefrontal cortex in the conditioning and extinction of fear. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9, Article 298.

Grahn, R. E., Hammack, S. E., Will, M. J., O'Connor, K. A., Deak, T., Sparks, P. D., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2002). Blockade of alpha1 adrenoreceptors in the dorsal raphe nucleus prevents enhanced conditioned fear and impaired escape performance following uncontrollable stressor exposure in rats. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 134(1–2), 387–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(02)00061-X

Grahn, R. E., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2000). Impaired escape performance and enhanced conditioned fear in rats following exposure to an uncontrollable stressor are mediated by glutamate and nitric oxide in the dorsal raphe nucleus. *Behavioral Brain Research*, *112*(1–2), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(00) 00161-3

Grahn, R. E., Will, M. J., Hammack, S. E., Maswood, S., McQueen, M. B., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (1999). Activation of serotoninimmunoreactive cells in the dorsal raphe nucleus in rats exposed to an uncontrollable stressor. *Brain Research*, 826(1), 35–43. https://doi.org/10 .1016/S0006-8993(99)01208-1

Greenwood, B. N., & Fleshner, M. (2019). Voluntary wheel running: A useful rodent model for investigating the mechanisms of stress robustness and neural circuits of exercise motivation. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 28, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .cobeha.2019.02.001

Greenwood, B. N., Foley, T. E., Day, H. E., Campisi, J., Hammack, S. H., Campeau, S., Maier, S. F., & Fleshner, M. (2003). Freewheel running prevents learned helplessness/behavioral depression: Role of dorsal raphe serotonergic neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *23*(7), 2889–2898. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.23-07-02889.2003

Greenwood, B. N., Spence, K. G., Crevling, D. M., Clark, P. J., Craig, W. C., & Fleshner, M. (2013). Exercise-induced stress resistance is independent of exercise controllability and the medial prefrontal cortex. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(3), 469–478. https://doi.org/10 .1111/ejn.12044

Hajós, M., Hajós-Korcsok, E., & Sharp, T. (1999). Role of the medial prefrontal cortex in 5-HT1A receptor-induced inhibition of 5-HT neuronal activity in the rat. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *126*(8), 1741–1750. https://doi .org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0702510

Hajós, M., Richards, C. D., Székely, A. D., & Sharp, T. (1998). An electrophysiological and neuroanatomical study of the medial prefrontal cortical projection to the midbrain raphe nuclei in the rat. *Neuroscience*, 87(1), 95–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(98) 00157-2

Hammack, S. E., Cooper, M. A., & Lezak, K. R. (2012). Overlapping neurobiology of learned helplessness and conditioned defeat:
Implications for PTSD and mood disorders. *Neuropharmacology*, *62*(2), 565–575. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.02.024

Hammack, S. E., Richey, K. J., Schmid, M. J., LoPresti, M. L., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2002). The role of corticotropin-releasing hormone in the dorsal raphe nucleus in mediating the behavioral consequences of uncontrollable stress. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(3), 1020–1026. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.22-03-01020.2002

Hammack, S. E., Schmid, M. J., LoPresti, M. L., Der-Avakian, A., Pellymounter, M. A., Foster, A. C., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2003). Corticotropin releasing hormone type
2 receptors in the dorsal raphe nucleus mediate the behavioral consequences of uncontrollable stress. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(3), 1019–1025. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.23-03-01019.2003

- Hare, B. D., Beierle, J. A., Toufexis, D. J.,
 Hammack, S. E., & Falls, W. A. (2014).
 Exercise-associated changes in the corticosterone response to acute restraint stress: Evidence for increased adrenal sensitivity and reduced corticosterone response duration. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *39*(5), 1262–1269.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2013.329
- Hartogsveld, B., van Ruitenbeek, P., Quaedflieg, C., & Smeets, T. (2020). Balancing between goaldirected and habitual responding following acute stress. *Experimental Psychology*, 67(2), 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000485
- Heinsbroek, R. P., van Haaren, F., Feenstra, M. G., Boon, P., & van de Poll, N. E. (1991).
 Controllable and uncontrollable footshock and monoaminergic activity in the frontal cortex of male and female rats. *Brain Research*, 551(1–2), 247–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(91) 90939-s
- Heinsbroek, R. P., van Haaren, F., Feenstra, M. G., Endert, E., & van de Poll, N. E. (1991). Sex- and time-dependent changes in neurochemical and hormonal variables induced by predictable and unpredictable footshock. *Physiology & Behavior*, 49(6), 1251–1256. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(91)90359-y
- Helmreich, D. L., Tylee, D., Christianson, J. P., Kubala, K. H., Govindarajan, S. T., O'Neill,
 W. E., Becoats, K., Watkins, L., & Maier, S. F. (2012). Active behavioral coping alters the behavioral but not the endocrine response to stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *37*(12), 1941–1948. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen .2012.04.005
- Helmreich, D. L., Watkins, L. R., Deak, T., Maier, S. F., Akil, H., & Watson, S. J. (1999). The effect of stressor controllability on stress-induced neuropeptide mRNA expression within the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, *11*(2), 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2826.1999.00300.x
- Herman, J. P. (2018). Regulation of hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical responses to stressors by the nucleus of the solitary tract/dorsal vagal

complex. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 38(1), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-017-0543-8

149

- Herry, C., Ferraguti, F., Singewald, N., Letzkus, J. J., Ehrlich, I., & Lüthi, A. (2010). Neuronal circuits of fear extinction. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(4), 599–612. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07101.x
- Hoover, W. B., & Vertes, R. P. (2007). Anatomical analysis of afferent projections to the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat. *Brain Structure and Function*, 212(2), 149–179. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s00429-007-0150-4
- Horn, S. R., Charney, D. S., & Feder, A. (2016). Understanding resilience: New approaches for preventing and treating PTSD. *Experimental Neurology*, 284, 119–132. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.expneurol.2016.07.002
- Huang, X., Huang, P., Li, D., Zhang, Y., Wang, T., Mu, J., Li, Q., & Xie, P. (2014). Early brain changes associated with psychotherapy in major depressive disorder revealed by resting-state fMRI: Evidence for the top-down regulation theory. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 94(3), 437–444. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2014.10.011
- Jankowski, M. P., & Sesack, S. R. (2004). Prefrontal cortical projections to the rat dorsal raphe nucleus: Ultrastructural features and associations with serotonin and gammaaminobutyric acid neurons. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 468(4), 518–529. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cne.10976
- Johnson, S. B., Emmons, E. B., Lingg, R. T., Anderson, R. M., Romig-Martin, S. A., LaLumiere, R. T., Narayanan, N. S., Viau, V., & Radley, J. J. (2019). Prefrontal-bed nucleus circuit modulation of a passive coping response set. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(8), 1405–1419. https:// doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1421-18.2018
- Kalisch, R., Müller, M. B., & Tüscher, O. (2015). A conceptual framework for the neurobiological study of resilience. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 38, e92. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0140525X1400082X
- Kessler, R. C., Sonnega, A., Bromet, E., Hughes, M., & Nelson, C. B. (1995). Posttraumatic stress

disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey. Archives of General Psychiatry, 52(12), 1048–1060. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc .1995.03950240066012

- Kim, J. U., Weisenbach, S. L., & Zald, D. H. (2019). Ventral prefrontal cortex and emotion regulation in aging: A case for utilizing transcranial magnetic stimulation. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 34(2), 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps,4982
- Kimura, M., Yamada, H., & Matsumoto, N. (2003). Tonically active neurons in the striatum encode motivational contexts of action. *Brain Development*, 25(Suppl. 1), S20–S23. https://doi .org/10.1016/s0387-7604(03)90003-9
- Koolhaas, J. M., Korte, S. M., De Boer, S. F., Van Der Vegt, B. J., Van Reenen, C. G., Hopster, H., De Jong, I. C., Ruis, M. A., & Blokhuis, H. J. (1999). Coping styles in animals: Current status in behavior and stress-physiology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 23(7), 925–935. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0149-7634(99)00026-3
- Kubala, K. H., Christianson, J. P., Kaufman, R. D., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2012). Short- and long-term consequences of stressor controllability in adolescent rats. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 234(2), 278–284. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.06.027
- Kuramoto, E., Pan, S., Furuta, T., Tanaka, Y. R., Iwai, H., Yamanaka, A., Ohno, S., Kaneko, T., Goto, T., & Hioki, H. (2017). Individual mediodorsal thalamic neurons project to multiple areas of the rat prefrontal cortex: A single neuron-tracing study using virus vectors. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *525*(1), 166–185. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne .24054
- Lehmann, M. L., & Herkenham, M. (2011). Environmental enrichment confers stress resiliency to social defeat through an infralimbic cortexdependent neuroanatomical pathway. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(16), 6159–6173. https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0577-11.2011
- Liljeholm, M., Tricomi, E., O'Doherty, J. P., & Balleine, B. W. (2011). Neural correlates of instrumental contingency learning: Differential effects of action-reward conjunction and

disjunction. Journal of Neuroscience, 31(7), 2474–2480. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3354-10.2011

- Lowry, C. A. (2002). Functional subsets of serotonergic neurones: Implications for control of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 14(11), 911–923. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2826.2002.00861.x
- Ly, V., Wang, K. S., Bhanji, J., & Delgado, M. R. (2019). A reward-based framework of perceived control. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, Article 65. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00065
- Lyons, D. M., Parker, K. J., & Schatzberg, A. F. (2010). Animal models of early life stress: Implications for understanding resilience. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 52(7), 616–624. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20500
- Maier, S. F., Busch, C. R., Maswood, S., Grahn, R. E., & Watkins, L. R. (1995). The dorsal raphe nucleus is a site of action mediating the behavioral effects of the benzodiazepine receptor inverse agonist DMCM. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 109(4), 759–766. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0735-7044.109.4.759
- Maier, S. F., Grahn, R. E., & Watkins, L. R. (1995). 8-OH-DPAT microinjected in the region of the dorsal raphe nucleus blocks and reverses the enhancement of fear conditioning and interference with escape produced by exposure to inescapable shock. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *109*(3), 404–412. https://doi.org/10.1037//0735-7044.109.3.404
- Maier, S. F., Kalman, B. A., & Grahn, R. E. (1994). Chlordiazepoxide microinjected into the region of the dorsal raphe nucleus eliminates the interference with escape responding produced by inescapable shock whether administered before inescapable shock or escape testing. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 108(1), 121–130. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0735-7044.108.1.121
- Maier, S. F., Ryan, S. M., Barksdale, C. M., & Kalin, N. H. (1986). Stressor controllability and the pituitary-adrenal system. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 100(5), 669–674. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0735-7044.100.5.669
- Maier, S. F., & Seligman, M. E. P. (1976). Learned helplessness: Theory and evidence. *Journal of*

Experimental Psychology: General, *105*(1), 3–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.105.1.3

- Maier, S. F., & Seligman, M. E. (2016). Learned helplessness at fifty: Insights from neuroscience. *Psychological Review*, 123(4), 349–367. https:// doi.org/10.1037/rev0000033
- Maier, S. F., Seligman, M. E. P., & Solomon, R. L. (1969). Pavlovian fear conditioning and learned helplessness: Effects on escape and avoidance behavior of (a) the CS-US contingency, and (b) the independence of the US and voluntary responding. In B. A. Campbell & R. M. Church (Eds.), *Punishment and aversive behavior* (pp. 299–342). Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Maier, S. F., & Watkins, L. R. (1998). Stressor controllability, anxiety, and serotonin. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 22(6), 595–613. https:// doi.org/10.1023/A:1018794104325
- Maswood, S., Barter, J. E., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (1998). Exposure to inescapable but not escapable shock increases extracellular levels of 5-HT in the dorsal raphe nucleus of the rat. *Brain Research*, 783(1), 115–120. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0006-8993(97)01313-9
- McDevitt, R. A., Szot, P., Baratta, M. V., Bland, S. T., White, S. S., Maier, S. F., & Neumaier, J. F. (2009). Stress-induced activity in the locus coeruleus is not sensitive to stressor controllability. *Brain Research*, *1285*, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2009.06.017
- McRae, K., & Gross, J. J. (2020). Emotion regulation. *Emotion*, 20(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/emo0000703
- Milad, M. R., & Quirk, G. J. (2002). Neurons in medial prefrontal cortex signal memory for fear extinction. *Nature*, 420, 70–74. https://doi.org/10 .1038/nature01138
- Minor, T. R., Dess, N. K., & Overmier, J. (1991). Inverting the traditional view of "learned helplessness. In M. R. Denny (Ed.), *Fear, avoidance, and phobias: A fundamental analysis* (pp. 87–133). Lawrence-Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Nestler, E. J., & Waxman, S. G. (2020). Resilience to stress and resilience to pain: Lessons from molecular neurobiology and genetics. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 26(10), 924–935. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.molmed.2020.03.007

Quirk, G. J., Paré, D., Richardson, R., Herry, C., Monfils, M. H., Schiller, D., & Vicentic, A. (2010). Erasing fear memories with extinction training. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(45), 14993–14997. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4268-10.2010

151

- Ray, R. D., & Zald, D. H. (2012). Anatomical insights into the interaction of emotion and cognition in the prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(1), 479–501. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.08.005
- Ressler, R. L., & Maren, S. (2019). Synaptic encoding of fear memories in the amygdala. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 54, 54–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2018.08.012
- Rogan, M. T., Leon, K. S., Perez, D. L., & Kandel, E. R. (2005). Distinct neural signatures for safety and danger in the amygdala and striatum of the mouse. *Neuron*, 46(2), 309–320. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.02.017
- Rozeske, R. R., Evans, A. K., Frank, M. G., Watkins, L. R., Lowry, C. A., & Maier, S. F. (2011). Uncontrollable, but not controllable, stress desensitizes 5-HT1A receptors in the dorsal raphe nucleus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(2), 14107–14115. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3095-11.2011
- Sawchenko, P. E., Swanson, L. W., Steinbusch, H. W., & Verhofstad, A. A. (1983). The distribution and cells of origin of serotonergic inputs to the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the rat. *Brain Research*, 277(2), 355–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(83) 90945-9
- Schoenberg, H. L., Sola, E. X., Seyller, E., Kelberman, M., & Toufexis, D. J. (2019). Female rats express habitual behavior earlier in operant training than males. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *133*(1), 110–120. https://doi.org/10 .1037/bne0000282
- Seligman, M. E., & Maier, S. F. (1967). Failure to escape traumatic shock. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 74(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1037/ h0024514
- Strong, P. V., Christianson, J. P., Loughridge, A. B., Amat, J., Maier, S. F., Fleshner, M., & Greenwood, B. N. (2011). 5-hydroxytryptamine

2C receptors in the dorsal striatum mediate stress-induced interference with negatively reinforced instrumental escape behavior. *Neuroscience*, *197*, 132–144. https://doi.org/j .neuroscience.2011.09.041

- Tanner, M. K., Fallon, I. P., Baratta, M. V., & Greenwood, B. N. (2019). Voluntary exercise enables stress resistance in females. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 369, Article 111923. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.bbr.2019.111923
- Targum, S. D., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2019). The effect of early life stress on adult psychiatric disorders. *Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience*, 16(1–2), 35–37.
- Thompson, R. S., Christianson, J. P., Maslanik, T. M., Maier, S. F., Greenwood, B. N., & Fleshner, M. (2013). Effects of stressor controllability on diurnal physiological rhythms. *Physiology & Behavior*, 112–113, 32–39. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.02.009
- Troy, A. S., Wilhelm, F. H., Shallcross, A. J., & Mauss, I. B. (2010). Seeing the silver lining: Cognitive reappraisal ability moderates the relationship between stress and depressive symptoms. *Emotion*, 10(6), 783–795. https://doi .org/10.1037/a0020262
- Uribe-Mariño, A., Gassen, N. C., Wiesbeck, M. F., Balsevich, G., Santarelli, S., Solfrank, B., Dournes, C., Fries, G. R., Masana, M., Labermeier, C., Wang, X. D., Hafner, K., Schmid, B., Rein, T., Chen, A., Deussing, J. M., & Schmidt, M. V. (2016). Prefrontal cortex corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 1 conveys acute stress-induced executive dysfunction. *Biological Psychiatry*, *80*(10), 743–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016 .03.2106
- Urry, H. L., van Reekum, C. M., Johnstone, T., Kalin, N. H., Thurow, M. E., Schaefer, H. S., Jackson, C. A., Frye, C. J., Greischar, L. L., Alexander, A. L., & Davidson, R. J. (2006). Amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex are inversely coupled during regulation of negative affect and predict the diurnal pattern of cortisol secretion among older adults. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(16), 4415–4425. https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3215-05.2006

- Valentino, R. J., Bangasser, D., & Van Bockstaele, E. J. (2013). Sex-biased stress signaling: The corticotropin-releasing factor receptor as a model. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 83(4), 737–745. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.112 .083550
- Vertes, R. P. (2004). Differential projections of the infralimbic and prelimbic cortex in the rat. *Synapse*, 51(11), 32–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/ syn.10279
- Vialou, V., Bagot, R. C., Cahill, M. E., Ferguson, D., Robison, A. J., Dietz, D. M., Fallon, B., Mazei-Robison, M., Ku, S. M., Harrigan, E., Winstanley, C. A., Joshi, T., Feng, J., Berton, O., & Nestler, E. J. (2014). Prefrontal cortical circuit for depression- and anxiety-related behaviors mediated by cholecystokinin: Role of ΔFosB. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(11), 3878–3887. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1787-13.2014
- Wang, K. S., & Delgado, M. R. (2019). Corticostriatal circuits encode the subjective value of perceived control. *Cerebral Cortex*, 29(12), 5049–5060. https://doi.org/10.1093/ cercor/bhz045
- Weiss, J. M. (1968). Effects of coping responses on stress. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 65(1), 251–260. https://doi.org/10 .1037/h0025562
- Weiss, J. M. (1971). Effects of coping behavior with and without a feedback signal on stress pathology in rats. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 77(1), 22–30. https:// doi.org/10.1037/h0031581
- White, J., Pearce, J., Morrison, S., Dunstan, F., Bisson, J. I., & Fone, D. L. (2015). Risk of post-traumatic stress disorder following traumatic events in a community sample. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 24(3), 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S2045796014000110
- Williams, J. L., & Maier, S. F. (1977). Transituational immunization and therapy of learned helplessness in the rat. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Behavior Processes*, 3(3), 240–252. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0097-7403.3.3.240

- Woodmansee, W. W., Silbert, L. H., & Maier, S. F. (1993). Factors that modulate inescapable shock-induced reductions in daily activity in the rat. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 45(3), 553–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(93)90505-n
- Zeeni, N., Bassil, M., Fromentin, G., Chaumontet, C., Darcel, N., Tome, D., Daher, C. F. (2015). Environmental enrichment and cafeteria diet attenuate the response to chronic variable stress in rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, *139*, 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.11.003

Part II Methods for Studying the Development of Coping

6 Capturing Coping

Innovative Designs and Considerations for Studying the Topography of Adolescents' Coping

Kathryn L. Modecki, Megan Duvenage, Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck, Samantha Robins, and Bep Uink

Introduction

Many theories of stress and coping describe a complex unfolding of dynamics that are socially embedded and occur at multiple levels (Carver & Vargas, 2011; Lazarus, 2000; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Modecki et al., 2019: Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). As a result, researchers have turned to intensive longitudinal designs (ILDs) to study individuals' experience of coping as it unfolds. Intensive longitudinal designs involve repeated measurement of the same individuals over short periods of time (e.g., multiple times within the day or across the week). This includes techniques such as experience sampling methodology (ESM; Csikszentmihalyi et al., 1977), sometimes also referred to as ecological momentary assessment (EMA; Shiffman et al., 2008), or the more general term ambulatory assessment (Trull & Ebner-Priemer. 2013).

These methodologies involve using structured techniques to study individuals' realworld experiences by repeatedly measuring mood, context, appraisals, responses, or behaviors that occur "in the moment." Intensive longitudinal designs have been discussed in the psychological literature for many decades (e.g., Cattell, 1957; Diener & Larsen, 1984). More recently, with the advent of smartphones and wearables, the advantages and possibilities of these techniques have genrenewed scientific erated enthusiasm (Carpenter et al., 2016; Lane et al., 2019),

particularly in relation to studying dynamic processes among children and adolescents, who themselves are ready consumers of smartphones and new technologies (Larson, 2019; Modecki et al., 2019; Odgers, 2019). For studying development, ILDs can be especially informative when they are coupled with collection of data from these same participants over a more protracted period (e.g., a year) and/or before and after a key developmental transition, thus providing both a longer-term and more micro lens on longitudinal change (Borghuis et al., 2020; Kuppens et al., 2012).

Intensive longitudinal designs are frequently touted as able to address some of the major complexities of stress and coping processes as they occur in daily life (e.g., Conner & Mehl, 2015; Fahrenberg et al., 2007; Stone & Shiffman, 1992). However, just as no single tool in a toolbelt is suited to tackle every project, we highlight that no single approach, including (and perhaps especially) ILDs, are appropriate for every research question. This remains true when the researcher is studying coping. Even though coping is described as a dynamic process, and ILDs are well-suited for capturing key dynamics of coping (e.g., Duvenage et al., 2019), depending on the major theoretical focus and question of interest, ILDs may not be well-suited to address focal concerns. Moreover, conducting ILD research is not for the faint of heart, especially when it comes to collecting reliable and valid data from adolescents (Larson, 2019; Odgers, 2019). Indeed, challenges exist around designing, implementing, and analyzing data collected using ILDs. Thus, our aim in this chapter is to introduce how the use of ILDs may enhance research on stress and coping, focusing mostly on adolescents, while also raising some challenges and briefly glossing resources and considerations for how to address them.

Coping and development are complex scholarly arenas, having posed empirical challenges to scientists for many decades (Aldwin, 2009; Garmezy & Rutter, 1983; Sandler et al., 1997; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck. 2016). Consequently, in this chapter we address five topics related to these arenas that may be of interest to scholars considering the use of ILDs. First, we define coping, briefly introduce theory that outlines the coping process, and describe more typical ways of measuring coping. Second, we discuss how ILDs can be used to move toward the study of coping as a microprocess (Meter & Ehrenreich, 2022; Modecki et al., 2019). Third, we draw from research across several of our labs to give an example of how to leverage smartphones to measure stress experiences and coping within real-life contexts. Fourth, we describe several challenges and barriers to using ILDs to study coping, including the types of coping questions ILDs are currently less well-suited to address. We also point to key considerations and published resources for making better use of ILDs in developmental coping research. Finally, we discuss future directions for coping research agenda informed by developmental science and the ways that ILD methods might contribute.

Defining Coping (as a Process)

Measuring and studying the process of coping can be challenging. For example, the transactional model of stress and coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, 1987), which has informed coping research for almost three decades, proposed that:

Studying coping as a process requires that ... one must make observations describing coping thoughts and acts that actually have taken place or are occurring, in contradistinction to thoughts and actions the person usually engages in. The latter implies a trait since the word "usually" signifies an effort to transcend specific situational contexts in the search for what is stable. The second condition is that observations must be made in a particular context. Coping as a process can be studied only if we have an opportunity to compare what happened at one moment, or in one context, with another, (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987, p. 143)

Critical to this definition of coping is seeing that it is a process, rather than a single event. Thus, the measurement of difference or change from one's typical cognitive and behavioral state takes center stage and capturing information within and across contexts (or events) is especially important for studying the coping processes. Likewise, Skinner (1999) referred to coping as a process that requires coordination of emotions (as it is often the primary focus in studies of stress and coping). However, the authors also describe coping as involving coordination of physiology, attention, behavior, motivation, and cognition. This identifies coping as an organizational construct that involves both action tendencies (immediate, and sometimes involuntary, responses to stressful events) and the regulation of action (intentional and volitional actions to respond to stressful events). Though both theories describe coping as a process, they vary in their emphasis on change (versus, for example involuntary responses or attention). Hence, depending on the scholarly framework, certain types of ILDs (for example ESM versus passive sensing using wearables) may be more or less appropriate for the research questions at hand.

Across these theories, viewing coping as a process does have implications for its measurement. Foremost among these implications is the advice offered by Stone and Shiffman (1992) almost three decades ago. They advised scholars to examine episodes of coping as their unit of analysis rather than sampling across continuous windows of time. These "coping episodes" are expected to have unique topographies related to the coping response's characteristics, duration, and intensity. Stone and Shiffman further argued that methodological design is important; to capture these topographies, methods need to match the specific features of hypothesized coping episodes. This conceptualization of coping episodes maps neatly onto the transactional model of stress and coping, whereby coping efforts are expected to be accessible as distinct episodes rather than an ongoing unconscious stream of responses and actions. The notion of coping episodes also provides scholars with the idea there is a set bracket of time when a coping response unfolds following a stressful event. When these stressful events occur in childhood and adolescence, in particular, coping can become part of development.

It is important to underscore that the term "process" also has a specific meaning within developmental science. Bronfenbrenner and Morris (2006) referred to processes as the frequent transactions between an individual and their context and posited that these frequent transactions (i.e., proximal processes) are the roots of human development. In a version of this bioecological framework applied to ethnic minority children, Coll and colleagues (1996) reiterated the importance of transactions between ethnic minority children and their contexts in informing development, especially distal contexts including schools, neighborhoods, and healthcare systems that support racial segregation and socialization. Both definitions (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006;

Coll et al., 1996) of process add to the standard English definition, a series of steps required to complete a task and on reciprocal interactions between an individual and their context. Additionally, bioecological theory highlights that the processes (or transactions) that produce developmental outcomes shift and stabilize across phases of human development (i.e., from infancy to childhood, to adolescence, and beyond). These shifts and stabilizations form the crux of developmental science investigations via examining "the dynamic interplay of processes across time frames, levels of analysis, and contexts" (Bronfenbrenner & Evans, 2000, p. 115). A "developmentally friendly" (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007) conceptualization of coping suggests that, beyond the personenvironment transactions within a specific coping episode, adolescent coping follows a prolonged developmental process, formally changing and stabilizing across this period (i.e., 12-18 years). Here, a developmental explanation of coping arguably involves examinations of in-the-moment transactions and examinations of coping processes across sensitive periods of development. To understand this later, longer-term process, some of the most used tools historically are coping checklists.

The Use of Coping Checklists

Those interested in capturing ways of coping using surveys have traditionally relied upon self-report checklists, whereby individuals endorse various strategies from a provided list, indicating if they have used each strategy or how much they have engaged in any given coping strategy (e.g., Halstead et al., 1993). Researchers then amalgamate checklist scores to form measures of typical coping responses. This general approach to measuring coping has provided insight into how people generally cope (Bettis et al., 2021). In addition, this research has two other strengths. First, coping behaviors are often measured as stressor-, situation-, time-, and (sometimes) age-specific (Duvenage et al., 2019). Thus, we can identify how typical ways of coping might be linked to context or develop over longer spans of time. Second, this research has detected betweenperson differences in their typical ways of coping that have been found to account for significant variance in well-being outcomes (e.g., Compas et al., 2017; Davis & Humphrey, 2012).

For scholars interested in a wide range of possible types of coping or the matching of particular stressors to types of coping, checklists remain an important tool, though admittedly with limitations. There are several possibilities for addressing these drawbacks. First, number of dimensions or types of coping are not widely agreed upon, with scholars measuring anywhere from two to three categories up to more than a hundred (Skinner et al., 2003). Indeed, there have been multiple reports of poor or difficult-to-replicate factor structures for coping checklists. Sometimes this is due to the inclusion of inapplicable items for specific stressors or because of low covariation between coping items that ask about responses that can be used in place of others. Some strategies for dealing with this challenge include the use of confirmatory factor analyses that are based on clearly delineated strategies and items that are unambiguous (e.g., Skinner et al., 2003). Another potential option is to make use of item response theory (IRT) and related approaches for distilling down the key aspects of coping (see Hardouin et al., 2011 for an applied stepby-step example specific to coping). IRT methods are psychometric tools that are particularly helpful for checklist approaches (e.g., Revicki et al., 2009). Illustratively, IRTs describe the relation between where a person falls on the continuum of a construct (e.g.,

"active coping") and the probability that they will give a specific response to a scale item that has been conceived to measure the construct (McHornev & Cohen, 2000). Particularly relevant when it comes to measuring coping, IRT measures tend to be especially helpful for analyzing growth and clinical change (Reise et al., 2005). A third possibility to consider is the application of person-centered approaches such as cluster or latent profile designs to the study of coping, so that the focus is on identifying distinct groupings of people who report similar patterns of coping (e.g., Masters et al., 2022; Witkiewitz et al., 2018). Given the complex interplay that is often theorized between stressor, coping approach, and individual risk and protective factors (e.g., Stroebe et al., 2006), person-centered designs can be wellplaced to capitalize on this complexity. In sum, any of these three possibilities can be helpful when the goal is examination of the breadth of potential coping approaches or the "matching" stressors and coping and are wellplaced for use across traditional longitudinal designs (e.g., via a more extensive survey battery). However, to investigate shorter-term longitudinal processes, ILDs are especially promising.

Intensive Longitudinal Designs to Capture the Stress and Coping Process In Vivo

Falling in a general class of interrupted time series designs (Walls et al., 2011), ILDs involve many closely spaced measurements, often involving at least 20 occasions (Collins, 2006). Because measurement occasions can be spaced to provide a detailed picture of change in the construct being observed (e.g., emotion or perceived stress), many innovations in the study of stress and coping involve ILDs (Shiffman et al., 2008; Stone et al., 1998). Intensive longitudinal designs include a range



Figure 6.1 Visual illustration of the coping microprocess. The coping episode would begin at the stressor and end at stressor resolution.

Note: An individual is in constant interaction with their environment at each step of the microprocess.

of study designs equipped for the repeated assessment of constructs across micro-time periods (e.g., minutes, days, or weeks) (Meter & Ehrenreich, 2022). To date, most common has been the use of daily diaries and ESM studies that ask individuals to self-report on features of their social situation (context), thoughts, emotions, and behaviors as they go about daily life (Duvenage et al., 2019), although passive sensing technologies (e.g., tracking movements through GPS, physiological information, or capturing typed content on devices), whether combined with ILDs or on their own, are rapidly emerging (e.g., Byrne et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2014; Zuleta et al., 2018). When used to study stress and coping among adolescents, ILDs often ask about stressors, appraisals of stress, emotions, and coping responses (e.g., Aldridge-Gerry et al., 2011; Mori et al., 2015). Some studies narrow down to ask about specific types of interpersonal conflicts (Mushquash & Sherry, 2013) or, for instance, coping with racially and

nonracially stressful events (Hoggard et al., 2012), whereas others focus on additional aspects of the coping process such as attributional style (Roesch et al., 2009). For an informative discussion on the varied ways that scholars have sought to assess this process, Duvenage et al. (2019) provide a comprehensive synthesis of the ILDs used to study adolescents' coping.

Indeed, there are multiple advantages of ILDs described in reviews (e.g., Gabriel et al., 2019; Myin-Germeys et al., 2018; van Roekel et al., 2019). For example, one advantage of using ILDs is their potential for producing records of stressful experiences and coping that are timed to coincide with those stressful events as closely as possible. This has been shown to improve validity by reducing the need for retrospective recall, which can be discrepant from reports about current status, and is often inaccurate (Stone et al., 1998). A second advantage is the ability to provide data fluctuations. These on dynamic

techniques can capture within-person variability and prediction of rapid change such as return to baseline or recovery. Overall, however, perhaps the most useful feature of ILDs for capturing coping is to capitalize on their promise for studying microprocesses. By microprocess, we refer to the transactions between a person and their environment, which take place across seconds, minutes, or days, and in the context of daily life. Figure 6.1 provides a visual representation of this coping microprocess. As an illustrative example, we outline how the transactional model of stress and coping provides multiple entry points for the researcher wishing to operationalize and measure the coping microprocess through ILDs.

We highlight here that we would not necessarily expect scholars to assess all of these "steps" nor the wide array of potential moderators or environmental contexts that might impact the coping process. In fact, often researchers seek to measure "too much" when first endeavoring to capture experiences via ESM and diaries (see Larson, 2019 and Modecki et al., 2019 for discussions). Rather, those interested in stress, coping, and related topics will have a specific question of interest (timing of coping and recovery, the role of contexts in stress and coping, etc.) and, based on this interest, ILDs should be designed to best address these specific questions. As an illustrative example of how scholars have fruitfully narrowed their lens to best make use of ILDs to assess the coping process, scholars sometimes address coping with specific stressors – for instance, diabetes (Tracy et al., 2021) or pain (Burns et al., 2015), so that ways of coping, key predictors, moderators or outcomes, and timing of measurement all coincide with only specific phenomena of interest.

More broadly, the transactional model of stress and coping identifies how individuals' initial appraisal of a stressor will relate to their ways of coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; starting after the stressor in the middle of Figure 6.1). Individuals can appraise stressors as controllable versus uncontrollable, expected versus unexpected, and assess their efficacy to cope with the specific stressor (Pillow et al., 1996). Ouestionnaires used within ILDs can include items tapping cognitive appraisals of recent stressors (e.g., Hoggard et al., 2012). Coupled with items asking about context, researchers can answer questions regarding the interaction of context with cognitive appraisal (e.g., are adolescents more likely to appraise a stressor as manageable if they are with supportive peers versus alone?). Further, as part of the appraisal process, individuals look to their environment to assess the amount and quality of resources available for their coping response (Compas et al., 2017). Here, ILD surveys might be used to create a "stocktake" of the coping resources available in the environment and how this affects their subsequent coping actions.

In ways similar to stress appraisals, data collected via ILDs might address how coping behaviors are tied to appraisals or stressor types (Lin et al., 2004). In line with the transactional model (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), ways of coping may be dictated by both stressor appraisal and environmental appraisal (as well as other personality factors) (Fanshawe & Burnett, 1991). Using near-continuous sampling through ILDs, researchers might then trace change or stasis in coping actions across contexts. Additionally, coping scholars have theorized that healthy and effective coping involves switching between coping behaviors to fit the context (i.e., coping flexibility) rather than sticking to a set of "adaptive" coping behaviors (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Data collected on coping behaviors across individuals' daily lives (for instance, via open-ended assessments or end-of-day brief checklists) might measure how people

move between coping behaviors across contexts, which could serve as a helpful operationalization of coping flexibility. The transactional model also highlights how individuals can reappraise the severity of a stressor once coping actions are initiated. Intensive longitudinal designs can capture these postaction appraisals (i.e., was the stressor as manageable as you initially thought? Was the correct strategy selected or did you need to update your strategy?), which could potentially provide valuable insight into the coping microprocess.

Shown to the right in Figure 6.1, and often of most interest to researchers and clinicians, is the question of whether coping behaviors are adaptive, constructive, or effective in either resolving the stressor, the distress, or both. Intensive longitudinal designs can capture data on appraisals of whether a coping response was helpful. Importantly, too, the benefits of ILDs mean we can move to objective assessments of whether coping was beneficial - ILDs open up the possibilities for considering objective signs of coping success in the data, including emotional variability, bouncing back from stressful events, or participation in healthy versus maladaptive behaviors after a coping episode (Park et al., 2004; Stone et al., 2019).

Finally, there are two other important pieces of the model shown in Figure 6.1. First, as shown on the left of Figure 6.1, ILDs can also capture contextual conditions. These may be considered especially important. leading researchers to deploy repeated assessment of adolescents' physical and social environment throughout the day, which can provide insight into environmental correlates to stressful events and insight into how these antecedents inform adolescents' coping responses (Lyons et al., 2016). Second, shown at the top of Figure 6.1 are the influences of person-level resources and vulnerabilities and (more general) environmental conditions that can impact on the entire

stress and coping process. For example, the environment can either be resource-rich, offering a helpful platform for them to formulate an effective coping response, or resourcedepleted. Hence, designs might consider how certain resources differentiate different responses to stressful events or test who is more emotionally reactive to a certain type of stressor by focusing on between-person differences in personal resources or vulnerabilities (e.g., Modecki et al., 2017).

Illustratively, several of the authors of this chapter have conducted in-depth ILD research with adolescents within very specific environments, related to lower socioeconomic status (SES) contexts (Modecki & Uink, 2018). Here, our model was that lack of physical resources in the environment might make coping via online sources particularly beneficial for youth well-being in these settings (Duvenage et al., 2020; Modecki et al., 2022). As a result, our work has tapped adolescents' positive and negative emotions across the day along with their social contexts, exposure to daily stressors, and online coping behaviors (Uink et al., 2018). tracking adolescents' 2017. By responses five times daily, while going to significant lengths to ensure high-quality data with good compliance (Uink, 2020), we were able to gauge the way stress and coping impact emotional dynamics - that is, how adolescents living in lower SES settings bounce back from stress, their time to recovery, and the distance between their highest and lowest emotion scores. From this research, we were able to determine the levels of online coping that were associated with more positive emotional responding among adolescents (Modecki et al., 2022) and identify that the intensity of emotional responses to stressors differs across adolescents' social contexts (i.e., less intense emotional response when youth are with peers after a stressor versus being alone; Uink et al., 2017). We have previously coded the impact of identified stressors via emotional "return to baseline" – in this case the number of sampling moments youth experienced before returning to or above their average momentary emotion (Modecki & Uink, 2018). Similarly, survival analysis (e.g., time until event) related to the next emotional "uplift" of a specific magnitude, or a specific type of focal coping behavior, would be other useful ways to tap the specific outcomes and the timing of these outcomes of stress and coping processes. More generally, these approaches, which overlay a further element of time to repeated measures data, are appealing approaches to making optimum use of ILDs (Modecki et al., 2019).

In summary, coping researchers can utilize ILDs to provide new insights into coping, and ILDs can be designed to fit within one's chosen scholarly framework. Depending on study aims, ILDs can be used to tap novel scientific questions associated with coping processing, dynamics of emotions and behaviors pre- and poststressor, and fluctuating social and environmental contexts. What is more, an accumulation of these coping-related experiences over time might be expected to result in person-level developmental change. That is, through these momentary or daily events and responses, individuals might increase their likelihood for developmental risk for subsequent internalizing problems (e.g., Kuppens et al., 2012), or might enhance the likelihood of a successful developmental transition at a later point in time. Thus, it could be fruitful to link ILD data to person-level measures months or years pre or post to identify how stress and coping experiences are important to the eventual development of the person.

The Implementation of ILDs in the Field

Our experience (and experiences of many other researchers, e.g., Kenny et al., 2016; Klumb

et al., 2009; Stone & Shiffman, 1992) using ILDs highlight a number of difficulties researchers can sometimes face in seeking to take advantage of their methodological potential. Indeed, more and more, the field is coming to consensus about the expectations for high-quality ESM and diary designs, so that scholars should be prepared to meet these challenges with data that meets a reasonable standard. At minimum, these standards include designs for adequate power to assess within-person effects, low participant burden and good compensation to ensure adequate response validity, and expectations of acceptable levels of missing data, with at least 70% or more compliance (Eisele et al., 2022; Heron et al., 2017; van Roekel et al., 2019). In particular, while missing data is an issue for ILD studies generally, when it comes to studying coping, high missingness is a major hurdle, given that missing data tends to be related to both the recent experience of stress and to psychopathology symptoms (Duvenage et al., 2019).

Given that good compliance and validity of responses are perhaps the most critical elements for high-quality youth coping studies using ESM and diaries, we have been interested in preferred approaches. In particular, nearly all adolescents and many children have access to smartphones, allowing researchers to leverage these tools, enhancing the likelihood of reasonable compliance (Larson, 2019; Odgers, 2019). For youth coping research, apps or text-based approaches are most often employed (Duvenage et al., 2019), though several labs have also made successful use of phone calls (Dillman Carpentier et al., 2008; Stone et al., 2019). Here, depending on one's theoretical framework (e.g., Skinner, 1999; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016), phone calls may be most useful for tapping details of youths' stressors and/or the range of potential coping responses youth have engaged in (e.g., checklists). While adolescents generally tend to prefer contact via texts rather than phone calls (Duvenage et al., 2020), disclosure of specific details related to stressors might be curtailed due to the effort needed to type online responses and the lack of real-time reinforcement for that effort (Modecki et al., 2019). At the same time, phone calls might present problems also since there might be discomfort with relaying details of stressors (and associated coping responses) to a relatively unknown research associate via phone conversations.

Before launching a large-scale diary project with adolescents, we opted to test this question empirically. In a pilot study, we sampled 50 late adolescents (18+) across 1 week via a research design that included phone calls, text messages (with a survey embedded), and a "mixed" condition where participants received texts and phone calls. Young people completed short surveys related to their stressors and coping at the end of each day. One cohort completed their surveys via text message (a link to a survey was embedded in the message); one cohort received only phone calls; and one cohort (described here as "mixed") received calls and texts on alternating days. Given the impact of missing data on study inferences and reliability, we were particularly attuned to the role of study design in data missingness (Enders, 2010; Modecki & Mazza, 2017). We were also interested in participants' opinions about each method and the comfort young people felt in disclosing.

Examining rates of missing data (defined as a participant skipping a survey), texts were clearly optimal. Texts provided an 81% response rate, versus a 47% response rate for phone calls. For calls, the research team made up to three attempts to phone participants each night (6 pm, 7 pm, 8 pm), and roughly 20% responded after the first contact, 18% after the second contact (1 hour later), and only 4% after the third contact. Hence, response rates were not only markedly lower for calls, but required a commitment to making at least two phone call attempts to participants for each associated diary entry in order to capture even 50% of targeted participants.

Although texting was clearly optimal for compliance, we also thought that phone calls might reveal more nuance or "texture" related to young peoples' stressors. For the pilot, we queried young people about stressors specific to peers and academics, two common domains of adolescent stress (Jaser et al., 2007). Hence, we examined responses more closely, to address whether more fine-grained details emerged when young people were contacted by phone calls versus texts. Somewhat surprisingly, texts again appeared optimal relative to phone calls. Participants provided good-quality and very descriptive information about stress via text messaging. For example, one participant revealed the following about peer-based stressors: "X [was] talking about suicide again, when I am now trying to move and focus on me and supporting myself, I feel guilty, but then I need to know I deserve better than this after such a long 11 months of his depression." In comparison, phone call surveys revealed more rudimentary stressors and lacked the richness of text message responses. For example, one of the most detailed phone call responses included: "I have some residual hurt from a recent break-up. And I just had my birthday on the weekend, so it was hard to get through." In this case, while describing overall hurt, the young person in this example did not provide some of the finer details we might have expected when responding via phone call.

We were also interested in participants' preferences for data collection method. Here, among our mixed group, only 3% of participants indicated a preference for phone calls, as Did you prefer receiving the evening survey by text, phone call, or either?



Figure 6.2 Young people's self-reported preferences for phone calls versus texts.





Figure 6.3 Young people's self-reported comfort in sharing daily personal experiences.

opposed to 79% that indicated a preference for text; others had no preference (see Figure 6.2). That said, there was still high acceptability of both phone calls and text messages. Overall, young people reported that they felt extremely comfortable sharing their experiences across the study, with "very much" (M = 3.90; SD = 1.19; 1 = not at all; 5 = very much) being the most common response (Figure 6.3). Young people also enjoyed their participation, with a mode and median of 4.00 (M = 3.51; SD = 0.83; 1 = not at all; 5 = very much (see





Figure 6.4 Young people's self-reported enjoyment of the diary data collection process.

Figure 6.4). Overall, then, our findings widely favored text-based diary approaches over phone calls, with compliance, richness of responses, and participant preferences each pointing to texts (or apps) as preferable. Yet, other research has found that phone calls function well for families with children with psychopathology disorders (e.g., Silk et al., 2011; Stone et al., 2019) and are not described by participants as either uncomfortable or unenjoyable. As a result, when implementing ILDs, piloting remains crucial, and design decisions will depend on preferences and constraints of one's sample and paradigm.

Studying Coping with ILDs: Timing, Measurement, Data, and New Possibilities

We have highlighted elsewhere the critical importance of piloting ILDs with young people (Duvenage et al., 2019; Modecki et al., 2019). Our reasons for stressing the importance of piloting go beyond methodological options and challenges with compliance. Piloting also affords opportunities for making decisions about the timing of surveys and validating given coping

operationalizations. We next consider these issues in more detail. Following this, we briefly gloss practicalities of data analyses that should be considered before the decision is made to embark on an ILD study. Finally, we touch on new potentials for studying coping via ILDs, including passive sensing and wearables, which could be implemented on their own or could be implemented as a supplement to more traditional forms of data collected in ILDs. We note here that although a full description of the many potential challenges associated with conducting ILDs and the ways scholars have sometimes sought to address these is beyond the scope of this chapter, we refer the reader to useful published summaries (e.g., Gabriel et al., 2019; Russell & Gajos, 2020; van Roekel et al., 2019) for more information about the challenges not covered here, such as commitment, compliance, and cost.

Timing of Measurement

A major challenge to the optimal implementation of ILDs relates to the issue of timing of measurements. Stone and Shiffman (1992) sagely highlighted the essential trade-off related to the size of researchers' measurement filter when using ILDs and the collected quality of data. Querying participants too often can lead to reduced compliance and participant dropout, but querying participants too infrequently can mean that some of the benefits of ILDs (i.e., reduced recall bias, tapping the coping process as it unfolds) are lost. Ideally, timing of measures emerges from the theorized coping process researchers are seeking to investigate. Depending on one's theory, and the type of stressor and ways of coping under examination, the researcher will then need to optimize their study design to tap related coping features - across months, weeks, days, hours, or minutes.

It is not entirely clear what the "best" time frame is for studying stress and coping, as illustrated by the seemingly arbitrary time frames for measuring coping that can be found across ILD studies. For example, in a recent review of the ILD adolescent coping literature, we found that the time between repeated measurements varied widely across studies, ranging from measuring coping 10 times a day (e.g., Bentall et al., 2011) to once a day (e.g., Massey et al., 2009). Part of the reason for this large variability in time frames is that the process illustrated in Figure 6.1 could arguably take place over minutes or hours or days, and estimates would likely vary depending on the type of stressor and coping behaviors under investigation. There are of course trade-offs for assessing stress and coping "intensely" rather than daily or weekly. That said, as ILDs gain in popularity, the field will increasingly benefit from ideal timing of common approaches to stress and coping, ensuring that filters are not too wide and capturing multiple intersecting coping episodes or too narrow and missing critical components of an adolescent's coping response.

To address concerns that crucial details may be missing due to the wrong measurement timing, there is a need for more "discovery work." In this case, coping research could leverage study designs that have assessed bestpractice for improving ILD compliance, for example, to discover the ideal time frame to sample a coping episode within a given theoretical framework. For instance. Eisele et al. (2022) randomized 163 university students into six conditions where ESM survey length and sampling frequency varied to understand the relation between ESM survey length, frequency, and compliance. Participants were assigned to 1) a short ESM survey and three sampling points ("beeps") across the day, 2) a short survey with six beeps across the day, 3) a short survey with nine beeps per day, 4) a long survey with three beeps per day, 5) a long survey with six beeps per day, or 6) a long survey with nine beeps per day. Each participant took part in a 14-day sampling period in their respective condition. Study findings suggested that longer surveys were associated with lower compliance regardless of the sampling frequency, prompting the authors to recommend that long ESM surveys (i.e., 60 items with full branching) should be abandoned in favor of shorter (30 items) surveys. Future research would benefit from leveraging this random assignment sampling time frames method to assess the ideal time frame for capturing a full coping episode within common developmental coping frameworks.

Eisele et al. (2022) examined signalcontingent designs, in which participants are asked to respond to brief surveys across predetermined times (e.g., at bedtime, Massey et al., 2009; every 90 minutes, Schneiders et al., 2006). However, this opens the possibility that relevant data are not reported. One solution is to ask adolescents to report on their stressors and associated coping efforts since they were last signaled (e.g., Uink et al., 2018). However, asking for retrospective reports of coping, albeit across a short period of recall, dampens one of the key promises of ILDs - capturing developmentally salient processes as they occur (Hollenstein et al., 2013). Another alternative is to incorporate event-contingent sampling into ILDs. Event-contingent ILDs ask adolescents to complete a survey when a specific stressor occurs. In this way, data on coping microprocesses can be captured as the response unfolds (Duvenage et al., 2019). It is not uncommon for coping studies to be designed as either event-contingent or a mix of event-contingent and signal-contingent (fixed or random times) designs, particularly when tapping problem behaviors that individuals report they use as coping mechanisms, such as drinking, drug use, self-harm, or bulimia (e.g., O'Connell et al., 2007; Wycoff et al., 2021).

Finally, another potentially useful technique for capturing coping as it unfolds, while allowing for the occasional longer surveys, is to mix multiple data collection times across the day with end-of-day or end-of week reports. As one example of using this method, Modecki et al. (2022) collected reports from adolescents about stressors and affect five times a day for 7 days and collected reports of online coping (i.e., seeking emotional support, information, or distraction online) at the end of each day. Adolescents were identified who indicated that they had 1) engaged in any form of online coping and 2) had reported a stressful event at any point during the day. Using the rationale that adolescents deployed their online coping behaviors to respond to that day's stressor, coping responses reported at the end of the day were tied to stressors reported multiple times across the day. Analysis assessed whether online coping behaviors reduced emotional reactivity to stressors within a 3-hour window. Findings pointed to curvilinear relations between adolescents' online coping and emotional reactivity, where moderate levels of online information-seeking, emotional supportseeking, and self-distraction were associated with reduced emotional reactivity to stressors. This project nicely illustrates how researchers can leverage within-day and end-of-day reports to identify and tie together the start point (i.e., stressor), mid-point (i.e., online coping behaviors), and end-point (i.e., affective response) of an adolescent's coping arc.

How to Measure Coping in ILDs

Beyond time of measurement, a related challenge of ILD coping research is a current lack of guidance on how best to measure coping (and related constructs) at the micro-timescale. For example, Stone and Neale (1984) posited

that coping checklists deployed within an ILD framework might beneficially tap adolescents' changing coping repertoires, but they also noted that creating even a brief checklist for use within such repeated measures designs may come up short. Namely, with only two or three items endorsed at each time point, internal consistency tends to be especially low. Further, it can be challenging to construct items that are precisely focused only on one type of coping and not another (e.g., the same item can often reflect several types of coping, such as distraction or relaxation). Here, researchers are encouraged to consider their key scientific concern alongside their driving theoretical framework. Depending on the focus (e.g., focus on timing of "stress recovery" versus an emphasis on specific coping strategies and their use), different measurement approaches will be better suited for different purposes. When type of coping is of major interest, an option suggested by Stone and Neale is the use of open-ended items, whereby participants describe how they coped with stress that day, in the last few hours, or across some other timescale. That said, we have found that open-ended questions can be difficult to manage. There can be high rates of missing data and responses can vary across individuals in ways that can impact on research findings. In particular, in a study of adolescents (13-17 years), open-ended questions were problematic for response rates, particularly when using experience sampling with high-frequency repeated measures (Duvenage et al., 2019; Modecki et al. 2019). Adolescents often skipped open-ended responses across experience sampling questions, making it difficult to ascertain the meaning of missing data. Further, our methodological research identifies age effects; late adolescents were happy to provide written information on stressors and coping via open-ended responses via text message, but younger adolescents showed a

solid dislike for open-ended questions. For this reason, some have proposed offering youth-specific compensation schemes for open-ended responses separate from closed responses (van Roekel et al., 2019).

Data Considerations: Planning for Multitudes of Nested Data

Intensive longitudinal data are nested by design (times of measurement nested within individuals - and sometimes individuals are also nested within groups of some sort), which allows researchers to study relations between variables of interest at both the within- and between-persons levels (Hamaker, 2012). As a result, ILDs often result in "mountains of data" - imagine, for instance, a fairly simple ILD with 3 repeated surveys on each of 14 days for 200 adolescents, resulting in more than 8,000 data points. Scholars who are unfamiliar with nested data structures may be daunted by the task of organizing and analyzing these data. Here, we would caution against embarking on an ILD study without first gaining basic understanding of hierarchal linear models (sometimes referred to as multilevel models or mixed models; Bryk & Raudenbush, 1987), given that study design goes hand-in-hand with planned analytic approach. Further, a good understanding of the role of power and effects at both the within-person (e.g., daily responses) and between-person (e.g., adolescents) level will only enhance considerations tied to participant burden and compliance (Modecki et al., 2019). While a primer on nested models is beyond the scope of this chapter, we reference a number of keystone readings of potential benefit to the reader (Enders & Tofighi, 2007; Finch et al., 2019; Heck & Thomas, 2020; Hox et al., 2017; Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002).

One advantage of close consideration of planned analytic approaches when designing

ILDs is that without this, there can be a temptation to measure as much as possible without identifying specific research aims or questions a priori. As we continue to mention, taking full advantage of ILDs for understanding adolescent coping hinges on theory (Duvenage et al., 2019). However, it is also critical to consider expected relations at both the between-person and within-person levels (Fisher et al., 2018). One of the major challenges when it comes to coping is that high levels of coping, stress, and psychopathology tend to be intertwined. Hence relations between within-person constructs are unlikely to be similar in significance, sign, or magnitude to those observed between the same constructs at a between-person level (Gabriel et al., 2019).

In addition to more traditional hierarchal linear models, ILD data can also be leveraged for fitting personalized models, which have increasingly been advocated for within the psychopathology literature (Woods et al., 2020). These models treat the individual as the unit of analysis, studying the variability of individuals across time and contexts. Building on the excellent descriptions of personalized models in psychopathology, there are multiple reasons why considering these idiographic (i.e., N = 1) models could be useful when studying stress and coping (Wright & Woods, 2020). Within the ideographic approach, one's data are considered only relative to oneself (see Beck & Jackson, 2020). This may be especially relevant when assessing how coping relates to emotion or behavioral change, relative to one's typical state. Although ideographic models are growing in popularity in mental health research, a significant challenge is modeling a coping process that both maintains a consistent latent dynamic structure from child to child and - at the same time - also allows for idiosyncrasies at the observable individual level (Molenaar

& Nesselroade, 2012). Notwithstanding challenges, the underlying idea here is that it is intraindividual patterns (observed within the same person over time) that are potentially key to understanding and predicting psychopathology among youth. This means that between-person models may be less useful and that idiographic techniques (where the sample size is N = 1) may be important for inclusion (see Beck & Jackson, 2020 in relation to EMA data). Such idiographic methods are generally captured under two umbrellas, those meant to reduce the data to a smaller, more manageable set of dimensions and which may be more familiar to researchers (e.g., P-technique factor analysis) and those meant to capture the complexity and help comprehend unique relationship patterns over time (e.g., graphical vector autoregressive [VAR] models, association techniques) (Beck & Jackson, 2020).

A key analytic development worth noting relates to this latter VAR category of models, using a multilevel version of the VAR model (McNeish & Hamaker, 2020). By leveraging time-series-based ILDs, approaches such as dynamic multilevel modeling (MLM) allow for quantitative between-person differences while also describing variability within-person (Hamaker et al., 2018). This approach is sometimes described as a middle ground between idiographic methods and more traditional psychological methods (i.e., nomethic methods) (Conner et al., 2009; Hamaker et al., 2018). In addition to MLM of individual-specific effects, dynamic MLMs leverage time-series modeling that allows for correlations due to proximity of observations, hence taking advantage of the time-based nature of ILDs (Asparouhov et al., 2018). For excellent primers related to dynamic MLMs, including dynamic structural equation modeling, we refer the reader to a number of relevant readings (Asparouhov et al., 2018; McNeish & Hamaker, 2020; Hoffman & Walters, 2022; Ruissen et al., 2021).

Into the Future: Passive Sensing Measures and Other Indices of Coping

With the proliferation of smartphones and wearables across children's and adolescents' everyday life, researchers using ILDs are increasingly looking beyond self-report assessments of coping, stress, and related constructs to consider the new possibilities associated with using passive sensing and other mobile collections of psychological data (Duvenage et al., 2019; Odgers, 2019). These ILDs use digital platforms such as devices (e.g., smartphones) or wearables (e.g., Apple watch, Fitbits) to capture data on an individual's environment, stress responses, and unconscious behaviors (e.g., Gordon & Mendes, 2021; Wang et al., 2014). Indeed, there can be questions about whether individuals are fully aware of their coping efforts, and several theories of coping highlight the role of physiological responses to stressors that form part of adolescents' coping responses (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Although collecting physiological information to study stress responding is not new, it is now possible to repeatedly (and even continuously) measure physiological information with readily available passive sensing devices and apps made available on smartphones (e.g., Byrne et al., 2021; Zuleta et al., 2018).

As an example of using passive sensing, Wang et al. (2014) leveraged smartphone censor content related to young people's well-being and stress by collecting data on activity, sleep, and conversation for 10 weeks. Alongside university students' self-report of psychological symptoms, they found conversation frequency and duration were negatively related to depression and perceived stress. In another example, Byrne et al. (2021) collected affective text language via custom smartphone keyboards to examine links between perceived and lifetime stress, inflammation, and psychopathology. Twenty-five young adults were sampled twice across a college term during both an early time with few stressors and later during a time of high academic stress. Notably, associations between participants' use of affective language and stress were found, such that total positive words used, total negative words used, and total affective words used across the sampling period were highly correlated with lifetime stress exposure and moderately correlated with higher perceived stress and lower Creactive protein levels (indicating higher inflammation).

Finally, in a particularly impressive largescale study of over 20,000 individuals over 3 weeks (330,000+ daily responses), Gordon and Mendes (2021) measured stress, emotion, coping, and blood pressure, making use of the built-in optic sensor in smartphones to employ the MyBPLab app. Every third morning, participants responded to questions related to stress and coping resources and, every afternoon, participants responded to a different set of questions related to stress. Stress was operationalized as 1) demands and 2) a ratio of situational demands relative to individual resources to cope. Findings indicated that high demands and a ratio of high demands and low coping resources were both associated with higher blood pressure reactivity. This finding is consistent with predictions from the transactional model of stress and coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, 1987) that distress (as indicated by physiological or other measures) will be more strongly associated with the congruence between situation demand and available resources, than only the perceived stressor demand. More broadly, this large-scale study and others point to the feasibility and utility of incorporating passive sensing and appbased psychological reactivity assessments in studies of stress and coping.

Placing Coping within a Development Context

Some time ago, Skinner and Zimmer-Gembeck (2007) called for a "developmentally friendly" conceptualizations of coping, which involves "conceptualizations that provide theoretical links to other developing subsystems, guiding the investigation of how the development of components underlying coping combine to shape the emergence of new coping abilities at successive ages" (p. 121). We extend this notion and suggest that progress toward a genuinely developmental understanding of adolescent coping will benefit from not only ILDs but from the study of coping via the marrying of ILDs with extended-time repeated measures designs (i.e., those that measure coping and related constructs across critical windows of development, for example, from early to late adolescence). Both the use of ILDs and extended-time designs have implications for the types of questions that can be answered; extended-period longitudinal designs can provide researchers insights into how coping responses change across adolescence (either for individuals analyzed using person-centered approaches or across individuals, analyzed using variable-centered approaches), whereas ILDs inform researchers how coping occurs at a micro level in response to specific stressful experiences.

Extended-period longitudinal designs leverage typical ways of coping, making these designs beneficial for examining developmental change in coping over time within an individual (i.e., trajectories of change in active and internal coping; Seiffge-Krenke & Beyers, 2005). Indeed, developmentalists have long been making arguments related to studying processes at the individual level, as well as within-person associations (Molenaar & Lo, 2012: Molenaar & Nesselroade, 2012). However, to our knowledge, only a few studies have taken a within-person approach to longitudinal analysis and explored within-person youth coping trajectories (either as single latent trajectories or as multiple mixtures of different slopes, e.g., Ben-Eliyahu & Kaplan, 2015; Fisher et al., 2021; Jenzer et al., 2019). Researchers familiar with extended-time longitudinal designs might take advantage of ILDs and incorporate parallel assessment of coping microprocesses. Such "measurement burst" approaches have been taken in related fields such as emotion research. For example, Maciejewski et al. (2015) asked adolescents to complete 15 ILD studies across 3 years, with each ILD period lasting 3 weeks. Part of the design included a measure of mood via end-ofday reports. After calculating mood variability scores for each ILD period, growth curve analysis was used to determine the developtrajectory of mood mental variability. Findings suggested that happiness, sadness, and anger variability decreased across adolescence (i.e., mood stabilization effects), whereas variability in anxiety initially increased between ages 13-15, decreased from 15-17, and increased again between ages 17-18. Measurements of mood variability were part of a 5-year longitudinal study, so the data could also be tested for interindividual differences in mood variability trajectories. Here, findings suggested significant interindividual differences (variance between adolescents) in the rate at which happiness variability decreased across adolescence. Using the same approach, researchers could sample coping microprocesses as they develop across sensitive periods of development. A key question is whether coping microprocesses change across adolescence (e.g., from pre- to early to midadolescence). Changes (or stabilizations) in coping microprocesses could also be linked to individual-level (intraindividual) changes in adolescents' development. For example, it may be worth investigating intraindividual changes in psychopathology or emotion regulation capacity, both of which are shown to relate to coping.

Another pertinent question for the future is assessing the impact of intermittent versus cumulative stress or the type of patterning of daily versus major life events on adolescents' coping efforts. For example, Bolger et al. (1989) found that roughly 25% of days included more than one stressor, but the effect of stressors in multiple stressor days was less than the effect of a stressor happening on an independent day. Here, rather than experiencing an "overload" of stress, it may be the case that individuals carry a "set point" associated with one or multiple stressors within a day, which forms a ceiling on subsequent stress ratings. When considering the developmental stage of adolescence, it is worth wondering whether such a set point might decrease with maturation, alongside emotion regulation, for instance (e.g., Modecki et al., 2017). Likewise, there are many skills or resources that could be tested, for example mindfulness or decision-making, to identify those that lower the maximum daily stress experience rating.

Conclusion

Thirty years ago, Stone and Shiffman (1992) advised scholars to consider that coping episodes "have their topographies" (p. 123). This advice is still salient today as researchers increasingly take advantage of new technologies to collect intensive longitudinal data on stress, coping, emotion, and mental health with the aim of describing, testing, or explaining these microprocesses. Especially when studying adolescents, it has become increasingly common to capitalize on the widespread availability of smartphones to collect such data through active or passive (or both) techniques (Odgers, 2019). Whether scholars opt to collect data from youth via daily phone calls or texts. ESM self-report data, or in conjunction with passive sensing or physiological data such as those described here, numerous possibilities exist for mapping the terrain of stressors and coping. In other research, ILDs are also being used to extend other study designs (cross-sectional or longitudinal), which allow for the testing of hypotheses regarding features that can explain microprocesses or can more thoroughly study change and development over shorter and longer periods of time. This means that, for developmental scholars, now more than ever, design considerations must start with theory and existing definitions, acknowledging that exploring these data may also reveal where theories and previous findings need extensions and updates.

We direct the reader to Table 6.1, which refers to key points associated with this chapter. In summary, focusing on definitions of coping, we have introduced theory relevant to measuring the coping process and outlined some of the more typical approaches to coping measurement. We have also outlined how ILDs can enhance the study of coping microprocesses, followed by touching on some of the challenges associated with undertaking these studies in the field. We have further described several data considerations to weigh in conjunction with study design. We have also highlighted the utility of growing approaches using passive sensing and physiological measurement data collected via apps. Finally, we have sought to underscore the utility of bringing a developmental lens to marry it with the study of microprocesses addressed via ILDs.

Table 6.1 Key points in the chapter

• Intensive longitudinal designs (ILDs) can answer important questions about stress and coping	Cross-sectional survey studies of stress and coping have generally concentrated attention on (1) between-person differences in coping styles and coping efficacy, (2) psychosocial predictors and outcomes of coping. Longitudinal studies of stress and coping have typically concentrated on within-and-between person differences in coping across periods of development, and associated predictors and outcomes. Intensive longitudinal designs can add to this research by considering coping variability within or across contexts and by opening up opportunities to link coping responses to reactivity and recovery within a day or across days.
• ILDs can help to investigate coping processes	Cross-sectional and longitudinal survey research designs are useful for studying between-person associations between coping and other measures. With creative designs, they can also be used for person-centered analyses and studying within- person change. Data from ILDs can be analyzed in similar ways (e.g., regression frameworks, but using hierarchal linear models to address nesting within-person), and if designed well with attention to theory, measurement, and new analytical techniques, ILDs can describe dynamic elements of the stress-coping process at a <i>micro</i> timescale
• The timescale is an important design issue to consider before using ILDs	Coping has most often been measured by gathering reports of typical ways of coping with recent stress either at one point in time or repeatedly using traditional longitudinal study designs. Intensive longitudinal designs can be used to measure stressful events and associated coping responses multiple times (20+) across a short period (e.g., multiple times a day, daily, weekly). Generally, the consensus is that timescales need to match theory, and that there needs to be a priori consideration of planned statistical approaches with a focus on good compliance in order to be able to adequately leverage time-based data.
• Measurement needs close attention when using ILDs to study stress and coping	Intensive longitudinal designs are not necessarily well-suited for wide, comprehensive measurement of ways of coping with stress. They tend to incorporate very brief versions of coping measures, although alternatives such as coding open-ended responses and passive sensing

Table 6.1 (cont.)

	collected via smartphones or other devices are possible. The limited length of surveys in ILDs is a trade-off for achieving the benefits of assessing
• Advantages of ILDs	Intensive longitudinal designs offer enhanced ecological validity and reduced recall bias. ILD's afford greater ability to capture coping
	<i>microprocesses</i> and dynamic change, can be productively integrated with passive sensing, and are easily deployed through smartphone technology.
• Disadvantages of ILDs	Intensive longitudinal designs generate large amounts of nested data so that knowledge of hierarchical models for assessing change is needed. Designs can risk mis-specifying the length of time to capture a full coping episode so that theory is especially important. Few self- report measures specific to coping have been thoroughly validated for use at the micro-
	timescale.

References

- Aldridge-Gerry, A. A., Roesch, S. C., Villodas, F., McCabe, C., Leung, Q. K., & Da Costa, M. (2011). Daily stress and alcohol consumption: Modeling between-person and within-person ethnic variation in coping behavior. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 72(1), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2011.72.125
- Aldwin, C. M. (2009). Stress, coping, and development: An integrative perspective. Guilford Press.
- Asparouhov, T., Hamaker, E. L., & Muthén, B. (2018). Dynamic structural equation models. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 25(3), 359–388. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2017.1406803
- Beck, E. D., & Jackson, J. J. (2020). Consistency and change in idiographic personality:
 A longitudinal ESM network study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *118*(5), 1080–1100. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000249
- Ben-Eliyahu, A., & Kaplan, A. (2015). Growth curve modeling analysis of social and academic

coping during elementary school. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *41*, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2015.09.001

- Bentall, R. P., Myin-Germeys, I., Smith, A., Knowles, R., Jones, S. H., Smith, T., & Tai, S. J. (2011). Hypomanic personality, stability of selfesteem and response styles to negative mood. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 18(5), 397–410. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.780
- Bettis, A. H., Burke, T. A., Nesi, J., & Liu, R. T. (2021). Digital technologies for emotion-regulation assessment and intervention: A conceptual review. *Clinical Psychological Science*, *10*(1), Article 21677026211011982. https://doi.org/10.1177/21677026211011982
- Bolger, N., DeLongis, A., Kessler, R. C., & Schilling, E. A. (1989). Effects of daily stress on negative mood. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(5), 808–818. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0022-3514.57.5.808
- Borghuis, J., Bleidorn, W., Sijtsma, K., Branje, S., Meeus, W. H., & Denissen, J. J. (2020).
 Longitudinal associations between trait neuroticism and negative daily experiences in

adolescence. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 118(2), 348–363. https://doi.org/10 .1037/pspp0000233

- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Evans, G. W. (2000).
 Developmental science in the 21st century: Emerging questions, theoretical models, research designs and empirical findings. *Social Development*, 9(1), 115–125. https://doi.org/10 .1111/1467-9507.00114
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2006). The bioecological model of human development. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (pp. 793–828). Wiley. https://doi .org/10.4324/9781315646206-2
- Burns, J. W., Gerhart, J. I., Post, K. M., Smith, D. A., Porter, L. S., Schuster, E., ... & Keefe, F. J. (2015). The communal coping model of pain catastrophizing in daily life: A withincouples daily diary study. *The Journal of Pain*, *16*(11), 1163–1175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .jpain.2015.08.005
- Bryk, A. S., & Raudenbush, S. W. (1987). Application of hierarchical linear models to assessing change. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(1), 147–158. https://doi.org/0033-2909/87/S00.75
- Byrne, M. L., Lind, M. N., Horn, S. R., Mills, K. L., Nelson, B. W., Barnes, M. L., ... & Allen, N. B. (2021). Using mobile sensing data to assess stress: Associations with perceived and lifetime stress, mental health, sleep, and inflammation. *Digital Health*, 7, Article 20552076211037227. https://doi.org/10.1177/20552076211037227.
- Carpenter, R. W., Wycoff, A. M., & Trull, T. J. (2016). Ambulatory assessment: New adventures in characterizing dynamic processes. *Assessment*, 23(4), 414–424. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1073191116632341
- Carver, C. S., & Vargas, S. (2011). Stress, coping, and health. In H. S. Friedman (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of health psychology* (pp. 162–188). Oxford University Press.
- Cattell, R. B. (1957). *Personality and motivation: Structure and measurement*. World Book.
- Coll, C. G., Crnic, K., Lamberty, G., Wasik, B. H., Jenkins, R., Garcia, H. V., & McAdoo, H. P. (1996). An integrative model for the study of

developmental competencies in minority children. *Child Development*, 67(5), 1891–1914. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131600.

- Collins, L. M. (2006). Analysis of longitudinal data. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 57, 505–528. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.57.102904 .190146
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Conner, T. S., & Mehl, M. R. (2015). Ambulatory assessment – methods for studying everyday life. In R. Scott, S. Kosslyn, & N. Pinkerton (Eds.), *Emerging trends in the social and behavioral sciences* (pp. 1–13). Wiley. https://doi.org/10 .1002/9781118900772.etrds0010
- Conner, T. S., Tennen, H., Fleeson, W., & Barrett, L. F. (2009). Experience sampling methods: A modern idiographic approach to personality research. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 3(3), 292–313. https://doi.org/10.1111/j .1751-9004.2009.00170.x
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., Larson, R., & Prescott, S. (1977). The ecology of adolescent activity and experience. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 6(3), 281–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02138940
- Davis, S. K., & Humphrey, N. (2012). The influence of emotional intelligence (E.I.) on coping and mental health in adolescence: Divergent roles for trait and ability E.I. *Journal of Adolescence*, 35(5), 1369–1379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .adolescence.2012.05.007
- Diener, E., & Larsen, R. J. (1984). Temporal stability and cross-situational consistency of affective, behavioral, and cognitive responses. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 47(4), 871–883. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.47.4.871
- Dillman Carpentier, F. R., Brown, J. D., Bertocci, M., Silk, J. S., Forbes, E. E., & Dahl, R. E. (2008). Sad kids, sad media? Applying mood management theory to depressed adolescents'

use of media. *Media Psychology*, 11(1), 143–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15213260701834484

- Duvenage, M., Correia, H., Uink, B., Barber, B. L., Donovan, C. L., & Modecki, K. L. (2020).
 Technology can sting when reality bites: Adolescents' frequent online coping is ineffective with momentary stress. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *102*, 248–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .chb.2019.08.024
- Duvenage, M., Uink, B. N., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Barber, B. L., Donovan, C. L., & Modecki, K. L. (2019). Ambulatory assessment of adolescent coping: It's a complicated process. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(3), 578–594. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12468
- Eisele, G., Vachon, H., Lafit, G., Kuppens, P., Houben, M., Myin-Germeys, I., & Viechtbauer, W. (2022). The effects of sampling frequency and questionnaire length on perceived burden, compliance, and careless responding in experience sampling data in a student population. *Assessment*, 29(2), 136–151. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1073191120957102
- Enders, C. K. (2010). *Applied missing data analysis*. Guilford Press.
- Enders, C. K., & Tofighi, D. (2007). Centering predictor variables in cross-sectional multilevel models: A new look at an old issue. *Psychological Methods*, *12*(2), 121–138. https:// doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.12.2.121
- Fahrenberg, J., Myrtek, M., Pawlik, K., & Perrez, M. (2007). Ambulatory assessment-monitoring behavior in daily life settings. *European Journal* of Psychological Assessment, 23(4), 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.206
- Fanshawe, J., & Burnett, P. (1991). Assessing school-related stressors and coping mechanisms in adolescents. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 61(1), 92–98. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.2044-8279.1991.tb00964.x
- Finch, W. H., Bolin, J. E., & Kelley, K. (2019). Multilevel modeling using R. CRC Press.
- Fisher, A. J., Medaglia, J. D., & Jeronimus, B. F. (2018). Lack of group-to-individual generalizability is a threat to human subjects research. *Proceedings of the National Academy*

of Sciences, 115(27), E6106–E6115. https://doi .org/10.1073/pnas.171197811

- Fisher, R. S., Sharp, K. M. H., Prussian, K. V., Himelhoch, A. C., Murphy, L. K., Rodriguez, E. M., ... & Gerhardt, C. A. (2021). Coping trajectories and the health-related quality of life of childhood cancer survivors. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 46(8), 960–969. https://doi .org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsab017
- Gabriel, A. S., Podsakoff, N. P., Beal, D. J., Scott,
 B. A., Sonnentag, S., Trougakos, J. P., & Butts,
 M. M. (2019). Experience sampling methods:
 A discussion of critical trends and considerations
 for scholarly advancement. *Organizational Research Methods*, 22(4), 969–1006. https://doi.
 .org/10.1177/1094428118802626
- Garmezy, N. E., & Rutter, M. E. (Eds.). (1983). Stress, coping, and development in children. McGraw Hill.
- Gordon, A. M., & Mendes, W. B. (2021). A largescale study of stress, emotions, and blood pressure in daily life using a digital platform. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(31), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.2105573118
- Halstead, M., Johnson, S. B., & Cunningham, W. (1993). Measuring coping in adolescents: An application of the Ways of Coping Checklist. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 22(3), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp2203_4
- Hamaker, E. L. (2012). Why researchers should think "within-person": A paradigmatic rationale. In M. R. Mehl & T. S. Conner (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life* (pp. 43–61). Guilford Press.
- Hamaker, E. L., Asparouhov, T., Brose, A., Schmiedek, F., & Muthén, B. (2018). At the frontiers of modeling intensive longitudinal data: Dynamic structural equation models for the affective measurements from the COGITO study. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 53(6), 820–841. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2018 .1446819
- Hardouin, J. B., Bonnaud-Antignac, A., & Sébille, V. (2011). Nonparametric item response theory using Stata. *The Stata Journal*, 11(1), 30–51.

Heck, R. H., & Thomas, S. L. (2020). An introduction to multilevel modeling techniques: MLM and SEM approaches. Routledge.

Heron, K. E., Everhart, R. S., McHale, S. M., & Smyth, J. M. (2017). Using mobile-technologybased ecological momentary assessment (EMA) methods with youth: A systematic review and recommendations. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 42(10), 1087–1107. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jpepsy/jsx078

Hoffman, L., & Walters, R. W. (2022). Catching up on multilevel modeling. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 73, 659–689. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev-psych-020821-103525

Hoggard, L. S., Byrd, C. M., & Sellers, R. M. (2012). Comparison of African American college students' coping with racially and nonracially stressful events. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 18(4), 329–339. https://doi .org/10.1037/a0029437

Hollenstein, T., Lichtwarck-Aschoff, A., & Potworowski, G. (2013). A model of socioemotional flexibility at three time scales. *Emotion Review*, 5(4), 397–405. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1754073913484181

Hox, J. J., Moerbeek, M., & Van de Schoot, R. (2017). *Multilevel analysis: Techniques and applications*. Routledge.

Jaser, S. S., Champion, J. E., Reeslund, K. L., Keller, G., Merchant, M. J., Benson, M., & Compas, B. E. (2007). Cross-situational coping with peer and family stressors in adolescent offspring of depressed parents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 30(6), 917–932. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2006.11.010

Jenzer, T., Read, J. P., Naragon-Gainey, K., & Prince, M. A. (2019). Coping trajectories in emerging adulthood: The influence of temperament and gender. *Journal of Personality*, 87(3), 607–619. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy .12419

Kenny, R., Dooley, B., & Fitzgerald, A. (2016). Ecological momentary assessment of adolescent problems, coping efficacy, and mood states using a mobile phone app: An exploratory study. *JMIR Mental Health*, 3(4), e51. https://doi.org/ 10.2196/mental.e51 Klumb, P., Elfering, A., & Herre, C. (2009). Ambulatory assessment in industrial/ organizational psychology: Fruitful examples and methodological issues. *European Psychologist*, 14(2), Article 120. https://doi.org/ 10.1027/1016-9040.14.2.120

Kuppens, P., Sheeber, L. B., Yap, M. B., Whittle, S., Simmons, J. G., & Allen, N. B. (2012). Emotional inertia prospectively predicts the onset of depressive disorder in adolescence. *Emotion*, 12(2), 283–289. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0025046

Lane, S. T., Gates, K. M., Pike, H. K., Beltz, A. M., & Wright, A. G. (2019). Uncovering general, shared, and unique temporal patterns in ambulatory assessment data. *Psychological Methods*, 24(1), 54–69. https://doi.org/10.1037/ met0000192.

Larson, R. W. (2019). Experiencing sampling research from its beginnings into the future. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(3), 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12524

Lazarus, R. S. (2000). Toward better research on stress and coping. *American Psychologist*, 55(6), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066X.55 .6.665

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 1(3), 141–169.

Lin, K. K., Sandler, I. N., Ayers, T. S., Wolchik, S. A., & Luecken, L. J. (2004). Resilience in parentally bereaved children and adolescents seeking preventive services. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33(4), 673–683. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp3304_3

Lyons, M. D., Huebner, E. S., & Hills, K. J. (2016). Relations among personality characteristics, environmental events, coping behavior and adolescents' life satisfaction. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *17*(3), 1033–1050. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10902-015-9630-z

Maciejewski, D. F., van Lier, P. A., Branje, S. J., Meeus, W. H., & Koot, H. M. (2015). A 5-year longitudinal study on mood variability across adolescence using daily diaries. *Child Development*, 86(6), 1908–1921. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12420

- Massey, E. K., Garnefski, N., Gebhardt, W. A., & Van Der Leeden, R. (2009). Daily frustration, cognitive coping and coping efficacy in adolescent headache: A daily diary study. *Headache*, 49(8), 1198–1205. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1526-4610.2009.01492.x
- Masters, M. R., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Farrell, L. J., & Modecki, K. L. (2022). Coping and emotion regulation in response to social stress tasks among young adolescents with and without social anxiety. *Applied Developmental Science*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2021.1990060
- McHorney, C. A., & Cohen, A. S. (2000). Equating health status measures with item response theory: Illustrations with functional status items. *Medical Care*, 38(9), II43–II59. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00005650-200009002-00008
- McNeish, D., & Hamaker, E. L. (2020). A primer on two-level dynamic structural equation models for intensive longitudinal data in Mplus. *Psychological Methods*, 25(5), 610–635. https:// doi.org/10.1037/met0000250
- Meter, D. J., & Ehrenreich, S. E. (2022). Child development in real-time: The power of ambulatory assessment for investigating dynamic developmental processes and behavior longitudinally. *Advances in Child Development* and Behavior, 62, 269–294. https://doi.org/10 .1016/bs.acdb.2021.12.004
- Modecki, K. L., Duvenage, M., Uink, B., Barber, B. L., & Donovan, C. L. (2022). Adolescents' online coping: When less is more but none is worse. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 10(3). 467–481. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 21677026211028983
- Modecki, K. L., Goldberg, R. E., Ehrenreich, S. E., Russell, M., & Bellmore, A. (2019). The practicalities and perils of ambulatory assessment's promise: Introduction to a special section. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(3), 542–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora .12532
- Modecki, K. L., & Mazza, G. L. (2017). Are we making the most of ecological momentary

assessment data? A comment on Richardson, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, O'Donnell, Ling, & Staiger, 2017. *Health Psychology Review*, *11*(3), 295–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2017.1347513

- Modecki, K. L., & Uink, B. (2018). Understanding delinquency during the teenage years: Developmental pathways of antisocial decision making among disadvantaged youth.
 Criminology Research Grants Program, Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Modecki, K. L., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Guerra, N. (2017). Emotion regulation, coping, and decision making: Three linked skills for preventing externalizing problems in adolescence. *Child Development*, 88(2), 417–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12734
- Molenaar, P. C. M., & Lo, L. (2012). Dynamic factor analysis and control of developmental processes. In B. Laursen, T. D. Little, & N. A. Card (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental research methods* (pp. 333–349). Guilford Press.
- Molenaar, P. C., & Nesselroade, J. R. (2012). Merging the idiographic filter with dynamic factor analysis to model process. *Applied Developmental Science*, 16(4), 210–219. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2012.722884
- Mori, M., Takano, K., & Tanno, Y. (2015). Role of self-focus in the relationship between depressed mood and problem solving. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(5), 827–838. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-015-9486-x
- Mushquash, A. R., & Sherry, S. B. (2013). Testing the perfectionism model of binge eating in mother–daughter dyads: A mixed longitudinal and daily diary study. *Eating Behaviors*, 14(2), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013 .02.002
- Myin-Germeys, I., Kasanova,Z., Vaessen, T., Vachan, H., Kirtley, O., Viechtbauer, W., & Reininghaus, U. (2018). Experience sampling methodology in mental health research: New insights and technical developments. *World Psychiatry*, *17*(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10 .1002/wps.20513
- O'Connell, K. A., Hosein, V. L., Schwartz, J. E., & Leibowitz, R. Q. (2007). How does coping help people resist lapses during smoking cessation?.

Health Psychology, 26(1), 77-84. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0278-6133.26.1.77

- Odgers, C. L. (2019). Why digital tools have not yet revolutionized adolescent health research and what we can do. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(3), 675–681. https://doi.org/10 .1111/jora.12534
- Park, C. L., Armeli, S., & Tennen, H. (2004). The daily stress and coping process and alcohol use among college students. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 65(1), 126–135. https://doi.org/10 .15288/jsa.2004.65.126
- Pillow, D. R., Zautra, A. J., & Sandler, I. (1996). Major life events and minor stressors: Identifying mediational links in the stress process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70(2), 381–394. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0022-3514.70.2.381
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods* (Vol. 1). Sage.
- Reise, S. P., Ainsworth, A. T., & Haviland, M. G. (2005). Item response theory: Fundamentals, applications, and promise in psychological research. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14(2), 95–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/j .0963-7214.2005.00342.x
- Revicki, D. A., Chen, W. H., Harnam, N., Cook, K. F., Amtmann, D., Callahan, L. F., ... & Keefe, F. J. (2009). Development and psychometric analysis of the PROMIS pain behavior item bank. *Pain*, *146*(1–2), 158–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.07.029
- Roesch, S. C., Vaughn, A. A., Aldridge, A. A., & Villodas, F. (2009). Daily diaries and minority adolescents: Random coefficient regression modeling of attributional style, coping, and affect. *International Journal of Psychology*, 44(5), 393–400. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00207590802644758
- Ruissen, G. R., Zumbo, B. D., Rhodes, R. E., Puterman, E., & Beauchamp, M. R. (2021).
 Analysis of dynamic psychological processes to understand and promote physical activity behaviour using intensive longitudinal methods: A primer. *Health Psychology Review*, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2021.1987953

- Russell, M. A., & Gajos, J. M. (2020). Annual Research Review: Ecological momentary assessment studies in child psychology and psychiatry. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 61(3), 376–394. https://doi.org/10 .1111/jcpp.13204
- Sandler, I. N., Wolchik, S. A., MacKinnon, D., Ayers, T. S., & Roosa, M. W. (1997).
 Developing linkages between theory and intervention in stress and coping processes. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook* of children's coping (pp. 3–40). Springer.
- Schneiders, J., Nicolson, N. A., Berkhof, J., Feron, F. J., Van Os, J., & Devries, M. W. (2006). Mood reactivity to daily negative events in early adolescence: Relationship to risk for psychopathology. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(3), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.3.543
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Beyers, W. (2005). Coping trajectories from adolescence to young adulthood: Links to attachment state of mind. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 15(4), 561–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795 .2005.00111.x
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., & Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological momentary assessment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 4, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806 .091415
- Silk, J. S., Forbes, E. E., Whalen, D. J., Jakubcak, J. L., Thompson, W. K., Ryan, N. D., ... & Dahl, R. E. (2011). Daily emotional dynamics in depressed youth: A cell phone ecological momentary assessment study. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 110(2), 241–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2010.10.007
- Skinner, E. A. (1999). Action regulation, coping, and development. In J. Brandtstädter & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), Action & self-development: Theory and research through the life span (pp. 465–503). Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452204802 .n16
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological*

Bulletin, 129(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0033-2909.129.2.216

- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping from birth to emerging adulthood: Neurophysiological and social underpinnings, qualitative shifts, and differential pathways towards psychopathology and resilience. Springer.
- Stone, A. A., & Neale, J. M. (1984). New measure of daily coping: Development and preliminary results. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(4), 892–906. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0022-3514.46.4.892
- Stone, A. A., Schwartz, J. E., Neale, J. M., Shiffman, S., Marco, C. A., Hickcox, M., ... & Cruise, L. J. (1998). A comparison of coping assessed by ecological momentary assessment and retrospective recall. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 74(6), 1670–1680. https:// doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.74.6.1670
- Stone, A. A., & Shiffman, S. (1992). Reflections on the intensive measurement of stress, coping, and mood, with an emphasis on daily measures. *Psychology and Health*, 7(2), 115–129. https://doi .org/10.1080/08870449208520014
- Stone, L. B., Mennies, R. J., Waller, J. M., Ladouceur, C. D., Forbes, E. E., Ryan, N. D., Dahl, R. E., & Silk, J. S. (2019). Help me feel better! Ecological momentary assessment of anxious youths' emotion regulation with parents and peers. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(2), 313–324. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-018-0454-2
- Stroebe, M. S., Folkman, S., Hansson, R. O., & Schut, H. (2006). The prediction of bereavement outcome: Development of an integrative risk factor framework. *Social Science & Medicine*, 63(9), 2440–2451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .socscimed.2006.06.012
- Tracy, E. L., Berg, C. A., Kelly, C. S., Kent de Grey, R. G., Litchman, M. L., Allen, N. A., & Helgeson, V. S. (2021). Daily stress spillover and crossover in couples coping with type 1 diabetes.

Journal of Family Psychology, 35(5), 618–627. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000819

- Trull, T. J., & Ebner-Priemer, U. (2013). Ambulatory assessment. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 9, 151–176. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185510
- Uink, B. N. (2020, January 30). Ambulatory assessment may be an answer to engaging 'hard to reach' youth in research. Society for Research on Adolescence. https://www.s-r-a.org/index .php?option=com_dailyplanetblog&view= entry&category=researchsummaries&id=21:allblogsambulatory-assessment-may-be-an-answerto-engaging-hard-to-reach-youth-in-research
- Uink, B. N., Modecki, K. L., & Barber, B. L. (2017). Disadvantaged youth report less negative emotion to minor stressors when with peers: An experience sampling study. *International Journal* of Behavioral Development, 41(1), 41–51. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0165025415626516
- Uink, B., Modecki, K. L., Barber, B. L., & Correia, H. M. (2018). Socioeconomically disadvantaged adolescents with elevated externalizing symptoms show heightened emotion reactivity to daily stress: An experience sampling study. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 49(5), 741–756. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-018-0784-x
- van Roekel, E., Keijsers, L., & Chung, J. M. (2019). A review of current ambulatory assessment studies in adolescent samples and practical recommendations. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(3), 560–577. https://doi.org/10 .1111/jora.12471
- Walls, T. A., Barta, W. D., Stawski, R. S., Collyer, C., & Hofer, S. M. (2011). Time-scale-dependent longitudinal designs. In B. Laursen, T. D. Little, & N. A. Card (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental research methods* (pp. 46–64). Guilford Press.
- Wang, R., Chen, F., Chen, Z., Li, T., Harari, G., Tignor, S., ... & Campbell, A. T. (2014, September). StudentLife: Assessing mental health, academic performance and behavioral trends of college students using smartphones. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM international joint conference on pervasive and ubiquitous computing* (pp. 3–14).

- Witkiewitz, K., Roos, C. R., Tofighi, D., & Van Horn, M. L. (2018). Broad coping repertoire mediates the effect of the combined behavioral intervention on alcohol outcomes in the COMBINE study: An application of latent class mediation. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 79(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2018.79.199
- Woods, W. C., Arizmendi, C., Gates, K. M., Stepp, S. D., Pilkonis, P. A., & Wright, A. G. (2020). Personalized models of psychopathology as contextualized dynamic processes: An example from individuals with borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 88(3), 240–254. https://doi.org/10 .1037/ccp0000472.
- Wright, A. G., & Woods, W. C. (2020). Personalized models of psychopathology.

Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 16, 49–74. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-102419-125032

- Wycoff, A. M., Carpenter, R. W., Hepp, J., Piasecki, T. M., & Trull, T. J. (2021). Real-time reports of drinking to cope: Associations with subjective relief from alcohol and changes in negative affect. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *130*(6), 641–650. https://doi.org/10.1037/ abn0000684
- Zuleta, J., Piscitello, A., Rasic, M., Easter, R., Babu, P., Langenecker, S. A., ... & Leow, A. (2018). Predicting mood disturbance severity with mobile phone keystroke metadata: A biaffect digital phenotyping study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(7), e241. https:// doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9775

7 Resilience and Coping in Development

Pathways to Integration

Fanita A. Tyrell and Ann S. Masten

Introduction

Concepts of coping and resilience have an intertwined history in the sciences concerned with human adaptation in the context of everyday challenges of life as well as traumatic experiences. Yet the foci of these two traditions of research reflect a number of differences. In this chapter, we compare concepts and findings in the study of human resilience with the perspectives and findings in the coping literature and consider the potential benefits of integrating these related bodies of work. In the first section, we discuss the shared historical roots of these two concepts and highlight similarities and differences in the research used to advance these lines of inquiry. In the second section, we describe and compare contemporary definitions of resilience in relation to coping. In the third section, we discuss recent progress toward contextualizing these constructs in sociocultural context, including racism and discrimination. In the fourth section we suggest a possible framework for integration and the chapter concludes with a discussion of future directions for conceptual development and empirical research to advance the goal and benefits of an integrated perspective on coping and resilience. The key points in the chapter are summarized in Table 7.1.

Shared Roots of Research on Resilience and Coping

Ideas about coping as well as resilience have early roots in psychoanalytic theories about adaptation, the ego, and defense mechanisms (e.g., dating to the works of Sigmund Freud, Anna Freud, and Heinz Hartmann, among others); the development of competence and mastery motivation (Robert White); and developmental studies of risk and vulnerability by Lois Murphy and her colleagues, as well as Claire Kopp, Jack and Jeanne Block, and Arnold Sameroff, among numerous others (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Masten & Coatsworth, 1995; Masten & Garmezy, 1985). Murphy and her colleagues (Murphy & Associates, 1962; Murphy & Moriarty, 1976), in their classic volumes on coping, dated their interests in coping to the 1930s, culminating in their longitudinal studies of coping in young children at the Menninger Clinic in Topeka, Kansas (USA). Similarly, Norman Garmezy, Michael Rutter, Emmy Werner, Ann Masten, and others trace early ideas about resilience to the same general body of historical psychological theories (Garmezy, 1983; Masten, 1989; Masten et al., 1990). Conceptual histories of coping and resilience also highlight the influence of World War II in bringing attention to the effects of traumatic experiences and efforts to facilitate recovery from wartime trauma (Garmezy & Rutter, 1983; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Masten, 2014; Murphy & Moriarty, 1976).

Preparation of this chapter was supported in part by the Irving B. Harris Professorship in Child Development (Masten).
Table 7.1 Key points in this chapter

- Early definitions of coping and resilience overlapped in a number of ways, including their concern with adaptation and the processes by which individuals adapt to challenges.
- Resilience is defined as the capacity of a dynamic system to adapt successfully through multisystem processes to challenges that threaten system function, survival, or development; thus, the resilience of an individual depends on the resilience of many other systems and processes internal and external to that person.
- Whereas coping typically refers to efforts by individuals to respond to everyday challenges, contemporary definitions of resilience are broader and more focused on multisystem processes yielding successful adaptation to significant acute or chronic adversities.
- Although theoretical and empirical considerations of culture and context were limited in early literatures on both coping and resilience, incorporating the role of culture and context in research on coping and resilience is crucial because sociocultural beliefs and traditions infuse the interpretation of adversity and successful adaptation, and profoundly influence the development and implementation of coping strategies as well as many processes that contribute to resilience.
- Marginalized families and children must develop distinct coping strategies to deal with various
 contextual demands and experiences of oppression, racism, discrimination, and segregation. These
 coping strategies are rooted in cultural histories, legacies, and traditions that differ from those
 typically identified among mainstream (more privileged) groups and contribute independently to
 resilience and well-being.
- For marginalized youth and families, utilizing coping strategies that are not in line with cultural legacies, norms, and values may lead to harmful responses and developmental outcomes.
- Resilience science has shifted to a multisystem framework, which focuses on individuals, families, schools, communities, and social-ecological systems. Examples of protective factors across these systems include positive and trusting relationships; a sense of security, belonging, or cohesion; a sense of agency, purpose, or meaning; hope or optimism; positive views of the self, family, or group; and positive routines, rituals, and traditions.
- Although the coping literature currently lacks a cohesive conceptual framework spanning multiple systems and levels of functioning, coping theory and research could be expanded to integrate multisystem models, which would foster the alignment of coping science with emerging multisystem models of resilience.
- The integration of coping and resilience science has the potential to advance theory and improve research and its translation into practice and policy by elucidating the processes linking individual adaptation to historical, cultural, and ecological contexts, as well as the adaptive capacity and coordinated functioning of systems beyond the individual. This knowledge could inform interventions and efforts to prepare for large-scale threats posed by epidemics, disasters, and political conflicts.

Early definitions of coping and resilience overlapped in a number of ways, but also showed some differentiation. Both concepts were concerned with adaptation and in particular with processes by which individuals adapt to challenges. In their early definition of coping, Lazarus and Folkman (1984) defined coping as "constantly changing cognitive and

behavioral efforts to manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (p. 141). Compas et al. (2001) defined coping as "conscious and volitional efforts to regulate emotion, cognition, behavior, physiology, and the environment in response to stressful events or circumstances" (p. 89). Rutter (1983) described coping in terms of individual differences in the ways people respond to stressful events or situations. including efforts toward problem-solving and regulating emotional distress, which could be effective or maladaptive. In contrast, resilience referred to the phenomenon of doing well in the context of experiences known to pose risks to adaptation in the general population. In a footnote, Rutter noted, further, that while coping usually refers to the behavior of individuals, for children, "it may be at least as important to consider the coping process in terms of family styles and strategies" (p. 27). Rutter also noted that group responses are not necessarily the sum of individual responses. Masten et al. (1990), in an early review of the resilience literature, wrote that the concept broadly encompassed "the process of, capacity for, or outcome of successful adaption despite challenging or threatening circumstances" (p. 426). All of these definitions distinguished both traditions from research focused solely on positive psychology or normative development (when there is minimal discussion on variations in how individuals adapt to challenges and adverse experiences), as well as research focused on risks and psychopathology (which often overlooked the processes that could result in mental health and well-being despite risk or adversity).

Literatures on coping and resilience both distinguished among (1) resources available to be utilized for adaptation (e.g., access to human, economic, or social capital), (2) strategies or ways of adapting (efforts and actions taken to adapt, such as problem-solving, emotion regulation, or seeking help), and (3) outcomes (results) of adaptive efforts (e.g., competence, mental health, successful adaptation). Both traditions acknowledged the importance of experience, learning, socialization, and development in theories about coping or resilience, reflecting a dynamic systems perspective (Eisenberg et al., 2009; Masten, 2007; Rutter, 2012; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Additionally, as one would expect, definitions of these concepts evolved over time.

Definitional changes in both traditions correspond to an infusion of developmental systems theory in studies of human development and adaptation (Masten & Cicchetti, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Changes in both traditions reflect growing attention to multiple levels of analysis, transactional interactions among interconnected systems shaping behavior, the complex neurobiology of human responses to challenges, and a growing body of research concerned with cultural variations and human behavior in diverse social-ecological more contexts. including the Global South (Masten et al., 2021; Ungar & Theron, 2020; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016).

Nonetheless, there were and continue to be notable differences in the foci and methods characterizing these two research traditions concerned with adaptation to challenges in human development. Coping historically referred to efforts by individuals to respond to everyday challenges, or in other words "coping research is distinguished by its focus on what children actually do ... in dealing with specific difficulties in real-life contexts" (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, p. 120), whether or not those efforts are successful. Some scholars defined coping with reference to processes of emotion regulation or selfregulation in response to stress (see Compas et al., 2017; Eisenberg et al., 2009). Resilience definitions typically were broader and more focused on processes yielding successful adaptation to significant adversities of many kinds, both acute and chronic (Masten & Garmezy, 1985; Murphy & Moriarty, 1976). Most notably, however, resilience research included protective processes embedded in relationships and support from sociocultural systems beyond the individual, perhaps because many of the pioneers in resilience science were trying to understand diverging pathways among children known to be at risk for psychopathology (Masten & Cicchetti, 2016). These pioneers were focused on understanding the striking variation in outcomes among groups of children known to be at high risk for mental health and behavioral problems and making sense of their observations that some children developed well despite adversity or risk exposure.

Contemporary Definitions of Resilience in Relation to Coping

Over time, the influences on resilience science of developmental systems theory and multisystem theory and methods, spanning multiple levels of analysis and multiple disciplines have continued to expand (Masten, 2018; Masten et al., 2021; Ungar, 2018; Ungar & Theron, 2020). At the same time, concerns continue to rise related to global threats to human lives and development, including natural disasters and climate change, violence and displacement related to war and political conflict, structural racism and marginalization, poverty and maltreatment, epidemics and the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, evidence of potential lifelong effects of these hazards and risks on human health and development have grown (Gone et al., 2019; Sanson et al., 2019; Shonkoff et al., 2012, 2021; Yoshikawa et al., 2020). It is not surprising that this confluence of concerns motivated a surge of interest and research on resilience and a growing realization that prevention, preparing, and responding to these threats to human life and development required a more integrated and multisystem approach (Liu et al., 2017; Masten, 2014, 2018, 2021; Ungar, 2018, 2021).

Contemporary definitions of resilience in developmental science reflect the shift to more integrated multisystem models that encompass molecular to large-scale sociocultural systems and the goal of harmonizing definitions of resilience for scalability across levels and portability across disciplines (Masten, 2014, 2018; Masten et al., 2021; Ungar, 2018). From this perspective, resilience can be defined as the capacity of a dynamic system to adapt successfully through multisystem processes to challenges that threaten system function, survival, or development (Masten, 2018; Masten et al., 2021). This and similar definitions (see Masten et al., 2021 for examples) align well with definitions of resilience in ecology, family science, and disaster research, as well as in psychology. These definitions are intended to be applicable to many systems within an individual (e.g., immune system), a whole person or other living system, and the many other types of complex adaptive social-ecological systems that surround and shape individual development and the development of life in this biosphere (e.g., families, economies, communities, human organizations).

Fundamental to emerging multisystem models of resilience are the following assumptions about individual resilience:

- Resilience is dynamic, continually changing as a result of development and changes stemming from interactions of many systems at multiple levels over the life course.
- Resilience changes on different timescales. Generally, resilience gradually increases as human individuals mature, gain human

and social capital, and learn from experience over the life course, and then eventually declines as part of the normal aging process. However, resilience also fluctuates on shorter timescales due to proximal conditions of stress, exhaustion, illness, sleep, nutrition, workload, availability of help, and numerous other short-term changes that can influence adaptive capacity.

- Resilience of an individual depends on resilience of many other systems and processes internal and external to that person.
- There are common resilience factors identified in diverse studies of individuals who adapt well by specific criteria in the context of a wide variety of adversities, suggesting there are fundamental adaptive systems and processes driving human resilience.
- There are striking similarities and alignments across system levels involving human interactions, with respect to resilience factors and processes implicated in studies of resilience in families, schools, communities, organizations, and cultural traditions, suggesting that similar processes may be operating across system levels, potentially reflecting the possibilities of biocultural coevolution of human adaptive systems and a multilevel organization of resilience processes that influence capacity of human-connected systems to adapt well to challenges.
- Resilience can be nurtured through socialization and learning and also bolstered by experience of adaptation to challenges or interventions designed explicitly to build resilience.
- Multisystem disasters, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, require multisystem mobilization to mitigate risks, boost resources, and mobilize adaptive systems at multiple levels.

Investigators who study resilience often focus on two or more levels of analysis, such as protective effects of sensitive caregiving or effective parenting (relational level) against the negative consequences of trauma exposures on brain development or stress-regulation systems (neurobiological levels) and executive function skills (behavioral levels). Often the goal is to explain the variation in adaptive functioning or development among individuals who have experienced significant challenges, with an eye toward identifying malleable processes that contribute to resilience and could inform strategic interventions or policies to promote positive adaptation.

Many targets of intervention are conceivable but identifying movable and practical levers for change with the right developmental timing poses daunting challenges. Nonetheless, humanitarian agencies and policymakers are working toward aligning interventions across systems and levels in an effort to generate more lasting and synergistic salutary effects on development. For example, early childhood programs often combine strategies to improve nutrition, housing, health care, parent–child interaction, and access to early childhood education in a multisystem effort to build a strong foundation for subsequent development (Huebner et al., 2016; World Health Organization et al., 2018).

As the concept of resilience shifted explicitly to a multisystem framework (Masten et al., 2021; Ungar, 2018), its focus became more distinct from the concept of coping. Growing attention on the interactional influences of multiple social-ecological systems on individual development in resilience science increased the differentiation of resilience from coping in terms of breadth and focus (regarding levels and systems studied). Nonetheless, many of the processes implicated by the research on individual coping and resilience remain similar. For example, salient resilience factors (or rather, the adaptive systems and processes they represent) for individual children and youth identified in reviews of resilience (e.g., Masten, 2007; Ungar & Theron, 2020) resemble the adaptive processes often identified and studied in research on coping (Murphy & Moriarty, 1976; Taylor & Stanton, 2007; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). These include attachment relationships and other forms of social support, agency and mastery motivation, optimism, and self-regulation. Moreover, both traditions highlight conditions that foster development of these adaptive systems and serve to nurture more adaptive forms of these important tools for meeting the challenges of everyday life as well as major adversities.

Summary: The broad concepts of resilience and coping historically have overlapped in important ways. When these concepts are applied to individual human behavior, both concepts refer broadly to adaptation under challenging circumstances. Many of the adaptive processes studied in research on resilience and coping are similar, such as attachment, agency, and self-regulation. Both traditions recognize that the capacity and skills for resilience or coping develop and change over the life course, both from basic developmental processes and also from experience, and are to a considerable extent malleable with experience, and thus amenable to training or intervention. Nonetheless, recent shifts in resilience theory have increased the differentiation of these conceptual cousins. Resilience theory has shifted toward a multisystem framework emphasizing the interconnectedness and dependence of individual resilience on resilience embedded in connections to other ecological systems. In contrast, coping theory continues to focus on individual functioning.

Progress in the Sociocultural Contextualization of Resilience and Coping

Coping and resilience traditions both recognized the role of culture and context in coping or resilience processes and the need for research on processes unique as well as similar in different cultures or socioecological context (Luthar, 2006; Murphy & Moriarty, 1976; Wright et al., 2013; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). However, both literatures were criticized for early neglect in research of cultural variations and context in theory and empirical studies (Kuo, 2011; Luthar, 2006; Masten, 2014; Panter-Brick & Leckman, 2013; Ungar et al., 2013).

Early theory and research on resilience and coping in mainstream psychology and psychiatry were dominated by a focus on populations in more economically developed regions of the world and majority populations within those regions, with little attention to the influences of sociocultural or historical context. structural racism, or cultural diversity. There were notable exceptions, including the report by Werner and Smith (1982) on their longitudinal studies of a birth cohort born in 1955 on the Hawaijan island of Kauai and followed for decades; these investigators always provided a rich account of the historical and sociocultural context of the study participants, place, and cultural traditions. Nonetheless, theoretical considerations of culture and context were limited, and there were relatively few studies of resilience or coping in lower-income countries, generating the criticisms articulated in critical reviews of these literatures already noted. Concomitantly, there was little attention to the role of cultural values, beliefs, socialization practices, discrimination, or oppression on resilience or coping, either in the North American and European research dominating publication in journals, and even less attention to sociocultural variations across the world.

Over the past two decades, there has been dramatic progress in addressing sociocultural and historical influences on adaptive behavior and socialization, spurred by growing

attention on the role of contextual influences on human adaptation and development and the growth of research among more diverse populations (Gone et al., 2019; Motti-Stefanidi, 2018; Panter-Brick, 2015; Sanders et al., 2017; Scott et al., 2020; Ungar & Theron, 2020). As attention to culture and context in resilience and coping increased, appreciation for scholarship addressing issues related to socialization and the development of adaptive strategies in the context of oppression and discrimination expanded. Theoretical contributions by Garcia Coll and colleagues (1996), Gordon, Wang, and their colleagues (Taylor & Wang, 2000; Wang & Gordon, 1994), and Spencer and her colleagues (1997), among other influential scholars, were harbingers of change.

The failure to investigate how various cultural and contextual processes influence coping and resilience reflects a long-standing tendency in mainstream psychology to focus on individual-level factors and processes rather than understanding how these processes interact with social-ecological systems to contribute human functioning and adaptation. to However, incorporating the role of culture and context in research on coping and resilience is crucial because sociocultural beliefs and traditions influence the development and implementation of coping strategies (Aldwin, 2004; Garcia Coll et al., 1996; Kuo, 2011; Spencer et al., 1997) and also provide the parameters for what should be defined as successful or resilient adaptation (Liebenberg et al., 2013; Ungar et al., 2013) or a "good life" or "honorable life" (Panter-Brick, 2015). Cultural and contextual influences also shape the nature and intensity of stressors individuals face, how individuals appraise a specific stressor, and the resources or mechanisms they consider to ameliorate or combat these stressful experiences (Aldwin, 2004; Kuo, 2011). In addition, research on cultural development and adaptation may serve as a pathway for integrating concepts of coping and resilience.

Development of Coping and Resilience in Children from Marginalized Ethnic and Racial Groups

In contrast to the neglect of sociocultural influences on adaptation in much of the early literature on resilience and coping in North America, investigators who studied the development of children in marginalized ethnicracial subgroups have highlighted the influence of culture, racism, and discrimination on coping and resilience (Garcia Coll et al., 1996; Murry et al., 2018; Spencer et al., 1997). For example, in a classic paper, Garcia Coll and colleagues (1996) proposed a theoretical model indicating that marginalized families and children must develop different cultural traditions and coping strategies to deal with various contextual demands and experiences of oppression, racism, discrimination, and segregation.

According to Garcia Coll et al.'s theoretical model, social position and stratification processes such as prejudice, racism, and segregation affect an individual's development and adaptation. These cultural stressors and social inequities lead to environments that either promote or inhibit youth's adaptation and require marginalized populations to adopt coping strategies that will increase cultural pride and positive views of themselves and combat messages that devalue their culture, race, and ethnicity. These coping strategies are rooted in cultural histories, legacies, and traditions that differ from those typically identified among mainstream (more privileged) groups. For example, in addition to the coping responses of cultural groups in power, such as problemfocused and emotion-focused coping strategies, marginalized families and youth must learn how to cope with experiences of racism and discrimination and how to navigate their interactions with individuals from the dominant culture. For example, young Black/African American children are often taught by their parents to suppress their negative emotions (e.g., anger, frustration) when interacting with authority figures and in social settings because the expression of negative emotions are often perceived as aggressive and threatening to individuals from the dominant cultural group (Dunbar et al., 2017).

Similar to Garcia Coll et al. (1996)'s theoretical model, Spencer and her colleagues (1997) developed the phenomenological variant of ecological systems model to highlight the impact of cultural risk factors and environmental demands on the adaptation of marginalized youth. However, Spencer et al. (1997) argued that it is not only the experience of the cultural stressor that matters, but the meaning and interpretation attached to these cultural experiences are equally important. The authors noted that different cultural contexts and experiences influence how we interpret and perceive ourselves. The appraisal of our environments and the meaning we ascribe to our experiences are linked to the amount of stress we perceive, which in turn affects the type of coping responses or methods (i.e., reactive or stable) we adopt to navigate these environmental or contextual challenges.

Coping and Resilience in Immigrant Youth

Forming and maintaining social identities is a crucial part of development (Erikson, 1968). Identity development usually occurs in adolescence and emerging adulthood when youth experience advances in their cognitive ability and are forging autonomy by establishing relationships with new peers and making direct contacts with social networks and institutions outside their family environment (Casey et al.,

2019; Erikson, 1968; Motti-Stefanidi, 2015). Navigating these developmental periods requires youth to adopt new coping skills and strategies. In particular, youth and families with multiple identities must develop a myriad of coping strategies to navigate stressors associated with their marginalized identities. For instance, immigrant youth often utilize coping strategies to deal with ethnic-racial discrimination and additional stressors associated with adapting to a new culture, such as learning a new language or customs (Sirin et al., 2013, 2019). Processes of negotiating and navigating among social and cultural demands of two or more cultures by individuals (or cultural groups) represent "acculturation" (Berry, 2005; Suárez-Orozco et al., 2018), whereas "acculturative stress" generally refers to stress or distress experienced by individuals who are learning to navigate differences between their native and host cultures (Sirin et al., 2013). Acculturative stress usually occurs when individuals try to negotiate and manage conflict between two cultural groups that may have incompatible cultural beliefs and values or when dealing with experiences of ethnic-racial discrimination, anti-immigration attitudes, and xenophobia (Sirin et al., 2013; Suárez-Orozco et al., 2018).

Immigrants utilize multiple coping strategies, including those that are commonly used by other marginalized cultural groups such as ethnic-racial socialization (Motti-Stefanidi, 2018; Suárez-Orozco et al., 2018). However, research has shown that immigrant youth and their families also adopt new coping skills that are specific to the acculturation process. These coping techniques are known as acculturation strategies. According to John Berry's acculturation model (Berry, 2005), individuals usually try to reduce acculturative stress by either (1) adopting the cultural values of both their native and host cultures (i.e., integration), (2) retaining the cultural values of the native culture and rejecting the cultural values of the host culture (i.e., separation), (3) rejecting the cultural values of the native culture and adopting the cultural values of host culture (i.e., assimilation), or (4) rejecting the cultural values and norms of both cultures (i.e., marginalization).

Integration requires the ability to "codeswitch" or "cultural frame switch" between cultural environments (Huynh et al., 2011). In North America, individuals who are effective at switching their behavior to successfully meet the demands of multiple cultural contexts tend to be better adapted (Ferguson et al., 2012; Suárez-Orozco et al., 2018). However, research in European countries such as Greece, which favor efforts by immigrants to assimilate, have shown that assimilated youth tend to fare better and report lower incidents discrimination of ethnic-racial (Motto-Stefanidi, 2019).

Ethnic-Racial Socialization, Coping, and Resilience

One of the culturally grounded processes shown to promote adaptive coping and resilience among marginalized youth is ethnicracial socialization (Umaña-Taylor & Hill, 2020). Ethnic-racial socialization refers to processes by which caregivers and other socialization agents convey an understanding to children about their racialized experiences (Hughes et al., 2006). Ethnic-racial socialization is a developmental process that promotes ethnic-racial identity and can potentially protect youth from discrimination and racerelated stress (Rivas-Drake et al., 2014). Ethnic-racial socialization encompasses the transmission of cultural values, traditions, and pride (i.e., cultural socialization), teaching youth skills to cope with discriminatory experiences (i.e., preparation for bias), advocating the wariness of interracial interactions (i.e., promotion of mistrust), and avoidance or silence about racial issues (i.e., egalitarianism; Hughes et al., 2006; Neblett et al., 2012).

Some dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization promote more stable and adaptive patterns of coping (i.e., cultural socialization), whereas other components are seen as more reactive. For example, preparation for bias tends to be viewed as a reactive coping strategy because parents do not often engage in these messages until youths have been exposed to discriminatory experiences (Anderson & Stevenson, 2019). Nevertheless, research has shown that both ethnic-racial socialization and one of its important by-products, ethnicracial identity, are associated with positive academic, cognitive, health, and socioemotional outcomes in marginalized youth and adults (Neblett et al., 2012; Rivas-Drake et al., 2014; Wang & Huguley, 2012; Yasui et al., 2015).

Ethnic-racial socialization is directly linked to resilience and positive adaptation; however, ethnic-racial socialization also promotes other culture-specific coping practices (Blackmon et al., 2016; Cunningham et al., 2018; Utsey et al., 2007). For example, research has shown that ethnic-racial socialization is related to Africultural coping strategies, which are grounded in African cultural values and traditions. Africultural coping strategies entail cognitive/emotional debriefing (i.e., regulation of emotional responses via distraction, avoidance. or active problem-solving skills), spiritual-centered coping (i.e., believing in God or a higher power to manage stress or adversity), collective coping (i.e., connecting and relying on family members and one's social networks to deal with stress and adversity), and ritual-centered coping (i.e., engaging in rites and rituals to cope with stress and adversity; Blackmon et al., 2016; Utsey et al., 2007). Compared to mainstream coping strategies, Africultural coping focuses more on the collective rather than the individual (Daly et al., 1995). Reactions to recent incidents of police brutality have highlighted the use of these coping methods in the Black/African American community. Research has shown that these culture-specific coping strategies and sociocultural supports are independently related to resilience and well-being when compared to other mainstream coping skills (Clauss-Ehlers, 2008; Utsey et al., 2007).

Potential Costs of Coping and Resilience among Marginalized Groups

In research on adaptation to adversity among marginalized Americans, the concept of John Henryism emerged to explain a specific pattern of cultural adaptation among Black and lowincome individuals to psychosocial stress. John Henryism is a reactive coping strategy that involves high-effort coping and a singleminded determination to succeed despite experiences of adversity (James, 1994). The concept of John Henryism is based on the African American folktale of a steel worker who won a contest against a steel drilling machine but died shortly thereafter from physical exhaustion. John Henryism represents the ability of Black/African Americans to strive emotionally and socially in the face of adversity despite ongoing physiological wear and tear on their bodies (Brody et al., 2013; James, 1994).

Although John Henryism is a common coping strategy utilized by some Black/ African American individuals, research suggests that this coping strategy is not consistent with African cultural beliefs and values. For example, Blackmon and colleagues (2016) found that African American heritage and cultural values were negatively related to John Henryism. The researchers argued that this could be attributed to the fact that African American cultural messages are focused on the collective and respect of authority figures, whereas John Henryism represents a more individualistic style of coping (Blackmon et al., 2016). These findings support theoretical work suggesting that coping strategies that are not in line with cultural legacies, norms, and values may lead to harmful responses and developmental outcomes (Garcia Coll et al., 1996; Spencer et al., 1997).

For marginalized groups, adhering to traditional ways of coping (i.e., problem-focused coping versus emotion-focused coping) rather than adopting culture-specific coping strategies in response to structural inequities and racism may also lead to internalized racism. Internalized racism is an individual's internalization and acceptance of the dominant cultural group's negative messages and stereotypes about their ethnic-racial group's abilities and worth, while simultaneously rejecting their own cultural values and beliefs (Bailey et al., 2011; Berman & Paradies, 2010; Jones, 2000). Empirical research has shown that internalized racism is a risk factor for poor adaptation among Black emerging adults (Sosoo et al., 2020) and one of the mechanisms through which ethnic-racial discrimination and other race-related experiences influence adjustment (Graham et al., 2016).

More research on internalized racism and coping is needed to understand the specific coping strategies that are associated with adaptation in marginalized youth. It will be important in future research, for example, to investigate how internalized racism is related to both mainstream and culturally specific coping strategies. More specifically, research can examine whether individuals who endorsed experiences of internalized racism are more likely to utilize maladaptive coping strategies such as John Henryism or more mainstream coping strategies compared to culturally specific coping styles. Given that individuals who exhibit internalized racism tend to reject their cultural values and internalize negative messages by the dominant cultural group, it is essential that research elucidate the coping mechanisms through which internalized racism leads to positive adaptation or maladaptation.

Summary: Theoretical and empirical considerations of culture and context are crucial to the developmental understanding of coping and resilience. This is especially important for marginalized youth and families who must adopt multiple coping strategies to deal with the contextual demands of racism, poverty, and other structural inequities. Utilizing mainstream coping strategies may be beneficial to marginalized youth, but additional culturespecific coping strategies are essential for their development and adaptation. Therefore, it is important for researchers and clinicians to develop intervention programs that will promote adaptive coping behaviors in marginalized youth, but also engage in collective action that will lead to societal change and transformation (Wadsworth et al., 2018).

Pathways to Integration of Resilience and Coping Science

Recent conceptualizations of coping (Compas et al., 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016) suggest that coping theory and research can be aligned with developmental research on both resilience and psychopathology. Coping concepts reflect fundamental processes of adaptation leading to different pathways of adaptive functioning. Cascading consequences result from differential experiences, individual vulnerabilities, developmental history and timing, adaptive skills and resources, protective influences, exposure to trauma, and so forth. This perspective suggests that pathways to integration of the coping and resilience traditions may emerge from applications of developmental systems theory to human

development and its variations considered in sociocultural, historical, and ecological context. As noted by Compas et al. (2017), "understanding the development of skills to regulate emotions and cope with stress across childhood and adolescence is central to understanding sources of risk and resilience and for the development of interventions to enhance these skills" (p. 975).

Although coping and resilience both focus on processes of adaptation to challenges and their development, coping concepts and research have primarily focused on how individuals interact with challenges of daily life and manage stress, whereas resilience research focuses more broadly on how multiple systems afford the capacity for individuals to adapt successfully to challenges, supported by the operation of many systems (within and outside the individual) in concert. Coping research often focuses more than resilience on daily types of stressors, or what Zimmer-Gembeck and Skinner (2016) refer to as "everyday resilience" whereas resilience science focuses more attention on trauma, cumulative risk and adversity, and processes of overcoming chronic disadvantages or threats to healthy development that are significant enough to alter the course of development in potentially lasting and harmful ways. However, some scholars, including Compas, have defined coping more broadly to encompass processes that occur in response to diverse stressors, including "acute life events, chronic stressors, daily hassles, and conditions of chronic adversity" (Compas et al., 2017, p. 942). Compas and colleagues (2017) also describe coping as playing a primary role in the development of resilience and concomitant risk reduction for psychopathology in childhood and adolescence. We agree and suggest that this perspective points to the possibility that a deeper alignment and integration of these two traditions is feasible.

Multisystem Framework for the Study of Resilience

From the perspective of contemporary resilience theory and research, perhaps the most notable difference in the current state of these two traditions of theory and research on adaptive processes in the context of adversity is the rapid and marked shift of resilience science toward a multisystem framework (Masten, 2021; Masten et al., 2021; Ungar, 2021; Ungar & Theron, 2020; Walsh, 2016, 2020). This can be observed in resilience science focused on individuals, families, schools, communities, and social-ecological systems. This shift goes beyond considerations of the socialecological context in which an individual is developing (e.g., the influences of families, peers, schools, community organizations, culture, and other aspects of context on individual coping), to consider resilience at other systems levels (e.g., family resilience, community resilience) and the processes that may operate across levels related to the profound interdependence of resilience across systems.

Masten and colleagues (Masten et al., 2021) have noted the parallels in resilience factors and processes identified at different system levels concerned with human adaptation to adversity. Individuals, families, schools, and communities can all be viewed as complex and dynamic adaptive systems. In the literature on resilience in youth, families, schools, and communities, similar protective factors have been identified as important for resilience in the context of adversity (Masten et al., 2022; Norris et al., 2008; Ungar & Theron, 2020; Walsh, 2016; Wright et al., 2013). Examples include positive and trusting relationships; a sense of security, belonging, or cohesion; a sense of agency, purpose, or meaning; hope or optimism; positive views of the self, family, or group; and positive routines, rituals, and traditions. These common resilience indicators are believed to reflect the functioning of highly complex and dynamic systems that may have coevolved over the course of biological and cultural evolution because they facilitate survival of individuals and groups under diverse conditions. There is intense interest in discovering how these resilience processes develop and may operate synergistically to promote resilience, not only because the indicators of resilience are so similar across system levels, but also because they often co-occur. both within the lives of individuals and across levels. Norris and colleagues described a network of adaptive capacities in their community resilience framework. Developmental scientists are now developing strategies of modeling networks of resilience that shape human development (e.g., Höltge et al., 2021).

Components of a Multisystem Framework for the Study of Coping

Although coping has been considered at other systems levels (e.g., family coping, community coping), there are few systematic efforts to develop a multisystem framework of coping, although the components can be observed in the literature. The concept of family coping has a long history (see McCubbin, 1979), and recent literature is beginning to consider how the coping of a family is related to individual coping. Stroebe and Schut (2015), for example, discuss the transactional effects of family and individual coping in the situation of bereavement. Noting that there is a "huge gap" between the individual and family approaches to coping with bereavement, these authors propose a family level adaptation of their dual-process model of coping with bereavement originally developed for individual grieving, in an effort to address this gap. The proposed model is a multisystem model of coping that connects processes in the individual and family, noting parallel processes. The new model simultaneously considers individual- and family-level coping and how they may influence each other. They delineate processes at an integrated level as well as at the individual and family levels.

Coping at the community level is probably best captured by theory and research on disaster response and preparation, although distinctions between coping and resilience are lacking (Norris et al., 2008; Paton & Johnston, 2017). In the context of community response, coping can refer to deliberate collective efforts by communities to prepare or respond to threats posed by "all hazards" or specific threats in a particular region, such as flooding, fire, tornadoes, or other forms of disaster. Norris and colleagues (2008) referred to community resilience as a set of networked adaptive capacities, noting that resilience depends on both resources and their dynamic attributes or the capacity to mobilize what is needed to prevent or address threats posed by forecasted, current, or past calamities. There also is a considerable and understandably growing literature on coping with threats of climate change, such as drought (Tortajada et al., 2017).

Concepts of coping as system-level behavior also are evident in the literature on efforts by schools, organizations, governments, and businesses to cope with stress. Rodriguez and colleagues (2019) describe the emergence of organizational-level approaches to coping over the past quarter century, when the idea of "team coping" or "collective coping" and organizational climate became an important topic of discussion, extending the concept of coping to other levels beyond the individual. Rodriguez et al. (2019) also highlight growing attention to the interplay of individual and collective coping in organizations or what they term "co-active coping" and the importance of pursuing an organizational-level approach to stress and coping research in the workplace

and schools. These authors also note the fragmented quality of the literature on coping as applied to organizations. Nonetheless, schools, businesses, and other community organizations are expected to have plans in place for coping with threats, such as terror attacks, tornadoes, active shooters, and fires. The National Child Traumatic Stress Network has numerous handouts to download for parents and educators on responding to such threats, such as "Helping Your Family Cope: For Parents" or "Creating School Active Shooter/Intruder Drills."

Multisystem Framework as a Basis for Integrating Resilience and Coping

What is missing in the coping literature – and only recently garnering attention in the resilience literature - is a cohesive conceptual framework spanning multiple levels and systems. The fundamental concepts of coping appear to be applicable to many systems of human life and development, including families, schools, communities, and many kinds of organizations. The interplay of these systems undoubtedly influences the effectiveness and development of individual coping processes. There are a number of bright spots to guide the way, notably theories and studies of emotion socialization and the role of caregiving in the development of child coping. There is much work yet to be done, but the case for integration is compelling.

The COVID-19 pandemic has underscored the importance of understanding coping and resilience across multiple systems and levels of human functioning, from individual to families to schools and communities, and global organizations, such as the World Health Organization, stock markets, and businesses that manufacture and distribute vital commodities. These systems are influenced by myriad coping processes at multiple levels, individual and collective. Pandemic effects also have revealed profound economic, health, and access disparities and vulnerabilities, along with enormous gaps in global preparedness for responding effectively to masscasualty, cascading disasters. As a result, the pandemic has highlighted the urgency of integrating knowledge on multisystem resilience and related domains of research, including coping.

Summary: The coping literature can be unified with resilience science under an umbrella of multisystem adaptation to challenges over the human life course. A concerted effort to align coping and resilience theory and research could prove to be illuminating for efforts to improve adaptation to many life-threatening stressors that will be confronting human life and development for the foreseeable future. Coping research offers numerous insights into potentially malleable processes of appraisal and effective strategies for managing maladaptive responses to stress. Many examples are provided in this volume.

Conclusions and Future Directions

Resilience and coping literatures represent rich and overlapping traditions focused on understanding how individuals adapt to stressful experiences and challenges and how these processes develop and change over the life course. Both traditions have evolved over the decades toward more dynamic and systems-oriented perspectives, with growing attention to multiple systems beyond the individual that influence current responses to challenges and the development of strategies, skills, and resources for responding to the vicissitudes of life. As developmental systems theory infused the study of human development and adaptation, concepts of resilience and coping changed to include multisystem processes at multiple levels of analysis (Masten & Cicchetti, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Models and research gave more attention to influences of cultural, ecological, and historical contexts in the processes involved in responding to stress and adverse experiences. In both domains of work, scholars acknowledged the importance of experience and learning in human adaptation and recognized the need to understand resilience and coping across multiple levels of analysis, including neurobiological, psychological, and social levels of analysis (Eisenberg et al., 2009; Masten, 2007; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007).

There were notable differences in the focus and emphasis of these intertwined traditions. with coping research often focused on efforts by individuals to manage stress in daily life, appraisal processes, and emotion regulation, directed at explaining adaptive and maladaptive responses to stress. Other systems were considered primarily in regard to how they facilitated individual coping strategies. Resilience theory and research typically have been broader in focus, including selfregulation and problem-solving processes but also adaptive capacity embedded in relationships, cultural traditions, and community support systems of many kinds. Now, resilience theory and research are increasingly focused on understanding how adaptive systems at multiple levels operate in concert and how systems at different levels influence each other. The emergence of multisystem resilience (Ungar, 2021), an effort to integrate science on resilience across disciplines and multiple system levels, has increased some of the differences in research on resilience and coping. We suggest that it would benefit both domains for research on coping to expand theoretical frameworks to integrate multisystem models and align with emerging multisystem models of resilience.

A potential area ripe for integration involves research on cultural adaptation, where

individuals, families, and communities may share a common challenge or threat (i.e., ethnic-racial discrimination) that disrupts collective well-being. Studies on both resilience and coping have expanded over the past two decades to include sociocultural contexts. This emerging body of work has highlighted the importance of using culture-specific coping strategies to promote positive adaptation. However, research is needed to understand how the combination of culture-specific coping and traditional ways of coping are related to resilient adaptation. Recent empirical evidence suggests that the utilization of multiple coping strategies may be beneficial to marginalized individuals. For example, research has shown that low-income individuals who used a shiftand-persist coping strategy (i.e., the ability to reappraise stress and regulate emotions [shifting], while maintaining a focus on the future [persisting]) have better psychological and physiological outcomes (Chen et al., 2012). Given that most marginalized individuals are concerned with the collective wellbeing of their families and communities (Daly et al., 1995), a multisystem theoretical framework of coping could offer insights on how coping across multiple systems intersects to promote positive adaptation among marginalized youth and their families.

The integration of coping and resilience science has the potential to advance theory and improve research and its translation into practice and policy by elucidating the processes linking individual adaptation to historical, cultural, and ecological contexts, as well as the adaptive capacity and coordinated functioning of systems beyond the individual. It is important to understand not only how coping and resilience capacity develop in individuals, but also how these processes are related to the adaptation of other systems connected and interacting directly or indirectly with individual development and functioning, including adaptive functioning of families, communities, economies, societies, social service systems, and other complex, adaptive socioecological systems. This knowledge could inform interventions and efforts to prepare for large-scale threats posed by epidemics, disasters, and political conflicts. As more evidence emerges on multisystem adaptive processes, how they influence each other, and how they change in response to experience, education, or interventions, researchers will be better prepared to provide guidance and expertise to mitigate risk and foster positive changes in human lives and well-being.

References

- Aldwin, C. M. (2004). Culture, coping, and resilience to stress. Paper presented at the proceedings from the first *International Seminar* on Operationalization of Gross National Happiness (pp. 563–573). Centre for Bhutan Studies.
- Anderson, R. E., & Stevenson, H. C. (2019). RECASTing racial stress and trauma: Theorizing the healing potential of racial socialization in families. *American Psychologist*, 74(1), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000392
- Bailey, T. M., Chung, Y. B., Williams, W. S., Singh, A. A., & Terrell, H. K. (2011). Development and validation of the Internalized Racial Oppression Scale for Black individuals. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 58(4), 481–493. https:// doi.org/10.1037/a0023585
- Berman, G., & Paradies, Y. (2010). Racism, disadvantage and multiculturalism: Towards effective anti-racist praxis. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 33(2), 214–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01419870802302272
- Berry, J. W. (2005). Acculturation: Living successfully in two cultures. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29(6), 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijintrel.2005.07.013
- Blackmon, S. K. M., Coyle, L. D., Davenport, S., Owens, A. C., & Sparrow, C. (2016). Linking

racial-ethnic socialization to culture and racespecific coping among African American college students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *42*(6), 549–576. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0095798415617865

- Brody, G. H., Yu, T., Chen, Y.-f., Kogan, S. M., Evans, G. W., Beach, S. R. H., Windle, M., Simons, R. L., Gerrard, M., Gibbons, F. X., & Philibert, R. A. (2013). Cumulative socioeconomic status risk, allostatic load, and adjustment: A prospective latent profile analysis with contextual and genetic protective factors. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(5), 913–927. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028847
- Casey, B. J., Heller, A. S., Gee, D. G., & Cohen, A. O. (2019). Development of the emotional brain. *Neuroscience Letters*, 693, 29–34. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.11.055
- Chen, E., Miller, G. E., Lachman, M. E., Gruenewald, T. L., & Seeman, T. E. (2012). Protective factors for adults from low-childhood socioeconomic circumstances: The benefits of shift-and-persist for allostatic load. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 74(2), 178–186. https:// doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31824206fd
- Clauss-Ehlers, C. S. (2008). Sociocultural factors, resilience, and coping: Support for a culturally sensitive measure of resilience. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 29(3), 197–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. appdev.2008.02.004
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Cunningham, M., Francois, S., Rodriguez, G., & Lee, X. W. (2018). Resilience and coping: An

example in African American adolescents. Research in Human Development, 15(3–4), 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15427609.2018.1502547

- Daly, A., Jennings, J., Beckett, J. O., & Leashore, B. R. (1995). Effective coping strategies of African Americans. *Social Work*, 40(2), 240–248. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/40.2.240
- Dunbar, A. S., Leerkes, E. M., Coard, S. I., Supple, A. J., & Calkins, S. (2017). An integrative conceptual model of parental racial/ethnic and emotion socialization and links to children's social-emotional development among African American families. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdep.12218
- Eisenberg, N., Valiente, C., &. Sulik, M. J. (2009). How the study of regulation can inform the study of coping. In E. A. Skinner & M. J.
 Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.), *Coping and the development of regulation* (pp. 75–86). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.-in-Chief), *New directions in child and adolescent development*. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cd.244
- Erikson, E. H. (1968). *Identity: Youth and crisis*. Norton.
- Ferguson, G. M., Bornstein, M. H., & Pottinger, A. M. (2012). Tridimensional acculturation and adaptation among Jamaican adolescent–mother dyads in the United States. *Child Development*, 83(5), 1486–1493. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01787.x
- Garcia Coll, C., Crnic, K., Lamberty, G., Wasik, B. H., Jenkins, R., Garcia, H. V., & McAdoo, H. P. (1996). An integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children. *Child Development*, 67(5), 1891–1914. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996. tb01834.x
- Garmezy, N. (1983). Stressors of childhood. In N. Garmezy & M. Rutter (Eds.), *Stress, coping, and development* (pp. 43–84). McGraw-Hill.
- Gone, J. P., Hartmann, W. E., Pomerville, A., Wendt, D. C., Klem, S. H., & Burrage, R. L. (2019). The impact of historical trauma on health outcomes for indigenous populations in

the USA and Canada: A systematic review. *American Psychologist*, 74(1), 20–35. http://dx. doi.org/10.1037/amp0000338

- Graham, J. R., West, L. M., Martinez, J., & Roemer, L. (2016). The mediating role of internalized racism in the relationship between racist experiences and anxiety symptoms in a Black American sample. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 22(3), 369–376. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000073
- Höltge, J., Theron, L., Cowden, R. G., Govender, K., Maximo, S. I., Carranza, J. S., ... & Ungar, M. (2021). A cross-country network analysis of adolescent resilience. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 68(3), 580–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jadohealth.2020.07.010
- Huebner, G., Boothby, N., Aber, J. L., Darmstadt, G. L., Diaz, A., ... & Zeanah, C. H. (2016). Beyond survival: The case for investing in young children globally. *National Academy of Medicine Perspective Series*. https://doi.org/10.31478/ 201606b
- Hughes, D., Rodriguez, J., Smith, E. P., Johnson, D. J., Stevenson, H. C., & Spicer, P. (2006).
 Parents' ethnic-racial socialization practices: A review of research and directions for future study. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 747–770. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.747
- Huynh, Q., Nguyen, A., & Benet-Martinez, V. (2011). Bicultural identity integration. In S. Schwartz, K. Luyckx, & V. Vignoles (Eds.), *Handbook of identity theory and research* (pp. 827–842). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7988-9_35
- James, S. A. (1994). John Henryism and the health of African-Americans. Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry: An International Journal of Cross-Cultural Health Research, 18(2), 163–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01379448
- Jones, C. P. (2000). Levels of racism: A theoretic framework and a gardener's tale. *American Journal of Public Health*, 90(8), 1212–1215. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.90.8.1212
- Kuo, B. C. H. (2011). Culture's consequences on coping: Theories, evidences, and dimensionalities. *Journal of Cross-Cultural*

Psychology, *42*(6), 1084–1100. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0022022110381126

- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. Springer Publishing Company.
- Liebenberg, L., Ungar, M., & LeBlanc, J. C. (2013). The CYRM-12: A brief measure of resilience. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *104*, e131–e135. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03405676
- Liu, J. J. W., Reed, M., & Girard, T. A. (2017). Advancing resilience: An integrative, multisystem model of resilience. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 111, 111–118. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.02.007
- Luthar, S. S. (2006). Resilience in development: A synthesis of research across five decades. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology: Vol. 3. Risk, disorder, and adaptation* (2nd ed., pp. 739–795). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Masten, A. S. (1989). Resilience in development: Implications of the study of successful adaptation for developmental psychopathology. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *The emergence of a discipline: Rochester Symposium on Developmental Psychopathology* (Vol. 1, pp. 261–294). Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Masten, A. S. (2007). Resilience in developing systems: Progress and promise as the fourth wave rises. *Development and Psychopathology*, 19, 921–930. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0954579407000442
- Masten, A. S. (2014). Global perspectives on resilience in children and youth. *Child Development*, 85(1), 6–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12205
- Masten, A. S. (2018). Resilience theory and research on children and families: Past, present, and promise. *Journal of Family Theory and Review*, *10*(1), 12–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12255
- Masten, A. S. (2021). Resilience of children in disasters: A multisystem perspective. *International Journal of Psychology*, 56(1), 1–11. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ ijop.12737
- Masten, A. S., Best, K. M., & Garmezy, N. (1990). Resilience and development: Contributions from

the study of children who overcome adversity. *Development and Psychopathology*, 2(4), 425–444. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579400005812

Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2016). Resilience in development: Progress and transformation. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology, Vol. 4: Risk, resilience, and intervention* (3rd ed., pp. 271–333). John Wiley & Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781119125556.devpsy406

Masten, A. S., & Coatsworth, J. D. (1995).
Competence, resilience, and psychopathology.
In D. Cicchetti & D. Cohen (Eds.),
Developmental psychopathology: Vol 2. Risk,
disorder, and adaptation (pp. 715–752). Wiley.

Masten, A. S., & Garmezy, N. (1985). Risk, vulnerability, and protective factors in developmental psychopathology. In B. B. Lahey and A. E. Kazdin (Eds.), *Advances in clinical child psychology* (Vol. 8, pp. 1–52). Plenum Press.

Masten, A. S., Lucke, C. M., Nelson, K. M., & Stallworthy, I. C. (2021). Resilience in development and psychopathology: Multisystem perspectives. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 17, 16.1–16.29. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-081219-120307

Masten, A. S., Nelson, K. M., & Gillespie, S. (2022). Resilience and student engagement: Promotive and protective processes in schools. In A. Reschly & S. Christenson (Eds.), *The handbook of research on student engagement* (2nd ed., pp. 239–255). Springer Science.

McCubbin, H. I. (1979). Integrating coping behavior in family stress theory. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 41(2), 237–244. https:// doi.org/10.2307/351693

Motti-Stefanidi, F. (2015). Identity development in the context of the risk and resilience. In K. C. McLean & M. Syed (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of identity development* (pp. 472–489). Oxford University Press.

Motti-Stefanidi, F. (2018). Resilience among immigrant youth: The role of culture, development and acculturation. *Developmental Review*, 50, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dr.2018.04.002 Motti-Stefanidi, F. (2019). Resilience among immigrant youths: Who adapts well, and why? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(5), 510–517. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721419861412

Murry, V. M., Butler-Barnes, S. T., Mayo-Gamble, T. L., & Inniss-Thompson, M. N. (2018). Excavating new constructs for family stress theories in the context of everyday life experiences of Black American families. *Journal* of Family Theory & Review, 10(2), 384–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12256

Murphy, L. B., & Associates (1962). The widening world of childhood: Paths toward mastery. Basic Books Inc.

Murphy, L. B., & Moriarty, A. E. (1976). Vulnerability, coping, and growth: From infancy to adolescence. Yale University Press.

Neblett, E. W., Jr., Rivas-Drake, D., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2012). The promise of racial and ethnic protective factors in promoting ethnic minority youth development. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6, 295–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1750-8606.2012.00239.x

Norris, F. H., Stevens, S. P., Pfefferbaum, B., Wyche, K. F., & Pfefferbaum, R. L. (2008). Community resilience as a metaphor, theory, set of capacities, and strategy for disaster readiness. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41, 127–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-007-9156-6

Panter-Brick, C. (2015). Culture and resilience: Next steps for theory and practice. In L. C. Theron, L. Liebenberg, & M. Ungar (Eds.), Youth resilience and culture: Commonalities and complexities (pp. 233–244). Springer.

Panter-Brick, C., & Leckman, J. F. (2013). Editorial commentary: Resilience in child development – interconnected pathways to well-being. *Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 54(4), 333–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12057

Paton, D., & Johnston, D. (2017). *Disaster resilience: An integrated approach* (2nd ed.). Charles C. Thomas.

Rivas-Drake, D., Seaton, E. K., Markstrom, C., Quintana, S., Syed, M., Lee, R. M., ... Ethnic and Racial Identity in the 21st Century Study Group. (2014). Ethnic and racial identity in adolescence: Implications for psychosocial, academic, and health outcomes. *Child Development*, *85*(1), 40–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12200.

- Rodriguez, I., Kozusznik, M. W., Peiró, J. M., & Tordera, N. (2019). Individual, co-active and collective coping and organizational stress: A longitudinal study. *European Management Journal*, 37(1), 86–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. emj.2018.06.002
- Rutter, M. (1983). Stress, coping, and development: Some issues and some questions. In N. Garmezy & M. Rutter (Eds.), *Stress, coping, and development in children* (pp. 1–41). McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Rutter, M. (2012). Resilience as a dynamic concept. Development and Psychopathology, 24(2), 335–344. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579412000028
- Sanders, J., Munford, R., & Boden, J. (2017). Culture and context: The differential impact of culture, risks and resources on resilience among vulnerable adolescents. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 79, 517–526. http://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.07.007
- Sanson, A. V., Van Hoorn, J. H., & Burke, S. E. L. (2019). Responding to the impacts of climate change on children and youth. *Child Development Perspectives*, *13*(40), 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12342
- Scott, J. C., Pinderhughes, E. E., & Johnson, S. K. (2020). How does racial context matter?: Family preparation-for-bias messages and racial coping reported by Black youth. *Child Development*, *91*(5), 1471–1490. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13332
- Shonkoff, J. P., Boyce, W. T., Levitt, P., Martinez, F. D., & McEwen, B. (2021). Leveraging the biology of adversity and resilience to transform pediatric practice. *Pediatrics*, 147(2), e20193845. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3845
- Shonkoff, J. P., Garner, A. S., The Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, Committee on Early Childhood, Adoption, and Dependent Care, & Section on Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics. (2012). Early childhood adversity, toxic stress,

and the role of the pediatrician: Translating developmental science into lifelong health. *Pediatrics, 129*(1), e224–31. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2662.

- Siegel, B. S., Dobbins, M. I., Earls, M. F., Garner, A. S., McGuinn, L., Pascoe, J., & Wood, D. L. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, 129(1), e232–e246. https://doi.org/ 10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- Sirin, S. R., Ryce, P., Gupta, T., & Rogers-Sirin, L. (2013). The role of acculturative stress on mental health symptoms for immigrant adolescents: A longitudinal investigation. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(4), 736–748. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0028398
- Sirin, S. R., Sin, E., Clingain, C., & Rogers-Sirin, L. (2019). Acculturative stress and mental health: Implications for immigrant-origin youth. *Pediatric Clinics*, 66(3), 641–653. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pcl.2019.02.010
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Sosoo, E. E., Bernard, D. L., & Neblett, E. W., Jr. (2020). The influence of internalized racism on the relationship between discrimination and anxiety. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 26(4), 570–580. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/cdp0000320
- Spencer, M. B., Dupree, D., & Hartmann, T. (1997). A phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST): A selforganization perspective in context. *Development and Psychopathology*, 9(4), 817–833. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579497001454
- Stroebe, M., & Schut, H. (2015). Family matters in bereavement: Toward an integrative intrainterpersonal coping model. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *10*(6), 873–879. https:// doi.org/10.1177%2F1745691615598517
- Suárez-Orozco, C., Motti-Stefanidi, F., Marks, A.,
 & Katsiaficas, D. (2018). An integrative risk and resilience model for understanding the adaptation of immigrant-origin children and

youth. American Psychologist, 73(6), 781–796. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000265

- Taylor, R. D., & Wang, M. C. (Eds.). (2000). Resilience across contexts: Family, work, culture, and community. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Taylor, S. E., & Stanton, A. L. (2007). Coping resources, coping processes, and mental health. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 3, 377–401. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. clinpsy.3.022806.091520
- Tortajada, C., Kastner, M. J., Buurman, J., & Biswas, A. K. (2017). The California drought: Coping responses and resilience building. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 78, 97–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.09.012
- Umaña-Taylor, A. J., & Hill, N. E. (2020). Ethnicracial socialization in the family: A decade's advance on precursors and outcomes. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(1), 244–271. https://doi. org/10.1111/jomf.12622
- Ungar, M. (2018). Systemic resilience: Principles and processes for a science of change in the context of adversity. *Ecology and Society*, 23(4), Article 34. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-10385-230434
- Ungar, M. (Ed.). (2021). Multisystemic resilience: Adaptation and transformation in changing contexts. Oxford University Press. [PDF of whole book can be downloaded for free] http:// fdslive.oup.com/www.oup.com/academic/pdf/ openaccess/9780190095888.pdf
- Ungar, M., Ghazinour, M., & Richter, J. (2013). Annual research review: What is resilience within the social ecology of human development? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(4), 348–366. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jcpp.12025
- Ungar, M., & Theron, L. (2020). Resilience and mental health: How multisystemic processes contribute to positive outcomes. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(5), 441–448. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30434-1
- Utsey, S. O., Bolden, M. A., Lanier, Y., & Williams III, O. (2007). Examining the role of culturespecific coping as a predictor of resilient outcomes in African Americans from high-risk urban communities. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 33(1), 75–93. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0095798406295094

- Wadsworth, M. E., Ahlkvist, J. A., McDonald, A., & Tilghman-Osborne, E. M. (2018). Future directions in research and intervention with youths in poverty. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 47(6), 1023–1038. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2018.1485108
- Walsh, F. (2016). Strengthening family resilience (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Walsh, F. (2020). Loss and resilience in the time of COVID-19: Meaning making, hope, and transcendence. *Family Process*, 59(3), 898–911. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12588
- Wang, M. C., & Gordon, E. W. (1994). Educational resilience in inner city America: Challenges and prospects. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Wang, M. T., & Huguley, J. P. (2012). Parental racial socialization as a moderator of the effects of racial discrimination on educational success among African American adolescents. *Child Development*, 83(5), 1716–1731. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01808.x
- Werner, E. E., & Smith, R. S. (1982). Vulnerable but invincible: A study of resilient children. McGraw-Hill.
- World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, & World Bank Group (2018). Nurturing care for early childhood development: A framework for helping children survive and thrive to transform health and human potential. World Health Organization. https://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/272603/ 9789241514064-eng.pdf
- Wright, M. O'D., Masten, A. S., & Narayan, A. J. (2013). Resilience processes in development: Four waves of research on positive adaptation in the context of adversity. In S. Goldstein & R. B. Brooks (Eds.), *Handbook of resilience in children* (2nd ed., pp. 15–37). Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4614-3661-4_2
- Yasui, M., Dishion, T. J., Stormshak, E., & Ball, A. (2015). Socialization of culture and coping with discrimination among American Indian families: Examining cultural correlates of youth outcomes. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 6(3), 317–341. https://doi.org/10.1086/682575
- Yoshikawa, H., Wuermli, A. J., Britto, P. R., Dreyer, B., Leckman, J. F., Lye, S. J., Ponguta, L. A., Richter, L. M., & Stein, A. (2020). Effects

of the global coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic on early childhood development: Short- and long-term risk and mitigating program and policy actions. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 223, 188–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpeds.2020.05.020 Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Vol. 4. Risk, resilience, and intervention* (3rd ed., pp. 485–545). Wiley.

Part III Neurophysiological and Experiential Bases of the Development of Coping

8 The Development of Neurobiology Underlying Stress and Coping

Emily M. Cohodes, Elizabeth R. Kitt, Lucinda M. Sisk, and Dylan G. Gee

Introduction

Stress is a ubiquitous human experience that is prevalent worldwide but, at toxic levels, it can have detrimental effects on major societal domains including public health, economics, and education (van der Kolk et al., 2012). Although decades of research inform our understanding of the pernicious social, emotional, and biological effects of exposure to environmental adversity for individuals across the lifespan (Boyce, 2007; Shonkoff et al., 2012), exposure to stress during infancy, childhood, and adolescence – when development is especially pronounced – has particularly salient, long-lasting effects on biological and psychological outcomes (Lupien et al., 2009; Shonkoff et al., 2012).

Investigation of the mechanisms by which stress "gets under the skin" early in life to impact development has underscored the role of stress in shaping the developing brain. The human brain has evolved highly complex and sensitive circuitry to detect and respond to stress (McEwen, 1993; Teicher et al., 2002). Adaptive responses, such as threat detection and subsequent modifications to behavior, are orchestrated by neurobiological systems that integrate information from systems including sensory perception and processing, hormonal responses, and conscious processing (McEwen et al., 2015). Early environmental inputs, such as exposure to toxic stress, can drastically shape the development of the body's stress response systems in ways that impact subsequent coping across the lifespan.

Here we review current theory regarding the neurobiological systems responsible for coordinating the stress response in humans and highlight the normative development of these systems. We discuss the ways in which exposure to stress can manifest in altered neurobiological development and focus on the effects of exposure to stress on the development of frontolimbic circuitry. Given the vast heterogeneity in outcomes following stress exposure, we emphasize the importance of harnessing a dimensional approach to investigating the impact of stress exposure on neurobiological

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Director's Early Independence Award (DP5OD021370), Brain & Behavior Research Foundation (National Alliance for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression; NARSAD) Young Investigator Award, Jacobs Foundation Early Career Research Fellowship, and the Society for Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology (Division 53 of the American Psychological Association) Richard "Dick" Abidin Early Career Award and Grant to DGG; a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program Award (NSF DGE-1752134), The Society for Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology (Division 53 of the American Psychological Association) Donald Routh Dissertation Grant, the American Psychological Foundation Elizabeth Munsterberg Koppitz Child Psychology Graduate Fellowship, a Dissertation Funding Award from the Society for Research in Child Development, and a Dissertation Research Award from the American Psychological Association to EMC; a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program Award (NSF DGE-1752134) to ERK; and a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program Award (NSF DGE-1752134) to LMS.

systems underlying stress and coping. Specifically, we highlight three features of stress exposure – stressor type, caregiver involvement, and developmental timing – as particularly important factors that may help to elucidate more precise mechanisms by which stress affects the developing brain. Finally, we review methodological considerations for the continued study of the neurobiological systems underlying stress and coping, and briefly review implications for both clinical practice and policy.

Neurobiological Systems Underlying Stress and Coping

Several theories posit differing views on how stressful experiences effectively "get under the skin" and alter the course of neurobiological development (McEwen, 2012). Prominently, the limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (LHPA) axis plays an important role in regulating the body's stress response system (Loman & Gunnar, 2010; McEwen & Akil, 2020) via modulation of the production of hormones that signal stress. These hormones, known as glucocorticoids, interact with the brain in order to increase or decrease an organism's readiness to either confront or, alternatively, flee from threat (Herman et al., 2005). Chronic, long-term exposure to both low-level and acute stressors can cause dysregulation of the LHPA axis, resulting in both extended production and elevated baseline levels of glucocorticoids in the brain (McEwen, 2012; McEwen & Magarinos, 1997; Yehuda et al., 2016).

Chronically elevated levels of glucocorticoids can have long-lasting effects on the human brain (Koss & Gunnar, 2018; McEwen, 2012; Vyas et al., 2016), though how these effects manifest, specifically, may vary by region. Extensive hyperactivity of the LHPA axis may also result in disruption of the

negative feedback loop that is typically responsible for regulating glucocorticoid production, such that elevated glucocorticoid levels may, over time, predispose individuals to experience heightened reactivity to subsequent stressors (Dobrova-Krol et al., 2008; Gunnar et al., 2001: Lupien et al., 2000: Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006). In contrast, there is also evidence that exposure to early-life stress can lead to blunted cortisol production in response to acute stressors (Gunnar et al., 2009; Joos et al., 2019; Kircanski et al., 2019; Koss et al., 2016; McLaughlin et al., 2015; Peckins et al., 2012). Given the complexity of these findings, and additional research suggesting that individual-level factors such as sex may moderate differential patterns of LHPA axis responsivity following stress exposure (Hackman et al., 2012), further research is needed to fully elucidate how stress exposure may contribute to either hypoactivity or hyperactivity of the LHPA axis (Joos et al., 2019). Nonetheless, there is evidence that stress exposure can recalibrate the LHPA axis, resulting in alterations to the development of brain structure and function, as well as aberrant patterns of stress reactivity.

Limbic regions _ including the hippocampus, a region of the brain involved in memory and decision-making, and the amygdala, a region adjacent to the hippocampus that contributes to the fear response, among other roles – appear to be particularly sensitive to stress (reviewed in McEwen et al., 2016). These regions are densely innervated with glucocorticoid receptors, making them particularly susceptible to the effects of overactivity of the LHPA axis (Jacobson & Sapolsky, 1991; McEwen, 2012; McEwen et al., 2016). Over time, chronically elevated levels of cortisol may result in atrophy and even death of hippocampal pyramidal neurons (McEwen et al., 1995; Uno et al., 1989; Woolley et al., 1990), in addition to other

morphological changes (McEwen & Milner, 2007). Numerous animal and human studies have also implicated the prefrontal cortex (PFC) – a region thought to serve as the executive hub of the brain – as playing a major role in the coordination of the stress response (reviewed in McEwen et al., 2016). The PFC is responsible for integrating information from other systems and regions, and is heavily involved in orchestrating executive functions such as decision-making (Hiser & Koenigs, 2018; Kamigaki, 2019). Among individuals with a history of stress exposure, differences in connectivity between limbic regions and the PFC have been frequently observed (Fan et al., 2014; Gee, Gabard-Durnam, et al., 2013; Jedd et al., 2015), as have structural changes in neural morphology in this region (Cook & Wellman, 2004; McEwen & Morrison, 2013; McEwen et al., 2016). Whether such neural changes are associated with coping is less well understood; however, the individual nature of coping strategy utilization suggests that variability in the neural impacts of stress may be related to variability in coping. Taken together, these regions comprise stress-sensitive frontolimbic circuitry, which has emerged as an important mediator between stress exposure and symptom emergence (Tottenham, 2015).

Effects of Stress on Neurobiological Systems Underlying Stress and Coping

As previously discussed, a significant body of literature has demonstrated that exposure to stressful and traumatic events during childhood can affect systems throughout the brain, with converging evidence across human and animal research that amygdala-prefrontalhippocampal circuitry may be particularly susceptible to environmental stress. The sensitivity of these structures to stress may be due to their dense innervation with glucocorticoid receptors (de Kloet et al., 2005; Honkaniemi et al., 1992; Lupien et al., 2009; Plotsky et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2014; Woolley et al., 1990). Chronic stress has been shown to be associated with increased dendritic arborization and spine density of the amygdala (Mitra et al., 2005; Vyas et al., 2002, 2003), as well as with atrophy in regions involved in downregulating the stress response, such as the medial PFC (mPFC) and the hippocampus (Magarinos et al., 1997; Radley et al., 2006; Vyas et al., 2002).

Individuals exposed to early-life stress demonstrate differences in amygdala volume, though findings are mixed, with some studies showing increased volume (Heyn et al., 2018; Keding & Herringa, 2015; Mehta et al., 2009; Tottenham et al., 2010), a finding consistent with stress-induced amygdalar neurogenesis (Hölzel et al., 2010; McEwen et al., 2016). Notably, however, other studies have reported that individuals exposed to early-life stress exhibit smaller amygdala volumes, relative to individuals without a history of early-life stress exposure (Hanson, Nacewicz, et al., 2015; McLaughlin et al., 2016), and indeed some studies have found no differences in amygdala volume between stress-exposed and nonexposed individuals (Bremner et al., 1997; Carrion et al., 2001). Children with a history of stress exposure also exhibit relatively reduced prefrontal, striatal, and hippocampal volumes compared to their counterparts without a history of stress exposure (Dannlowski et al., 2012; Edmiston et al., 2011), possibly consistent with stress-related neuronal atrophy (Magarinos et al., 1997; Radley et al., 2006; Vyas et al., 2002). Research has also observed alterations in white matter tract integrity in association with early-life stress exposure, including in tracts connecting limbic and prefrontal regions (Bick et al., 2015; Hanson et al., 2013; Ho et al., 2017; Kircanski et al., 2019). Changes in white matter tract integrity may reflect disruptions to processes such as myelination (Antontseva et al., 2020; Bonnefil et al., 2019), and/or experience-dependent plasticity in white matter tracts (Hofstetter et al., 2013; Magalhães et al., 2017).

In addition to shaping structural changes of the developing brain, stress exposure is also implicated in alterations in neural function. Both children and adults with histories of exposure to stress demonstrate greater amygdala reactivity in response to emotional and threat-related cues (Dannlowski et al., 2013; Gee. Gabard-Durnam, et al.. 2013: Tottenham et al., 2011; van Harmelen et al., 2013) as well as greater activation in the mPFC and ventrolateral PFC in response to emotional faces and tasks that require cognitive control (Ganzel et al., 2013; Garrett et al., 2012; Godinez et al., 2016). Together, greater amygdala reactivity and increased prefrontal activation may indicate increased sensitivity to emotional and threat-related stimuli, which, in turn, may require greater top-down regulation by the PFC (Tottenham, 2015). Additionally, such patterns of activation may indicate delayed maturation of the emotion-regulatory function of this circuit (Herringa, 2017). Atypical functional connectivity of this frontolimbic circuit has also been observed in individuals with a history of stress exposure. Studies have identified atypical patterns of functional connectivity between the amygdala and the PFC (Burghy et al., 2012), medial prefrontal gyrus (Jedd et al., 2015), pregenual cingulate (Fan et al., 2014; Marusak et al., 2015), subgenual cingulate (Herringa et al., 2013), and dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (Wolf & Herringa, 2016). In sum, early-life stress exerts robust effects on the development of both the structure and function of frontolimbic circuitry, which has important implications for the development of symptomatology following early-life stress exposure.

The substantial body of research supporting links between stress exposure, frontolimbic circuitry, and psychiatric symptoms motivates investigation of how, and in what order, these associations emerge during development. Current evidence indicates that stressassociated changes in frontolimbic functional connections can be induced in juvenile mice (Johnson et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2017), and have been observed in children as young as ages 4-7 (Park et al., 2018) and through adolescence (Gee, Gabard-Durnam, et al., 2013; Herringa et al., 2013; Herzberg et al., 2021; Pagliaccio et al., 2015). Research examining structural changes in frontolimbic circuitry has also found that structural changes in tracts connecting limbic and prefrontal regions mediate associations between exposure to stressors (in this case, food insecurity) and psychiatric symptoms in late childhood and adolescence (Dennison et al., 2019). Additionally, frontolimbic functional connectivity may continue to mediate associations between childhood stress exposure and psychiatric symptomatology into adulthood (Burghy et al., 2012; Kaiser et al., 2018). A nascent body of research investigating the neural correlates of maternal stress exposure on infants has also found that preterm infants whose mothers reported higher numbers of stressful life events exhibit altered structural connections in white matter tracts connecting limbic and prefrontal regions (Lautarescu et al., 2020). Taken together, there is emerging evidence that the structure and function of frontolimbic circuits are altered in conjunction with exposure to early-life stress, and that these changes may mediate associations with elevated symptomatology. In order to unpack these complex associations and leverage such findings for clinical utility, it will be important to further explore how elements of stressors such as type, timing, and chronicity affect development of frontolimbic circuitry.

The Importance of a Dimensional Approach to Considering the Effects of Stress on the Developing Brain

As already reviewed, decades of research have documented associations between exposure to stress and alterations in the development of the neurobiological systems underlying stress and coping. Historically, in order to assess the effects of stress on neural structure and function, researchers have relied on one of two primary approaches: amalgamating distinct forms of stress exposure into a unitary construct of general stress exposure (e.g., De Bellis et al., 1999) or, alternatively, examining a single type of stress in isolation (e.g., Tottenham et al., 2010; Zeanah et al., 2003). However, there has been a recent proliferation of dimensional models that propose specific features of stress that may differentially impact the developing brain (Cohodes et al., 2021; Sheridan & McLaughlin, 2014). In the section that follows, we highlight three such factors that may moderate the effect of stress on the developing brain: the type of stress exposure, whether a caregiver is involved in stress exposure, and the developmental timing of stress exposure. Furthermore, we draw attention to interactions between these features of stress in order to demonstrate the importance of rich characterizations of stress exposures as a mechanism for understanding the effects of stress on the developing brain, and further, for differentiating the range of stressors with which youth are asked to cope.

Type of Stress Exposure

Recent work has demonstrated the importance of taking a granular approach to the characterization of specific types of stress exposures (e.g., differentiating physical abuse and neglect), and examining dissociable associations between specific types of stress and neural structure and function. In this vein, Edmiston and colleagues (2011) compared gray matter volume in adolescents exposed to abuse (physical or emotional) versus neglect (physical or emotional). Experiences of physical abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect were all associated with reduced rostral PFC volumes: however, there were differential associations between these exposures and gray matter volumes in other regions, including the dorsolateral PFC, insula, amygdala, and hippocampus (e.g., physical abuse was associated with decreased gray matter volume in the dorsolateral and orbitofrontal cortices, insula, and ventral striatum whereas physical neglect was associated with decreases in gray matter volume of the cerebellum). Furthermore, this study did not identify any associations between gray matter alterations and either emotional or sexual abuse. Thus, this pattern of findings indicates potentially important, dissociable effects of specific types of stress exposure on structural brain development. This line of work further suggests that solely considering generalized exposure to a unitary construct of stress may obscure meaningful specificity. In addition to these findings related to gray matter alterations, previous research has also distinguished differential impacts of distinct types of stress on white matter connectivity in youth (Dennison et al., 2019). Caregiver neglect and food insecurity were associated with increased white matter integrity in the uncinate fasciculus; in contrast, abuse was associated with reduced white matter integrity in the external capsule. These white matter tracts are implicated in reward processing, with reduced integrity associated with deficits across behavioral and neural indices of reward processing (Dennison et al., 2019). As the uncinate fasciculus connects the rostral temporal lobe (including parts of the limbic system, such as the amygdala) with the orbital and medial PFC, the authors propose that the increased white matter integrity in the uncinate fasciculus associated with caregiver neglect and food insecurity may reflect accelerated development of PFC–amygdala connectivity. Furthermore, the reduced white matter integrity in the external capsule, which connects the striatum with the medial and ventral PFC, may relate to altered reward learning (Dennison et al., 2019). Taken together, these studies indicate that specific forms of stress exposure may be associated with disparate alterations in the developing brain and underscore the importance of a more fine-grained approach to assessing the effects of stress on neurodevelopment.

Evidence for the Dissociable Effects of Exposure to Threat and Deprivation

One particularly well-developed line of research in this area has examined the distinction between stress exposures characterized by the occurrence of experiences that signify harm ("threat") versus exposures characterized by a dearth of expected inputs from the environment ("deprivation"; McLaughlin et al., 2014; McLaughlin & Sheridan, 2016: Sheridan & McLaughlin, 2014). This work has identified a dissociation in behavioral outcomes between these two broad categories of stress exposure. Current theory suggests that threat-related exposures are associated with alterations in fear learning and emotion processing while deprivation-related exposures are associated with more detrimental cognitive and executive functioning outcomes (Sheridan & McLaughlin, 2014). Specifically, youth exposed to stressors characterized by deprivation exhibited reduced cognitive control in a neutral (i.e., nonemotionally valanced) context relative to their stress-exposed counterparts who experienced stressors characterized by threat (Lambert, King, et al., 2017; Machlin et al., 2019). Furthermore,

exposure to threat has been associated with reduced use of automatic emotion regulation strategies (Lambert, King, et al., 2017), as well as alterations in fear learning (Machlin et al., 2019), whereas exposure to deprivation was not associated with either of these observed outcomes (Lambert, King, et al., 2017; Machlin et al., 2019). Taken together, these results provide further evidence of dissociable behavioral manifestations of these two features of stress exposure.

At the neural level, preliminary evidence indicates that exposure to experiences characterized by threat and deprivation may also have differential impacts on frontolimbic circuitry (i.e., the neural regions implicated in the core affective processes of fear learning, emotion processing, and cognitive and executive functioning). Several studies have identified associations between exposure to threatrelated stress and alterations in prefrontalamygdala connectivity. Specifically, exposure to threat-related stress was associated with more strongly negative ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC)-amygdala task-based functional connectivity (Peverill et al., 2019), with additional evidence for a dose-dependent association between the severity of threatrelated stress exposure and negativity of amygdala-dorsolateral PFC resting-state functional connectivity (Kaiser et al., 2018). However, it is important to note that much of the evidence for the proposed association between exposure to threat-related stress and alterations in prefrontal-amygdala connectivity has been derived without controlling for exposure to deprivation; thus, the specificity of these effects to threat-related exposures, uniquely, remains a fundamental question. In contrast, after adjusting for exposure to abuse, exposure to deprivation has been found to be distinctly associated with inefficient functional recruitment (i.e., greater recruitment with similar task performance) of the parietal cortex and PFC during high working memory load (Sheridan et al., 2017). In addition to the dissociable impact of threat versus deprivation at the neural level, preliminary evidence also suggests that exposure to threat and deprivation may have unique impacts on physiological responses to stress. Controlling for exposure to deprivation, exposure to threat-related stress has been linked with blunted HPA-axis and sympathetic reactivity (Busso et al., 2017). In contrast, controlling for exposure to threat, exposure to deprivation was not associated with altered physiological reactivity (Busso et al., 2017).

In summary, here we have highlighted stress exposures characterized by threat and deprivation as a relevant example of the potential value in investigating distinct associations between certain types of stress exposure and neurobiological outcomes. Though key questions remain in this line of work, initial findings underscore the importance of considering the type of trauma to which an individual was exposed as a critical determinant of the effects of stress on the developing brain. However, it is essential to note that adverse experiences frequently co-occur in childhood (Dong et al., 2004; Finkelhor et al., 2007; Green et al., 2010; McLaughlin et al., 2012). For example, a child who witnesses an incident of domestic violence that later results in the removal of a primary caregiver from the home could be considered to have experienced elements of both threat and deprivation (Cohodes et al., 2021). While the prior work previously described lays an important foundation for parsing the differential effects of specific types of stress exposure on the developing brain, a richer characterization of co-occurring types of stressors - likely utilizing methodological approaches such as person- or pattern-centered analyses, as well as machine-learning tools - will ultimately be required to extricate the distinct effects of specific types of stress (Cohodes et al., 2021).

Caregiver Involvement in Stressors

Representing another important current direction in the study of unique signatures of exposure to specific dimensions of trauma, there is substantial evidence that stressors involving caregivers may have a unique impact on neurodevelopment. Caregivers may be involved in stress exposures in a variety of ways, including via direct involvement (e.g., caregiver perpetration of abuse or neglect) or parent-child dyadic exposure to stress (e.g., shared exposure to domestic violence). Prior to reviewing literature documenting specific sequelae of caregiver-involved stress exposure, we review the role of caregiving as a species-expected input for the developing brain, as this lays a critical foundation for understanding the pervasive effects of exposure to caregiverrelated trauma.

Caregiving as a Species-Expected Input in Human Development

The brain is innately plastic and is shaped by many factors that extend beyond experiences of stress or adversity. As such, there is great variability in neural characteristics across individuals, and across development, and there is no singular definition or exemplar of a "normal" or "typical" brain. Nevertheless, a helpful way to conceptualize "typical development" is through the lens of considering species-expected inputs (McLaughlin et al., 2017; Nelson, 2007; Nelson & Gabard-Durnam, 2020; Tottenham, 2012). Beginning in the prenatal period, humans have evolved to expect certain environmental inputs, such as the presence of supportive caregiving, and decades of research have demonstrated the importance of stable, nurturing caregiving early in life in supporting children's healthy socioemotional development. For example, during infancy and toddlerhood, a potent developmental stage characterized by massive neuronal proliferation, increases in myelination, and volumetric increases (Lebel & Deoni, 2018; Vasung et al., 2019), the presence of a supportive and nurturing caregiver is an expected input that has been closely linked to normative development of language, cognition, and behavior (Ellis et al., 2009; Gee, 2020; Glynn & Baram, 2019; Mason et al., 2019; Tottenham, 2012).

Recent research has begun to probe the specific mechanisms by which the presence of a caregiver supports typical neural development; such work provides compelling evidence that the establishment of associations between caregiver presence and safety (a hallmark of secure attachment), as well as predictability of caregivers' responses, supports caregivers' ability to modulate activity in corticolimbic circuitry later in development (Gee & Cohodes, 2021). During infancy, children establish attachment relationships with caregivers (Ainsworth, 1969; Bowlby, 1958; Harlow, 1958; Schaffer & Emerson, 1964) and have the opportunity to learn that their primary caregivers respond to their needs, behave predictably, and consistently signal safety (Gee & Cohodes, 2021). Throughout the first year of life, infants begin to explore the world with caregiver support, and, as infants grow into toddlers, caregivers are reinforced as predictable sources of comfort and safety as children increasingly explore their independence (Lieberman, 2017). From a neurodevelopmental perspective, the establishment of caregivers as predictable sources of safety serves the critical function of promoting caregivers' ability to buffer against experiences of stress both in this specific developmental period and throughout development. Specifically, the presence of a caregiver has been shown to reduce LHPA axis activity by suppressing cortisol activity (Hostinar et al., 2014), as well as to modulate mPFC-amygdala

connectivity, resulting in dampened amygdala reactivity to emotionally valenced stimuli (Gee et al., 2014). This pattern of findings is consistent with studies in the animal literature documenting that caregiver presence suppresses corticosterone and amygdala activity in rodent pups (Moriceau & Sullivan, 2006). At both a behavioral and neurobiological level, children rely on caregivers to actively support emotion regulation and to buffer reactivity to stressful experiences, with caregivers transitioning to a more supportive role during adolescence (Gee, 2016; Gee et al., 2014). Though these links have yet to be tested empirically, caregiver effects on developing frontolimbic circuitry may promote more adaptive coping across the lifespan by facilitating an individual's engagement in support-seeking behaviors, and increasing expectations that bids for social support will be met. In line with the adult attachment literature (Collins & Feeney, 2004), experiences of safety in the context of caregiving relationships early in life may facilitate trust in later relationships and a propensity to seek safety and closeness with others throughout life, which may facilitate coping during times of stress.

Impacts of Exposure to Caregiver-Related Trauma Exposure on Brain and Behavior

The importance of supportive caregiving in normative child development is further emphasized by studies documenting the longterm effects of disrupted caregiving. Against the backdrop of the biological necessity of attachment (Cassidy & Shaver, 2002), stress exposure that involves deviations from species-expected caregiving may contribute to particularly detrimental outcomes for the developing child, such as difficulties with interpersonal relationships, self-regulation, attention, and aggression (D'Andrea et al., 2012; van der Kolk, 2003).

One of the most frequently studied forms of caregiver-related stress is exposure to parental deprivation in the form of institutionalized care, and there is extensive evidence to suggest that this specific exposure has unique, detrimental impacts on the developing brain. Research from landmark studies, such as the Bucharest Early Intervention Project (BEIP), a randomized controlled trial that assigned 6- to 31-month-old children to either be placed in a limited number of foster care homes or to remain in institutionalized care following abandonment at or near the time of birth, offers longitudinal data on the impacts of early parental deprivation (Nelson et al., 2007). Studies resulting from the BEIP have provided strong evidence that children deprived of the species-expected presence of primary caregivers in the first years of life experience alterations in typical developmental trajectories (Gunnar et al., 2009; Humphreys et al., 2018; McLaughlin et al., 2015; Rutter, 1998), and are at increased risk for mental health disorders throughout childhood and into adulthood (Cameron et al., 2017; Ellis et al., 2009; Glynn & Baram, 2019; Humphreys & Zeanah, 2015; McGoron et al., 2012). Specifically, early parental deprivation is associated with global effects on brain structure, including widespread reductions in cortical thickness (McLaughlin et al., 2014; Sheridan et al., 2012). Relative to children who were raised by their biological families, children with a history of institutionalized care exhibit larger amygdala volumes (Tottenham et al., 2010) and amygdala hyperreactivity to emotional faces (Tottenham et al., 2011). Parental deprivation is also associated with altered connectivity between the mPFC and the amygdala (Gee. Gabard-Durnam, et al., 2013). Specifically, children exposed to early parental deprivation exhibited a more mature pattern of negative mPFC-amygdala connectivity, whereas children who were never exposed to

parental deprivation exhibited positive mPFCamygdala connectivity. This mature pattern of negative mPFC-amygdala connectivity resembles that observed in adolescents and adults; thus, the early emergence of this phenotype suggests that early parental deprivation may accelerate the development of neural circuitry underlying emotion regulation. This accelerated development of mPFC-amygdala circuitry may be part of an adaptive response to early stress. Among children exposed to early parental deprivation, those exhibiting the mature phenotype were less anxious than those exhibiting the child-like phenotype (Gee, Gabard-Durnam, et al., 2013). Furthermore, parental deprivation has been demonstrated to alter the development of the HPA axis, although the directionality of these results has been mixed (Flannery et al., 2017; Gunnar et al., 2001, 2009; McLaughlin et al., 2015). Taken together, these studies provide evidence for long-lasting effects of early parental deprivation on the development of neurobiological systems underlying stress and coping.

Although attachment relationships can be established in the presence of threatening cues (e.g., Perry & Sullivan, 2014), caregiving adversity experienced during infancy has been shown to interfere with caregiver buffering across species. Relative to their nonmaltreatment-exposed counterparts, maltreatment-exposed rodent pups do not demonstrate lessened fear-related behavior in the presence of a caregiver, and also show reduced caregiver buffering during the adolescent period (Opendak et al., 2019; Robinson-Drummer et al., 2019). Among nonhuman primates, infant maltreatment is also associated with reduced maternal buffering of cortisol reactivity (Sanchez et al., 2015). Similar patterns have been observed among children who have experienced caregiver deprivation early in life. Specifically, in contrast to peers who were raised by biological parents from birth, postinstitutionalized children did not exhibit decreased amygdala reactivity in their adoptive caregivers' presence (Callaghan et al., 2019), suggesting that a lack of speciesexpected caregiving input early in life may be associated with alterations in an individual's ability to access extrinsic buffering support from caregivers at the neurobiological level.

In addition to parental deprivation, direct caregiver perpetration of maltreatment, such as physical, sexual, or emotional abuse, has been linked with a range of structural alterations in the developing brain. Specifically, exposure to childhood maltreatment has been found to be associated with alterations in gray matter volume in the amygdala and the hippocampus, as well as lower structural integrity of the uncinate fasciculus (Edmiston et al., 2011; Hanson, Knodt, et al., 2015; Hanson, Nacewicz, et al., 2015; McLaughlin et al., 2016: Morey et al., 2016), suggesting an association between exposure to caregiver-related stress and structural alterations of the developing brain. Functionally, exposure to childhood maltreatment has also been found to be associated with disruptions in patterns of connectivity between the PFC and several regions, including the amygdala and hippocampus, as well as altered activation in the amygdala and hippocampus (Herringa et al., 2013; Lambert, Sheridan, et al., 2017; Lange et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019). Bridging across these studies, the amygdala, hippocampus, PFC, and uncinate fasciculus are implicated in memory- and emotion regulation-related processes, such as threat generalization and context encoding, which are central to the development of internalizing- and externalizing-related symptomatology. Thus, alterations in these brain structures and related circuitry may confer vulnerability for increased symptomatology (Hanson, Knodt, et al., 2015; Hanson, Nacewicz, et al., 2015). In summary, taken together, this pattern of findings indicates important structural and functional alterations in neurocircuitry related to caregiver-related stress and highlights the importance of considering stress exposure that involves caregivers as a key, dissociable type of stress that has unique developmental impacts. Caregiving inputs throughout childhood and adolescence play a significant role in children's neural, cognitive, and socioemotional development, and disruptions to this species-expected input can be detrimental.

Developmental Timing of Stress Exposure

In addition to investigations of the impact of specific types of stress exposure, and caregiver involvement in a stressor, on the developing brain, a separate line of work has highlighted the importance of considering when a stressor occurs in developmental time in assessing the effects of stress on neurobiological development (for a review, see Gee & Casey, 2015). The brain undergoes rapid and dynamic development from birth through adulthood (Casev et al., 2019; Gabard-Durnam et al., 2014; Gee, Humphreys, et al., 2013; Gee et al., 2018; Hare et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2016) and, given these vast changes across development, the developmental timing of a stressor likely relates to both the short- and long-term impacts of exposure to stress (Cameron, 2001; Eiland & Romeo, 2013; Lupien et al., 2009; Sabatini et al., 2007).

Results of various studies of children exposed to institutionalized care, such as several using data from the BEIP previously described, suggest that stress exposure that occurs earlier in life may have more detrimental developmental effects. Specifically, children who were exposed to parental deprivation in the first 2 years of life (between 0 and 24 months) exhibited more deleterious long-term neurobiological outcomes, such as blunted

preadolescence may create a window of particular vulnerability to the impact of stress, whereas exposure to stress after the amygdala has reached its peak volume may have a comparatively weaker impact on amygdala structure. These results highlight the importance of considering the age of stress exposure when evaluating the impacts of stress on neurobiology and, specifically, point to early childhood, late childhood, and early adolescence as periods during which the impact of stress mav be particularly salient for the developing brain. In addition to highlighting specific time periods during which exposure to stress may have a relatively greater impact on neurodevelopment, the extant literature examining timing-related factors has underscored the importance of considering the chronicity of stress exposure. Studies of children exposed to early institutionalized care reveal that a longer duration of institutionalization is associated with larger amygdala volumes in childhood (Tottenham et al., 2010) and smaller left amygdala volumes in adolescence (albeit in a small sample; Mehta et al., 2009). While the mixed directionality of results reflects the need

sympathetic nervous system and HPA axis

responses to psychosocial stress (McLaughlin

et al., 2015) and developmentally stunted

physical height and weight (Rutter, 1998).

These findings are consistent with a broader

literature on sensitive periods of development

during which exposure to stress may have especially strong influences on developmental

outcomes (Gabard-Durnam & McLaughlin,

2020; Gee, 2020). Additionally, stress exposure

in late childhood and early adolescence may

have particularly strong impacts on long-term

amygdala structure (Evans et al., 2016; Pechtel

et al., 2014), perhaps due to the trajectory of

amygdala development, which peaks during

preadolescence (Uematsu et al., 2012). The

rapid growth in amygdala volume through

for more research with large sample sizes, these findings of chronicity-related differences in amygdala structure indicate the importance of considering the time course of stress exposure when investigating the effects of stress on the brain. The age of onset and duration of stress exposure have also been linked with alterations in frontolimbic structure and function in a sample of individuals exposed to physical abuse and/or intimate-partner violence (McCrory et al., 2013).

While recent research has greatly enhanced our understanding of how the timing of stress exposure impacts neurobiology across development, the precise timing-related mechanisms by which exposure to early-life stress affects long-term neurobiological outcomes require further investigation. One potential mechanism involves accelerated biological aging following early stress exposure, including precocious development of frontolimbic circuitry (Belsky, 2019; Belsky et al., 1991; Callaghan & Tottenham, 2016; Colich et al., 2020; Ellis et al., 2009; Rickard et al., 2014). For example, children without a history of institutionalized care exhibit a marked shift from positive amygdala-mPFC task-based functional connectivity in childhood to negative amygdala-mPFC functional connectivity in adolescence (Gee, Humphreys, et al., 2013). This shift to a more mature pattern may reflect developmental changes in regulatory connections, as it is associated with decreasing amygdala reactivity and agerelated declines in anxiety (Gee, Humphreys, et al., 2013). However, as already described, both children and adolescents with a history of exposure to institutionalized care exhibited a more mature pattern of negative amygdalamPFC connectivity (Gee, Gabard-Durnam, et al., 2013). This striking pattern of findings suggests the possibility of early maturation of frontolimbic circuitry following exposure to early-life stress, perhaps due to a shift in or

The Neurobiology Underlying Stress and Coping 217

premature closing of a sensitive period that occurs to aid adaptation to a challenging early environment (Gee, Humphreys, et al., 2013). Despite these advances in our understanding of patterns of acceleration, the function and long-term consequences of these developmental shifts are not fully understood. Alternatively, stress sensitization might present another mechanism by which timing moderates the impact of stress on development. Stress sensitization suggests that exposure to stress in one phase of development may make an individual more vulnerable to subsequent stress exposure (Bandoli et al., 2017; Espejo et al., 2007; McLaughlin et al., 2010). For instance, stress exposure during childhood may have a greater impact on children who experienced severe caregiving-related stress in infancy, relative to their counterparts who experienced nurturing and stable caregiving in infancy (Wade et al., 2019). In line with the stress sensitization hypothesis, this finding suggests that stress early in life alters one's sensitivity to stress at subsequent stages of development. While preliminary evidence indicates that accelerated biological aging and stress sensitization may be involved in the association between early-life stress and longterm outcomes, future research is needed to fully elucidate these etiological mechanisms.

Overall, timing-related findings provide evidence for a linear association between the duration of stress exposure and severity of neurobiological effects, as well as for possible nonlinear sensitive periods across development. In interpreting these results, it is important to note several critical questions that require additional investigation. At present it is difficult to disentangle the effects of an earlier age of onset of stress versus a longer duration of exposure (Cohodes et al., 2021). Furthermore, many of the studies presented earlier have assessed timing-related effects in mixed-age samples. These designs inherently limit our ability to differentiate the effects of timing from progressive neurodevelopmental changes (Heyn et al., 2018; Weems et al., 2015). Future research intended to dissociate the effects of chronic exposure from earlier age of exposure onset, as well as research in singleage cohorts of children, will yield important clarity in this area of the literature (Cohodes et al., 2021). In addition, we note that, across development, there is significant variability in the resources and processes that an individual relies upon to cope in the face of a stressor due to the biological state of the developing brain (Eschenbeck et al., 2018). Therefore, the impact of a stressor on the developing brain, and, by extension, on an individual's capacity to cope with a stressor, likely depends on the specific tasks of typical development that are disrupted by stress exposure. In light of this, longitudinal studies that are designed to parse the development of utilization of specific coping strategies - and underlying neurodevelopmental processes that support this utilization - will shed light on this important area of future research. Further, future studies that assess how these processes and underlying mechanisms are impacted by adversity will have important implications for targeted prevention and intervention work.

Interactions between Type, Caregiver Involvement, and Timing of Stressor

While the disparate literatures probing typeand timing-related effects of stress on the developing brain offer valuable insight, it is necessary to consider how possible interactions between these factors might further elucidate the neurobiological sequelae of stress exposure. Current theory and emerging evidence suggest that the impact of the type of stress experienced might differ depending on the developmental stage during which the stress exposure occurs (Cohodes et al., 2021). For

219

example, as previously described, stress exposures that involve a caregiver may be expected to have a distinct impact on the developing brain relative to exposures that do not involve a caregiver; however, current theory suggests that specific effects of this type of stress exposure may vary depending on the age at which the child was exposed. Caregiver involvement in stress exposures may have a more deleterious impact on developmental trajectories when the stress exposures occur in infancy and early childhood due to the increased influence of a caregiver's presence on external regulation during this time (Cohodes et al., 2021; Gee & Cohodes, 2021; Gee, 2016, 2020; Gee et al., 2014; Hofer & Sullivan, 2001; Hostinar et al., 2014; Tottenham, 2015). The potency of the influence of a caregiver's presence on an individual's regulation is diminished by adolescence; thus, stress exposures that involve caregivers are posited to have less of a detrimental effect in adolescence or adulthood, relative to early childhood (Gee et al., 2014; Hostinar et al., 2014).

In line with this theoretical reasoning, early empirical evidence also suggests that the timing of stress exposure might have differential outcomes depending on the type of stressor an individual is exposed to. For example, a recent study identified a timing-related dissociation between the impact of neglect versus abuse on hippocampal volume among male and female participants. Specifically, adult male hippocampal volume was best predicted by exposure to neglect in the first 7 years of life, whereas female adult hippocampal volume was best predicted by exposure to abuse experienced in early adolescence (Teicher et al., 2018). Separately, recent evidence suggests that exposure to physical maltreatment during childhood was associated with reduced amygdala reactivity to emotional faces, while exposure to peer emotional abuse during adolescence was associated with

increased amygdala reactivity (Zhu et al., 2019). In the context of the threat versus deprivation model reviewed earlier, early-life stress characterized by threat has been linked with accelerated neurodevelopment and cellular aging – perhaps in order to facilitate adaptation to harsh environments (e.g., by promoting independence necessary for survival and increasing threat detection) – whereas early-life stress characterized by deprivation was not related to accelerated development (Colich et al., 2020).

In summary, there is compelling initial evidence that the effects of timing on the developing brain differ depending on the particular type of stressor an individual experiences, and specifically, depending on whether a stressor involved a caregiver. However, despite this initial empirical evidence for type-by-timingby-caregiver involvement interactions, further research is necessary to deepen our understanding of how the timing of stress exposure might impact outcomes for specific types of stress, and stress involving caregivers, across development. The extant literature underscores that, when considering the effect of stress exposure on neurodevelopment, it is helpful to account for the type, developmental timing, and whether a caregiver was involved in that exposure, as well as to investigate potential interactions between these salient factors.

Future Directions

The Importance of Multimodal, Multidimensional Approaches

Though the extant literature has begun to elucidate the broad neurobiological impacts of exposure to early-life stress, much remains unknown about the ways in which exposure to early-life adversity confers risk for neurodevelopment. Though there is a clear link between
exposure to stress and alterations in the development of the neurobiological mechanisms responsible for coordinating the stress response, exposure to stress – even to the same type of stress - does not have a consistent effect on all individuals (Gabbay et al., 2004; Lupien et al., 2009; Gee & Casey, 2015). This heterogeneity in outcomes indicates that broadly considering all stressors to be equivalent – or solely relying on comparisons of individuals with and without exposure to stress - may preclude critical advances in our understanding of the ways in which specific features of stress exposures contribute to developmental trajectories following exposure (Cohodes et al., 2021). Future research in this area will benefit from several key methodological considerations.

First, harnessing multidimensional approaches to assessing early-life stress will enhance our understanding of the ways in which specific features of stress confer risk for neurodevelopment and subsequent coping. For example, using dimensional measures of stress to assess a cumulative list of ages at which a stressor occurs, rather than assessing the binary presence or absence of lifetime exposure to a particular stressor, and, specifically, querying whether stress exposures are characterized by salient features such as predictability, controllability, and caregiver involvement, will inform our understanding of the mechanisms by which these specific features of stress impact neurobiological and functional outcomes for youth exposed al., to adversity (Cohodes et 2021). Additionally, collecting in-depth information on coping strategies in order to better understand how coping varies by age, exposure type, and salient dimensions will also facilitate greater understanding of the synchrony of stress exposure, neural adaptation, coping, and symptom emergence. Though this type of methodological approach is resource intensive, it greatly increases the richness of clinical data available to represent an individual's history of stress exposure and is therefore invaluable in facilitating more complex, data-driven queries of the ways in which fine-grained features of stress exposure – and the interactions between them – affect the developing brain. Conducting secondary analyses on previously collected datasets with the goal of restructuring data to analyze specific dimensions of interest may promote earlier investigation of these key questions, as ongoing protocols are adapted to adopt a more dimensional approach.

Second, multimodal approaches to assessing the psychobiological sequelae of stress will vield a more comprehensive understanding of how exposure confers risk and resilience at both the neural and behavioral level, which has important clinical implications. To date, many studies assessing the neurodevelopmental sequelae of exposure to early-life stress have utilized neuroimaging data to capture neurobiological function at a given time point in development. This snapshot of functioning is then analyzed in relation to information about an individual's reported history of stress exposure. Given the importance of understanding the clinical relevance of neurobiological changes following stress exposure, multimodal methodological approaches will greatly increase our understanding of the ways in which brain and behavioral changes following stress exposure mutually inform one another. Specifically, research protocols must not only assess the biological state of the developing brain but also an individual's utilization of coping strategies and broader clinical presentation via concurrent detailed phenotypic assessment. In addition, as stress is likely to affect both stress regulation and reactivity, future studies that aim to disentangle the effects of stress on coping should be optimally designed to differentiate effects of stress exposure on stress reactivity itself, and the effects of stress on the systems that regulate behavior under stress.

Third, future studies should aim to utilize prospective designs rather than relying solely on retrospective accounts of stress exposure. Though retrospective reports of exposure to early-life adversity - often collected via interviews in adulthood - have afforded much of our current understanding of the neurobiological impacts of stress exposure, these assessment tools have been shown to be only weakly associated with prospective measures (Baldwin et al., 2019). A shift to documenting prospective accounts and impacts of early-life stress exposure - preferably using multidimensional assessment tools including novel instruments such as ecological momentary assessment will greatly facilitate a new wave of research in this area focused on isolating specific signatures of exposure to dissociable features of stress exposure.

Finally, given the importance of querying complex interactions among many features of stress exposure, it may prove challenging to establish adequate statistical power in isolated studies. Increasing efforts to establish harmonization among contemporaneous data collection efforts and incorporation of rich assessment tools that systematically document the presence of key dimensions of stress exposure into the batteries of large-scale longitudinal studies of brain development (Hoffman et al., 2019) will be essential to support adequate investigation of the remaining questions in this area.

Implications for Clinical Practice and Policy

The continued study of the effects of stress on the developing brain has important implications for both the development of novel clinical interventions and the prevention of the negative sequelae of youth exposure to stress at the societal level. Increasingly detailed understanding of the multilevel dimensions that impact brain development - and the interactions among these dimensions - has the potential to directly inform critical advances in the field's conceptualization of the etiological processes underlying the development of psychopathology and mechanisms of coping. Specifically, the identification of distinct aspects of stress exposure that are particularly detrimental at certain ages may further inform our understanding of sensitive periods. This identification of experiences that have especially salient effects on the development of frontolimbic circuity at specific developmental stages will support the development of more targeted intervention and prevention approaches that are focused on enhancing coping or that are focused on bolstering specific buffering mechanisms (e.g., leveraging increases in an individual's perception of control or predictability of the environment to reduce stress reactivity in novel contexts). Finally, a rich understanding of the impact of early-life adversity on the developing brain also underscores the importance of systems-level change, at the policy level, to protect vulnerable youth and to eliminate systemic infliction of trauma on families. As a salient example, scientific understanding of the implications of caregiver-related trauma, and the potent role of caregivers in buffering children from the negative effects of stress, directly informed policy and intervention efforts for children separated from their caregivers at the United States-Mexico border under the United States' "zero tolerance" policy (Gee, 2021).

Conclusion

In conclusion, here we have reviewed the current state of the literature documenting the effects of exposure to stress on the neurobiological systems underlying stress responding and coping across development, as well as implications for future research directions, clinical practice, and policy. There is substantial evidence that one mechanism by which stress exposure "gets under the skin" early in life is via recalibration of the LHPA axis, which has persistent effects on neurodevelopment at both the structural and functional level. Limbic regions, including the hippocampus and amygdala, appear to be particularly affected by stress. The extant literature highlights alterations in functional connectivity between limbic regions and the PFC, as well as structural changes in these regions, among individuals who have been exposed to earlylife stress, with evidence that these changes mediate associations between stress exposure and elevated symptomatology. We highlight the important role of caregivers across typical development and, against this backdrop, review evidence for the detrimental effects of disruptions in early caregiving on the development of frontolimbic circuitry. In addition, in light of an increasing focus on dimensional approaches to considering the effects of stress on the developing brain, we review literature to date that has investigated the dissociable sequelae of exposure to two specific features of stress exposure - type of stress and the developmental timing at which stress exposure occurs. Current theory posits that exposure to stress early in childhood may have particularly detrimental effects on the developing brain, and that there may be dissociable effects of stress exposures characterized by threat versus deprivation, as well as stressors that involve caregivers. Reflecting the importance of interactive effects between different features of stress, we underscore that investigating typeby-timing interactions - for example, caregiving adversity that occurs early in childhood may help to elucidate the complex and multifaceted effects of stress on the developing brain. Though the extant research investigating the neurobiological sequelae of exposure to

early-life adversity has afforded a foundational understanding of mechanisms by which stress affects psychobiological development, a future wave of research that embraces novel multilevel, multimodal, and dimensional methodological approaches has the potential to greatly enhance both clinical prevention and intervention, as well as societal change, for youth affected by adversity.

References

- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1969). Object relations, dependency, and attachment: A theoretical review of the infant-mother relationship. *Child Development*, 40, 969–1025.
- Antontseva, E., Bondar, N., Reshetnikov, V., & Merkulova, T. (2020). The effects of chronic stress on brain myelination in humans and in various rodent models. *Neuroscience*, 441, 226–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2020.06.013
- Baldwin, J. R., Reuben, A., Newbury, J. B., & Danese, A. (2019). Agreement between prospective and retrospective measures of childhood maltreatment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry, 76(6), 584–593. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2019.0097
- Bandoli, G., Campbell-Sills, L., Kessler, R. C., Heeringa, S. G., Nock, M. K., Rosellini, A. J., Sampson, N. A., Schoenbaum, M., Ursano, R. J., & Stein, M. B. (2017). Childhood adversity, adult stress, and the risk of major depression or generalized anxiety disorder in US soldiers: A test of the stress sensitization hypothesis. *Psychological Medicine*, 47(13), 2379–2392. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0033291717001064
- Belsky, J. (2019). Early-life adversity accelerates child and adolescent development. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(3), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721419837670
- Belsky, J., Steinberg, L., & Draper, P. (1991). Childhood experience, interpersonal development, and reproductive strategy: An

evolutionary theory of socialization. *Child Development*, 62(4), 647–670. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1991.tb01558.x

- Bick, J., Zhu, T., Stamoulis, C., Fox, N. A., Zeanah, C., & Nelson, C. A. (2015). Effect of early institutionalization and foster care on longterm white matter development: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 169(3), 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1001/ iamapediatrics.2014.3212
- Bonnefil, V., Dietz, K., Amatruda, M., Wentling, M., Aubry, A. V., Dupree, J. L., Temple, G., Park, H.-J., Burghardt, N. S., Casaccia, P., & Liu, J. (2019). Region-specific myelin differences define behavioral consequences of chronic social defeat stress in mice. *ELife*, 8, e40855. https:// doi.org/10.7554/eLife.40855
- Bowlby, J. (1958). The nature of the child's tie to his mother. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 39, 350–373.
- Boyce, T. (2007). A biology of misfortune: Stress reactivity, social context, and the ontogeny of psychopathology in early life. In A. S. Masten (Ed.), *Multilevel dynamics in developmental psychopathology: Pathways to the future.* Psychology Press.
- Bremner, J. D., Randall, P., Vermetten, E., Staib, L., Bronen, R. A., Mazure, C., Capelli, S., McCarthy, G., Innis, R. B., & Charney, D. S. (1997). Magnetic resonance imaging-based measurement of hippocampal volume in posttraumatic stress disorder related to childhood physical and sexual abuse – A preliminary report. *Biological Psychiatry*, *41*(1), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(96)00162-x

Burghy, C. A., Stodola, D. E., Ruttle, P. L., Molloy, E. K., Armstrong, J. M., Oler, J. A., Fox, M. E., Hayes, A. S., Kalin, N. H., Essex, M. J., Davidson, R. J., & Birn, R. M. (2012). Developmental pathways to amygdalaprefrontal function and internalizing symptoms in adolescence. *Nature Neuroscience*, *15*(12), 1736–1741. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3257

Busso, D. S., McLaughlin, K. A., & Sheridan, M. A. (2017). Dimensions of adversity, physiological reactivity, and externalizing psychopathology in adolescence: Deprivation and threat. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 79(2), 162–171. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PSY.000000000000369

- Callaghan, B., Gee, D. G., Gabard-Durnam, L., Telzer, E. H., Humphreys, K. L., Goff, B., Shapiro, M., Flannery, J., Lumian, D. S., Fareri, D. S., Caldera, C., & Tottenham, N. (2019).
 Decreased amygdala reactivity to parent cues protects against anxiety following early adversity: An examination across 3-years. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience* and Neuroimaging, 4(7), 664–671. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.02.001
- Callaghan, B. L., & Tottenham, N. (2016). The stress acceleration hypothesis: Effects of earlylife adversity on emotion circuits and behavior. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 7, 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cobeha.2015.11.018
- Cameron, J. L. (2001). Critical periods for social attachment: Deprivation and neural systems in rhesus monkeys. *Social Research in Child Development Abstr*, 2, 054.
- Cameron, J. L., Eagleson, K. L., Fox, N. A., Hensch, T. K., & Levitt, P. (2017). Social origins of developmental risk for mental and physical illness. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 37(45), 10783–10791. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1822-17.2017
- Carrion, V. G., Weems, C. F., Eliez, S., Patwardhan, A., Brown, W., Ray, R. D., & Reiss, A. L. (2001). Attenuation of frontal asymmetry in pediatric posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 50(12), 943–951. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(01)01218-5
- Casey, B. J., Heller, A. S., Gee, D. G., & Cohen, A. O. (2019). Development of the emotional brain. *Neuroscience Letters*, 693, 29–34. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.11.055
- Cassidy, J., & Shaver, P. R. (2002). Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications. Rough Guides.
- Cohodes, E. M., Kitt, E. R., Baskin-Sommers, A.,
 & Gee, D. G. (2021). Influences of early-life stress on frontolimbic circuitry: Harnessing a dimensional approach to elucidate the effects of

heterogeneity in stress exposure. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 63(2), 153–172. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/dev.21969

- Colich, N. L., Rosen, M. L., Williams, E. S., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020). Biological aging in childhood and adolescence following experiences of threat and deprivation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(9), 721–764. https://doi.org/10.1037/ bul0000270
- Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2004). An attachment theory perspective on closeness and intimacy. In D. J. Mashek & A. P. Aron (Eds.), *Handbook of closeness and intimacy* (pp. 163–187). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Cook, S. C., & Wellman, C. L. (2004). Chronic stress alters dendritic morphology in rat medial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 60(2), 236–248. https://doi.org/10.1002/ neu.20025
- D'Andrea, W., Ford, J., Stolbach, B., Spinazzola, J., & van der Kolk, B. A. (2012). Understanding interpersonal trauma in children: Why we need a developmentally appropriate trauma diagnosis. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 82(2), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01154.x
- Dannlowski, U., Kugel, H., Huber, F., Stuhrmann, A., Redlich, R., Grotegerd, D., Dohm, K., Sehlmeyer, C., Konrad, C., Baune, B. T., Arolt, V., Heindel, W., Zwitserlood, P., & Suslow, T. (2013). Childhood maltreatment is associated with an automatic negative emotion processing bias in the amygdala. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(11), 2899–2909. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hbm.22112
- Dannlowski, U., Stuhrmann, A., Beutelmann, V., Zwanzger, P., Lenzen, T., Grotegerd, D., Domschke, K., Hohoff, C., Ohrmann, P., & Bauer, J. (2012). Limbic scars: Long-term consequences of childhood maltreatment revealed by functional and structural magnetic resonance imaging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(4), 286–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.10.021
- De Bellis, M. D., Keshavan, M. S., Clark, D. B., Casey, B. J., Giedd, J. N., Boring, A. M.,

Frustaci, K., & Ryan, N. D. (1999). Developmental traumatology part II: Brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 45(10), 1271–1284. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00045-1

- de Kloet, E. R., Joëls, M., & Holsboer, F. (2005). Stress and the brain: From adaptation to disease. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 6(6), 463–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1683
- Dennison, M. J., Rosen, M. L., Sambrook, K. A., Jenness, J. L., Sheridan, M. A., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2019). Differential associations of distinct forms of childhood adversity with neurobehavioral measures of reward processing: A developmental pathway to depression. *Child Development*, 90(1), e96–e113. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.13011
- Dobrova-Krol, N. A., van IJzendoorn, M. H., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Cyr, C., & Juffer, F. (2008). Physical growth delays and stress dysregulation in stunted and non-stunted Ukrainian institution-reared children. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *31*(3), 539–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.04.001
- Dong, M., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Dube, S. R., Williamson, D. F., Thompson, T. J., Loo, C. M., & Giles, W. H. (2004). The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28(7), 771–784. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.01.008
- Edmiston, E. E., Wang, F., Mazure, C. M., Guiney, J., Sinha, R., Mayes, L. C., & Blumberg, H. P. (2011). Corticostriatal-limbic gray matter morphology in adolescents with self-reported exposure to childhood maltreatment. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 165(12), 1069–1077. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archpediatrics.2011.565
- Eiland, L., & Romeo, R. D. (2013). Stress and the developing adolescent brain. *Neuroscience*, 249, 162–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2012.10.048
- Ellis, B. J., Figueredo, A. J., Brumbach, B. H., & Schlomer, G. L. (2009). The impact of harsh versus unpredictable environments on the evolution and development of life

history strategies. *Human Nature*, 20(2), 204–268.

Eschenbeck, H., Schmid, S., Schröder, I., Wasserfall, N., & Kohlmann, C.-W. (2018). Development of coping strategies from childhood to adolescence. *European Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1027/2512-8442/a000005

- Espejo, E. P., Hammen, C. L., Connolly, N. P., Brennan, P. A., Najman, J. M., & Bor, W. (2007). Stress sensitization and adolescent depressive severity as a function of childhood adversity: A link to anxiety disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(2), 287–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-006-9090-3
- Evans, G. W., Swain, J. E., King, A. P., Wang, X., Javanbakht, A., Ho, S. S., Angstadt, M., Phan, K. L., Xie, H., & Liberzon, I. (2016). Childhood cumulative risk exposure and adult amygdala volume and function. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 94(6), 535–543. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jnr.23681
- Fan, Y., Herrera-Melendez, A. L., Pestke, K., Feeser, M., Aust, S., Otte, C., Pruessner, J. C., Böker, H., Bajbouj, M., & Grimm, S. (2014).
 Early life stress modulates amygdala-prefrontal functional connectivity: Implications for oxytocin effects: Early life stress and amygdala functional connectivity. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(10), 5328–5339. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hbm.22553
- Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R. K., & Turner, H. A. (2007). Poly-victimization: A neglected component in child victimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 31(1), 7–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chiabu.2006.06.008

Flannery, J. E., Gabard-Durnam, L. J., Shapiro, M., Goff, B., Caldera, C., Louie, J., Gee, D. G., Telzer, E. H., Humphreys, K. L., Lumian, D. S., & Tottenham, N. (2017). Diurnal cortisol after early institutional care – Age matters. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 25, 160–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dcn.2017.03.006

Gabard-Durnam, L. J., Flannery, J., Goff, B., Gee, D. G., Humphreys, K. L., Telzer, E., Hare, T., & Tottenham, N. (2014). The development of human amygdala functional connectivity at rest from 4 to 23 years: A cross-sectional study. *NeuroImage*, 95, 193–207. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.03.038

- Gabard-Durnam, L., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020).
 Sensitive periods in human development: Charting a course for the future. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, *36*, 120–128. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2020.09.003
- Gabbay, V., Oatis, M. D., Silva, R. R., & Hirsch,
 G. S. (2004). Epidemiological aspects of PTSD in children and adolescents. In R. R. Silva (Ed.), *Posttraumatic stress disorders in children and adolescents: Handbook* (pp. 1–17). W.
 W. Norton & Co.
- Ganzel, B. L., Kim, P., Gilmore, H., Tottenham, N., & Temple, E. (2013). Stress and the healthy adolescent brain: Evidence for the neural embedding of life events. *Development and Psychopathology*, 25(4 Pt. 1), 879–889. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0954579413000242
- Garrett, A. S., Carrion, V., Kletter, H., Karchemskiy, A., Weems, C. F., & Reiss, A. (2012). Brain activation to facial expressions in youth with PTSD symptoms. *Depression and Anxiety*, 29(5), 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1002/ da.21892
- Gee, D. G. (2016). Sensitive periods of emotion regulation: Influences of parental care on frontoamygdala circuitry and plasticity: Sensitive periods of emotion regulation. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, 2016(153), 87–110. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cad.20166
- Gee, D. G. (2020). Caregiving influences on emotional learning and regulation: Applying a sensitive period model. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 36, 177–184. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cobeha.2020.11.003
- Gee, D. G. (2021). Early-life trauma and resilience: Insights from developmental neuroscience for policy. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 6(2), 141–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2020.07.005
- Gee, D. G., Bath, K. G., Johnson, C. M., Meyer, H. C., Murty, V. P., Bos, W. van den, & Hartley, C. A. (2018). Neurocognitive development of

motivated behavior: Dynamic changes across childhood and adolescence. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *38*(44), 9433–9445. https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1674-18.2018

- Gee, D. G., & Casey, B. J. (2015). The impact of developmental timing for stress and recovery. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 1, 184–194. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2015.02.001
- Gee, D. G., & Cohodes, E. M. (2021). Influences of caregiving on development: A sensitive period for biological embedding of predictability and safety cues. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 30(5), 376–383. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 09637214211015673
- Gee, D. G., Gabard-Durnam, L. J., Flannery, J., Goff, B., Humphreys, K. L., Telzer, E. H., Hare, T. A., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Tottenham, N. (2013). Early developmental emergence of human amygdala-prefrontal connectivity after maternal deprivation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(39), 15638–15643. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1307893110
- Gee, D. G., Gabard-Durnam, L., Telzer, E. H., Humphreys, K. L., Goff, B., Shapiro, M., Flannery, J., Lumian, D. S., Fareri, D. S., Caldera, C., & Tottenham, N. (2014). Maternal buffering of human amygdala-prefrontal circuitry during childhood but not during adolescence. *Psychological Science*, 25(11), 2067–2078. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797614550878
- Gee, D. G., Humphreys, K. L., Flannery, J., Goff, B., Telzer, E. H., Shapiro, M., Hare, T. A., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Tottenham, N. (2013).
 A developmental shift from positive to negative connectivity in human amygdala–prefrontal circuitry. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(10), 4584–4593. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3446-12.2013
- Glynn, L. M., & Baram, T. Z. (2019). The influence of unpredictable, fragmented parental signals on the developing brain. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 53, 100736. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yfrne.2019.01.002
- Godinez, D. A., McRae, K., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Smolker, H., & Banich, M. T. (2016).

Differences in frontal and limbic brain activation in a small sample of monozygotic twin pairs discordant for severe stressful life events. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 5, 26–36. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.10.002

- Green, J. G., McLaughlin, K. A., Berglund, P. A., Gruber, M. J., Sampson, N. A., Zaslavsky, A. M., & Kessler, R. C. (2010). Childhood adversities and adult psychopathology in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R) I: Associations with first onset of DSM-IV disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(2), 113–123. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.186
- Gunnar, M. R., Frenn, K., Wewerka, S. S., & Van Ryzin, M. J. (2009). Moderate versus severe early life stress: Associations with stress reactivity and regulation in 10–12-year-old children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34(1), 62–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2008.08.013
- Gunnar, M. R., Morison, S. J., Chisholm, K., & Schuder, M. (2001). Salivary cortisol levels in children adopted from Romanian orphanages. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(3), 611–628. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S095457940100311X
- Hackman, D. A., Betancourt, L. M., Brodsky, N. L., Hurt, H., & Farah, M. J. (2012). Neighborhood disadvantage and adolescent stress reactivity. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnhum.2012.00277
- Hanson, J. L., Adluru, N., Chung, M. K., Alexander, A. L., Davidson, R. J., & Pollak,
 S. D. (2013). Early neglect is associated with alterations in white matter integrity and cognitive functioning. *Child Development*, 84(5), 1566–1578. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12069
- Hanson, J. L., Knodt, A. R., Brigidi, B. D., & Hariri, A. R. (2015). Lower structural integrity of the uncinate fasciculus is associated with a history of child maltreatment and future psychological vulnerability to stress. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(4 Pt. 2), 1611–1619. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579415000978

- Hanson, J. L., Nacewicz, B. M., Sutterer, M. J., Cayo, A. A., Schaefer, S. M., Rudolph, K. D., Shirtcliff, E. A., Pollak, S. D., & Davidson, R. J. (2015). Behavioral problems after early life stress: Contributions of the hippocampus and amygdala. *Biological Psychiatry*, 77(4), 314–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.04.020
- Hare, T. A., Tottenham, N., Galvan, A., Voss,
 H. U., Glover, G. H., & Casey, B. J. (2008).
 Biological substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation in adolescence during an emotional go-nogo task. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(10), 927–934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
 biopsych.2008.03.015
- Harlow, H. F. (1958). The nature of love. American Psychologist, 13(12), 673–685. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/h0047884
- Herman, J. P., Ostrander, M. M., Mueller, N. K., & Figueiredo, H. (2005). Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: Hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 29(8), 1201–1213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pnpbp.2005.08.006
- Herringa, R. J. (2017). Trauma, PTSD, and the developing brain. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 19(10), Article 69. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11920-017-0825-3
- Herringa, R. J., Birn, R. M., Ruttle, P. L., Burghy, C. A., Stodola, D. E., Davidson, R. J., & Essex, M. J. (2013). Childhood maltreatment is associated with altered fear circuitry and increased internalizing symptoms by late adolescence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(47), 19119–19124. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1310766110
- Herzberg, M. P., McKenzie, K. J., Hodel, A. S., Hunt, R. H., Mueller, B. A., Gunnar, M. R., & Thomas, K. M. (2021). Accelerated maturation in functional connectivity following early life stress: Circuit specific or broadly distributed? *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 48, Article 100922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dcn.2021.100922
- Heyn, S. A., Keding, T. J., Ross, M. C., Cisler, J. M., Mumford, J. A., & Herringa, R. J. (2018). Abnormal prefrontal development in pediatric

posttraumatic stress disorder: A longitudinal structural and functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 4(2), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2018.07.013

- Hiser, J., & Koenigs, M. (2018). The multifaceted role of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex in emotion, decision making, social cognition, and psychopathology. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83(8), 638–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2017.10.030
- Ho, T. C., King, L. S., Leong, J. K., Colich, N. L., Humphreys, K. L., Ordaz, S. J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2017). Effects of sensitivity to life stress on uncinate fasciculus segments in early adolescence. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 12(9), 1460–1469. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsx065
- Hofer, M. A., & Sullivan, R. M. (2001). Toward a neurobiology of attachment. In C. A. Nelson & M. Lucian (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental cognitive neuroscience* (pp. 599–616). The MIT Press.
- Hoffman, E. A., Clark, D. B., Orendain, N., Hudziak, J., Squeglia, L. M., & Dowling, G. J. (2019). Stress exposures, neurodevelopment and health measures in the ABCD study. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 10, Article 100157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2019.100157
- Hofstetter, S., Tavor, I., Moryosef, S. T., & Assaf, Y. (2013). Short-term learning induces white matter plasticity in the fornix. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(31), 12844–12850. https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4520-12.2013
- Hölzel, B. K., Carmody, J., Evans, K. C., Hoge,
 E. A., Dusek, J. A., Morgan, L., Pitman, R. K.,
 & Lazar, S. W. (2010). Stress reduction
 correlates with structural changes in the
 amygdala. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 5(1), 11–17. https://doi.org/
 10.1093/scan/nsp034
- Honkaniemi, J., Pelto-Huikko, M., Rechardt, L., Isola, J., Lammi, A., Fuxe, K., Gustafsson, J.-Å., Wikström, A.-C., & Hökfelt, T. (1992). Colocalization of peptide and glucocorticoid receptor immunoreactivities in rat central amygdaloid nucleus. *Neuroendocrinology*, 55(4), 451–459. https://doi.org/10.1159/000126156

- Hostinar, C. E., Sullivan, R. M., & Gunnar, M. R. (2014). Psychobiological mechanisms underlying the social buffering of the hypothalamic– pituitary–adrenocortical axis: A review of animal models and human studies across development. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(1), 256–282. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032671
- Humphreys, K. L., Miron, D., McLaughlin, K. A., Sheridan, M. A., Nelson, C. A., Fox, N. A., & Zeanah, C. H. (2018). Foster care promotes adaptive functioning in early adolescence among children who experienced severe, early deprivation. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 59(7), 811–821. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12865
- Humphreys, K. L., & Zeanah, C. H. (2015). Deviations from the expectable environment in early childhood and emerging psychopathology. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(1), 154–170. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.165
- Jacobson, L., & Sapolsky, R. (1991). The role of the hippocampus in feedback regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Endocrine Reviews*, 12(2), 118–134. https://doi. org/10.1210/edrv-12-2-118
- Jedd, K., Hunt, R. H., Cicchetti, D., Hunt, E., Cowell, R. A., Rogosch, F. A., Toth, S. L., & Thomas, K. M. (2015). Long-term consequences of childhood maltreatment: Altered amygdala functional connectivity. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(4 Pt. 2), 1577–1589. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0954579415000954
- Johnson, F. K., Delpech, J.-C., Thompson, G. J., Wei, L., Hao, J., Herman, P., Hyder, F., & Kaffman, A. (2018). Amygdala hyperconnectivity in a mouse model of unpredictable early life stress. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1), Article 49. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0092-z
- Joos, C. M., McDonald, A., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2019). Extending the toxic stress model into adolescence: Profiles of cortisol reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 107, 46–58. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.05.002
- Kaiser, R. H., Clegg, R., Goer, F., Pechtel, P.,Beltzer, M., Vitaliano, G., Olson, D. P., Teicher,M. H., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2018). Childhood

stress, grown-up brain networks: Corticolimbic correlates of threat-related early life stress and adult stress response. *Psychological Medicine*, *48*(7), 1157–1166. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717002628

- Kamigaki, T. (2019). Prefrontal circuit organization for executive control. *Neuroscience Research*, *140*, 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neures.2018.08.017
- Keding, T. J., & Herringa, R. J. (2015). Abnormal structure of fear circuitry in pediatric posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(3), 537–545. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.239
- Kircanski, K., Sisk, L. M., Ho, T. C., Humphreys, K. L., King, L. S., Colich, N. L., Ordaz, S. J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2019). Early life stress, cortisol, frontolimbic connectivity, and depressive symptoms during puberty. *Development and Psychopathology*, 31(3), 1011–1022. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0954579419000555
- Koss, K. J., & Gunnar, M. R. (2018). Annual Research Review: Early adversity, the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenocortical axis, and child psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *59*(4), 327–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12784
- Koss, K. J., Mliner, S. B., Donzella, B., & Gunnar, M. R. (2016). Early adversity, hypocortisolism, and behavior problems at school entry: A study of internationally adopted children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 66, 31–38. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.12.018
- Lambert, H. K., King, K. M., Monahan, K. C., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2017). Differential associations of threat and deprivation with emotion regulation and cognitive control in adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(3), 929–940. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579416000584
- Lambert, H. K., Sheridan, M. A., Sambrook, K. A., Rosen, M. L., Askren, M. K., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2017). Hippocampal contribution to context encoding across development is disrupted following early-life adversity. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 37(7), 1925–1934. https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2618-16.2017

- Lange, I., Goossens, L., Bakker, J., Michielse, S., van Winkel, R., Lissek, S., Leibold, N., Marcelis, M., Wichers, M., van Os, J., van Amelsvoort, T., & Schruers, K. (2019). Neurobehavioural mechanisms of threat generalization moderate the link between childhood maltreatment and psychopathology in emerging adulthood. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 44(3), 185–194. https://doi.org/ 10.1503/jpn.180053
- Lautarescu, A., Pecheva, D., Nosarti, C., Nihouarn, J., Zhang, H., Victor, S., Craig, M., Edwards, A. D., & Counsell, S. J. (2020). Maternal prenatal stress is associated with altered uncinate fasciculus microstructure in premature neonates. *Biological Psychiatry*, 87(6), 559–569. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.08.010
- Lebel, C., & Deoni, S. (2018). The development of brain white matter microstructure. *NeuroImage*, *182*, 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2017.12.097
- Lieberman, A. F. (2017). *The emotional life of the toddler*. Simon & Schuster.
- Loman, M. M., & Gunnar, M. R. (2010). Early experience and the development of stress reactivity and regulation in children. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(6), 867–876. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.05.007
- Lupien, S. J., King, S., Meaney, M. J., & McEwen, B. S. (2000). Child's stress hormone levels correlate with mother's socioeconomic status and depressive state. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48(10), 976–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(00)00965-3
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(6), 434–445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2639
- Machlin, L., Miller, A. B., Snyder, J., McLaughlin, K. A., & Sheridan, M. A. (2019). Differential associations of deprivation and threat with cognitive control and fear conditioning in early childhood. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00080
- Magalhães, R., Bourgin, J., Boumezbeur, F., Marques, P., Bottlaender, M., Poupon, C.,

Djemaï, B., Duchesnay, E., Mériaux, S., Sousa, N., Jay, T. M., & Cachia, A. (2017). White matter changes in microstructure associated with a maladaptive response to stress in rats. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(1), e1009–e1009. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.283

- Magarinos, A. M., Verdugo, J. M. G., & McEwen, B. S. (1997). Chronic stress alters synaptic terminal structure in hippocampus. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 94(25), 14002–14008.
- Marusak, H. A., Martin, K. R., Etkin, A., & Thomason, M. E. (2015). Childhood trauma exposure disrupts the automatic regulation of emotional processing.

Neuropsychopharmacology, *40*(5), 1250–1258. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.311

- Mason, G. M., Goldstein, M. H., & Schwade, J. A. (2019). The role of multisensory development in early language learning. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 183, 48–64. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jecp.2018.12.011
- McCrory, E. J., De Brito, S. A., Kelly, P. A., Bird, G., Sebastian, C. L., Mechelli, A., Samuel, S., & Viding, E. (2013). Amygdala activation in maltreated children during pre-attentive emotional processing. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202(4), 269–276. https://doi.org/ 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.116624
- McEwen, B. S. (1993). Stress and the individual: Mechanisms leading to disease. Archives of Internal Medicine, 153(18), 2093–2101. https:// doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1993.00410180039004
- McEwen, B. S. (2012). Brain on stress: How the social environment gets under the skin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 109(Suppl. 2), 17180–17185. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1121254109
- McEwen, B. S., & Akil, H. (2020). Revisiting the stress concept: Implications for affective disorders. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 40(1), 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0733-19.2019
- McEwen, B. S., Albeck, D., Cameron, H., Chao, H. M., Gould, E., Hastings, N., Kuroda, Y., Luine, V., Magarinos, A. M., Mckittrick, C. R.,

Orchinik, M., Pavlides, C., Vaher, P., Watanabe, Y., & Weiland, N. (1995). Stress and the brain: A paradoxical role for adrenal steroids. In G. Litwack (Ed.), *Vitamins & hormones* (Vol. 51, pp. 371–402). Academic Press. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0083-6729(08)61045-6

- McEwen, B. S., Bowles, N. P., Gray, J. D., Hill, M. N., Hunter, R. G., Karatsoreos, I. N., & Nasca, C. (2015). Mechanisms of stress in the brain. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(10), 1353–1363. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4086
- McEwen, B. S., & Magarinos, A. M. (1997). Stress effects on morphology and function of the hippocampus. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 821(1), 271–284. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1997.tb48286.x
- McEwen, B., & Milner, T. (2007). Hippocampal formation: Shedding light on the influence of sex and stress on the brain. *Brain Research Review*, 55(2), 343–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. brainresrev.2007.02.006
- McEwen, B. S., & Morrison, J. H. (2013). The brain on stress: Vulnerability and plasticity of the prefrontal cortex over the life course. *Neuron*, 79(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2013.06.028
- McEwen, B. S., Nasca, C., & Gray, J. D. (2016).
 Stress effects on neuronal structure:
 Hippocampus, amygdala, and prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.171
- McGoron, L., Gleason, M. M., Smyke, A. T., Drury, S. S., Nelson, C. A., Gregas, M. C., Fox, N. A., & Zeanah, C. H. (2012). Recovering from early deprivation: Attachment mediates effects of caregiving on psychopathology. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *51*(7), 683–693. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaac.2012.05.004
- McLaughlin, K. A., Conron, K. J., Koenen, K. C., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Childhood adversity, adult stressful life events, and risk of past-year psychiatric disorder: A test of the stress sensitization hypothesis in a population-based sample of adults. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(10), 1647–1658. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0033291709992121

- McLaughlin, K. A., Greif Green, J., Gruber, M. J., Sampson, N. A., Zaslavsky, A. M., & Kessler, R. C. (2012). Childhood adversities and first onset of psychiatric disorders in a national sample of US adolescents. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(11), 1151–1160. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2277
- McLaughlin, K. A., & Sheridan, M. A. (2016). Beyond cumulative risk: A dimensional approach to childhood adversity. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 25(4), 239–245. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721416655883
- McLaughlin, K. A., Sheridan, M. A., Gold, A. L., Duys, A., Lambert, H. K., Peverill, M., Heleniak, C., Shechner, T., Wojcieszak, Z., & Pine, D. S. (2016). Maltreatment exposure, brain structure, and fear conditioning in children and adolescents. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *41*(8), 1956–1964. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.365
- McLaughlin, K. A., Sheridan, M. A., & Lambert, H. K. (2014). Childhood adversity and neural development: Deprivation and threat as distinct dimensions of early experience. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 47, 578–591. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.10.012
- McLaughlin, K. A., Sheridan, M. A., & Nelson, C. A. (2017). Neglect as a violation of speciesexpectant experience: Neurodevelopmental consequences. *Biological Psychiatry*, 82(7), 462–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2017.02.1096
- McLaughlin, K. A., Sheridan, M. A., Tibu, F., Fox, N. A., Zeanah, C. H., & Nelson, C. A. (2015). Causal effects of the early caregiving environment on development of stress response systems in children. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(18), 5637–5642. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1423363112
- Mehta, M. A., Golembo, N. I., Nosarti, C., Colvert, E., Mota, A., Williams, S. C. R., Rutter, M., & Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2009). Amygdala, hippocampal and corpus callosum size following severe early institutional deprivation: The English and Romanian Adoptees Study Pilot. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*,

231

50(8), 943–951. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02084.x

- Mitra, R., Jadhav, S., McEwen, B. S., Vyas, A., & Chattarji, S. (2005). Stress duration modulates the spatiotemporal patterns of spine formation in the basolateral amygdala. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(26), 9371–9376. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0504011102
- Morey, R. A., Haswell, C. C., Hooper, S. R., & De Bellis, M. D. (2016). Amygdala, hippocampus, and ventral medial prefrontal cortex volumes differ in maltreated youth with and without chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(3), 791–801. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.205
- Moriceau, S., & Sullivan, R. M. (2006). Maternal presence serves as a switch between learning fear and attraction in infancy. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(8), 1004–1006. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nn1733
- Nelson, C. A. (2007). A neurobiological perspective on early human deprivation. *Child Development Perspectives*, 1(1), 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1750-8606.2007.00004.x
- Nelson, C. A., & Gabard-Durnam, L. J. (2020). Early adversity and critical periods: Neurodevelopmental consequences of violating the expectable environment. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 43(3), 133–143. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tins.2020.01.002
- Nelson, C. A., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Marshall, P. J., Smyke, A. T., & Guthrie, D. (2007). Cognitive recovery in socially deprived young children: The Bucharest Early Intervention Project. *Science*, *318*(5858), 1937–1940. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.1143921
- Opendak, M., Robinson-Drummer, P., Blomkvist,
 A., Zanca, R. M., Wood, K., Jacobs, L., Chan,
 S., Tan, S., Woo, J., Venkataraman, G.,
 Kirschner, E., Lundström, J. N., Wilson, D. A.,
 Serrano, P. A., & Sullivan, R. M. (2019).
 Neurobiology of maternal regulation of infant
 fear: The role of mesolimbic dopamine and its
 disruption by maltreatment.

Neuropsychopharmacology, *44*, 1247–1257. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-019-0340-9

- Pagliaccio, D., Luby, J. L., Bogdan, R., Agrawal, A., Gaffrey, M. S., Belden, A. C., Botteron, K. N., Harms, M. P., & Barch, D. M. (2015). Amygdala functional connectivity, HPA axis genetic variation, and life stress in children and relations to anxiety and emotion regulation. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *124*(4), 817–833. https://doi.org/10.1037/ abn0000094
- Park, A. T., Leonard, J. A., Saxler, P. K., Cyr, A. B., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Mackey, A. P. (2018). Amygdala–medial prefrontal cortex connectivity relates to stress and mental health in early childhood. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *13*(4), 430–439. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/scan/nsy017
- Pechtel, P., Lyons-Ruth, K., Anderson, C. M., & Teicher, M. H. (2014). Sensitive periods of amygdala development: The role of maltreatment in preadolescence. *NeuroImage*, 97, 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2014.04.025
- Peckins, M. K., Dockray, S., Eckenrode, J. L., Heaton, J., & Susman, E. J. (2012). The longitudinal impact of exposure to violence on cortisol reactivity in adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *51*(4), 366–372. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.01.005
- Perry, R., & Sullivan, R. M. (2014). Neurobiology of attachment to an abusive caregiver: Shortterm benefits and long-term costs. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 56(8), 1626–1634. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/dev.21219
- Peverill, M., Sheridan, M. A., Busso, D. S., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2019). Atypical prefrontal– amygdala circuitry following childhood exposure to abuse: links with adolescent psychopathology. *Child Maltreatment*, 24(4), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1077559519852676
- Plotsky, P. M., Thrivikraman, K. V., Nemeroff, C. B., Caldji, C., Sharma, S., & Meaney, M. J. (2005). Long-term consequences of neonatal rearing on central corticotropin-releasing factor systems in adult male rat offspring. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30(12), 2192–2204. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300769

- Radley, J. J., Arias, C. M., & Sawchenko, P. E. (2006). Regional differentiation of the medial prefrontal cortex in regulating adaptive responses to acute emotional stress. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(50), 12967–12976. https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4297-06.2006
- Rickard, I. J., Frankenhuis, W. E., & Nettle, D. (2014). Why are childhood family factors associated with timing of maturation? A role for internal prediction. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 9(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1745691613513467
- Robinson-Drummer, P. A., Opendak, M., Blomkvist, A., Chan, S., Tan, S., Delmer, C., Wood, K., Sloan, A., Jacobs, L., Fine, E., Chopra, D., Sandler, C., Kamenetzky, G., & Sullivan, R. M. (2019). Infant trauma alters social buffering of threat learning: Emerging role of prefrontal cortex in preadolescence. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *13*. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00132
- Rutter, M. (1998). Developmental catch-up, and deficit, following adoption after severe global early privation. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *39*(4), 465–476. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1469-7610.00343
- Sabatini, M. J., Ebert, P., Lewis, D. A., Levitt, P., Cameron, J. L., & Mirnics, K. (2007). Amygdala gene expression correlates of social behavior in monkeys experiencing maternal separation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(12), 3295–3304. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4765-06.2007
- Sanchez, M. M., McCormack, K. M., & Howell, B. R. (2015). Social buffering of stress responses in nonhuman primates: Maternal regulation of the development of emotional regulatory brain circuits. *Social Neuroscience*, 10(5), 512–526. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470919.2015.1087426
- Schaffer, H. R., & Emerson, P. E. (1964). The development of social attachments in infancy. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 29(3), 1–77. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1165727
- Sheridan, M. A., Fox, N. A., Zeanah, C. H., McLaughlin, K. A., & Nelson, C. A. (2012). Variation in neural development as a result of

exposure to institutionalization early in childhood. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 109(32), 12927–12932. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1200041109

- Sheridan, M. A., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2014). Dimensions of early experience and neural development: Deprivation and threat. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 18(11), 580–585. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tics.2014.09.001
- Sheridan, M. A., Peverill, M., Finn, A. S., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2017). Dimensions of childhood adversity have distinct associations with neural systems underlying executive functioning. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(5), 1777–1794. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579417001390
- Shonkoff, J. P., The Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, Committee on Early Childhood Adoption, and Dependent Care, and Section on Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, Siegel, B. S., Dobbins, M. I., Earls, M. F., Garner, A. S., McGuinn, L., Pascoe, J., & Wood, D. L. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, *129*(1), e232–e246. https://doi.org/10.1542/ peds.2011-2663
- Tarullo, A. R., & Gunnar, M. R. (2006). Child maltreatment and the developing HPA axis. *Hormones and Behavior*, 50(4), 632–639. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.010
- Teicher, M. H., Andersen, S. L., Polcari, A., Anderson, C. M., & Navalta, C. P. (2002). Developmental neurobiology of childhood stress and trauma. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 25(2), 397–426, vii–viii. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0193-953x(01)00003-x
- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., Ohashi, K., Khan, A., McGreenery, C. E., Bolger, E. A., Rohan, M. L., & Vitaliano, G. D. (2018).
 Differential effects of childhood neglect and abuse during sensitive exposure periods on male and female hippocampus. *NeuroImage*, *169*, 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2017.12.055
- Tottenham, N. (2012). Human amygdala development in the absence of species-expected

caregiving. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 54(6), 598–611. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20531

- Tottenham, N. (2015). Social scaffolding of human amygdala-mPFCcircuit development. Social Neuroscience, 10(5), 489–499. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/17470919.2015.1087424
- Tottenham, N., Hare, T. A., Millner, A., Gilhooly, T., Zevin, J. D., & Casey, B. J. (2011). Elevated amygdala response to faces following early deprivation. *Developmental Science*, 14(2), 190–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.00971.x
- Tottenham, N., Hare, T. A., Quinn, B. T., McCarry, T. W., Nurse, M., Gilhooly, T., Millner, A., Galvan, A., Davidson, M. C., Eigsti, I.-M., Thomas, K. M., Freed, P. J., Booma, E. S., Gunnar, M. R., Altemus, M., Aronson, J., & Casey, B. J. (2010). Prolonged institutional rearing is associated with atypically large amygdala volume and difficulties in emotion regulation. *Developmental Science*, *13*(1), 46–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00852.x
- Uematsu, A., Matsui, M., Tanaka, C., Takahashi, T., Noguchi, K., Suzuki, M., & Nishijo, H. (2012). Developmental trajectories of amygdala and hippocampus from infancy to early adulthood in healthy individuals. *PLoS ONE*, 7(10), e46970. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0046970
- Uno, H., Tarara, R., Else, J. G., Suleman, M. A., & Sapolsky, R. M. (1989). Hippocampal damage associated with prolonged and fatal stress in primates. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 9(5), 1705–1711. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.09-05-01705.1989
- van der Kolk, B. A. (2003). The neurobiology of childhood trauma and abuse. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 12(2), 293–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1056-4993(03)00003-8
- van der Kolk, B. A., McFarlane, A. C., & Weiseth, L. (2012). Traumatic stress: The effects of overwhelming experience on mind, body, and society. Guilford Press.
- van Harmelen, A.-L., van Tol, M.-J., Demenescu, L. R., van der Wee, A. N. J., Veltman, D. J.,

Aleman, A., van Buchem, A. M., Spinhoven, P., Penninx, B. W. J. H., & Elzinga, B. M. (2013). Enhanced amygdala reactivity to emotional faces in adults reporting childhood emotional maltreatment. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 8(4), 362–369. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/scan/nss007

- Vasung, L., Abaci Turk, E., Ferradal, S. L., Sutin, J., Stout, J. N., Ahtam, B., Lin, P.-Y., & Grant, P. E. (2019). Exploring early human brain development with structural and physiological neuroimaging. *NeuroImage*, 187, 226–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2018.07.041
- Vyas, A., Bernal, S., & Chattarji, S. (2003). Effects of chronic stress on dendritic arborization in the central and extended amygdala. *Brain Research*, 965(1), 290–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(02)04162-8
- Vyas, A., Mitra, R., Rao, B. S., & Chattarji, S. (2002). Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(15), 6810–6818. https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-15-06810.2002
- Vyas, S., Rodrigues, A. J., Silva, J. M., Tronche, F., Almeida, O. F. X., Sousa, N., & Sotiropoulos, I. (2016). Chronic stress and glucocorticoids: From neuronal plasticity to neurodegeneration [Review Article]. *Neural Plasticity*, 2016, Article 6391686. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6391686
- Wade, M., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Tibu, F., Ciolan, L. E., & Nelson, C. A. (2019). Stress sensitization among severely neglected children and protection by social enrichment. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), Article 5771. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-019-13622-3
- Wang, Q., Verweij, E. W. E., Krugers, H. J., Joels, M., Swaab, D. F., & Lucassen, P. J. (2014). Distribution of the glucocorticoid receptor in the human amygdala; changes in mood disorder patients. *Brain Structure and Function*, 219(5), 1615–1626. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-013-0589-4
- Weems, C. F., Klabunde, M., Russell, J. D., Reiss, A. L., & Carrión, V. G. (2015). Post-traumatic stress and age variation in amygdala volumes

among youth exposed to trauma. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *10*(12), 1661–1667. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsv053

- Wolf, R. C., & Herringa, R. J. (2016). Prefrontalamygdala dysregulation to threat in pediatric posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(3), 822–831. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.209
- Woolley, C. S., Gould, E., & McEwen, B. S. (1990). Exposure to excess glucocorticoids alters dendritic morphology of adult hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Brain Research*, 531(1–2), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(90) 90778-A
- Wu, M., Kujawa, A., Lu, L. H., Fitzgerald, D. A., Klumpp, H., Fitzgerald, K. D., Monk, C. S., & Phan, K. L. (2016). Age-related changes in amygdala–frontal connectivity during emotional face processing from childhood into young adulthood. *Human Brain Mapping*, 37(5), 1684–1695. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23129
- Yan, C.-G., Rincón-Cortés, M., Raineki, C., Sarro,
 E., Colcombe, S., Guilfoyle, D. N., Yang, Z.,
 Gerum, S., Biswal, B. B., Milham, M. P.,
 Sullivan, R. M., & Castellanos, F. X. (2017).
 Aberrant development of intrinsic brain activity

in a rat model of caregiver maltreatment of offspring. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(1), e1005–e1005. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.276

- Yehuda, R., Daskalakis, N. P., Bierer, L. M., Bader, H. N., Klengel, T., Holsboer, F., & Binder, E. B. (2016). Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation. *Biological Psychiatry*, 80(5), 372–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2015.08.005
- Zeanah, C., Nelson, C., Fox, N., Smyke, A., Marshall, P., Parker, S., & Koga, S. (2003). Designing research to study the effects of institutionalization on brain and behavioral development: The Bucharest Early Intervention Project. *Development and Psychopathology*, 15, 885–907. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579403000452
- Zhu, J., Lowen, S. B., Anderson, C. M., Ohashi, K., Khan, A., & Teicher, M. H. (2019). Association of prepubertal and postpubertal exposure to childhood maltreatment with adult amygdala function. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(8), 843–853. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2019.0931

9 Biological Systems Underlying the Development of Adaptive Functioning and Coping

Christine Sigrist, Julian F. Thayer, and Julian Koenig

Introduction

As outlined in the previous chapters of this Handbook. coping with stressful events is an integral aspect of our everyday life. Beyond various psychological resources and processes enabling an individual to overcome adversity, biological systems enable adaptive functioning and support coping. In the following, we will review the involvement of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) on different levels of interaction with psychological phenomena associated with coping. Special emphasis is placed on neurovisceral integration - the interplay between higher-order processes of the central nervous system (CNS) and the ANS which will inform our understanding of coping from a biological perspective. In short, this framework implies a bidirectional mechanistic pathway between the ANS and CNS. Heart rate variability (HRV), as will be reviewed, is interpreted as sufficient read-out of the readiness of this higher-order circuitry, reflecting the capacity of the organism for adaptive functioning. In the following, we will review how ANS-CNS co-regulation develops, highlighting sensitive periods across the human lifespan. We will also outline phases of heightened vulnerability, in which adverse experiences might overstrain our capacity to adequately cope with the respective situation, subsequently resulting in an increased risk of developing pathological conditions. Finally, we argue how a certain level of exposure to adversity might be required to enable later adaptive functioning, and thus *coping*.

The interested reader is referred to existing reviews concerning other prominent biological systems – such as the hypothalamic–pituitary– adrenal (HPA) axis – implicated in coping and resilience (Russo et al., 2012).

Adaptive Functioning and Coping from a Neurovisceral Integration Perspective

As outlined in Thayer et al. (2012), a hallmark of successful adaptation is flexibility in the face of changing physiological and environmental demands. The *neurovisceral integration model* (NIM; Thayer et al., 2012; Thayer & Lane, 2000, 2009) provides a conceptual framework enabling an understanding of adaptation and coping from a psychophysiological perspective, highlighting the importance of ANS-CNS interaction in the adaptations to environmental challenges. The NIM adopts a dynamical systems perspective when considering the human organism, highlighting that specific phenomena, such as *coping*, are interpreted as complete, self-organizing, and self-regulating entities that emerge from reciprocal interactions among lower-order constituents (Lewis & Douglas, 1988). From a neuroscientific viewpoint, the NIM integrates various subsystems of the CNS regulating autonomic, attentional, and affective processes

Part of this chapter is based on the doctoral thesis by the first author.

into a network of functional and structural units. How can we understand *coping* and its development from this perspective?

A general presumption in this regard must be that coping is a desirable outcome of physiological regulation. The body aims to overcome distress, restore homeostasis, make progress toward goals even in demanding circumstances, and enable future adaptive functioning. To accomplish this, the organism draws on resources that may show inter- and intra-individual variability as a function of various third factors (e.g., genetics, trait, and state-dependent factors). If the demand is met, coping can be achieved by the organism, and adaptive functioning is maintained. If the demand exceeds these resources, dysfunction and disease may result. Although these thoughts might oversimplify the true complexity, they will serve us well to understand the aspects of developmental this system. Importantly, we assume that prior experiences of (successful or unsuccessful) coping will impact future outcomes of the respective processes. In brief, the process of coping is "a learning one," and such a viewpoint might also apply in understanding its development.

The NIM proposes a core set of neural structures to provide an organism with the ability to integrate information from within and outside the body, and adaptively regulate cognition, perception, action, and physiology accordingly. This set of structures within the CNS includes subcortical structures such as the amygdala, and regions within the prefrontal cortex (PFC), in particular, the ventromedial PFC (vmPFC) - which together constitute a reciprocal inhibitory neural circuit. Within this circuitry, prefrontal cortical regions exert tonic inhibitory control over subcortical regions. In the event of threat or stress, however, vagal (parasympathetic) withdrawal and disinhibition of sympathoexcitatory circuits can be observed, leading to an organismic response to the respective stressor or threat being faced. Inhibitory neural circuits are assumed to maintain an important role in the regulation of both stress responses and emotion, while a disruption of neural inhibitory processes may result in pathological outcomes, in both physiological and affective domains.

Sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves constitute the ANS. Most organs of the human body are dually innervated by sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves (Wulsin et al., 2018). In any organ system, these two branches of the ANS may function in a complex relationship, including antagonistic, complementary, or cooperative action, and their relative balance and integrated action may be set by genetic influences and mostly modified by environmental ones. Considering the human physiological system in its complexity, the ANS, by producing patterns of dynamic variability, contributes to the organismic aim of minimizing energy expenditure (Kok et al., 2013; Thayer et al., 2010; van der Kolk, 2015; Wulsin et al., 2018). Critically, besides most other organs, the ANS also innervates the heart, via the stellate ganglia and the vagus nerve. The interplay of these nerves at the sinoatrial node of the heart produces complex variability in the heart rate time series resulting in HRV (Saul, 1990; Thayer & Lane, 2000). Heart rate variability presents a readily available marker of human ANS function that largely advanced our understanding of adaptive psychophysiological functioning in the past decades.

As a measure of cardiac autonomic activity, HRV is not only reflective of cardiac activity, but presents an indirect output of the central autonomic network (CAN) regulating the interplay of sympathetic and parasympathetic (vagal) influences on the activity of the heart at the brain level. Of note, autonomic control of the heart is highly complex, but autonomic neural control via the sympathetic and

Biological Systems Underlying Coping 237

parasympathetic nervous systems have been identified as predominant factors (Nolte et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017). Thus, HRV is more than a crude marker of ANS function but represents ANS–CNS interaction. Importantly, this pathway is not a one-way street: Peripheral end-organs, including the heart, propagate sensory information back to the CAN; therefore, HRV is seen as an "index of central-peripheral neural feedback and CNS–ANS integration" (Thayer & Lane, 2000, p. 205).

Based on this premise, the NIM proposes measures of cardiac autonomic activity to index the inhibitory activity of the PFC, further reflecting the capacity of adaptive functioning, as well as executive control functions more generally (Beauchaine, 2015a). Deficient top-down control (e.g., by the vmPFC) of limbic structures (e.g., of the amygdala), and reductions in the functional connectivity between limbic and prefrontal structures, are assumed to be linked with deficient selfregulation - resulting in maladaptive functioning (Beauchaine, 2015b; Churchwell et al., 2009; Hilt et al., 2011). Stated simply, when facing heightened distress, the PFC aims to downregulate limbic structures. This simplified neural circuitry can be understood as the core of coping.

According to the NIM. the CAN (Benarroch, 1993, 1997) is one important network within the CNS underlying the "flexible adaptation of the organism to changing environmental demands" (Thayer & Lane, 2000, p. 202). The CAN comprises structural units within cortical and subcortical structures, including the anterior cingulate, insular, and ventromedial prefrontal cortices, the central nucleus of the amygdala, the paraventricular and related nuclei of the hypothalamus, the periaqueductal gray matter, the parabrachial nucleus, the nucleus of the solitary tract, and the medullary tegmental field (Thayer & Lane,

2000). These structures form a common reciprocal inhibitory neural circuit, where subcortical regions support defensive behaviors, and prefrontal cortical regions exert tonic inhibitory control over these subcortical structures (Thayer & Brosschot, 2005; Thayer & Lane, 2009). The CAN is therefore assumed to present an integrated component of an internal regulation system, controlling visceromotor, neuroendocrine, and behavioral responses that are critical for goal-directed behavior and adaptability (Benarroch, 1993; Thaver & Lane, 2000) – ultimately constituting our capacity for coping from a neurovisceral integration perspective. As a central element of selfregulatory processes in the NIM, the concept of emotion is interpreted as an "organismic response to an environmental event that allows for the rapid mobilization of multiple subsystems for action" (Thayer & Lane, 2000, p. 202). Thus, emotion¹ is conceptualized to represent an integrative index of an internal monitoring system, signaling momentary adjustment to a constantly changing environment. Emotional responses serve to support the selection of an appropriate behavioral response (sub) system, as well as the inhibition of less appropriate responses, from a preexisting behavioral repertoire (Thayer & Lane, 2000).

To summarize, the NIM assumes that complex coexisting physiological, behavioral, emotional, and cognitive processes, which rely on a common functional and structural neural basis (i.e., the CAN), are linked with processes of response organization and selection, serving to

¹ Importantly, we have previously suggested that the regulation of stress responses is emotion regulation and, as such, studies that have investigated emotion regulation may yield insights into successful stress regulation and vice versa (Thayer et al., 2021) – highlighting the role of emotion in the process of coping.

modulate psychophysiological resources in attention and emotion (Friedman & Thaver, 1998; Thayer & Friedman, 1997) - and thus are involved in self-regulation and constitute one's capacity to cope with adverse experiences. The NIM highlights the importance of dynamic adjustments of physiological arousal to situational and environmental demands (Appelhans & Luecken, 2006; Friedman, 2007; Friedman & Thayer, 1998) and relies on markers of vagal regulation at the level of the heart. Further, it suggests a role for individual differences in HRV in physiological, affective, and cognitive regulation, while the critical role of inhibition for effective functioning in a complex environment is emphasized (Thayer & Lane, 2009). By doing so, the NIM conceives vagal regulation of heart rate as a marker of prefrontal control over subcortical activity, and thus of the functional integrity of self-regulatory systems (Thayer & Lane, 2000, 2009).

Sensitive Periods in the Development of Coping

In further elaboration of the NIM (Koenig, 2020), we have previously considered important developmental trajectories underlying the dynamic CNS-ANS co-regulation, assumed to be associated with adaptive functioning and the risk for the development of disease. Importantly, while the CNS needs input from the environment to show normative development - particularly during sensitive periods adverse environmental experiences may have long-lasting effects on brain function and behavior. Sensitive developmental periods have recently been described as developmental mechanisms of neurobiological learning encoding of particular expectable environmental experiences (including, for example, a variety of inputs pertaining to sensory, cognitive, and affective domains), which are necessary for an adaptive development of the human organism across a variety of capacities (Gabard-Durnam & McLaughlin, 2020). These thoughts inform our biological understanding of the development of coping.

As already mentioned, a flexible network of neural structures that is dynamically organized in response to environmental challenges (Thayer & Lane, 2009), including a reciprocal inhibitory cortico-subcortical neural circuit allowing the PFC to exert inhibitory control over subcortical structures, is important for coping with adverse experiences. For example, when facing a threatful situation, the tonic inhibitory control of subcortical structures can be rapidly decreased, leading to sympathoexcitatory fight or flight responses, necessary for survival. When this network is disrupted, a rigid, defensive behavioral pattern may emerge, with associated attentional, affective, and autonomic inflexibility (Thayer & Siegle, 2002). Critically, the functional interaction of the ANS and CNS is assumed to be shaped early in the course of life, while adolescence is assumed to present the most sensitive period of development in this circuitry, forming the foundation for adaptive neurovisceral regulation throughout the rest of the lifespan (Koenig, 2020).

By paradigmatically considering studies regarding the normative development of cardiac autonomic function and its association with emotion regulation, we have previously argued that vagal (parasympathetic) influence over cardiac autonomic activity increases early in the course of life, and that this increase is important in shaping development (Koenig, 2020). Specifically, the assumed normative increase in vagal parasympathetic influence (reflected by an increase in HRV) over the course of early childhood and adolescence is assumed to reflect neurodevelopmental processes of cortical thinning in prefrontal and subcortical brain regions. Cortical thinning, in turn, is linked with better neuropsychological performance (i.e., verbal learning and memory, visuospatial functioning, and spatial planning and problem-solving) and might be essential for better coping (Squeglia et al., 2013; Vijayakumar et al., 2014).

Based on several lines of previous research. including findings that connections between the PFC and limbic structures are fine-tuned during adolescence allowing for increasing top-down regulation of limbic structures via the PFC, and that these processes may underlie characteristic instabilities of affect and behavior during this developmental period (Ahmed et al., 2015; Casey et al., 2008; see further Koenig, 2020), it is proposed that the development of the ANS (i.e., the normative increase in vagal activity in sensitive developmental periods such as the transition from adolescence to early adulthood) is critical for patterns of PFC maturation and associated individual capacity to adaptively cope with (particularly, coping) to emerge. stress Altered ANS functioning during adolescence (i.e., the absence of normative increase in vagal activity) is hypothesized to lead to heightened sensitivity to stressors and stress vulnerability, and ultimately an increased risk for psychopathology. But what drives vagal dominance and its normative increase during adolescence?

Considering potential antecedent factors, it is suggested that ANS dys-maturation might be mediated by early environmental factors and the caregiving environment. We have previously discussed the role of early-life stress in more detail elsewhere (Sigrist et al., 2021). Of note, it has been suggested that several other factors are likely to contribute to the absence of normative ANS maturation (see, e.g., Mulkey & du Plessis, 2019). Yet, substantial evidence has been accumulated that early-life stress, and in particular highly severe forms of early-life adversity, leave unequivocal neurophysiological marks (Heim et al., 2019), including alterations in the major stress response systems such as the ANS and HPA axis (see Chapters 10 and 11 in the present Handbook).

Potential mechanisms and pathways effecting such neurophysiological changes are discussed in several influential and partly competing neurobiological models. Among these, a more recent model (Agorastos et al., 2019; Daskalakis et al., 2013; Nederhof & Schmidt, 2012) provides an explanatory basis wellaligned with the ideas put forth in the dynamical systems model of neurovisceral integration in development (Koenig, 2020), namely, the concept of vulnerability three-hit and resilience. This model emphasizes the high degree of cerebral plasticity, and suggests that an interaction of the individual genetic background (hit-1) with early-life stress exposure (hit-2) results in an evolving phenotype characterized by altered stress-axis regulation and sensitivity due to early developmental programming, further interacting with later-life challenges (hit-3) to result in a higher (or lower) vulnerability, depending also on the type of challenge experienced (Agorastos et al., 2019). In turn, this model insists that early environmental conditions shape adaptive functioning and coping on a biological level.

Importantly, this model can be distinguished from cumulative models of stress exposure, such as the highly influential diathesis-stress model (e.g., McEwen, 1998), in critical ways. It is assumed that exposure to early-life stress can also have advantageous effects, most importantly, by representing a possible source of adaptation, potentially even promoting resilience (Agorastos et al., 2019) – this concept is frequently named *differential susceptibility*. In the diathesis-stress model, it had been suggested that if the accumulation of stressors along the lifespan exceeds a certain threshold, the development of disease in individuals with high stress exposure is enhanced. Unarguably, however, such a viewpoint neglects aspects of coping and adaptation. Importantly, the decades-long work of McEwen and colleagues also contributed significantly to the advancement of our understanding of resilience: for example, by systematically measuring the type, duration, and quality of stress exposure in the rodent model, stress has been revealed to affect most behavioral domains following an inverted. Ushaped pattern (as reviewed, for example, in McEwen & Gianaros, 2011). While the shape of this inverted U may differ with many factors, these findings also suggest that a certain level of stress exposure, depending on the context in which it is experienced, may be advantageous in the development of responses for coping with future stress experiences (Russo et al., 2012). Importantly, the aspect of resilience is highlighted also in the dynamical systems model of neurovisceral integration, where cardiac vagal activity is assumed to represent a marker of increased risk when decreased, but a marker of better resilience when increased (Koenig, 2020) - representing the wide repertoire of adaptive potential.

Here we suggest that successful coping with moderate early-life stress might in fact be a necessary condition for later adaptive functioning. In this view, successful coping might be seen as a muscle that requires a certain degree of load (*training*) to rise to better performance. Individual differences in (1) the exposure to different levels of early-life stress and (2) their successful or unsuccessful handling may thus explain intra- and interindividual differences in one's capacity for coping. These experiences are necessary to shape functional action of the previously outlined neural circuitry, constituting the neurobiological mechanism underlying coping.

Moderate early-life stress may be represented by normative experiences in our upbringing. Acquiring more and more autonomy from parents or caregivers, adapting to new kindergarten or school settings, making friends, and finding a romantic partner, may represent early developmental tasks in childhood and adolescence, testing our capacity to adjust, ultimately constructing our biological readiness to face subsequent situations of heightened distress and demands. This idea of "pro-resilience effect of encountering and overcoming stress-inducing situations during development" - has been previously described (Russo et al., 2012, p. 1478). Here we provide a formal theoretical model considering the underlying neurovisceral aspects of resilience in humans, with a focus on the integrative action of the ANS.

Adaptive Functioning in Health and Disease

Based on this neurovisceral perspective, it had been argued that in order to arrive at a complete model, the complex variety of pathways that ultimately cause a specific disorder of interest should be accounted for (Brosschot et al., 2006). As a commonly held view in the field of developmental psychopathology, based on findings that the majority of mental disorders have their onset during childhood or adolescence (Merikangas et al., 2009, 2010; Meyer & Lee, 2019), psychiatric disorders are seen as developmental disorders (Koenig, 2020). Aiming to arrive at a model providing a conceptual understanding of the etiology of psychiatric disease, while assuming that psychiatric disorders are in fact developmental disorders and the outcome of insufficient coping and absence of resilience, the NIM has been elaborated toward an explanatory model of developmental psychopathology, considering neurodevelopmental aspects and sensitive periods of early human development from a neurovisceral perspective.

Animal research on the effects of exposure to stressful events suggests that under certain circumstances, such exposure can lead to blunted reactions to future adverse events (Maier, 2015). This process has been called by various names including stress inoculation, poststress thriving, and stress resistance. One mechanism that has been shown to produce such protective or resilience responses is behavioral control. In Chapter 5 in the present volume. Baratta and Maier explain that behavioral control in the form of control over exposure to escapable stress can "immunize" rodents to future inescapable stress, such that the behavioral and physiological stress responses normally associated with *inescapable* stress are absent or blunted. Importantly, they have identified the medial PFC as a key structure in the neural circuitry that mediates this stress-buffering effect. Specifically, the PFC is part of a top-down inhibitory circuit that modulates brainstem stress-responsive structures such as the amygdala (Maier, 2015), which would otherwise be chronically activated. We and others have identified this circuitry in emotion and stress regulation (Sakaki et al., 2016; Thayer et al., 2012; Thayer & Lane, 2000). In addition, we have shown that HRV may serve to index this circuitry such

tion (Smith et al., 2017; Steinfurth et al., 2018). In peripubertal monkeys, it has been shown that early intermittent maternal separation promotes resilience via an increase in cortical volume of the vmPFC (Katz et al., 2009). The authors suggested that "the ... process of coping with [early-life] stress increases prefrontal myelination and expands a region of cortex that broadly controls arousal regulation and resilience" (Katz et al., 2009, p. 294). As outlined earlier in this chapter, and in previous elaborations (Koenig, 2020), we assume similar processes in humans in shaping adaptive

that greater levels of HRV are associated with

greater inhibitory control and emotion regula-

ANS function. Support for this idea comes from a recent study of preschool and kindergarten children (Patron et al., 2021). In this study, 42 children who were 4 years old were assessed over a 4-year period in the transition from preschool to kindergarten. Heart rate variability was assessed yearly and the 4-year trajectory calculated. In addition, early-life stressors were assessed. It was found that whereas the HRV trajectory had little effect on the well-being of children with few earlylife stressors, for those children with greater numbers of early-life stressors the greater the increase in HRV over time the better their well-being after 4 years. Thus, for those children exposed to many early-life stressors their HRV, as a proxy for prefrontal inhibitory control, may have buffered the negative effects of those early stressors on their well-being.

Concluding Remarks

The interplay of the autonomic nervous system with other physiological systems (e.g., other stress-response systems such as the HPA axis. or the immune and circadian systems) is considered essential to individual development, adaptation, and well-being (e.g., Agorastos et al., 2019; Chrousos, 2009; Chrousos & Gold, 1992). Furthermore, studying the adaptive functioning of the ANS (i.e., balance and interplay between sympathetic and parasympathetic activity) is complex, and it is has been pointed out previously that, to study the complexity of autonomic regulatory processes, it might not be enough to focus on one single marker (such as HRV) at a time (Pozzato et al., 2019). A combination of several markers indicating differing states of ANS activity (Prinsloo et al., 2014; Walker et al., 2017), or combining autonomic indices with markers from other stress-response systems, such as the HPA axis, might increase predictive ability concerning outcomes of interest. The combination of markers from different physiological systems within a machine-learning framework might present a promising research avenue, as demonstrated in a previous study focusing on various autonomic and endocrine markers in the context of early-life adversity (Aimie-Salleh et al., 2019). We have previously suggested that research is warranted aiming to "disentangle findings on aberrant and normative development rooted in the complex interplay of various physiological systems and their interaction under development" (Koenig, 2020, p. 2).

To recapitulate, the dynamical systems model of neurovisceral development assumes that ANS maturation, characterized by a (nonlinear) increase in vagal activity starting in early childhood, and continuing throughout adolescence, is tightly linked with PFC development and one's developing coping capacity. When the ANS does not have the opportunity to mature sufficiently during sensitive neurodevelopmental periods, this is assumed to be associated with insufficient maturation of prefrontal brain regions further involved in coping, resulting in emotion dysregulation, increased vulnerability, and an associated risk for the development of psychopathology. In the respective model, exposure to severe forms of early adversity is discussed as one potential antecedent factor contributing to abnormal brain and ANS maturation. This notion is supported by related strands of neurodevelopmental research, including the three-hit concept of vulnerability and resilience (Daskalakis et al., 2013) aiming to provide an explanatory model for the neurodevelopmental consequences of exposure to early-life adversity and its efficient or inefficient regulation. Here, we extended such ideas, suggesting that in turn, exposure to mild or moderate forms of stress are necessary to develop adaptive coping. In line with other theoretical conceptualizations, it becomes evident that potential consequences - as a result of early

exposure to adversity – can range from heightened vulnerability and disease risk on the one end, to resilience based on protective factors from disease on the other end of a continuum. Importantly, both have to be considered sides of the same coin that we call life.

References

- Agorastos, A., Pervanidou, P., Chrousos, G. P., & Baker, D. G. (2019). Developmental trajectories of early life stress and trauma: A narrative review on neurobiological aspects beyond stress system dysregulation. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00118
- Ahmed, S. P., Bittencourt-Hewitt, A., & Sebastian, C. L. (2015). Neurocognitive bases of emotion regulation development in adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15, 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2015.07.006
- Aimie-Salleh, N., Malarvili, M. B., & Whittaker, A. C. (2019). Fusion of heart rate variability and salivary cortisol for stress response identification based on adverse childhood experience. *Medical & Biological Engineering & Computing*, 57(6), 1229–1245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11517-019-01958-3
- Appelhans, B. M., & Luecken, L. J. (2006). Heart rate variability as an index of regulated emotional responding. *Review of General Psychology*, 10(3), 229–240. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/1089-2680.10.3.229
- Beauchaine, T. P. (2015a). Respiratory sinus arrhythmia: A transdiagnostic biomarker of emotion dysregulation and psychopathology. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 3, 43–47. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.01.017
- Beauchaine, T. P. (2015b). Future directions in emotion dysregulation and youth psychopathology. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 44(5), 875–896. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2015.1038827
- Benarroch, E. E. (1993). The central autonomic network: Functional organization, dysfunction, and perspective. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 68(10), 988–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-6196(12)62272-1

- Benarroch, E. E. (1997). The central autonomic network. In P. A. Low (Ed.), *Clinical autonomic disorders* (2nd ed., pp. 17–23). Lippincott-Raven.
- Brosschot, J. F., Gerin, W., & Thayer, J. F. (2006). The perseverative cognition hypothesis: A review of worry, prolonged stress-related physiological activation, and health. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 60(2), 113–124. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005.06.074
- Casey, B. J., Getz, S., & Galvan, A. (2008). The adolescent brain. *Developmental Review*, 28(1), 62–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.003
- Chrousos, G. P. (2009). Stress and disorders of the stress system. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 5(7), 374–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrendo.2009.106
- Chrousos, G. P., & Gold, P. W. (1992). The concepts of stress and stress system disorders: Overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. *JAMA*, 267(9), 1244–1252.
- Churchwell, J. C., Morris, A. M., Heurtelou, N. M., & Kesner, R. P. (2009). Interactions between the prefrontal cortex and amygdala during delay discounting and reversal. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *123*(6), 1185–1196. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0017734
- Daskalakis, N. P., Bagot, R. C., Parker, K. J., Vinkers, C. H., & de Kloet, E. R. (2013). The three-hit concept of vulnerability and resilience: Toward understanding adaptation to early-life adversity outcome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38(9), 1858–1873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2013.06.008
- Friedman, B. H. (2007). An autonomic flexibility– neurovisceral integration model of anxiety and cardiac vagal tone. *Biological Psychology*, 74(2), 185–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsycho.2005.08.009
- Friedman, B. H., & Thayer, J. F. (1998). Autonomic balance revisited: Panic anxiety and heart rate variability. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 44(1), 133–151. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0022-3999(97)00202-X
- Gabard-Durnam, L., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020).Sensitive periods in human development:Charting a course for the future. *Current Opinion*

in Behavioral Sciences, *36*, 120–128. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2020.09.003

- Heim, C. M., Entringer, S., & Buss, C. (2019). Translating basic research knowledge on the biological embedding of early-life stress into novel approaches for the developmental programming of lifelong health. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *105*, 123–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.12.011
- Hilt, L. M., Hanson, J. L., & Pollak, S. D. (2011). Emotion dysregulation. In B. B. Brown & M. J. Prinstein (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of adolescence* (Vol. 3, pp. 160–169). Elsevier.
- Katz, M., Liu, C., Schaer, M., Parker, K. J., Ottet, M.-C., Epps, A., Buckmaster, C. L., Bammer, R., Moseley, M. E., Schatzberg, A. F., Eliez, S., & Lyons, D. M. (2009). Prefrontal plasticity and stress inoculation-induced resilience. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *31*(4), 293–299. https://doi.org/10.1159/000216540
- Koenig, J. (2020). Neurovisceral regulatory circuits of affective resilience in youth: Principal outline of a dynamic model of neurovisceral integration in development. *Psychophysiology*, *57*(5), Article e13568. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13568
- Kok, B. E., Coffey, K. A., Cohn, M. A., Catalino, L. I., Vacharkulksemsuk, T., Algoe, S. B., Brantley, M., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2013). How positive emotions build physical health: Perceived positive social connections account for the upward spiral between positive emotions and vagal tone. *Psychological Science*, *24*(7), 1123–1132. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797612470827
- Lewis, M. D., & Douglas, L. (1988). A dynamic systems approach to cognition – Emotion interactions in development. In M. F. Mascolo & S. Griffin (Eds.), What develops in emotional development? Emotions, personality, and psychotherapy (pp. 159–188). Springer. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-1939-7_7
- Maier, S. F. (2015). Behavioral control blunts reactions to contemporaneous and future adverse events: Medial prefrontal cortex plasticity and a corticostriatal network. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 1, 12–22. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ynstr.2014.09.003

- McEwen, B. S. (1998). Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 338(3), 171–179. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM199801153380307
- McEwen, B. S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2011). Stress- and allostasis-induced brain plasticity. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 62, 431–445. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-med-052209-100430
- Merikangas, K. R., He, J., Burstein, M., Swanson, S. A., Avenevoli, S., Cui, L., Benjet, C., Georgiades, K., & Swendsen, J. (2010). Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication–Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(10), 980–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaac.2010.05.017
- Merikangas, K. R., Nakamura, E. F., & Kessler, R. C. (2009). Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 11(1), 7–20. https://doi.org/ 10.31887/DCNS.2009.11.1/krmerikangas
- Meyer, H. C., & Lee, F. S. (2019). Translating developmental neuroscience to understand risk for psychiatric disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 176(3), 179–185. https://doi.org/ 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19010091
- Mulkey, S. B., & du Plessis, A. J. (2019). Autonomic nervous system development and its impact on neuropsychiatric outcome. *Pediatric Research*, 85(2), 120–126. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-018-0155-0
- Nederhof, E., & Schmidt, M. V. (2012). Mismatch or cumulative stress: Toward an integrated hypothesis of programming effects. *Physiology & Behavior*, 106(5), 691–700. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.12.008
- Nolte, I. M., Munoz, M. L., Tragante, V., Amare, A. T., Jansen, R., Vaez, A., ... & de Geus, E. J. C. (2017). Genetic loci associated with heart rate variability and their effects on cardiac disease risk. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), Article 15805. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms15805
- Patron, E., Calgagnì, A., Thayer, J. F., & Scrimin, S. (2021). The longitudinal negative impact of

early stressful events on emotional and physical well-being: The buffering role of cardiac vagal development. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *63*, 1146–1155. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.22066

- Pozzato, I., Craig, A., Gopinath, B., Tran, Y., Dinh, M., Gillett, M., & Cameron, I. (2019). Biomarkers of autonomic regulation for predicting psychological distress and functional recovery following road traffic injuries: Protocol for a prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open*, 9(4), e024391. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024391
- Prinsloo, G. E., Rauch, H. G. L., & Derman, W. E. (2014). A brief review and clinical application of heart rate variability biofeedback in sports, exercise, and rehabilitation medicine. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, 42(2), 88–99. https://doi.org/10.3810/psm.2014.05.2061
- Russo, S. J., Murrough, J. W., Han, M., Charney, D. S., & Nestler, E. J. (2012). Neurobiology of resilience. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(11), 1475–1484. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3234
- Sakaki, M., Yoo, H. J., Nga, L., Lee, T.-H., Thayer, J. F., & Mather, M. (2016). Heart rate variability is associated with amygdala functional connectivity with MPFC across younger and older adults. *NeuroImage*, 139, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2016.05.076
- Saul, J. (1990). Beat-to-beat variations of heart rate reflect modulation of cardiac autonomic outflow. *Physiology*, 5(1), 32–37. https://doi.org/ 10.1152/physiologyonline.1990.5.1.32
- Sigrist, C., Mürner-Lavanchy, I., Peschel, S. K. V., Schmidt, S. J., Kaess, M., & Koenig, J. (2021). Early life maltreatment and resting-state heart rate variability: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 120, 307–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2020.10.026
- Smith, R., Thayer, J. F., Khalsa, S. S., & Lane, R. D. (2017). The hierarchical basis of neurovisceral integration. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 75, 274–296. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.02.003
- Squeglia, L. M., Jacobus, J., Sorg, S. F., Jernigan, T. L., & Tapert, S. F. (2013). Early adolescent

cortical thinning is related to better neuropsychological performance. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *19*(9), 962–970. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1355617713000878

Steinfurth, E. C. K., Wendt, J., Geisler, F., Hamm, A. O., Thayer, J. F., & Koenig, J. (2018). Resting state vagally-mediated heart rate variability is associated with neural activity during explicit emotion regulation. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *12*, 794. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2018.00794

Thayer, J. F., Åhs, F., Fredrikson, M., Sollers, J. J., & Wager, T. D. (2012). A meta-analysis of heart rate variability and neuroimaging studies: Implications for heart rate variability as a marker of stress and health. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(2), 747–756. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.11.009

Thayer, J. F., & Brosschot, J. F. (2005). Psychosomatics and psychopathology: Looking up and down from the brain. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 30(10), 1050–1058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2005.04.014

- Thayer, J. F., & Friedman, B. H. (1997). The heart of anxiety: A dynamical systems approach. In A. Vingerhoets (Ed.), *The (non)expression of emotions in health and disease* (pp. 39–49). Springer.
- Thayer, J. F., & Lane, R. D. (2000). A model of neurovisceral integration in emotion regulation and dysregulation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 61(3), 201–216. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00338-4
- Thayer, J. F., & Lane, R. D. (2009). Claude Bernard and the heart–brain connection: Further elaboration of a model of neurovisceral integration. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral*

Reviews, *33*(2), 81–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2008.08.004

- Thayer, J. F., Mather, M., & Koenig, J. (2021). Stress and aging: A neurovisceral integration perspective. *Psychophysiology*, 58(7), e13804. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13804
- Thayer, J. F., & Siegle, G. J. (2002). Neurovisceral integration in cardiac and emotional regulation. *IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine*, 21(4), 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1109/ MEMB.2002.1032635
- Thayer, J. F., Yamamoto, S. S., & Brosschot, J. F. (2010). The relationship of autonomic imbalance, heart rate variability and cardiovascular disease risk factors. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 141(2), 122–131. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2009.09.543
- van der Kolk, B. A. (2015). *The body keeps the score: Brain, mind, and body in the healing of trauma.* Penguin Books.
- Vijayakumar, N., Whittle, S., Yücel, M., Dennison, M., Simmons, J., & Allen, N. B. (2014). Thinning of the lateral prefrontal cortex during adolescence predicts emotion regulation in females. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(11), 1845–1854. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/scan/nst183
- Walker, F. R., Pfingst, K., Carnevali, L., Sgoifo, A., & Nalivaiko, E. (2017). In the search for integrative biomarker of resilience to psychological stress. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 74, 310–320. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.003
- Wulsin, L., Herman, J., & Thayer, J. F. (2018). Stress, autonomic imbalance, and the prediction of metabolic risk: A model and a proposal for research. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 86, 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2017.12.010

10 Childhood Adversity and the Development of Coping

Dante Cicchetti and Jason José Bendezú

Introduction

The experience of early adversity comprises a set of pathogenic conditions external to the child that confer risk for maladaptation. The deleterious effects of these adverse experiences take hold in children's developing brains and bodies, and, in so doing, often initiate a probabilistic pathway toward compromised physical and mental health into adulthood (Cicchetti, 2017: Gunnar et al., 2020). As a result, the manner in which children strive to adapt under early adverse conditions is critically important in delineating effortful coping processes and involuntary stress reactions that potentiate or mitigate against such negative developmental cascades and adversity-related sequelae (Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2009).

In this chapter, we focus on one type of early adversity, child maltreatment, and its contribution to the development of coping. Our central thesis is that abusive and neglectful caregiving shapes psychobiological systems in such a way that (a) restricts access to learning experiences and executive resources requisite for more sophisticated forms of coping, and (b) increases the likelihood of rudimentary coping skill utilization and involuntary stress responding. First, we review some of the ways child maltreatment and coping have been conceptualized and operationally defined, highlighting those definitions that serve as primary references in the sections that follow. Second, we summarize pathways through which maltreatment can contribute to the development of coping. Specifically, we outline effects of maltreatment on psychosocial processes and stress-sensitive biological mechanisms (e.g., neuroendocrine, inflammation, neurocognitive, neurobiological) that can undermine adaptive coping development. Lastly, we conclude with translational implications, noting how coping-based preventive intervention may alter trajectories toward maladaptation. Specifically, we argue that therapeutic instruction in coping skills may capitalize on the plasticity of children's developing brains and bodies, with the potential to reverse the multilevel deleterious effects of maltreatment.

Conceptualizations and Definitions

Our work has benefited from adopting a multidimensional approach to child maltreatment between caregivers and children (Barnett et al., 1993), with the study of such early adverse experiences encompassing sexual abuse, physical abuse, physical neglect, and emotional maltreatment subtypes. These varied subtypes cover a diverse range of phenomena that collectively characterize the failure of the early caregiving environment. Sexual abuse involves sexual activity (e.g.,

This work was supported by a National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) Grant T32 MH015755 (Dr. Dante Cicchetti) and a National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) Grant T32 DA050560. Jason José Bendezú was funded under this mechanism while writing this chapter.

247

pornography exposure, touching privates, sexual intercourse) between a caregiver and a child. Physical abuse comprises any intentional act on behalf of a caregiver that causes injury (e.g., bruises, broken bones) to a child. Physical neglect consists of a caregiver's lack of provision of a child's basic physical needs (e.g., food, clothing, shelter) and supervision over a child's physical whereabouts. Emotional maltreatment encompasses caregiver behavior (e.g., criticism, marital conflict, emotional abandonment) that compromises children's socioemotional development (e.g., emotional security, self-esteem, autonomy).

Capturing the complexities of child maltreatment as it pertains to the development of coping is likely enhanced by attention to several qualitative and temporal descriptors of such experiences. In our work, such nuanced understanding of child maltreatment has been achieved by utilizing official records of its occurrence that have been coded with the Maltreatment Classification System (MCS; Barnett et al., 1993; Manly, 2005). The MCS captures the aforementioned subtypes, but also the onset, frequency/chronicity, and severity of maltreatment experiences. Such an approach permits the examination of specific subtype as well as cumulative subtype exposure (e.g., cooccurring abuse and neglect) effects on psychological and emotional adjustment. Still further, timing of maltreatment (e.g., early vs. recent onset) may be particularly salient to the study of typical or aberrant coping development and risk for psychopathology.

The study of coping, like maltreatment, also presents a number of fundamental difficulties pertaining particularly to varied conceptualizations as well as the wide range of strategies and skills covered. In this chapter, we reference theoretical models and operational definitions provided by the Responses to Stress (RTS) framework (Compas et al., 2001). From this perspective, coping consists of voluntary emotional, cognitive, and behavioral attempts to modify a stressor or modulate one's responses to it. The results of numerous factor analytic studies suggest that effortful coping can be broken down into three main categories: primary control engagement coping (PCEC). secondary control engagement coping (SCEC), and disengagement coping (DC). Strategies of PCEC focus on altering a target stressor (e.g., problem-solving) or modifying the social environment in service of altering the target stressor (e.g., expressing emotions to someone). As such, PCEC is comprised of both intrapersonal (e.g., "I think of different ways to change or fix the situation," "I do something to try and fix the stressful parts of problems") and interpersonal (e.g., "I ask other people or things for help or for ideas about how to make things better," "I get sympathy, understanding, or support from someone") skills. Strategies of SCEC focus on altering one's cognitions about a stressor (e.g., cognitive restructuring, positive thinking) and typically take place at the intrapersonal level (e.g., "I think about the things I'm learning from the problems, or something good that will come from it," "I tell myself that I can get through this, or that I will be okay or do better next time"). Strategies of DC focus on orienting away from a stressor (e.g., avoidance, denial) and can take place at the intrapersonal (e.g., "I try to believe that it never happened") and interpersonal (e.g., "I try to stay away from people and things that make me feel upset or remind me of the stressful aspects of problems") levels. The RTS framework also includes a set of stress responses that are less volitional in nature. Involuntary stress responses (ISRs) encompass immediate, automatic stress reactivity at the cognitive (e.g., attention to threat), behavioral (e.g., escape), and emotional/physiologic (e.g., hyperarousal) levels. Though the effectiveness of a particular coping strategy may depend on fit with aspects of the individual utilizing it (e.g., cognitive capacity) or the context (e.g., maltreating) in which it is used (e.g., Bendezú et al., 2019; Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2009; Wadsworth, 2015), PCEC and SCEC are generally associated with positive outcomes and DC associated with negative outcomes (Compas et al., 2017). Poorly managed ISRs are also associated with the emergence of psychopathology (Compas et al., 2001).

Accounting for both controlled and automatic responses to stress in dual-process coping models lends insight into the manner in which maltreatment thwarts the development of engagement coping. From the RTS perspective (Compas, 2009), the normative development of coping is characterized by a shift from automatic responses to stress toward autonomous volitional control of stress reactivity, presumably because the ability to employ effortful coping responses to manage involuntary stress reactivity improves as children age into adolescence and adulthood. Maltreatment, therefore, may contribute to aberrant coping development by impeding the shift toward volitional control and impinging upon children's ability to utilize effortful coping in service of managing involuntary stress reactivity. In the following sections, we detail pathways through which the early maltreating environment complicates engagement coping development. Specifically, we discuss maltreatment as a potentiator of involuntary stress reactivity that interferes with children's effortful coping attempts after stress exposure (i.e., regulatory interference; Bendezú et al., 2016; Cole et al., 2017) as well as a failure of the early caregiving environment to socialize children toward effortful coping and away from involuntary stress responsivity (Cicchetti & Lynch, 1995). Additionally, we outline ways in which maltreatment impinges on the biological foundations of coping, highlighting neuroendocrine, inflammation, cognitive, and

neurological coping resources that are restrained in the face of ongoing threat and neglect over the course of development for maltreated youth.

Psychosocial Processes

The early caregiver-child relationship is one of the first contexts in which children develop inner resources for adaptive coping with stressors. Secure attachment fosters a sense of confidence and knowledge that caregivers will be responsive, available, and open to communication when needed most (Ainsworth, 1990; Bowlby, 1982). In so doing, secure attachment sets the stage for children's consideration of alternative solutions for managing stress (e.g., intrapersonal, face a controllable stressor head on individually; interpersonal, seek support when faced with an uncontrollable stressor that cannot be managed individually) (Bretherton et al., 2005). Indeed, early proximity-seeking for securely attached children is subsequently differentiated into a variety of adaptive interpersonal coping strategies (e.g., seeking comfort, help, advice, support). To this end, secure attachment in the early caregiver-child relationship and practice with interpersonal strategies may also provide a basis from which later intrapersonal strategies develop (e.g., early interpersonal problemsolving as a precursor to later intrapersonal problem-solving; early interpersonal distraction as a precursor to later intrapersonal distraction). Internal working models about the dependability and availability of care (or lack thereof) likely also promote adaptive behavioral patterns of engagement (e.g., desire to explore, approach) and disengagement (e.g., desire to seek safety) (Cassidy & Shaver, 2008).

As such, the early caregiving environment also represents one of the first contexts in which effortful coping skills and ISRs are learned and conditioned, respectively

249

(Compas et al., 1999; Morris et al., 2007). Though based at least in part in temperament and genetically based biological predispositions, ISRs are also automatized, maintained, and exacerbated through associative conditioning processes that do not include conscious control (Compas et al., 2004), helping to alter children's brains and bodies toward habitual, involuntary responses to stress (e.g., fight, flight) that quickly meet the demands of inhospitable rearing environments. While ISRs promote survival for children living in maltreating contexts (e.g., maintained emotional and physiologic arousal when contending with potential caregiver abuse or missed experience-expectant experiences with caregiver neglect), they preempt effortful coping processes and their development by narrowing attentional focus to managing threat and limiting the availability executive resources that would otherwise be used for cognitively complex engagement coping (e.g., problem-solving; Bendezú et al., 2016). Poorly developed engagement coping skills and, thus, poorly managed ISRs can also make it difficult for youth to garner support from social others in domains outside the maltreating home environment (e.g., peers). Poorly managed ISRs in interpersonal contexts may have a particularly deleterious impact on girls, given their higher sensitivity to interpersonal stressors relative to boys as well as greater reliance on friendships for social support when managing stressors (Rudolph, 2002; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2009).

Abusive and neglectful caregiving is also characterized by a lack of socialization toward sophisticated means of managing stress. There are three modalities by which parents socialize children on how to respond to stressful situations: modeling, coaching, and family interactions. Maltreating families fail to model or coach children toward engagement coping (e.g., problem-solving, emotional expression). Rather, sexual (e.g., coercive contact), hostile (e.g., yelling), aggressive (e.g., physical threats), and punitive (e.g., derisive criticism) interactions with children encourage the use of disengagement coping (e.g., avoiding abuse, pretending the abuse is not real, wishing the abuse would stop or go away). Functional adaptation accounts of coping suggest that punishment and reinforcement also play a role (Wadsworth, 2015), insofar as children's active efforts to intervene in abusive contexts may compromise physical safety and emotional security (e.g., expressing negative emotion to a caregiver may elicit an abusive response) while passive efforts to evade abuse may neutralize immediate threat of harm (e.g., suppressing negative emotion expression or avoiding caregivers when negative emotions are experienced). Thus, abuse may favor overreliance on disengagement coping relative to engagement coping, which may serve to heighten or maintain ISRs. Still further, neglectful caregiving environments fail to socialize children toward effortful coping skills altogether (Gruhn & Compas, 2020), as well as awareness and understanding of youth's own and social others' emotional and physiological states (Shipman et al., 2005). Lower emotional self-awareness and empathy may hamper engagement coping skill utilization at the intrapersonal (e.g., knowledge of one's response to stress in order to initiate engagement coping) and interpersonal (e.g., knowledge of others' emotional states to evaluate suitability for social support) levels. Inexperience with expressing negative emotion to social others, overreliance on expressive suppression and social avoidance, and limited coping skill socialization and emotion knowledge may be especially debilitating for girls as they age into adolescence, given that emotionally close relationships (e.g., friendships) increasingly serve as a context for socialization of more sophisticated interpersonal coping skills (Glick & Rose, 2011; Rose et al., 2016).

Although disengagement forms of coping and ISRs may serve adaptive functions in the short term (e.g., ensure safety in high-threat environments), their habitual use and unmitigated experience confer risk for the development of psychopathology (Compas et al., 2017). Such risk emerges when disengagement strategies are frequently used and involuntary responses are frequently experienced in lowthreat scenarios where effortful engagement and self-control are socialized and expected davcare. primary schooling). (e.g., Researchers have, thus, argued that a variegated coping repertoire that helps children flexibly meet the demands of different environmental stressors may be optimal (Wadsworth, 2015). However, maltreatment, in particular, makes such flexibility difficult to achieve, in part because of the severity of the stressor, threat to emotional and physical safety, the intensity of the ISRs induced, and grave consequences associated with deviating from habitual avoidant responding. This difficulty has implications for coping-based therapeutic work. While preventive interventions may provide school- or clinic-based opportunities for maltreated youth to develop and practice a more particolored palette of skills, such therapeutic efforts may over time fail to promote engagement strategy utilization and reduce unabated reliance on avoidance if these forms of coping remain functionally maladaptive and adaptive in children's adverse home environments.

Neuroendocrine Function

Research increasingly suggests that the roots of psychopathological development take hold when acute or chronic stress (e.g., maltreatment) is experienced early in life or during sensitive developmental periods of neural plasticity, in large part due to overtaxation of stress-sensitive neuroendocrine systems; for

example, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (McEwen, 2013). Importantly, these systems underlie coping. When triggered by a stressor, the HPA axis releases glucocorticoids, such as cortisol, that mobilize glucose-mediated energy stores that serve to increase cognitive attunement to and facilitate adaptive management of the stressor (Kaltas & Chrousos, 2007). Acute and chronic stress exposure contributes to dysregulated HPA function, often indexed by initial stage HPA hyperactivation that over time evolves into hypoactivation (Miller et al.. 2007). Overexposure to glucocorticoids that accompanies HPA hyperactivation is known to have neurotoxic effects on higher-order brain regions (e.g., prefrontal cortex; Shansky & Lipps, 2013), those requisite for cognitively sophisticated engagement coping. HPA hypoactivation, while protective against cortisol-related neurotoxicity, fails to mobilize biological resources requisite for generating appropriate behavioral responses to acute stress. Rather, HPA hypoactivation is accompanied by "spillover" effects onto peripheral stress-sensitive systems (e.g., sympathetic nervous system) that, in addition to overtaxing and potentially damaging central nervous system resources leading to physical disease (Danese & McEwen, 2012), facilitate heightened threat monitoring as well as more automatic stress responding that are ever readv to neutralize potential threats. Together, these findings suggest that acute maltreatment experiences and ongoing exposure to abuse and neglect may compromise neuroendocrine functioning in such a way that restricts access to executive resources requisite for sophisticated engagement coping and promotes avoidant and prepotent stress responding.

Findings from our recent investigations focusing specifically on maltreatment as a stressor are consonant with these claims, with differences in the qualitative features of neuroendocrine dysregulation accounted for by maltreatment timing and subtype, as well as child gender. Many of these studies have been conducted using samples of maltreated and nonmaltreated. low-socioeconomic status (SES) (e.g., from families eligible for Temporary Assistance to Needy Families) preadolescent youth ages 8-12 years attending a research summer day camp. Saliva samples were collected over the course of the day for 5 days and assayed for cortisol. Family USA Department of Human Services records and children's maltreatment information were coded using the MCS (Barnett et al., 1993). We additionally interviewed families with no child abuse registry documented history of maltreatment.

Guided by theoretical and empirical accounts of neural plasticity and rapid stresssensitive neurobiological systems (e.g., frontolimbic) development during the early years of life (Thompson & Nelson, 2001), we tested the hypothesis that physical and sexual abuse prior to the age of five (i.e., early onset maltreatment) would be associated with compromised neuroendocrine functioning, with the most pronounced effects observed of maltreated youth currently struggling with internalizing difficulties (Cicchetti et al., 2010). While early onset maltreated youth were more likely to experience internalizing symptoms relative to maltreated youth without early incidents and their nonmaltreated counterparts, those with co-occurring symptomatic functioning also were more likely to exhibit a flat pattern of cortisol secretion over the course of the day. These findings are consistent with accounts of blunted diurnal changes and hypocortisolism as patterns of HPA dysregulation linked to allostatic load-related disturbance (McEwen, 2013), extending the notion that early relative to late maltreatment onset may be a stronger contributor to such dysregulation

and disturbance in preadolescence. Dysregulation of the HPA of this sort illequips early maltreated children to marshal neuroendocrine resources needed to cope efficaciously with stressors, which may thwart the development of more sophisticated engagement coping skills as children age into the second decade of life.

251

A more recent investigation also points to the utility of additionally considering the recency of maltreatment exposure when examining early and late onset maltreatment effects on neuroendocrine regulation (VanZomeren et al., 2020). In this study, we showed that vouth who experienced initial maltreatment after the age of five (i.e., late onset maltreatment) were more likely to exhibit blunted daytime cortisol patterns, relative to their early onset (i.e., before the age of five) maltreatment counterparts. Importantly, a larger percentage of late onset maltreatment youth (63%) had recently experienced maltreatment when compared to early onset youth (20%). These findings are consonant with early meta-analytic evidence suggesting that cortisol outcomes are more pronounced for recent stress exposure (Miller et al., 2007) and recent metaanalyses proposing that more proximal stressor exposure contributes to stress-related circadian dysregulation and related neuroendocrine dysfunction (Adam et al., 2017).

Another investigation suggested that patterns of neuroendocrine dysregulation linked to a pervasive history of maltreatment exposure may differ for boys and girls (Doom et al., 2013). Given theory (Kajantie & Phillips, 2006) and evidence (De Bellis et al., 1994; MacMillan et al., 2009) pointing to cortisol hyper- and hyposecretion in maltreated boys and girls, respectively, we examined qualitative differences in neuroendocrine activity as a function of youth maltreatment history and gender. When operationalized as the sum of maltreatment subtypes, severity, and developmental periods when maltreatment occurred, maltreatment pervasiveness predicted elevated and blunted diurnal cortisol levels for boys and girls, respectively. Inference about the gendered nature of dysregulated neuroendocrine function for maltreated vouth was strengthened by subsequent multihormone analyses of coordinated cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) activity. Of note, pervasively maltreated boys exhibited higher cortisol-DHEA diurnal ratios relative to girls with lower cortisol-DHEA ratios.

These multihormone findings are particularly relevant to understanding how maltreatment may deleteriously alter neuroendocrine foundations of fully developed engagement coping. Well-orchestrated cortisol and DHEA activity (e.g., close 1:1 correspondence) is critical to executive processes that support sophisticated stressor management. By opposing the effects of cortisol (Pinto et al., 2015), DHEA permits cortisol-mediated glucose mobilization to enervate neurobiological circuits (e.g., frontolimbic; Shansky & Lipps, 2013) and support executive processes (e.g., attentional control, working memory; Shields et al., 2016) necessary for complex coping skills. When unopposed by DHEA, disproportional cortisol elevations brought on by a history of pervasive maltreatment exposure may constrain complex coping skill utilization via allostatic load-related processes and noxious effects on neurobiological substrates that support coping (McEwen, 2013). Indeed, high cortisol relative to DHEA has been linked to adolescent internalizing psychopathology (Goodyer et al., 2001). As a complement to these findings, some of our prior work has shown that rising DHEA levels over the course of the day for maltreated children are associated with healthier socioemotional functioning (Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2007). Taken together, these results perhaps suggest that DHEA helps maltreated youth utilize circulating cortisol to cope with depressive and anxious thoughts and feelings in an adaptive manner. Alternatively, pervasively maltreated girls exhibited lower cortisol to DHEA diurnal production, a pattern previously linked to antisocial behavior in adolescent girls (Pajer et al., 2006). Thus, one possibility may be that lower cortisol associated underarousal and high DHEA associated anxiolytic effects (Grillon et al., 2006), at an extreme disproportion, may contribute to blunted neurophysiological states that poorly equip girls to utilize engagement coping for managing prepotent response tendencies toward risky or disruptive behaviors, those that function to upregulate hypoarousal (Kamin & Kertes, 2017).

Inflammatory Processes

Relative to neuroendocrine function, surprisingly little empirical attention has been paid to maltreatment-related injury to immune system functioning and the potential role abusetriggered proinflammatory processes play in atypical coping development. There are, however, theoretical models that have been born out of this fairly nascent evidence base that implicate immune system disturbance as a mechanism of risk in chronic stress exposure to psychopathology linkages (Chen et al., 2015; Shields et al., 2017; Slavich & Irwin, 2014). Most importantly, these models have as their central focus both coping and selfregulation processes, illustrating conceptual pathways by which dysregulated inflammatory activity can compromise coping ability and lead to self-regulatory failure.

The shift-and-persist model (Chen et al., 2015) posits that the experience of chronic stress may contribute to low-grade inflammation processes implicated in the pathogenesis of numerous forms of psychopathology (e.g., depression). Specifically, the model outlines

253

how chronic stress-related alterations to biological stress response system functioning (e.g., exaggerated HPA, autonomic nervous system, and cytokine reactivity) contribute to glucocorticoid resistance, whereby immune cells (e.g., monocytes, macrophages) responsible for modulating proinflammatory processes become less sensitive to cortisol's anti-inflammatory signaling properties. The resulting downregulation of glucocorticoidreceptor activity permits these immune cells to respond aggressively in an unchecked manner to potential injury and insults to children's developing brains and bodies, including those sustained from exposure to early adversity, thereby contributing to low-grade inflammation. The shift-and-persist model further suggests that adaptive and maladaptive coping patterns in response to chronic stress have the potential to ameliorate and exacerbate biological stress responsivity that confers risk for the development of glucocorticoid resistance, and vice versa. Thus, coping development in the face of adversity may depend, in part, on well-regulated neuroendocrine and inflammation processes.

The immunologic model of self-regulatory failure (Shields et al., 2017) offers a developmental perspective on how early-adversityrelated inflammation can compromise the emergence of self-regulatory capacity, with a focus on bidirectional communication between the immune system and brain facilitated by the HPA axis and sympathetic-adrenal-medullary (SAM) system. In the face of stress, HPArelated glucocorticoid (e.g., cortisol) activity and SAM-related noradrenergic (e.g., epinephrine, norepinephrine) activity function as key down- and upregulators, respectively, of proinflammatory cytokine activity (e.g., tumor necrosis factor-a, TNF-a; interleukin-1β, IL-1β; interleukin-6, IL-6). In this way, stressoractivated HPA and SAM systems reduce and increase inflammation, respectively, with cortisol produced by the SAM-innervated HPA helping to suppress the initial SAM response and protect against brain and bodily damage that may result from prolonged SAM and, thus, increased inflammation activity. Indeed, proinflammatory cytokine activity and inflammation processes directly and indirectly influence neuronal activity (e.g., microglia activation, stimulation of cytokine receptors on neurons and the vagus nerve), which then contribute to structural and functional changes in brain regions and circuitry (e.g., amygdala, prefrontal cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, insula, striatum, nucleus accumbens) implicated in the development of selfregulatory capacity, emergence of healthy coping, and skills for managing involuntary stress reactivity. The manner in which poorly managed stressful experiences come to interfere with self-regulatory capacity and lead to eventual failure is by impinging on any number of these processes, with cascade effects across levels, for example hyperactive SAM and blunted HPA systems that upregulate and fail to terminate proinflammatory processes, respectively, that can exert neurotoxic effects on frontolimbic activity.

Our emerging studies examining child maltreatment to inflammation linkages are consistent with these conceptual models and the emerging empirical evidence base upon which they were formulated. Specifically, our investigations have revealed additional nuance in maltreatment-inflammation linkages by attending to those qualitative and temporal descriptors of maltreatment experience as well as inflammation genetic variation. We have focused on C-reactive protein (CRP) as a biomarker of systemic inflammation, in particular, given recent meta-analytic evidence suggesting that maltreatment, specifically, is positively associated with CRP levels (Coelho et al., 2014). We also have examined functional allelic variants of CRP genes, given

evidence of CRP genetic variant augmented risk for the emergence of depression (Bufalino et al., 2013). Utilizing a sample of low-income, maltreated and nonmaltreated youth attending a summer day research camp, Cicchetti and colleagues (2015) tested whether the effect of timing of maltreatment on inflammation biomarkers would vary by inflammation biomarker genotype, and whether inflammation to internalizing symptom linkages would also vary by timing of maltreatment. Consistent with VanZomeren et al. (2020), our most dramatic maltreatment effects were observed in children with late (after the age of five) relative to early (before the age of five) onset maltreatment, that is, those children with a more recent history of exposure to maltreatment. Among these children, those with at least one A allele from CRP SNP rs1417938 exhibited higher CRP levels compared to their late onset maltreatment counterparts carrying the TT genotype. Still further, CRP levels were positively associated with childhood internalizing symptoms, but, again, only for those youth with late onset maltreatment experiences.

Our results highlight that maltreatmentrelated disturbance of immune system functioning is not isolated to those with early experiences, perhaps in contrast to a body of literature articulating the deleterious impact of early relative to later maltreatment occurrence on psychosocial functioning (Dunn et al., 2013; Kaplow & Widom, 2007; Manly et al., 2001). Rather, one possibility may be that inflammation, like cortisol (e.g., Adam et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2007), during preadolescence is more greatly impacted by more temporally proximal experiences of maltreatment. One plausible explanation may be that elevated inflammatory processes potentially constrain the development of coping through transactions with children's ever-changing environments. Shields et al. (2017) note that

youth immune system dysregulation exerts its most deleterious impact on healthy development when it cascades into academic and social difficulties. Importantly, as children age into adolescence, the interpersonal peer and academic contexts, in addition to the family, become increasingly salient venues by which youth experience a host of novel stressors (e.g., making new friends, completing a group project), but are also socialized toward more sophisticated skills (e.g., emotional expression, problem-solving) for navigating them (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Thus. maltreatment-related inflammation during preadolescence, via impairment of self-regulatory capacity (Shields et al., 2016), may increase the likelihood of failure in both academic and interpersonal domains, as well as restrict opportunities to learn and develop more complex coping repertoires outside the more immediate and perhaps chaotic home environment. Such failure and limited learning opportunities may reciprocally compound into further inflammation elevations. Importantly, not all recently maltreated preadolescent children exhibited such elevations and links to internalizing, suggesting that attention to genetic variation may be key in understanding inflammation-linked susceptibility and constraints on coping development (Compas et al., 2017).

Utilizing a methodological approach similar to Doom et al. (2013), a more recent investigation illustrated how pervasive maltreatment exposure to low-grade inflammation linkages may vary for boys and girls (Ehrlich et al., 2021). Guided by evidence suggesting that more vulnerable females may be to inflammation-related disturbance associated with early adversity (e.g., Baldwin et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2016), we tested whether varied facets of children's maltreatment histories (e.g., maltreatment status, diversity of maltreatment experiences, chronicity of Childhood Adversity and the Development of Coping

maltreatment exposure) were associated with low-grade inflammation, and whether those associations were moderated by sex of the child. For this study, we used a comprehensive and robust index of children's low-grade inflammation, a composite of five biomarkers harvested from children's nonfasting blood samples: CRP, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and TNF-α. Our results showed that maltreated girls exhibited higher low-grade inflammation levels relative to maltreated boys. Examinations of maltreatment diversity and chronicity further disentangled these gendered effects, with girls who experienced two or more forms of maltreatment during two or more developmental periods exhibiting higher inflammation levels relative to girls who experienced one form during one period.

Gender differences that emerged in both Doom et al. (2013) and Ehrlich et al. (2021) for neuroendocrine and inflammation processes, respectively, provide converging evidence highlighting the differentially deleterious impact of maltreatment on girls' stress-sensitive biological functioning, functioning that underlies self-regulation and coping. Specifically, while maltreated boys exhibit elevated cortisol and lower inflammation levels, maltreated girls evinced lower cortisol and elevated inflammation levels. From an allostatic load perspective (Cicchetti, 2011a, 2011b; Juster et al., 2011), chronic stress experience (e.g., pervasive maltreatment) over time contributes to initial stage dysregulated cortisol hyperactivity that evolves into cortisol hypoactivity. This hypocortisolism end stage, through impaired glucocorticoid signaling, is accompanied by marked poor modulation of elevated proinflammatory cytokine activity (Guilliams & Edwards, 2010), compromised brain function in regions and circuits requisite for successful coping (Shields et al., 2017), and increased risk for later internalizing disorders (e.g., depression;

Badanes et al., 2011). Thus, it may be that maltreated boys in our sample exhibited only the initial stages of allostatic load–related disturbance, while maltreated girls' cortisolinflammation profiles indicated more advanced staging and related psychobiological impairment.

Although longitudinal research is needed to verify whether, in line with allostatic load models (Miller et al., 2007), such maltreatment-linked biological patterning and gender-based differences therein continue in etiologic fashion through to adolescence and adulthood, it may be appropriate to speculate here as to specific psychosocial factors that may have at least in part accounted for these observed gender differences. Disruptions in interpersonal relationships, shame, and self-blaming affect may be three relevant psychosocial factors, given evidence that each is more common and more predictive of adjustment in maltreated females than males irrespective of maltreatment subtype (Cicchetti & Valentino, 2006; Kim et al., 2009: McGee et al., 2001). Thus, girls may be more susceptible to maltreatment-related inflammatory processes, given that shame and self-blaming affect can color interpersonal interactions, disrupt the development of social problem-solving skills, and increase the likelihood of experiencing additional interpersonal relationship difficulties. Indeed, girls not only are more sensitive to such interpersonal stressors than boys (Guyer et al., 2009; Rudolph, 2002), but also tend to rely more on their close friendships with others to help meet affiliative and coping needs (Spear, 2009; Steinberg, 2014). Thus, for girls, maltreatment may be accompanied by interpersonal sequelae to which they are more sensitive, and restrict access to close friendships that they rely upon for coping, thereby increasing the noxious toll maltreatment exerts on girls' inflammatory processes.

255
Neurocognitive Pathways

Numerous aspects of memory and executive functioning are thought to be requisite foundations for the development and successful utilization of more sophisticated forms of engagement coping (e.g., problem-solving, cognitive restructuring; Campbell et al., 2009; Compas et al., 2017). Among those implicated aspects are working memory, inhibitory control, and attentional set shifting (Blair & Razza, 2007; Diamond, 2013). These skills reflect the ability to recognize and recall learned information from previous experience (e.g., stressful encounters) as well as multiple top-down mental processes that assist in goaldirected behavior, that are requisite in facilitating successful coping with stress (Zelazo et al., 2008). Evidence increasingly suggests that early adversity exerts deleterious impacts on these neurocognitive processes that underlie complex coping (for review, see Su et al., 2019), which thereby make more rudimentary (e.g., avoidance) and involuntary forms of stress responding more likely in the face of stress (Polak et al., 2012).

Our earlier work was one of the first of its kind to demonstrate the deleterious effects maltreatment can exert on preadolescent memory processes. In Valentino and colleagues (2009), we tested whether the overgeneral memory (OGM) effect, commonly studied in adults struggling with trauma (for review, see Williams et al., 2007), could be observed in maltreated children who attended our research summer camp. Youth in our study completed the Autobiographical Memory Test (Williams & Broadbent, 1986) and their recalled memories to each of 10 emotional prompts were coded for OGMs (i.e., "memories that did not contain at least one specific detail that identifies an event as a distinct episode"; Johnson et al., 2005). Our results revealed that abused children's recalled memories were less specific and more overgeneralized relative to neglected and nonmaltreated youth. Importantly, the abuse to OGM link was mediated by youth's negative self-representations and depressive symptoms, suggesting that internalized aspects of abuse and related effects on poor self-image contribute to impaired recall function.

A subsequent study that focused on recognition memory similarly benefited from attending to additional levels of analysis peripheral to neurocognitive function. Cicchetti et al. (2010) explored the relationship between children's maltreatment status and their performance on the California Verbal Learning Test - Children (CVLT-C; Delis et al., 1994). While there was no main effect of maltreatment status on children's performance on various subtests of the CVLT-C, significant interactions emerged between children's morning cortisol levels and their maltreatment status. Specifically, physically neglected and emotionally maltreated youth with low morning cortisol had higher rates of false positive word recognition and were less able to discriminate target words from distractor words relative to physically and sexually abused as well as nonmaltreated children with low morning cortisol levels. Taken together, these studies suggest child maltreatment may restrict access to memory processes that are needed for coping and that the specific memory process disrupted may depend on whether the child was abused (e.g., overgeneralized memory recall) or neglected (e.g., false positive recognition, discriminability). For example, the ability to recall specific details from prior events is needed to help children adjust expectations and coping behaviors to meet the demands of current or upcoming acute stressors. Still further, being able to accurately recognize and discriminate between stimuli that are threatening or inconsequential is likely supported by hypervigilance (e.g., careful attention and monitoring of novel contexts)

stemming from distinct incidents of abuse (Pollak et al., 2005; Shackman et al., 2007; Teisl & Cicchetti, 2008), but impaired by the chronic nature of neglect and the lack of exposure to stimuli altogether from which skills in recognition and differentiation develop (Cicchetti et al., 2010). Inability to recognize and differentiate stimuli may comprise children's ability to identify stressors and, thus, their ability to utilize specific coping skills and resources to adjust to the demands of specific stressors. Importantly, the manner in which maltreatment impinges upon these neurocognitive abilities appears in part to be a function of and depend upon children's internalization of these experiences at the selfimage and neuroendocrine levels of analysis, respectively.

More recently, our research has shown that child maltreatment as a specific form of early adversity is linked to such compromised aspects of executive functioning, aspects with well-documented links to self-regulation (for reviews, see Zelazo, 2020; Zelazo & Carlson, 2012). Using a sample of maltreated and nonmaltreated children aged 3-9, Cowell and colleagues (2015) examined temporal aspects (e.g., developmental timing, chronicity) of children's maltreatment history as predictors of their performance on 10 neurocognitive tasks tapping into three aspects of executive functioning: three inhibitory control/working memory tasks (e.g., Day-Night Stroop-like Task, Gerstadt et al., 1994; Tapping Task, Diamond & Taylor, 1996; Three Peg Task, Balamore & Wozniak, 1984), three memory tasks (e.g., Corsi-Milner Test of Temporal Order and Recognition Memory; Six Boxes Task, Boxes Scrambled after Each Reach; Six Boxes Task, Boxes Remain Stationary), and three motor/attention control tasks (e.g., Control Version of the Day-Night Stroop-like Task, Gerstadt et al., 1994; Global-Local Spatial Processing Task, Forced Choice

Procedure; Line Bisection Task). Utilizing composites formed by standardizing and aggregating scores across tasks within each neurocognitive domain, results showed that maltreated children performed more poorly on inhibitory control/working memory tasks relative to their nonmaltreated counterparts. No significant differences emerged for maltreated and nonmaltreated children with respect to memory or motor/attention control. Still further, children who experienced maltreatment initially during infancy or during three or more developmental periods exhibited poorer inhibitory control/working memory skills relative to their counterparts who experienced maltreatment after infancy or during only one developmental period. Difficulties with managing impulses and flexibly shifting attention linked to early adverse experiences may shape how maltreated children respond cognitively and behaviorally to stressors they encounter, perhaps favoring involuntary stress reactivity over effortful forms of engagement coping.

A more recent longitudinal investigation illustrated how deficits in neurocognitive function associated with children's maltreatment experiences during infancy help to explain aspects of children's aggressive behavior during early childhood. Specifically, Demeusy and colleagues (2018) tested whether children's history of neglect prior to age 12 months predicted mothers' report of their child's aggressive behavior at age 38 months, but also whether children's working memory skills at age 24 months mediated the relationship between infant neglect and early childhood aggression. Results revealed that children who experienced neglect during infancy not only performed more poorly on spatial working memory tasks specifically (e.g., Three Boxes Stationary; Diamond et al., 1997) a year later, but also engaged in more aggressive behavior (e.g., easily frustrated, hits

257

others) at 38 months of age. Still further, neglected children's spatial working memory skills accounted for additional unique variance in their aggressive behavior above and beyond that explained by their maltreatment histories, illustrating a pathway by which infant neglect compromised spatial working memory skills a year later, which then led to increased aggressive behavior in early childhood. Of note, spatial (relative to nonspatial) working memory recruits resources from prefrontal brain regions (Smith et al., 1995), those that are adversely impacted by early neglect and linked to antisocial behavior (Edmiston et al., 2011; Raine, 2002). As such, disrupted spatial working memory and prefrontal cortical activation may be mechanisms specific to neglect that potentiate risk for aggression.

Taken together, these studies illustrate the pernicious effect early and chronic maltreatment experiences may have on children's neurocognitive functioning, with implications for how maltreated children respond to stress. During the first year of life, children's brains undergo rapid neuronal changes, with such growth thought to increase their sensitivity to environmental input and stimuli (Johnson, 2011). Because infancy presents as a time of neurocognitive plasticity and development, it is also a period of marked vulnerability to external perturbation. As a result, maltreatment experiences during this window and related impairments to neurocognitive processes may have implications for children's behavioral functioning in later development. Deficits in children's early neurocognitive processes resulting from exposure to maltreatment may cascade into compromised coping ability and behavioral maladjustment later on in a heterotypic continuous fashion (Masten & Cicchetti, 2010). For example, cognitive difficulty connecting cues to consequences early on due to an unpredictable and inconsistent home environment may constrain children's ability

to successfully attend to and manage stressors they encounter later on, possibly promoting hypervigilance and avoidance instead. Maltreatment-related neurocognitive insult may also constrain children's flexibility to adapt to novel challenge with complex coping skills. Such maladaptation may involve limited ability to (a) identify and shift attention toward and away from appropriate threats, (b) cognitively or behaviorally respond with well thought-out strategies, (c) evaluate the effectiveness of the strategy, and (d) learn and deploy a new strategy if needed. A compounding incapacity to flexibly adapt to stressors may over time solidify old behavioral phenotypes (e.g., aggressive and disruptive behavior for managing frustrative nonreward; Cicchetti & Tucker, 1994). If so, then chronic exposure to maltreatment may further exacerbate this growth-restrictive process, with altered neurocognitive function and neural reorganization favoring strategies for survival (e.g., disengagement coping, fight or flight responses) in chaotic and deprived conditions at the expense of developing new skills (e.g., engagement coping) requisite for learning and exploration (Cicchetti, 2013; Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2009; Compas et al., 2017).

Importantly, this research also illustrated the differential contributions of abuse and neglect to children's neurocognitive function, with implications for coping-based intervention. Abusive caregiving environments appear to alter neurocognitive function in a way that supports hypervigilance and biased responding to threat (e.g., predispositions toward disengagement relative to engagement coping that ironically heightens or maintains ISRs). Alternatively, neglectful caregiving appears to alter neurocognitive function in such a way that it restricts the development of executive resources needed for cognitively complex coping, those requisite for effective management of ISRs. From a stress and coping perspective, it is possible that exposure to abuse socializes children to favor disengagement relative engagement coping skills at the neurocognitive level, whereas neglect fails to socialize children toward the development of engagement coping skills for managing ISRs altogether. If so, coping-based intervention for abused youth may need to focus on helping children unlearn what is being taught at home, while intervention for neglected youth may need to focus on learning what is not being taught at home.

Neurobiological Function

Neurobiological disturbance at both the structural and functional levels has been previously linked to child maltreatment, particularly in and between regions of the brain involved in coping and emotion regulation. When comparing adults with and without childhood maltreatment histories, reduced frontal lobe (Andersen et al., 2008; Dannlowski et al., 2012; Hart & Rubia, 2012) and hippocampal (Teicher et al., 2012: Woon & Hedges, 2008) volumes have been noted. Such research has also pointed to altered frontlimbic activation (e.g., increased amygdala (Dannlowski et al., 2012; van Harmelen et al., 2013) and prefrontal cortex (Fonzo et al., 2013; van Harmelen et al.. 2014) reactivity). Frontolimbic connectivity pattern differences have also been observed (Cisler & Herringa, 2020; van der Werff et al., 2013). Although this literature is nascent relative to the maltreatment structural neuroimaging literature, researchers have begun to utilize functional magnetic resonance imaging methods to see if activation in specific brain regions is associated with coping (Compas et al., 2017). This work has primarily focused on more cognitively sophisticated coping (e.g., secondary control) and found that use of such strategies (e.g., cognitive reappraisal) requires greater

activation and access to the prefrontal cortex (Robinson et al., 2015). Still further, this activation also appears to explain the effect of early uncontrollable stressor exposure on coping behavior in adolescence (Reising et al., 2018), highlighting a neurobiological mechanism and possible target of copingbased intervention.

Our own studies have attempted to demonstrate the far-reaching effects that early maltreatment can have on later neurobiological function. To do so, we followed our original sample of maltreated and nonmaltreated, low-SES youth who attended our research summer camp into adulthood. We then invited a subset of those adult participants to be interviewed and undergo a magnetic resonance imaging scan. Our design has helped circumvent limitations of the extant maltreatment imaging literature. Namely, our maltreated and nonmaltreated groups were matched on SES and risk at the outset, allowing us to isolate specific effects of early maltreatment on adult neurobiological functioning without the confounding group differences in stressors often present in the early maltreating context (e.g., poverty, poor school quality, community violence). Additionally, reports of maltreatment were prospectively obtained and, thus, not subject to recall bias as with retrospective selfreporting (Hardt & Rutter, 2004).

In Demers and colleagues (2019), we examined the neuroanatomical consequences of participants' early maltreatment experiences, with particular interest in brain regions implicated in efficacious coping utilization (e.g., prefrontal cortex; Compas et al., 2017). Specifically, we tested for structural differences in overall frontal lobe volume (e.g., superior frontal, rostral, and caudal middle frontal; lateral and medial orbitofrontal; Desikan et al., 2006) between our two groups when they were in their early 30s. Analyses controlling for individual differences in overall cranial volume

revealed that maltreated adult participants exhibited significantly lower frontal lobe volumes compared to their adult nonmaltreated counterparts. We also examined the role frontal lobe volumes played in maltreated and nonmaltreated participants' developmental pathways toward psychosocial competence in adulthood. Frontal lobe volumes may index self-regulatory capacity and biological coping resources (Yuan & Raz, 2014). As such, we tested whether these volumes mediated the link between early mother-child relationship quality to adult symptomatology (e.g., internalizing, externalizing) and adaptive functioning (e.g., education, work) linkages. For nonmaltreated participants, mother-child relationcharacterized ships by trust and communication predicted increased frontal lobe volumes, which went on to buffer symptoms and promote adaptive functioning during adulthood. For maltreated participants, however, no evidence of such a pathway emerged. These results suggest that maternal caregiving quality has the potential to help develop children's frontal lobes, foster neurobiological self-regulatory and coping capacity, and thereby mitigate emotional maladjustment as children age into adulthood. Yet, maternal caregiving quality could not compensate for the negative effects of child maltreatment, further suggesting that child maltreatment has the potential to thwart this neurobiologically mediated self-regulatory pathway toward psychosocial competence.

The far-reaching consequences of early maltreatment experiences also are evident in participants' neural activation and circuitry. In Jedd and colleagues (2015), we showed that our maltreated (relative to nonmaltreated) participants exhibited more pronounced activation in the prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia (e.g., caudate, putamen) during an emotion-processing task (i.e., emotional face and shape matching; Hariri et al., 2000). Still further, and consonant with findings from a recent investigation of ours (Demers et al., 2018), maltreated participants exhibited stronger frontolimbic connectivity (i.e., amygdala to various prefrontal cortical regions including dorsomedial and dorsolateral) as well as intralimbic connectivity (i.e., amygdala to hippocampus) relative to nonmaltreated participants during this task. These findings may suggest that the task was more emotionally disturbing or stressful for maltreated participants. Their greater upregulation of cognitive control regions when the amygdala was activated during the task could indicate an elevated neural response to threat and possible hypervigilance to the angry and fearful face stimuli presented during the task. That upregulation of the hippocampus during amygdala activation also was observed perhaps suggests that maltreated participants were linking threatening stimuli to reactivation of negative memory traces.

Importantly, Demers et al. (2018) also illustrated the power of positive adaptation during adulthood for early-adversity-exposed individuals, given that group differences in frontolimbic connectivity patterns diminished after controlling for adult adaptive functioning levels. Similar positive effects for adult adaptive functioning among those who had experienced child maltreatment were observed in a new study that examined differences in inhibitory control between our maltreated and nonmaltreated adult sample. In Demers et al. (2021), adults underwent the International Affective Picture Go/No-Go task (Cohen & Thomas, 2013), which measures ability to inhibit a dominant response in the context of visual distractors (e.g., negative emotional valence background images). Results showed that adults with a substantiated history of maltreatment actually exhibited great inhibitory control, were more accurate in their identification of target stimuli, and evinced lower

261

prefrontal cortex activation when stimuli were presented with negative emotionally charged images in the background. It is possible that our findings point to the resilience of our maltreated adults. Over time, they may have learned based on their early experiences to exert greater inhibitory control particularly in negative emotion eliciting contexts. Still further, they did so and with greater task accuracy all the while exhibiting less recruitment of prefrontal cortex, perhaps suggesting more experience (e.g., desensitization) with negative valence content via their early experiences but also more efficient use of more moderate prefrontal cortical activation. For some highfunctioning adults, maltreatment-related foundations for accurately perceiving and dealing with emotionally upsetting events may be available. This may suggest that (a) adults who go on to evince adaptive functioning may have intact/recovered coping capacities, or (b) improved coping capacities in the face of adversity support the emergence of adaptive functioning in adulthood. In sum, these studies point to the power of postmaltreatment adaptive functioning in fostering resilience, illustrating how early exposure to anger-laden interpersonal contexts may foster both a familiarity and readiness to cope with stress at the behavioral and neural levels as maltreated individuals age into adulthood.

Translational Implications

The conceptual models and empirical evidence reviewed thus far have illustrated numerous mechanisms by which experiences with early adversity, specifically child maltreatment, confer risk for maladjustment over the course of development. Maltreatment exerts a deleterious influence on children's developing brains and bodies. These neuroendocrine, inflammatory, neurocognitive, and neurobiological alterations have long-term consequences for how children develop skills for flexibly navigating and meeting the demands of the everexpanding array of stressors they encounter over the course of ontogenesis. However, as illustrated in Demers et al. (2018) and more comprehensively outlined elsewhere (Cicchetti, 2013; Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2009), not all early-adversity-exposed children succumb to these experiences. Indeed, subsequent functional adaptation is possible for many maltreated children. As the research reviewed herein has pointed to sensitive developmental periods during which the multilevel roots of maladaptation take hold, these periods also present as opportune times for prevention and intervention efforts to capitalize on biological plasticity and reverse maltreatment effects (e.g., repair and recovery of immuneendocrine functioning for preadolescents contending with more proximal maltreatment exposure) (Steinberg, 2014). An important avenue for future research is, thus, to understand how therapeutic instruction in the development of a more complex coping repertoire at the child level might help to remediate maltreatment-affected psychobiological rhythms and, importantly, how targeting specific developmental windows may serve to maximize gains. Studying therapeutic efforts to foster caregiver relationships in which those skills might be adaptive appears equally important.

Preliminary evidence points to the promise of targeting biological substrates with interventions designed to enrich the early caregiving environment for early-adversity-exposed youth (i.e., relational interventions - see Toth et al., 2013, 2015). The Attachment and Biobehavioral Catch-Up (ABC) intervention has proved particularly influential in this regard (Bernard, Dozier, et al., 2015; Hostinar, & Dozier, Bernard, 2015). Focusing on infants living with a parent who had been referred to Child Protective Services, children assigned to ABC relative to control treatment (e.g., Developmental Education for Families) exhibited higher waking cortisol values and steeper diurnal slopes over the course of the day following the intervention. Importantly, when assessed 3 years postintervention, children who received ABC relative to control treatment continued to exhibit this healthier profile of daily neuroendocrine regulation.

Our own research has shown that working to change the early maltreating environment has the potential to not only alter children's psychological states and biological rhythms for the better, but also those of caregivers as well (Toth et al., 2015). Our lab utilized the Child-Parent Psychotherapy (CPP) (Cicchetti et al., 2006), an attachment-based preventive intervention that focuses on enhancing the quality of the mother-child relationship by helping mothers come to understand their own experiences of being cared for in their childhood. Findings from Toth and colleagues (2015) suggested that neglectful mothers randomized to CPP, relative to their counterparts assigned to a psychoeducational control treatment (e.g., Psychoeducational Parenting), experienced decreases in child-related stress (e.g., stress stemming from child behavior) relative to parent-related stress (e.g., stress stemming from the parental role). Still further, their child-related stress specific decreases were associated with lower maternal basal cortisol levels (i.e., less physiologic stress) at 1 year postintervention. Taken together, relational interventions may operate across multiple levels of analysis to enrich the early caregiving environment, with improvement of mother and child psychobiological function perhaps priming the early relational context for the socialization and development of successful coping skills.

Interventions geared toward helping older (e.g., middle childhood to adolescence)

maltreated youth intentionally change the ways in which they effortfully respond to stressors (i.e., coping) and manage involuntary responses to them (i.e., fight, flight, freeze) may have the potential to mitigate against the emergence of psychopathology (Gruhn & Compas, 2020). Indeed, our own recent work points to preadolescent engagement coping (e.g., problem-focused coping) and involuntary stress reactivity (e.g., emotion-focused coping) as risk-protective and risk-potentiating mechanisms, respectively, in the longitudinal linkages between early maltreatment exposure and later symptomatic functioning, and they thus represent viable targets of intervention (VanMeter et al., 2020). However, whether coping-based intervention improves malvouths' treated dysregulated biological rhythms for the better and, thus, buffers risk for psychopathology remains to be seen.

The closest promise of such therapeutic work, however, can be gleaned from new evidence of the efficacy of coping-based interventions for economically disadvantaged preadolescents afflicted by poverty-related stress (e.g., crime, trauma, violence exposure). Relative to assessment-only control, preadolescents who received the Building a Strong Identity and Coping Skills (BaSICS) intervention reported an increase in their utilization of engagement coping (e.g., problem-solving), a decrease in their reliance on disengagement coping (e.g., avoidance), and reductions in internalizing symptoms following intervention (Wadsworth et al., 2020). Importantly, preadolescents assigned to BaSICS also exhibited concomitant reductions in HPA hyperreactivity from pre- to postintervention, perhaps suggesting that the acquisition of coping skills for adversity-exposed youth helps to modulate HPA axis function and contributes to improvements in psychopathology symptoms.

Of note, certain aspects of the BaSICS intervention are consistent with tenets we have long

held about the promise of relational interventions, specifically, for older maltreated youth (e.g., Interpersonal Psychotherapy; Toth et al., 2013). Namely, in order for intervention to be effective with maltreated youth, it must be done either in communion with the offending agent or work on vouth internalized representations of the self in relation to the offender. Because BaSICS is a group intervention that seeks to reform the offending agent (e.g., commonly identified source of community strain), it fosters a group identity (e.g., self-image) committed to evincing positive change in disadvantaged youth's environments (e.g., offending agent). If the means by which coping skills improved and took hold in BaSICSassigned youth's biology involved changing their context so that coping was permissible and possibly well-received (Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2009), then it is possible that coping-based intervention for maltreated children that attends to these aspects (Toth et al., 2013) may also be successful in this regard.

In sum, as knowledge improves about the varied ways maltreatment gets "underneath the skin" and perniciously impacts biological substrates of coping development, incorporating assessments of psychobiological system activation in coping-based intervention efforts will become imperative (Cicchetti & Gunnar, 2008). With much more known about neuroendocrine dysregulation and its relationship with maltreatment, many interventions have recently begun to incorporate pre-post assessments of cortisol as a means of establishing efficacy across levels. Relatively speaking, we suspect that in the coming years, assessment of inflammation and neural processes will also make their way into pre-post interventions. Such work is imperative, as determining the levels and systems at which change is engendered through coping-based treatments not only will help to identify appropriate mechanisms of change, but also the extent to which

plasticity at the neuroendocrine, inflammatory, neurocognitive, and neurobiological levels can be expected and thus promoted through intervention.

Summary and Future Directions

The study of child maltreatment and the development of coping are two mutually informative traditions that when combined have the potential to further elucidate the manner in which stressful life events shape children's developmental pathways toward and away from competence and psychopathology, respectively. We summarize the literature reviewed in Table 10.1, providing take-home messages to coping researchers for each mechanism discussed as well as translational implications therein. Considering the function of effortful coping (e.g., engagement, disengagement) and involuntary stress responses in both basic research and studies of prevention and intervention efforts with maltreated youth should help to advance the field toward this goal. Thus, an important direction for future research is developing coping measures that are sensitive to maltreated youth's age (e.g., observational coding measures for early childhood youth, self-report measures for middle childhood youth and older) and circumstance (e.g., assessing responses to stressors that occur across various domains). Such improvements in measurement may reveal certain skills to be more or less advantageous to maltreated youth depending on their developmental stage and situation. For example, sophisticated forms of engagement coping (e.g., problem-solving) may not be appropriate for younger maltreated youth in the face of ongoing uncontrollable stress (e.g., abusive parent-child interactions, interparental conflict), while behavioral distraction may be more efficacious in this regard. Similarly, while avoidance may provide temporary benefits (e.g., alleviate

Mechanisms of risk	Essential message
Psychosocial processes	Early caregiving relationships are one of the first contexts in which children are socialized to effortful coping (e.g., problem-solving, support-seeking, avoidance) and involuntary stress responses (ISRs; e.g., fight or flight, automatic physiologic and emotional reactivity). Abuse promotes insecure attachment and socializes children to favor the use of disengagement (e.g., suppression of negative emotion expression, avoidance of caregivers when negative emotion is experienced) over engagement (e.g., expressing negative emotion to caregivers, approaching caregivers for support when negative emotions are experienced) coping, which ironically maintains or heightens ISRs. Neglect also promotes insecure attachment and fails to socialize children toward effortful coping strategies altogether and emotional self- and other-awareness requisite for developing intrapersonal and interpersonal strategies for managing ISRs. Offending home environments may have a particularly deleterious impact on girls, given that they rely on support from social others more than boys to meet coping and affiliative needs.
Neuroendocrine function	Maltreatment experienced during early childhood, middle childhood, and pervasively over the course of early and middle childhood can contribute to HPA axis dysregulation during preadolescence (e.g., hypocortisolism in girls, hypercortisolism in boys). These aberrant HPA processes reflect the underproduction and overproduction of stress hormones needed to efficiently mobilize physiologic resources for coping with stress. Cortisol underproduction is accompanied by spillover effects onto peripheral stress- sensitive systems (e.g., sympathetic nervous system) that potentially damage the central nervous system and contribute to heightened threat monitoring and automatic responses to stress. Cortisol overproduction has neurotoxic effects on higher-order brain regions that support sophisticated coping strategies (e.g., problem-solving). Importantly, DHEA production can oppose the effects of aberrant HPA patterns on psychopathological functioning, suggesting that studies of multihormone function are needed to further understand its contribution to the development of effortful coping and ISRs.
Inflammatory processes	 Maltreatment experienced during middle childhood and pervasively over the course of early and middle childhood can contribute to low-grade inflammation in preadolescence (e.g., elevated C-reactive protein and inflammatory cytokine levels). The deleterious effects of low-grade inflammation and their contribution to the self-regulatory failure are best understood in the context of the peripheral HPA and the SAM systems. The HPA and SAM systems are important up- and downregulators of inflammatory processes. Maltreatment exposure may contribute insufficient cortisol production in the face of stress, which fails to downregulate the SAM system and, thus, indirectly upregulates inflammatory processes. Maltreatment can also contribute to <i>glucocorticoid resistance</i>, whereby immune cells responsible for downregulating proinflammatory processes

 Table 10.1 Take-home messages for coping researchers organized by mechanism involved in maltreatment-coping pathways

Table 10.1 (cont.)

Mechanisms	of risk	Essential	message

	become less sensitive to cortisol's anti-inflammatory signaling properties. Resulting low-grade inflammation directly and indirectly influences neuronal activity that contributes to structural and functional changes in brain regions and circuitry implicated in the development of engagement coping skills for managing ISRs. Notably, hypocortisolism accompanied by low-grade inflammation is most apparent in maltreated preadolescent girls, which some believe explains gender differences in rates of internalizing psychopathology as children age into adolescence. Disruptions in interpersonal relationships, shame, and self-blaming affect observed more in maltreated girls relative to boys may be relevant psychosocial factors that strengthen low-grade inflammation effects on coping and ISR-related maladjustment (e.g., social isolation and accompanies for safetty)
Neurocognitive pathways	Maltreatment experienced during early childhood and pervasively over the course of early and middle childhood can contribute to specific neurocognitive deficits (e.g., poor inhibitory control/working memory) that
	impinge upon the development of effortful coping for managing ISRs. Deficits in memory function appear to be specific to the subtype of maltreatment experienced (e.g., abuse contributes to overgeneralized memory <i>recall</i> , neglect in the context of low-cortisol production contributes to false positive word <i>recognition</i> and lower <i>discrimination</i> of target words from distractor words). Inaccurate recall of specific details from prior events may hamper abused children's ability to adjust expectations and coping behaviors to meet the demands of current or upcoming acute stressors. Inability to recognize and differentiate stimuli may comprise neglected children's ability to identify stressors and, thus, utilization of specific coping skills and resources to adjust to the demands of specific stressors.
Neurobiological function	Early maltreatment experiences contribute to adult structural (e.g., lower frontal lobe volumes) and functional (e.g., more pronounced activation in the prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia, stronger frontolimbic and intralimbic connectivity) brain insults. Reduced frontal lobe volumes may index maltreated adults' impaired self-regulatory capacity and limited biological coping resources. Greater upregulation of prefrontal cortical regions when the limbic system is activated could reflect maltreated adults' elevated neural response to threat and possible hypervigilance. Upregulation of the hippocampus during limbic system activation may suggest that maltreated participants link threatening stimuli to reactivation of negative memory traces. Importantly, the benefits of early mother–child relationship quality on increased frontal lobe volume appears to be isolated to nonmaltreated adults, suggesting the maternal caregiving quality may not compensate for the negative effects of child maltreatment. However, adult adaptive functioning in early maltreatment-exposed adults appears to buffer against aberrant frontolimbic connectivity patterns, suggesting that high-functioning maltreated adults may have intact and/or enhanced coping capacities that favor resilience in the face of adversity.

Mechanisms of risk	Essential message
Translational implications	The multilevel roots of maltreatment take hold at various sensitive developmental windows. As such, future coping-based prevention and intervention research is needed to better understand how targeting specific developmental windows with the aim of improving caregiver–child relationships and therapeutic instruction of coping skills for managing ISRs may maximize gains. Such research may be enhanced by attending to changes in both putative psychosocial and biological mechanistic functioning over the course of treatment.

Table 10.1 (cont.)

distress, preserve physical safety) in inhospitable child-rearing environments, its ongoing use into middle childhood and adolescence in the face of more controllable stressors outside the home (e.g., academic tasks, peer interactions) may potentiate risk for psychosocial maladjustment.

To this end, a more nuanced understanding of how child maltreatment contributes to the development of coping and probabilistic pathways toward psychopathology also might be achieved with person-centered research attempting to elucidate maltreated vouth's cross-context profiles of coping. For example, maltreated youth with coping repertoires predominantly characterized by disengagement and involuntary stress responsivity across contexts (e.g., family, academic, peer) may be at risk for the development of psychopathology, while those who maintain hypervigilance and avoidance at home but problem-solve and express themselves at school or with friends may evince adaptive psychosocial function. Indeed, such has been the focus of family interaction programs that work with children and adolescents living in residential care (e.g., practice with emotional awareness and regulation for managing uncontrollable home stressors, developing skills for identifying social others in less stressful, more controllable contexts that may provide support and further socialize engagement coping skills; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2009). One additional postulation worth further consideration is whether a more predominant engagement coping repertoire across contexts, including the offending home environment, might still be linked with maladjustment for maltreated youth (i.e., threats to physical and emotional security at home that thwart potential benefits of engagement coping in low-risk contexts). To this point, a more comprehensive picture of how child maltreatment intersects with coping development must consider the functioning of other social partners and contexts with which maltreated youth interact, particularly if trust can be established with social others who can support, coach, and/or respond positively to engagement coping skill utilization.

Lastly, while both the maltreatment and coping literatures have been working in parallel to identify psychobiological mechanisms and concomitants, little empirical research has illustrated that alterations in stresssensitive biological systems following maltreatment exposure actually modify developmental trajectories of coping. Establishing such relations is important, given that pathological disturbance of the neuroendocrine, inflammation, neurocognitive, and neurobiological systems may place constraints on the types of coping maltreated children may successfully enact and may shape the patterns of coping they eventually come to utilize as they age into adulthood. An equally important endeavor is to understand whether specific skills or coping profiles have the potential to buffer against the probable noxious toll maltreatment exposure exerts on such biological systems, and whether these buffering effects might increase children's opportunity to engage with their social environments and, thus, develop a more variegated and flexible coping repertoire for managing stress. Such information could be leveraged in the design of more effective coping-based interventions efforts for maltreated youth.

References

- Adam, E. K., Quinn, M. E., Tavernier, R., McQuillan, M. T., Dahlke, K. A., & Gilbert, K. E. (2017). Diurnal cortisol slopes and mental and physical health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 83, 25–41. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.05.018
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1990). Epilogue: Some considerations regarding theory and assessment relevant to attachments beyond infancy. In M. T. Greenberg, D. Cicchetti, & E. M. Cummings (Eds.), *Attachment in the preschool years* (pp. 463–488). University of Chicago Press.
- Andersen, S. L., Tomada, A., Vincow, E. S., Valente, E., Polcari, A., & Teicher, M. H. (2008). Preliminary evidence for sensitive periods in the effect of childhood sexual abuse on regional brain development. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 20(3), 292–301. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi. neuropsych.20.3.292
- Badanes, L. S., Watamura, S. E., & Hankin, B. L. (2011). Hypocortisolism as a potential marker of allostatic load in children: Associations with family risk and internalizing disorders. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(3), 881–896. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S095457941100037X
- Balamore, U., & Wozniak, R. H. (1984). Speechaction coordination in young children.

Developmental Psychology, 20(5), 850–858. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.20.5.850

- Baldwin, J. R., Arseneault, L., Caspi, A., Fisher, H. L., Moffitt, T. E., Odgers, C. L., ... & Danese, A. (2018). Childhood victimization and inflammation in young adulthood: A genetically sensitive cohort study. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 67, 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbi.2017.08.025
- Barnett, D., Manly, J. T., & Cicchetti, D. (1993).
 Defining child maltreatment: The interface between policy and research. In D. Cicchetti & S. L. Toth (Eds.), *Child abuse, child development,* and social policy (pp. 7–73). Ablex.
- Bendezú, J. J., Loughlin-Presnal, J. E., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2019). Attachment security moderates effects of uncontrollable stress on preadolescent hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis responses: Evidence of regulatory fit. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 7(6), 1355–1371. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702619854747
- Bendezú, J. J., Perzow, S. E., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2016). What constitutes effective coping and efficient physiologic regulation following psychosocial stress depends on involuntary stress responses. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 73, 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.07.005
- Bernard, K., Dozier, M., Bick, J., & Gordon, M. K. (2015). Intervening to enhance cortisol regulation among children at risk for neglect: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(3), 829–841. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S095457941400073X
- Bernard, K., Hostinar, C. E., & Dozier, M. (2015). Intervention effects on diurnal cortisol rhythms of Child Protective Services–referred infants in early childhood: Preschool follow-up results of a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Pediatrics, 169(2), 112–119. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2014.2369
- Blair, C., & Razza, R. P. (2007). Relating effortful control, executive function, and false belief understanding to emerging math and literacy ability in kindergarten. *Child Development*, 78(2), 647–663. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01019.x

Bowlby, J. (1982). *Attachment and loss: Vol. 1. Attachment* (2nd ed.). Basic Books.

Bretherton, I. (2013). Internal working models of attachment relationships as related to resilient coping. In G. G. Noam & K. W. Fischer (Eds.), *Development and vulnerability in close relationships* (pp. 23–48). Psychology Press.

Bretherton, I., Grossmann, K. E., Grossmann, K., & Waters, E. (2005). In pursuit of the internal working model construct and its relevance to attachment relationships. In K. E. Grossman, K. Grossman, & E. Waters (Eds.), *Attachment from infancy to adulthood: The major longitudinal studies* (pp. 13–47). Guilford Press.

Bufalino, C., Hepgul, N., Aguglia, E., & Pariante, C. M. (2013). The role of immune genes in the association between depression and inflammation: A review of recent clinical studies. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *31*, 31–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbj.2012.04.009

Campbell, L. K., Scaduto, M., Van Slyke, D., Niarhos, F., Whitlock, J. A., & Compas, B. E. (2009). Executive function, coping, and behavior in survivors of childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 34(3), 317–327. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jpepsy/jsn080

Cassidy, J., & Shaver, P. R. (Eds.). (2008). Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.

Chen, E., McLean, K. C., & Miller, G. E. (2015). Shift-and-persist strategies: Associations with socioeconomic status and the regulation of inflammation among adolescents and their parents. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 77(4), 371–382. https://doi.org/10.1097/ psy.000000000000157

Chen, E., Turiano, N. A., Mroczek, D. K., & Miller, G. E. (2016). Association of reports of childhood abuse and all-cause mortality rates in women. JAMA Psychiatry, 73(9), 920–927. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2016.1786

Cicchetti, D. (Ed.). (2011a). Allostatic load, part 1. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23, 723–724. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579411000277 Cicchetti, D. (Ed). (2011b). Allostatic load, part 2. Development and Psychopathology, 23, 955–974. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579411000447

Cicchetti, D. (2013). Annual research review: Resilient functioning in maltreated children – past, present, and future perspectives. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(4), 402–422. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02608.x

Cicchetti, D. (Ed.). (2017). Biological and behavioral effects of early adversity on multiple levels of development. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(5), 1517–1986.

Cicchetti, D., & Gunnar, M. R. (2008). Integrating biological processes into the design and evaluation of preventive interventions. *Development and Psychopathology*, 20(3), 737–743. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579408000357

Cicchetti, D., Handley, E. D., & Rogosch, F. A. (2015). Child maltreatment, inflammation, and internalizing symptoms: Investigating the roles of C-reactive protein, gene variation and neuroendocrine regulation. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(2), 553–566. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579415000152

- Cicchetti, D., & Lynch, M. (1995). Failures in the expectable environment and their impact on individual development: The case of child maltreatment. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, disorder, and adaptation* (Vol. 2, pp. 32–71). Wiley.
- Cicchetti, D., & Rogosch, F. A. (2007). Personality, adrenal steroid hormones, and resilience in maltreated children: A multi-level perspective. *Development and Psychopathology*, 19(3), 787–809. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579407000399
- Cicchetti, D., & Rogosch, F. A. (2009). Adaptive coping under conditions of extreme stress: Multilevel influences on the determinants of resilience in maltreated children. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, *124*, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.242

Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., Howe, M. L., & Toth, S. L. (2010). The effects of maltreatment and neuroendocrine regulation on memory performance. *Child Development*, *81*(5), 1504–1519. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01488.x

- Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Toth, S. L. (2006). Fostering secure attachment in infants in maltreating families through preventive interventions. *Development and Psychopathology*, 18(3), 623–649. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/s0954579406060329
- Cicchetti, D., & Tucker, D. (1994). Development and self-regulatory structures of the mind. *Development and Psychopathology*, 6(4), 533–549. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579400004673
- Cicchetti, D., & Valentino, K. (2006). An ecological transactional perspective on child maltreatment: Failure of the average expectable environment and its influence upon child development. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology. Risk, disorder, and adaptation* (2nd ed., Vol. 3, pp. 129–201). Wiley.
- Cisler, J. M., & Herringa, R. J. (2020). Posttraumatic stress disorder and the developing adolescent brain. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 144–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2020.06.001
- Coelho, R., Viola, T. W., Walss-Bass, C., Brietzke, E., & Grassi-Oliveira, R. (2014). Childhood maltreatment and inflammatory markers: A systematic review. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *129*(3), 180–192. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/acps.12217
- Cohen-Gilbert, J. E., & Thomas, K. M. (2013). Inhibitory control during emotional distraction across adolescence and early adulthood. *Child Development*, 84(6), 1954–1966. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12085
- Cole, P. M., Bendezú, J. J., Ram, N., & Chow, S. M. (2017). Dynamical systems modeling of early childhood self-regulation. *Emotion*, 17(4), 684–699. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000268
- Compas, B. E. (2009). Coping, regulation, and development during childhood and adolescence. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, 124, 87–99. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cd.245

Compas, B. E., Connor, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (1999).
Getting specific about coping: Effortful and involuntary responses to stress in development. In M. Lewis & D. Ramsey (Eds.), *Soothing and Stress* (pp. 229–256). Cambridge University Press.

- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J., & Jaser, S. S. (2004). Temperament, stress reactivity, and coping: Implications for depression in childhood and adolescence. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33(1), 21–31. https://doi. org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3301_3
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., ... & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Cowell, R. A., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Toth, S. L. (2015). Childhood maltreatment and its effect on neurocognitive functioning: Timing and chronicity matter. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(2), 521–533. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579415000139
- Danese, A., & McEwen, B. S. (2012). Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease. *Physiology & Behavior*, 106(1), 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. physbeh.2011.08.019
- Dannlowski, U., Stuhrmann, A., Beutelmann, V., Zwanzger, P., Lenzen, T., Grotegerd, D., ... & Kugel, H. (2012). Limbic scars: Long-term consequences of childhood maltreatment revealed by functional and structural magnetic resonance imaging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(4), 286–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.10.021
- De Bellis, M. D., Chrousos, G. P., Dorn, L. D., Burke, L., Helmers, K., Kling, M. A., ... &

269

Putnam, F. W. (1994). Hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis dysregulation in sexually abused girls. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 78(2), 249–255. https://doi.org/ 10.1210/jcem.78.2.8106608

Delis, D. C., Kramer, J. H., Kaplan, E., & Ober,
B. A. (1994). *California Verbal Learning Test – Children's version*. Psychological Corporation.

Demers, L. A., Handley, E. D., Hunt, R. H., Rogosch, F. A., Toth, S. L., Thomas, K. M., & Cicchetti, D. (2019). Childhood maltreatment disrupts brain-mediated pathways between adolescent maternal relationship quality and positive adult outcomes. *Child Maltreatment*, 24(4), 424–434. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1077559519847770

- Demers, L. A., Hunt, R. H., Cicchetti, D., Cohen-Gilbert, J. E., Rogosch, F. A., Toth, S. L., & Thomas, K. M. (2021). Impact of childhood maltreatment and resilience on behavioral and neural patterns of inhibitory control during emotional distraction. *Development and Psychopathology*, 34(4). https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579421000055
- Demers, L. A., McKenzie, K. J., Hunt, R. H., Cicchetti, D., Cowell, R. A., Rogosch, F. A., ... & Thomas, K. M. (2018). Separable effects of childhood maltreatment and adult adaptive functioning on amygdala connectivity during emotion processing. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 3(2), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpsc.2017.08.010

Demeusy, E. M., Handley, E. D., Rogosch, F. A., Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (2018). Early neglect and the development of aggression in toddlerhood: The role of working memory. *Child Maltreatment*, 23(4), 344–354. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1077559518778814

Desikan, R. S., Ségonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., ... & Killiany, R. J. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage*, 31(3), 968–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2006.01.021

- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64, 135–168. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Diamond, A., Prevor, M. B., Callender, G., & Druin, D. P. (1997). Prefrontal cortex cognitive deficits in children treated early and continuously for PKU. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 62(4, Serial No. 252). https://doi.org/10.2307/1166208
- Diamond, A., & Taylor, C. (1996). Development of an aspect of executive control: Development of the abilities to remember what I said and to "Do as I say, not as I do." *Developmental Psychobiology*, 29(4), 315–334. . https://doi.org/ 10.1002/(SICI)1098-2302(199605)29:4<315:: AID-DEV2>3.0,CO:2-T
- Doom, J. R., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Dackis, M. N. (2013). Child maltreatment and gender interactions as predictors of differential neuroendocrine profiles. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38(8), 1442–1454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.12.019
- Dunn, E. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Slopen, N., Rosand, J., & Smoller, J. W. (2013).
 Developmental timing of child maltreatment and symptoms of depression and suicidal ideation in young adulthood: Results from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health.
 Depression and Anxiety, 30(10), 955–964. https:// doi.org/10.1002/da.22102
- Edmiston, E. E., Wang, F., Mazure, C. M., Guiney, J., Sinha, R., Mayes, L. C., & Blumberg, H. P. (2011). Corticostriatal-limbic gray matter morphology in adolescents with self-reported exposure to childhood maltreatment. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 165(12), 1069–1077. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archpediatrics.2011.565
- Ehrlich, K. B., Miller, G. E., Rogosch, F. A., & Cicchetti, D. (2021). Maltreatment exposure across childhood and low-grade inflammation: Considerations of exposure type, timing, and sex differences. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 63(3), 529–537. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.22031
- Fonzo, G. A., Flagan, T. M., Sullivan, S., Allard, C. B., Grimes, E. M., Simmons, A. N., ... & Stein, M. B. (2013). Neural functional and

structural correlates of childhood maltreatment in women with intimate-partner violence-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 211(2), 93–103. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.08.006

- Gerstadt, C. L., Hong, Y. J., & Diamond, A. (1994). The relationship between cognition and action: Performance of children 3¹/₂–7 years old on a Stroop-like day-night test. *Cognition*, *53*(2), 129–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(94) 90068-X
- Glick, G. C., & Rose, A. J. (2011). Prospective associations between friendship adjustment and social strategies: Friendship as a context for building social skills. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(4), 1117–1132. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0023277
- Goodyer, I. M., Park, R. J., Netherton, C. M., & Herbert, J. (2001). Possible role of cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone in human development and psychopathology. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 179(3), 243–249. https://doi.org/ 10.1192/bjp.179.3.243
- Grillon, C., Baas, J. M., Pine, D. S., Lissek, S., Lawley, M., Ellis, V., & Levine, J. (2006). The benzodiazepine alprazolam dissociates contextual fear from cued fear in humans as assessed by fear-potentiated startle. *Biological Psychiatry*, 60(7), 760–766. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.027
- Gruhn, M. A., & Compas, B. E. (2020). Effects of maltreatment on coping and emotion regulation in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 103, 1044–1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104446
- Guilliams, T. G., & Edwards, L. (2010). Chronic stress and the HPA axis. *The Standard*, 9(2), 1–12.
- Gunnar, M. R., Tottenham, N., & Cicchetti, D. (Eds.). (2020). Early adversity, stress, and neurobehavioral development. *Development and Psychopathology*, 32(5), 1555–1953. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0954579420001649
- Guyer, A. E., McClure-Tone, E. B., Shiffrin, N. D., Pine, D. S., & Nelson, E. E. (2009). Probing the neural correlates of anticipated peer evaluation in adolescence. *Child Development*, 80(4),

1000–1015. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01313.x

- Hardt, J., & Rutter, M. (2004). Validity of adult retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences: Review of the evidence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(2), 260–273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00218.x
- Hariri, A. R., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Mazziotta, J. C. (2000). Modulating emotional responses: Effects of a neocortical network on the limbic system. *Neuroreport*, 11(1), 43–48. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00001756-200001170-00009
- Hart, H., & Rubia, K. (2012). Neuroimaging of child abuse: A critical review. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6 (52), 1–24. https://doi. org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00052
- Jedd, K., Hunt, R. H., Cicchetti, D., Hunt, E., Cowell, R., Rogosch, F., ... & Thomas, K. M. (2015). Long-term consequences of childhood maltreatment: Altered amygdala functional connectivity. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(4), 1577–1589. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579415000954
- Johnson, M. H. (2011). Interactive specialization: A domain-general framework for human functional brain development? *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(1), 7–21. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dcn.2010.07.003
- Johnson, R. J., Greenhoot, A. F., Glisky, E., & McCloskey, L. A. (2005). The relations among abuse, depression, and adolescents' autobiographical memory. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 34(2), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp3402_3
- Juster, R. P., Bizik, G., Picard, M., Arsenault-Lapierre, G., Sindi, S., Trepanier, L., ... & Lupien, S. J. (2011). A transdisciplinary perspective of chronic stress in relation to psychopathology throughout life span development. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(3), 725–776. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579411000289
- Kajantie, E., & Phillips, D. I. (2006). The effects of sex and hormonal status on the physiological response to acute psychosocial stress.

Psychoneuroendocrinology, *31*(2), 151–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.07.002

- Kaltas, G. A., & Chrousos, G. P. (2007). The neuroendocrinology of stress. In J. T. Cacioppo, L. G. Tassinary, & G. C. Bernston (Eds.), *Handbook of psychophysiology* (2nd ed., pp. 303–318). Cambridge University Press
- Kamin, H. S., & Kertes, D. A. (2017). Cortisol and DHEA in development and psychopathology. *Hormones and Behavior*, 89, 69–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2016.11.018
- Kaplow, J. B., & Widom, C. S. (2007). Age of onset of child maltreatment predicts long-term mental health outcomes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *116*(1), 176–187. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0021-843X.116.1.176
- Kim, J., Talbot, N. L., & Cicchetti, D. (2009). Childhood abuse and current interpersonal conflict: The role of shame. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 33(6), 362–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chiabu.2008.10.003
- MacMillan, H. L., Wathen, C. N., Barlow, J., Fergusson, D. M., Leventhal, J. M., & Taussig, H. N. (2009). Interventions to prevent child maltreatment and associated impairment. *The Lancet*, 373 (9659), 250–266. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61708-0
- Manly, J. T. (2005). Advances in research definitions of child maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 29(5), 425–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chiabu.2005.04.001
- Manly, J. T., Kim, J. E., Rogosch, F. A., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Dimensions of child maltreatment and children's adjustment: Contributions of developmental timing and subtype. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(4), 759–782.
- Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Developmental cascades. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(3), 491–495. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579410000222
- McEwen, B. S. (2013). The brain on stress: Toward an integrative approach to brain, body, and behavior. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(6), 673–675. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1745691613506907

- McGee, R., Wolfe, D., & Olson, J. (2001). Multiple maltreatment, attribution of blame, and adjustment among adolescents. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(4), 827–846.
- Miller, G. E., Chen, E., & Zhou, E. S. (2007). If it goes up, must it come down? Chronic stress and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis in humans. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*(1), 25–45. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.25
- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., Myers, S. S., & Robinson, L. R. (2007). The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Social Development*, *16*(2), 361–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00389.x
- Pajer, K., Tabbah, R., Gardner, W., Rubin, R. T., Czambel, R. K., & Wang, Y. (2006). Adrenal androgen and gonadal hormone levels in adolescent girls with conduct disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 31(10), 1245–1256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.09.005
- Pinto, A., Malacrida, B., Oieni, J., Serafini, M. M., Davin, A., Galbiati, V., ... & Racchi, M. (2015). DHEA modulates the effect of cortisol on RACK1 expression via interference with the splicing of the glucocorticoid receptor. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *172*(11), 2918–2927. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13097
- Polak, A. R., Witteveen, A. B., Reitsma, J. B., & Olff, M. (2012). The role of executive function in posttraumatic stress disorder: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 141(1), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.01.001
- Pollak, S. D., Vardi, S., Putzer Bechner, A. M., & Curtin, J. J. (2005). Physically abused children's regulation of attention in response to hostility. *Child Development*, 76(5), 968–977. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00890.x
- Raine, A. (2002). Biosocial studies of antisocial and violent behavior in children and adults: A review. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 30(4), 311–326. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/A:1015754122318
- Reising, M. M., Bettis, A. H., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M., Hoskinson, K. R., & Compas, B. E. (2018). Stress, coping, executive function, and brain activation in adolescent offspring of depressed and nondepressed

mothers. *Child Neuropsychology*, 24(5), 638–656. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2017.1307950

- Robinson, K. E., Pearson, M. M., Cannistraci, C. J., Anderson, A. W., Kuttesch Jr, J. F., Wymer, K., ... & Compas, B. E. (2015).
 Functional neuroimaging of working memory in survivors of childhood brain tumors and healthy children: Associations with coping and psychosocial outcomes. *Child Neuropsychology*, *21*(6), 779–802. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09297049.2014.924492
- Rose, A. J., Smith, R. L., Glick, G. C., & Schwartz-Mette, R. A. (2016). Girls' and boys' problem talk: Implications for emotional closeness in friendships. *Developmental Psychology*, 52(4), 629–639. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000096
- Rudolph, K. D. (2002). Gender differences in emotional responses to interpersonal stress during adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 30(4), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1054-139X(01)00383-4
- Shackman, J. E., Shackman, A. J., & Pollak, S. D. (2007). Physical abuse amplifies attention to threat and increases anxiety in children. *Emotion*, 7(4), 838–852. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 1528-3542.7.4.838
- Shansky, R. M., & Lipps, J. (2013). Stress-induced cognitive dysfunction: Hormoneneurotransmitter interactions in the prefrontal cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7(123), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00123
- Shields, G. S., Moons, W. G., & Slavich, G. M. (2017). Inflammation, self-regulation, and health: An immunologic model of self-regulatory failure. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *12*(4), 588–612. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1745691616689091
- Shields, G. S., Sazma, M. A., & Yonelinas, A. P. (2016). The effects of acute stress on core executive functions: A meta-analysis and comparison with cortisol. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 68, 651–668. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.038
- Shipman, K., Edwards, A., Brown, A., Swisher, L., & Jennings, E. (2005). Managing emotion in a maltreating context: A pilot study examining child neglect. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 29(9),

1015–1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chiabu.2005.01.006

Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2009). Challenges to the developmental study of coping. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, 124, 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cd.239

273

- Slavich, G. M., & Irwin, M. R. (2014). From stress to inflammation and major depressive disorder: A social signal transduction theory of depression. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(3), 774–815. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035302
- Smith, E. E., Jonides, J., Koeppe, R. A., Awh, E., Schumacher, E. H., Minoshima, S. (1995). Spatial versus object working memory: PET investigations. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 7, 337–356. https://doi.org/ 10.1162/jocn.1995.7.3.337
- Spear, L. P. (2009). Heightened stress responsivity and emotional reactivity during pubertal maturation: Implications for psychopathology. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409000066
- Steinberg, L. (2014). *Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence.* Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Su, Y., D'Arcy, C., Yuan, S., & Meng, X. (2019). How does childhood maltreatment influence ensuing cognitive functioning among people with the exposure of childhood maltreatment? A systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 252, 278–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jad.2019.04.026
- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., & Polcari, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment is associated with reduced volume in the hippocampal subfields CA3, dentate gyrus, and subiculum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(9), E563–E572. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1115396109
- Teisl, M., & Cicchetti, D. (2008). Physical abuse, cognitive and emotional processes, and aggressive/disruptive behavior problems. *Social Development*, 17(1), 1–23.
- Thompson, R. A., & Nelson, C. A. (2001). Developmental science and the media: Early

brain development. *American Psychologist*, 56(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.1.5

- Toth, S. L., Gravener-Davis, J. A., Guild, D. J., & Cicchetti, D. (2013). Relational interventions for child maltreatment: Past, present, & future perspectives. *Development and Psychopathology*, 25(4pt2), 1601–1617. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579413000795
- Toth, S. L., Sturge-Apple, M. L., Rogosch, F. A., & Cicchetti, D. (2015). Mechanisms of change: Testing how preventative interventions impact psychological and physiological stress functioning in mothers in neglectful families. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(4), 1661–1674. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579415001017
- Valentino, K., Toth, S. L., & Cicchetti, D. (2009). Autobiographical memory functioning among abused, neglected, and nonmaltreated children: The overgeneral memory effect. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *50*(8), 1029–1038. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02072.x
- Van der Werff, E., Steg, L., & Keizer, K. (2013). The value of environmental self-identity: The relationship between biospheric values, environmental self-identity and environmental preferences, intentions and behaviour. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *34*, 55–63. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2012.12.006
- van Harmelen, A. L., Hauber, K., Moor, B. G., Spinhoven, P., Boon, A. E., Crone, E. A., & Elzinga, B. M. (2014). Childhood emotional maltreatment severity is associated with dorsal medial prefrontal cortex responsivity to social exclusion in young adults. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), 85–107. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0085107
- van Harmelen, A. L., van Tol, M. J., Demenescu, L. R., van der Wee, N. J., Veltman, D. J., Aleman, A., ... & Elzinga, B. M. (2013).
 Enhanced amygdala reactivity to emotional faces in adults reporting childhood emotional maltreatment. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 8(4), 362–369. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/scan/nss007

- VanMeter, F., Handley, E. D., & Cicchetti, D. (2020). The role of coping strategies in the pathway between child maltreatment and internalizing and externalizing behaviors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 101, Article 104323. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104323
- VanZomeren, A. A., Zhang, J., Lee, S. K., Gunlicks-Stoessel, M., Piehler, T., & Cicchetti, D. (2020). Maltreatment timing, HPA axis functioning, multigenic risk, and depressive symptoms in African American youth: Differential associations without moderated mediation. *Development and Psychopathology*, 32(5), 1838–1853. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579420000589
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(2), 96–100. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12112
- Wadsworth, M. E., McDonald, A., Joos, C. M., Ahlkvist, J. A., Perzow, S. E., Tilghman-Osborne, E. M., . . . & Brelsford, G. M. (2020). Reducing the biological and psychological toxicity of poverty-related stress: Initial efficacy of the BaSICS intervention for early adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(3–4), 305–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajcp.12400
- Williams, J. M., & Broadbent, K. (1986). Autobiographical memory in suicide attempters. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 95(2), 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.95.2.144
- Williams, J. M. G., Barnhofer, T., Crane, C., Herman, D., Raes, F., Watkins, E., & Dalgleish, T. (2007). Autobiographical memory specificity and emotional disorder. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*(1), 122–148. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.122
- Woon, F. L., & Hedges, D. W. (2008). Hippocampal and amygdala volumes in children and adults with childhood maltreatment-related posttraumatic stress disorder: A meta-analysis. *Hippocampus*, 18(8), 729–736. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/hipo.20437
- Yuan, P., & Raz, N. (2014). Prefrontal cortex and executive functions in healthy adults: A meta-

analysis of structural neuroimaging studies. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 42, 180–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2014.02.005

- Zelazo, P. D. (2020). Executive function and psychopathology: A neurodevelopmental perspective. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 16, 431–454. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-072319-024242
- Zelazo, P. D., & Carlson, S. M. (2012). Hot and cool executive function in childhood and adolescence: Development and plasticity. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 354–360.
- Zelazo, P. D., Carlson, S. M., & Kesek, A. (2008). Development of executive function in childhood. In C. A. Nelson & M. Luciana (Eds.), *Handbook* of developmental cognitive neuroscience (2nd ed., pp. 553–574). MIT Press.

275

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping and regulation: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, resilience, and intervention* (3rd ed., pp. 485–544). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781119125556.devpsv410

11 Adolescence, Physiological Adaptation, and the Development of Stress Responses

Karen D. Rudolph, Wendy Troop-Gordon, and Zihua Ye

Introduction

Adolescence is characterized by significant biological, psychological, and social reorganization and change. Puberty brings extensive maturation and remodeling of the brain (Ladouceur, 2012; Somerville, 2013; Spear, 2011) and alterations in the physiological systems involved in stress reactivity and emotion regulation (Dahl & Gunnar, 2009). Moreover, adolescents experience changing self-perceptions as they strive to develop increasingly complex identities. These transformations are complemented by novel experiences and restructuring of social systems (Rudolph, 2014). The challenges inherent in the adolescent transition paired with physiological and psychological growth generate enhanced regulatory demands along with opportunities to develop effective responses to stress. Mapping normative patterns of change and the development of individual differences in stress response processes is therefore integral to understanding how youth negotiate this critical transition and enter upon healthy or unhealthy developmental trajectories.

To address this need, we begin with an overview of some of the most prominent frameworks for conceptualizing responses to stress. We then delve into research examining changes in psychological and behavioral components of stress responses across adolescence, considering both chronological age and stage of puberty as markers of development. We then discuss patterns of maturation and reorganization in the physiological systems that undergird these stress responses and review research examining links between biological markers of stress responses and responses at the psychological and behavioral levels. Highlighted are the advances made in adolescents' stress responses, as well as the ways in which stress responses can be compromised, with particular risks emerging for girls.

Conceptualization of Responses to Stress

Responses to stress are multifaceted, encompassing cognitive, emotional, behavioral, and physiological changes that can be immediate or sustained and can include automatic reactions as well as volitional coping (Compas et al., 2001; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994). A long history of theory and research has yielded many frameworks for conceptualizing stress responses (for a review, see Skinner et al., 2003). Pioneering conceptualizations of psychological and behavioral responses to stress distinguished problem-focused coping, aimed at minimizing the impact of stressors, versus emotion-focused coping, aimed at reducing stress-induced negative affect (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Control-based models similarly distinguish between primary control coping, or efforts to change controllable situations, versus secondary control coping, or efforts to adapt to uncontrollable circumstances to reduce distress (Weisz et al., 1984). Stress responses also can be differentiated based on whether they involve engagement with, or disengagement from, stressors and related emotions (Moos & Schaefer, 1993) and whether they engage intrapersonal (intrapsychic regulatory systems) or interpersonal (reliance on others) processes (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Compas et al. (2001) proposed a framework of stress responses organized by two orthogonal dimensions - voluntary versus involuntary and engagement versus disengagement - yielding four categories: (a) effortful engagement, (e.g., problem-solving, cognitive appraisal); (b) effortful disengagement (e.g., behavioral or cognitive avoidance): (c) involuntary engagement (e.g., rumination, emotional arousal); and (d) involuntary disengagement inaction. emotional numbing). (e.g., Organizing specific stress responses, Skinner and colleagues (Skinner et al., 2003) classified 400 types of coping into 12 categories.

Further complicating the study of stress responses is the substantial overlap between the processes involved in volitional coping and those involved in broader aspects of selfregulation, particularly regulation of emotions. Stress is a phenomenological experience in which individuals feel challenged, if not overtaxed. Emotion regulation, therefore, is an integral part of the stress response process (Compas et al., 2014) and itself is multifaceted, including modulation of the nature, intensity, and display of affective states (Gross & Thompson, 2007). These efforts can be either implicit, such as automatic reliance on habitual regulatory strategies or engagement in behaviors without regulatory intent (e.g., labeling emotions), or explicit, such as volitional efforts to employ regulatory tactics (Gyurak et al., 2011; Torre & Lieberman, 2018).

In a separate line of inquiry, theoretical models and empirical investigations consider how key biological systems respond to stress and challenge. Three major systems involved in responding to stress include the central nervous system (brain structure and function), the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. and the autonomic nervous system. Research in this area considers both indexes of everyday tonic function as well as acute responses to naturally occurring and laboratory stressors. Although most often studied independently, these biological systems are interconnected and, therefore, a complex concert of physiological changes contribute to the manifestation of psychological and behavioral responses to stress.

Given these complicated, interconnected ways in which individuals respond to stress, a comprehensive understanding of both normative changes and individual differences in stress responses across adolescence needs to build upon a theoretical framework that integrates the multilevel, multifaceted nature of stress responses as part of a broader regulatory system. Throughout the chapter, we use the umbrella term "stress responses" to refer to a broad category of both volitional (coping) and involuntary (automatic) responses to stress, incorporating relevant theory and research on emotion reactivity and regulation. Where applicable, we also use more specific terms (e.g., volitional coping, emotion regulation, physiological stress responses) when referring to more specific aspects of responses to stress.

Development of Psychological and Behavioral Responses to Stress

Developing resources to effectively manage stress is a protracted process in which external regulation increasingly comes under the control of internal mechanisms (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Although this maturation begins in infancy, changes in stress responses continue throughout adolescence. These transformations during adolescence afford increasing flexibility, sophistication, and diversity of available responses. However, gains are often offset by heightened emotional reactivity and engagement in maladaptive stress responses. Thus, the adolescent years present opportunities for both positive growth and the emergence of unhealthy stress responses.

Changes in Psychological and Behavioral Responses to Stress across Adolescence

One of the most prominent shifts during adolescence is engagement of increasingly more sophisticated cognitive regulatory systems. By late childhood, children begin to utilize a range of volitional cognitive coping strategies, including problem-solving, cognitive distraction, and acceptance (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). During adolescence, advances in cognition, including increases in abstract thought (Dumontheil & Blakemore, 2012) and executive functions (Zelazo & Carlson, 2012), allow for further refinement of these strategies. Specifically, developing cognitive skills underlie parallel growth of more cognitively complex volitional coping responses (Compas et al., 2014), such as cognitive distraction and restructuring (Williams & McGillicuddy-De Lisi, 1999; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Furthermore, cognitive development can generate advances in primary control strategies, including more complex decision-making, planning, and reflection (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007; Williams & McGillicuddy-De Lisi, 1999).

Overall, adolescence is characterized by increases in self-reliance and concomitant decreases in seeking others' help (Crystal et al., 2008; Frydenberg & Lewis, 2000; for a

review, see Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011); when adolescents do seek support for managing stress, they are more likely to turn to peers than parents (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Moreover, during adolescence, youth become better at taking into account situational factors (e.g., nature of the stressor, type of support sought) when choosing from whom to request support (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Interestingly, support-seeking increases in early adulthood (Zimmermann & Iwanski, 2014), suggesting that greater self-reliance in stress responses during adolescence may reflect, in part, a need for individuation and assertion of autonomy (Lefkowitz, 2005).

Another change during adolescence is the more flexible application of stress responses. For example, although adolescents continue to engage in behavioral avoidance, they do so specifically in response to uncontrollable stressors (Compas et al., 1991; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016), reflecting a more adaptive use of this strategy. Adolescents also increasingly use combinations of stress responses to maximize their efficacy. To illustrate, emotional suppression is generally associated with maladaptation (Compas et al., 2014) and decreases through adolescence (Gullone et al., 2010). However, this strategy can be effective when used in conjunction with problemsolving, a combination that becomes more common in adolescence (Compas et al., 2014).

The increased cognitive sophistication of stress responses can be attributed, in part, to gains in executive functions relevant to emotion regulation (Ahmed et al., 2015). However, adolescence also is marked by heightened emotional reactivity (Pfeifer & Blakemore, 2012), particularly to interpersonal stress (Somerville, 2013), and the development of emotion regulatory systems lags behind the emergence of heightened affective responses (Nelson et al., 2005). Research shows, for example, that adolescents have difficulty inhibiting attention to emotionally salient information (Gyurak et al., 2011). Such attentional capture of emotional targets is believed to interfere with effective emotion regulation (Ahmed et al., 2015). Furthermore, although from early-tomid adolescence youth increasingly employ complex emotions regulation strategies, such as cognitive restructuring, when instructed, these gains do not translate into implementation of these strategies on a daily basis (Silvers et al., 2012; Theurel & Gentaz, 2018).

Consequently, some aspects of stress responses may regress in early adolescence, when reactivity increases but use of more sophisticated regulatory skills in everyday life has yet to fully develop. Recent research bears this out. Cracco et al. (2017) documented temporary decreases between the ages of 12 and 15 in some adaptive emotion regulation strategies, including problem-solving, distraction, and acceptance. In contrast, giving withdrawal, and aggressive actions up. increased. Moreover, some maladaptive stress responses (e.g., rumination, emotional suppression) increase during adolescence (De France & Hollenstein, 2017; Lougheed & Hollenstein, 2012), suggesting that the development of stress responses during this time encompasses both greater adaptation and maladaptation.

Numerous gender differences also are worth noting. Cracco et al. (2017) found that girls show greater declines than boys in the use of humor to regulate emotions during early adolescence, and, whereas boys report temporary increases in rumination during early adolescence, girls report sustained increases throughout adolescence. Girls also more often exhibit emotion-focused responses to stress (Renk & Creasey, 2003) and resignation (Donaldson et al., 2000), as well as less acceptance (Connor-Smith et al., 2000), than boys. Although boys evidence disproportionate gains in some adaptive stress responses, girls show gains in others. Girls are more likely than boys to seek support (Roecker et al., 1996), a difference that may grow stronger during adolescence (Eschenbeck et al., 2007). Girls also engage in less cognitive avoidance and more problem-solving and emotional expression than boys (Chapman & Mullis, 1999; Eschenbeck et al., 2007; Pascual et al., 2016).

The overall pattern that emerges is one of gradual gains in adaptive stress responses; however, delays in this growth can foster heightened emotional dysregulation, particularly in early adolescence, as emotional reactivity increases. This "mismatch" between reactivity and regulatory growth has been implicated in the development of psychopathology depression, social (e.g., phobia) during adolescence (Nelson et al., 2005). At the same time, cognitive maturity and increasing regulatory skills provide opportunities for the development of adaptive stress responses.

Puberty as a Predictor of Psychological and Behavioral Responses to Stress

Although chronological age is a common metric with which to examine developmental changes in stress responses, the biological foundation for these changes often tracks more closely with pubertal maturation. Puberty is a prolonged process that begins when the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis increases production of gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH). In turn, GnRH stimulates release of gonadal hormones, resulting in gonadal maturation and observable morphological changes (secondary sex characteristics; Dorn & Biro, 2011) as well as changes in biological systems involved in processing emotionally laden stimuli, providing a fertile ground for changes in stress reactivity. Indeed, comparisons of youth who are in the pre/early stages and those in mid/ late stages of puberty reveal increasing emotional reactivity (Quevedo et al., 2009; Vijayakumar et al., 2019), as well as greater attentional bias toward negative stimuli in girls (Yang et al., 2018). This heightened reactivity may contribute to dysregulated stress responses, particularly in girls. For example, girls' more advanced pubertal development correlates with heightened rumination and co-rumination (Mendle et al., 2020).

Heightened emotional reactivity spurred by pubertal changes may be further exacerbated when pubertal onset occurs at an earlier chronological age, as regulatory systems are still immature (Smith et al., 2013) and socialcontextual demands are intensifying (e.g., Rudolph, 2014). Considering girls enter puberty approximately 2 years earlier than boys (Tanner, 1971) and evidence greater emotional reactivity associated with pubertal status (Quevedo et al., 2009; Vijayakumar et al., 2019), it is not surprising that earlier pubertal timing is associated with more maladaptive stress responses for girls than for boys. Rudolph and Troop-Gordon (2010) documented that, for girls but not boys, early pubertal timing correlates with lower levels of effortful engagement and more effortful disengagement and involuntary disengagement responses, consistent with earlier research showing that early pubertal timing is associated with using fewer primary control coping strategies among girls (Sontag et al., 2008). Involuntary engagement with stressors, particularly rumination, may be of particular importance for understanding dysregulated stress reactivity among earlymaturing girls. For example, earlier pubertal timing in girls is associated with greater involuntary stress responses, such as intrusive thoughts and rumination (Alloy et al., 2016; Mendle et al., 2020).

Development of Physiological Systems Involved in Stress Responses

Multiple interconnected physiological systems are involved in regulating emotions and stress responses. These systems undergo rapid growth during adolescence (Spear, 2009). On the one hand, this maturation provides increasing support for independent selfregulation, allowing for more sophisticated coping strategies. On the other hand, increasing sensitivity in these physiological systems lavs the groundwork for heightened emotion dysregulation and ineffective responses to stress. Understanding how adolescents traverse this transition requires appreciating the complex dance that emerges between opportunities for optimal maturation in volitional coping versus risks for the emergence of maladaptive stress responses. The following sections review changes that occur during adolescence in physiological systems involved in responding to stress and challenge. Within each section, we first describe the basic function of each system and relevant indexes of physiological stress responses, discuss how they develop across adolescence, and then summarize research examining links between individual differences in these systems and psychological and behavioral responses to stress.

Neural Structure and Function

Recent developments in structural and functional neuroimaging shed light on brain regions involved in stress reactivity, although fewer studies examine neural systems involved in specific volitional coping efforts. In our review, we therefore draw primarily from research investigating brain structure and function associated with related processes, such as emotion regulation, which, as discussed earlier, can be viewed as part of a broader self-regulation framework that guides stress responses. Increasing evidence points to significant maturational changes in relevant neural systems during adolescence (for reviews, see Ladouceur, 2012; Nelson et al., 2005; Somerville, 2013), highlighting this stage as a critical window for the development of both normative changes and individual differences in brain structure, patterns of activation within particular regions, and connectivity within and among neural networks involved in responding to stress.

Brain Regions Involved in Stress Responses

How individuals respond to negative emotions and stress is guided by several brain networks. The amygdala and ventral striatum are part of an affective network implicated in detecting emotionally salient cues (Ernst et al., 2006; Guyer et al., 2009). The frontoparietal control network. which includes dorsolateral (DLPFC) and ventrolateral (VLPFC) prefrontal cortex and inferior parietal cortex (IPC), guides top-down modulation of emotions and refocuses attention in the face of emotional distraction (Ochsner et al., 2012). The anterior salience network, which includes dorsal anterior cingulate (ACC), anterior insula, and anterior prefrontal cortices, is activated in response to both emotional salience and regulatory demands (Seeley et al., 2007).

Effective stress responses likely depend on the ability of top-down control regions to modulate activity in subcortical regions (Ochsner et al., 2012). Meta-analyses of neural activation during emotion regulation reveal complementary activation in the prefrontal regions and the amygdala, supporting the notion that frontal cortical regions modulate amygdala activity (Buhle et al., 2014). Analyses that directly examine frontalamygdala connectivity reveal stronger functional coupling between prefrontal and parietal regions and the amygdala during emotion regulation (cognitive reappraisal) relative to emotion maintenance. Moreover, the strength of functional coupling predicts the success of emotion regulation efforts (Banks et al., 2007). Implicit emotion regulation also elicits negative amygdala-right VLPFC connectivity, and explicit and implicit emotion regulation activate overlapping regions of the VLPFC (Payer et al., 2012), suggesting that parallel frontal cortical and subcortical neural systems may be involved not only in volitional coping but also involuntary regulatory responses. Studies of active coping in adults implicate similar networks (Collins et al., 2014; Santarnecchi et al., 2018; Sinha et al., 2016).

Changes in Brain Structure and Function across Adolescence

Understanding how stress responses change across adolescence can be informed by considering patterns of maturation within brain regions involved in these processes. Adolescence is marked by rapid growth and reorganization of the brain, with significant remodeling of neural systems involved in shaping stress responses (Spear, 2011). Specifically, neuroimaging studies reveal ageand puberty-related changes in neural systems implicated in both reacting to salient emotional information and regulating these responses (Ladouceur, 2012; Somerville. 2013).

Neural regions comprising the affective salience network show nonlinear developmental trajectories, with acute increases in functional reactivity to emotions, reward, and risk-taking during adolescence (Chein et al., 2011; Ernst et al., 2005; Guyer et al., 2008). Relative to adults, adolescents show heightened activation in several regions involved in detecting emotional salience (e.g., ACC, bilateral orbitofrontal cortex, and amygdala) when viewing

281

fearful relative to neutral faces (Monk et al., 2003). Moreover, relative to children and adults, adolescents show elevated amygdala activation to emotional cues (Hare et al., 2008). Directly examining puberty-related brain function, one study revealed that more advanced pubertal status predicted heightened subgenual ACC activation in response to peer rejection (Silk et al., 2014). Another study revealed that more advanced pubertal status was associated with more amygdala activation to facial expressions of emotions during early adolescence (Moore et al., 2012), and, for girls, pubertal development is associated with increases in high-frequency gamma oscillations, a neural indicator of emotional arousal, in response to highly negative pictures (Yuan et al., 2014).

functional Significant structural and changes also occur in regions subserving selfregulation. For example, regions involved in executive functions and social cognition (frontal and parietal cortices) show decreases in gray matter and increases in white matter (which facilitates communication between neural regions) density across adolescence (Blakemore & Choudhury, 2006). These changes are thought to be mediated by alterations in levels of sex hormones during puberty (Ladouceur, 2012). Mapping onto these structural changes are age-related increases in activation within various frontal regions, including the VLPFC (Giuliani & Pfeifer, 2015), the dorsal ACC (Pitskel et al., 2011), and the medial and middle frontal gyri (Pitskel et al., 2011), regions that likely support effective volitional coping. Supporting the role of puberty in these changes, by early adolescence, more advanced pubertal status is associated with more activation in prefrontal regions in response to emotional expressions (Moore et al., 2012). Although these developments likely facilitate communication between frontal and limbic regions and support more

sophisticated regulatory abilities during early and mid-adolescence, maturation of these regions continues through late adolescence and early adulthood (Sowell et al., 2003).

Early theories of adolescent brain development proposed that maturational asynchrony between neural regions subserving emotion/ stress reactivity (which show acute increases in sensitivity) versus regulation (which show more gradual and protracted development) results in heightened emotion dysregulation and stress sensitivity during adolescence relative to childhood and adulthood (e.g., Casey et al., 2008; Ernst et al., 2006). Consistent with this idea, research examining cognitive control in the context of emotionally salient cues suggests that relevant neural systems undergo puberty-driven changes that challenge adolescents' ability to exert top-down control in ways that would maximize their ability to respond effectively to stress (Ladouceur, 2012). Moreover, sex-related hormones (e.g., testosterone, estradiol), which increase during puberty, seem to play a role in levels of activation and connectivity within frontal-limbic circuitry involved in emotion regulation and cognitive control.

However, contemporary theories highlight a more nuanced pattern of development, viewing adolescence as a time of enhanced cognitive flexibility (Crone & Dahl, 2012; Schriber & Guyer, 2016) that may provide a window of opportunity for either increasing dysregulation or positive growth (Ernst et al., 2006; Spear, 2009). Indeed, amygdala-PFC connectivity when viewing fearful faces shifts from more positive in childhood to more negative by mid-adolescence (Gee et al., 2013) to young adulthood (Silvers et al., 2015). This shift likely reflects more effective downregulation of the amygdala by the PFC (Gee et al., 2013; Hare et al., 2008), a sign of neural maturity that may support more effective stress responses. Consistent with this idea,

resting state negative connectivity between the ventrolateral PFC and subcortical regions predicts better self-control (Lee & Telzer, 2016), whereas positive amygdala-ventral PFC connectivity during emotion regulation in adolescence is linked to less effective neural regulation of emotion (Hare et al., 2008). Thus, neural remodeling that includes more gradual maturation of prefrontal regions and their connections may support the development of more sophisticated coping skills that emerge across adolescence, such as an increasing ability to engage in problem-solving, cognitive reappraisal, and other adaptive volitional coping strategies.

Links between Neural Function and Psychological and Behavioral Responses to Stress during Adolescence

Given that neural reorganization during adolescence creates flexibility that may foster increasingly dysregulated responses to stress or may allow for increasingly effective volitional coping, a critical question concerns how individual differences in adolescent neural function are linked to certain stress responses. Although few studies directly investigate the neural correlates of volitional coping in adolescence, preliminary evidence links patterns of neural activation and functional connectivity with individual differences in emotion regulation and involuntary stress responses (for relevant studies of coping in adults, see Collins et al., 2014; Santarnecchi et al., 2018; Sinha et al., 2016).

In one study of adolescent girls, more positive amygdala-VLPFC connectivity during implicit emotion regulation (affect labeling) was associated with more stress-reactive rumination in response to an in vivo social stressor, suggesting that adolescents with this pattern of neural processing were less able to effectively regulate their stress responses (Fowler et al., 2017). In a small sample of adolescents. heightened DLPFC, dorsal ACC, and anterior PFC activation during a working memory task was associated with lower levels of secondary control coping. The authors interpreted this finding in terms of a compensatory effect, such that adolescents who required greater cognitive effort were less effective at engaging in strategies such as cognitive reappraisal and positive thinking (Reising et al., 2018). More generally, positive amygdala-ventral PFC connectivity is associated with higher levels of emotional distress (Davis et al., 2019; Fowler et al., 2017; Hare et al., 2008), suggesting adolescents showing this less mature pattern of neural function are prone to emotion dysregulation.

Two studies of late adolescents (college students) also examined patterns of neural processing associated with volitional coping and related constructs. Rauch et al. (2007) found that sensitizers (who engage in extensive monitoring and analyzing of the environment) relative to repressors (who minimize the emotional impact of threatening stimuli) show more amygdala activation and less frontal-cortical activation in response to ambiguously threatening stimuli (fearful faces); activation in frontal regions and the amygdala were also less closely temporally related in sensitizers, suggesting that they may engage in less topdown regulatory responses to threat (Rauch et al., 2007). However, sensitizers showed a stronger prefrontal response than repressors to unambiguously threatening stimuli (angry faces), suggesting that they allocate more cognitive resources to identifying threats that may indicate direct risk for health or safety (Rauch et al., 2007). Creswell et al. (2007) found strong inverse associations between activation in several PFC regions and in the amygdala during implicit emotion regulation (affect labeling) in individuals with high but not low dispositional mindfulness, a trait linked to

more adaptive stress responses. Thus, activation in these prefrontal regions may facilitate adaptive coping by downregulating amygdala activation.

Summary and Future Directions

Structural remodeling and functional changes in the brain during adolescence may create enhanced flexibility that can promote healthy or unhealthy psychological and behavioral stress responses. Whereas growth in frontal executive networks and their subcortical connections may bolster the development of effective volitional coping strategies, such as problem-solving, emotion regulation, and cognitive reappraisal, a lag between the development of cognitive control networks versus stress-reactive regions may create a fertile ground for dysregulated stress responses. More research is needed directly investigating the neural correlates of individual differences in volitional coping during adolescence. Moreover, the juxtaposition of opportunities for healthy versus unhealthy growth highlights the importance of identifying individual differences that predict divergent developmental trajectories of neural structure and function involved in stress responses across adolescence. Variability in patterns of neural regulation and the extent to which neural reorganization translates into enhanced or disrupted coping likely stems from a complex combination of personal attributes and environmental contexts in which youth develop. Although research identifies some earlier predictors of neural regulation of emotion (e.g., Davis et al., 2019; Modi et al., 2020; Rudolph, Skymba, et al., 2021) and neural activation in the face of social stressors (Rudolph, Davis, et al., 2021; Will et al., 2016) during adolescence, longitudinal studies will need to examine when and how neural networks involved in specific coping strategies develop. Future

research also will need to investigate gender differences in neural processes that may account for emerging gender differences in stress responses. Compared to adolescent boys, girls show less amygdala habituation to emotional faces (Thomas et al., 2001) and heightened neural sensitivity to social evaluation (Guyer et al., 2009, 2012). It is therefore possible that adolescent girls experience more disruption in neural connections supporting stress responses than boys.

Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis

The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is one of the key systems involved in mediating stress responses and promoting homeostasis (for a review, see Tsigos & Chrousos, 2002). To cope with physical or psychosocial stressors, the HPA axis works synergistically with a group of organs and achieves its core functions through a cascade of hormone secretions. The HPA axis carries out functions that facilitate effective stress responses, such as enhancing cognition and increasing cardiovascular tone. Nonetheless, excessive or extended activation of the HPA axis is neither adaptive nor sustainable. Given this central role of the HPA axis in orchestrating how individuals adapt to stressors, understanding maturational changes in this system across adolescence can shed light on both normative and individual differences in the development of stress responses.

HPA Axis and Stress Responses

Activation and recovery of the HPA axis are coordinated by a complex interplay of neural and hormonal processes. Activation initiates in the hypothalamus, where the paraventricular nucleus secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) into the bloodstream (Herman et al., 2005). Binding of CRH to the

285

anterior pituitary induces the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which, in turn, stimulates the secretion of cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA). Finally, cortisol and DHEA are carried by the bloodstream to various targets. After the stressor has ended, cortisol participates in a negative feedback loop (Tsigos & Chrousos, 2002), in which it downregulates CRH production, leading to a reduction in ACTH production.

Basal HPA activity follows a predictable diurnal rhythm (Saxbe, 2008). Specifically, circulating cortisol levels show a sharp increase before awakening with a peak around 30-45 minutes post-awakening (cortisol awakening response; CAR), a sharp drop across the morning, and then a slower, steady drop across the afternoon, reaching a nadir in the evening. Significant variations in diurnal cortisol patterning (e.g., elevated, flatter slopes) can mark HPA dysregulation. Beyond this basal activity, the HPA axis regulates responses to stressors. Cortisol levels begin increasing about 5 minutes after the onset of an acute stressor and peak around 10-30 minutes post stressor (Del Giudice et al., 2011). The period where cortisol levels taper off from peak reactivity and return to baseline is referred to as the recovery phase. Volitional coping may be particularly pertinent to this period and may modulate the rate and effectiveness of poststressor cortisol recovery.

Changes in HPA Axis Function across Adolescence

With increasing social demands as children enter adolescence, the HPA axis undergoes changes that may either facilitate or disrupt the development of effective stress responses. Research reveals age-related changes in diurnal cortisol secretion, with some evidence that overall daily cortisol levels may follow a Ushaped pattern in which they decrease in late childhood (Schreiber et al., 2006; Shirtcliff et al., 2012) and then increase during adolescence (Elmlinger et al., 2002; Walker et al., 2001). Studies also suggest increases in CAR during adolescence (Platje et al., 2013), and, compared to children, adolescents demonstrate higher cortisol levels during both HPA axis activation and recovery in response to stress. In one study, mid-adolescents (age 13 and 15) showed higher cortisol responses to a social performance stressor (Trier Social Stressor Test for Children; TSST-C) than children and early adolescents (age 9 and 11; Gunnar et al., 2009). Similarly, adolescents (age 13-17) showed elevated levels of cortisol compared to children (age 7-12) when exposed to a modified TSST-C (Stroud et al., 2009). Using ecological momentary assessments, another study revealed that associations between daily levels of worry/stress and cortisol increased with age in 13-19 year-olds (Adam, 2006). Less research investigates age differences in cortisol recovery following stress. Limited evidence shows that mid-adolescents (age 15) maintained higher levels of cortisol during a recovery period following the TSST-C compared to younger adolescents (age 9 and 11; Gunnar et al., 2009). Moreover, cortisol levels in response to a modified TSST-C remained elevated longer in older adolescents, suggesting they recover more slowly (Ji et al., 2016). However, two studies found an increase with age in anticipatory cortisol activation but no age differences during the speech or recovery phase (Hostinar et al., 2014; Sumter et al., 2010). As already discussed, increases in daily cortisol and cortisol activation in response to stress may correspond with heightened resources to cope with the stressors of adolescence, but excessive elevations or prolonged persistence of high levels may reflect overtaxed resources that forebode maladaptive stress responses.

Similar to age-related patterns, studies examining puberty reveal an increase in basal cortisol levels (Elmlinger et al., 2002), particularly around mid-puberty (i.e., Tanner stage 3) in girls (Netherton et al., 2004). Adolescents with more advanced pubertal maturation show more elevated davtime curves along with a lower CAR and a steeper decline from morning to bedtime, with some evidence that puberty accounts for age-related differences in daily cortisol (Adam, 2006). Conversely, Shirtcliff et al. (2012) found more mature adolescents show a more elevated but flatter diurnal rhythm, although this pattern differed depending on whether the models were adjusted for age. Relative to prepubertal children, postpubertal adolescents also show a stronger response to social performance stressors, suggesting HPA reactivity increases across puberty (Gunnar et al., 2009, TSST-C; Stroud et al., 2009, modified TSST-C; Sumter et al., 2010, public speaking task). One study revealed that increasing cortisol reactivity to a social performance stressor with age is accounted for by pubertal development (van den Bos et al., 2014). Specifically, more physically mature adolescents reached higher levels of cortisol at an earlier time (during anticipation of the speech) and then maintained this heightened response during the speech.

Gender differences in cortisol responses become more pronounced during adolescence. Several studies suggest changes in cortisol responses emerge earlier and more strongly in girls than boys (Netherton et al., 2004; Törnhage, 2002). Girls generally show higher cortisol (Shirtcliff et al., 2012) and steeper declines in cortisol across the day (Fransson et al., 2014) than boys, with the circadian rhythm becoming flatter as girls progress through puberty, leading adolescent girls to have higher levels of evening cortisol (Shirtcliff et al., 2012). Adolescent girls also demonstrate a higher CAR than adolescent boys (Fransson et al., 2014). The timing of these gender differences may be explained by differences in the timing of puberty onset (Gunnar et al., 2009; Stroud et al., 2011). Girls typically begin puberty 1–2 years earlier than boys, so increases in activity are expected to manifest earlier in girls. Yet, Shirtcliff et al. (2012) contend that gender differences are primarily driven by age – instead of pubertyrelated processes – after examining both independent and joint effects of age and puberty.

Regarding gender differences in cortisol reactivity to stressors, findings are more equivocal (for a review, see Hollanders et al., 2017). Whereas some studies did not detect gender differences (e.g., Hostinar et al., 2014), one study found that girls younger than 12 years demonstrated higher cortisol reactivity to a combined social performance (public speaking) and cognitive stressor relative to boys, although gender differences were not detected in 13-20 year-olds (Evans et al., 2013). Similarly, Hostinar et al. (2015) found a stronger cortisol response in girls at ages 9-10, and no gender differences among adolescents. Van den Bos et al. (2014) found girls (ages 8-17), relative to boys, demonstrated a higher cortisol response over the course of a public speaking task as well as higher anticipatory activation, but these gender differences disappeared when pubertal development was controlled. However, boys showed more cortisol reactivity than girls during the speech delivery. Similarly, two studies found boys tend to have higher HPA responses to both a social performance stressor (public speaking and unpleasant interaction; Klimes-Dougan et al., 2001) and a combined social performance (public speaking) and cognitive performance stressor (Bouma et al., 2009) than girls, especially later in puberty. Overall, these findings indicate inconsistent gender differences, with some suggestion that greater reactivity to psychosocial stressors emerges earlier in girls and later in boys (for a review, Ordaz & Luna, 2012).

287

Links between HPA Axis Function and Psychological and Behavioral Responses to Stress during Adolescence

Changes in the diurnal rhythm and reactivity of the HPA axis across adolescence and puberty may be linked to normative changes and emerging individual differences in psychological and behavioral responses to stress. As with neural function, a more responsive HPA axis during adolescence may prepare youth for facing increasing demands but also may heighten sensitivity to stressors that present challenges for well-being. Only a few studies directly examine patterns of HPA axis function associated with engagement in, or effectiveness of, specific stress responses, but these studies provide preliminary evidence for a link between better HPA regulation and more effective volitional coping.

In adolescents, adaptive volitional coping is linked to well-regulated patterns of daily HPA function. Early adolescent girls who use more voluntary engagement to manage interpersonal stressors demonstrate steeper diurnal cortisol slopes, lower total diurnal output, and lower CAR (Sladek et al., 2017). An investigation of intraindividual differences revealed that using a higher than typical level of active coping throughout the day was associated with higher waking cortisol the following morning. This increase might signal physical preparation for more taxing daily demands (Sladek et al., 2017). In a sample of older adolescents, only those whose use of engagement coping or whose self-reported coping efficacy was lower than their own average demonstrated elevated cortisol in response to perceived stress during the past hour (Sladek et al., 2016). Further, in the context of real-life situations that late adolescents perceived as more stressful than usual, responding with higher than typical levels of engagement coping was associated with higher cortisol.

These findings are paralleled by studies revealing that involuntary stress responses are associated with HPA axis dysregulation. Among adolescent girls at familial risk for depression, those who show more involuntary responses experienced greater elevations in diurnal cortisol than girls who more frequently used voluntary coping (Foland-Ross et al., 2014). Sontag et al. (2008) found that involuntary engagement (which included self-reported physiological arousal) was associated with higher levels of cortisol reactivity to a battery of cognitive, physical, and social challenges in young adolescent girls. Tendency to ruminate, specifically, is associated with flatter diurnal slopes and lower average morning cortisol levels in early adolescent girls (Hilt et al., 2017) and with delayed cortisol recovery following the TSST among depressed adolescent girls (Stewart et al., 2013).

Given the scarcity of research examining direct links between coping and HPA axis function, we also summarize studies investigating preadolescents. In one study of preadolescents (Wadsworth et al., 2018), children were behaviorally primed with either behavioral distraction or cognitive avoidance coping following exposure to the TSST-C. Interestingly, different patterns of HPA axis recovery emerged based on children's selfreported characteristic stress responses. Children who usually used more primary control engagement were better at downregulating cortisol across the recovery period when they were primed to distract themselves compared to when they were primed to avoid thinking about their performances, whereas children who usually disengaged from stressors had more efficient cortisol regulation when primed to avoid stressors. In the same sample, children who typically showed low involuntary responses benefited from behavioral distraction while those who typically showed high involuntary responses benefited from cognitive avoidance (Bendezú et al., 2016). These findings suggest that the effectiveness of coping strategies for regulating HPA axis function may depend on the match between children's typical stress responses and the resources available in their coping environment (Bendezú et al., 2016; Wadsworth et al., 2018).

Summary and Future Directions

Age and pubertal maturation are associated with meaningful changes in basal HPA activation and stress reactivity. Although increases in diurnal activation and stress reactivity may be a part of an adaptive developmental process indicative of enhanced preparedness to tackle novel challenges, sustained activation and protracted recovery may expose adolescents to risks for developing aberrant stress susceptibility, leading to adverse outcomes such as physical and mental illnesses.

Research suggests that patterns of HPA axis activation and reactivity are linked to how adolescents respond to stressors in their environment. However, the nature of these associations is complex. Although further research is needed, an emerging pattern suggests that higher levels of adaptive volitional coping (and lower levels of involuntary stress responses) often are associated with lower diurnal cortisol, less HPA axis reactivity to stress, and faster recovery, albeit heightened cortisol the day following stressful events (Foland-Ross et al., 2014; Sladek et al., 2016, 2017; Sontag et al., 2008; Stewart et al., 2013). These patterns are consistent with the idea that a certain amount of HPA axis activation may provide necessary resources to enhance volitional coping, but excessive or prolonged activation eventually may undermine stress responses. Moreover, experimental research suggests that the most effective type of volitional coping may differ across individuals (Bendezú et al., 2016; Wadsworth et al., 2018).

Future research will need to determine which levels and timing of HPA axis activation are optimal for effective stress responses. Moreover, the implications of different patterns of activation may depend on other characteristics of adolescents. For instance, HPA underactivation along with low approach motivation or high avoidance motivation may reflect excessive, dysregulated disengagement from stressors (e.g., decreased energy, lack of motivation), causing youth to mount an insufficient response to stress (Rudolph et al., 2018). In contrast, HPA overactivation along with high approach motivation may reflect excessive, dysregulated engagement with stressors (e.g., cognitive perseveration, negative emotional arousal), causing youth to mount too intensive a response to stress (Rudolph et al., 2018). Whether heightened or dampened HPA activation predicts adaptive or maladaptive stress responses also may depend on adolescents' self-regulatory capacity, such that those with high levels of selfcontrol can leverage physiological arousal in ways that energize adaptive coping but those with low levels of self-control become overwhelmed. An important direction for future research will be to identify potential moderators of the link between HPA function and psychological or behavioral stress responses.

Finally, the scarcity of longitudinal studies in this area makes it difficult to determine whether adolescents who learn to cope in more effective ways are able to maintain more regulated HPA axis function, or whether adolescents with more regulated biological stress responses are able to garner the resources necessary to engage in effective coping. Longitudinal designs will be critical for disentangling the direction of effects between biological and psychological or behavioral aspects of coping.

Autonomic Nervous System

Recruitment of the physiological resources needed to manage stress relies on the effective functioning of the autonomic nervous system (ANS). The ANS is a fast-acting system (Chrousos & Gold, 1992) that regulates most of the organs and tissue in the body (e.g., innervation of cardiac and smooth muscle, dilation of the pupils; McCorry, 2007). Consequently, the ANS provides a window into the precise physiological changes that occur when stressors are perceived and responded to. Moreover, it can be assessed using a variety of fairly noninvasive measures (Obradović & Boyce, 2012). Measures of ANS are therefore useful for examining stress responses in adolescence, with much of the relevant work focusing on emotion regulation.

Sympathetic and Parasympathetic Nervous Systems and Stress Responses

The ANS is comprised of two anatomically distinct, continuously active systems. The sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activates the "fight or flight" response, including diverting oxygenized blood to skeletal muscles, increasing production of glucose, and innervating pupillary responses, salivary glands, the heart, and the lungs (McCorry, 2007). Some common "tell-tale" signs of heightened SNS activity are increased heart rate, blood pressure, sweating, and pupil dilation. The parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) allows the body to "rest and digest." Heightened PNS activity results in decreased heart rate and increased salivary secretions, insulin levels, digestion, and constriction of the pupils. A delicate balance between the SNS and PNS allows for rapid bodily changes in response to challenge or threat (McCorry, 2007). One commonly used measure of ANS activation is respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), which

refers to naturally occurring variation in heartrate from inhalation to exhalation, with greater variation (higher RSA) indicative of heightened PNS activity (Porges, 2007). Because RSA is controlled by the effects of the vagus nerve on the heart, it is considered a measure of vagal tone (Grossman & Taylor, 2007), and withdrawal of RSA (reduced vagal tone) is indicative of lowered PNS activity.

To understand the association between ANS functioning and psychological or behavioral stress responses, investigators have examined: (a) basal (tonal) levels of SNS and PNS activation, (b) reactivity of these systems to emotion- or stress-inducing stimuli, and (c) recovery of these systems following stress or challenge (Balzarotti et al., 2017). Much of this work relies on polyvagal theory (Porges, 2007) and neurovisceral integration theory (Thayer & Lane, 2009), which propose that selfregulation and social engagement are enhanced by higher baseline PNS, adequate PNS withdrawal in response to stress, and quick PNS recovery. The positive effects of higher PNS have received the most support, including evidence linking high basal RSA with attentive control to emotional stimuli and adaptive self-reported coping (Balzarotti et al., 2017). There also is accumulating evidence that slower ANS recovery is associated with less adaptive stress responses, including rumination and less use of distraction (Key et al., 2008; Neumann et al., 2004), potentially indicating persistent dysregulated cognitive engagement with stressors. However, studies are equivocal as to whether more extensive RSA withdrawal, or in some cases augmentation, during stress is associated with adaptive emotion regulation and stress responses (Balzarotti et al., 2017). Consequently, some researchers have begun to test, and find evidence for, the proposition that whether PNS reactivity is associated with more adaptive stress responses depends on tonal PNS, with

greater reactivity being adaptive among those with high resting PNS (Cribbet et al., 2011; Yaroslavsky et al., 2013).

Changes in ANS Function across Adolescence

Although the development of the ANS is less pronounced in adolescence than in infancy and middle childhood (Evre et al., 2014), research documents declining SNS activity in adolescence and a gradual concomitant increase in PNS activity (Evre et al., 2014; Kazuma et al., 2002; Lenard et al., 2004). Thus, advances in stress responses during adolescence may be partly attributable to improved ANS functioning. However, improved tonal ANS functioning during adolescence may be offset by heightened ANS reactivity (Stroud et al., 2009). Moreover, differences in the ANS development of adolescent boys and girls may contribute to emerging gender differences in stress responses. In a study of adolescents aged 12-22, de Zambotti et al. (2018) documented age and puberty-related differences in nighttime heartrate (HR), a marker of SNS activity, and heart rate variability (RSA). Older, more physically mature boys had lower HR than younger, less physically mature boys, but a similar decline was not observed for girls. By late adolescence, boys had significantly lower HR than did girls. Furthermore, girls, but not boys, evidenced declines in nighttime heart rate variability. Such findings are consistent with other research documenting greater SNS activity and lower basal PNS among adolescent girls compared to boys (Koenig et al., 2017; Yuksel et al., 2021).

Links between ANS Function and Psychological and Behavioral Responses to Stress during Adolescence

There is growing evidence that ANS function is correlated with emotion regulation during

adolescence. Vasilev et al. (2009) found that better emotion regulation during early adolescence is predicted by increases over the course of childhood in resting RSA and RSA reactivity (suppression) while watching a sad video. Adolescents with greater RSA reactivity (suppression) and then recovery (augmentation) when recalling an anger-inducing event report greater ability to regulate their anger and sadness (Cui et al., 2015). Research also supports the role of atypical RSA patterns in emotion regulation (Kovacs et al., 2016). Among a group of clinically depressed and nondepressed middle-to-late adolescents, Yaroslavsky et al. (2016) found greater reliance on maladaptive mood repair strategies among youth with higher resting RSA and augmented RSA when watching a sad video. In contrast, those with high resting RSA and RSA withdrawal reported more effective mood repair. Similarly, Vögele et al. (2010) found that during an anger-induction task, adolescents with higher resting vagal tone reported more cognitive reappraisal strategies, but those with lower resting vagal tone and subsequent vagal withdrawal reported more rumination.

Summary and Future Directions

Accumulating evidence suggests healthy ANS functioning subserves effective stress responses during adolescence. Specifically, adaptive stress responses are facilitated by higher basal PNS and faster PNS recovery after a stressor. Evidence further indicates that SNS reactivity aids recruitment of volitional coping resources but can create iatrogenic effects for those with lower tonal PNS levels. A parallel line of research documents developmental shifts and emerging gender differences in the ANS during adolescence. Looking ahead, in addition to further studies in each of these areas, integration of the developmental, biomedical, and clinical literatures driving this research is needed.

291

Investigations of normative ANS development during adolescence are still scant, relying heavily on cross-sectional designs (e.g., Kazuma et al., 2002; Lenard et al., 2004) and varying substantially in the ANS markers and paradigms employed. Longitudinal studies covering late childhood to early adulthood and utilizing comprehensive assessments of ANS basal and diurnal levels, reactivity, and recovery would provide insight into how specific developmental changes contribute to healthy or unhealthy stress responses. Furthermore, investigations often focus on clinical symptoms (e.g., Lucas-Thompson et al., 2018; McKernan & Lucas-Thompson, 2018), rather than stress responses more directly. Thus, studies are needed that examine ANS activity in relation to a range of stress responses. Moreover, gender differences in ANS activity that emerge over the course of adolescence (Koenig et al., 2017; Yuksel et al., 2021) suggest a basis for developing gender differences in psychological and behavioral responses to stress; studies directly investigating such a link are needed. Activity and development of the ANS also need to be understood in light of connections to other psychobiological systems. For example. Yuksel et al. (2021) documented greater ANS dysregulation during sleep in adolescent girls than boys. Although evidence of gender differences in sleep quality is mixed, differences have been reported (Franco et al., 2020), and sleep quality is associated with emotion regulation and stress responses (Wang & Yip, 2020). Thus, potential indirect effects (e.g., through sleep disruptions) of ANS patterns on stress responses should be studied. Moreover, the ANS is under the control of the prefrontal cortex and subcortical structures (Thayer & Lane, 2009) and, therefore, co-development of ANS and CNS function should be examined in the study of adolescents' responses to stress.

Conclusion

Theory and research suggest that adolescence, and specifically the pubertal transition, can serve as a stage of opportunity for advances in stress responses, as well as for increasing risk due to heightened emotional sensitivity and insufficient regulatory resources, with some gender-specific effects. On the one hand, adolescents experience changes in physiological systems that support more sophisticated strategies for managing challenges, which may help them prepare for increasing contextual demands. On the other hand, acute increases in sensitivity of physiological stress response systems may disrupt psychological and behavioral efforts to cope with negative emotions and stressors. These two developmental pathways are reflected in improvements in volitional coping efforts across adolescence, such as increasing use of cognitive engagement and greater flexibility in responses to stress, as well as some increases in maladaptive stress responses, such as rumination. Future research will need to explore how gender differences in developing physiological systems map onto emerging stress responses in girls and boys, as well as identify individual differences that predict diverging pathways toward healthy versus dysregulated stress responses.

References

- Adam, E. K. (2006). Transactions among adolescent trait and state emotion and diurnal and momentary cortisol activity in naturalistic settings. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *31*(5), 664–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2006.01.010
- Ahmed, S. P., Bittencourt-Hewitt, A., & Sebastian, C. L. (2015). Neurocognitive bases of emotion regulation development in adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15, 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2015.07.006
- Alloy, L. B., Hamilton, J. L., Hamlat, E. J., & Abramson, L. Y. (2016). Pubertal development, emotion regulatory styles, and the emergence of sex differences in internalizing disorders and symptoms in adolescence. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 4(5), 867–881. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2167702616643008
- Balzarotti, S., Biassoni, F., Colombo, B., & Ciceri, M. R. (2017). Cardiac vagal control as a marker of emotion regulation in healthy adults: A review. *Biological Psychology*, 130, 54–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.10.008
- Banks, S. J., Eddy, K. T., Angstadt, M., Nathan, P. J., & Phan, K. L. (2007). Amygdala–frontal connectivity during emotion regulation. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2(4), 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/ nsm029
- Bendezú, J. J., Sarah, E. D. P., & Martha, E. W. (2016). What constitutes effective coping and efficient physiologic regulation following psychosocial stress depends on involuntary stress responses. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 73, 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.07.005
- Blakemore, S.-J., & Choudhury, S. (2006). Development of the adolescent brain: Implications for executive function and social cognition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3–4), 296–312. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01611.x
- Bouma, E. M. C., Riese, H., Ormel, J., Verhulst, F. C., & Oldehinkel, A. J. (2009). Adolescents' cortisol responses to awakening and social stress; Effects of gender, menstrual phase and oral contraceptives. The TRAILS study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34(6), 884–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.01.003
- Buhle, J. T., Silvers, J. A., Wager, T. D., Lopez, R., Onyemekwu, C., Kober, H., Weber, J., & Ochsner, K. N. (2014). Cognitive reappraisal of emotion: A meta-analysis of human neuroimaging studies. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(11), 2981–2990. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/ bht154
- Casey, B. J., Getz, S., & Galvan, A. (2008). The adolescent brain. *Developmental Review*, 28(1), 62–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.003

- Chapman, P. L., & Mullis, R. L. (1999). Adolescent coping strategies and self-esteem. *Child Study Journal*, 29(1), 69–77.
- Chein, J., Albert, D., O'Brien, L., Uckert, K., & Steinberg, L. (2011). Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brain's reward circuitry. *Developmental Science*, 14(2), F1–F10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.01035.x
- Chrousos, G. P., & Gold, P. W. (1992). The concepts of stress and stress system disorders: Overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. *JAMA*, 267(9), 1244–1252. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jama.1992.03480090092034
- Collins, K. A., Mendelsohn, A., Cain, C. K., & Schiller, D. (2014). Taking action in the face of threat: Neural synchronization predicts adaptive coping. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(44), 14733–14738. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2152-14.2014
- Compas, B. E., Banez, G. A., Malcarne, V., & Worsham, N. (1991). Perceived control and coping with stress: A developmental perspective. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47(4), 23–34. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1991.tb01832.x
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal* of Psychology, 66(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajpy.12043
- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992.
- Cracco, E., Goossens, L., & Braet, C. (2017). Emotion regulation across childhood and

adolescence: Evidence for a maladaptive shift in adolescence. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(8), 909–921. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00787-017-0952-8

- Creswell, J. D., Way, B. M., Eisenberger, N. I., & Lieberman, M. D. (2007). Neural correlates of dispositional mindfulness during affect labeling. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 69(6), 560–565. https:// doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3180f6171f
- Cribbet, M. R., Williams, P. G., Gunn, H. E., & Rau, H. K. (2011). Effects of tonic and phasic respiratory sinus arrhythmia on affective stress responses. *Emotion*, 11(1), 188–193. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0021789
- Crone, E. A., & Dahl, R. E. (2012). Understanding adolescence as a period of social–affective engagement and goal flexibility. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*(9), 636–650. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrn3313
- Crystal, D. S., Kakinuma, M., DeBell, M., Azuma, H., & Miyashita, T. (2008). Who helps you? Self and other sources of support among youth in Japan and the USA. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 32(6), 496–508. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0165025408095554
- Cui, L., Morris, A. S., Harrist, A. W., Larzelere, R. E., Criss, M. M., & Houltberg, B. J. (2015). Adolescent RSA responses during an anger discussion task: Relations to emotion regulation and adjustment. *Emotion*, 15(3), 360–372. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000040
- Dahl, R. E., & Gunnar, M. R. (2009). Heightened stress responsiveness and emotional reactivity during pubertal maturation: Implications for psychopathology. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579409000017
- Davis, M. M., Miernicki, M. E., Telzer, E. H., & Rudolph, K. D. (2019). The contribution of childhood negative emotionality and cognitive control to anxiety-linked neural dysregulation of emotion in adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(3), 515–527. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10802-018-0456-0
- De France, K., & Hollenstein, T. (2017). Assessing emotion regulation repertoires: The Regulation of Emotion Systems Survey. *Personality and*

Individual Differences, *119*, 204–215. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.07.018

- de Zambotti, M., Javitz, H., Franzen, P. L., Brumback, T., Clark, D. B., Colrain, I. M., & Baker, F. C. (2018). Sex- and age-dependent differences in autonomic nervous system functioning in adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(2), 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jadohealth.2017.09.010
- Del Giudice, M., Ellis, B. J., & Shirtcliff, E. A. (2011). The adaptive calibration model of stress responsivity. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(7), 1562–1592. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.11.007
- Donaldson, D., Prinstein, M. J., Danovsky, M., & Spirito, A. (2000). Patterns of children's coping with life stress: Implications for clinicians. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 70(3), 351–359. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087689
- Dorn, L. D., & Biro, F. M. (2011). Puberty and its measurement: A decade in review. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21(1), 180–195. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00722.x
- Dumontheil, I., & Blakemore, S. J. (2012). Social cognition and abstract thought in adolescence: The role of structural and functional development in rostral prefrontal cortex. *British Journal of Educational Psychology Monograph Series II, Number 8 – Educational Neuroscience*, 1, 99–113.
- Elmlinger, M. W., Kühnel, W., & Ranke, M. B. (2002). Reference ranges for serum concentrations of lutropin (LH), follitropin (FSH), estradiol (E2), prolactin, progesterone, sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS), cortisol and ferritin in neonates, children and young adults. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 40(11), 1151–1160. https://doi.org/ 10.1515/CCLM.2002.202
- Ernst, M., Nelson, E. E., Jazbec, S., McClure, E. B., Monk, C. S., Leibenluft, E., Blair, J., & Pine, D. S. (2005). Amygdala and nucleus accumbens in responses to receipt and omission of gains in adults and adolescents. *NeuroImage*, 25(4), 1279–1291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2004.12.038

293

- Ernst, M., Pine, D. S., & Hardin, M. (2006). Triadic model of the neurobiology of motivated behavior in adolescence. *Psychological Medicine*, 36(3), 299–312. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0033291705005891
- Eschenbeck, H., Kohlmann, C.-W., & Lohaus, A. (2007). Gender differences in coping strategies in children and adolescents. *Journal of Individual Differences*, 28(1), 18–26. https://doi.org/ 10.1027/1614-0001.28.1.18
- Evans, B. E., Greaves-Lord, K., Euser, A. S., Tulen, J. H. M., Franken, I. H. A., & Huizink, A. C. (2013). Determinants of physiological and perceived physiological stress reactivity in children and adolescents. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4), e61724. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061724
- Eyre, E. L. J., Duncan, M. J., Birch, S. L., & Fisher, J. P. (2014). The influence of age and weight status on cardiac autonomic control in healthy children: A review. *Autonomic Neuroscience: Basic & Clinical*, 186, 8–21. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.autneu.2014.09.019
- Foland-Ross, L. C., Kircanski, K., & Gotlib, I. H. (2014). Coping with having a depressed mother: The role of stress and coping in hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis dysfunction in girls at familial risk for major depression. *Development* and Psychopathology, 26(4 Pt 2), 1401–1409. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579414001102
- Fowler, C. H., Miernicki, M. E., Rudolph, K. D., & Telzer, E. H. (2017). Disrupted amygdalaprefrontal connectivity during emotion regulation links stress-reactive rumination and adolescent depressive symptoms. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 27, 99–106. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dcn.2017.09.002
- Franco, P., Putois, B., Guyon, A., Raoux, A., Papadopoulou, M., Guignard-Perret, A., Bat-Pitault, F., Hartley, S., & Plancoulaine, S. (2020). Sleep during development: Sex and gender differences. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 51, Article 101276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. smrv.2020.101276
- Fransson, E., Folkesson, L., Bergström, M., Östberg, V., & Lindfors, P. (2014). Exploring salivary cortisol and recurrent pain in midadolescents living in two homes. *BMC*

Psychology, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-014-0046-z

- Frydenberg, E., & Lewis, R. (2000). Teaching coping to adolescents: When and to whom? *American Educational Research Journal*, 37(3), 727–745. https://doi.org/10.3102/ 00028312037003727
- Gee, D. G., Humphreys, K. L., Flannery, J., Goff, B., Telzer, E. H., Shapiro, M., Hare, T. A., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Tottenham, N. (2013).
 A developmental shift from positive to negative connectivity in human amygdala–prefrontal circuitry. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(10), 4584–4593. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3446-12.2013
- Giuliani, N. R., & Pfeifer, J. H. (2015). Age-related changes in reappraisal of appetitive cravings during adolescence. *NeuroImage*, 108, 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.037
- Gross, J. J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 3–24). Guilford Press.
- Grossman, P., & Taylor, E. W. (2007). Toward understanding respiratory sinus arrhythmia: Relations to cardiac vagal tone, evolution and biobehavioral functions. *Biological Psychology*, 74(2), 263–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsycho.2005.11.014
- Gullone, E., Hughes, E. K., King, N. J., & Tonge, B. (2010). The normative development of emotion regulation strategy use in children and adolescents: A 2-year follow-up study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, *51*(5), 567–574. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02183.x
- Gunnar, M. R., Wewerka, S., Frenn, K., Long, J. D., & Griggs, C. (2009). Developmental changes in hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal activity over the transition to adolescence: Normative changes and associations with puberty. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 69–85. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579409000054
- Guyer, A. E., Choate, V. R., Pine, D. S., & Nelson,E. E. (2012). Neural circuitry underlying affective response to peer feedback in

adolescence. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 7(1), 81–92. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/scan/nsr043

- Guyer, A. E., McClure-Tone, E. B., Shiffrin, N. D., Pine, D. S., & Nelson, E. E. (2009). Probing the neural correlates of anticipated peer evaluation in adolescence. *Child Development*, 80(4), 1000–1015. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01313.x
- Guyer, A. E., Monk, C. S., McClure-Tone, E. B., Nelson, E. E., Roberson-Nay, R., Adler, A. D., Fromm, S. J., Leibenluft, E, Pine, D. S., & Ernst, M. (2008). A developmental examination of amygdala response to facial expressions. *Journal* of Cognitive Neuroscience, 20(9), 1565–1582. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2008.20114
- Gyurak, A., Gross, J. J., & Etkin, A. (2011). Explicit and implicit emotion regulation: A dualprocess framework. *Cognition & Emotion*, 25(3), 400–412. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02699931.2010.544160
- Hare, T. A., Tottenham, N., Galvan, A., Voss,
 H. U., Glover, G. H., & Casey, B. J. (2008).
 Biological substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation in adolescence during an emotional go-nogo task. *Biological Psychiatry*, *63*(10), 927–934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
 biopsych.2008.03.015
- Herman, J. P., Ostrander, M. M., Mueller, N. K., & Figueiredo, H. (2005). Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: Hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 29(8), 1201–1213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pnpbp.2005.08.006
- Hilt, L. M., Sladek, M. R., Doane, L. D., & Stroud, C. B. (2017). Daily and trait rumination: Diurnal cortisol patterns in adolescent girls. *Cognition and Emotion*, 31(8), 1757–1767. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02699931.2016.1262332
- Hollanders, J. J., van der Voorn, B., Rotteveel, J., & Finken, M. J. J. (2017). Is HPA axis reactivity in childhood gender-specific? A systematic review. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 8(1), Article 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-017-0144-8
- Hostinar, C. E., Johnson, A. E., & Gunnar, M. R. (2015). Parent support is less effective in

buffering cortisol stress reactivity for adolescents compared to children. *Developmental Science*, *18*(2), 281–297. https://doi.org/10.1111/ desc.12195

- Hostinar, C. E., McQuillan, M. T., Mirous, H. J., Grant, K. E., & Adam, E. K. (2014). Cortisol responses to a group public speaking task for adolescents: Variations by age, gender, and race. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 50, 155–166. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.08.015
- Ji, J., Negriff, S., Kim, H., & Susman, E. J. (2016). A study of cortisol reactivity and recovery among young adolescents: Heterogeneity and longitudinal stability and change. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 58(3), 283–302. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/dev.21369
- Kazuma, N., Otsuka, K., Wakamatsu, K., Shirase, E., & Matsuoka, I. (2002). Heart rate variability in normotensive healthy children with aging. *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension*, 24(1–2), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1081/ceh-100108718
- Key, B. L., Campbell, T. S., Bacon, S. L., & Gerin, W. (2008). The influence of trait and state rumination on cardiovascular recovery from a negative emotional stressor. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 31(3), 237–248. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10865-008-9152-9
- Klimes-Dougan, B., Hastings, P. D., Granger, D. A., Usher, B. A., & Zahn-Waxler, C. (2001). Adrenocortical activity in at-risk and normally developing adolescents: Individual differences in salivary cortisol basal levels, diurnal variation, and responses to social challenges. *Development* and Psychopathology, 13(3), 695–719. https://doi. org/10.1017/s0954579401003157
- Koenig, J., Rash, J. A., Campbell, T. S., Thayer, J. F., & Kaess, M. (2017). A meta-analysis on sex differences in resting-state vagal activity in children and adolescents. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8, Article 582. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fphys.2017.00582
- Kovacs, M., Yaroslavsky, I., Rottenberg, J.,
 George, C. J., Kiss, E., Halas, K., Dochnal, R.,
 Benák, I., Baji, I., Vetró, A., Makai, A., &
 Kapornai, K. (2016). Maladaptive mood repair,
 atypical respiratory sinus arrhythmia, and risk of
 a recurrent major depressive episode among

295

adolescents with prior major depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 46(10), 2109–2119. https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329171600057X

- Ladouceur, C. D. (2012). Neural systems supporting cognitive-affective interactions in adolescence: The role of puberty and implications for affective disorders. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 6, Article 65. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2012.00065
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Lee, T.-H., & Telzer, E. H. (2016). Negative functional coupling between the right frontoparietal and limbic resting state networks predicts increased self-control and later substance use onset in adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20, 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2016.06.002
- Lefkowitz, E. S. (2005). "Things have gotten better": Developmental changes among early emerging adults after the transition to university. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 20(1), 40–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0743558404271236
- Lenard, Z., Studinger, P., Mersich, B., Kocsis, L., & Kollai, M. (2004). Maturation of cardiovagal autonomic function from childhood to young adult age. *Circulation*, 110(16), 2307–2312. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. CIR.0000145157.07881.A3
- Lougheed, J. P., & Hollenstein, T. (2012). A limited repertoire of emotion regulation strategies is associated with internalizing problems in adolescence. *Social Development*, 21(4), 704–721. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2012.00663.x
- Lucas-Thompson, R. G., McKernan, C. J., & Henry, K. L. (2018). Unraveling current and future adolescent depressive symptoms: The role of stress reactivity across physiological systems. *Developmental Psychology*, 54(9), 1650–1660. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000530
- McCorry, L. K. (2007). Physiology of the autonomic nervous system. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 71(4), Article 78. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC1959222/

- McKernan, C. J., & Lucas-Thompson, R. G. (2018). Autonomic nervous system coordination moderates links of negative interparental conflict with adolescent externalizing behaviors. *Developmental Psychology*, 54(9), 1697–1708. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000498
- Mendle, J., Beam, C. R., McKone, K. M. P., & Koch, M. K. (2020). Puberty and transdiagnostic risks for mental health. *Journal* of Research on Adolescence, 30(3), 687–705. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12552
- Modi, H. H., Davis, M. M., Miernicki, M. E., Telzer, E. H., & Rudolph, K. D. (2020).
 Maternal antecedents to adolescent girls' neural regulation of emotion. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 30(3), 581–598. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jora.12545
- Monk, C. S., McClure, E. B., Nelson, E. E., Zarahn, E., Bilder, R. M., Leibenluft, E., Charney, D. S., Ernst, M., & Pine, D. S. (2003). Adolescent immaturity in attention-related brain engagement to emotional facial expressions. *NeuroImage*, 20(1), 420–428. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00355-0
- Moore, W. E., III, Pfeifer, J. H., Masten, C. L., Mazziotta, J. C., Iacoboni, M., & Dapretto, M. (2012). Facing puberty: Associations between pubertal development and neural responses to affective facial displays. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 7(1), 35–43. https://doi. org/10.1093/scan/nsr066
- Moos, R. H., & Schaefer, J. A. (1993). Coping resources and processes: Current concepts and measures. In L. Goldberger & S. Breznitz (Eds.), *Handbook of stress: Theoretical and clinical aspects* (2nd ed., pp. 234–257). Free Press.
- Nelson, E. E., Leibenluft, E., McClure, E. B., & Pine, D. S. (2005). The social re-orientation of adolescence: A neuroscience perspective on the process and its relation to psychopathology. *Psychological Medicine*, 35(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0033291704003915
- Netherton, C., Goodyer, I., Tamplin, A., & Herbert, J. (2004). Salivary cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone in relation to puberty and gender. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(2),

125-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(02) 00150-6

- Neumann, S. A., Waldstein, S. R., Sellers, J. J., Thayer, J. F., & Sorkin, J. D. (2004). Hostility and distraction have differential influences on cardiovascular recovery from anger recall in women. *Health Psychology*, 23(6), 631–640. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.6.631
- Obradović, J., & Boyce, W. T. (2012). Developmental psychophysiology of emotion processes. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 77(2), 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.2011.00670.x
- Ochsner, K. N., Silvers, J. A., & Buhle, J. T. (2012). Functional imaging studies of emotion regulation: A synthetic review and evolving model of the cognitive control of emotion. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1251, E1–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06751.x
- Ordaz, S., & Luna, B. (2012). Sex differences in physiological reactivity to acute psychosocial stress in adolescence. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 37(8), 1135–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2012.01.002
- Pascual, A., Conejero, S., & Etxebarria, I. (2016). Coping strategies and emotion regulation in adolescents: Adequacy and gender differences. *Ansiedad y Estrés*, 22(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.anyes.2016.04.002
- Payer, D. E., Baicy, K., Lieberman, M. D., & London, E. D. (2012). Overlapping neural substrates between intentional and incidental down-regulation of negative emotions. *Emotion*, 12(2), 229–235. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027421
- Pfeifer, J. H., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2012). Adolescent social cognitive and affective neuroscience: Past, present, and future. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 7(1), 1–10. https://doi. org/10.1093/scan/nsr099
- Pitskel, N. B., Bolling, D. Z., Kaiser, M. D., Crowley, M. J., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2011). How grossed out are you? The neural bases of emotion regulation from childhood to adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(3), 324–337. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.dcn.2011.03.004

Platje, E., Vermeiren, R. R. J. M., Branje, S. J. T., Doreleijers, T. A. H., Meeus, W. H. J., Koot, H. M., Frijns, T., van Lier, P. A. C., & Jansen, L. M. C. (2013). Long-term stability of the cortisol awakening response over adolescence. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38(2), 271–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.06.007

297

- Porges, S. W. (2007). The polyvagal perspective. *Biological Psychology*, 74(2), 116–143. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2006.06.009
- Quevedo, K. M., Benning, S. D., Gunnar, M. R., & Dahl, R. E. (2009). The onset of puberty: Effects on the psychophysiology of defensive and appetitive motivation. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 27–45. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579409000030
- Rauch, A. V., Ohrmann, P., Bauer, J., Kugel, H., Engelien, A., Arolt, V., Heindel, W., & Suslow, T. (2007). Cognitive coping style modulates neural responses to emotional faces in healthy humans: A 3-T fMRI study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(11), 2526–2535. https://doi.org/10.1093/ cercor/bhl158
- Reising, M. M., Bettis, A. H., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M., Hoskinson, K. R., & Compas, B. E. (2018). Stress, coping, executive function, and brain activation in adolescent offspring of depressed and nondepressed mothers. *Child Neuropsychology*, 24(5), 638–656. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2017.1307950
- Renk, K., & Creasey, G. (2003). The relationship of gender, gender identity, and coping strategies in late adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 26(2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-1971(02) 00135-5
- Roecker, C. E., Dubow, E. F., & Donaldson, D. (1996). Cross-situational patterns in children's coping with observed interpersonal conflict. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 25(3), 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp2503_5
- Rudolph, K. D. (2014). Puberty as a developmental context of risk for psychopathology. In M. Lewis & K. D. Rudolph (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental psychopathology* (pp. 331–354).
 Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-9608-3_17

- Rudolph, K. D., Davis, M. M., Skymba, H. V., Modi, H. H., & Telzer, E. H. (2021). Social experience calibrates neural sensitivity to social feedback during adolescence: A functional connectivity approach. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 47, Article 100903. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.dcn.2020.100903
- Rudolph, K. D., Skymba, H. V., Modi, H. H., Davis, M. M., Sze, W. Y., Rosswurm, C. P., & Telzer, E. H. (2021). How does peer adversity "get inside the brain?" Adolescent girls' differential susceptibility to neural dysregulation of emotion following victimization. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *63*(3), 481–495. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.22022
- Rudolph, K. D., & Troop-Gordon, W. (2010). Personal-accentuation and contextualamplification models of pubertal timing: Predicting youth depression. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(2), 433–451. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579410000167
- Rudolph, K. D., Troop-Gordon, W., Modi, H. H., & Granger, D. A. (2018). An exploratory analysis of the joint contribution of HPA axis activation and motivation to early adolescent depressive symptoms. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 60(3), 303–316. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21600
- Santarnecchi, E., Sprugnoli, G., Tatti, E., Mencarelli, L., Neri, F., Momi, D., Di Lorenzo, G., Pascual-Leone, A., Rossi, S., & Rossi, A. (2018). Brain functional connectivity correlates of coping styles. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 18*(3), 495–508. https:// doi.org/10.3758/s13415-018-0583-7
- Saxbe, D. E. (2008). A field (researcher's) guide to cortisol: Tracking HPA axis functioning in everyday life. *Health Psychology Review*, 2(2), 163–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17437190802530812
- Schreiber, J. E., Shirtcliff, E., Van Hulle, C., Lemery-Chalfant, K., Klein, M. H., Kalin, N. H., Essex, M. J., & Goldsmith, H. H. (2006). Environmental influences on family similarity in afternoon cortisol levels: Twin and parentoffspring designs. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *31*(9), 1131–1137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2006.07.005

- Schriber, R. A., & Guyer, A. E. (2016). Adolescent neurobiological susceptibility to social context. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2015.12.009
- Seeley, W. W., Menon, V., Schatzberg, A. F., Keller, J., Glover, G. H., Kenna, H., Reiss, A. L., & Greicius, M. D. (2007). Dissociable intrinsic connectivity networks for salience processing and executive control. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(9), 2349–2356. https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5587-06.2007
- Shirtcliff, E. A., Allison, A. L., Armstrong, J. M., Slattery, M. J., Kalin, N. H., & Essex, M. J. (2012). Longitudinal stability and developmental properties of salivary cortisol levels and circadian rhythms from childhood to adolescence. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 54(5), 493–502. https://doi.org/10.1002/ dev.20607
- Silk, J. S., Siegle, G. J., Lee, K. H., Nelson, E. E., Stroud, L. R., & Dahl, R. E. (2014). Increased neural response to peer rejection associated with adolescent depression and pubertal development. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(11), 1798–1807. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/scan/nst175
- Silvers, J. A., McRae, K., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Gross, J. J., Remy, K. A., & Ochsner, K. N. (2012). Age-related differences in emotional reactivity, regulation, and rejection sensitivity in adolescence. *Emotion*, *12*(6), 1235–1247. https:// doi.org/10.1037/a0028297
- Silvers, J. A., Shu, J., Hubbard, A. D., Weber, J., & Ochsner, K. N. (2015). Concurrent and lasting effects of emotion regulation on amygdala response in adolescence and young adulthood. *Developmental Science*, 18(5), 771–784. https:// doi.org/10.1111/desc.12260
- Sinha, R., Lacadie, C. M., Constable, R. T., & Seo, D. (2016). Dynamic neural activity during stress signals resilient coping. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(31), 8837–8842. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1600965113
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood,H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping:A review and critique of category systems for

classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216

- Skinner, E. A., & Wellborn, J. G. (1994). Coping during childhood and adolescence:
 A motivational perspective. In D. L. Featherman, R. M. Lerner, & M. Perlmutter (Eds.), *Life-span development and behavior* (Vol. 12, pp. 91–133). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 119–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurey.psych.58.110405.085705
- Sladek, M. R., Doane, L. D., Luecken, L. J., & Eisenberg, N. (2016). Perceived stress, coping, and cortisol reactivity in daily life: A study of adolescents during the first year of college. *Biological Psychology*, *117*, 8–15. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.02.003
- Sladek, M. R., Doane, L. D., & Stroud, C. B. (2017). Individual and day-to-day differences in active coping predict diurnal cortisol patterns among early adolescent girls. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 46(1), 121–135. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10964-016-0591-2
- Smith, A. R., Chein, J., & Steinberg, L. (2013). Impact of socio-emotional context, brain development, and pubertal maturation on adolescent risk-taking. *Hormones and Behavior*, 64(2), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2013.03.006
- Somerville, L. H. (2013). The teenage brain: Sensitivity to social evaluation. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(2), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721413476512
- Sontag, L. M., Graber, J. A., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Warren, M. P. (2008). Coping with social stress: Implications for psychopathology in young adolescent girls. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 36(8), Article 1159. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10802-008-9239-3
- Sowell, E. R., Peterson, B. S., Thompson, P. M., Welcome, S. E., Henkenius, A. L., & Toga, A. W. (2003). Mapping cortical change across the human life span. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(3), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1008

- Spear, L. P. (2009). Heightened stress responsivity and emotional reactivity during pubertal maturation: Implications for psychopathology. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409000066
- Spear, L. P. (2011). Rewards, aversions and affect in adolescence: Emerging convergences across laboratory animal and human data. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(4), 390–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dcn.2011.08.001
- Stewart, J. G., Mazurka, R., Bond, L., Wynne-Edwards, K. E., & Harkness, K. L. (2013). Rumination and impaired cortisol recovery following a social stressor in adolescent depression. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 41(7), 1015–1026. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10802-013-9740-1
- Stroud, L. R., Foster, E., Papandonatos, G. D., Handwerger, K., Granger, D. A., Kivlighan, K. T., & Niaura, R. (2009). Stress response and the adolescent transition: Performance versus peer rejection stressors. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 47–68. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579409000042
- Stroud, L. R., Papandonatos, G. D., Williamson, D. E., & Dahl, R. E. (2011). Sex differences in cortisol response to corticotropin releasing hormone challenge over puberty: Pittsburgh Pediatric Neurobehavioral Studies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *36*(8), 1226–1238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.02.017
- Sumter, S. R., Bokhorst, C. L., Miers, A. C., Van Pelt, J., & Westenberg, P. M. (2010). Age and puberty differences in stress responses during a public speaking task: Do adolescents grow more sensitive to social evaluation? *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35(10), 1510–1516.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.05.004

- Tanner, J. M. (1971). Sequence, tempo, and individual variation in the growth and development of boys and girls aged twelve to sixteen. *Daedalus*, 100(4), 907–930.
- Thayer, J. F., & Lane, R. D. (2009). Claude Bernard and the heart-brain connection: Further elaboration of a model of neurovisceral integration. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral*

Reviews, *33*(2), 81–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2008.08.004

- Theurel, A., & Gentaz, E. (2018). The regulation of emotions in adolescents: Age differences and emotion-specific patterns. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(6), Article e0195501. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0195501
- Thomas, K. M., Drevets, W. C., Whalen, P. J., Eccard, C. H., Dahl, R. E., Ryan, N. D., & Casey, B. J. (2001). Amygdala response to facial expressions in children and adults. *Biological Psychiatry*, 49(4), 309–316. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01066-0
- Törnhage, C. J. (2002). Reference values for morning salivary cortisol concentrations in healthy school-aged children. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism: JPEM*, 15(2), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1515/ jpem.2002.15.2.197
- Torre, J. B., & Lieberman, M. D. (2018). Putting feelings into words: Affect labeling as implicit emotion regulation. *Emotion Review*, 10(2), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1754073917742706
- Tsigos, C., & Chrousos, G. P. (2002). Hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 53(4), 865–871.
- van den Bos, E., de Rooij, M., Miers, A. C., Bokhorst, C. L., & Westenberg, P. M. (2014). Adolescents' increasing stress response to social evaluation: Pubertal effects on cortisol and alpha-amylase during public speaking. *Child Development*, 85(1), 220–236. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12118
- Vasilev, C. A., Crowell, S. E., Beauchaine, T. P., Mead, H. K., & Gatzke-Kopp, L. M. (2009).
 Correspondence between physiological and selfreport measures of emotion dysregulation:
 A longitudinal investigation of youth with and without psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 50(11), 1357–1364. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02172.x
- Vijayakumar, N., Pfeifer, J. H., Flournoy, J. C., Hernandez, L. M., & Dapretto, M. (2019). Affective reactivity during adolescence:

Associations with age, puberty and testosterone. *Cortex*, *117*, 336–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cortex.2019.04.024

- Vögele, C., Sorg, S., Studtmann, M., & Weber, H. (2010). Cardiac autonomic regulation and anger coping in adolescents. *Biological Psychology*, 85(3), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsycho.2010.09.010
- Wadsworth, M. E., Bendezú, J. J., Loughlin-Presnal, J., Ahlkvist, J. A., Tilghman-Osborne, E., Bianco, H., Rindlaub, L., & Hurwich-Reiss, E. (2018). Unlocking the black box: A multilevel analysis of preadolescent children's coping. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 47(4), 527–541. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15374416.2016.1141356
- Walker, E. F., Walder, D. J., & Reynolds, F. (2001). Developmental changes in cortisol secretion in normal and at-risk youth. *Development and Psychopathology*, 13(3), 721–732. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579401003169
- Wang, Y., & Yip, T. (2020). Sleep facilitates coping: Moderated mediation of daily sleep, ethnic/ racial discrimination, stress responses, and adolescent well-being. *Child Development*, 91(4), e833–e852. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13324
- Weisz, J. R., Rothbaum, F. M., & Blackburn, T. C. (1984). Standing out and standing in: The psychology of control in America and Japan. *American Psychologist*, 39(9), 955–969. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.39.9.955
- Will, G.-J., van Lier, P. A. C., Crone, E. A., & Güro⊠lu, B. (2016). Chronic childhood peer rejection is associated with heightened neural responses to social exclusion during adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10802-015-9983-0
- Williams, K., & McGillicuddy-De Lisi, A. (1999). Coping strategies in adolescents. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 20(4), 537–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-3973(99) 00025-8
- Yang, J., Zhang, S., Lou, Y., Long, Q., Liang, Y., Xie, S., & Yuan, J. (2018). The increased sex differences in susceptibility to emotional stimuli during adolescence: An event-related potential

study. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00660

- Yaroslavsky, I., Bylsma, L. M., Rottenberg, J., & Kovacs, M. (2013). Combinations of resting RSA and RSA reactivity impact maladaptive mood repair and depression symptoms. *Biological Psychology*, 94(2), 272–281. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.06.008
- Yaroslavsky, I., Rottenberg, J., Bylsma, L. M., Jennings, J. R., George, C., Baji, I., Benák, I., Dochnal, R., Halas, K., Kapornai, K., Kiss, E., Makai, A., Varga, H., Vetró, Á., & Kovacs, M. (2016). Parasympathetic nervous system activity predicts mood repair use and its effectiveness among adolescents with and without histories of major depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *125*(3), 323–336. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/abn0000149
- Yuan, J., Ju, E., Yang, J., Chen, X., & Li, H. (2014). Different patterns of puberty effect in neural oscillation to negative stimuli: Sex differences. *Cognitive Neurodynamics*, 8(6), 517–524. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11571-014-9287-z
- Yuksel, D., Baker, F. C., Goldstone, A., Claudatos,
 S. A., Forouzanfar, M., Prouty, D. E., Colrain,
 I. M., & de Zambotti, M. (2021). Stress, sleep,
 and autonomic function in healthy adolescent

girls and boys: Findings from the NCANDA study. *Sleep Health*, 7(1), 72–78. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.sleh.2020.06.004

- Zelazo, P. D., & Carlson, S. M. (2012). Hot and cool executive function in childhood and adolescence: Development and plasticity. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 354–360.
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *35*(1), 1–17. https://doi. org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology* (3rd ed., Vol. 4, pp. 485–544). Wiley. http://au.wiley.com/ WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-1118121791
- Zimmermann, P., & Iwanski, A. (2014). Emotion regulation from early adolescence to emerging adulthood and middle adulthood: Age differences, gender differences, and emotionspecific developmental variations. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 38(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025413515405

Part IV Psychological Foundations of the Development of Coping

12 Attention, Temperament, Self-Regulation, and the Development of Coping

Ángela Hoyo, Ángela Conejero, and M. Rosario Rueda

Introduction

Most people will face adverse and difficult life situations of diverse nature along their lives. Although difficulties may be objectively different and vary in how much impact they may cause in people's lives (e.g., the death of a loved one in comparison with losing a job, or in childhood losing a parental figure in comparison to moving to a different city), there is an enormous variety of ways in which people face adversity. In fact, the subjective impact of adversity is often unrelated to the objective dimension that situations appear to entail, and it is the way people cope with difficulties what really makes the difference. Therefore, understanding individual differences in the way people face stress and adversity is key to the field of coping. The current chapter intends to discuss the importance of cognitive and temperamental systems of self-regulation during development in an effort to understand how these systems contribute to the development of coping.

We begin the chapter with definitions of attention, self-regulation, and temperament constructs. Then, we present empirical evidence about the relationship between attention and self-regulation development. In the third section, we address the links between coping responses and individual differences in attention, self-regulation, and temperament. Finally, in the fourth section, we focus on the role that environmental factors and education play in attention and coping development and discuss whether diverse strategies designed to improve attention may foster more adaptive coping responses. Chapter highlights are summarized in Table 12.1.

Attention, Self-Regulation, and Temperament

Attention is involved in most of our daily life activities. Just as the structure of our body imposes limits to the number of things we can interact with at a given time, our mind is limited in the amount of information it can consciously process at a time. Therefore, a mechanism has evolved to help us regulate the information we process and decide how we want to respond to it. This mechanism is attention.

Attention has been largely linked to the voluntary and effortful control of action, as opposed to well-learned automatic behavior. Most actions we do daily are effortless and unfold in an automatic nonsupervised way. However, an efficacious and adaptive organism is one that is able to not only learn the regularities of the context and develop automatic, effortless courses of action, but also able to take control of actions when the context is changing and requires adjustments in order to accomplish goals, or when it wants to explore alternative courses of actions. The

This work was supported by a grant from the Spanish Research Agency awarded to MRR (ref. PSI2017–82670-P).

Table 12.1 Summary of chapter highlights

- Attention is a domain-general cognitive function that enables a form of conscious processing of information and supports the voluntary regulation of emotions and actions.
- The temperamental system of effortful control is supported by executive attention mechanisms that enable the regulation of reactive systems of negative affectivity and extraversion/ surgency.
- By means of the progressive development of voluntary control mechanisms of attentional nature children become more able to selfregulate behavior.
- In children as in adults, self-regulation of emotions and actions is associated with more strategic (planned with a long-term perspective) and effective coping responses.

deep (conscious) and slow (expanded in terms of both time and space within the intricate circuit of neurons that comprises the brain) mode of processing information that is necessary to supervise goal-directed action is what we colloquially refer to as "paving attention." The attentive mode takes control of our interactions with the environment in situations that involve overcoming an automatic course of action and detecting the need to do so. Also, attention is necessary for detecting errors, and controlling behavior in dangerous, novel, or unpracticed conditions (Norman & Shallice, 1986). Thus, the neural mechanisms that enable attention are central to the generation of voluntary behavior. Generally, attention can be defined as a multidimensional construct that refers to a state in which we have an optimal level of activation that allows selecting the information we want to prioritize in order to control the course of our actions (Rueda et al., 2021). In fact, aspects of activation, selection, and control are involved in the construct of attention in Posner's theoretical model, which are respectively referred to as

alerting, orienting, and executive attention (Petersen & Posner, 2012).

Within Posner's theory of attention, executive attention refers to a set of mechanisms that are involved in self-regulated behavior, including inhibition of dominant but inappropriate response tendencies, detecting targets and resolving conflict between alternative courses of action, and detecting errors and adjusting responses according to goals or instructions in interference-rich contexts (Petersen & Posner. 2012; Rueda et al., 2011). Executive attention is a function enabled by the action of a circuit of brain regions of the parietal and frontal lobes, with a main node in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC; see Rueda et al. (2015) for a review). The executive attention network has been proposed as the neurocognitive system underlying effortful control, the temperament factor associated with self-regulation of thoughts, emotions, and actions (Rothbart & Rueda, 2005).

Temperament is defined as constitutionally based individual differences in emotional. motor, and attentional reactivity, as measured by the latency, intensity, and recovery of response; and self-regulation processes that modulate reactivity (Rothbart & Bates, 2006). Psychometric studies in the field of temperament have consistently identified three main dimensions of temperament, which include (1) defensive reactions of fear and anger, (2) approach reactions of activity and pleasure to high-intensity stimulation, and (3) attention-based sensory and self-regulatory processes that help modulate emotional reactivity (Rothbart, 2007). The reactivityregulation framework for temperament has been used to develop differentiated scales measuring temperament across the lifespan. Positive and negative emotionality are assessed in these measures, as well as attentional variables, including consciously driven attention shifting and effortful control. Within this

307

cognitive-temperament framework, the development of attention serves the child with mechanisms that allow an increased voluntary control of behavior, and is tightly linked to self-regulation (Rothbart & Rueda, 2005; Rueda, 2012).

According to Baumeister and Vohs (2004). self-regulation entails the control of behavior, thoughts, and feelings in order to successfully adapt to the environment and achieve our goals. Thus, self-regulation comprises the control of impulses making it possible to behave according to rules and to adjust to social demands (Lengua, 2003; Li-Grining et al., 2019). In fact, selfregulation is applied to different spheres in our lives such as learning or our daily routines. Likewise, the development of coping strategies that help to deal with stressful situations in daily life has been considered to reflect self-regulatory abilities (Boekaerts, 2010). Poor self-regulation skills have indeed been found to be extensively associated with different psychological conditions also characterized by dysregulated coping such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD: Al Yagon et al., 2020), or anxiety disorders and depression (Banich et al., 2009). Moreover, in light of evidence from neuroimaging research in the last decades, self-regulatory capacities have been proposed to be strongly related to the development and functioning of prefrontal structures involved in executive attention, being particularly relevant for the modulation of thoughts and emotional responses (Öner, 2018). Taken together, it becomes indispensable to consider the contribution of executive attention to self-regulation, which in turn may explain individual differences in coping responses along development.

Therefore, taking together different branches of literature in the development of self-regulation (i.e., temperament, neurocognitive development, self-regulation), we propose a model by which the development of executive attention provides the child with cognitive and behavioral tools to regulate responses tendencies based on temperamental systems of negative affect (fear-related avoiding behaviors or anger-related aggression) and extraversion/surgency (approaching behaviors such as risk-taking, activity level, social affiliation, etc.). The effortful and voluntary control of behavior supported by executive mechanisms of inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and conflict resolution is associated with more strategic (goal-oriented) behavior. Executive attention provides the child with mechanisms to regulate behavior to decide when and how would be best to respond to difficulties, and to downregulate emotional reactions that might reduce stress in the short term but might not be optimal to solve the problem in the mid/long term. This model is depicted in Figure 12.1.

In the next sections, we intend to describe the entrenched developmental trajectories of attention and self-regulation and their contribution to the use of more strategic coping responses.

Development of Attention and Self-Regulation

As argued in the previous section, executive mechanisms such as inhibitory control have been theoretically and empirically linked to self-regulation. Some authors argue that selfregulation should be considered just another form of inhibition (Diamond, 2013) and others consider that self-regulation is one aspect of executive functioning more specifically related to inhibition in "hot" contexts, where emotions are elicited (Zelazo & Carlson, 2012). In the model presented in Figure 12.1, linking temperament and executive attention, selfregulation results from the effortful control of emotional reactivity and the modulation of behavior by means of executive processes such as inhibition, conflict detection and resolution, and planning. Executive attention is also



Figure 12.1 Associations between attention, temperament, and self-regulation in relation to coping responses.

necessary to sustain goal-directed behavior and to avoid being automatically attracted by salient but irrelevant stimuli (Hofmann et al., 2012). This model is supported by studies that show a close relationship between individual differences in performing executive attention tasks and self-regulation skills (Khosravi et al., 2020; Schmeichel & Tang, 2014, 2015).

Given their empirical link, attention and self-regulation have been considered interdependent constructs (Kaplan & Berman, 2010; Rueda et al., 2011). It is argued that attention constitutes one of the main building blocks of self-regulation, based on their shared developmental trajectories and neural pathways. According to Posner and colleagues (2013), self-regulation primarily relies on the development of attentional orientation in the early years, such as disengagement and shifting attention according to goals and expectations

(i.e., endogenous or top-down attention). About the third to fourth month of life infants start to be capable of voluntarily shifting their sight away from stimuli that had captured their attention (Johnson et al., 1991). Before that time, they have difficulty reorienting their attention without some sort of external help, usually stimulation provided by caregivers. This limitation has consequences in their ability to self-regulate. For instance, infants as young as 3 months of age have difficulties disengaging from distressful stimuli (e.g., an annoying flashlight) by themselves; however, an effective strategy frequently used by caregivers to calm infants consists of using an attractive object or event (e.g., singing, talking, or making different facial expressions) to reorient babies' attention away from the distressing event (Harman et al., 1997).

Along the second half of the first year of age infants can actively look away from stimuli that cause them discomfort, regulating their emotional reaction in that way (Rothbart et al., 1992). Recent research shows that 6month-olds in typical frustrating situations (e.g., a desired tov is taken away from them) try to manage distress not only by averting the gaze from the toy, but also by orienting to alternative sources of stimulation in the environment such as the mother face or other objects (Thomas et al., 2017). Prior longitudinal research investigating infants' ability to self-regulate frustration elicited by arm restraint suggest that between 4 and 6 months of age babies show a marked improvement of orienting-based self-regulatory skills, increasing the orienting of attention toward objects with respect to the mother, which is considered a more mature pattern of self-regulation (Moscardino & Axia, 2006). Data from these studies also demonstrate that infants' control of attentional orientation is an effective form of distress downregulation. Thus, an early landmark in the development of selfregulation consists of moving from exogenous (stimulus-driven) attentional capture to being able to exert a voluntary (goal-directed) control of orientation in order to regulate internal states. It is from the moment that babies start to use the voluntary control of attention that we can talk about self-regulation. In fact, endogenous control of attention orienting show great improvement during the second half of the first year of life, which is when we observe the prominent changes in regulation skills just described (Colombo, 2001).

The link between attention control mechanisms and self-regulation that emerges during the first year of life will remain during childhood and adolescence into adulthood. There is evidence for this link in the toddlerhood (Morales et al., 2005) and preschool period (Susa Erdogan et al., 2017). Also, social interactions with emotional content prominently triggers orienting of attention mechanisms in adolescents, such as moving attention away from their mothers' face while arguing about common disagreements (Woody et al., 2020). Besides, dysfunctional patterns of attention to emotional stimuli (e.g., biased orienting to threaten stimuli or reward) are observed in children and adolescents with externalizing or internalizing problems, suggesting that atypical development of attentional orienting might partially explain the emergence of related anxiety disorders (Morales et al., 2015; Waters & Craske, 2016).

As prefrontal structures of the brain develop, children become more able to use executive attention for carrying out more complex regulation strategies. While mechanisms of attentional orienting are linked to basic selfregulatory strategies based on distraction, the emergence of executive attention mechanisms leads to regulation strategies based on the active control of behavior and thoughts, and the use of top-down mechanisms for the regulation of emotional states. During the last months of the first year of life, infants start to show rudimentary executive attention skills. For instance, babies start to show cognitive flexibility in A not-B tasks and attention switching paradigms, as well as brain reactions to observed errors (i.e., violation of expectancies) localized in frontal midline regions (Conejero & Rueda, 2017; Conejero et al., 2016). Even at this early stage of the development, executive attention appears to be related to infants' ability to regulate negative emotional reactivity (Morasch & Bell, 2012). Also, toddlers showing greater ability to sustain attention are more likely to actively confront a frustrating situation (i.e., by seeking help from another person), which again suggests a significant contribution of attention to the development of more elaborated selfregulatory skills (Graziano et al., 2011).

309



Figure 12.2 Trajectories of development of attention networks from birth into adolescence.

There is also evidence that children's performance in inhibitory control tasks predicts their general ability to voluntarily self-regulate (Tiego et al., 2020). Altogether, this research shows the key role that attention plays on the development of self-regulation skills. Figure 12.2 shows an overview of the main landmarks in the development of attention networks from birth to adolescence. The developmental course off the different functions is clearly interconnected, although the different trajectories functions show differential emerging at different moments in infancy and progressing all the way into early adulthood (Pozuelos et al., 2014; Rueda, 2014).

The relationship between attention and selfregulation will be observed along the lifespan. Much evidence with adults shows that individual differences in executive attention and effortful control are related to the use of emotional regulation strategies, such as reappraisal, as well as clinical and subclinical anxiety and depression symptomatology (Kanske & Kotz, 2012; Kanske et al., 2012).

Moreover, there is evidence showing that training preschoolers in executive attention by means of a set of computerized games fosters brain markers of children's executive attention, an improvement that seems to transfer to the ability to self-regulate behavior as measured with an adapted version of the adult gambling task (Rueda et al., 2012). In same vein, mindfulness meditation the practice, based on the control of attention in order to achieve a state of focused attention. engages the executive attention network and also has a positive effect on self-regulatory skills (Tang et al., 2014). The training of executive attention skills via a mindfulness program also produces enhanced cognitive control in the performance of an emotional inhibitory control task for trained participants, increasing their capacity to manage emotions (Quaglia et al., 2019).

In line with the previously reviewed literature examining the behavioral correlates of attention and self-regulation, neuroimaging studies confirm the close relationship between executive attention development and selfregulation. Neuroimaging studies have shown consistent evidence that the executive attention network underlies self-regulatory skills. For instance. children's electrophysiological indices of conflict processing and error monitoring predict individual differences in selfregulation measured by a delay of gratification task and an inhibitory control task (Checa et al., 2014). Findings from recent fMRI research provide further support for this idea. It has been found that the use of explicit, but not implicit, strategies for the regulation of emotion (e.g., cognitive reappraisal) by adolescents and young adults is associated with the activation of frontal brain structures, suggesting the involvement of executive processes (Pozzi et al., 2021). In fact, decline in executive functioning has been linked to incipient impairments in the reappraisal of negative emotions explained by reduced efficiency of frontolimbic circuits (Lloyd et al., 2021).

Furthermore, studies with fMRI usually identify the ACC, a brain structure belonging to executive attention network, as involved in self-regulation. For example, in the case of emotion regulation, research indicates that the ACC may intervene by reducing amygdala response toward emotional stimuli (Dolcos et al., 2011; Oschner & Gross, 2005). An atypical activation pattern of the ACC is found for highly irritable children when they are challenged with frustrating situations (Tseng et al., 2019). The supramarginal gyrus, a parietal brain structure with numerous afferences to prefrontal structures such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, has also been identified as key to both attention control and selfregulatory processes. It was found that the supramarginal gyrus intervenes in processing conflicting information as well as in emotion regulation in a sample of patients with depression suggesting that this structure is also a common neural node in brain networks overriding attention control and self-regulation (Loeffler et al., 2019). Indeed, the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (particularly the right dorsolateral prefrontal area) has a fundamental role in disengagement from emotional stimuli when the application of top-down control of attention is required (Sanchez-Lopez et al., 2018).

To sum up, overall, attention skills are the foundation for individual differences in the general ability to self-regulate emotional states and behavior. The development of attentionorienting mechanisms enables infants to initially implement elementary self-regulation that will evolve into more complex forms of self-regulation as executive attention skills develop. Having established the connection between attention and self-regulation, in the next section we explore the implication of individual differences in attention for the development of coping as one particular aspect of selfregulation. We further review literature with reference to coping styles and their association to different temperament profiles, describing some findings about the impact that environmental factors may have in the development of effective coping strategies.

Attention, Self-Regulation, and Coping Styles

The ability to adapt and face stress and adversity constitutes a specific aspect of the general construct of self-regulation (Compas et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner, 1995). In fact, coping has been defined as an automatic or controlled response whose aim is stress modulation (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Given the central role of attention in the implementation of selfregulatory processes, the successful modulation of responses under stressful conditions will likely require the use of attention control resources in order to detect, monitor, and choose the best strategy to cope with threatening situations (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). However, people greatly differ on how they react to adversity. In the context of temperament, the distinction between reactive and self-regulatory components leads to the idea that there exist automatic and controlled components in people's coping responses, and that temperamental reactivity and self-regulatory systems may constitute complementary coping mechanisms by themselves (Derryberry et al., 2003). In this sense, temperamental characteristics could constitute stable dispositions that influence the ways people cope with stressful situations (Sandler et al., 1997).

Temperamental reactivity refers to automatic reaction tendencies involving both defense and approach biobehavioral systems that enable withdrawal or approaching behaviors respectively to potential sources of threat or rewards (Derryberry et al., 2003). On the other hand, effortful control encompasses individual differences in the self-regulation of attention and in the ability to modulate behavior, either by inhibiting or activating nondominant responses, in order to accomplish goals and regulate emotional reactions (Rothbart et al., 1994). To the extent that temperamental reactivity is expected to influence the initial automatic stress reaction, the volitional response to stress is likely constrained by the initial automatic activation of defense and approach systems (Compas, 1987). While the defense system promotes behavioral inhibition and avoidance, the approach system entails orientation toward potential rewards. Consequently, children's coping behaviors are, partly at least, the result of temperamental differences in reactivity and self-regulation (Rueda & Rothbart, 2009), and indicate the relevance of temperament to the selection of coping strategies.

Behavioral responses to modulate stress may be categorized into coping styles or strategies that conform to the typical response patterns generally used by people when confronting diverse stressful situations (Sandler et al., 1997). In the context of developmental research, Ayers et al. (1996) found that children's responses to deal with stressful situations could be classified into four strategies: active coping, avoidant coping, distraction, and support-seeking. According to Ayers et al. (1996), active coping entails focusing on the stressor with the aim of deploying behavioral or cognitive efforts to deal with the stressor; avoidant coping is a strategy whereby behavioral and cognitive attempts to escape from the situation are made; the coping strategy of distraction prevents people from thinking about the problem; and support-seeking implies searching for help from other people to find a solution to the problem and to deal with the negative emotions related with the stressor.

In a recent study about developmental changes in coping strategies from childhood to adolescence, Eschenbeck et al. (2018) documented an age-related increase in the tendency to adopt active coping strategies, parallel to the decrease of use of avoidance, with the most evident improvements occurring between 9 and 11 years of age. This general trend is in line with the idea that, with age, coping increasingly relies on the ability to self-regulate behavioral and emotional reactivity. Our claim here is that individual differences in attention regulation and temperament modulate the emergence and developmental path of coping response patterns. Arguably, the increased ability to control the focus of attention and flexibly adjust responses according to strategic decisions (i.e., executive attention) is expected to be related to the use of more adaptive coping responses, such as the implementation of active coping strategies based on problem-solving and reappraisal (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). In a similar vein, links between coping styles and individual differences in temperamental factors related to reactivity (i.e., extraversion and negative affect) and self-regulation (i.e., effortful control) have been found. Next we review empirical evidence supporting these theory-based connections.

Attention and Coping

The attentional networks play a fundamental role in the emergence and development of the ability to voluntarily regulate coping responses to stress. Alerting, orienting, and executive attention networks develop according to a sequential path (Pozuelos et al., 2014; Posner et al., 2014). This implies that the relevance of the different attention functions for coping also changes throughout the course of development, particularly those related to the voluntary control of orientation and responses.

Infants, as well as older children and adults, show a reduction in heart rate and motor activation during periods of focused attention (Richards & Casey, 1991; Ruff & Rothbart, 1996). This physiological association underlies caregivers' strategy to orient babies' attention toward distracting stimulation when they are upset, in order to reduce their distress. From about 3 months of age, the coupling between focalization of attention and emotional downregulation is observed (Harman et al., 1997). At the end of the first year of life, the emergence of executive control of attention brings about additional opportunities to use attention for emotional regulation. We have shown that babies who are 9-12 months old who are rated as high in negative affect by their parents show less ability to disengage attention from fearful faces as well as increased perseveration errors in a nonemotional task requiring attentional flexibility (Conejero & Rueda. 2018). Likewise, greater ability to disengage attention from threatening stimuli correlates with lower negative affectivity at 13 months of age (Rothbart et al., 1992). By toddlerhood, it has been demonstrated that babies start to apply the volitional and self-directed control of attention to deploy regulated actions (e.g., Feldman, 2009) and to cope with the stress elicited by maternal separation (e.g., Sethi et al., 2000).

During early childhood, children's ability to voluntarily regulate coping responses to stress is likely founded in the rapid improvement of attentional shifting skills. In this regard, Caspi and Silva (1995) reported better school adjustment and ability to adapt to changing demands in preschoolers showing greater flexibility in the orientation of attention. Also, attention and effortful control are strong predictors of both academic performance and socio-emotional adjustment in the school context (Rueda et al., 2010). Children's knowledge about and use of coping strategies in connection with their attentional skills is especially evident in middle childhood. This is likely due to the development of increasingly sophisticated cortical representations, which incorporate connections between events and responses including expectations about outcomes that will follow from the coping strategy (Derryberry et al., 2003). Moreover, the social and cultural context is also increasingly incorporated as a factor moderating both the strategy and the necessity to regulate emotional reactivity.

Individual differences in attention skills in middle childhood are then presumably influencing how likely children are to opt for an active coping strategy. As argued by Skinner and Zimmer-Gembeck (2016), the deployment of executive attention when dealing with stressful situations facilitates the use of coping strategies like problem-solving as well as the modulation of emotion through the control of attention. The role of attention in the flexible use of coping strategies has been demonstrated by Babb et al. (2010), who focused on children with and without ADHD. They found that children without ADHD presented age-related increases in flexibility in the selection of coping strategies oriented to adjust to uncontrollable aspects of situations, whereas children with ADHD were less flexible in their coping behaviors, as they utilized a limited variety of coping strategies. By observing coping responses to stressful episodes involving functional abdominal pain, Hocking et al. (2011) examined whether children's and adolescents' attention regulation skills could predict the coping strategies they employed. They found that greater selective attention skills correlated with the use of coping strategies characterized by cognitive reappraisal and attention disengagement, and that those coping strategies mediated the relation between attention regulation skills and reduced anxious symptomatology. In adults, Young (2005) found that aggressive strategies, as well as avoidance and positive reappraisal, were the most common ways of coping among adults with ADHD; in contrast, the implementation of problemsolving strategies was less frequent in the ADHD group than in the control group. Also, within the ADHD group, individual differences in attention control were associated with active control coping strategies of support-seeking and problem-solving. Specifically, better regulation of attention was associated with greater use of active coping strategies. More recently, Al-Yagon et al. (2020) reported that adults with ADHD tend to use coping strategies that confront the emotional distress, and rely to a lesser extent than adults without ADHD on coping strategies focused on problem-solving.

Temperament and Coping

As argued by Rothbart and colleagues (1992), and in line with the theory of Gray (1991), temperamental tendencies of approximation and avoidance have an influence on children's coping strategies and modulate the susceptibility to reward and punishment. Temperamental systems of reactivity and regulation pave the way for children's individual differences and developmental trajectories in coping (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). For example, avoidant coping is more likely among shy children, who are also more susceptible to punishment; instead, cognitive efforts to reappraise the stressful situation and to deploy problem-solving strategies are more likely among children who score high in effortful control and positive affectivity (Compas et al., 2001; Derryberry et al., 2003; Rueda & Rothbart, 2009).

The relationship between temperament and strategies used to regulate stress helps uncover the connection between temperament and maladjustment (e.g., Rothbart, 2011; Rueda & Rothbart, 2009). Evidence suggests that the temperament profile characterized by high extraversion and effortful control and low negative affectivity is the one associated with the most adaptive coping strategies (Rothbart, 2011) and with reduced risk for internalizing and externalizing behavioral disorders (Derryberry et al., 2003; Jaffee et al., 2007). According to Rothbart (2011), infants with a moderate reactivity level to stress can be soothed by their caregivers with less difficulty; this, in turn, promotes infants' development of more adaptive responses to stress by means of the construction of a coping system based on interpersonal interactions. In contrast with this, infants who are highly reactive easily become overwhelmed by even mild stressful situations, that makes it difficult for them to coordinate and adjust coping responses.

In childhood, the combination of high reactivity and low effortful control is linked to persistence of maladaptive coping strategies, like avoidance, flight, and submission (Lengua, 2006; Lengua & Long, 2002). On the other hand, an extremely extroverted temperament that is not counteracted by some degree of effortful control may lead to maladaptive coping characterized by impulsivity, rigidity, and frustration in response to unsuccessful coping responses (Derryberry et al., 2003; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). In line with the assertion that effortful control contributes to adaptive coping, it has been found that children with greater ability to flexibly adapt to changes in the environment score higher in effortful control (Eisenberg et al., 1996; Eisenberg & Valiente, 2004). Another piece of evidence suggests that temperamental tendencies in the preschool age period provide the foundation of personality and susceptibility to stress in adulthood; in particular, high extraversion combined with low effortful control at age 3 predict adults' neurotic tendencies and heightened stress reactions (Caspi et al., 2005). Similar to findings in children, high negative affect and effortful control scores in adults have been associated with avoidant coping and active coping, respectively (Bolger, 1990; Fabes & Eisenberg, 1997).

Nevertheless, two meta-analytical reviews focusing on several developmental stages (Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007; Solberg Nes & Segerstrom, 2006) suggest that the connection between personality and coping from childhood to adulthood is moderate. The Connor-Smith meta-analysis of and Flachsbart (2007) reported a moderate association between extraversion and diverse active coping strategies, like problem-solving, seeking social support, and cognitive reappraisal, as well as links between conscientiousness and active coping based on problem-solving and cognitive reappraisal. Similarly, moderate connections were uncovered between neuroticism and coping responses implying avoidance, like denial and escape. Additionally, other studies highlighted the role played by optimism. For instance, Solberg Nes and Segerstrom (2006) reported that more optimistic people do not rely on avoidance coping strategies when facing stressors related with health issues, academic demands, or traumatic episodes.

In conclusion, coping has been defined as an automatic or controlled response whose aim is stress modulation. The attentional networks play a fundamental role in the emergence and development of the ability to voluntarily regulate coping responses to stress. As attention networks development takes place sequentially, the relevance of the different attention functions for coping also changes throughout the course of development. Concerning temperament, evidence suggests that temperamental tendencies in the preschool age period provide the foundation of personality and susceptibility to stress in adulthood; however, data form meta-analysis studies point to the fact that the connection between personality and coping from childhood to adulthood is moderate. Besides we address the role played by environment on attention and coping developmental paths.

Environmental Influences on Attention and Coping Development

Cross-sectional developmental analyses of the relationship between coping responses and individual differences in temperament and attention have elucidated some of the factors that contribute to adaptive coping in different developmental stages. In infancy, moderate fear together with the emergence of top-down control of attentional orientation act as regulatory factors that protect babies from potentially stressful situations (e.g., Johnson et al., 1991; Rothbart et al., 1994). Across childhood, the development of executive attention facilitates the control of affectivity and the adjustment of behavior to social norms (Checa et al., 2009; Rothbart et al., 2003; Simonds et al., 2007). By the end of childhood, there seems to be a shift from avoidant to active coping strategies (Eschenbeck et al., 2018). As already argued, the substantial improvement of regulation of attention may support the shift in coping skills due to enhanced metacognition that enables children to carry out planful action.

A further aspect that deserves attention is that general trends in coping development are shaped by environmental influences that may either foster or undermine cognitive development. The functional development of attention networks, and hence also of temperamental systems related to them, are under the influence of the cultural and social context of the individual (Mezzacappa, 2004; Rueda & Cómbita, 2013). As a consequence, the ways in which individuals cope with stressful events, as well as changes in coping strategies over time, result from the interplay between cognitive development and social experiences. Therefore, a complete understanding of the development of coping throughout life needs to take into consideration the socioeconomic, cultural, and educational context of the individual (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

Much evidence shows that social experiences in the early years of life may either foster or compromise the normative development of, for instance, children's ability to voluntarily regulate their responses to the challenges posed by the environment (Bornstein & Bradley, 2003). For example, frontal and parietal brain circuits underlying the voluntary control of attention and self-regulation are greatly impacted from very early on by factors related to low socioeconomic status (SES: Hanson et al., 2013). We and others have demonstrated that infants and young children raised in low SES families show poorer cognitive and brain indices of executive attention (Conejero et al., 2016; Conejero & Rueda, 2018). This shows that adverse social factors associated with low SES undermine the development of children's ability to regulate attention. This is particularly true when social adversity is linked with a stress response that overwhelms the child's resources to cope with the stressful situation, and accordingly affects normative development (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). It is then likely that attention development is compromised under heightened experience of stress, and that disorders related to difficulties in the regulation of attention may emerge. As evidence related to this point, the early exposure to adverse social circumstances, like

poverty, maltreatment, and family adversity may impact neurobiological responses to stress, and this, in turn, favors the emergence of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in later developmental stages (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner. 2016). Accordingly, the association between early adversity and later poor coping may be at least partly explained by the neurobiological impact that stressful situations have on brain development. In this vein, Chad-Friedman et al. (2021) reported that exposure to adversity in early childhood (e.g., low SES, stressful episodes, and parental depression) has a negative impact on executive functions like the flexible regulation of attention and memory measured in middle childhood, which appears to be mediated by decreased thickness of key brain regions for those functions, such as the right superior parietal cortex. Thus, the measure of cerebral thickness in this region was a mediator of the relationship between the extent of early cumulative risk and children's impaired ability for story recall as measured several vears later. One of the environmental factors that most likely hinders the development of coping is extreme poverty. In this regard, homelessness constitutes another risk factor for maladaptive coping due to the disruption of neurocognitive development. Homeless children experience stressful life events with higher frequency than nonhomeless children (Herbers et al., 2014; Masten et al., 1993; Miller, 2011). For instance, by adopting a developmental perspective, Herbers et al. (2014) analyzed early adversity and traumatic events experienced by children living in emergency housing. They gathered data on cumulative adversity, children's behavioral and emotional disorders, and the quality of parent-child interactions. Researchers found an association between cumulative adversity and indices of traumatic symptoms and behavioral problems, although the quality of parenting protected children from the impact of adversity. These findings provide further support for the assertion that early-life experiences may compromise the later acquisition of adaptive coping skills because the normative development of brain functioning relevant for regulation of emotion and behavior is affected by stressful life events.

Together with the study of the factors that may hamper the development of adaptive coping strategies, there is research focused on examining the educational and contextual aspects that promote the ability of individuals to cope with stressful events. For instance, parenting can act as a protective factor of the child's normative cognitive development even under early adverse conditions like poverty. Parental characteristics like warmth and responsiveness are consistently linked with children's adjustment irrespective of risk-related contextual factors (e.g., Bernier et al., 2010; Evans & Kim, 2012). Arguably, children's self-regulation development, and hence the development of adaptive ways to cope with stressful events, is enhanced when parents respond adequately to their children's needs (Herbers et al., 2014).

Adaptive coping may also be fostered through intentional practice. Interventions designed to train coping skills include strategies that, although not directly designed to foster attention regulation, draw on an individual's ability to regulate attention, to think ahead, and implement planned action. Grey et al. (2009) carried out an investigation aimed to train children's coping skills. In their study, 8-12-year-old children were trained to confront stress related with symptoms of diabetes by means of reflection on and a flexible use of coping strategies adapted to solve difficult situations. The coping trained group showed better self-efficacy, lower impact of diabetes, and less need for parental control following training, although to the same extent as a group receiving general education on diabetes.

Another promising line of intervention is the use of meditation and mindfulness training. As pointed out earlier in this chapter, mindfulness training has proven to significantly improve attention control in relation to general self-regulatory skills. The practice of mindfulness aims to gain control over attentional focus by reorienting to the present moment, and often also includes relaxation, breathing practice, and mental imagery. Tang and colleagues have demonstrated that mindfulness-based interventions show benefits in behavioral (e.g., better indices of executive attention) and physiological (i.e., reduced concentration of salivary cortisol) responses to stressful situations (Tang et al., 2007), an effect possibly mediated by training-related improvements of white matter fibers' integrity in regions of the executive attention network (Tang et al., 2010). A recent study has replicated the benefits of short-term (a 7-day intervention) mindfulness training on attention networks, and showed that the trained group also enhanced the use of positive coping style following the intervention (Quan et al., 2018).

To sum up, the functional development of attention networks, and hence also of temperamental systems related to them, are under the influence of the cultural and social context of the individual. As general trends in coping development are shaped by environmental influences that may either foster or undermine cognitive development. a complete understanding of the development of coping throughout life needs to take into consideration the socioeconomic, cultural, and educational context of the individual.

Moreover, evidence informs that adaptive coping may also be fostered through intentional practice. Those interventions, although not directly designed to foster attention regulation, draw on the individual's ability to regulate attention.

Concluding Remarks

In this chapter, we have made conceptual and empirical connections between attention and self-regulation, at both behavioral and temperament levels, and have argued in favor of the existence of a link between individual differences in self-regulation and coping styles. We discussed evidence about the development of self-regulatory processes on the basis of maturation of brain circuits of executive attention. The progressive development of this system enables the emergence of coping styles that increasingly rely on the regulation of emotional reactivity and inhibition of dominant tendencies in favor of carefully weighted, and often long-term established, goals and intentions. In addition, we have presented a branch of timely research dealing with environmental circumstances (e.g., poverty and adversity during development) and educational experiences (i.e., interventions and psychoeducational programs) that may hinder or foster the development of self-regulatory skills. Taken together, the role of attention and self-regulation in the development of coping has an important potential for designing interventions that will potentially contribute to enhancing children's ability to cope with adversity.

References

- Al-Yagon, M., Lachmi, M., & Shalev, L. (2020). Coping strategies among adults with ADHD: The mediational role of attachment relationship patterns. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *102*, Article 103657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .ridd.2020.103657
- Ayers, T. S., Sandler, I. N., West, S. G., & Roosa, M. W. (1996). A dispositional and situational assessment of children's coping: Testing alternative models of coping. *Journal of Personality*, 64(4), 923–958. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00949.x

- Babb, K. A., Levine, L. J., & Arseneault, J. M. (2010). Shifting gears: Coping flexibility in children with and without ADHD. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 34(1), 10–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025409345070
- Banich, M. T., Mackiewicz, K. L., Depue, B. E., Whitmer, A. J., Miller, G. A., & Heller, W. (2009). Cognitive control mechanisms, emotion and memory: A neural perspective with implications for psychopathology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(5), 613–630. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.010
- Baumeister, R. F., & Vohs, K. D. (Eds.). (2004). Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications. Guilford Press.
- Bernier, A., Carlson, S. M., & Whipple, N. (2010).
 From external regulation to self-regulation:
 Early parenting precursors of young children's executive functioning. *Child Development*, *81*(1), 326–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624
 .2009.01397.x
- Boekaerts, M. (2010). Coping with stressful situations: An important aspect of selfregulation. In P. Peterson, E. Baker, & B. McGaw (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of education* (pp. 570–575). Elsevier. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-08-044894-7.00602-3
- Bolger, N. (1990). Coping as a personality process: A prospective study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59(3), 525–537. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-3514.59.3.525
- Bornstein, M. H., & Bradley, R. H. (Eds.). (2003). Socioeconomic status, parenting, and child development. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/ 9781410607027
- Caspi, A., Roberts, B. W., & Shiner, R. L. (2005). Personality development: Stability and change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 56, 453–484. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902 .141913
- Caspi, A., & Silva, P. A. (1995). Temperamental qualities at age three predict personality traits in young adulthood: Longitudinal evidence from a birth cohort. *Child Development*, 66(2), 486–498. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1995.tb00885.x
- Chad-Friedman, E., Botdorf, M., Riggins, T., & Dougherty, L. R. (2021). Early childhood

cumulative risk is associated with decreased global brain measures, cortical thickness, and cognitive functioning in school-age children. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *63*(2), 192–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21956

- Checa, P., Castellanos, M. C., Abundis-Gutiérrez, A., & Rosario Rueda, M. (2014). Development of neural mechanisms of conflict and error processing during childhood: Implications for self-regulation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, Article 326. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014 .00326
- Checa, P., Rodríguez-Bailón, R., & Rueda, M. R. (2009). Neurocognitive and temperamental systems of self-regulation and early adolescents' social and academic outcomes. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 2(4), 177–187. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1751-228X.2008.00052.x
- Colombo, J. (2001). The development of visual attention in infancy. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*, 337–367. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.52.1.337
- Compas, B. E. (1987). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(3), 393–403. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.101.3.393
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Conejero, Á., Guerra, S., Abundis-Gutiérrez, A., & Rueda, M. R. (2016). Frontal theta activation associated with error detection in toddlers: Influence of familial socioeconomic status. *Developmental Science*, 21, Article e12494. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12494
- Conejero, Á. & Rueda, M. R. (2017). Early development of executive attention. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Behaviour*, 5, Article 341. https://doi.org/10.4172/2375-4494.1000341
- Conejero, Á., & Rueda, M. R. (2018). Infant temperament and family socio-economic status in relation to the emergence of attention regulation. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), Article

11232. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28831-x

- Connor-Smith, J. K., & Flachsbart, C. (2007).
 Relations between personality and coping:
 A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(6), 1080–1107. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.6.1080
- Derryberry, D., Reed, M. A., & Pilkenton-Taylor, C. (2003). Temperament and coping: Advantages of an individual differences perspective. *Development and Psychopathology*, 15(4), 1049–1066. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579403000439
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual Review of Psychology, 64, 135–168. https://doi .org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Dolcos, F., Iordan, A. D., & Dolcos, S. (2011). Neural correlates of emotion–cognition interactions: A review of evidence from brain imaging investigations. *Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 23(6), 669–694. https://doi.org/10 .1080/20445911.2011.594433
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress: The roles of regulation and development. In J. N. Sandler & S. A. Wolchik (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping with common stressor, research, and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Plenum Press. https://doi.org/https://doi .org/10.1007/978-1-4757-2677-0_2
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Murphy, B. C. (1996). Parents' reactions to children's negative emotions: Relations to children's social competence and comforting behavior. *Child Development*, 67(5), 2227–2247. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1131620
- Eisenberg, N., & Valiente, C. (2004). Elaborations on a theme: Beyond main effects in relations of parenting to children's coping and regulation. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 4, 319–323. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327922par0404_2
- Eschenbeck, H., Schmid, S., Schröder, I., Wasserfall, N., & Kohlmann, C. W. (2018).
 Development of coping strategies from childhood to adolescence: Cross-sectional and longitudinal trends. *European Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/10 .1027/2512-8442/a000005

- Evans, G. W., & Kim, P. (2012). Childhood poverty and young adults' allostatic load: The mediating role of childhood cumulative risk exposure. *Psychological Science*, 23(9), 979–983. https://doi .org/10.1177/0956797612441218
- Fabes, R. A., & Eisenberg, N. (1997). Regulatory control and adults' stress-related responses to daily life events. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73(5), 1107–1117. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.5.1107
- Feldman, R. (2009). The development of regulatory functions from birth to 5 years: Insights from premature infants. *Child Development*, 80(2), 544–561. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2009.01278.x
- Gray, J. A. (1991). The neuropsychology of temperament. In J. Strelau & A. Angleitner (Eds.), *Explorations in temperament: Perspectives on individual differences* (pp. 105–128). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-0643-4_8
- Graziano, P. A., Calkins, S. D., & Keane, S. P. (2011). Sustained attention development during the toddlerhood to preschool period:
 Associations with toddlers' emotion regulation strategies and maternal behavior. *Infant and Child Development*, 20(6), 389–408. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.731
- Grey, M., Whittemore, R., Jaser, S., Ambrosino, J., Lindemann, E., Liberti, L., Northrup, V., & Dziura, J. (2009). Effects of coping skills training in school-age children with type 1 diabetes. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 32(4), 405–418. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20336
- Hanson, J. L., Hair, N., Shen, D. G., Shi, F., Gilmore, J. H., Wolfe, B. L., & Pollak, S. D. (2013). Family poverty affects the rate of human infant brain growth. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), Article e80954. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone .0080954
- Harman, C., Rothbart, M. K., & Posner, M. I. (1997). Distress and attention interactions in early infancy. *Motivation and Emotion*, 21(1), 27–43.
- Herbers, J. E., Cutuli, J. J., Monn, A. R., Narayan, A. J., & Masten, A. S. (2014). Trauma, adversity, and parent–child relationships among

young children experiencing homelessness. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 42(7), 1167–1174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-014-9868-7

- Hocking, M. C., Barnes, M., Shaw, C., Lochman, J. E., Madan-Swain, A., & Saeed, S. (2011). Executive function and attention regulation as predictors of coping success in youth with functional abdominal pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *36*(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/10 .1093/jpepsy/jsq056
- Hofmann, W., Schmeichel, B. J., & Baddeley, A. D. (2012). Executive functions and self-regulation. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 16(3), 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2012.01.006
- Jaffee, S. R., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T. E., Polo-Tomás, M., & Taylor, A. (2007). Individual, family, and neighborhood factors distinguish resilient from non-resilient maltreated children: A cumulative stressors model. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 31(3), 231–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006 .03.011
- Johnson, M. H., Posner, M. I., & Rothbart, M. K. (1991). Components of visual orienting in early infancy: Contingency learning, anticipatory looking, and disengaging. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 3(4), 335–344. https://doi.org/10 .1162/jocn.1991.3.4.335
- Kanske, P., Heissler, J., Schonfelder, S., & Wessa, M. (2012). Neural correlates of emotion regulation deficits in remitted depression: The influence of regulation strategy, habitual regulation use, and emotional valence. *Neuroimage*, 61(3), 686–693. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.089
- Kanske, P., & Kotz, S. A. (2012). Effortful control, depression, and anxiety correlate with the influence of emotion on executive attentional control. *Biological Psychology*, *91*(1), 88–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2012.04.007
- Kaplan, S., & Berman, M. G. (2010). Directed attention as a common resource for executive functioning and self-regulation. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 5(1), 43–57. https://doi .org/10.1177/1745691609356784
- Khosravi, P., Parker, A. J., Shuback, A. T., & Adleman, N. E. (2020). Attention control

ability, mood state, and emotional regulation ability partially affect executive control of attention on task-irrelevant emotional stimuli. *Acta Psychologica*, 210, Article 103169. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2020.103169

- Lengua, L. J. (2003). Associations among emotionality, self-regulation, adjustment problems, and positive adjustment in middle childhood. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 24(5), 595–618. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.appdev.2003.08.002
- Lengua, L. J. (2006). Growth in temperament and parenting as predictors of adjustment during children's transition to adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 819–832. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.819
- Lengua, L. J., & Long, A. C. (2002). The role of emotionality and self-regulation in the appraisalcoping process: Tests of direct and moderating effects. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 23(4), 471–493. https://doi.org/10 .1016/S0193-3973(02)00129-6
- Li-Grining, C. P., McKinnon, R. D., & Raver, C. C. (2019). Self-regulation in early and middle childhood as a precursor to social adjustment among low-income, ethnic minority children. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 65(3), 265–293. https://doi.org/10.13110/merrpalmquar1982.65.3 .0265
- Lloyd, W. K., Morriss, J., Macdonald, B., Joanknecht, K., Nihouarn, J., & van Reekum, C. M. (2021). Longitudinal change in executive function is associated with impaired top-down frontolimbic regulation during reappraisal in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 225, Article 117488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020 .117488
- Loeffler, L. A. K., Satterthwaite, T. D., Habel, U., Schneider, F., Radke, S., & Derntl, B. (2019). Attention control and its emotion-specific association with cognitive emotion regulation in depression. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 13, 1766–1779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-019-00174-9
- Masten, A. S., Miliotis, D., Graham-Bermann, S. A., Ramirez, M. L., & Neemann, J. (1993). Children in homeless families: Risks to mental

health and development. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 61(2), 335–343. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.61.2.335

- Mezzacappa, E. (2004). Alerting, orienting, and executive attention: Developmental properties and sociodemographic correlates in an epidemiological sample of young, urban children. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1373–1386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00746.x
- Miller, P. M. (2011). A critical analysis of the research on student homelessness. *Review of Educational Research*, 81(3), 308–337. https://doi .org/10.3102/0034654311415120
- Morales, M., Mundy, P., Crowson, M. M., Neal, A. R., & Delgado, C. E. F. (2005). Individual differences in infant attention skills, joint attention, and emotion regulation behaviour. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29(3), 259–263. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 01650250444000432
- Morales, S., Pérez-Edgar, K. E., & Buss, K. A. (2015). Attention biases towards and away from threat mark the relation between early dysregulated fear and the later emergence of social withdrawal. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 43(6), 1067–1078. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-014-9963-9
- Morasch, K. C., & Bell, M. A. (2012). Selfregulation of negative affect at 5 and 10 months. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 54(2), 215–221. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20584
- Moscardino, U., & Axia, G. (2006). Infants' responses to arm restraint at 2 and 6 months: A longitudinal study. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 29(1), 59–69. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.infbeh.2005.07.002
- Norman, D. A., & Shallice, T. (1986). Attention to action: Willed and automatic control of behavior. In R. J. Davison, G. E. Schwartz, & D. Shapiro (Eds.), *Consciousness and self-regulation* (pp. 1–18). Plenum Press.
- Öner, S. (2018). Neural substrates of cognitive emotion regulation: A brief review. *Psychiatry* and Clinical Psychopharmacology, 28(1), 91–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/24750573.2017.1407563
- Oschner, K., & Gross, J. (2005). The cognitive control of emotion. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*,

9(5), 242–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005 .03.010

- Petersen, S. E., & Posner, M. I. (2012). The attention system of the human brain: 20 years after. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35(1), 73–89. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-062111-150525
- Posner, M. I., Rothbart, M. K., & Rueda, M. R. (2013). Developing attention and self-regulation in infancy and childhood. In J. L. R. Rubenstein & P. Rakic (Eds.), *Neural circuit development* and function in the healthy and diseased brain (pp. 395–411). Academic Press. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-12-397267-5.00059-5
- Posner, M. I., Rothbart, M. K., Sheese, B. E., & Voelker, P. (2014). Developing attention: Behavioral and brain mechanisms. *Advances in Neuroscience*, 2014, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2014/405094
- Pozuelos, J. P., Paz-Alonso, P. M., Castillo, A., Fuentes, L. J., & Rueda, M. R. (2014).
 Development of attention networks and their interactions in childhood. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(10), 2405–2415. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0037469
- Pozzi, E., Vijayakumar, N., Rakesh, D., & Whittle, S. (2021). Neural correlates of emotion regulation in adolescents and emerging adults: A meta-analytic study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 194–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .biopsych.2020.08.006
- Quaglia, J. T., Zeidan, F., Grossenbacher, P. G., Freeman, S. P., Braun, S. E., Martelli, A., Goodman, R. J., & Brown, K. W. (2019). Brief mindfulness training enhances cognitive control in socioemotional contexts: Behavioral and neural evidence. *PLoS ONE*, 14(7), Article e0219862. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone .0219862
- Quan, P., Wang, W., Chu, C., & Zhou, L. (2018). Seven days of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy improves attention and coping style. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 46(3), 421–430. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6623
- Richards, J. E., & Casey, B. J. (1991). Heart rate variability during attention phases in young infants. *Psychophysiology*, 28(1), 43–53.

- Rothbart, M. K. (2007). Temperament, development, and personality. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 16(4), 207–212.
- Rothbart, M. K. (2011). *Becoming who we are: Temperament and personality in development.* Guilford Press.
- Rothbart, M. K., & Bates, J. E. (2006).
 Temperament. In N. Eisenberg, W. Damon, &
 R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child* psychology: Social, emotional, and personality development (6th ed., pp. 99–166). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Rothbart, M. K., Derryberry, D., & Posner, M. I. (1994). A psychobiological approach to the development of temperament. In J. E. Bates & T. D. Wachs (Eds.), *Temperament: Individual* differences at the interface of biology and behavior (pp. 83–116). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10149-003
- Rothbart, M. K., Ellis, L. K., Rueda, M. R., & Posner, M. I. (2003). Developing mechanisms of temperamental effortful control. *Journal of Personality*, 71(6), 1113–1144. https://doi.org/10 .1111/1467-6494.7106009
- Rothbart, M. K., & Rueda, M. R. (2005). The development of effortful control. In U. Mayr, E. Awh, & S. W. Keele (Eds.), *Developing individuality in the human brain: A tribute to Michael I. Posner* (pp. 167–188). American Psychological Association.
- Rothbart, M. K., Ziaie, H., & O'Boyle, C. G. (1992). Self-regulation and emotion in infancy. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 1992(55), 7–23. https://doi.org/10 .1002/cd.23219925503
- Rueda, M. R. (2012). Effortful control. In M. Zentner & R. L. Shiner (Eds.), *Handbook of temperament* (pp. 145–167). Guilford Press.
- Rueda, M. R. (2014). Development of attention. In K. Ochsner & S. Kosslyn (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of cognitive neuroscience* (pp. 296–318). Oxford University Press.
- Rueda, M. R., Checa, P., & Cómbita, L. M. (2012). Enhanced efficiency of the executive attention network after training in preschool children: Immediate changes and effects after two months.

Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 2(Suppl. 1), S192–S204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn .2011.09.004

- Rueda, M. R., Checa, P., & Rothbart, M. K. (2010). Contributions of attentional control to social emotional and academic development. *Early Education and Development*, 21(5), 744–764. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2010 .510055
- Rueda, M. R., & Cómbita, L. M. (2013). The nature and nurture of executive attention development. In B. R. Kar (Ed.), *Cognition and brain development: Converging evidence from various methodologies* (pp. 33–59). American Psychological Association.
- Rueda, M. R., Moyano, S., & Rico-Picó, J. (2021). Attention: The grounds of self-regulated cognition. *WIREs Cognitive Science*, Article e1582. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1582
- Rueda, M. R., Posner, M. I., & Rothbart, M. K. (2011). Attentional control and self-regulation. In K. D. Vohs & R. F. Baumeister (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications* (pp. 284–299). The Guildford Press.
- Rueda, M. R., Pozuelos, J. P., & Cómbita, L. M. (2015). Cognitive neuroscience of attention: From brain mechanisms to individual differences in efficiency. *AIMS Neuroscience*, 2(4), 183–202. https://doi.org/10.3934/ Neuroscience.2015.4.183
- Rueda, M. R., & Rothbart, M. K. (2009). The influence of temperament on the development of coping: The role of maturation and experience. In E. A. Skinner & M. J. Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.), *New directions in child and adolescent development* (pp. 19–32). Jossey-Bass. https://doi .org/10.1002/cd.240
- Ruff, H. A., & Rothbart, M. K. (1996). Attention in early development: Themes and variations. Oxford University Press.
- Sanchez-Lopez, A., Vanderhasselt, M.-A., Allaert, J., Baeken, C., & De Raedt, R. (2018). Neurocognitive mechanisms behind emotional attention: Inverse effects of anodal tDCS over the left and right DLPFC on gaze disengagement from emotional faces. *Cognitive, Affective, &*

Behavioral Neuroscience, *18*(3), 485–494. https:// doi.org/10.3758/s13415-018-0582-8

- Sandler, I. N., Wolchik, S. A., MacKinnon, D., Ayers, T. S., & Roosa, M. W. (1997). Developing linkages between theory and intervention in stress and coping processes. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook* of children's coping: Linking theory, research, and intervention (pp. 3–40). Plenum Press. https://doi .org/10.1007/978-1-4757-2677-0 1
- Schmeichel, B. J., & Tang, D. (2014). The relationship between individual differences in executive functioning and emotion regulation: A comprehensive review. In J. P. Forgas & E. Harmon-Jones (Eds.), *Motivation and its regulation: The control within* (pp. 133–151). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781315795263
- Schmeichel, B. J., & Tang, D. (2015). Individual differences in executive functioning and their relationship to emotional processes and responses. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 24(2), 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721414555178
- Sethi, A., Mischel, W., Aber, J. L., Shoda, Y., & Rodriguez, M. L. (2000). The role of strategic attention deployment in development of selfregulation: Predicting preschoolers' delay of gratification from mother-toddler interactions. *Developmental Psychology*, 36(6), 767–777. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.36.6.767
- Simonds, J., Kieras, J. E., Rueda, M. R., & Rothbart, M. K. (2007). Effortful control, executive attention, and emotional regulation in 7-10-year-old children. *Cognitive Development*, 22(4), 474–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev .2007.08.009
- Skinner, E. A. (1995). Perceived control, motivation, & coping. Sage Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483327198
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress, neurophysiology, social relationships, and

resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer International Publishing. https://doi .org/10.1007/978-3-319-41740-0

- Solberg Nes, L., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2006). Dispositional optimism and coping: A metaanalytic review. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 10(3), 235–251. https://doi .org/10.1207/s15327957pspr1003_3
- Susa Erdogan, G., Benga, O., & Marin\[20], C. (2017). Attentional orientation patterns toward emotional faces and temperamental correlates of preschool oppositional defiant problems: The moderating role of callous-unemotional traits and anxiety symptoms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01928
- Tang, Y. Y., Lu, Q., Geng, X., Stein, E. A., Yang, Y., & Posner, M. I. (2010). Short-term meditation induces white matter changes in the anterior cingulate. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, 107(35), 15649–15652.
- Tang, Y. Y., Ma, Y., Wang, J., Fan, Y., Feng, S., Lu, Q., ... & Posner, M. I. (2007). Short-term meditation training improves attention and self-regulation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, 104(43), 17152–17156.
- Tang, Y. Y., Posner, M. I., & Rothbart, M. K. (2014). Meditation improves self-regulation over the life span. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1307(1), 104–111. https://doi.org/10 .1111/nyas.12227
- Thomas, J. C., Letourneau, N., Campbell, T. S., Tomfohr-Madsen, L., Giesbrecht, G. F., & APrON Study Team. (2017). Developmental origins of infant emotion regulation: Mediation by temperamental negativity and moderation by maternal sensitivity. *Developmental Psychology*, 53(4), 611–628. https://doi.org/10.1037/ dev0000279

- Tiego, J., Bellgrove, M. A., Whittle, S., Pastelis, C., & Testa, R. (2020). Common mechanisms of executive attention underlie executive function and effortful control in children. *Developmental Science*, 23(3), Article e12918. https://doi.org/10 .1111/desc.12918
- Tseng, W.-L., Deveney, C. M., Stoddard, J., Kircanski, K., Frackman, A. E., Yi, J. Y., ... & Leibenluft, E. (2019). Brain mechanisms of attention orienting following frustration: Associations with irritability and age in youths. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 176(1), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18040491
- Waters, A. M., & Craske, M. G. (2016). Towards a cognitive-learning formulation of youth anxiety: A narrative review of theory and evidence and implications for treatment. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 50, 50–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr .2016.09.008
- Woody, M. L., Price, R. B., Amole, M., Hutchinson, E., Benoit Allen, K., & Silk, J. S. (2020). Using mobile eye-tracking technology to examine adolescent daughters' attention to maternal affect during a conflict discussion. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 63(6), Article e22024. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.22024
- Young, S. (2005). Coping strategies used by adults with ADHD. Personality and Individual Differences, 38(4), 809–816. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.paid.2004.06.005
- Zelazo, P. D., & Carlson, S. M. (2012). Hot and cool executive function in childhood and adolescence: Development and plasticity. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 354–360. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00246.x
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J, & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping and regulation: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.) *Developmental psychopathology* (3rd ed., Vol. 4, pp. 485–544). Wiley.

13 The Development of Emotion Regulation and Coping in Early Childhood

Pamela M. Cole, Tawni B. Stoop, and Gabrielle S. Cardwell

Introduction

Life, as wondrous as it is, can be challenging. As we write this chapter, the people of Ukraine are being assaulted and displaced, and the world is still reeling from the throes of a pandemic. In many nations, people face profound injustices and political upheaval, including families fleeing one set of impossible circumstances to face challenges and obstacles in new, unfamiliar places. In addition to these stresses. we also face the hassles that arise regularly. A vending machine takes our money but does not deliver the snack; we misplace our keys. Given the challenges of life, a complete science of human behavior must explain how we come to both regulate our emotions and cope with stress. This requires explaining the developmental foundations of emotion regulation and coping, how these skills change with age, and how families, communities, and societies foster resilient, flexible children who can manage both ordinary challenges and less common life stresses. Such knowledge is needed to improve the promotion of effective emotion regulation and coping, including during the foundational early childhood years.

Over 40 years, research clearly demonstrates that individual differences in children's emotion regulation are consequential for development. For example, basic skill at emotion regulation is a component of being school-ready by kindergarten age (Blair, 2002; Harrington et al., 2020). Preschoolers who are disruptive are prone to preschool expulsion (Perry et al., 2008), and tend to have difficulty regulating anger (Wakschlag et al., 2008). Moreover, early emotional dysregulation is a precursor of later symptoms of psychopathology (McLaughlin et al., 2011). In sum, the quality of emotion regulation in early childhood predicts many developmental outcomes (e.g., Blair et al., 2015). Yet, surprisingly, there is insufficient evidence of the early withinperson development of emotion regulation and coping and uncertainty about how emotion regulation and coping differ.

In this chapter, we summarize what is known about the development of coping and of emotion regulation in early childhood, defined as the period between birth and 72 months. We identify issues that remain to be addressed with suggestions for future research (see Table 13.1 for a summary). That discussion includes potential ways to better integrate the study of the development of emotion regulation and coping.

Emotion, Stress, Emotion Regulation, and Coping

To begin, we share our conceptualizations of the concepts we use. We first address emotion and stress from the vantage of early childhood development. We then discuss the regulation of emotion and the implications for how emotion regulation relates to coping.

Emotion

The functional perspective on emotion and its development (Adolphs & Andler, 2018;

Table 13.1 Summary of the chapterkey messages

- Emotion regulation and coping are distinct but related within-person processes that first develop in early childhood.
- In infancy, coping involves regulation of physiological stress reactions that occur before emotions develop.
- Although individual differences in emotion regulation are associated with a range of developmental outcomes, we still need to investigate emotion regulation and coping as moment-to-moment within-person processes that develop over the course of early childhood.
- Future directions for research include distinguishing stress and emotion, conceptualizing them as within-person processes, and investigating their related developmental trajectories.

Barrett & Campos, 1987; Frijda, 1986) conceptualizes emotions as goal-oriented processes that enable us to maintain, regain, achieve, and relinquish goals for well-being. Emotions are not things that are reducible to facial expressions or subjective feelings. Rather emotion involves an ongoing, dynamic relation between individual and environment (Cole, 2016). That is, emotion is a relational construct, better conceptualized by verbs than nouns, defined by two continuous, coterminous processes: appraising one's relation to the actual or perceived environment in matters of significance for well-being and preparing to act to achieve, maintain, or regain well-being (Barrett & Campos, 1987). Moreover, emotion is integrally related to other psychological and physiological processes. For example, appraising involves perceiving and evaluating the environment and readying to act entails physiological and motoric changes, regardless of whether they lead to action.

Stress

Stress also involves matters of personal significance to the person, namely threats to wellbeing. Although appraisal was central to early conceptualizations of adult coping (Lazarus, 1966), contemporary evolutionary perspectives define stress in terms of reactive changes in the sympathetic-medullary and hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal systems. Stress reactivity, which is critical for survival because it equips organisms to adapt to the demands of life, is present in many nonhuman organisms, including many that are incapable of emotion as defined by functional theory (Gunnar & Quevedo, 2007; Meaney, 2001; Sapolsky, 2005). The evolutionary perspective initially included physiological responses to any demands made upon the body, including emotionally positive experiences (Selve, 1974). With evidence of differentiations among types of stressors and resulting physiological reactivity, stress is now largely conceptualized in terms of demands that overtax the body's ability to regain physiological homeostasis (Sapolsky, 2005).

Stress and Emotion in Early Childhood

The demands of birth and the first days of life activate innate stress responses in human neonates who depend on caregivers to regain physiological equilibrium (Gunnar, 2000). Therefore, stress reactivity is present before infants appear to have emotions. Although much more research is needed, very early stress reactivity may accelerate or sensitize the development of the emotional fear system (Blair & Ku, 2022; Loman & Gunnar, 2010).

Precisely when the basic emotions emerge in infancy is debated. Differential emotion theory (Izard, 1991) asserts that infants are biologically prepared to develop a set of basic emotions that emerge during the first year – joy,

interest, sadness, anger, and fear (Ackerman et al., 1998). These emotions involve innate schema that do not require learning and that emerge as infants gain experience with the environment. Evidence of this developmental progression relies on emotion expressions, but there is debate about how reliable infant emotion expressions are (Camras & Shutter, 2010) and whether human neurophysiology only supports recognition of valence and arousal and not discrete emotion schema (Feldman. 2017). The evidence depends on the context in which infant emotion expressions are observed. Parents report observing infant fear expressions within the first 2 months of life, for example when their babies are immersed in bath water or hear sudden loud noises, whereas, in the lab, reliable fear expressions only appear later in the first year, for example, when children can perceive depth and distinguish primary caregivers from unfamiliar persons (Campos et al., 1978; Mangelsdorf, 1992; Nagy et al., 2001). In any case, physiological stress reactivity is present at birth and before even the earliest indication of infant emotion.

Emotion Regulation

There is a question whether a dynamic, functional view of emotion renders it indistinguishable from emotion regulation (e.g., Campos et al., 2004; Thompson et al., 2008). Emotion is integrally situated amidst multiple, interacting levels of many physiological and psychological processes, which it both regulates and is regulated by. This suggests that regulation is an inherent property of emotion and not a reaction to it. Nonetheless, as observers of ourselves and others, we choose whether we approach or avoid emotion-eliciting situations, experience emotional reactions (or anticipate them), and engage in strategies to modify them (Cole et al., 2004; Gross, 2015). We infer emotion regulation from these sequences.

Because young children cannot describe their experiences, we often infer emotion regulation from observing their behavior. Although many studies use adult reports to measure individual differences in children's emotion regulation skills, behavioral observations, especially coupled with physiological measures, are needed to demonstrate withinperson regulation in early childhood (Cole et al., 2004, 2019). We know surprisingly little about the within-person development of regulation. Many studies show inverse relations between the young children's emotional intensity and their strategy use, but these relations cannot demonstrate whether a strategy alters ongoing emotion or spontaneous reduction in emotion intensity increases the likelihood of strategy use. The study of regulation requires demonstrating that a source - a child's or another person's behavior – alters the inherent ebb and flow of emotions elicited by the situation (Cole et al., 2019). If a strategy forestalls, minimizes, or resolves prepotent emotions, we have evidence of emotion regulation.

Developmental models of emotion regulation all begin with the fundamental role of caregiving (e.g., Blair & Ku, 2022; Calkins & Perry, 2016; Feldman, 2009; Kopp, 1982; Sameroff & Fiese, 2000). Very young children have rudimentary strategies (e.g., averting gaze, self-soothing) that have salutary effects on their states, but throughout early childhood, emotion regulation involves others. The term emotion regulation therefore includes interpersonal regulation, which occurs throughout the lifespan (e.g., dyadic co-regulation in couples; Butler & Randall, 2013).

Emotion Regulation and Coping

Given these conceptualizations of emotion, stress, and emotion regulation in early childhood, how does early childhood development help us distinguish between emotion regulation
and coping? Most discussions indicate that emotion regulation and coping are distinct while recognizing significant overlap (e.g., Compas, Jaser, et al., 2014; Losoya et al., 1998). We approach this question, using two interesting definitions of coping: (1) as action regulation under stress (Skinner, 1999) and (2) as voluntary, conscious control (Compas et al., 2001). With these in mind, we address the relation between emotion regulation and coping through the lens of early childhood development, concluding that distinguishing stress and emotion is critical.

Stress and Emotion

Although poorly understood, infant stress reactivity and the regulatory aspects of caregiving appear to influence the development of (at least) the fear system (Gunnar et al., 2015). Exposure to early-life stress appears to have broad and cascading effects on physiological and psychological development, including the development of emotion regulation (Blair & Ku, 2022; Pechtel & Pizzagalli, 2011). Moreover, situations that elicit stress at one age point may not elicit stress, but elicit negative emotion, at a later age point (Gunnar & Quevedo, 2007).

Caregivers regulate infant stress. If a caregiver not only fails to help the infant regain equilibrium but is actually the source of the stress, it is unsurprising that the consequences for many aspects of development are profound. This view is consistent with the view of coping as action regulation under stress (Skinner, 1999). There are likely important ways that stress regulation in infancy not only influences emotional development but also emotion regulation and coping development and how they intersect over the course of early childhood. The pathway from early-life stress in the presence of both adequate and inadequate caregiving to the development of children's emotion regulation and coping clearly warrants empirical attention.

Voluntary, Conscious Control

Coping can be defined as a conscious, voluntary act (Compas et al., 2001). However, there are no firm conclusions about when young children are consciously aware of their own thoughts, emotions, and behavioral choices (Kopp, 2011: Perner & Dienes. 2003: Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007). Moreover, the development of consciousness is complex. There are different levels of self-awareness in the first 5 years of life (e.g., Rochat, 2003) but these have not been mapped onto emotion regulation or coping. Infant self-awareness, which develops toward the end of the first year, is associated with infant reactions to others' emotion and, to a lesser extent, to their own rudimentary, nonconscious regulatory behaviors (gaze aversion, self-soothing) (Geangu et al., 2011).

Effortful control, a dimension of temperament that requires intentionality but not conscious awareness, and executive functioning, a set of cognitive skills that afford behavioral control, are both associated with improvements in self-regulation (Eisenberg et al., 2016; Zelazo, 2004). Conscious awareness of a rule of conduct, however, does not automatically lead to selfregulation; preschoolers can state a rule, intend to use it, but fail to inhibit a prepotent response (Zelazo, 2004). Preschoolers' understanding of emotion regulation strategies indicate they are aware that their thoughts can be strategies (Blankson et al., 2013; Cole et al., 2009; Grenell et al., 2019) but less is known about their spontaneous use of mental strategies. Finally, the issue of the role of conscious control is complicated by the fact that well-practiced strategies become automatic and nonconscious even in adults (e.g., Mauss et al., 2007). The benefit of defining coping as a conscious act clearly requires much more research.

Positive Emotion, Strategies, and Interpersonal Regulation

There are three other ways we could distinguish emotion regulation and coping (see also Compas. Jaser. et al., 2014). First, emotion regulation includes up- and downregulation of both positive and negative emotions. Because most studies of early childhood emotion regulation focus on downregulation of negative emotion, emotion regulation and coping are often treated as interchangeable. However, downregulation of positive emotions is also important for social competence (du Pont et al., 2016). Laughing at another's misfortune lacks compassion and politeness and laughing at an adult's scolding can be interpreted as defiance. Emotion regulation also includes upregulation of negative emotion. Mustering righteous anger helps a preschooler stand up for a friend who is bullied: the readiness to act with effort to overcome an obstacle to well-being (i.e., the bully) can effectively defend the friend. Coping as action regulation under stress, however, includes these as ways to manage stressful transactions (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007).

Another potential distinction involves the strategies that are used. Early childhood coping research still alludes to the distinction between emotion-focused and problem-focused strategies (Folkman & Lazarus, 1984), which are not prevalent in early childhood emotion regulation research. However, both constructs are now studied with a much wider range of strategies such that any meaningful differences do not appear (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

Finally, although coping research focused historically on the individual, whereas emotion regulation research emphasizes socialization, the role of caregivers in teaching children coping strategies is now commonly considered. Less well understood is the role of caregivers as sources of coping for young children, leaving open how caregiver contributions to children's coping differ, if at all, from contributions to the development of self-regulation of emotion.

In sum, the distinction between stress and emotion is the best way to differentiate coping and emotion regulation. This distinction requires careful consideration of both the situations in which we observe children and how we measure stress and emotion. Given the observational nature of early childhood developmental research, we might distinguish between the ordinary challenges that elicit children's emotions and unusual, overtaxing situations that elicit stress reactions. Coping with infrequent adverse events or chronic exposures to adversity are stresses in ways that everyday challenges are not. Although the personal significance of situations is central to the definitions of both emotion and stress (Barrett & Campos, 1987; Sapolsky, 2005), only stress overtaxes children's ability to regain equilibrium.

By design, for ethical and practical purposes, the emotion-eliciting tasks used to study emotion regulation in early childhood are modeled after common situations in children's lives - disappointments, frustrations, and new uncertain situations. If children become too distressed, we stop procedures. Observations of young children's coping, in contrast, often involve naturally occurring, less typical situations, such as uncomfortable or invasive medical procedures. However, if we link situational context with physiological stress reactivity, we can identify circumstances that are stressful and not just emotionally negative.

Having grappled with these conceptual issues, we organize the rest of this chapter around two aims: (1) to summarize what is known about the development of coping and of emotion regulation in early childhood, defined as the period between age 2 through 6 years, and (2) to identify gaps in knowledge about the development of emotion regulation and coping, with an eye toward ways that future research can integrate our knowledge of these important processes.

Age-Related Differences and Changes in Early Childhood Coping and Emotion Regulation

Hundreds of studies refer to emotion regulation in children, many of which focus on infancy and early childhood or adolescence, with middle childhood being studied less often. In contrast there is a smaller corpus of research on young children's coping. Unfortunately, very few studies in either group focus on age-related changes in a longitudinal design. Rather most focus on between-person individual differences as they relate to children's cognitive skills (e.g., Carlson & Wang, 2007), behavioral symptoms (Blandon et al., 2010), or socioemotional competencies (Graziano et al., 2007). Table 13.2 lists studies of age differences or changes that guide our summary, some of which extend beyond early childhood. Most are crosssectional and many did not treat age differences as a central question. None considered cohort effects, although a cross-sequential design, in which two or more cohorts of children are followed for at least three age points, is an optimal design for identifying cohort and age effects (Schaie & Baltes, 1975). Cohorts of children may have different experiences; some cohorts have more exposure to early childhood socioemotional learning programs that explicitly aim to foster emotion regulation and cohorts have different stress exposures, such as the 9/11 attacks, school shootings, and the COVID-19 pandemic.

We also note interchangeable use of the terms coping and emotion regulation even when studies differ in the literature cited. That is, articles differ in whether they cite conceptual and empirical papers on coping or on emotion regulation, rarely integrating the

two explicitly (but see Losoya et al., 1998). Coping studies typically cite frameworks that originate with models of adult stress and coping (Folkman & Lazarus, 1984) or the two-process model of perceived control (Rothbaum et al., 1982). Studies of young children's coping often distinguish between strategies aimed at modifying a situation (problem-focused or primary control strategies) and those aimed at modifying internal experience of the situation (emotion-focused or secondary control strategies). Predictions of age differences in these types of coping are rarely guided by developmental theory (Losoya et al., 1998; Skinner & Zimmer-2007: Zimmer-Gembeck Gembeck, & Skinner, 2011).

Emotion regulation research in early childhood rarely cites these models. As noted, they focus on predicting individual differences, often using models of attachment or temperament to guide them, and often considering parental socialization as an influence. Many refer to Kopp's (1982) developmental model of the emergence of self-regulation. As a result, there is ample description of putative regulatory strategies that children employ during laboratory tasks that elicit negative emotions. When there are tests of the relations between how much or how often young children use certain strategies and how angry they appear, inverse relations are shown. These suggest that greater strategy use contributes to less negative emotion, but few studies test temporal or reciprocal causal relations.

Age Differences in Coping in Early Childhood

Over the past 40 years there have been relatively few studies of young children's coping and fewer of developmental changes in this period (Losoya et al., 1998;

Citation	Sample characteristics	Study design	Age associations
Altshuler and Ruble (1989)	Age: 5–12 years n = 72 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Older children used a greater number of coping strategies than younger children. Avoidant strategies were more common than approach strategies for children of all ages. Older children used fewer escape strategies and more cognitive distraction than younger children.
August et al. (2017)	Age: 5 months to 5 years n = 45 at-risk mother- child dyads	Longitudinal	Self-comfort, attention-seeking, and fretting in infancy was associated with increased negativity in preschool age.
Baumgartner and Strayer (2008)	Age: 3–5 years n = 150 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	In episodes of peer conflict, older children used more verbal provocations while younger children engaged in more direct competition for access to desired objects. Younger children were also more likely to display intense emotions without actions directed at the protagonist in a conflict than older children.
Bernzweig et al. (1993)	Age: Kindergarten and second- grade-age children n = 105 typically developing mother-child dyads	Cross-sectional	Children used instrumental coping when observing other children's distress, but used distraction or avoidance when experiencing stress. Older children relied less on support from caregivers and used more cognitive restructuring, cognitive avoidance, and problem-solving than younger children.
Blair et al. (2015)	Age: 3–6 years n = 356 typically developing children	Longitudinal	Emotion regulation, social skills, and peer acceptance were mostly stable across middle childhood with some individual variation in each construct.
Carlson et al. (2007)	Age: $4-5$ years n = 53 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Inhibitory control predicted emotion regulation in 4- year-old children but not 5-year-old children after controlling for language abilities.

Table 13.2 Age-related findings in selected studies of coping and emotion regulation in early childhood

Table 13.2 (cont.)

Citation	Sample characteristics	Study design	Age associations
Cole et al. (2009)	Age: 3–4 years n = 116 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Older children displayed increased emotion regulation strategy recognition than younger children.
Cummings et al. (1991)	Age: 5–19 years n = 98 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Younger children perceived unresolved anger as less angry and were more saddened by resolved anger.
Dollar et al. (2020)	Age: 2–15 years n = 270 typically developing children and their parents	Longitudinal	Respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA) is stable from toddlerhood through adolescence. RSA <i>reactivity</i> is not stable from toddlerhood through adolescence, but is stable between ages 4–5 and ages 7–10, suggesting periods of change during these points in childhood.
Eisenberg et al. (1994)	Age: 52–76 months n = 91 typically developing children	Longitudinal	Individual differences predict naturalistic angry reaction of older preschoolers more than younger preschoolers.
Eisenberg et al. (2001)	Age: 55–97 months n = 214 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Parent-reports of inhibitory control increased with child age. Parent-reports of impulsivity and teacher- reports of attention focusing decreased with age. Older children were able to sit still longer but also expressed more negative affect when given a disappointing gift.
Eisenberg et al. (1997)	Age: 4–10 years n = 77 typically developing children	Longitudinal	Early negative emotionality predicted later poor school social competence and increased problem behavior. Better emotion regulation was predictive of later better school social competences and decreased problem behavior.
Fabes and Eisenberg (1992)	Age: 42–71 months n = 69 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Younger children were more likely to display anger and use strategies like escape. Older girls were less likely to seek adult support.

Fabes et al. (1994)	Age: 67–82 months n = 49 typically developing mother–child dyads	Cross-sectional	Older children were more likely to comfort a "crying" baby doll than younger children. Children's lower heart rate was associated with lower observed anger expression. Children's higher heart rate variability was associated with more direct problem-solving, comforting, and higher parent report of constructive coping. Younger children exhibited higher heart rate variability than older children.
Halpern (2004)	Age: 3-6 years n = 58 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Older preschoolers reported more problem-approach coping, but used emotion venting coping strategies and noncoping strategies less often than younger preschoolers.
Halverson and Waldrop (1974)	Age: 30 months to 7 years n = 74 typically developing mother-child dyads	Longitudinal	Toddlers who were more persistent in their attempts to remove a barrier displayed better coping at 7 years of age.
Kromm et al. (2015)	Age: 4–8 years n = 98 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Children's ability to volitionally regulate their emotion expressions increased with age such that older children were better able to mask disappointment. This effect was enhanced for children with higher emotion understanding.
Lessing et al. (2019)	Age: 3–8 years n = 75 typically developing children	Short-term Longitudinal	Executive function abilities grow between ages 5 and 8 years. This growth is particularly pronounced between the ages of 5 and 6 years. This growth in executive function was negatively associated with children's use of situational accommodative coping strategies.
Lewis et al. (2004)	Age: 14–25 months n = 24 typically developing mother–infant dyads	Short-term Longitudinal	Results indicated a shift from sensorimotor to interrelational operations at 18–20 months.
Liebermann et al. (2007)	Age: 3–5 years n = 60 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Older children displayed more positive behaviors when presented with a disappointing gift than younger children.

Table 13.2 (cont.)

Citation	Sample characteristics	Study design	Age associations
Losoya et al. (1998)	Age: 4–12 years n = 93 typically developing children	Longitudinal	Instrumental coping was consistent inter-individually, increased with age, and was positively correlated with positive coping strategies (e.g., cognitive restructuring, support-seeking). Aggressive coping was also inter-individually consistent, decreased with age, and was negatively correlated with positive coping and positively correlated with negative coping (e.g., venting).
Rossman and Gamble (1997)	Age: 4–6 years n = 34 typically developing children and their mothers	Cross-sectional	Stressor appraisal differs across age, with older children displaying more complex appraisals.
Santucci et al. (2008)	Age: 4–7 years n = 54 typically developing children and their parents	Cross-sectional	Younger children were more focused on a desired object during a delay of gratification task and showed more sadness than older children.
Sayfan and Lagattuta (2009)	Age: 4–7 years n = 48 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Older children offered more mental strategies for coping than younger children, but behavioral strategies were stable between age groups.
Shoda et al. (1990)	Age: $6-16$ years n = 95 parent respondents	Longitudinal	Preschoolers with better delay of gratification displayed better coping in adolescence.
Wilson et al. (1987)	Age: 3–11 years n = 169 typically developing children	Cross-sectional	Older children endorsed cognitive coping strategies as more effective than younger children.
Wong (2016)	Age: 5–7 years n = 216 typically developing children	Longitudinal	Children reported fewer incidences of social stress in school as they aged.

Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Studies of age differences in early childhood coping use two different methods. The majority interview children, asking them how they would feel and what they would do in hypothetical situations involving parent-child, school, and/or peer situations. The remainder interview or observe children undergoing an uncomfortable, unusual medical procedure. In interviews, children older than age 5 years more often describe using mental strategies, for example cognitive restructuring, relative to younger children. Rates of referring to behavioral strategies (e.g., leave the situation, engage in a different activity) occur at equivalent rates across age groups.

Early literature reviews acknowledge the dearth of longitudinal studies of coping and the limited number of studies of early childhood coping. Fields and Prinz (1997) located only five studies comparing the coping of preschool age children (3- through 7-year-olds) with older school-age children. Losova and colleagues (1998) include both coping and emotion regulation studies and lamented the dearth of longitudinal studies. Nonetheless, both reviews describe a similar pattern of findings. Specifically, problem-focused coping is more common among younger children, and emotion-focused, cognitive coping strategies are observed mainly among elementary school-age children, a conclusion reached in later cross-sectional studies (Sayfan & Lagattuta, 2009; Wilson et al., 1987). Losoya and colleagues, however, also note that studies including avoidance and support-seeking yield inconclusive findings. Which strategies are used likely depends on the controllability of the stressful situation (if a situation cannot be fixed, one resorts to emotion-focused coping). In sum, the evidence across study types appears to support the long-held belief that strategy use depends in part on the cognitive resources children have as well as their

socialization experience. However, a study of diabetic 3- through 11-year-olds receiving insulin injections reported no age differences in coping (Antal et al., 2011).

335

Unfortunately, few studies provide a theoretical basis for predictions about age differences in coping. An exception is a crosssectional study (Rossman & Gamble, 1997) predicting age differences in young children's understanding of coping strategies based on skill theory, a neo-Piagetian theory of cognitive development (Fischer, 1980) that emphasizes age-related changes in cognitive complexity. Most 4- through 6-year-olds provide complex descriptions of the situations and their feelings, but only 6-year-olds describe their coping complexly. Another study, one of the few longitudinal studies, tests whether the ability to alter one's goals in a stressful situation (i.e., accommodative coping) is a function of children's executive functioning, that is, cognitive flexibility (Lessing et al., 2019). Executive functioning, assessed with the Dimensional Change Card Sort task at child ages 51/2, 6, and 8 years, was used to predict emotion-focused coping, including accommodative coping at 8 vears. Unexpectedly, better executive function performance at 51/2 years is associated with less emotion-focused coping at 8 years. Although the factors that account for developmental changes in coping clearly require more research, these studies used theory-based approaches to assess the underlying cognitive demands of understanding coping.

Among preschool-age children, those past their fourth birthday more often describe using strategies than younger preschool-age children. Older preschool-age children describe more problem-focused strategies, such as approaching or avoiding a situation, whereas younger preschool-age children more often describe venting (expressing negative emotion) or using no strategy (Halpern, 2004). Notably, a significant number of preschoolers do not provide any strategy, ranging from 33% for parent-child conflict to 53% for separation from parent. Two observational studies mirror these findings. After an intervention (coping training versus usual care), observers rated 3through 7-year-olds during a voiding cystourethrogram; coping training was associated with more observed strategy use and less distress (Zelikovsky et al., 2000). In post-hoc analyses, regardless of condition, younger children displayed more distress and engaged in fewer strategies. An observational study of 3-, 4-, and 5-year-olds experiencing peer conflicts found that younger children tend to retaliate or escape, whereas older preschoolers are more likely to negotiate, or reason with the perpetrators (Baumgartner & Straver, 2008).

There are serious limitations to the conclusions we can reach. There is considerable variation in situational context, ranging from more common peer and parent conflicts to uncommon events that young children rarely experience. Which situations, or for which children, the physiological stress reactivity system is overtaxed is unknown. The findings suggest that when children use strategies, secondary control, or emotion-focused, strategies are more common (Nabors & Liddle, 2017) and more effective (Compas, Desjardins, et al., 2014; Langer et al., 2005) even for young children (Treiber et al., 1985; Zelikovsky et al., 2000).

Studies of uncommon, uncomfortable medical procedures often include wide age ranges to have sufficient sample size, with no deliberate examination of age-related differences or changes in coping. Studies involving more normative situations that are still infrequent (i.e., dental visits, immunizations, first day of school) present opportunities to study withinperson age-related changes in coping. For example, in a longitudinal study, children at ages 5, 6, and 7 years describe social stressors they experience in school, such as bullying, fear of authority, peer conflicts, and sense of isolation, and the strategies they used to cope with them (Wong, 2016). Most children report using direct problem-solving to cope with stress regardless of age; few report emotionfocused strategies.

In sum, despite a dearth of longitudinal and cross-sectional studies comparing coping in early childhood to coping among school-age children, the conclusions of Fields and Prinz (1997) parallel evidence from later studies. During early childhood – after age 4 years – children both verbalize and use behavioral coping strategies. However, it is not until they reach 6 or 7 years that there is clear evidence that they use cognitive coping strategies. Prior to age 4, at least in the contexts studied, children do not generate strategies. These age differences are consistent even though they are based on different methods.

Age Differences in Emotion Regulation in Early Childhood

Although studies of young children's coping are limited, there are hundreds of studies of young children's emotion regulation. Where the coping literature frequently uses hypothetical vignettes to study children's coping, the emotion regulation literature relies on either parent or teacher ratings or laboratory-based emotion-eliciting tasks. Adult reports aid the study of individual differences, but observational studies have the potential to study emotion regulation as a within-person process that changes with age.

Observational studies of young children's emotion regulation typically depend on emotional expressions; a criticism of early work is that it often interpreted fewer or less intense negative expressions as indicating better regulation (Cole et al., 2004). Some studies also code the strategies that young children use in emotion-eliciting tasks. There is no single organizing framework for which strategies are included. Which strategies are observed depends on the emotion being elicited (e.g., anger versus fear; Buss & Goldsmith, 1998) and whether the mother is present and/or permitted to interact with the child (e.g., Grolnick et al., 1996). The strategies studied are drawn from germinal descriptive studies of spontaneous behaviors of infants, toddlers, and preschool-age children (Buss & Goldsmith, 1998; Eisenberg et al., 1994; Grolnick et al., 1996; Rothbart et al., 1992; Stansbury & Sigman, 2000). Although some observations occur outside of the lab setting, most involve lab-based emotion-eliciting tasks, particularly anger-eliciting tasks, designed to mimic ordinary challenges that young children face. They are not designed to be highly stressful.

As with early childhood coping, there are few longitudinal investigations of how emotion regulation changes with age. Longitudinal studies that include emotion regulation typically examine it as a moderator of outcomes (e.g., Gilliom et al., 2002; Perry et al., 2018), although some study age-related changes in emotion regulation itself (Supplee et al., 2011). In our lab, we attempt to document how emotion regulation, specifically selfregulation of anger, changes between toddlerhood and preschool years. For example, we observe how children behave when their mothers tell them they must wait until she completes her work before they can open a gift. We find age-related changes in the frequency, duration, and latency to anger and in children's bidding to mother about the demands of waiting and in distracting themselves from the gift and the busy mother (Cole et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2013). Anger reactivity declines with age during early childhood, but there are at least three developmental trajectories - typically developing, later developing, and at-risk trajectories (Bendezú et al., 2018) - and declining anger reactivity is associated with both children's internal resources (e.g., language skills; Roben et al., 2013) and parental socialization strategies (Bendezú et al., 2018; Ravindran et al., 2021).

337

Young children's use of strategies, however, does not indicate whether their strategy use changes their emotions. We examine the extent to which children's strategies imply engagement of their cognitive resources (memory, planning, reasoning, attention control) and whether these then modify their emotional expressions. That is, rather than focus on a specific candidate cognitive ability, or on any specific strategy, we code the extent to which any behavior reflects a putative strategy and the extent to which that behavior reveals engagement of any cognitive strategy (Cardwell et al., 2022). We find momentary effects of the extent of strategies on 36-month-olds' desire for the gift and frustration about waiting (Cole et al., 2017) and growth in the effects of strategies on reducing emotional reactions, concluding that effective regulation is not well-established even by age 5 years (Cole et al., 2020).

Parenting and the Early Childhood Development of Coping and Emotion Regulation

The role of parenting receives more empirical attention in studies of early childhood emotion regulation relative to coping (but see Bradley, 2007; Power, 2004). Of the coping studies considering parenting, none examine how children's age or skills affect parenting. Nonetheless, it is reasonable to assume that the development of children's coping is embedded in social relationships – with parents, teachers, siblings, and peers (Skinner & Edge, 2002). When parental influences on children's coping are studied, parent-reported stress is a major focus. Parent reports of daily stress over a 10-day period are associated with children's

learned helplessness (Brown et al., 2016), but the design cannot address whether the association is attributable to parenting practices aimed at fostering children's coping. Similarly, higher parent-reported stress is associated with preschoolers' poorer coping competence and school readiness (Soltis et al., 2015).

Parenting interventions are designed to change parenting, which should then change children's coping. An emotion-focused parenting intervention for toddlers and mothers appears to increase toddler coping and delay of gratification (Brophy-Herb et al., 2012). Notably, delay of gratification is not necessarily a stressor. Interventions with caregivers are effective in improving older children's and adolescents' coping with parental loss (e.g., Sandler et al., 2011), poverty-related stress (Wadsworth et al., 2020), and community violence and urban strife (Kliewer et al., 2006). Given that parents are usually present for stressful medical procedures, including normative stresses such as immunizations or extraordinary stresses such as serious pediatric illness and treatments, they provide opportunities to conduct observational and intervention studies longitudinally to investigate how parents cope for young children and how those interactions contribute to children's later coping.

By comparison, there are many studies of parenting in the early childhood emotion regulation literature. Though children first engage in more effortful, autonomous emotion regulation by 3-4 years, parents continue to contribchildren's emotion regulation ute to development (Kopp, 1982). Parental influences include effects of children's observations of parental emotion, of parental responses to children's emotions, of direct instruction and coaching, and of family emotional climate (Eisenberg et al., 1998; Morris et al., 2007, 2017). In general, supportive parenting practices, such as comforting, explaining, and encouraging, predict better emotion regulation

concurrently and prospectively even through age 10 years (Perry et al., 2020; Shewark & Blandon, 2015). However, the effectiveness of specific practices appears to shift during the preschool-age years. Better child emotion regulation is associated with warm, sensitive, directive support in toddlerhood and the early preschool years, but with less directiveness and increased autonomy support as children approach kindergarten age, possibly due to parental perceptions that children are becoming competent at coping (Mathis & Bierman, 2015; Mirabile et al., 2018; Russell et al., 2016).

The effects of parental practices depend on the quality of the parent-child relationship. Individual differences research indicates that insecure attachment is associated with poorer emotion regulation in early childhood and as children age (Guo et al., 2015; Viddal et al., 2017), although the magnitude of effects is limited (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2017). There is a need for longitudinal studies that test within-person developmental processes in culturally meaningful ways, investigating whether and how parenting fosters and maintains attachment security and how that translates to children's regulatory abilities. Parents who are emotionally positive and regulated have children with better emotion regulation, whereas parental emotional dysregulation and emotional symptoms are associated with poorer child emotion regulation (Binion & Zalewski, 2018; Chen et al., 2018; Hu et al., 2017; Pat-Horenczyk et al., 2015; Tan & Smith, 2019; Wu et al., 2017). There is a dearth of studies, however, that investigate the mechanisms that account for such associations.

Next Steps in Research on Early Childhood Emotion Regulation and Coping

Emotion regulation in early childhood is associated with major developmental outcomes,

such as school readiness, mental health, and social competence. Effortful emotion regulation strategies, largely behavioral strategies, occur spontaneously by age 3 or 4 years. Spontaneous cognitive strategies are less common prior to 6 years, although preschoolage children recognize that such strategies are possible and use them when instructed. However, few studies assess young children's coping through the view of overtaxing their ability to regain physiological equilibrium. In part this is due to a lack of clarity about how coping and emotion regulation differ, and a dearth of theory-guided longitudinal studies of these phenomena as within-person processes. Although conclusions about emotion regulation or coping in early childhood are therefore limited, the first 6 years of life are formative and require more sophisticated research that can translate developmental science to practices and policies for young children.

Emotion Regulation and Coping as Distinct but Related Phenomena

The evidence that neonates have physiological stress reactions, months before the earliest behavioral indications of emotions, suggests a potentially useful way to distinguish coping from emotion regulation. This distinction, however, requires research to (a) determine if it is meaningful and (b) document how stress reactivity and emotion relate to each other. For example, we need to understand how individual differences in early-life stress contribute to emotional development, including but not limited to the development of emotion regulation (Gunnar & Quevedo, 2007). Future research should carefully conceptualize both the situations and the measures of human functioning that allow us to test potential distinctions.

Early childhood emotion regulation research often uses laboratory-based procedures that

emulate common problems that arise in young children's lives: not getting something you want (disappointment), having to wait for something you want (frustration), and encountering a novel person or situation (anxiety and fear). These situations likely differ from circumstances that overtax children's physiological equilibrium, the central feature of stress. Young children may face health problems that entail pain and treatments that are unfamiliar and painful: some face family situations that are threatening, confusing, and disturbing, such as interparental violence, abuse, or parental loss; and some deal with community-wide stressors, such as poverty, discrimination, natural disasters, and wars. The research agenda going forward must demonstrate whether these circumstances, which extend beyond ordinary, common challenges, overtax a child's ability to recover quickly from the stress response. We must also investigate how situations that elicit stress reactions at one age point no longer elicit physiological stress but nonetheless elicit negative emotion expressions at a later point. Children's familiarity with situations and their skill at dealing with them must play a role.

Only a small proportion of young children experience extraordinary conditions like pediatric cancer, other chronic illnesses, and invasive and painful medical procedures. More experience family (interparental conflict) or school (e.g., bullying) situations that are potential stressors. Research with these circumstances can inform the early development of coping but with limited generalizability. Many children experience immunizations and dental procedures; we can study when these elicit stress reactivity, how coping changes with repetitions of these normative experiences, how coping as a process changes with age when these are stressful, and any transition to their being emotionally negative without being stressful.

If conceptualizing the extent to which a situation taxes children's existing ability to regulate emotion and stress is scientifically meaningful, then there are interesting research questions to pursue to achieve better integration in research on emotion regulation and coping. For example, to what extent does a young child's ability to regulate negative emotions in ordinary, familiar challenging situations predict how that child copes when faced with a new stressor? If a young child develops competence at regulating ordinary frustrations and disappointments, does that child cope better or differently when confronted with a major stressor? How do caregivers foster emotion regulation and coping skills in young children such that the children are later effective at managing problematic situations on their own?

Emotion Regulation and Coping as Within-Person Processes

The substantial evidence of the importance of individual differences in early childhood emotion regulation, and to a lesser extent coping, must be complemented by well-informed studies of these phenomena as within-person processes. Understanding how reactions (stress or emotion) and strategies unfold and relate to each other over the course of a situation will inform the development of the effectiveness of caregivers' or children's strategies in modulating stress or emotion, and different ways that those efforts may be ineffective. Time-series analyses - across moments, hours, or days can be used with both observational and physiological data. Modeling a time series, as opposed to aggregating data across intervals within a task, reveals the regulatory process. For example, ordinary differential equation modeling shows that children's strategy use during a frustrating wait task has only brief effects on their desire to open a gift and anger about waiting (Cole et al., 2017). Moreover, as task time unfolds, young children's strategy

use can be overwhelmed by their emotions (interference) or their strategic efforts may fail to alter or even exacerbate emotion (inefficiency; Cole et al., 2017). Longitudinal analysis using this method indicates that strategy effectiveness cannot be assumed in early childhood and that the development of effective strategy use requires more investigation (Cole et al., 2020).

Conceptualizing and Measuring Developmental Progressions in Regulation

The processes of regulating emotions and of coping change with age. However, the assumption that their development depends not just on socialization but also on cognitive development requires more research. Kopp (1989, 2011) posited that the internal resources that children develop - for example, language, memory, and cognitive inhibitory control can be used strategically to modify negative emotions and distress. Effortful control, a temperamental dimension reflecting individual differences in the neurophysiological executive attention network, and executive functioning, a set of cognitive functions involving working memory, inhibitory control, and cognitive flexibility, are studied extensively as they relate to emotion regulation (Rothbart et al., 2011; Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007). Other candidate processes (e.g., language abilities and theory of mind) receive less empirical attention. Charting the development of theoryguided candidate processes that constitute internal resources and how they relate to agerelated changes in emotion regulation are essential to advance knowledge. Many early childhood studies focus on external resources, predominantly mothers' parenting styles and practices. Using multiple timescales, we can document how temporal associations during a task change with age. For example, we can investigate developmental changes in how parental strategies during a task modulate child behavior and how child characteristics and behaviors modify parental behavior. In sum, the evidence base would be substantially improved by theoretically driven research that conceptualizes and measures internal and external resources as explanatory factors for how and why children's emotion regulation and coping change with age.

Growth in emotion regulation and coping involves emergence of new strategies, improving effectiveness, and greater flexibility. Understanding age-related changes in the dynamics of emotion regulation and coping within situations will explain why a toddler becomes a school-ready, well-adjusted 5-yearold. The use of task time series analyses can answer questions about the extent and limits of early childhood emotion regulation and coping. In addition to longitudinal designs that evaluate change every year or every 6 months, it would be interesting to include burst assessments around pivotal points, for example the birth of a sibling or entry into school. The use of multiple timescales will open the door to enriching our understanding of individual differences in how emotion regulation and coping are fostered and compromised.

Linking Early Childhood Development of Emotion Regulation and Coping to Later Years

Finally, we need to link early childhood development of emotion regulation and coping with later developmental periods, such as the proximal period of middle childhood. Studies of age differences in coping and, to a lesser degree, emotion regulation indicate that children report using cognitive coping strategies by the time they reach middle childhood. Moreover, although there are continuities in coping styles, there are age differences as well as differences in coping as a function of situational context (Losoya et al., 1998). How then can we bridge gaps in our understanding of the development of emotion regulation and coping?

The substantial literature on young children's emotion understanding (Denham, 2003) offers techniques to study children's awareness of strategies and their effectiveness. Animated story stems, puppet tasks, and picture stories, which compensate for young children's limited verbal skills, reveal that children as young as 3 and 4 years generate or recognize strategies to resolve distress and cope with interpersonal conflict, including cognitive strategies (Dennis & Kelemen, 2009; Emde et al., 2003; Macfie et al., 1999; Smith & Walden, 2001: Vikan et al., 2013: Zahn-Waxler et al., 1994). In some cases, their recognition of effective strategies is associated with how well they regulate emotions (Cole et al., 2009). These types of procedures have promise for linking early childhood understanding of cognitive strategies to the development of their use and effectiveness as children transition from early childhood to middle childhood.

Conclusions

In sum, early childhood research indicates that stress reactivity and negative emotion are related but distinct phenomena. Coping is specific to stress regulation; emotion regulation involves the regulation of both positive and negative emotions that may or may not accompany stress reactivity. Research is needed that sheds light on how young children's regulation of emotions when challenged by common, familiar circumstances is influenced by earlier experiences with stress, and how the ability to regulate emotion in ordinary circumstances relates to coping with stress. Research that incorporates both physiological stress measurement and observations of emotion and behavior may help us understand both the distinctiveness and relations between emotion regulation and coping.

Evidence thus far suggests that very young children, that is, roughly between the ages of 24 and 36 months, have limited abilities to regulate emotion and cope with stress; they depend on caregivers, and are generally less able to demonstrate awareness of strategies. From 36 to 72 months, children engage in putative regulatory strategies and problemfocused coping, but we know little about how effective their strategy use is. We need evidence drawn from within-person time series analyses to understand the strengths and limitations of their strategy use, and longitudinal studies to document and explain how emotion regulation and coping as processes change with age. Moreover, when possible, multiple timescale studies should be theory-driven, especially in terms of the internal, cognitive resources that should contribute to the ability to engage in self-regulatory strategies and cognitive coping. Such advances in research should help us understand how emotion regulation and coping relate to each other, how they are distinct, and how we can bridge the two concepts. We are confident that such advances will enrich our basic developmental knowledge and improve our ability to translate our knowledge to helping children and families.

References

- Ackerman, B. P., Abe, J. A., & Izard, C. E. (1998).
 Differential emotions theory and emotional development: Mindful of modularity. In M. F.
 Moascolo & S. Griff (Eds.), *What develops in emotional development?* (pp. 85–106). Plenum.
- Adolphs, R., & Andler, D. (2018). Investigating emotions as functional states distinct from feelings. *Emotion Review*, *10*(3), 191–201. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1754073918765662

- Altshuler, J. L., & Ruble, D. N. (1989). Developmental changes in children's awareness of strategies for coping with uncontrollable stress. *Child Development*, 60(6), 1337–1349. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1989.tb04007.x
- August, E. G., Stack, D. M., Martin-Storey, A., Serbin, L. A., Ledingham, J., & Schwartzman, A. E. (2017). Emotion regulation in at-risk preschoolers: longitudinal associations and influences of maternal histories of risk. *Infant* and Child Development, 26(1), Article e1954. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.1954
- Antal, H., Wysocki, T., Canas, J. A., Taylor, A., & Edney-White, A. (2011). Parent report and direct observation of injection-related coping behaviors in youth with type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 36(3), 318–328. https://doi .org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsq082
- Barrett, K. C., & Campos, J. J. (1987). Perspectives on emotional development II: A functionalist approach to emotions. In J. Osofsky (Ed.), *Handbook of infant development* (pp. 555–578). Wiley & Sons.
- Baumgartner, E., & Strayer, F. F. (2008). Beyond fight or flight: Developmental changes in young children's coping with peer conflict. *Acta Ethologica*, *11*, 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10211-007-0037-7
- Bendezú, J. J., Cole, P. M., Tan, P. Z., Armstrong, L. M., Reitz, E., & Wolf, R. (2018). Child language and parenting antecedents and externalizing outcomes of emotion regulation pathways across early childhood: A personcentered approach. *Development and Psychopathology*, 30(4), 1253–1268. https://doi .org/10.1017/S0954579417001675
- Bernzweig, J., Eisenberg, N., & Fabes, R. A. (1993). Children' s coping in self-and other-relevant contexts. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 55(2), 208–226. https://doi.org/10 .1006/jecp.1993.1012
- Binion, G., & Zalewski, M. (2018). Maternal emotion dysregulation and the functional organization of preschoolers' emotional expressions and regulatory behaviors. *Emotion*, 18(3), 386–399. https://doi.org/10.1037/ emo0000319

- Blair, B. L., Perry, N. B., O'Brien, M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2015). Identifying developmental cascades among differentiated dimensions of social competence and emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 51(8), 1062–1073. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0039472
- Blair, C. (2002). School readiness: Integrating cognition and emotion in a neurobiological conceptualization of children's functioning at school entry. *American Psychologist*, 57(2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.57.2 .111
- Blair, C. B., & Ku, S. (2022). A hierarchical integrated model of self-regulation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, Article 725828. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.725828
- Blandon, A. Y., Calkins, S. D., Grimm, K. J., Keane, S. P., & O'Brien, M. (2010). Testing a developmental cascade model of emotional and social competence and early peer acceptance. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(4), 737–748. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579410000428
- Blankson, A. N., O'Brien, M., Leerkes, E. M., Marcovitch, S., Calkins, S. D., & Weaver, J. M. (2013). Developmental dynamics of emotion and cognition processes in preschoolers. *Child Development*, 84(1), 346–360. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01841.x
- Bradley, R. H. (2007). Parenting in the breach: How parents help children cope with developmentally challenging circumstances. *Parenting: Science* and Practice, 7(2), 99–148. https://doi.org/10 .1080/15295190701306896
- Brophy-Herb, H. E., Stansbury, K., Bocknek, E., & Holodynski, M. A. (2012). Modeling maternal emotion-related socialization behaviors in a lowincome sample: Relations with toddlers' selfregulation. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27(3), 352–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq .2011.11.005
- Brown, E. D., Seyler, M. D., Knorr, A. M.,
 Garnett, M. L., & Laurenceau, J. P. (2016).
 Daily poverty-related stress and coping:
 Associations with child learned helplessness.
 Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of

Applied Family Studies, 65(4), 591–602. https:// doi.org/10.1111/fare.12217

- Buss, K. A., & Goldsmith, H. H. (1998). Fear and anger regulation in infancy: Effects on the temporal dynamics of affective expression. *Child Development*, 69(2), 359–374. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.1998.tb06195.x
- Butler, E. A., & Randall, A. K. (2013). Emotional coregulation in close relationships. *Emotion Review*, 5(2), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1754073912451630
- Calkins, S. D., & Perry, N. B. (2016). The development of emotion regulation: Implications for child adjustment. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Maladaptation* and psychopathology (pp. 187–242). Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119125556 .devpsy306
- Campos, J. J., Frankel, C. B., & Camras, L. (2004). On the nature of emotion regulation. *Child Development*, 75(2), 377–394. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00681.x
- Campos, J. J., Hiatt, S., Ramsay, D., Henderson, C., & Svejda, M. (1978). The emergence of fear on the visual cliff. In M. Lewis & L. A. Rosenblum (Eds.), *The development of affect: Genesis of behavior* (Vol. 1, pp. 149–182).
 Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-2616-8_6
- Camras, L. A., & Shutter, J. M. (2010). Emotional facial expressions in infancy. *Emotion Review*, 2(2), 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1754073909352529
- Cardwell, G. S., Cole, P. M., Lunkenheimer, E. S., Gatzke-Kopp, L., Buss, K. A., & Ram, N. (2022). Developmental differences in young children's implied use of cognitive resources in their self-regulation strategies [Manuscript submitted for publication].
- Carlson, S. M., & Wang, T. S. (2007). Inhibitory control and emotion regulation in preschool children. *Cognitive Development*, 22(4), 489–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2007.08.002
- Chen, X., Wu, X., & Wang, Y. (2018). Mothers' emotional expression and discipline and preschoolers' emotional regulation strategies: Gender differences. *Journal of Child and Family*

Studies, *27*(11), 3709–3716. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10826-018-1199-9

- Cole, P. M. (2016). The role of emotion in the development of psychopathology. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Vol. 1. Theory and method* (3rd ed., pp. 265–324). Wiley.
- Cole, P. M., Bendezú, J. B., Chow, S.-M., & Ram, N. (2017). Dynamical systems modeling of early childhood self-regulation. *Emotion*, 17(4), 684–699. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000268
- Cole, P. M., Dennis, T. A., & Martin, S. E. (2004). Emotion regulation as a scientific construct: Methodological challenges and directions for child development research. *Child Development*, 75, 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2004.00673.x
- Cole, P. M., Dennis, T. A., Smith-Simon, K. E., & Cohen, L. H. (2009). Preschoolers' emotion regulation strategy understanding: Relations with emotion socialization and child selfregulation. *Social Development*, 18(2), 324–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00503.x
- Cole, P. M., Lougheed, J., Chow, S.-M., & Ram, N. (2020). Longitudinal changes in development of emotion regulation dynamics in early childhood. *Affective Science*, 1, 8–41. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s42761-020-00004-y
- Cole, P. M., Ram, N., & English, M. S. (2019). Toward a unifying model of self-regulation: A developmental approach. *Child Development Perspectives*, 13, 91–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cdep.12316
- Cole, P. M., Tan, P. Z., Hall, S. E., Zhang, Y., Crnic, K. A., Blair, C. B., & Li, R. (2011).
 Developmental changes in anger expression and attention focus: Learning to wait. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(4), 1078–1089. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0023813
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Desjardins, L., Vannatta, K., Young-Saleme, T., Rodriguez, E. M., Dunn, M.,

Bemis, H., Snyder, S., & Gerhardt, C. A. (2014). Children and adolescents coping with cancer: Self- and parent reports of coping and anxiety/ depression. *Health Psychology*, *33*(8), 853–861. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000083

- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence, points of divergence. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(2), 71–81. https://doi .org/10.1111/ajpy.12043.
- Cummings, E. M., Ballard, M., El-Sheikh, M., & Lake, M. (1991). Resolution and children's responses to interadult anger. *Developmental Psychology*, 27(3), 462–470. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0012-1649.27.3.462
- Denham, S. (2003). Emotional development in young children. Guilford Press.
- Dennis, T. A., & Kelemen, D. A. (2009). Preschool children's views on emotion regulation: Functional associations and implications for social-emotional adjustment. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 33(3), 243–252. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0165025408098024
- Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., Berry, N. T., Perry, N. B., Keane, S. P., Shanahan, L., & Wideman, L. (2020). Developmental patterns of respiratory sinus arrhythmia from toddlerhood to adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(4), 783–794. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000894
- du Pont, A., Welker, K., Gilbert, K. E., & Gruber, J. (2016). The emerging field of positive emotion dysregulation. In K. Vohs & R. Baumeister (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications* (2nd ed., pp. 364–379). Guilford Press.
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., Spinrad, T. L., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Reiser, M., Murphy, B. C., Losoya, S. H., & Guthrie, I. K. (2001). The relations of regulation and emotionality to children's externalizing and internalizing problem behavior. *Child Development*, 72(4), 1112–1134. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-8624.00337
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., & Spinrad, T. (1998). Parental socialization of emotion.

Psychological Inquiry, 9(4), 241–273. https://doi .org/10.1207/s15327965pli0904_1

- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Murphy, B. C., Guthrie, I. K., Jones, S., Friedman, J., Poulin, R., & Maszk, P. (1997). Contemporaneous and longitudinal prediction of children's social functioning from regulation and emotionality. *Child Development*, 68(4), 642–664. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .1997.tb04227.x
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Minore, D., Mathy, R., Hanish, L., & Brown, T. (1994). Children's enacted interpersonal strategies: The relations to social behavior and negative emotionality. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 40, 212–232.
- Eisenberg, N., Smith, C. L., Sadovsky, A., & Spinrad, T. L. (2016). Effortful control: Relations with emotion regulation, adjustment, and socialization in childhood. In K. Vohs & R. Baumeister (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory and applications* (2nd ed., pp. 259–282). Guilford Press.
- Emde, R. N., Wolf, D. P., & Oppenheim, D. (Eds.). (2003). Revealing the inner worlds of young children: The MacArthur Story Stem Battery and parent-child narratives. Oxford University Press.
- Fabes, R. A., & Eisenberg, N. (1992). Young children's coping with interpersonal anger. *Child Development*, 63(1), 116–128. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.1992.tb03600.x
- Fabes, R. A., Eisenberg, N., Karbon, M., Troyer, D., & Switzer, G. (1994). The relations of children's emotion regulation to their vicarious emotional responses and comforting behaviors. *Child Development*, 65(6), 1678–1693. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1994.tb00842.x
- Feldman, R. (2009). The development of regulatory functions from birth to 5 years: Insights from premature infants. *Child Development*, 80, 544–561. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2009.01278.x
- Feldman, R. (2017). The neurobiology of human attachments. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21, 80–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.11.007
- Fields, L., & Prinz, R. J. (1997). Coping and adjustment during childhood and adolescence.

Clinical Psychology Review, *17*(8), 937–976. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0272-7358(97)00033-0.

- Fischer, K. W. (1980). A theory of cognitive development: The control and construction of hierarchies of skills. *Psychological Review*, 87(6), 477–531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.87.6 .477
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer Publishing.
- Frijda, N. H. (1986). *The emotions*. Cambridge University Press.
- Geangu, E., Benga, O., Stahl, D., & Striano, T. (2011). Individual differences in infants' emotional resonance to a peer in distress: Selfother awareness and emotion regulation. *Social Development*, 20(3), 450–470. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-9507.2010.00596.x
- Gilliom, M., Shaw, D. S., Beck, J. E., Schonberg, M. A., & Lukon, J. L. (2002). Anger regulation in disadvantaged preschool boys: Strategies, antecedents, and the development of self-control. *Developmental Psychology*, 38(2), 222–235. https://doi.org/10.1037//0012-1649.38.2.222
- Graziano, P. A., Reavis, R. D., Keane, S. P., & Calkins, S. D. (2007). The role of emotion regulation in children's early academic success. *Journal of School Psychology*, 45(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.09.002
- Grenell, A., Prager, E. O., Schaefer, C., Kross, E., Duckworth, A. L., & Carlson, S. M. (2019). Individual differences in the effectiveness of selfdistancing for young children's emotion regulation. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 37(1), 84–100. https://doi.org/10 .1111/bjdp.12259
- Grolnick, W. S., Bridges, L. J., & Connell, J. P. (1996). Emotion regulation in two-year-olds: Strategies and emotional expression in four contexts. *Child Development*, 67(3), 928–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996 .tb01774.x
- Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion regulation: Current status and future prospects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 26, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 1047840X.2014.940781
- Gunnar, M. R. (2000). Early adversity and the development of stress reactivity and regulation.

In C. A. Nelson (Ed.), *The Minnesota symposia* on child psychology: Vol. 31. The effects of early adversity on neurobehavioral development (pp. 163–200). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Gunnar, M. R., Hostinar, C. E., Sanchez, M. M., Tottenham, N., & Sullivan, R. M. (2015).
 Parental buffering of fear and stress neurobiology: Reviewing parallels across rodent, monkey, and human models. *Social Neuroscience*, *10*(5), 474–478. https://doi.org/10 .1080/17470919.2015.1070198
- Gunnar, M., & Quevedo, K. (2007). The neurobiology of stress and development. Annual Review of Psychology, 58, 145–173. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405 .085605
- Guo, Y., Leu, S., Barnard, K. E., Thompson, E. A., & Spieker, S. J. (2015). An examination of changes in emotion co-regulation among mother and child dyads during the Strange Situation. *Infant and Child Development*, 24(3), 256–273. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.1917
- Halpern, L. F. (2004). The relations of coping and family environment to preschoolers' problem behavior. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 25(4), 399–421. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.appdev.2004.06.001
- Halverson, C. F., & Waldrop, M. F. (1974).
 Relations between preschool barrier behaviors and early school-age measures of coping, imagination, and verbal development. *Developmental Psychology*, *10*(5), 716–720. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0037017
- Harrington, E. M., Trevino, S. D., Lopez, S., & Giuliani, N. R. (2020). Emotion regulation in early childhood: Implications for socioemotional and academic components of school readiness. *Emotion*, 20(1), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1037/ emo0000667
- Hu, Y., Wang, Y., & Liu, A. (2017). The influence of mothers' emotional expressivity and class grouping on Chinese preschoolers' emotional regulation strategies. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *26*(3), 824–832. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10826-016-0606-3
- Izard, C. E. (1991). *The psychology of emotions*. Plenum Press.

- Kliewer, W., Parrish, K. A., Taylor, K. W., Jackson, K., Walker, J. M., & Shivy, V. A. (2006). Socialization of coping with community violence: Influences of caregiver coaching, modeling, and family context. *Child Development*, 77(3), 605–623. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00893.x
- Kopp, C. (1982). Antecedents of self-regulation: A developmental perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 18(2), 199–214. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0012-1649.18.2.199
- Kopp, C. (1989). Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(3), 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.343
- Kopp, C. (2011). Development in the early years: Socialization, motor development, and consciousness. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 165–187. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych .121208.131625
- Kromm, H., Färber, M., & Holodynski, M. (2015). Felt or false smiles? Volitional regulation of emotional expression in 4-, 6-, and 8-year-old children. *Child Development*, 86(2), 579–597. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12315
- Langer, D. A., Chen, E., & Luhmann, J. D. (2005). Attributions and coping in children's pain experiences. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 30(7), 615–622. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/ jsio47
- Lazarus, R. S. (1966). Psychological stress and the coping process. McGraw-Hill.
- Lessing, N., Kappes, C., Greve, W., & Mähler, C. (2019). Developmental conditions of accommodative coping in childhood: The role of executive functions. *Cognitive Development*, 50, 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2019.02 .002
- Lewis, M. D., Zimmerman, S., Hollenstein, T., & Lamey, A. V. (2004). Reorganization in coping behavior at 1½ years: Dynamic systems and normative change. *Developmental Science*, 7(1), 56–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2004 .00323.x
- Liebermann, D., Giesbrecht, G. F., & Müller, U. (2007). Cognitive and emotional aspects of selfregulation in preschoolers. *Cognitive*

Development, 22(4), 511-529. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.cogdev.2007.08.005

- Loman, M. M., & Gunnar, M. R. (2010). Early experience and the development of stress reactivity and regulation in children. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(6), 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev .2009.05.007
- Losoya, S., Eisenberg, N., & Fabes, R. A. (1998). Developmental issues in the study of coping. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 22, 287–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01652598384388
- Macfie, J., Toth, S. L., Rogosch, F. A., Robinson, J., Emde, R. N., & Cicchetti, D. (1999). Effect of maltreatment on preschoolers' narrative representations of responses to relieve distress and of role reversal. *Developmental Psychology*, 35(2), 460–465. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.35.2.460
- Mangelsdorf, S. C. (1992). Developmental changes in infant-stranger interaction. *Infant Behavior* and Development, 15(2), 191–208. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0163-6383(92)80023-N
- Mathis, E. T. B., & Bierman, K. L. (2015). Dimensions of parenting associated with child prekindergarten emotion regulation and attention control in low-income families. *Social Development*, 24(3), 601–620. https://doi.org/10 .1111/sode.12112
- Mauss, I. B., Bunge, S. A., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Automatic emotion regulation. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 1(1), 146–167. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00005.x
- McLaughlin, K. A., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Mennin, D. S., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2011). Emotion dysregulation and adolescent psychopathology: A prospective study. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 49(9), 544–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.brat.2011.06.003
- Meaney, M. J. (2001). Maternal care, gene expression, and the transmission of individual differences in stress reactivity across generations. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 24, 1161–1192. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.1161
- Mirabile, S. P., Oertwig, D., & Halberstadt, A. G. (2018). Parent emotion socialization and

children's socioemotional adjustment: When is supportiveness no longer supportive? *Social Development*, *27*(3), 466–481. https://doi.org/10 .1111/sode.12226

- Morris, A. S., Criss, M. M., Silk, J. S., & Houltberg, B. J. (2017). The impact of parenting on emotion regulation during childhood and adolescence. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(4), 233–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12238
- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., Myers, S. S., & Robinson, L. R. (2007). The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Social Development*, 16(2), 361–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00389.x
- Nabors, L., & Liddle, M. (2017). Perceptions of hospitalizations by children with chronic illnesses and siblings. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26(6), 1681–1691. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10826-017-0688-6
- Nagy, E., Loveland, K. A., Kopp, M., Orvos, H., Pal, A., & Molnar, P. (2001). Different emergence of fear expressions in infant boys and girls. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 24(2), 189–194. https://doi.org/10.1016.S0163-6383(01) 00070-4
- Pat-Horenczyk, R., Cohen, S., Ziv, Y., Achituv, M., Asulin-Peretz, L., Blanchard, T. R., ... Brom, D. (2015). Emotion regulation in mothers and young children faced with trauma. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 36(3), 337–348. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/imhj.21515
- Pechtel, P., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2011). Effects of early life stress on cognitive and affective function: An integrated review of human literature. *Psychopharmacology*, *214*, 55–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-010-2009-2
- Perner, J., & Dienes, Z. (2003). Developmental aspects of consciousness: How much theory of mind do you need to be consciously aware. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 12(1), 63–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-8100(02)00010-7
- Perry, D. F., Dunne, M. C., McFadden, L., & Campbell, D. (2008). Reducing the risk for preschool expulsion: Mental health consultation for young children with challenging behaviors. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 17(1), 44–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-007-9140-7

347

- Perry, N. B., Calkins, S. D., Dollar, J. M., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2018). Self-regulation as a predictor of patterns of change in externalizing behaviors from infancy to adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 30(2), 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579417000992
- Perry, N. B., Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2020). Maternal socialization of child emotion and adolescent adjustment: Indirect effects through emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000815
- Power, T. G. (2004). Stress and coping in childhood: The parents' role. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 4(4), 271–317. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327922par0404_1
- Ravindran, N., Genaro, B. G., & Cole, P. M. (2021). Parental structuring in response to toddler negative emotion predicts children's later use of distraction as a self-regulation strategy for waiting. *Child Development*, 92(5), 1969–1983. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13563
- Roben, C. K. P., Cole, P. M., & Armstrong, L. M. (2013). Longitudinal relations among language skills, anger expression, and regulatory strategies in early childhood. *Child Development*, 84, 891–905. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12027
- Rochat, P. (2003). Five levels of self-awareness as they unfold early in life. *Consciousness and Cognition*, *12*(4), 717–731. https://doi.org/10 .1016/S1053-8100(03)00081-3
- Rossman, B. B. R., & Gamble, W. (1997). Preschoolers' understandings of physical injury: Stressor, affect, and coping appraisals. *Children's Health Care*, 26, 77–96. https://doi .org/10.1207/s15326888chc2602_2
- Rothbart, M. K., Ellis, L. K., & Posner, M. I. (2011). Temperament and self-regulation. In K. D. Vohs & R. F. Baumeister (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications* (pp. 441–460). Guilford Press.
- Rothbaum, F., Weisz, J. R., & Snyder, S. S. (1982).
 Changing the world and changing the self:
 A two-process model of perceived control.
 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology,

42(1), 5–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514 .41.1.5

Rothbart, M. K., Ziaie, H., & O'Boyle, C. G. (1992). Self-regulation and emotion in infancy. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, (55), 7–23.

- Russell, B. S., Lee, J. O., Spieker, S., & Oxford, M. L. (2016). Parenting and preschool selfregulation as predictors of social emotional competence in 1st grade. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 30(2), 153–169. https://doi .org/10.1080/02568543.2016.1143414
- Sameroff, A. J., & Fiese, B. H. (2000). Transactional regulation: The developmental ecology of early intervention. In S. J. Meisels & J. P. Shonkoff (Eds.), *Handbook of early childhood intervention* (pp. 135–159). Cambridge University Press.
- Sandler, I. N., Schoenfelder, E. N., Wolchik, S. A., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2011). Long-term impact of prevention programs to promote effective parenting: Lasting effects but uncertain processes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 299–329. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych .121208.131619
- Santucci, A. K., Silk, J. S., Shaw, D. S., Gentzler, A., Fox, N. A., & Kovacs, M. (2008). Vagal tone and temperament as predictors of emotion regulation strategies in young children. *Developmental Psychobiology: The Journal of the International Society for Developmental Psychobiology*, 50(3), 205–216. https://doi.org/10 .1002/dev.20283
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2005). The influence of social hierarchy on primate health. *Science*, 308(5722), 648–652. https://doi.org/10.1126/science .1106477
- Sayfan, L., & Lagattuta, K. H. (2009). Scaring the monster away: What children know about managing fears of real and imaginary creatures. *Child Development*, 80(6), 1756–1774. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01366.x
- Schaie, K. W., & Baltes, P. B. (1975). On sequential strategies in developmental research: Description or explanation. *Human Development*, 18(5), 384–390. https://doi.org/10.1159/000271498
- Selye, H. (1974). Stress without distress. Lippincott.

- Shewark, E. A., & Blandon, A. Y. (2015). Mothers' and fathers' emotion socialization and children's emotion regulation: A within-family model. *Social Development*, 24(2), 266–284. https://doi .org/10.1111/sode.12095
- Shoda, Y., Mischel, W., & Peake, P. K. (1990). Predicting adolescent cognitive and selfregulatory competencies from preschool delay of gratification: Identifying diagnostic conditions. *Developmental Psychology*, 26(6), 978–986. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.26.6.978
- Skinner, E. A. (1999). Action regulation, coping, and development. In J. Brandtstadter & R. M. Lerner, Action & self-development: Theory and research through the life span (pp. 465–503). Sage Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/ 9781452204802.n16
- Skinner, E., & Edge, K. (2002). Parenting, motivation, and the development of children's coping. In L. J. Crockett (Ed.), *Agency*, *motivation, and the life course* (pp. 77–143). University of Nebraska Press.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Smith, M., & Walden, T. (2001). An exploration of African-American preschool-aged children's behavioral regulation in emotionally arousing situations. *Child Study Journal*, 31(1), 13–45.
- Soltis, K., Davidson, T. M., Moreland, A., Felton, J., & Dumas, J. E. (2015). Associations among parental stress, child competence, and schoolreadiness: Findings from the PACE study. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 24(3), 649–657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9875-2
- Stansbury, K., & Sigman, M. (2000). Responses of preschoolers in two frustrating situations: Emergence of complex strategies for emotion regulation. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *161*(2), 182–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00221320009596705
- Supplee, L. H., Skuban, E. M., Trentacosta, C. J., Shaw, D. S., & Stoltz, E. (2011). Preschool boys' development of emotional self-regulation strategies in a sample at risk for behavior

problems. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *172*(2), 95–120. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325 .2010.510545

- Tan, L., & Smith, C. L. (2019). Intergenerational transmission of maternal emotion regulation to child emotion regulation: Moderated mediation of maternal positive and negative emotions. *Emotion*, 19(7), 1284–1291. https://doi.org/10 .1037/emo0000523
- Tan, P. Z., Armstrong, L. M., & Cole, P. M. (2013). Relations between temperament and anger regulation over early childhood. *Social Development*, 22(4), 755–772. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-9507.2012.00674.x
- Thompson, R. A., Lewis, M. D., & Calkins, S. D. (2008). Reassessing emotion regulation. *Child Development Perspectives*, 2(3), 124–131. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2008.00054.x
- Treiber, F. A., Seidner, A. L., Lee, A. A., Morgan, S. A., & Jackson, J. (1985). Effects of a group cognitive-behavioral treatment on preschool children's responses to dental treatment. *Children's Health Care*, 13(3), 117–121. https:// doi.org/10.1207/s15326888chc1303_4
- Viddal, K. R., Berg-Nielsen, T., Belsky, J., & Wichstrøm, L. (2017). Change in attachment predicts change in emotion regulation particularly among 5-HTTLPR short-allele homozygotes. *Developmental Psychology*, 53(7), 1316–1329. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000321
- Vikan, A., Kårstad, S. B., & Dias, M. (2013). Young Brazilian and Norwegian children's concepts of strategies and goals for emotion regulation. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *11*(1), 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1476718X12456981
- Wadsworth, M. E., McDonald, A., Joos, C. M., Ahlkvist, J. A., Perzow, S. E. D., Tilghman-Osborne, E. M., Creavey, K., & Brelsford, G. M. (2020). Reducing the biological and psychological toxicity of poverty-related stress: Initial efficacy of the BaSICS intervention for early adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(3–4), 305–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12400
- Wakschlag, L. S., Hill, C., Carter, A. S., Danis, B., Egger, H. L., Keenan, K., ... & Briggs-Gowan,

M. J. (2008). Observational assessment of preschool disruptive behavior, part I: Reliability of the Disruptive Behavior Diagnostic Observation Schedule (DB-DOS). *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(6), 622–631. https://doi.org/10 .1097/CHI.0b013e31816c5bdb

- Wilson, B. J., Hoffner, C., & Cantor, J. (1987). Children's perceptions of the effectiveness of techniques to reduce fear from mass media. *Journal* of Applied Developmental Psychology, 8, 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/0193-3973(87)90019-0.
- Wong, M. (2016). A longitudinal study of children's voices in regard to stress and coping during the transition to school. *Early Child Development* and Care, 186(6), 927–946. https://doi.org/10 .1080/03004430.2015.1068769
- Wu, Q., Feng, X., Hooper, E., & Ku, S. (2017). Maternal emotion socialization, depressive symptoms and child emotion regulation: Child emotionality as a moderator. *Infant and Child Development*, 26(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10 .1002/icd.1979
- Zahn-Waxler, C., Cole, P. M., Richardson, D. T., Friedman, R. J., Michel, M. K., & Belouad, F. (1994). Social problem solving in disruptive preschool children: Reactions to hypothetical situations of conflict and distress. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 40(1), 98–119.

- Zelazo, P. D. (2004). The development of conscious control in childhood. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(1), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .tics.2003.11.001
- Zelazo, P. D., & Cunningham, W. A. (2007). Executive function: Mechanisms underlying emotion regulation. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 135–158). American Psychological Association.
- Zelikovsky, N., Rodrigue, J. R., Gidycz, C. A., & Davis, M. A. (2000). Cognitive behavioral and behavioral interventions help young children cope during a voiding cystourethrogram. *Journal* of *Pediatric Psychology*, 25(8), 535–543. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/25.8.535
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi .org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Webb, H. J., Pepping, C. A., Swan, K., Merlo, O., Skinner, E. A., Avdagic, E., & Dunbar, M. (2017). Review: Is parent-child attachment a correlate of children's emotion regulation and coping? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 4(1), 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025415618276

14 Toward a More Inclusive, Contextualized Approach to Studying Executive Functions and Self-Regulation in the Context of Coping

Jelena Obradović, Lily Steyer, and Michael J. Sulik

Executive functions (EFs) and self-regulation (SR) support the pursuit of goal-directed behavior through control of one's attention, emotions, cognitions, and impulses (Diamond, 2013). As such, applications of these cognitive and regulatory processes are implicated in coping, defined as "conscious and volitional efforts to regulate emotion, cognition, behavior, physiology, and the environment in response to stressful events or circumstances" (Compas et al., 2001, p. 89). In this chapter, we discuss how EF skills and SR behaviors may facilitate the use of various coping strategies and contribute to successful coping outcomes by supporting positive adaptation in contexts of stress and adversity.

We start by acknowledging that the four key constructs that we will discuss - EFs, SR, coping strategies, and adaptation - have conceptual and empirical overlap as well as develop through bidirectional longitudinal processes (see Figure 14.1). By EFs, we refer to the cognitive skills that support goal-directed behaviors by helping children to control impulses and stay focused amid distractions (i.e., inhibitory control), mentally manipulate verbal and nonverbal information (i.e., working memory), and flexibly shift between competing task rules or environmental demands (i.e., cognitive flexibility). EFs are directly assessed via performance on standardized tasks that are available for a wide range of ages, spanning early childhood through adulthood (Best et al., 2009). By SR, we refer to the applications of EF skills in everyday life, such as behaviors that help children sustain focused attention, suppress impulsive thoughts and actions, stay organized, plan ahead, and successfully regulate emotions. Children's SR is measured via surveys completed by adults. including parents, teachers, and trained observers (e.g., Roth et al., 2014; Rothbart et al., 2001; Smith-Donald et al., 2007). Across different cultures, direct assessments of EF skills and reports of SR behaviors show relatively modest convergence (Friedman & Banich, 2019; von Suchodoletz et al., 2015: Willoughby et al., 2019), suggesting that they are measuring related vet distinct processes. The overlap between EFs and SR (see Figure 14.1) may reflect bidirectional influences in that the displays of SR are supported by EF skills and the performance on EF tasks is supported by concurrent SR behaviors as well as a confounding of the two constructs in the literature via the use of composites that average direct assessments with behavioral reports. However, each construct is also shaped by unique dispositional and contextual factors.

In the first section, we describe conceptual and empirical relations among EFs and SR and the most frequently studied child coping strategies. We focus on direct and indirect evidence that EF skills and SR behaviors support



Figure 14.1 Associations among self-regulation, executive functions, adaptation, and coping strategies within broader contextual systems. Shaded sections represent conceptual and empirical overlap among constructs.

the use of coping strategies, but also highlight the overlapping conceptualization and measurement (e.g., self-regulation of emotions and emotion regulation coping strategies). In the second section, we discuss how EFs and SR relate to positive adaptation in adverse contexts. We conceptualize adaptive outcomes in the context of adversity as markers of successful coping and highlight work that examines EFs and SR as moderators and mediators of adverse experiences. As shown in Figure 14.1, we also acknowledge that measures of adaptation sometimes overlap with assessments of coping strategies and SR behaviors. In the third section, we suggest important future directions for studying EFs and SRs in the context of coping, highlighting the need for improved assessments; a reconceptualization of what is adaptive and maladaptive; an understanding of promotive aspects of adverse experiences; examinations of dyadic, family, classroom, and communal co-regulation processes; and the identification of processes that

promote coping-relevant EFs and SR. As shown in Figure 14.1, we argue that EFs, SR, coping strategies, and adaptation outcomes must be studied within the relationships, communities, and contextual systems and experiences that affect and co-produce these individual-level processes. As most of the extant research uses samples from the USA, we highlight when studies were conducted in other countries and draw attention to the need to expand this work to represent children's diverse cultures and contexts.

Executive Functions and Self-Regulation: Conceptual and Empirical Links to Coping Strategies

Researchers have proposed various taxonomies of coping strategies, including problemfocused versus emotion-focused strategies (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) and approach versus avoidance ones (Roth & Cohen, 1986). In this chapter, we adopt Connor-Smith and colleagues' (2000) conceptual framework, which has been widely employed in empirical analyses of coping among children and adolescents. This model draws on Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) definition of coping as a process that is voluntary, effortful, and goaldirected. It distinguishes between three domains of voluntary coping: (1) primary control coping strategies aim to change the stressor or one's emotional response (e.g., problemsolving, emotion regulation and expression); (2) secondary control coping strategies focus on adapting to the stressor (e.g., cognitive reappraisal, distraction); and (3) disengagement coping strategies involve avoiding the stressor or one's emotional response.

To date, children's and adolescents' use of coping strategies has largely been studied via self-reported questionnaires, limiting the understanding of strategies employed by young children, who are not able to reliably self-report. Although a small number of studies have used parent- and teacher-reported surveys or observations of children's coping strategies (e.g., Blair et al., 2004: Eisenberg et al., 1993: Fabes & Eisenberg, 1992), these studies do not examine how children's use of coping strategies relates to their EFs and SR. Whenever possible, we synthesize research directly linking EFs and SR to specific coping strategies. In the absence of existing conceptual and empirical evidence linking these constructs, we review indirect work on how EFs and SR relate to behaviors and relationships relevant for employing specific coping strategies. Conceptual and empirical relations among children's coping strategies with EFs and SR are summarized in Table 14.1.

Primary Control Coping Strategies

Problem-Solving

Problem-solving, or the conscious effort to change a stressful situation and/or contain its

consequences (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016), is a voluntary, goal-directed coping strategy classified as primary control coping in the Connor-Smith et al. (2000) taxonomy. Survey items that assess children's and adolescents' problem-solving capture thinking about ways to change a problem or situation, as well as taking action toward that end (Connor-Smith et al., 2000). Whether engaging in conflict resolution with a peer, performing on a high-stakes academic test, or finding a safe coping through shelter. problem-solving requires children to sustain attention, flexibly consider a range of options, and plan a specific approach to address the given stressor - all of which rely on children's EFs and SR capacities. However, the extant empirical literature has not investigated how children's EFs and SR contribute to their selection or use of problem-solving coping strategies.

353

In the absence of such research, we highlight prior work that has documented the role of EFs and SR in helping children to stay focused and remain on task (e.g., Brock et al., 2009; Gathercole et al., 2008), weigh multiple solutions (Evans et al., 2016), and design and implement plans (Zelazo et al., 1997). Further, a small number of empirical studies have examined how EFs and SR relate to both cognitive and social problem-solving. Among adults, EFs have been linked to directly assessed reasoning abilities (Fletcher et al., 2011) as well as self-reported problem-solving (Rodríguez Villegas & Salvador Cruz, 2015). In a small sample of 10-year-olds, greater working memory capacity was found to predict improved logical reasoning across all problem types, while inhibition specifically predicted reasoning on problems requiring children to resist the influence of prior beliefs (Handley et al., 2004). Further, in studies of small samples in middle childhood and adolescence, reduced EFs and SR have been associated with poorer self-reported and directly

Coping strategy	Conceptual links with EFs and SR	Empirical links with EFs and SR
Primary control		
Problem-solving	Requires children to sustain attention, flexibly consider a range of options, and plan a specific approach to address the given stressor.	Direct evidence: Not established. Indirect evidence: Brock et al. (2009), Evans et al. (2016), Fletcher et al. (2011 [adults]); Ganesalingam et al. (2007), Gathercole et al. (2008), Handley et al. (2004), Muscara et al. (2008), Rodríguez Villegas and Salvador Cruz (2015 [adults]); Zelazo et al. (1997).
Emotion regulation and expression	Conceptual overlap between emotion regulation and emotion-related SR; both involve being able to modulate, redirect, or suppress emotion expression or emotion-related behavior.	Direct evidence: Carlson and Wang, (2007), Gago Galvagno et al. (2019), Lantrip et al. (2016), Perry et al. (2018), Reilly and Downer (2019), Simonds et al. (2007), Yap et al. (2011). <u>Indirect evidence</u> : Kim et al. (2012), Obradović and Finch (2017), Willoughby et al. (2011).
Support-seeking	Involves organizing and interpreting social cues, considering optimal responses, inhibiting socially inappropriate responses, and communicating positively with others. EFs and SR support the expression of prosocial behaviors and the formation of positive relationships.	Direct evidence: Not established. Indirect evidence: Berry (2012), de Wilde et al. (2016), Hilton et al. (2017), Loomis (2021), McIntyre et al. (2006), McKinnon and Blair (2018), McQuade et al. (2013), Nilsen and Bacso (2017), Portilla et al. (2014), Zakszeski et al. (2021).
Secondary control		
Composite of multiple secondary strategies	Includes the abilities to suppress maladaptive thoughts (inhibitory control), selectively identify and attend to adaptive thoughts (working memory), and view information from alternative perspectives (cognitive flexibility).	Direct evidence: Andreotti et al. (2013) (adults), Campbell et al. (2008), Hocking et al. (2011), Jackson et al. (2018) (adults), but cf. Prussien et al. (2018). <u>Indirect evidence</u> : Hughes and Ensor (2007), Robinson et al. (2015).
Distraction	Requires children to inhibit predominant responses of attending to a stressor and flexibly shift attention to a distraction topic or task, while prioritizing information in their working memories relevant to that distraction topic or task.	Direct evidence: Dahlquist et al. (2019), Verhoeven et al. (2011, 2014).

Table 14.1 Conceptual and empirical associations between EFs/SR and coping strategies

355

Coping strategy	Conceptual links with EFs and SR	Empirical links with EFs and SR
Rumination	May be associated with challenges in inhibiting negative thoughts, switching attention to more pleasant stimuli, and generating alternative ways of coping.	Direct evidence: Dickson et al. (2017), Harmon et al. (2020), Hilt et al. (2014), but cf. Connolly et al. (2014), Wagner et al. (2015), Wilkinson and Goodyer (2006)
Disengagement	May be more common among children with less developed working memory and sustained concentration capacities, which are necessary for primary and secondary control coping.	Direct evidence: Campbell et al. (2008), O'Rourke et al. (2020), cf. Hocking et al. (2011).

Tał	ble	14.1	(cont.)	
-----	-----	------	---------	--

assessed social problem-solving skills (Ganesalingam et al., 2007; Muscara et al., 2008) and, ultimately, poorer social outcomes (Muscara et al., 2008). Future work needs to investigate whether children's EFs and SR relate to children's deployment of problemsolving coping strategies as well as the role of EFs and SR in supporting problem-solving in contexts of stress and adversity.

Emotion Regulation and Expression

Emotion-related SR (also known as emotion regulation) is a multifaceted set of processes used to manage emotions and emotion-related states that include modulation of physiological, attentional, cognitive, and behavioral responses (Eisenberg et al., 2010). There is considerable conceptual overlap between behavioral aspects of emotion-related SR and emotion-related coping (Compas et al., 2017). In Connor-Smith and colleagues' (2000) theoretical framework, emotion regulation refers to controlling emotion-related behaviors in response to stress, and emotion expression refers to communicating one's emotions to others. Thus, emotion regulation as a coping strategy and emotion-related SR in everyday settings may appear to be very similar; both involve being able to modulate, redirect, or suppress emotion-related behavior. Other aspects of the broader construct of emotion regulation, such as cognitive reframing and distraction, will be reviewed later, as they relate to secondary control coping strategies.

Relative to children with poor EFs or SR, children with strong EFs or SR are more likely to control their emotion-related behaviors when stressed, as well as to find constructive ways to express their feelings. For example, children's SR at 3¹/₂ years has been shown to predict anger regulation at age 5 (Skibo et al., 2020). Among preschool-age children, EFs have been positively associated with parentand teacher-reported emotion regulation (Carlson & Wang, 2007; Reilly & Downer, 2019). In 5-year-olds, parent-reported SR has been positively linked with parent-reported and observed emotion regulation (Perry et al., 2018). In 7- to 10-year-olds, EFs have been related to the duration of smiling after receiving a disappointing gift, which is an indicator of emotion regulation (Simonds et al., 2007). Further, SR has been negatively associated to emotion regulation during a parent-child interaction task in early adolescence (Yap et al., 2011).

Relevant to emotion regulation is a distinction between "hot" and "cool" EFs (Zelazo, 2020). Hot EFs refer to EF skills measured during emotion-eliciting situations, typically involving risks or rewards, whereas cool EFs are generally viewed as having less emotional salience. Among Latin-American toddlers, a composite of hot and cool EFs was associated with better emotion regulation during the stillface procedure (Gago Galvagno et al., 2019). Hot EFs have also been uniquely associated with preschoolers' externalizing symptoms, suggesting that they play a role in anger regulation (Kim et al., 2012; Willoughby et al., 2011). Relatedly, hot EFs have been linked to faster physiological recovery after a social stressor in kindergarteners (Obradović & Finch, 2017). In stressful situations that often elicit strong emotions, it is important to further investigate the unique roles of hot and cool EFs and examine whether hot EFs are particularly relevant in contexts of limited or inequitable resources and rewards (Sturge-Apple et al., 2017).

Much of the research on emotion expression has focused on suppression, which refers to attempts to hide expressions of emotions from others. Suppression of emotional expression is considered an immature coping strategy (Gullone et al., 2010) that is negatively associated with EFs in adolescence (Lantrip et al., 2016) and ineffective as an emotion regulation strategy in daily life (Ruan et al., 2020). Studies of parental emotion socialization practices that discourage the expression of negative emotions (e.g., punishment, minimization) have generally found that these practices are associated with lower child emotional competence (Perry et al., 2020; Rogers et al., 2016; Shaffer et al., 2012). However, these associations have been shown to differ depending on culture, race/ethnicity, and gender (Bardack & Obradović, 2017; Leerkes et al., 2015; McCord & Raval, 2016), suggesting that emotion suppression may not always be maladaptive.

Support-Seeking

Support-seeking is broadly understood as a constructive coping strategy that encompasses children's and adolescents' active efforts to solicit comfort, distraction, advice, or instrumental help from parents, friends, teachers, or other adults or peers (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). In Connor-Smith et al.'s (2000) coping taxonomy, support-seeking is conceptualized as overlapping with problemsolving (e.g., asking other people for help or ideas to make the problem better), emotion regulation (e.g., getting help from other people when trying to figure out how to deal with feelings), and emotion expression (e.g., letting someone or something know how one feels). While studies have not linked EFs and SR to support-seeking behaviors in the context of coping, EFs and SR have been linked with better social skills and positive relationships that children and adolescents rely on to cope with stress and adversity (Osher et al., 2020; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). In particular, children's EFs and SR may contribute to supportive interpersonal interactions via organizing and interpreting social cues, considering optimal responses, inhibiting socially inappropriate responses, and communicating positively with others (McKinnon & Blair, 2018).

A substantial body of scholarship has examined how children's EFs influence their social skills and relationships in the classroom environment. Among demographically diverse young children, EFs and SR have been shown to predict greater teacher–child closeness and reduced teacher–child conflict in preschool, kindergarten, and first grade (Loomis, 2021;

McIntyre et al., 2006; McKinnon & Blair, 2018; Portilla et al., 2014). In elementary school, inhibitory control and working memory have been similarly associated with teacher-child relationship quality (Berry, 2012; de Wilde et al., 2016; Zakszeski et al., 2021) and social competence with peers (de Wilde et al., 2016; McQuade et al., 2013). Although less studied among older children, several investigations have documented relations of adolescents' EFs with their social competence and peer relations in small samples (e.g., Hilton et al., 2017; Nilsen & Bacso, 2017). Of note, a recent analysis of a large national longitudinal dataset found that associations between students' self-regulation and teacher-child relationship quality were not moderated by student socioeconomic status or race/ethnicity, offering evidence that selfregulation is promotive for positive social relationships for students of diverse sociodemographic identities (Zakszeski et al., 2021).

A handful of studies have shown that children's relationship quality - in particular with their teachers – is related to their supportseeking behaviors. Elementary and high school students with high-quality teacher-child relationships are more likely than peers without those relationships to intend to seek out mental health-related supports and to actually do so (Eliot et al., 2010; Halladay et al., 2020; Mariu et al., 2012). Moreover, over and above the individual child level, links between teacher-child relationship quality and support-seeking have been found at the school level (Halladay et al., 2020), implying that students are more likely to seek help from teachers when their school has a climate of positive student-teacher relationships. Going forward, researchers should investigate the contributions of children's EFs and SR to their ability to build relationships to seek social support, particularly in contexts of adversity where children experience heightened stress.

Secondary Control Coping Strategies

The aforementioned primary control coping strategies seek to directly address the source of stress (e.g., problem-solving) or one's emotional reactions to stress (e.g., emotion regulation and expression). In contrast, secondary control coping strategies are used to adapt to stress. These strategies include cognitive restructuring (e.g., "I think about the things I'm learning from the situation, or something good that will come from it"), positive thinking (e.g., "I tell myself that I can get through this, or that I'll do better next time"), acceptance (e.g., "I realize that I just have to live with things the way they are"), and distraction (e.g., "I think about happy things to take my mind off the problem or how I'm feeling"). Secondary control coping strategies are understood to be particularly beneficial when children adolescents are faced with and uncontrollable stressors (Compas et al., 2012).

Children's and adolescents' abilities to cognitively reframe, come to terms with, or distract themselves from stressors relies on key aspects of EFs and SR, including the abilities to suppress maladaptive thoughts, selectively identify and attend to adaptive thoughts, and view information from alternative perspectives (e.g., Campbell et al., 2008; Hocking et al., 2011). Researchers employing both self- and adult report of children's coping strategies typically create a composite measure of positive thinking, cognitive restructuring, acceptance, and distraction strategies. A small yet illustrative body of literature has investigated the relevance of EFs and SR for secondary control coping among youth facing the uncontrollable stressor of chronic illness (Compas et al., 2012). Among children and adolescents with chronic medical conditions, EFs have been found to predict the use of secondary control coping strategies (Campbell et al., 2008; Hocking et al., 2011). Further, in a small sample of child and adolescent cancer survivors, secondary control coping strategies fully mediated relations among higher EFs and SR and reduced behavior problems (Campbell et al., 2008). Similar positive associations between EFs and secondary strategies have been documented among young adults with congenital heart disease (Jackson et al., 2018), as well as typically developing college students (Andreotti et al., 2013). Nevertheless, others have failed to find links between EFs and secondary control coping (Jackson et al., 2018; Prussien et al., 2018).

Although coping strategies have not been explicitly studied in early childhood, researchers have demonstrated links between preschoolers' cognitive flexibility and their ability to understand alternative points of view, which may in turn facilitate engagement in secondary coping strategies such as cognitive reappraisal (Hughes & Ensor, 2007). In older children and adolescents, the conceptual relevance of EFs for secondary coping strategies is also supported by neuroimaging studies that show that the prefrontal regions of the brain associated with EF are also activated during the use of secondary control coping strategies such as cognitive restructuring (e.g., Robinson et al., 2015). Future work needs to go beyond studying a composite of secondary control coping strategies to examine how EFs and SR support the use of cognitive restructuring, positive thinking, and acceptance as unique coping strategies.

Distraction

Distraction – or engaging with a more positive thought or activity unrelated to the stressor with the goal of decreasing emotional arousal – is one aspect of secondary control coping that has been independently studied in relation to EFs and SR (Connor-Smith et al., 2000). To distract themselves effectively, children must be able to inhibit predominant responses of attending to the stressor and flexibly shift their attention to a distraction topic or task, while prioritizing information in working memory that is relevant to that distraction topic or task. As such, distraction has been theorized to be most feasible as a coping strategy among those with greater inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and working memory capacities (Verhoeven et al., 2011).

To date, much of the relevant empirical literature has examined the contributions of youth's EFs and SR to their use of distraction to cope with pain. Specifically, multiple labbased studies have explored children's and adolescents' ability to cope with cold pressor pain, finding that stronger EFs and SR are associated with higher engagement with and performance on distraction tasks - but not the effectiveness of these tasks at reducing pain (Verhoeven et al., 2011, 2014). However, in a study of 6- to 12-year-olds, Dahlquist et al. (2019) found that distraction was more effective at reducing pain for children high in SR. Given the previously mentioned utility of secondary control coping strategies - including distraction - when children are faced with uncontrollable stressors, future research can examine their use and efficacy in the context of systemic stressors.

Rumination

Rumination, or the tendency to mentally perseverate on the symptoms, causes, and consequences of one's negative mood (Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2008), has also been linked to EFs and SR. Theoretically, children with weaker EFs and SR may be more likely to ruminate because they have difficulty inhibiting negative thoughts, switching their attention to more pleasant stimuli, and generating alternative ways of coping (Davis & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2000; Harmon et al., 2020).

Indeed, in some of the studies that have investigated relations between EFs and rumination in youth, rumination has been associated with challenges in the EFs of inhibitory control (Hilt et al., 2014), cognitive flexibility (Dickson et al., 2017; Harmon et al., 2020), and working memory (Harmon et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the literature is mixed, with other studies failing to find significant associations between rumination and inhibitory control (Harmon et al., 2020), cognitive flexibility (Connolly et al., 2014; Wagner et al., 2015; Wilkinson & Goodyer, 2006) and working memory (Connolly et al., 2014; Wagner et al., 2015). Interestingly, there is some evidence that associations between EF and children's responses to negative emotions may be affect-specific: among 8- to 13-year-olds, Harmon and colleagues (2020) noted that sadness rumination was linked to difficulties updating negative thoughts and shifting between mental sets, while anger rumination was associated with a better ability to update negative thoughts.

Disengagement Coping Strategy

Whereas *distraction* as a coping strategy involves actively trying to deal with a stressor by engaging in alternative activities, disengage*ment* coping strategies – including avoidance, denial, and wishful thinking - involve efforts to orient oneself entirely away from a stressor or one's emotional responses to the stressor. Unlike distraction and the other engagementoriented coping responses already described, which have been shown to be adaptive, disengagement coping strategies have been associated with greater emotional and behavioral problems (Compas et al., 2017). Conceptually, children with more developed working memory and sustained concentration capacities may leverage those skills to engage with the stressor through primary control or

secondary control strategies, and may thus be less likely to use disengagement strategies. As such, we might expect children with less developed EFs and SR to utilize disengagement strategies more frequently.

359

Indeed, two studies with adolescent and voung adult samples have documented that youth with less developed EFs and SR were more likely to employ disengagement coping strategies (Campbell et al., 2008; O'Rourke et al., 2020). In contrast, among a small sample of children and adolescents with chronic abdominal pain (N = 44), greater selective attention skills were associated with greater disengagement coping (Hocking et al., 2011). The authors – who had anticipated a negative relation between EFs and disengagement coping - speculated that children with stronger selective attention abilities may more efficiently identify threat stimuli and use disengagement strategies to avoid threat-related stressors (Hocking et al., 2011). Additional work is needed to unpack these mixed findings to understand how EFs and SR relate to disengagement coping. Relatedly, the coping literature would benefit from a clearer distinction between distraction and disengagement coping strategies, which are sometimes confounded in both conceptualization and measurement.

More broadly, it will be important to investigate how children shift between or combine various coping strategies depending on the contextual stressors and supports they are experiencing. For example, if a child employs a coping strategy that is ineffective in their current environment (e.g., support-seeking), they may change to an alternative strategy (e.g., cognitive restructuring). In some situations, the most optimal coping outcome may emerge when a child concurrently engages in multiple strategies (e.g., emotion regulation and problem-solving). Whether children with more developed EFs and SR are able to switch among strategies more successfully in light of environmental demands needs to be investigated.

Executive Functions, Self-Regulation, and Positive Adaptation in Adverse Environments

To a large extent, coping represents the application of cognitive control and self-regulatory processes in response to a stressor. As such, successful coping depends heavily on EFs (i.e., higher-order cognitive skills that support goaldirected behavior), SR in everyday contexts (Eisenberg et al., 2009), and emotion-related SR (Compas et al., 2017). Assuming that successful coping contributes to positive adaptation in the context of adversity, empirical research linking EFs and SR with indices of positive adaptation (e.g., well-being, learning, social connections) among children who experience stressful environments demonstrates the relevance of EFs and SR for coping. In this section, we review illustrative studies examining EFs (as measured by structured tasks) and SR (as measured by surveys) as protective factors that mitigate the negative effects of stress on adaptation, as well as EFs and SR as mechanisms that explain how stressful environments undermine adaptive outcomes that reflect successful coping.

Executive Functions and Self-Regulation as Moderators of Adversity

Traditionally, resilience researchers have distinguished *protective factors*, which have stronger positive effects in high-adversity environments relative to low-adversity environments, from *promotive factors*, which have equally positive effects regardless of adversity exposure (Fergus & Zimmerman, 2005; Luthar et al., 2000). To understand the role of EFs and SR as protective factors that have particular relevance for coping with adversity, we review studies that test moderation of adverse experiences by EF or SR (i.e., interaction effects) by showing that higher levels of EFs or SR lessen the association between exposure to adversity and negative developmental outcomes in children and adolescents.

Unsupportive parenting has been one of the most frequently studied stressors in research examining EFs or SR as a protective factor. Studies examining externalizing symptoms as an outcome have found evidence supporting moderation by EFs and SR from early childhood through early adulthood. Specifically, researchers have reported that EFs or SR reduced the associations between inconsistent parenting and externalizing behaviors in early (Schoppe-Sullivan et al., 2009) and middle childhood (Lengua et al., 2008). Similarly, EFs were protective against the positive association between unsupportive parenting and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms in early elementary school (Joseph et al., 2021). Among low-income boys, lower "cognitive impulsivity" (which included performance on EF tasks) reduced the positive association between disengaged parenting and delinquency throughout adolescence and early adulthood (Menting et al., 2016). Studies examining internalizing symptoms as an outcome in adolescence have similarly supported the moderating role of EFs, which have been found to reduce the positive association between unsupportive parenting and adolescents' rumination (Hilt et al., 2012) and between parental psychological abuse and adolescents' internalizing behavior problems (Sætren et al., 2021).

Investigations of a more diverse set of adverse experiences suggest that the protective role of EFs and SR generalizes across a variety of stressors for social and emotional adaptation in childhood and adolescence. In preschool, EFs reduced the negative association between teacher-child conflict and

teacher-reported academic and behavioral school readiness (Graziano et al., 2016). In middle childhood, EFs protected against the positive association between being a victim of violence community and aggression (Jakubovic & Drabick, 2020) and between a cumulative risk index and a composite of internalizing and externalizing behavior problems (Lengua, 2002). In a longitudinal, nationally representative US sample of adolescents EFs similarly reduced the positive association between deviant peer behavior and delinquency (Hinnant & Forman-Alberti, 2019) and SR reduced the positive association between cumulative risk and delinquency in rural Chinese children and adolescents (Lei et al., 2019). Also, SR was protective against the positive association between stressful life events and depressive symptoms in a sample of children and adolescents (Gulley et al., 2016). It has been found that EFs protect against the association between prior institutional care and separation anxiety in adolescence (Alba et al., 2019).

In summary, results from studies testing moderation show a consistent pattern in which EFs and SR are protective, partially or fully reducing the association between environmental risk factors and adjustment across various domains, with much of the research focusing on externalizing behavior problems. Moreover, the pattern of findings is similar across development from early childhood through adolescence. These results suggest that self-regulatory skills may function as a marker of successful coping with stressors.

Executive Functions and Self-Regulation as Mediators of Adversity

EFs and SR can help protect against the negative effects of stressors on child and adolescent adaptation; however, the healthy development of EFs and SR may also be undermined by those same stressors. In psychological research, a mediator is an intervening variable that explains how two other variables are linked, and mediation analysis provides information about the process or mechanism of influence (MacKinnon et al., 2007). Research on EFs and SR as mediators of the associations between stressful environments and children's adaptation can help inform our understanding of the role that EFs and SR play in supporting outcomes that are indicative of successful coping, such as mental health and academic achievement. A comprehensive review of this literature is beyond the scope of this chapter, so we focus on the most rigorous research, especially studies that use longitudinal designs to investigate how childhood stressors (e.g., unsupportive parenting. trauma, poverty) are linked to successful social-emotional adaptation and academic skills through EFs and SR.

Similar to research on moderation, studies testing EFs or SR as a mediator have often focused on parenting. Although these studies often emphasize positive aspects of parenting, they measure parenting on a continuum from supportive to unsupportive, and thus have relevance for studies of adverse experiences and coping. Several of these studies have examined externalizing behavior problems as an outcome. In two large studies of elementary school children, EFs mediated the positive longitudinal association between supportive parenting and externalizing behavior problems (Belsky et al., 2007; Sulik et al., 2015). In a third study, SR mediated the negative longitudinal association between supportive parenting in middle childhood and externalizing behavior problems in early adolescence (Eisenberg et al., 2005). A number of longitudinal studies have instead examined academic skills as an outcome. Results from these studies indicate that EFs or SR mediate the positive association between supportive parenting and math and reading skills in early childhood (Brophy-Herb et al., 2013), middle childhood (Liew et al., 2018), and adolescence (Bindman et al., 2015). Further, SR has also been found to mediate the positive longitudinal association between supportive parenting and young children's learning-related behaviors (Berthelsen et al., 2017).

Researchers have also tested the mediating role of EFs and SR between other adverse environmental exposures and developmental outcomes. Studies focusing on externalizing and internalizing behavior problems as an outcome have revealed that EFs or SR mediate the effects of environmental exposures that include parental maltreatment (Coe et al., 2020), institutionalization in a Romanian orphanage (Wade et al., 2020), and community violence (Esposito et al., 2017). A similar pattern of findings has emerged in studies examining school readiness and academic skills as outcomes, for which EFs have been found to mediate the negative association between socioeconomic risk factors and academic skills in preschool or elementary school in the USA (Brown et al., 2013; Nesbitt et al., 2013) and Ghana (Suntheimer et al., 2021). Among Syrian refugee children, EFs mediated the positive association between perceived community safety and academic skills in middle childhood (Kim et al., 2020).

In summary, the literature broadly supports an interpretation of EFs and SR as factors that explain the link between exposure to adversity and important developmental outcomes that include mental health and academic skills. Support for the mediating role of EFs and SR has been found from early childhood through adolescence, with no apparent difference in findings across development. The frequent use of longitudinal designs has been a strength of research on EFs and SR as mediators, but only a few studies have included controls for longitudinal continuity on both the mediator and outcome. A better understanding of whether and how such controls affect the results of mediation analyses would strengthen our understanding of the mediating role of self-regulation and EFs across development.

The Role of Coping in Understanding Moderating and Mediating Processes

Although it is clear from the numerous aforementioned studies that EFs and SR are critical to understanding adaptation to various stressful environments in childhood and adolescence, we lack an understanding of how proximal coping processes link EFs and SR with positive developmental outcomes. There is a need to understand whether theoretically relevant approaches to coping (e.g., primary control coping, secondary control coping) and more specific coping strategies (e.g., problem-solving, distraction) can explain how EFs and SR affect adaptation. In one such study, low-income Latino adolescents' disengagement coping mediated the negative association between EFs and negative mood (Papadakis et al., 2018). In another study, brain activation in the dorsolateral and anterior prefrontal cortices (which play an important role in supporting EFs and SR) mediated the negative association between stress exposure and secondary control coping (Reising et al., 2018). Moreover, there is some evidence that the effectiveness of some coping strategies depends on EFs and SR (O'Rourke et al., 2020).

More complex theoretical models that combine mediation and moderation have been used to identify how individual characteristics and contextual factors affect the roles that EFs and SR play in supporting adaptive outcomes. For example, SR mediated the association

between gentle maternal control and children's learning-related behaviors in elementary school, but only for mothers who were high in sensitive parenting (Kopystynska et al., 2016). In another study, SR mediated the association between fathers' harsh parenting and children's aggression only when it was accompanied by mothers' parenting that was low in warmth (Wang, 2019). Expanding moderated mediation models to include measures of coping can shed light on whether EF/SR mediation of adverse effects on adaptation is conditional on effective use of coping strategies or whether coping strategies mediate the effects of adversity on adaptation conditional on one's EF and SR

New Directions for Studying Executive Functions and Self-Regulation in the Context of Coping

To expand our understanding of how EFs and SR support or reflect coping processes, we suggest five areas for new research. First, we need to interrogate the objectivity of current assessment approaches to identify how the assessment context and reporter biases may affect the measurement of individuals' EFs and SR in a way that undermines their relevance for coping. Second, we should consider when regulated behavior may be maladaptive and when dysregulated behavior may reflect coping. Third, we should examine coping strategies and outcomes that may explain why some adverse experiences promote better EFs and SR. Fourth, we should study how dyadic, family, and communal co-regulation processes support coping. Finally, we should develop novel strength-based approaches to promoting coping-relevant EFs and SR. Our recommendations for future research are summarized in Table 14.2.

More Equitable and Inclusive Assessments of Executive Functions and Self-Regulation

363

Standardized EF tasks have been considered to provide a decontextualized, even objective. measure of EF skills. However, studies of both adults and children reveal that performance on EF tasks can be affected by situational stressors and structural inequities (Obradović & Stever, 2022). Experimental manipulation of financial worries decreased EF performance only in adults who faced financial difficulties in real life and had no effect on high-income adults (Mani et al., 2013). By comparing EF performances of children who participated in a study either 1 week before or after a violent crime happened in their neighborhood, researchers found that a recent nearby homicide was linked to lower levels of preschoolers' attention and impulse control (Sharkey et al., 2012). Similarly, a study of elementary school children from a low-income urban community revealed that living within a half mile of crime that occurred the week before testing was associated with faster and more error-prone responses, when compared to peers who were assessed either before or well after a crime incident (McCoy et al., 2015). It is critical that studies consider the role of sleep, stress arousal, and fatigue on children's EF performance, rather than presuming that EF tasks are decontextualized, objective measures of children's EF skills. Examining children's concurrent physiological stress response may provide insights into how acute stressors and challenges may further undermine children's performance on research tasks (Heissel et al., 2021; Obradović & Armstrong-Carter, 2020). Young children's stress response during assessment procedures also interacts with their family economic risk in predicting performance on EF tasks and observer ratings of their
Table 14.2	Key	issues	and .	future	directions
------------	-----	--------	-------	--------	------------

Conceptualization	 Clearly distinguish between EFs/SR, coping strategies, and markers of positive adaptation at a conceptual and empirical level. Develop stress-adapted, culturally relevant approaches to promoting EFs and SR in contexts of risk and adversity. Reconceptualize what is considered adaptive or maladaptive behaviors across different contexts and cultures.
Assessment	 Ensure that extant and new measures and assessment procedures are developmentally appropriate, inclusive, unbiased, and culturally relevant. Investigate how assessments are related to situational stressors and structural inequalities. Employ measures that examine co-regulation and coping processes at dyadic, family, and community levels. Differentiate among different types of adverse experiences when studying how they are linked to EFs/SR and coping.
Development	 Investigate how early co-regulation experiences in family relationships affect the development and application of EFs/SR and coping strategies. Investigate how stress and adversity are related to the development of coping strategies use and associations between coping and adaptation. Investigate nonlinear growth patterns.
Context	 Investigate how contextual levels of SR (e.g., family or classroom) are related to coping strategy use and adaptation. Investigate how contexts affect whether EFs/SR support or reflect adaptive or maladaptive coping strategies. Investigate intra-individual variability in associations between EFs/SR, coping, and adaptation.
Study design	 Conduct research outside of Western, educated, industrialized, rich, and democratic (WEIRD) settings. Conduct research directly linking EFs/SR to coping strategy use and effectiveness. Investigate proximal coping processes that mediate the association between EFs/SR and adaptation. Investigate how "hot" and "cool" EFs are related to coping. Test moderated mediation models linking adversity, EFs/SR, coping, and adaptation.

SR behaviors (Obradović et al., 2016): Specifically, heightened cortisol response during a laboratory visit was associated with better performance and behavior in more economically advantaged children and worse performance and behavior in more economically disadvantaged children.

Additionally, perceptions of the assessors' behavior may affect children's performance

on tasks, as studies of preschoolers show that their ability to delay gratification could be influenced by experimental manipulation of the assessor's trustworthiness (Kidd et al., 2013; Michaelson & Munakata, 2016; Moffett et al., 2020). Given that developmental research is still conducted primarily by White researchers (Roberts et al., 2020), it is important to investigate whether demographic match or mismatch between the assessors and the participants may influence children's task performance and whether it has implications for how EF may relate to coping with stress. More adaptation work is needed to ensure that assessments of EF skills are accessible and not confounded by children's language or cultural knowledge. Ultimately, researchers employing standardized performance-based assessments should consider and model differences in children's subjective experience of the assessment context and procedures as well as acute stressors (e.g., fatigue, hunger, anxiety), without assuming that these tasks measure only differences in skills (Obradović & Stever, 2022).

Similarly, researchers using adult reports to assess children's and adolescents' SR behaviors should examine potential sources of reporter bias. For example, teachers provide a unique perspective into children's selfregulation behaviors in the classroom setting (e.g., Fuhs et al., 2015; Toplak et al., 2013) that complements direct assessment of EF skills in explaining additional variability in children's adaptation (Dekker et al., 2017: Lonigan et al., 2017; Obradović et al., 2018), but adult reported measures need to be more equitable and inclusive. Behavioral markers of students' SR should rely less on behaviors that exemplify compliance with teachers' and schools' rules and expectations as well as mainstream academic engagement and achievement, especially when they are not sensitive to diverse students' cultural and ethnic/ racial values and experiences. Given the discriminatory classroom and disciplinary practices experienced by students of color, and especially Black students, in the United States (Annamma et al., 2020; Gregory & Fergus, 2017), disobedience or obstinacy in these contexts may indicate resistance or even active coping and should not be equated with low SR capacities (Spencer, 2007). Thus, it is important to consider how educational

contexts and experiences may support or undermine expressions of children's SR behaviors, while also training teachers to recognize and correct any systemic demographic biases they may hold when observing and reporting on student SR behaviors (e.g., Garcia et al., 2019).

We also need to expand empirical research on how self-regulatory and coping behavioral expectations vary across different settings and develop culturally and community-relevant assessment tools beyond Western, educated, industrialized. rich. and democratic (WEIRD) contexts. A recent mixed-method study in rural Tanzania found that parents and teachers consider being respectful, obedient, disciplined, polite, calm, and an active listener to be the most important socioemotional competencies of elementary school children (Jukes et al., 2021). It is critical that we expand our conceptualization and measurement of culturally relevant self-regulatory behaviors that support coping and adaptation in non-WEIRD and low-and-middle-income country (LMIC) settings. Ecologically valid assessments of EF and SR will provide more accurate understandings of how these skills and behaviors support coping across contexts.

Reconceptualizing What Is Adaptive and Maladaptive

An extensive body of literature in the United States has established that greater ability to control one's attention, behavior, and emotions is related to more optimal developmental outcomes, ranging from school readiness and academic achievement to better mental health, as indexed by lower internalizing and externalizing behavioral symptoms (Eisenberg et al., 2010; Zelazo et al., 2016). Further, a growing number of studies in LMIC contexts corroborate that greater levels of EF skills, and to a lesser extent reports of SR behaviors, are

365

associated with greater cognitive skills and achievement academic (Obradović & Willoughby, 2019; Suntheimer et al., 2021). As a result, EFs have been conceptualized as a promotive and protective factor in children's and youth's lives. However, a longitudinal study by Brody and colleagues (2013) demonstrated that in African American nineteenyear-olds from more economically disadvantaged families, displaying SR behaviors consistent with mainstream expectations may have a physiological cost that places those well-regulated individuals at higher risk for subsequent health problems. A study of coping profiles across economically disadvantaged and community samples of adolescents found that a "cognitive coping" profile, indexed by above-average use of cognitive engagement and disengagement strategies, was adaptive in a lower-stress context but maladaptive in the context of chronic and uncontrollable povertyrelated stress (Perzow et al., 2021). Studies of SR and coping behaviors must take a longitudinal, multilevel analysis approach to reexamine what is adaptive across biological, behavioral, and relational psychological, systems and identify any trade-offs or contextual moderators.

At the same time, it is important to consider that behaviors that have been traditionally considered dysregulated may be adaptive responses to specific contextual stressors or broader systemic inequities. For example, Gaylord-Harden and colleagues (2018)observe that some African American boys' and youths' hypermasculine behaviors can be perceived as dysregulation, even when these behaviors are a coping strategy in response to ongoing experiences of discrimination, threats, and mistreatment. While acknowledging that traditional reports of SR serve as a protective factor for a majority of African American boys who display high levels of these behaviors. there is a need for a more nuanced

conceptualization of adaptive SR behaviors one that considers both the competing environmental demands and psychological needs of children facing discrimination and racism. Through mathematical modeling, Fenneman and Frankenhuis (2020) found that informational impulsivity, or acting quickly without deliberation or planning, is adaptive when available resources are low quality or unpredictable. Further, McCoy and colleagues (2015) found that children's anxiety moderated the effects of proximal community violence on their selective attention, such that low anxiety was associated with increased attention to negative images and decreased attention to positive images (i.e., a vigilant response pattern), whereas high anxiety was associated with increased attention to positive images and decreased attention to negative images (i.e., an avoidant response pattern) in the context of recent violent crime. This work highlights a complex interplay of adaptation, cognitive processing, and coping. Future research should investigate how regulation of attention, behavior, and emotions reflects coping and adaptation to one's lived experiences and how these adaptations affect subsequent health, learning, and relationships.

The Role of Coping in Understanding How Adverse Experiences May Promote EFs and SR

Traditionally, research on EFs and SR in the contexts of stress and adversity has adopted a deficit model in which adverse experiences undermine the development of these important skills and behaviors. Nevertheless, recent years have witnessed the emergence of promising new directions that aim to show how some adverse experiences may foster EFs and SR. First, we need to reconsider what constitutes an adverse experience. A growing number of studies show that some challenging or adverse experiences may be positively linked to EFs

and SR (Finch & Obradović, 2017; Howard et al., 2020; Warren & Barnett, 2020). Our work also highlights the need to consider nonlinear associations when studying EFs and SR in relation to stress and adversity. We found that parental emotional challenges were linked to children's cool EFs and observed SR in an inverted U-shaped fashion (Finch & Obradović, 2017). Corroborating the notion of a "steeling effect," mild-to-moderate parental emotional challenges were related to the highest levels of EFs and SR in a community sample of kindergarten children in the USA.

Reflecting on empirical work that shows that some social and cognitive capacities may be enhanced in children and adults who experienced stress and adversity, Frankenhuis et al. (2020) advocate for studying so-called hidden talents or stress-adapted abilities. Recent work demonstrates that certain experiences of adversity may be associated with better EF performance. For example, adults who reported growing up in unpredictable, chaotic families performed better on a shifting EF task than adults who grew up in more stable home environments - but only when tested under conditions of uncertainty (Mittal et al., 2015). In addition, a study of Nigerian children revealed that those experiencing more disadvantage by living in institutional homes and foster families performed better on a working memory task than their less disadvantaged peers (Nweze et al., 2021). Further, studies show that enhanced cognitive performance might occur only for stressrelevant information (Frankenhuis et al., 2019; Goodman et al., 2019) that may be especially relevant for coping. While this research program has several conceptual and methodological challenges to address (Frankenhuis et al., 2020), it offers a framework for studying which types of stimuli or assessment conditions may reveal enhanced EFs or alternative displays of SR in a way

that reflects or promotes coping efforts and adaptation to adverse circumstances.

Dyadic, Family, Classroom, and Communal Processes

EF skills and SR behaviors are typically studied at a child level. Individual children complete performance-based standardized EF tasks, or adults observe and rate the frequency or degree of individual children's behaviors. However, in real-life settings, children's application of EF skills and displays of SR behaviors are dynamic processes that involve interactions and co-regulation with others. Indeed, young children's capacities for regulating their own attention, behavior, and emotion emerge from the quality of co-regulation experiences with their primary caregivers (Calkins et al., 2007; Feldman, 2017; Sroufe et al., 2005). By responding in a sensitive and contingent way to infants' and toddlers' needs, and by engaging in positive reciprocal interactions, caregivers build a foundation for developing self-regulation as children internalize behavioral expectations and strategies to control impulses, ignore distractions, and manage negative emotions.

To capture the quality of dynamic, dyadic co-regulation, researchers have employed an analytic technique known as the State-Space Grid, which represents the regulatory behavioral states of each dyad member (e.g., parent, child) in two-dimensional *space*, such that each grid cell represents a possible dyadic state of co-occurring parent and child behaviors (Hollenstein, 2013). Using this method, studies have found that preschoolers and kindergarteners had greater teacher-reported social skills and self-regulated classroom behaviors when they spent more time in stable co-regulated states with their parents (Bardack et al., 2017; Lunkenheimer & Wang, 2017). Since the positive parent-child co-regulation space can include the child's dysregulated behaviors as long as the parent responds in a sensitive and supportive manner, this approach does not pathologize age-appropriate and contextappropriate displays of negative emotions and behaviors. As such, operationalizing dvadic co-regulation in this way may reveal novel ways by which caregivers can support children's coping, especially since coregulation most often emerges in the context of coping with contextual stressors or in response to child's negative emotions and behaviors. This analytic approach should be expanded to study how teacher-student coregulation may support or undermine students' emotion expression, self-regulation, and coping in educational settings.

Whole-family regulatory dynamics, such as family adaptability, family conflict, and family mealtime routines, have been implicated in studies of child and family resilience (MacPhee et al., 2015). However, overreliance on survey-based instruments and a lack of coregulation measures among siblings, triads, and larger family systems limit our understanding of the interplay between family-level processes and children's self-regulation and coping. For example, researchers have scarcely explored the role of nonresident grandparents and three-generational households in contributing to diverse families' regulatory dynamics and coping processes (Dunifon, 2013). Further, most existing studies on family regulatory dynamics have been conducted in Western high-income countries, especially the United States, or with measures developed for use with WEIRD populations. Yet family structures, roles, and regulatory dynamics are shaped by cultural, racial/ethnic, and socioeconomic experiences. For example, a study of Israeli and Palestinian families revealed that family conflict resolution predicted toddlers' dysregulated behaviors in both cultures, but the processes by which resolution was achieved were culturally specific (Feldman et al., 2010). As we expand studies of coping to focus on processes beyond individual actions to include the roles of families and communities, it is critical that we expand our measurement toolkit to capture the diversity of co-regulation processes that are relevant to group-level coping strategies.

In the United States, some educators are implementing reward systems that focus on whole-classroom behavioral states (e.g., everyone being on-task or demonstrating good listening skills) rather than rating individual students' behaviors. This interdependent group contingency approach encourages students to see themselves as part of a larger classroom community and contribute to the group's effort by regulating their own attention and behavior (Joslyn et al., 2019). Given that experimental studies demonstrate that preschoolers' performance on EF tasks can be improved through manipulation of children's perceptions of their group's skills and norms (Doebel & Munakata, 2018: Munakata et al., 2020), the effectiveness of these new pedagogical approaches should be studied in classroom settings. These studies should employ group assessment procedures to measure individuals' EF skills and SR behaviors in all students simultaneously (Obradović et al., 2018; Sulik & Obradović, 2018) and use an aggregated EFs and SR measure as a classroom-level variable (e.g., Finch et al., 2019). Future work should also identify specific classroom-level supports and processes that promote self-regulation and coping through children's sense of belonging and communal experience. For example, ritualized versions of school games designed to promote EFs (i.e., activities presented as conventions with no rationale or stated goal) yielded better results than instrumental versions of the same activities (i.e., those presented with instructions that include a goal-directed rationale) in young children from Central Europe and Melanesia (Rybanska et al., 2018). Haslam and colleagues (2019) posit that in LMICs, regulation is a less individualistic and more collective effort. They advocate for studies of collective efficacy as a form of "collective regulation" such as community capacity to regulate or direct individuals' or groups' behaviors to create safe environments. In such contexts, collective regulation may be more predictive of collective coping and adaptation, or even a marker of collective proactive coping, highlighting how these constructs overlap in practice.

Promoting Coping-Relevant Executive Functions and Self-Regulation

In recent years, researchers have also called for rethinking EF and SR research to inform efforts to reduce racial, social, and economic structural inequalities (Raver & Blair, 2020). As studies shift to measure family-level and community-level regulatory processes, it is important to consider and identify systemic inequities that families and communities face that may undermine their regulatory capacities. For example, studies have linked household chaos to lower levels of children's EFs and SR (Berry et al., 2016; Sturge-Apple et al., 2017). Given that household chaos is a family-level construct of instability and disorganization, one may assume that caregivers have agency in or responsibility for this type of family dysregulation. However, a recent meta-analysis emphasized that household chaos reflects systemic inequities rather than family choices. Household events that reflect instability and a lack of systemic supports (e.g., changes in residence, employment, caregivers, and routines) correlated more strongly with lower EFs and SR than household markers of everyday disorganization (e.g., presence of noise, clutter, crowding, and

repairs) (Andrews et al., 2021). We need to further investigate how differences in family and community routines, resources, and experiences that support EF skills and coproduce SR behaviors may be confounded with or representative of societal inequalities. Future research should also investigate whether changes in system-level policies and practices affect the development and use of EFs and SR and their relation to coping.

369

At the same time, researchers need to develop new measures and methods to study culturally relevant family and community experiences that promote EFs and SR, as current contextual assessments center experiences of WEIRD settings and predominantly White upper-middle-class families in those countries (Miller-Cotto et al., 2022; Obradović & Willoughby, 2019). By focusing on culturespecific environmental stimulation, caregiving behaviors, and daily activities, we can identify how diverse familial and communal systems, relationships, responsibilities, routines, and rituals may contribute to EFs and SR as well as coping.

Finally, it is crucial that future work examines intra-individual variability in EFs and SR, including its relation to environmental factors that can fluctuate over relatively short time periods, such as sleep quality (Anderson et al., 2009) and caregivers' well-being (Finegood & Blair, 2017). Identifying day-today experiences that affect children's capacity for self-regulation would help provide targets for intervention that leverage and amplify children's existing strengths and supports. Diary methods and ecological momentary assessments could be used to better understand how self-regulatory skills and coping are related within individuals (e.g., Papadakis et al., 2018). A focus on intra-individual processes would also help us understand bidirectional associations between EFs/SR and coping - for example, successful coping may reduce an individual's stress level, leading to increased self-regulatory capacity, and yet successful coping may also depend on an individual's regulation skills. In turn, knowledge of these reciprocal relations can inform the design of interventions to support a virtuous cycle in which coping and self-regulatory skills codevelop in a mutually reinforcing way.

Conclusion

Despite clear conceptual implications and robust empirical evidence that EFs, SR, and coping strategies all contribute to adaptive outcomes in the contexts of heightened stress and adversity, researchers have largely studied EFs/SR separately from coping. With the renewed commitment to make developmental science more relevant, inclusive, and just for children and youth around the globe (Brown et al., 2019), we must investigate the interplay of EFs, SR, coping, and adaptation across different timescales, developmental stages, systems, and contexts. To support new generations that will need to cope with growing global economic, racial, and climate injustices, we need a new wave of research that will identify how and when we can promote copingrelevant EFs and SR in a way that centers policy changes, cultural diversity, and systemlevel processes.

References

- Alba, L. A., Flannery, J., Shapiro, M., & Tottenham, N. (2019). Working memory moderates the association between early institutional care and separation anxiety symptoms in late childhood and adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 31(3), 989–997. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579419000452
- Anderson, B., Storfer-Isser, A., Taylor, H. G., Rosen, C. L., & Redline, S. (2009). Associations

of executive function with sleepiness and sleep duration in adolescents. *Pediatrics*, *123*(4), e701–e707. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-1182

- Andreotti, C., Thigpen, J. E., Dunn, M. J., Watson, K., Potts, J., Reising, M. M., Robinson, K. E., Rodriguez, E. M., Roubinov, D., Luecken, L., & Compas, B. E. (2013). Cognitive reappraisal and secondary control coping: Associations with working memory, positive and negative affect, and symptoms of anxiety/depression. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 26(1), 20–35. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10615806.2011.631526
- Andrews, K., Atkinson, L., Harris, M., & Gonzalez, A. (2021). Examining the effects of household chaos on child executive functions: A metaanalysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 147(1), 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000311
- Annamma, S. A., Handy, T., Miller, A. L., & Jackson, E. (2020). Animating discipline disparities through debilitating practices: Girls of color and inequitable classroom interactions. *Teachers College Record*, *122*(5), 1–46. https:// doi.org/10.1177/016146812012200512
- Bardack, S., Herbers, J. E., & Obradović, J. (2017). Unique contributions of dynamic versus global measures of parent–child interaction quality in predicting school adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 31(6), 649–658. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/fam0000296
- Bardack, S., & Obradović, J. (2017). Emotional behavior problems, parent emotion socialization, and gender as determinants of teacher-child closeness. *Early Education and Development*, 28(5), 507–524. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10409289.2017.1279530
- Belsky, J., Fearon, R. M., & Bell, B. (2007). Parenting, attention and externalizing problems: Testing mediation longitudinally, repeatedly and reciprocally. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48(12), 1233–1242. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01807.x
- Berry, D. (2012). Inhibitory control and teacherchild conflict: Reciprocal associations across the elementary-school years. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 33(1), 66–76. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2011.10.002

- Berry, D., Blair, C., Willoughby, M., Garrett-Peters, P., Vernon-Feagans, L., & Mills-Koonce, W. R. (2016). Household chaos and children's cognitive and socio-emotional development in early childhood: Does childcare play a buffering role? *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 34, 115–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecresq.2015.09.003
- Berthelsen, D., Hayes, N., White, S. L. J., & Williams, K. E. (2017). Executive function in adolescence: Associations with child and family risk factors and self-regulation in early childhood. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00903
- Best, J. R., Miller, P. H., & Jones, L. L. (2009). Executive functions after age 5: Changes and correlates. *Developmental Review*, 29(3), 180–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dr.2009.05.002
- Bindman, S. W., Pomerantz, E. M., & Roisman, G. I. (2015). Do children's executive functions account for associations between early autonomy-supportive parenting and achievement through high school? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 107(3), 756–770. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000017
- Blair, K. A., Denham, S. A., Kochanoff, A., & Whipple, B. (2004). Playing it cool: Temperament, emotion regulation, and social behavior in preschoolers. *Journal of School Psychology*, 42(6), 419–443. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jsp.2004.10.002
- Brock, L. L., Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., Nathanson, L., & Grimm, K. J. (2009). The contributions of 'hot' and 'cool' executive function to children's academic achievement, learning-related behaviors, and engagement in kindergarten. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 24(3), 337–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecresg.2009.06.001
- Brody, G. H., Yu, T., Chen, E., Miller, G. E., Kogan, S. M., & Beach, S. R. H. (2013). Is resilience only skin deep? Rural African Americans' socioeconomic status–related risk and competence in preadolescence and psychological adjustment and allostatic load at age 19. *Psychological Science*, 24(7),

1285–1293. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797612471954

- Brophy-Herb, H. E., Zajicek-Farber, M. L., Bocknek, E. L., McKelvey, L. M., & Stansbury, K. (2013). Longitudinal connections of maternal supportiveness and early emotion regulation to children's school readiness in low-income families. *Journal of the Society for Social Work* and Research, 4(1), 2–19. https://doi.org/10.5243/ jsswr.2013.1
- Brown, C. S., Mistry, R. S., & Yip, T. (2019). Moving from the margins to the mainstream: Equity and justice as key considerations for developmental science. *Child Development Perspectives*, *13*(4), 235–240. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdep.12340
- Brown, E. D., Ackerman, B. P., & Moore, C. A. (2013). Family adversity and inhibitory control for economically disadvantaged children: Preschool relations and associations with school readiness. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 27(3), 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032886
- Calkins, S., Hill, A., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Caregiver influences on emerging emotion regulation: Biological and environmental transactions in early development. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handboook of emotion regulation* (pp. 229–248). Guilford Press.
- Campbell, L. K., Scaduto, M., Van Slyke, D., Niarhos, F., Whitlock, J. A., & Compas, B. E. (2008). Executive function, coping, and behavior in survivors of childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 34(3), 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsn080
- Carlson, S. M., & Wang, T. S. (2007). Inhibitory control and emotion regulation in preschool children. *Cognitive Development*, 22(4), 489–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2007.08.002
- Coe, J. L., Micalizzi, L., Josefson, B., Parade, S. H., Seifer, R., & Tyrka, A. R. (2020). Sex differences in associations between early adversity, child temperament, and behavior problems. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(6), 490–504. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025420912012
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001).

Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87

- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunn, M. J., & Rodriguez, E. M. (2012). Coping with chronic illness in childhood and adolescence. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 8(1), 455–480. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143108
- Connolly, S. L., Wagner, C. A., Shapero, B. G., Pendergast, L. L., Abramson, L. Y., & Alloy, L. B. (2014). Rumination prospectively predicts executive functioning impairments in adolescents. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 45(1), 46–56. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2013.07.009
- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, R. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- Dahlquist, L. M., Gaultney, W. M., Bento, S. P., Steiner, E. M., Zeroth, J. A., Parr, N. J., & Quiton, R. L. (2019). Working memory and visual discrimination distraction tasks improve cold pressor pain tolerance in children. *Health Psychology*, 39(1), 10–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/hea0000789
- Davis, R. N., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2000). Cognitive inflexibility among ruminators and nonruminators. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 24(6), 699–711. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1005591412406
- de Wilde, A., Koot, H. M., & van Lier, P. A. C. (2016). Developmental links between children's working memory and their social relations with

teachers and peers in the early school years. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 44, 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0053-4

- Dekker, M. C., Ziermans, T. B., Spruijt, A. M., & Swaab, H. (2017). Cognitive, parent and teacher rating measures of executive functioning: Shared and unique influences on school achievement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00048
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64, 135–168. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Dickson, K. S., Ciesla, J. A., & Zelic, K. (2017). The role of executive functioning in adolescent rumination and depression. *Cognitive Therapy* and Research, 41(1), 62–72. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10608-016-9802-0
- Doebel, S., & Munakata, Y. (2018). Group influences on engaging self-control: Children delay gratification and value it more when their in-group delays and their out-group doesn't. *Psychological Science*, 29(5), 738–748. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0956797617747367
- Dunifon, R. (2013). The influence of grandparents on the lives of children and adolescents. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(1), 55–60. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12016
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Bernzweig, J., Karbon, M., Poulin, R., & Hanish, L. (1993). The relations of emotionality and regulation to preschoolers' social skills and sociometric status. *Child Development*, 64(5), 1418–1438. https:// doi.org/10.2307/1131543
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Eggum, N. D. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 6, 495–525. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. clinpsy.121208.131208
- Eisenberg, N., Valiente, C., & Sulik, M. J. (2009). How the study of regulation can inform the study of coping. *New Directions in Child and Adolescent Development*, 2009(124), 75–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.244
- Eisenberg, N., Zhou, Q., Spinrad, T. L., Valiente, C., Fabes, R. A., & Liew, J. (2005). Relations

among positive parenting, children's effortful control, and externalizing problems: A three-wave longitudinal study. *Child Development*, *76*(5), 1055–1071. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00897.x

- Eliot, M., Cornell, D., Gregory, A., & Fan, X. (2010). Supportive school climate and student willingness to seek help for bullying and threats of violence. *Journal of School Psychology*, 48(6), 533–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jsp.2010.07.001
- Esposito, C., Bacchini, D., Eisenberg, N., & Affuso, G. (2017). Effortful control, exposure to community violence, and aggressive behavior: Exploring cross-lagged relations in adolescence. *Aggressive Behavior*, 43(6), 588–600. https://doi. org/10.1002/ab.21717
- Evans, L. D., Kouros, C. D., Samanez-Larkin, S., & Garber, J. (2016). Concurrent and short-term prospective relations among neurocognitive functioning, coping, and depressive symptoms in youth. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 45(1), 6–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15374416.2014.982282
- Fabes, R. A., & Eisenberg, N. (1992). Young children's coping with interpersonal anger. *Child Development*, 63(1), 116–128. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1130906
- Feldman, R. (2017). The neurobiology of human attachments. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(2), 80–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.11.007
- Feldman, R., Masalha, S., & Derdikman-Eiron, R. (2010). Conflict resolution in the parent–child, marital, and peer contexts and children's aggression in the peer group: A process-oriented cultural perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(2), 310–325. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018286
- Fenneman, J., & Frankenhuis, W. E. (2020). Is impulsive behavior adaptive in harsh and unpredictable environments? A formal model. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 41(4), 261–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. evolhumbehav.2020.02.005
- Fergus, S., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2005). Adolescent resilience: A framework for understanding healthy development in the face of risk. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 26,

399–419. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. publhealth.26.021304.144357

- Finch, J. E., Garcia, E. B., Sulik, M. J., & Obradović, J. (2019). Peers matter: Links between classmates' and individual students' executive functions in elementary school. *AERA Open*, 5(1), Article 2332858419829438. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2332858419829438
- Finch, J. E., & Obradović, J. (2017). Unique effects of socioeconomic and emotional parental challenges on children's executive functions. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 52, 126–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. appdev.2017.07.004
- Finegood, E. D., & Blair, C. (2017). Poverty, parent stress, and emerging executive functions in young children. In K. Deater-Deckard & R. Panneton (Eds.), *Parental stress and early child development* (pp. 181–207). Springer International Publishing.
- Fletcher, J. M., Marks, A. D. G., & Hine, D. W. (2011). Working memory capacity and cognitive styles in decision-making. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(7), 1136–1141. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.02.002
- Frankenhuis, W. E., Vries, S. A., Bianchi, J., & Ellis, B. J. (2019). Hidden talents in harsh conditions? A preregistered study of memory and reasoning about social dominance. *Developmental Science*, 23(4), Article e12835. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12835
- Frankenhuis, W. E., Young, E. S., & Ellis, B. J. (2020). The hidden talents approach: Theoretical and methodological challenges. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 24(7), 569–581. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tics.2020.03.007
- Friedman, N. P., & Banich, M. T. (2019). Questionnaires and task-based measures assess different aspects of self-regulation: Both are needed. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(49), 24396–24397. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1915315116
- Fuhs, M., Farran, D. C., & Nesbitt, K. T. (2015). Prekindergarten children's executive functioning skills and achievement gains: The utility of direct assessments and teacher ratings. *Journal of*

Educational Psychology, *107*(1), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037366

- Gago Galvagno, L. G., De Grandis, M. C., Clerici, G. D., Mustaca, A. E., Miller, S. E., & Elgier, A. M. (2019). Regulation during the second year: Executive function and emotion regulation links to joint attention, temperament, and social vulnerability in a Latin American sample. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01473
- Ganesalingam, K., Yeates, K. O., Sanson, A., & Anderson, V. (2007). Social problem-solving skills following childhood traumatic brain injury and its association with self-regulation and social and behavioural functioning. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, *1*(2), 149–170. https://doi.org/ 10.1348/174866407X185300
- Garcia, E. B., Sulik, M. J., & Obradović, J. (2019). Teachers' perceptions of students' executive functions: Disparities by gender, ethnicity, and ELL status. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *111*(5), 918–931. https://doi.org/10.1037/ edu0000308
- Gathercole, S. E., Alloway, T. P., Kirkwood, H. J., Elliott, J. G., Holmes, J., & Hilton, K. A. (2008). Attentional and executive function behaviours in children with poor working memory. *Learning* and Individual Differences, 18(2), 214–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2007.10.003
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Barbarin, O., Tolan, P. H., & Murry, V. M. (2018). Understanding development of African American boys and young men: Moving from risks to positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, *73*(6), 753–767. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000300
- Goodman, G. S., Quas, J. A., Goldfarb, D.,
 Gonzalves, L., & Gonzalez, A. (2019). Trauma and long-term memory for childhood events:
 Impact matters. *Child Development Perspectives*, 13(1), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12307
- Graziano, P. A., Garb, L. R., Ros, R., Hart, K., & Garcia, A. (2016). Executive functioning and school readiness among preschoolers with externalizing problems: The moderating role of the student–teacher relationship. *Early Education and Development*, 27(5), 573–589. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1102019

- Gregory, A., & Fergus, E. (2017). Social and emotional learning and equity in school discipline. *The Future of Children*, *27*(1), 117–136.
- Gulley, L. D., Hankin, B. L., & Young, J. F. (2016). Risk for depression and anxiety in youth: The interaction between negative affectivity, effortful control, and stressors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44, 207–218. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10802-015-9997-7
- Gullone, E., Hughes, E. K., King, N. J., & Tonge, B. (2010). The normative development of emotion regulation strategy use in children and adolescents: A 2-year follow-up study: A longitudinal study of two specific emotion regulation strategies. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*(5), 567–574. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02183.x
- Halladay, J., Bennett, K., Weist, M., Boyle, M., Manion, I., Campo, M., & Georgiades, K. (2020). Teacher–student relationships and mental health help seeking behaviors among elementary and secondary students in Ontario Canada. *Journal of School Psychology*, *81*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2020.05.003
- Handley, S. J., Capon, A., Beveridge, M., Dennis, I., & Evans, J. S. B. (2004). Working memory, inhibitory control and the development of children's reasoning. *Thinking & Reasoning*, *10*(2), 175–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13546780442000051
- Harmon, S. L., Kistner, J. A., & Kofler, M. J. (2020). Neurocognitive correlates of rumination risk in children: Comparing competing model predictions in a clinically heterogeneous sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 48, 1197–1210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-020-00661-4
- Haslam, D., Mejia, A., Thomson, D., & Betancourt, T. (2019). Self-regulation in lowand middle-income countries: Challenges and future directions. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 22, 104–117. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10567-019-00278-0
- Heissel, J. A., Adam, E. K., Doleac, J. L., Figlio, D. N., & Meer, J. (2021). Testing, stress, and performance: How students respond

physiologically to high-stakes testing. *Education Finance and Policy*, *16*(2), 183–208. https://doi. org/10.1162/edfp_a_00306

Hilt, L. M., Armstrong, J. M., & Essex, M. J. (2012). Early family context and development of adolescent ruminative style: Moderation by temperament. *Cognition & Emotion*, 26(5), 916–926. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02699931.2011.621932

Hilt, L. M., Leitzke, B. T., & Pollak, S. D. (2014). Cognitive control and rumination in youth: The importance of emotion. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, *5*, 302–313. https://doi.org/ 10.5127/jep.038113

Hilton, D. C., Jarrett, M. A., McDonald, K. L., & Ollendick, T. H. (2017). Attention problems as a mediator of the relation between executive function and social problems in a child and adolescent outpatient sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 45, 777–788. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-016-0200-6

Hinnant, J. B., & Forman-Alberti, A. B. (2019). Deviant peer behavior and adolescent delinquency: Protective effects of inhibitory control, planning, or decision making? *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(3), 682–695. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jora.12405

Hocking, M. C., Barnes, M., Shaw, C., Lochman, J. E., Madan-Swain, A., & Saeed, S. (2011). Executive function and attention regulation as predictors of coping success in youth with functional abdominal pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 36(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jpepsy/jsq056

Hollenstein, T. (2013). State space grids: Depicting dynamics across development. Springer.

Howard, S. J., Cook, C. J., Everts, L., Melhuish, E., Scerif, G., Norris, S., Twine, R., Kahn, K., & Draper, C. E. (2020). Challenging socioeconomic status: A cross-cultural comparison of early executive function. *Developmental Science*, 23(1), Article e12854. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12854

Hughes, C., & Ensor, R. (2007). Executive function and theory of mind: Predictive relations from ages 2 to 4. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(6),

1447–1459. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1447

375

Jackson, J. L., Gerardo, G. M., Monti, J. D., Schofield, K. A., & Vannatta, K. (2018). Executive function and internalizing symptoms in adolescents and young adults with congenital heart disease: The role of coping. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 43(8), 906–915. https://doi. org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsx154

Jakubovic, R. J., & Drabick, D. A. G. (2020). Community violence exposure and youth aggression: The moderating role of working memory. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 48, 1471–1484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-020-00683-y

Joseph, H. M., McKone, K. M. P., Molina, B. S. G., & Shaw, D. S. (2021). Maternal parenting and toddler temperament: Predictors of early school age attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder-related behaviors. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49, 763–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-021-00778-0

Joslyn, P. R., Donaldson, J. M., Austin, J. L., & Vollmer, T. R. (2019). The Good Behavior Game: A brief review. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 52(3), 811–815. https://doi. org/10.1002/jaba.572

Jukes, M. C. H., Mgonda, N. L., Tibenda, J. J., Gabrieli, P., Jeremiah, G., Betts, K. L., Williams, J., & Bub, K. L. (2021). Building an assessment of community-defined socialemotional competencies from the ground up in Tanzania. *Child Development*, 92(6), e1095–e1109. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13673

Kidd, C., Palmeri, H., & Aslin, R. N. (2013). Rational snacking: Young children's decisionmaking on the marshmallow task is moderated by beliefs about environmental reliability. *Cognition*, 126(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cognition.2012.08.004

Kim, H. Y., Brown, L., Tubbs Dolan, C., Sheridan, M., & Aber, J. L. (2020). Post-migration risks, developmental processes, and learning among Syrian refugee children in Lebanon. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 69, 101142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101142

- Kim, S., Nordling, J. K., Yoon, J. E., Boldt, L. J., & Kochanska, G. (2012). Effortful control in "hot" and "cool" tasks differentially predicts children's behavior problems and academic performance. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 41, 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10802-012-9661-4
- Kopystynska, O., Spinrad, T. L., Seay, S. M., & Eisenberg, N. (2016). The interplay of maternal sensitivity and gentle control when predicting children's subsequent academic functioning: Evidence of mediation by effortful control. *Developmental Psychology*, 52(6), 909–921. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000122
- Lantrip, C., Isquith, P. K., Koven, N. S., Welsh, K., & Roth, R. M. (2016). Executive function and emotion regulation strategy use in adolescents. *Applied Neuropsychology: Child*, 5(1), 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2014.960567
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Leerkes, E. M., Supple, A. J., Su, J., & Cavanaugh, A. M. (2015). Links between remembered childhood emotion socialization and adult adjustment: Similarities and differences between European American and African American women. *Journal of Family Issues*, 36(13), 1854–1877. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0192513X13505567
- Lei, H., Zhang, Q., Li, X., Yang, H., Du, W., & Shao, J. (2019). Cumulative risk and problem behaviors among Chinese left-behind children: A moderated mediation model. *School Psychology International*, 40(3), 309–328. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0143034319835255
- Lengua, L. J. (2002). The contribution of emotionality and self-regulation to the understanding of children's response to multiple risk. *Child Development*, 73(1), 144–161. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00397

Lengua, L. J., Bush, N. R., Long, A. C., Kovacs, E. A., & Trancik, A. M. (2008). Effortful control as a moderator of the relation between contextual risk factors and growth in adjustment problems. *Development and Psychopathology*, 20(2), 509–528. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579408000254

- Liew, J., Carlo, G., Streit, C., & Ispa, J. M. (2018). Parenting beliefs and practices in toddlerhood as precursors to self-regulatory, psychosocial, and academic outcomes in early and middle childhood in ethnically diverse low-income families. *Social Development*, 27(4), 891–909. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12306
- Lonigan, C. J., Allan, D. M., & Phillips, B. M. (2017). Examining the predictive relations between two aspects of self-regulation and growth in preschool children's early literacy skills. *Developmental Psychology*, 53(1), 63–76. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000247
- Loomis, A. M. (2021). The influence of early adversity on self-regulation and student-teacher relationships in preschool. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 54, 294–306. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.10.004
- Lunkenheimer, E., & Wang, J. (2017). It's OK to fail: Individual and dyadic regulatory antecedents of mastery motivation in preschool. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26, 1481–1490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0633-0
- Luthar, S. S., Cicchetti, D., & Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Development*, 71(3), 543–562. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-8624.00164
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation analysis. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 593–614. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085542
- MacPhee, D., Lunkenheimer, E., & Riggs, N. (2015). Resilience as regulation of developmental and family processes. *Family Relations*, 64(1), 153–175. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/fare.12100
- Mani, A., Mullainathan, S., Shafir, E., & Zhao, J. (2013). Poverty impedes cognitive function. *Science*, 341(6149), 976–980. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1238041
- Mariu, K. R., Merry, S. N., Robinson, E. M., & Watson, P. D. (2012). Seeking professional help for mental health problems, among New Zealand secondary school students. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 17(2),

284–297. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1359104511404176

- McCord, B. V., & Raval, V. V. (2016). Asian Indian immigrant and white American maternal emotion socialization and child socio-emotional functioning. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25, 464–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-15-0227-2
- McCoy, D. C., Raver, C. C., & Sharkey, P. (2015). Children's cognitive performance and selective attention following recent community violence. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 56(1), 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022146514567576
- McIntyre, L. L., Blacher, J., & Baker, B. L. (2006). The transition to school: Adaptation in young children with and without intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 50(5), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2006.00783.x
- McKinnon, R. D., & Blair, C. (2018). Does early executive function predict teacher–child relationships from kindergarten to second grade? *Developmental Psychology*, 54(11), 2053–2066. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000584
- McQuade, J. D., Murray-Close, D., Shoulberg, E. K., & Hoza, B. (2013). Working memory and social functioning in children. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 115(3), 422–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2013.03.002
- Menting, B., Van Lier, P. A. C., Koot, H. M., Pardini, D., & Loeber, R. (2016). Cognitive impulsivity and the development of delinquency from late childhood to early adulthood: Moderating effects of parenting behavior and peer relationships. *Development and Psychopathology*, 28(1), 167–183. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S095457941500036X
- Michaelson, L. E., & Munakata, Y. (2016). Trust matters: Seeing how an adult treats another person influences preschoolers' willingness to delay gratification. *Developmental Science*, *19*(6), 1011–1019. https://doi.org/10.1111/ desc.12388
- Miller-Cotto, D., Smith, L. V., Wang, A. H., & Ribner, A. D. (2022). Changing the conversation: A culturally responsive perspective

on executive functions, minoritized children and their families. *Infant and Child Development*, *31*(1), Article e2286. https://doi.org/10.1002/ icd.2286

- Mittal, C., Griskevicius, V., Simpson, J. A., Sung, S., & Young, E. S. (2015). Cognitive adaptations to stressful environments: When childhood adversity enhances adult executive function. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 109(4), 604–621. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000028
- Moffett, L., Flannagan, C., & Shah, P. (2020). The influence of environmental reliability in the marshmallow task: An extension study. *Journal* of Experimental Child Psychology, 194, Article 104821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jecp.2020.104821
- Munakata, Y., Yanaoka, K., Doebel, S., Guild, R. M., Michaelson, L. E., & Saito, S. (2020). Group influences on children's delay of gratification: Testing the roles of culture and personal connections. *Collabra: Psychology*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1525/collabra.265
- Muscara, F., Catroppa, C., & Anderson, V. (2008). Social problem-solving skills as a mediator between executive function and long-term social outcome following paediatric traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 2(2), 445–461. https://doi.org/10.1348/ 174866407X250820
- Nesbitt, K. T., Baker-Ward, L., & Willoughby, M. T. (2013). Executive function mediates socioeconomic and racial differences in early academic achievement. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28(4), 774–783. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.07.005
- Nilsen, E. S., & Bacso, S. A. (2017). Cognitive and behavioural predictors of adolescents' communicative perspective-taking and social relationships. *Journal of Adolescence*, 56(1), 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2017.01.004
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Wisco, B. E., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2008). Rethinking rumination. *Perspectives* on *Psychological Science*, 3(5), 400–424. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00088.x
- Nweze, T., Nwoke, M. B., Nwufo, J. I., Aniekwu, R. I., & Lange, F. (2021). Working for the

future: Parentally deprived Nigerian children have enhanced working memory ability. *Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 62(3), 280–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13241

- Obradović, J., & Armstrong-Carter, E. (2020). Addressing educational inequalities and promoting learning through studies of stress physiology in elementary school students. *Development and Psychopathology*, *32*(5), 1899–1913. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579420001443
- Obradović, J., & Finch, J. E. (2017). Linking executive function skills and physiological challenge response: Piecewise growth curve modeling. *Developmental Science*, 20(6), e12476. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12476
- Obradović, J., Portilla, X. A., & Ballard, P. J. (2016). Biological sensitivity to family income: Differential effects on early executive functioning. *Child Development*, *87*(2), 374–384. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12475
- Obradović, J., & Steyer, L. (2022). Direct assessment of elementary school students' executive functions and motivation in classroom settings. In S. Jones, N. Lesaux, & S. Barnes (Eds.), *Measuring and assessing non-cognitive skills to improve teaching and learning* (pp. 11–39). Guilford Press.
- Obradović, J., Sulik, M. J., Finch, J. E., & Tirado-Strayer, N. (2018). Assessing students' executive functions in the classroom: Validating a scalable group-based procedure. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 55, 4–13. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.appdev.2017.03.003
- Obradović, J., & Willoughby, M. T. (2019). Studying executive function skills in young children in low- and middle-income countries: Progress and directions. *Child Development Perspectives*, *13*(4), 227–234. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdep.12349
- O'Rourke, E. J., Halpern, L. F., & Vaysman, R. (2020). Examining the relations among emerging adult coping, executive function, and anxiety. *Emerging Adulthood*, 8(3), 209–225. https://doi. org/10.1177/2167696818797531
- Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2020). Drivers of human development: How

relationships and context shape learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(1), 6–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1398650

- Papadakis, J. L., Fuller, A. K., Brewer, S. K., Silton, R. L., & Santiago, C. D. (2018). A daily diary study of executive functions, coping, and mood among low-income Latino adolescents. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 38(6), 824–848. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0272431617699946
- Perry, N. B., Calkins, S. D., Dollar, J. M., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2018). Self-regulation as a predictor of patterns of change in externalizing behaviors from infancy to adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 30(2), 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579417000992
- Perry, N. B., Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2020). Maternal socialization of child emotion and adolescent adjustment: Indirect effects through emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000815
- Perzow, S. E. D., Bray, B. C., Wadsworth, M. E., Young, J. F., & Hankin, B. L. (2021). Individual differences in adolescent coping: Comparing a community sample and a low-SES sample to understand coping in context. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 50, 693–710. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10964-021-01398-z
- Portilla, X. A., Ballard, P. J., Adler, N. E., Boyce, W. T., & Obradović, J. (2014). An integrative view of school functioning: Transactions between self-regulation, school engagement, and teacher–child relationship quality. *Child Development*, 85(5), 1915–1931. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12259
- Prussien, K. V., DeBaun, M. R., Yarboi, J., Bemis, H., McNally, C., Williams, E., & Compas, B. E. (2018). Cognitive function, coping, and depressive symptoms in children and adolescents with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 43(5), 543–551. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jpepsy/jsx141
- Raver, C. C., & Blair, C. (2020). Developmental science aimed at reducing inequality:

Maximizing the social impact of research on executive function in context. *Infant and Child Development*, 29(1), Article e2175. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.2175

- Reilly, S. E., & Downer, J. T. (2019). Roles of executive functioning and language in developing low-income preschoolers' behavior and emotion regulation. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 49, 229–240. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.07.006
- Reising, M. M., Bettis, A. H., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M., Hoskinson, K. R., & Compas, B. E. (2018). Stress, coping, executive function, and brain activation in adolescent offspring of depressed and nondepressed mothers. *Child Neuropsychology*, 24(5), 638–656. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2017.1307950
- Roberts, S. O., Bareket-Shavit, C., Dollins, F. A., Goldie, P. D., & Mortenson, E. (2020). Racial inequality in psychological research: Trends of the past and recommendations for the future. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 15(6), 1295–1309. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1745691620927709
- Robinson, K. E., Pearson, M. M., Cannistraci,
 C. J., Anderson, A. W., Kuttesch, J. F., Wymer,
 K., Smith, S. E., Park, S., & Compas, B. E.
 (2015). Functional neuroimaging of working
 memory in survivors of childhood brain tumors
 and healthy children: Associations with coping
 and psychosocial outcomes. *Child Neuropsychology*, *21*(6), 779–802. https://doi.
 org/10.1080/09297049.2014.924492
- Rodríguez Villegas, A. L., & Salvador Cruz, J. (2015). Executive functioning and adaptive coping in healthy adults. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult, 22*(2), 124–131. https:// doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2013.864972
- Rogers, M. L., Halberstadt, A. G., Castro, V. L., MacCormack, J. K., & Garrett-Peters, P. (2016). Maternal emotion socialization differentially predicts third-grade children's emotion regulation and lability. *Emotion*, 16(2), 280–291. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000142
- Roth, R. M., Isquith, P. K., & Gioia, G. A. (2014).Assessment of executive functioning using the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive

Function (BRIEF). In S. Goldstein & J. A. Naglieri (Eds.), *Handbook of executive functioning* (pp. 301–331). Springer.

379

Roth, S., & Cohen, L. J. (1986). Approach, avoidance, and coping with stress. *American Psychologist*, 41(7), 813–819. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0003-066X.41.7.813

- Rothbart, M. K., Ahadi, S. A., Hershey, K., & Fisher, P. (2001). Investigations of temperament at three to seven years: The Children's Behavior Questionnaire. *Child Development*, 72(5), 1394–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00355
- Ruan, Y., Reis, H. T., Zareba, W., & Lane, R. D. (2020). Does suppressing negative emotion impair subsequent emotions? Two experience sampling studies. *Motivation and Emotion*, 44, 427–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09774-w
- Rybanska, V., McKay, R., Jong, J., & Whitehouse, H. (2018). Rituals improve children's ability to delay gratification. *Child Development*, 89(2), 349–359. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12762
- Sætren, S. S., Augusti, E.-M., & Hafstad, G. S. (2021). Affective inhibitory control and risk for internalizing problems in adolescents exposed to child maltreatment: A population-based study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *130*(2), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000582
- Schoppe-Sullivan, S. J., Weldon, A. H., Cook, J. C., Davis, E. F., & Buckley, C. K. (2009). Coparenting behavior moderates longitudinal relations between effortful control and preschool children's externalizing behavior. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 50(6), 698–706. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.02009.x
- Shaffer, A., Suveg, C., Thomassin, K., & Bradbury, L. L. (2012). Emotion socialization in the context of family risks: Links to child emotion regulation. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 21, 917–924. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-011-9551-3
- Sharkey, P. T., Tirado-Strayer, N., Papachristos, A. V., & Raver, C. C. (2012). The effect of local violence on children's attention and impulse control. *American Journal of Public Health*,

102(6), 2287–2293. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2012.300789

- Simonds, J., Kieras, J. E., Rueda, M. R., & Rothbart, M. K. (2007). Effortful control, executive attention, and emotional regulation in 7–10-year-old-children. *Cognitive Development*, 22(4), 474–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cogdev.2007.08.009
- Skibo, M. A., Sturge-Apple, M. L., & Suor, J. H. (2020). Early experiences of insensitive caregiving and children's self-regulation: Vagal tone as a differential susceptibility factor. *Development and Psychopathology*, 32(4), 1460–1472. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579419001408
- Smith-Donald, R., Raver, C. C., Hayes, T., & Richardson, B. (2007). Preliminary construct and concurrent validity of the Preschool Selfregulation Assessment (PSRA) for field-based research. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 22(2), 173–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecresq.2007.01.002
- Spencer, M. B. (2007). Phenomenology and ecological systems theory: Development of diverse groups. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology* (pp. 696–735). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi. org/10.1002/9780470147658.chpsy0115
- Sroufe, L. A., Egeland, B., Carlson, E. A., & Collins, W. A. (2005). The development of the person: The Minnesota Study of Risk and Adaptation from birth to adulthood. Guilford Press.
- Sturge-Apple, M. L., Davies, P. T., Cicchetti, D., Hentges, R. F., & Coe, J. L. (2017). Family instability and children's effortful control in the context of poverty: Sometimes a bird in the hand is worth two in the bush. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(3), 685–696. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579416000407
- Sulik, M. J., Blair, C., Mills-Koonce, R., Berry, D., Greenberg, M., & The Family Life Project Investigators. (2015). Early parenting and the development of externalizing behavior problems: Longitudinal mediation through children's executive function. *Child Development*, 86(3), 1588–1603. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12386

- Sulik, M. J., & Obradović, J. (2018). Teachers' rankings of children's executive functions: Validating a methodology for school-based data collection. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 173, 136–154. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jecp.2018.01.016
- Suntheimer, N. M., Sulik, M. J., Obradović, J., & Wolf, S. (2021, April). Executive functioning mediates the association between cumulative risk and learning in Ghanaian schoolchildren. Biennial Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Virtual.
- Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Practitioner review: Do performancebased measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(2), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12001
- Verhoeven, K., Damme, S. V., Eccleston, C., Ryckeghem, D. M. L. V., Legrain, V., & Crombez, G. (2011). Distraction from pain and executive functioning: An experimental investigation of the role of inhibition, task switching and working memory. *European Journal of Pain*, *15*(8), 866–873. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.01.009
- Verhoeven, K., Dick, B., Eccleston, C., Goubert, L., & Crombez, G. (2014). The role of executive functioning in children's attentional pain control: An experimental analysis. *Pain*, 155(2), 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pain.2013.11.002
- von Suchodoletz, A., Uka, F., & Larsen, R. A. A. A. (2015). Self-regulation across different contexts: Findings in young Albanian children. *Early Education and Development*, 26(5–6), 829–846. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10409289.2015.1012189
- Wade, M., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., & Nelson, C. A. (2020). Global deficits in executive functioning are transdiagnostic mediators between severe childhood neglect and psychopathology in adolescence. *Psychological Medicine*, 50(10), 1687–1694. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0033291719001764
- Wagner, C. A., Alloy, L. B., & Abramson, L. Y. (2015). Trait rumination, depression, and

executive functions in early adolescence. *Journal* of Youth and Adolescence, 44, 18–36. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10964-014-0133-8

- Wang, M. (2019). Harsh parenting and adolescent aggression: Adolescents' effortful control as the mediator and parental warmth as the moderator. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 94, Article 104021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.05.014
- Warren, S. M., & Barnett, M. A. (2020). Effortful control development in the face of harshness and unpredictability. *Human Nature*, 31, 68–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-019-09360-6
- Wilkinson, P. O., & Goodyer, I. M. (2006). Attention difficulties and mood-related ruminative response style in adolescents with unipolar depression. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry, 47(12), 1284–1291. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01660.x
- Willoughby, M. T., Kupersmidt, J., Voegler-Lee, M., & Bryant, D. (2011). Contributions of hot and cool self-regulation to preschool disruptive behavior and academic achievement. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 36(2), 162–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2010.549980
- Willoughby, M. T., Piper, B., Oyanga, A., & Merseth King, K. (2019). Measuring executive function skills in young children in Kenya: Associations with school readiness. *Developmental Science*, 22(5), e12818. https:// doi.org/10.1111/desc.12818
- Yap, M. B. H., Allen, N. B., O'Shea, M., di Parsia, P., Simmons, J. G., & Sheeber, L. (2011). Early adolescents' temperament, emotion regulation

during mother-child interactions, and depressive symptomatology. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(1), 267–282. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579410000787

- Zakszeski, B. N., Dever, B. V., & Gallagher, E. K. (2021). Self-regulation in the kindergarten classroom: Contributions of relational and sociodemographic factors. *Contemporary School Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-021-00390-5
- Zelazo, P. D. (2020). Executive function and psychopathology: A neurodevelopmental perspective. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 16, 431–454. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-072319-024242
- Zelazo, P. D., Blair, C. B., & Willoughby, M. T. (2016). Executive function: Implications for education (Research Report NCER 2017–2000; pp. 1–148). National Center for Education Research, Institute of Education Sciences, US Department of Education. https://files.eric.ed. gov/fulltext/ED570880.pdf
- Zelazo, P. D., Carter, A., Reznick, J. S., & Frye, D. (1997). Early development of executive function: A problem-solving framework. *Review of General Psychology*, 1(2), 198–226. https://doi. org/10.1037/1089-2680.1.2.198
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology* (pp. 1–61). John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9781119125556.devpsy410

15 The Development of Accommodative Coping

Conditions and Consequences from a Lifespan Perspective

Werner Greve and Cathleen Kappes

Introduction

Since early childhood he had dreamed of becoming a ballet dancer, but the accident with the bicycle, the day after his 15th birthday, in which his knee was very badly injured, definitively blocked this path. When her parents divorced, the year she turned 10, she realized that the warm evenings spent together with her parents, which meant so much to her, would never return in that way. Some problems and crises we encounter in life, sometimes even early in life, cannot be solved by direct action. In order to resolve and overcome them, we must find a view of the unchangeable situation that allows us to live with it confidently and contentedly.

Accommodative coping refers to precisely that category of coping processes that reduce the burden of a problem by adjusting the attractiveness of a threatened goal or good, the evaluative criteria of how the problem is experienced, or other evaluative aspects of the constellation, among other threat-mitigating processes. Maybe instead of being a dancer, I can become a gifted choreographer or composer. Maybe I can learn how to be grateful for the time with my parents that I have already experienced, and also for being allowed to live in a country at a time when it is possible to correct life choices that are experienced as faulty, instead of being forced to remain in an unhappy relationship for life. Thus, accommodative coping is essentially constituted by two components: Disengagement from a goal or

value or other normative standard is complemented by reorientation toward (or upgrading of) another goal, value, or standard that appears more attainable with the person's available resources. As a result of accommodative regulations, an initially stressful problem constellation is not solved but dissolved - the experienced stress is reduced or disappears no less than with more active problem-solving strategies. Moreover, appropriate reorientations make resources usable that would be wasted or remain unused if the blockade were to persist. Although the processual basis of accommodative processes consists of cognitive adjustments, they do rest on (or consist of) several and various cognitive processes (shifting attention, altering associations, reframing concepts, etc.). Actually, the categorization of this family (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016) of processes as "accommodative" is due to their "family resemblance," not because they all consist of (or use) an identical set of cognitive mechanisms.

In fact, many findings suggest that accommodative coping is functional, especially when the respective problem situation neither appears to be actively solvable nor can be ignored (e.g., perceptual defense). This category of regulative processes was first proposed with regard to older adulthood (Brandtstädter & Renner, 1990), which is characterized precisely by an increasing probability of problems that cannot be solved by direct action (e.g., loss of sensoric or motoric

capacities, passing away of one's partner). individual Only recently have accommodative forms of coping also been studied in relation to childhood and adolescence (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Although earlier stages in life

Skinner, 2011). Although earlier stages in life especially require the acquisition of the ability to persistently pursue goals against resistance, we face unsolvable obstacles at this age as well. It is the central concern of this chapter to argue that these adult forms of accommodation go through a development over the lifespan, but that at the same time variants and (pre-)forms of accommodation in childhood often have a different, less diverse character: it will become clear in the following why this is the case. Moreover, it is currently an open empirical question under which conditions they develop into adult forms of accommodation, and whether other (especially cognitive) developmental conditions are required for this.

Moreover, even with respect to accommodative coping processes in adulthood, a number of theoretical and empirical questions have not been sufficiently clarified. For example, all authors agree that accommodative coping is not a singular process, but a category (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016: "family") of coping forms that are characterized by constitutive common elements (e.g., disengagement, reengagement, upgrading processes), but operate quite differently (downward comparison, scale adjustment, goal substitution, etc.). Unfortunately, the breadth of this category is not always delineated consistently. Moreover, the replacement of a blocked goal, via the upgrading of another goal, can presumably be achieved in multiple ways. We know little about the processes that can achieve this result, or whether they are functional in different ways, possibly depending on context or problem.

Similarly, there are hardly any empirical findings to date on the question of the

individual or contextual conditions that favor or enable accommodative processes in terms of both actual genetic or ontogenetic explanations; consequently, we also know little about developmental trajectories and developmental preconditions of accommodative coping across the lifespan. In short: We lack a theory of the development of accommodative coping (Skinner et al., 2003; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). The attempt to outline central questions and demands for such a "developmentally friendly" (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016) theory of accommodative coping is the topic of this chapter. Although the presentation and discussion will focus more on the development of accommodative coping in childhood and adolescence, it is helpful to begin with a brief look at adulthood and old age, which is, as already mentioned, the developmental context for which the twoprocess model of developmental regulation was originally conceptualized, which in turn provides the theoretical background for the process mode that will be discussed here: accommodative coping. However, the lifespan perspective to be pursued in this chapter goes beyond looking at more than one age group: We hypothesize that the explanation of the development of accommodative coping in childhood and adolescence can substantially benefit from alignment with respect to accommodative developmental regulation in adulthood. In a similar vein, a "backward perspective" on accommodative coping in childhood and adolescence may open or sharpen the view of important developmentally relevant functions. At the same time, it is important to avoid the fallacy of simply applying adult categories to childhood (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2009, 2016). Hence, in this chapter we argue in favor of an ontological perspective on accommodative coping.

From Old Age through Adulthood to Childhood: Taking a Lifespan Perspective Seriously

Arguably, the dedicated pleas for a lifespan perspective (Baltes, 1987) have not succeeded in ensuring that developmental psychology actually focuses on the entire lifespan. Even proponents of the lifespan perspective have often been limited to adding research perspectives on the various stages of late adulthood and old age to the traditional focus of developmental psychology on childhood and adolescence (Baltes et al., 2006); almost all approaches that have formally embraced a lifespan approach have been content to focus more closely on one life stage after all - and have barely addressed transitions and similarities to others. Actually, we still lack theoretical approaches that theoretically model and empirically examine developmental dynamics across the lifespan. However, some approaches of the lifespan perspective entail concepts and arguments that may contribute to fill that gap. Perhaps the more important and sustainable yield of the lifespan perspective has been not so much a temporal expansion of the life stages and topics considered (this aspect was already addressed several times at mid-century, for example by Bühler, Erikson, and Havighurst: Lerner, 2018), but above all a "processual turn" in developmental psychology.

Not only the majority of classical, phaseoriented developmental theories (childhoodfocused – Kohlberg, Freud – as well as lifespan approaches – Erikson, Havighurst), but also many current thematically oriented research fields (prototypically: theory of mind) primarily or exclusively investigate the timing of the respective target abilities or the postulated sequences of stages (who is able to accomplish what when?) – and thus remain descriptive. The processes that regulate development (age-specifically or across the lifespan) have been addressed less frequently (Piaget is a notable exception: Chapman, 1988). At the latest in adulthood, however, phase theories are hardly defensible because developmental trajectories beyond adolescence are characterized, first, by a high stability over several decades into late adulthood and old age, and, second, by a pronounced individuality (Greve, 2005). It seems reasonable to assume that the heterogeneity of developmental trajectories in adulthood and old age (apart from processes of physiological decline) is due, on the one hand, to an increasing number of individual formative life experiences and their individual processing, and, on the other hand, to the increasingly relevant self-regulation of development from adolescence onward (Brandtstädter & Lerner, 1999). Moreover, it has become increasingly clear that even those developmental steps that seemed to be strong candidates for universalities are strongly influenced by sociocultural context (e.g., attachment theory; Keller & Bard, 2017).

As a consequence, it seems more promising to focus on developmental regulatory processes, that is, on the explanation instead of mere description of developmental pathways. This processual turn may not have been the main intention of these theories at first, but it does alter the view of human ontogenesis. Following both a long tradition in motivational theories (Heckhausen & Heckhausen, 2018) in general and the "actional" perspective on adult development in particular (Brandtstädter & Lerner, 1999), the focus of several lifespan theories has been the individuals' shaping and controlling of their own development (Baltes & Baltes, 1990; Haase et al., 2013; Heckhausen et al., 2010, 2019; Staudinger & Lindenberger, 2003). However, age-related developmental tasks and losses are not always controllable, solvable, avoidable,

or counteracted or mitigated by direct action, and in older age increasingly less so. This suggests that, in addition to active problemsolving approaches, reactive adjustments and changes in goals, evaluations, and preferences might also be useful or necessary, especially when losses seem inevitable or goal blockages seem unsolvable (e.g., end of career, chronic illness, loss of mobility). Among those approaches that address an actional perspective on lifespan development, the two-process model of developmental regulation in particular has elaborated on the interplay between active problem-solving and adjustment processes (Brandtstädter, 2006; Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002; see in more detail later in this chapter).

Actually, all of these theories of developmental regulation in adulthood and later life (Baltes & Baltes, 1990; Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002; Heckhausen et al., 2010) share a processual perspective: Their focus is on developmental regulatory processes instead of specific developmental stages. This perspective combines several advantages. First, these processes offer approaches for explaining individual developmental trajectories, especially when they vary as a function of individual goals or sociocultural conditions. Second, adaptive developmental processes in particular (in response to goal blockages or losses) can explain unexpected patterns of findings ("wellbeing paradox"; Staudinger, 2000) and, thus, have made clear that stability of self, personality, and well-being is not the opposite but a special case of development. Stability and changes are produced by the same processes depending on the individual and sociocultural constellations of conditions (Brandtstädter, 2006; Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002; Greve, 2005). Therefore, the phenomenon of resilience is also a developmental phenomenon (rather than the absence of development; Leipold & Greve, 2009).

A number of studies have shown that individuals vary considerably with respect to their preparedness and ability to adapt their goals or values (Barlow et al., 2019; Brandtstädter, 2006; Heckhausen et al., 2010, 2019). Accordingly, the individual's "flexibility of goal adjustment" (Brandtstädter & Renner, 1990) is a predictor for the stability of the self and well-being (Brandtstädter & Greve, 1994) and a buffer against aversive circumstances and experiences (e.g., Greve et al., 2017; Rühs et al., 2017). More importantly, the existence of individual differences in the availability of these processes (Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002) suggests that these processes (capabilities) are themselves dependent on developmental conditions and processes. However, this perspective - explaining the development of developmental regulatory processes - has received little attention so far, although it is promising and worthwhile for several reasons. First, especially from a genuine lifespan perspective, the question would have to be addressed which developmental conditions and processes in childhood and adolescence explain can (individual differences in) the availability of flexible goal adjustment processes in adulthood. Second, investigating the availability and functionality of such adaptive processes in childhood and adolescence is important per se: Because children are also confronted with losses and goal blockages, it would be important to know to what extent (and under what conditions) processes of goal adaptation are possibly already available in the first and second decades of life. Both perspectives together would exemplify and contribute to a developmental perspective that actually covers the lifespan. The presentation of the outlines of such a research program and the illustrative presentation of first findings is the main purpose of this chapter.

Accommodative Coping: The Two-Process Model of Developmental Regulation

The two-process model (Brandtstädter, 2006; Brandtstädter & Renner, 1990: Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002) distinguishes two modes of regulation by which individuals can reduce or eliminate the burden of a (perceived) problem (i.e., a discrepancy between the actual state of affairs and a desired constellation). According to this model, a sample case of a problem is a blocked goal (e.g., unrequited love, failure of an exam) or loss of a valued relationship, attribute, or competence (e.g., death of one's spouse, declines in memory or mobility, retirement). In the assimilative response mode of tenacious goal pursuit, the individual attempts to resolve the stressful problem situation through active and intentional problem-solving; in doing so, personal goals and intentions are maintained and tenaciously pursued. Sometimes already in anticipatory life planning, but at the latest when assimilative efforts fail, problems cannot be overcome by active problem-solving, or attempts would involve too much difficulty or cost, accommodative processes gain importance. In the accommodative reaction mode, the problem is reduced or dissolved by the flexible adaptation of goals and values to the current situation and its available options for action, thereby stabilizing the individual's well-being and, as a rule, leading also to a regaining of perceived control (Brandtstädter, 2006; Heckhausen et al., 2010, 2019). Accommodative regulation is associated with changing one's perspective on the problem situation, for example, by devaluing the relevance of the previously pursued goal and upgrading alternative goals, changing one's level of aspiration, or cognitively reinterpreting the stressful problem situation (Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002). Successful coping

with developmental tasks and problems, however, requires the availability of both regulatory categories, and their flexible and appropriate application according to the problem constellation at hand, because neither the rigid pursuit of hopeless goals nor premature goal disengagement and reorientation in the face of solvable difficulties would be functional (Brandtstädter, 2006).

Although the two-process model seems, at first glance, to converge with several other processual theories of developmental regulation, in particular the concept of primary and secondary control (Heckhausen et al., 2010, 2019; see Boerner & Jopp, 2007; Haase et al., 2013; Morling & Evered, 2006), it seems worth emphasizing that accommodative processes are conceptualized as dynamical intraindividual processes of adjustment in contrast to personal control strategies to overcome obstacles and losses. Actually, it is a central tenet of the two-process model that accommodation is neither secondary nor control (Skinner, 2007; see also Morling & Evered, 2007; for a related argument see Greve & Wentura, 2007). Although the category of secondary control includes many of the processes that are encompassed in the "accommodative" mode in the two-process model, the connotation of control would be misleading (some accommodative processes work even unnoticed to the individual). The question of which of these processes are subject to individual control or can be intentionally initiated, then, is an empirical question.

Beyond this pivotal point, some further theoretical and empirical questions with respect to the category of accommodative processes are still underinvestigated. For instance, the assumption that accommodative coping is characterized by disengagement and reengagement (both of which are necessary but not sufficient) is not well clarified – nor has consensus necessarily been reached. While in the

of Wrosch conceptualization (Wrosch. Scheier, Miller, et al., 2003; Wrosch, Scheier, Carver, & Schulz, 2003) this differentiation is constitutive, goal disengagement is used. for instance, in the summary work of Haase et al. (2013) in a broader sense (approximately coextensive to accommodative coping or regulation). However, conceptual clarification here is significant for theoretical modeling and empirical investigation of the development and developmental conditions of accommodative coping (especially in childhood and adolescence) for several reasons. While basal forms of disengagement (such as the form of "perceptual aversion"; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016) certainly occur in very early childhood, more temporally stable forms of goal commitment (to more abstract goals. for example) are certainly possible only with advanced cognitive development. This in turn suggests that accommodative coping in an elaborated (differentiated) form cannot be a coping form possible in early childhood. This does not preclude, of course, that adjusting preferences to current options is a possible reaction at younger ages - in developmentally appropriate ways (e.g., adjusting short-term wishes). It is an open (partly empirical) question, however, whether these regulations are precursors of "advanced" accommodative adjustments.

Moreover, both disengagement from a blocked goal and upgrading of another goal can presumably be achieved in several ways, in particular with respect to cognitive, emotional, and behavioral aspects of disengagement. It is possible that repertoire diversity itself is beneficial here (Bonanno & Burton, 2013). We also know little about the processes that can achieve this result, and even less about their developmental trajectories and preconditions. Numerous research questions remain unanswered here: How might we qualitatively differentiate between these equifinal processes? Are different processes of goal disengagement differentially situationally or developmentally appropriate?

The Development of Accommodative Coping: Ontogenetic and Deferred Adaptation

Although cross-sectional data indicate an increase in accommodative processes in late adulthood (Aldwin, 2007: Brandtstädter et al., 1993), there has been little theoretical reflection or empirical investigation of developmental trajectories in childhood and adolescence and of their developmental conditions (Heckhausen & Heckhausen, 2018; Meyer & Greve, 2012). While more extensive research is available for the development of active coping competencies and their conditions (including control skills) for almost every life stage in childhood and adolescence, the development and especially the developmental conditions of accommodative coping capabilities are hardly elaborated for this age range (for an overview, see Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2009, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011, 2016). Existing approaches on coping and emotion regulation in childhood and adolescence only partially overlap with accommodative coping and mostly deal with the regulation of current emotional stress and the resulting effectiveness on self-esteem and wellbeing (cf. for an overview Aldwin, 2007; Compas et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 2010; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2009, 2016). Although several studies describe developmental trajectories in childhood and adolescence with respect to these specific coping reactions (for an overview, see Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2009, 2016), they often touch only marginally on the question of explaining their emergence and development. In particular, these studies do not address the lifespan perspective of the development of coping resources into adulthood, nor do they empirically or theoretically address the connectivity of models of child and adolescent coping with problems and obstacles to theories of adult forms of accommodative regulation.

For a more detailed examination of the development of accommodative coping in childhood and adolescence, it is worthwhile to distinguish between immediately functional or relevant forms of accommodative coping and regulation, on the one hand, and the developmental processes in childhood and adolescence that are necessary to build (the components of) accommodative forms of coping and regulation in adulthood, on the other. The independent examination of immediate age-related and prospective developmental functionality is a particularly interesting and instructive example of the distinction between "ontogenetic" and "deferred" adaptations of evolutionary developmental psychology (Bjorklund, 2021): The synchronous or diachronic functionality of the availability and change of a concrete capability will typically only allow an adequate explanation of the development of a capability (here: accommodative developmental regulation) when considered together.

Accordingly, the first perspective of an agerelated functionality on early forms of accommodative coping would not only examine the developmental course of accommodative coping resources from early childhood to adulthood, but also focus on them as a possibly relevant or useful resource for dealing with goal blockages and problems already in childhood and adolescence (see also Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Logically and possibly empirically independent of this, the second perspective on the development of conditions or components necessary for adult accommodative regulation would examine the development of a complex regulatory resource of (older) adulthood. It is not

necessary from this perspective to assume that infantile early forms (or preforms) of accommodative reactions exist or, if they do, that they continue seamlessly into middle and higher adulthood. It is perfectly conceivable that infantile forms of preference adjustment rarely occur (e.g., if a goal is definitely blocked that already exists and shapes the child's behavior in an early age) or are not sufficiently effective, or likewise that they remain unstable (e.g., change substantially again in adolescence). At the same time, it is very plausible to assume that constitutive components (e.g., the ability to change perspective) of adult accommodative regulatory abilities emerge in the course of cognitive or emotional development during early childhood, with individual differences in trajectories that can (partially) explain the interindividual differences in adult flexibility of goal adjustments. This leads to the suggestion to pursue both research perspectives as empirical research questions: investigating possible relations between earlier and later forms of accommodative regulations as well as studying necessary conditions for adult forms. However, the relationship between constitutive and consecutive developmental sequences (e.g., if the cognitive ability of reframing were a necessary - constitutive condition of accommodation, the reverse developmental sequence would be impossible) on the one hand and causal interactions (e.g., early experiences of blockages of personal goals may stimulate the individual's ability to look at such experiences from various perspectives, which in turn facilitates the development of the individual's capacity for reframing) on the other is likely to be extremely complex here (on the general point, see also Greve & Staudinger, 2006; Leipold & Greve, 2009). At the same time, both research perspectives can make important contributions to a genuine lifespan perspective. Both are process- and therefore explanation-oriented, thus going

389

beyond a mere description of sequences of abilities.

It is important to point out that research on coping in childhood and adolescence has long suffered from being conceptualized exclusively from an adult perspective (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). This, if one is simply looking for the adult phenotype, is probably really misleading. In contrast, the idea of this chapter is to explain "adult coping" (as it were) from child coping or from the development of the constituents and conditions for adult coping. This is not to say that child accommodative coping must be similar to adult coping. In part it might be - early preforms of accommodative coping are conceivable and likely. But perhaps the indirect pathway is at least as important (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). At the same time, however, and this is the important point of Skinner and Zimmer-Gembeck's (2007) argument, coping forms that children exhibit in response to the problems that children encounter in childhood must functionally fit the abilities and problems of that developmental stage.

Accommodative Coping in Childhood and Youth: Development and Efficiency

Existing reviews of coping resources in childhood and adolescence (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011) indicate that accommodative coping, to the extent that it has been studied at all, has not yet shown significant age-related trends. Although there are some hints on the age-specific steps of children with respect to accommodative coping (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016, pp. 54ff, 265ff), several problems are probably responsible for the lack of a lifespan perspective on accommodative coping. A first intricacy is the open question of to what extent children and adolescents already have a sufficiently distinct and effective capacity for accommodative coping that is conceptually sufficiently close to the adult flexibility of goal adjustment discussed earlier. With regard to adolescence and young adulthood, it can be assumed that there is a sufficiently differentiated cognitive representation of one's own person and developmental situation on the one hand and at least mediumterm (developmental) goals on the other; accordingly. the Flexibility of Goal Adjustment (FGA) questionnaire proposed by Brandtstädter and Renner (1990) for adulthood can be used either directly (Greve & Enzmann, 2003; Greve et al., 2001) or in a linguistically slightly adapted form for adolescents (Greve & Thomsen, 2013; Thomsen, 2016; Thomsen & Greve, 2013). Empirical evidence for adolescence and young adulthood in longitudinal studies showed stabilizing effects of FGA for self and well-being when individuals are confronted with restrictive developmental circumstances (youth prison: Greve & Enzmann, 2003) or challenging developmental transitions (school change: Thomsen et al., 2015): In both studies, the impact of the respective challenge on the individual's selfesteem (among other indicators) was mitigated (i.e., statistically moderated) by the individual's (self-reported) capacity to adjust their goals (FGA). In addition, there is evidence that the adjustment of the profile of the individual's ideal self toward the real-self's profile (across a number of facets) as an indirect indicator of accommodative processes predicts the maintenance of the individual's self-esteem in restricting circumstances (youth prison; Marek et al., 2022).

The question of whether adaptive preference adjustments can also be demonstrated for earlier childhood is more complex (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). First, it is doubtful to what extent preschool children have

goals that extend beyond an immediate action goal, that is, those that are based on normative anticipatory self-conceptions on the one hand and a cognitive representation of the current developmental situation on the other. Since a necessary condition of goal adjustment (in the sense explicated in the two-process model) is to have longer-term goals in the first place that are sufficiently elaborated (e.g., hierarchically organized) to adjust this structure (e.g., by "moving" its priority downward), accommodation cannot take place if this condition is insufficiently fulfilled. Second. although younger children will also experience blockings of their more temporary goals or wishes, and it is also not implausible that they show or develop interindividual differences in their reactions to such experiences, it is doubtful whether such dispositions could be sufficiently elaborated in self-representation to provide reliable and valid information on this in a self-report format (questionnaire). Hence, it may be due to substantial reasons as well as to measurement deficits if we fail to demonstrate individual differences with respect to accommodation in early childhood. Alternatively, in a game-based assessment format, the children's propensity and ability to respond with an accommodative coping process were assessed indirectly (reactive adjustment of preferences: RAP; Lessing et al., 2015). Before the start of a guessing game, the children were asked to choose one of several toys ("which one would you most like to get?"). After failing the guessing game, they were denied this prize, but as a consolation they were given the toy they rated as the least attractive. After a distractor task, it was explained to them that due to a construction error it had been impossible to succeed in the previous guessing game and they were given the option of keeping either the toy they had received or one of the others – even the one they had originally rated as the most attractive.

Among 7- to 8-year-olds, devaluation of the (denied) toy and upgrading of the compensatory one was found in contrast to a control group, indicating that accommodative reactions actually occur in school age. In addition, the children's degree of downgrading correlates with their flexibility of goal adjustment as assessed by their parents (Lessing et al., 2015). However, longitudinal data on the stabilizing functionality of this form of accommodative coping are not yet available.

The complementary question of the developmental conditions for child and adolescent capacities for accommodative coping is complex, in part because it is plausible to assume that the different aspects of the response forms subsumed under this category depend on different conditions. Indeed, findings from crosssectional studies with large samples suggest that the developmental conditions of accommodative capabilities in adolescence (mean age: 15 years; Greve & Thomsen, 2013; Thomsen & Greve, 2013) encompass different domains of influence, each of which contributes independently to adolescent flexibility of goal adjustment. If accommodative responses imply the ability to adopt different perspectives and to switch them if necessary, then it is expected that this ability ("divergent thinking") is associated with juveniles' accommodative capabilities. Two small preliminary studies (Greve et al., 2009) with preschool (6 years) and elementary school-aged (8 years) children examined divergent thinking and perspectivetaking ability as potential developmental prerequisites for accommodative coping. In both studies, perspective changing and divergent thinking were specifically taught and practiced in several training sessions (without reference to life problems or goal blockages) in the experimental conditions; as the dependent variable, responses to descriptions of everyday stressful situations were recorded in the last session. The preliminary results indicate that children of both groups (preschoolers in particular) mainly resorted to interpersonal regulation options (which is often the case among these age groups: Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016); the improvements of their capacities in divergent thinking and reframing or, at least, their activation of these processes by the training sessions did not predict accommodative responses to the stories of stressful situations. Although the sample was too small to statistically ensure effects, the results fit to the assumption that even if divergent thinking is a necessary condition of accommodative regulation, it probably is not a sufficient one. Rather, in particular, younger children may lack further cognitive prerequisites for generating accommodative reactions (like perspective change, goal adjustment), or the transfer from solving creative tasks to adjust goals is too difficult, or one prerequisite for goal regulation to take place is the experience (not just the imagination) of a goal blockage. Moreover, training studies, even if they allow for experimental arrangements, are burdened in several respects by substantive presuppositions, in particular the (short-term) trainability of the focused ability and the effectiveness of the training. Moreover, with respect to the recording of accommodative responses both with respect to short-story vignettes and in real-life difficulties (which was not realized in this pilot study), it should be noted (especially for younger children) that it does not follow from failure to show (accommodative) performance that accommodative competence is lacking.

In a longitudinal study, the influence of cognitive control processes, such as executive functions (EFs, e.g., set shifting, inhibition, and working memory) on accommodative abilities was investigated (Lessing et al., 2019). Individual differences and intraindividual changes in EFs (tested at ages 5¹/₂, 6, and 8) and accommodative coping (assessed by the RAP measure and parental ratings) at age 8 were examined. Contrary to our assumption, a negative association was found between baseline-level performance and change in EFs with the extent of accommodative capabilities. One possible explanation of this pattern of results could be that the relationship between EFs and accommodative coping (including, e.g., cognitive reappraisal) might change with age. Probably one of the most important developmental tasks for early childhood is the capacity to build up and persistently pursue longer-term goals. Since goal blockades in childhood often mean a "not yet" rather than a "never," children's cognitive regulative capacities are possibly needed most for the development of the patience to endure and overcome initial disappointments and to tenaciously try to achieve the initially blocked goal by other means even if it means in some situations to hang on to a nonachievable goal longer than necessary. This assumption fits to the finding of correlations between selfregulation (judgment by parents and behavioral indicators: gift delay) and flexible goal adaptation (RAP) in a study of preschool-aged children (3-6 years) and their parents (Lessing et al., 2017): Young children showed that goal adaptation was stronger when self-regulation was low, whereas older children with pronounced goal adaptation tended to show higher self-regulation. Moreover, even if sufficiently developed EFs are a necessary condition for (the development of) accommodation, it most probably is not a sufficient condition. For instance, a plausible assumption would suggest that sufficiently developed cognitive capacities to evaluate one's goals and their consequences against possible alternatives is another necessary condition for accommodative reactions to occur. Most likely, younger children lack these capacities.

As mentioned previously, a necessary condition for the occurrence of accommodative coping in a sufficiently substantial sense is the development of a differentially structured representation of oneself on the one hand and a sufficiently differentiated - that is, adaptable - structure of developmental goals and possible selves on the other. Although early forms of self-concept already develop at the age of about 2 years, both are hardly present in a form akin to adult developmental goals and plans in preschool age (Harter, 1999). Hence, accommodative coping processes in the sense studied for adulthood can hardly take effect until elementary school age (which does not exclude accommodative processes in the sense of the previously mentioned reactive adjustment of preferences).

Although accommodative developmental regulation in adulthood has so far been discussed mainly in terms of cognitive processes and conditions (Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002), it can be assumed that emotional processes play a role in the realization of accommodative responses – possibly also as necessary conditions. For instance, studies with older adults indicate a relationship between experiencing sadness and accommodative coping (Kunzmann et al., 2017). However, the intersections of cognitive and emotional developmental conditions of accommodative coping have been investigated only rarely to date with respect to childhood and youth. In a cross-sectional study, we found that an emotional facet of letting go (willingness to forgive) separately predicted accommodative capabilities of juveniles beyond the cognitive capabilities mentioned earlier in the chapter (Thomsen & Greve, 2013).

A second step toward a developmental explanation of accommodative coping in childhood and youth asks for supportive or necessary contextual conditions (beyond individual conditions such as cognitive capacities). The cross-sectional studies mentioned previously (Greve & Thomsen, 2013; Thomsen &

Greve, 2013) found evidence for at least two different developmental factors. First, several indications of the importance of parents emerged in both studies. Both the emotional quality of the relationship between parents and children and parental accommodative capabilities were found to make an independent predictive contribution to adolescents' accommodative capabilities, respectively. To study the role of social transfer in the form of observational learning of accommodative coping as an explanation for the correlation between parental and adolescent accommodative ability, we conducted several experimental studies. For children (7-12 years), we found that tenacious behavior modeled by a parent when confronted with a challenging situation was unequivocally imitated by the child, while evidence of imitating accommodative coping was less conclusive (Kappes & Thomsen, 2022; Thomsen et al., 2017). In contrast, experimental studies on observational learning of accommodative coping in adults in romantic relationships demonstrated imitation of both observed coping responses (Kappes & Thomsen, 2020; Thomsen et al., 2017). These findings emphasize the role of the social learning context, which extends beyond childhood. Moreover, they point, on the one hand, to the question of functionality of accommodative processes in childhood in contrast to adulthood or necessity of accommodative coping depending on other factors (e.g., role models facilitating accommodative coping in response to lower socioeconomic background, see Chen & Miller, 2012, on a theoretical discussion of this point). On the other hand, they indicate that there might be other abilities to be developed before accommodative coping can develop fully.

Secondly, and independently from parental influences, the adolescents' divergent thinking ability (as a predictor and, possibly, component of their accommodative coping capability) Accommodative Coping across the Lifespan

was found to be predicted by heterogeneous life experiences (here: heterogeneous leisure activities in earlier childhood - according to parents' assessment) - over and above the individual's general capacity for abstract thinking (Greve & Thomsen, 2013; Thomsen & Greve, 2013). This finding leads to the lifespan perspective on the development of accommodative coping: the connection between conditions and constellations of accommodative coping in childhood, youth, adulthood, and old age.

Pathwavs to Adult Accommodative **Coping: Developmental Preforms and** Conditions in Childhood and Youth

As already outlined, two developmental pathways, not mutually exclusive, of the development of adult accommodative capacities are conceivable: (1) the development from very simple (pre- and early) forms of (goal) disengagement (from "perceptual aversion" to RAP and beyond) to the adult shape of the individual's capabilities of accommodative coping and (2) the development (and developmental conditions) of the components necessary and/ or constitutive for adult accommodative coping.

With respect to the first pathway, it can be assumed that various early or preforms of accommodative reactions play a (growing) role in the context of children's adaptive capacity (Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016), building the pathway toward more mature forms of accommodative coping. Possible antecedents could be, for example, (re) directing attention by alternative actions in early childhood (e.g., engaging with a toy) or distractive thoughts or self-serving attributions in preschool age (e.g., "But I won in the previous game"). By school age, the child is already able to make thought-relieving comparisons and gradually learns to cognitively restructure

or reinterpret goal blockages and stressful events (for a summary, see Heckhausen & Heckhausen. 2018: Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016). The reactive adaptation of preferences (e.g., as recognizable by the RAP assessment; Lessing et al., 2015) seems to capture, at least to a certain extent. accommodative capacity. However, longitudinal studies investigating the extent to which such early and preliminary forms actually predict (explain) individual differences in the ability to engage in accommodative coping in adulthood are lacking to date.

With respect to the second developmental pathway, the two-process model explicitly identifies several possible constitutive conditions for an adult's flexibility of goal adjustment (Brandtstädter, 2006; Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002). As previously mentioned in this chapter, a sufficient degree of selfcomplexity seems to be required for alternative, heterogeneous goals to be generated (Affleck & Tennen, 1996; Wrosch, Scheier, Miller, et al., 2003). A complex self-structure consisting of facets that are independent of one another should be supportive or even necessary for the generation of alternative goals, as threats to the self would remain domainspecific and, furthermore, alternative pathways would be open (Brandtstädter, 2006). Plausibly, this necessary condition is hardly sufficiently fulfilled for children at preschool age or even in primary school (Harter, 1999). In fact, the generation or availability of alternative goals is a necessary but not a sufficient condition for accommodative regulation, because only if the original goals can also be substituted can flexible goal adaptation become possible in the first place. Moreover, substitution by alternative goals can only take place if the old goal is no longer adhered to (Wrosch, Scheier, Carver, & Schulz, 2003). A second component is probably the availability of relieving cognitions, which is expressed in the form of positive reinterpretations of the stressful problem situation on the one hand (being able to see the bright side of a threatening constellation) and in the form of relieving comparisons on the other hand ("others have it even worse than I do"). It implies both the ability to change one's view of the problem and the ability to adopt different perspectives. According to Brandtstädter and Rothermund (2002), the availability of palliative cognitions is linked to the wealth of knowledge and experience accumulated so far: The more experiences gained over the life course, the greater the comparative repertoire on the one hand, and the greater the likelihood of growing from one's experiences and developing resilience on the other (Seery et al., 2010).

Cross-sectional findings indicate (Brandtstädter, 1992; Brandtstädter & Greve, 1994) that from middle adulthood onward the willingness and ability for accommodative regulation of obstacles and threats increases, possibly also because the quality of problem situations shifts with increasing age in the direction of hardly controllable, partly unchangeable life changes and challenges (also losses), which can hardly be coped with by active (assimilative) efforts. If this idea were true, then challenges due to blockages or threats to goals could promote the development of accommodative regulatory resources, possibly also, beyond that, the "developmental stimulation" of generally challenging life constellations and challenges. As already addressed, two independent cross-sectional studies showed that heterogeneity of leisure activities in childhood (parental information) predicts flexibility of goal adjustment in adolescence (Greve & Thomsen, 2013; Thomsen & Greve, 2013). In two other studies, nonprestructured "free" play in childhood was shown to predict flexibility of goal adaptation in middle and older adulthood (Greve et al., 2014; Greve &

Thomsen, 2016). A constraint of these studies, however, is that retrospectively reported childhood experiences may be influenced by recollection biases, in particular by tendencies to reframe one's own experiences. Thus, it would be stronger evidence for the hypothesis of flexibility-stimulating effects of heterogeneous experiences if biographical information can be collected arguably independently of the individual's flexibility of goal adjustment. First indications for this come from a retrospective study on the possible (stimulating) consequence of multilingual and thus multicultural, at least multiconceptual development in childhood. The results showed a cross-sectional correlation between multilingual socialization in childhood and a more pronounced flexibility of goal adaptation in adulthood (Greve et al., 2021). Even if these data require longitudinal replications in order to be able to test causal conclusions, biases of the retrospective data are in any case less likely to occur here.

Directions for Future Research

The results presented on the developmental conditions of accommodative coping represent only initial approaches to a theory of lifespan development of accommodative coping. To elaborate a truly lifespan perspective on the development of accommodative coping, longitudinal studies are needed that examine, on the one hand, the extent to which early forms of accommodation (such as RAP) are indeed predictors of adult forms of flexibility in goal adaptation and, on the other hand, which of the necessary causal conditions or the necessary constitutive conditions (e.g., perspective taking, differentiated goal structures) are predictive of adult accommodative coping.

Moreover, it is also necessary to investigate the role of other aspects of children's cognitive, emotional, and social development. One obvious point of departure would be an

investigation of the bridge to Piaget's model of cognitive development. His approach is one of the few "classical" approaches to developmental psychology that, beyond descriptive developmental phases, has in some respects anticipated the "processual turn" precisely by emphasizing the fundamental adaptation processes of accommodation and assimilation (and the principle of equilibration regulating both; Chapman, 1988). Even though the twoprocess model of developmental psychology decidedly does not investigate the adaptation of cognitive schemata but of goals, desires, and evaluations, the search for convergences is promising. This concerns, for instance, the plausible parallel between the respective regulatory approach (IS-OUGHT discrepancy or disequibrium), but also the question of what the enabling or necessary conditions for an accommodative adaptation of a goal or a schema could be (attentional expansions, availability of alternative cognitive schemata, etc.). At the same time, this comparative view could also open up interesting theory extension options in both approaches: On the one hand, with respect to Piaget the investigation of stable, possibly cross-phase interindividual differences in the readiness to react accommodatively to a discrepancy (i.e., disequilibrium) is actually missing so far and could be empirically promising. On the other hand, with respect to the two-process model especially the question of the regulation of the interplay of the two process modes – for instance in the sense of an equilibrium - would be an important and also so far empirically unaddressed research question. The focus of these considerations goes beyond the identification of convergences of two theories arguing in terms of processes in a terminologically similar fashion: They could illustrate how the integration of approaches arguing (so far) in terms of life stages can contribute to the development of truly lifespan-spanning theories. For example,

the question of what role individual differences in the readiness to adapt schemas accommodatively play for the development of accommodative self-regulatory abilities in adulthood would be a possible (again, only illustrative) starting point.

A second line of theoretical argumentation concerns the measurement of accommodative processes. Currently, the vast majority of available findings are based on self-report measures that are not only likely to be subject to biases in self-perception and selfpresentation, but in particular, even in the valid case, can only capture the representation of dispositional competencies. Moreover, as mentioned earlier, this places limits on the assessment of accommodative reaction forms in childhood. Most importantly, accommodative processes have almost never been captured explicitly. To this end, it is necessary to develop methods for assessing accommodative regulatory processes that are not based on selfreports, but rather measure the adaptation of goals or evaluations entailed in accommodative regulations more directly (e.g., using cognitive psychological "subpersonal" procedures; Rothermund et al., 2020). This could perhaps also facilitate or enable the recording of early forms of accommodative responses in infancy (e.g., by adapting experimental or observational methods from research on emotion or attention regulation). For this research perspective, it might also be possible to use indications that self-adaptive forms of reaction might be socially valued differently in different sociocultural contexts and - as a result of different social reactions - might also be functional differently for reducing individual burdens (Chun et al., 2006; Wong et al., 2006). Moreover, there is the need to experimentally investigate processes of goal disengagement and reengagement in order to better substantiate causal conclusions. These could be, for example, experimental setups in which accommodative processes are acutely favored (Leipold et al., 2014), but should in particular combine the systematic initiation and subsequent blocking of goal setting with testing the functionality of accommodative adaptations (Rühs et al., 2022).

The goal of better understanding the development of accommodative coping over the lifespan is interesting and important in its own right – for example, for early support in childhood. Beyond that, such a theory could be a building block of an actual lifespan theory from a processual perspective on human ontogeny.

References

- Affleck, G., & Tennen, H. (1996). Constructing benefits from adversity: Adaptational significance and dispositional underpinnings. *Journal of Personality*, 64(4), 899–922. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00948.x
- Aldwin, C. M. (2007). Stress, coping, and development: An integrative perspective (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Baltes, P. B. (1987). Theoretical propositions of lifespan developmental psychology: On the dynamics between growth and decline. *Developmental Psychology*, 23(5), 611–626. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.23.5.611
- Baltes, P. B., & Baltes, M. M. (1990). Psychological perspectives on successful aging: The model of selective optimization with compensation. In
 P. B. Baltes & M. M. Baltes (Eds.), *Successful aging: Perspectives from the behavioral sciences* (pp. 1–34). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511665684.003
- Baltes, P. B., Lindenberger, U., & Staudinger, U. M. (2006). Life span theory in developmental psychology. In R. M. Lerner (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed., Vol. 1, pp. 569–664). Wiley.
- Barlow, M. A., Wrosch, C., & McGrath, J. J. (2019). Goal adjustment capacities and quality of life: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of*

Personality, 88(2), 307-323. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jopy.12492

- Bjorklund, D. F. (2021). *How children invented humanity*. Oxford University Press.
- Boerner, K., & Jopp, D. (2007). Improvement/ maintenance as reorientation as central features of coping with major life change and loss: Contributions of three life-span theories. *Human Development*, 50(4), 171–195. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000103358
- Bonanno, G. A., & Burton, C. L. (2013). Regulatory flexibility: An individual differences perspective on coping and emotion regulation. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(6), 591–612. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1745691613504116
- Brandtstädter, J. (1992). Personal control over development: Some developmental implications of self-efficacy. In R. Schwarzer (Ed.), Selfefficacy: Thought control of action (pp. 127–145). Hemisphere.
- Brandtstädter, J. (2006). Action perspectives on human development. In W. Damon, R. M. Lerner (Eds.-in-Chief), & R. M. Lerner (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed., pp. 516–568). Wiley.
- Brandtstädter, J., & Greve, W. (1994). The aging self: Stabilizing and protective processes. *Developmental Review*, 14(1), 52–80. https://doi. org/10.1006/drev.1994.1003
- Brandtstädter, J., & Lerner, R. M. (Eds.). (1999). Action and self-development: Theory and research through the life-span. Sage.
- Brandtstädter, J., & Renner, G. (1990). Tenacious goal pursuit and flexible goal adjustment: Explication and age-related analysis of assimilative and accommodative strategies of coping. *Psychology and Aging*, 5(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1037//0882-7974.5.1.58
- Brandtstädter, J., & Rothermund, K. (2002). The life-course dynamics of goal pursuit and goal adjustment: A two-process framework. *Developmental Review*, 22(1), 117–150. https:// doi.org/10.1006/drev.2001.0539
- Brandtstädter, J., Wentura, D., & Greve, W. (1993). Adaptive resources of the aging self: Outlines of

an emergent perspective. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 16(2), 323–349. https:// doi.org/10.1177/016502549301600212

- Chapman, M. (1988). Constructive evolution: Origins and development of Piaget's thought. Cambridge University Press.
- Chen, E., & Miller, G. E. (2012). "Shift-and-persist" strategies: Why low socioeconomic status isn't always bad for health. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(2), 135–158. https://doi. org/10.1177/1745691612436694
- Chun, C.-A., Moos, R. H., & Cronkite, R. C. (2006). Culture: A fundamental context for the stress and coping paradigm. In P. T. P. Wong & L. C. J. Wong (Eds.), *Handbook of multicultural perspectives on stress and coping* (pp. 29–53). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-26238-5_2
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Eggum, N. D. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 6, 495–525. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. clinpsy.121208.131208
- Greve, W. (2005). Maintaining personality: The active and adaptive self as core of individuality and personhood. In W. Greve, K. Rothermund, & D. Wentura (Eds.), *The adaptive self: Personal continuity and intentional self-development* (pp. 49–70). Hogrefe & Huber.
- Greve, W., & Enzmann, D. (2003). Self-esteem maintenance among incarcerated young males. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 27(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01650250143000562
- Greve, W., Enzmann, D., & Hosser, D. (2001). The stabilization of self-esteem among incarcerated adolescents: Processes of accommodation and immunization. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 45(6), 749–768.

- Greve, W., Kersten, K., Koch, M., & Rasche, V. (2021). Extending the scope of the 'cognitive advantage' hypothesis: Multilingual individuals show higher flexibility of goal adjustment. *Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01434632.2021.1922420
- Greve, W., Leipold, B., & Kappes, C. (2017). Fear of crime in old age: A sample case of resilience? *Journals of Gerontology Series B*, 73(7), 1224–1232. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw169
- Greve, W., Leipold, B., & Meyer, T. (2009).
 Resilienz als Entwicklungsergebnis: Die Förderung der individuellen Adaptivität [Resilience as developmental product: The promotion of individual adaptivity]. In M. Linden & W. Weig (Eds.), Salutotherapie in Prävention und Rehabilitation [Salutotherapy in prevention and rehabilitation] (pp. 173–184).
 Deutscher Ärzte-Verlag.
- Greve, W., & Staudinger, U. M. (2006). Resilience in later adulthood and old age: Resources and potentials for successful aging. In
 D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology* (2nd ed., Vol. 3, pp. 796–840). Wiley.
- Greve, W., & Thomsen, T. (2013). Developmental conditions of adaptive self-stabilization in adolescence: An exploratory study. *International Journal of Developmental Science*, 7(3–4), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.3233/DEV-120101
- Greve, W., & Thomsen, T. (2016). Evolutionary advantages of free play during childhood. *Evolutionary Psychology*, *14*(4). https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1474704916675349
- Greve, W., Thomsen, T., & Dehio, C. (2014). Does playing pay? The fitness-effect of free play during childhood. *Evolutionary Psychology*, *12*(2), 434–447. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 147470491401200210
- Greve, W., & Wentura, D. (2007). Personal and subpersonal regulation of human development: Beyond complementary categories. *Human Development*, 50(4), 201–207. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000103360
- Haase, C. M., Heckhausen, J., & Wrosch, C. (2013). Developmental regulation across the life span:

Toward a new synthesis. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(5), 964–972. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0029231

Harter, S. (1999). *The construction of the self: A developmental perspective*. Guilford Press.

Heckhausen, J., & Heckhausen, H. (2018).Development of motivation. In J. Heckhausen & H. Heckhausen, *Motivation and action* (3rd ed., pp. 679–743). Springer International Publishing.

Heckhausen, J., Wrosch, C., & Schulz, R. (2010). A motivational theory of life-span development. *Psychological Review*, 117(1), 32–60. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0017668

Heckhausen, J., Wrosch, C., & Schulz, R. (2019). Agency and motivation in adulthood and old age. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70, 191–217. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-103043

Holodynski, M., & Friedlmeier, W. (2006). Emotionen: Entwicklung und Regulation [Emotion: Development and regulation]. Springer.

Kappes, C., & Thomsen, T. (2020). Imitation of goal engagement and disengagement processes in romantic relationships. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(2), 234–244. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/per.2244

Kappes, C., & Thomsen, T. (2022). Observing parental behavior in challenging tasks: Its role for goal engagement and disengagement in children. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 221, Article 105463. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jecp.2022.105463

Keller, H., & Bard, K. A. (Eds.). (2017). *The cultural nature of attachment*. MIT Press.

Kunzmann, U., Rohr, M., Wieck, C., Kappes, K., & Wrosch, C. (2017). Speaking about feelings: Further evidence for multidirectional age differences in anger and sadness. *Psychology and Aging*, 32(1), 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1037/ pag0000142

Leipold, B., Bermeitinger, C., Greve, W., Meyer, B., Arnold, M., & Pielniok, M. (2014). Short-term induction of assimilation and accommodation. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 67(12), 2392–2408. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17470218.2014.931443 Leipold, B., & Greve, W. (2009). Resilience: A conceptual bridge between coping and development. *European Psychologist*, 14(1), 40–50. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.14.1.40

Lerner, R. M. (2018). Concepts and theories of human development (4th ed.). Routledge.

Lessing, N., Kappes, C., Greve, W., & M\u00e4hler, C. (2019). Developmental conditions of accommodative coping in childhood: The role of executive functions. *Cognitive Development*, 50, 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cogdev.2019.02.002

Lessing, N., Mähler, C. & Greve, W. (2015). Erfassung akkommodativer
Bewältigungsfähigkeiten im Kindesalter: Ein Erfassungsinstrument [Assessment of accommodative coping capacities in childhood: A measurement]. Zeitschrift für Entwicklungspsychologie und Pädagogische Psychologie [Journal of Developmental Psychology and Educational Psychology], 47(4), 210–218. https://doi.org/10.1026/0049-8637/ a000138

Lessing, N., Thomsen, T., M\u00e4hler, C., & Greve, W. (2017). Selbstregulation und flexible Zielanpassung im Vorschulalter [Self-regulation and flexible goal adjustment in preschool age]. *Kindheit und Entwicklung [Childhood and Development]*, 26(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/ 10.1026/0942-5403/a000212

Marek, K., Kappes, C., Hosser, D., & Greve, W. (2022). Accommodative self-regulation: The sample case of imprisonment in young adulthood. *Journal of Personality*. https://doi. org/10.1111/jopy.12775

Meyer, T., & Greve, W. (2012). Die Entwicklungsbedingungen der Adaptivität. Theoretische Überlegungen und empirische Befunde zu einem Entwicklungsmodell akkommodativer Regulationskompetenz [Developmental conditions of adaptivity: Theoretical considerations and empirical findings on a developmental model of accommodative regulation competences]. Zeitschrift für Gesundheitspsychologie [European Journal of Health Psychology], 20(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1026/0943-8149/a000059

- Morling, B., & Evered, S. (2006). Secondary control reviewed and defined. *Psychological Bulletin*, *132*(2), 269–296. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.269
- Morling, B., & Evered, S. (2007). The construct formerly known as secondary control. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(6), 917–919. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.6.917
- Rothermund, K., Grigutsch, L. A., Jusepeitis, A., Koranyi, N., Meissner, F., Müller, F., Urban, M., & Wentura, D. (2020). Research with implicit measures: Suggestions for a new agenda of sub-personal psychology. *Social Cognition*, 38(Suppl.), S243–S263. https://doi.org/10.1521/ soco.2020.38.supp.s243
- Rühs, F., Greve, W., & Kappes, C. (2017). Coping with criminal victimization and fear of crime: The protective role of accommodative selfregulation. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 22(2), 359–377. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/lcrp.12106
- Rühs, F., Greve, W., & Kappes, C. (2022). Inducing and blocking the goal to belong in an experimental setting: Goal disengagement research using Cyberball. *Motivation and Emotion*, 46, 806–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-022-09975-w
- Seery, M., Holman E. A., & Silver R. C. (2010). Whatever does not kill us: Cumulative lifetime adversity, vulnerability and resilience. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 99(6), 1025–1041. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021344
- Skinner, E. A. (2007). Secondary control critiqued: Is it secondary? Is it control? Commentary on Morling and Evered, 2006. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(6), 911–916. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.133.6.911
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705

- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (Eds.). (2009). New directions for child and adolescent development: Coping and the development of regulation, 2009(124).
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress, neurophysiology, social relationships, and resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41740-0
- Staudinger, U. M. (2000). Viele Gründe sprechen dagegen, und trotzdem geht es vielen Menschen gut: Das Paradox des subjektiven Wohlbefindens [Many reasons speak against it, but many individuals are well aware of: The paradox of subjective well-being]. *Psychologische Rundschau [Psychological Review]*, 51(4), 185–197. https://doi.org/10.1026//0033-3042.51.4.185
- Staudinger, U. M., & Lindenberger, U. (Eds.). (2003). Understanding human development: Dialogues with lifespan psychology. Kluwer.
- Thomsen, T. (2016). Flexible goal adjustment from late childhood to late adolescence:
 Developmental differences and relations to cognitive coping and emotion regulation. *International Journal of Developmental Science*, 10(1–2), 57–72. https://doi.org/10.3233/DEV-150167
- Thomsen, T., & Greve, W. (2013). Accommodative coping in early adolescence: An investigation of possible developmental components. *Journal of Adolescence*, 36(5), 971–981. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.08.003
- Thomsen, T., Fritz, V., Möİle, R., & Greve, W. (2015). The impact of accommodative coping on well-being and self-esteem in childhood and adolescence: Longitudinal findings. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 39(5), 467–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025414551762
- Thomsen, T., Kappes, C., Schwerdt, L., Sander, J., & Poller, C. (2017). Modelling goal adjustment in social relationships: Two experimental studies with children and adults. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 35(2), 267–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjdp.12162
- Wong, P. T. P., Reker, G. T., & Peacock, E. J. (2006). A resource-congruence model of coping and the development of the Coping Schemas Inventory. In P. T. P. Wong, & L. C. J. Wong (Eds.), *Handbook of multicultural perspectives on* stress and coping (pp. 223–283). Springer. https:// doi.org/10.1007/0-387-26238-5_11
- Wrosch, C., Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Schulz, R. (2003). The importance of goal disengagement in adaptive self-regulation: When giving up is beneficial. *Self and Identity*, 2(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860309021
- Wrosch, C., Scheier, M. F., Miller, G. E., Schulz, R., & Carver, C. S. (2003). Adaptive selfregulation of unattainable goals: Goal disengagement, goal reengagement, and

subjective well-being. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(12), 1494–1508. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0146167203256921

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, resilience, and intervention* (pp. 485–545). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119125556. devpsy410

16 The Development of Temperament, Personality Traits, and Coping in Childhood and Adolescence

Rebecca L. Shiner, Tessa van den Berg, Marcel A. G. van Aken, and Odilia M. Laceulle

Introduction

Children and adolescents face a wide range of stressors that they need to cope with, including daily challenges - like peer rejection, conflict with parents, difficult schoolwork, poverty, or violence - and more major life events - like parental divorce, illness, a big move, or more large-scale catastrophes. In the face of these many different types of adversity, youth develop coping strategies - "conscious volitional efforts to regulate emotion, cognition, behavior, physiology, and the environment in response to stressful events or circumstances" (Compas et al., 2001, p. 89). At the same time, other aspects of youth's personalities are under construction as well: children's more basic early temperamental traits begin to develop into broader personality traits as children transition from infancy and toddlerhood into the preschool and middle childhood years (Shiner & Caspi, 2012). The present chapter addresses the complex links between youth's temperament and personality traits and their emerging coping styles in the first two decades of life.

In this chapter, we adopt the perspective that temperament and personality traits and coping are important and distinct domains of individual differences starting in childhood and that these two domains continue to develop and mutually affect each other throughout childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. We begin the chapter by defining temperament and personality traits and coping strategies and by articulating a framework for understanding the emergence of traits and coping in childhood and adolescence. Second, we review what is known about the associations between temperament and personality traits and coping strategies and about patterns of normative or mean-level development in these two domains in childhood and adolescence. Third, we describe five processes that potentially link stress, temperament and personality traits, and coping over time, and we offer empirical illustrations of each process. Fourth, we suggest that the emergence of life narratives in adolescence is likely to be another, more integrative personality process that enables young people to cope with adversity. Finally, we conclude by offering suggestions for future research in this area; there is relatively little research probing the links between temperamental and personality traits and coping strategies in children and adolescents, so there remains much to be learned about their joint development in the first two decades of life.

Definitions and a Theoretical Model: The Emergence of Temperament and Personality Traits, Coping, and Narrative Identity in Childhood and Adolescence

In this chapter, consistent with the views of contemporary personality research, we adopt a broad perspective on what constitutes personality across the life course: "Personality refers to an individual's characteristic patterns of thought, emotion, and behavior, together with the psychological mechanisms - hidden or not - behind those patterns" (Funder, 2019, p. 5). Thus, personality is much more than temperament and personality traits and includes attachment styles, emotion regulation, goals and motivations, interests, values, life narratives, and, yes, individual differences in coping as well (Funder, 2019; McAdams, 2013). For many years, researchers and laypeople alike assumed that personality differences, particularly personality traits, are highly stable across time. However, research over the past two decades has demonstrated convincingly that personality, including personality traits, changes throughout childhood and adolescence, and that such changes continue well into adulthood (McAdams et al., 2019). For example, personality traits show normative patterns of mean-level change as people grow older, and findings for rank-order stability of traits likewise indicate that people change in their relative standing on traits, even in adulthood (Caspi et al., 2005; Shiner, 2021). In short, personality encompasses a wide range of individual differences beyond simply personality traits, and these individual differences are worthy of developmental study in childhood and adolescence.

McAdams and colleagues (McAdams, 2013; McAdams & Olson, 2010) have articulated a model for personality development that helps to situate temperament and personality traits and coping within a broader framework of personality differences. In this model, the young person is seen as developing three distinct layers of personality, each emerging in sequence over time from early childhood through adolescence and early adulthood: first, the young child as *actor*, displaying easily observable temperament and personality traits; next, the school-aged child as *agent*, a motivated person who pursues goals, develops values and interests, and copes with stress and challenges; and, finally, the adolescent and young adult as *author*, who crafts a narrative identity that engenders a sense of unity and purpose.

As actors, starting early in childhood, children begin to display traits - patterns of thinking, feeling, and behaving that tend to be relatively consistent across time and situation (Allport, 1937). Traits are influenced by genetic and neurobiological processes, as well as environments and by life experiences (Polderman et al., 2015). Early emerging traits tend to be conceived of as temperament traits, which are defined as more basic, biologically based individual differences (Shiner et al., 2012) and which include the traits of surgency (or positive emotionality), negative emotionality, and effortful control (Rothbart et al., 2001); these three temperamental traits are roughly similar to three of the later Big Five personality traits of extraversion, neuroticism, and conscientiousness, respectively (Shiner & DeYoung, 2013). Early temperament also likely includes precursors to two other later personality traits of agreeableness and openness to experience (Shiner & DeYoung, 2013).

In contrast with temperament, personality traits encompass a broader range of individual differences that emerge more fully from earlier temperament and become more consolidated in the preschool or school-age years; these traits are structured as the Big Five personality traits of extraversion, neuroticism, conscientiousness, agreeableness, and openness to experience/intellect (De Pauw, 2017; Soto & Tackett, 2015). Temperament and personality traits have more in common than they have that makes them different, and they include highly overlapping sets of tendencies (Shiner & DeYoung, 2013). *Surgency, positive emotionality*,

and extraversion include sociability, energy, positive emotions, and eager approach of potentially rewarding situations. Negative emotionality, negative affectivity, and neuroticism include propensities toward a wide range of negative emotions including fear and anxiety, sadness, irritability, frustration, and insecurity, Effortful control and conscientiousness include aspects of self-control - planfulness, persistence, impulse control, and self-regulation; conscientiousness also includes tendencies toward organization, dependability, and pursuit of high standards. Agreeableness includes concern for others, respectfulness, and trust at the high end and egocentrism, hostility, and mistrust at the low end. Openness to experience/intellect includes curiosity, imagination, and perceptiveness. Because of the close ties between temperament and personality traits, we discuss them side by side throughout

this chapter.

Children's temperament traits emerge in infancy and begin to show moderate stability by the preschool years (Shiner et al., 2012); they therefore seem likely to affect children's development of coping strategies for managing stress. Temperament and personality traits also seem likely to affect the coping skills children and adolescents develop because traits shape children's tendencies toward reactivity in the face of stress and their emerging capacities for self-regulation (Rothbart, 2011). For example, extraversion reflects reactivity to potential rewards (especially social rewards), neuroticism reflects reactivity to potential threats and punishments, and openness reflects reactivity to complex, novel, and interesting stimuli (Shiner & DeYoung, 2013). Effortful control and conscientiousness shape individual differences in capacities for effortful selfregulation, and agreeableness involves regulation in service of maintaining positive relationships with others (Shiner & DeYoung, 2013). Coping involves a balance between stress reactivity and regulation (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016); because temperament and personality traits affect both reactivity and regulation, they likely play an important part in the coping strategies children develop for managing stress.

By the middle childhood years, following what is called the 5- to 7-year shift (Sameroff & Haith, 1996; White, 1965), children become motivated agents; children become more selfdirected and self-motivated because of their increasing ability to think about the future, consider alternative options, solve problems on their own, and adopt multiple perspectives simultaneously (Del Guidice, 2014). As agents, youth begin to actively pursue their own goals, cultivate their guiding values, and develop their interests (Shiner, Soto & De Fruvt, 2021). According to McAdams' model (McAdams & Pals, 2006), these aspects of personality are likely to vary more across time and situation than are traits because they are more specific to particular contexts, roles, or developmental stages.

Individual differences in coping are yet another important aspect of children's agency. Although younger children have both involuntary and voluntary means of coping, coping strategies become especially important in middle childhood as children become more active agents pursuing their own value-driven goals (Compas et al., 2001). Youth develop coping strategies as a means of dealing with both acute stresses and chronic adversity; these strategies are controlled, conscious, and goaldirected efforts to regulate behavior, cognition, emotion, physiology, or the environment in stressful conditions (Compas et al., 2001, 2014; Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Similar to other aspects of personality related to the child as agent, youth's use of coping strategies may vary across contexts, roles, or developmental stages (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck,

403

2007; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). For example, children and adolescents may use certain coping strategies in academic versus home contexts, in the role of student versus friend, or during childhood versus adolescence.

Although there is reasonable consensus about the structure of temperament and personality traits, there is less consensus about the structure of coping strategies. However, there is considerable support for a hierarchical structure with three broad domains encompassing multiple specific strategies (Compas et al., 2017; Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007). First, primary control includes approachoriented, active strategies for directly addressing the source of stress or one's own emotions. One important type of primary control involves the use of problem-solving strategies in which a person generates possible solutions, decides among those options, and plans a response. An especially important set of primary control strategies includes the seeking of social support in terms of emotional (comfort, empathy, closeness) or instrumental (help, resources, or advice) support. Second, secondary control enables a person to change one's relationship to the stressor through strategies like acceptance, reappraisal, or distraction. Third, disengagement coping encompasses a wide variety of avoidance-oriented attempts at distancing oneself from the stressors or one's emotions (e.g., withdrawal, denial, wishful thinking, substance abuse). Both primary and secondary control are seen as engagement strategies that are approach-oriented responses, in contrast to the *disengagement* strategies that involve an avoidance-oriented response. We use this taxonomy whenever possible in the rest of the chapter.

Finally, in adolescence, youth begin the process of becoming *authors* as they begin to develop a narrative identity (McAdams & McLean, 2013; McLean & Lilgendahl, 2019), a life story that integrates their previous experiences with their goals, values, and imagined future into a more coherent whole. Youth begin to develop particular themes, styles of autobiographical reasoning, and distinctive structures in their emerging narrative identities. Life narratives offer another, more complex means of coping with adversity as young people enter adulthood (McLean & Lilgendahl, 2019). We elaborate more on this domain of personality later in the chapter.

Empirical Links between Personality Traits and Coping Strategies: What Are the Consistent Associations and the Patterns of Normative Change across the Two Domains of Personality?

Associations between Personality Traits and Coping Strategies

Before considering the multiple processes through which temperament and personality traits and coping may be linked developmentally, it is important to establish the strength and patterns of relationships between traits and coping. We discuss here, first, the associations observed between personality traits and coping strategies in two meta-analyses, and second, the patterns of normative change in the two domains.

The most complete picture of the associations between the Big Five personality traits and coping strategies comes from a metaanalysis by Connor-Smith and Flachsbart (2007; see also Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010 for a review of the findings). The 165 samples included only 22 samples of participants aged 17 and younger; 70 samples were ages 18–25 years, mostly college students. Most of the studies assessed personality traits and coping concurrently. Overall, the sizes of the associations between personality traits and coping were small or, rarely, moderate, but the associations were larger in younger samples, perhaps because coping may be more driven by early traits before youth have had opportunities to try out and hone a variety of coping strategies.

Extraversion was linked with many different primary and secondary control engagement strategies (problem-solving, all types of social support, distraction, and reappraisal), but not with any disengagement strategies. Neuroticism was linked negatively with problem-solving, reappraisal, and acceptance and positively with emotional social support and distraction, as well as robustly positively with a wide range of disengagement strategies (denial, wishful thinking, withdrawal, focus on negative emotions, and substance abuse). Neuroticism's medium-size correlations with disengagement coping were the largest in the meta-analysis. Conscientiousness was linked positively with many engagement strategies (problem-solving, instrumental social support, emotion regulation, reappraisal) and with religious coping and was linked negatively with many disengagement strategies (denial, negative emotion focus, and substance abuse). Agreeableness was linked positively but very modestly with many engagement strategies (problem-solving, all types of social support, reappraisal, and acceptance) and negatively with several disengagement strategies (denial, negative emotion focus, and substance abuse). Openness to experience was modestly positively linked with numerous engagement strategies (problem-solving, all kinds of social support, emotion regulation, and reappraisal), as well as positively associated with withdrawal and negatively with religious coping. Overall, the associations were stronger for stressed samples and for studies where coping was assessed dispositionally, rather than in a situation-specific manner.

A more recent meta-analysis (Barańczuk, 2019) examined the associations between the

Big Five personality traits and emotion regulation strategies. There is some overlap between emotion regulation and coping; both involve regulatory processes, and some coping strategies involve emotion regulation (Compas et al., 2014, 2017). Overall, the meta-analytic associations between personality traits and emotion regulation were modest to moderate in size and were strikingly similar in their overall pattern to the results obtained by Connor-Smith and Flachsbart (2007). Again, out of all the associations, the correlations between neuroticism and ineffective emotion regulation strategies were the strongest. Interestingly, the correlations between personality traits and emotion regulation were again larger in younger samples, giving additional support to the possibility that personality traits and coping are more strongly associated in children and adolescents than in adults.

Thus, across these two meta-analyses, the results demonstrate theoretically sensible but generally modest associations between personality traits and coping. However, the stronger associations of personality traits and coping strategies seen in young people in both metaanalyses indicate that it may be especially important to study the processes linking these two domains of individual differences earlier in development.

Normative Changes in Temperament and Personality Traits and Coping

Beyond the simple associations of personality traits and coping strategies, it is useful to consider whether there are similar patterns seen in normative changes in these domains in youth. Normative changes involve changes in the average or mean levels of individual differences with age (Caspi et al., 2005). The rapid and substantial changes that youth experience at biological, cognitive, emotional, and environmental levels, particularly during transitional periods, seem likely to affect the mean levels of both temperament and personality traits and coping strategies. We consider, first, normative changes in temperament and personality traits and, second, normative changes in coping strategies. As noted earlier in the chapter, temperament and personality traits are no longer seen as fixed and entirely stable, but rather are viewed as being constructed over time through the influence of genetic, environmental, and transactional processes (Caspi et al., 2005; Shiner et al., 2012); thus, normative changes are expected in both traits and coping in childhood, adolescence, and early adulthood.

During the first several years of life, extraversion, negative emotionality, selfcontrol and attention (aspects of effortful control), and empathy and prosocial behavior (aspects of agreeableness) all seem to increase overall (reviewed in Shiner, 2021). Then, during the preschool years and middle childhood. several patterns are observed: Extraversion and openness tend to decrease; the internalizing aspects of neuroticism (e.g., fear, sadness) may increase in the beginning of middle childhood and the externalizing aspects (e.g., irritability) may decrease or be stable; and mixed patterns are observed for conscientiousness and agreeableness, though attention and concentration do seem to increase (Shiner, 2021). However, there are too few studies to be able to draw firm conclusions about mean-level change in early and middle childhood.

Far more studies have examined mean-level change in adolescence, and many have provided support for what is termed the *disruption hypothesis* (Denissen et al., 2013; Soto & Tackett, 2015) – namely that, during the transition from late childhood to adolescence, some negative personality changes take place, followed by increasing personality maturity in the transition to adulthood. Youth decrease in

conscientiousness and agreeableness, and they may continue the decline in extraversion and openness that seems to start in middle childhood. Girls often show an increase in neuroticism, whereas boys remain stable or decrease on this trait. Later in adolescence, youth increase on conscientiousness and agreeableness and decrease in neuroticism – a pattern that often continues into early adulthood.

The patterns for mean-level change in coping strategies show both convergence and divergence with the patterns for personality traits (reviewed in Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). By preschool age, children already use four families of coping strategies that remain prominent throughout childhood and adolescence: support-seeking, problem-solving, behavioral escape or avoidance (if it is an option), and distraction when other options are not available. In middle childhood, especially following the 5- to 7-year shift, children's coping becomes more differentiated and includes more cognitive strategies that enable greater self-reliance: there tends to be a decline in escape and maladaptive coping. Across adolescence, youth increase in their capacities for several positive coping strategies: planful problem-solving, the use of cognitive and behavioral distraction tactics, and more sophisticated emotion regulation. In early adolescence, though, youth sometimes use fewer positive strategies like help-seeking and employ negative strategies like cognitive escape, rumination, blaming others, and venting. It seems possible that there may be some interplay between the development of youth's Big Five personality traits and their coping strategies. In middle childhood, there is some evidence that children gain in their skills in self-regulation in terms of both personality traits and coping, whereas there may be a dip in self-regulation across the two domains in the early part of adolescence, with positive changes to follow again later in adolescence.

Processes Linking Temperament and Personality Traits, Stress, and Coping Strategies over Time

As the meta-analytic work makes clear, there are modest and sometimes moderate associations between temperament and personality traits and coping strategies. There are many different reasons why traits and coping may come to be associated with each other, and we explore those potential processes in this section. We describe each hypothesized process and then offer empirical examples of each type, drawing when we can from the developmental literature. A summary of those processes is shown in Table 16.1, along with examples of each process. Figure 16.1 presents those same processes in temporal form, depicting how temperament and personality traits may be linked with the stress \rightarrow appraisal \rightarrow coping \rightarrow outcome chain of experiences.

First, temperament and personality traits may shape youth's exposure to stressful life events, which in turn shapes youth's need for coping. Second, temperament and personality traits shape youth's appraisals of the stressors that they encounter in terms of whether the stressors are seen as threats or challenges. Third, traits shape a young person's choice of which coping strategies to adopt in response to stressors. Fourth, coping strategies moderate the effects of traits on youth's outcomes (e.g., competence, psychopathology, and wellbeing); in other words, particular combination of traits and coping strategies may interact to predict youth's outcomes. Fifth and finally, coping strategies have transactional effects on temperament and personality traits, such that the use of particular coping strategies leads to changes in youth's traits over time.

It is important to note that these processes linking traits and coping may produce vicious or virtuous cycles over time. In a vicious cycle, more challenging temperament or personality traits like negative emotionality/neuroticism may lead youth to experience more stressful

 Table 16.1 Processes linking the development of temperament and personality traits with stress and

 or coping

Process linking temperament and person- ality traits with stress/coping	Example
Traits affect exposure to stressors.	Youth with lower agreeableness may generate more stressful life events for themselves.
Traits affect appraisals of stressors as challenges vs. threats.	Youth with higher extraversion may appraise stressful situations as challenging rather than threatening.
Traits shape the coping strategies used in response to stress.	Youth with higher conscientiousness may use more problem-solving coping because they are better at planning and persevering.
Traits and coping interact to shape adaptation.	Youth with greater effortful control may be less likely to become depressed after ruminating about bad experiences than youth with lower effortful control.
The repeated use of coping strategies affects change and stability in traits.	Youth who use problem-solving coping strategies may experience decreases in neuroticism-related tendencies over time.



Figure 16.1 A temporal model of the processes linking temperament and personality traits with stress and coping.

events, cause them to perceive such events as more threatening, predispose them to use more disengagement strategies for managing stress, and eventually cause them to experience more negative outcomes from stressful experiences (Shiner, 2019); and these more negative outcomes may in turn cause such youth to become even higher on negative emotionality/neuroticism over time. In a virtuous cycle, more positive temperament or personality traits like effortful control or conscientiousness may predispose youth to experience each step of the stress and coping process in a more positive way, leading to more positive outcomes over time. Thus, rather than seeing each stage of the stress and coping process as distinct, they should be seen as interconnected.

Temperament and Personality Traits Affect Youth's Exposure to Stressors

In the first stage of the stress and coping process, youth with particular personality traits may, through their own tendencies, come to experience particular types of stress and adversity more often, which results in the need for greater coping efforts. Developmental psychologists have recognized for decades that people shape their environments in part through their genetically influenced tendencies (Scarr & McCartney, 1983). Youth do so in part by behaving in particular ways that in turn evoke varied responses from other people; for example, a child who is low on agreeableness may evoke greater conflict with others, an experience that is stressful for most people. Youth also shape their environments by "selecting" themselves into certain environments. This selection process may be conscious in cases where youth deliberately choose particular environments, for example, when an extraverted adolescent purposefully chooses to go to parties to meet his needs for socializing. The selection processes may also be unintentional or unconscious: for example, an adolescent who is low on conscientiousness

409

may drop out of high school and may therefore find herself in stressful environments where she has fewer resources available. Researchers investigating depression have applied similar ideas to their study of depression by developing the *stress generation hypothesis*, which is the claim that people with a history of depression tend to generate more stressful experiences in their day-to-day lives by virtue of their own depressive actions (Hammen, 1991; Liu, 2013). The stress generation hypothesis has been well-substantiated in samples of youth and adults over the past several decades (Hammen, 2018).

Youth's temperament and personality traits are likely to affect their exposure to stressful life events through similar processes, including through the responses that they evoke from others and through the environments they select themselves into. A number of longitudinal studies have now demonstrated that youth's personality traits shape their exposure to stressful life events over time. The personality traits of negative emotionality and neuroticism in adolescence are predictive of different types of stressful life events over time, including episodic life stress (Uliaszek et al., 2012), acute and chronic interpersonal life stress (Stroud et al., 2015; Uliaszek et al., 2012), and negative life events and long-term difficulties (Jeronimus et al., 2014). There is likewise evidence across multiple samples that effortful control and self-control in childhood and adolescence predict reductions in stressful life events over time (Galla & Wood, 2015; Laceulle, Jeronimus, et al., 2015; Laceulle, van Aken, et al., 2015; Ong et al., 2019). There is some evidence that temperamental traits linked with extraversion and low agreeableness may predict greater exposure to stressful life events in adolescence (Laceulle, van Aken, et al., 2015), including stress resulting from romantic relationships for extraversion and stress in peer and family

relationships for lower agreeableness (Laceulle, Jeronimus, et al., 2015).

There is thus convincing evidence in youth for the role of neuroticism and poor selfcontrol in the generation of stressful life experiences and some more limited evidence for the role of other traits as well. The experience of stressful life events may in turn have negative effects on personality development, for example, by increasing youth's levels of neuroticism (Jeronimus et al., 2014; Shiner et al., 2017) or decreasing their self-control (Laceulle, van Aken, et al., 2015; Ong et al., 2019). Some of the existing research has documented more complex pathways linking neuroticism and poor self-control with later internalizing disorders via the mediating role of stress generation (Snyder & Hankin, 2016; Uliaszek et al., 2012). For a more complete understanding of the process of temperament and personality traits in stress generation, it would be helpful for future research to also examine the complete mediational model of traits \rightarrow stress generation \rightarrow coping strategies.

Temperament and Personality Traits Affect Youth's Appraisal of Stressors as Challenges versus Threats

Youth's temperament and personality traits may affect their interpretation and appraisal of potentially stressful situations. Appraisal processes can be defined as a person's assessment of their experiences and the implications of that assessment for the person's well-being and capacity for coping with these experiences (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Appraisal processes likely play a key role in children's and adolescents' vulnerability to the experience and impact of stress.

Individual differences in appraisal are likely to be affected by youth's temperament and personality traits. When stressful events occur, individuals subjectively evaluate the stressor as a challenge or a threat (Jamieson, 2017; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Evaluating the stressor as a challenge (i.e., something one can handle) comes with the expectation of gain or mastery over the situation. Evaluating the stressor as a threat (i.e., not having adequate resources to deal with the stressor) causes individuals to feel overwhelmed. Temperament and personality traits seem likely to affect whether a stressor is seen as a challenge or a threat, given that personality traits have important effects on how people interpret the situations that they encounter (Caspi & Shiner, 2006). In the following, we review evidence for how each of the Big Five personality traits shapes the appraisal of stressors; we primarily include studies of adolescents and young adults because fewer studies have examined the appraisal process in children.

Of all the Big Five personality traits, neuroticism is of particular importance in the context of appraisal. Neuroticism is described as the relatively stable tendency toward negative affectivity and emotional distress (McCrae & Costa, 1987). Given that neuroticism involves reactivity to a wide range of negative stimuli (Shiner, 2019), the personality trait is likely to lead people to interpret stressful situations in a more negative way. Schneider et al. (2012) found that higher levels of neuroticism in an undergraduate sample were related to lower state positive affect and higher state negative affect after completing a stressful task, as well as higher threat appraisals. Moreover, neuroticism in adolescents is associated with greater levels of perceived stress (Kiekens et al., 2015), worrying, and more reported symptoms of illness (Van de Ven & Engels, 2011). By focusing on negative elements of situations, individuals high on neuroticism tend to experience stressors in a more threatening way that undermines their sense of being able to cope effectively and that may lead them to use more disengagement strategies like rumination. Given that threat appraisals arise from the sense that one has inadequate resources to cope (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), and individuals high in neuroticism tend to use ineffective coping strategies (Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007), people high on this trait may indeed have both more distress to manage and fewer available resources for managing stress.

In contrast to the findings linking neuroticism with threat appraisals, extraversion appears to be associated with challenge appraisals. Extraversion, the tendency toward positive affectivity, sociability, and assertiveness (McCrae & Costa, 1987), is usually correlated with happiness, pride, and selfsatisfaction, and negatively correlated with stress and fear (Penley & Tomaka, 2002). Someone who is high in positive affectivity may be more inclined to recognize possible positive outcomes of events, making it likely that this person feels able to cope with stressful situations. Considering extraversion as a sensitivity to reward, extraverts may see stressful situations as an opportunity for reward when dealt with successfully. Accordingly, extraversion has been found to be positively related to challenge appraisals of academic stressors in university students (Gallagher, 1990) and in adolescents (Mak et al., 2004).

Openness involves having a curious and creative thinking orientation (McCrae & Costa, 1987) and has been associated with lower perceived stress in undergraduates (Penley & Tomaka, 2002). Schneider et al. (2012) found that openness was negatively related to threat appraisals and marginally positively related to challenge appraisals in undergraduates. The tendency toward exploring new situations fosters an approach orientation to stressors that are unfamiliar (Schneider et al., 2012). By being open to new experiences, even those that may be stressful, one may feel better able to deal with stressors and see them as challenges rather than threats. Less is known about how conscientiousness and agreeableness are related to stress appraisal. Conscientious persons, being self-disciplined, ambitious, and goal-oriented (McCrae & Costa, 1987), seem to describe situations in a more positive way by highlighting positive aspects of the situation. Similarly, agreeable persons, being trustworthy, sympathetic, and cooperative (McCrae & Costa, 1987), pay less attention to discomfort and try to see the positive aspects of stressful situations (Van de Ven & Engels, 2011). Research also shows that agreeableness is related to less perceived stress in adolescents (Kiekens et al., 2015). In a systematic review of adults, however, Kilby et al. (2018) reported that only one study found a negative relationship between agreeableness and threat appraisal (Shewchuk et al., 1999), but this was not replicated in other studies. It is possible that conscientiousness and agreeableness may each include facets that relate to stress appraisal in different ways. For example, conscientious youth usually have high effortful control, which enables them to feel relaxed and in control in challenging situations (Oldehinkel et al., 2011). In contrast, the perfectionistic side of conscientiousness may cause greater distress in stressful situations (e.g., Zureck et al., 2015).

Taken together, in samples of adolescents and young adults, the following links have been found: neuroticism with higher threat appraisals, extraversion with higher challenge appraisals, and openness with lower threat appraisals and higher challenge appraisals. Less is known about how conscientiousness and agreeableness relate to stress appraisals. Finally, it is important to note that personality traits may affect individuals' reactivity to stressors in ways that go simply beyond their effects on stress appraisals; personality traits may also shape a wide range of other emotional, cognitive, and behavioral processes in response to stressors (Derryberry et al., 2003).

Temperament and Personality Traits Shape the Coping Strategies Youth Adopt in Response to Stressors

Temperament and personality traits relate not only to how people perceive stress, but also to the coping strategies that they adopt in reaction to stress (Parker & Wood, 2008). In an early theoretical framework for personality trait-coping relationships. Bolger and Zuckerman (1995) termed this association the differential coping-choice model. As noted previously, meta-analytic results make it clear that personality traits are associated with particular coping strategies (Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007; Barańczuk, 2019), and these results have typically been interpreted to mean that personality traits affect the coping strategies people adopt (e.g., Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010). A handful of studies have investigated the mediating role of coping strategies in the association between personality and life outcomes in young people. These studies represent an extension of the differential copingchoice model in that they have tested whether personality traits predict coping strategies, and whether those coping strategies in turn predict competence, psychopathology, or well-being. Nearly all of these studies have been crosssectional, rather than longitudinal, so the evidence for possible causal relationships is relatively weak, but the results do point to patterns worthy of future investigation. In the following, we offer some potential explanations for why personality traits may lead youth to adopt particular coping styles and describe some of the limited evidence for possible temperament/personality trait \rightarrow coping strategies \rightarrow adaptation pathways.

Extraversion has many features that may promote the development of engaged and active means of coping. Assertiveness and approach tendencies might facilitate problemsolving, while positive affect might facilitate cognitive restructuring (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010; Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007). Furthermore, extraverted youth may have larger and more connected social networks they can call on for emotional or instrumental support (Carver & Connor-Smith. 2010: Kalka & Karcz. 2020). Studies on the mediating role of coping have also found that the engagement coping strategies of extraverts may lead to positive outcomes. For example, Evans et al. (2018) found in a sample of adolescents that extraversion was associated with productive coping, which predicted school satisfaction and subjective happiness 6 months later. Similarly, in a crosssectional study of middle schoolers, Lyons et al. (2016) found that extraversion was associated with approach coping, which in turn predicted greater life satisfaction.

As noted previously, a substantial body of research has demonstrated that neuroticism is related to disengagement coping strategies, such as withdrawal, avoidance, and wishful thinking (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010; Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007: Evans et al., 2018; Lyons et al., 2016). A study of middle school-age youth (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2015) found that, in anticipating how they would cope with two peer rejection scenarios, adolescents with greater social anxiety (which can be considered as an important manifestation of higher neuroticism) expected to use more disengagement strategies, and those with more depressive symptoms expected to use fewer engagement strategies. As described in the preceding section, neuroticism predicts a tendency to perceive stressors as threats. Threat appraisals are related to greater use of emotion-focused coping (Penley & Tomaka, 2002) and disengagement strategies, likely because those strategies enable people to escape and be relieved of the perceived stress more quickly (Kilby et al., 2018; Lengua et al., 1999). Disengagement

coping strategies are typically maladaptive and ineffective (Compas et al., 2017), which may cause youth with high levels of neuroticism to experience even more stress, generating a vicious circle of stress and ineffective coping. In the short term, disengagement from stressors reduces distress, which in turn may dampen the motivation to cope with the stressor using engagement strategies or may prevent people from experiencing the effectiveness of engagement coping.

The self-discipline that accompanies conscientiousness (e.g., persistence, organization, and goal orientation) facilitates strategic planning (Kalka & Karcz, 2020) and productive coping in general (Evans et al., 2018). These same qualities may also motivate youth to productively engage with stressors, resulting in active (Taylor et al., 2018) and engagement coping strategies (Valiente et al., 2009). The skills that conscientious people have are helpful not only in developing effective coping strategies, but also in identifying and adapting to stressors that may arise in the future (Straud et al., 2015). Youth who can regulate themselves well may be less prone to becoming overwhelmed when experiencing stress and thus may be better able to calmly think of the best strategies for coping. For example, in a longitudinal study of Mexican-origin youth, effortful control, which we view as a proxy for trait conscientiousness, predicted positive changes in the use of engagement coping strategies over time, potentially counteracting the negative effects of economic hardship (Taylor et al., 2018). Likewise, a longitudinal study of elementary school-age children found that effortful control predicted better regulation of frustration, which in turn predicted lower levels of conduct problems and depression (Zalewski et al., 2011). In contrast, poor cognitive control seems to be related to the generation of more stress by increasing rumination, leading in turn to greater anxiety and depression (Snyder & Hankin, 2016).

Fewer studies of youth have examined the links between agreeableness and openness and coping strategies, beyond concurrent studies assessing personality traits and coping. As noted previously, links between agreeableness and coping are modest (Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007). The qualities of openness may be helpful in reframing situations (cognitive restructuring) and finding creative solutions for problems or addressing problems (Straud et al., 2015). On the other hand, higher openness could also facilitate wishful thinking (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010).

Thus, there is good evidence linking extraversion with engaged, approach-oriented coping, and this may promote stronger wellbeing in youth. Neuroticism is associated with ineffective disengagement strategies, perhaps because the trait predisposes youth to perceive stressors as more threatening and distressing. Conscientiousness, typically measured in existing studies as effortful control, predicts the adoption of positive engagement strategies, and there is some longitudinal evidence that these more active strategies promote better outcomes over time. Less is known about how agreeableness and openness come to be associated with coping strategies in youth.

Temperament and Personality Traits and Coping Strategies Interact to Shape Youth's Outcomes

As described in the previous section, Bolger and Zuckerman (1995) proposed that personality traits shape the selection of coping strategies. They expanded on this framework to argue that personality traits not only affect the selection and development of particular coping strategies, but also personality traits shape how effective those coping strategies are – a process they term the differential choice-effectiveness model. This means that some coping strategies may work well for people with certain temperamental or personality traits and be less effective for others with different traits. This may occur for several reasons. First, personality traits may be a buffer for maladaptive coping strategies. In this instance, although the coping strategies adopted may not be effective, a person's personality traits may still result in positive outcomes, such as less distress in daily life. Second, the use of effective coping strategies may be a buffer for personality traits that tend to have negative life outcomes. And third, coping and personality may reinforce each other in a good or bad way, resulting in more positive or more negative outcomes than might be expected from the coping strategies alone. Relatively few studies have focused on these interaction effects for personality traits and coping, so we describe here several examples of such moderation effects in the limited literature available.

Two studies have pointed to the possibility that the effects of avoidant coping may be moderated by personality traits. Bolger and Zuckerman (1995) found in a daily diary study in first-year university students that the use of escape-avoidant coping strategies led to more depression (i.e., feeling sad, hopeless, and discouraged on the next day) but only for students low on neuroticism. For students high on neuroticism, there was no effect of escapeavoidant coping on depression. In this case, young adults with the more generally positive personality trait (i.e., emotional stability) were more vulnerable to the negative effects of using negative coping strategies. In contrast, Lengua and Sandler (1996) found that avoidant coping was related to higher anxiety and conduct problems for children who were low in approach-flexibility, but not for children who were high in approach-flexibility (i.e., meaning positively oriented to change and new situations; can be considered as a proxy for openness). Thus, in this case, youth with more

generally negative personality traits (essentially, markers of lower openness) were more vulnerable to the negative effects of avoidant coping. These two studies provide an interesting demonstration that the same negative coping strategies may have a more negative impact on people when combined with either a more positive or a more negative set of personality traits, depending on the outcome being assessed.

Another interesting example of a moderation effect comes from a study of adolescents tracked over a year (Verstraeten et al., 2009). Higher levels of negative affectivity (considered a proxy for neuroticism) were related to a ruminative response style, which in turn predicted more depressive symptoms 1 year later. However, this mediation effect was only found for adolescents with low effortful control. This means that effortful control might be a buffer preventing rumination and subsequent depression for youth with higher neuroticism. As noted previously, youth high on effortful control are able to implement more effective coping strategies in stressful contexts. Thus, neuroticism might induce stress generation, while effortful control is potentially important in breaking this vicious circle of stress and ineffective coping. As these examples suggest, moderation effects of personality traits and coping are worthy of future study, particularly using longitudinal methods.

Coping Strategies Affect Change and Stability in Youth's Temperament and Personality Traits

A final process linking coping and temperament/personality traits is one in which youth's tendencies to use particular coping strategies may affect stability and change in their temperament and personality traits over time. There are several good reasons to suspect that the regular use of particular coping strategies may affect the development of youth's traits over time. Some coping strategies appear to be more effective than others in mitigating the effects of stress, as shown by the consistent links between types of coping strategies and various adaptive outcomes (Compas et al., 2001, 2017; Modecki et al., 2017). A recent meta-analysis revealed that primary control coping and secondary control coping strategies are related to lower psychological symptoms, whereas disengagement coping, emotional suppression, avoidance, and denial are all related to higher psychological symptoms (Compas et al., 2017). We previously noted that there are longitudinal studies demonstrating a pathway from temperament/personality trait \rightarrow coping strategies \rightarrow adaptation as well, providing further evidence that coping strategies predict competence, psychological symptoms, and wellbeing. Since coping predicts adjustment in the face of stress, it seems highly likely that it likewise shapes the development of youth's personality traits over time, in part because of coping's effects on mitigating stress. Youth's regular use of more positive primary and secondary engagement strategies may have positive effects on trait development, whereas their regular use disengagement strategies of may have negative effects.

One particular means through which coping may affect temperament and personality trait development is through its effects on emotion processing and regulation (Frydenberg, 2014; Wang et al., 2020). The use of particular coping strategies is likely to affect youth's daily experience of emotions. For example, a daily diary study in adolescents found that youth with higher self-control experienced lesser negative emotional responses to daily stress because of their use of problem-focused coping (Galla & Wood, 2015); it seems plausible that the regular use of problem-focused coping could in turn contribute to lower neuroticism over time because of its effects on

negative emotions. Similarly, an experience sampling study with a sample of youth and adults demonstrated distinctive effects of particular coping strategies on changes in positive and negative affect (Pavani et al., 2016). Interventions that target coping skills in youth significant impacts have on emotion regulation, demonstrating the causal role of coping in youth's capacities for managing their emotions successfully (Compas et al., 2014). The chronic use of particular coping strategies may thus affect youth's daily experience of emotions, which in turn may affect the development of their personality traits.

Despite the plausibility of the role of coping in shaping temperament and personality trait development in youth, we found almost no studies examining this sort of process. Perhaps developmental researchers largely think of traits as a cause of coping strategies, rather than as a product of coping strategies, and thus they do not consider traits as an outcome of coping in longitudinal studies. A study by Zimmer-Gembeck (2015) on emotional sensitivity and coping demonstrates the value of examining coping as a potential cause of personality trait change over time. This study examined youth in grades 5-7 three times over the course of 14 months in terms of potential transactions between emotional sensitivity (depression and social anxiety symptoms, plus rejection sensitivity) - a tendency likely related to personality trait neuroticism – and the negative coping strategies of social avoidance and rumination. Results indicated bidirectional effects between emotional sensitivity and the negative coping strategies over time, in which each domain of personality predicted changes in the other over the course of the 14-month study. This study demonstrates the value of examining the impact of particular coping strategies on youth's personality traits in longitudinal studies; future studies should examine the impact of coping strategy use on personality trait development in childhood, adolescence, and early adulthood.

Narrative Identity as an Emerging Means of Coping in Adolescence and Early Adulthood

In this chapter, we have focused primarily on coping as conceived of as the use of conscious coping strategies in response to stress. However, we want to suggest that coping with stress may also take place in later adolescence and adulthood via the development of a narrative identity that helps young people integrate their stressful, painful, or otherwise challenging life experiences into their life stories. As we mentioned previously, the third level of personality in McAdam's (2013) personality model is narrative identity. Adolescents face the developmental task of beginning to construct an identity (Erikson, 1968). Identity includes a sense of a person's self-defined goals, motives, values, and identifications (Klimstra & Denissen, 2017). But identity also includes a narrative identity, which is a life story that integrates a person's previous experiences with their current goals, values, meaning, and expected future (McAdams & McLean, 2013). Narrative identity thus adds to a person's sense of identity by serving an integrative function that weaves together a person's experiences into a more coherent whole. Narratives help young people begin to figure out who they are, how they came to be that person, what provides them with a sense of meaning, and who they imagine becoming in the future (McLean & Lilgendahl, 2019). Life narratives are assessed through oral interviews or written formats. Participants are asked to describe particular life experiences, and the resulting narratives can then be coded for a number of dimensions (Adler et al., 2017).

Narrative identity is likely to be one important means through which adolescents and young adults cope with stressful life experiences. After young people experience a stressful event, they still need to process, analyze, and make sense of those experiences. In other words, youth face the task of creating meaning out of the stressful episodes in their lives, and it is the way that they process these stressful experiences that will affect their coping with future stressful encounters. Youth's "postcoping assessments" involve the processing of both the events themselves and their own actions and emotions during the events. Through crafting a narrative about those experiences, youth may derive life lessons and may begin to integrate those experiences into their emerging narrative identity.

Research with adults has demonstrated that life narratives play an important role in helping people to maintain positive mental health and well-being when they encounter significant adversities (McLean & Lilgendahl, 2019), particularly life events that are emotionally significant (Pals, 2006). Conversely, there is increasing evidence that different types of psychopathology are associated with particular narrative themes, less coherent narratives, or an absence of meaning-making (Adler & Clark, 2019; Shiner, Klimstra, et al., 2021). Younger adults seem to be at a higher risk for narrating their negative life experiences in terms of contamination sequences (Dunlop et al., 2016) - sequences in which positive experiences become spoiled in some way and for seeing their narrative selves as damaged by traumas (Lilgendahl et al., 2013). It may thus be particularly important for young people to find more helpful ways of narrating their negative life experiences.

Research points to several aspects of narrative identity as being important for young people in coping with difficult life experiences. Across several studies in which adolescents and young adults from diverse cultures wrote about significant autobiographical memories or turning points, a narrative dimension called causal coherence was predictive of greater wellbeing and/or lower psychopathology (Mitchell et al., 2020; Reese et al., 2017; Waters & Fivush, 2015). Although these narratives did not necessarily address stressful life experiences, turning point narratives often do address life experiences that are challenging in some way. Causal coherence refers to the extent to which the narrator explicitly describes their personality changing as a result of the event; thus, these results suggest that young people who can articulate ways that they have been affected by their significant life events are likely to experience greater wellbeing and lower levels of psychological symptoms. A narrative study of a small group of high-risk adolescents and young adults from Australia, who had experienced significant family and community adversity, found that it was difficult for these youth to construct a positive sense of identity and meaning from their negative experiences (Noble-Carr & Woodman, 2018). Research with adults, however, suggests that several features of narrative identity may promote more positive coping with stress, adversity, and trauma, including the ability to perceive growth from difficult experiences and to see oneself as having some agency or control over those experiences (Adler et al., 2016; McLean & Lilgendahl, 2019; Tappenden et al., 2022). Narrative research on youth's coping with stress and adversity holds considerable promise for better understanding this later emerging aspect of coping.

Summary and Directions for Future Research

We have made the case in this chapter that temperament and personality traits and coping

strategies are two distinct sets of individual differences by middle childhood and that they continue to develop and mutually affect each other throughout childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. Meta-analytic results demonstrate that the associations between the two domains are typically modest in size, although the links may be stronger in childhood and adolescence than later in life. Research on normative patterns suggests that, across both domains, children may experience growth in self-regulation in middle childhood, followed by a dip in selfregulation in early adolescence and then gradual improvements in later adolescence; however, there may be disjunctions across the two domains in other aspects of mean-level change. We have suggested five ways that temperament and personality traits, stress, and coping may be related developmentally (see Table 16.1 and Figure 16.1): traits affect exposure to stressors; traits affect the appraisal of stressors; traits shape which coping strategies are used; traits and coping interact to shape adaptation; and the chronic use of coping strategies may affect stability and change in traits. Finally, narrative identity - another domain of personality that begins to emerge in adolescence and early adulthood - may also play an important part in helping young people cope with stress and adversity.

The most striking aspect of the developmental research on temperament and personality traits and coping strategies in youth is simply how limited it is! Thus, much remains to be learned about the joint development of traits and coping in the first two decades of life. Each of the big topics reviewed here – the normative patterns of development in both domains, the processes linking the two over time, and the development of narrative identity as a coping strategy – has received far less research than their inherent importance warrants. We were particularly struck by how few studies using high-quality methods and longitudinal designs have examined the five processes linking temperament and personality traits, stress, coping, and various outcomes.

For research on temperament and personality traits and coping strategies to advance, it will be important to attend to two overarching issues. First, both traits and coping should be measured using a variety of different, highquality methods. Temperament and personality traits are often measured using parentreport questionnaires in children and with self-report questionnaires in adolescents and young adults. In contrast, coping strategies are typically assessed using self-report questionnaires. The study of temperament and personality traits would benefit from the use of a broader range of informant reports, as well as the use of other methods of assessment (e.g., thin-slice assessment, self-report in younger children using creative methods) (Shiner, Soto & De Fruyt, 2021). The field of coping research would benefit from greater consensus about the structure of coping strategies across different age periods, as well as further investigation of informant reports to complement self-reports, and the use of in-the-moment measurements to complement reliance on retrospective reports (Compas et al., 2017). At this early stage of research on traits and coping in childhood and adolescence, the use of self-reports or parent-reports in longitudinal or intensive repeated measures designs would be of great value. But with greater progress in understanding the joint development of traits and coping in youth, the study of these two constructs together would benefit from the assessment of the two domains through more complex methods than simply administering questionnaire measures of both domains to the same informant.

Second, the study of temperament and personality traits, stress, and coping would benefit from the use of designs that could better investigate the developmental processes underlying the links among these domains. In particular, longitudinal designs with repeated measures of the relevant constructs are needed to test many of the processes outlined in this chapter and in Table 16.1 and Figure 16.1. Longitudinal designs could better determine whether temperament and personality traits shape the coping strategies adopted by youth, whether temperament and personality traits shape exposure to stressors, and whether the chronic use of particular coping strategies affects temperament and personality trait development. Lab-based studies, experimental designs, experience sampling studies, or designs using neuroscience methods could all be used to investigate how temperament and personality traits shape youth's reactivity to stress including their appraisal processes and other aspects of emotional and cognitive reactivity as well as the interactive effects of traits and coping strategies on various outcome measures. Intervention studies could also be used to investigate whether temperament and personality traits affect coping and vice versa. All of these strategies have the potential to illuminate the links between these two critical emerging aspects of personality.

References

- Adler, J. M., & Clark, L. A. (2019). Incorporating narrative identity into structural approaches to personality and psychopathology. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 82, Article 103857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2019.103857
- Adler, J. M., Dunlop, W. L., Fivush, R., Lilgendahl, J. P., Lodi-Smith, J., McAdams,
 D. P., McLean, K. C., Pasupathi, M., & Syed,
 M. (2017). Research methods for studying narrative identity: A primer. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 8(5), 519–527. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1948550617698202
- Adler, J. M., Lodi-Smith, J., Philippe, F. L., & Houle, I. (2016). The incremental validity of

narrative identity in predicting well-being: A review of the field and recommendations for the future. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 20(2), 142–175. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1088868315585068

- Allport, G. W. (1937). Personality: A psychological interpretation. Holt.
- Bolger, N., & Zuckerman, A. (1995). A framework for studying personality in the stress process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 890–902. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.890
- Carver, C. S., & Connor-Smith, J. (2010). Personality and coping. Annual Review of Psychology, 61, 679–704. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100352
- Caspi, A., Roberts, B. W., & Shiner, R. L. (2005). Personality development: Stability and change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 56, 453–484. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. psych.55.090902.141913
- Caspi, A., & Shiner, R. L. (2006). Personality development. In W. Damon & R. Lerner (Series Eds.) & N. Eisenberg (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 3. Social, emotional, and personality development* (6th ed., pp. 300–365). Wiley.
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/ bul0000110
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal*

of Psychology, 66(2), 71-81. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajpy.12043

- Connor-Smith, J. K., & Flachsbart, C. (2007).
 Relations between personality and coping:
 A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(6), 1080–1107. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.6.1080
- Del Giudice, M. D. (2014). Middle childhood: An evolutionary-developmental synthesis. *Child Development Perspectives*, 8(4), 193–200. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12084
- Denissen, J. J. A., van Aken, M. A. G., Penke, L., & Wood, D. (2013). Self-regulation underlies temperament and personality: An integrative developmental framework. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(4), 255–260. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdep.12050
- De Pauw, S. S. W. (2017). Childhood personality and temperament. In T. A. Widiger (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of the five-factor model* (pp. 243–280). Oxford University Press.
- Derryberry, D., Reed, M. A., & Pilkenton-Taylor, C. (2003). Temperament and coping: Advantages of an individual differences perspective. *Development and Psychopathology*, 15(4), 1049–1066. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579403000439
- Dunlop, W. L., Guo, J., & McAdams, D. P. (2016). The autobiographical author through time: Examining the degree of stability and change in redemptive and contaminated personal narratives. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 7(5), 428–436. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1948550616644654
- Erikson, E. H. (1968). *Identity: Youth and crisis*. Norton & Co.

Evans, P., Martin, A. J., & Ivcevic, Z. (2018).
Personality, coping, and school well-being: An investigation of high school students.
Social Psychology of Education, 21(5), 1061–1080. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9456-8

Frydenberg, E. (2014). Coping research: Historical background, links with emotion, and new research directions on adaptive processes. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(2), 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12051

- Funder, D. C. (2019). *The personality puzzle* (8th ed.). Norton Press.
- Galla, B. M., & Wood, J. J. (2015). Trait selfcontrol predicts adolescents' exposure and reactivity to daily stressful events. *Journal of Personality*, 83(1), 69–83. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jopy.12083
- Gallagher, D. J. (1990). Extraversion, neuroticism and appraisal of stressful academic events. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *11*(10), 1053–1057. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869 (90)90133-C
- Hammen, C. (1991). Generation of stress in the course of unipolar depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 100(4), 555–561. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.100.4.555
- Hammen, C. (2018). Risk factors for depression: An autobiographical review. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 14(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084811
- Jamieson, J. P. (2017). Challenge and threat appraisals. In A. J. Elliot, C. S. Dweck, & D. S. Yeager (Eds.), *Handbook of competence and motivation: Theory and application* (pp. 175–191). Guilford Press.
- Jeronimus, B. F., Riese, H., Sanderman, R., & Ormel, J. (2014). Mutual reinforcement between neuroticism and life experiences: A five-wave, 16-year study to test reciprocal causation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 107(4), 751–764. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0037009
- Kalka, D., & Karcz, B. (2020). Personality, coping with stress and quality of life in individuals at risk of type 2 diabetes in late adolescencemediation model testing. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 17(2), 165–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2018.1552585
- Kiekens, G., Bruffaerts, R., Nock, M. K., Van de Ven, M., Witteman, C., Mortier, P., ... & Claes, L. (2015). Non-suicidal self-injury among Dutch and Belgian adolescents: Personality, stress and coping. *European Psychiatry*, 30(6), 743–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.06.007
- Kilby, C. J., Sherman, K. A., & Wuthrich, V. (2018). Towards understanding interindividual differences in stressor appraisals: A systematic

review. Personality and Individual Differences, 135, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. paid.2018.07.001

- Klimstra, T. A., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2017).
 A theoretical framework for the associations between identity and psychopathology. *Developmental Psychology*, 53(11), 2052–2065. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000356
- Laceulle, O. M., Jeronimus, B. F., van Aken, M. A. G., & Ormel, J. (2015). Why not everyone gets their fair share of stress: Adolescents' perceived relationship affection mediates associations between temperament and subsequent stressful social events. *European Journal of Personality*, 29(2), 125–137. https:// doi.org/10.1002/per.1989
- Laceulle, O. M., van Aken, M. A. G., Ormel, J., & Nederhof, E. (2015). Stress-sensitivity and reciprocal associations between stressful events and adolescent temperament. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 81, 76–83. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.paid.2014.12.009
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Lengua, L. J., & Sandler, I. N. (1996). Selfregulation as a moderator of the relation between coping and symptomatology in children of divorce. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 24(6), 681–701. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01664734
- Lengua, L. J., Sandler, I. N., West, S. G., Wolchik, S. A., & Curran, P. J. (1999). Emotionality and self-regulation, threat appraisal, and coping in children of divorce. *Development and Psychopathology*, 11(1), 15–37. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/s0954579499001935
- Lilgendahl, J. P., McLean, K. C., & Mansfield, C. D. (2013). When is meaning making unhealthy for the self? The roles of neuroticism, implicit theories, and memory telling in trauma and transgression memories. *Memory*, 21(1), 79–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09658211.2012.706615
- Liu, R. T. (2013). Stress generation: Future directions and clinical implications. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(3), 406–416. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.01.005

- Lyons, M. D., Huebner, E. S., & Hills, K. J. (2016). Relations among personality characteristics, environmental events, coping behavior and adolescents' life satisfaction. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *17*(3), 1033–1050. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10902-015-9630-z
- Mak, A. S., Blewitt, K., & Heaven, P. C. (2004). Gender and personality influences in adolescent threat and challenge appraisals and depressive symptoms. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 36(6), 1483–1496. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0191-8869(03)00243-5
- McAdams, D. P. (2013). The psychological self as actor, agent, and author. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(3), 272–295. https://doi. org/10.1177/1745691612464657
- McAdams, D. P., & McLean, K. C. (2013). Narrative identity. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(3), 233–238. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0963721413475622
- McAdams, D. P., & Olson, B. D. (2010). Personality development: Continuity and change over the life course. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61(1), 517–542. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100507
- McAdams, D. P., & Pals, J. L. (2006). A new Big Five: Fundamental principles for an integrative science of personality. *American Psychologist*, 61(3), 204–217. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.61.3.204
- McAdams, D. P., Shiner, R. L., & Tackett, J. L. (Eds.). (2019). *Handbook of personality development*. Guilford Press.
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1987). Validation of the five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.1.81
- McLean, K. C., & Lilgendahl, J. P. (2019). Narrative identity in adolescence and adulthood. In D. McAdams, R. L. Shiner, & J. L. Tackett (Eds.), *Handbook of personality development* (pp. 418–432). Guilford Press.
- Mitchell, C., Reese, E., Salmon, K., & Jose, P. (2020). Narrative coherence, psychopathology, and wellbeing: Concurrent and longitudinal findings in a mid-adolescent sample. *Journal of*

Adolescence, 79(1), 16–25. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.12.003

Modecki, K. L., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Guerra, N. (2017). Emotion regulation, coping, and decision making: Three linked skills for preventing externalizing problems in adolescence. *Child Development*, 88(2), 417–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12734

Noble-Carr, D., & Woodman, E. (2018). Considering identity and meaning constructions for vulnerable young people. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *33*(6), 672–698. https://doi. org/10.1177/0743558416684952

- Oldehinkel, A. J., Hartman, C. A., Nederhof, E., Riese, H., & Ormel, J. (2011). Effortful control as predictor of adolescents' psychological and physiological responses to a social stress test: The Tracking Adolescents' Individual Lives Survey. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(2), 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579411000095
- Ong, X. L., Hong, R. Y., Tsai, F.-F., & Tan, S. H. (2019). Becoming more or less mature? The decline of self-control in middle childhood. *Journal of Personality*, 87(4), 799–812. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12434
- Pals, J. L. (2006). Narrative identity processing of difficult life experiences: Pathways of personality development and positive self-transformation in adulthood. *Journal of Personality*, 74(4), 1079–1110. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2006.00403.x
- Parker, J. D., & Wood, L. M. (2008). Personality and the coping process. In G. J. Boyle, G. Matthews, & D. H. Saklofske (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of personality theory and assessment* (pp. 506–519). Sage.

Pavani, J.-B., Le Vigouroux, S., Kop, J.-L., Congard, A., & Dauvier, B. (2016). Affect and affect regulation strategies reciprocally influence each other in daily life: The case of positive reappraisal, problem-focused coping, appreciation and rumination. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17(5), 2077–2095. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10902-015-9686-9

Penley, J. A., & Tomaka, J. (2002). Associations among the Big Five, emotional responses, and coping with acute stress. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(7), 1215–1228. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00087-3

Polderman, T. J. C., Benyamin, B., de Leeuw, C. A., Sullivan, P. F., van Bochoven, A., Visscher, P. M., & Posthuma, D. (2015). Metaanalysis of the heritability of human traits based on fifty years of twin studies. *Nature Genetics*, 47(7), 702–709. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3285

Reese, E., Myftari, E., McAnally, H. M., Chen, Y., Neha, T., Wang, Q., Jack, F., Robertson, S.-J. (2017). Telling the tale and living well: Adolescent narrative identity, personality traits, and well-being across cultures. *Child Development*, 88(2), 612–628. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12618

- Rothbart, M. K. (2011). *Becoming who we are: Temperament and personality in development.* Guilford Press.
- Rothbart, M. K., Ahadi, S. A., Hershey, K. L., & Fisher, P. (2001). Investigations of temperament at three to seven years: The Children's Behavior Questionnaire. *Child Development*, 72(5), 1394–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00355
- Sameroff, A. J., & Haith, M. M. (Eds.). (1996). The five to seven year shift: The age of reason and responsibility. University of Chicago Press.
- Scarr, S., & McCartney, K. (1983). How people make their own environments: A theory of genotype → environment effects. *Child Development*, 54(2), 424–435. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1129703
- Schneider, T. R., Rench, T. A., Lyons, J. B., & Riffle, R. R. (2012). The influence of neuroticism, extraversion and openness on stress responses. *Stress and Health*, 28(2), 102–110. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.1409
- Shewchuk, R. M., Elliott, T. R., MacNair-Semands, R. R., & Harkins, S. (1999). Trait influences on stress appraisal and coping: An evaluation of alternative frameworks. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 29(4), 685–704. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1999.tb02019.x
- Shiner, R. L. (2019). Negative emotionality and neuroticism from childhood through adulthood: A lifespan perspective. In D. McAdams, R. L.

Shiner, & J. L. Tackett (Eds.), *Handbook of personality development* (pp. 137–152). Guilford Press.

- Shiner, R. L. (2021). Personality development in middle childhood. In O. P. John & R. W. Robins (Eds.), *Handbook of personality* (4th ed., pp. 284–302). Guilford Press.
- Shiner, R. L., Allen, T. A., & Masten, A. S. (2017). Adversity in adolescence predicts personality trait change from childhood to adulthood. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 67, 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.10.002

Shiner, R. L., Buss, K. A., McClowry, S. G., Putnam, S. P., Saudino, K. J., & Zentner, M. (2012). What is temperament now? Assessing progress in temperament research on the twentyfifth anniversary of Goldsmith et al. (1987). *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 436–444. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00254.x

Shiner, R. L., & Caspi, A. (2012). Temperament and the development of personality traits, adaptations, and narratives. In M. Zentner & R. L. Shiner (Eds.), *Handbook of temperament* (pp. 497–516). Guilford Press.

Shiner, R. L., & DeYoung, C. G. (2013). The structure of temperament and personality traits: A developmental perspective. In P. D. Zelazo (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of developmental psychology: Vol. 2. Self and other* (pp. 113–141). Oxford University Press.

Shiner, R. L., Klimstra, T. A., Denissen, J. J. A., & See, A. Y. (2021). The development of narrative identity and the emergence of personality disorders in adolescence. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 37, 49–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. copsyc.2020.07.024

Shiner, R. L., Soto, C. J., & De Fruyt, F. (2021). Personality assessment in children and adolescents. *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology*, *3*, 113–137. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-devpsych-050620-114343

- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 119–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress,

neurophysiology, social relationships, and resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer.

- Snyder, H. R., & Hankin, B. L. (2016). Spiraling out of control: Stress generation and subsequent rumination mediate the link between poorer cognitive control and internalizing psychopathology. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 4(6), 1047–1064. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2167702616633157
- Soto, C. J., & Tackett, J. L. (2015). Personality traits in childhood and adolescence: Structure, development, and outcomes. *Current Directions* in *Psychological Science*, 24(5), 358–362. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0963721415589345
- Straud, C., McNaughton-Cassill, M., & Fuhrman, R. (2015). The role of the five factor model of personality with proactive coping and preventative coping among college students. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 83, 60–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.03.055
- Stroud, C. B., Sosoo, E. E., & Wilson, S. (2015). Normal personality traits, rumination and stress generation among early adolescent girls. *Journal* of Research in Personality, 57, 131–142. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2015.05.002
- Tappenden, P. C., Shiner, R. L., & Mo, F. (2022). The relationship between veterans' narrative processing of their service experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms, daily functioning, and well-being. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 35(1), 288–301. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jts.22738
- Taylor, Z. E., Widaman, K. F., & Robins, R. W. (2018). Longitudinal relations of economic hardship and effortful control to active coping in Latino youth. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 28(2), 396–411. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jora.12338
- Uliaszek, A. A., Zinbarg, R. E., Mineka, S., Craske, M. G., Griffith, J. W., Sutton, J. M., Epstein, A., & Hammen, C. (2012). A longitudinal examination of stress generation in depressive and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(1), 4–15. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0025835
- Valiente, C., Lemery-Chalfant, K., & Swanson, J. (2009). Children's responses to daily social

stressors: Relations with parenting, children's effortful control, and adjustment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *50*(6), 707–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.02019.x

- Van de Ven, M. O., & Engels, R. C. (2011). Quality of life of adolescents with asthma: The role of personality, coping strategies, and symptom reporting. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 71(3), 166–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpsychores.2011.03.002
- Verstraeten, K., Vasey, M. W., Raes, F., & Bijttebier, P. (2009). Temperament and risk for depressive symptoms in adolescence: Mediation by rumination and moderation by effortful control. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 37(3), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-008-9293-x
- Wang, X., Blain, S. D., Wei, D., Yang, W., Yang, J., Zhuang, K., He, L., DeYoung, C. G., & Qiu, J. (2020). The role of frontal-subcortical connectivity in the relation between coping styles and reactivity and downregulation of negative emotion. *Brain and Cognition*, 146, Article 105631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bandc.2020.105631
- Waters, T. E. A., & Fivush, R. (2015). Relations between narrative coherence, identity, and psychological well-being in emerging adulthood. *Journal of Personality*, 83(4), 441–451. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12120
- White, S. H. (1965). Evidence for a hierarchical arrangement of learning processes. In L. P.

Lipsitt & C. C. Spiker (Eds.), Advances in child development and behavior (Vol. 2, pp. 187–220). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-407(08)60483-8

- Zalewski, M., Lengua, L. J., Wilson, A. C., Trancik, A., & Bazinet, A. (2011). Emotion regulation profiles, temperament, and adjustment problems in preadolescents. *Child Development*, 82(3), 951–966. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01575.x
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2015). Emotional sensitivity before and after coping with rejection: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 41, 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. appdev.2015.05.001
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2015). Adolescent vulnerability and the distress of rejection: Associations of adjustment problems and gender with control, emotions, and coping. *Journal of Adolescence*, 45(1), 149–159. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2015.09.004
- Zureck, E., Altstötter-Gleich, C., Gerstenberg, F. X., & Schmitt, M. (2015). Perfectionism in the transactional stress model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 83, 18–23. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.paid.2015.03.029

Part V Social Contexts and the Development of Coping

17 Coping Development as an Everyday Interpersonal Process

Broadening Definitions and Investigations of Coping

Sunhye Bai and Rena L. Repetti

Introduction

Despite a parent's best attempts to protect their offspring from harm, stress is unavoidable and, given supportive circumstances, is even desirable in moderation. The long-term effects of minor stress exposure on health and well-being can be shaped by how children cope with those experiences. We define coping as both volitional and nonvolitional behavioral, emotional, and cognitive responses that manage one's reactions to stress. This chapter presents our rationale for a coping conceptualization that encompasses the unintentional responses that other scholars separate out as involuntary emotion regulation. Children practice coping every day in response to stressors big and small. Coping develops iteratively with repeated exposure to developmentally normative stressors, such as conflict with a sibling over a toy or social rejection at school. We focus on the development of coping, broadly defined, in response to such stressors. By practicing intentional and nonintentional coping strategies daily, children build a foundational set of skills that can promote health, and even help to protect them from the detrimental effects of severe but rare major life stressors or traumatic events in the future.

As summarized in Table 17.1, the first half of our chapter describes how coping is activated in response to emotional and physiological reactions to everyday stressors. Our conceptualization of coping centers on its functions in the moment. The immediate goal of a coping response, whether behavioral, emotional, or cognitive, is to promote recovery from those short-term reactions. Age-appropriate everyday stressors present important opportunities for children to develop effective coping strategies through trial-and-error and practice. We discuss the implications of this research for the conceptualization and measurement of coping. The second half of the chapter describes an interpersonal perspective on coping. Coping frequently involves close others and this is especially true for young children who are still developing the cognitive abilities needed to cope independently and to use complex strategies, such as problem-solving and reappraisal (Eschenbeck et al., 2018; Johnson et al., 2019; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006). Family members and peers can support or interfere with children's attempts to cope. We synthesize research and provide examples that demonstrate how close others are involved in specific coping responses. The implications of an interpersonal perspective for the conceptualization and measurement of coping are then discussed. Our chapter concludes with thoughts about what our perspectives on coping might mean for clinical interventions and the direction of future research on coping development.

Coping in Daily Life

Reactivity and Recovery from Everyday Stressors

Individuals can expect to encounter stressful events nearly every day of their lives. Some face significant adversity such as trauma, natural disaster, or poverty. But daily challenges
 Table 17.1 Three central takeaway messages about coping development as an everyday interpersonal process

1. Coping develops iteratively with repeated exposure to developmentally normative stressors.

- Daily challenges, such as rejection by peers or difficulty with academic tasks, generate mild distress, as evidenced by temporary increases in negative affect and activation of physiological stress response systems.
- Coping is activated in response to emotional and physiological reactions to everyday stressors.
- Coping can mitigate the immediate effects of these stressors, with some strategies being more effective than others in promoting recovery from the stressor, depending on the characteristics of the stressful event, the individual, and the broader social context.
- Through exposure to a variety of everyday stressors, children acquire a repertoire of diverse coping strategies, gradually learn how to flexibly deploy those strategies, and ultimately improve their ability to recover in a wide range of stressful situations or prevent them entirely.

2. Coping is a repertoire of skills that facilitate immediate recovery from stress.

- Individuals may not necessarily be aware of the connection between their behavior, thoughts, or emotions, and the stressor to which they are responding.
- A coping response may be experienced as volitional or nonvolitional, or automatic or nonautomatic.
- A broader definition of coping, that encompasses coping efforts that are used regularly but are not noticed or acknowledged by the individual as a coping response to particular precipitating events enables a more comprehensive assessment of the development of coping.

3. Coping is a dynamic interpersonal process.

- Children often face stressors in a social context, accompanied by peers, family members, and other significant people in their lives.
- Coping is a set of responses to stressors that often implicate and rely on close others.
- Family members and peers can support or interfere with a developmental process whereby children become more adept at coping as they encounter and learn to deal with different types of stressful events.
- Beyond the role that parents play in the socialization of coping, the adaptiveness of various coping strategies depends on how parents, peers, and other coping partners respond in that moment.

are commonplace: failure to capture a caregiver's attention in infancy, rejection by peers in childhood, difficult academic tasks in adolescence, or tensions with romantic partners in young adulthood. Such stressors often generate mild distress, as evidenced by temporary increases in negative affect, arousal in physiological stress response systems, and activation in specific regions of the brain (Bai et al., 2017; Santiago et al., 2017; Vijayakumar et al., 2017). Short-term patterns of stress reactivity and recovery can be captured in the laboratory. In the popular Trier Social Stress Task, children typically exhibit an increase in the stress hormone, cortisol, when confronted with a social evaluative threat, and a decline when debriefed about the true intent of the task (Kirschbaum et al., 1993; Seddon et al., 2020).

More recently, studies using intensive longitudinal methods have examined reactivity to, and recovery from, naturally occurring stressors in the context of daily life. Many investigations have shown that children react to these quotidian stressors with temporary elevations in negative affect, declines in positive affect, and elevations in physiological markers of

stress assessed within minutes or hours (Bai et al., 2017; Lippold et al., 2016; Santiago et al., 2017). Some may continue to experience higher levels of negative affect and lower levels of positive affect at bedtime or the next day, suggesting slower stress recovery, while the short-term effects of stress dissipate quickly for others (Bai & Repetti, 2018; Ha et al., 2019; Santiago et al., 2017). The magnitude of children's reactivity to and recovery from stressors is associated with individual differences in internalizing and externalizing symptoms (Bai & Repetti, 2018; Bai et al., 2020; Ha et al., 2019; Moore et al., 2019; Uink et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2019). Research evidence suggests that coping can mitigate these effects (Lennarz et al., 2018; Sladek et al., 2016, 2017). Some forms of coping may be more effective than others in promoting recovery from the stressor (Sladek et al., 2016). However, the adaptiveness of a particular coping strategy, whether immediately or over the long term, depends on the characteristics of the stressful event, the individual, and the broader social context (Santiago et al., 2016; Tolan & Grant, 2009; Wadsworth, 2015).

Coping with Everyday Stressors

There is no reason to expect that children learn how to manage emotional reactions to stressful events differently than they acquire other skills; trial-and-error, practice, and observation of others are fundamental learning processes. Common everyday stressors that generate mild distress provide frequent opportunities to experiment with different behavioral, cognitive, and emotional strategies and to find that some work better than others (Repetti & Robles, 2016). Because the usefulness of a response varies as a function of the nature, severity, and chronicity of the stressor, over time children learn to respond in different ways to recover from stressors. Thus, through exposure to a variety of quotidian stressors, children acquire a repertoire of diverse coping strategies, gradually learn how to flexibly deploy those strategies, and ultimately improve their ability to recover in a wide range of stressful situations or prevent them entirely (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016).

429

Characteristics of stressful events help to shape children's coping responses and resources. Different types of events encourage different coping strategies, such as acceptance in uncontrollable situations and active coping (e.g., problem-solving) when events are controllable. A meta-analysis found that children with greater social competence and fewer externalizing symptoms use active coping to manage controllable stressors, such as an argument with a peer. But, children who show poorer psychosocial functioning use the same coping strategies to deal with uncontrollable stressors, such as responding to a conflict between parents (Clarke, 2006). These findings are consistent with the idea that the adaptiveness of a coping strategy depends on the controllability of the stressor that the child is facing. Not only do children learn to pair certain types of responses with particular stressor types, they may also develop a propensity to use coping strategies that are adaptive in the stressful situations they encounter most frequently (Wadsworth, 2015). The corollary is that they are less likely to rely on responses that are suited to the characteristics of situations that they experience less often. Biases to use particular coping strategies constitute the individual differences that are the focus of much coping research.

The kinds of stressful events to which children are regularly exposed can also influence the development of coping resources, which are relatively stable individual differences in factors such as optimism, a sense of mastery, positive emotion, self-esteem, and social support. Tolan and Grant (2009) note that chronic, uncontrolled stressors, such as growing up in urban poverty, can diminish the development of coping resources like optimism and self-esteem. The match between a stressor and a coping strategy also depends on contextual factors. For example, under conditions of chronic stress, responses that facilitate temporary escape may be prioritized, even though those coping strategies may be less adaptive in the long run (Tolan & Grant, 2009). Coping also changes with child age. Evidence suggests, for example, that as children age, problem-solving increases in response to academic stressors, and avoidant coping declines in response to social stressors (Eschenbeck et al., 2018).

Exposure to daily stressors and the development of coping strategies have multiple downstream effects on later stress and coping. Just as stressors shape coping, coping can shape stress exposure. On the one hand, coping can promote stress generation if it exacerbates emotional reactions to minor events or further complicates an existing problem. An experience sampling study found that college students' negative emotional reactions to stressors were amplified by avoidant coping responses (e.g., spending time alone, ignoring thoughts about a problem, drinking alcohol, or using drugs) and they experienced more social stressors, such as conflict, rejection, criticism, or teasing, shortly after reporting increases in emotional distress (Sears et al., 2018). In contrast, coping responses that help to manage negative emotional reactions or directly change the stressful situation may reduce the frequency and intensity of future stressful events. For example, discovering effective studying strategies, perhaps with the help of an older sibling, can alleviate distress associated with an upcoming exam. Whereas the motivation for this coping response was to reduce distress about a specific exam, the coping response of finding new and effective

study strategies (i.e., problem-solving) may prevent exam-related distress, or perceived stress, in the future. Moreover, successful coping experiences such as these would build a sense of mastery and coping efficacy, the belief that one has dealt with stressful events well and will do so again in the future (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016).

Implications of an Everyday Perspective for the Conceptualization of Coping

We conceptualize coping as a repertoire of skills that facilitate immediate recovery from stress. Coping responses are shaped by a child's exposure to stressors as well as the broader context in which those events occur. Thus, everyday stressors present essential learning opportunities for building a supply of coping responses. According to our definition, the adaptiveness of a coping response depends on the degree to which it facilitates short-term emotional and physiological recovery following the stressor. Our view is consistent with Tolan and Grant's (2009, p. 66) distinction between local coping adaptability -"the extent to which a coping method reduces distress immediately regardless of whether it prevents its continuation, recurrence or its long-term effects" - and coping effectiveness (i.e., developmental adaptability) - "the extent to which a coping method is likely to prevent or curtail a given stressor or ... limit its impact on long-term adjustment." A particular coping response (e.g., withdrawing from others) may be adaptive in the short term by facilitating recovery, even though repeated use of that coping strategy over the long term may be associated with poor outcomes like emotion dysregulation and greater stress exposure.

The distinction between short-term and long-term outcomes is fundamental to how coping is operationalized in research investigations. Our conceptualization focuses on the

ure and indicators of mental, physical, or behavioral health (e.g., depression, substance use), researchers generally characterize coping as a more or less stable individual-difference variable. Most commonly, a questionnaire asks individuals to describe their tendency to respond to stressors in particular ways (Carver, 1997; Connor-Smith et al., 2000). This approach has led to the finding that efforts to directly control or adapt to stressful events and related negative affect predict fewer symptoms of psychopathology, whereas attempts to avoid or deny them predict more symptoms (Compas et al., 2017). When the focus is instead on momentary or daily outcomes, such as mood or physiology (e.g., heart rate, diurnal cortisol), other approaches to assess coping are also used. Though some investigators use the familiar method of selfreported dispositional coping (Slatcher et al., 2015), others conceptualize coping as an immediate behavioral, cognitive, or emotional response to a stressor (Santiago et al., 2016; Sladek et al., 2016). A study conducted with low-income Latino 7th and 8th graders found that all students reported more engagement coping (i.e., problem-solving, deriving benefit) on high-stress days. However, a tendency to use engagement coping strategies was even greater in youth who strongly identified with and were attached to their families, suggesting that identification and attachment with one's family could be a coping resource (Santiago et al., 2016).

functions of coping in the moment. When

examining connections between a stress expos-

Our chapter focuses on coping as an immediate or short-term process, but we are also interested in combining short-term responding with an individual differences approach by assessing the patterning of children's immediate responses to stressors. In two different samples, we found reliable differences in how children responded in the short term to minor stressful events. The studies tracked how a child's mood changed following naturally occurring events; individual-level indices representing those patterns were related to mental health in cross-sectional and prospective longitudinal analyses (Bai & Repetti, 2018; Bai et al., 2020). Children who reported higher levels of negative mood and lower levels of positive mood on days when they experienced more school problems had more internalizing symptoms both concurrently and 3 years later (Bai & Repetti, 2018; Bai et al., 2020). Although those studies assessed mood reactivity and recovery, the same approach could be used to assess individual patterns of short-term cognitive and behavioral responses to stressors.

In the same way that short-term emotion reactions to minor stressful events can accumulate to foster individual differences in mental health, children's experiences with various coping strategies in the moment shape the development of coping over the long term. With developmentally appropriate levels of practice, children learn how to flexibly deploy coping strategies in various stressful situations. With time, children may become more inclined to use specific coping strategies that they found adaptive in the past. The transition from coping as an immediate response to the development of a coping style as an attribute of an individual is moderated by characteristics of the environment and the child, including their biological, cognitive, and socioemotional development. Specifically, the types of immediate coping responses that are available to children vary with age. For example, executive functioning, which significantly increases during adolescence, allows youth to inhibit their impulses, plan ahead, and consider multiple perspectives (Kuhn, 2009). Thus, as children develop, they gain access to a greater array of strategies, and their early experiences likely influence age-related shifts in coping tendencies (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016).

431

Our conceptualization of coping does not assume that the individual is necessarily aware of the connection between their behavior, thoughts, or emotions and the stressor to which they are responding. This contrasts with a view of coping as consisting only of "conscious and volitional efforts" (Compas et al., 2017). One could argue that it is reasonable to expect individuals to be aware of their responses to situations that are out of the ordinary, such as major life stressors or traumatic events. Rare events are likely to be salient and memorable, and therefore perhaps responses to those events are also more likely to be intentional, purposeful, noticed, and recalled. In contrast, common daily stressors, such as an interaction with an irritable parent, a disappointing score on an exam, or feeling left out of a peer group activity, are by definition, events that are encountered with some frequency over the course of an average week. It seems likely that coping responses to these events are less intentional and less noticed. Following a minor daily stressor like those mentioned, a child might engage in any number of responses without consciously linking it to the stressful event. Coping responses might include changing the topic of conversation, thinking reassuring thoughts, checking social media, clowning around with friends, gossiping, acting out with aggression, calling or texting a friend, telling a joke, getting something to eat, going for a walk, playing a video game, deciding that the event wasn't important, playing basketball, or not feeling anything. Thoughts, feelings, and behaviors like these might be categorized by psychologists in any number of ways - such as distraction, social support-seeking, secondary control, escape, or avoidance. But would the child make a similar attribution?

Whether a coping response is experienced by a child as volitional versus nonvolitional or automatic versus nonautomatic is separate from whether it is connected in their mind to the precipitating stressor. Consider, for example, an 11-year-old girl who checked social media following an incident that left her feeling left out of a peer group activity. Experience may have taught her that social media activity is distracting and helps her to feel better when she's down. She may experience the response as a voluntary behavior, one that was motivated by habit or pleasure. Or, she may not have any conscious thought about its motivational source or intention. The point here is that this child may not connect her decision to check social media to the recent social rejection event, even though that social media behavior was learned, and functioned, as a coping response. Many investigations overlook coping efforts that are used regularly but are not noticed or acknowledged by the individual as coping responses to particular precipitating events. Our focus on everyday stressors suggests that the more narrow definition misses an important part of the picture and that such responses should not be excluded from the study of children's coping.

Implications of an Everyday Perspective for the Measurement of Coping

A complex mental calculus is needed to detect how thoughts, behaviors, or emotions change in response to the occurrence of a particular event. First, the individual must closely monitor their experiences of minor stressors and the responses that follow them, which may be too short-lived to register in memory and be recalled. Second, and most important, the individual must connect the response to the occurrence of the stressful event. However, the same response may be a behavior that recurs (perhaps several times in the same day) and it may be difficult to connect its timing to the occurrence of any particular event. It's easy to see how the connection between the "response" and the "precipitating event" could be lost even when the individual used it precisely because of a learning history linking it with emotional recovery. Definitions of coping that are restricted to conscious, effortful, and intentional efforts ignore responses that function to manage everyday stressors and mild emotional responses to them but are not recognized or recalled as such by the individual. Our approach broadens the definition to include coping efforts that the individual undertakes but may not connect to a particular stressor and are not necessarily intentional.

Both laboratory and naturalistic approaches can capture coping efforts that the individual undertakes but would not necessarily describe as a response to a particular stressor. Laboratory paradigms subject children to controlled stressors and allow for direct observation of their responses. The analog tasks are usually designed to represent events that children may plausibly encounter in daily life. For example, kindergarteners may participate in a play task with parents who had been instructed to enforce specific rules to provoke frustration. Trained observers may code the children's coping responses while recording children's physiological reactivity to and recovery from the stressor. Naturalistic approaches prioritize ecological validity by assessing naturally occurring stressful events and the coping strategies used in response to them. Some studies target specific situational stressors whereas others assess coping in response to diverse stressors. For example, Mahoney et al. (2010) video-recorded children during needle procedures in a hospital setting and coded observable indicators of child coping, adult coping, and child distress. Given that the data were collected naturalistically, study findings reflected the effects of the stressor context (i.e., clinical setting with real medical professionals) as well as the needle procedure on coping responses (Mahoney et al., 2010). With objective

observations of children's activities obtained via audio- or video-recordings, researchers can code stressors and displays of various strategies following the stressful event to examine coping.

In studies using intensive longitudinal methods, naturally occurring stressors and coping responses are repeatedly assessed within and across days. Consistent with our view that coping includes volitional and nonvolitional responses that may or may not be consciously tied in the child's mind to the stressful event, probes of coping need not specify that the participant intended the act to alleviate stress. Rather, by administrating a set of questions about stressors, a separate set of questions about emotions, and another set of questions about specific types of thoughts and behaviors, psychologists can apply inferential statistics to assess coping. For example, to study avoidant coping responses to stressful events, an experiential sampling study repeatedly assessed interpersonal stressors (e.g., "had a fight, conflict or argument"; "something happened that left me feeling ignored or rejected"; "something happened that left me feeling criticized or put down") four times a day over 5 consecutive days. The same surveys separately measured negative mood and avoidant coping behaviors (e.g., "spent some alone time"; "drank alcohol or used other drugs"; "pushed away or ignored thoughts about a problem I'm having"), without explicitly stipulating that the mood reports and coping behaviors were in response to the interpersonal stressors. The connection between the interpersonal stressor and avoidant coping behaviors was not made by the participant but through analysis of the intensive longitudinal data. The study found that when college students reported interpersonal stressors and subsequently reported avoidance coping behaviors, their negative mood was elevated (Sears et al., 2018), indicating that avoidance is not a locally adaptive coping response to interpersonal stressors. By leveraging data analytic approaches to draw linkages between stressors and specific cognitions or behaviors – whether self-reported or observed – researchers can capture volitional and nonvolitional coping in children without relying on participants to draw explicit connections between the precipitating stressor and their responses.

Interpersonal Perspective on Coping

Coping as an Interpersonal Process

Coping is as much a dynamic interpersonal process as it is an intrapersonal one. Interactions with others are intertwined with and shape children's responses to stressful events, as demonstrated by past research on spillover. Spillover refers to how a stressful experience in one setting or situation can have a direct short-term effect on an individual's emotion, cognition, or behavior in another. Several research studies have shown that problems originating outside the home, such as problems with peers, have a short-term impact on children's interactions with family members inside the home. For example, when children and adolescents experience more problems at school, they describe themselves as more demanding and difficult at home (Lehman & Repetti, 2007) and report higher levels of social withdrawal, more conflict, and less warmth with their parents on the same and next day (Bai et al., 2017; Chung et al., 2011; Mayfield & Fosco, 2021; Timmons & Margolin, 2015). Parents corroborated these reports in adolescent but not in child samples. Likewise, stressors at home have short-term impacts on adolescents' interactions with peers. Parent-child conflict predicted greater levels of academic problems and peer conflict on the same day and the next day (Chung et al., 2011; Timmons & Margolin, 2015).

Although coping is not the focus of these studies, they provide evidence that peers and family members can be implicated in children's responses to stressful events and demonstrate how conceptualizations of coping can be broadened from an intrapersonal to an interpersonal process. Moreover, they reveal a window of opportunity during the day when coping may prevent a sequalae of negative interactions that follow as a consequence of the stressor.

The participation of peers and family members in children's coping is connected to the adaptiveness of their responses in the short term, and their psychological well-being. For example, in comparison to healthy controls, adolescents with major depressive disorder were more likely to co-ruminate with peers and parents, less likely to co-problem-solve with peers, and equally likely to co-problemsolve with parents, following a negative event (Waller et al., 2014). Moreover, when faced with a stressful event, co-distracting with a parent or peer led to greater reductions in boys' negative emotions, in comparison to distracting alone (Stone et al., 2019). By simply being present, peers and family members become an integral part of the coping response. Moreover, the adaptiveness of a specific coping strategy depends on the affective tone and behaviors of both the child and the coping partner.

It is perhaps simplest to illustrate the interpersonal perspective with support-seeking, a commonly used coping strategy among children. Infants rely on social referencing to gather information and seek comfort as they tackle new problems (Striano et al., 2006; Walle et al., 2017). Whereas the tendency to seek support from adults declines from childhood to adolescence, the tendency to seek support from peers increases (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006), and support-seeking remains an important coping behavior throughout the lifespan (Uchino et al., 2011). Although often characterized as approach-oriented, and thus "adaptive," the adaptiveness of support-seeking depends on (1) the nature of the child's bid for support, (2) the quality of the support provider's response to the child, and (3) the child's perception of the provider's response (Collins & Feeney, 2000). Child bids for support are not always met with a response (Sperling & Repetti, 2018), and a child may not perceive the provided support as helpful (Tian et al., 2020). Whether or not such a dyadic interaction helps the child recover from stress, depends on the quality of the relationship (Collins & Feeney, 2000), and the fit between the child's need for support and the partner's provision of support (McLaren & High, 2015; Uchino et al., 2011). Characteristics of the child's bid for support and supportive messages also predict the adaptiveness of support-seeking. People who seek support more directly (as opposed to using subtle hints) often receive higher-quality support (High & Scharp, 2015), and the support provided is most helpful when it is centered on the support recipient (i.e., when it acknowledges, elaborates, and legitimizes the support seeker) (Burleson, 2003; Cannava et al., 2018). Beginning from early infancy, children learn how to effectively seek and receive support through processes like modeling, assisting, coaching, and operant conditioning (DiCorcia & Tronick, 2011).

Coping in the Family

Family members can support or interfere with a developmental process whereby children become more adept at coping as they encounter and learn to deal with different types of stressful events. Parent socialization processes – including modeling, assisting, coaching, and reinforcing – shape coping strategies that children use in and outside the home (Gaylord-Harden et al., 2013; Peisch et al., 2020; Power, 2004; Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007). For example, mothers who provided greater support and encouraged their children to use engagement coping (e.g., think about different ways to fix a problem) had children who used more engagement coping strategies themselves (Gaylord-Harden et al., 2013). Not surprisingly, positive parenting qualities, such as an authoritative parenting style, parental warmth, and autonomy support are associated with the types of coping responses that are linked with better psychological well-being (Almas et al., 2011; Moran et al., 2018; Seiffge-Krenke & Pakalniskiene, 2011; Watson et al., 2014). Warm and supportive families provide resources such as social support and scaffolding that enable children to safely explore and experiment with various coping strategies (Tolan & Grant, 2009). In contrast, children who grow up in families characterized by conflict, aggression, and cold, unsupportive, and neglectful relationships have fewer opportunities to develop coping responses that are both locally and developmentally adaptive.

Researchers have identified an overcontrolling parenting style whereby parents intervene in potentially stressful situations before children have attempted to regulate their emotions or behavior on their own. As a result, their children experience fewer opportunities to practice and master coping responses. The negative effects of overcontrolled parenting on coping are especially well documented for early childhood when the ability to cope with frustration is rapidly developing (Kiel et al., 2020; Perry et al., 2018; Sherman et al., 2017). In one study, maternal overcontrol at age 2 predicted poorer social, emotional, and academic adjustment in preadolescence; those effects were mediated through the children's ability to self-regulate their behavior and emotions in early childhood (Perry et al., 2018). The challenge for parents is to protect children from stressors that would overwhelm their

435
coping capacity while also allowing exposure to manageable stressors and providing appropriate support in those situations (Power, 2004; Repetti & Robles, 2016).

In many cases, the adaptiveness of coping strategies that a child attempts should be evaluated in conjunction with their parent's emotional and behavioral responses. Consider an 11-year-old boy who was teased by peers at school. As a way of coping, the child may emotionally disclose the problem to his mother (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006). In turn, this disclosure can change the parent's emotional state as emotions are bidirectionally transmitted and co-regulated between parents and their offspring (Butler & Randall, 2013; Larson & Almeida, 1999). If the child's emotional distress provokes distress in the mother. it may interfere with her ability to respond in a supportive or helpful manner. The mother's negative emotional state and her behavioral response may further exacerbate the child's distress (Mancini et al., 2016; Sperling & Repetti, 2018). One naturalistic observational study of everyday parent-child interactions showed that when parents responded to 8- to 12-year-old children's spontaneous displays of negative emotion with critical statements (e.g., "I am getting tired of you"), or negative commands (e.g., "stop shouting"), children were more likely to react with continued negative emotion. Ignoring their children's negative emotion expression or changing the topic, was associated with a higher likelihood of children shifting to a neutral state or to a positive emotion expression (Sperling & Repetti, 2018).

Returning to our example of the 11-year-old boy who was teased at school, upon arriving home, he may retreat to his room and play video games in an attempt to withdraw from interactions with family members and distract himself from the events of the day. His caregivers' responses to this coping response may depend on their parenting values and the child's age. Parents who prioritize autonomy support might leave the youth alone in the room, whereas those who prioritize emotional support might attempt to engage him in conversation. A parent who prioritizes routines might instruct him to complete homework first, before playing video games. Younger children are likely to receive more supervision whereas older children may be permitted more alone time (Lam et al., 2012). The same child may also attempt to problem-solve. There are multiple problem-solving steps he might consider: talking to a parent or his teacher, ignoring the teasing, fighting back with sharp remarks, or forming alliances with a different group of peers about the teasing. Like supportseeking, withdrawal, and distraction, problemsolving can be an interpersonal process. Children often need assistance with problemsolving, as executive functioning is developing well into young adulthood (Ahmed et al., 2015). Even with the cognitive capacity to problem-solve, many solutions depend on the reliability of others. As this child evaluates each potential solution, he makes predictions about the reactions of his parent, teacher, and peers based on past experiences. In short, this youth's propensity to cope with the day's stressors by social withdrawal, distraction, or problem-solving, as well as the adaptiveness of these strategies, will rely to some extent on his parents' responses to these strategies.

Implications of an Interpersonal Perspective for the Conceptualization of Coping

The earlier example illustrates how coping is interpersonal, and how the adaptiveness of specific coping strategies depends on others. That is why we view coping as a set of responses to stressors that often implicate and rely on close others. This type of conceptualization already exists in the marital literature as dyadic coping, defined as "a process in which the stress signals of one partner and the coping reactions of the other partner to these signals are taken into consideration" (Bodenmann, 1997, p. 138). Similarly, parents exert a strong influence on the coping responses of young children and, as children age, coping may be become more collaborative.

There is a strong interpersonal perspective in research on coping during infancy and early childhood. It is widely accepted that infants rely on parents to facilitate their coping. As they grow older, they gain the capacity to cope with stressful events with scaffolding from parents. Indeed, laboratory studies often assess parent socialization of coping, examining specific behaviors parents employ to help their young offspring cope with specific stressors (McMurtry et al., 2010; Morris et al., 2011). An interpersonal perspective can also be found in studies of older adults. This adult literature recognizes that dyadic coping is an important mitigator of stress response in the short term, as well as marital satisfaction and mental health in the long term (Martire & Helgeson. 2017; Martire et al., 2019). However, an interpersonal perspective on coping is rare in research on middle childhood and adolescence; periods when parent support remains crucial, social cognition rapidly develops, and the salience of peers increases. Research on the management of chronic illnesses during these developmental periods support our perspective (Martire & Helgeson, 2017). When coping with chronic illnesses such as diabetes and asthma, parental involvement characterized by collaborative coping efforts, wherein the youth and parent work together to handle the illness, is associated with better management of the disorder and better psychological wellbeing (Martire & Helgeson, 2017).

Our conceptualization of coping implies that we should think about coping adaptiveness in the context of the child's proximal social environment. Beyond the role that parents play in the socialization of coping, the adaptiveness of various coping strategies depend on how parents, peers, and other coping partners respond in that moment. For example, while generally considered to be a developmentally adaptive coping strategy, the immediate adaptiveness of support-seeking depends on the child's interpersonal communication skills and the other person's availability and willingness to provide the needed support. Thus, a coping strategy that reduces reactivity to a stressful event in the family context may not be as adaptive in the school setting or with a future romantic partner. Of course, the ways in which children depend on and relate to other people change as they develop. Infants often seek and receive support from caregivers when distressed. This type of coping is likely facilitated by the synchrony of affect and physiology between infants and their caregivers (Pratt et al., 2015). However, individuation from parents is a major developmental task for children. As children become more autonomous, parents' involvement in coping may become less autonomic and more situationally specific, intentional, or motivated by the offspring. The early years are crucial for the development of coping. However, children must continuously adapt their coping responses to new stressors, new social contexts, and new partners. Our conceptualization suggests that coping should be examined as a time-variant interpersonal process, rather than a stable individual trait.

Implications of an Interpersonal Perspective for the Measurement of Coping

Our conceptualization of coping highlights why youth self-report approaches to coping assessment shed light on only a portion of the coping process. A child may describe attempts to cope with an academic challenge by seeking homework support. However, that report is unlikely to represent the full picture. Did the child ask for help directly or indirectly (e.g., whined and procrastinated)? Did the youth receive the support? What was the supportprovider's experience? Was the parent able to provide homework help or was she preoccupied and unable to respond? The measurement of coping, as discussed in this section, should include both the child's enactment of a coping response and the coping partner's response. One strategy for assessing these aspects of coping is to obtain reports from multiple informants. In addition to the child's own reports of their coping, others can report on their observations as well as their own responses to the child's coping. Research on social support in adults has benefited from such an approach. Studies of social support exchanges in adult couples have assessed support receipt from the support-seeker and support provision from the support-provider separately (Berli et al., 2018; Shrout et al., 2006: Shu et al., 2021). This multi-informant approach led to the finding that support that is provided but not noticed by the recipient is the most beneficial (Zee & Bolger, 2019). A similar strategy in parent-child dyads may yield important insights about the development of coping across childhood and adolescence. A multi-informant approach enables researchers to better assess the adaptiveness of a coping response in the child's social context.

Observational methods, whether conducted in the laboratory or in natural settings, provide objective behavioral data on children's coping as well as their parents' responses. Laboratory paradigms are often used to examine the ways in which parents support their young children's coping. For example, Kiel et al. (2020) coded the level of comfort, distraction, and protection mothers provided their 2-year-old offspring when they were faced with a fearinducing stimulus. However, observations of parents' coping support need not be restricted to studies of coping in young children. Despite spending more time alone as they age, youth continue to spend the majority of their time with either family members or friends (Lam et al., 2012, 2014; Larson & Richards, 1991). To fully capture the interpersonal processes that drive the adaptiveness of different coping strategies from infancy to adolescence, laboratory paradigms can be improved by more systematically including close others, such as parents, siblings, or peers (Stone et al., 2019).

Objective observations of family interactions via audio- or video-recordings in natural settings are also useful for capturing interpersonal coping processes. For example, activated recorders. electronically which sample ambient sounds as participants go about their daily lives, have been used to naturalistically assess dyadic coping among adults diagnosed with cancer and their spouses (Robbins et al., 2014). The UCLA Center on Everyday Life of Families (CELF) recorded families for 1 week as they went about their daily lives. Sperling and Repetti (2018) found that children expressed negative emotion on 10% of occasions when a parent was present on screen (with a 30-second video clip as the unit of analysis). We examined parent responses, including providing supportive statements, reflecting, problem-solving, and ignoring, in more than 1,500 spontaneous negative emotion episodes and tested the link between the particular parent response in each episode and the child's emotion reaction that followed. The parent ignoring or changing topics was the most common response observed, and it was the only parental response that curtailed the generally mild displays of child anger and sadness that were captured by the recordings; supportive statements did not have that effect (Sperling & 2018). However, there was a Repetti,

tremendous between-family variance in the data. In the median family, 47% of all parent responses were coded as ignoring, but the range of 0–71% across families indicates that some children frequently managed negative emotions on their own while, even at this age, others were rarely presented with such opportunities. How might child coping be shaped by that single family difference alone? Children who are allowed to cope independently with minor events and mild levels of negative emotion may develop more diverse repertoires of coping strategies than those who are given fewer such opportunities.

Other CELF studies have focused on positive emotion, which is considered a critical coping resource. We found that when children were already expressing positive emotion, parent expressions of positive emotion and mundane forms of physical touch increased the likelihood that the children would sustain their positive states (Bai et al., 2016). Another study found that parental expressions of compassion and gratitude were correlated with children's total expression of positive emotion (McNeil & Repetti, 2021). Research findings based on direct observations of everyday family interactions can add to our understanding of interpersonal coping processes, and may even challenge prior inferences drawn from studies that only use self-report questionnaires. Naturalistic observations such as these capture coping responses in children's social contexts and enable researchers to examine interpersonal processes that aid or hamper the development of coping.

Intervention Applications

The enhancement of coping skills, such as problem-solving or practicing mindfulness, is a common component in many prevention and intervention programs for youth suffering from mental or physical health conditions. These interventions are often delivered in individual, group, and mobile health treatment settings. Our conceptualization of coping suggests that to promote the development of coping, interventions should target both the volitional and the nonvolitional behavioral, emotional, and cognitive responses that children use to manage quotidian stressors in their daily lives. The merits of ecological momentary interventions (EMI) are numerous. They deliver interventions to people in their everyday lives and in their natural settings (Balaskas et al., 2021; Nahum-Shani et al., 2017). These interventions are brief and responsive to the specific needs of a moment or a day in the individual's life. Together with ecological momentary assessments, EMIs can promote the development of coping. Such an intervention would begin with ecological momentary assessments of the stressor, the situation, and the child's stress reactivity, in the context of daily life. In coordination with this assessment approach, the EMI can suggest specific coping strategies that match the stressor, situation, and stress reactivity, in real time. Children can select and attempt a coping strategy, based on suggestions made by the EMI, and evaluate its adaptiveness. With repetition and practice across diverse settings and situations, children can practice a wide variety of coping strategies, and learn to flexibly and intentionally employ specific ones depending on the unique needs of each situation.

No intervention is complete without the involvement of close others. Children's coping responses are rarely independent of family members or peers, and the adaptiveness of various coping strategies hinges on the responses of those around the child. Thus, an intervention that focuses on the behaviors of parents and peers is essential to promote the development of effective coping in children. A similar EMI approach that targets parent or peer behaviors in daily life is promising. For example, parents may receive psychoeducation about an interpersonal perspective on coping and common coping strategies for children. This psychoeducation can be reinforced with EMIs that are delivered to the parents, in coordination with the intervention delivered to the child. These EMIs would mobilize parents to participate in the child's coping process. By having the youth and parent practice various coping strategies together, in realworld settings and in response to naturally occurring stressful events, parents can better support the child's coping efforts. Together, the youth and parent can identify responses that work best in their unique family context. A focus on family members and peers has potential to increase coping resources for the child (i.e., levels of social support) and scaffold the coping process itself.

Future Directions for Coping Research

We have argued that children learn how to cope, iteratively, with repeated exposure to developmentally normative stressors. With practice, children learn to pair certain coping strategies with specific types of stressors and situations. Their close relationships, including those with family members and peers, shape this developmental process. As scientists continue to investigate the development of this important skillset, future research should further examine the role of everyday stressors on the development of coping. Prior research has conceptualized stress, even mild daily stressors, as detrimental to youth. Although stressful events may provoke negative affect and arouse physiological stress response systems in the short term, they offer crucial opportunities to foster the development of coping in children (Charles et al., 2021; Repetti & Robles, 2016). In fact, adults who report no stressors across 8 days were less likely to experience positive daily events, or provide or receive emotional support (Charles et al., 2021). Examining the roles that everyday stressors play in the development of coping, and characterizing protective factors in the individual and in the social context that help children derive benefit from these potentially undesirable situations, is an important next step in research. Moreover, investigators should focus on evaluating the short-term adaptiveness of coping responses, hand in hand with their longer-term implications for child well-being, to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the development of coping. Future research should characterize proximal and distal risk and protective factors that influence the adaptiveness of the coping response, such as characteristics of the stressor and the involvement of family members. Characterizing the short-term effects of specific coping strategies and examining their links to longer-term outcomes helps to elucidate the mechanisms by which coping affects health.

Future research should also broaden the study of coping responses to include nonintentional emotional, cognitive, and behavioral responses to stressors. The field's current understanding of coping has relied heavily on youth self-report questionnaires. While easy to administer, even questionnaires with superior psychometric properties only capture coping responses of which children are aware; this rarely represents the full picture. It is unreasonable to expect a young child, or even an adult, to have the level of psychological selfawareness necessary to reliably report that they postponed a difficult task, spent alone time, or refused to go to school the next day, on purpose because they were trying to cope with an insult they endured from peers at school. Yet, such behaviors are common examples of avoidance coping (Sears et al., 2018). Moreover, because many self-report coping questionnaires probe coping responses in relation to a major life stressor such as a medical diagnosis, they fail to assess responses to quotidian stressors – the foundational basis of the development of coping. Assessing coping efforts that the individual undertakes but would not necessarily describe as a response to a particular stressor allows researchers to gain a more complete understanding of the development of coping.

Any advancements in our understanding of coping must integrate an interpersonal perspective. While an interpersonal perspective is prominent in studies of infancy, toddlerhood, and early childhood, was well as middle and late adulthood, it is largely missing from studies of middle childhood and adolescence. An emphasis on the development of autonomy and individuation from family during these developmental periods may contribute to a bias toward studying coping as an intrapersonal process, but children and adolescents are no more autonomous from close others than are adults. Moreover, close parent-child relationships, such as those in which children seek support and advice from parents and tackle problems together in a collaborative manner, promote the development of youth autonomy (Allen & Loeb, 2015; Karabanova & Poskrebysheva, 2013). Interactions with family members and peers are intertwined with and shape children's coping responses even as children individuate from the family, and coping remains an interpersonal process throughout this period. Investigating the influence of others' behaviors on children's coping responses, and vice versa, will help increase our understanding of the development of coping and identify ways to enhance coping.

References

Ahmed, S. P., Bittencourt-Hewitt, A., & Sebastian, C. L. (2015). Neurocognitive bases of emotion regulation development in adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15, 11-25. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j .dcn.2015.07.006

441

- Allen, J. P., & Loeb, E. L. (2015). The autonomyconnection challenge in adolescent-peer relationships. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(2), 101–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12111
- Almas, A. N., Grusec, J. E., & Tackett, J. L. (2011). Children's disclosure and secrecy: Links to maternal parenting characteristics and children's coping skills. *Social Development*, 20(3), 624–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507 .2010.00602.x
- Bai, S., & Repetti, R. L. (2018). Negative and positive emotion responses to daily school problems: Links to internalizing and externalizing symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 46(3), 423–435. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10802-017-0311-8
- Bai, S., Repetti, R. L., & Sperling, J. B. (2016). Children's expressions of positive emotion are sustained by smiling, touching, and playing with parents and siblings: A naturalistic observational study of family life. *Developmental Psychology*, 52(1), 88–101. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039854
- Bai, S., Reynolds, B. M., Robles, T. F., & Repetti, R. L. (2017). Daily links between school problems and youth perceptions of interactions with parents: A diary study of school-to-home spillover. *Social Development*, 26(4), 813–830. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12229
- Bai, S., Robles, T. F., Reynolds, B. M., & Repetti, R. L. (2020). Daily mood reactivity to stress during childhood predicts internalizing problems three years later. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 48(8), 1063–1075. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-020-00650-7
- Balaskas, A., Schueller, S. M., Cox, A. L., & Doherty, G. (2021). Ecological momentary interventions for mental health: A scoping review. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(3), Article e0248152. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248152
- Berli, C., Bolger, N., Shrout, P. E., Stadler, G., & Scholz, U. (2018). Interpersonal processes of couples' daily support for goal pursuit: The example of physical activity. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 44(3), 332–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167217739264

- Bodenmann, G. (1997). Dyadic coping: A systemictransactional view of stress and coping among couples: Theory and empirical findings. *European Review of Applied Psychology | Revue Européenne de Psychologie Appliquée*, 47(2), 137–141.
- Burleson, B. R. (2003). The experience and effects of emotional support: What the study of cultural and gender differences can tell us about close relationships, emotion, and interpersonal communication. *Personal Relationships*, 10(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6811.00033
- Butler, E. A., & Randall, A. K. (2013). Emotional coregulation in close relationships. *Emotion Review*, 5(2), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1754073912451630
- Cannava, K. E., High, A. C., Jones, S. M., & Bodie, G. D. (2018). The stuff that verbal personcentered support is made of: Identifying linguistic markers of more and less supportive conversations. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 37(6), 656–679. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0261927X18793683
- Carver, C. S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol' too long: Consider the brief cope. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 4(1), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327558ijbm0401_6
- Charles, S. T., Mogle, J., Chai, H. W., & Almeida, D. M. (2021). The mixed benefits of a stressorfree life. *Emotion*, 21(5), 962–971. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/emo0000958
- Chung, G. H., Flook, L., & Fuligni, A. J. (2011). Reciprocal associations between family and peer conflict in adolescents' daily lives. *Child Development*, 82(5), 1390–1396. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01625.x
- Clarke, A. T. (2006). Coping with interpersonal stress and psychosocial health among children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35, 11–24. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10964-005-9001-x
- Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2000). A safe haven: An attachment theory perspective on support seeking and caregiving in intimate relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(6), 1053–1073. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.78.6.1053

- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- DiCorcia, J. A., & Tronick, E. (2011). Quotidian resilience: Exploring mechanisms that drive resilience from a perspective of everyday stress and coping. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(7), 1593–1602. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.neubiorev.2011.04.008
- Eschenbeck, H., Schmid, S., Schröder, I., Wasserfall, N., & Kohlmann, C.-W. (2018). Development of coping strategies from childhood to adolescence. *European Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1027/2512-8442/a000005
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Elmore, C. A., & Montes de Oca, J. (2013). Maternal parenting behaviors and child coping in African American families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 27(4), 607–617. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033414
- Ha, T., van Roekel, E., Iida, M., Kornienko, O., Engels, R. C. M. E., & Kuntsche, E. (2019).
 Depressive symptoms amplify emotional reactivity to daily perceptions of peer rejection in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48(11), 2152–2164. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10964-019-01146-4
- High, A. C., & Scharp, K. M. (2015). Examining family communication patterns and seeking social support direct and indirect effects through ability and motivation. *Human Communication Research*, 41(4), 459–479. https://doi.org/10 .1111/hcre.12061
- Johnson, A. E., Perry, N. B., Hostinar, C. E., & Gunnar, M. R. (2019). Cognitive–affective strategies and cortisol stress reactivity in children

and adolescents: Normative development and effects of early life stress. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *61*(7), 999–1013. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21849

- Karabanova, O. A., & Poskrebysheva, N. N. (2013). Adolescent autonomy in parent-child relations. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 86, 621–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .sbspro.2013.08.624
- Kiel, E. J., Kalomiris, A. E., & Buss, K. A. (2020). Maternal accuracy for children's fearful distress in toddlerhood and kindergarten: Moderation of a serial indirect effect by toddler fearful temperament. *Parenting*, 21(4), 1–27.https://doi .org/10.1080/15295192.2020.1754106
- Kirschbaum, C., Pirke, K.-M., & Hellhammer, D. H. (1993). The "Trier Social Stress Test" – a tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting. *Neuropsychobiology*, 28(1–2), 76–81. https://doi .org/10.1159/000119004
- Kuhn, D. (2009). Adolescent thinking. In R. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent* psychology (3rd ed., Vol. 1, pp. 152–186). Wiley.
- Lam, C. B., McHale, S. M., & Crouter, A. C. (2012). Parent-child shared time from middle childhood to late adolescence: Developmental course and adjustment correlates. *Child Development*, 83(6), 2089–2103. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01826.x
- Lam, C. B., McHale, S. M., & Crouter, A. C. (2014). Time with peers from middle childhood to late adolescence: Developmental course and adjustment correlates. *Child Development*, 85(4), 1677–1693. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12235
- Larson, R. W., & Almeida, D. M. (1999). Emotional transmission in the daily lives of families: A new paradigm for studying family process. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 61(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.2307/353879
- Larson, R., & Richards, M. H. (1991). Daily companionship in late childhood and early adolescence: Changing developmental contexts. *Child Development*, 62(2), 284–300. https://doi .orgf/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1991.tb01531.x
- Lehman, B. J., & Repetti, R. L. (2007). Bad days don't end when the school bell rings: The

lingering effects of negative school events on children's mood, self-esteem, and perceptions of parent-child interaction. *Social Development*, *16*(3), 596–618. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00398.x

- Lennarz, H. K., Hollenstein, T., Lichtwarck-Aschoff, A., Kuntsche, E., & Granic, I. (2018). Emotion regulation in action: Use, selection, and success of emotion regulation in adolescents' daily lives. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 43(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0165025418755540
- Lippold, M. A., Davis, K. D., McHale, S. M., Buxton, O. M., & Almeida, D. M. (2016). Daily stressor reactivity during adolescence: The buffering role of parental warmth. *Health Psychology*, 35(9), 1027–1035. https://doi.org/10 .1037/hea0000352
- Mahoney, L., Ayers, S., & Seddon, P. (2010). The association between parent's and healthcare professional's behavior and children's coping and distress during venepuncture. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 35(9), 985–995. https://doi .org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsq009
- Mancini, K. J., Luebbe, A. M., & Bell, D. J. (2016). Valence-specific emotion transmission: Potential influences on parent–adolescent emotion coregulation. *Emotion*, 16(5), 567–574. https:// doi.org/10.1037/emo0000160
- Martire, L. M., & Helgeson, V. S. (2017). Close relationships and the management of chronic illness: Associations and interventions. *The American Psychologist*, 72(6), 601–612. https:// doi.org/10.1037/amp0000066
- Martire, L. M., Zhaoyang, R., Marini, C. M., Nah, S., & Darnall, B. D. (2019). Daily and bidirectional linkages between pain catastrophizing and spouse responses. *Pain*, *160*(12), 2841–2847. https://doi.org/10.1097/j .pain.000000000001673
- Mayfield, K. T., & Fosco, G. M. (2021). Links between school and home: Associations between adolescent school day experiences and maternal perceptions of family relations. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 30(1), 121–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-020-01865-4

- McLaren, R. M., & High, A. C. (2015). The effect of under- and over-benefited support gaps on hurt feelings, esteem, and relationships. *Communication Research*, 46(6), 785–810. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215605155
- McMurtry, C. M., Chambers, C. T., McGrath, P. J., & Asp, E. (2010). When "don't worry" communicates fear: Children's perceptions of parental reassurance and distraction during a painful medical procedure. *Pain*, 150(1), 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.02.021
- McNeil, G. D., & Repetti, R. L. (2021). Everyday emotions: Naturalistic observation of specific positive emotions in daily family life. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 35(2), 172–181. https://doi .org/10.1037/fam0000655
- Moore, C. C., Hubbard, J. A., Bookhout, M. K., & Mlawer, F. (2019). Relations between reactive and proactive aggression and daily emotions in adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(9), 1495–1507. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-019-00533-6
- Moran, K. M., Turiano, N. A., & Gentzler, A. L. (2018). Parental warmth during childhood predicts coping and well-being in adulthood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *32*(5), 610–621. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000401
- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Morris, M. D. S., Steinberg, L., Aucoin, K. J., & Keyes, A. W. (2011). The influence of mother–child emotion regulation strategies on children's expression of anger and sadness. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(1), 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021021
- Nahum-Shani, I., Smith, S. N., Spring, B. J., Collins, L. M., Witkiewitz, K., Tewari, A., & Murphy, S. A. (2017). Just-in-time adaptive interventions (JITAIs) in mobile health: Key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 52(6), 446–462.
- Peisch, V., Dale, C., Parent, J., & Burt, K. (2020). Parent socialization of coping and child emotion regulation abilities: A longitudinal examination. *Family Process*, 59(4), 1722–1736. https://doi .org/10.1111/famp.12516
- Perry, N. B., Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2018). Childhood self-

regulation as a mechanism through which early overcontrolling parenting is associated with adjustment in preadolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, *54*(8), 1542–1554. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000536

- Power, T. G. (2004). Stress and coping in childhood: The parents' role. *Parenting*, *4*(4), 271–317. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327922par0404_1
- Pratt, M., Singer, M., Kanat-Maymon, Y., & Feldman, R. (2015). Infant negative reactivity defines the effects of parent–child synchrony on physiological and behavioral regulation of social stress. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(4pt1), 1191–1204. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579415000760
- Repetti, R. L., & Robles, T. F. (2016). Nontoxic family stress: Potential benefits and underlying biology. *Family Relations*, 65(1), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12180
- Robbins, M. L., López, A. M., Weihs, K. L., & Mehl, M. R. (2014). Cancer conversations in context: Naturalistic observation of couples coping with breast cancer. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(3), 380–390. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0036458
- Santiago, C. D., Brewer, S. K., Fuller, A. K., Torres, S. A., Papadakis, J. L., & Ros, A. M. (2017). Stress, coping, and mood among Latino adolescents: A daily diary study. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(3), 566–580. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jora.12294
- Santiago, C. D., Torres, S. A., Brewer, S. K., Fuller, A. K., & Lennon, J. M. (2016). The effect of cultural factors on daily coping and involuntary responses to stress among low-income Latino adolescents. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 44(7), 872–887. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop .21814
- Sears, M. S., Niles, A. N., & Repetti, R. L. (2018). Emotional and social reactivity as mechanisms of stress generation: A momentary assessment study. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 37(3), 201–230. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2018 .37.3.201
- Seddon, J. A., Rodriguez, V. J., Provencher, Y., Raftery-Helmer, J., Hersh, J., Labelle, P. R., & Thomassin, K. (2020). Meta-analysis of the

effectiveness of the Trier Social Stress Test in eliciting physiological stress responses in children and adolescents.

Psychoneuroendocrinology, 116, Article 104582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2020.104582

- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Pakalniskiene, V. (2011). Who shapes whom in the family: Reciprocal links between autonomy support in the family and parents' and adolescents' coping behaviors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(8), 983–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-010-9603-9
- Sherman, A., Grusec, J. E., & Almas, A. N. (2017). Mothers' knowledge of what reduces distress in their adolescents: Impact on the development of adolescent approach coping. *Parenting*, 17(3), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295192.2017 .1333789
- Shrout, P. E., Herman, C. M., & Bolger, N. (2006). The costs and benefits of practical and emotional support on adjustment: A daily diary study of couples experiencing acute stress. *Personal Relationships*, *13*(1), 115–134. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1475-6811.2006.00108.x
- Shu, J., Bolger, N., & Ochsner, K. N. (2021). Social emotion regulation strategies are differentially helpful for anxiety and sadness. *Emotion*, 21(6), 1144–1159. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000921
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2006). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Sladek, M. R., Doane, L. D., Luecken, L. J., & Eisenberg, N. (2016). Perceived stress, coping, and cortisol reactivity in daily life: A study of adolescents during the first year of college. *Biological Psychology*, *117*, 8–15. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.02.003
- Sladek, M. R., Doane, L. D., & Stroud, C. B. (2017). Individual and day-to-day differences in active coping predict diurnal cortisol patterns among early adolescent girls. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 46(1), 121–135. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10964-016-0591-2
- Slatcher, R. B., Chi, P., Li, X., Zhao, J., Zhao, G., Ren, X., Zhu, J., & Stanton, B. (2015). Associations between coping and diurnal cortisol

among children affected by parental HIV/AIDS. *Health Psychology*, *34*(8), 802–810. https://doi .org/10.1037/hea0000169

- Sperling, J., & Repetti, R. L. (2018). Understanding emotion socialization through naturalistic observations of parent–child interactions. *Family Relations*, 67(3), 325–338. https://doi.org/10 .1111/fare.12314
- Stone, L. B., Mennies, R. J., Waller, J. M., Ladouceur, C. D., Forbes, E. E., Ryan, N. D., Dahl, R. E., & Silk, J. S. (2019). Help me feel better! Ecological momentary assessment of anxious youths' emotion regulation with parents and peers. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(2), 313–324. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-018-0454-2
- Striano, T., Vaish, A., & Benigno, J. P. (2006). The meaning of infants' looks: Information seeking and comfort seeking?. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 24(3), 615–630. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151005X67566
- Tian, X., Solomon, D. H., & Brisini, K. S. C. (2020). How the comforting process fails: Psychological reactance to support messages. *Journal of Communication*, 70(1), 13–34. https:// doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqz040
- Timmons, A. C., & Margolin, G. (2015). Family conflict, mood, and adolescents' daily school problems: Moderating roles of internalizing and externalizing symptoms. *Child Development*, 86(1), 241–258. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev .12300
- Tolan, P., & Grant, K. (2009). How social and cultural contexts shape the development of coping: Youth in the inner city as an example. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 124, 61–74. https://doi.org/10 .1002/cd.243
- Uchino, B. N., Carlisle, M., Birmingham, W., & Vaughn, A. A. (2011). Social support and the reactivity hypothesis: Conceptual issues in examining the efficacy of received support during acute psychological stress. *Biological Psychology*, 86(2), 137–142. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.biopsycho.2010.04.003
- Uink, B., Modecki, K. L., Barber, B. L., & Correia, H. M. (2018). Socioeconomically disadvantaged

adolescents with elevated externalizing symptoms show heightened emotion reactivity to daily stress: An experience sampling study. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 49(5), 741–756. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10578-018-0784-x

- Vijayakumar, N., Cheng, T. W., & Pfeifer, J. H. (2017). Neural correlates of social exclusion across ages: A coordinate-based meta-analysis of functional MRI studies. *NeuroImage*, 153, 359–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage .2017.02.050
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(2), 96–100. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12112
- Walle, E. A., Reschke, P. J., Camras, L. A., & Campos, J. J. (2017). Infant differential behavioral responding to discrete emotions. *Emotion*, 17(7), 1078–1091. https://doi.org/10 .1037/emo0000307
- Waller, J. M., Silk, J. S., Stone, L. B., & Dahl, R. E. (2014). Co-rumination and co-problem solving in the daily lives of adolescents with major depressive disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(8), 869–878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2014.05.004
- Watson, K. H., Dunbar, J. P., Thigpen, J., Reising, M. M., Hudson, K., McKee, L., Forehand, R.,

& Compas, B. E. (2014). Observed parental responsiveness/warmth and children's coping: Cross-sectional and prospective relations in a family depression preventive intervention. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *28*(3), 278–286. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036672

- Yang, X., Ram, N., Lougheed, J. P., Molenaar, P. C. M., & Hollenstein, T. (2019). Adolescents' emotion system dynamics: Network-based analysis of physiological and emotional experience. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(9), 1982–1993. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000690
- Zee, K. S., & Bolger, N. (2019). Visible and invisible social support: How, why, and when. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(3), 314–320. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721419835214
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Locke, E. M. (2007). The socialization of adolescent coping behaviours: Relationships with families and teachers. *Journal of Adolescence*, *30*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j .adolescence.2005.03.001
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology* (3rd ed., pp. 485–544). Wiley.

18 Parenting, Socialization of Emotion, and the Development of Coping

Tracy L. Spinrad, Xiaoye Xu, Nancy Eisenberg, Angel Dunbar, and Fantasy Lozada

Introduction

Interest in the socialization of coping and emotion-related regulation has grown enormously in recent years. In this chapter, we first discuss the conceptualization of coping and the consideration of regulation and effortful control in our conceptualization. Next, we review research on the socialization of coping and regulation. In particular, we discuss several potential ways that parents foster regulation/ coping, with a focus mostly on parenting from infancy through late childhood. We briefly consider interventions to promote children's regulation. Finally, complexities in the research, such as consideration of the cultural context, bidirectional and interactional relations, and methodological issues are presented.

Coping as Regulation

We (and others) view coping and selfregulation as highly related constructs (Compas et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Nigg, 2017). Children's self-regulation encompasses a number of constructs including behavioral regulation, emotion regulation, effortful control, and executive functioning in both stressful and nonstressful contexts (see Eisenberg et al., 2014). Coping has been defined most commonly as a cognitive and behavioral response to stressors (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Compas and colleagues (2001) defined coping as effortful responses to deal with the emotional experiences in reactions to stressors, as well as cognitive, behavioral, and attentional reactions to stressful events or circumstances. That is, coping often involves controlled, volitional, and goal-directed processes. For example, children may use attentional processes such as distracting themselves (indices of effortful control) to cope with stress-inducing stimuli. Similarly, children's inhibitory control, planning capacities, and activational control - clearly aspects of self-regulation – likely contribute to the way children problem-solve during stressful situations (Compas et al., 2001). Further, the control of situations, such as preventing an emotion before it occurs (i.e., antecedent emotion regulation), also has been considered a form of coping (i.e., proactive coping). Thus, we view coping as a subset of top-down (i.e., cognitively generated) emotion-related selfregulation that overlaps considerably with effortful control (i.e., willful or effortful regulatory skills).

However, there are some aspects of coping that do not extend to research on selfregulation. Coping can be seen as a broader response to stressors, and it includes some behaviors that are unique to the coping literature, such as rumination, seeking social support, or getting information. Coping includes multiple ways to deal with difficulties or setbacks, many of which do not involve emotional processes. For the purposes of this chapter, we focus on the broad array of behaviors in the literature that are common to both self-regulation and coping. Because children often experience negative emotions in response to stressful situations, it is likely that parents' socialization strategies, particularly socializers' emotion-related socialization strategies, relate similarly to the emotional aspects of coping and self-regulation.

The Socialization of Coping/ Regulation

The role of parents in the socialization process and in self-regulation has been a topic of considerable interest for decades. For the purposes of this chapter, we focus on three aspects of the socialization process – the quality of the parent–child relationship, discipline practices, and emotion-related socialization practices.

The Quality of the Parent– Child Relationship

A number of studies focusing on parenting and the development of children's self-regulation and coping have roots in an attachment perspective (Pallini et al., 2018). The assumption of this perspective is that securely attached infants have an attachment figure who is available, attuned to their needs, and consistent in their responses to the child. Thus, securely attached children believe their attachment figures will alleviate their distress promptly and consistently and will accept their emotions. As a result, children with a secure attachment develop effective emotion regulation strategies based on their previous positive experiences of emotional expression and regulation with their attachment figure (Cassidy, 1994).

Research supports the notion that securely attached children develop better regulatory skills compared to insecurely attached children. Pallini et al. (2018), in a meta-analysis of over 100 studies of children up to 18 years of age, found that securely attached children were higher in effortful self-regulation than were insecurely attached children. In a metaanalysis of 72 studies, Cooke and colleagues (2019) found that securely attached children demonstrated higher emotion regulation and constructive coping strategies (i.e., cognitive, social support) in children under 18 years of age than insecurely attached children. Similarly, in a review of 23 studies, Zimmer-Gembeck and colleagues (2017) reported that across both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies, securely attached children were better regulated overall than insecure children. Insecure children tended to be more dysregulated and less competent copers than securely attached children in toddlerhood, childhood, and adolescence. In a recent notable long-term longitudinal study, infant attachment security predicted a more balanced, problem-solving approach to regulation 20-35 years later (Girme et al., 2021).

Similar to the arguments underlying attachment theory, parents' sensitive and responsive caregiving, reflected in their ability to notice and respond to their child's signals promptly and appropriately, is thought to predict children's ability to cope with stressors that result in negative emotions. Indeed, researchers have found the expected positive relations between maternal sensitivity and responsiveness to infants' and young children's emotion regulation (Davidov & Grusec, 2006; Haley & Stansbury, 2003; Halligan et al., 2013), behavior regulation (Birmingham et al., 2017; Zeytinoglu et al., 2017), effortful control (Calkins et al., 2002; Eisenberg et al., 2005; Eisenberg, Spinrad, et al., 2010; Lengua et al., 2007; Li-Grining, 2007; Spinrad et al., 2007, 2012) and ego-resiliency, a measure that reflects children's ability to recover from stress (Taylor et al., 2014). Similarly, parents' mutually responsive orientation, reflecting a relationship that is mutually cooperative, has been found to predict greater effortful control, a finding that was replicated across samples

Parenting, Socialization of Emotion, and Coping

449

and for mothers and fathers (Kochanska & Kim, 2014; Kochanska et al., 2008). In terms of predicting children's coping strategies, parental support has been positively related to active and adaptive coping and negatively related to avoidant coping (Gaylord-Harden et al., 2013: Gentzler et al., 2005: Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007). Relations of responsiveness and self-regulation are not always found; in a meta-analysis of 41 studies, the effect size for the association between responsiveness and preschoolers' self-regulation was not significant. However, in this work, both responsiveness and self-regulation were operationalized broadly, such that selfregulation included children's compliance, and responsiveness included positive affect and involvement: and thus, conclusions from this work are likely diluted due to the lack of specificity in the measurement (Karreman et al., 2006).

The literature to date indicates that the formation of a secure attachment relationship promotes the development of competent emotion-related self-regulation and coping skills. Further, researchers have demonstrated that children who are consistently responded to, who have support in their interactions, and whose parents attend to their emotions, tend to show greater ability to regulate their emotions and cope with stressors.

Parental Disciplinary Practices

Parents' harsh disciplinary practices and overcontrol are thought to be negatively associated with children's regulation and constructive coping. One argument is that parenting that is harsh or punitive may be overly arousing to children, disrupting their ability to selfregulate (Hoffman, 2000). It is also possible that parents who control interactions take over problem-solving for their children and, in turn, such practices undermine the development of children's independent coping skills. On the other hand, children who receive gentle control, structure, and guidelines have ample opportunities to be responsible for their own regulation while receiving support (Grolnick et al., 2019). It is likely that gentle control supports autonomous regulation and internalization of parental rules and guidance (Kochanska & Knaack, 2003).

Indeed, researchers have found that harsh or controlling parenting, including guilt induction, love withdrawal, power assertion, and punitive punishment, are negatively related to effortful control and self-regulation in samples from toddlerhood through early adolescence (Bridgett et al., 2018; Cui et al., 2014; Kochanska & Knaack, 2003; Kochanska et al., 2008: Taylor et al., 2013). Further, in one study, school-aged children's reports of parental physical punishment were related to relatively low effortful control (King et al., 2013). Karreman and colleagues (2006) conducted a meta-analysis of 41 studies of young children (24 to 66.20 months of age) and demonstrated significant effect sizes for the inverse relation of parents' negative control strategies to children's self-regulation, regardless of children's age.

Contrary to findings for harsh and negative discipline strategies, parental control that is gentle and supportive has been found to predict relatively high self-regulation and constructive coping. Because gentle control is a discipline strategy that models regulatory behaviors, it is thought to improve children's regulatory skills (Kopystynska et al., 2016; Van Lissa et al., 2019). Similarly, mothers' limit setting and scaffolding predicted higher effortful control over time in early childhood (Lengua et al., 2007) and adaptive coping in African American adolescents (Clark et al., 2002). Further, adolescents who perceived a history of autonomy-supportive parenting were found to engage in relatively high constructive coping behaviors (Van Petegem et al., 2017), perhaps due to their history of interacting in adaptive ways when facing challenges.

Taking a broader view, researchers also have examined global parenting style in relation to children's regulation and coping. In particular, authoritarian parenting, characterized by low warmth and high negative control, has been associated with low effortful control (Eisenberg, Gershoff, et al., 2001; Zhou et al., 2004) and coping efficacy (Zhou et al., 2008). In contrast, authoritative parenting style, characterized by warmth/acceptance, inductive discipline, democratic parenting, and responsiveness has been positively related to effortful control (Eisenberg et al., 2009; Taylor et al., 2014).

Emotion-Related Socialization Practices

In addition to the aforementioned relations. parenting that specifically promotes children's abilities to deal constructively with their own negative emotions is likely to foster selfregulation and coping skills. These practices relate to children's experience and expression of emotion. Eisenberg (2020) recently updated Eisenberg and colleagues' 1998 heuristic model delineating the processes involved in understanding emotion-related socialization behaviors and their relation to children's emotionality, regulation, and adaptive/ maladaptive outcomes (see Eisenberg, Cumberland, & Spinrad, 1998; Eisenberg, Spinrad, & Cumberland, 1998). In brief, our model focused on the processes by which socializers teach children about emotions and ways to manage emotions appropriately. Children likely learn in interactions with socializers about emotional experiences and if and when emotions can be regulated. Emotion-related socialization practices may involve parents modeling how to respond to stress and validating (or invalidating) their children's feelings, as well as direct instruction. These practices can occur in several ways, such as parents' own expressions of emotions, their responses to children's emotions, and parents' discussions of emotions (Eisenberg, Cumberland, & Spinrad, 1998; Eisenberg, Spinrad, & Cumberland, 1998). We have adapted this heuristic model to demonstrate the processes involved in the socialization of emotion and coping reactions (see Figure 18.1).

Parents' Own Emotions/Regulation/ Dysregulated Coping

The type and intensity of emotions expressed by parents and their own regulatory skills may provide children with models of regulation and coping. When parents express relatively high levels of positive emotion, they likely model constructive ways to manage stress, whereas parents who expose their children to high levels of negative emotions model dysregulation and maladaptive coping strategies. Consistent with these ideas, parents' positive expressivity has been related to children's relatively high effortful control/regulation both concurrently (Denham & Grout, 1993: Eisenberg, Gershoff, et al., 2001; Eisenberg, Liew, & Pidada, 2001; Speidel et al., 2020) and longitudinally (Eisenberg et al., 2005; Valiente et al., 2006). Related to these findings, children of depressed mothers, who likely express low levels of positive affect, demonstrate problems with regulation and coping (Blandon et al., 2008; Feng et al., 2008; Silk et al., 2006). Further, there is also some, albeit mixed, support for the notion that parents' own coping strategies predict their children's coping strategies (Kliewer et al., 1996; see also Bridgett et al., 2015 for a review of the relations between parent and child self-regulation). In a recent meta-analysis, Zimmer-Gembeck and colleagues (2022) showed that parents with more emotion regulation skills had



Figure 18.1 A heuristic model of the socialization of emotion-related regulation and coping.

Note: There also may be linear relations and interactions among the four predictors on the left. The four predictors on the left also can predict child subsequent outcomes. We believe there are also many moderators (e.g., type of emotion, child's temperament, child's sex) of the relations between emotion-related socialization practices and children's arousal/stress reactivity, further coping reactions, and subsequent child outcomes. For example, the child's developmental level may moderate the relations between emotion-related socialization practices and children's accurate the relations between emotion-related socialization practices and children's subsequent outcomes. See Eisenberg (2020) for a more detailed figure that includes moderators.

children with higher levels of regulation, and this result was not moderated by other factors such as children's age.

In addition, parents' negative expressivity has been linked to deficits in children's coping strategies. Specifically, Valiente and colleagues (2004) found that mothers' expression of negative dominant emotion (anger, hostility) was negatively related to children's constructive coping with stressors, although fathers' expressivity was unrelated to children's coping. Thus, exposure to intense and hostile emotions may be particularly arousing to children and undermine their coping abilities. However, it is important to note that such findings should not indicate that parents should refrain from expressing any negative emotions in front of their children. In fact, parental suppression of emotion, a coping strategy that involves hiding one's negative emotions, is thought to be detrimental to children's coping and regulation. That is, while parents' emotion suppression may be well-intentioned to protect or shield their children from their negative emotions, it likely hinders parents' ability to respond to their children's needs. Indeed, suppression has been related to punitive and dismissive parenting (Hughes & Gullone, 2010) and lower responsiveness during parent-child interactions. particularly for fathers (Karnilowicz et al., 2019). In addition, it is probably important to express, accept, and communicate with children regarding moderate levels of negative emotion (Gottman et al., 1997). Perhaps these findings suggest that when parents express negative emotions in a well-controlled way, children can learn ways to regulate their own emotions and to authentically and constructively express their feelings.

Parents' Reactions to Emotions

When children express emotions, especially negative emotions in their daily lives, parents'

reactions are likely to provide rich opportunities for socialization of emotion and its regulation. Parents can teach children about their emotional experience (i.e., encouraging the expression of emotion) and ways to manage the stressful context or make the situation better (i.e., problemfocused coping), or soothe and comfort their children to help manage their feelings (i.e., emotion-focused coping). Such strategies may help children to reduce their negative emotions and contribute to their abilities to understand and accept their emotions and to learn effective regulatory strategies.

Indeed, researchers have shown that when parents use strategies that facilitate emotion regulation (i.e., problem-solving and emotion focused) as well as encouraging the expression of emotion, children have relatively strong regulatory skills (Blair et al., 2014; Cui et al., 2020; Davidov & Grusec, 2006; Godleski et al., 2020; Lengua, 2008; Perry et al., 2020; Raval et al., 2018; Spinrad et al., 2007; Valiente et al., 2007; Yap et al., 2007, 2008). These findings hold across diverse samples, including in a sample at risk due to parental alcoholism (Godleski et al., 2020) and children in non-Western countries, such as China and India (Jin et al., 2017; Raval et al., 2018). Similarly, emotion coaching, characterized by emotion labeling, responsiveness, and problemsolving, is associated with relatively high levels of regulatory skills (Criss et al., 2016; Cunningham et al., 2009; Gottman et al., 1996; Miller et al., 2015; Morris et al., 2007; Shipman et al., 2007; Shortt et al., 2010). On the other hand, parents who minimize their children's emotions or who respond punitively to their negative emotions may induce more negative emotion and dysregulation (Blair et al., 2014; Eisenberg, Spinrad, et al., 2010; Perry et al., 2020). As one example, Lunkenheimer and colleagues (2007) found that parents' emotiondismissing responses during a family interaction task, such as invalidating the child's feelings or criticizing the child in response to their emotions, predicted children's poor emotion regulation.

Parents' responses to their children's distress also appears to be linked with children's coping strategies. For example, parental structuring (scaffolding) in response to toddlers' negative emotion was positively associated with increases in children's attempts to distract themselves during a delay task (a highly effective coping strategy) from 18 to 48 months of age (Ravindran et al., 2021). In addition, parental supportiveness and scaffolding in response to children's distress has been related to children's constructive coping (Chan, 2011; Valiente et al., 2009) and understanding of strategies to cope with anger and sadness (Cole et al., 2009).

Discussion of Emotion

Parents who discuss emotions with their children likely teach them about the meaning of emotions, which may allow them to better understand emotions, circumstances in which they should be expressed, and ways to regulate their distressed feelings. Gottman and colleagues (1996, 1997) characterized parental philosophy of emotions as either an emotioncoaching or emotion-dismissing meta-emotion philosophy. An emotion-coaching philosophy is reflected when parents discuss emotions, validate and label emotions, and instruct children on strategies to manage emotions. On the other hand, emotion dismissing is reflected in parents who view emotions as something to be avoided and minimized. In a review of the literature on parents' meta-emotion philosophy, Katz and colleagues (2012) demonstrated support for the notion that emotion coaching leads to improvements in children's and adolescents' emotional competence, psychosocial adjustment, and peer relations, whereas emotion dismissing showed the reverse relations.

Similarly, researchers have shown the importance of discussing emotions during

parent-child interactions. In one study, Eisenberg and colleagues (2008) found that during a parent-child conflict discussion between mothers and their young adolescents. mothers' discussion of emotions was related to fewer negative conflict reactions. Similarly, sensitive guidance during discussions about emotions (including structure and support of emotions) was linked to relatively high emotion regulation in a sample of maltreating and nonmaltreating mothers (Speidel et al., 2019, 2020). Thus, when parents discuss emotions with their children, their children tend to be better regulated and use more adaptive coping strategies (Gentzler et al., 2005). In a recent study, Curtis et al. (2020) reported that Chinese American mothers' discussion of emotion with their 6- to 9-year-old children predicted higher effortful control 2 years later, even after controlling for initial levels of effortful control. Although not causal relations, these findings point to the benefits of parental emotion talk for improvements in children's regulatory abilities.

In sum, research on emotion-related socialization practices has demonstrated that parents' reactions to children's emotions, parents' own emotional expressiveness and/or regulated (or dysregulated) coping, and their discussion of emotions predict children's emotion-related regulation and coping responses to stressors. Researchers should consider the important role of additional emotionrelated socialization practices, such as parents' selection or control of situations to prevent an emotion or stressor from occurring (i.e., arrange situations to be less stressful in ways that prevent an emotional reaction).

Promoting Children's Coping and Regulation through Intervention

Although the research is somewhat limited, there is evidence that interventions can

promote children's ability to cope with stress and regulate their emotions. For example, one school-based intervention, the Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies (PATHS) curriculum, demonstrated effectiveness in improving children's executive functioning and inhibitory control (Bierman et al., 2008; Riggs et al., 2006). In one recent study, however, the Tools of the Mind preschool curriculum, designed to support and train executive functioning skills, did not improve children's executive functioning or self-regulation (Nesbitt & Farran, 2021). Thus, school-based programs aimed to enhance children's regulatory skills need to be adequately tested to examine their efficacy.

On the other hand, some recent research has examined parenting intervention programs targeting parental emotion socialization and found some improvements in both parenting and child outcomes (see England-Mason & Gonzalez, 2020, for a review). As one example, the Tuning into Kids program (Havighurst et al., 2010, 2013), which teaches parents how to recognize and manage their children's emotions and strategies for emotion coaching, has been found to improve parental emotion socialization and to reduce children's problem behaviors and emotional negativity. Parenting intervention programs have also shown promise for participants who are "at risk" due to increased stress on the family. Programs that teach emotion coaching skills and sensitive parenting have been effective in improving parental emotion socialization for survivors of intimate partner violence (Katz et al., 2020), post-deployed military families (Zhang et al., 2020), and families in the context of child maltreatment (Speidel et al., 2020). This work is encouraging for improving children's self-regulation through promoting change in parenting practices (Speidel et al., 2020).

Next Steps for Research on Socialization of Coping and Emotion-Related Regulation

Although the literature already discussed indicates that children's coping and regulation are related to socialization practices, there are a number of important considerations for this work. Specifically, a greater focus on culture and diversity, changes with development, bidirectional and interactive relations, and measurement and conceptualization of coping is needed.

Cultural and Racial Considerations of Emotion-Related Regulation and Coping Socialization

The majority of research on the socialization of emotion regulation and coping has been conducted in the United States. This research may not generalize to other non-Western cultures. For example, Eisenberg, Liew, and Pidada (2001) reported that parental positive expressivity was not related to children's regulation in Indonesia, unlike research findings in the United States. This result may be due to the cultural norms regarding expressing emotion in Indonesia - where parents value emotional control, compliance, cooperation, and harmonious relationships. Interestingly, Raval et al. (2018) found that in Asian countries, parents' encouraging the expression of emotion loaded on the same factor as punitive and scolding socialization strategies in response to children's distress, indicating that in Asian countries, the expression of emotions has different cultural meaning than the USA. That is, encouraging the expression of emotion (particularly for negative emotions, such as anger) may be maladaptive in these cultures because this strategy is viewed as in opposition to the broader socialization goal of regulating any emotions that could disrupt relationships.

Importantly, even within the United States. there is evidence that culture and race norms should be considered. For families of color living in the USA, the context of racism and discrimination in which they navigate must be highlighted when examining the process of parental socialization of children's selfregulation and coping. A robust body of literature demonstrates that Black and Brown children's normative emotional and behavioral expressions are sometimes vigilantly monitored and interpreted with racial bias (Goff et al., 2014; Halberstadt et al., 2018; Lozada et al., 2022). Accordingly, the extent to which children of color are able to regulate their overt behavioral and emotional responses to distress can have dire long-term social and academic consequences. For example. Thomas and colleagues (2009) found that Black boys were viewed more negatively by teachers when they engaged in less anger suppression and greater anger expression. Such impressions are impactful as teachers' perceptions of Black youth's behaviors are linked with lower graduation rates and a higher likelihood of involvement in the criminal justice system (Okonofua & Eberhardt, 2015).

Theory and research around the impact of racism on parental socialization of selfregulation has been most systematically developed in research among Black American families. In their integrative model of racial and emotion socialization (IMRES), Dunbar and colleagues (2017a) proposed that Black parents engage in *emotion-centered* racial coping socialization strategies. These strategies refer to a balance of discussions about race, emotion-validating, and emotionsuppressing practices that help promote children's competent and flexible emotion regulation skills. Specifically, a balanced strategy helps children suppress emotions in situations in which emotion expression can have detrimental consequences while allowing them to express and manage their emotions in the context of a warm parent-child relationship. Research suggests that Black parents' use of emotion-centered racial coping strategies are most prominent when they themselves have experienced racism, perhaps raising their consciousness for the need to prepare their children for similar experiences. For example, Dunbar and colleagues (2017b) found that Black mothers who experienced institutional and interpersonal racism when their children were in kindergarten were more likely to believe that their children would experience negative social consequences for their displays of negative emotions once their children were in first grade, and these beliefs were associated with mothers' greater use of racial coping strategies in first grade. Further, specific Afrocultural values (e.g., spirituality, orality, communalism, affect) also remain salient Black American emotion-related among parenting practices (Lozada et al., 2022). Such values are embedded within cultural parenting practices such as conveying messages about spirituality and religious coping (e.g., Stevenson et al., 2002), elevated use of emotion labels during storytelling (e.g., Odom et al., 2016), and the use of storytelling to teach youth how to cope with emotions (Lozada & Riley, 2019).

Regarding parent-child relationship quality, disciplinary practices, and emotionrelated socialization practices, some literature has found that African American parents demonstrate lower sensitivity (Malda & Mesman, 2017), utilize harsher discipline (McLoyd & Smith, 2002), and endorse higher use of punishing and minimizing responses to children's emotions compared to European American families (Labella, 2018). Yet support for these ethnic-racial differences in parenting is not always replicated (Labella, 2018) and have been attenuated when accounting for socioeconomic status (Malda & Mesman, 2017). Applied to the consideration of families of color more broadly, findings of parenting differences across ethnic-racial groups should be interpreted with parents' cultural and protective goals in mind, particularly in a socially stratified context such as the USA. For instance, a closer examination into the nuances of practices among Black American families demonstrate a balanced use of punishing and corrective practices with a high level of supportive responses to children's emotions (Dunbar et al., 2021). As such, among Black American families, the use of punitive and minimizing responses in response to children's emotions has been linked to more competent behavioral and emotion regulation, but only when these practices are paired with parents' simultaneous use of high levels of emotion-validating practices and contextualized by discussions about racism (Dunbar et al., 2021, 2022; Thomas & Blackmon, 2015). These findings further support the need to understand racial and cultural socialization parenting practices in addition to emotion-related parenting practices to gain a more accurate understanding of the development of coping among youth of color. Thus, it is critical that culture, racial norms, and cultural socialization practices be considered in future research focusing on the socialization of emotion-related regulation and coping.

Developmental Changes, Direction of Effects, Mothers and Fathers, and Measurement Considerations

Another important consideration is how parental socialization practices may change with children's development. As one notable example, Spinrad and colleagues (2004) found mothers decreased their attempts to regulate their child's emotions between 18 and 30 months. Further, the specific types of strategies that mothers used differentially predicted children's regulation and emotions at age 5, suggesting that the effectiveness of particular strategies (i.e., comforting, distracting) may depend on their children's self-regulatory abilities as they mature. In addition, during later childhood or adolescence, the role of parents is likely to change due to the increased role of teachers and peers, and youths' own cognitive advances. Thus, it is expected that parents' strategies not only change with age, but the relations of socialization to children's selfregulation and coping likely weaken (see Valiente et al., 2006).

Studies focusing on the socialization of children's self-regulation and coping most often assume that parents shape children's development; however, children's characteristics, such as temperament, gender, or health status, undoubtedly elicit different parenting behaviors (Bell, 1968; Belsky, 1984). Specifically, with relation to regulation or coping, children who are dysregulated or fall apart when challenged may create a stressful environment that unfolds into parental negativity, harsh control, or ineffective parenting. Indeed, there has been some evidence that parenting behaviors are predicted by children's self-regulation and coping (e.g., Eisenberg et al., 1999, 2015; Merz et al., 2017; Moilanen et al., 2015; Mortensen & Barnett, 2018). For example, researchers found that children's earlier selfregulation predicted relatively high levels of parents' sensitivity, warmth, support, and cognitive assistance (Clark et al., 2018; Eisenberg, Vidmar, et al., 2010; Otterpohl & Wild, 2015; van der Voort et al., 2013; Van Lissa et al., 2019), and relatively low levels of parents' subsequent negative control, rejection, and inconsistent discipline (Baron & Malmberg, 2019; Hong et al., 2015; Lengua, 2006; Van der Giessen et al., 2014).

Further, in a recent meta-analysis, Li et al. (2019) found bidirectional relations between parenting and adolescents' self-control, with no significant difference between the longitudinal associations from parenting to youths' self-control compared to the other direction of effects. Moreover, bidirectional relations have been found between parenting stress and children's coping competence (Cappa et al., 2011). In another study, when boys used caregiverfocused behaviors, such as running to or reaching for their caregivers during a novel task, mothers reported fewer minimizing/punitive responses to toddlers' negative emotions a year later, but these relations did not hold for girls (Premo & Kiel, 2014). In contrast, in some studies, child effects have been tested but were not found (Eisenberg et al., 2005). Thus, it is critical for researchers to consider bidirectional and transactional relations between parenting and coping or self-regulation.

There also has been a call for additional research to examine both mothers' and fathers' unique roles in children's emotional regulation and coping. In particular, it is important to not only include fathers in studies of regulation and coping, but also to determine whether fathers make unique contributions to the development of children's regulation. Further, researchers should continue to examine whether the association of mothers' and fathers' parenting to children's regulation differs for sons and daughters (see Bernier et al., 2012; Bridgett et al., 2018; Feldman & Klein, 2003; Kochanska et al., 2008; Mathis & Bierman, 2015).

Finally, studies focused on regulation and coping often use different measures, categories, and labels, even though there is conceptual overlap between the constructs. For example, the coping literature often includes categories that overlap considerably with effortful control, such as problem-solving and distraction. but coping also can include some behaviors that may not be considered particularly regulatory, such as delegation (i.e., whining, selfpity) or rumination. Thus, it can be difficult to synthesize the research on the socialization of regulation and coping, given that researchers sometimes operationalize the constructs differently. Researchers should assess both constructs in the same study to examine whether parenting practices differentially predict coping and self-regulation.

Conclusions

In this chapter, we have explored relations between socialization practices and children's regulation and coping (see Table 18.1 for an overview). Although the coping literature is generally treated as a separate body of research than the work on self-regulation, we (and others) see the constructs as highly related (Compas et al., 2001). One of our goals was to review the literature on the relations of parental socialization strategies, including the parent-child relationship, discipline practices, and emotion-related socialization practices to children's coping and regulation. In addition, we argued that more research is needed to develop interventions to improve children's regulation and coping. We also offered additional considerations for future study. Specifically, we propose a more nuanced approach to studying the socialization of coping and regulation with regard to culture and diversity, as well as a focus on development, bidirectional approaches, and measurement issues.

Focus of research	Main research findings
Parent-child relationship quality	 Securely attached children have been found to have better regulatory skills compared to insecurely attached children Parents' sensitive and responsive caregiving has been positively related to children's emotion-related regulation and adaptive coping strategies
Parental disciplinary strategy	 Harsh or overcontrolling parenting has been inversely related to children's emotion-related regulation Gentle control (i.e., supportive, regulated control) has been found to predict children's higher regulatory behavior and adaptive coping Parenting styles that are warm and supportive have been associated with higher effortful control and coping efficacy in
Parental emotion-related socialization practices	 children Parents' own positive expressivity (or low negative expressivity) has been positively associated with children's regulation and coping strategies Children have relatively strong regulatory and coping skills when their parents respond to their emotions with problem-solving and emotion-focused reactions and who encourage their children to express their emotions (rather than minimizing or punishing their children's negative emotions) Parents' discussion of emotions and emotion coaching has been related to children's higher levels of emotion-related regulation
Intervention	• Although research is limited, parenting intervention programs have shown promise for both parenting and child outcomes
Areas for further research	 A focus on cultural and racial considerations, and particularly on the socialization of emotion for youth of color, is needed Researchers should consider issues regarding how socialization practices change with children's age, the potential for bidirectional effects, the unique role of various socializers, and additional measurement issues when examining regulation and coping

Table 18.1 Overview of the socialization of emotion-related regulation and coping

References

- Baron, A., & Malmberg, L. E. (2019). A vicious or auspicious cycle: The reciprocal relation between harsh parental discipline and children's self-regulation. *European Journal* of Developmental Psychology, 16(3), 302–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2017 .1399875
- Bell, R. Q. (1968). A reinterpretation of the direction of effects in studies of socialization.

Psychological Review, 75(2), 81–95. https://doi .org/10.1037/h0025583

- Belsky, J. (1984). The determinants of parenting: A process model. *Child Development*, 55(1), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129836
- Bernier, A., Carlson, S. M., Deschênes, M., & Matte-Gagné, C. (2012). Social factors in the development of early executive functioning: A closer look at the caregiving environment. *Developmental Science*, 15(1), 12–24. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01093.x

- Bierman, K. L., Domitrovich, C. E., Nix, R. L., Gest, S. D., Welsh, J. A., Greenberg, M. T., Blair, C., Nelson, K. E., & Gill, S. (2008). Promoting academic and social-emotional school readiness: The head start REDI program. *Child Development*, 79(6), 1802–1817. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01227.x
- Birmingham, R. S., Bub, K. L., & Vaughn, B. E. (2017). Parenting in infancy and self-regulation in preschool: An investigation of the role of attachment history. *Attachment & Human Development*, 19(2), 107–129. https://doi.org/10 .1080/14616734.2016.1259335
- Blair, B. L., Perry, N. B., O'Brien, M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2014). The indirect effects of maternal emotion socialization on friendship quality in middle childhood. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(2), 566–576. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033532
- Blandon, A. Y., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & O'Brien, M. (2008). Individual differences in trajectories of emotion regulation processes: The effects of maternal depressive symptomatology and children's physiological regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(4), 1110–1123. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.44 .4.1110
- Bridgett, D. J., Burt, N. M., Edwards, E. S., & Deater-Deckard, K. (2015). Intergenerational transmission of self-regulation:
 A multidisciplinary review and integrative conceptual framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, *141*(3), 602–654. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0038662
- Bridgett, D. J., Ganiban, J. M., Neiderhiser, J. M., Natsuaki, M. N., Shaw, D. S., Reiss, D., & Leve, L. D. (2018). Contributions of mothers' and fathers' parenting to children's self-regulation: Evidence from an adoption study. *Developmental Science*, *21*(6), Article e12692. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12692
- Calkins, S. D., & Fox, N. A. (2002). Self-regulatory processes in early personality development: A multilevel approach to the study of childhood social withdrawal and aggression. *Development* and Psychopathology, 14(3), 477–498. https://doi .org/10.1207/S15327078IN0302_4

- Cappa, K. A., Begle, A. M., Conger, J. C., Dumas, J. E., & Conger, A. J. (2011). Bidirectional relationships between parenting stress and child coping competence: Findings from the PACE study. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 20(3), 334–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-010-9397-0
- Cassidy, J. (1994). Emotion regulation: Influences of attachment relationships. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 59(2–3), 228–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.1994.tb01287.x
- Chan, S. M. (2011). Social competence of elementary-school children: Relationships to maternal authoritativeness, supportive maternal responses and children's coping strategies. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 37(4), 524–532. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2010.01196.x
- Clark, D. A., Donnellan, M. B., & Robins, R. W. (2018). Personality traits and parent–adolescent interactions: An observational study of Mexican origin families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 32(4), 544–551. https://doi.org/10.1037/ fam0000408
- Clark, R., Novak, J. D., & Dupree, D. (2002). Relationship of perceived parenting practices to anger regulation and coping strategies in African-American adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 25(4), 373–384. https://doi.org/10 .1006/jado.2002.0482
- Cole, P. M., Dennis, T. A., Smith-Simon, K. E., & Cohen, L. H. (2009). Preschoolers' emotion regulation strategy understanding: Relations with emotion socialization and child selfregulation. *Social Development*, 18(2), 324–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00503.x
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Cooke, J. E., Kochendorfer, L. B., Stuart-Parrigon,
 K. L., Koehn, A. J., & Kerns, K. A. (2019).
 Parent-child attachment and children's experience and regulation of emotion: A meta-

analytic review. *Emotion*, *19*(6), 1103–1126. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000504

- Criss, M. M., Morris, A. S., Ponce-Garcia, E., Cui, L., & Silk, J. S. (2016). Pathways to adaptive emotion regulation among adolescents from low-income families. *Family Relations*, 65(3), 517–529. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12202
- Cui, L., Criss, M. M., Ratliff, E., Wu, Z., Houltberg, B. J., Silk, J. S., & Morris, A. S. (2020). Longitudinal links between maternal and peer emotion socialization and adolescent girls' socioemotional adjustment. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 595–607. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000861
- Cui, L., Morris, A. S., Criss, M. M., Houltberg, B. J., & Silk, J. S. (2014). Parental psychological control and adolescent adjustment: The role of adolescent emotion regulation. *Parenting, Science and Practice, 14*(1), 47–67. https://doi .org/10.1080/15295192.2014.880018
- Cunningham, J. N., Kliewer, W., & Garner, P. W. (2009). Emotion socialization, child emotion understanding and regulation, and adjustment in urban African American families: Differential associations across child gender. *Development* and Psychopathology, 21(1), 261–283. https://doi .org/10.1017/S0954579409000157
- Curtis, K., Zhou, Q., & Tao, A. (2020). Emotion talk in Chinese American immigrant families and longitudinal links to children's socioemotional competence. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 475–488. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000806
- Davidov, M., & Grusec, J. E. (2006). Untangling the links of parental responsiveness to distress and warmth to child outcomes. *Child Development*, 77(1), 44–58. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00855.x
- Denham, S. A., & Grout, L. (1993). Socialization of emotion: Pathway to preschoolers' emotional and social competence. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 17(3), 205–227. https://doi.org/10 .1007/BF00986120
- Dunbar, A. S., Leerkes, E. M., Coard, S. I., Supple, A. J., & Calkins, S. (2017a). An integrative conceptual model of parental racial/ethnic and emotion socialization and links to children's

social-emotional development among African American families. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/10 .1111/cdep.12218

- Dunbar, A. S., Leerkes, E. M., Coard, S., Supple, A. J., & Calkins, S. D. (2017b, April). *Experienced racism and beliefs about emotion consequences as predictors of parental emotion socialization*. Paper presented at Society for Research in Child Development, Austin, TX.
- Dunbar, A. S., Lozada, F. T., Ahn, L. H. & Leerkes, E. M. (2021). Mothers' preparation for bias and responses to children's distress predicts positive adjustment among Black children: An attachment perspective. *Attachment and Human Development*, 24(3), 1–17. https://doi.org/10 .1080/14616734.2021.1976922
- Dunbar, A. S., Zeytinoglu, S., & Leerkes, E. M. (2022). When is parental suppression of Black children's negative emotions adaptive? The role of preparation for racial bias and children's resting cardiac vagal tone. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 50, 163–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-021-00779-z
- Eisenberg, N. (2020). Findings, issues, and new directions for research on emotion socialization. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 664–670. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000906
- Eisenberg, N., Chang, L., Ma, Y., & Huang, X. (2009). Relations of parenting style to Chinese children's effortful control, ego resilience, and maladjustment. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(2), 455–477. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S095457940900025X
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., & Spinrad, T. L. (1998). Parental socialization of emotion. *Psychological Inquiry*, 9(4), 241–273. https://doi .org/10.1207/s15327965pli0904_1
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress: The roles of regulation and development. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandier (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Plenum. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-2677-0_2
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Guthrie, I. K., Murphy, B. C., & Reiser, M.

(1999). Parental reactions to children's negative emotions: Longitudinal relations to quality of children's social functioning. *Child Development*, 70(2), 513–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00037

- Eisenberg, N., Gershoff, E. T., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Cumberland, A. J., Losoya,
 S. H., Guthrie, I. K., & Murphy, B. C. (2001). Mother's emotional expressivity and children's behavior problems and social competence: Mediation through children's regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, *37*(4), 475–490. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.37.4.475
- Eisenberg, N., Hofer, C., Spinrad, T. L., Gershoff, E. T., Valiente, C., Losoya, S. H., ... & Maxon, E. (2008). Understanding mother-adolescent conflict discussions: Concurrent and across-time prediction from youths' dispositions and parenting. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 73(2), vii–viii. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.2008.00470.x
- Eisenberg, N., Hofer, C., Sulik, M. J., & Spinrad, T. L. (2014). Self-regulation, effortful control, and their socioemotional correlates. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 157–172). Guilford Press.
- Eisenberg, N., Liew, J., & Pidada, S. U. (2001). The relations of parental emotional expressivity with quality of Indonesian children's social functioning. *Emotion*, *1*(2), 116–136. https://doi .org/10.1037/1528-3542.1.2.116
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Cumberland, A. (1998). The socialization of emotion: Reply to commentaries. *Psychological Inquiry*, 9(4), 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327965pli0904_17
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., Eggum, N. D., Silva, K. M., Reiser, M., Hofer, C., ... & Michalik, N. (2010). Relations among maternal socialization, effortful control, and maladjustment in early childhood. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(3), 507–525. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579410000246
- Eisenberg, N., Taylor, Z., Widaman, K., & Spinrad, T. (2015). Externalizing symptoms, effortful control, and intrusive parenting: A test of bidirectional longitudinal relations during early

childhood. Development and Psychopathology, 27(4pt1), 953–968. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579415000620

- Eisenberg, N., Vidmar, M., Spinrad, T. L., Eggum, N. D., Edwards, A., Gaertner, B., & Kupfer, A. (2010). Mothers' teaching strategies and children's effortful control: A longitudinal study. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(5), 1294–1308. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020236
- Eisenberg, N., Zhou, Q., Spinrad, T. L., Valiente, C., Fabes, R. A., & Liew, J. (2005). Relations among positive parenting, children's effortful control, and externalizing problems: A threewave longitudinal study. *Child Development*, 76(5), 1055–1071. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00897.x
- England-Mason, G., & Gonzalez, A. (2020). Intervening to shape children's emotion regulation: A review of emotion socialization parenting programs for young children. *Emotion*, 20(1), 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1037/ emo0000638
- Feldman, R., & Klein, P. S. (2003). Toddlers' selfregulated compliance to mothers, caregivers, and fathers: Implications for theories of socialization. *Developmental Psychology*, 39(4), 680–692. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.39.4 .680
- Feng, X., Shaw, D. S., Kovacs, M., Lane, T., O'Rourke, F. E., & Alarcon, J. H. (2008). Emotion regulation in preschoolers: The roles of behavioral inhibition, maternal affective behavior, and maternal depression. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610 .2007.01828.x
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Elmore, C. A., & Montes de Oca, J. (2013). Maternal parenting behaviors and child coping in African American families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 27(4), 607–617. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033414
- Gentzler, A. L., Contreras-Grau, J. M., Kerns, K. A., & Weimer, B. L. (2005). Parent–child emotional communication and children's coping in middle childhood. *Social Development*, 14(4), 591–612. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507 .2005.00319.x

- Girme, Y. U., Jones, R. E., Fleck, C., Simpson, J. A., & Overall, N. C. (2021). Infants' attachment insecurity predicts attachmentrelevant emotion regulation strategies in adulthood. *Emotion*, 21(2), 260–272. https://doi .org/10.1037/emo0000721
- Godleski, S. A., Eiden, R. D., Shisler, S., & Livingston, J. A. (2020). Parent socialization of emotion in a high-risk sample. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 489–502. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000793
- Goff, P. A., Jackson, M. C., Di Leone, B. A. L., Culotta, C. M., & DiTomasso, N. A. (2014). The essence of innocence: Consequences of dehumanizing Black children. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 106(4), 526–545. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035663
- Gottman, J. M., Fainsilber Katz, L., & Hooven, C. (1997). Meta-emotion: How families communicate emotionally. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Gottman, J. M., Katz, L. F., & Hooven, C. (1996). Parental meta-emotion philosophy and the emotional life of families: Theoretical models and preliminary data. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 10(3), 243–268. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0893-3200.10.3.243
- Grolnick, W. S., Caruso, A. J., & Levitt, M. R. (2019). Parenting and children's self-regulation. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of* parenting: Vol. 5. The practice of parenting (3rd ed., pp. 44–65). Routledge. https://doi.org/10 .4324/9780429401695-2
- Halberstadt, A. G., Castro, V. L., Chu, Q., Lozada, F. T., & Sims, C. M. (2018). Preservice teachers' racialized emotion recognition, anger bias, and hostility attributions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 54, 125–138. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.cedpsych.2018.06.004
- Haley, D. W., & Stansbury, K. (2003). Infant stress and parent responsiveness: Regulation of physiology and behavior during still-face and reunion. *Child Development*, 74(5), 1534–1546. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00621
- Halligan, S. L., Cooper, P. J., Fearon, P., Wheeler, S. L., Crosby, M., & Murray, L. (2013). The longitudinal development of emotion regulation capacities in children at risk for externalizing

disorders. Development and Psychopathology, 25(2), 391–406. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579412001137

- Havighurst, S. S., Wilson, K. R., Harley, A. E., Kehoe, C., Efron, D., & Prior, M. R. (2013).
 "Tuning into Kids": Reducing young children's behavior problems using an emotion coaching parenting program. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 44(2), 247–264. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10578-012-0322-1
- Havighurst, S. S., Wilson, K. R., Harley, A. E., Prior, M. R., & Kehoe, C. (2010). Tuning in to Kids: Improving emotion socialization practices in parents of preschool children – findings from a community trial. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*(12), 1342–1350. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610 .2010.02303.x
- Hoffman, M. L. (2000). Empathy and moral development: Implications for caring and justice.
 Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00650.x
- Hong, R. Y., Tan, C. S., Lee, S. S., Tan, S. H., Tsai, F. F., Poh, X. T., ... & Zhou, Y. (2015). Interactive effects of parental personality and child temperament with parenting and family cohesion. *Parenting*, *15*(2), 92–118. https://doi .org/10.1080/15295192.2015.1020143
- Hughes, E. K., & Gullone, E. (2010). Parent emotion socialisation practices and their associations with personality and emotion regulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(7), 694–699. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.paid.2010.05.042
- Jin, Z., Zhang, X., & Han, Z. R. (2017). Parental emotion socialization and child psychological adjustment among Chinese urban families: Mediation through child emotion regulation and moderation through dyadic collaboration. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, Article 2198. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02198
- Karnilowicz, H. R., Waters, S. F., & Mendes, W. B. (2019). Not in front of the kids: Effects of parental suppression on socialization behaviors during cooperative parent–child interactions. *Emotion*, 19(7), 1183–1191. https://doi.org/10 .1037/emo0000527

- Karreman, A., Van Tuijl, C., van Aken, M. A., & Deković, M. (2006). Parenting and selfregulation in preschoolers: A meta-analysis. *Infant and Child Development: An International Journal of Research and Practice*, 15(6), 561–579. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.478
- Katz, L. F., Gurtovenko, K., Maliken, A., Stettler, N., Kawamura, J., & Fladeboe, K. (2020). An emotion coaching parenting intervention for families exposed to intimate partner violence. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 638–651. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000800
- Katz, L. F., Maliken, A. C., & Stettler, N. M. (2012). Parental meta-emotion philosophy:
 A review of research and theoretical framework. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 417–422. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00244.x
- King, K. M., Lengua, L. J., & Monahan, K. C. (2013). Individual differences in the development of self-regulation during pre-adolescence: Connections to context and adjustment. *Journal* of Abnormal Child Psychology, 41(1), 57–69. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-012-9665-0
- Kliewer, W., Fearnow, M. D., & Miller, P. A. (1996). Coping socialization in middle childhood: Tests of maternal and paternal influences. *Child Development*, 67(5), 2339–2357. http://doi.org/10.2307/1131627
- Kochanska, G., Aksan, N., Prisco, T. R., & Adams,
 E. E. (2008). Mother–child and father–child mutually responsive orientation in the first
 2 years and children's outcomes at preschool age: Mechanisms of influence. *Child Development*, *79*(1), 30–44. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01109.x
- Kochanska, G., & Kim, S. (2014). A complex interplay among the parent–child relationship, effortful control, and internalized, rulecompatible conduct in young children: Evidence from two studies. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(1), 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032330
- Kochanska, G., & Knaack, A. (2003). Effortful control as a personality characteristic of young children: Antecedents, correlates, and consequences. *Journal of Personality*, 71(6), 1087–1112. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494 .7106008

Kopystynska, O., Spinrad, T. L., Seay, D. M., & Eisenberg, N. (2016). The interplay of maternal sensitivity and gentle control when predicting children's subsequent academic functioning: Evidence of mediation by effortful control. *Developmental Psychology*, *52*(6), 909–921. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000122

463

- Labella, M. H. (2018). The sociocultural context of emotion socialization in African American families. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 59, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.10.006
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Lengua, L. J. (2006). Growth in temperament and parenting as predictors of adjustment during children's transition to adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 819–832. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.819
- Lengua, L. J. (2008). Anxiousness, frustration, and effortful control as moderators of the relation between parenting and adjustment in middlechildhood. *Social Development*, 17(3), 554–577. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00438.x
- Lengua, L. J., Honorado, E., & Bush, N. R. (2007). Contextual risk and parenting as predictors of effortful control and social competence in preschool children. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 28(1), 40–55. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2006.10.001
- Li, J. B., Willems, Y. E., Stok, F. M., Deković, M., Bartels, M., & Finkenauer, C. (2019). Parenting and self-control across early to late adolescence: A three-level meta-analysis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(6), 967–1005. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1745691619863046
- Li-Grining, C. P. (2007). Effortful control among low-income preschoolers in three cities: Stability, change, and individual differences. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(1), 208–221. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.1.208
- Lozada, F. T., & Riley, T. N. (2019). Racialized emotion socialization: An investigation among African American families. Paper presented at the 2019 Society for Research in Child Development, Baltimore.
- Lozada, F. T., Riley, T. N., Catherine, E., & Brown, D. W. (2022). Black emotions matter:

Understanding the impact of racial oppression on Black youth's emotional development. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *32*(1), 13–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12699

- Lunkenheimer, E. S., Shields, A. M., & Cortina, K. S. (2007). Parental emotion coaching and dismissing in family interaction. *Social Development*, *16*(2), 232–248. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00382.x
- Malda, M., & Mesman, J. (2017). Parental sensitivity and attachment in ethnic minority families. In N. J. Cabrera & B. Leyendecker (Eds.), *Handbook on positive development of minority children and youth* (pp. 71–88). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10 .1007/978-3-319-43645-6_5
- Mathis, E. T., & Bierman, K. L. (2015). Dimensions of parenting associated with child prekindergarten emotion regulation and attention control in low-income families. *Social Development*, 24(3), 601–620. https://doi.org/10 .1111/sode.12112
- McLoyd, V. C., & Smith, J. (2002). Physical discipline and behavior problems in African American, European American, and Hispanic children: Emotional support as a moderator. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(1), 40–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2002.00040.x
- Merz, E. C., Landry, S. H., Montroy, J. J., & Williams, J. M. (2017). Bidirectional associations between parental responsiveness and executive function during early childhood. *Social Development*, 26(3), 591–609. https://doi .org/10.1111/sode.12204
- Miller, R. L., Dunsmore, J. C., & Smith, C. L. (2015). Effortful control and parents' emotion socialization patterns predict children's positive social behavior: A person-centered approach. *Early Education and Development*, 26(2), 167–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2015 .975034
- Moilanen, K. L., Rasmussen, K. E., & Padilla-Walker, L. M. (2015). Bidirectional associations between self-regulation and parenting styles in early adolescence. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 25(2), 246–262. https://doi.org/10 .1111/jora.12125

- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., Myers, S. S., & Robinson, L. R. (2007). The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Social Development*, *16*(2), 361–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507 .2007.00389.x
- Mortensen, J. A., & Barnett, M. A. (2018). Emotion regulation, harsh parenting, and teacher sensitivity among socioeconomically disadvantaged toddlers in childcare. *Early Education and Development*, 29(2), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2017.1371560
- Nesbitt, K. T., & Farran, D. C. (2021). Effects of prekindergarten curricula: Tools of the mind as a case study. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 86(1), 7–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12425
- Nigg, J. T. (2017). Annual Research Review: On the relations among self-regulation, self-control, executive functioning, effortful control, cognitive control, impulsivity, risk-taking, and inhibition for developmental psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 58(4), 361–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12675
- Odom, E. C., Garrett-Peters, P., Vernon-Feagans, L., & Family Life Project Investigators. (2016).
 Racial discrimination as a correlate of African American mothers' emotion talk to young children. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*(7), 970–996. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0192513X14521196
- Okonofua, J. A., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2015). Two strikes: Race and the disciplining of young students. *Psychological Science*, 26(5), 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615570365
- Otterpohl, N., & Wild, E. (2015). Cross-lagged relations among parenting, children's emotion regulation, and psychosocial adjustment in early adolescence. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 44(1), 93–108. https://doi .org/10.1080/15374416.2013.862802
- Pallini, S., Chirumbolo, A., Morelli, M., Baiocco, R., Laghi, F., & Eisenberg, N. (2018). The relation of attachment security status to effortful self-regulation: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 144(5), 501–531. https://doi.org/10 .1037/bul0000134

- Perry, N. B., Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2020). Maternal socialization of child emotion and adolescent adjustment: Indirect effects through emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000815
- Premo, J. E., & Kiel, E. J. (2014). The effect of toddler emotion regulation on maternal emotion socialization: Moderation by toddler gender. *Emotion*, 14(4), 782–793. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0036684
- Raval, V. V., Li, X., Deo, N., & Hu, J. (2018). Reports of maternal socialization goals, emotion socialization behaviors, and child functioning in China and India. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 32(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1037/ fam0000336
- Ravindran, N., Genaro, B. G., & Cole, P. M. (2021). Parental structuring in response to toddler negative emotion predicts children's later use of distraction as a self-regulation strategy for waiting. *Child Development*, 92(5), 1969–1983. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13563
- Riggs, N. R., Greenberg, M. T., Kusché, C. A., & Pentz, M. A. (2006). The mediational role of neurocognition in the behavioral outcomes of a social-emotional prevention program in elementary school students: Effects of the PATHS curriculum. *Prevention Science*, 7(1), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-005-0022-1
- Shipman, K. L., Schneider, R., Fitzgerald, M. M., Sims, C., Swisher, L., & Edwards, A. (2007). Maternal emotion socialization in maltreating and non-maltreating families: Implications for children's emotion regulation. *Social Development*, *16*(2), 268–285. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00384.x
- Shortt, J. W., Stoolmiller, M., Smith-Shine, J. N., Mark Eddy, J., & Sheeber, L. (2010). Maternal emotion coaching, adolescent anger regulation, and siblings' externalizing symptoms. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*(7), 799–808. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610 .2009.02207.x
- Silk, J. S., Shaw, D. S., Skuban, E. M., Oland, A. A., & Kovacs, M. (2006). Emotion regulation

strategies in offspring of childhood-onset depressed mothers. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(1), 69–78. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1469-7610.2005.01440.x

- Speidel, R., Valentino, K., McDonnell, C. G., Cummings, E. M., & Fondren, K. (2019). Maternal sensitive guidance during reminiscing in the context of child maltreatment: Implications for child self-regulatory processes. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(1), 110–122. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000623
- Speidel, R., Wang, L., Cummings, E. M., & Valentino, K. (2020). Longitudinal pathways of family influence on child self-regulation: The roles of parenting, family expressiveness, and maternal sensitive guidance in the context of child maltreatment. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 608–622. https://doi.org/10.1037/ dev0000782
- Spinrad, T. L., Eisenberg, N., Gaertner, B., Popp, T., Smith, C. L., Kupfer, A., Greving, K., Liew, J., & Hofer, C. (2007). Relations of maternal socialization and toddlers' effortful control to children's adjustment and social competence. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(5), 1170–1186. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.5.1170
- Spinrad, T. L., Eisenberg, N., Silva, K. M., Eggum, N. D., Reiser, M., Edwards, A., Iyer, R., Kupfer, A. S., Hofer, C., Smith, C. L., Hayashi, A., & Gaertner, B. M. (2012). Longitudinal relations among maternal behaviors, effortful control and young children's committed compliance. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(2), 552–566. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025898
- Spinrad, T. L., Stifter, C. A., Donelan-McCall, N., & Turner, L. (2004). Mothers' regulation strategies in response to toddlers' affect: Links to later emotion self-regulation. *Social Development*, *13*(1), 40–55. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-9507.2004.00256.x
- Stevenson Jr, H. C., Cameron, R., Herrero-Taylor, T., & Davis, G. Y. (2002). Development of the teenager experience of racial socialization scale: Correlates of race-related socialization frequency from the perspective of Black youth. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 28(2), 84–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798402028002002

- Taylor, Z. E., Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Widaman, K. F. (2013). Longitudinal relations of intrusive parenting and effortful control to ego-resiliency during early childhood. *Child Development*, 84(4), 1145–1151. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cdev.12054
- Taylor, Z. E., Sulik, M. J., Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., Silva, K. M., Lemery-Chalfant, K., ... & Verrelli, B. C. (2014). Development of egoresiliency: Relations to observed parenting and polymorphisms in the serotonin transporter gene during early childhood. *Social Development*, 23(3), 433–450. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12041
- Thomas, A. J., & Blackmon, S. K. M. (2015). The influence of the Trayvon Martin shooting on racial socialization practices of African American parents. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 41(1), 75–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0095798414563610
- Thomas, D. E., Coard, S. I., Stevenson, H. C., Bentley, K., & Zamel, P. (2009). Racial and emotional factors predicting teachers' perceptions of classroom behavioral maladjustment for urban African American male youth. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46(2), 184–196. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20362
- Valiente, C., Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Cumberland, A., & Losoya, S. H. (2004). Prediction of children's empathy-related responding from their effortful control and parents' expressivity. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(6), 911–926. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.40.6.911
- Valiente, C., Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., Reiser, M., Cumberland, A., Losoya, S. H., & Liew, J. (2006). Relations among mothers' expressivity, children's effortful control, and their problem behaviors: A four-year longitudinal study. *Emotion*, 6(3), 459–472. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 1528-3542.6.3.459
- Valiente, C., Lemery-Chalfant, K., & Reiser, M. (2007). Pathways to problem behaviors: Chaotic homes, parent and child effortful control, and parenting. *Social Development*, 16(2), 249–267. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00383.x
- Valiente, C., Lemery-Chalfant, K., & Swanson, J. (2009). Children's responses to daily social

stressors: Relations with parenting, children's effortful control, and adjustment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 50(6), 707–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610 .2008.02019.x

- Van der Giessen, D., Branje, S., Keijsers, L., Van Lier, P. A., Koot, H. M., & Meeus, W. (2014). Emotional variability during mother–adolescent conflict interactions: Longitudinal links to adolescent disclosure and maternal control. *Journal of Adolescence*, 37(1), 23–31. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.10.007
- van der Voort, A., Linting, M., Juffer, F., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & van IJzendoorn, M. H. (2013). Delinquent and aggressive behaviors in early-adopted adolescents: Longitudinal predictions from child temperament and maternal sensitivity. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(3), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.12.008
- Van Lissa, C. J., Keizer, R., Van Lier, P. A. C., Meeus, W. H. J., & Branje, S. (2019). The role of fathers' versus mothers' parenting in emotionregulation development from mid–late adolescence: Disentangling between-family differences from within-family effects. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(2), 377–389. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000612
- Van Petegem, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Brenning, K., Mabbe, E., ... & Zimmermann, G. (2017). Does general parenting context modify adolescents' appraisals and coping with a situation of parental regulation? The case of autonomysupportive parenting. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26(9), 2623–2639. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10826-017-0758-9
- Yap, M. B., Allen, N. B., & Ladouceur, C. D. (2008). Maternal socialization of positive affect: The impact of invalidation on adolescent emotion regulation and depressive symptomatology. *Child Development*, 79(5), 1415–1431. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2008.01196.x
- Yap, M. B., Allen, N. B., & Sheeber, L. (2007). Using an emotion regulation framework to understand the role of temperament and family

processes in risk for adolescent depressive disorders. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *10*(2), 180–196. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10567-006-0014-0

- Zeytinoglu, S., Calkins, S. D., Swingler, M. M., & Leerkes, E. M. (2017). Pathways from maternal effortful control to child self-regulation: The role of maternal emotional support. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *31*(2), 170–180. https://doi .org/10.1037/fam0000271
- Zhang, N., Lee, S.-K., Zhang, J., Piehler, T., & Gewirtz, A. (2020). Growth trajectories of parental emotion socialization and child adjustment following a military parenting intervention: A randomized controlled trial. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 652–663. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000837
- Zhou, Q., Eisenberg, N., Wang, Y., & Reiser, M. (2004). Chinese children's effortful control and dispositional anger/frustration: Relations to parenting styles and children's social functioning. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(3), 352–366. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.40.3.352
- Zhou, Q., Wang, Y., Deng, X., Eisenberg, N., Wolchik, S. A., & Tein, J. Y. (2008). Relations

of parenting and temperament to Chinese children's experience of negative life events, coping efficacy, and externalizing problems. *Child Development*, 79(3), 493–513. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01139.x

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Locke, E. M. (2007). The socialization of adolescent coping behaviours: Relationships with families and teachers. *Journal of Adolescence*, *30*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.03 .001
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Rudolph, J., Kerin, J., & Bohadana-Brown, G. (2022). Parent emotional regulation: A meta-analytic review of its association with parenting and child adjustment. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 46(1), 63–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 01650254211051086
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Webb, H. J., Pepping, C. A., Swan, K., Merlo, O., Skinner, E. A., Avdagic, E., & Dunbar, M. (2017). Review: Is parent-child attachment a correlate of children's emotion regulation and coping? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 41(1), 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025415618276

19 Temperament, Family Context, and the Development of Coping

Liliana J. Lengua, Lisa Shimomaeda, Michele R. Smith, Stephanie F. Thompson, and Krystal H. Parrish

Introduction

A number of factors contribute to the development of coping in childhood, including experiences of economic disadvantage, stress and adversity, family conflict, parental mental health, parenting, as well as individual factors such as temperament, executive function, and emotion regulation. However, to understand children's coping development, it is important to account for the complex interplay among these factors, and in particular between children's temperament and their family contextual experiences. It is further useful to consider protective family experiences that might support the development of effective coping and moderate the potential impact of temperament and risk on coping development. In addition, it is critical to consider the early foundations of children's emerging coping strategies by considering early and middle childhood influences on later coping.

In this chapter, we present a model and review research supporting the proposal that children's temperamental negative reactivity and lower effortful control in early and middle childhood contribute to heightened emotional arousal in response to experiences of family stress and adversity, increasing the likelihood that children will use less effective coping strategies that contribute to adjustment problems over time. Thus, temperament is expected to moderate the effects of stress on coping. Additionally, experiences of stress and adversity predict increases in negative emotionality and decreases in effortful control over time, which in turn would directly impact coping. In this pathway, changes in temperament expression mediate the effects of stress, increasing the likelihood of children's use of coping that contributes to adjustment problems (see Figure 19.1). Taken together, we purport that temperament in early and middle childhood both mediates and moderates the effects of family contextual factors in shaping children's coping. This complex interplay between family context and child temperament is proposed to contribute to patterned coping responses or styles that influence children's adjustment.

This chapter briefly reviews the development of coping in early and middle childhood to highlight how coping during these developmental periods might be shaped by experiences and temperament. We then discuss the role that temperament plays in concert with experiences of adversity in shaping children's emotional and cognitive responses to stress. We review how temperament may mediate and moderate the contributions of family contextual experiences to the development of coping and children's adjustment. Most of this research is conducted with preadolescent and adolescent samples, which we review as providing support for the proposed model.

Different conceptual approaches to coping use different terms for coping strategies that have overlapping or similar definitions (Band & Weisz, 1988; Carver et al., 1989; Compas



Figure 19.1 Conceptual model of temperament mediating and moderating the effects of family contextual risk on the development of coping and children's adjustment problems.

et al., 2001; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner et al., 2003). It is beyond the scope of this chapter to clarify the distinctions among these definitions. Therefore, we interchangeably use the terms engagement, approach, and active coping, which tend to include strategies such as problem-solving, cognitive decisionmaking, reframing, and acceptance. The terms disengagement and avoidant coping tend to refer to suppression, wishful thinking, and cognitive and behavioral avoidance.

Development of Coping during Early and Middle Childhood

Research suggests normative patterns in children's use of coping coincide with developmental transitions. In early childhood, young children appear to almost exclusively rely on behavioral coping (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). These strategies primarily include social support-seeking, an engagement strategy, and behavioral escape or avoidance, a disengagement strategy. Younger children depend on external sources to assist with coping as they have limited resources to handle stressors (Kenny, 2000). Children seek support from adults (e.g., parents and teachers) as a strategy to aid in supporting other overt, instrumental actions or in regulating emotions in the face of overwhelming stressors (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Parents, in particular, are critical in the development of children's coping skills, explicitly through means such as modeling and coaching, and implicitly via actions like comforting (Holodynski & Friedlmeier. 2006: Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). Between the ages of 3 and 6, children's regulation shifts from reactive to volitional and becomes a more self-directed process. Child coping processes transition from depending on *both* child and caregiver being increasingly childresources to dependent with continued scaffolding and socialization from trusted adults (Eisenberg et al., 2009; Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011, 2016). Experiences of stress or adversity within the family context are likely to impact this socialization process and the development of children's coping.

During middle childhood, in addition to engagement behavioral strategies, the use of engagement cognitive strategies increases, and use of behavioral disengagement strategies decreases (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner. 2011). For example, strategies like behavioral escape are increasingly replaced by cognitive avoidance (Compas et al., 2001; Kenny, 2000; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Coping in middle childhood hinges on growing flexibility in selecting and implementing appropriate coping strategies from an expanded range of options (Compas et al., 2001; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). This transition coincides with children's internalization of regulation skills and ability to incorporate self-reflection and cognitive strategies (Sameroff & Haith, 1996; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Children's temperament negative reactivity and effortful control might limit or facilitate, respectively, the requisite flexibility in coping strategies employed. Both individual difference in temperament and development of executive function, language abilities, and metacognition contribute to advances in coping such as self-driven soothing and advanced problem-solving. It is during this normative developmental shift from disengagement to engagement strategies that children's experiences of family context, stress, and adversity, together with their temperament, might shape a tendency toward or reliance on the use of disengagement strategies proportionally more than engagement strategies, and potentially the development of a coping style.

Coping and Adjustment

Typically, higher engagement coping, such as problem-solving and cognitive reframing, is associated with lower internalizing symptoms and externalizing problems, and higher social and academic competence (Compas et al., 2017; Sandler et al., 2000; Santiago et al., 2017). In contrast, higher disengagement coping, such as social withdrawal and cognitive avoidance, as well as higher involuntary engagement and involuntary disengagement coping, such as rumination and emotional numbing respectively, are associated with more internalizing and externalizing problems, and lower social and academic competence (Compas et al., 2001, 2017; Dempsey, 2002; Santiago et al., 2017).

However, there are conditions under which these general patterns do not hold. For some children who are exposed to more chronic and/ or uncontrollable stressors, such as chronic illness or economic strain, engagement strategies have been found in some studies to be associated with increased internalizing and externalizing problems, whereas disengagement strategies have been found to be associated with better adjustment (Aldridge & Roesch, 2007; Carothers et al., 2016). Findings demonstrating this pattern support the hypothesis that coping responses are most effective when they match the controllability of the stressor. Coping efforts that involve direct engagement with or attempts to resolve uncontrollable stressors may be ineffective. frustrating, or discouraging in circumstances that are beyond an individual's control. Thus, rather than considering some strategies universally appropriate, aligning the coping response with the stressor is paramount (Carothers et al., 2016; Compas et al., 2001; Kliewer et al., 2006; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2016).

In general, the effect sizes in studies that evaluate the links between coping and adjustment are small to moderate in magnitude (effect size absolute values ranging from r =0.02 to 0.30; Compas et al., 2017). When there is inconsistency in findings across studies it is likely due to varying definitions and measurement of coping, varying nature of stressors (e.g., acute vs. chronic), controllability of stressors, and population differences (e.g., normative vs. at-risk; Compas et al., 2017). Inconsistency across studies might also be due to the effects of moderating factors that differentiate children's responses to stress, such as temperament individual differences in reactivity and regulation, which might facilitate or constrain the development and/or deployment of coping strategies.

Temperament and the Development of Coping

Temperament is defined as stable, physiologically based individual differences in reactivity and self-regulation, including motivation, affect, and attention characteristics (Rothbart & Bates, 2006). Reactivity includes individual differences in the arousal and intensity of fear and frustration, which are known to predict internalizing and externalizing problems (Rothbart & Bates, 2006). Temperament selfregulation, most often conceptualized as effortful control, refers to executive attention regulation and inhibitory control of thoughts and behaviors, and is negatively related to adjustment problems (Eisenberg et al., 2000; Rothbart & Bates, 1998). Temperament individual differences in reactivity and regulation are genetically based, present early in life, and malleable, shaped throughout childhood by experience (Rothbart & Bates, 1998).

Aspects of temperament are known to elevate risk for adjustment problems or psychopathology (Nigg, 2006). Some research suggests that greater reliance on avoidant coping and less use of active coping may partially account for the association of temperament with psychopathology (Hong et al., 2017; Taylor et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2014). Further, temperament has been shown to exacerbate the negative effects of adversity (Lengua & Wachs, 2012), and coping might mediate the stressexacerbating effects of temperament.

The fear and frustration aspects of temperament reactivity are most often studied in relation to child psychopathology. Fear reactivity arises from activation of the behavioral inhibition system, associated with responsiveness to cues of threat or punishment and freezing or passive avoidance responses. Hence, fear reactivity is expected to increase avoidant coping (Mogg & Bradley, 2005), and in turn, anxiety and depression (e.g., Trew, 2011). Frustration reactivity arises from activation of the behavioral activation system, which is associated with responsiveness to reward cues, frustration in nonreward contexts, active avoidance of punishment, as well as the fightflight system responsible for defensive aggression (Rothbart et al., 2011). Therefore, frustration reactivity is also expected to increase avoidant coping, and in turn, aggression and conduct disorder. For example, studies examining negative emotionality, often a combination of fear and frustration reactivity, have shown that higher negative emotionality predicted greater use of avoidant coping or less use of active coping, and in turn, internalizing and externalizing problems (Lengua & Long, 2002; Miller et al., 2009; Thompson et al., 2014).

Effortful control operates to modulate reactivity, either facilitating or inhibiting a physiological, affective, or behavioral response. High effortful control is expected to facilitate attention shifting away from threatening or hostile stimuli as well as cognitive inhibition of automatic biases, which would reduce avoidant coping (e.g., Taylor et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2014) and increase the use of active coping strategies (e.g., Thompson et al., 2014), thereby reducing anxiety, depression, aggression, and conduct problems (Kertz et al., 2016). For example, one study found that the relation of attentional control and internalizing was mediated by active coping strategies, suggesting that greater control over attentional processes facilitates the use of more complex coping strategies (Compas et al., 2017). In addition,
childhood experiences of stress and adversity might shape temperament expression such that children show increases in negative emotionality and decreases in executive control (Lengua et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2018), which might account for the effects of stressful family contexts on coping and psychopathology. These associations suggest that temperament might mediate the association of contextual family experiences with children's coping.

Family Context, Temperament, and the Development of Coping

Children's coping development in early and middle childhood is responsive to their environments, particularly their family context, with the potential for both positive and negative influences. Most evidence points to the impact of family contexts characterized by elevated, chronic stress (Evans & Kim, 2013). Factors such as income-related adversity, high levels of family conflict, parental mental health problems, and parental substance use are thought to shape, strain, and potentially damage self-regulatory capacities such as coping (Wadsworth, 2015). Further, these contextual stressors are likely to co-occur. While the toll of income-related adversity is experienced by millions of children a year, little is known about how children cope with these circumstances (Wadsworth & Berger, 2006). There is some evidence that higher levels of cumulative risk are associated with higher levels of avoidant but not active coping in middle childhood (Thompson et al., 2016) and similarly, that high chronic economic strain and high family conflict (Wadsworth & Compas, 2002) as well as stressful life events (Seiffge-Krenke et al., 2009) are associated with greater use of avoidant coping among adolescents. These findings make sense conceptually, as income-related adversity, exposure to violence, etc. are exceedingly difficult

for children to cope with using problem-solving-based approaches (Wadsworth, 2015).

In addition, temperament is expected to interact with family contextual experiences to predict children's coping and adjustment. An individual's temperament influences the likelihood of reacting to situational demands in a particular way, for example, with greater negative emotional arousal or less regulated emotions or behaviors, and thus, also predisposes them to being more or less likely to engage particular types of coping (see Compas, 2009). As children develop, both their temperament and coping styles are shaped by their family contexts, which may either support or inhibit abilities that allow for more nuanced engagement with their environments and skilled responses to stressors (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). For instance, children who grow up in contexts of poverty are often exposed to greater variety and frequency of stressors in their family lives, though they may have fewer models for effective coping (Evans & Kim, 2013). Conversely, children who grow up in higher socioeconomic status environments often have parents or other adults who experience less adversity, and thus, potentially have greater emotional bandwidth to model effective coping.

There are a number of studies demonstrating temperament moderating the relation between family context and child coping. Hilt et al. (2012) found that children who were high in negative affect and who had experienced over-controlling parenting when they were 3–4 years old were the most likely to engage in rumination when they were 13–15 years old. Further, this study found that risk for rumination was highest for children low in negative affect who experienced greater family displays of sadness and guilt, as well as for children who were high in effortful control and who experienced overcontrolling parenting. In another study of children 3–8 years old, negative reactivity moderated the effects of maternal negativity on children's coping, such that children with greater negative reactivity and more maternal negativity engaged in more avoidant coping, and children with less reactivity and less maternal negativity engaged in more social support-seeking behaviors (Goodvin et al., 2006).

It is important to note that coping strategies may relate differently to adjustment when implemented by children living in certain high-risk contexts. Wadsworth (2015) articulates that early functional adaptations, such as the use of avoidant coping, come with concurrent trade-offs and long-term consequences. Taken together, avoidant coping strategies may be adaptive in the context of chronic and uncontrollable environments such as those often observed in low-income contexts but be deleterious over time. In support of this framework, while greater reliance on active coping strategies was associated with decreased aggressive and anxious/depressed behaviors among adolescents managing high levels of economic strain and family conflict, avoidant strategies were not associated with poorer functioning, as has been observed in less adverse contexts (Wadsworth & Compas, 2002). However, other studies have found avoidant coping to account for the effects of cumulative risk on changes in children's positive adjustment and adjustment problems in middle childhood (Thompson et al., 2016) and for disengagement coping to exacerbate symptoms in adolescents living in a lowincome context (DeCarlo Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009). These findings highlight the need for further consideration of the nature of specific stressors (Compas et al., 2017).

Income

Although temperament, coping, and income are thought to influence adjustment and

mental health outcomes, there is mixed evidence for the mechanisms of these effects. Disengagement coping has been found to mediate the relation between chronic poverty and the development of psychopathology in adolescence (Kim et al., 2016). However, avoidance may only be problematic when it is used in isolation. Aldridge and Roesch (2008) found that low-income adolescents who engaged in both active and avoidant strategies fared better than those who used just avoidant strategies, and that those who used active strategies saw the greatest personal growth and greatest decrease in psychopathology. One study investigated potential moderation effects of temperament on the relation between cumulative risk and changes in active and avoidant coping in preadolescent children. This study found that children low in effortful control utilized less active coping relative to avoidant coping, and that the use of both active and avoidant coping increased as cumulative risk increased. However, children who were higher in effortful control used more active coping relative to avoidant coping, suggesting that effortful control represented a resource facilitating the deployment of a variety of coping strategies (Parrish et al., 2021). Taken together, these findings may suggest that children who have greater regulatory capacities may employ a broader range of efforts to find the most effective coping strategy to meet the demands of the particular stressor.

Family Conflict

Children who witnessed or experienced interpersonal conflict have a greater likelihood of attending to potential threats, exhibiting more extreme emotional responses to threatening stimuli, and engaging in ruminative coping (McLaughlin & Lambert, 2017). Between mothers and their children, there is a higher risk for conflict and maltreatment in higherrisk environments and for children who exhibit temperaments characterized by less adaptability, predictability, and soothability (MacKenzie et al., 2011). Given this, it is plausible that family conflict might shape how children cope. One study noted a modest association between child-perceived interparental conflict and avoidant coping among youth aged 9-12 (O'Hara et al., 2019), and a second study of children aged 8-11 found support for an association with active coping (Nicolotti et al., 2003). However, other studies examining family conflict as a predictor of coping in children in middle childhood and adolescence fail to support an association between parental or family conflict and children's coping (DeCarlo Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009; Langrock et al., 2002; Shelton & Harold, 2008; Tu et al., 2016).

Although there is mixed evidence that family conflict predicts child coping, across studies, coping is a predictor of children's adjustment in response to conflict (DeCarlo Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009; Nicolotti et al., 2003; O'Hara et al., 2019: Shelton & Harold, 2008). For example, higher levels of problem-focused coping were associated with lower levels of internalizing symptoms and past-year marijuana use for adolescents experiencing high levels of postdivorce interparental conflict (O'Hara et al., 2019). Supporting the research that coping is an important mediator and moderator of stressful experiences for children (Compas et al., 2017; Grant et al., 2003), one study found that, in the context of marital conflict, higher levels of engaged coping were related to lower risk for externalizing problems, whereas higher levels of engaged coping increased risk for internalizing symptoms in 8year-old children (Tu et al., 2016). A second study found that more secondary control coping, a coping approach that includes strategies aimed at adaptation to the stressor, buffered the effects of family conflict on concurrent

adolescent internalizing symptoms, and greater use of avoidant coping exacerbated the effects of family conflict on later internalizing symptoms (DeCarlo Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009).

Temperament also plays a role in children's adjustment in response to family conflict in the form of interpersonal violence. Children with "easy" temperament characteristics, that is lower negative emotionality and higher selfregulation, demonstrated greater resilience when exposed to interpersonal violence in the home (Martinez-Torteya et al., 2009), while interpersonal violence is also associated with more difficult temperament in early childhood (Burke et al., 2008; Martinez-Torteya et al., 2009). This suggests both potential moderating and mediating effects of temperament in the relations of family conflict or violence exposure to children's coping and adjustment.

Violence Exposure

Findings examining children's exposure to violence outside the home suggest increased exposure is associated with increased reliance on avoidant coping in preadolescents (Reid-Quiñones et al., 2011), thus shaping coping approaches. In addition, there is evidence of interaction effects between violence exposure and coping, with stronger associations of avoidant coping with children's externalizing problems at high levels of exposure compared to low levels of exposure observed in adolescence (Brady et al., 2008; McGee et al., 2019). In contrast, there is a greater impact of active coping on externalizing problems at low levels of violence exposure (McGee et al., 2019). Notably, exposure to violence also engenders beliefs about the acceptability of aggression as an effective method for solving disputes (Reid-Quiñones et al., 2011). One study found that there was no longitudinal association between violence exposure and violent behavior among youth who employed effective coping strategies such as problem-solving and positive reappraisal (Brady et al., 2008).

Maltreatment

Maltreatment may also influence coping (Arslan, 2017). Maltreatment includes sexual. physical, and emotional abuse, as well neglect, and it is conservatively estimated that 1 in 10 children will experience maltreatment (Finkelhor et al., 2009). A recent meta-analysis found that maltreated adolescents rely on more avoidant coping, whereas associations between active coping approaches and child maltreatment were nonsignificant (Gruhn & Compas, 2020). Avoidant coping has been found to mediate the association between self-reported sexual abuse and stress-related symptoms in adolescents (Bal et al., 2003). Other studies fail to find evidence for coping mediating the effects of child sexual abuse (Shapiro & Levendosky, 1999; Tremblay et al., 1999). Over one third of children experiencing sexual abuse are under the age of 12 (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 1997) making it critical to understand the impact of sexual abuse on coping. In a study of 7- to 12-yearolds who had been sexually abused, Chaffin et al. (1997) found that avoidant coping was related to parent-reported child externalizing behaviors whereas active/social coping, angry coping, or internalizing coping were not. In the same study, angry coping was associated with teacher-reported child internalizing, externalizing, and social problems among other issues. Together, these studies suggest that coping may function similarly across middle childhood and adolescence, such that avoidant coping leads to greater stress-related problems.

Parental Mental Health

Parental mental health is thought to affect children through not only its impact on

parenting practices (e.g., greater reliance on punitive and inconsistent parenting) but also through greater associated risk for child experiences of adversity and greater modeling of maladaptive coping (Blanco et al., 2017; McDonald et al., 2019). Children with temperaments characterized by higher negativity and low effortful control may be the most susceptible to the negative impacts of poor parental mental health, as they are already at greater risk for internalizing and externalizing problems (Chen et al., 2014).

Parental mental health symptoms, central to family stress models, have not been systematically examined as predictors of children's coping strategies, and research on children living in the context of parental substance misuse is largely qualitative (Holmila et al., 2011; Kroll, 2004). In the small literature examining the association of maternal depression with children's coping styles, parental depression has been associated with adolescents' increased reliance on involuntary disengagement (i.e., escape or inaction), similar to avoidance (Jaser et al., 2005: Langrock et al., 2002), as well as decreased utilization of active coping (Langrock et al., 2002). This dearth of research belies estimates that 1 in 8 children live in a household with at least one parent with a past year substance use disorder (Lipari & Van Horn, 2017), and that parental depression demonstrates an incidence rate of roughly 6% in mothers and 2% of fathers among children 1-12 years old (Davé et al., 2010). Further, depression is disproportionately experienced by mothers who experience other adversity (Ertel et al., 2011), suggesting potential compounded effects of adversity and depression on children's coping development.

Summary

Perhaps the clearest takeaway from this research is support for the role of coping as a

mediator of the relation between risk and adjustment, as well as the potential for coping to moderate risk experiences. These findings are well in line with conceptual representations of stress, which emphasize that the relations among stressors, moderators, mediators, and psychopathology are dynamic, that mediators of stress may become fixed response patterns that function as moderators later in life, that context matters, and that the interplay and interaction of these factors predicts psychopathology (Grant et al., 2003). Children experiencing contextual risk factors such as low income, family conflict, parental mental health symptoms, and maltreatment may rely more on avoidant coping strategies. While typical associations between coping and adjustment were often observed, there is also some evidence that avoidant coping in these uncontrollable contexts may not have comparable effects on adjustment. The recursive influence of stable risk contexts and experiences likely becomes a patterned way of cognitive processing and behavioral responding (Grant et al., 2003) that, while adaptive in the short term. become liability time а over (Wadsworth, 2015). The vast majority of this research is conducted on youth in adolescence, not middle childhood. Thus, longitudinal studies of children growing up in these contexts of persistent and pervasive risk are warranted.

Protective Family Contexts

Although research on coping prompts a focus on children's experiences of stress and adversity, it is important to also recognize that certain family (e.g., Kaeppler & Lucier-Greer, 2020; Rosario et al., 2003) and contextual factors (e.g., Theron & Theron, 2013) can provide promotive and protective effects in the development of effective coping, particularly in the contexts characterized by adversity. For example, while high cumulative risk predicts lower self-efficacy in children, turning to family as a coping resource has been shown to buffer this effect of cumulative risk (Kaeppler & Lucier-Greer, 2020). Similarly, support from caregivers has been shown to buffer the relation between girls' victimization by community violence and delinquent behaviors (Rosario et al., 2003). A resilience lens represents a fruitful direction for further research.

Positive Parenting

Parents are most often children's first models for how to cope. In contexts of risk, parenting can buffer the effects of adversity and provide protection against the development of maladaptive behaviors that can canalize and increase propensity for later psychopathology. Autonomy granting by parents has been shown to support greater use of active coping (Seiffge-Krenke & Pakalniskiene, 2011). Further, an intervention targeting parents with depression and their adolescents demonstrated that both positive changes in parenting practices and increases in adolescents' secondarycontrol coping reduced externalizing problems (Compas et al., 2010). Similarly, positive parenting has been inversely associated with negative emotionality in early childhood (Paulussen-Hoogeboom et al., 2007), and negative emotionality has been predictive of adaptive coping in adolescence (Yap et al., 2011). Parents are instrumental in providing the scaffolding needed for children to develop effective coping, which is especially true for children who have temperaments characterized by greater negative emotional reactivity and lower effortful control. While positive parenting practices promote adaptive coping in children characterized by "easy" temperaments, these practices show greater benefits for those with "difficult" temperaments (Slagt et al., 2016), hence showing that temperament might moderate the effects of parenting on children's coping. In addition, given evidence that temperament characteristics can elicit different parenting behaviors (Kiff et al., 2011), the transactions between parenting and temperament can be expected to shape children's coping over time.

Family Support

Family support broadly encompasses family functioning in domains of expressiveness, conflict, and cohesiveness (Seiffge-Krenke, 1995). Perceived family support has been extensively researched in relation to drinking to cope in adolescents, but has not been examined in younger children. Catanzaro and Laurent (2004) found that only individuals who had less perceived family support were more likely to use drinking as a coping strategy as their expectations about the positive benefits of drinking increased. This suggests that there is a protective effect of family support that may reduce the likelihood of engagement in harmful coping. Similarly, for girls involved in the juvenile justice system, having a stronger family support system was related to less avoidant coping (Goodkind et al., 2009). In addition, when family cohesion is high, children tend to be better protected against depression (Erdem & Slesnick, 2010), externalizing behaviors (Tung et al., 2018), and from the psychological consequences of health problems (Mendes et al., 2016). Further, negative emotionality has been found to moderate the association between family cohesion and internalizing and externalizing symptoms in adolescence, such that family cohesion was a protective factor among youth with high negative emotionality (Rabinowitz et al., 2016). Another path through which family cohesion may provide this protective effect is through parenting that promotes children's effortful control (Crawford et al., 2011) and their

ability to cope. Yap and colleagues (2011) found that effortful control positively predicted adaptive coping responses, which mediated the association between effortful control and depressive symptoms in early adolescence.

Social Support

Social support can act as a buffer for stress and can foster the use of more effective coping. One study found that children high, but not low, in surgency (approach-oriented temperament) were less aggressive when they showed greater support-seeking behaviors (Dollar & Stifter, 2012). Instrumental social supportseeking can lead to engagement in other forms of active coping like problem-solving and emotion modulation. Indeed, some evidence suggests that both support-seeking and active coping share small to moderate correlations (r's = 0.16-0.39) with effortful control and emotionality (Boo & Spiering, 2010). Instead of potentially relying solely on internal resources to react to a problem, relying on others may reduce both the cognitive and emotional burdens related to stress.

Family Socialization of Coping

There is a substantial literature on the socialization of coping that converges on the importance of parental involvement and modeling in the development of children's coping responses. For instance, children tend to engage in less skillful means of coping if their parents employ involuntary disengagement, whereas children exhibit more sophisticated and effective coping strategies when parents demonstrate greater primary control (strategies to directly address the stressor or emotions related to it) or secondary control (strategies to change one's relation to the stressor; Santiago et al., 2012). The adverse impact racialized of racism and stressors is increasingly being examined in relation to children's adjustment, and parental racial socialization is shown to contribute to engagement coping in Black youth, with the implication that culturally specific practices for successful coping are important (Anderson et al., 2018) as discussed further later on in the chapter.

Siblings may similarly impact an individual's coping repertoire. This may especially be the case in situations where, due to necessity or cultural norms, older siblings adopt parental responsibilities for younger siblings (Walsh et al., 2006). One study found that older siblings had an indirect effect on younger siblings' social and cognitive skills through the younger sibling's improved self-regulation (Brody et al., 2003). Another study showed that siblings may increase the likelihood of engaging in substance use as a form of coping (Rende et al., 2005). Although there is little research examining this, family socialization of effective coping might be particularly important for children who are high in temperament negative emotionality or low in effortful control, providing them with tools for managing their emotional and behavioral responses to stress. For example, one study of children in middle childhood found that parents' coping suggestions related differently to children's depressive symptoms for children who were both higher in negative emotionality and higher in exposure to peer victimization (Abaied, 2010).

Taken together, children's temperament and family contextual experiences of support and adversity shape and moderate children's effective use of coping strategies. However, in considering family context and temperament effects on coping, it is critical to address the role of children's multiple and intersecting identities.

Intersecting Identities and Coping

Coping can be different in individuals of varying intersectional identities and based on situational

contexts and cultural norms. How children develop coping styles depends on their gender, racial, ethnic, and cultural background, and specific stressors faced. According to Aldwin's (2007) sociocultural model of stress, coping, and adaptation, an individual's pattern of coping depends on their appraisal of stress, coping resources, cultural resources, and received reactions from others. This implies that attention is needed on the complex intersections of identity (gender, race, and culture), experiences of family contextual adversity, and temperament in understanding children's development and effective use of coping.

Though findings are mixed, patterns of coping may vary between boys and girls. Girls appear to use more support-seeking coping than boys, whereas boys have been found to rely more on avoidant coping (Eschenbeck et al., 2018; Jenzer et al., 2019). However, both boys and girls use engaged coping more often than disengaged coping (Persike & Seiffge-Krenke, 2012). Lengua and Stormshak (2000) explored the association of gender role orientation (relative masculinity and femininity) with coping in college students. They found that greater femininity predicted more avoidant coping and less active coping, whereas greater masculinity predicted the opposite. Although the pattern of findings is mixed, taken together, they suggest that individuals' coping behaviors may be influenced by gender norms.

Similarly, while there are predominant similarities in coping styles across cultures, there are also notable differences. For example, people from non-Western cultures tend to engage in emotion-focused and avoidance coping more than people from Western cultures (Oláh, 1995). Those from Western cultures tend to utilize more support-seeking and negotiating types of coping than those from Eastern cultures (Persike & Seiffge-Krenke, 2012). This difference may be explained by cultural expectations with Western cultures valuing assertiveness, and Eastern cultures often conveying that reliance on others may be burdensome (Kashima et al., 1995). In addition, there is evidence of racial and ethnic differences. Within the USA, not only might people of different races and ethnicities utilize different types of coping styles (Constantine et al., 2005), but the adaptive advantage of using certain types of coping seems to depend on race and ethnicity (Chen & Kennedy, 2005).

Although research has examined the roles of gender and cultural identities on coping, it has not often examined these in intersection with family context and children's temperament. For example, Xu and colleagues (2006) proposed a "biocultural" model of coping in which children's coping resources are shaped by their cultural and family contexts, individual differences, and the goodness of fit among them. This would suggest that the associations of temperament and coping in children's adjustment might depend on their fit with children's cultural and family contexts. This is reinforced by evidence for East-West and individualistic-collectivistic differences in infant (e.g., Gartstein et al., 2006) and child temperament, as well as gender differences in temperament across cultures (e.g., Ahadi et al., 1993). Further, there are cultural differences in what is perceived as "difficult" temperament (e.g., Super et al., 2008) and how individuals and contexts respond to children's temperament (e.g., Chen et al., 2012). Given cultural and identity differences in both coping and temperament, research examining more complex models assessing goodness of fit of temperament and coping across intersecting identities and family contexts is needed.

Summary, Conclusions, and Future Directions

In this chapter we presented evidence for the interplay between children's temperament and

family contextual experiences, with temperament both moderating and mediating the effects of stress on coping development. However, it is important to note that the evidence in many cases is sparse, although suggestive. Children's negative emotionality and low effortful control exacerbate the effects of contextual risk on children's coping, increasing the likelihood of avoidant coping and decreasing the likelihood of active coping. Further, temperament expression is shaped by contextual risk, and in turn, predicts coping development. However, there is a need for more research into these complex associations, particularly in contexts of intersecting gender, racial, and cultural identities. Children experiencing contextual risk and those with higher negative emotionality and lower effortful control rely on more avoidant coping strategies. However, the majority of this research is conducted with adolescents, not younger children, and as a result there is little understanding of how coping strategies and styles develop in relation to contextual risk and temperament, and developmental studies are needed.

Additionally, while typical associations between coping and adjustment are often observed, there is also evidence that active and avoidant coping in contexts of pervasive or uncontrollable stress may not have the typical effects on adjustment. These associations mirror research on children coping with cancer, where active coping styles led to more positive adjustment in the face of more controllable, chronic stressors, whereas strategies such as disengagement and distancing/distraction were associated with better outcomes for children who faced less controllable, acute stressors (Aldridge & Roesch, 2007). Mixed findings for the effects of engagement and disengagement strategies in contexts of chronic and uncontrollable stress suggest the need for more careful examination of specific strategies. It might be important to delineate more clearly that some engagement strategies, particularly secondary control strategies such as cognitive reframing, acceptance, and emotion supportseeking, are beneficial in these contexts (consistent with typical expectations) while others, such as some active attempts to changes the situation, are detrimental to children's adjustment. Similarly, some disengagement strategies that facilitate some distance and recovery of personal resources, such as distraction, can be beneficial in high-risk contexts, whereas others, such as cognitive avoidance and wishful thinking, may be detrimental.

Another important consideration is that temperament may moderate the effectiveness of different coping strategies in supporting positive adjustment. As differences in temperament translate into differences in emotional or behavioral regulation, interactions between coping and temperament may result in differential associations with outcomes. For example, one study found that active coping predicted lower internalizing symptoms only when children had lower levels of frustration (Smith et al., 2022). Another study found that children's temperament self-regulation moderated the association of active and avoidant coping with anxiety symptoms. Active coping was associated with lower anxiety for children who were better regulated, but was unrelated for those who had lower self-regulation, whereas avoidant coping was positively related to anxiety for children who were less well regulated, but unrelated for children who were better regulated (Lengua & Sandler, 1996). Alternatively, coping strategies might moderate the association of temperament with adjustment as acquired strategies might offset the effects of a child's negative emotional arousal or lower selfregulation (e.g., Blair et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2009). Given these potentially complex associations and limited research, such interactions between temperament and coping should be investigated further.

There is also a need for more research into these complex associations, particularly in contexts of intersecting gender, racial, and cultural identities. Aldwin's (2007) model of coping posits that children's coping is influenced by culture as well as perceptions of the stressor and learned coping strategies. Xu et al.'s (2006) biocultural model of coping adds that children's temperament individual differences also play a role. This implies that additional research is needed on the complex intersections of gender, racial, and cultural identities with experiences of family context and temperament in understanding childevelopment effective dren's and use of coping.

The complex associations among family contextual, individual temperament, and intersecting identities appear essential to understanding how children's coping develops, and importantly, whether coping efforts are effective in supporting positive social, emotional, and behavioral adjustment. This has critical implications for intervention. For younger children, parents can be important sources for learning coping, but the family context of risk and the broader context of economic and/ or racialized stress might impact parents' effectiveness (Anderson et al., 2018), necessitating greater attention to parent well-being, parenting, and coping. In promoting effective coping in older children, addressing issues related to experiences of persistent or uncontrollable risk, as well as racial, ethnic, and gender discrimination is essential, potentially requiring matching of coping strategies to contexts. Beyond encouraging engagement coping over disengagement coping, access to multiple coping strategies and flexibility in use of strategies seems most effective (Parrish et al., 2021). Finally, consideration of children's temperament and tailoring coping strategy use to their characteristic strengths and challenges might enhance the effectiveness of coping interventions (Smith et al., 2022). In sum, interactions and transactions between children's family context and their temperament appear to shape children's coping and have implications for coping effectiveness.

References

- Abaied, J. L. (2010). Socialization of coping with peer victimization and negative emotionality: Interactive contributions to children's responses to stress and depressive symptoms. University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.
- Ahadi, S. A., Rothbart, M. K., & Ye, R. (1993). Children's temperament in the US and China: Similarities and differences. *European Journal of Personality*, 7(5), 359–378. https://doi.org/10 .1002/per.2410070506
- Aldridge, A. A., & Roesch, S. C. (2007). Coping and adjustment in children with cancer: A metaanalytic study. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 30(2), 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9087-y
- Aldridge, A. A., & Roesch, S. C. (2008). Developing coping typologies of minority adolescents:
 A latent profile analysis. *Journal of Adolescence*, *31*(4), 499–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j
 .adolescence.2007.08.005
- Aldwin, C. M. (2007). Stress, coping, & development: An integrative perspective (2nd ed.). Guildford Press.
- Anderson, R. E., McKenny, M., Mitchell, A., Koku, L., & Stevenson, H. C. (2018).
 EMBRacing racial stress and trauma: Preliminary feasibility and coping responses of a racial socialization intervention. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 44(1), 25–46. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0095798417732930
- Arslan, G. (2017). Psychological maltreatment, coping strategies, and mental health problems: A brief and effective measure of psychological maltreatment in adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 68, 96–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .chiabu.2017.03.023
- Bal, S., Van Oost, P., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., & Crombez, G. (2003). Avoidant coping as a mediator between self-reported sexual abuse and

stress-related symptoms in adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 27(8), 883–897. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0145-2134(03)00137-6

- Band, E. B., & Weisz, J. R. (1988). How to feel better when it feels bad: Children's perspectives on coping with everyday stress. *Developmental Psychology*, 24(2), 247–253. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0012-1649.24.2.247
- Blair, K. A., Denham, S. A., Kochanoff, A., & Whipple, B. (2004). Playing it cool: Temperament, emotion regulation, and social behavior in preschoolers. *Journal of School Psychology*, 42(6), 419–443. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.jsp.2004.10.002
- Blanco, M., Sepulveda, A. R., Lacruz, T., Parks, M., Real, B., Martin-Peinador, Y., & Román, F. J. (2017). Examining maternal psychopathology, family functioning and coping skills in childhood obesity: A case-control study. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 25(5), 359–365. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.2527
- Boo, G. M. D., & Spiering, M. (2010). Preadolescent gender differences in associations between temperament, coping, and mood. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 17(4), 313–320. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.664
- Brady, S. S., Gorman-Smith, D., Henry, D. B., & Tolan, P. H. (2008). Adaptive coping reduces the impact of community violence exposure on violent behavior among African American and Latino male adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 36(1), 105–115. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10802-007-9164-x
- Brody, G. H., Kim, S., Murry, V. M., & Brown, A. C. (2003). Longitudinal direct and indirect pathways linking older sibling competence to the development of younger sibling competence. *Developmental Psychology*, 39(3), 618–628. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.39.3.618
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (1997). Sex offenses and offenders: An analysis of data on rape and sexual assault. https://bjs.ojp.gov/library/publications/ sex-offenses-and-offenders-analysis-data-rapeand-sexual-assault
- Burke, J. G., Lee, L. C., & O'Campo, P. (2008). An exploration of maternal intimate partner violence experiences and infant general health

and temperament. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *12*(2), 172–179. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-007-0218-z

- Carothers, K. J., Arizaga, J. A., Carter, J. S., Taylor, J., & Grant, K. E. (2016). The costs and benefits of active coping for adolescents residing in urban poverty. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(7), 1323–1337. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10964-016-0487-1
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies:
 A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267–283. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.2 .267
- Catanzaro, S. J., & Laurent, J. (2004). Perceived family support, negative mood regulation expectancies, coping, and adolescent alcohol use: Evidence of mediation and moderation effects. *Addictive Behaviors*, 29(9), 1779–1797. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2004.04.001
- Chaffin, M., Wherry, J. N., & Dykman, R. (1997). School age children's coping with sexual abuse: Abuse stresses and symptoms associated with four coping strategies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 21(2), 227–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0145-2134(96)00148-2
- Chen, J.-L., & Kennedy, C. (2005). Cultural variations in children's coping behaviour, TV viewing time, and family functioning. *International Nursing Review*, 52(3), 186–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-7657.2005.00419.x
- Chen, N., Deater-Deckard, K., & Bell, M. A. (2014). The role of temperament by family environment interactions in child maladjustment. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 42(8), 1251–1262. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-014-9872-y
- Chen, X., Yang, F., & Fu, R. (2012). Culture and temperament. In M. Zentner & R. L. Shiner (Eds.), *Handbook of temperament* (pp. 462–478). Guilford Press.
- Compas, B. E. (2009). Coping, regulation, and development during childhood and adolescence. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, 2009(124), 87–99. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cd.245

- Compas, B. E., Champion, J. E., Forehand, R., Cole, D. A., Reeslund, K. L., Fear, J., Hardcastle, E. J., Keller, G., Rakow, A., Garai, E., Merchant, M. J., & Roberts, L. (2010).
 Coping and parenting: Mediators of 12-month outcomes of a family group cognitive-behavioral preventive intervention with families of depressed parents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(5), 623–634. https://doi .org/10.1037/a0020459
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Constantine, M. G., Alleyne, V. L., Caldwell, L. D., McRae, M. B., & Suzuki, L. A. (2005). Coping responses of Asian, Black, and Latino/Latina New York City residents following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks against the United States. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *11*(4), 293–308. https://doi .org/10.1037/1099-9809.11.4.293
- Crawford, N. A., Schrock, M., & Woodruff-Borden, J. (2011). Child internalizing symptoms: Contributions of child temperament, maternal negative affect, and family functioning. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 42(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-010-0202-5
- Davé, S., Petersen, I., Sherr, L., & Nazareth, I. (2010). Incidence of maternal and paternal depression in primary care: A cohort study using a primary care database. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 164(11), 1038–1044. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2010.184
- DeCarlo Santiago, C., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2009). Coping with family conflict: What's helpful and what's not for low-income adolescents. *Journal*

of Child and Family Studies, 18(2), 192–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-008-9219-9

- Dempsey, M. (2002). Negative coping as mediator in the relation between violence and outcomes: Inner-city African American youth. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 72(1), 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.72.1.102
- Dollar, J. M., & Stifter, C. A. (2012). Temperamental surgency and emotion regulation as predictors of childhood social competence. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *112*(2), 178–194. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.jecp.2012.02.004
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4757-2677-0_2
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Guthrie, I. K., & Reiser, M. (2000). Dispositional emotionality and regulation: Their role in predicting quality of social functioning. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(1), 136–157. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.1.136
- Eisenberg, N., Valiente, C., & Sulik, M. J. (2009). How the study of regulation can inform the study of coping. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2009(124), 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.244
- Erdem, G., & Slesnick, N. (2010). That which does not kill you makes you stronger: Runaway youth's resilience to depression in the family context. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 80(2), 195–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01023.x
- Ertel, K. A., Rich-Edwards, J. W., & Koenen, K. C. (2011). Maternal depression in the United States: Nationally representative rates and risks. *Journal* of Women's Health, 20(11), 1609–1617. https:// doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2010.2657
- Eschenbeck, H., Schmid, S., Schröder, I.,
 Wasserfall, N., & Kohlmann, C.-W. (2018).
 Development of coping strategies from childhood to adolescence. *European Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1027/2512-8442/a000005

- Evans, G. W., & Kim, P. (2013). Childhood poverty, chronic stress, self-regulation, and coping. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(1), 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12013
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., Ormrod, R., & Hamby, S. L. (2009). Violence, abuse, and crime exposure in a national sample of children and youth. *Pediatrics*, *124*(5), 1411–1423. https://doi .org/10.1542/peds.2009-0467
- Gartstein, M. A., Gonzalez, C., Carranza, J. A., Ahadi, S. A., Ye, R., Rothbart, M. K., & Yang, S. W. (2006). Studying cross-cultural differences in the development of infant temperament: People's Republic of China, the United States of America, and Spain. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, *37*(2), 145–161. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10578-006-0025-6
- Goodkind, S., Ruffolo, M. C., Bybee, D., & Sarri, R. (2009). Coping as a mediator of the effects of stressors and supports on depression among girls in juvenile justice. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, 7(2), 100–118. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1541204008327140
- Goodvin, R., Carlo, G., & Torquati, J. (2006). The role of child emotional responsiveness and maternal negative emotion expression in children's coping strategy use. *Social Development*, *15*(4), 591–611. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-9507.2006.00359.x
- Grant, K. E., Compas, B. E., Stuhlmacher, A. F., Thurm, A. E., McMahon, S. D., & Halpert, J. A. (2003). Stressors and child and adolescent psychopathology: Moving from markers to mechanisms of risk. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(3), 447–466. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.3.447
- Gruhn, M. A., & Compas, B. E. (2020). Effects of maltreatment on coping and emotion regulation in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 103, Article 104446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104446
- Hilt, L. M., Armstrong, J. M., & Essex, M. J. (2012). Early family context and development of adolescent ruminative style: Moderation by temperament. *Cognition & Emotion*, 26(5), 916–926. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2011 .621932

- Holmila, M. J., Itäpuisto, M., & Ilva, M. (2011). Invisible victims or competent agents: Opinions and ways of coping among children aged 12–18 years with problem drinking parents. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 18*(3), 179–186. https://doi.org/10.3109/09687637.2010 .493168
- Holodynski, M., & Friedlmeier, W. (2006).Development of emotions and emotion regulation (Vol. 8). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Hong, R. Y., Lee, S. S. M., Tsai, F.F., Tan, S. H. (2017). Developmental trajectories and origins of a core cognitive vulnerability to internalizing symptoms in middle childhood. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 5(2), 299–315. https://doi .org/10.1177/2167702616679875
- Jaser, S. S., Langrock, A. M., Keller, G., Merchant, M. J., Benson, M. A., Reeslund, K., Champion, J. E., & Compas, B. E. (2005). Coping with the stress of parental depression II: Adolescent and parent reports of coping and adjustment. *Journal* of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology, 34(1), 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp3401_18
- Jenzer, T., Read, J. P., Naragon-Gainey, K., & Prince, M. A. (2019). Coping trajectories in emerging adulthood: The influence of temperament and gender. *Journal of Personality*, 87(3), 607–619. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy .12419
- Kaeppler, C., & Lucier-Greer, M. (2020). Examining impacts of cumulative risk on military-connected youth and the role of family in coping. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 49(4), 581–602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-020-09544-7
- Kashima, Y., Yamaguchi, S., Kim, U., Choi, S. C., Gelfand, M. J., & Yuki, M. (1995). Culture, gender, and self: A perspective from individualism-collectivism research. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 925–937. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5 .925
- Kenny, D. (2000). Psychological foundations of stress and coping: A developmental perspective.In J. G. Carlson, F. J. McGuigan, J. L. Sheppard, & D. T. Kenny (Eds.), *Stress and*

health: Research and clinical applications (pp. 73–104). Gordon Breach/Harwood Academic Publishers.

- Kertz, S. J., Belden, A. C., Tillman, R., & Luby, J. (2016). Cognitive control deficits in shifting and inhibition in preschool age children are associated with increased depression and anxiety over 7.5 years of development. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44(6), 1185–1196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0101-0
- Kiff, C. J., Lengua, L. J., & Zalewski, M. (2011). Nature and nurturing: Parenting in the context of child temperament. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 14(3), 251–301. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10567-011-0093-4
- Kim, P., Neuendorf, C., Bianco, H., & Evans, G. W. (2016). Exposure to childhood poverty and mental health symptomatology in adolescence: A role of coping strategies. *Stress* and Health, 32(5), 494–502. https://doi.org/10 .1002/smi.2646
- Kliewer, W., Parrish, K. A., Taylor, K. W., Jackson, K., Walker, J. M., & Shivy, V. A. (2006). Socialization of coping with community violence: Influences of caregiver coaching, modeling, and family context. *Child Development*, 77(3), 605–623. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00893.x
- Kroll, B. (2004). Living with an elephant: Growing up with parental substance misuse. *Child & Family Social Work*, 9(2), 129–140. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2004.00325.x
- Langrock, A. M., Compas, B. E., Keller, G., Merchant, M. J., & Copeland, M. E. (2002).
 Coping with the stress of parental depression: Parents' reports of children's coping, emotional, and behavioral problems. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *31*(3), 312–324. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3103_03
- Lengua, L. J., Kiff, C., Moran, L., Zalewski, M., Thompson, S., Cortes, R., & Ruberry, E. (2014). Parenting mediates the effects of income and cumulative risk on the development of effortful control. *Social Development*, 23(3), 631–649.
- Lengua, L. J., & Long, A. C. (2002). The role of emotionality and self-regulation in the appraisalcoping process: Tests of direct and moderating

effects. Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 23(4), 471–493. https://doi.org/10 .1016/S0193-3973(02)00129-6

- Lengua, L. J., & Sandler, I. N. (1996). Selfregulation as a moderator of the relation between coping and symptomatology in children of divorce. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 24(6), 681–701. https://doi.org/10 .1007/BF01664734
- Lengua, L. J., & Stormshak, E. A. (2000). Gender, gender roles, and personality: Gender differences in the prediction of coping and psychological symptoms. *Sex Roles*, 43(11), 787–820. https:// doi.org/10.1023/A:1011096604861
- Lengua, L. J., & Wachs, T. D. (2012). Temperament and risk: Resilient and vulnerable responses to adversity. In M. Zentner & R. L. Shiner (Eds.), *Handbook of temperament* (pp. 519–540). Guilford Press.
- Lipari, R. N., & Van Horn, S. L. (2017). Children living with parents who have a substance use disorder. The CBHSQ Report: August 24, 2017. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Rockville, MD.
- MacKenzie, M. J., Kotch, J. B., & Lee, L.-C. (2011). Toward a cumulative ecological risk model for the etiology of child maltreatment. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(9), 1638–1647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth .2011.04.018
- Martinez-Torteya, C., Anne Bogat, G., Von Eye, A., & Levendosky, A. A. (2009). Resilience among children exposed to domestic violence: The role of risk and protective factors. *Child Development*, 80(2), 562–577. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01279.x
- McDonald, S. W., Madigan, S., Racine, N., Benzies, K., Tomfohr, L., & Tough, S. (2019). Maternal adverse childhood experiences, mental health, and child behaviour at age 3: The all our families community cohort study. *Preventive Medicine*, *118*, 286–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .ypmed.2018.11.013
- McGee, Z., Alexander, C., Cunningham, K., Hamilton, C., & James, C. (2019). Assessing the linkage between exposure to violence and

victimization, coping, and adjustment among urban youth: Findings from a research study on adolescents. *Children*, 6(3), Article 36. https://doi .org/10.3390/children6030036

- McLaughlin, K. A., & Lambert, H. K. (2017). Child trauma exposure and psychopathology: Mechanisms of risk and resilience. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 14, 29–34. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.10.004
- Mendes, T. P. G. P., Crespo, C. A. M., & Austin, J. K. (2016). Family cohesion and adaptation in pediatric chronic conditions: The missing link of the family's condition management. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25(9), 2820–2831. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0447-0
- Miller, K. S., Vannatta, K., Compas, B. E., Vasey, M., McGoron, K. D., Salley, C. G., & Gerhardt, C. A. (2009). The role of coping and temperament in the adjustment of children with cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 34(10), 1135–1143. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsp037
- Mogg, K., & Bradley, B. P. (2005). Attentional bias in generalized anxiety disorder versus depressive disorder. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 29(1), 29–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-005-1646y
- Nicolotti, L., El-Sheikh, M., & Whitson, S. M. (2003). Children's coping with marital conflict and their adjustment and physical health: Vulnerability and protective functions. *Journal* of Family Psychology, 17(3), 315–326. https://doi .org/10.1037/0893-3200.17.3.315
- Nigg, J. T. (2006). Temperament and developmental psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3–4), 395–422. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610 .2006.01612.x
- O'Hara, K. L., Sandler, I. N., Wolchik, S. A., & Tein, J.-Y. (2019). Coping in context: The effects of long-term relations between interparental conflict and coping on the development of child psychopathology following parental divorce. *Development and Psychopathology*, 31(5), 1695–1713. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579419000981
- Oláh, A. (1995). Coping strategies among adolescents: A cross-cultural study. *Journal of*

Adolescence, 18(4), 491–512. https://doi.org/10 .1006/jado.1995.1035

- Parrish, K. H., Thompson, S. F., & Lengua, L. J. (2021). Temperament as a moderator of the association of cumulative risk with preadolescent appraisal and coping style. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 34*(5), 513–529. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10615806.2021.1918681
- Paulussen-Hoogeboom, M. C., Stams, G. J. J. M., Hermanns, J. M. A., & Peetsma, T. T. D. (2007). Child negative emotionality and parenting from infancy to preschool: A meta-analytic review. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(2), 438–453. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.2.438
- Persike, M., & Seiffge-Krenke, I. (2012). Competence in coping with stress in adolescents from three regions of the world. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 41(7), 863–879. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10964-011-9719-6
- Rabinowitz, J. A., Osigwe, I., Drabick, D. A. G., & Reynolds, M. D. (2016). Negative emotional reactivity moderates the relations between family cohesion and internalizing and externalizing symptoms in adolescence. *Journal of Adolescence*, 53, 116–126. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2016.09.007
- Reid-Quiñones, K., Kliewer, W., Shields, B. J., Goodman, K., Ray, M. H., & Wheat, E. (2011). Cognitive, affective, and behavioral responses to witnessed versus experienced violence. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 81(1), 51–60. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01071.x
- Rende, R., Slomkowski, C., Lloyd-Richardson, E., & Niaura, R. (2005). Sibling effects on substance use in adolescence: Social contagion and genetic relatedness. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 19(4), 611–618. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.19.4 .611
- Rosario, M., Salzinger, S., Feldman, R. S., & Ng-Mak, D. S. (2003). Community violence exposure and delinquent behaviors among youth: The moderating role of coping. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 31(5), 489–512. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcop.10066
- Rothbart, M. K., & Bates, J. E. (1998).Temperament. In N. Eisenberg (Ed.) & W.Damon (Series Ed.), *Handbook of child*

psychology: Vol. 3. Social, emotional, and personality development (pp. 105–176). Wiley.

- Rothbart, M. K., & Bates, J. E. (2006). Temperament. In N. Eisenberg, W. Damon, & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Social, emotional, and personality development* (pp. 99–166). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Rothbart, M. K., Ellis, L. K., & Posner, M. I. (2011). Temperament and self-regulation. In K. D. Vohs & R. F. Baumeister (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory* and applications (2nd ed., pp. 441–460). The Guildford Press.
- Sameroff, A., & Haith, M. M. (1996). The five to seven year shift: The age of reason and responsibility. University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/1423493
- Sandler, I. N., Kim-Bae, L. S., & MacKinnon, D. (2000). Coping and negative appraisal as mediators between control beliefs and psychological symptoms in children of divorce. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 29(3), 336–347. https://doi.org/10.1207/ S15374424JCCP2903_5
- Santiago, C., Etter, E., Wadsworth, M. E., & Raviv, T. (2012). Predictors of responses to stress among families coping with poverty-related stress. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 25(3), 239–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2011.583347
- Santiago, C. D., Brewer, S. K., Fuller, A. K., Torres, S. A., Papadakis, J. L., & Ros, A. M. (2017). Stress, coping, and mood among Latino adolescents: A daily diary study. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(3), 566–580. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jora.12294
- Seiffge-Krenke, I. (1995). *Stress, coping, and relationships in adolescence* (Research monographs in adolescence). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., Aunola, K., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2009). Changes in stress perception and coping during adolescence: The role of situational and personal factors. *Child Development*, 80(1), 259–279. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2008.01258.x
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Pakalniskiene, V. (2011). Who shapes whom in the family: Reciprocal links

between autonomy support in the family and parents' and adolescents' coping behaviors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(8), 983–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-010-9603-9

- Shapiro, D. L., & Levendosky, A. A. (1999).
 Adolescent survivors of childhood sexual abuse: The mediating role of attachment style and coping in psychological and interpersonal functioning. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(11), 1175–1191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(99)00085-X
- Shelton, K. H., & Harold, G. T. (2008). Pathways between interparental conflict and adolescent psychological adjustment: Bridging links through children's cognitive appraisals and coping strategies. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 28(4), 555–582. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0272431608317610
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0033-2909.129.2.216
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Slagt, M., Dubas, J. S., Deković, M., & van Aken, M. A. G. (2016). Differences in sensitivity to parenting depending on child temperament: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(10), 1068–1110. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000061
- Smith, M. R., Parrish, K. H., Shimomaeda, L., Zalewski, M., Rosen, M. L., Rodman, A., ... & Lengua, L. J. (2022). Early-childhood temperament moderates the prospective associations of coping with adolescent internalizing and externalizing symptoms. Frontiers in psychology, 13.
- Super, C. M., Axia, G., Harkness, S., Welles-Nyström, B., Zylicz, P. O., Parmar, P., Bonichini, S., Bermúdez, M. R., Moscardino, U., Kolar, V., Palacios, J., Eliasz, A., & McGurk, H. (2008). Culture, temperament, and the "difficult child": A study of seven Western

cultures. *European Journal of Developmental Science*, 2(1–2), 136–157.

- Taylor, Z. E., Widaman, K. F., & Robins, R. W. (2018). Longitudinal relations of economic hardship and effortful control to active coping in Latino youth. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 28(2), 396–411. https://doi.org/10 .1111/jora.12338
- Theron, L. C., & Theron, A. (2013). Positive adjustment to poverty: How family communities encourage resilience in traditional African contexts. *Culture & Psychology*, 19(3), 391–413. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354067X13489318
- Thompson, S. F., Lengua, L. J., & Garcia, C. M. (2016). Appraisal and coping as mediators of the effects of cumulative risk on preadolescent adjustment. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25(5), 1416–1429. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10826-015-0338-9
- Thompson, S. F., Zalewski, M., & Lengua, L. J. (2014). Appraisal and coping styles account for the effects of temperament on pre-adolescent adjustment. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(2), 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy .12048
- Tremblay, C., Hébert, M., & Piché, C. (1999). Coping strategies and social support as mediators of consequences in child sexual abuse victims. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(9), 929–945. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0145-2134(99)00056-3
- Trew, J. L. (2011). Exploring the roles of approach and avoidance in depression: An integrative model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(7), 1156–1168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.07 .007
- Tu, K. M., Erath, S. A., & El-Sheikh, M. (2016). Coping responses moderate prospective associations between marital conflict and youth adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30(5), 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000169
- Tung, I., Noroña, A. N., Lee, S. S., Langley, A. K., & Waterman, J. M. (2018). Temperamental sensitivity to early maltreatment and later family cohesion for externalizing behaviors in youth adopted from foster care. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 76, 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu .2017.10.018

- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(2), 96–100. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12112
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Berger, L. E. (2006). Adolescents coping with poverty-related family stress: Prospective predictors of coping and psychological symptoms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 54–67. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10964-005-9022-5
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Compas, B. E. (2002). Coping with family conflict and economic strain: The adolescent perspective. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 12(2), 243–274. https://doi.org/10 .1111/1532-7795.00033
- Walsh, S., Shulman, S., Bar-On, Z., & Tsur, A. (2006). The role of parentification and family climate in adaptation among immigrant adolescents in Israel. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 16(2), 321–350. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00134.x
- Xu, Y., Farver, J. A. M., Chang, L., Yu, L., & Zhang, Z. (2006). Culture, family contexts, and children's coping strategies in peer interactions. In X. Chen, D. C. French, & B. H. Schneider (Eds.), *Peer relationships in cultural context* (pp. 264–280). Cambridge University

Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9780511499739.012

- Yap, M. B. H., Allen, N. B., O'Shea, M., di Parsia, P., Simmons, J. G., & Sheeber, L. (2011). Early adolescents' temperament, emotion regulation during mother-child interactions, and depressive symptomatology. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(1), 267–282. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579410000787
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, resilience, and intervention* (pp. 485–545). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781119125556.devpsy410
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Van Petegem, S., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). Emotion, controllability and orientation towards stress as correlates of children's coping with interpersonal stress. *Motivation and Emotion*, 40(1), 178–191. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11031-015-9520-z

20 Interparental Conflict, Parental Relationship Dissolution, and the Development of Children's Coping

Karey L. O'Hara, Irwin N. Sandler, Sharlene A. Wolchik, and C. Aubrey Rhodes

Introduction

This chapter takes a contextual approach to discussing children's coping with interparental conflict (IPC, i.e., frequent and intense conflict) in the context of parental separation/ divorce. We highlight the importance of identifying the nature of the adversity with which the child is coping and the processes through which children's coping strategies affect adaptation to the adversity. Although we focus on parental separation/divorce, this approach applies to children's coping with other stressors, such as parental bereavement and incarceration. Take-home messages in this chapter are summarized in Table 20.1.

IPC and Parental Separation/Divorce Confer Risk for Children

Many children in the United States and around the world experience the separation

or divorce of their parents. In the United States, an estimated 20 million children under 21 live with a custodial parent while their other parent lives elsewhere (Grall, 2020), and roughly 1 million children experience parental divorce every year (Kreider & Ellis, 2011). Parental separation/divorce and IPC go hand in hand for many families as the dissolution of relationships nearly always involves some degree of conflict. Parents' complicated feelings about the separation/ divorce and their disagreements over a wide range of issues (e.g., parenting time, child support) regarding the reorganization of family life can lead to IPC. Although IPC often diminishes as a function of time after the separation/divorce (Fischer et al., 2005), IPC continues for several years after the separation/divorce for a sizable group (Hetherington & Kelly, 2002; Johnston, 1994; Sbarra & Emery, 2005). A recent study (N = 240) showed that 39% of children were exposed to frequent and intense IPC within 2 years following the divorce (O'Hara et al., 2019). This study found that 62% of the sample had an initially low level of IPC that declined further over the 6-year follow-up. A second group (30% of the sample) had an initial high level of IPC that gradually declined. In contrast, a third group (9% of the sample) also had an initial high level of IPC, but the conflict escalated over the following 6 years.

Karey L. O'Hara's work was supported by a career development award provided by the National Institute of Mental Health (K01MH120321). Irwin N. Sandler's and Sharlene A. Wolchik's work was supported by a grant from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (R01HD094334). C. Aubrey Rhodes' work was supported by a predoctoral fellowship provided by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (T32DA039772). The content is solely the authors' responsibility and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Correspondence should be addressed to klohara@asu.edu.

Table 20.1 Take-home messages in this chapter

- Postdivorce interparental conflict poses a risk to children's development and well-being.
- Coping with interparental conflict is a context-specific and developmentally driven, motivated response to threats to a child's basic psychological needs.
- A contextual coping model provides a framework for studying and understanding children's strategies for coping with postseparation/divorce interparental conflict.
- The proposed contextual coping model posits that coping is influenced by both person-specific and contextual factors, is motivated by threats to basic psychological needs, and involves a combination of appraisals, emotions, and behaviors.
- Multiple intervention targets might strengthen children's ability to cope adaptively with IPC after parental separation/divorce, including helping children articulate adaptive coping goal(s) and identify and then use coping strategies that are likely to reduce the threat to basic need(s) in the situation.

Decades of research show that IPC is one of the leading factors that explains the wellestablished link between parental divorce and an elevated risk for children's maladjustment. Exposure to postseparation/divorce IPC is associated with multiple types of mental health disorders and problems, including depression and anxiety (Amato, 2000; Buchanan et al., 1991; Fauber et al., 1990; Kalmijn, 2016; Kelly, 2000: O'Hara et al., 2019), conduct problems (Amato & Cheadle, 2008: Hetherington et al., 1982; O'Hara et al., 2019), physical health problems (Fabricius & Luecken, 2007), and risky health behaviors (O'Hara et al., 2019; Orgilés et al., 2015). A recent study found that children with trajectories of postdivorce IPC that started high and either increased or decreased gradually over time had greater mental health and substance use problems than those who had continuously low levels of IPC (O'Hara et al., 2019). Even children whose parents had high levels of initial IPC that decreased gradually over time were still 2.7 times as likely to have a mental disorder diagnosis about 6 years later than those whose parents had consistently low levels of IPC. Thus, a high level of IPC soon after the divorce posed risk for children, whether it increased or decreased over time.

An Integrative Conceptualization of Children's Coping with IPC – Contextual Coping Model

Building on multiple models of coping, including transactional (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987), motivational (Skinner & Wellborn, 1994), ecological (Sandler, 2001), developmental (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011), and child/adolescent (Compas et al., 2017) perspectives, we constructed an integrative model focused on children's coping with IPC. Our contextual coping model proposes that coping with IPC is a context-specific and developmentally driven, motivated¹ response to threats to a child's basic psychological needs (see Figure 20.1).

The Coping Process Is an Interplay of Person-Specific and Contextual Factors

The first assumption of the contextual coping model is that coping involves an interplay

¹ We focus on the motivational aspect of coping in response to adverse events. This is broader than Compas et al.'s definition, "Conscious [and] volitional efforts..." (2001, p. 89), because we consider circumstances in which coping strategies are not only planful and conscious, but can be overlearned, automatic, emotion-driven reactions.





Physical Safety, Control, Self-worth, Relatedness, Autonomy, Competence, Emotion regulation

Figure 20.1 Contextual coping model for IPC.

between the individual (e.g., their stage of development) and the situation. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) posited that person-specific and environmental factors interact to set in motion a process that unfolds over time following an encounter with a situational stressor. Sandler (2001) also highlighted the centrality of ecological aspects (e.g., chronicity, predictability, intensity, social context) of adversity in shaping the short- and long-term consequences and the adaptiveness of different coping strategies. For example, distraction may be adaptive to manage affect for acute adversities but may be maladaptive and have serious costs to well-being as an approach to dealing with chronic adversities. Like Lazarus, Sandler posits that ecological and qualitative features of adversity exert their effects through subjective appraisals, which in turn impact the child's emotional and behavioral response to the adversity. Drawing on these models, we argue that understanding a child's coping with IPC requires special attention to ecological aspects of the IPC itself (e.g., chronicity, controllability, predictability, and intensity), in addition to the child's characteristics (e.g., developmental level) and social resources (e.g., perceived support).

The Coping Process Is Motivated by Threats to Basic Psychological Needs

The second assumption of the contextual coping model is that coping behavior is motivated by stressful events that threaten basic psychological needs. Skinner and Welborn's (1994) motivational model is rooted in the assumption that people have three basic psychological needs, including *relatedness*, or "the need to have close relationships with other people"; *competence*, or "the need to be adaptive in interactions with the environment"; and *autonomy*, or "the need to freely determine one's course of action" (Skinner & Welborn,

1994, p. 103). Stressful events are appraised as threatening or damaging to these psychological needs. Neglect threatens the need for relatedness, chaos threatens the need for competence, and coercion threatens the need for autonomy. Sandler (2001) applies the concept of competence differently to refer to accomplishing developmental tasks that enable successful enactment of social roles (e.g., academic, peer) in the face of adversity. From this perspective, coping with a stressor (e.g., IPC) that threatens one basic psychological need (e.g., relationship with one or both parents) may have consequences that undermine developmental competencies (e.g., academic or social). There may also be developmental differences in salient motivational needs and developmental tasks. In addition, we argue that emotion regulation to avoid overwhelming negative affect is a basic psychological need often threatened by IPC. For example, children often report feeling intense anger and anxiety when parents fight or argue (Cummings & Davies, 2010). Chronic emotional dysregulation puts children at risk for a host of negative outcomes (Zeman et al., 2006).

The Coping Process Involves Appraisals, Emotions, and Behaviors

The third assumption of the contextual coping model is that coping is a complex process that involves cognitive appraisals, subjective emotions, and regulatory behaviors. In line with Lazarus' model (2006), the contextual model posits that the coping process involves primary appraisal of the stressful situation (i.e., is it threatening to basic psychological needs?) and secondary appraisals about response options (i.e., what cognitive and behavioral coping strategies can I use?) to deal adaptively with the stressor, and, finally, an appraisal of their effectiveness (i.e., which strategy is most

Selection of Coping Strategies

The fourth assumption of the contextual coping model is that coping involves selecting strategies that align with one's motivation to fulfill basic psychological needs. Compas defined coping as volitional, rather than automatic, responses to stressful situations and developed a multidimensional model of responses to stress that highlights the role of control in the face of stressful events (e.g., Compas et al., 1991, 1997, 1999; Connor-Smith et al., 2000; Rothbaum et al., 1982). Coping behaviors are seen as motivated, purposeful, and conscious attempts to either change the situation or one's emotional reaction to it (i.e., primary control coping), adapt to the situation (i.e., secondary control coping), or avoid the situation (i.e., disengagement coping) (Connor-Smith et al., 2000). Lazarus and colleagues described coping strategies in terms of their functions to manage negative emotions (i.e., emotion-focused coping) or to solve the problem at hand (i.e., problem-focused coping) (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987). In later writings, Lazarus (2006) urged readers not to view emotionfocused and problem-focused coping as distinct and orthogonal options for managing stressful conditions but rather to consider multiple interacting coping strategies as they function to help the individual adapt to a stressful situation. This view highlights that individuals may use multiple coping strategies across time and that these coping strategies can complement, compensate for, or even counteract one another. Importantly, the use of certain coping

strategies may change throughout development as the child can view the stressor from different perspectives and has more sources of support (i.e., peers or adults beyond the family) and as they learn from prior experiences in using different coping strategies.

493

Applying the Contextual Coping Model to Understand Adaptive Coping

Adaptive coping involves regulating behavior. emotion, and future orientation to reduce threats to basic psychological needs in the face of a stressful situation. According to Sandler (2001), the adaptiveness of coping strategies in any given situation depends on whether they reduce a threat to basic psychological needs. However, adaptiveness of coping is complex because reducing a threat to a basic psychological need in the short term may or may not be adaptive in terms of the long-term satisfaction of needs, achievement of developmental competencies, or mental health. Also, multiple needs may be threatened by IPC, and which psychological needs are most salient may vary across development. For example, younger children are more likely to report fears of abandonment by one or both parents in response to postdivorce IPC than older children (O'Hara et al., 2021). Older children can understand the causes of IPC and thus interpret conflict in conceptually more complex ways than younger children, resulting in them attributing less self-blame for the conflict than younger children (Cummings et al., 1991; Grych, 1998). Salient developmental tasks (e.g., autonomy) and the resources for satisfying these tasks (e.g., social support from parents, peers, or other adults) also have implications for the nature and degree of threat children experience from IPC.

We posit two other key elements are required to understand a child's ability to cope adaptively with IPC, including their: (1) level of perceived coping efficacy and (2) degree of coping flexibility. Coping efficacy reflects one's perceptions of how well coping strategies worked in past situations and how well they are likely to work in future situations (Sandler et al., 2000) and has been found to mediate the effect of coping strategies on children's mental health problems after divorce (Sandler et al., 2000). In the context of IPC, a child may reflect that leaving the house to be with friends worked well to help them feel safe and calm during their parents' last argument, thereby reducing the extent to which the argument threatened their physical and emotional safety. Given that experience, when thinking about the future, they are likely to feel ready and equipped to handle future instances of IPC, an indication of high coping efficacy. Another child may recall that when they tried to intervene in their parents' last argument, it led to both parents yelling at them to stay out of it; they are likely to feel a low level of coping efficacy. They may believe that maintaining a sense of relatedness to both parents in the face of their ongoing argument feels impossible. Certain coping strategies may increase coping efficacy in the short term but may have longterm costs. For example, supporting one parent during the conflict may make a child feel close to that parent in the moment (i.e., reducing the threat to relatedness) but could have the long-term cost of impairing the child's ability to accomplish developmentally appropriate tasks over time (e.g., such as developing strong peer relationships, academic achievement, healthy romantic attachments). It is important to note that the way children make judgments about coping efficacy changes across development as they acquire skills to problem-solve the possible consequences of different coping strategies and the metacognitive skills to consider different perspectives on the situation, think about long-term consequences, and reflect on their thoughts and

emotions (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011).

Coping flexibility captures the variability with which individuals deploy different coping strategies depending on the situation. Coping flexibility was found in a meta-analysis to generally be a strong predictor of psychological adjustment (Cheng et al., 2014). Coping flexibility requires a particular mindset and sufficient resources. The foundation of highly flexible coping is an optimistic, confident, and "up for the challenge" attitude (Bonanno, 2021). It also requires that a child have various coping strategy options at their disposal (i.e., "repertoire"; Bonanno, 2021) to fulfill the most salient need or needs threatened by the IPC event. In other words, coping flexibility enables a needs-based coping response given the specifics of the situation. During exposure to IPC, a child might be particularly motivated to reduce a threat to their need for relatedness and take sides with one parent to protect their relationship. Or they may feel a strong need to reduce a threat to their emotional safety by engaging in a calming activity, trying to stop the conflict, or removing themselves from the situation. Alternatively, as they can think about the situation from multiple perspectives and observe their own thoughts and emotions, they may reappraise the conflict as something that they cannot control and actively seek to pursue their own developmentally appropriate tasks. In using these strategies, the child is striving to reduce the threat to the most salient need in the situation. As the child acquires more coping strategies in their repertoire, they can "make the best bargain" when there are competing needs in the situation. For example, in middle childhood, a child may be able to avoid the situation where conflict is most likely to occur but may continue to worry about the security of their relationship with one or both parents. In adolescence, they may be able to take multiple perspectives on the conflict and be aware that their parents' conflict does not reflect on their relationship with their parents and that they cannot control how their parents feel about each other. Concurrently, IPC can threaten a child's need for relatedness by arousing fears of abandonment or loyalty conflicts between two loved caregivers and undermine self-worth and/or sense of control in a difficult situation. Coping strategies that satisfy one basic psychological need may ignore or even exacerbate threats to another.

Coping flexibility requires skills that increase with development. As children accumulate experiences, their coping repertoire expands, and they gain an increased understanding of the nuances and complexities of different situations. Indeed, some studies have found that coping flexibility increases between childhood and early adolescence. However, some studies find that aging may also be associated with increased reliance on "tried and true" strategies that have been perceived to work in the past (see related discussion in Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Coping flexibility requires that the child be skilled in evaluating the situation (i.e., "context sensitivity"; Bonanno, 2021), recalling past experiences with similar stressors, and selecting among coping strategies available based on their costs and benefits. For example, when parents are arguing loudly, children may select several coping strategies (yell at parents to stop fighting, close their door and distract themselves with another activity, go to a friend's house, etc.). Their selection depends on their evaluation of what is possible (Can they leave the house? Will closing the door drown out the argument?) and how well each strategy has worked in the past. They may also weigh their choices knowing that although each option may decrease the threat to one need, it may come at the cost of a different need, thus highlighting the requirement to evaluate the most salient need in the situation.

For example, leaving the house may increase a sense of control but come with the consequence of threatening their relationship with one or both parents. Finally, coping flexibility requires that children monitor the outcomes of their coping strategies and be able to abandon strategies that were ineffective in the past (i.e., "feedback monitoring"; Bonanno, 2021). Perhaps they remember that when they intervened in the IPC (i.e., interrupted an explosive phone call between their parents by getting very upset), it escalated the situation (i.e., parents started yelling at them in addition to each other). Hence, they decide to stay out of the IPC this time.

Children's flexible coping is also shaped by personal and social factors that facilitate or impede the acquisition or use of different coping strategies across situations. As noted by Skinner and Zimmer-Gembeck (2007), a child's coping strategies in any given situation are influenced by the social context (e.g., whether the environment is supportive vs. neglectful, whether parents are supportive of adaptive or maladaptive coping), individual self-system processes (e.g., perceived control, attachment, and autonomy), and the child's emotional, attentional, and behavioral capacities, which change across time due to developmental maturity. A child's coping repertoire and habits are shaped by support from coaching or modeling by parents, family members, other supportive adults, and peers (Kliewer et al., 1994). For example, in a sample of over 300 children, children's coping efforts were associated with parents' modeling of coping and recommendations for coping (Kliewer et al., 1996). Coping strategies are also influenced by temperamental differences (e.g., positive or negative affectivity). For example, children higher in negative emotionality endorsed higher levels of both active and avoidant coping behaviors whereas children higher in positive emotionality endorsed higher use of active coping behaviors (Lengua et al., 1999).

The capacity to use certain coping strategies (e.g., support-seeking from peers, cognitive distraction; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007) and deploy strategies that are likely to be effective in a particular situation improves across development (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner Skinner, 2011). and Zimmer-Gembeck highlighted that the coordination of systems influences the development of children's coping for regulating emotion, attention, and behavior and is related to the child's social, cognitive, and emotional capacities and an expanding repertoire of possible coping strategies across developmental stages. In their review of nearly 60 studies of children's coping, they found that coping capacities and deployment of situation-specific coping strategies increased as a function of age (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). For example, as children age, they shift from parent-supported coping to a higher degree of self-reliance, from action-focused problemsolving to purposeful planning of problemsolving options, and from primary reliance on behavioral coping strategies to include cognitive strategies as well (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). In addition, the child's options for coping strategies may change as they gain more independence. For example, adolescents may be better able to regulate their exposure to IPC events by spending more time away from home when IPC occurs or is likely to occur, versus younger children who may not have such agency (Goeke-Morey et al., 2013).

Viewing Children's Responses to Postseparation/divorce IPC through a Coping Lens

Our contextual approach to understanding children's coping with IPC integrates prevailing models of children's coping and two

predominant theoretical frameworks for understanding children's responses to IPC the emotional security theory (EST; Cummings & Davies, 2010) and cognitive contextual framework (CCF; Grych & Fincham, 1990). Although they have slightly different foci, both models characterize how IPC threatens children's basic psychological needs. The EST posits that emotional security, or a felt sense of protection, safety, and security in family relationships, is the core psychological need threatened by exposure to unresolved and destructive IPC. In turn, threats to a child's emotional security drive their emotional, cognitive, and behavioral responses to conflict. These responses may serve to restore a sense of security in the short term but have negative effects on mental health in the long term. The CCF, on the other hand, highlights the role of children's appraisals in processing the IPC and shaping coping strategies. The child perceiving the IPC as negative, threatening, and self-relevant sets in motion appraisals about who is to blame, what the consequences may be, and whether they will be able to handle the resultant stress. In our contextual coping model, both cognitive and emotional responses to IPC are critical drivers of the child's coping strategies. For example, children who blame themselves for IPC or fear deleterious outcomes, such as physical or emotional harm to oneself or loved ones, may be most likely to engage in maladaptive coping strategies, such as trying to control a situation beyond their control.

Prior Research on Children's Coping with IPC

The contextual coping model provides a useful framework for empirically evaluating children's coping with IPC. Next, we describe examples of qualitative and quantitative studies that used a contextual approach to examine children's coping with and adaptation to IPC.

Qualitative Research

A qualitative study by Miller and his colleagues (2017) used a social information processing framework adapted from research on child coping with peer conflict (Crick & Dodge, 1994) to study children's coping with IPC. They posited that children are motivated to achieve multiple goals following exposure to IPC and that they use multiple coping strategies to try to accomplish each of their goals. Through the lens of our contextual model, a coping goal is another way to conceptualize a child's motivation to reduce threats to basic psychological needs. Miller and his colleagues interviewed 50 preadolescents from divorced families to ascertain their goals and coping strategies following IPC. They identified 10 goals (e.g., solve the problem, distract oneself, maintain relationships or self-boundaries, regulate emotions, help others) and found that children typically used four or more coping strategies for each goal. Illustratively, emotion regulation (reducing negative affect or increasing positive affect) was the most common goal, and children described multiple coping strategies (e.g., distraction, avoidance, seeking assistance) for achieving this goal. They also reported that coping strategies were often used to accomplish multiple goals. For example, seeking assistance was the most common strategy, and it was used to satisfy multiple goals, including social support, emotion regulation, and problem-solving. Finally, they found that the degree of match between children's goals and coping strategies varied across goals. Children with the goal of problem-solving used active coping strategies 33% of the time, whereas those with the goal to disengage used avoidance strategies 44% of the time, and those with a goal of distraction used distraction strategies 67% of the time. This qualitative study richly illustrates how children use multiple coping strategies to accomplish various goals as they cope with postdivorce IPC.

Quantitative Research

Profile and cluster analysis approaches provide useful quantitative methods to studying children's coping following IPC (Davies & Forman, 2002; Fosco & Bray, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2009). These methods are distinct from approaches that assess the relations between single-threat appraisals or coping strategies and outcomes. Profile and cluster analyses assume that children can be characterized by the multiple appraisals, coping strategies, and emotions involved in responding to IPC. Researchers have used this approach to identify profiles that characterize individuals' responses to IPC and study how profiles are differentially related to children's outcomes. In one study, researchers assessed how adolescents from married and divorced families felt threatened, at fault, and caught in the middle of their parents' conflict (Fosco & Bray, 2016). They observed three categories of appraisals to IPC including threat (i.e., worries about the implications of parental conflict, e.g., "something bad will happen" or "they will yell at me too"), self-blame (e.g., "it is usually my fault when my parents argue"), and triangulation (feeling involved in, caught in the middle of, or drawn into the conflict, e.g., "When my parents argue I end up getting involved somehow"). Their latent profile analysis resulted in five profiles. Three had distinct combinations of appraisals (Threat-Self-blame; Threat-Triangulation; Self-blame-Triangulation). The fourth profile was characterized by low levels of all three appraisals whereas the fifth profile was characterized by high levels of all three appraisals. Adolescents who reported high levels of all three appraisals reported the highest emotional distress, behavior problems, and academic impairment. In line with prior research (Grych et al., 2003), those with elevated self-blame showed greater behavior problems, whereas those with elevated threat showed greater emotional distress.

Davies and Forman (2002) identified patterns of appraisals, emotional responses, and coping strategies in response to IPC that reflected different ways children preserve their sense of emotional security in the family. They found that the largest group of children, classified as "secure," showed low levels of emotional distress, reported few hostile and threatening appraisals (i.e., negative consequences for their family or concern that conflicts will negatively impact them or their relationships with parents), and did not rigidly regulate their exposure to their parents' affect (i.e., either through extreme involvement or avoidance). They also evidenced the lowest levels of internalizing and externalizing problems. The two other groups displayed "insecure" patterns of responding to IPC. In both groups, children exhibited high levels of emotional distress, threat appraisals, avoidance, and involvement, but the "insecure-preoccupied" group showed behavioral signs of emotional distress and reported high levels of subjective emotional distress, whereas the "insecure-dismissing" group showed only behavioral signs of emotional distress. These patterns were differentially related to children's mental health; those in the "preoccupied" group showed higher internalizing problems, whereas those in the "dismissing" group showed higher externalizing problems.

These studies highlight that children use multiple coping strategies to achieve a variety of goals in the context of exposure to IPC and coping behavior is motivated by a complex set of cognitive appraisals and emotional experiences that vary between individuals. Children who react to IPC events with relatively low emotional distress, few threat and/or selfblame appraisals, and flexible behavioral responses are most likely to adjust well after exposure to IPC.

New Research on Children's Coping with Postdivorce IPC

We built on previous research, which focused primarily on how children generally coped with exposure to conflict over a specified time period, by studying coping with specific postdivorce IPC situations. Illuminating a situational understanding of how children cope with IPC can help us understand the nuances of children's cognitive, emotional, and behavioral responses.

These analyses are based on our contextual coping model outlined in Figure 20.1. Specifically, we first identified groups of children who used different profiles of coping with a postdivorce IPC event. We then studied path models linking ecological factors of IPC to profiles of coping through threat appraisals and emotional responses to IPC. Finally, we tested coping profiles as moderators of prospective relations between IPC exposure over the last month and outcomes a year later. Although these analyses were largely exploratory, based on our contextual coping model, we expected that children exposed to more frequent and intense IPC would be more likely to report high threat appraisal and distress in response to IPC events, which would, in turn, influence their selection of coping strategies (i.e., their profile of coping).

Our sample consisted of 126 children ages 9–12 from divorced families who reported experiencing at least 1 of 11 IPC events (e.g., parents argued in front of you, Mom said bad things about Dad) in the last month. These data were from a larger intervention study (Wolchik et al., 2000); we controlled for intervention condition in analyses. At baseline, the most How much did you...

- 1. Try to make the situation better?
- 2. Think of things to handle the situation?
- 3. Try to think about it positively?
- 4. Try to keep from thinking about it?
- 5. Think about how much it was up to you to make the situation better?
- 6. Try to calm yourself down?
- 7. Try to tell other you felt?

Note: Response options: (1) not at all, (2) a little, (3) somewhat, (4) a lot.

common IPC events were hearing one parent badmouth the other parent (54%) and witnessparents arguing (29.4%). Children ing described how they coped with one IPC event (randomly selected for children who reported on coping with two IPC events) using an abbreviated version of the Children's Coping Strategies Checklist (Avers et al., 1996), which included seven coping strategies, such as how much they tried to make the situation better and how much they tried to calm themselves (see Table 20.2). Children selected all the coping strategies they used. They also rated their cognitive response to the event (i.e., threat appraisals of harm to others, rejection by others, negative evaluation, criticism of others, negative self-evaluation, and loss of valued objects) as well as their emotional response (i.e., upsetness) and perceived coping efficacy related to the event. Additional measures included children's report of the frequency and intensity of IPC in the past month, global coping efficacy, and self-worth, and children's and mothers' reports of developmental competencies and parent-child relationship quality (Table 20.3).

Profiles of Coping with IPC

Latent profile analysis was used to identify subgroups of children with different coping profiles. The best solution identified four distinct profiles from baseline reports of coping strategies used in response to a specific IPC event (see Figure 20.2). The profile that represented the largest proportion (39% of the sample) was characterized by low-frequency use of all coping strategies (Low Copers). Two profiles included children who had reported high levels of multiple coping strategies. However, these groups differed in whether they believed that it was up to them to make the situation better. One group did not feel it was up to them to improve the IPC situation (32% of the sample; High Copers -Low Obligation) whereas the other felt it was up to them to make the situation better (21%)of the sample; *High Copers – High Obligation*). The least common profile (13% of the sample)was characterized by moderate use of most coping strategies, including direct problemsolving, cognitive decision-making, and optimism but relatively low use of self-calming (Moderate Copers – Low Calming). These profiles show that children can be grouped by the number and types of coping strategies they employ to deal with IPC and their sense of obligation to make the situation better.

Coping Profile Differences on IPC Exposure, Level of Threat, and Distress and Coping Efficacy

We first tested differences among the profiles in IPC exposure, and perceived treat and distress to the IPC event. Children in the *Low Copers* profile reported the lowest frequency and intensity of past-month exposure to IPC and felt least threatened and distressed by the IPC event. Conversely, children in the *High Copers – High Obligation* profile reported higher levels of exposure to IPC, perceived threat, and distress than the children in the *Low Copers* profile (IPC and distress) and the *High Copers – Low Obligation* profile (perceived threat).

499

Table 20.3 Study measures

Construct	Measure	Items	Example item	Assessment
1. Cognitive response to IPC event	Threat and Worry Appraisal Scale (Sheets et al., 1996)	6	I thought someone I like didn't care about me.	Baseline
2. Emotional response to IPC event	Distress rating	1	How upset were you?	Baseline
3. Coping efficacy for IPC event	Coping Efficacy Scale (Sandler et al., 2000)	4	How satisfied I am with the way I handled the situation.	Baseline
4. IPC frequency and intensity	Children's Perception of Interparental Conflict Scale (Grych et al., 1992)	13	My parents argue/disagree a lot. My parents get really mad when arguing.	Baseline
5. Global coping efficacy	Coping Efficacy Scale (Sandler et al., 2000)	7	Overall, how good do you think you will be at making things better when problems come up in the future?	Baseline; 12-month follow-up
6. Academic competencies and peer relationships	Coatsworth Competence Scale (Coatsworth & Sandler, 1993)	18	Your teachers said you did good work; You had a lot of friends.	6-month follow-up
7. Self-worth	Self-Perception Profile for Children (Harter, 1995)	6	I'm more like [first or second statement] some kids are happy with themselves; others are not happy.	12-month follow-up
8. Parent-child relationship quality	Adapted Children's Report of Parenting Behavior Inventory; Acceptance and Rejection subscales (Schaefer, 1965; Teleki et al., 1982)	20	Mom sees your good points more than your faults; Mom isn't very patient with you.	12-month follow-up



Figure 20.2 Profiles of coping with IPC events. *Note:* IPC = interparental conflict; Strategy Use, 1 (*not at all*), 4 (*a lot*).

We also assessed whether coping profiles were associated with coping efficacy concurrently (i.e., situational coping efficacy for the IPC event) and over time (i.e., global coping efficacy; all stressors; 12-month follow-up). We found that children in the High Copers -High Obligation profile had the highest concurrent situational coping efficacy, significantly higher than children in all other profiles. Follow-up analyses showed that this effect was largely driven by one situational coping efficacy item, which assessed how the coping strategies they used worked to help them feel better. Children in the High Copers - Low Obligation profile had the highest global coping efficacy a year later, significantly higher than those in the Low Copers profile and marginally higher than those in the High Copers - High Obligation profile. Thus, the extent to which the child feels obligated to improve the IPC situation may influence their coping with IPC differentially in the short and long term. Although feeling obligated to improve the IPC situation may help a child feel better in the short term (perhaps by meeting the proximal need for perceived control),

in the long term, using multiple coping strategies but not feeling obligated to make the IPC situation better is associated with a greater sense that one can handle the stressors they experience. These results are consistent with the contextual coping model, which predicts that profiles of coping with IPC are associated with coping efficacy and that certain strategies may have different short- and long-term effects.

Finally, we analyzed whether indirect effects linked IPC and certain coping profiles through the threat appraisals and distress level the child experienced in response to the IPC event (see Figure 20.3). We found that more frequent and intense IPC during the past month significantly predicted higher threat and more distress in response to the specific IPC event. Higher threat significantly increased the odds that children were in a profile distinguished as moderate or high in coping responses (i.e., Moderate Copers, High Copers - Low Obligation, or High Copers – High Obligation profiles versus the Low Copers profile). In contrast, higher levels of distress significantly increased the odds that children would be in



Figure 20.3 Indirect effects.

Note: CPIC = Children's Perception of Interparental Conflict Scale (frequency, intensity subscales); event = IPC event. Profile 1 (Low Copers) is the reference group.

the *High Copers – Low Obligation* profile versus the *Low Copers* profile. These results are consistent with our contextual coping model that predicts ecological factors (in this case, the frequency and intensity of prior exposure to IPC) influence a child's cognitive and emotional responses to a specific stressful event, which in turn predict their coping strategies with that event.

Interaction Effects of IPC and Coping Profiles on Children's Outcomes

To examine whether ecological factors of IPC interacted with coping profiles to predict adjustment outcomes prospectively, we conducted moderation analyses. In these analyses, we assessed whether profiles of coping moderated the relation between exposure to frequent and intense IPC and a variety of children's outcomes a year later, including self-worth, developmental competence, and the quality of the child's relationship with their mother (children in this sample lived primarily with their mothers). We found that children who were exposed to frequent and intense IPC and were in the High Copers – High Obligation profile had lower levels of selfworth (self-report) and competence (self- and mother-report) a year later, controlling for their initial levels of self-worth and competence, as compared to children in the Low Copers profile. Conversely, children exposed to frequent and intense IPC and in the High Copers - High Obligation profile had higherquality relationships with their mother than children in the Low Copers and the High Copers – Low Obligation profiles, according to both children's and mothers' reports. It may be that feeling obligated to make the situation better led them to side with their mother and reduce threat to their need for a close relationship with her. These results are consistent with our contextual coping model that proposes that ecological factors of the IPC influence how a child copes, which predicts the Overall, results suggest that feeling obligated to improve the situation may be an important aspect of coping with postdivorce IPC. Children who reported feeling obligated to make the IPC situation better (i.e., *High Copers – High Obligation* profile) had the highest level of exposure to frequent and intense IPC in the past month and reported the highest level of threat to the specific IPC event. Although these children reported high coping efficacy in the short term, they were more likely than other children to report lower general coping efficacy, self-worth, and competence, but a higher quality mother–child relationship a year later.

It is important to acknowledge that these analyses are largely exploratory and have their limitations, including a relatively small sample, the use of some measures that were abbreviated adaptation of more comprehensive measures, and the lack of assessing change in children's cognitive, emotional, and behavioral responses to IPC events over developmental periods. However, these exploratory analyses illustrate one way of using a contextual approach to analyze data on children's coping with IPC. The results illustrate several important issues. One is that low use of coping strategies may not reflect a low capacity for coping but may reflect low levels of stressful events and perceived threat to basic needs, as illustrated by Zimmer-Gembeck and colleagues (2013). Second, the differences observed between children with a high versus low perceived obligation to make an IPC situation better, who were otherwise similar in their high use of various coping strategies, indicate that a difference in appraisal may affect the adaptiveness of their coping strategies. These analyses also highlight the importance of accounting for the complexity of children's multiple coping strategies and studying both short-term and long-term outcomes associated with different coping profiles.

Directions for Future Research

There are two main directions for using a contextual approach to advance our understanding of children's coping with IPC. First, it is critical to conduct generative research that tests theoretical propositions outlined in this chapter and prior literature (e.g., Sandler, 2001; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Much of the research on children's coping has focused on broad domains of strategies (e.g., avoidant coping, active coping), leaving us with little knowledge about which patterns or profiles of strategies children employ in specific situations (Compas et al., 2017) and which strategies are associated with more adaptive short- and long-term outcomes. There is a growing body of theoretical work on the developmental course of coping (e.g., increasing capacity for planful problemsolving and use of cognitive strategies to reappraise or distract; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011) but as noted by Compas et al. (2017), the field lacks critical information on longitudinal effects of coping across developmental periods. Leveraging intensive longitudinal data collection methods (e.g., ecological momentary assessment; Mehl & Conner, 2011) may be particularly useful to furthering our understanding of coping patterns and situational use of coping strategies in children's daily lives.

Second, it is important to apply the contextual coping model to optimize and evaluate coping interventions for children who experience postseparation/divorce IPC. A few childfocused coping interventions have been shown to reduce children's postdivorce mental health

503

problems (e.g., Boring et al., 2015; Pedro-Carroll & Cowen, 1985; Stolberg & Garrison, 1985), but none has tested program effects for children who experience high postseparation/ divorce IPC. The contextual coping model can be used to develop and test adaptations of these programs to target the needs of this high-risk subgroup. In tests of intervention effects, it will be important to examine whether modifying children's coping strategies in response to IPC events reduces threats to children's basic psychological needs, improves their coping efficacy, reduces mental health problems, and improves competence.

A Contextual Coping Approach to Intervention

The contextual coping model suggests that multiple intervention targets might strengthen children's ability to cope adaptively with IPC after parental separation/divorce. Most existing interventions teach children various specific coping strategies with the assumption that children will apply those strategies as needed given a particular situation. Indeed, some strategies may be robustly effective across situations whereas others may be helpful in one situation but counterproductive in another (e.g., direct problem-solving of controllable versus uncontrollable stressors). In the context of postseparation/divorce IPC, helping children distinguish between controllable and uncontrollable stressors is critical. As the analyses we have presented illustrate, when children engaged in high coping levels and believed it was up to them to make an IPC situation better (i.e., high obligation), they reported higher situational coping efficacy in the short term but lower global coping efficacy a year later. Teaching the reappraisal we call "not my job" can help children remind themselves that IPC is not their job to fix. This reappraisal may help children figure out which coping strategy can help by addressing the problem in other ways than trying to fix the conflict. Although they do not have the power (and it is not their job) to stop their parents' conflict, they can control other aspects of the situation. For example, regulating their emotions by calming down in the moment may help them select other coping strategies that minimize additional exposure to the conflict, like taking a walk or listening to music.

As articulated in our contextual coping model, coping strategies are driven by the overarching goal of reducing threats to one's basic needs. And, as we have already discussed, coping with IPC often involves making trade-offs among reducing threats to different basic psychological needs (e.g., control vs. relatedness). The key to selecting the most helpful coping strategy is identifying the most important need and allocating resources to reduce its threat. Although children may not be able to articulate the basic psychological need that is being threatened, they can identify their coping goals (Miller et al., 2017), which can be seen as a manifestation of children's motivation to reduce threats to basic psychological needs. Thus, interventions should focus first on helping children articulate adaptive coping goal(s) and then help them identify and use coping strategies that are likely to reduce the threat to basic need(s) in the situation (i.e., situation-strategy fit). When children set adaptive, achievable goals that are personally valued, their coping strategies are more likely to succeed, and the positive feedback they receive will increase their coping efficacy. Similarly, when children appraise that those unachievable goals (e.g., reduce their parents' conflict) are not their job, they may experience a sense of efficacy even though conflict persists. Having children identify their goal (e.g., feel better) and the strategies they can use to accomplish it (e.g., talking to a friend) provides a useful framework to teach children to appraise how well their coping strategies are working and the potential need to try something different. It is important to note that the strategies children use for coping with stressful events, including with IPC, are likely overpracticed and thus may not be easily modifiable without extensive practice. With practice, children will develop a toolbox of coping strategies and learn to choose strategies that work, discard ones that do not work, and choose among their options as needed (i.e., coping flexibility). It is important that coping interventions are tailored to children's developmental stage. For example, strategies for self-calming may be appropriate across development, although the specific methods used likely differ. Reducing adolescents' sense of obligation to reduce parental conflict may employ more cognitively sophisticated approaches that include understanding the perspective of others but may involve the simple direction to remember that it is "not your job" for preadolescents.

Another implication of the contextual coping model relevant to intervention is that children use multiple coping strategies in response to IPC. When they are effective, these coping strategies likely work in tandem to reduce the threat posed by the conflict. For example, positive reappraisal, distraction, and avoidance may be helpful coping strategies to reduce negative affect when followed by effective problem-solving of ways to reduce exposure to the IPC or maintain ties to one or both parents. Coping interventions may need to go beyond teaching single strategies and instead focus on the use of multiple strategies to address the specific needs that the IPC threatens. For example, children may be taught first to help themselves calm down by using breathing techniques, then pause to notice what they are feeling, appraise whether the situation is their job to fix, and identify their coping goal(s). Then, children can

practice generating possible solutions, and deploying the coping strategy(ies) most likely to help.

Summary

We described a contextual coping model that synthesizes multiple theoretical approaches to understanding children's coping with IPC. This model posits that coping with IPC is a contextspecific and developmentally driven, motivated response to threats to a child's basic psychological needs. The process underlying children's coping, which unfolds over time, comprises cognitive appraisals, emotional reactions, and coping strategies in response to the IPC event. Coping is influenced by aspects of the IPC event itself and the individual and social resources available to the child. We illustrated the value of this contextual approach by describing a study of children's coping with postseparation/divorce IPC. Finally, we described implications for interventions to help children cope with IPC after separation/divorce.

References

- Amato, P. R. (2000). The consequences of divorce for adults and children. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62(4), 1269–1287. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01269.x
- Amato, P., & Cheadle, J. (2008). Parental divorce, marital conflict and children's behavior problems: A comparison of adopted and biological children. *Social Forces*, 86(3), 1139–1161. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.0.0025
- Ayers, T. S., Sandler, I. N., West, S. G., & Roosa, M. W. (1996). A dispositional and situational assessment of children's coping: Testing alternative models of coping. *Journal of Personality*, 64(4), 923–958. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00949.x
- Bonanno, G. A. (2021). *The end of trauma: How the new science of resilience is changing how we think about PTSD.* Basic Books.

- Boring, J. L., Sandler, I. N., Tein, J.-Y., Horan, J. J., & Vélez, C. E. (2015). Children of divorce – coping with divorce: A randomized control trial of an online prevention program for youth experiencing parental divorce. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 83(5), 999–1005. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039567
- Buchanan, C. M., Maccoby, E. E., & Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Caught between parents: Adolescents' experience in divorced homes. *Child Development*, 62(5), 1008–1029. https://doi .org/10.2307/1131149
- Cheng, C., Lau, H.-P. B., & Chan, M.-P. S. (2014). Coping flexibility and psychological adjustment to stressful life changes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(6), 1582–1607. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037913
- Coatsworth, D., & Sandler, I. N. (1993). Multi-rater measurement of competence in children of divorce.
 Paper presented at the biennial conference of the Society for Community Research and Action, Williamsburg, VA.
- Compas, B. E., Banez, G. A., Malcarne, V., & Worsham, N. (1991). Perceived control and coping with stress: A developmental perspective. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47(4), 23–34. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1991.tb01832.x
- Compas, B., Connor, J., Osowiecki, D., & Welch, A. (1997). Effortful and involuntary responses to stress. In B. H. Gottlieb (Ed.), *Coping with chronic stress* (pp. 105–130). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-9862-3_4
- Compas, B. E., Connor, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (1999).
 Getting specific about coping: Effortful and involuntary responses to stress in development.
 In M. Lewis & D. Ramsay (Eds.), *Soothing and Stress* (pp. 229–256). Erlbaum.
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams,

E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110

- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- Crick, N. R., & Dodge, K. A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social information-processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115(1), 74–101. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.115.1.74
- Cummings, E. M., Ballard, M., El-Sheikh, M., & Lake, M. (1991). Resolution and children's responses to interadult anger. *Developmental Psychology*, 27(3), 462–470. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0012-1649.27.3.462
- Cummings, E. M., & Davies, P. (2010). Marital conflict and children: An emotional security perspective. Guilford Press.
- Davies, P. T., & Forman, E. M. (2002). Children's patterns of preserving emotional security in the interparental subsystem. *Child Development*, 73(6), 1880–1903. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.t01-1-00512
- Fabricius, W., & Luecken, L. (2007). Postdivorce living arrangements, parent conflict, and longterm physical health correlates for children of divorce. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *21*(2), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.21.2 .195
- Fauber, R., Forehand, R., McCombs Thomas, A., & Wierson, M. (1990). A mediational model of the impact of marital conflict on adolescent adjustment in intact and divorced families: The role of disrupted parenting. *Child Development*, 61(4), 1112–1123. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1990.tb02845.x
- Fischer, T., de Graaf, P., & Kalmijn, M. (2005). Friendly and antagonistic contact between former spouses after divorce: Patterns and determinants. *Journal of Family Issues*, 26(8),

1131–1163. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0192513X05275435

- Fosco, G. M., & Bray, B. C. (2016). Profiles of cognitive appraisals and triangulation into interparental conflict: Implications for adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30(5), 533–542. https://doi.org/10 .1037/fam0000192
- Goeke-Morey, M. C., Papp, L. M., & Cummings, E. M. (2013). Changes in marital conflict and youths' responses across childhood and adolescence: A test of sensitization. *Development* and Psychopathology, 25(1), 241–251. https://doi .org/10.1017/S0954579412000995
- Grall, T. (2020). Custodial mothers and fathers and their child support: 2017 (Current Population Reports). US Census Bureau. www.census.gov/ content/dam/Census/library/publications/2020/ demo/p60-269.pdf
- Grych, J. H. (1998). Children's appraisals of interparental conflict: Situational and contextual influences. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 12(3), 437–453. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.12.3 .437
- Grych, J. H., & Fincham, F. D. (1990). Marital conflict and children's adjustment: A cognitivecontextual framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, *108*(2), 267–290. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.108.2.267
- Grych, J. H., Harold, G. T., & Miles, C. J. (2003). A prospective investigation of appraisals as mediators of the link between interparental conflict and child adjustment. *Child Development*, 74(4), 1176–1193. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-8624.00600
- Grych, J. H., Seid, M., & Fincham, F. D. (1992). Assessing marital conflict from the child's perspective: The Children's Perception of Interparental Conflict Scale. *Child Development*, 63(3), 558–572. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131346
- Harter, S. (1995). Manual for the Self-Perception Profile of Children (revision of the Perceived Competence Scale for Children). University of Denver.
- Hetherington, E. M., Cox, M., & Cox, R. (1982).Effects of divorce on parents and children. InM. E. Lamb (Ed.), *Nontraditional families:*

Parenting and child development (pp. 233–288). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

507

- Hetherington, E. M., & Kelly, J. (2002). Divorce reconsidered: For better or worse. Norton.
- Johnston, J. R. (1994). High-conflict divorce. *The Future of Children*, 4(1), 165–182. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1602483
- Kalmijn, M. (2016). Father-child contact, interparental conflict, and depressive symptoms among children of divorced parents. *European Sociological Review*, 32(1), 68–80. https://doi .org/10.1093/esr/jcv095
- Kelly, J. B. (2000). Children's adjustment in conflicted marriage and divorce: A decade review of research. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39(8), 963–973. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00004583-200008000-00007
- Kliewer, W., Fearnow, M. D., & Miller, P. A. (1996). Coping socialization in middle childhood: Tests of maternal and paternal influences. *Child Development*, 67(5), 2339–2357.
- Kliewer, W., Sandler, I., & Wolchik, S. (1994). Family socialization of threat appraisal and coping: Coaching, modeling, and family context. In F. Nestmann & K. Hurrelmann (Eds.), Social networks and social support in childhood and adolescence (pp. 279–291). Walter De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/ 9783110866377.271
- Kreider, R. M., & Ellis, R. (2011). Living arrangements of children: 2009 (Current Population Reports, pp. 70–126). US Census Bureau. www.census.gov/library/publications/ 2011/demo/p70-126.html
- Lazarus, R. S. (2006). Stress and emotion: A new synthesis. Springer.

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.

- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 1(3), 141–169. . https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2410010304
- Lengua, L. J., Sandler, I. N., West, S. G., Wolchik, S. A., & Curran, P. J. (1999). Emotionality and self-regulation, threat appraisal, and coping in children of divorce. *Development and*
Psychopathology, *11*(1), 15–37. https://doi.org/10 .1017/S0954579499001935

Mehl, M. R., & Conner, T. S. (Eds.). (2011). Handbook of research methods for studying daily life. Guilford Press.

- Miller, P. A., Lloyd, C. A., & Beard, R. (2017). Preadolescents' coping goals and strategies in response to postdivorce interparental conflict. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4(3), 260–280. https://doi .org/10.1037/qup0000067
- O'Hara, K. L., Rhodes, C. A., Wolchik, S. A., Tein, J.-Y., & Sandler, I. N. (2021). Fear of abandonment as a mediator between the longitudinal effect of exposure to post-divorce interparental conflict on children's mental health problems: Does parenting quality play a buffering role? *Child Development*, *92*(4), 1476–1493. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13539
- O'Hara, K. L., Sandler, I. N., Wolchik, S. A., & Tein, J.-Y. (2019). Coping in context: The effects of long-term relations between interparental conflict and coping on the development of child psychopathology following parental divorce. *Development and Psychopathology*, 31(5), 1695–1713. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S09545794190009811–19
- Orgilés, M., Carratalá, E., & Espada, J. P. (2015). Perceived quality of the parental relationship and divorce effects on sexual behaviour in Spanish adolescents. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 20(1), 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13548506.2014.911922
- Pedro-Carroll, J. L., & Cowen, E. L. (1985). The Children of Divorce Intervention Program: An investigation of the efficacy of a school-based prevention program. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 53(5), 603–611. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-006X.53.5.603
- Rothbaum, F., Weisz, J., & Snyder, S. (1982).
 Changing the world and changing the self:
 A two-process model of perceived control. *Journal of Personality Social Psychology*, *42*(1), 5–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514
 .42.1.5
- Sandler, I. N. (2001). Quality and ecology of adversity as common mechanisms of risk and resilience. *American Journal of Community*

Psychology, *29*(1), 19–61. https://doi.org/10 .1023/A:1005237110505

- Sandler, I. N., Tein, J.-Y., Mehta, P., Wolchik, S., & Ayers, T. (2000). Coping efficacy and psychological problems of children of divorce. *Child Development*, 71(4), 1099–1118. https://doi .org/10.1111/1467-8624.00212
- Sbarra, D. A., & Emery, R. E. (2005). Coparenting conflict, nonacceptance, and depression among divorced adults: Results from a 12-year followup study of child custody mediation using multiple imputation. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 75(1), 63–75. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0002-9432.75.1.63
- Schaefer, E. S. (1965). Children's reports of parental behavior: An inventory. *Child Development*, 36, 413–424. https://doi.org/10.2307/1126465
- Sheets, V., Sandler, I., & West, S. (1996). Appraisals of negative events by preadolescent children of divorce. *Child Development*, 67(5), 2166–2182.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2011). Perceived control and the development of coping. In S. Folkman (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of stress, health, and coping* (pp. 35–59). Oxford University Press.
- Skinner, E., & Wellborn, J. (1994). Coping during childhood and adolescence: A motivational perspective. In D. L. Featherman, R. M. Lerner, & M. Perlmutter (Eds.), *Life-span development and behavior* (pp. 91–133). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Stolberg, A. L., & Garrison, K. M. (1985). Evaluating a primary prevention program for children of divorce. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 13(2), 111–124. https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF00905724
- Teleki, J. K., Powell, J. A., & Dodder, R. A. (1982). Factor analysis of reports of parental behavior by children living in divorced and married families. *Journal of Psychology*, *112*, 295–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1982.9915387
- Wolchik, S. A., West, S. G., Sandler, I. N., Tein, J.-Y., Coatsworth, D., Lengua, L., Weiss, L.,

Anderson, E. R., Greene, S. M., & Griffin, W. A. (2000). An experimental evaluation of theory-based mother and mother-child programs for children of divorce. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(5), 843–856. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.5 .843

- Zeman, J., Cassano, M., Perry-Parrish, C., & Stegall, S. (2006). Emotion regulation in children and adolescents. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 27(2), 155–168. https://doi .org/10.1097/00004703-200604000-00014
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Lees, D. C., Bradley,G. L., & Skinner, E. A. (2009). Use of an analogue method to examine children's appraisals of threat and emotion in response to

stressful events. *Motivation and Emotion*, 33(2), 136–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-009-9123-7

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi .org/10.1177/0165025410384923

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Skinner, E. A., Morris, H., & Thomas, R. (2013). Anticipated coping with interpersonal stressors: Links with the emotional reactions of sadness, anger, and fear. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 33(5), 684–709. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0272431612466175

21 Autonomy, Self-Determination, and the Development of Coping in Adolescence

Stijn Van Petegem, Nele Flamant, Bart Soenens, and Maarten Vansteenkiste

Introduction

Like a bird on the wire, Like a drunk in a midnight choir, I have tried in my way to be free. – Leonard Cohen

For decades. scholars in the field of psychology and related disciplines have studied the dynamics of autonomy and its fundamental importance for human development and psychological growth throughout the entire lifespan (e.g., Ryan et al., 2006; Soenens et al., 2018). However, relatively few studies have addressed the role of autonomyrelated dynamics in the development of coping (Skinner & Edge, 2002). This is surprising because throughout development, children and adolescents frequently experience constraints in their autonomy, such as when certain desired behaviors are prohibited, when one is requested to engage in dull or demanding activities, or when certain goals, preferences, or desires cannot be pursued or met. From a very young age on, children may cope in various ways with such constraints, for instance by protesting verbally or by openly rejecting parents' requests, by passively submitting to the situation, by actively negotiating or bargaining, or by willingly accepting the situation (Kuczynski & Kochanska, 1990; Kuczynski et al., 2018). These responses to autonomy-related experience gain further prominence during adolescence, as autonomy and identity become increasingly important developmental themes,

and as adolescents seek to renegotiate the boundaries of what falls under their personal jurisdiction and what falls under the authority of their parents or other adults (Smetana, 2011; Soenens et al., 2019; Zimmer-Gembeck, Van Petegem, & Collins, 2018).

Throughout this chapter, we review why it is important to study autonomy-related processes for a better understanding of the development of coping throughout the lifespan, with a particular focus on adolescence. Thereby, it should be stressed that the relation between processes of autonomy and coping is very transactional and dynamic in nature, with both processes reciprocally shaping each other (Skinner & Edge, 2002; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). On the one hand, autonomy may affect coping, as a general sense of autonomy and self-determination are important resources for dealing with specific demanding or stressful situations. In addition, autonomyconstraining situations may be experienced as stressful and may trigger particular coping responses, such as opposing or willingly accepting the constraint. At the same time, processes of coping may also have both short-term consequences and long-term implications for individuals' experiences of autonomy.

In this chapter, we first define autonomy and discuss its importance for development during adolescence and throughout the lifespan. Then, we discuss how autonomy frustration may trigger a set of specific coping responses, and we consider the implications of these coping responses for individuals' autonomy and psychosocial development. We then review how specific characteristics of a constraining situation may have implications for the unfolding of a coping episode. We end by discussing how the social context also shapes the broader development of coping process, thereby particularly focusing on the parents' role, and we discuss how individual traits such as self-determination and mindfulness also may serve as coping resources.

For the conceptualization of the coping process, we rely upon the motivational theory of coping (Skinner & Wellborn, 1994; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016), which defines coping as action regulation under stress. According to this theory, coping refers to the way people "mobilize, guide, manage, energize, and direct their behavior, emotion, and orientation, or how they fail to do so" (Skinner & Wellborn, 1994, p. 113). This approach to coping involves a multilevel conceptualization in which coping is conceived of both as a process that occurs over time within specific episodes, but also as a process that unfolds throughout development, offering opportunities for potential learning and the development of regulatory capacities (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Figure 21.1 depicts an overarching model of the developmental and transactional relations between autonomy and coping. A coping episode starts to unfold when one is confronted with a constraining situation, that is, when a goal, desire, or interest cannot be met or pursued, such as when a certain behavior is prohibited, when choices are limited or taken away, or when one is asked to engage in an unpleasant activity. People likely differ in the degree to which they experience this constraint as autonomyfrustrating (i.e., coercive and illegitimate). These differences in the appraisal of the episode as autonomy frustration depend, in part,

upon the (situational) nature of the constraint as well as upon the presence of personal and contextual resources. These appraisals of autonomy frustration elicit specific coping responses that, in turn, have both short-term implications for how the coping episode further unfolds over time as well as long-term consequences for processes of adaptation and development. These short-term and long-term consequences feed back and shape the unfolding of future coping episodes; in other words, these processes of autonomy and coping are highly transactional and their development reciprocally shapes each other. The different parts of the model are discussed in greater detail throughout the chapter.

Autonomy: Conceptualization and Implications for Psychosocial Development

Before moving to our discussion of the role of autonomy in the development of coping, it is important to first clearly define autonomy. Within this chapter, we rely upon the conceptualization within self-determination theory (SDT; Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2017). In SDT, autonomy is defined as volitional functioning, that is, as the degree to which one acts upon one's personally endorsed values, goals, or interests. When acting autonomously, one experiences a sense of personal choice and psychological freedom, as one's actions are congruent with the self (Hodgins & Knee, 2002; Ryan & Ryan, 2019). Autonomy, defined as volitional functioning, is contrasted with controlled functioning, where one acts in a certain way because one feels coerced or pressured to do so. In this case, the behavior is experienced as inauthentic and alien to the self (Deci & Ryan, 2000; Kernis & Goldman, 2006).

According to SDT, autonomy is a universal human need, the satisfaction of which is



Figure 21.1 A developmental model of the relation between autonomy and coping.

essential for optimal human functioning and psychosocial development. Autonomy frustration, by contrast, would put people at risk for maladjustment and psychopathology (Ryan & Deci, 2017; Vansteenkiste et al., 2010). In line with this assertion, there is extensive research showing that experiencing a sense of autonomy relates to better psychosocial adjustment and more optimal development during adolescence (e.g., Soenens & Vansteenkiste, 2005: Van Petegem et al., 2012, 2013) and young adulthood (e.g., Skhirtladze et al., 2019), but also during other developmental periods, as shown in studies conducted in early childhood (Bernier et al., 2010; Grolnick et al., 1984) and among elementary school children (e.g., van der Kaap-Deeder et al., 2017: Veronneau et al., 2005). It should be noted, however, that the manifestation of autonomy may depend on the specific developmental period, with autonomy for instance primarily taking the form of skillful resistance against parental rules and personal initiative-taking in early childhood, and taking the shape of personal identity formation in adolescence (Soenens et al., 2018; Soenens & Vansteenkiste, in press). Further, the findings regarding the beneficial effects of autonomy have been replicated using longitudinal and experimental designs (e.g., Grolnick & Ryan, 1987; Jang et al., 2012), and they generalize to non-Western cultures as well (see, e.g., Yu et al., 2018, for a meta-analysis). A significant number of studies have also shown that autonomy disturbances are often a critical factor underlying psychopathology (for a review, see Ryan et al., 2016). Thus, all of this work attests to the premise that autonomy denotes a universal psychological human need, which is essential for optimal development throughout the lifespan (Vansteenkiste et al., 2020).

Further, experiences of autonomy have a critical function during stressful interactions with the environment (Weinstein & Ryan,

2011). People with resources that contribute to dispositionally high levels of autonomy (e.g., self-determination, mindfulness) are likely to appraise stressful events in more benign ways and to respond to many types of stressors in more constructive ways. This is outlined at the end of this chapter, when discussing coping resources. However, experiences of autonomy also play an important role at a more situational level. When people's need for autonomy gets frustrated in constraining and stressful situations in daily life, they will engage in coping responses to overcome such autonomy frustration. Indeed, throughout development, children and adolescents often encounter constraints or blockages in the pursuit of specific goals, desires, preferences, and interests, for instance, because of a parental request for an undesired activity (e.g., attending a boring family gathering instead of seeing friends), because school regulates certain behaviors (e.g., no cellphone use during class), or because the law prohibits certain behaviors or activities (e.g., age constraints for alcohol consumption). Children and adolescents can experience and appraise these constraints as impinging upon their autonomy, which may elicit specific coping responses, as is outlined in the next section.

Different Ways of Coping with Autonomy Frustration

Appraisals of autonomy frustration may activate a set of coping families that are linked to the need for autonomy. That is, these families of coping are organized around the adaptive function of coordinating one's preferences with the options available in the situation (Skinner et al., 2003; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007). The following four coping families are typically discerned in the context of coping with autonomy frustration (see

513



Concession Figure 21.2 Families of coping with autonomy frustration.

Figure 21.2): submission and opposition, which are more rigid in nature and which are theorized to foreshadow long-term negative outcomes with detrimental consequences for development, and negotiation and accommodation, which are more flexible in nature and which are hypothesized to generally have more positive long-term consequences and to foster resilience (Skinner & Edge, 2002; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

These families of coping are higher-order categories that cluster together specific instances and ways of coping when people are confronted with particular stressful situations. In addition, they help to meaningfully link specific situations and coping episodes to both their short-term implications and their long-term consequences for processes of adaptation and development. In terms of shortterm implications, the coping process pertains to the real-time transactional episode that unfolds over time as an iterative process where (re)appraisals, coping (re)actions, and context (re)actions eventually lead to a short-term outcome of the coping episode (e.g., concession, or removal of barrier; Aldwin, 2007; Folkman & Lazarus, 1985; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). At the same time, the coping process also has long-term consequences and impacts individual functioning and

development, hence becoming part of a developmental cascade toward resilience or psycho-(Masten & Cicchetti. pathology 2010: Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). In what follows, we briefly discuss each of the four families of coping in terms of their nature, their developmental trajectory, and their short-term and long-term consequences. Thereby, it should be noted that most of this research is fairly scattered and that more systematic and in-depth research is needed. For instance, with regards to developmental patterns, children and adolescents tend to develop more sophisticated and skillful coping strategies across time, as they are intertwined with shifts in cognitive and emotional development as well as with changes in self-regulatory capacities and the social environment (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). However, more comprehensive research is needed to gain better insight into these developmental processes, thereby moving beyond an individual differences perspective by considering children's and adolescents' developmental trajectories.

Submission

A first family of coping involves submission, which involves relinquishing one's personal

goals and priorities, by conceding to the constraining situation (Skinner & Edge, 2002). Importantly, it denotes an unwilling, rigid, and resigned surrender to the situation, and therefore should be distinguished from the flexible strategy of accommodation, which involves a willing acceptance of the constraints (Morling & Evered, 2006; Skinner, 2007; see later in the chapter for a detailed discussion). Submission comes with the activation of involuntary stress responses that are not under volitional control (Connor-Smith et al., 2000), such as emotional and physical arousal, intrusive thoughts, and rumination (i.e., a passive and repetitive focus on negative aspects of the situation; Koster et al., 2011; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2008). Thus, submission involves conceding to the constraints of a situation in a way that is rigid and grudging, where one is unable to disengage attention and mental resources from goals that are no longer possible or unattainable.

As for the developmental pattern of this coping strategy, research is rather sparse and inconclusive. Few consistent normative developmental trends seem to emerge; if anything, it seems that children tend to increasingly rely upon submissive and ruminative strategies as they enter adolescence (Skinner & Saxton, 2019; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). For instance, in one study (Hampel & Petermann, 2005), it was found that early adolescents (aged 11-13 years) relied more often upon ruminative coping strategies compared to younger children (aged 9-10 years). However, more systematic research is needed to be able to draw more firm conclusions as to how submissive coping develops across childhood and adolescence, as well as to what extent these changes are associated with biological and cognitive maturation processes and/or with social and emotional changes that are linked to the transitional phase of adolescence. Thereby, it is important to consider that individuals may change not only in terms of frequency of reliance upon submissive coping strategies, but also in the form that such submissive strategies may take, potentially shifting from behavioral forms (such as passive compliance) to more cognitive forms (such as rumination; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011).

515

As for the consequences of this coping strategy, submission is supposed to be maladaptive in the short term, as one concedes to the situation by sacrificing one's personal goals and priorities, thus generating feelings of autonomy frustration (Patall & Hooper, 2018). Also in the long run, it may lead to negative outcomes and developmental difficulties, due to the pressured and rigid nature of this coping strategy, in combination with the draining of energy resources caused by one's difficulties in letting go of the situation and moving on to other priorities (Skinner & Edge, 2002; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). In line with this assumption, there is a considerable body of research documenting how rumination puts people at risk for the development of depression and other forms of psychopathology among adult samples (e.g., Nolen-Hoeksema, 2000; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2008), but also among children and adolescents (e.g., Abela et al. 2002; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2007). Similarly, in a sample of both clinically referred and nonreferred adolescents, Brenning et al. (2019) found that adolescents who respond through submission when facing rules with which they disagree, were more likely to report more internalizing difficulties. Also in a study on adolescents' coping with parental overprotection, it was found that submission exacerbated the negative effects of overprotective parenting on internalizing distress and aggression (Flamant et al., 2022). Thus, both in the short and in the long run, the coping family of submission seems to bring about less autonomy

and it seems to set adolescents at risk for psychopathology.

Opposition

Opposition is a second family of coping with constraints, involving a tendency to eliminate the constraint or obstacle by, for instance, engaging in defiant and confrontative behavior, by rejecting or simply ignoring authority, or by doing the opposite of what is expected or enforced (Skinner & Edge, 2002; Vansteenkiste et al., 2014). Opposition is selfcentered and reactive in nature, as the primary aim of this strategy is to oppose others' goals (Koestner & Losier, 1996; Pavey & Sparks, 2009). This coping strategy is also conceptually close to reactance, which refers to a motivational state that occurs when a person's freedom is threatened or eliminated. This threat of freedom then engenders a tendency to reestablish this freedom by engaging in the forbidden behavior (Brehm, 1966) even though this may come at the cost of one's personal preferences (Fitzsimons & Lehmann. 2004; Van Petegem, Vansteenkiste, Soenens, et al., 2015). Thus, opposition involves coping through resistance, yet unlike negotiation (which is discussed later) it involves a rigid way of expressing resistance. Opposition is a nonautonomous form of coping, as it is totally externally determined (i.e., by the constraint; Deci & Ryan, 1985; Skinner & Edge, 2002): Indeed, the very goal of opposition is to oppose the constraint or the constraining environment.

As opposition involves an unskillful type of showing resistance and disagreement, its frequency of use is supposed to decrease throughout development, as children and adolescents would develop more sophisticated skills for expressing resistance throughout social interactions (Kuczynski et al., 2018). These developmental trends are partly confirmed. For instance, observational longitudinal research among young children indicated that the use of unskillful resistance strategies (e.g., direct defiance, passive noncompliance) became less frequent as they grew older (Kuczynski & Kochanska, 1990). However, when entering adolescence, children seem to rely more frequently upon oppositional strategies (Skinner & Saxton, 2019; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). For instance, in one study focusing on the school context specifically, Skinner and Saxton (2020) documented an increase in oppositional coping as children entered adolescence. Possibly, these increases may stem from conflicts related to changing conceptions about the boundaries of the personal domain, with imposed boundaries being perceived as increasingly age-inappropriate by early adolescents (Smetana, 2011; Soenens et al., 2019). Potentially, this increase in opposition may only be temporary, with a decrease noted again throughout the adolescent years as youth develop more skillful strategies. In one longitudinal study we indeed found decreases in oppositional defiance to parental rules from middle to late adolescence (Van Petegem, Vansteenkiste, Soenens, et al., 2015). Likely, these developmental changes are the consequence of maturational processes in combination with actual changes in the demands posed by the social context. However, future research is needed to determine how this unfolds dynamically across time, taking into account both the role of key socialization figures and adolescents' agency in shaping their own development (Kuczynski, 2003).

As for the outcomes of this coping strategy, opposition may be effective in the short run as one may be successful at removing the constraint, hence leading to a certain restored sense of independence and freedom from external interference (Brehm, 1966; Miller et al., 2007). However, this may come with an immediate relational cost, as opposition may strain

relationships and/or instigate a coercive cycle of escalating conflict with others (e.g., Dishion & Andrews, 1995). In addition, this coping strategy is likely to bring about difficulties in the long run as well. For instance, in the previously mentioned longitudinal study among adolescents (Van Petegem, Vansteenkiste, Soenens, et al., 2015), we found that oppositional defiance predicted increases both in emotional distance vis-à-vis the parents and an increased alienation from one's personal values and goals. Thus, in addition to negative relational consequences, opposition also fails to bring about more autonomy in the long run. This is likely due to the fact that such oppositional behavior is reactive in nature and, therefore, externally driven, hence interfering with the pursuit of one's genuinely valued goals and interests (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Pavey & Sparks, 2009). In other words, even though oppositional behavior seeks to bring about more freedom from constraints, at the same time it seems to bring about less freedom to actualize one's potential (Ryan & Deci, 2006; see also Fromm, 1941, 1947; Gescinska, 2011). Because opposition is expected to bring about more autonomy frustration in the long run, it seems to increase children's and adolescents' risk for developing psychopathology. In line with this, research indeed showed that adolescents' oppositional defiance is predictive of both internalizing and externalizing problems (e.g., Flamant et al., 2020; Van Petegem, Soenens, Vansteenkiste, & Beyers, 2015).

Negotiation

Opposition should be differentiated from negotiation as a coping family, which pertains to more skillful ways of expressing resistance and disagreement. This family of coping generally involves a tendency to work out a compromise between one's personal preferences and priorities and the constraints imposed by the situation (Skinner & Edge, 2002; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Thus, as in the case of opposition, the goal is to defend and prioritize one's personal goals and to express disagreement. But unlike opposition, it involves a more flexible strategy where others' points of view are considered as well; this active and positive engagement does not necessarily result in one party "winning" over the other; rather, negotiation often involves an iterative process where the outcome involves a synthesis where one is able to maintain one's personal high-priority goals, while at the same time conceding to high-priority goals of others (Skinner & Edge, 2002; see also Kuczvnski & Hildebrandt, 1997; Kuczynski et al., 2014).

517

As for the developmental pattern of negotiation, research indicates that children may engage in negotiation strategies already from a young age, such as bargaining or offering explanations (e.g., Crockenberg & Litman, 1990; Kuczynski et al., 1987). Young children's engagement in such behavior would be a manifestation of their emerging sense of autonomy (Dix et al., 2007; Kopp, 1982). As they grow older, these negotiation strategies would become more sophisticated and differentiated (e.g., Kuczynski et al., 2018; Parkin & Kuczynski, 2012). Especially during adolescence, discussion, give-and-take, self-assertion, and other forms of developmentally appropriate resistance strategies may become increasingly common, as they are part of adolescents' active attempts to renegotiate the boundaries of their personal domain and to claim control over some issues (Robson & Kuczynski, 2018; Smetana, 2005, 2018).

Due to its flexible nature, negotiation is considered an adaptive and skillful strategy. Research on the outcomes of negotiation and related lower-order coping strategies is often qualitative in nature, due to the dynamic and singular nature of episodes involving negotiation (Kuczynski et al., 2014). These studies, which primarily focused on adolescence, suggest that negotiation typically results in a nonexact, novel synthesis between the adolescent's goals and the constraints of the situation (e.g., certain parental expectations; Kuczynski et al., 2014; Parkin & Kuczynski, 2012). Thus, in contrast to oppositional coping, negotiation does not come at a relational cost, as others' wishes and perspectives are also taken into account (and potentially accommodated; Kuczynski & Hildebrandt, 1997). In addition, it allows one to articulate, prioritize, and coordinate one's personally important goals and preferences, while at the same time learning about others' values and priorities (Skinner & Edge, 2002). Thus, especially in the long run, negotiation yields a greater sense of autonomy and integrative functioning.

There is some indirect evidence for the claim that negotiation in the family realm contributes to more independent decision-making throughout the adolescent years, with studies indicating that the boundaries of the personal domain gradually expand through parentadolescent negotiations and discussions (Smetana, 1989, 2018). Other longitudinal studies have shown that, as adolescents grow older, increases in decision-making opportunities about personal issues are associated with better psychosocial adjustment (Qin et al., 2009; Smetana et al., 2004), although these studies did not examine explicitly whether these changes in decision-making result from adolescents' negotiation efforts. Thus. although more research is needed, these studies exemplify how adolescents' coping with domain boundaries and their negotiation efforts may have an important developmental function, as they may bring about more autonomy in youth's personal lives and facilitate a sense of agency and self-expression (Smetana, 2005, 2018). More generally, such research illustrates how development, autonomy, and coping are strongly intertwined.

Accommodation

A fourth coping family involves accommodation, which pertains to the flexible adjustment of one's personal priorities and preferences to fit with the constraints of the current situation (Aldwin et al., 2011; Brandtstädter & Renner, 1990: Morling & Evered, 2006, 2007). Accommodation includes cognitive restructuring and positive reappraisal (i.e., reinterpreting the situation in a positive light), acceptance and assenting to the current constraints, and redeploying attention and energy to other goals or activities (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Although accommodation may resemble submission because both strategies involve conceding to the constraints of the situation and both include an important cognitive component, the critical feature distinguishing accommodation from submission is the flexible and volitional nature of the former coping strategy. In the case of accommodation, one chooses to go with the flow, by assenting to the constraints of the situation and willingly accepting the circumstances as they are (Skinner, 2007).

As for the developmental pattern of this coping strategy, it is supposed that the development of language and symbolic reasoning would facilitate children's development of more cognitive-oriented coping strategies, such as accommodation (Aldwin et al., 2011; Compas et al., 2001). However, past studies documented relatively few developmental differences in accommodative coping, which suggests that accommodation is a fairly common coping response to stress throughout childhood and adolescence. Rather, specific accommodative strategies likely become more advanced and sophisticated throughout development (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). For instance, whereas during childhood, accommodation may primarily involve children's voluntary compliance with the demands of a situation, throughout adolescence, youth would increasingly rely upon positive self-talk, positive thinking, and postcoping reappraisals as accommodative strategies for coping with stress, due to the development of more advanced (meta-)cognitive and linguistic skills (Aldwin et al., 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016).

Accommodation is generally conceived of as an adaptive coping strategy, both in the short term and in the long run. Even though accommodation involves conceding to the constraints of a situation, it does not need to come at the cost of a lowered sense of autonomy, as one more freely endorses the imposed constraints while preserving a sense of volition (Skinner, 2007). Similarly, as studies conducted among adolescent samples suggest, one can choose not to choose, for instance by leaving the decision up to others or by willingly abiding by rules or prohibitions (e.g., Bao & Lam, 2008: Vansteenkiste et al., 2014), which has been shown to relate to more autonomy need satisfaction and higher well-being (Chen et al., 2013; Van Petegem et al., 2012). In addition, by withdrawing efforts from uncontrollable situations, one reduces potential emotional and psychological pressures and one frees up energy and resources for other important goals (Morling & Evered, 2006; Skinner & Edge, 2002). Finally, it is important to also consider the interpersonal dimension of accommodation, as accommodative coping strategies may bring about more feelings of closeness within a relationship, hence serving relational goals as well. A study conducted among US and Japanese university students indeed found that the use of accommodative strategies was associated with more feelings of closeness with others in a relationship

(Morling et al., 2002). For these reasons, the use of accommodative coping strategies generally should yield adaptive outcomes in the short run but also in the long run, which is generally confirmed in research among children and adolescents (see, e.g., Wadsworth & Compas, 2002, for a crosssectional study, and Hall et al., 2010, for a longitudinal examination).

Flexibility in Coping

It is important to note that no single coping strategy is consistently the key to successful adaption: Each of these strategies may serve a certain adaptive process and therefore may be functional under particular circumstances (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016). Although the coping families of negotiation and accommodation generally relate to better short-term and long-term outcomes, it is important to consider characteristics of the situation (e.g., whether the stressor is controllable, that is, whether there is room for negotiation about the constraint), one's motivational orientation in that situation (e.g., whether the focus is on relational and/or autonomous goals), and one's developmental level and other personal characteristics (e.g., temperament; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Thus, the persistent reliance upon one specific coping strategy may backfire, even when the strategy is assumed to be volitional in nature (Zimmer-Gembeck, Skinner, Modecki, et al., 2018). For instance, a one-sided and systematic reliance upon accommodative coping may come at the long-term cost of one's personal values and goals, whereas the tenacious use of negotiation strategies may eventually harm a person's relationships as well, especially in situations where constraints are unnegotiable or when there is less openness for discussion (Flamant et al., 2020).

As such, rather than relying consistently and uniquely on only one specific coping strategy, it may be more adaptive for people to have several strategies in their coping repertoire and to be able to switch flexibly between these strategies depending on the situational demands. Past research conducted in adult populations indeed suggests that accommodative coping processes complemented with assimilative coping processes (i.e., acting on the environment) vield the most optimal outcomes (Brandtstädter & Rothermund, 2002; Freund & Baltes, 2002). Thus, it seems that the strategies of negotiation and accommodation ideally are used in a complementary fashion. The positive outcome of such a coping episode, then, would reflect the co-regulated nature of these processes of accommodation and negotiation, yielding a novel synthesis between one's personal goals and the constraints of a situation (Parkin & Kuczynski, 2012). In that respect, person-centered and qualitative approaches seem particularly appropriate to gain a refined insight into these dynamics.

More recent work focused explicitly on coping flexibility, that is, the effective and flexible deployment of coping strategies that match the changing demands and characteristics of stressful episodes (Cheng et al., 2014; Kato. 2012; Zimmer-Gembeck, Skinner. Modecki, et al., 2018). This flexibility involves being adaptable in both cognitive appraisals and in coping patterns (Cheng, 2001). As past research indicates, individuals who are capable of coping flexibly tend to adopt specific strategies depending on the specific characteristics of the situation (e.g., controllability; Cheng & Cheung, 2005). In fact, a meta-analysis indicated that this strategy-situation fit is particularly predictive of psychological adjustment (Cheng et al., 2014). Further, research suggests that adolescents become increasingly flexible in their coping throughout their teenage years and even into their 20s (Zimmer-Gembeck, Skinner, Modecki, et al., 2018). This would be due to adolescents' development of executive and meta-cognitive capacities on the one hand, and their better coordination of specific demands and resources, on the other (e.g., who to turn to in what kind of situation; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). It should be noted, however, that most of such research did not focus on autonomy-related stressors.

Not All Constraints Are Experienced as Equally Autonomy-Frustrating

As can be noted in Figure 21.1, the appraisal of a situation is of key importance to understand how a coping episode unfolds across time. These appraisals are, in part, dependent upon the presence of contextual and personal resources (as is detailed in a later section) but are also determined to an important degree by the nature of the constraining situation as such. A first important consideration for understanding how one appraises a situation involves the social domain in which children or adolescents experience constraint. According to social domain theory (Smetana, 2011), from an early age on, children reason qualitatively differently about different domains of social knowledge. Depending on the social domain at stake, children develop different conceptions about the legitimacy of authority and personal jurisdiction. The personal domain involves private aspects of one's life, such as the choice of friendships, clothes, or hairstyle, or the content of one's personal messages. These issues reflect aspects of one's personal identity and delineate the self from the social world, and are therefore matters of personal preference that fall under one's personal jurisdiction (Nucci, 2001; Smetana, 2005, 2006). The conventional domain involves contextually determined practices that structure the social interaction (e.g., family routines, how

521

to greet others, or how to eat during dinner), whereas the moral domain involves prescriptive rules and norms about justice, rights, and others' welfare (e.g., whether one can lie or hit others; Tisak & Turiel, 1988; Turiel, 2007). Within the conventional and moral domains, children and adolescents accept the legitimacy of authority figures more easily, as these domains involve socially regulated issues (e.g., Smetana et al., 2014, 2015). In contrast, both children and adolescents are more sensitive to constraints that pertain to the personal domain or that combine elements of the personal and socially regulated domains (i.e., multifaceted issues), thereby experiencing these constraints more easily as illegitimate and autonomy-frustrating (Smetana, 2018). Such domain-bounded differences have been documented in past research among adolescents and their parents, showing that parental interference within the personal domain is experienced as intrusive and controlling (Smetana & Daddis, 2002), suggesting they are autonomy-frustrating. Similarly, in a previous study, we found that parental prohibitions of adolescent friendships are perceived as more illegitimate and are more likely to vield opposition as a coping response, in comparison with parental prohibitions of immoral behavior, which are more easily accepted and accommodated (Van Petegem, Vansteenkiste, Soenens, et al., 2017). Thus, adolescents' appraisals of constraints partly depend upon the social domain in which authority figures intervene.

Relatedly, constraints are more likely to be appraised as illegitimate and autonomyfrustrating when they are *age-inappropriate*, that is, when there is a mismatch between adolescents' developmental needs and what is offered or imposed by their social environment (Eccles et al., 1993; Gutman & Eccles, 2007). Throughout the adolescent years, youth seek to expand the boundaries of what they believe falls under their personal jurisdiction rather than under the authority of their parents or other adults (Smetana, 2011, 2018; Soenens et al., 2019). In other words, social domain boundaries are shifting as adolescents grow older, and these changing conceptions of legitimate authority may bring about increases in conflict, due to discrepancies in adolescents' versus parents' reasoning about legitimacy and jurisdiction (Smetana, 1989, 2000: Smetana & Asquith, 1994). These developmental considerations are important for understanding how adolescents appraise and cope with constraints: When they are experienced as not attuned to their developmental level, constraints are more likely to be appraised as illegitimate and autonomyfrustrating. For instance, in a longitudinal study, Daddis (2011) found that adolescents who believed that their peers had more freedom in their personal decision-making were more likely to perceive their parents' authority as illegitimate 1 year later. Using a different approach, findings from a recent multiinformant study on overprotective parenting corroborate the importance of considering the fit between the context and adolescents' developmental needs (Van Petegem et al., 2020). Specifically, it was found that discrepancies in parental reports versus adolescents' perceptions of overprotective parenting, which reflects a mismatch between parents' involvement and adolescents' developmental needs, are linked to higher levels of autonomy frustration and more subsequent externalizing problem behaviors. More generally, these studies illustrate that it is necessary to consider the age-appropriateness and adolescents' developmental level for understanding their appraisals, emotions, and coping responses to specific situations.

A third factor shaping adolescents' appraisals of autonomy frustration involves the *communication style* used by others in the situation, that is, the way in which constraints are communicated, discussed, and followed up upon (Vansteenkiste et al., 2005, 2014). In this regard. SDT distinguishes between an autonomy-supportive and a controlling communication style. An autonomy-supportive stvle communication involves showing empathy and soliciting the child's perspective, offering choice within the limits of the constraining situation, and providing a solid and meaningful explanation for the constraint (Deci et al., 1994; Grolnick, 2003; Mageau et al., 2015). By contrast, a controlling communication style¹ pertains to the use of forceful and coercive language, inducing feelings of anxiety, guilt, or shame, and threatening with punishments (Grolnick & Pomerantz, 2009; Soenens & Vansteenkiste, 2010).

Several studies have shown that adolescents experience a potentially constraining situation as autonomy-frustrating when authority figures (such as parents or teachers) rely upon a controlling, rather than an autonomy-supportive communication style. For instance, in a study using video-based vignettes of teacher-student interactions, De Meyer et al. (2016) found that teachers' experimentally manipulated controlling (vs. autonomy-supportive) communication style predicted more autonomy frustration, which in turn predicted more oppositional behavior vis-à-vis the teacher. Baudat et al. (2017) documented similar results, focusing on parental responses to a situation of adolescent alcohol overconsumption. Specifically, it was found that parents' controlling communication style predicted more autonomy frustration and a tendency to reject the parent's request to consume alcohol more responsibly. Thus, these studies indicate that adolescents' appraisals (and their responses) depend upon the degree to which the environment allows for freedom of action within the situation, as well as on the type of language that is used throughout the social interaction.

Relatedly, nonverbal factors may play an important role as well for understanding how adolescents appraise and respond to a situation. Recent work has begun to investigate how the emotional tone of a message (i.e., the prosody) conveys important information, above and beyond the content of the message as such. For instance, in an experimental study, it was shown that naïve listeners are able to detect whether a speaker is stressed or not while expressing the same message (Paulmann et al., 2016). Similarly, experimental research also has shown that the same message (e.g., a request to change behavior) brings about different autonomy-related appraisals when the emotional tone of the message is manipulated. Specifically, speech that is expressed more loudly and with a harsher sounding voice is perceived as relatively more controlling, and as a consequence, is experienced as more pressuring and appraised as freedom-restricting (Weinstein et al., 2018, 2020). Also in a sample of adolescents, it has been found that the manipulation of the emotional tone of a mother's voice has implications for adolescents' emotional, relational, and behavioral responses (Weinstein et al., 2019). Thus, these studies illustrate how nonverbal cues also shape and affect adolescents' appraisals of a potentially constraining situation.

The Parenting Context as a Coping Resource

The social context may play an important role in the unfolding of a coping episode, by

A controlling communication style is not the same as perceived control or controllability, which refers to an individual's beliefs about how much control is available to them (Skinner, 1996; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011), and which is part of the appraisal process and shapes the coping process in important ways as well (e.g., Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2016).

directly changing the nature of the constraint, as is elaborated in the previous section. For instance, when parents ask their adolescent to attend a family gathering instead of seeing friends, they can adapt their communication style or emotional tone, which will likely have implications for adolescents' appraisals and coping responses. However, the quality of the social context (and the parenting context in particular) may also shape the coping process in more indirect ways. Indeed, social contexts may also promote (vs. undermine) the longterm development of adaptive and flexible coping throughout the lifespan, as coping and self-regulation are fundamentally embedded within social relationships (Aldwin et al., 2011; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Although it is beyond the scope of the present contribution to elaborately discuss the many ways in which the context shapes the coping process, we want to briefly highlight how social contexts (and the parenting context in particular) may shape the development of coping in the context of autonomy. Not surprisingly, past research focused on the degree to which parents (and other socialization figures) are generally autonomy-supportive, that is, the extent to which they acknowledge the child's point of view, provide meaningful choice whenever possible, and offer an understandable explanation when choices are limited (Soenens et al., 2007). Other dimensions have been theorized and studied as well (e.g., Ntoumanis et al., 2009; Skinner & Edge, 2002; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016), including the degree to which parents are structuring (e.g., offering guidance in a predictable and consistent way; Grolnick & Pomerantz, 2009) and are responsive to emotional distress (e.g., sensitive reactions in the face of distress, such as through comforting or helping; Davidov & Grusec, 2006; Vinik et al., 2011). By contrast, past research suggests that children's and adolescents' coping

development may be hindered when parents rely upon psychologically controlling parenting practices (e.g., relying upon manipulative and intrusive strategies; Barber, 1996; Dusek & Danko, 1994) or when overprotecting their child (e.g., excessively intervening when the child is confronted with difficulties; Segrin et al., 2015; Titova et al., 2021).

A number of previous studies focused specifically on how parents' general socialization style may shape adolescents' coping with autonomy frustration. For instance, in two studies that made use of a vignette methodology, we examined whether adolescents' appraisals and coping responses in a situation of rule-setting depend on parents' situationspecific communication style in interaction with their parenting history (in terms of autonomy-supportive vs. psychologically controlling parenting). We found that the general parenting context related to more positive appraisals (i.e., less autonomy frustration) and more adaptive coping (i.e., more negotiation and accommodation, less opposition and submission), above and beyond the specific communication style that was used within the situation (Van Petegem, Zimmer-Gembeck, Soenens, et al., 2017). Similarly, both Flamant et al. (2020) and Brenning et al. (2019) found that, when parents were generally psychologically controlling, adolescents were more likely to respond through opposition and submission, rather than through negotiation and accommodation, when being faced with situations of either rule-setting or parental pressure. Focusing on the school context, Zimmer-Gembeck and Locke (2007) found that adolescents' perceptions of teacher support (in terms of autonomy support, structure, and responsiveness) predicted more active coping with problems both at school and at home, above and beyond perceived parental support.

These studies illustrate that adolescents' coping with constraints is shaped not only by

the nature of the specific constraining situation as such, but also by more general features of the parenting context. However, more research is needed to further understand how the parenting context (and the social context more generally) may serve as a resource for the development of coping in the context of constraints and autonomy frustration specifically. Thereby, future research could focus on the role of different parenting dimensions simultaneously, as past research found that the combination of autonomy support with structure is particularly important among early adolescents (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016). Further, future studies also could examine associations with children's and adolescents' flexibility in coping with constraints. We expect that, when parents are more supportive and attuned to children's needs, children are more likely to develop the ability to consider a situation from multiple perspectives and to consider multiple alternative solutions to a problem. Such an open-minded orientation allows one to identify and deploy coping strategies that are tailored to the specific demands and characteristics of the situation (Babb et al., 2010).

Another critical question is whether the expected benefits of autonomy support also emerge during other developmental periods. Although much research on autonomy support focused on adolescence and young adulthood, there are also studies attesting to the beneficial correlates of autonomy-supportive parenting among young children (e.g., Lerner & Grolnick, 2020) and toddlers (e.g., Andreadakis et al., 2019). By making use of observational research (see Laurin & Joussemet, 2017), researchers could examine to what degree autonomy-supportive parenting at a young age may set the stage for the development of more flexible and adaptive coping with autonomy constraints at a later age. Thereby, it would be interesting to consider

the dynamic interplay between parents' socialization practices, children's behavior, and the child's developmental level. This is important as the context, autonomy-related expectations, and appraisals of threat also change throughout development (e.g., Smetana, 2018).

Personal Resources for Coping with Autonomy Frustration

Apart from the broader social environment (and parenting in particular), also personal resources can play a key role in the handling of autonomy threats. Although other factors are likely relevant as well, such as the child's temperament (Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007), we discuss the importance of two personal resources - selfdetermination and mindfulness - that would be particularly relevant in the context of autonomy. Although these factors are discussed as personal resources that facilitate more constructive appraisals and coping responses, it should be noted that they are themselves also shaped by the accumulated history of previous coping episodes. Thus, they are an integral part of a developmental cascade toward either more healthy development and resilience or more risk and psychopathology (Masten & Cicchetti, 2010: Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016).

A first autonomy-related resource for adaptive coping involves individuals' level of *selfdetermination*. According to SDT, individuals may vary in the degree to which they experience a general sense of self-determination in life, which involves an individual's general tendency to regulate one's behavior based upon personally endorsed values, goals, and interests, and which would bring about more feelings of volition, personal choice, and psychological freedom in life (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Sheldon et al., 1996). For instance, when choosing a new extracurricular activity, an adolescent high on self-determination would choose an activity primarily based upon its fit with their preferences and interests. By contrast, individuals low in self-determination generally regulate their behavior based upon either internal pressures or external contingencies, which would bring about feelings of alienation from one's personal values and interests. As a consequence, these individuals generally feel like "having to" (rather than "choosing to") act in specific ways (Sheldon et al., 1996). With low levels of self-determination, an adolescent may primarily wonder about the degree to which an extracurricular activity will gain social approval (e.g., from peers or parents). There is a vast body of research, relying upon diverse methodologies and conducted in various populations, showing that self-determination is related to healthy development and adaptive functioning throughout the lifespan (e.g., Weinstein & Ryan, 2011).

Importantly, it has been claimed that feelings of self-determination would play an important role in how individuals process. interpret, and respond to various types of situations (Hodgins & Knee, 2002; Skinner & Edge, 2002; Weinstein & Ryan, 2011). People high in self-determination would process information in ways that are less defensive and biased, and would be more likely to appraise potential stressors as a challenge, rather than as a threat. In line with this assumption, research among university students has shown that self-determination is associated with a more open processing of emotionally challenging situations in a written expression task (i.e., more frequent use of terms linked to self-honesty, reflecting a willingness to engage with the threatening stimuli; Weinstein & Hodgins, 2009), and less self-serving biases and less self-handicapping (Hodgins et al., 2006). Further, self-determination has been associated with less defensive coping strategies (such as denial; Knee & Zuckerman, 1998) and more constructive conflict resolution strategies (e.g., engaging in a dialogue; Knee et al., 2005). In a study focusing on the academic domain, Skinner et al. (2013) found that children who were more self-determined in their academic activities reported more adaptive and less maladaptive coping (including more commitment, and less rumination and opposition) when facing stressful academic events in school.

525

Further, also expect that selfwe determination may be a particularly important personal resource for coping with constraining situations, where one's personal values and goals are potentially threatened. Indeed, it has been argued that even under highly coercive or controlling circumstances, highly selfdetermined individuals would be more likely to perceive the situation as having informational value and would be more inclined to respond through flexible and constructive coping reactions (Hodgins & Knee, 2002; Skinner & Edge, 2002; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994). In a recent study conducted among adolescents (Van Petegem et al., 2019), we made use of hypothetical vignettes to depict a potentially constraining situation, that is, a parental request to study more for school, which was formulated using either an autonomy-supportive or a controlling communication style. In response to this situation of parental rule-setting, it was found that selfdetermination was associated with more positive appraisals (less autonomy frustration, more legitimacy) and more constructive coping (less opposition, more negotiation), irrespective of the communication style. Moreover, self-determination moderated some of the effects of the situation-specific (autonomy-supportive vs. controlling) communication style, buffering the negative implications of a controlling communication style. This study illustrates that self-determination may be an important personal resource for coping more adaptively with constraints. In addition, this vignette-based methodology has the important advantage in that it allows for the standardization of the stressor across participants (Aguinis & Bradley, 2014), and may be a possible avenue for researchers to study adolescents' coping with constraining and autonomy-frustrating situations in a highly standardized manner. More generally, these studies suggest that self-determination may function as a source of resilience for coping more adaptively with stressful situations, and with autonomy frustration in particular.

Α second autonomy-relevant personal resource involves mindfulness, which refers to a receptive attention to and awareness of present moment events and experiences that are taking place, both internally and externally (Brown & Ryan, 2003). When people are mindful, they are open to experiences and moments in a nonjudging and nonevaluating way, as they occur. This receptiveness and awareness would enable more autonomous self-regulation of behavior and would bring about more experiences of volition and psychological freedom in one's life (Brown et al., 2007; Ryan & Deci, 2017). There is abundant research illustrating the salutary effects of mindfulness on a wide range of important outcomes, including mental health, physical health, and relationship outcomes, across both clinical and nonclinical populations (e.g., Hofmann et al., 2010; Keng et al., 2011). This involves research on dispositional mindfulness, but also on experimentally induced mindful states within specific situations, and on the long-term effects of mindfulness training programs. These studies suggest that individuals not only differ in their level of mindfulness, but also that mindfulness can be taught and mobilized for interventional purposes (e.g., Baer, 2003; Broderick, 2005; Shapiro et al., 2011).

Directly relevant for the present contribution, it has been hypothesized that these salutary effects can be explained by the fact that mindfulness affects the way individuals cope with stress, by both attenuating negative appraisals in stressful situations and by facilitating one's reliance upon adaptive coping strategies (e.g., Good et al., 2016; Hölzel et al., 2011). As individuals high in mindfulness tend to be less vulnerable for cognitive distortions and automatic judgments (Brown et al., 2007), potentially stressful or constraining situations are more likely to be perceived and appraised in neutral or benign ways. In addition, as mindful individuals are better at objectively observing present events, they are less likely to cope with stressful situations by engaging in distorted thinking patterns (e.g., rumination) or in reactive and defensive ways of responding (e.g., opposition). In other words, mindfulness seems an important resource for coping adaptively with stress in general. In line with this, using laboratorybased, longitudinal, and daily diary designs, Weinstein et al. (2009) demonstrated that mindful students made more benign appraisals and responded with more adaptive coping when facing stressful situations, such as the prospect of examinations or the participation in a stress-inducing mental arithmetic task. In a study focusing on aggression, Heppner et al. (2008) showed that mindfulness related to less hostile attribution biases and less aggressive behaviors in situations of social rejection, illustrating how mindfulness may be a resource in such stressful events. Further, in a study focusing on romantic relationships, dispositional mindfulness was found to relate to less conflict and more accommodative responses to relationship stress (Barnes et al., 2007). Finally, the meta-analysis of Gu et al. (2015) showed that the beneficial mental health outcomes of mindfulness-based interventions are, in part, explained through a lowered reliance upon rumination and worry. Thus, there is solid and increasing evidence that mindfulness is an important resource for more adaptive coping with distress.

Further, we would expect that mindfulness is particularly important in the context of coping with autonomy frustration, as individuals high in mindfulness would be more aware of their authentic values and preferences, and therefore would be more likely to respond through more adaptive appraisals and coping reactions, in spite of potentially highly constraining situations (Ryan & Deci, 2017). In line with this reasoning, a questionnaire-based study focusing on employees' well-being in the workplace found that mindfulness buffered against the negative effects of a controlling managerial style in the prediction of their adjustment (Schultz et al., 2015). Future research may want to focus on autonomyconstraints, for instance by using an experimental design (such as through the use of vignettes). In addition, it would be important to make use of a developmental approach that allows for a better understanding of how mindfulness shapes, and is shaped by, coping development and the social context.

Conclusion

In this chapter we argued that autonomyrelated dynamics are an integral part of the coping process and its development. Depending on the nature and the characteristics of the specific situation, a constraining situation may entail varying perceptions of autonomy frustration, thereby triggering different ways of coping with this situation. These appraisals and coping responses have short-term implications (potentially bringing about autonomy restoration) but at the same time also may have long-term implications, hence becoming a catalyst of development by becoming part of a developmental cascade

toward resilience or psychopathology (Masten & Cicchetti, 2010; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Although there is an emerging body of research focusing on the role of autonomy in the context of coping and its development, we hope that the present contribution may instigate researchers to address these topics through creative and innovative approaches.

References

- Abela, J. R. Z., Brozina, K., & Haigh, E. P. (2002).
 An examination of the response styles theory of depression in third- and seventh-grade children: A short-term longitudinal study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 30(5), 515–527. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1019873015594
- Aguinis, H., & Bradley, K. J. (2014). Best practice recommendations for designing and implementing experimental vignette methodologies. *Organizational Research Methods*, 17(4), 351–371. https://doi.org/10 .1177/1094428114547952
- Aldwin, C. M. (2007). Stress, coping, and development: An integrative perspective. Guilford Press.
- Aldwin, C. M., Skinner, E. A., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Taylor, A. L. (2011). Coping and selfregulation across the life span. In K. L. Fingerman, C. A. Berg, J. Smith, & T. C. Antonucci (Eds.), *Handbook of life-span development* (pp. 561–587). Springer.
- Andreadakis, E., Joussemet, M., & Mageau, G. A. (2019). How to support toddlers' autonomy: Socialization practices reported by parents. *Early Education and Development*, 30(3), 297–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2018 .1548811
- Babb, K. A., Levine, L. J., & Arsenault, J. M. (2010). Shifting gears: Coping flexibility in children with and without ADHD. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 34(1), 10–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025409345070
- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical

527

review. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 10(2), 125–143. https://doi.org/10.1093/ clipsy.bpg015

- Bao, X. H., & Lam, S. F. (2008). Who makes the choice? Rethinking the role of autonomy and relatedness in Chinese children's motivation. *Child Development*, 79(2), 269–283. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01125.x
- Barber, B. K. (1996). Parental psychological control: Revisiting a neglected construct. *Child Development*, 67(6), 3296–3319. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1131780
- Barnes, S., Brown, K. W., Krusemark, E., Campbell, W. K., & Rogge, R. D. (2007). The role of mindfulness in romantic relationship satisfaction and responses to relationship stress. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *33*(4), 482–500. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606 .2007.00033.x
- Baudat, S., Zimmermann, G., Antonietti, J. P., & Van Petegem, S. (2017). The role of maternal communication style in adolescents' motivation to change alcohol use: A vignette-based study. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 24(2), 152–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2016 .1192584
- Bernier, A., Carlson, S. M., & Whipple, N. (2010). From external regulation to self-regulation: Early parenting precursors of young children's executive functioning. *Child Development*, 81(1), 326–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2009.01397.x
- Brandtstädter, J., & Renner, G. (1990). Tenacious goal pursuit and flexible goal adjustment: Explication and age-related analysis of assimilative and accommodative strategies of coping. *Psychology and Aging*, 5(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1037//0882-7974.5.1.58
- Brandtstädter, J., & Rothermund, K. (2002). The life-course dynamics of goal pursuit and goal adjustment: A two-process framework. *Developmental Review*, 22(1), 117–150. https:// doi.org/10.1006/drev.2001.0539
- Brehm, J. W. (1966). *A theory of psychological reactance*. Academic Press.
- Brenning, K. M., Antrop, I., Van Petegem, S., Soenens, B., De Meulenaere, J., Rodríguez-

Meirinhos, A., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2019). I won't obey! Psychologically controlling parenting and (non)-clinical adolescents' responses to rule-setting. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 75(6), 1034–1046. https://doi.org/10 .1002/jclp.22750

- Broderick, P. C. (2005). Mindfulness and coping with dysphoric mood: Contrasts with rumination and distraction. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 29(5), 501–510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-005-3888-0
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 84(4), 822–848. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Addressing fundamental questions about mindfulness. *Psychological Inquiry*, 18(4), 272–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10478400701703344
- Chen, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Beyers, W., Soenens, B., & Van Petegem, S. (2013). Autonomy in family decision making for Chinese adolescents: Disentangling the dual meaning of autonomy. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 44(7), 1184–1209. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022022113480038
- Cheng, C. (2001). Assessing coping flexibility in real-life and laboratory settings: A multimethod approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(5), 814–833. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0022-3514.80.5.814
- Cheng, C., & Cheung, M. W. (2005). Cognitive processes underlying coping flexibility: Differentiation and integration. *Journal of Personality*, 73(4), 859–886. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00331.x
- Cheng, C., Lau, H. P. B., & Chan, M. P. S. (2014). Coping flexibility and psychological adjustment to stressful life changes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(6), 1582–1607. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037913
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential

in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87

- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- Crockenberg, S., & Litman, C. (1990). Autonomy as competence in 2-years-olds: Maternal correlates of child defiance, compliance, and self-assertion. *Developmental Psychology*, 26(6), 961–971. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.26.6.961
- Daddis, C. (2011). Desire for increased autonomy and adolescents' perceptions of peer autonomy: "Everyone else can; Why can't I?" *Child Development*, 82(4), 1310–1326. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01587.x
- Davidov, M., & Grusec, J. E. (2006). Untangling the links of parental responsiveness to distress and warmth to child outcomes. *Child Development*, 77(1), 44–58. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00855.x
- Deci, E. L., Eghrari, H., Patrick, B. C., & Leone, D. R. (1994). Facilitating internalization: The self-determination theory perspective. *Journal of Personality*, 62(1), 119–142. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-6494.1994.tb00797.x
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. Plenum.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, *11*(4), 227–268. https://doi.org/10.1207/ S15327965PLI1104_01
- De Meyer, J., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Aelterman, N., Van Petegem, S., & Haerens, L. (2016). Do students with different motives for physical education respond differently to autonomy-supportive and controlling teaching?. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 22, 72–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2015.06.001

Dishion, T. J., & Andrews, D. W. (1995). Preventing escalation in problem behaviors with high-risk young adolescents: Immediate and 1year outcomes. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 63(4), 538–548. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-006X.63.4.538

- Dix, T., Stewart, A. D., Gershoff, E. T., & Hay, W. H. (2007). Autonomy and children's reactions to being controlled: Evidence that both compliance and defiance may be positive markers in early development. *Child Development*, 78(4), 1204–1221. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01061.x
- Dusek, J. B., & Danko, M. (1994). Adolescent coping styles and perceptions of parental child rearing. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 9(4), 412–426. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 074355489494002
- Eccles, J. S., Midgley, C., Wigfield, A., Buchanan, C. M., Reuman, D., Flanagan, C., & Mac Iver, D. (1993). Development during adolescence: The impact of stage–environment fit on young adolescents' experiences in schools and in families. *American Psychologist*, 48(2), 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.48.2.90
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Murphy, B. C., Guthrie, I. K., Jones, S., ... & Maszk, P. (1997). Contemporaneous and longitudinal prediction of children's social functioning from regulation and emotionality. *Child Development*, 68(4), 642–664. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1997.tb04227.x
- Fitzsimons, G. J., & Lehmann, D. R. (2004). Reactance to recommendations: When unsolicited advice yields contrary responses. *Marketing Science*, 23(1), 82–94. https://doi.org/ 10.1287/mksc.1030.0033
- Flamant, N., Boncquet, M., Van Petegem, S., Haerens, L., Beyers, W., & Soenens, B. (2022). To endure and to resist? Adolescents' coping with overprotective parenting. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 82, Article 101444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2022.101444
- Flamant, N., Haerens, L., Mabbe, E.,
 Vansteenkiste, M., & Soenens, B. (2020). How do adolescents deal with intrusive parenting?
 The role of coping with psychologically controlling parenting in internalizing and externalizing problems. *Journal of Adolescence*,

84, 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .adolescence.2020.09.003

- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1985). If it changes it must be a process: Study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 48(1), 150–170. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.48.1.150
- Freund, A. M., & Baltes, P. B. (2002). Lifemanagement strategies of selection, optimization and compensation: Measurement by self-report and construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(4), 642–662. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.4.642
- Fromm, E. (1941). *Escape from freedom*. Rinehart & Co.
- Fromm, E. (1947). *Man for himself: An inquiry into the psychology of ethics*. Rinehart & Co.
- Gescinska, A. (2011). *De verovering van de vrijheid* [*The conquest of freedom*]. Lemniscaat.
- Good, D. J., Lyddy, C. J., Glomb, T. M., Bono,
 J. E., Brown, K. W., Duffy, M. K., ... & Lazar,
 S. W. (2016). Contemplating mindfulness at work: An integrative review. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 114–142. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0149206315617003
- Grolnick, W. S. (2003). The psychology of parental control: How well-meant parenting backfires. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Grolnick, W. S., Frodi, A., & Bridges, L. (1984). Maternal control style and the mastery motivation of one-year-olds. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 5(2), 72–82. https://doi.org/10 .1002/1097-0355(198422)5:2<72::AID-IMHJ2280050203>3.0.CO;2-O
- Grolnick, W. S., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2009). Issues and challenges in studying parental control: Toward a new conceptualization. *Child Development Perspectives*, 3(3), 165–170. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2009.00099.x
- Grolnick, W. S., & Ryan, R. M. (1987). Autonomy in children's learning: An experimental and individual difference investigation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(5), 890–898. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.5.890
- Gu, J., Strauss, C., Bond, R., & Cavanagh, K. (2015). How do mindfulness-based cognitive

therapy and mindfulness-based stress reduction improve mental health and wellbeing? A systematic review and meta-analysis of mediation studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *37*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.01 .006

- Gutman, L. M., & Eccles, J. S. (2007). Stageenvironment fit during adolescence: Trajectories of family relations and adolescent outcomes. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(2), 522–537. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.2.522
- Hall, N. C., Chipperfield, J. G., Heckhausen, J., & Perry, R. P. (2010). Control striving in older adults with serious health problems: A 9-year longitudinal study of survival, health, and wellbeing. *Psychology and Aging*, 25(2), 432–445. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019278
- Hampel, P., & Petermann, F. (2005). Age and gender effects on coping in children and adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 34(2), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-005-3207-9
- Heppner, W. L., Kernis, M. H., Lakey, C. E., Campbell, W. K., Goldman, B. M., Davis, P. J., & Cascio, E. V. (2008). Mindfulness as a means of reducing aggressive behavior: Dispositional and situational evidence. *Aggressive Behavior*, 34(5), 486–496. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20258
- Hodgins, H. S., & Knee, C. R. (2002). The integrating self and conscious experience. In
 E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), *Handbook of self-determination research* (pp. 87–100).
 University of Rochester Press.
- Hodgins, H. S., Yacko, H. A., & Gottlieb, E. (2006). Autonomy and nondefensiveness. *Motivation and Emotion*, 30(4), 283–293. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11031-006-9036-7
- Hofmann, S. G., Sawyer, A. T., Witt, A. A., & Oh, D. (2010). The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: A metaanalytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(2), 169–183. https://doi .org/10.1037/a0018555
- Hölzel, B. K., Lazar, S. W., Gard, T., Schuman-Olivier, Z., Vago, D. R., & Ott, U. (2011). How does mindfulness meditation work? Proposing mechanisms of action from a conceptual and

neural perspective. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(6), 537–559. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1745691611419671

Jang, H., Kim, E. J., & Reeve, J. (2012). Longitudinal test of self-determination theory's motivation mediation model in a naturally occurring classroom context. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*(4), 1175–1188. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028089

Kato, T. (2012). Development of the Coping Flexibility Scale: Evidence for the coping flexibility hypothesis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(2), 262–273. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0027770

Keng, S. L., Smoski, M. J., & Robins, C. J. (2011). Effects of mindfulness on psychological health: A review of empirical studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *31*(6), 1041–1056. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.04.006

Kernis, M. H., & Goldman, B. M. (2006). A multicomponent conceptualization of authenticity: Theory and research. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 38, pp. 283–357). Elsevier Academic Press.

Knee, C. R., Lonsbary, C., Canevello, A., & Patrick, H. (2005). Self-determination and conflict in romantic relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(6), 997–1009. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89 .6.997

Knee, C. R., & Zuckerman, M. (1998). A nondefensive personality: Autonomy and control as moderators of defensive coping and self-handicapping. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 32(2), 115–130. https://doi.org/10 .1006/jrpe.1997.2207

Koestner, R., & Losier, G. F. (1996). Distinguishing reactive versus reflective autonomy. *Journal of Personality*, 64(2), 465–494. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00518.x

Kopp, C. B. (1982). Antecedents of self-regulation: A developmental perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 18(2), 199–214. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0012-1649.18.2.199

Koster, E. H., De Lissnyder, E., Derakshan, N., & De Raedt, R. (2011). Understanding depressive

rumination from a cognitive science perspective: The impaired disengagement hypothesis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *31*(1), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.08.005

Kuczynski, L. (2003). Beyond bidirectionality: Bilateral conceptual frameworks for understanding dynamics in parent-child relations. In L. Kuczynski (Ed.), *Handbook of dynamics in parent-child relations* (pp. 1–24). Sage.

Kuczynski, L., & Hildebrandt, N. (1997). Models of conformity and resistance in socialization theory. In J. E. Grusec & L. Kuczynski (Eds.), *Parenting and children's internalization of values: A handbook of contemporary theory* (pp. 227–256). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Kuczynski, L., & Kochanska, G. (1990). Development of children's noncompliance strategies from toddlerhood to age 5. Developmental Psychology, 26(3), 398–408. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.26.3.398

Kuczynski, L., Kochanska, G., Radke-Yarrow, M., & Girnius-Brown, O. (1987). A developmental interpretation of young children's noncompliance. *Developmental Psychology*, 23(6), 799–806. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.23.6.799

Kuczynski, L., Parkin, C. M., & Pitman, R. (2014). Socialization as dynamic process. In J. E. Grusec & P. D. Hastings (Eds.), *Handbook of socialization: Theory and research* (2nd ed., pp. 135–157). Guilford Press.

Kuczynski, L., Pitman, R., & Twigger, K. (2018). Flirting with resistance: Children's expressions of autonomy during middle childhood. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, *13*(Suppl. 1), Article 1564519. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2018 .1564519

Laurin, J. C., & Joussemet, M. (2017). Parental autonomy-supportive practices and toddlers' rule internalization: A prospective observational study. *Motivation and Emotion*, 41(5), 562–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-017-9627-5

Lerner, R. E., & Grolnick, W. S. (2020). Maternal involvement and children's motivation and achievement: The roles of maternal autonomy support and children's affect. *Motivation and Emotion*, 44(3), 373–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-019-09813-6

- Mageau, G. A., Ranger, F., Joussemet, M., Koestner, R., Moreau, E., & Forest, J. (2015).
 Validation of the perceived parental autonomy support scale (P-PASS). *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science/Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement*, 47(3), 251–262. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039325
- Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Developmental cascades. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(3), 491–495. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579410000222
- Miller, C. H., Lane, L. T., Deatrick, L. M., Young, A. M., & Potts, K. A. (2007). Psychological reactance and promotional health messages: The effects of controlling language, lexical concreteness, and the restoration of freedom. *Human Communication Research*, 33(2), 219–240. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958 .2007.00297.x
- Morling, B., & Evered, S. (2006). Secondary control reviewed and defined. *Psychological Bulletin*, *132*(2), 269–296. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.269
- Morling, B., & Evered, S. (2007). The construct formerly known as secondary control: Reply to Skinner (2007). *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(6), 917–919. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133 .6.917
- Morling, B., Kitayama, S., & Miyamoto, Y. (2002). Cultural practices emphasize influence in the United States and adjustment in Japan. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(3), 311–323. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0146167202286003
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2000). The role of rumination in depressive disorders and mixed anxiety/ depressive symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *109*(3), 504–511. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0021-843X.109.3.504
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Stice, E., Wade, E., & Bohon, C. (2007). Reciprocal relations between rumination and bulimic, substance abuse, and depressive symptoms in female adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 116(1),

198–207. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.116 .1.198

- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Wisco, B. E., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2008). Rethinking rumination. *Perspectives* on *Psychological Science*, 3(5), 400–424. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00088.x
- Ntoumanis, N., Edmunds, J., & Duda, J. L. (2009). Understanding the coping process from a selfdetermination theory perspective. *British Journal* of Health Psychology, 14(2), 249–260. https://doi .org/10.1348/135910708X349352
- Nucci, L. P. (2001). *Education in the moral domain*. Cambridge University Press.
- Parkin, C. M., & Kuczynski, L. (2012). Adolescent perspectives on rules and resistance within the parent-child relationship. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 27(5), 632–658. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0743558411435852
- Patall, E. A., & Hooper, S. Y. (2018). The role of choice in understanding adolescent autonomy and academic functioning. In B. Soenens, M. Vansteenkiste, & S. Van Petegem (Eds.), *Autonomy in adolescent development: Towards conceptual clarity* (pp. 145–167). Routledge.
- Paulmann, S., Furnes, D., Bøkenes, A. M., & Cozzolino, P. J. (2016). How psychological stress affects emotional prosody. *PLoS ONE*, 11(11), Article e0165022. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal .pone.0165022
- Pavey, L., & Sparks, P. (2009). Reactance, autonomy and paths to persuasion: Examining perceptions of threats to freedom and informational value. *Motivation and Emotion*, 33(3), 277–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-009-9137-1
- Qin, L., Pomerantz, E. M., & Wang, Q. (2009). Are gains in decision-making autonomy during early adolescence beneficial for emotional functioning? The case of the United States and China. *Child Development*, 80(6), 1705–1721. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01363.x
- Raftery-Helmer, J. N., & Grolnick, W. S. (2016). Children's coping with academic failure: Relations with contextual and motivational resources supporting competence. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 36(8), 1017–1041. https://doi .org/10.1177/0272431615594459

- Robson, J., & Kuczynski, L. (2018). Deconstructing noncompliance: Parental experiences of children's challenging behaviours in a clinical sample. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, *13*(Suppl. 1), Article 1563432. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17482631.2018.1563432
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Selfdetermination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Self-regulation and the problem of human autonomy: Does psychology need choice, self-determination, and will? *Journal of Personality*, 74(6), 1557–1585. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2006.00420.x
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press.
- Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2016). Autonomy and autonomy disturbances in self-development: Research on motivation, attachment, and clinical process. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Vol. 1. Theory and methods* (3rd ed., pp. 385–438). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Ryan, W. S., & Ryan, R. M. (2019). Toward a social psychology of authenticity: Exploring within-person variation in autonomy, congruence, and genuineness using selfdetermination theory. *Review of General Psychology*, 23(1), 99–112. https://doi.org/10 .1037/gpr0000162
- Schultz, P. P., Ryan, R. M., Niemiec, C. P., Legate, N., & Williams, G. C. (2015). Mindfulness, work climate, and psychological need satisfaction in employee well-being. *Mindfulness*, 6(5), 971–985. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0338-7
- Segrin, C., Givertz, M., Swaitkowski, P., & Montgomery, N. (2015). Overparenting is associated with child problems and a critical family environment. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 24(2), 470–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10826-013-9858-3
- Shapiro, S. L., Brown, K. W., Thoresen, C., & Plante, T. G. (2011). The moderation of

mindfulness-based stress reduction effects by trait mindfulness: Results from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67(3), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp .20761

533

- Sheldon, K. M., Ryan, R., & Reis, H. T. (1996). What makes for a good day? Competence and autonomy in the day and in the person. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22(12), 1270–1279. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 01461672962212007
- Skhirtladze, N., Van Petegem, S., Javakhishvili, N., Schwrtz, S. J., & Luyckx, K. (2019). Motivation and psychological need fulfillment on the pathway to identity resolution. *Motivation & Emotion*, 43, 894–905. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-019-09795-5
- Skinner, E. A. (1996). A guide to constructs of control. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 71(3), 549–570. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0022-3514.71.3.549
- Skinner, E. A. (2007). Secondary control critiqued: Is it secondary? Is it control? Comment on Morling and Evered (2006). *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(6), 911–916. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0033-2909.133.6.911
- Skinner, E. A., & Edge, K. (2002). Selfdetermination, coping and development. In E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), *Self-determination theory: Extensions and applications* (pp. 297–337). University of Rochester Press.
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*, 216–269. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0033-2909.129.2.216
- Skinner, E. A., Pitzer, J. R., & Steele, J. (2013). Coping as part of motivational resilience in school: A multi-dimensional measure of families, allocations, and profiles of academic coping. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(5), 803–835. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0013164413485241
- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2019). The development of academic coping in children and youth: A comprehensive review and critique.

Developmental Review, *53*, Article 100870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2019.100870

- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2020). The development of academic coping across late elementary and early middle school: Do patterns differ for students with differing motivational resources? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(4), 339–353. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0165025419896423
- Skinner, E. A., & Wellborn, J. G. (1994). Coping during childhood and adolescence:
 A motivational perspective. In R. Lerner, D. Featherman, & M. Perlmutter (Eds.), *Lifespan development and behavior* (pp. 91–133). Erlbaum.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2011). Perceived control and the development of coping. In S. Folkman (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of stress, health and coping* (pp. 35–59). Oxford University Press.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress, neurophysiology, social relationships, and resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer.
- Smetana, J. G. (1989). Adolescents' and parents' reasoning about actual family conflict. *Child Development*, 60(5), 1052–1067. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1989.tb03536.x
- Smetana, J. G. (2000). Middle class African American adolescents' and parents' conceptions of parental authority and parenting practices: A longitudinal investigation. *Child Development*, 71(6), 1672–1686. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00257
- Smetana, J. G. (2005). Adolescent-parent conflict: Resistance and subversion as developmental process. In L. Nucci (Ed.), *Conflict, contradiction* and contrarian elements in moral development and education (pp. 69–91). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Smetana, J. G. (2006). Social-cognitive domain theory: Consistencies and variations in children's

moral and social judgments. In M. Killen & J. G. Smetana (Eds.), *Handbook of moral development* (pp. 119–153). Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Smetana, J. G. (2011). Adolescents, families, and social development: How teens construct their worlds. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Smetana, J. G. (2018). The development of autonomy during adolescence: The socialcognitive domain theory view. In B. Soenens, M. Vansteenkiste, & S. Van Petegem (Eds.), *Autonomy in adolescent development: Toward conceptual clarity* (pp. 53–73). Routledge.
- Smetana, J. G., Ahmad, I., & Wray-Lake, L. (2015). Iraqi, Syrian, and Palestinian refugee adolescents' beliefs about parental authority legitimacy and its correlates. *Child Development*, 86(6), 2017–2033. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev .12457
- Smetana, J. G., & Asquith, P. (1994). Adolescents' and parents' conceptions of parental authority and adolescent autonomy. *Child Development*, 65(4), 1143–1158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1994.tb00809.x
- Smetana, J. G., Campione-Barr, N., & Daddis, C. (2004). Longitudinal development of family decision making: Defining healthy behavioral autonomy for middle-class African American adolescents. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1418–1434. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624 .2004.00749.x
- Smetana, J. G., & Daddis, C. (2002). Domainspecific antecedents of parental psychological control and monitoring: The role of parenting beliefs and practices. *Child Development*, 73(2), 563–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624 .00424
- Smetana, J. G., Jambon, M., & Ball, C. (2014). The social domain approach to children's moral and social judgments. In M. Killen & J. G. Smetana (Eds.), *Handbook of moral development* (Vol. 2, pp. 23–45). Psychology Press.
- Soenens, B., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2005). Antecedents and outcomes of self-determination in 3 life domains: The role of parents' and teachers' autonomy support. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 34(6), 589–604. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10964-005-8948-y

Soenens, B., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2010). A theoretical upgrade of the concept of parental psychological control: Proposing new insights on the basis of self-determination theory. *Developmental Review*, 30(1), 74–99. https://doi

.org/10.1016/j.dr.2009.11.001

Soenens, B., & Vansteenkiste, M. (in press). A lifespan perspective on the importance of the basic psychological needs for psychosocial development. In R. M. Ryan (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of self-determination theory*. Oxford University Press.

Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Beyers, W. (2019). Parenting adolescents. In M. H.
Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of parenting: Vol. 1. Parenting across the lifespan* (3rd ed., pp. 101–167). Routledge.

Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Lens, W., Luyckx, K., Goossens, L., Beyers, W., & Ryan, R. M. (2007). Conceptualizing parental autonomy support: Adolescent perceptions of promotion of independence versus promotion of volitional functioning. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(3), 633–646. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.3 .633

Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Van Petegem, S., Beyers, W., & Ryan, R. (2018). How to solve the conundrum of adolescent autonomy. In B. Soenens, M. Vansteenkiste, & S. Van Petegem (Eds.), Autonomy in adolescent development: Towards conceptual clarity (pp. 1–32). Routledge.

Tisak, M. S., & Turiel, E. (1988). Variation in seriousness of transgressions and children's moral and conventional concepts. *Developmental Psychology*, 24(3), 352–357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.24.3.352

Titova, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Mendez, N., Zimmermann, G., & Van Petegem, S. (2021). Associations of adolescents' coping with peer exclusion: A person-oriented approach. *Journal* of Child and Family Studies. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10826-021-02060-9

Turiel, E. (2007). The development of morality. In R. Lerner (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology* (Vol. 3, pp. 473–514). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

van der Kaap-Deeder, J., Vansteenkiste, M., Soenens, B., & Mabbe, E. (2017). Children's daily well-being: The role of mothers', teachers', and siblings' autonomy support and psychological control. *Developmental Psychology*, *53*(2), 237–251. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000218

535

Van Petegem, S., Antonietti, J. P., Nunes, C. E., Kins, E., & Soenens, B. (2020). The relationship between maternal overprotection, adolescent internalizing and externalizing problems, and psychological need frustration: A multiinformant study using response surface analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 49(1), 162–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01126-8

Van Petegem, S., Beyers, W., Vansteenkiste, M., & Soenens, B. (2012). On the association between adolescent autonomy and psychosocial functioning: Examining decisional independence from a self-determination theory perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 76–88. https:// doi.org/10.1037/a0025307

Van Petegem, S., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Beyers, W. (2015). Rebels with a cause?
Adolescent defiance from the perspective of reactance theory and self-determination theory. *Child Development*, 86(3), 903–918. https://doi .org/10.1111/cdev.12355

Van Petegem, S., Vansteenkiste, M., & Beyers, W. (2013). The jingle-jangle fallacy in adolescent autonomy: In search of an underlying structure. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42(2), 994–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-012-9847-7

Van Petegem, S., Vansteenkiste, M., Soenens, B., Beyers, W., & Aelterman, N. (2015). Examining the longitudinal association between oppositional defiance and autonomy in adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 51(1), 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038374

Van Petegem, S., Vansteenkiste, M., Soenens, B., Zimmermann, G., Antonietti, J.-P., Baudat, S., & Audenaert, E. (2017). When do adolescents accept or defy to maternal prohibitions? The role of social domain and communication style. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 46(5), 1022–1037. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0562-7

- Van Petegem, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M., Baudat, S., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Zimmermann, G. (2019). Adolescents' responses to parental regulation: The role of communication style and self-determination. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 65, Article 101073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .appdev.2019.101073
- Van Petegem, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Brenning, K., Mabbe, E., Vanhalst, J., & Zimmermann, G. (2017). Does general parenting context modify adolescents' appraisals and coping with parental regulation? The case of autonomy-supportive parenting. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26, 2623–2639. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0758-9
- Vansteenkiste, M., Niemiec, C. P., & Soenens, B. (2010). The development of the five mini-theories of self-determination theory: A historical overview, emerging trends and future directions. In T. Urdan & S. Karabenick (Eds.), Advances in motivation and achievement: Vol. 16. The decade ahead (pp. 105–166). Emerald Publishing.
- Vansteenkiste, M., Ryan, R. M., & Soenens, B. (2020). Basic psychological need theory: Trends, critical themes, and future directions. *Motivation* and Emotion, 44(2), 1–31. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s11031-019-09818-1
- Vansteenkiste, M., Simons, J., Lens, W., Soenens, B., & Matos, L. (2005). Examining the motivational impact of intrinsic versus extrinsic goal framing and autonomy-supportive versus internally controlling communication style on early adolescents' academic achievement. *Child Development*, 76(2), 483–501. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00858.x
- Vansteenkiste, M., Soenens, B., Van Petegem, S., & Duriez, B. (2014). Longitudinal associations between adolescent perceived style of parental prohibition and oppositional defiance and internalization. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(1), 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032972
- Veronneau, M. H., Koestner, R., & Abela, J. R. Z. (2005). Intrinsic need satisfaction and well-being in children and adolescents: An application of self-determination theory. *Journal of Social and*

Clinical Psychology, 24(2), 280–292. https://doi .org/10.1521/jscp.24.2.280.62277

- Vinik, J., Almas, A., & Grusec, J. (2011). Mothers' knowledge of what distresses and what comforts their children predicts children's coping, empathy, and prosocial behavior. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 11(1), 56–71. https://doi .org/10.1080/15295192.2011.539508
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Compas, B. E. (2002). Coping with family conflict and economic strain: The adolescent perspective. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 12(2), 243–274. https://doi.org/10 .1111/1532-7795.00033
- Weinstein, N., Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2009). A multi-method examination of the effects of mindfulness on stress attribution, coping, and emotional well-being. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43(3), 374–385. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.12.008
- Weinstein, N., & Hodgins, H. S. (2009). The moderating role of autonomy and control on the benefits of written emotion expression. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35(3), 351–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0146167208328165
- Weinstein, N., & Ryan, R. M. (2011). A selfdetermination theory approach to understanding stress incursion and responses. *Stress and Health*, 27(1), 4–17. https://doi.org/10 .1002/smi.1368
- Weinstein, N., Vansteenkiste, M., & Paulmann, S. (2019). Listen to your mother: Motivating tones of voice predict adolescents' reactions to mothers. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(12), 2534–2546. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000827
- Weinstein, N., Vansteenkiste, M., & Paulmann, S. (2020). Don't you say it that way! Experimental evidence that controlling voices elicit defiance. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 88, Article 103949. https://doi.org/10.1037/ dev0000827
- Weinstein, N., Zougkou, K., & Paulmann, S. (2018). You "have" to hear this: Using tone of voice to motivate others. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception* and Performance, 44(6), 898–913. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/xhp0000502

- Yu, S., Levesque-Bristol, C., & Maeda, Y. (2018). General need for autonomy and subjective wellbeing: A meta-analysis of studies in the US and East Asia. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 19(6), 1863–1882. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-017-9898-2
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Locke, E. M. (2007). The socialization of adolescent coping behaviors: Relationships with families and teachers. *Journal of Adolescence*, 30(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .adolescence.2005.03.001
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *35*(1), 1–17. https://doi .org/10.1177/0165025410384923
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J, & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping and regulation: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.) *Developmental*

psychopathology (3rd ed., Vol. 4, pp. 485–544). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Skinner, E. A., Modecki, K. L., Webb, H. J., Gardner, A. A., Hawes, T., & Rapee, R. M. (2018). The self-perception of flexible coping with stress: A new measure and relations with emotional adjustment. *Cogent Psychology*, 5(1), Article 1537908. https://doi .org/10.1080/23311908.2018.1537908
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Van Petegem, S., & Collins, W. A. (2018). Development of autonomy. In J. Stein (Ed.), *Reference module in neuroscience and biobehavioral psychology*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.21864-6
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Van Petegem, S., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). Emotion, controllability, and orientation towards stress as correlates of children's coping with interpersonal stress. *Motivation and Emotion*, 40(1), 178–191. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11031-015-9520-z

22 Peer Stressors and Peer Relationship Dynamics in the Development of Coping

Melanie J. Zimmer-Gembeck, Alex A. Gardner, and Thomas A. Kindermann

Introduction

Coping is an organizational construct that refers to the multitude of actions individuals use to manage stressful encounters. Coping encompasses how individuals detect, appraise, react to, deal with, and learn from the actual demands, stressors, and obstacles they encounter in their daily lives (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Coping responses are multidimensional, serve many functions, and are often best when attuned to specific stressor demands (Lazarus & Folkman. 1984). Coping can involve approach or avoidance and withdrawal from stressors (Connor-Smith et al., 2000), including attempts to change the environment or change the self to accommodate to the environment (Brandtstädter & Renner, 1990; Rudolph et al., 1995).

Intraindividual subsystems, such as emotion, attention, and cognition, are foundational to coping with stress. However, coping is also a socially embedded activity, meaning that social systems are critical for the development of coping during childhood and adolescence. These social systems include families, peers (those of about the same age or maturity level), neighborhoods, and schools. Social systems bring with them threats and other emotion-provoking demands and act as filters for resources and stressors, while also providing protection and support. However, children and adolescents are themselves also influential in these processes. They can generate their own stressors, evoke reactions from social partners, and actively engage in the resources and liabilities they accrue. The simple presence of peers can make coping processes possible that would not occur without them. In addition, peers can be advisors, helpers, facilitators, role models, or even coaches when there is need to cope. As pointed out by many researchers, these influences are important, as well as bidirectional and dynamic (e.g., Chapter 2 in this volume; Aldwin et al., 2011; Compas et al., 2017; Wadsworth, 2015).

Considering social influences on coping, we know a great deal about how parents and families facilitate and interfere with or undermine the development of coping and regulation from infancy to adolescence. This knowledge about the influence of parents and families is thoroughly described across many chapters in this Handbook. As summarized in these chapters, research shows the importance and complexity of caregivers' roles in the development of coping and identifies the changes that emerge within family relationships that support or interfere with ways of coping with stress. However, beginning in early childhood, if not before, peer interactions become part of the social scene, and by middle childhood, young people begin to report how much they value friendships and groups of

Contributions from the first and second authors were partially supported by an Australian Research Council Discovery Grant (DP190101170) led by the first author. The authors would also like to thank Daniel L. Grimes (Portland State University) for discussions about the topic and for help with the literature review.

peers for the intimacy, companionship, support, and feelings of belonging they provide (Hartup & Stevens, 1999; Larson & Richards, 1994; Uink et al., 2017; Waller & Rose, 2013). They care deeply about the dramas and stressors in their peer relationships, trying to sort out and negotiate conflicts and other problems with peers, and place more and more importance on information and feedback from friends as they move into adulthood (Brown & Larson, 2009; Smetana, 2010).

What is surprising, however, is that although positive outcomes of the companionship that is formed within peer relationships during childhood and adolescence are so well documented, there has not been much direct consideration of how these relationships can influence the entire stress-coping process and the development of coping. After all, the themes of coping and support are woven through almost all papers on friendship during childhood, adolescence, and beyond. Partly, this sparse focus on peer relationships and the development of coping could be because children's ways of coping are thought to emerge from experiences with parents and from other experiences within their families; coping with the help of adults has to be a critical foundation for later coping. Yet, new stressors can be found in the peer world and coping continues to develop through the many novel interactions with, and help from, peers.

In this chapter, we first consider stressful peer events during childhood and adolescence, including such stressors as bullying, aggression, rejection, and victimization. Our primary goal in starting with a focus on peer stressors is to describe how children and adolescents are given many opportunities to cope with stress within their peer relationships, with both positive and negative developmental outcomes. Although peer stress and coping with it have substantial influence on a multitude of developmental outcomes, this is only one piece of the puzzle of how peer relationships are involved in the development of coping and responses to stress. We add to this by, secondly, addressing how peer relationships, at the group and the dyadic level, are prime settings for the development of coping in several ways. Topics include what is known about the soothing and distracting presence of peers, the selection of peers, and the socialization of emotion and coping that can occur within peer interactions and relationships via processes of support, communication, and disclosure. We end with brief notes on the theme of peer relationship quality (e.g., intimacy, antagonism) that arises from this research and the usefulness of considering gender (and cultural) differences, especially focusing on moderation effects to uncover whether these processes differ across gender and cultural subgroups. We summarize three central takeaway messages from this chapter in Table 22.1.

Peer Relationships Can Yield Stressful Experiences That Require Coping

Peer relationships can involve many stressful experiences (Casper et al., 2020; Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016) and comprise supportive as well as conflictual aspects; most youth report experiencing a great deal of support from their friends, but they also report experiences of hassles, turbulence, or conflict in friendships and other interactions with peers (Rose & Rudolph, 2006; von Salisch, 2001). Some encounter chronic experiences of rejection, victimization, harassment, or bullying, which can significantly challenge coping resources and result in heightened emotional and social problems over time. In fact, one key developmental task of youth is learning how to cope effectively with peer stressors, with these experiences then linked to coping and adjustment later in life (Compas et al., 2001; Sugimura et al., 2014).

539

Table 22.1 Three central takeaway messages about peers and the development of coping

1. Stress appraisals and coping responses are socially embedded.

- Social systems shape the development of coping.
 - Development and learning take place in multiple overlapping social systems, including families, peers, schools, and communities, which combine to shape the development of coping by creating unique sources of threats to well-being and by providing opportunities for protection, support, and the practice of individual ways of coping.
 - Families, parents, and early caregiving environments are direct and indirect social influences that either support, restrict, or undermine the development of coping beginning in infancy.
 - Beginning in early childhood, friendship and peer interactions become more salient as important contexts for primary sources of stress through experiences of bullying, aggression, rejection, and victimization, but also as contexts for coping development.
 - Children and adolescents are not passive recipients of social influences.
 - Children and adolescents dynamically interact and engage with social systems, becoming active agents in acquiring resources, liabilities, and outcomes.
 - Adolescents learn active ways of coping effectively with stressors they encounter, which in turn shape learning, functioning, and adjustment later in development.

2. Peer relationships are salient contexts for the ongoing development of coping.

- *The presence of peers*: The presence of peers, particularly friends, can mitigate negative physiological, emotional, and behavioral reactions to stress.
- *The selection of peers as companions and friends*: Youth can selectively identify potential future companions based on the specific coping competencies observed or displayed when coping with specific stressful events.
- *The socialization of coping via peer interactions*: Once formed, peer groups and friendships become powerful influencers that shape coping responses through shared experiences, modeling, direct conversations and coaching about problems, and navigating actual friendship conflicts.

3. Development underlies transactional linkages between peer relationships and coping.

- As peer relationships and friendships mature across development, the accumulation and learning within these experiences should simultaneously allow for the development of an increasingly multidimensional, organized, and flexible toolbox of possible coping responses.
- Positive foundations in family and peer relationships earlier in development should support the ability to grow or benefit from relationship stressors by appraising them as challenges rather than threats or losses, affording opportunities to further practice, refine, and organize coping repertoires.
- Characteristics associated with competent coping parallel those needed to identify, select, and develop close relationships. Thus, resolution of current developmental tasks will shape the challenges and supports faced in subsequent tasks.
- The interconnections among peer relationships and coping imply that better friendships should be a resource for coping and its development, while more constructive coping appraisals and ways of coping should more readily foster the formation of high-quality friendships. These friends, in turn, can buffer against the negative effects of peer stress.

Peer Stressors: Prevalence and Impact

Aggression and bullying are two of the most widely studied and impactful peer stressors,

which are often differentiated into two forms: aggression that is overt (defined as intentional efforts to harm others through direct physical

541

and verbal threats or assaults) versus relational or social (defined as intentional efforts to harm relationships or reputation through exclusion, rumor spreading, and manipulation; Coyne & Ostrov, 2018; Zimmer-Gembeck & Duffy, 2014). Research shows that approximately 10–15% of youth are victimized by their peers (as targets of physical or relational aggression; Troop-Gordon, 2017), and about 35% engage themselves in some form of face-to-face bullying (Modecki et al., 2014). Expanding their reach, stressful peer interactions are no longer contained to physical contexts of schools or playgrounds, but often infiltrate the online domains of youths' social media (Trompeter et al., 2018). Whether online or offline, youth who report chronic experiences of victimization are at greater risk for other social difficulties, as youth who experience peer victimization are more likely to engage in overt or relationally aggressive acts with their peers as well as to be rejected or less liked within their peer environment (Casper et al., 2020; Kochenderfer-Ladd & Skinner, 2002; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2007). Furthermore, various forms of peer relationship stressors have been found to significantly degrade emotional well-being across childhood and adolescence (Duffy et al., 2020; Herres et al., 2018).

Ways of Coping with Peer Stressors

Growth in the capacity to cope with stress is expected to serve as a buffer that compensates for the negative effects of stressful peer events on adjustment outcomes. Thus, by adolescence, individuals can report a variety of ways they have coped (or would cope) with peer stressors. In one study, adolescents endorsed four main categories of coping in response to situations of being teased by schoolmates and excluded from a group. These ways included active coping (e.g., "get help from another kid"), which was expected to be positive, and three negative coping responses of retribution/ aggression (e.g., "come up with a way to get even"), denial (e.g., "tell myself it doesn't really matter much"), and ruminative coping (e.g., "keep thinking about it") (Sandstrom, 2004). In another study, adolescents preferred to use more active coping strategies (i.e., seeking support from others - including parents, friends, or formal sources of help and support) and internal strategies (defined as strategies that emphasize cognitive processes such as thinking about possible solutions, accepting limitations) instead of using withdrawal (retreating or avoiding through, for example, venting, giving up, or using alcohol or drugs) to cope with peer problems (Seiffge-Krenke et al., 2009).

Yet, it has not been easy to predict whether any of these expressed ways of coping with peer stress will protect against negative developmental outcomes, suggesting that no one way of coping is uniformly beneficial. For example, a study examining multiple ways of coping with peer victimization found that strategies seemed to have different effects for boys versus girls (Kochenderfer-Ladd & Skinner, 2002). In this study, greater use of distancing and venting of negative emotions were found to exacerbate the effect of peer victimization on boys' (but not girls') anxious-depressed tendencies (as reported by teachers). Differently, girls, but not boys, who reported more support-seeking and less internalizing coping (such as rumination and selfblame) were buffered against social problems (again as reported by teachers). Additional evidence for mixed outcomes of coping responses comes from a study of denial coping (Sandstrom, 2004), in which its effects depended on the outcome considered: Denial coping was protective, reducing the negative effect of poor peer acceptance on aggression when aggression was reported by peers, but denial coping was found to exacerbate the negative effect when adolescents' adjustment difficulties were reported by their parents. Coping has also been found to moderate the effects of daily peer stress on negative mood. Santiago et al. (2016) found that, on days when peer stress was high, adolescents reported more negative mood when they endorsed high use of disengagement coping (i.e., efforts to orient oneself away from stressful events through use of avoidance, denial, or wishful thinking). However, there was no association between peer stress and negative mood when disengagement coping was low.

The specific coping responses anticipated or deployed within the context of peer stress not only buffer or exacerbate the negative effects of such stress on adjustment outcomes, but some coping responses have been found to be problematic because they act as mechanisms that prolong maladjustment across time. In a longitudinal study of early adolescents, greater rumination and social avoidance of rejection threat were the coping strategies that best identified increases in symptoms of depression, anxiety, and sensitivities to rejection across 1.5 years (Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015). Boys increased more than girls in reliance on oppositional ways of coping (e.g., seeking retribution or aggression) whereas girls showed greater increases in rumination, support-seeking, and distraction in coping with rejection threat. Another longitudinal study investigated associations between parent and peer stress and withdrawal coping; withdrawal coping was moderately stable from 13 to 17 years and positively predicted girls', but not boys', adjustment difficulties (internalizing and externalizing symptoms, somatic complaints) at 23 years (Seiffge-Krenke & Persike, 2017). Apparently, both individual and gender-based differences co-exist in how youth perceive and respond to experiences of peer stress, and how these coping responses may exacerbate, buffer, or act as

mechanisms of risk for concurrent and later maladjustment.

Processes of Coping with Peer Stressors

Together, children's and adolescents' stress appraisals and coping can identify additional vulnerabilities that increase risk for maladjustment within the context of peer stress (Taylor et al., 2013; Trompeter et al., 2018), as well as more generally (Gardner et al., 2021: Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). Across a series of studies with different samples using short videos of stressful interpersonal events or written descriptions of peer rejection, Zimmer-Gembeck and colleagues (2009, 2011, 2013; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2015) unpacked how attributions about the cause of peer stressors (as well as other stressors), emotional reactions, threat appraisals, and perceptions of control are relevant processes that could explain individual differences in patterns of coping with peer stress. For example, children often perceived greater threat to their psychological needs for relatedness in response to peer-related stressors than to noninterpersonal or parent-related stressors, and it was a greater feeling of threat to relatedness that was associated with more emotional reactivity to peer stressors - in particular, greater feelings of anger and sadness (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2009). In addition, children who were the most emotionally reactive (when asked to imagine themselves in vignettes portraying peer bullying and not being picked for a team) also reported the least productive pattern of coping and those whose emotional reactions were more moderate were the most active problem-solvers (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2013). However, the emotion type was importfor understanding specific ant coping responses, with children reacting with sadness (rather than anger or fear) more likely to feel the peer stressor was a challenge (and less

threatening), which was associated with more adaptive coping (problem-solving and support-seeking) (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2011). In another of these studies focused specifically on peer rejection (Zimmer-Gembeck Skinner, 2015), emotional reactivity, & heightened threat appraisals, and maladaptive coping responses were linked to children's social anxiety and depressive symptom histories. Overall, children have a range of important emotional and cognitive reactions to peer stressors that come at least from their own historical social experiences, their emotional reactivity and other temperamental tendencies, and the appraisals of the cause, meaning, threat, and challenge of any single peer stressor. All of these are relevant to understanding coping responses and all are likely to feed back into children's development of stress appraisals and coping in the peer domain over time.

Summary

In summary, children and adolescents face a myriad of stressful interactions within their peer environment - ranging from daily conflicts and turbulence to more chronic experiences of bullying, harassment, or rejection. Although individual differences exist in how victimized youth appraise, cope, and otherwise respond to these stressful experiences, a developmental perspective would ask how these environmental challenges and threats can offer both risks and opportunities for development and growth over time (for a review, see von Salisch, 2001). Yet, only a few studies have considered the impact of peer stress on the development of coping (e.g., Newman et al., 2011). To consider opportunities for coping development, we next draw from multiple streams of research that suggest how peer groups, similar aged companions, and friends can serve as resources for coping responses and the development of coping.

The Development of Coping, Peer Presence, and Peer Selection Processes

Stress and coping have received only modest empirical attention in research on child and adolescent peer relationships. Fortunately, however, coping with stress is intertwined with stress reactions and appraisals, as well as with emotionality and emotion regulation. Thus, useful guidance for how to begin to consider the role of peer dynamics in the development of coping can be found in theoretical and empirical research on emotion regulation. For example, focusing on emotionality and regulation, von Salisch (2001) argued that peer relationships matter for two reasons. First, in contrast to parent-child relationships, peers usually have similar social power and access to shared historical knowledge and shared contexts, suggesting that they more readily understand the emotions of their friends and affiliates. Second, children tend to spend time with peers who have similar interests and values, creating a peer culture of shared norms. When peer groups are formed around these norms, peers can intensify or change emotional reactions, socializing members to value certain emotions and devalue other emotions. Just as peers are expected to have a powerful influence on the development of emotional responding and regulation, they should have influence on responses to stress, including stress appraisals and coping responses. Related to this view, Graber and colleagues (2016) described influences of peers on coping as incorporating both behavioral modeling and direct support. After describing forms of peer relationships, we draw upon theory and research on peer relationships, emotional reactions and responding, and emotional development in this section to propose multiple ways in which peer relationships can be important for the development of coping.

543
Peer relationships come in many shapes and sizes, but put simply, peer relationship researchers tend to concentrate on either peer groups or friendships and their respective structures or qualities. Features of peer groups during childhood and adolescence are numerous and researchers have examined structural linkages (who likes whom or who spends time with whom; size of the group; Kindermann, 2007), social standing (acceptance, rejection, or neglect), and reputational status (Cillessen & Bukowski, 2018). Friendships are dyadic relationships based on appreciation and liking. Qualities of friendships include support, liking, reliable alliance, companionship, conflict, and even hostility or victimization (Ferguson et al., 2019; Furman & Buhrmester, 2009). Building on this, the role of peers in stress and coping responses and development will likely involve three general influence pathways: presence of peers, selection of peers as companions and friends, and socialization or direct influence through modeling, instruction or sharing of information within groups of friendships. We address the first two topics in this section and consider socialization in the section that follows.

The Soothing and Distracting Presence of Peers

The first influence of peers on stress appraisals and coping may simply be a result of their presence. When peers are present, they can mitigate negative behavioral, physiological, and emotional reactions to stress and reduce time needed for emotional recovery (Hostinar et al., 2014). Developmentally, stronger effects are found in adolescence than in childhood, possibly because puberty is a normative turning point when peers ascend as a source of soothing, as well as a source of distress (see Chapter 11, this volume).

The presence of peers, particularly friends, may also modify stress appraisals because they have soothing and distracting qualities. Just being nearby a known peer can increase positive emotions, self-worth, and feelings of coping efficacy, all of which are resources that enable modulation of stress reactivity and constructive coping responses (Chein et al., 2011; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). One study illustrates the potential for peers to be a supportive presence linked to recovery from the distress following stressful events. Uink et al. (2017) used an experience sampling design to examine whether the social context (peers present compared to being alone and peers present compared to family present) was an important organizer of adolescents' emotion responses to stressors reported five times a day for 7 days. Although coping was not directly measured, emotions of happiness, sadness, anger, loneliness, worry, and jealousy before and following short-term stressful events ("something bad" happening) were used to index coping responses. When something bad had happened, peer presence was associated with girls' lower sadness and boys' higher happiness when compared to being alone or being with family, and girls' greater happiness and less worry and jealousy when compared to being alone. Moreover, having a peer present has been found to alter responses of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. In a study using saliva samples from young adolescents taken multiple times a day, the presence of a best friend during a negative experience lowered adolescents' cortisol levels (a hormone from the adrenal gland that can indicate stress; Adams et al., 2011). Thus, it seems that the benefits of having a peer present during stress can be partly due to their ability to soothe the physiological stress response.

Having friends close by has been described as soothing, but their presence can also be associated with rules for stress responding.

545

For example, peers and friends can socialize coping processes through emotional display rules that are endemic in peer culture. Decades ago. Saarni (1988) found that 7vear-olds preferred expressing their emotions to parents rather than peers. Similarly, primary school age children are more willing to report sadness, pain, or anger to parents than to peers (Zeman & Garber, 1996). An interesting finding here is that such patterns reversed in older children (Saarni, 1988). Nevertheless, this may still be even more complicated, given that in other research with adolescents, boys report they hide emotions because they know that they will experience ridicule by their peers (Zeman & Shipman, 1997). However, whether boys hide their emotions from their peers more than girls or older age groups is not entirely clear: Way (2013) showed that boys do, in fact, reveal their deeper emotions, but typically not to the public and only to their closest friends. Yet, as multiple studies have reported, children and adolescents tend to tease, ostracize, or reject agemates who show certain emotions or display too much or too little relative to the situation (Gottman & Mettetal, 1986; Tassi & Schneider, 1997). One implication for coping with stressful events is that, through these experiences, children are learning as they get older about how emotion display rules with parents differ from those with peers, and through such experiences, most will eventually become experts at understanding contexts and how relationship status and quality can shape emotions - what, when, and how they are displayed. For example, by at least middle adolescence, most youth know very well the need to solidify close friendships through support, validation, and some level of selfdisclosure (Booker & Dunsmore, 2017; Rose et al., 2012; von Salisch, 2018), but they also know the risks of disclosing personal information to their peers when information can easily be used for relational aggression, involving

ostracism and gossip (Banny et al., 2011; Klimes-Dougan et al., 2014; Pronk & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2010).

Although some of the advances in emotion management and display rule understanding may be detrimental - they can lead to excessive emotion suppression and to missed opportunities for reaching out for helpful social support from others – we expect that learning skills in display management must provide benefits, too. These are opportunities to identify and practice new internal processes that allow for better coping with stressors. In other words, the evidence for growing awareness of social determinants of managing emotional display suggests that children are learning new and more sophisticated emotion management skills as they get older (Uink et al., 2017; von Salisch & Pfeiffer, 1998) and this will likely modify their stress responding and coping. Other evidence comes from direct study of how children regulate, whereby it appears that they become better able to do this voluntarily by distancing themselves from the experience (von Salisch, 2001), modifying their attention away from the stressor or emotion-provoking event, or practicing cognitive avoidance (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). In these ways, opportunities exist for youth to develop more complex ways of managing emotions and, relatedly, coping with stress. This development may provide a short-term buffer, while simultaneously not compromising relationship status or interactions. In turn, this may offer greater benefits when compared to the negative effects often associated with use of excessive emotion suppression and social avoidance. Indeed, peer relationships may be a critical bridge here. The wider peer group could model numerous strategies for coping with emotional distress via distancing and attention-shifting. Friendships can directly provide coaching, resources, and practical interactions that allow for or constrain distancing and attention allocation efforts.

Selecting Which Peers to Spend Time With

The soothing and distraction functions (as well as the display rules) associated with the presence of peers will likely be dependent on the specific kinds of peer affiliates. Typically, considerable levels of similarity in many characteristics are found between individuals and the peers they spend time with, resulting from (homophilous) peer selection (Garrote, 2020; Veenstra et al., 2018). With increasing age, youth have more and more power to determine their peer groups and friendships themselves. When they select peers to spend time with. children and adolescents can create the contexts that become influential for their own coping and development. Competence at recruiting and maintaining peer companionship and close friends are important skills for coping with stress and for well-being (Borowski et al., 2018; Graber et al., 2016; Klimes-Dougan et al., 2014; Waller et al., 2014). Children and adolescents benefit most from friends close by that can soothe, calm, and comfort them, distract from negative thoughts by replacing them with positivity or neutrality, provide support beyond companionship and distraction, help solve problems together, and normalize and validate emotions to reduce distress.

Yet, selection is multiply determined and children's competence and ability to select peer relationships is grounded in many factors, including personal traits, family relationships, mental health problems, and reciprocation, as well as peer availability (e.g., based on location, but also reputation). In addition, selection processes will also be influenced by the specific purposes that the peer context will serve for an individual. Most relevant for coping with stressful events, children or adolescents who have difficulty regulating their own stress reactions or emotions tend to have fewer friends and less supportive interactions with friends, possibly because they themselves could agitate or distress others (Calhoun et al., 2014; Nakamichi, 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2010) or because they may rely more often on social withdrawal or oppositional behavior when distressed. Both have negative impact on friendship stability and quality (von Salisch, 2018; Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015, 2016). For example, in one study, adolescents who reported more social anxiety symptoms attributed greater blame to themselves and others for stressful peer events and anticipated coping with rejection using more social avoidance, rumination, and opposition (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2015). Those with more depressive symptoms perceived less control and attributed more self-blame, while also anticipating coping with peer rejection using less support-seeking, distraction, and negotiation. In other words, children and adolescents with specific coping patterns may have a reduced (or enlarged) range of opportunity to select the peers they want to spend time with, and they may themselves be more (or less) desirable or selectable as peer group members.

Personal traits and competencies provide a common foundation for friendship formation and for constructive stress responding and coping. For example, adolescents who have more friends, as well as those who cope more constructively with stress, have a greater capacity for humor and are described as more fun to be around (Rose et al., 2016; Sugimura et al., 2014). Similarly, adolescents who have more friends, or who cope more constructively with stress, typically display more positive affect and moderate (and appropriately timed) displays of negative affect (Ciarrochi et al., 2003; Eisenberg et al., 2000). Adolescents who are high in social anxiety report less supportive friendships (Borowski et al., 2018) and expect to cope less well with stressful events (Masters et al., 2023; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2015). Such findings even extend to stress physiology. For example, in one study, children with lower levels of cortisol report the highest density of friendships (Ponzi et al., 2016).

Summary

The presence of peers can be soothing and rewarding in the face of stressors. Furthermore, characteristics associated with competent coping appear to be consonant with the characteristics needed to select and develop close friendships; there does seem to be a common set of individual traits and resources associated with both adaptive (or more maladaptive) stress-coping responses and with selecting more (or less) positive and supportive peer groups and friendships. Yet, what is not known is whether by selecting specific peer associates, over and above others as members of their peer groups, children may (at least indirectly) select or deselect peers as group members or friends who have the specific coping-related characteristics that they need to enhance their own coping responses to stressors. In coping research, peer selection processes determine the interpersonal experiences that children and adolescents will need to cope with, but the selected peers can also provide opportunities for the development of coping. In addition, we can imagine that children and adolescents may be drawn to others with specific coping competencies when affiliations have specific purposes. One may think about coping crews (with members selected for specific tasks, e.g., in team sports groups), or coping expeditions (for example when adolescents find themselves in uncharted territory during school transitions).

Socialization of Coping and Influence within Peer Groups and Friendships

Once peer relationships are formed, members of peer groups and friends become unremitting models, socializers, and influencers of each other both offline and online (Neal & Veenstra, 2021; Prinstein & Giletta, 2020; Vollet et al., 2019; von Salisch & Zeman, 2018). These social interactions identify a third general pathway through which peer relationships can influence the development of coping. Children and adolescents are inspired in their future behaviors and attitudes from repeated interactions with peers over time (Dishion & Tipsord, 2011; Schaefer et al., 2013; Webb & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2014). This inspiration comes from almost daily peer interactions, and many of these provide opportunities for direct socialization and modeling of coping, shaping friends and other peer responses to negative, stressful events. Such shared stresscoping opportunities include working together on problems or challenging tasks, receiving advice, watching a peer respond to a stressful event, direct conversations with friends about problems, or real conflicts with friends. The opportunities for coping development cut across a broad range of coping strategies, including support-seeking, information-seeking, problem-solving, avoidance, accommodation through focusing on the positive or selfencouragement, helplessness or delegation, rumination, negotiation, and opposition or antagonism. We anticipate that each of these ways of coping can be modeled, practiced, and refined through peer relationships.

Research findings support this view (Bradbury et al., 2018; Glick & Rose, 2011; Reindl et al., 2016; von Salisch, 2018) suggesting that direct coaching or coping suggestions between peer companions or friends do socialize coping responses to stressors. For example, Bradbury et al. (2018) examined peer socialization of coping, finding that peers' coaching (targeting distraction, problemsolving, retaliation/opposition, and distancing) were related to adolescents' own reports of use of the strategies in cases of cybervictimization. Sometimes coaching by peers was more strongly related to coping responses than was parent coaching. In a similar pattern, Vollet and colleagues (2019) found that exposure to peers' socially aggressive texting predicted changes in adolescents' own text-based as well as in-person social aggression. In their longitudinal study of adolescents, Reindl et al. (2016) found that, within dyads, adaptive coping strategies of one friend (problem-solving, distraction, and cognitive reappraisal) were associated with increases in these strategies in the other friend at the next time of measurement though this was not the case for maladaptive strategies (withdrawal, aggressive behavior, giving up). However, research on the potential of peer relationships to socialize coping has only scratched the surface, focusing most often only on emotion socialization (for reviews see Miller-Slough & Dunsmore, 2016; Zeman et al., 2013), social support, and help-seeking, closely connected behaviors of communication, disclosure, and co-rumination, and on problem-solving with peers.

Social Support, Communication, and Disclosure

Peer social support- (or help-) seeking and giving are direct routes to the development of coping. Seeking support usually involves personal and intense conversations with others about concerns, worries, values, and problems/stressors and their solutions. Given that older children and young adolescents report spending a great deal of time in conversations with their peers and this increases with age (Collins & Laursen, 2004; Larson & Richards, 1994; Valkenburg et al., 2011), peer

relationships, especially friendships, can be crucial for the development of emotional competencies and skills at emotional regulation, understanding stressors, and coping (Booker & Dunsmore, 2017; Glick & Rose, 2011; Miller-Slough & Dunsmore, 2019; Rose et al., 2016; Vijayakumar et al., 2020; von Salisch & Zeman, 2018). The central idea in this research on peer conversations is that communicating about problems with peers via intimate disclosures, at least the types of problem and emotion talk that can be observed among adolescents, can reduce negative emotional reactions to stressful events, improve plans to counteract or alleviate stressful events, and improve emotional adjustment (Miller-Slough & Dunsmore, 2019; Rose et al., 2014; Stone et al., 2019; Valkenburg et al., 2011). Communication and disclosure with peers are thus seen as aids for stress and coping responses and recovery, as well as coping development.

Responses from peers to disclosure can come in many forms. Keeping in mind that peer interactions can differ substantially in their longevity, intimacy, and other qualities (Miller-Slough & Dunsmore, 2019), Klimes-Dougan et al. (2014) proposed that adolescents have three socialization practices with their peers that are positive and supportive and three that are unsupportive. Supportive practices include reward (validation), override (using distraction), and matching or mirroring the other's emotions. All three seem conducive to promoting coping with stressful experiences. The three unsupportive socialization practices can also be important to stress and coping (either by leading to poor coping opportunities and increased emotional reactivity, or by undermining relationship quality); they all fall within the domain of peer stressors and include neglect (ignore, avoid), overt victimization, and relational victimization (see also von Salisch & Zeman, 2017). Klimes-Dougan et al. (2014) found that friends most frequently responded to each other's emotions with reward and override, and these responses, as well as negative responses of neglect and victimization, shaped friends' future emotions. In other words, friends' responses impacted on how their friends responded to stressors in the future, suggesting coping socialization within peer relationships.

Peer interactions and conversations with friends also provide opportunities for validation or comparison of stress appraisals and emotional reactions, which we believe provide opportunities for many useful coping responses, such as positive thinking or cognitive reappraisal. Between friends, appraisals of stressful events and the emotions they bring about can be compared, contrasted, and validated or invalidated (Gottman & Mettetal, 1986; Youniss & Smollar, 1985). At the same time, just the process of repeated disclosure with friends and the feedback this brings should vield improvements in organization and flexibility of coping. For example, it should be close friends with whom adolescents would discuss many problematic issues; repeated efforts during difficult communication and the feedback from friends can build skills at balancing support-seeking with selfreliance (e.g., individual problem-solving or self-encouragement). Even communication problems or failures among friends could foster the development of new strategies to regulate emotion and behavior in ways that optimize emotional and social outcomes (e.g., temper negative emotion and maintain close relationships).

Opportunities for Social Problem-Solving

Problem-solving that occurs with involvement of one's peers is another route to the development of coping via peer socialization. Problem-solving is a critical skill for coping with stress because it is adaptive, productive, and a positive coping response when stressful events are objectively controllable (Compas et al., 2017; Gardner et al., 2021). The first question is whether problem-solving to cope with stress occurs differently when peers are present and whether peers engage in co-problem-solving, impacting coping skill development. As touched on in a past review (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016), intentional problem-solving as a sociocognitive process can be observed even during the early childhood years (Keen, 2011) and, even then, transactions during play are opportunities for developing problem-solving skills when they involve negotiation or working together, even with uncooperative peers. Peers can help each other identify and generate ideas for new strategies, imagine consequences, select from alternative actions, try them out, and evaluate effectiveness (Berg & Strough, 2010).

Illustrating how problem-solving can be a social endeavor, Waller and colleagues (2014) defined co-problem-solving as interpersonal help working out ways to cope with negative experiences. With peers, children are known to engage in more complex problem-solving than when alone (Rohrbeck et al., 2003), and more complex problem-solving occurs between friends than between nonfriends (Zajac & Hartup, 1997). In fact, this may be a marker of success in relationship and emotional development during adolescence. Co-problem-solving may be important in any form, but when done with friends, it may be particularly indicative of positive socialization because of what its presence may offset. In other words, engaging in co-problem-solving with a friend suggests success in understanding what is needed to resolve stressful events while maintaining closeness within dyads or social groups, rather than engaging in interactions that focus on ruminating, isolating, withdrawing, avoiding, or catastrophizing negative events. In an ecological momentary study, coproblem-solving with peers over the following weeks after a negative event was negatively associated with engaging in co-rumination, suggesting that co-problem-solving may reduce co-rumination or vice versa (Waller et al., 2014): "adolescents who co-ruminate may discourage friends' co-problem-solving attempts over time" (Waller et al., 2014, p. 876).

Summary

Peers are key players in the socialization of each other's stress appraisals, stress reappraisals, and coping responses through multiple channels. First, through communication, there are opportunities to directly observe how similar others talk about problems, appraise the cause of problems, and emotionally, behaviorally, and cognitively respond to stressors. Thus, peers can be role models or sounding boards for new ideas for coping with stress. Second, peers, and especially close friends, are important influencers in the development of coping because they often involve intimate disclosure and attempts at co-problem-solving; it is these activities where peer socialization of coping will most clearly emerge and where evidence suggests peers have the most influence on stress and coping processes. Notably, these experiences, and (ideally) the teamwork that can eventually be found among peers as they cope with stress are settings where children and adolescents can practice and improve skills learned at home and in earlier peer relationships as they move into new and increasingly diverse social contexts.

Peer Relationship Quality

Ideas related to peer relationship quality were woven through many of the reviewed studies and sections of this chapter. These qualities included, for example, the traits of peers selected as group members or friends; the intimacy of friendships; the level of peer interaction; and the conflict, antagonism, and victimization that can happen between peers. In this section, we briefly describe how the quality of peer relationships and coping may have bidirectional influences on each other.

Evidence clearly shows that peer relationships differ in quality. Peer groups can be accepting or neglecting, friendship can be high, moderate, or low in positive qualities (emotional support, commitment, companionship, and intimate self-disclosure), and some friendships can be high in conflict or have more of a power imbalance than others. Moreover, high-quality friendships are described as those that can provide emotional support during times of stress and allow practice of conflict resolution skills (Hartup, 1996). Measures are available that can tap all these aspects of peer relationships and friendship quality (see Ferguson et al., 2019 for a review). In fact, at least one measure of friendship quality includes the specific subscales of giving and receiving support (Furman & Buhrmester, 2009) – implying that these interactions are important indicators of friendship quality. Overall, seeking and receiving highquality support, which is a foundational element of coping with stress, seems almost synonymous with good peer relationships.

This idea of an intermingling between stress, support, and peer relationships implies that better friendships should be a resource for coping and its development, and better friendships should buffer against negative effects of stress. Yet, it is also clear from the research that associations are bidirectional, and this is worth highlighting: Not only do higher-quality friendships provide opportunities for coping and development, but children and youth who are more competent socially and emotionally (as marked by, for example, better coping)

551

are also advantaged in selection, longevity, and positive quality of their friendships (Hubbard & Dearing, 2004; Klimes-Dougan et al., 2014). For example, research has found that seeking support from friends is a good strategy for building closer friendships (Remillard & Lamb, 2005).

In addition to bidirectionality of influence between peer relationships and stress-coping processes, we need to consider the bimodality of coping: it may be the negativity of peer relationships even during interactions with friends, rather than their positivity, that is important in promoting coping. Peer relationships, either groups or friendship dyads, can involve both support and problems, such as conflict or relational aggression, as these can co-occur (Ferguson et al., 2019; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2013). For example, in a public speaking task conducted with audiences of familiar peers, pretask-reported negative features of the peer group audience (i.e., reports of peers' negative evaluation and victimization) were associated with a steeper increase in speakers' negative affect during the task (Katz et al., 2019). Pretask reports of group members' negative features were not associated with speakers' patterns of cortisol or salivary alphaamylase (SAA) during the task and group members' positive features (connectedness and comfort) were not associated with speakers' patterns of affect, cortisol, or SAA.

Gender as a Qualifier

Finally, across many of the studies described, gender was an important qualifier of associations between peer relationships, relationship quality, emotions, stress, and coping. For example, multiple studies report gender differences in coping responses (e.g., Glick & Rose, 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2009), in the content of friendship interactions (e.g., Miller-Slough & Dunsmore, 2019; Rose et al., 2016; von Salisch et al., 2014), and in peer correlates of coping challenges or failures (e.g., Graber et al., 2016; Perry-Parish & Zeman, 2011; Stone et al., 2019). Many other studies we cite here also noted gender differences or gender moderation of significant effects, which opens the possibility of different processes of stress and coping for boys compared to girls. Our coverage on this topic has been limited in this chapter, but we do encourage attention to gender in future research. especially as a moderator. Although not covered here, we also encourage similar studies of children and adolescents embedded within different communities or from different cultural backgrounds (see Chapters 23 and 24 in this volume).

Summary and Conclusion

Research studies directly addressing peer relationships and the development of coping are scarce. However, considering research on 1) peer stress, 2) the impact of the presence of peers on emotional reactivity, regulation, and coping, and 3) what is known about support, communication. and disclosure between friends and other peers suggests that peers, including peer groups and friends, are active participants in the development of children's and adolescents' coping responses to stress. Children and adolescents can repeatedly experience or witness encounters of peers as stressors, confronting rejection, victimization, harassment, and teasing, that require significant coping resources and sometimes defending and support for others. During these interactions, and in more positive interactions, peers provide norms of emotion expression and regulation when stressful events occur; peers, especially friends, can be a soothing presence; peers can distract each other from problems; and peers can model responses that others can copy. Through communication and disclosure, peers also are direct coaches of stress-coping responses and their development. We tend to see peers as resources for making sense of stressful events. All these experiences and the repeated interactions with peers, especially "emotion talk" or "problem talk" with friends (Legerski et al., 2015; Rose et al., 2016), allow adolescents to rapidly accumulate knowledge about coping and relationships. Taken together, we expect that peer relationship experiences accumulate, allowing the development of an increasingly multidimensional and organized toolbox of possible coping responses to stress.

There appear to be three streams of evidence emerging, each of which each deserves further research attention. These streams identify: 1) specific ways that friends and other peers coach each other's coping responses, 2) how children and adolescents (and even older age groups) use a range of supportive and unsupportive responses to shape stress and coping responses within their peer group and friends, and 3) how children and adolescents provide help to alleviate distress through communication and distraction and help each other to confront stressors through problem-solving practice. It is especially remarkable that much of the current body of research identifies the potential dark side of peer relationships, such as interactions that can enhance coping failures, add fuel to existing problems, or increase negative affect. To balance this focus, we think that it is equally important that research addresses developmental patterns as gains as well as losses when identifying the social influences of peers on coping responses.

Children and adolescents are still new to many stressors, they are amid the development of their capacities to cope constructively, and they typically place a great deal of focus on their developing relationships with same-age partners. Thus, it is important to acknowledge that peers can bring extra burdens and produce ideas that serve to elevate distress to new levels or that can interfere with optimal coping responses. Research has only begun to examine how the positive and negative effects of peer relationships on stress-coping responses, and particularly the development of coping, unfold during childhood, adolescence and beyond. Many questions remain and we encourage research that continues along these themes into the future.

References

- Adams, R. E., Santo, J. B., & Bukowski, W. M. (2011). The presence of a best friend buffers the effects of negative experiences. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(6), 1786–1791. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0025401
- Aldwin, C. M., Skinner, E. A., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Taylor, R. (2011). Coping and selfregulation across the lifespan. In K. Fingerman, C. Berg, T. Antonucci, & J. Smith (Eds.), *Handbook of lifespan development* (pp. 563–590). Springer.
- Banny, A. M., Ames, A., Heilbron, N., & Prinstein, M. J. (2011). Relational benefits of relational aggression: Adaptive and maladaptive associations with friendship quality. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(4), 1153–1166. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022546
- Berg, C. A., & Strough, J. (2010). Problem solving across the life span. In K. Fingerman, C. Berg, T. Antonucci, & J. Smith (Eds.), *Handbook of lifespan development* (pp. 239–265). Springer.
- Booker, J. A., & Dunsmore, J. C. (2017). Affective social competence in adolescence: Current findings and future directions. *Social Development*, 26(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10 .1111/sode.12193
- Borowski, S. K., Zeman, J., & Braunstein, K. (2018). Social anxiety and socioemotional functioning during early adolescence: The mediating role of best friend emotion socialization. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 38(2), 238–260. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0272431616665212

- Bradbury, S. L., Dubow, E. F., & Domoff, S. E. (2018). How do adolescents learn cybervictimization coping skills? An examination of parent and peer coping socialization. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(9), 1866–1879. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0812-y
- Brandtstädter, J., & Renner, G. (1990). Tenacious goal pursuit and flexible goal adjustment: Explication and age-related analysis of assimilative and accommodative strategies of coping. *Psychology and Aging*, 5(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.5.1.58
- Brown, B. B., & Larson, J. (2009). Peer relationships in adolescence. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology: Contextual influences on adolescent development* (pp. 74–103). Wiley. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9780470479193.adlpsy002004
- Calhoun, C. D., Helms, S. W., Heilbron, N., Rudolph, K. D., Hastings, P. D., & Prinstein, M. J. (2014). Relational victimization, friendship, and adolescents' hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis responses to an in vivo social stressor. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(3), 605–618. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/80954579414000261
- Casper, D. M., Card, N. A., & Barlow, C. (2020). Relational aggression and victimization during adolescence: A meta-analytic review of unique associations with popularity, peer acceptance, rejection and friendship characteristics. *Journal* of Adolescence, 80, 41–52. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2019.12.012
- Chein, J., Albert, D., O'Brien, L., Uckert, K., & Steinberg, L. (2011). Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brain's reward circuitry. *Developmental Science*, 14(2), F1–F10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687 .2010.01035.x
- Ciarrochi, J., Wilson, C. J., Deane, F. P., & Rickwood, D. (2003). Do difficulties with emotions inhibit help-seeking in adolescence? The role of age and emotional competence in predicting help-seeking intentions. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, *16*(2), 103–120. https://doi .org/10.1080/0951507031000152632

Cillessen, A. H. N., & Bukowski, W. M. (2018).
Sociometric perspectives. In W. M. Bukowski,
B. Laursen, & K. H. Rubin (Eds.), *Handbook of peer interactions, relationships, and groups* (pp. 64–83).

553

- Collins, W. A., & Laursen, B. (2004). Changing relationships, changing youth. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 24(1), 55–62. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0272431603260882
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B., Jaser, S., Bettis, A., Watson, K., Gruhn, M., Dunbar, J., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Connor-Smith, J. K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H., & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Counseling and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 976–992. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- Coyne, S. M., & Ostrov, J. M. (Eds.). (2018). The development of relational aggression. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/ 9780190491826.001.0001
- Dishion, T. J., & Tipsord, J. M. (2011). Peer contagion in child and adolescent social and emotional development. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 189–214. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.093008.100412
- Duffy, A. L., Gardner, A. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2020). Peer rejection and dislike. In M. J. Zimmer-Gembeck & A. M. Waters (Vol. Eds.), S. Hupp & J. D. Jewel (Series Eds.), *The encyclopedia of child and adolescent development: Emotion in childhood* (pp. 1727–1740). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781119171492.wecad191

Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Guthrie, I. K., & Reiser, M. (2000). Dispositional emotionality and regulation: Their role in predicting quality of social functioning. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(1), 136–157. https://doi .org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.1.136

Ferguson, S., Duffy A., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Laursen, B. (2019). The adolescent friendship structure inventory (AFSI): A review and empirical consolidation of existing measures. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 16(6), 654–665. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629 .2018.1488684

Furman, W., & Buhrmester, D. (2009). The Network of Relationships Inventory: Behavioral systems version. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 33(5), 470–478. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0165025409342634

Gardner, A. A., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2021). Coping skills. In A. Epperson (Section Ed.) & B. Halpern-Felsher (Ed.), *The encyclopedia of child and adolescent health: Cognitive and psychosocial development* (pp. 1–11). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-818872-9.00029-7

Garrote, A. (2020). Academic achievement and social interactions: A longitudinal analysis of peer selection processes in inclusive elementary classrooms. *Frontiers in Education*, 5, Article 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2020.00004

Glick, G. C., & Rose, A. J. (2011). Prospective associations between friendship adjustment and social strategies: Friendship as a context for building social skills. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(4), 1117–1132. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0023277

Gottman, J. M., & Mettetal, G. (1986).
Speculations about social and affective development: Friendship and acquaintanceship through adolescence. In J. M. Gottman & J. G. Parker (Eds.), *Conversations of friends:* Speculations on affective development (pp. 192–237). Cambridge University Press.

Graber, R., Turner, R., & Madill, A. (2016). Best friends and better coping: Facilitating psychological resilience through boys' and girls' closest friendships. *British Journal of* *Psychology*, *107*(2), 338–358. https://doi.org/10 .1111/bjop.12135

Hartup, W. W. (1996). The company they keep: Friendships and their developmental significance. *Child Development*, 67(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996 .tb01714.x

Hartup, W. W., & Stevens, N. (1999). Friendships and adaptation across the life span. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 8(3), 76–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00018

Herres, J., Caporino, N. E., Cummings, C. M., & Kendall, P. C. (2018). Emotional reactivity to daily events in youth with anxiety disorders. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, *31*(4), 387–401. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2018.1472492

Hostinar, C. E., Sullivan, R. M., & Gunnar, M. R. (2014). Psychobiological mechanisms underlying the social buffering of the hypothalamic– pituitary–adrenocortical axis: A review of animal models and human studies across development. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(1), 256–282. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032671

Hubbard, J. A., & Dearing, K. F. (2004). Children's understanding and regulation of emotion in the context of their peer relations. In J. B.
Kupersmidt & K. A. Dodge (Eds.), *Children's peer relations: From development to intervention* (pp. 81–99). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10653-005

Katz, D. A., Peckins, M. K., & Lyon, C. C. (2019). Adolescent stress reactivity: Examining physiological, psychological and peer relationship measures with a group stress protocol in a school setting. *Journal of Adolescence*, 74, 45–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .adolescence.2019.05.002

Keen, R. (2011). The development of problem solving in young children: A critical cognitive skill. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.031809 .130730

Kindermann, T. A. (2007). Effects of naturallyexisting peer groups on changes in academic engagement in a cohort of sixth graders. *Child Development*, 78(4), 1186–1203. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01060.x

- Klimes-Dougan, B., Pearson, T. E., Jappe, L., Mathieson, L., Simard, M. R., Hastings, P., & Zahn-Waxler, C. (2014). Adolescent emotion socialization: A longitudinal study of friends' responses to negative emotions. *Social Development*, 23(2), 395–412. https://doi.org/10 .1111/sode.12045
- Kochenderfer-Ladd, B., & Skinner, K. (2002). Children's coping strategies: Moderators of the effects of peer victimization? *Developmental Psychology*, 38(2), 267–278. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0012-1649.38.2.267
- Larson, R. W., & Richards, M. H. (1994). Divergent realities: The emotional lives of mothers, fathers, and adolescents. Basic Books.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Legerski, J.-P., Biggs, B. K., Greenhoot, A. F., & Sampilo, M. L. (2015). Emotion talk and friend responses among early adolescent same-sex friend dyads. *Social Development*, 24(1), 20–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12079
- Masters, M. R., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Farrell, L. J., & Modecki, K. L. (2021). Coping and emotion regulation in response to social stress tasks among young adolescents with and without social anxiety. *Applied Developmental Science*.
- Masters, M. R., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Farrell, L. J., & Modecki, K. L. (2023). Coping and emotion regulation in response to social stress tasks among young adolescents with and without social anxiety. *Applied Developmental Science*, 27(1), 18–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691 .2021.1990060
- Miller-Slough, R. L., & Dunsmore, J. C. (2016). Parent and friend emotion socialization in adolescence: Associations with psychological adjustment. *Adolescent Research Review*, *1*, 287–305. https://doi .org/10.1007/s40894-016-0026-z
- Miller-Slough, R. L., & Dunsmore, J. C. (2019). Longitudinal patterns in parent and friend emotion socialization: Associations with adolescent emotion regulation. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 29(4), 953–966. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jora.12434
- Modecki, K. L., Minchin, J., Harbaugh, A. G., Guerra, N. G., & Runions, K. C. (2014).

Bullying prevalence across contexts: A metaanalysis measuring cyber and traditional bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 55(5), 602–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth .2014.06.007

- Nakamichi, K. (2017). Differences in young children's peer preference by inhibitory control and emotion regulation. *Psychological Reports*, *120*(5), 805–823. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0033294117709260
- Neal, J. W., & Veenstra, R. (2021). Network selection and influence effects on children's and adolescents' internalizing behaviors and peer victimization: A systematic review. *Developmental Review*, 59, Article 100944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2020.100944
- Newman, M. L., Holden, G. W., & Delville, Y. (2011). Coping with the stress of being bullied. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 2(2), 205–211. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1948550610386388
- Perry-Parish, C., & Zeman, J. (2011). Relations among sadness regulation, peer acceptance, and social functioning in early adolescence: The role of gender. *Social Development*, 20(1), 135–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00568.x
- Ponzi, D., Muehlenbein, M. P., Geary, D. C., & Flinn, M. V. (2016). Cortisol, salivary alphaamylase and children's perceptions of their social networks. *Social Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 164–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470919.2015.1045988
- Prinstein, M. J., & Giletta, M. (2020). Future directions in peer relations research. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 49(4), 556–572. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2020 .1756299
- Pronk, R., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2010). It's "mean," but what does it mean to adolescents?: Aggressors' and victims' understanding of relational aggression. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 25(2), 175–204. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0743558409350504
- Reindl, M., Gniewosz, B., & Reinders, H. (2016). Socialization of emotion regulation strategies through friends. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49(C), 146–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence .2016.03.008

555

- Remillard, A. M., & Lamb, S. (2005). Adolescent girls' coping with relational aggression. Sex Roles: A Journal of Research, 53(3–4), 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-005-5680-8
- Rohrbeck, C. A., Ginsburg-Block, M. D., Fantuzzo, J. W., & Miller, T. R. (2003). Peerassisted learning interventions with elementary school students: A meta-analytic review. *Journal* of Educational Psychology, 95(2), 240–257. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.95.2.240
- Rose, A. J., & Rudolph, K. D. (2006). A review of sex differences in peer relationship processes: Potential trade-offs for the emotional and behavioral development of girls and boys. *Psychological Bulletin*, *132*(1), 98–131. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.1.98
- Rose, A. J., Schwartz-Mette, R. A., Glick, G. C., Smith, R. L., & Juebbe, A. M. (2014). An observational study of co-rumination in adolescent friendships. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(9), 2199–2209. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0037465
- Rose, A. J., Schwartz-Mette, R. A., Smith, R. L., & Asher, S. R. (2012). How girls and boys expect disclosure about problems will make them feel: Implications for friendships. *Child Development*, 83(3), 844–863. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01734.x
- Rose, A. J., Smith, R. L., Glick, G. C., & Schwartz-Mette, R. A. (2016). Girls' and boys' problem talk: Implications for emotional closeness in friendships. *Developmental Psychology*, 52(4), 629–639. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ dev0000096
- Rudolph, K. D., Dennig, M. D., & Weisz, J. R. (1995). Determinants and consequences of children's coping in the medical setting: Conceptualization, review, and critique. *Psychological Bulletin*, 118(3), 328–357. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.118.3.328
- Saarni, C. (1988). Children's understanding of the interpersonal consequences of dissemblance of nonverbal emotional-expressive behavior. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 12(4), 275–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00987596
- Sandstrom, M. J. (2004). Pitfalls of the peer world: How children cope with common rejection

experiences. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 32(1), 67–81. https://doi.org/10 .1023/B:JACP.0000007581.95080.8b

- Santiago, C. D., Brewer, S. K., Fuller, A. K., Torres, S. A., Papadakis, J. C., & Ros, A. M. (2016). Stress, coping, and mood among Latino adolescents: A daily diary study. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(3), 566–580. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jora.12294
- Schaefer, D. R., Adams, J., & Haas, S. A. (2013). Social networks and smoking: Exploring the effects of influence and smoker popularity through simulations. *Health Education and Behavior*, 40(10), 24S–32S. https://doi.org/10 .1177/1090198113493091
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., Aunola, K., & Nurmo, J.-E. (2009). Changes in stress perception and coping during adolescence: The role of situational and personal factors. *Child Development*, 80(1), 259–279. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01258.x
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Persike, M. (2017). Gendered pathways to young adult symptomatology: The impact of managing relationship stress during adolescence. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 41(1), 52–63. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0165025416646485
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping from birth to emerging adulthood: Neurophysiological and social underpinnings, qualitative shifts, and differential pathways towards psychopathology and resilience. Springer.
- Smetana, J. G. (2010). The role of trust in adolescent-parent relationships: To trust you is to tell you. In K. J. Rotenberg (Ed.), *Interpersonal trust during childhood and adolescence* (pp. 223–246). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9780511750946.011
- Stone, L. B., Mennies, R. J., Waller, J. M., Ladouceur, C. D., Forbes, E. E., Ryan, N. D., Dahl, R. E., & Silk, J. S. (2019). Help me feel better! Ecological momentary assessment of anxious youths' emotion regulation with parents and peers. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(2), 313–324. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10802-018-0454-2

- Sugimura, N., Rudolph, K. D., & Agoston, A. M. (2014). Depressive symptoms following coping with peer aggression: The moderating role of negative emotionality. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 42(4), 563–575. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10802-013-9805-1
- Tassi, F., & Schneider, B. H. (1997). Task-oriented versus other-referenced competition: Differential implications for children's peer relations. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 27(17), 1557–1580. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1997.tb01613.x
- Taylor, K. A., Sullivan, T. N., & Kliewer, W. (2013). A longitudinal path analysis of peer victimization, threat appraisals to the self, and aggression, anxiety, and depression among urban African American adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42(2), 178–189. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10964-012-9821-4
- Trompeter, N., Bussey, K., & Fitzpatrick, S. (2018). Cyber victimization and internalizing difficulties: The mediating roles of coping self-efficacy and emotion dysregulation. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 46(5), 1129–1139. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10802-017-0378-2
- Troop-Gordon, W. (2017). Peer victimization in adolescence: The nature, progression, and consequences of being bullied within a developmental context. *Journal of Adolescence*, 55, 116–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .adolescence.2016.12.012
- Uink, B. N., Modecki, K. L., & Barber, B. L. (2017). Disadvantaged youth report less negative emotion to minor stressors when with peers: An experience sampling study. *International Journal* of Behavioral Development, 41(1), 41–51. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0165025415626516
- Valkenburg, P. M., Sumter, S. R., & Peter, J. (2011). Gender differences in online and offline self-disclosure in pre-adolescence and adolescence. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 29, 253–269. https://doi.org/10 .1348/2044-835X.002001
- Veenstra, R., Dijkstra, J. K., & Kreager, D. A. (2018). Pathways, networks, and norms:
 A sociological perspective on peer research. In
 W. M. Bukowski, B. Laursen, & K. H. Rubin

(Eds.), Handbook of peer interactions, relationships, and groups (pp. 45–63). Guilford Press.

- Vijayakumar, N., Flournoy, J. C., Mills, K. L., Cheng, T. W., Mobasser, A., Flannery, J. E., Allen, N. B., & Pfeifer, J. H. (2020). Getting to know me better: An fMRI study of intimate and superficial self-disclosure to friends during adolescence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *118*(5), 885–899. https://doi.org/10 .1037/pspa0000182
- Vollet, J. W., George, M. J., Burnell, K., & Underwood, M. K. (2019). Exploring text messaging as a platform for peer socialization of social aggression. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(1), 138–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/ dev0000848
- von Salisch, M. (2001). Children's emotional development: Challenges in their relationships to parents, peers, and friends. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 25(4), 310–319. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01650250143000058
- von Salisch, M. (2018). Emotional competence and friendship involvement: Spiral effects in adolescence. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 15(4), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17405629.2017.1422720
- von Salisch, M., & Pfeiffer, I. (1998). Anger regulation in children's friendship: Development of a questionnaire. *Diagnostica*, 44(1), 41–53.
- von Salisch, M., & Zeman, J. (2018). Pathways to reciprocated friendships: A cross-lagged-panel study on young adolescents' anger regulation towards friends. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(3), 673–687. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10964-017-0683-7
- von Salish, M., Zeman, J., Luepschen, N., & Kanevski, R. (2014). Prospective relations between adolescents' social-emotional competencies and their friendships. *Social Development*, 23(4), 684–701. https://doi.org/10 .1111/sode.12064
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child*

557

Development Perspectives, 9(2), 96–100. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12112

- Waller, E. M., & Rose, A. J. (2013). Adolescents' co-rumination with mothers, co-rumination with friends, and internalizing symptoms. *Journal of Adolescence*, 36(2), 429–433. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2012.12.006
- Waller, J. M., Silk, J. S., Stone, L. B., & Dahl, R. E. (2014). Co-rumination and co-problem-solving in the daily lives of adolescents with major depressive disorder. *Journal of American Academy of Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(8), 869–878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2014.05 .004
- Way, N. (2013). Boys' friendships during adolescence: Intimacy, desire, and loss. *Journal* of Research on Adolescence, 23(2), 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12047
- Webb, H., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2014). The role of friends and peers in adolescent body dissatisfaction: A review and critique of 15 years of research. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 24(4), 564–590. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.1208
- Youniss, J., & Smollar, J. (1985). Adolescent relations with mothers, fathers, and friends. University of Chicago Press.
- Zajac, R. J., & Hartup, W. W. (1997). Friends as coworkers: Research review and classroom implications. *The Elementary School Journal*, 98(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1086/461881
- Zeman, J., Cassano, M., & Adrian, M. (2013).
 Socialization influences on children's and adolescents' emotional self-regulation processes: A developmental psychopathology perspective.
 In K. Barrett, G. Morgan, & N. Fox (Eds.), Handbook of self-regulatory processes in development: New directions and international perspectives (pp. 79–107). Routledge. https://doi .org/10.4324/9780203080719
- Zeman, J., & Garber, J. (1996). Display rules for anger, sadness, and pain: It depends on who is watching. *Child Development*, 67(3), 957–973. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131873
- Zeman, J., & Shipman, K. (1997). Social-contextual influences on expectancies for managing anger and sadness: The transition from middle childhood to adolescence. *Developmental*

Psychology, *33*(6), 917–924. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0012-1649.33.6.917

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2015). Emotional sensitivity before and after coping with rejection: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 41, 28–37. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.appdev.2015.05.001
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). Peer rejection, victimization, and relational self-system processes in adolescence: Toward a transactional model of stress, coping, and developing sensitivities. *Child Development Perspectives*, 10(2), 122–127. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep .12174
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Duffy, A. (2014). Heightened emotional sensitivity intensifies the association between relational aggression and victimization among girls but not boys. *Development & Psychopathology*, 26(3), 661–673. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579414000303
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Hunter, T. A., & Pronk, R. (2007). A model of behaviors, peer relations and depression: Perceived social acceptance as a mediator and the divergence of perceptions. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 26(3), 273–302. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2007.26.3 .273
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Lees, D. C., Bradley, G. L., & Skinner, E. A. (2009). Use of an analogue method to examine children's appraisals of threat and emotion in response to stressful events. *Motivation and Emotion*, 33(2), 136–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-009-9123-7
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Lees, D., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Children's emotions and coping with interpersonal stress as correlates of social competence. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 63(3), 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-9536.2011.00019.x
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2009). Adolescents coping with stress: Development and diversity. *Prevention Researcher*, 15, 3–7.
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and

critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi .org/10.1177/0165025410384923

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2015). Adolescent vulnerability and the distress of rejection: Associations of adjustment problems and gender with control, emotions, and coping. *Journal of Adolescence*, 45, 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence .2015.09.004

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016).The development of coping and regulation:Implications for psychopathology and resilience.In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental*

psychopathology (3rd ed., Vol. 4, pp. 485–544). Wiley.

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Skinner, E. A., Morris, H., & Thomas, R. (2013). Anticipated coping with interpersonal stressors: Links with the emotional reactions of sadness, anger and fear. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 33(5), 684–709. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431612466175

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Waters, A. M., & Kindermann, T. (2010). A social relations analysis of liking for and by peers: Associations with gender, depression, peer perception, and worry. *Journal of Adolescence*, 33(1), 69–81. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2009.05.005

23 Income, Income Inequality, Community, and the Development of Coping

The Reformulated Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model

Martha E. Wadsworth, Jarl A. Ahlkvist, Allison Pequet, and Chelsea O. Mayo

Introduction

In the United States an exceptionally high degree of economic inequality is accompanied by the impoverishment of at least 1 in 10 residents, if one counts only those who live below the federal poverty line (Semega et al., 2020). Women, children, families supported by single mothers, and people of color are overrepresented in this conservative estimate of the poor population, of which almost half are living in deep poverty trying to get by on incomes of less than half the poverty line (Bullock, 2019). Unmet economic need takes a toll on health, and standing on the bottom rungs of the economic ladder in a country with large gaps between the rich and the poor makes things even worse (Wagstaff & van Doorslaer, 2000). High income inequality in an affluent country like the USA brings the wide gap between those who are prospering and those who are struggling economically into sharp relief. Added to the material hardship of living in poverty, poor people carry the psychological burden of feeling inadequate and powerless as they are frequently "disparaged, discounted, belittled, and ignored" (Davis & Williams, 2020, p. 659). These negative social comparisons of one's status and self-worth in relation to others are also associated with poor physical and mental health outcomes.

Humans are no different from other species in that one of the most potent stressors

affecting us is competition for resources. In terms of resource scarcity relevant for humans in particular, both income and income inequality matter for health. At each step down the socioeconomic ladder from the very highest income bracket to the very lowest, there is a significant decrement in both mental and physical health (e.g., Braveman et al., 2010). This gradient exists in most countries across the globe and is steepest in countries with the highest levels of economic inequality such as the USA (Pickett & Wilkinson, 2015). In this chapter we focus on the low end of the income spectrum and on the bottom rungs of the socioeconomic ladder because these social locations create a unique developmental context; one that is short on resources, supports, and basic necessities and is often marked instead by instability, danger, unpredictability, and high levels of chronic, uncontrollable stress. Various physical and behavioral adaptations arise from poor people's efforts to survive in inhospitable environments where resources are made artificially scarce. Unfortunately, some adaptations necessitated by economic hardship are associated with physical and mental health morbidity and elevated mortality over time (McEwen & Seeman, 1999; Sapolsky, 1982).

The Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model (APRS model) provides a framework for understanding how the economic circumstances

561

of an individual's developmental context exert powerful effects on their customary ways of coping with and adapting to stressful conditions. The model has guided empirical investigations of the different ways that children, adolescents, adults, and families cope with the stressors and conditions that are created, exacerbated, and maintained by poverty and low socioeconomic status (SES) (i.e., povertyrelated stress; PRS; e.g., Wadsworth & Berger, 2006). These studies have identified patterns of responding to PRS that appear to protect against the development of psychopathology and other patterns that may promote psychopathology. This corpus of work suggests that the unique challenges and constraints that accompany life in poverty require different coping and self-regulation strategies than those that are well suited to adequately resourced environments - and as a result children developing in the context of poverty often acquire self-regulation and coping abilities better suited to low-resource environments. These developments led to refinements of the APRS model, including incorporating a functional adaptation lens focusing on the utility of coping in different contexts, rejecting a bilateral view of universally adaptive and maladaptive coping, and recognizing that whereas coping certainly involves individual processes, coping is also embedded within social groups such as family, friends, and communities and can therefore also include collaborative grouplevel responses (e.g., Wadsworth et al., 2020). The reformulated APRS model allows for a more complete understanding of individual variation in stress adaptation by accounting for the ways that coping repertoires dynamically develop and are enacted in a socially embedded context.

In this chapter, we (1) describe the theoretical and empirical origins of the APRS model, (2) explicate its core and newly expanded biopsychosocial elements, and (3) discuss how we have further expanded the APRS model to include culture, context, and community in understanding the development of coping in this critically important context. After each section we provide a table summarizing the key ideas that guided us in developing the APRS model. In conclusion we (4) offer implications for APRS model-informed interventions and recommendations for next steps in research on stressadapted coping development.

Empirical and Theoretical Origins of the Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model

The APRS model has its origins in both the family stress model (Masarik & Conger, 2017) and McLovd's context of stress framework (McLoyd, 1990), each of which explicated how family economic problems translate into negative effects on children via poverty-related stress effects on parents. According to the family stress model, economic hardship creates economic strain - struggles to make ends meet and sacrifices made to do so – which takes a toll on parents' mental health and relationship with each other. Compromised parental functioning then spills over into the parent-child relationship and interferes with a parent's ability to enact effective parenting behaviors. Similarly, the context of stress framework addresses the backdrop of economic hardship surrounding various stressors and life events, with a primary focus on the effects of hardships on parents. This framework emphasizes that the context of economic hardship can amplify the effects of day-to-day stressors that might otherwise not have as large of an impact.

While both models emphasize how economic hardship compromises parental functioning (which in turn affects children), children's adaptation responses to the stressors created by economic hardship are not included in these models. Wadsworth and Compas (2002) emphasized that in addition to the indirect effects of hardship on children via parental effects, children are also aware of family financial troubles, find them to be distressing, and enact a variety of strategies to cope with these stressors. Furthermore, youth-reported poverty-related stressors (such as not being able to buy something important and hearing parent(s) discuss serious financial problems) are associated with emotional and behavioral problems over and above the contributions made by family SES indicators, supporting the proposition that children's own experiences and interpretations of poverty-related stressors are also important to consider (Wadsworth & Compas, 2002). Evans' research on cumulative risk showed that multiple aspects of life in poverty, such as crowding, substandard housing, and family turmoil together raise the risk for child developmental problems, and further suggested that no one type of poverty-related risk factor is more consequential than the others. Rather, it is the sheer accumulation of multiple risk factors present in the environment of childhood poverty that compromises development (Evans et al., 2013).

As summarized in Table 23.1, the APRS model (Wadsworth et al., 2011) expanded upon these parent-focused models by explicitly focusing on children's own experiences of economic hardship as well as how they cope with poverty-related stressors. This program of research has further expanded conceptualization of poverty-related stress to encompass both financial difficulties as well as other stressful events that co-occur with poverty, such as household chaos, interparental conflict, exposure to violence, and food insecurity. Hence, the term poverty-related stress captures the total stress or impact placed on an individual (or group) resulting from an accumulation of negative life events, day-to-day hassles, and

Table 23.1 Guiding ideas for developing theAPRS model

- The APRS model includes children's adaptation responses to stressors created by economic hardship.
- PRS captures the total stress or impact placed on an individual (or group) resulting from an accumulation of negative life events, day-today hassles, and chronic conditions that occur in the context of poverty.
- Effortful coping and involuntary stress responses moderate the effects of PRS on children's functioning.
 - Primary and secondary engagement coping have health-promotive and -protective effects on children's functioning.
 - Dysregulated stress responses exacerbate negative effects of PRS on children's functioning.

chronic conditions that occur in the context of poverty (Wadsworth & Berger, 2006).

The APRS model posits that low SES and low-income create stress for all members of a family, not just the adults. The model proposes that PRS has direct and indirect effects on both children and parents in a family, disrupting family relationships and processes, constraining the ability to enact active, engagement coping in the face of PRS and instead encouraging disengagement coping and increasing involuntary stress responses. Prospective tests of the PRS model have revealed strong support for moderated effects of PRS on youth functioning via the interaction of PRS with both effortful and involuntary stress responses. For example, in their study of low-income families, Wadsworth et al. (2011) found that PRS was more strongly associated with psychological problems among children and adolescents with lower levels of engagement coping and/or heightened stress reactivity and involuntary stress responses.

Two types of coping in particular appear to have efficacy for coping with PRS. Both primary (e.g., emotion regulation, problemsolving) and secondary (e.g., acceptance, cognitive restructuring) control engagement coping, for example, consistently predict fewer internalizing symptoms in children and adults. even when accounting for previous symptoms and the pernicious effects of PRS. Primary control coping appears to serve a health promotive effect, as it tends to have direct negative associations with internalizing symptoms, whereas secondary control coping has often shown protective effects via interactions with PRS. These results suggest that, although taking steps to directly solve the financial problem or manage one's emotions is related to better functioning when utilized, the lack of opportunities for such direct action probably limits the effectiveness of primary control coping generally. Secondary control coping, on the other hand, is something that individuals can implement anywhere, anytime, perhaps boosting its effectiveness in buffering this type of stress.

Findings of empirical investigations of the APRS model (e.g., Wadsworth et al., 2013) further highlight that heightened involuntary responses to stress, likely stemming from physiologic stress system calibrations (Evans et al., 2007), can exacerbate the already-damaging effects of PRS on the mental health of children and families. When combined with continuing exposure to high levels of the stresses associated with poverty, these dysregulated stress responses increase the likelihood of psychological problems. Although these relations paint a bleak picture of the cyclical nature of the associations among poverty, stress reactivity, and psychopathology, understanding the important role of involuntary stress responses may direct the development of prevention programs that focus not only on enhancing coping but also on reducing involuntary stress responses.

Core Biopsychosocial Elements of the Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model

As delineated by both the adaptive calibration model (Del Giudice et al., 2011) and our own functional adaptation framework (Wadsworth, 2015), individuals develop skills and capacities that equip them to survive in the future ecological niche that best matches their past ecological niche. The developmentally and ecologically informed APRS model proposes that the developmental context of poverty shapes children's skills, abilities, and stress physiology to manage and adapt to stress in ways that serve them well in the short term but can also place them at long-term risk for and physical health mental problems (Santiago & Wadsworth, 2011). Literally and figuratively PRS wears people down and leads to consequential physiological and psychological adaptations. The following sections review PRS' physiological adaptations in stress response systems that have cascading effects on other organ systems and health, and simultaneous adaptations to coping repertoires that tailor skills and capacities to survival in a resource-scarce environment.

Physiologic Adaptations

According to allostatic load theory, chronic overuse of the body's stress response systems, including the sympathetic-adrenomedullary (SAM) system, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and associated organ systems, weathers the body, leading to premature diseases of aging – diseases such as cancer, heart disease, and type II diabetes that usually affect older adults – occurring in mid-adulthood or earlier for individuals who grew up in poverty (McEwen & Stellar, 1993). Recent decades have seen marked increases in type II diabetes and risk for cardiovascular disease (e.g., inflammation) in children and adolescents growing up in poverty (e.g., Chen et al., 2002; Gaskin et al., 2014; Nemeroff, 2021). Further, recent research has shown markers of accelerated aging at the cellular and molecular level, where premature degradation of the protective telomere "caps" on the tips of chromosomes (long considered an index of cellular aging) is evident in poverty-exposed individuals as early as adolescence (Meier et al., 2019).

Modern developmental theory and research emphasize and explicate how the developing human organism is dynamically shaped in concert with its environment. The physiologic stress response system - perhaps more accurately described as a "sensitivity to environmental input" system - is exquisitely attuned to physical and social inputs from (before) birth. The response of the stress system to day-to-day events co-shapes our development starting even prenatally. Along our developmental pathway, there are many forks in the road, and which fork we take is guided by our prior development and our current circumstances. According to experiential canalization theory (Blair & Raver, 2012), for example, throughout development, a child encounters various environmental inputs - obstacles, opportunities, interactions, problems - to which they must respond. These responses both constitute and cause development, setting a child along a pathway that they follow until the next hurdle to which they respond, grow, change, and thereby embark along the next branch of the path. It is a constant branching of experience-dependent learning. As further explained in developmental cascade theory (Masten & Cicchetti, 2010), the repeated developmental experiences encountered along these paths accumulate and to some extent pave the way for future barriers, opportunities, and events that will be encountered and thereby contribute to the types and directions of available paths.

In brief, the SAM system detects incoming threats, events, and situations to which the organism needs to respond for survival or to maintain homeostasis. Together with the parasympathetic nervous system and HPA, the SAM coordinates a response from which learning about the environment will occur and homeostasis will ensue. These stress responses learned and practiced over time become our characteristic ways of being, of responding to stress and challenges, of keeping ourselves regulated, motivated, engaged – our characteristic cognitive, emotional, and behavioral repertoires (e.g., Chapters 8 and 9 in this volume).

What is clear is that there is no one "correct" developmental pathway. There are many possible pathways that will successfully lead to adulthood. As the individual travels along these pathways, they acquire knowledge about the world and skills for interacting with the world – equipping the individual to function well in a future world. Which future world? The beauty (and curse) of humans' experience-dependent development is that the future world is foretold by past experiences. Humans are incredibly adaptable, able to grow, develop, and flourish in countless possible ecological niches. This makes excellent evolutionary sense. Therefore, children growing up in dangerous, unpredictable, chaotic environments will develop neural networks and structures, behavioral repertoires, and ways of responding to their environments that are well suited to operating in dangerous, unpredictable, chaotic environments. They will not necessarily develop systems to support behaviors well suited to an enriched environment (such as delay of gratification or trust in adults). Del Giudice and colleagues (2011) refer to this process of environmental shaping of biological systems as "adaptive calibration," emphasizing that these "adaptations" serve children well in terms of maximizing their evolutionary fitness (ability to survive and grow). The adaptations have trade-offs in other domains as they are not necessarily well suited to other contexts (West-Eberhard, 2003).

The stress response system is well equipped to handle infrequent, very intense life or death situations but is poorly equipped for chronic stress. At the biological level, this process of maintaining homeostasis in the context of chronic stressors like PRS over time recalibrates physiological stress response systems such as SAM and HPA to be, for example, extra sensitive to possible threat and less sensitive to safety cues - so the SAM-HPA response becomes easily triggered and difficult to shut down. This type of recalibration helps the individual respond to threats and danger in the here and now, but leads to damage over time. Frequent or continual activation of the SAM and HPA can also overtax other major organ systems in the body (e.g., cardiovascular, immunologic, metabolic), which are mobilized by the SAM to enhance our ability to fight off or outrun a predator. These organ systems are not equipped to be stuck in overdrive so to speak, and over time they too can suffer damage from overuse. This is how PRS quite literally wears people down (Miller et al., 2011).

Coping Adaptations

As explicated in the APRS model, coping can protect against PRS or promote positive outcomes despite PRS – Zimmermann and colleagues define protective factors as those aspects of an individual or their ecosystem that modify the effects of risk factor via a stressprotective factor interaction (e.g., in a regression model) and distinguish them from promotive factors, which are compensatory variables that counteract exposure to risk through "an opposite, direct, and independent effect on outcome (Zimmermann et al., 2013, p. 215). Wadsworth and colleagues (e.g., Wadsworth & Compas, 2002) have repeatedly found that typically "adaptive" types of coping such as problem-solving, emotion regulation, and positive thinking do in fact act as protective and/or promotive factors for youth facing poverty-related stress - the problem is that poverty limits opportunities to enact these types of active coping methods and as such children in poverty report less use of these "adaptive" strategies. They also report using more typically "maladaptive" disengagement coping such as avoidance and wishful thinking than other youth, yet findings are equivocal as to whether or not disengagement coping is maladaptive in the context of poverty (Edlynn et al., 2008).

Wadsworth (2015) proposed that this process of calibration of coping repertoires paralleled the adaptation processes described in the adaptive calibration model (ACM; Del Giudice et al., 2011). The implications of this alignment are outlined in Table 23.2. Labelling them as functional adaptations, Wadsworth noted that typically "maladaptive" avoidant coping seems to be overdeveloped and typically "adaptive" engagement coping is underutilized by individuals exposed to chronic environmental adversity. Furthermore, a number of studies support that typically maladaptive forms of coping such as avoidance can be beneficial in certain developmental contexts marked by danger and unpredictability. Hence, coping adaptations, like biological adaptations, may be functional when considered in context.

It appears therefore that children exposed to chronic and uncontrollable stress develop narrow repertoires of coping that equip them to cope with danger, unpredictability, and resource scarcity. Chronic and uncontrollable stressors are particularly challenging and damaging because they simultaneously drain

Table 23.2 Guiding ideas for the corebiopsychosocial elements of the APRS model

- Developing the skills, abilities, and stress physiology to effectively manage and adapt to PRS in the short term can increase children's risk for long-term health problems.
- The calibration of coping repertoires parallels the adaptation processes described in the ACM.
 - Overdevelopment of "maladaptive" avoidant coping and underdevelopment of "adaptive" engagement coping may be functional in PRS contexts.
 - Functional adaptation in PRS environments promotes the development of skills and capacities that equip youth for future ecological niches that match their past ecological niche.
 - The chronic and uncontrollable nature of PRS is particularly challenging and damaging for children because it simultaneously drains resources and support for coping and limits opportunities for them to enact active coping methods.

resources and support for coping and offer few avenues by which a child can cope actively. Our studies have consistently found higher levels of cognitive and behavioral avoidance in samples of children experiencing elevated levels of poverty, family conflict, and community violence and victimization. Moreover, avoidant coping in the context of conflict and violence is not associated with problems in the short term and only becomes a liability with long-term use (Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009). Children facing PRS also report using less primary control coping (active attempts to problem-solve and manage emotions), a type of coping typically associated with positive outcomes. Our work has suggested that the chronic and uncontrollable nature of PRS makes it difficult-to-impossible for children to identify active coping solutions - a

phenomenon common to uncontrollable stress (Wadsworth et al., 2011). Secondary control coping (efforts to accommodate oneself to stress through acceptance, cognitive reframing, distraction) tends to be more effective in coping with uncontrollable stress, but children facing toxic stressors like PRS report using less of this type of coping as well (e.g., Wadsworth & Compas, 2002).

Primary reliance on avoidant coping, while adaptive for toxic stress, does not equip children to cope with the wide array of circumstances they will encounter in life and places them at risk for development of mental health problems (Wadsworth et al., 2005). Coping strategies that are adaptive in their immediate environments may not continue to be as effective in the long term or in different contexts. The ACM highlights how coping adaptations such as hyper-vigilance serve to protect the child from threatening stimuli such as parental conflict and household chaos but do not necessarily translate well to future situations. Acknowledgment of calibrated responses and their respective developmental trade-offs are important insights gleaned from the ACM and a functional adaptation perspective that have informed the APRS model.

Reformulating the APRS Model: A Balanced Approach to Coping

Since its introduction a decade ago we have revised the APRS model in recognition of the functional benefits and trade-offs of stressadapted coping discussed earlier. The guiding ideas for reformulating the model are summarized in Table 23.3. As Frankenhuis and Nettle (2020) observe, when it comes to understanding people living in poverty researchers may "misconstrue a behavior as a deficit when it is a reasonable response or skill in the context of poverty" (p. 17). Viewing behaviors as "reasonable responses" or functional adaptions to

Table 23.3 Guiding ideas for reformulating the APRS model

- Chronic and uncontrollable PRS is socially embedded in underresourced environments and necessitates individual and group-level coping responses and adaptations.
- Collaborative coping describes a group response to shared stressors like PRS that enables collective problem-focused coping responses to them.
 - Collective action to mitigate shared PRS provides opportunities for active coping to solve problems that an individual's coping abilities cannot.
 - Collaborative coping can simultaneously strengthen and diversify individual group members' coping repertoires and regulate or modify their shared environment through collective action.
- The reformulated APRS model incorporates the influence of sociocultural context and group identification on the development of coping.
 - Family coping encompasses how families cope together in a collective effort to strengthen the family as a whole and maintain the emotional stability and well-being of family members.
 - Culture serves as a collective coping resource when individuals draw on shared traditions, identities, beliefs, and values to help themselves and each other cope with shared stressors.
 - Identification with social groups shapes coping responses at both the individual and collective levels through the mechanisms of collective efficacy and social support.
 - Empowered individuals recognize and critique structural inequities, perceive those stressful conditions can be changed, and act collectively to do so to mitigate PRS at the community level.

PRS is vital in reframing them as contextually appropriate, even when they have harmful consequences downstream for people living in poverty or are less reasonable or functional in different socioeconomic contexts (Pepper & Nettle, 2017). In addition, we have come to recognize the limits of individual coping for dealing with the overwhelming volume and magnitude of stressors created by economic deprivation and inequality. Accordingly, we have incorporated group-level responses to PRS into our model because of the potential of collective action to mitigate shared stress stemming from socioeconomic disadvantage in a way that an individual's coping abilities cannot. In the reformulated APRS model we conceive of this as a process of "collaborative coping."

Collaborative Coping

Compas et al. (2001) defined coping as "conscious volitional efforts to regulate emotion, cognition, behavior, physiology, and the environment in response to stressful events or circumstances" (p. 89). More recently. Wadsworth et al. (2018) described collaborative coping as "engaging with like-minded others in collective action to address a need in one's community as a means for coping with PRS" (p. 1033). Collaborative coping denotes purposeful group efforts to help individuals "regulate" their personal emotions, cognitions, behaviors, physiology, and environment to enable collective problem-focused (primary control) coping to address collective stressors like PRS. We therefore suggest that collaborative coping can simultaneously strengthen and diversify individual group members' coping repertoires (functionally adapted to coping with PRS and promotive of positive outcomes in other contexts) and "regulate" or modify their shared environment through collective action to mitigate it.

Our concept of "collaborative coping" with PRS is an effort to retain a balance between

how individuals cope with stress and how they cope alongside others in a shared stressful context. However, it is also a way of moving toward the investigation of how people cope with PRS together - in ways not reducible to how individuals cope with this stressor on their own. So, individual coping and collaborative coping with PRS are not mutually exclusive individual coping and the individual developmental consequences of it do not cease when collaborative coping strategies are engaged. Attention to types of collaborative coping that individuals cannot accomplish alone sheds light on how coping not only develops at an individual level or in a collective context, but how coping repertoires and the accumulation of biopsychosocial impacts on people living with PRS play a role in how they adapt and with what consequences over the life course. In other words, the reformulated APRS model allows for a more complete understanding of individual variation in stress adaptation by accounting for the ways that coping repertoires develop contextually through practice alone or in collaboration with others over time.

Our modified APRS model highlights how sociocultural contexts and group identification encourage or constrain various individual coping responses and opportunities for collaborative coping because both influence the development of coping. In the case of PRS, opportunities for collaborative coping may be especially important, not only because they can yield collective action to reduce PRS, but also because engaging in collaborative coping (even when instrumentally unsuccessful) introduces ways of coping beyond those that are relied on because they are functionally adaptive for individuals living in poverty (particularly primary control coping, which is less functionally adaptive for individuals living with PRS). Next, we outline the key concepts that have informed this reformulation.

Family Coping

Santiago and Wadsworth (2011) suggest that "family coping is composed of a family's strategies and behaviors aimed at strengthening the family as a whole, maintaining emotional stability and well-being of family members, using family and community resources to manage a situation or event, and making efforts to problem solve family hardships created by stress" (p. 322). To date, research on families coping with PRS has focused primarily on how individual family members cope with povertyrelated stressors, rather than on how families cope together. Research into how children's coping develops in the context of their family relationships via parental coping socialization processes generally reveals similarities between how parents and children cope with PRS (Kliewer et al., 2006). Children learn and acquire coping strategies based on their parents' coaching, modeling, and reinforcement of preferred or customary ways of coping (Abaied & Stanger, 2017). For example, Santiago et al. (2012) found that low-income children rely on primary control engagement or disengagement coping strategies if their parents modeled those strategies.

In general, family coping includes strategies aimed at maintaining a positive outlook (family reframing), encouraging family participation in traditional spiritual or religious activities (family spiritual support), encouraging positive family relationships and getting help from relatives (family social support), and managing community resources to assist the family (family mobilizing support) (McCubbin et al., 1998). Family coping has been shown to have positive effects in adjusting to other types of stress, such as a child's developmental disability and parental chronic illness (e.g., Korneluk & Lee, 1998; Lustig, 2002). Research on family coping with PRS is limited, but Santiago and Wadsworth's

569

(2011) work with economically strained Latinx families revealed that familism and family reframing were inversely associated with preadolescent psychological problems, whereas family passive appraisal (e.g., waiting for things to get better on their own) and seeking support from family members were linked to more problems. The negative effects of support-seeking may reflect a higher need for support in more distressed families. A recent study of adults in the UK by Stevenson et al. (2020) showed that strong identification with one's family was associated with more family support, better well-being, and higher collective family financial coping efficacy. Collective efficacy (perceptions that the group can help members cope with stress) was, in turn, associated with reduced financial distress, suggesting that beliefs about the family's ability to come together and cope with financial stress may serve a protective or promotive function in the face of hardship.

Collectivist Coping

The cultural coping literature focuses on the way that cultural values, beliefs, practices, and social norms shared by interdependent members of collectivistic in-groups inform how the individual members cope with stressors. Collectivistic cultures are distinguished from individualistic Western cultures by their emphasis on members' interdependence and the prioritizing of the in-group's norms and well-being. The study of collectivist coping strategies has been vital in demonstrating cultural variability in coping behaviors and outcomes and questioning the universality of individualistic ways to cope with stress and their implications for mental health and wellbeing (Heppner, 2008). Described as a "constellation of multifaceted stress responses shaped and enhanced by collectivistic norms, values, and tendencies" (Kuo, 2013, p. 377),

collectivist coping strategies range from the personal (e.g., acceptance, reframing, striving) to the relational (e.g., family support) and may coexist in collectivistic social contexts (Bernardo et al., 2017; Heppner et al., 2006). Scholarship on culture-specific coping underscores that coping styles and their effectiveness must be considered and evaluated in the cultural contexts in which responses to stress occur and that culture serves as a collective coping resource when individuals draw on shared traditions, identities, beliefs, and values to help themselves and each other cope with shared stressors. As suggested by Santiago and Wadsworth (2011), the familism commonly valued in collectivist cultures encourages ways of coping with PRS oriented to safeguarding the family. Similarly, the use of group-centered activities by African American youth and adults to cope with economic disadvantage and racial discrimination stems from an African-based collectivist culture that stresses the well-being of the in-group (Gaylord-Harden & Cunningham, 2008; Utsey et al., 2007).

Social Identity

Social identity theory further spotlights how individuals' identification with social groups shapes coping responses at both the individual and collective levels (Becker et al., 2015). This is reflected in Gaylord-Harden et al.'s (2012) cultural-assets framework for adapting to stress that incorporates both culturally relevant coping and social identity into a strength-based explanation for how African American youth deal with race-related stressors. As demonstrated by Constantine et al. (2002), identifying positively with their racial group encouraged African American youth to use Afrocultural, group-centered activities ("collective coping") to cope with stress. As a "complex model of collective resilience"

(Stevenson et al., 2020, p. 3), the social identity approach posits collective efficacy and social support (reliance on group members) as mechanisms that shape the association between group identification and responses to stress (Jetten et al., 2017). Specifically, Haslam and Reicher's (2006) social identity model of the intergroup dynamics of stress (SIS) focuses on the degree to which members identify positively with an in-group facing group-based disadvantage, such as racial discrimination and economic deprivation. For example, positive identification with family (Stevenson et al., 2020) and community (McNamara et al., 2013) have been shown to predict individual well-being when the group is facing economic stress.

Haslam and Reicher (2006) conceptualize "collective coping strategies" as resulting from social processes wherein stressful events or conditions are evaluated by the group as a problem or challenge and a group-based strategy for addressing the problem is sought. Strong identification with a low-status group whose members feel stymied in their efforts to respond effectively to a stressor can lead to "collective coping" in response to а community-level or structural problem, such as neighborhood violence or economic injustice. In their study of African Americans' appraisals of coping options, Outten et al. (2009) view racial group identification as a coping resource that can engage members in collective action to improve the group's position (social competition/resistance) and promote a positive reframing of African American identity (social creativity) as group protection strategies. Discussing "the relative futility of addressing group-based disadvantage as an individual," Outten et al. (2009) explain that "group-based disadvantage is a pervasive stressor that implicates oneself along with one's group members so that it would be difficult for individuals to envision themselves

effectively mitigating group-based disadvantage on their own, regardless of how highly identified they are with their social group" (p. 163).

However, McNamara et al. (2013) found in their study of residents in disadvantaged areas in Limerick City, Ireland that group identification predicted well-being via the mechanism of collective efficacy, but was not associated with collective action. They suggest that this is because community members felt stigmatized from the outside and stressed by the criminality in their own neighborhoods, which led to community disengagement as residents avoided activities that would highlight their spoiled identity and made them fearful. Thus, as the SIS model explains, group identification is necessary but not sufficient to promote "collective coping" with PRS; barriers to and opportunities for members to view their group as unfairly disadvantaged and engaging in collective action due to their social context, must also be considered.

Empowerment

Over two decades ago Gutierrez (1994) argued that because it targeted individual adaptation to stressful environments, the prevailing coping perspective would benefit from an empowerment framework in which stressful contexts might be changed through collective action. Seen through a critical consciousness lens, empowerment involves a recognition and critique of structural inequities; the perception that one can change such stressful conditions; and acting upon that perception to effect social change (Watts et al., 2011). Such critical reflection, political efficacy, and critical action are evident in how underresourced youth of color respond to marginalization and disadvantage (Roy et al., 2019). Zimmerman's empowerment theory (1995) provides a framework for youth-led collective action for

positive community change (Zimmerman et al., 2018) and community engaged crime prevention through environmental design (Rupp et al., 2020). For individuals, empowerment entails intrapersonal positive selfperceptions and interpersonal understanding of one's social context and how to change it. At the community level intracommunity perceptions of social cohesion, collective efficacy, and sense of community along with interactional social normative supports parallel individual outcomes. Importantly, a third behavioral component of individual and community empowerment is taking action to change the environment for the better (Aiyer et al., 2015; Zimmerman, 2000).

Summary and Implications

Since the first publication describing and testing the APRS model in 2011, our thinking about adaptation to PRS has grown and matured. This has stemmed from empirical tests of the model, advances in complementary areas such as the neurobiology of childhood adversity, and our efforts to develop a potent coping-based intervention for youths exposed to PRS. It is now time that we updated the APRS model to reflect our current thinking.

The first shift in thinking was a move away from adherence to strict ideas about which coping strategies are maladaptive and which are adaptive. Poverty is an individual and collective stressor that sets development along any number of possible pathways – trending toward pathways that prioritize survival amid scarcity and unpredictability rather than pathways made possible by environmental safety and predictability. Stress system responsivity, coping, and self-regulation are built along these pathways, and generally prepare an individual for future environments similar in nature to those previously encountered. Our research has revealed that there are few universals when it comes to coping, because the context in which coping occurs matters (Bendezú et al., 2016). Stress-adapted skills exist because they are currently helpful in navigating a highly stressful environment, or they were adaptive in the past and may continue to be useful to the extent that one continues to live life in a stressful context. Therefore, there are not "correct" and "incorrect" pathways – but rather pathways that simultaneously promote wellness in one domain (e.g., survival) and illness in another (e.g., anxiety and depression).

The second shift in thinking is therefore that stress-adapted coping is valuable and comes at a cost. The trade-offs that come with what Frankenhuis et al. (2020) refer to as stressadapted coping and regulation are not optimal and hence attention on how to lessen trade-offs is warranted. Given the variety and volume of conditions and events that comprise PRS, it is clear that coping with poverty requires many different types of strategies, including both strategies typically considered beneficial such as emotion regulation and problem-solving as well as strategies typically considered detrimental such as avoidance and wishful thinking. In PRS-affected youth, pervasive, repeated, and primary use of avoidance over time, for example, portends mental health problems, whereas strategic, periodic use of avoidance along with active coping strategies does not. This suggests that stress-adapted coping repertoires do not need to be replaced, but rather expanded to meet the heightened demands of PRS, and further that coping flexibility or knowing what to use when may also be critical.

Third, the wide array and sheer volume of stressors make it exceedingly difficult for an individual to cope effectively with PRS on their own. Hence, we have expanded our conceptualization of coping to include strategies and efforts that groups of individuals such as families or neighborhoods work on together. For youth especially, constant striving on one's own against insurmountable obstacles can lead to skin-deep resilience wherein a young person manages to succeed academically despite the odds, for example, but at the expense of their physical health (Brody et al., 2013). Coping together as a group is also consistent with collectivist values, beliefs, and practices that are not only culturally relevant but provide collective activities that are efficacious in coping with PRS. The APRS model now includes collaborative coping to reflect this emphasis on the importance of coping together as well as on one's own. Updating the APRS model with these emphases has several obvious implications for both intervention and research.

Implications for Interventions

First, interventions need to move beyond "fixing" deficits. Rather than situating the source of youth problem behavior as something they themselves or their parents are doing wrong that needs to be fixed, the APRS model situates poverty as the source of the problem and the thing that needs to be "fixed" or dealt with. This shift relinquishes the deficit mentality that pervades so much of the scholarship on poverty. As a result, APRS model-informed interventions should strive to "meet youth where they are," recognize their strengths as well as the utility of their stressadapted coping and regulation skillsets, and help them grow fuller, more broadly adaptive skillsets. Replacing stress-adapted skills with safe-adapted skills is likely to be extremely difficult and perhaps not very wise, as stressadapted skills may still be needed in certain developmental contexts.

Furthermore, the vast array and sheer volume of stressors to which youth in poverty are exposed necessitate expanding rather than exchanging coping repertoires - adding tools to youths' coping toolboxes rather than discarding "incorrect" tools. We would encourage intervention developers to consider ways in which programs might be able to draw on stress-adapted skills to scaffold or facilitate learning of new approaches or combinations of approaches, and ways that hidden talents discovered and might he nurtured Appreciation of the functional relevance of stress-adapted coping is critical and will hopefully inspire approaches that teach youth how to match their choice of coping strategy to the context. Similarly, helping youth develop coping flexibility - the ability to know what type of coping to use in a particular situation, and the flexibility to switch to a new strategy if the chosen one doesn't get the job done - is likely to be very beneficial (Cheng et al., 2014).

Second, to deal effectively with extraindividual stressors like poverty and discrimination, people need like-minded others - we can't always cope alone. Affiliation and belonging are important human needs that serve as critical coping resources, especially for those living in underresourced communities (García-Coll et al., 1996). Positive group identification, such as with one's neighborhood or ethnic/racial group, is central to the empowerment process for youth growing up in economically deprived communities (Lardier, 2018). Interventions should strive to build a uniting social identity among people facing shared PRS to pave the way for the psychological and collective empowerment needed to cope with it individually and collaboratively. Coping via social action for community change is one example of collaborative coping that is consistent with various positive youth development principles such as empowerment theory and youth participatory action research. Importantly, collaborative coping such as social action builds agency and a sense of purpose, which constitute fundamental human needs that are often depleted by chronic PRS.

Third, interventions could pull both ideas together for maximal impact. Multicomponent intervention programs that address both individual vouth-strengthening as well as community-based risk exposure reduction could amplify the effects of either approach on its own. Helping youth build fundamental selfregulation and coping skills needed to engage productively in group-based work and then with connecting vouth adults in the community with whom to work on social change projects would be a logical extension of the APRS model. Building a Strong Identity and Coping Skills (BaSICS) is the first intervention to explicitly apply the APRS model and is designed to improve and expand preadolescents' coping and self-regulation skills and to prevent the development of post-traumatic stress symptoms, anxiety, and depression (Wadsworth et al., 2018, 2020). We theorized that these individual-level goals would be best achieved through a social justice intervention in which coping and self-regulation skills are conceptualized as resources to facilitate positive identity development and proactive engagement with others to bring about social change (Quinn et al., 2017).

Hence, in line with critical consciousness and empowerment approaches, BaSICS content is derived from youths' own lived experiences and issues that matter to them, such as problems in the community. This approach helps raise awareness of social injustice and lays the groundwork for how they as "collaborative copers" can together address issues important to them (Roy et al., 2019). The BaSICS curriculum provides a structure to help youth learn and apply coping skills and develop a socially embedded sense of self, culminating with a youth-designed community action project that builds community assets and/or reduces community stressors. Via the social action work, which is made possible by the program's coping and identity skillbuilding, youth voices are heard, acknowledged, valued, and used for action. They become engaged in agentic activities to solve real problems in their community (Burns et al., 2019). Agency, belonging, and sense of purpose are hypothesized to empower youth in prosocial ways. In this way, BaSICS is designed to transform youth into agents of change and authors of their own stories rather than victims of their circumstances.

Implications for Research

First, the emerging literature on hidden talents (e.g., Ellis et al., 2020; Frankenhuis et al., 2020) suggests that some stress adaptations may be advantageous in many contexts and could be leveraged to promote positive development outside adverse environments. At present, the list of identified "talents" is short. In order to fully realize the potential of nurturing these preexisting strengths that develop under conditions of adversity, we first need to discover more of them. This will require a different approach to our research - a shift away from the deficit perspective and an openness to considering the full range of skills and abilities that children in poverty possess. The potential benefits of capitalizing on things poor kids already do well to build new capabilities are great.

Second, as noted earlier, because life in poverty creates so many stressors in so many domains of life, a child is likely to need a larger-than-average coping toolbox and knowledge about how and when to use which strategies. The current dearth of research on the efficacy of different types of coping in various contexts has made it difficult to guide this selection and tailoring process. Additional research is needed to better understand when

youth may benefit from certain strategies over others, and when a combination of approaches may be needed. Knowledge of hidden talents with which to scaffold the learning of new coping tools would be especially useful.

Third, active/action-oriented coping remains a cornerstone of efficacious coping - even though it can be exceedingly difficult at times to identify viable active solutions to PRS. The chronic and uncontrollable nature of PRS often makes it difficult-to-impossible for children to identify active coping solutions – a phenomenon common to uncontrollable stress (Wadsworth et al., 2011). While primary control coping may be effective when youth face controllable stressors, it is not a good fit in cases where stressors are uncontrollable (Clarke, 2006; Jaser et al., 2005). Evans' work has repeatedly shown that chronic experiences of the low levels of controllability of PRS and the dearth of available active solutions for PRS can lead to learned helplessness, giving up, and ultimately depression and other mental health problems. This is why the expansion from individual to collaborative coping is so important. Collaborative social action creates the opportunity for direct action and is also theorized to promote fundamental human needs of agency, belonging, and sense of purpose. Research is needed on both the challenges of and possibilities for collaborative coping with PRS. Such studies could examine context-specific processes that foster or limit empowerment and social identity in groups affected by PRS and how social networks influence collaborative coping in underresourced environments (Gazso et al., 2016).

Finally, as reviewed earlier, PRS leads to adaptations in neurobiological systems, such as the HPA axis. While these adaptations may have served important functions in the past, they do leave individuals vulnerable to physical and mental health trade-offs that can lessen well-being and contribute to early

morbidity and mortality. Interventions timed to neuroplastic developmental periods such as early postnatal life and the pubertal transition may have the potential to reverse "damage" or recalibrate physiologic systems. For example, the foster care infants enrolled in Dozier's Attachment and Biobehavioral Catchup treatment program showed a normalizing of their diurnal cortisol pattern over the course of treatment, as compared to controls (Bernard, Dozier, Bick, & Gordon, 2015). Similarly, a handful of studies have now shown that a normalizing recalibration of the HPA axis can occur during puberty for those youngsters who experienced early-life adversity such as parental separation or living in an orphanage who then experience an improvement in the home environment such as the return of the parent or adoption (e.g., DePasquale et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). These studies showed that such children had blunted cortisol responses early in puberty in comparison to controls, that then shifted to typical cortisol patterns by the end of puberty. Even cellular aging is highly malleable and regrowth/reversal is possible. Studies show strong support for telomere lengthening with the implementation of behavioral interventions (Epel, 2012). Hence, properly timed and appropriately targeted interventions hold great promise for improving the life chances of youth who experienced early-life adversity by providing "safe spaces" for them to practice individual and collaborative coping skills (primary control coping) that are by necessity underutilized in PRS contexts.

Conclusion

In sum, coping develops in a biopsychosocial context. As with most skills and abilities that humans acquire, characteristics of the individual such as temperament and physiologic stress reactivity interact with opportunity

structures, school and neighborhood characteristics, and family processes to direct the development of coping. Appreciating that there are substantial individual differences in children's coping skillsets, there do exist overarching patterns of coping and other stress responses that reflect the economic circumstances of a child's early life. Coping patterns developed in the context of economic deprivation and scarcity prioritize survival over health and wellness and do not necessarily translate well to different contexts. Still, until society can help transform youths' home environments into safer ones, stress-adapted coping may continue to be necessary. In addition, in thinking about interventions for stress-adapted youth, we need to shift away from believing such vouth need different coping strategies. Rather, we assert that they need more strategies to be able to regulate in the many and varied contexts they will encounter.

Further, we assert that efficacious coping with the overwhelming context of stress created by income inequality and poverty likely requires input and assistance from others. Collaborative coping reflects the types of actions that groups such as families, neighborhoods, and communities affected by economic hardship sometimes take to cope together to resolve a common problem. Exemplified by collective social action, collaborative coping both releases a child from feeling as if they need to cope with structural problems on their own, and provides the support, agency, sense of purpose, and belongingness needed to proactively face what we refer to as "societal stress." The updated APRS model embraces these complex ideas about coping in the context of low income and income inequality and therein offers new ideas for coping-based research and intervention with PRS-affected children. The hope is that the updated APRS model will inspire research that better reflects and appreciates the value in

the many and varied ways that individuals and their families, neighborhoods, and communities cope with poverty-related stress. Dumping the deficit model in basic research and intervention development with people in poverty is long overdue. Let's remedy that, shall we?

575

References

- Abaied, J. L., & Stanger, S. B. (2017). Socialization of coping in a predominantly female sample of caregivers: Contributions to children's social adjustment in middle childhood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 31(7), 958–964. https://doi .org/10.1037/fam0000342
- Aiyer, S. M., Zimmerman, M. A., Morrel-Samuels, S., & Reischl, T. M. (2015). From broken windows to busy streets: A community empowerment perspective. *Health Education & Behavior*, 42(2), 137–147. https://doi.org/10 .1177/1090198114558590
- Becker, J., Barreto, M., Kahn, K. B., & de Oliveira Laux, S. H. (2015). The collective value of "me" (and its limitations): Towards a more nuanced understanding of individual and collective coping with prejudice. *Journal of Social Issues*, 71(3), 497–516. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi .12125
- Bendezú, J. J., Perzow, S. E., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2016). What constitutes effective coping and efficient physiologic regulation following psychosocial stress depends on involuntary stress responses. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 73, 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.07.005
- Bernard, K., Dozier, M., Bick, J., & Gordon, M. K. (2015). Intervening to enhance cortisol regulation among children at risk for neglect: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 27(3), 829–841. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095457941400073X
- Bernardo, A. B., Wang, T. Y., Pesigan, I. J. A., & Yeung, S. S. (2017). Pathways from collectivist coping to life satisfaction among Chinese: The roles of locus-of-hope. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 106, 253–256. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.paid.2016.10.059

- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2012). Child development in the context of adversity: Experiential canalization of brain and behavior. *American Psychologist*, 67(4), 309–318. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0027493
- Braveman, P. A., Cubbin, C., Egerter, S., Williams, D. R., & Pamuk, E. (2010). Socioeconomic disparities in health in the United States: What the patterns tell us. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(1), 186–196. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2009.166082
- Brody, G. H., Yu, T., Chen, E., Miller, G. E., Kogan, S. M., & Beach, S. R. (2013). Is resilience only skin deep? Rural African Americans' socioeconomic status–related risk and competence in preadolescence and psychological adjustment and allostatic load at age 19. *Psychological Science*, 24(7), 1285–1293. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797612471954
- Bullock, H. E. (2019). Psychology's contributions to understanding and alleviating poverty and economic inequality: Introduction to the special section. *American Psychologist*, 74(6), 635–640. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000532
- Burns, B. M., Merritt, J., Chyu, L., & Gil, R. (2019). The implementation of mindfulnessbased, trauma-informed parent education in an underserved Latino community: The emergence of a community workforce. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 63(3–4), 338–354. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12342
- Chen, E., Matthews, K. A., & Boyce, W. T. (2002). Socioeconomic differences in children's health: How and why do these relationships change with age? *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(2), 295–329. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.2.295
- Cheng, C., Lau, H.-P. B., & Chan, M.-P. S. (2014). Coping flexibility and psychological adjustment to stressful life changes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(6), 1582–1607. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037913
- Clarke, A. T. (2006). Coping with interpersonal stress and psychosocial health among children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 10–23. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10964-005-9001-x

- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87.
- Constantine, M. G., Donnelly, P. C., & Myers, L. J. (2002). Collective self-esteem and Africultural coping styles in African American adolescents. *Journal of Black Studies*, 32(6), 698–710. https:// doi.org/10.1177/00234702032006004
- Davis, R. P., & Williams, W. R. (2020). Bringing psychologists to the fight against deep poverty. *American Psychologist*, 75(5), 655–667. https:// doi.org/10.1037/amp0000650
- Del Giudice, M., Ellis, B. J., & Shirtcliff, E. A. (2011). The adaptive calibration model of stress responsivity. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(7), 1562–1592. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.neubiorev.2010.11.007
- DePasquale, C. E., Donzella, B., & Gunnar, M. R. (2019). Pubertal recalibration of cortisol reactivity following early life stress: A crosssectional analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology Psychiatry*, 60(5), 566–575. https://doi.org/10 .1111/jcpp.12992
- Edlynn, E. S., Miller, S. A., Gaylord-Harden, N. K., & Richards, M. H. (2008). African American inner-city youth exposed to violence: Coping skills as a moderator for anxiety. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 78(2), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013948
- Ellis, B. J., Abrams, L. S., Masten, A. S., Sternberg, R. J., Tottenham, N., & Frankenhuis, W. E. (2020). Hidden talents in harsh environments. *Development and Psychopathology*, 34(1), 95–113. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579420000887
- Epel, E. (2012). How "reversible" is telomeric aging? *Cancer Prevention Research*, 5(10), 1163–1168. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207 .CAPR-12-0370
- Evans, G. W., Kim, P., Ting, A. H., Tesher, H. B., & Shannis, D. (2007). Cumulative risk, maternal responsiveness, and allostatic load among young adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(2),

341–351. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.2 .341

- Evans, G. W., Li, D., & Whipple, S. S. (2013). Cumulative risk and child development. *Psychological Bulletin*, *139*(6), 1342–1396. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031808
- Frankenhuis, W. E., & Nettle, D. (2020). The strengths of people in poverty. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 29(1), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721419881154
- Frankenhuis, W. E., Young, E. S., & Ellis, B. J. (2020). The hidden talents approach: Theoretical and methodological challenges. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 24(7), 569–581. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.tics.2020.03.007
- García Coll, C., Lamberty, G., Jenkins, R., McAdoo, H. P., Crnic, K., Wasik, B. H., & Vázquez García, H. (1996). An integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children. *Child Development*, 67(5), 1891–1914.
- Gaskin, D. J., Thorpe, R. J., McGinty, E. E., Bower, K., Rohde, C., Young, J. H., LaVeist, T. A., & Dubay, L. (2014). Disparities in diabetes: The nexus of race, poverty, and place. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(11), 2147–2155. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013 .301420
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Burrow, A. L., & Cunningham, J. A. (2012). A cultural-asset framework for investigating successful adaptation to stress in African American youth. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(3), 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00236.x
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., & Cunningham, J. A. (2008). The impact of racial discrimination and coping strategies on internalizing symptoms in African American youth. *Journal of Adolescent Youth*, 38(4), 532–543. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10964-008-9377-5
- Gazso, A., McDaniel, S., & Waldron, I. (2016). Networks of social support to manage poverty: More changeable than durable. *Journal of Poverty*, 20(4), 441–463. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10875549.2015.1112869
- Gutierrez, L. M. (1994). Beyond coping: An empowerment perspective on stressful life events.

Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 21(3), 201–220.

- Haslam, S. A., & Reicher, S. (2006). Stressing the group: Social identity and the unfolding dynamics of responses to stress. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(5), 1037–1052. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.5.1037
- Heppner, P. P. (2008). Expanding the conceptualization and measurement of applied problem solving and coping: From stages to dimensions to the almost forgotten cultural context. *American Psychologist*, 63(8), 805–816. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.63.8.805
- Heppner, P. P., Heppner, M. J., Lee, D., Wang, Y. W., Park, H., & Wang, L. (2006).
 Development and validation of a collectivist coping styles inventory. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 53(1), 107–125. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0022-0167.53.1.107
- Jaser, S. S., Langrock, A. M., Keller, G., Merchant, M. J., Benson, M. A., Reeslund, K., Champion, J. E., & Compas, B. E. (2005). Coping with the stress of parental depression II: Adolescent and parent reports of coping and adjustment. *Journal* of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 34(1), 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15374424jccp3401_18
- Jetten, J., Haslam, S. A., Cruwys, T., Greenaway, K. H., Haslam, C., & Steffens, N. K. (2017). Advancing the social identity approach to health and well-being: Progressing the social cure research agenda. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 47(7), 789–802. https://doi.org/10 .1002/ejsp.2333
- Kliewer, W., Parrish, K. A., Taylor, K. W., Jackson, K., Walker, J. M., & Shivy, V. A. (2006). Socialization of coping with community violence: Influences of caregiver coaching, modeling, and family context. *Child Development*, 77(3), 605–623. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00893.x
- Korneluk, Y. G., & Lee, C. M. (1998). Children's adjustment to parental physical illness. *Clinical Child Family Psychology Review*, 1(3), 179–193. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022654831666
- Kuo, B. C. H. (2013). Collectivism and coping: Current theories, evidence, and measurements of

collective coping. International Journal of Psychology, 48(3), 374–388. https://doi.org/10 .1080/00207594.2011.640681

- Lardier, D. T. Jr. (2018). An examination of ethnic identity as a mediator of the effects of community participation and neighborhood sense of community on psychological empowerment among urban youth of color. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *46*(5), 551–566. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.21958
- Lustig, D. C. (2002). Family coping in families with a child with a disability. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities*, 37(1), 14–22. www.jstor.org/stable/ 23879579
- Masarik, A. S., & Conger, R. D. (2017). Stress and child development: A review of the family stress model. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 13, 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.05 .008
- Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Developmental cascades. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(3), 491–495. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579410000222
- McCubbin, H. I., McCubbin, M. A., Thompson, A. I., & Thompson, E. A. (1998). Resiliency in ethnic families: A conceptual model for predicting family adjustment and adaptation. In H. I. McCubbin, E. A. Thompson, A. I. Thompson, & J. E. Fromer (Eds.), *Resiliency in families series: Vol. 2. Resiliency in Native American and immigrant families* (pp. 3–48). Sage Publications, Inc.
- McEwen, B., & Seeman, T. (1999). Allostatis, allostatic load, and stress. In N. B. Anderson (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of health and behavior* (pp. 41–44). Sage Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10 .4135/9781412952576.n13
- McEwen, B., & Stellar, E. (1993). Stress and the individual: Mechanisms leading to disease. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 153(18), 2093–2101. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1993 .00410180039004
- McLoyd, V. C. (1990). The impact of economic hardship on Black families and children: Psychological distress, parenting, and socioemotional development. *Child*

Development, *61*(2), 311–346. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1467-8624.1990.tb02781.x

- McNamara, N., Stevenson, C., & Muldoon, O. T. (2013). Community identity as resource and context: A mixed method investigation of coping and collective action in a disadvantaged community. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 43(5), 393–403. https://doi.org/10 .1002/ejsp.1953
- Meier, H., Hussein, M., Needham, B., Barber, S., Lin, J., Seeman, T., & Roux, A. (2019). Cellular response to chronic psychosocial stress: Ten-year longitudinal changes in telomere length in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 107, 70–81. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.04.018
- Miller, G. E., Chen, E., & Parker, K. J. (2011). Psychological stress in childhood and susceptibility to the chronic diseases of aging: Moving toward a model of behavioral and biological mechanisms. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(6), 959–997. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0024768
- Nemeroff, C. B. (2021). The trifecta of misery and disease vulnerability: Poverty, childhood maltreatment, and inflammation (editorial). *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 178(4), 282–284. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020 .21010087
- Outten, H. R., Schmitt, M. T., Garcia, D. M., & Branscombe, N. R. (2009). Coping options: Missing links between minority group identification and psychological well-being. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 58(1), 146–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00386.x
- Pepper, G., & Nettle, D. (2017). The behavioral constellation of deprivation: Causes and consequences. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 40, Article e314. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0140525X1600234X
- Pickett, K. E., & Wilkinson, R. G. (2015). Income inequality and health: A causal review. Social Science & Medicine, 128, 316–326. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.12.031
- Quinn, K., Pacella, M. L., Dickson-Gomez, J., & Nydegger, L. A. (2017). Childhood adversity

and the continued exposure to trauma and violence among adolescent gang members. *American Journal Community Psychology*, *59*(1–2), 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp .12123

- Roy, A. L., Raver, C. C., Masucci, M. D., & DeJoseph, M. (2019). "If they focus on giving us a chance in life we can actually do something in this world": Poverty, inequality, and youths' critical consciousness. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(3), 550–561. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000586
- Rupp, L. A., Zimmerman, M. A., Sly, K. W., Reischl, T. M., Thulin, E. J., Wyatt, T. A., & Stock, J. P. (2020). Community-engaged neighborhood revitalization and empowerment: Busy streets theory in action. *American Journal* of Community Psychology, 65(1–2), 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12358
- Santiago, C. D., Etter, E. M., Wadsworth, M. E., & Raviv, T. (2012). Predictors of responses to stress among families coping with poverty-related stress. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping*, 25(3), 239–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2011 .583347
- Santiago, C. D., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2009). Coping with family conflict: What's helpful and what's not for low-income adolescents. *Journal* of Child and Family Studies, 18(2), 192–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-008-9219-9
- Santiago, C. D., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2011). Family and cultural influences on low-income Latino children's adjustment. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 40(2), 332–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2011 .546038
- Sapolsky, R. (1982). The endocrine stress-response and social status in the wild baboon. *Hormones* and Behavior, 16(3), 279–292. https://doi.org/10 .1016/0018-506X(82)90027-7
- Semega, J., Kollar M., Shrider, E., & Creamer, J. (2020). Income and poverty in the United States, 2019 (Current Population Reports). Report No. P60–270. www.census.gov/library/visualizations/ 2020/demo/p60-270.html
- Stevenson, C., Costa, S., Wakefield, J., Kellezi, B., & Stack, R. J. (2020). Family identification

facilitates coping with financial stress: A social identity approach to family financial resilience. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 78, Article 102271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2020 .102271

- Utsey, S. O., Bolden, M. A., Lanier, Y., & Williams, O. (2007). Examining the role of culture-specific coping as a predictor of resilient outcomes in African Americans from high-risk urban communities. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 33(1), 75–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0095798406295094
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Developmental Perspectives*, 9(2), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12112
- Wadsworth, M. E., Ahlkvist, J., McDonald, A., & Tilghman-Osborne, E. (2018). Future directions in research and intervention with youths in poverty. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 47(6), 1023–1038. https://doi.org/10 .1080/15374416.2018.1485108
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Berger, L. (2006). Adolescents coping with poverty-related family stress: Prospective predictors of coping and psychological symptoms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10964-005-9022-5
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Compas, B. E. (2002). Coping with family conflict and economic strain: The adolescent perspective. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 12(2), 243–274. https://doi.org/10 .1111/1532-7795.00033
- Wadsworth, M. E., McDonald, A., Joos, C. M., Ahlkvist, J. A., Perzow, S. E., Tilghman-Osborne, E. M., & Brelsford, G. (2020).
 Reducing the biological and psychological toxicity of poverty related stress: Building a strong identity and coping skills. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(3–4), 305–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12400
- Wadsworth, M. E., Raviv, T., Compas, B. E., & Connor-Smith, J. K. (2005). Parent and adolescent responses to poverty related stress: Tests of mediated and moderated coping models. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 14(2),
283-298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-005-5056-2

- Wadsworth, M. E., Raviv, T., Santiago, C. D., & Etter, E. M. (2011). Testing the adaptation to poverty-related stress model: Predicting psychopathology symptoms in families facing economic hardship. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 40(4), 646–657. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2011.581622
- Wadsworth, M. E., Rindlaub, L., Hurwich-Reiss, E., Rienks, S., Bianco, H., & Markman, H. J. (2013). A longitudinal examination of the adaptation to poverty-related stress model: Predicting child and adolescent adjustment over time. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 42(5), 713–725. https://doi.org/10 .1080/15374416.2012.755926
- Wagstaff, A., & van Doorslaer, E. (2000). Income inequality and health: What does the literature tell us? *Annual Review of Public Health*, 21, 543–567. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev .publhealth.21.1.543
- Watts, R. J., Diemer, M. A., & Voight, A. M. (2011). Critical consciousness: Current status and future directions. *New Directions for Child* and Adolescent Development, 2011(134), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1146/10.1002/cd.310
- West-Eberhard, M. J. (2003). Developmental plasticity and evolution. Oxford University Press.

- Zhang, D., Fang, J., Zhang, L., Yuan, J., Wan, Y., Su, P., Tao, F., & Sun, Y. (2021). Pubertal recalibration of cortisol reactivity following early life parent-child separation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 278, 320–326. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.030
- Zimmerman, M. A. (1995). Psychological empowerment: Issues and illustrations. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 23(5), 581–599. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02506983
- Zimmerman, M. A. (2000). Empowerment theory. In J. Rappaport & E. Seidman (Eds.), *Handbook of community psychology* (pp. 43–63). Springer.
- Zimmerman, M. A., Eisman, A. B., Reischl, T. M., Morrel-Samuels, S., Stoddard, S., Miller, A. L., Hutchison, P., Franzen, S., & Rupp, L. (2018).
 Youth empowerment solutions: Evaluation of an after-school program to engage middle school students in community change. *Health Education* & *Behavior*, 45(1), 20–31. https://doi.org/10 .1177/1090198117710491
- Zimmerman, M. A., Stoddard, S. A., Eisman, A. B., Caldwell, C. H., Aiyer, S. M., & Miller, A. (2013). Adolescent resilience: Promotive factors that inform prevention. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(4), 215–220. https://doi.org/10 .1111/cdep.12042

24 Culture, Diversity, Context, and the Development of Coping

A Phenomenological Perspective

Bronwyn Nichols Lodato, Jennifer Hall, and Margaret Beale Spencer

Introduction

Representing the normative human condition, all individuals face challenges and experience psychological stress. Coping is a psychological process that allows individuals to manage the challenges and stressors that occur throughout the life course (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004). Through the use of specific targeted actions and cognitive techniques, coping reduces acute stress and increases overall well-being (Ben-Zur, 2009).

Although there are myriad coping strategies, not all tools are useful to everyone. One's identity determines the coping tools and strategies that are available to them. In other words, it is through identity that coping is operationalized. Gender, racial background, developmental stage, and socioeconomic status have all been shown to influence coping strategies (Matud, 2004; Moreland & Dumas, 2008; Santiago et al., 2012). Though important in determining identity, one's geographic location and demographic designations are but two facets of identity formation. Among people who share the same social identity, there exist individual identities, because there is also a phenomenological component to identity as individuals interpret the world around them, including the feedback they receive from others, infer from interactions with others, and figure out their place within it. Accordingly, there is intragroup variation.

Purpose and Key Concepts

Coping is multifaceted and dynamic in that it is an individualized process but takes place within shared developmental contexts. In other words, common contextual challenges might provoke the need for a coping response among all who exist within the shared context, but individuals can respond differently to such challenges. Given the intragroup variability we have already referenced, coping within shared contexts is distinctly individual given that people may not experience the environment in the same way due to phenomenological interpretation. For example, individual members within a family might cope differently in response to a shared family stressor depending on diverse role expectations (e.g., mother vs. child status, individualized temperaments. and developmental stage). Additionally, though individuals within a shared context might have common stressors, they will have varying amounts of net stress. As we will explore more fully, knowing the amount of stress or risk attached to an environment is not enough information to know what coping strategies are accessible and on which one may rely (Spencer et al., 1997).

The purpose of this chapter is to make explicit the ways that coping processes experienced in context are linked to identity. This is particularly important when considering that societal inequalities are often based upon identity. Thus, social inequality itself, then, provides a shared context for determining coping responses, and this very process becomes part of identity formation. When certain social identities are more likely to be pathologized, victimized, and excluded, then shared coping strategies are especially important for determining best practices as supports. We examine this issue through explicating experiences of diverse youth and families. First, we provide an overview of Spencer's phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST) framework, which operationalizes the relationship between coping and identity, then we discuss the particular contours of identity development for Black male youths in particular, and the interplay between parental identity and adolescent identity development in a lowresourced, urban setting. Further exploring the concept of context, the chapter then argues for the importance of considering the radiating impact of exogenous shocks on the developmental trajectories of diverse youth in the United States. We close with a call for novel research paradigms and strategies to account for those facets of coping that are anchored in an identity-focused development perspective that acknowledges individuals embedded in distinctive cultural and ecological contexts.

Coping, Identity, and Diverse Youth

It is critical to acknowledge that one's emergent identity is linked with implemented coping strategies and outcomes; thus, everyday coping practices also shape identity. Spencer's PVEST (1995, 2006, 2008) builds a bridge between vulnerability status, coping, identity, and context. By applying a phenomenological perspective to Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory (EST; 1986), Spencer's PVEST allows an analysis of self-appraisal and meaning-making processes occurring within interactions with others as a dynamic

system taking place within the various contexts of development (e.g., school, family, neighborhood). Coping occurs while individuals manage the satisfaction of normative developmental tasks taking place under varying conditions. These processes, evolving over time, at maturational points, and diverse spaces. underlie identity formation, coping processes, and life-stage outcomes (Spencer, 1995, 1999). Spencer's PVEST provides a framework to examine shared normative human development - through the interaction of coping, identity, and context character, which provide much variation in experiences and outcomes. The governing framework for this chapter, PVEST, accounts for individual and grouplevel differences in the experiences of coping, perceptions, and the negotiation of stress and dissonance (or lack thereof). As such, PVEST utilizes an identity-focused cultural-ecological (ICE) perspective, integrating issues of social, historical, and cultural context with normative maturational and developmental processes that individuals undergo and to which youth are particularly sensitive (Spencer, 1995).

Phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory is conceptualized as five basic components linked by bidirectional, recursive processes, forming a dynamic, cyclic model (see Figure 24.1). The first component, net vulnerability level, essentially consists of the contexts and characteristics that can potentially pose challenges and, thus, require coping during an individual's development at any life stage. Risk contributors are factors that may predispose individuals for adverse outcomes during particular developmental stages. The risk contributors function as liabilities that, of course, may be offset by corresponding stagespecific protective factors (e.g., cultural capital). For marginalized youth (youth of color and low-resource individuals in the USA), risks include socioeconomic conditions such as poverty, imposed expectations such as race



Figure 24.1 Outcome options for positive youth development: PVEST. (based on Spencer, 2008, p. 708)

and gender stereotypes, and larger historical processes including racial subordination and discrimination. At the same time, for highly privileged youth, a risk factor may be the lack of positive coping opportunities or unrealistic self-appraisals (e.g., an embraced identity but one difficult to live up to). Self-appraisal is a key factor in identity formation; perceptions of the risks one faces and the protective resources available are central to identity processes and development.

Net stress engagement level, the second component of PVEST, refers to the actual experience of situations requiring coping and which challenge an individual's well-being; these are risks that are actually encountered and that are juxtaposed against available supports. Available social supports can help youth negotiate experiences of stress; thus, supports are actualized protective factors. Virtually unconscious equilibrating efforts, which also impact future vulnerability, occur as the individual engages these stresses as challenges given accessible supports. Involvements with racism and unbridled supports - both subtle and overt - and related experiences of dissonance are salient stressors for youth that necessitate coping. Differential individual and group experiences with COVID-19 are recent exemplars of dissonance-generating conditions. Such nonnormative, asymmetrical events as COVID-19 compound the normative developmental issues that all adolescents must confront (e.g., puberty, identity exploration, peer relationships, experiences with independence expectations). One's history of cultural socialization can serve as a protective factor for some; its character matters for the coping developmental process, and available adult role models can serve as supports to help youth reactively cope with these experiences.

In response to stressors and in conjunction with supports, *reactive coping methods operationalized* "in the moment," in a particular context, are employed to resolve uncomfortable or dissonance-producing situations. Normative cognitive maturation makes youths' awareness of dissonance both acute and unavoidable. Reactive coping responses include problem-solving strategies that youth employ to deal with stress and dissonance, which can lead to either adaptive or maladaptive solutions.

As youth employ various coping strategies, self-appraisal continues, and those strategies that produce desirable results for the ego, whether adaptive or maladaptive - given redundant usage - are replicated. Accordingly, these become stable coping responses, and, coupled together, yield emergent patterned responses, or identities. Emergent identities define how individuals view themselves within and between their various contexts of development (e.g., family, school, neighborhood) and may show stability over time as well as navigated spaces. The combination of cultural/ethnic identity, gender role understanding, accessible supports, and self and peer appraisal all help to define one's identity.

Consistent with Eriksonian theorizing (1959), identity lays the foundation for future perceptions, self-appraisal, and behavior, yielding adverse or productive *life-stage*, *specific coping outcomes*. Productive outcomes include – although are not limited to – wellbeing, positive relationships, and high self-

esteem; at the same time, adverse outcomes may include poor health, the narcissism of underinterrogated privilege, incarceration, and self-destructive acts. Stated differently and given the shared and expected normative developmental task requirements confronted across the life course as described by Havighurst (1953), achieved successes (or failures to address expectations) at any one stage have implications for subsequent periods of development and consequent levels of vulnerability. The bidirectional and systems orientation of Spencer's theoretical framework demonstrates the links between stages and intragroup variability as contributed, as well, by context features. That is, individuals' outcomes at one developmental period have implications for the level of human vulnerability experienced at subsequent stages as lives unfold across the life course; prior outcomes matter as individuals confront normative developmental tasks at subsequent periods. As suggested by Figure 24.1, the PVEST normative process demonstrates why it is referred to as an ICE perspective (see Spencer, 1995, 2006, 2008). Figure 24.2 indicates the ever-forward-moving



Figure 24.2 As dynamic, systems-linked processes, PVEST represents identity-linked spiraling components, which unfold throughout life as humans engage normative stage-specific development tasks, which are confronted under varying ecological conditions (see Spencer, 2006; Spencer et al., 2006).

life-course line and development stage-specific tasks that the systemic processes of PVEST both confront and address.

The PVEST framework represents dynamic processes that continue throughout the lifespan as individuals encounter and balance new risks against protective factors, engage new stressors (potentially offset by supports), establish more expansive coping strategies, and redefine how they view themselves, which impacts how others view them, as well. The ICE perspective specifies the nature and character of intervening processes. Spencer's PVEST aims not only to capture this entire developmental process, but also to place it within its broader social contexts as everemergent identity processes unfold across the life course as linked to stage-specific developmental tasks (see Havighurst, 1953). Net stress engagement is concerned with the lived experiences of individuals within their environmental context that can pose obstacles to well-being. While the previous component, net vulnerability level, is about potential risk that an environment can impose on an individual, net stress engagement is about those actual risks experienced given one's confronting of stage-specific developmental tasks. The net stress engagement is comprised of experienced stressors and accessible supports that help mitigate the effects of the stressors. Examples of stressors might include experiences of racism or colorism, violence or danger confrontations by an individual, and just general daily hassles. An example of a social support might be positive relationships with adult role models.

Reactive coping is comprised of those personalized behaviors and cognitive techniques one employs to help manage the reality of their circumstances. Coping mechanisms are products of the environments in which they exist and can be maladaptive or adaptive in nature. Coping strategies react to the immediate stressors and provide opportunities for problemsolving. For example, one immediate stressor for an adolescent within a violent neighborhood might be the feeling of being unsafe on the way to and from school. Although clearly responsive to the immediate context, nevertheless, a maladaptive (albeit high-risk) response might be to adopt hypermasculine behaviors to signal that one is "tough" and not an easy victim (e.g., see Spencer et al., 1995). An adaptive response to the same stressor might be to identify and form relationships with "safe" people and develop "safe" routines that minimize risk when negotiating the environment.

Eventually coping mechanisms form the basis of identity development. As one employs the same set of techniques on a consistent basis and interprets the responses received from the external environment, one is able to decide what is useful and helpful until available strategies that get enough responses are found. These are the strategies that get repeated often and internalized. It is through this process that emergent identities develop. These tentative identities provide a framework for how individuals view themselves in multiple contexts while continuing to receive feedback from others that could be negative or positive. Emergent identities also provide an organized and stable sense of self for the individual navigating diverse spaces and places linked with the combinations of behaviors they deem appropriate for themselves.

Lastly, life-stage-specific outcomes are the result of forged identities. These specific outcomes could prove to be unproductive or productive. For example, an adolescent, seeking to cope with feeling unsafe in a violent neighborhood by participating in violent behaviors, might eventually begin to self-identify as someone who victimizes others. In this case individual coping became an identity that might result in a series of unproductive outcomes including negative relationships, incarceration, and financial insecurity. New situations and challenges arise as people move through the life course. Individuals develop new cognitive techniques in the manner previously described to navigate new scenarios and attendant challenges. It is important, then, to acknowledge that coping behaviors and strategies that work for people in one situation may not be equally effective in other contexts. As such, the identification of effective supports is important given implications for stress, challenge, and coping repertoires in response to novel contextlinked phenomena.

For example, African-American male youth in low socioeconomic neighborhoods might be compelled to cloak themselves in hypermasculine coping behaviors such as carrying weapons and being outwardly aggressive in order to shield themselves from fear and stress induced by threats from multiple environmental sources and underserved and protected neighborhoods (Stevenson, 1997). Lack of economic opportunity, failure of policing professionals to support and protect, neighborhood disorder, and threats to gender identity provoke youths to adopt hypermasculinity as a relevant and meaningful coping strategy. Unfortunately, hypermasculinity often proves to be a maladaptive short-term solution because those youth who engage in such behaviors increase their chances of encountering the very circumstances that they seek to avoid (Seaton, 2007). In a hypermasculine volatile environment in which youth are adopting risky behaviors in order to retain identity and self-esteem, it becomes imperative for one to learn how to navigate it at a young age.

Spencer et al. (1997) note that it is inadequate to only consider the "risks" or disadvantages when theorizing about individuals in context. Spencer's PVEST model notes that everyone across the socioeconomic spectrum has a net amount of both risk factors and supportive factors. While youth in poor communities may collectively have a disproportionate amount of risk factors, there will also be varying amounts of supportive factors among youth who live within the same context. Such consideration of risk and supportive factors aids an appreciation for and understanding of resilience and why people within the same context can yield vastly different results as a function of something as basic as youths' inferences of close parental monitoring (see Spencer et al., 1996).

African-American adolescent males in poor neighborhoods interpret an enormous number of messages from peers, their communities, intended supports who may function as sources of threat (e.g., policing professionals), and mainstream society, more generally. Stevenson (1997) argues that the impossibility of navigating and constructing a stable identity leaves such youth "missed, dissed and pissed," or misinterpreted by others, seething with expressed and unexpressed long-term anger, and disrespected by authorities. Emerging movements led by diverse young adults (e.g., Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA), Black Lives Matter, Stop Asian Hate rallies) offer new avenues for understanding collective engagement of net stress, with the ramifications for positive identity development yet to be revealed.

While PVEST research addresses some of the critical concerns of the context of youth participation in criminalized behaviors, the role of inferred parental monitoring as a protective factor, and parenting in poor black neighborhoods. have been underinterrogated. Specifically, scholars have not yet adequately addressed the phenomenological processes through which parents explain and make meaning of such behaviors within their communities. Next, this chapter addresses this conceptual gap through an examination of Black mothers' parental identities and the adolescent identity development processes for their children.

All parents experience anxieties concerning their children's outcomes. Parents are members of a societal category and are subject to a set of societal expectations, some of which seem obvious and universal. Even though not all parents are burdened by the same social and historical forces, all are expected to yield the same desirable child outcomes and employ the same set of culturally approved strategies and behaviors. Not to do so is to fail in one's parental role and be a failure in one's parenting identity.

Parental identity, like all identities, is dependent to some extent on comparison with others who are both similar and different. But in order to protect their individual parental identity, such parents make the cognitive leap between not being able to control their children's outcomes while simultaneously being blamed for them, by imagining children as capable agents with their own desires, motives, and actions that are contrary to what their parents want for them.

African-American Urban Mothers

In the sections above, we have indicated that coping tools, strategies, and behaviors are determined by identity and one's location within the life course. We've used the example of potential coping strategies and identity formation processes in African-American urban youth to note that some youths must negotiate growing and developing within the context of racial segregation, poverty, and larger sociocultural phenomena that has real implications for their life trajectories and outcomes. Underresourced African-American urban communities are more likely to be policed than other types of neighborhoods. Further, a considerable portion of police action is dependent upon individual officer discretion. In accordance with "stop and frisk" policies that allow

officers to stop and search anyone they consider to be "suspicious," Black and Latino males are more likely to be targeted than all other groups (Goldstein, 2013).

Sociologist Bruce Western (2007) asserts that incarceration has become more common among poor urban African-American males than bachelor degrees, marriage, or military participation. For this group of men, incarceration begins early in the life course and tends to become a cyclical pattern, as men who are released from prison must continue to engage in illegal activities because a prison record impedes their ability to enter the formal wage economy.

However, such youth and young men do not exist within a vacuum. Poor parents raising Black boys in racially segregated neighborhoods are located at the center of the hyperincarceration phenomenon. If one key role of parenting is understood to be that of training children to fully participate in society and keep them from harm, how do parents in such environments manage the difference between larger cultural expectations of child outcomes and their actual lived experiences within their families? This is further complicated by the fact that Black parents are often implicated in undesirable youth outcomes.

Historically, Black mothers have been inaccurately conceptualized in the broader imagination as negligent, morally deficient, and incapable of completing the central parenting task, which is to raise responsible and productive citizens (Roberts, 1997). In fact, Black mothers have been seen largely as corrupting figures that tarnish Black youth, who often need state-sanctioned protection from their selfish Black mothers who put their own needs ahead of their children (Roberts, 2012). Since at least the end of the Civil War, the social ills of the Black community were thought to be rooted in the deficient instruction of Black children by Black mothers. The exact nature of the conceptualizations evolved as society changed, but all involved comparing Black mothers to their White counterparts, without accounting for differences in the latter group's aggregate access to more resources and privileges.

In a study of 40 parents within one Chicago neighborhood. Southside Hall (2020) concluded that poor Black parents of youth who participate in criminalized behaviors are able to maintain a positive parental identity in spite of societal messages that tell them they are bad parents and in spite of undesirable child outcomes. One way they are able to maintain a positive parental identity is by imagining children as capable agents with their own desires, motives, and actions that are contrary to what their parents want for them. Hall finds that parents come to understand that parental behaviors are not directly tied to child outcomes and that there are no tried-and-true set of behaviors that assure child success. Poor Black youth then, are thought to have much more agency than their parents and are therefore choosing their outcomes. However, imagining youth as fully agentive can be read as a means of coping with unrealistic expectations by underresourced parents who know they are being blamed for their undesirable youth outcomes, vet cannot guarantee success for their children within the confines of their developmental context.

In the case of parental efforts in highly vulnerable communities, risks are significant and require substantial supports for offsetting the effects of challenging and inequitable national and local policies, practices, and conditions that compromise parental efforts no matter how well-intended for obtaining positive youth outcomes. This insight motivates a deeper exploration of the multidimensionality of context, and the criticality of its role when examining the connection between coping and identity development.

Coping, Context, and Identity Development

As noted earlier, Bronfenbrenner's EST provides a framework to engage the contextual factors that inform human development over the life course. Ecological systems theory (Figure 24.3) articulates a series of nested systems in which individuals are embedded, that are constituted by the proximal and distal components that interact with individuals' developmental milestones and trajectories.

Most immediately located around the individual is the microsystem that is primarily occupied by familial and home context. Adjacent to the microsystem is the mesosystem, which establishes the connection to the broader exosystem where more remote, disparate networks, such as neighbors and social services, reside. The outer bands are where Bronfenbrenner situates culture and values (macrosystem) and the broader events occurring over time envelop all of these nested systems (chronosystem). Certainly, the study of an exogenous shock that occurs within the chronosystem, such as the Great Recession of 2008, facilitates an examination of the implications of an event on the developmental processes and strategies undertaken by diverse young adults to cope with the disruptive effects of this event on their education planning and postsecondary pursuits. The investigation of the Great Recession can shed light on how to provide developmental supports to young adults as they navigate one of the most pivotal societal shocks in the last century, the COVID-19 global pandemic, that pierces through the proximal and distal systems that surround human developmental processes.

Spencer's PVEST considers risk an experience associated with harm or danger, which facilitate the cultivation of coping mechanisms to achieve a stable identity status. However, when risk is exacerbated by a global pandemic or economic shock, the level of risk may exceed



Figure 24.3 Ecological systems theory. *Source*: Spencer et al., 2002

the access to and availability of requisite supports to diverse youths as they carry out critical developmental tasks (Havighurst, 1953; Spencer, 1985). As highlighted in other works examining developmental processes of diverse youths (see Nichols Lodato, Hall, & Spencer, 2021; Nichols Lodato, Harris, & Spencer, 2021) it is important to examine the destabilizing implications of exogenous shocks, such as the Great Recession and the COVID-19 pandemic, on developmental contexts due to the sheer scale of the event impacting governing paradigms regarding the assumed developmental trajectories, particularly educational pathways after high school graduation for diverse young adults. Certainly, previous research that identifies the transition to adulthood or emerging adulthood as a distinctive developmental period evaluates the role of the developmental period over the life course (Arnett, 2000) or implications for intergenerational mobility (DeLuca et al., 2016). Additionally, when examining the milestone of postsecondary education attainment, it is critical to note that the pathways young adults pursue after high school are not normative nor standardized: US Census data show that only 45% of persons between the ages of 25 and 44 pursue postsecondary education (US Census Bureau, 2015). As such, research on postsecondary outcomes must accommodate a constellation of the pathways that young adults pursue, or are forced to pursue, with education comprising one of those paths, and how those paths reflect coping strategies adopted to address risk. This latter question is the subject of an investigation into the particular effects of Great Recession on postsecondary the

pathways. Utilizing the Panel Survey of Income Dynamics (PSID) Transition to Adulthood module (PSID, 2017), Nichols Lodato's research on diverse young adults enrolled in college indicates disparate effects over time on the postsecondary educational pursuits of voung adults as a result of the Great Recession: By 2011, many young adults enrolled in college reported changing their academic major, or primary field of study, in reaction to the Great Recession. These students' academic adjustment indicates a reactive coping strategy in response to a disruptive event. Interestingly, dropping out was only highlighted as a statistically significant pathway in 2013, after the Great Recession was declared over. The implications for positive identity development are noteworthy. Research highlights the salutary effects of pursuing a postsecondary education on life outcomes, with particular literature in the field of economics and human capital underscoring the role of education in skill acquisition and advancing labor market outcomes (Becker, 1964; Schultz, 1961). However, the pernicious and enduring effects of economic inequality in US society thwart progression toward intergenerational upward mobility (Chetty et al., 2014) and economic stability. Indeed, when an exogenous shock, such as the Great Recession or the COVID-19 pandemic, collides with preexisting levels of high economic inequality and discriminatory practices the result is higher levels of risk encountered by diverse young adults in their developmental contexts. For diverse youths in the USA, this higher level of risk, appropriately deemed "lethal risk" by Nichols Lodato, Hall, and Spencer (2021), can challenge the most robust developmental supports that promote adaptive coping and positive identity development. Lethal risk can overwhelm already overstretched networks of support that reside in the layered developmental systems, particularly in underresourced areas,

thereby undermining the functionality of these supports and/or revealing the pervasive shortcomings to address and mitigate lethal risk. It is critical, then, to document the impact of exogenous shocks, such as the Great Recession or the mass casualty event that the COVID-19 pandemic wrought, and how, in the USA, shocks collide with endemic inequality and discriminatory practices exacerbating adverse outcomes for individuals whose intrinsic humanity is denied by systems responsible for the provision of supports, resources, and opportunities. Indeed, shocks in the chronosystem brings into stark relief the foundational tenet of PVEST: that all humans are vulnerable. With this as a foundational principle for engaging coping, the cultivation of coping strategies that promote positive identity development is, then, a key human undertaking over the life course that is enhanced by understanding how diverse persons make meaning of the risks they encounter, where and how their perceived and accessed networks of supports reside and are understood, and what new research strategies are warranted to ascertain levels of net stress and emergent coping skills that are cultivated in response to shocks. When considering exogenous shocks, the degree to which coping strategies are robust enough to facilitate stable, positive identity development are inextricably linked to the accessibility and deployment of supports and resources that are premised on shared human vulnerability. The sheer scale of risks emanating from adverse events that precipitate human and systemic existential threats force a paradigm shift in how human coping is understood and studied.

Shifting the Paradigm: COVID-19 and New Realities of Risk, Resilience and Coping

The human toll of the global pandemic exists on a scale not seen for well over a century, with

591

lethal health, social, and economic effects playing out across the USA particularly for communities of color. Black. Latino. American Indian, and Alaskan Native communities have disproportionately been adversely affected by the pandemic, with the rates of infection and death far outpacing White counterparts and resulting in a reduction in overall life expectancy (Arias et al., 2022; Andrasfay & Goldman 2021; Yancy, 2020). When examining the effects on diverse youth, the developmental ramifications are profound and far-reaching. Indeed, research from Kidman et al. (2021) identifies the stark effects of the pandemic on a generation of children owed to the searing loss of a parent. As of 2021, Kidman et al. estimated that between 37.000 and 43.000 children aged 0-17 years old lost a parent during the COVID-19 pandemic, a 20% increase over the year prior to its onset, and Black children, who comprise 14% of children in the USA, are disproportionately affected by parental loss, enduring 20% of parental losses (Kidman et al., 2021). Loss is not just at the level of the parent-child relationship: Numerous families have experienced simultaneous or successive losses of more than one family member (family can be defined by biologically or socially based ties). Verdery et al. (2020) sought to develop a measure of the effects of the COVID-19 "mortality shock" by modeling the pandemic effects on kinship networks, estimating at the time of the article's publication that each death from COVID-19 in the USA resulted in nine persons losing a close relative. Certainly, this particular phenomenon of familial loss and the ensuing multileveled, cross-generational shock to youth may render preexisting resources and supports overwhelmed by the need or incapable of marshaling sufficient resources to compensate for lost relatives or other persons who are part of the fabric of youths' critical support networks.

Research that highlights the adverse impact of parental loss on youths' short- and longterm outcomes notes higher rates of depression. lower academic attainment, and other risks to psychological health and well-being (Berg et al., 2016; Nabunya & Ssewamala, 2014). Nationally, the scale of loss from the pandemic in the USA alone exceeds that of US war casualties accrued over a period of years, such as World War I (1917-1918: 116,516 mortalities). World War II (1941–1945: 405,399 mortalities), the Vietnam War (1964-1975: 90,220 mortalities), with no community spared from the searing psychological, economic, and social effects. Notably, the presumed stabilizing effects of school are not immune from these disruptive events as schools were closed and hybrid learning arrangements were implemented throughout the country. In many cases, this revealed the broader structural racial and socioeconomic inequality in K-12 education in the USA as many schools struggled to comply with public safety standards for safely reopening schools (Lordan et al., 2020). This resulted in students experiencing a period of disrupted education over the course of more than an entire year, with the full extent of the lost learning on longterm outcomes not yet fully determined.

Conclusion

It is fair to surmise that the challenge in the USA is to develop a new system of supports that are predicated on novel research paradigms and strategies that effectively address the unique challenges diverse children and young adults encounter as they mature and develop in the years to come. When situating the loss in the broader context of societal reckoning with the enduring ramifications of economic inequality and racial discrimination, human development theoretical models, as exemplified in PVEST, offer a framework that encourages research models and applied strategies to support the cultivation of coping strategies for diverse youth. Most importantly, culturally relevant perspectives that acknowledge and interrogate the ecologies of development for the prior 400 years as experienced by the nation's diverse citizenry remain underinterrogated.

Accompanying the robust application of human development theory to guide research and policy is the acknowledgment that human development occurs in context, and must incorporate the role of exogenous shocks on developmental trajectories for diverse youth.

As noted elsewhere (see Spencer, 2022), this chapter posits that both vulnerability (i.e., a status of having both risks and protective factor presence) and resiliency considerations (i.e., good outcomes possible irrespective of high-risk status) indicate the need to consider several factors required for better scholarship, in general, and particularly efforts guiding research, assessment, and evaluation. In a parallel manner, ignoring cultural traditions for assisting adaptive coping innovations is a dire shortcoming. Rendering such practices invisible – vis-à-vis normative coping and identity scaffolding needs - contributes to missed opportunities. The shortsightedness compromises the discernment of best practices for aiding, scaffolding, and designing supports that result in the design and specification of adaptive coping supports that lead to healthy identity processes.

As a helpful framing device to understand these developmentally linked coping processes, PVEST – our ICE conceptual strategy – provides a useful heuristic device. It assists in identifying, unpacking, and linking supportive healthy coping for positive identity; as well, it demonstrates that understanding the links between coping and identity are critical for determining the strategies needed for healthy broad ego processes and stage-specific productive outcomes. Coping outcomes that are visible and guarantee sufficient efficacy for healthy identity processes are important attributes both for the sources of socialization (e.g., parenting, context, and developmental status–specific, culturally relevant supports) as well as the focus of parental labors, that is, resilient youth themselves.

References

- Andrasfay, T., & Goldman, N. (2021). Reductions in 2020 US life expectancy due to COVID-19 and the disproportionate impact on the Black and Latino populations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(5), Article e2014746118. https://doi-org.proxy.uchicago.edu/10.1073/pnas .2014746118
- Arias, E., Tejada-Vera, B., Kochanek, K. D., & Ahmad, F. B. (2022). *Provisional life expectancy estimates for 2021*. Vital Statistics Rapid Release, no. 23. National Center for Health Statistics. https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:118999
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55(5), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469
- Becker, G. (1964). *Human capital: A theoretical and empirical analysis with special reference to education.* University of Chicago Press.
- Ben-Zur, H. (2009). Coping styles and affect. International Journal of Stress Management, 16 (2), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015731
- Berg, L., Rostila, M., & Hjern, A. (2016). Parental death during childhood and depression in young adults – a national cohort study. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 57(9), 1092–1098. https://doi-org.proxy.uchicago.edu/10.1111/jcpp .12560
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology*, 22(6), 723–742. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.22.6 .723
- Chetty, R., Hendren, N., Kline, P., Saez, E., & Turner, N. (2014). Is the United States still a

land of opportunity? Recent trends in intergenerational mobility. *American Economic Review*, *104*(5), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.3386/ w19844

- DeLuca, S., Clampet-Lundquist, S., & Edin, K. (2016). *Coming of age in the other America*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Erikson, E. (1959). Identity and the life cycle. *Psychological Issues*, *1*, 1–17.
- Folkman, S., & Moskowitz, J. T. (2004). Coping: Pitfalls and promise. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 745–774. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456
- Goldstein, J. (2013, August 12). Judge rejects New York stop and frisk policy. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2013/08/13/nyregion/ stop-and-frisk-practice-violated-rights-judgerules.html
- Hall, J. (2020). Parenting with the hyperghetto carceral complex: Making meaning of youth behavior and parental identity [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Chicago.
- Havighurst, R. J. (1953). *Human development and education*. McKay.
- Kidman, R., Margolis, R., Smith-Greenaway, E., & Verdery, A. M. (2021). Estimates and projections of COVID-19 and parental death in the US. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *175*(7), 745–746. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021 .0161
- Lordan, R., Fitzgerald, G. A., & Grosser, T. (2020). Reopening schools during COVID-19. *Science*, 369(6508), Article 1146. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.abe5765
- Matud, M. (2004). Gender differences in stress and coping. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 37(7), 1401–1415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid .2004.01.010
- Moreland, A. D., & Dumas, J. E. (2008). Evaluating child coping competence: Theory and measurement. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *17*(3), 437–454. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10826-007-9165-y
- Nabunya, P., & Ssewamala, F. M. (2014). The effects of parental loss on the psychosocial wellbeing of AIDS-orphaned children living in AIDS-impacted communities: Does gender

matter? *Children and Youth Services Review*, 43, 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth .2014.05.011

- Nichols Lodato, B., Hall, J. N., & Spencer, M. B. (2021). Vulnerability and resiliency implications of human capital and linked inequality presence denial perspectives: Acknowledging Zigler's contributions to child well-being. *Development* and Psychopathology, 33(2), 684–699. https://doi .org/10.1017/S0954579420001893
- Nichols Lodato, B., Harris, K., & Spencer, M. B. (2021). Human development perspectives on public urban education. In H. R. Milner IV & K. Lomotey (Eds.), *Handbook of urban education* (2nd ed., pp. 84–96). Taylor & Francis.
- PSID. (2017, May). *PSID main interview user manual: Release 2017*. Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan. https:// psidonline.isr.umich.edu/data/Documentation/ UserGuide2015.pdf
- Roberts, D. E. (1997). Unshackling Black motherhood. *Michigan Law Review*, 95(4), 938. https://repository.law.umich.edu/mlr/vol95/ iss4/8
- Roberts, D. E. (2012). Prison, foster care, and the systemic punishment of Black mothers. UCLA Law Review, 59, 1474. U of Penn Law School, Public Law Research Paper No. 12-45. https:// ssrn.com/abstract=2184329
- Santiago, C. D., Etter, E. M., Wadsworth, M. E., & Raviv, T. (2012). Predictors of responses to stress among families coping with poverty-related stress. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 25(3), 239–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2011.583347
- Schultz, T. W. (1961). Investment in human capital. *The American Economic Review*, *51*(1), 1–17.
- Seaton, G. (2007). Toward a theoretical understanding of hypermasculine coping among urban Black adolescent males. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 15(2), 367–390. https://doi.org/10.1300/J137v15n02_21
- Spencer, M. B. (1985). Cultural cognition and social cognition as identity factors in Black children's persona-social growth. In M. B. Spencer, G. K. Brookins, & W. R. Allen (Eds.), *Beginnings: The social and affective development of Black children* (pp. 215–230). Erlbaum.

- Spencer, M. B. (1995). Old issues and new theorizing about African American youth: A phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory. In R. L. Taylor (Ed.), *African-American youth: Their social and economic status in the United States* (pp. 37–69). Praeger.
- Spencer, M. B. (1999). Social and cultural influences on school adjustment: The application of an identity-focused cultural ecological perspective. *Educational Psychologist*, 34(1), 43–57. https:// doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3401_4
- Spencer, M. B. (2006). Phenomenology and ecological systems theory: Development of diverse groups. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed., pp. 829–893). Wiley.
- Spencer, M. B. (2008). Phenomenology and ecological systems theory: Development of diverse groups. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Child and adolescent development: An* advanced course (pp. 696–735). Wiley.
- Spencer, M. B. (2022). What you ignore, becomes empowered: Social science traditions weaponized to resist resiliency research opportunities. In S. L. Hood, H. T. Frierson, R. K. Hopson, & K. N. Arbuthnot (Eds.), *Race and culturally responsive inquiry in education* (pp. 63–80). Harvard Education Press.
- Spencer, M. B., Cunningham, M., & Swanson, D. P. (1995). Identity as coping: Adolescent African-American males' adaptive responses to high-risk environments. In H. W. Harris, H. C. Blue, & E. H. Griffith (Eds.), *Racial and ethnic identity* (pp. 31–52). Routledge.
- Spencer, M., Dupree, D., & Hartmann, T. (1997). A phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST): A self-organization perspective. *Development and Psychopathology*, 9(4), 817–833. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0954579497001454
- Spencer, M. B., Dupree, D., Swanson, D. P., & Cunningham, M. (1996). Parental monitoring and adolescents' sense of responsibility for their own learning: An examination of sex differences.

Journal of Negro Education, 65(1), 30–43. https:// doi.org/10.2307/2967366

- Spencer, M. B., Harpalani, V., Cassidy, E., Jacobs, C., Donde, S., Goss, T. N., Muñoz-Miller, M. M., Charles, N., & Wilson, S. (2006).
 Understanding vulnerability and resilience from a normative development perspective:
 Implications for racially and ethnically diverse youth. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental psychopathology: Vol. 1. Theory and method* (2nd ed., pp. 627–672). Wiley Publishers.
- Spencer, M. B., Harpalani, V., Fegley, S., Dell'Angelo, T., & Seaton, G. (2002). Identity, self, and peers in context: A culturally-sensitive, developmental framework for analysis. In R. M. Lerner, F. Jacobs, & D. Wertlieb (Eds.), Handbook of applied developmental science: Promoting positive child, adolescent, and family development through research, policies, and programs (Vol. 1, pp. 123–142). Sage Publications.
- Stevenson, H. (1997). "Missed, dissed, and pissed": Making meaning of neighborhood risk, fear, and anger management. *Cultural Diversity and Mental Health*, 3(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10 .1037/1099-9809.3.1.37
- US Census Bureau. (2015). 2010–2014 American community survey 5-year estimates. https:// factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/ pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_16_5YR_ S1501&src=pt
- Verdery, A. M., Smith-Greenaway, E., Margolis, R., & Daw, J. (2020). Tracking the reach of COVID-19 kin loss with a bereavement multiplier applied to the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 117(30), 17695–17701. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas .2007476117
- Western, B. (2007). *Punishment and inequality*. Russell Sage Foundation
- Yancy, C. W. (2020). COVID 19 and African Americans. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 323(19), 1891–1892. https://doi:10 .1001/jama.2020.6548

Part VI Application and the Development of Coping

25 Social Media Use and Misuse, Stress, and the Development of Coping

Nausikaä Brimmel, Anneleen Meeus, and Steven Eggermont

Introduction

Recent years have witnessed a dramatic growth in the usage of social media, with as many as 3.6 billion people worldwide having used at least one social networking platform in 2020 (Statista, 2022). Social networking sites (SNS) have now become so embedded in many aspects of individuals' daily lives that they have undeniably altered the ways in which we connect with one another, structure our day, and perceive the world around us.

The omnipresence of social media is true especially among young people, who now spend a majority of their free time online. This time is predominantly spent on viewing television/videos, e-reading, browsing websites, and using social media (Rideout & Robb, 2019). Reports have shown that children aged 8-12 typically use just under 5 hours' worth of entertainment screen media a day, of which they spend almost 1.5 hours on average on social media (Rideout & Robb, 2019). The quantity of media use increases in adolescence, with teens using entertainment screen media for an average of 7.5 hours a day (including both weekdays and weekends), of which almost 2 hours is spent on their social media use (Rideout & Robb, 2019). Compared to children and adolescents, young adults' (aged 18-29) daily media consumption is centered around social media, with social network sites taking up to 3 hours of their day (Attest, 2021).

Aided by the rapid adoption of mobile devices, this heavy use of online

communication has enabled young people to be connected to their family, friends, work, or school environment potentially "anyplace and anytime," consequently blurring the temporal and spatial boundaries of media use. This increased social connectivity, however, can be regarded as a double-edged sword that provides users with a number of benefits (e.g., increased social support; Park et al., 2009), but has significant cost for well-being, also. Research has shown that social media can negatively impact child and adolescent wellbeing through social comparison, risk of cyberbullying, fear of missing out, or negative peer feedback (McDool et al., 2016; Twigg et al., 2020). Studies have also reported that many users show concern over the expectations of constant availability placed on them by either themselves, their work, or their social network (Fox & Moreland, 2015; Gao et al., 2018). These demands could result in feelings of stress when the user is not reachable, accompanied by interferences in sleep, work, or other activities (Freytag et al., 2020; van der Schuur et al., 2019). Not being able to return calls or messages may lead to guilt and feelings of overload, while individuals also describe compulsive feelings to check their social media accounts or their mobile phone (Thomée et al., 2010). However, not all social media use is detrimental to child and adolescent well-being. Adolescents report that social media offer them a way to connect socially with friends and family and perceive social support, to develop and experiment with their identities, and to find information or news (Pew Research Center, 2018).

In what follows, the chapter sets out to review existing literature on the relationship between social media use and coping from childhood all the way through emerging adulthood. We focus here on the differential roles social media can play in relation to stress and coping. Through describing the different roles social media can play in the developmental stages, we aim to create a holistic image of the development of coping from a social media perspective.

Social Media Use in Childhood, Adolescence, and Early Adulthood

Social Media Platforms and Daily Use

Due to the age limitations on nearly all SNS (Instagram, for instance, requires a minimum age of 13), data on children's social media use is relatively scarce. However, despite these age restrictions, a national survey among US 8- to 18- year-olds on their use and relationship with media stated that about 13% of 8- to 12-yearolds reported using social media regularly in 2019 (Rideout & Robb, 2019). When children enter adolescence, their social media use sees a steep incline, with about 95% of adolescents having access to social media, and 45% who claim to be online "almost constantly" (Anderson & Jiang, 2018). It is this developmental phase that has accordingly received most scholarly attention over the past decade.

While usage numbers have been steadily increasing, social media platform popularity, on the other hand, has known great shifts over the last few years. Facebook was the dominant social media platform in 2014 when 71% of adolescents regularly used the platform. More recent data from 2020, however, show that only half of the adolescents in the survey (51%) regularly use Facebook and report using Instagram and Snapchat more often (Rideout & Robb, 2019). One platform that has recently gained rapid popularity among adolescents is the video-sharing app TikTok. The average user spends 27 minutes per day on the app, watching videos of no more than 60 seconds long (Stokel-Walker, 2020).

Social Media Use and Misuse and Associations with Well-Being

Over the years, a substantial amount of research has been conducted on social media use and misuse, and their relations with user well-being. Well-being is a concept that is defined in numerous ways. Subjective wellbe measured being can through life satisfaction, eudemonia, and affect (Gerson et al., 2016; Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2013). Life satisfaction or life evaluation is the degree to which one is satisfied with one's life; eudemonia concerns the extent to which one is living to one's full potential and to which extent one feels like one is fulfilling one's purpose in life: and lastly. affect concerns the extent to which one experiences positive affective states (Gerson et al., 2016). However, individuals' well-being can be threatened when demands are exceeding the individual's resources and the situation is perceived as stressful.

While social media use can exert positive influences on well-being by offering users convenient means to connect with one another, consequently providing a potential source of online social support (Bonetti et al., 2010; Park et al., 2009), social media can also be a threat to one's well-being when the use is perceived as stressful. Such threats or "social media misuse" can be defined in a myriad of ways: from online antisocial behavior toward others, to affecting politics, to invading users' privacy, to behavior that is harmful to oneself. This antisocial and harmful behavior toward others (i.e., cyberbullying) and oneself (i.e., social comparison) may be the most important factors in the relationship between social media use and well-being.

A Stress and Coping Perspective on Social Media Use

Individuals can cope with the harmful behavior and stressful situations associated with social media use by employing coping strategies. The transactional model of stress and coping by Lazarus and Folkman (1987) is an influential model that explains the ways in which individuals cope with such stressful situations. Coping is defined as "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 141). When a person perceives something as stressful, their coping responses are activated to manage this threat and minimize its adverse effect on their well-being. The handling of the threat begins with the appraisal, or the person's perception of how stressful the event is and whether or not forms a threat to their well-being it (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015; Völlink,

Bolman, Eppingbroek, & Dehue, 2013). The first step in appraisal is evaluating whether or not the situation is a threat. The second step is assessing if the situation can be changed. A central idea in the transactional model of stress and coping is that coping is characterized by dynamics and change, with continuous appraisals and reappraisals of the threat that, in turn, influence subsequent coping efforts (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984), one can engage in two distinct forms of coping (see Figure 25.1): solving or managing the problem responsible for the distress, or regulating the emotional response to, or the distress caused by, the problem (Völlink, Bolman, Dehue, & Jacobs, 2013). The first way of coping is referred to as problem-focused coping. Engaging in problem-focused coping involves analytic processes that focus on the environment, but also on internal processes, by (1) defining the problem, (2) finding solutions for the problem, (3) weighing the costs and benefits of each solution, (4) choosing the best solution, and (5) acting upon the solution (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 152). Problemfocused coping can be directed at the environment (i.e., focusing on changing it), or at the self (i.e., changing motivations or cognitions,



Figure 25.1 The transactional model of stress and coping.

Note: Figure 25.1 represents the transactional model of stress and coping by Schuster and colleagues (2003) based on the theory by Lazarus and Folkman (1984). From Schuster et al. (2003, p. 279).

such as learning new skills) (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Cognitive or emotionfocused coping involves engaging in strategies to minimize the emotional distress by, for instance, distancing oneself from the problem or avoiding the problem, engaging in positive comparisons, or paying selective attention (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). As such, the coping method does not change the environment of the problem itself, but rather the way in which the problem is perceived.

Problem- and emotion-focused coping can occur simultaneously, and can both disrupt or facilitate each other. One can, for instance, engage in emotion-focused coping to minimize the emotional distress created by the problem, while simultaneously focusing on solving the problem by acquiring new skills to treat it.

A Developmental Perspective on Coping

Coping strategies are not stagnant from early childhood to emerging adulthood, but tend to become more differentiated with age (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner. 2011). In early childhood. young children who experience stressful events tend to turn to support-seeking when other coping efforts fail. This support-seeking is a safety valve to prevent turning to maladaptive coping strategies such as escape or avoidance coping. Escape as a coping strategy generally decreases as children age and shows a low and steady usage in later childhood and adolescence. As young children age, they thus employ less maladaptive coping strategies, whereas the use of cognitive coping strategies increases and support-seeking undergoes change. Children in middle childhood employ social support-seeking less than young children and, furthermore, tend to be more selective in whom to go to for social support and turn less to caregivers. During adolescence, coping strategies tend to become more diverse and flexible as adolescents engage in both problem-focused coping and undertake instrumental action, as well as engage in emotion-focused coping and reflect on their inner emotional states. However. with increased reflecting on emotional states comes the risk of engaging in maladaptive coping strategies such as rumination. With regard to support-seeking, adolescents are more likely to turn to peers than parents for emotional support and engage in informational supportseeking that is more specifically aimed at the problem (Leipold et al., 2018). Looking further, emerging adults show less flexibility and diversity in their use of coping strategies and tend to rely on the strategies that have worked for them in particular situations. Additionally, as emerging adults take on more responsibility and grow into adulthood, they learn personal and social coping strategies through experience. As such, their support-seeking is informational in order to deal with the problem at hand.

When looking at social media use and coping, we find that social media can play different roles in relation to the development of coping with stressful events, and can therefore appear in a variety of forms in the transactional model by Lazarus and Folkman (1984). In what follows, we will untangle the ways in which social media can appear as a coping strategy or a coping resource, but equally, as a source of stressors, or a coping liability. Since research on children and social media use is sparse as they are not yet, or in a very limited capacity, using social media, and studies have predominantly been conducted in adolescent and young adult populations, the current chapter will focus on these adolescent and emerging adult populations.

Social Media Use as an Adaptive Way of Coping

Social media can be used to cope with stressful events in a number of ways, ranging from information-seeking to deal with a problem at hand, to connecting with others to ease and minimize the distress created by the problem.

Information-Seeking

Adolescents turn to social media to seek information, yet not as intensely as emerging adults (Stockdale & Coyne, 2020). This could be due to the fact that emerging adults are in the process of separating from their parents and require information about topics they were unfamiliar with as adolescents. Emerging adults' media use is no longer under parental control or supervision, while their lives are more flexible if they are studying at college or university. It is especially this group of emerging adults that turns to social media to seek information to cope with daily stressors and to manage problems in their daily life (Barahmand et al., 2019). Although literature on information seeking on social media as coping strategies is sparse, an explorative study by Barahmand and colleagues (2019) found that information on social media may help in making changes in the environment to remove or mitigate the stressors, as well as aid in coping with emotional distress. Emerging adults can turn to information-seeking as problem-solving coping when a problem is perceived as long term and severe. Furthermore, online information-seeking may result in recognizing the problem and stressor. However, when one recognizes the problem, a lack of problem-solving skills or inability to define the exact source of the stress may result in not seeking the information that is necessary to solve the problem, meaning the stressor continues to exist. With regard to emotionfocused coping, emerging adults employed information-seeking on social media as way to distract themselves, by, for instance, watching entertaining content, which would minimize the emotional burden by offering distraction or by changing their moods.

A recent study on social media use in adolescence and emerging adulthood to cope with stressors as a result of COVID-19 additionally found that emerging adults turned to social media to lift their bad or anxious moods or to distract themselves from the stressful situation (Rideout et al., 2021).

601

Online Social Support

A second way in which social media can help in coping with stressful events is by providing ways to establish social resources (Schümer & Buchwald, 2012). Social support appears in multiple forms with regard to coping with stressors, namely as a resource for coping, or as a coping strategy. A first form we will be discussing is using social support on social media as a coping strategy. Online social support plays an important role in the secondary appraisal of a stressful event (i.e., the evaluation of the ability to alter a situation) and serves as a buffer for stressful experiences (Chung et al., 2014). When a user of social media perceives they are supported by their social network, they know whom to turn to during a stressful event and consequently feel more confident and competent in confronting the stressor (Chung et al., 2014). Users who turn to social media for social support receive predominantly informational and appraisal support rather than emotional support. Informational support refers to the information friends provide on the social media platform in order to cope with the stressor, whereas appraisal support refers to, for instance, receiving "likes" as a form of encouragement from the online social network (Chung et al., 2014). The lack of emotional support when seeking online social support can be explained by the asynchronous nature of social interactions, which makes it more difficult to support each other vocally or physically.

Social Media as a Maladaptive Way of Coping

As introduced earlier, social media use can be beneficial to young users' well-being by providing ways to cope with stressful situations. Yet, social media use can equally pose a threat to the user's well-being when the use is perceived as a stressor, which requires the user to engage in coping strategies to mitigate the negative effects on their well-being. Cyberbullying and negative social comparison are examples of such stressors that require the user to engage in coping strategies.

Helplessness as a Result of Cyberbullying

Cyberbullying is a widespread phenomenon that occurs in all adolescent age groups with long-term harmful effects on the well-being of its victims (Hamm et al., 2015). Cyberbullying, much like traditional bullying, is the repetitive and continuous aggressive behavior of a group or an individual toward a victim with the intention to cause harm. It is furthermore characterized by a power imbalance in which the recipient is unable to defend themself (Pyżalski, 2012). Although the bullying has shifted to social media, the perpetrators are typically part of a traditional group such as a class at school or university (Pyżalski, 2012; Whittaker & Kowalski, 2015). Perpetrators can contact their victims through social media messaging (synchronous communication) or via emails and comments on the victims' social media activity (asynchronous communication). Another way in which perpetrators can bully their victims is through posting the victims' personal content on social media platforms in order to embarrass them in front of wider audiences (Pyżalski, 2012).

Individuals' online aggressive behavior can be explained through online disinhibition effects. Disinhibition is believed to be accompanied by a decrease in moral restraint in some individuals, allowing them to act out more frequently and more intensely than they would in person (Suler, 2004). According to the theory of online disinhibition, a number of features inherent to online environments cause people to feel less inhibited online than they would in person. This includes, for instance, users' potential invisibility, a certain minimization of authority, and the asynchronicity of online interaction. Another feature of the online environment is anonymity, which supports deindividuated behavior and therefore makes it feel easier for the perpetrator to transgress social norms (Postmes & Spears, 1998) or engage in online aggressive behavior (or cyberbullying) (Twenge, 2013).

Cyberbullying can have a devastating impact on victims, and is associated with an increased likelihood of mental health issues (Hamm et al., 2015). Cyberbullying evokes emotional reactions in victims, ranging from feelings of anger to feelings of helplessness and powerlessness (Machmutow et al., 2012). Victims of cyberbullying are also more likely to report symptoms of depression and/or social anxiety, and overall lower well-being compared to peers who have not experienced cyberbullying (Fahy et al.. 2016). Furthermore, victims report more suicide ideation and behavior compared to adolescents who have not been victimized (Brailovskaia et al., 2018; Iranzo et al., 2019). However, adolescents who report greater positive mental health are more resilient to suicidal thoughts when they are victims of cyberbullying (Brailovskaia et al., 2018). Positive mental health can thus alter the impact of cyberbullying and can act as a buffer against suicidal ideation (Siegmann et al., 2018).

The negative impact of cyberbullying on well-being can be mitigated through the use of coping strategies (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015). Employing coping strategies can reduce

603

Problem-focused coping	
Social support-seeking	Telling a teacher or principal to receive informational social support
	Telling a friend to receive emotional social support
Counteraggression and revenge	Confronting the cyberbully
Technological solutions	Deleting a post/conversation
	Unfriending the bully
	Blocking the bully
Social self-efficacy	Ability to develop supportive social relationships
Avoidant coping strategies	
Helplessness	Not coping
	Ignoring the cyberbully(ing)
	Self-blaming for being bullied

Table 25.1 Potential ways of coping with social media stress and abuse (based on Machmutow et al., 2012)

the immediate stress evoked by the bullying and prevent long-term harm (see Table 25.1). Victims of cyberbullying can use both online and offline coping strategies. An example of an online coping strategy is to solve the issue with technology by unfriending or blocking the bully on social media (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015). This way, the victim can avoid the problem (i.e., the bully). Examples of offline strategies are ignoring the bully, or confronting the bully if they are known by the victim. The victim can also turn to social support-seeking in online or offline spheres as a positive coping strategy. However, social support-seeking is more often employed by younger youth and less by older youth (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015).

Important to mention is the use of social self-efficacy as an effective coping strategy that can be employed by victims of cyberbullying (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015). Social self-efficacy is the individual's belief in their ability to develop social relationships that provide emotional support (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015, p. 123). To date, however, this social self-efficacy has been an often-overlooked coping strategy in coping literature. When victims of cyberbullying perceive themselves

capable of developing supportive social relationships, their social self-efficacy serves as a buffer against negative outcomes (e.g., depressive symptoms) triggered by stressful threats (e.g., cyberbullying).

Online Social Comparison

Social comparison is defined as the process by which individuals compare themselves with others in order to create an external guideline to evaluate their skills, personality traits, emotions, and abilities when no "objective" standard is available (Festinger, 1954; Gerson et al., 2016). Social comparison can be either downward or upward, whereby downward social comparison takes place when an individual compares themselves with people they think are worse off than them. Such downward social comparison can make oneself feel better about one's own abilities. Upward social comparison, on the contrary, occurs when one compares oneself with people one perceives to be better than oneself with the intention to better oneself.

Social comparison plays an important role in coping with stressful events and is integrated in social support processes (Taylor et al.,

1990). When an individual finds themself in a condition of stress, engaging in downward social comparison can aid in making them feel better and in improving themself. Such downward social comparison in light of selfenhancement serves the individual in maintaining positive self-perceptions (Taylor et al., 1990). During this process of downward social comparison, the comparison group is typically worse off and has been actively selected based on three criteria. A first way in which individuals can engage in downward social comparison is by comparing themselves with a societal group that is generally worse off or already less fortunate. A second way to engage in social comparison is by comparing oneself based on a dimension or skill of which the individual engaging in the comparison already has more of (e.g., social support). A third and last way of downward social comparison is by creating new dimensions of comparison in which the individual is better off than the comparison group (Taylor et al., 1990). While positive social comparison can be employed as an emotion-focused coping strategy, not all social comparison has positive well-being outcomes. Contrary to downward social comparison, upward social comparison is associated with lower well-being (Chou & Edge, 2012; Frison & Eggermont, 2016; Nesi & Prinstein, 2015).

Social comparison is facilitated to a great extent by social media because of the tendency for ideal self-presentation on social media (Gerson et al., 2016). During a period of experimenting with their identity and developing their own sense of individuality, adolescents tend to turn to others to construct the normative standard in their environment. One way of observing this normative standard is through engaging in social comparison (Gerson et al., 2016). Social comparison can, however, be a stressor when the adolescent finds themself to be worse off than the comparison group (Gerson et al., 2016).

Users can choose how to present themselves on social media platforms, often resulting in a favorable presentation of the self (Chou & Edge, 2012). However, users engaging in upward social comparison will compare themselves to these favorable self-presentations. Research has shown that individuals observing the ideal lives of others online react in a negative manner to these presentations, believing they are worse off than their comparison targets (Chou & Edge, 2012). Users engaging in upward social comparison therefore tend to report a lower well-being over time (Frison & Eggermont, 2016; Nesi & Prinstein, 2015). Furthermore, studies have shown that upward social comparison, and not downward social comparison, is an explanatory mechanism in the relationship between social media use and lower well-being (Vogel et al., 2014). As such, when an individual with the intention of selfenhancement through social comparison is represented with ideal self-presentations of others on social media, their social comparison may not result in the desired outcome. However, more research is necessary to create a more thorough understanding of this process.

Social Media as a Coping Liability

While social media can help individuals in their ability to cope with stress and stressful events in daily life, individuals who often experience daily stress tend to engage in excessive use of social media platforms (Brailovskaia et al., 2019). Furthermore, relying on social media to cope may prevent users from engaging in other ways to cope or may even result in perceiving social media as a stressor itself as a consequence of the need to be constantly connected to others.

Psychological Dependence and Addictive Tendencies

Social media platforms provide easy access to social support as well as opportunities for

mood modification; however, using social media to cope may be linked to addictive social media use tendencies and the need to be online constantly (Brailovskaia et al., 2019). Addictive behavior on social media is characterized by a psychological unease in offline situations, a constant thinking about social media, and excessive use (Andreassen et al., 2012). Such addictive behavior is most often present in groups of users who do not receive adequate offline social support and therefore turn to social media for online social support. Furthermore, when the probability of receiving such online social support is high, users tend to use social media with a greater intensity and risk developing a psychological dependence on it (Brailovskaia et al., 2019). As such, while social media can aid in coping with stressful events, users who often experience daily stress are at greater risk of developing addictive social media use tendencies.

Preventing from Learning Other Ways to Cope

When individuals find themselves in stressful situations, they may turn to the Internet/ social media as a way of coping with emotional or social difficulties (Brand et al., 2014). When adolescents turn to these media to cope and expect a distraction from the negative feelings or the problem, other ways of coping, such as social support-seeking or engaging in health-promoting behavior, are diminished (Brand al.. et 2014). Furthermore, internet-/social media-related coping is a maladaptive coping style that is used to avoid the issues rather than dealing with them and creates a higher risk for developing internet addiction. Interestingly, addiction to media is associated with a higher likeliness of engaging in emotionfocused coping than problem-focused coping. Rather than dealing with their problems,

individuals turn to the Internet or to social media to help them forget about the problem. Individuals with addictive media use tendencies are thus more likely to use social media as a distraction and engage in dysfunctional avoidance coping (Sriwilai & Charoensukmongkol, 2015).

Social Media as a Stressor

With 45% of adolescents feeling the need to be online constantly, recent research has focused on the reasons why they feel this need and what consequence this may have for their well-being. It goes without saying that such constant social media use is not free of harm. Studies have mentioned how "fear of missing out" or "FOMO" may encourage intense media use, resulting in adolescents reporting feelings of stress (Beyens et al., 2016; Li et al., 2018). Fear of missing out is the fear that others (e.g., peers) are having rewarding experiences without you. As a result, individuals feel the need to stay constantly connected in order to see what these others are doing (Przybylski et al., 2013, p. 1841). A conceptualization of FOMO was built upon self-determination theory (SDT) (Deci & Ryan, 1985: Przybylski et al., 2013), which explicates the psychological needs for effective selfregulation and psychological health. Based on this macro theory of human motivation, Deci and Ryan (1985) put forward three basic psychological needs for positive wellbeing: competence, relatedness, and autonomy (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Przybylski et al., 2013). Competence refers to one's need to operate effectively within important life contexts, relatedness is the need to feel socially connected and to be a significant member of social groups, and, lastly, autonomy refers to the need to self-endorse experiences and actions (Ryan & Deci, 2018).

Based on SDT, FOMO can be understood as "a self-regulatory limbo arising from situational or chronic deficits in psychological need satisfactions" (Przybylski et al., 2013, p. 1842). Social media use, then, is a way to seek fulfilment of these needs (Przybylski et al., 2013). Social media provide a way to control the outcome of actions (i.e., developing social competence), to connect with others (i.e., strengthening social ties and relatedness to others), and to be in charge of one's own life (i.e., autonomy, getting in touch with others).

Fear of missing out can thus explain why adolescents who score low on need satisfaction tend to engage more in social media use in order to satisfy their needs (Przybylski et al., 2013). Consequently, FOMO is related to lower adolescent well-being and higher social media use (Fabris et al., 2020). Furthermore, FOMO, or the need to be connected to others at all times, has been found to increase adolescent sensitivity to stress. Because individuals with higher FOMO have higher needs for popularity and group membership, no reactions or negative reactions or feedback from others on social media can arouse feelings of stress (Fabris et al., 2020). The user then feels that their social media use is not fulfilling their psychological needs (Fabris et al., 2020). As such, FOMO is an explanatory factor in the relationship between psychological needs that drive positive well-being and feelings of stress.

Social Media as a Coping Resource

A final way in which social media are associated with coping and stress is by providing resources to cope with stressors. Coping behavior is an integral aspect of dealing with social media–related stress. It mediates the relation between social media stress and emotional exhaustion: Individuals with higher levels of coping resource are better at managing their stress than individuals with fewer coping resources (Lim & Choi, 2017).

Coping with Social Media as a Stressor

As previously introduced, cyberbullying, FOMO, and online social comparison can be stressful experiences for young people. In order to mitigate these stressful experiences, users can turn to problem-focused coping strategies, or emotion-focused coping strategies (Li et al., 2018).

Adolescents and emerging adults are very familiar with social media platforms and therefore most often turn to problem-focused coping. When a social media activity receives little or negative feedback from friends on a social media platform (e.g., negative comments or few likes on a social media post), a way of problem-focused coping would be to remove the stressor from that platform (Li et al., 2018). However, problem-focused coping is insufficient to manage the stress evoked by this negative or little feedback. It is therefore necessary to cope with the negative feelings through emotion-focused coping even after the post has been removed by, for instance, distracting themselves from the (lack of/negative) feedback (Li et al., 2018). By using an emotion-focused coping strategy, the adolescent will attempt to minimize the impact of the negative emotions caused by the negative comments or lack of likes on a photo.

The previously mentioned problem-focused coping is an approach coping strategy to handle stress. In order to cope using approach strategies, one must have the control and resources to control the environmental and emotional stress (e.g., deleting a photo with negative feedback). When the user does not possess either one of these, they can turn to an avoidance strategy as a passive way of coping with social media stress (Lim & Choi, 2017). Choosing to distract oneself from social media

Social Support

As mentioned earlier, social support can provide resources for coping with stressful events (Schümer & Buchwald, 2012). During stressful times, social media can provide a pool of conto turn to in such situations. tacts Interestingly, the study by Schümer and Buchwald (2012) reported a clear distinction between individuals who integrated social support on social media in their coping processes and those who rejected social media as a coping resource. For individuals who integrated online social support in their coping process, their social media use provided them with social structures that, unlike offline social connections, were not restricted by time and space (Schümer & Buchwald, 2012).

avoidance strategies (Lim & Choi, 2017).

Summary and Discussion

This chapter set out to create a holistic view of the relationships between stress, social media use, and coping during the developmental stages of childhood, adolescence, and emerging adulthood. While social media do not yet play a central role in the daily life of children, adolescents and emerging adults spend a significant amount of time on social media platforms (Anderson & Jiang, 2018; Rideout & Robb, 2019). Social media can provide young people with ways to cope with stressful situations but can equally be a stressor itself.

Both adolescents and emerging adults turn to social media to seek information to cope with stressful situations (Stockdale & Coyne, 2020). Yet, it is mostly the emerging adult population that uses information on social media to change the environment or their perception of the stressor (Barahmand et al., 2019). Another coping strategy that is made more accessible through social media use is online support-seeking. In addition to information-seeking, individuals who turn to friends online can receive informational support that can be of help when coping with a stressor (Chung et al., 2014). Furthermore, online social support can provide users with appraisal and emotional support.

As mentioned earlier, social media can provide means to support coping in users. However, social media use comes with risks that can be perceived as stressors by the user. One such risk is cyberbullying, which is a reoccurring phenomenon in all adolescent age groups (Hamm et al., 2015). Online aggressive behavior toward others can have detrimental effects on the well-being of the victims. By employing coping strategies, victims can mitigate the negative, long-term impact of cyberbullying on their well-being (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015). Adolescent victims of cyberbullying can use the technological features of the platform to cope (e.g., blocking the bully), or can undertake offline actions (e.g., confronting the bully). Another way of coping with cyberbullying is by seeking social support, either online or offline, yet seeking for social support declines as adolescents age (Raskauskas & Huynh, 2015). An additional risk of social media use is the tendency for social comparison. While positive social comparison can be employed as a positive emotion-focused coping strategy to maintain positive perceptions of the self, comparisons with ideal selfpresentations on social media more often than not result in a lower well-being (Chou & Edge, 2012; Frison & Eggermont, 2016). When social media users compare themselves with the favorable self-presentations of others, they believe themselves to be worse off than others.

A third association we discussed between social media and coping was social media as a coping liability. While individuals can turn

to social media to cope with stressful situations, such as social support-seeking, relying on social media to cope with stressful situations can increase the risk of excessive use and developing a psychological dependency (Brailovskaia et al., 2019). Furthermore, turning to social media to cope with stress and expecting a relief from the stressful event can prevent young users from employing other adaptive coping strategies (Sriwilai & Charoensukmongkol. 2015). Another way in which social media use can be a stressor is through fear of missing out. Using social media for social connection and support can result in excessive use and feelings of stress when the user does not feel like their needs are being met (Fabris et al., 2020).

A final association we introduced was the relation between stressful situations and social media as a coping resource. Adolescents and emerging adults are very familiar with social media platforms and their features, which makes them capable of employing problemfocused coping strategies (e.g., removing a stressor from their social media feed) (Li et al., 2018). Emotion-focused coping strategies can then help further in minimizing the negative feelings evoked by the stressful experience. When users cannot rely on these approachfocused coping strategies (e.g., because they do not have the control or resources), avoidance coping strategies such as distraction through social media use (e.g., choosing entertainment content) can provide relief from the stressor (Lim & Choi, 2017). Finally, social support can provide coping resources by providing social connections that are available at all times (Schümer & Buchwald, 2012).

While the previously introduced research provides great insight in the role of social media in coping processes in young people, a great number of gaps still remain. Research on children and coping through social media use is very sparse, despite the increase in social media use among this age group and the earlier age of introduction to technologies that provide ways to engage with social media. Furthermore, longitudinal research mapping the differential role of social media in the developmental stages from childhood throughout young adulthood is lacking and creates opportunities for future research.

References

- Anderson, M., & Jiang, J. (2018). Teens, social media and technology overview. Pew Internet & American Life Project, Washington, DC.
- Andreassen, C. S., Torsheim, T., Brunborg, G. S., & Pallesen, S. (2012). Development of a Facebook Addiction Scale. *Psychological Reports*, *110*(2), 501–517. https://doi.org/10.2466/02.09.18.pr0 .110.2.501-517
- Attest. (2021). US media consumption report 2021. https://www.askattest.com/reports-guides/usmedia-consumption-report-2021-2
- Barahmand, N., Nakhoda, M., Fahimnia, F., & Nazari, M. (2019). Understanding everyday life information seeking behavior in the context of coping with daily hassles: A grounded theory study of female students. *Library & Information Science Research*, 41(4), Article 100980. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2019.100980
- Beyens, I., Frison, E., & Eggermont, S. (2016). "I don't want to miss a thing": Adolescents' fear of missing out and its relationship to adolescents' social needs, Facebook use, and Facebook related stress. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.083
- Bonetti, L., Campbell, M. A., & Gilmore, L. (2010). The relationship of loneliness and social anxiety with children's and adolescents' online communication. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 13(3), 279–285. https://doi .org/10.1089/cyber.2009.0215
- Brailovskaia, J., Rohmann, E., Bierhoff, H. W., Schillack, H., & Margraf, J. (2019). The relationship between daily stress, social support and Facebook Addiction Disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 276, 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .psychres.2019.05.014

- Brailovskaia, J., Teismann, T., & Margraf, J. (2018). Cyberbullying, positive mental health and suicide ideation/behavior. *Psychiatry Research*, 267, 240–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .psychres.2018.05.074
- Brand, M., Laier, C., & Young, K. S. (2014). Internet addiction: Coping styles, expectancies, and treatment implications. *Frontiers of Physiology*, 5, Article 1256. https://doi.org/10 .3389/fpsyg.2014.01256
- Chou, H. T. G., & Edge, N. (2012). "They are happier and having better lives than I am": The impact of using Facebook on perceptions of others' lives. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 15(2), 117–121. https://doi .org/10.1089/cyber.2011.0324
- Chung, T. Y., Yang, C. Y., & Chen, M. C. (2014). Online social support perceived by Facebook users and its effects on stress coping. *Journal of Corporate Governance, Insurance and Risk Management*, 1(2), 193–209. https://www.um .edu.mt/library/oar/handle/123456789/68432
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M (1985). *Intrinsic* motivation and self-determination in human behavior. Plenum.
- Fabris, M. A., Marengo, D., Longobardi, C., & Settani, M. (2020). Investigating the links between fear of missing out, social media addiction, and emotional symptoms in adolescence: The role of stress associated with neglect and negative reactions on social media. *Addictive Behaviors*, 106, Article 106364. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106364
- Fahy, A. E., Stansfield, S. A., Smuk, M., Smith, N. R., Cummins, S., & Clark, C. (2016). Longitudinal associations between cyberbullying involvement and adolescent mental health. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 59(5), 502–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .jadohealth.2016.06.006
- Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison processes. *Human Relations*, 7, 117–140. https:// doi.org/10.1177/001872675400700202
- Fox, J., & Moreland, J. J. (2015). The dark side of social networking sites: An exploration of the relational and psychological stressors associated with Facebook use and affordances. *Computers*

in Human Behavior, 45, 168–176. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.083

- Freytag, A., Knop-Huelss, K., Meier, A., Reinecke, L., Hefner, D., Klimmt, C., & Vorderer, P. (2020). Permanently online – always stressed out? The effects of permanent connectedness on stress experiences. *Human Communication Research*, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1093/hcr/hqaa014
- Frison, E., & Eggermont, S. (2016). "Harder, better, faster, stronger": Negative comparison on Facebook and adolescents' life satisfaction are reciprocally related. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior,* and Social Networking, 19(3), 158–164. https:// doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2015.0296
- Gao, W., Liu, Z., Guo, Q., & Li, X. (2018). The dark side of ubiquitous connectivity in smartphone-based SNS: An integrated model from information perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 84, 185–193. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.chb.2018.02.023
- Gerson, J., Plagnol, A. C., & Corr, P. J. (2016). Subjective well-being and social media use: Do personality traits moderate the impact of social comparison on Facebook? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 63, 813–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .chb.2016.06.023
- Hamm, M. P., Newton, A. S., & Chisholm, A. (2015). Prevalence and effect of cyberbullying on children and young people: A scoping review of social media studies. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 169(8), 770–777. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics .2015.0944
- Iranzo, B., Buelga, S., Cava, M.-J., & Ortega-Barón, J. (2019). Cyberbullying, psychosocial adjustment, and suicidal ideation in adolescence. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 28(2), 75–81. https:// doi.org/10.5093/pi2019a5
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). The coping process: An alternative to traditional formulations. In *Stress, appraisal, and coping* (pp. 141–178). Springer.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 1(3), 141–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2410010304
- Leipold, B., Munz, M., & Michéle-Malkowsky, A. (2019). Coping and resilience in the transition to

adulthood. *Emerging Adulthood*, 7(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696817752950

- Li, P., Chang, L., Chua, T. H. H., & Loh, R. S. M. (2018). "Likes" as KPI: An examination of teenage girls' perspective on peer feedback on Instagram and its influence on coping response. *Telematics and Informatics*, 35(7), 1994–2005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2018.07.003
- Lim, M. S., & Choi, S. B. (2017). Stress caused by social media network applications and user responses. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 76(17), 17685–17698. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11042-015-2891-z
- Machmutow, K., Perren, S., Sticca, F., & Alsaker, F. D. (2012). Peer victimisation and depressive symptoms: Can specific coping strategies buffer the negative impact of cybervictimisation? *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, *17*(3–4), 403–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2012 .704310
- McDool, E., Powell, P., Roberts, J., & Taylor, K. (2016). Social media use and children's wellbeing. *Journal of Health Economics*, 69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2019.102274
- Nesi, J., & Prinstein, M. J. (2015). Using social media for social comparison and feedbackseeking: Gender and popularity moderate associations with depressive symptoms. *Journal* of Abnormal Child Psychology, 43(8), 1427–1438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0020-0
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2013). *OECD guidelines on measuring subjective well-being*. https://doi.org/ 10.1787/9789264191655-en
- Park, N., Kee, K. F., & Valenzuela, S. (2009). Being immersed in social networking environment: Facebook groups, uses and gratifications, and social outcomes. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *12*(6), 729–733. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2009 .0003
- Pew Research Center. (2018). *Teens, social media & technology 2018*. https://www.pewresearch.org/ internet/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/
- Postmes, T., & Spears, R. (1998). Deindividuation and antinormative behavior: A meta-analysis.

Psychological Bulletin, *123*(3), 238–259. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.123.3.238

- Przybylski, A. K., Murayama, K., DeHaan, C. R., & Gladwell, V. (2013). Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(4), 1841–1848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.02 .014
- Pyżalski, J. (2012). From cyberbullying to electronic aggression: Typology of the phenomenon. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 17(4), 305–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2012 .704319
- Raskauskas, J., & Huynh, A. (2015). The process of coping with cyberbullying: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 23, 118–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2015.05.019
- Rideout, V., Fox, S., Peebles, A., & Robb, M. B. (2021). Coping with COVID-19: How young people use digital media to manage their mental health. Common Sense and Hopelab.
- Rideout, V., & Robb, M. B. (2019). The Common Sense census: Media use by tweens and teens, 2019. Common Sense Media.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2018). Selfdetermination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press.
- Schümer, M., & Buchwald, P. (2012). Social support and coping within Facebook: Using online social networks in times of stress. In P. Buchwald, K. Kaniasty, & K. Moore (Eds.). Stress and anxiety: Application to economic hardship, occupational demands, and developmental challenges (pp. 107–118). Logos Berlin.
- Schuster, R. M., Hammitt, W. E., & Moore, D. (2003). A theoretical model to measure the appraisal and coping response to hassles in outdoor recreation settings. *Leisure Sciences*, 25(2–3), 277–299. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01490400306568
- Siegmann, P., Teismann, T., Fritsch, N., Forkmann, T., Glaesmer, H., Zhang, X. C., Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2018). Resilience to suicide ideation: A cross-cultural test of the buffering hypothesis. *Clinical Psychology &*

Psychotherapy, 25(1), e1–e9. https://doi.org/10 .1002/cpp.2118

- Sriwilai, K., & Charoensukmongkol, P. (2015). Face it, don't Facebook it: Impacts of social media addiction on mindfulness, coping strategies and the consequence on emotional exhaustion. *Stress and Health*, 32(4), 427–434. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2637
- Statista. (2022). Mobile social media worldwide: Statistics & facts. https://www.statista.com/ topics/2478/mobile-social-networks/ #editorsPicks
- Stockdale, L. A., & Coyne, S. M. (2020). Bored and online: Reasons for using social media, problematic social networking site use, and behavioral outcomes across the transition from adolescence to emerging adulthood. *Journal of Adolescence*, 79, 173–183. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2020.01.010
- Stokel-Walker, C. (2020). TikTok's global surge. New Scientist, 245(3273), Article 31. https://doi .org/10.1016/s0262-4079(20)30552-2
- Suler, J. (2004). The online disinhibition effect. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 7(3), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1089/1094931041291295
- Taylor, S. E., Buunk, B. P., & Aspinwall, L. G. (1990). Social comparison, stress, and coping. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 16(1), 74–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0146167290161006
- Thomée, S., Dellve, L., Härenstam, A., & Hagberg, M. (2010). Perceived connections between information and communication technology use and mental symptoms among young adults – a qualitative study. *BMC Public Health*, 10(66). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-66
- Twenge, J. M. (2013). Does online social media lead to social connection or social disconnection?.

Journal of College and Character, 14(1), 11–20, https://doi.org/10.1515/jcc-2013-0003

- van der Schuur, W. A., Baumgartner, S. E., & Sumter, S. R. (2019). Social media use, social media stress, and sleep: Examining crosssectional and longitudinal relationships in adolescents. *Health Communication*, 34(5), 552–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2017 .1422101
- Vogel, E. A., Rose, J. P., Roberts, L. R., & Eckles, K. (2014). Social comparison, social media, and self-esteem. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 3(4), 206–222. https://doi.org/10.1037/ ppm0000047
- Völlink, T., Bolman, C. A. W., Dehue, F., & Jacobs, N. C. L. (2013). Coping with cyberbullying: Differences between victims, bully-victims and children not involved in bullying. *Journal of Community and Applied Psychology*, 23(1), 7–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ casp.2142
- Völlink, T., Bolman, C. A. W., Eppingbroek, A., & Dehue, F. (2013). Emotion-focused coping worsens depressive feelings and health complaints in cyberbullied children. *Journal of Criminology*, 2013(2). https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2013/416976
- Whittaker, E., & Kowalski, R. M. (2015). Cyberbullying via social media. *Journal of School Violence*, 14(1), 11–29. https://doi.org/10 .1080/15388220.2014.949377
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025410384923

26 Clinical Treatments for Child Emotional Disorders and the Development of Coping

The Case of Irritability

Maria Kangas and Ronald M. Rapee

Introduction

Maladaptive coping and regulatory skills are risk factors for the development of mental health disorders across the lifespan, including internalizing and externalizing problems. The most common psychological disorders in children and adolescents are internalizing conditions, particularly anxiety disorders with an estimated 6.5% of children worldwide experiencing at least one type of anxiety disorder (Polanczyk et al., 2015). As a consequence, the treatment for anxiety disorders for children and adolescents has the strongest evidence base, with cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) with or without medication (particularly, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors) having the highest quality of empirical support to date (Bennett et al., 2016). However, the treatment of anxiety disorders (including CBT-based interventions) for children and adolescents with comorbid conditions, including externalizing and mood disorders, is not as effective (Gibby et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2018). This has raised questions as to the utility and efficacy of targeted, modular treatments relative to more transdiagnosticfocused therapies for children and adolescents experiencing comorbid mental health problems. Yet the evidence base for the transdiagnostic treatment of emotional problems in youth is in its infancy. To this end, persistent irritability is increasingly recognized as a core transdiagnostic feature for both internalizing and externalizing disorders in children and adolescents. Hence, strengthening the evidence base for irritability-related disturbances in youth may have utility in preventing chronic psychopathology. We propose that the coping and emotion regulatory literature is instrumental in advancing this field.

The focus of this chapter is on outlining and evaluating relevant conceptual models emerging treatment interventions and targeting recurring, elevated irritability in children and adolescents to enhance their adaptive coping and emotion regulatory abilities. We begin by outlining the role of coping and emotion regulatory strategies in managing emotions and highlight similarities and differences between these constructs. This is followed by a review of two recent related conceptual frameworks for irritability in children and adolescents incorporating ways in which coping and emotion regulatory processes align with these models. We then review published treatment studies that have tested the efficacy of psychotherapy interventions for children and/or adolescents presenting with persistent, elevated irritability disturbances as a primary problem. We conclude with a discussion of the implications of findings in terms of the psychotherapy approaches showing promising effects in managing irritability disturbances in youth, as well as highlighting gaps that need to be addressed in future research and that can be further informed by developmental coping and emotion regulatory frameworks.

613

Coping, Emotion Regulation, and Irritability Problems in Children and Adolescents

There is growing recognition that the developmental fields in coping and emotion regulation (ER) have remained relatively separate (Compas et al., 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). This is reflected in the lack of integration of the conceptualization and measurement of these two related processes (Compas et al., 2017). Yet, coping and ER are related yet distinct constructs. In particular, coping is subsumed under the broader construct of ER (Compas et al., 2014). Coping is commonly defined in the developmental field as a process of responding to stressful circumstances or events. The seminal work by Lazarus and Folkman (1984) comprises two broad types of coping: problem-focused and emotion-focused coping, which are shaped by an individual's goals of coping efforts. Specifically, whereas problem-focused coping involves effort to resolve the source of the stressors and includes problem-solving strategies. emotion-focused coping involves efforts to manage one's emotions if the stressor cannot be avoided or ameliorated. Compas et al. (2001) developed the control-based model of coping, which consists of three domains: 1) primary control coping, which is comparable to Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) problemfocused coping construct; 2) secondary control coping, which involves efforts to adapt to the source of stress (e.g., using acceptance or reappraisal strategies); and 3) disengagement coping, which involves efforts to move away from the source of the stressor or one's emotional responses, and includes such strategies as avoidance and distraction. These latter two coping domains are compatible with aspects from Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) emotion-focused coping construct.

In contrast, ER involves managing an array of emotions in an effort to upregulate and/or downregulate both positive and negative emotions in response to broader life circumstances, not necessarily restricted to stressful situations and events (Compas et al., 2014; Gross, 2015). It is noteworthy that the *regulatory process* is a central feature that unifies the coping and ER constructs (Compas et al., 2014, 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner. 2016). Moreover, Compas et al. (2017) have noted that coping is both a narrower and broader construct than ER, as coping is a response that unfolds in the context of stressors, whilst ER extends to both stressor and nonstressor contexts; yet as a broader construct than ER, "coping encompasses the regulation of a wider range of processes that includes not only emotion, but also cognition, behavior, physiology, and sources of stress in the environment" (Compas et al., 2017, p. 942). Hence, adaptive coping is considered a balance between stress reactivity and regulating a broad array of factors including cognitive and behavioral responses (Eisenberg et al., 1997). However, in line with Gross' (2015) process model of ER, cognitive processes and modulation of behavioral responses are included as efforts in managing emotional responses to a broad array of experiences across various environmental contexts. This further highlights that coping and ER processes share more similarities than differences. Yet in the developmental field, the contribution of coping and ER processes in the advancement of relevant conceptualizations and treatments for child and adolescent mental health problems seems to have occurred in parallel. This is particularly relevant for the increasing recognition of chronic irritability problems in youth within the past decade (Vidal-Ribas et al., 2016).

In the following sections, we outline how chronic irritability in youth has been conceptualized as a deficit in ER processes, and how it has informed the emerging psychotherapy evidence base for treating this transdiagnostic phenomenon in children and adolescents. In evaluating this literature we also discuss how the developmental coping literature can be integrated to further advance the conceptualization and strengthen the psychotherapy evidence base for children and adolescents experiencing chronic irritability problems.

A growing volume of studies have shown that ER is a transdiagnostic factor that has a central role in determining adaptive versus maladaptive functioning (Aldao et al., 2016; Fernandez et al., 2016), by shaping which emotions we experience, and how and when we experience and express them, and which can be modulated by cognitive and behavioral strategies (Gross, 2015). Studies have shown that difficulties in ER processes are related to both internalizing (e.g., anxiety and depression) and externalizing (e.g., conduct behavioral) problems in children (Sullivan et al., 2015). For example, anxious children have been shown to oscillate between emotional outbursts and avoidance to manage their emotions (Cisler & Olatunji, 2012). Similarly, children with externalizing behavior problems show dysregulated "bursts" of irritability, anger, and aggression (varying on a continuum) (Sullivan et al., 2015). Although temper tantrums are common in the toddler/ preschool years, by early childhood, the frequency and severity of such outbursts typically tapers off (Sukhodolosky et al., 2016). The decline in frequency of temper outbursts as children develop is attributed to the development of more adaptive ER skills (Southam-Gerrow & Kendall, 2002). In particular, young children, facilitated by responsive caregiver interactions, shift rapidly from relying solely on reflective strategies to regulating their own emotions (Dennis & Kelemen, 2009; Eisenberg et al., 2010). This is achieved through learning to inhibit inappropriate external behaviors by applying self-soothing strategies (such as walking away or playing a calming activity). With the incremental codevelopment of executive abilities and language skills, children further learn to express their feelings as well as understand the social norms for appropriate emotion expression and reactivity (Eisenberg et al., 2010; Harrington et al., 2020; Paulus et al., 2021). This also extends to the acquisition of primary volition regulatory strategies by age 7 including problem-solving and helpseeking strategies, suppression of impulses, and redirecting attention (Paulus et al., 2021; Ross & Thompson, 2011). Hence, ER is a core process in the development of adaptive emotional competency and regulatory skills and psychological well-being in children's formative years. Moreover, the development of ER skills involves accessing coping resources by utilizing a broad range of regulatory strategies as children developmentally mature (Paulus et al., 2021; Ross & Thompson, 2011).

In contrast, emotion dysregulation in children is operationalized as demonstrating difficulties in regulating the intensity and quality of emotions (e.g., anger, fear, and sadness) "in order to generate an appropriate emotional response, to handle excitability, mood instability, and emotional overreactivity, and to come down to an emotional baseline" (Paulus et al., 2021, p. 1). Not surprisingly, emotion dysregulation has been associated with poor emotional understanding and expressivity, as well as elevated ruminative tendencies, factors shown to predict psychopathology by adolescence (McLaughlin et al., 2011). Hence, emodysregulation shares comparable tional features with poor coping responses (such as ruminative coping) following involuntary stress when experiencing intense-negative valanced responses.

Deficits in ER are fundamental to developmental psychopathology across childhood and adolescence including disorders that have

615

irritability as a core feature (Copeland et al., 2015), given elevated irritability arises from both overreactivity to environmental stimuli as well as regulatory problems in managing the generation of appropriate responses. Importantly, recurring elevated irritability is a core transdiagnostic feature for internalizing (e.g., major depressive disorder [MDD]), externalizing disorders (e.g., oppositional defiant disorder [ODD] and conduct disorder [CD]). and heterotypic comorbidity (Beauchaine & Tackett, 2020; Sukhodolosky et al., 2016). Moreover, elevated, prolonged irritability in young children tends to predate the emergence of psychopathology in subsequent years (Beauchaine & Tackett, 2020). Yet it is noteworthy that chronic elevated irritability in children predicts both anxiety and unipolar depression. However, elevated irritability is not a marker for all types of psychopathology as, to date, it has not been found to predict the onset of bipolar disorder, conduct disorder. and substance use disorders (Kircanski et al., 2019; Savage et al., 2015; Vidal-Ribas et al., 2016). From a dimensional (continuum) perspective, children with more enduring and persistent irritability typically display an angry and sullen mood manifested as annoyance and frustration, even in response to mild provocations and ambiguous contexts (Kircanski et al., 2019). On the severe end of this spectrum, persistent, chronic irritability has been characterized as a central feature of disruptive mood dysregulation disorder (DMDD), which is a new disorder introduced in the most recent Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders (5th edition; DSM-5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The core features of DMDD include (a) recurring temper outbursts (at least three times per week), manifested verbally or behaviorally that are (b) out of proportion to the situation or provocation, and (c) are also inconsistent with

developmental level (Criteria A, B, C); whilst persistent irritability or angry mood occurs between temper outbursts for most of the day (Criterion D). The onset of symptoms must occur before age 10 and be present across at least two settings (e.g., school, home and/or social environments). However, children can only be diagnosed with this disorder at a minimum of 6 years of age, given evidence that the normative peak for irritability occurs between 4 and 5 years (e.g., Wakschlag et al., 2015). Moreover, for children, the DMDD criteria integrate elements from ODD and MDD, although DMDD supersedes ODD when both are applicable (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Accordingly, DMDD is a diagnostic framework, which can identify children with more severe levels of irritability, and with volatile mood prone to regular temper outbursts (Brotman et al., 2017).

Chronic irritability in children is a specific risk factor for chronic depression and anxiety disorders well into adulthood (Copeland et al., 2015: Vidal-Ribas et al., 2016). The rates of subthreshold levels of irritability causing functional impairment are estimated to be high in children and adolescents. For example, 22-51% of children (aged 9-16 years) had heightened irritability in a longitudinal study from the USA and 22% were at risk of dysfunctional problems (Copeland et al., 2015). In a separate, 20-year follow-up study, Stringaris et al. (2009) found that "parent-reported irritability in youth at mean age of 13.8 years predicted major depression, dysthymia, and generalized anxiety disorder at 20-year follow-up, even after adjustment for baseline (internalizing) ... disorders" (p. 1051). Similarly, in a recent longitudinal study, Evans et al. (2020) found that irritability in school-aged children was a predictive risk factor for both externalizing problems (via both poor anger and sadness coping), and
internalizing problems (via poor anger coping and intolerance of uncertainty). In an Australian longitudinal study, irritability in preschoolers was identified as a key predictor of psychopathology in later childhood (Forbes et al., 2017). In a separate longitudinal study, Savage et al. (2015) found that irritability disturbances were stable between middle childhood and early adolescent years (i.e., between ages of 8–9 years and 13–14 years) and, comparable to other studies, irritability was a predictor of anxiety and depressive problems by adolescence.

Collectively, these findings accentuate the importance of providing early interventions for children experiencing persistent irritability problems to enhance developing and strengthening adaptive and flexible emotion regulatory and coping skills particularly in regulating fear, anger, and sadness responses. The transdiagnostic nature of more severe levels of irritability in children and adolescents also attests to the need for evidencebased interventions targeting chronic irritability in at-risk youth as well as in children and adolescents presenting with either or both internalizing and externalizing disorders. To this end, there is increasing recognition that persistent irritability-related regulatory impairments in children and adolescents are a common reason for referral to mental health services (Roy & Comer, 2020). Yet, there is consensus of a paucity of evidence-based interventions specifically tailored for childhood irritability problems (Evans et al., 2020; Hawks et al., 2020; Kircanski et al., 2018; Linke et al., 2020). Given this notable gap in evidence-based practice, several scholars have recently developed conceptual frameworks that have utility to inform the screening, assessment, and treatment of children and adolescents experiencing functional impairments due to persistent, unrelenting irritability disturbances.

Conceptual Frameworks for Irritability in Children and Adolescents

Two overlapping models have recently been developed to explain the process of elevated irritability in children and adolescents; specifically, 1) the translational neuroscientific model of pediatric irritability (Brotman et al., 2017) and 2) the exposure targeted model of pediatric irritability (Kircanski et al., 2019). A brief overview of these models is presented next, and we highlight how components of these models align with the developmental coping and ER literature.

The Translational Neuroscientific Model of Pediatric Irritability

Brotman et al. (2017) have integrated relevant and neuroscientific research clinical developing their model of irritability, which serves as a useful heuristic framework to explain deficits in 1) reward processing and 2) threat processing in children experiencing severe and/or chronic presentations of irritability. They propose that children who experience deficits in reward processing, which is influenced by cognitive control, display aberrant responses to interactions interpreted as nonrewarding. This is referred to as "frustrative nonreward" to explain the frustration and elevated irritability children experience when they fail to receive an expected or anticipated (conditioned) reward (Kircanski et al., 2019). Thus, frustration and temper outbursts may occur when a reward is either prevented or withdrawn, resulting in blocked goal attainment. For example, when a child or adolescent refuses to complete their homework, the parents may remove their gaming privileges for that afternoon. Studies have shown that children with heightened irritability have difficulties in modifying their behaviors in line with such stimulus-reward associations (e.g., Adleman et al., 2011), as well as learning from their errors and adapting their affective and behavioral responses to changing socioenvironmental contingencies (e.g., Gagne & Goldsmith, 2011; Lamm et al., 2011).

Brotman et al. (2017) further posit that chronic, elevated irritability in children is motivated by threat processing, which is associated with heightened sensitivity as well as attentional bias to environmental/social cues that are misinterpreted as threatening. In particular, these scholars propose that youth with significant irritability misinterpret social cues as threatening giving rise to frustration and outbursts. Two common cues include 1) misinterpreting ambiguous facial features as threatening (e.g., a peer looking at the child in a particular way) and 2) interpreting feedback as a risk for personal failure (e.g., child feels insecure about doing their homework if they are finding it challenging, and consequently may feel threatened when a parent expects homework to be completed before the child can watch TV). Hence, even nonthreatening stimuli are interpreted as threatening in terms of blocked goal attainments, as well as sense of competency, thus resulting in irritable outbursts. To this end, it has been demonstrated that these children have lower thresholds for perceiving a broad array of stimuli (including ambiguous or neutral cues) as threatening and aversive (Hommer et al., 2014; Salum et al., 2017). For example, the transitioning of playing a game after school to doing homework is a critical switch point if the child/adolescent perceives the work to be challenging, difficult, or even boring and is thereby threatened by it. Research has further shown that irritable youth show threatrelevant cognitive biases in misattributing neutral and ambiguous environmental stimuli (including interpersonal interactions) as threatening or aversive (e.g., Stoddard et al.,

2016). In summary, Brotman et al.'s (2017) dual deficit model highlights that these children have added difficulties in regulating their emotions in response to cognitive bias errors, which can lead to a self-perpetuating cycle of low frustration tolerance, increased outbursts, and irritable and fluctuating mood.

Exposure Targeted Model of Pediatric Irritability

Expanding on Brotman et al.'s (2017) translational model of pediatric irritability, Kircanski et al. (2019) have recently developed an exposure-targeted model of irritability for vouth comprising six core components. The first component, the triggering stimulus, includes the two core elements from Brotman et al.'s (2017) model, the frustrative nonreward and threatening contingencies (already outlined). The second component, prediction error (PE), is defined as the difference between an expected and/or anticipated versus actual (received) outcome, and this is based on Schultz's (2016) two-component theory of PE. Specifically, if a child receives an outcome (reward) that is better than expected, this is considered a positive PE. Conversely, if a child receives a worse than predicted outcome, this is operationalized as a negative PE. Kircanski et al. (2019) posit that youth with elevated irritability are vulnerable to encoding more negative PEs in response to frustrative nonreward and/or threatening stimuli, which is associated with cognitive biases. For example, if a parent delays playing with a child after school, this can trigger an outburst in a vulnerable child, as the child may disproportionately interpret this delay as highly aversive (e.g., concerned that the parent may not end up playing with them at all).

Negative PEs give rise to frustration, which is the third component of this exposuretargeted model. Hence, negative PEs heighten irritability and lead to a temper outburst. However, Kircanski et al. (2019) propose that the child's level of cognitive control is likely to moderate the association between negative PEs and frustration severity levels. The fourth component, temper outburst, captures the lower threshold that children with heightened. persistent irritability problems have for experiencing outbursts. Kircanski et al. (2019) consider temper outbursts as both approach behaviors (i.e., when outbursts occur in response to nonreward and threat contingencies) and avoidant behaviors (i.e., when the initial nonreward or threat is removed; e.g., when parents give in to the child's trigger for their outbursts).

Cognitive control is the fifth component of Kircanski et al.'s (2019)model. A subcomponent of cognitive control comprises inhibitory control that includes the child's ability to suppress inappropriate/maladaptive behavioral and emotional responses in response to blocked goal attainments and/or perceived threats. Developmentally, with the maturation of the prefrontal cortex, as children transition from toddlerhood to the young to middle-aged school years, their propensity to apply inhibitory control improves, therefore lessening the frequency of temper outbursts. However, irritable youth are proposed to have difficulties in inhibitory control (e.g., Deveney et al., 2015), given they are more prone to experiencing frustration and temper outbursts that are out of proportion to their developmental chronological age.

The final, sixth component comprises the consequences of the child's temper outbursts and incorporates environmental (inclusive of parental) responses that influence and shape the probability and intensity of future negative PEs and subsequent outbursts. Kircanski et al. (2019) acknowledge that this final component is an extension of the fundamental principles that conceptually underpin CBT-based parent-

management training (PMT) programs (e.g., Kazdin, 2010). Hence, how parents (and other key figures in the child's environment) react can differentially reinforce negative PEs and outbursts in the child. Indeed, this final component reflects the interpersonal influence of what can sustain and perpetuate a cyclical negative reinforced pattern of temper outbursts in children and adolescents experiencing enduring, elevated irritability.

Behavioral learning principles are core to these two interrelated irritability models. Accordingly, Kircanski et al. (2019) propose that exposure to threat cues should underpin the treatment of elevated and prolonged irritability problems in youth for three key reasons. First, as aforementioned, given irritability is a transdiagnostic symptom, it is highly comorbid with anxiety in children and adolescents. Second, threat-relevant cognitive biases underlie both irritability and anxiety; and third, heightened arousal and negative affective states are elicited in response to triggering threat stimuli in both irritability and anxiety conditions. Considering that irritability is also a symptom of several anxiety disorders (such as generalized anxiety disorder, or GAD), and that exposure-based interventions have been found to be an effective core ingredient in the treatment of anxiety disorders in children (Plaisted et al., 2021; Rapee et al., 2017), it is expected that using exposure to cues that also trigger frustration and irritability are expected to help alleviate these responses over time in children displaying heightened irritability independent and/or concurrent with anxiety. Therefore, utilizing an exposure-based therapeutic approach for irritability provides an opportunity for new corrective learning to occur in response to frustrative nonreward and threatening triggers. Exposure further provides an opportunity to curtail temper outbursts as an avoidance behavior. This can be achieved by targeting parental behaviors so that the child has the opportunity to fully confront the consequences of their temper outbursts, and can learn to tolerate nonreward and threatening stimuli (Kircanski et al., 2019), thus hindering the reinforcement of negative PEs.

Importantly, the role of stress and interpersonal resources for enhancing adaptive coping and ER strategies is missing from both Brotman et al.'s (2017) and Kircanski et al.'s (2019) irritability models across each of the core components. Yet in developmental coping models, the social context is central across all stages of adapting to stressful triggers (e.g., Compas et al., 2017; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2016). This is further noteworthy, given that the evidence base for managing both internalizing and externalizing problems in youth, and which include irritability as one of the core symptoms (e.g., GAD, MDD, ODD, and CD), are conceptually based on treatments that include social learning theory as a foundational premise for core therapeutic components (e.g., Derella

et al., 2019; Hawks et al., 2020). Chief among these therapy components is PMT. Indeed, the focus of PMT is on improving child–parent relations by helping parents learn new strategies to manage their child's behavior, and includes learning how to model adaptive coping and ER strategies. This is particularly relevant in helping children cope with stressful situations and thus learning adaptive coping strategies to strengthen resiliency over time.

In line with the commonly accepted definitions of coping (reviewed earlier), coping is initiated when a child is confronted with a stressor that blocks their goals and/or is evaluated as a threat (inclusive of sense of competency and/or integrity and/or needs being met). We propose that for children with heightened irritability, nonreward and threatening trigger cues (in line with the first component of Kircanski et al.'s [2019] irritability model) are likely to be exacerbated by stress (see Figure 26.1). The child's appraisal of the stressor as threatening (inclusive of appraising the stressor as a risk to nonreward) is proposed to



Figure 26.1 Irritability model for children and adolescents.

Note. Adapted from Kircanski et al. (2019) and extended to include stress as the trigger event and activation of coping process including resources.

be influenced by their negative prediction errors (a second component of the irritability model). This is further modulated by the child's inhibitory control (another component of the irritability model). If the child has not yet learned how to inhibit inappropriate behavioral and emotional reactions and implement adaptive coping and ER strategies in responses to stress cues (e.g., problem-solving, distraction strategies), this is likely to strengthen frustration leading to temper outbursts (two further components of the irritability model). Parental and other interpersonal responses to these outbursts (e.g., from teachers, peers, siblings) will influence how the child learns to cope with subsequent stressor triggers. Hence, how parents and caregivers model adaptive coping and ER skills and how they further interact with and manage the temper outbursts in children should be a core component of treatments targeting irritability in children, in addition to focusing on exposure training to stressor and threat cues activating elevated irritability. This is compatible with PMT programs that focus on not only training parents to more consistently cease rewarding maladaptive coping strategies in response to stress cues, but also focus on rewarding and modeling adaptive coping strategies to help children manage their emotions and cope with stress. Moreover, this attests to the importance of providing early interventions for children to prevent the onset of chronic maladaptive coping repertoires as children transition into adolescence.

The evidence base for the treatment of irritability in children and adolescents is very much in its infancy, However, a modified version of Kircanski et al.'s (2019) exposure-targeted model that also factors in the role of ER and coping skills including interpersonal coping resources in adapting to stressor cues, and thus strengthening resiliency, has utility considering that irritability is a transdiagnostic phenomenon in children and is a potential risk factor for chronic anxiety and depressive disorders in later adolescence if left untreated. Hence, a combined therapeutic approach that integrates exposure with PMT may have utility for children and adolescents experiencing severe levels of irritability including DMDD. In the following section, an evaluation of published treatment studies is presented, which includes emerging evidence for CBT-based programs including exposure and PMT in treating irritability in children and adolescents presenting with clinically elevated symptoms of irritability as well as meeting full diagnostic criteria for DMDD.

Treatment Interventions for Pediatric Irritability

As aforementioned, the evidence base for the treatment of pediatric irritability lags considerably behind the established evidence base on practices for treating internalizing and externalizing disorders in children and adolescents. However, an emerging body of research has tested the feasibility and initial efficacy of behavioral-based programs in treating children and adolescents diagnosed with DMDD. There are also several studies that have tested the efficacy of CBT-based programs for children and adolescents presenting with elevated irritability disturbances (without a diagnosis of DMDD). These studies are summarized in Table 26.1. In the first section of this table, seven published studies, which focused on children and adolescents diagnosed with DMDD, are summarized. Three further studies are also summarized in the latter part of Table 26.1, which focused on testing psychotherapy programs for children with primary irritability disturbances.

Study	Aim	Design	Sample and diagnosis	Treatment program(c)	Key findings & limitations
Study	Allii	Design	Sample and diagnosis	Treatment program(s)	Key mangs & mintations
			DMDD studies		
Kircanski et al. (2018)	Test feasibility and efficacy of exposure-based CBT for severe irritability & DMDD	Open feasibility pilot trial	Total N = 10 children/ adolescents (M = 12.4 yrs; Range: 9.3 – 15.1 yrs). N = 8 met DMDD criteria & N = 2 DMDD history but current high irritability symptoms. N = 8 were also on psychotropic medications.	 Combine CBT-based exposure and PMT program Manualized exposure-based CBT 12–16 weekly outpatient therapy sessions of 60–90 mins each in duration. Each session included separate child and parent components, with some combined child/parent sessions. <u>Child component</u> – motivational interviewing (MI); developing exposure hierarchy; graduated in- session exposure with emotion tolerance; exposure homework. <u>Parent component</u> –psychoeducation on instrumental learning applied to child–parent relations; positive reinforcement for adaptive behavior and active ignoring for maladaptive behavior; limit setting; positive combined activities; intermittent unexpected positive rewards; managing parental emotional tolerance to child outbursts. <u>Combined child–parent sessions</u> included practice exposure and emotion tolerance. 	 Full therapy attendance. Significant decline in DMDD and irritability symptoms posttherapy. No child reported worsening of symptoms from pre to posttherapy, indicating exposure tasks were tolerated. Limitations: Non-RCT and no comparison condition, hence findings are preliminary. No medium- to longer-term follow-up to assess retention effects. Majority (80%) on medication – so unknown effects of this type of psychotherapy program for nonmedicated children. No assessment of ER or coping strategies.

Table 26.1 Treatment interventions for children and adolescents with DMDD and severe irritability symptoms

Table 26.1 (cont.)

Study	Aim	Design	Sample and diagnosis	Treatment program(s)	Key findings & limitations
			DMDD studies		
Linke et al. (2020)	Evaluating effects of a CBT- exposure and PMT program for DMDD case report	Case report (without multiple baseline assessments)	 11-year-old male (initially diagnosed with ADHD at 7 yrs). Met criteria for DMDD comorbid with ADHD – combined type. On stimulant medication. 	 Combine CBT-based exposure and PMT program. 12-weekly outpatient therapy sessions of 60–90 mins each in duration. Each session comprised 30–45 min sessions with child and parent separately, although some sessions were also conjoint. Therapy components were same as those reported in Kircanski et al. (2018). 	 Child still met criteria for DMDD at end of therapy but at a milder level with some reductions in irritability symptoms. Level of impairment was moderate at posttherapy. Limitations: No multiple baseline assessment so very provisional findings. No medium- to longer-term follow- up. No assessment of ER or coping strategies
Miller et al. (2018)	Test feasibility and acceptability of interpersonal psychotherapy for mood and behavioral dysregulation (IPT- MBD) compared to TAU	Pilot RCT – block randomization	 TotalN = 19, 12–17 yr old youth (Mage = 13.7yrs); 58% males. All met DMDD criteria and/or severe mood dysregulation (SMD) (as recruitment commenced pre-DSM-5). N=10 in IPT-MBD (70% females; 70% on medication) N=9 in TAU (11% females; 89% on medication). 	 IPT-MBD condition comprised 24 individual weekly, 45–60 min sessions with adolescent (with some intermittent parental sessions). IPT-MBD adapted from the IPT for depression adolescence (IPT-A; Mufson et al., 2004) program with goal of improving interpersonal skills and reducing irritability and outbursts. Modifications to program included: longer duration; psychoeducation on anger and temper outbursts; discussion on family accommodation to outbursts; outbursts safety plan to de-escalate outbursts; modified rhythmic metric; increase in parental involvement. Three phases to IPT-MBD (initial, middle, and termination) focusing on four problem areas: 1) interpersonal 	 Significantly more females in IPT vs. TAU, but did not covary for analyses due to small sample sizes. N=15 (80%) completed study in IPT condition versus 78% in TAU condition. IPT condition, M number of sessions attended = 20 with a high satisfaction score. TAU condition, 6/9 received both psychotherapy and medication (range of sessions). Participants in IPT condition reported significant improvements in functioning at posttherapy vs. TAU condition (via clinical interview scores). IPT classified as "middly ill" at posttherapy vs. TAU classified as "moderately ill."

Perepletchikova et al. (2017) Tested feasibility and efficacy of DBT for children with DMDD

RCT stratified via age (>/= 10 yrs). Total N = 43 children (7-12 yrs) with DMDD N=21 DBT condition; M age = 9.19 yrs; 57% males. 33% (n = 7) comorbid ADHD; and 38% (n = 8) anxiety disorders at baseline. N=10 (48%) met criteria for two disorders; and 19% (n = 4) met criteria for three disorders.

19% (n = 5) also medicated.

 DBT – manualized program comprising four modes from standard DBT: 1) individual therapy;
 2) skills training; 3) phone coaching;
 4) therapist team consultation. Plus new component 5) parent training.
 DBT – 32 weekly, 90 min individual

role transitions: 2) role disputes: 3)

interpersonal emotional interactions,

current therapy provider if relevant,

or referred to a nonstudy therapist.

communication, problem-solving,

deficits; and 4) grief, and which

included emotional awareness.

TAU condition – continued with

and relapse prevention.

- DBT = 32 weekly, 90 min individual sessions including child, parent, and conjoint sessions.
- DBT was made freely available to families (no fee costs).

 No significant differences on depressive, anxiety, and irritability symptoms assessed via selfreport measures.

- Only 1/8 participants continued to meet DMDD diagnosis at posttherapy vs. 4/7 TAU participants; and n=1 TAU participant had been hospitalized for psychological problems.
- Limitations:
- Underpowered study.
- Gender differences not statistically accounted for.
- Majority (79%) on medication so unknown effects of this type of psychotherapy program for nonmedicated children.
- No medium- to longer-term followup to assess retention effects.
- No assessment of ER or coping strategies.
- . Lengthy treatment.
- DBT condition 89% attended all sessions and 100% completed study assessments.
- TAU condition 49% attended sessions and 64% completed study assessments.
- Significant improvements in functioning assessed via clinical interview scores (CGI) for 90.4% of participants in DBT condition vs. 45.5% of TAU participants.

Table 26.1 (cont.)

Study	Aim	Design	Sample and diagnosis	Treatment program(s)	Key findings & limitations
			DMDD studies		
			N=22 TAU condition; Mage = 9.27 yrs; 55% males. 46% (n = 10) comorbid ADHD; and 18% (n = 4) anxiety disorders at baseline. N=14 (64%) met criteria for two disorders; and 9% (n = 2) met criteria for three disorders. 36% (n = 8) also medicated.	 TAU – received up to 32 individual treatment but families had to pay fees for the treatment with relevant providers. 	 Significantly greater proportion of participants in DBT condition were in remission posttherapy (52.4%) versus 27.3% of participants in TAU condition. Posttherapy a greater proportion of TAU participants were still on medication (54.4%) vs. 19.1% in DBT condition. For DBT condition – effects retained at 3-month follow-up, with clinical functioning (CGI scores) significantly improving between posttherapy and follow-up. No severe side effects for DBT condition whereas one participant in TAU was hospitalized due to psychological problems. Limitations: Although retention rates were high for DBT condition, they received the therapy at no cost, whilst the TAU participants were required to pay for treatment. No measures assessing comorbid, transdiagnostic symptoms for depression, anxiety, and emotion regulatory functioning. Lengthy treatment at 32 weeks × 90 min sessions. No assessment of ER or coping strategies.

Test utility of interpretation

and adolescents with

bias training for children

Open clinical

experimental trial.

Stoddard et al.

(2016)

	DMDD		comorbid ADHD and 71% had comorbid anxiety.	 IBS sessions comprised six training blocks consisting of a total of 180 trials. Training focused on benign interpretations of ambiguous facial expressions. 	 up. Significant reductions in parent reports of irritability symptoms post- training and at 1-week follow-up. However, no significant change for irritability scores assessed via child/ adolescent self-reports. fMRI results showed some change in the lateral orbital frontal cortex and amygdala for subtle expressions of happiness versus anger cues. Limitations: Researchers acknowledge results confounded by high psychological comorbidity, hence cannot rule out that irritability- related changes were due to alterations. Preliminary results as non-RCT and
Tudor et al. (2016)	Reporting effects of CBT for a case study with DMDD	Case study (with no multiple baseline assessment)	9-year-old female with DMDD comorbid with ADHD – combined type, on medication, and with unspecified anxiety.	 12-weekly, 60-min CBT sessions and 5 follow-up booster sessions within a 3-month period. CBT based on manualized program for anger and aggression for youth (Sukhodolsky & Scahill, 2012) with three core modules: 1) emotion regulation; 2) social problem-solving; 3) social skills. Additional DMDD components added to manual including: 1) extending psycho-education on irritability triggers; 2) behavioral 	 no comparison condition. Retention effects not known beyond 1-week follow-up. Significant reductions in irritability, anger, and aggression and within normative range at posttherapy "Very much improved" clinical functioning. Effects maintained following booster sessions. Limitations: Lacking multiple baseline assessment so results are provisional. No longer-term follow-up assessment following end of booster sessions. No assessment of ER or

Total N = 14 children with

57% females). 71% had

DMDD (Mage = 14.1 yrs;

· Computer-based interpretation bias

activation for negative mood; 3)

training (IBS) for four sessions

conducted over 4 days.

· No assessment of ER or coping strategies.

• Clinical range scores "slightly

improved" posttraining and

"improved" range at 1-week follow-

Table 26.1 (cont.)

Study	Aim	Design	Sample and diagnosis	Treatment program(s)	Key findings & limitations
			DMDD studies		
Waxmonsky et al. (2016)	Test feasibility and efficacy of a joint parent-child CBT group therapy program for children with SMD combined with medication	RCT	Total N = 68 children (7–12 yrs) with comorbid SMD and ADHD. CBT + ADHDmedication program comprised n = 35 children, M age 9.3 yrs; 29% with anxiety; 94% with ODD; 65% males. Community Care/TAU + ADHD medications comprised n = 33 children, M age 9.4 yrs; 44% with anxiety; 96% with ODD; 76% males.	 extending emotion regulation training to focus on irritable mood; and 4) extra booster sessions from three to five. Also included a parental component (three separate 60-min sessions). CBT group program comprised 11 × 105-min parent and child group therapy sessions run in parallel. Child sessions included emotion recognition in self and others, connection between emotions and cognitions, problem-solving, and coping skills. Parent sessions included psycho- education, behavior modification including identifying and interrupting negative family cycles reinforcing outbursts, emotion regulation coaching, and problem-solving. TAU condition – majority received psychotherapy in community care (86%; n=25). 	 Significant decline in mood and hyperarousal for CBT participants who attended the majority of the therapy sessions. Significant decline in parent reported irritability symptoms at posttherapy (ES=0.63) for CBT group. Frequency of temper outbursts and irritability increased over follow-up – suggesting need for booster sessions in future. Nonsignificant changes for ADHD. Nonsignificant group differences in favor for CBT for managing full spectrum of ODD symptoms. Limitations: No longer-term follow-up beyond 6 weeks. All participants on medication – so unknown effects for this type of

psychotherapy program for nonmedicated children.No assessment of ER or coping strategies.

		Cm	iaren presenting with severe trritabilit	iy sy	mpioms		
Derella et al. (2019)	Secondary analyses testing efficacy of CBT- enhanced emotion regulation for managing childhood chronic irritability symptoms	Based on secondary analyses of an RCT- effectiveness trial	Total N = 252 males (aged 6–11 yrs) who took part in an emotion regulation trial testing the effects of the Stop Now and Plan (SNAP) program compared to a TAU condition. Children required to score at clinical levels (T score of 70) on Conduct Disorder subscales on the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) – or obtained a T score of 64 overall on Externalizing subscale for CBCL. N=130 SNAP condition; M age 8.58 yrs; 86.2% African American. N=122 TAU condition; M age 8.38 ys; 87.7% African American.	•	SNAP is manualized and comprises small child group therapy sessions focusing on problem-solving, emotion regulation skills encouraging prosocial behaviors and reducing negative affectivity, role-play activities, videotaped review and peer critique of problem-solving strategies, and conducted over 3 months. Concurrent, separate parent group sessions focusing on parent practices, and problem-solving training. Following this first phase of group therapy children were reassessed and additional individual therapy was made available (e.g., SNAP family counseling, or booster sessions). TAU participants encouraged to engage in external provider services.	•	No significant direct effects between the two conditions in terms of changes for irritability symptoms. No significant direct effects found between SNAP skills training and reductions in irritability symptoms; although SNAP is associated with greater ER skills, the ES was small. Higher ER skills mediated effect between SNAP and irritability scores (ES=0.48). Limitations: Secondary analyses – hence program never designed to specifically target chronic irritability using a transdiagnostic framework. Cannot generalize findings to females. No clinical assessment of symptoms beyond CBCL externalizing symptoms.
Evans et al. (2020)	Secondary analyses testing effects between modular psychotherapy program vs. standard manualized psychotherapies vs. TAU for youth with severe levels of irritability	Based on secondary analyses of a clustered RCT effectiveness trial whereby children randomized to the Modular Approach to Therapy for Children with Anxiety, Depression, Trauma, or Conduct	Secondary analyses based on children classified with severe irritability and mood dysregulation (SIMD) Total N=81, M age 10.2 years; 69% males. SMT condition N=26 with SIMD; MATCH = 31 with SIMD; and TAU = 24 with SIMD.	•	MATCH – manualized modular program comprising weekly sessions (CBT-based program with behavioral parent training individualized to each child's case formulation). 83% related to manual content. SMT – clinicians administered one of three manualized protocols: 1) coping cat for anxiety; 2) primary and secondary control enhancement training (PASCET) for depression;	•	MATCH significantly or marginally better and faster improvements than TAU and SMT on outcomes including youth self-reports (internalizing, externalizing, and combined functioning scores). MATCH has significantly fewer diagnoses posttherapy vs. TAU (averaging one fewer; ES=0.93). Both MATCH and SMT equivalently better than usual care in

Children presenting with severe irritability symptoms

Table 26.1 (cont.)
--------------	--------

Study	Aim	Design	Sample and diagnosis	Treatment program(s)	Key findings & limitations
			DMDD studies		
		Problems (MATCH), one of three standardized manualized treatments (SMTs) or TAU		 and 3) defiant children for disruptive behavior. 93% related to manual content. TAU – only 8% related to a manual content. Mean sessions = 16.2 over 32 weeks. 	 reducing irritability symptoms (ES=0.49). Limitations: Secondary analyses – hence programs never designed to specifically target chronic irritability (SIMD) using a transdiagnostic framework. The SIMD subsample for this study was based on a three-item measure adapted from CBCL and subsamples were underpowered to detect small to medium ES. Not clear which specific treatment components contributed to positive results for irritability. No assessment of ER or coping strategies.
Hawks et al. (2020)	Tested adapted version of the unified protocol for transdiagnostic treatment of emotional disorders in children (UP-C) for treatment of pediatric irritability	Prepost design	Total of 19 children (aged 8–12 yrs); M=10 yrs; 79% males. Primary diagnoses included: 53.3% ADHD, 13.3% DMDD, 6.7% ODD, 6.7% intermittent explosive disorder, 6.7% MDD, 6.7% adjustment disorder, 6.7% other mood disorder. Comorbid diagnosis included 26.7% ADHD, 20% GAD, 13.3% unspecified anxiety,	 Modified UP-C comprised 10 × 90-min group weekly sessions; child and parent groups, with at least 20 mins conjoint parent-child experiential activities. Child component: Focused on anger and irritability emotions. Emotional and somatic awareness and identification; psychoeducation on cognitions including "thinking traps," cognitive restructuring via 	 N = 15 completed study (n = 3 dropouts and n = 1 did not complete baseline assessment). Of the 15 participants, 50% attended 50% or more of sessions (M attendance number is 7); with 22% dropout. No significant changes in childreported irritability symptom and own hostile intent biases at posttherapy. Parent reports of their child's irritability and oppositional

13% MDD or adjustment disorder.

.

detective thinking; problem-solving; exposure and skills review.

Parent component: parent behavioral management strategies including engaging in positive interactions with child, consistent parenting, using effective command–punishment procedures, modeling adaptive emotional coping. Encouraged to support child in implementing child skills. behaviors significantly declined posttreatment.

- Parent reports of their child's emotion regulation did not significantly change pre to posttreatment.
- Parent reports of their child's broad emotional and behavioral problems were significantly lower by posttherapy.
- Parent reports of their child's prosocial behaviors marginally improved by posttreatment.
- Parents rated program as highly satisfactory.
- Limitations:
- No control condition.
- Majority had a primary or secondary diagnosis of ADHD (70%).
- No follow-up assessments, so retention effects unknown.

Review of the Seven DMDD Treatment Studies

Of the seven DMDD studies, three were randomized controlled trials (RCT) (Miller et al., 2018: Perepletchikova et al.. 2017: Waxmonsky et al., 2016), one was a nonrandomized, prepost design (Kircanski et al., 2018), two papers were case reports (Linke et al., 2020; Tudor et al., 2016), and one study used an experimental prepost design to test a computerized interpretation bias training paradigm (Stoddard et al., 2016). The three RCTs tested different types of psychotherapeutic approaches; however, they all included individual and/or interpersonal emotion regulatory and coping skills training components (Miller et al., 2018; Perepletchikova et al., 2017; Waxmonsky et al., 2016). The largest trial by Waxmonsky et al. (2016) evaluated the efficacy of combined medication for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and group-based CBT (including child and parent components) for the treatment of comorbid DMDD with ADHD relative to a community care (treatment as usual, TAU) comparison group of children aged 7-12 years. Moreover, both the child and parent components included ER and coping skills training. The child component included training to increase emotional awareness in self and others as well as how to use adaptive coping skills including self-soothing and problemsolving skills to manage stressful experiences. To reinforce these skills, the parental components included psychoeducation training in ER coaching and problem-solving in addition to PMT strategies. The combined group CBT program was found to reduce child irritability and hyperarousal symptoms and improve child mood symptoms posttherapy, but these improvements were not retained at follow-up. Notably, the rate of temper outbursts and irritability symptoms increased by 6 weeks followup relative to posttreatment. There were also no significant group differences in terms of ADHD and ODD symptom changes between the CBT and TAU conditions. Waxmonsky et al. (2016) acknowledge that the lack of short-term retention effects may indicate that this comorbid group of children require booster therapy sessions, beyond the 11session CBT program for further skill consolidation.

More positive findings were documented by the other two RCT studies, which were based on psychotherapy programs of much longer treatment duration. In particular, Perepletchikova et al. (2017) investigated the efficacy of a child version of an adapted 32week dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) program in a small sample of preadolescents (7-12 years) (n=21) and compared this to a TAU (n=22) condition. The DBT program included both child and parent training sessions, including mindfulness, ER, and distress tolerance skills involving in-session experiential practice as well as PMT and family therapy sessions. Results were positive with 90% of children in the DBT group improving in their overall functioning, compared to only 45.5% of children in the TAU condition. Moreover, 52% of children in the DBT condition were in remission for DMDD at the end of therapy compared to only 27% of children in the TAU group. Similarly, Miller et al. (2018) also found positive treatment effects for a 24session, individualized interpersonal psychotherapy treatment (IPT) program for a very small sample of adolescents aged 12-17 years. It is noteworthy that the IPT program also included emotional awareness and interpersonal ER training (see Table 26.1). The majority (87.5%) of the sample who received the IPT program were in remission for DMDD relative to only 43% of adolescents in the TAU condition at the end of the 24-week therapy program. The outcomes from these latter two

RCTs are promising and attest to the potential effectiveness of interpersonal-based training programs that include both child emotion regulatory, coping, and social skills training as well as interpersonal ER coaching coupled with PMT in facilitating the management of DMDD.

Although all three RCTs for DMDD included parent training components, it is noteworthy that none of the psychotherapy programs evaluated (i.e., group CBT, DBT, and IPT) included a specific exposure component targeting the management of irritability symptoms and temper outbursts in line with Kircanski et al.'s (2019) exposure-targeted irritability model. In response to this gap, the two studies conducted by Kircanski et al. (2018) and Linke et al. (2020) tested the efficacy of a combined 12-week, individually based, CBT exposure and PMT program for treating pediatric DMDD. In both studies, the CBT-based program primarily focused on graduated in-session and between-session exposure to nonreward and frustration threat cues coupled with PMT inclusive of managing parental emotional tolerance in response to children's temper outbursts. As outlined in Table 26.1, Linke et al. (2020) reported the findings from a case study based on an 11vear-old male diagnosed with DMDD comorbid with ADHD, and who was on stimulant medication. Although at the end of the therapy program this child continued to meet criteria for DMDD, the symptoms had been reduced to a milder level.

Kircanski et al. (2018) also tested the efficacy of this combined, 12-weekly individual CBT exposure and PMT program using a prepost design, based on a small sample (N=10) of children aged 9–15 years diagnosed with current or a history of DMDD, with current elevated irritability symptoms. A significant decline in DMDD symptoms was found posttherapy. However, the authors did not report the diagnostic status of participants posttherapy. Hence, the proportion of participants who were in remission by the end of this cohort study remains unknown. Clearly, further large-scale controlled RCTs are warranted to further test the efficacy of this combined exposure and PMT program for managing DMDD as well as chronic clinically elevated irritability symptoms in children and adolescents who may not necessarily meet full diagnostic criteria for DMDD. Indeed, Kircanski et al. (2018) acknowledge that on the basis of their initial trial results, it is premature for exposure-based CBT programs to be considered an empirically supported treatment for severe irritability disturbances in youth. It is noteworthy that the CBT-based exposure and PMT program tested by these researchers did not include any active ER training components. This is a key difference between this program and the multicomponent CBT-based programs tested by Miller et al. (2018), Perepletchikova et al. (2017),and Waxmonsky et al. (2016) that did include specific child and parent ER and coping skills training components.

As further summarized in Table 26.1, Tudor et al. (2016) used a case study design to examine the effects of a 12-week CBT-based program for a 9-year-old female diagnosed with comorbid DMDD and ADHD, and who was also medicated. The CBT program focused on ER and social skills including problem-solving training, as well as behavioral activation that involved compiling a list of enjoyable activities to help with periods of low mood. In addition, three separate parent training sessions were incorporated into the intervention. However, in contrast to Kircanski et al.'s (2019) irritability model, no specific exposure targeted component was included that involved gradual increase in activities that triggered an irritable mood state. In contrast to the Linke et al. (2020) case study, Tudor et al. (2016) documented significant reductions in the child's irritability, anger, and aggressive symptoms and the child's functioning was evaluated to be in the normative range posttherapy. These results were maintained following the 3-month period during which the child also received up to five intermittent booster therapy sessions. Comparable to the psychotherapy programs tested by Miller et al. (2018) and Perepletchikova et al. (2017), the CBT program reported in the Tudor et al. case report also focused on child ER and social skills including problem-solving training components. This pattern of findings lends support to the utility of including specific ER and coping skills training components in future studies in strengthening program benefits when treating vouth with severe irritability.

In the final DMDD study we summarize in Table 26.1, Stoddard et al. (2016) published the first experimental open pilot trial to test the utility of a computerized interpretation bias training program for children and adolescents with DMDD. Based on a foursession training program conducted across 4 consecutive days, the paradigm had promising efficacy for improving DMDD in children. Specifically, based on parent reports (but not child self-reports), significant reductions in child irritability symptoms were found posttraining and at 1-week follow-up. These positive outcomes were further supported by fMRI-measured alterations in the lateral orbital frontal cortex and amygdala for the subtle expression in responses to happiness relative to anger facial cues. Stoddard et al.'s (2016) positive findings align with components from both Brotman et al.'s (2017) and Kircanski et al.'s (2019) pediatric irritability models that highlight the cognitive bias errors that children and adolescents with severe irritability disturbances are susceptible to experiencing. Accordingly, Stoddard et al.'s findings lend support to the further testing of this paradigm in larger-scale RCT designs.

Summary of the Seven DMDD Treatment Studies

Collectively, the findings from these seven studies suggest that in the treatment of severe pediatric irritability as characterized by the DMDD diagnosis, clinicians need to accommodate comorbid psychological disorders. In fact, the majority of studies included children and adolescents with concurrent diagnoses of ADHD: however, two of the RCT studies also included children with comorbid anxiety disorders (Miller et al., 2018; Perepletchikova et al., 2017). Although some promising findings were documented across the seven studies outlined in Table 26.1, given the mixed array of samples, treatment components tested, and variable designs, it is premature to conclude that any one particular psychotherapeutic approach is more suitable for managing pediatric irritability problems. Interestingly, all studies included some degree of PMT. although no trial has yet tested the effects of PMT separately from other child-CBT and/or IPT-based components. Moreover, it is noteworthy that the studies that included emotionregulatory, interpersonal, social skills, and problem-solving training (e.g., Miller et al., 2018; Perepletchikova et al., 2017; Tudor et al., 2016) showed the most encouraging results in terms of DMDD remission rates posttreatment. This pattern of findings further attests to the important role that ER and coping skills training may have in helping children learn how to manage their emotions in response to various contextual changes in their environments. However, whether comparable results can be achieved by exposure-based and PMT-focused interventions remains to be empirically determined (e.g., Kircanski et al., 2018).

Treatment of Severe Irritability (Non-DMDD) in Children: Review of Additional Studies

Based on a noncategorical (dimensional/continuum) perspective, there is an emerging body of literature testing the effects of psychotherapy interventions for children who do not meet full diagnostic criteria for DMDD, but are suffering from enduring, elevated irritability symptomatology. As summarized in Table 26.1, three published studies have been identified reporting on the effects of psychotherapy programs for managing heightened irritability disturbances in children and adolescence. Two of these studies are based on secondary analyses from larger randomized controlled effectiveness trials (Derella et al., 2019; Evans et al., 2020) that were not specifically designed for the treatment of pediatric irritability. One of these studies tested the effects of an ER and prosocial behavior training program that also included problemsolving (see Table 26.1 for further details) in a large male sample of children aged 6-11 years with clinically elevated externalizing symptoms (Derella et al., 2019). However, these researchers failed to find a significant direct treatment effect for the reduction of irritability symptoms. Rather, the reduction in irritability problems was found to be mediated by improvements in the use of adaptive ER skills. These significant mediational effects suggest that at-risk children experiencing elevated irritability disturbances, but not necessarily meeting full diagnostic criteria for psychopathology such as DMDD, may benefit from accessing early interventions focusing on ER interpersonal skills training to prevent the onset of psychopathology.

In a separate study summarized in Table 26.1, Evans et al. (2020) investigated whether a modular CBT-based psychotherapy program (MATCH), which included CBT- based components including PMT, and three evidence-based manualized therapies for children with anxiety, depression, and externalizing problems were also effective in treating children presenting with severe irritability and mood dysregulation (SIMD) symptoms, based on secondary analyses from a larger-scale clustered randomized effectiveness trial (Chorpita et al., 2013). In the original trial, participants were randomized to either the MATCH. standardized manual treatment (SMT), or TAU conditions. Findings showed that both the MATCH and SMT programs were comparably effective in reducing irritability symptoms in children displaying SIMD, with moderate effect sizes (ES=0.49). However, the MATCH program led to more rapid improvements than children who received the SMT programs. A greater proportion of children who received the MATCH program were also in remission posttherapy relative to children allocated to the TAU condition.

In a further recent study, Hawks et al. (2020) tested the effects of a modified version of the unified protocol for the treatment of emotion disorders in children (UP-C: Ehrenreich-May et al., 2018) by reducing the number of therapy sessions from 15 to 10 to target primary persistent, irritability problems in children aged 8-12 years. This modified version of the UP-C intervention comprised 10×90 -minute group therapy sessions, whereby separate parent and child group sessions were held concurrently, although 20 minutes of each session included conjoint parentchild experimental activities to target both child-focused and contextual-focused ER skills (see Table 26.1). Based on a small pilot, open trial intervention (n=19 children), Hawks et al. found that parents reported significant reductions in their children's' irritability and emotional problems, whilst they only reported marginal improvements in their children's prosocial behaviors. However, child reports of

633

their own irritability and attributional biases did not significantly change. Similarly, parental reports of their children's emotional lability/negativity and adaptive use of ER skills also did not significantly change following therapy. Hawks et al. acknowledge that these mixed findings indicate further modifications are needed to the UP-C protocol to effectively target underlying ER deficits that are a core mechanism underpinning transdiagnostic irritability disturbances in children. Indeed, the mediation results from Derella et al.'s (2019) study lend support to this proposition.

Summary of Additional Child Irritability Studies

These three additional studies provide further provisional, yet promising support for providing psychotherapy interventions for children experiencing heightened, yet dysfunctional irritability and who may not necessarily meet criteria for DMDD. As DMDD reflects the severe end of irritability and mood problems in children, there is a notable gap in the provision of early interventions for at-risk children suffering from heightened irritability that impairs functioning. Therefore, identifying atrisk children provides a valuable opportunity for early interventions to prevent onset of chronic and more severe psychopathology. To that end, the outcomes from both Hawks et al.'s (2020) and Derella et al.'s (2019) studies provide provisional support for the utility of further strengthening the evidence base for early interventions for at-risk children (6-12 years), targeting ER and coping skills training, particularly as the incidence of heightened, enduring irritability disturbances in children is high (22%) by middle childhood (e.g., Copeland et al., 2015).

Furthermore, a shortcoming of Hawk et al.'s (2020) therapy protocol was the explicit focus on downregulating negative emotions whilst overlooking targeting the upregulation of positive emotions through the use of adaptive positive ER strategies. In fact, in a recent meta-analysis, Moltrecht et al. (2020) found that most ER-based interventions for youth primarily focus on emotion dysregulation, whilst neglecting the development and strengthening of positive ER skills (such as empathy and gratitude) that are pivotal for adaptive interpersonal connections. Moreover, considering that, 1) persistent irritability is a transdiagnostic phenomenon; 2) ER is a transdiagnostic process underpinning the mechanisms of a wide range of psychopathology including irritability-related disorders (e.g., DMDD, MDD, ODD, and generalized anxiety); and 3) studies have shown there is a significant decline in ER skills in at-risk children aged between 10 and 12 years (Moltrecht et al., 2020), there is an ongoing need to develop further efficacious, feasible treatments specifically designed to enhance ER skills in managing persistent irritability in at-risk school-aged children presenting with irritability-related disturbances as the core primary presenting problem. This is further supported by the findings from Evans et al. (2020), which suggest that combining CBT with PMT in a flexible, yet individualized manner has utility in managing severe levels of irritability and mood disturbances in children presenting with transdiagnostic problems. Yet comparable to the preliminary results from Kircanski et al.'s (2018) results, Evans et al. (2020) also acknowledge that future research is warranted to test specific mechanisms of change that contribute to the effective treatments of severe irritability disturbances in youth.

Conclusions

Persistent, elevated irritability is a hallmark transdiagnostic feature for common internalizing and externalizing problems in children

and adolescents. Even for children who do not meet full diagnostic criteria for any disorder, studies show that up to 22% of children presenting with persistent irritability in childhood risk are at of developing acute psychopathology in the short term (Copeland et al., 2015; Evans et al., 2020), as well as developing chronic psychopathology in adulthood (e.g., Stringaris et al., 2009). Yet there is growing recognition of the paucity of established evidence-based transdiagnostic programs available to specifically treat primary presenting irritability disturbances in youth. As evaluated in the previous section of this chapter, there is a small body of emerging evidence with some promising outcomes to date, to guide clinicians and future research in this field. The bulk of this evidence has been adapted from the extant evidence base for the treatment of pediatric anxiety, depression, and externalizing disorders. These emerging studies have predominantly tested CBT-based approaches with (e.g., Kircanski et al., 2018) and without exposure components (e.g., Waxmonsky et al., 2016): DBT (Perepletchikova et al., 2017) and IPT (Miller et al., 2018) programs with children and adolescents meeting criteria for DMDD. Notably, the most promising evidence in terms of DMDD remission rates are based on behavioral-based programs that have included individual and interpersonal emotion regulatory and prosocial behavioral skills training components (e.g., Miller et al., 2018; Perepletchikova et al., 2017; Tudor et al., 2016). However, as can be seen in the studies summarized in Table 26.1, there is a paucity of evidence-based transdiagnostic programs available to directly treat elevated, persistent irritability problems in children and adolescents from a dimensional (continuum) perspective. This is a problematic gap in the literature, considering that irritability disturbances are a common reason for mental health referrals in

youth (Roy & Comer, 2020). Moreover, even for children with persistent irritability who do meet full diagnostic criteria for a specific disorder (e.g., MDD, ODD, GAD), psychotherapies for specific disorders do not adequately target the transdiagnostic nature of persistent irritability – and this is further demonstrated by studies summarized in Table 26.1.

635

It is noteworthy that PMT is a common element across the majority of programs tested for children with irritability disturbances, with and without DMDD, although therapeutic dosages have been variable. One of the key objectives of PMT is guiding parents to learn and apply behavioral management strategies as well as modeling adaptive coping and ER strategies to help their child learn more effective ways to cope with challenges and manage their emotions in a socially appropriate manner. Although the majority of the treatment studies reviewed in this chapter included practical ER and problem-solving skills training for the child therapy components, there is a notable paucity of studies that included didactic child-parent coping and ER skills training within therapy sessions. This is a critical gap in this emerging body of evidence for treating irritability problems in children. As aforementioned, the two related irritability models proposed by Brotman et al. (2017) and Kircanski et al. (2019) do not factor in how these children respond to stress and they overlook the role of interpersonal resources for enhancing coping and ER skills. This provides a timely opportunity to further extend this model to include how at-risk children experienduring, debilitating irritability encing manage stressful circumstances, given that stress is likely to be a further catalyst for blocking the child's goal attainments and/or activating threat cues, and thus further fueling irritability and temper outbursts. How parents and caregivers respond to and manage the child's irritability and outbursts needs to also

be included in a more holistic model to explain the interpersonal/social effects of how irritability in children can be managed. Hence, a more integrative model that incorporates coping and ER processes (inclusive of downregulating prolonged negative emotions and upregulating positive ones) in the child's interpersonal interactions as well as intrapersonal functioning is likely to serve as a useful heuristic framework to further advance research in understanding the developmental trajectory and management of severe irritability problems in children and adolescents. Additionally, whether particular treatment components are more or less effective in managing irritability and strengthening adaptive coping and ER skills according to the child's developmental level has yet to be empirically tested and hence warrants future investigation using large studies.

From the ten treatment studies identified, only two of the studies reviewed in this chapter (Derella et al., 2019; Hawks et al., 2020) included ER outcome measures in addition to evaluating the effects of the therapy in reducing irritability and associated mood disturbances. Only one of the two studies, based on a young sample of children (aged 6-11 years, with a mean age of 8 years) and which included both ER and coping skills training in problem-solving for both children and parents, was found to lead to improvement in the use of ER skills (Derella et al., 2019). These scholars also found that improvement in ER skills also mediated the effect of the therapy program in managing irritability. However, the second study, by Hawks et al. (2020), failed to find a significant improvement in either ER skills or a decline in irritability. One possibility for these null results is that the majority of the small sample of children aged between 8 and 11 years had a comorbid diagnosis of ADHD in the Hawks et al. (2020) study. This suggests that children that display severe irritability comorbid with other externalizing disorders such as ADHD may need more prolonged or multiphased interventions.

Overall, given the promising pattern of findings from studies that have included ER and problem-solving skills training components, this raises the scope for further advancing conceptual models for irritability in youth to incorporate more holistically the role for both coping and ER flexibility, particularly as both irritability and ER are transdiagnostic constructs (see Figure 26.1). Indeed, there is a clear need for future large-scale RCTs that further test the efficacy of behavioral-based, coping, and ER components in the transdiagnostic treatment of irritability problems in children in future studies, as well as including coping and ER outcome measures to evaluate the treatment mechanisms across different developmental age groups. This line of inquiry will serve to further advance conceptual models for irritability to facilitate the assessment and treatment of irritability disturbances including for at-risk children. To that end, there is also a clear need for strengthening the evidence base of early interventions targeting the development of adaptive and flexible coping and emotion regulatory skills in at-risk children suffering from persistent irritability disturbances to prevent the onset of chronic psychopathology.

References

- Adleman, N. E., Kayer, R., Dickstein, D., Blair, R. J. R., Pine, D., & Leibenluft, E. (2011). Neural correlates of reversal learning in severe mood dysregulation and pediatric bipolar disorder. *Journal of American Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(11), 1173–1185. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.jaac.2011.07.011
- Aldao, A., Gee, D. G., De Los Reyes, A., & Seager, I. (2016). Emotion-regulation as a transdiagnostic factor in the development of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology.

Development and Psychopathology, 28(4), 927–946. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579416000638

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Beauchaine, T. P., & Tackett, J. L. (2020). Irritability as a transdiagnostic vulnerability trait: Current issues and future directions. *Behavior Therapy*, 51(2), 350–364. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.beth.2019.10.009
- Bennett, K., Manassis, K., Duda, S., Bagnell, A., Bernstein, G. A., Garland, E. J., Miller, L. D., Newton, A., Thabane, L., & Wilansky, P. (2016). Treating child and adolescent anxiety effectively: Overview of systematic reviews. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 50, 80–94. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.09.006
- Brotman, M. A., Kircanski, K., Stingaris, A., Pine, D. S., & Leibenluft, E. (2017). Irritability in youths: A translational model. *American Journal* of Psychiatry, 174(6), 520–532. https://doi.org/10 .1176/appi.ajp.2016.16070839
- Chorpita, B. F., Weisz, J. R., Daleiden, E. L., Scoenwald, S. K., Palinkas, L. A., Miranda, J., Higa-McMillan, C. K., Nakamura, B. J., Austin, A. A., Borntragr, C. F., Ward, A., Wells, K. C., Gibbons, R. D., & Research Network on Youth Mental Health. (2013). Long-term outcomes for the Child STEPs randomized effectiveness trial: A comparison of modular and standard treatment designs with usual care. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *81*(6), 999–1009. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0034200
- Cisler, J. M., & Olatunji, B. O. (2012). Emotion regulation and anxiety disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 14, 182–187. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11920-012-0262-2
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problem, progress and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87

Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bull0000110

637

- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal* of *Psychology*, 66(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/10 .1111/ajpy.12043
- Copeland, W. E., Brotman, M. A., & Costello, E. J. (2015). Normative irritability in youth: Developmental findings from the Great Smoky Mountain Study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, *54*(8), 635–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2015.05 .008
- Dennis, T. A., & Kelemen, D. A. (2009). Preschool children's views on emotion regulation: Functional associations and implications for social emotional adjustment. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 33(3), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025408098024
- Derella, O. J., Johnston, O. G., Loeber, R., & Burke, J. D. (2019). CBT-enhanced emotion regulation as a mechanism of improvement for childhood irritability. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 48(Sup), S146–S154. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2016.1270832
- Deveney, C. M., Hommer, R. E., Reeves, E., Stringaris, A., Hinton, K. E., Haring, C. T., Vidal-Ribas, P., Towbin, K., Brotman, M. A., & Leibenluft, E. (2015). A prospective study of severe irritability in youths: 2- and 4-year followup. *Depression and Anxiety*, *32*(5), 364–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22336
- Ehrenreich-May, J., Kennedy, S. M., Sherman, J. A., Bilek, E. L., Buzzella, B., Bennett, S., & Barlow, D. H. (2018). Unified protocols for the treatment of emotional disorders in adolescents (UP-A) and children (UP-C): Therapist guide. Oxford University Press.

- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress: The roles of regulation and development. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Plenum Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4757-2677-0_2
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Eggum, N. D. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *6*, 495–525. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208 .131208
- Evans, S. C., Weisz, J. R., Carvalho, A. C., Bearman, S. K., Garibaldi, P. M., & Chorpita, B. F. (2020). Effects of standard and modular psychotherapies in the treatment of youth with severe irritability. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 88(3), 255–268. https://doi .org/10.1037/ccp0000456
- Fernandez, K. C., Jazaieri, H., & Gross, J. J. (2016). Emotion regulation: A transdiagnostic perspective on a new RDoC domain. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 40(3), 426–440. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10608-016-9772-2
- Forbes, M. K., Rapee, R. M., Camberis, A.-L., & McMahon, C. A. (2017). Unique associations between childhood temperament characteristics and subsequent psychopathology symptom trajectories from childhood to early adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 45(6), 1221–1233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-016-0236-7
- Gagne, J. R., & Goldsmith, H. H. (2011). A longitudinal analysis of anger and inhibitory control in twins from 12 to 36 months of age. *Developmental Science*, 14(1), 112–124.
- Gibby, B. A., Casline, E. P., & Ginsburg, G. S. (2017). Long-term outcomes of youth treated for an anxiety disorder: A critical review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 20(2), 201–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-017-0222-9
- Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion regulation: Current status and future prospects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 26(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 1047840X.2014.940781

- Harrington, E. M., Trevino, S. D., Lopez, S., & Giuliani, N. R. (2020). Emotion regulation in early childhood: Implications for socioemotional and academic components of school readiness. *Emotion*, 20(1), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1037/ emo0000667
- Hawks, J. L., Kennedy, S. M., Holzman, J. B. W., & Ehrenreich-May, J. (2020). Development and application of an innovative transdiagnostic treatment approach for pediatric irritability. *Behavior Therapy*, 51(2), 334–349. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.beth.2019.07.004
- Hommer, R. E., Stoddard, J., Connelly, M. E., Mogg, K., Bradly, B. P., Pine, D. S., Leibenluft, E., & Brotman, M. A. (2014). Attention bias to threat faces in severe mood dysregulation. *Depression and Anxiety*, 31(7), 559–565. https:// doi.org/10.1002/da.22145
- Kazdin, A. E. (2010). Problem-solving skills training and parent management training for oppositional defiant disorder and conduct disorder. In J. R. Weisz & A. E. Kazdin (Eds.), *Evidence-based psychotherapies for children and adolescents* (2nd ed., pp. 211–226). Guilford Press.
- Kircanski, K., Clayton, M. E., Leibenluft, E., & Brotman, M. A. (2018). Psychosocial treatment of irritability in youth. *Current Treatment Options in Psychiatry*, 5(1), 129–140. https://doi .org/10.1007/s40501-018-0141-5
- Kircanski, K., Craske, M. G., Averbeck, B. B., Pine, D.S., Leibenluft, E., & Brotman, M. A. (2019). Exposure therapy for pediatric irritability: Theory and potential mechanisms. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *118*, 141–149. https://doi.org/10.106/j.brat.2019.04.007
- Lamm, C., Granic, I., Zelazo, P. D., & Lewis, M. D. (2011). Magnitude and chronometry of neural mechanisms of emotion regulation in subtypes of aggressive children. *Brain and Cognition*, 77(2), 159–169. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.bandc.2011.06.008
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Linke, J., Kircanski, K., Brooks, J., Perhamus, G., Gold, A. L., & Brotman, M. A. (2020). Exposure-based cognitive-behavioral therapy for

disruptive mood dysregulation disorder: An evidence-based case study. *Behavior Therapy*, *51*(2), 320–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth .2019.05.007

- McLaughlin, K. A., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Mennin, D. S., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2011). Emotion dysregulation and adolescent psychopathology: A prospective study. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 49(9), 544–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.brat.2011.06.003
- Miller, L., Hlastala, S. A., Mufson, L., Leibenluft, E., Yenokyan, G., & Riddle, M. (2018). Interpersonal psychotherapy for mood and behavior dysregulation: Pilot randomized trial. *Depression and Anxiety*, 35(6), 574–582. https:// doi.org/10.1002/da.22761
- Moltrecht, B., Deighton, J., Patalay, P., & Edbrook-Childs, J. (2020). Effectiveness of current psychological interventions to improve emotion regulation in youth: a meta-analysis. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(6), 829–848. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01498-4
- Mufson, L., Dorta, K. P., Moreau, D., & Weissman, M. M. (2004). Interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed adolescents. Guilford Press.
- Paulus, F. W., Ohmann, S., Mohler, E., Plener, P., & Popow, C. (2021). Emotion dysregulation in children and adolescents with psychiatric disorders. A narrative review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *12*, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyt.2021.628252
- Perepletchikova, F., Nathanson, D., Axelrod, S. R., Merrill, C., Walker, A., Grossman, M., ... & Walkup, J. (2017). Dialectical behavior therapy for pre-adolescent children with disruptive mood dysregulation disorder: Feasibility and primary outcomes. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(10), 832–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.07.789
- Plaisted, H., Waite, P., Gordon, K., & Creswell, C. (2021). Optimising exposure for children and adolescents with anxiety, OCD and PTSD:
 A systematic review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *24*(2), 348–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-020-00335-z

Polanczyk, G. V., Salum, G. A., Sugaya, L. S., Caye, A., & Rohde, L. A. (2015). Annual research review: A meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. *The Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 56(3), 345–365. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp .12381

- Rapee, R. M., Lyneham, H. J., Wuthrich, V., Chatterton, M. L., Hudson, J. L., Kangas, M., & Mihalopoulos, C. (2017). Comparison of stepped care delivery against a single, empirically validated cognitive-behavioral therapy program for youth with anxiety: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(10), 841–848. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.jaac.2017.08.001
- Ross, A., & Thompson, R. A. (2011). Emotion and emotion regulation: Two sides of the developing coin. *Emotion Review*, 3(1), 53–61. https://doi .org/10.1177/1754073910380969
- Roy, A. K., & Comer, J. S. (2020). Advances in the conceptualization, assessment and treatment of pediatric irritability. *Behavior Therapy*, 51(2), 207–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2019.10 .010
- Salum, G. A., Mogg, K., Bradley, B. P., Stringaris, A., Gadelha, A., Pan, P. M., Rohde, L. A., Polanczyk, G. V., Manfro, G. G., Pine, D. S., & Leibenluft, E. (2017). Association between irritability and bias in attention orientating to threat in children and adolescents. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 58(5), 595–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12659
- Savage, J., Verhulst, B., Copeland, W., Althoff, R. R., Lichenstein, P., & Roberson-Nay, R. (2015). A genetically informed study of the longitudinal relation between irritability and anxious/depressed symptoms. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(5), 377–384. https://doi.org/0 .1016/j.jaac.2015.02.010
- Schultz, W. (2016). Dopamine reward predictionerror signaling: A two-component response. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 17, 183–195. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2015.26

639

Southam-Gerow, M. A., & Kendall, P. C. (2002). Emotion regulation and understanding: Implications for child psychopathology and therapy. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 22(2), 189–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(01) 00087-3

Stoddard, J., Sharif-Askary, B., Harkins, E. A., Frank, H. R., Brotman, M. A., Penton-Voak, I. S., Maoz, K., Bar-Haim, Y., Munafo, M., Pine, D. S., & Leibenluft, E. (2016). An open pilot study of training hostile interpretation bias to treat disruptive mood dysregulation disorder. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 26(1), 49–57. https://doi .org/10.1089/cap.2015.0100

Stringaris, A., Cohen, P., Pine, D. S., & Leibenluft, E. (2009). Adult outcomes of youth irritability: A 20-year prospective community-based study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 166(9), 1048–1054. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp .2009.08121849

Sukhodolsky, D. G., & Scahill, L. (2012). Cognitivebehavioral therapy for anger and aggression in children. Guilford Press.

Sukhodolsky, D. G., Smith, S. D., McCauley, S. A., Ibrahim, K., & Piasecka, J. B. (2016). Behavioral interventions for anger, irritability and aggression in children and adolescents. *Journal* for Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology, 26(1), 58–64. https://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2015 .0120

Sullivan, P. J., Keller, M., Paternosto, J., & Friedberg, R. D. (2015). Treating emotionally dysregulated and perfectionistic youth with transdiagnostic cognitive behavioural procedures. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 45(3), 151–158. https://doi.org/10 .1007/s10879-014-9293-9

Tudor, M. E., Ibrahim, K., Bertschingr, E., Piasecka, J., & Sukhodolsky, D. G. (2016). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for a 9-year-old girl with disruptive mood dysregulation disorder. *Clinical Case Studies*, 15(6), 459–475. https://doi .org/10.1177/1534650116669431

Vidal-Ribas, P., Brotman, M. A., Valdivieso, I., Leibenluft, E., & Stringaris, A. (2016). The status of irritability in psychiatry: A conceptual and quantitative review. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 55(7), 556–570. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.jaac.2016.04.014

Wakschlag, L. S., Estabrook, R., Petitclerc, A., Henry, D., Burns, J. L., Perlman, S. B., Voss, J. L., Pine, D. S., Leibenluft, E., & Briggs-Gowan, M. L. (2015). Clinical implications of a dimensional approach: The normal abnormal spectrum of early irritability. *Journal of American Academy of Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(8), 626–634. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.jaac.2015.05.016

Walczak, M., Ollendick, T., Ryan, S., & Esbjorn, B. H. (2018). Does comorbidity predict poorer treatment outcome in pediatric anxiety disorders? An updated 10-year review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 60, 45–61. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.cpr.2017.12.005

Waxmonsky, J. G., Waschbusch, D. A., Belin, P., Li, T., Baboscai, L., Humphrey, H., Pariseau, M. E., Babinski, D. E., Hoffman, M. T., Haak, J. L., Mazzant, J. R., Fabiano, G. A., Pettit, J. W., Fallahazad, N., & Pelham, W. E. (2016). A randomized clinical trial of an integrative group therapy for children with severe mood dysregulation. *Journal of American Academy of Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, 55(3), 196–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2015.12.011

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2016). The development of coping: Implications for psychopathology and resilience. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, resilience, and intervention* (pp. 485–545). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781119125556.devpsy410

27 Fostering the Development of Academic Coping

A Multi-level Systems Perspective

Ellen A. Skinner and Kristen E. Raine

Introduction

As soon as children enter formal schooling, they are faced with the demands and challenges of academic work. On the one hand, these challenges are explicitly designed as opportunities for children to learn and develop the competencies they will need to progress successfully in their educational careers. On the other hand, if demands overwhelm children's resources, they can be experienced as stressors and threats, to which children can respond with attempts to escape, fight back, or give up. One branch of study that examines how children and youth deal with the problems they encounter in their everyday schoolwork focuses on processes of academic coping. When children cope constructively, they exert effort, strategize, request instrumental help or comfort, and use the kind of positive self-talk that allows them to engage fully, persist, and learn more from encounters with challenging academic tasks. In contrast, when they are overwhelmed by academic stressors, children can try to avoid or conceal their problems, fall into helplessness, engage in negative self-talk, or blame themselves or others. These reactions can derail engagement and learning, and may even exacerbate students' difficulties by increasing their own distress or alienating those who could help.

Current Research on Academic Coping

Inspired by transactional models of stress and coping (e.g., Lazarus & Folkman, 1984),

research on academic coping to date has focused largely on individual differences. examining the antecedents and consequences of different kinds of coping (e.g., problemsolving, escape). Figure 27.1 provides an overview of that research, including the ways of coping typically assessed (for definitions, see Table 27.1) as well as the personal and interpersonal predictors and academic outcomes examined most often (for details, see Skinner & Saxton, 2019). Taken together, this body of work highlights several trends. First, academic coping seems to play a role in students' academic functioning and success. Strategies drawn from adaptive families of coping (like problem-solving, information-seeking, selfencouragement, or profiles that combine multiple families) are linked to better functioning and achievement; just as coping from maladaptive families (especially escape, social isolation, opposition, or profiles that combine coping from multiple maladaptive families) is linked to poorer academic performance and higher levels of stress and distress. Most persuasive is evidence from longitudinal studies showing that coping can predict changes and trajectories of academic functioning and performance across months, the school year, or multiple years.

Second, tests of process models suggest that one way coping promotes or undermines academic performance is motivational – by increasing the likelihood that students reengage and persist versus give up in the face of academic demands. Third, mediational studies



Figure 27.1 A transactional model of the coping process: Coping is triggered by encounters with stress; individuals' appraisals of their stressful encounters, along with personal and interpersonal resources, shape coping responses; and coping responses in turn contribute to coping outcomes, which shape subsequent coping processes by feeding forward into future stressful encounters, appraisals, and coping efforts. This model is used to organize the variables included in studies of academic coping. (Adapted from Skinner & Saxton, 2019).

also find evidence that coping itself may act as a conduit through which other positive supports (or risk factors) have a beneficial (or detrimental) impact on academic performance or functioning. For example, one way in which students' goal orientations seem to impact their achievement in late adolescence is by shaping their problem- and emotion-focused coping (Brdar et al., 2006). Fourth, coping is linked with a range of predictors, both personal (e.g., self-efficacy) and interpersonal (e.g., parent support), suggesting that students with higher levels of both personal and social resources are more likely to utilize adaptive ways of coping, whereas students who experience lower levels of interpersonal support and show higher levels of personal vulnerabilities also rely on more maladaptive strategies.

Finally, a set of about 15 studies has examined normative trends in mean-level differences and changes in academic coping across elementary, middle, and high school. Taken together, as depicted in Figure 27.2, they paint a worrisome developmental picture. Early in their schooling, students' coping seems to be on a constructive normative trajectory, with

Adaptive families and ways of coping Problem-solving Attempts to figure out what to do to solve problems or prevent them in future encounters. Item example: "I try to figure out how to do better next time." Function: Sustain engagement in a challenging situation by trying out effective actions. Information-seeking Going to teachers or others for instrumental aid in understanding materia figuring out how to learn more effectively. Item example: "I get some help to understand the material better." Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement. Comfort-seeking Turning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged. Self-encouragement Attempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotional strengt confidence and optimism. Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt important and worth the effort. Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals."	
Problem-solvingAttempts to figure out what to do to solve problems or prevent them in future encounters.Item example: "I try to figure out how to do better next time." Function: Sustain engagement in a challenging situation by trying out effective actions.Information-seekingGoing to teachers or others for instrumental aid in understanding materia figuring out how to learn more effectively. Item example: "I get some help to understand the material better." Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement.Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotional strengt confidence and optimism. Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Item example: "I try to figure out how to do better next time."Function: Sustain engagement in a challenging situation by trying out effective actions.Information-seekingGoing to teachers or others for instrumental aid in understanding materia figuring out how to learn more effectively.Item example: "I get some help to understand the material better." Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement.Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism. Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time."AccommodationAttempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Function:Sustain engagement in a challenging situation by trying out effective actions.Information-seekingGoing to teachers or others for instrumental aid in understanding material figuring out how to learn more effectively. Item example: "I get some help to understand the material better." Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement.Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism. Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengtAccommodationAttempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Information-seekingGoing to teachers or others for instrumental aid in understanding material figuring out how to learn more effectively.Item example: "I get some help to understand the material better." Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement.Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism. Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time."AccommodationAttempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Item example: "I get some help to understand the material better."Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement.Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism.Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengtAccommodationAttempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	or in
Function: Remove oneself from a challenging situation in ways that foster reengagement.Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer. Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism. Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Comfort-seekingTurning to others for emotional reassurance, consolation, and cheer.Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel bette Function: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism.Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time."Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort.Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Item example: "I talk about it with someone who will make me feel betteFunction: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism.Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time."Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort.Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Self-encouragementFunction: Replenish emotional resources when emotions are challenged.Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism.Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Self-encouragementAttempts to regulate one's flagging behavior or emotions by bolstering confidence and optimism.Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time."Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengtAccommodationAttempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort.Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Item example: "I tell myself I'll do better next time." Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengt Accommodation Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Function: Protect social resources by finding one's own emotional strengtAccommodationAttempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort.Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Accommodation Attempts to remind oneself why challenging academic work is personally important and worth the effort. Item example: "I think about how this is important for my own goals." Function: Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	18.
<i>Item example</i> : "I think about how this is important for my own goals." <i>Function</i> : Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
<i>Function</i> : Find autonomous ways to fit into current constraints.	
Maladaptive families and ways of coping	
Escape Attempts to avoid or remove oneself from difficulties and poor outcomes	
Item example: "When something bad happens in school, I quit thinking about it."	
<i>Function</i> : Remove oneself from a threatening situation (in ways that fosted disengagement).	r
Helplessness Stress reaction in which thoughts or next steps become unclear or disorga	nized.
<i>Item example</i> : "When I run into a problem on an important test, I get all confused."	
<i>Function</i> : Sustain engagement in a threatening situation (even when the regulatory system is overwhelmed).	
Social isolation Attempts to avoid others or prevent them from finding out about the occur of negative events.	rence
<i>Item example</i> : "I don't let anybody know about it."	
<i>Function</i> : Protect social resources when threatened.	
Delegation Feeling sorry for oneself and one's tribulations; over-reliance on others.	
Item example: "I ask myself, 'Why is this always happening to me?"	
Function: Deal with threats (even though one's own resources are exhaus	ed).
Submission Preoccupation with the negative or anxious features of a stressful situation	n.
Item example: "When something bad happens at school, I can't get it out my head."	of
<i>Function</i> : Concede to environmental threats (in ways that create internal pressure).	

Table 27.1 Core ways of coping in the academic domain

Family	Definition, item example, and function
Opposition	Blaming other people for the negative outcome.<i>Item example</i>: "I say it was the teacher's fault."<i>Function</i>: Resist environmental threats (in ways that amplify the experience of coercion).

Table 27.1 (cont.)

reliance on maladaptive ways of coping declining as the use of adaptive strategies increases. However, these trends seem to be reversed across the transition to middle school during early adolescence. Even though students on balance continue to favor adaptive over maladaptive responses, adaptive coping drops abruptly while maladaptive coping spikes. Across middle and late adolescence, problematic trends come to an end: Coping seems to plateau and students appear to once again build on adaptive families, like supportseeking and problem-solving. However, coping never recovers to preadolescent levels. Given the links between students' coping and their engagement and tenacity in the face of



Figure 27.2 A general depiction of normative developmental trends in academic coping, in which coping shows a peak and decline in functioning from the beginning of elementary school until the end of middle school, followed by stability and some recovery across high school. (Adapted from Skinner & Saxton, 2020).

academic challenges, it is possible that these normative developmental patterns represent risk factors for disaffection, dropout, or decisions not to continue on to higher levels of education. Such trends, if they are widespread, suggest that parents, teachers, and program designers have their work cut out for them in trying to support developmental trajectories of coping that are more positive than the ones documented normatively thus far.

Purpose of This Chapter

Although research on academic coping, as it has been conceptualized and studied to date, has been helpful in uncovering these developmental problems, it is limited in its capacity to generate solutions. It cannot pinpoint the issues that contribute to these worrisome developmental trends or suggest antidotes for how such changes can be prevented or counteracted. We argue that the basic impediment at the root of the field lies in its conceptualization of coping. In the academic domain, as in most areas of coping, conceptualizations are dominated by transactional models (e.g., Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). These models were constructed to depict individual differences in the processes through which adults cope with stressful and traumatic life events, such as health crises, victimization, or bereavement. They were never intended to capture coping in children and youth as they learn to deal with everyday stressors in the contexts of daily life.

For the most part, adults have the capacities they need to cope constructively with stressors; children decidedly do not. For example, if problem-solving represents a way of coping helpful for dealing with a range of stressful situations, adults have the cognitive and metacognitive tools they need to employ it. Young children do not yet possess all these skills, and their capacities continue to develop across childhood, adolescence, and even into emerging adulthood. All of the ways of coping described as core categories (see Table 27.1) involve sets of underlying capacities and skills; and they are all developing as students move through their educational careers. Hence, the task of nurturing a repertoire of constructive strategies for coping with scholastic demands requires more than an understanding of individual differences. It requires an understanding of the development of academic coping.

Our primary purpose in this chapter is to present a multi-level systems conceptualization of academic coping, which we argue is more "developmentally friendly" (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016). To illustrate its utility, we explore five ways a systems view can offer insights about how social partners and ecologies can foster the healthy development of students' academic coping. These lessons touch on the development of regulatory and motivational processes, and since coping is seen as deeply social, the interaction partners, classrooms, and higher-order contexts that shape academic coping. In the process, we hope to contribute to a shift to more developmental and systems-oriented conceptualizations of academic coping, which we believe can better inform intervention efforts and guide future study of this important process.

Developmentally Friendly Conceptualizations of Coping

Over the last two decades, researchers focusing on childhood and adolescence have constructed conceptualizations of coping that are "developmentally friendly" (Compas et al., 2001; Coping Consortium, 1998; Eisenberg et al., 1997; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007; Wolchik & Sandler, 1997), organized around two primary propositions. First, coping is defined as "action regulation under stress" (Compas et al., 1999; Skinner & Wellborn, 1994). Building on standard transactional definitions of coping as "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 141), developmental conceptualizations ask: What are the processes whereby individuals are able to "manage" internal and external demands? These are viewed fundamentally as processes of *regulation*. From this perspective, academic coping encompasses the regulatory processes students need to manage emotional, attentional, motivational, cognitive, and behavioral responses when they encounter educational challenges and problems.

Consistent with dual-process models of regulation (Bridgett et al., 2015; Cole et al., 2018; Compas et al., 2014; Laurent, 2014; Nigg, 2017), coping entails (1) action tendencies, which refer to immediate spontaneous reactions to stressful situations (e.g., the impulse to engage or flee: these have also been referred to as stress reactivity); and (2) action regulation, which describes how people manage (i.e., mobilize, guide, energize, direct) these action tendencies under stress. From this perspective, the actual coping seen on the ground in everyday life reflects a balance between reactivity and regulation, with maladaptive coping the result of extreme stress reactivity combined with weak or disabled regulatory capacities; and adaptive coping the product of more constructive action tendencies and/or better developed regulatory capacities.

Coping as a Multi-level Adaptive System

The second proposition of developmentally friendly conceptualizations is that processes of reactivity and regulation are part of a complex adaptive system – the coping system

(Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2007, 2016). The goal of this system is *adaptation*, meaning that it functions to detect, appraise, react to, deal with, and learn from the actual challenges, demands, and problems individuals encounter in their daily lives. Coping appraisals and responses emerge from this larger coping system, which operates on multiple levels, both above and below the plane of action where observable coping episodes unfold. Transactional models of coping highlight the level of action; systems views add processes underlying these actions as well as the social contexts in which coping actions are embedded. These are all considered parts of the larger system because they work together to generate the coping actions seen on the ground.

This systems conceptualization, pictured in Figure 27.3, views coping as a bio-psychosocio-cultural process that unfolds across five levels (Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). The first is the *neurophysiological level*, which includes neurobiological subsystems, such as the amygdala and the hypothalamic-pituitary axis (HPA), that participate in organizing threat detection, appraisal, stress reactions, regulation, and learning during anticipated or experienced stressful transactions. These subsystems enable and constrain the functioning of higher levels, and also develop over time. An understanding of these neurophysiological processes is especially important in making sense of the coping of students who have a history of early adverse experiences, since one way such experiences can influence development is by reprogramming these biobehavioral systems (e.g., Boparai et al., 2018; Engel & Gunnar, 2020). The second is the psychological level, which entails the subsystems (attentional, emotional, motivational, behavioral, volitional, cognitive, and metacognitive) that create the stress reactivity (e.g., emotional distress, distracted attention, motivation to flee)



Figure 27.3 An integrative multi-level conceptualization of coping as a biopsychosocial process that operates at five levels: (1) the *neurophysiological level*, including psychobiological subsystems used to detect and react to stress and to regulate stress reactivity, most centrally, the sympathetic-adrenal medullary (SAM) axis, the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS), the hypothalamic-pituitary axis (HPA), the amygdala, and the prefrontal cortex (PFC), especially the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC); (2) the *psychological level*, including the attentional, emotional, and motivational subsystems involved in stress reactivity and regulation; (3) the *level of action*, including the behavioral, cognitive, and metacognitive subsystems that jointly generate action tendencies and that integrate and regulate them; (4) the *interpersonal level*, including participation in coping by social partners as well as interpersonal relationships (such as with caregivers, extended family, friends, peers, and teachers) that create the interpersonal matrix within which the structure and functioning of coping's many subsystems develop; and (5) the *societal level*, including the demands that specific niches within society allow to impinge on children and adolescents as they develop and the supports that are available to them, as well as the societal stressors and resources that influence their social partners and contexts, like neighborhoods, homes, and schools. (Adapted from Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

that the regulatory system needs to organize in the face of demanding or stressful encounters. Coping must coordinate the impulses these subsystems urge in order to assemble actions that are sequentially coordinated with internal and external conditions. The third level is the plane of action, and here are located the action tendencies urged by underlying neurophysiological and psychological processes, as well as the behavioral, cognitive, and metacognitive regulatory systems that generate appraisals and integrate these tendencies into coping actions. This is the level at which information from the study of different kinds of regulation can inform work on coping. For example, research on the normative development of regulatory capacities (e.g., Cole et al., 2018; Diamond, 2002; McClelland et al., 2015) may help explain some of the age-graded trends documented in studies of academic coping.

The fourth level is interpersonal. From this perspective, other people are part of a student's larger coping system. Social partners (such as caregivers, teachers, peers, and friends) participate directly and indirectly in students' coping, and these interpersonal relationships create the social worlds within which coping's many neurophysiological, psychological, and regulatory subsystems develop. This level incorporates studies that examine how social partners both promote and undermine the healthy development of coping. The fifth level comprises the societal plane, and involves the resources and risks that societal forces drive into the stratified niches occupied by children and adolescents. Higher-order contexts shape the pathways students' coping will take both directly, based on the stressors and supports that reach them, and indirectly, because they enable and constrain the efforts of their social partners and the quality of their local contexts (i.e., schools and homes; Spencer, 2006; Wadsworth et al., 2018). In sum, we argue for a developmental systems

conceptualization that defines coping as "action regulation under stress," and embeds it in a larger coping system that includes multiple levels below (neurophysiological, psychological) and above (interpersonal, societal) the plane of action where coping episodes unfold. At its most general, then, coping can be seen as a multi-level integrated adaptive system that shows regular age-graded shifts from birth to late adolescence.

Fostering the Development of Academic Coping: Five Lessons from a Systems View

A systems perspective highlights both challenges and potentials in nurturing the healthy development of academic coping. It offers researchers, educators, parents, and interventionists a view of the complex task students face in trying to cope constructively; it also provides them a multi-level menu of processes that can be used as levers to support the development of coping. To illustrate the utility of this approach, the remainder of the chapter explores five insights it can offer about how social partners and ecologies can promote the development of adaptive and counteract maladaptive coping (see Table 27.2). First, starting at the level of action, we summarize research on the development of self-regulation, tie it to qualitative shifts in coping during childhood and adolescence, and consider how support for the executive processes involved in regulation offer a pathway to nurture coping. Second, we turn to the psychological level, where we briefly outline what is known about the development of one psychological process, motivation, show how it may help explain some of the normative changes apparent in academic coping, and offer key ideas for how supporting students' motivation may also bolster their coping. Third, moving to the interpersonal level, we review research on the role Table 27.2 A multi-level systems view on how to nurture the development of academic coping

- 1. *Level of action*. To foster academic coping, social partners can work to strengthen "hot" regulatory capacities.
 - The development of regulatory processes starts at birth and undergoes successive qualitative shifts before and after children start school, including the emergence of voluntary self-control during early childhood.
 - Multiple processes contribute to regulation (e.g., language, attention, memory) and they can be used to support its development and to explain why students differ in their regulatory capacities.
 - Across childhood, regulatory abilities become more complex, efficient, internalized, and situationally attuned; however, regulation in "hot" (stressful) situations is more difficult at every age and is slower in its developmental progression.
 - Despite normative improvements, increased sensitivity to "hot" events (rewards, risks, social interactions) during early adolescence typically triggers a dip in regulatory functioning.
- 2. *Psychological level*. To foster academic coping, social partners can support underlying motivational processes that promote constructive action tendencies and autonomous regulation.
 - Motivation influences coping by shaping students' appraisals of stressful events (e.g., perceptions of control).
 - Intrinsic motivation and autonomous extrinsic motivation can contribute to constructive action tendencies and infuse regulation with energy, direction, and tenacity.
 - Academic tasks and learning environments that tap intrinsic motivation and nurture the development of autonomous extrinsic motivation can support academic coping.
 - The normative development of academic coping follows the same trajectory as age-graded changes in academic motivation and engagement: progress across primary school, drops during early adolescence, and some recovery over the high school years.
- 3. *Interpersonal level:* Social partners (e.g., caregivers, extended family, teachers, peers) are part of the coping system.
 - They participate directly on the ground before, during, and after coping episodes.
 - They contribute to the local contexts where students cope, and communicate the meaning of academic struggles and stressful encounters.
 - They support the development of the regulatory, psychological, and neurophysiological processes that feed into students' coping from the bottom up.
- 4. *Societal level.* Higher-order societal forces influence the developmental pathways that students' academic coping will take.
 - Structural forces (e.g., educational, economic systems) constitute and organize the schools, homes, neighborhoods, and communities students inhabit, creating stratified niches for diverse students.
 - Marginalized families and communities prioritize children and youth and enact adaptive cultural practices that protect and nurture their development and resilience.
 - Societal factors shape the immediate ecologies where students' academic coping takes place, and the resources their social partners, like parents, teachers, and peers, can access to support them in their coping efforts.
 - Higher-order forces can inform the design of interventions to support academic coping by transforming social systems; building pillar-like supports in schools and neighborhoods to lift these forces off students' development; and creating culturally attuned local interventions that foster a positive identity and collective action for social justice.

- 5. Developmental systems. The coping system is reciprocal, dynamic, and nonlinear.
 - Students' coping transactions feed back to influence the social relationships, stressors, and supports they experience as well as the underlying regulatory, psychological, neurophysiological subsystems that give rise to academic coping.
 - These reciprocal loops can create virtuous and vicious cycles that shape trajectories of academic coping, and cumulatively can contribute to qualitative shifts in how the larger coping system is organized.
 - The role of social partners in academic coping shows qualitative shifts as students develop and progress through their academic careers: A coping system that is initially organized by external co-regulation or co-coping with social partners shifts its center of gravity to coping that is increasingly intrapersonal, agentic, and autonomous.

of social partners in students' academic coping, highlighting the many ways that other people, like parents, teachers, and peers, participate directly in multiple steps of the coping process. Fourth, we move up to the societal level and discuss the ways in which efforts to support the development of students' coping can consider and incorporate higher-order macrosystem forces. Finally, we provide examples of what it means to look at coping as a reciprocal, dynamic, and nonlinear process. We believe that a multi-level integrated conceptualization of academic coping can scaffold a multi-systemic integrated approach to supporting its healthy development (e.g., Masten et al., 2021).

1. Level of action. A key way to foster the development of academic coping is by strengthening "Hot" regulatory capacities

A definition of coping as action regulation under stress ties coping to large bodies of empirical work on different kinds of regulation, including research on self-regulation and self-regulated learning, adaptive help-seeking, and the regulation of behavior, emotion, attention, and motivation (Cole et al., 2018; Compas et al., 2014, 2017; Duckworth et al., 2016; McClelland et al., 2015; Nigg, 2017; Skinner & ZimmerGembeck, 2016; Thompson, 2015). Figure 27.4 provides an overview of the overlap between some of these areas and the processes included as core categories of academic coping. As depicted by the shaded background in this figure, the subset of regulatory processes of greatest interest to coping are those that operate under stress. Regulation researchers sometimes call these conditions "hot" because emotions are high and goals are at stake (e.g., Metcalfe & Mischel, 1999; Zelazo & Carlson, 2012). Stressful transactions that engage coping are by definition "hot," although it is possible to argue that when students' difficulties with their schoolwork shift from experiences of challenge to ones of threat, encounters get even "hotter." Research on regulation serves two important functions for efforts to support the development of academic coping. First, it helps explain why coping can be so challenging for students. Second, because studies paint a picture of how and why these different kinds of regulation change with age, they can suggest strategies to foster the development of academic coping at different points in students' academic careers.

Challenges of Academic Coping and Regulation

Models of self-regulation help interventionists understand the challenges inherent in the task



Figure 27.4 Academic coping as part of a network of regulatory processes that depict students' action when dealing with stressful academic tasks. Academic coping is embedded in academic stress (as indicated by the shaded circle in the background), so the strands of work from each area that will be most useful are those that examine the operation of the specific regulatory process under conditions of academic stress (as shown in the overlaps between each oval and the shaded circle). (Adapted from Skinner & Saxton, in press).

of coping by placing it in the larger arc of episodes organized around academic work (see Figure 27.5). Coping is called into action when the flow of students' participation in educational tasks is interrupted by challenges or problems. When demanding transactions (sometimes called conflict or resistance) exceed students' routine responses, action tendencies are triggered. These compelling urges to act (also called prepotent responses, reactivity, or impulsigenic processes) are implicit, stimulus driven, and involuntary. Such rapid responses, which do not require mental resources, are generally adaptive because they prepare students to deal with stressful encounters; for example, they can boost effort and support tenacity. However, action tendencies are not

always constructive. They may spontaneously create compelling urges to disengage, escape, or fight back. Such reactions are closely tied to underlying stress neurophysiology, which is why, for students with a history of early-life adversity, stress is especially likely to trigger unproductive impulses.

When action tendencies cannot resolve stressful transactions on their own – either because boosting efforts is not enough or because action tendencies are preparing students to respond maladaptively – regulatory processes are needed. Such top-down processes, which are subjectively deliberate, slow, sequential, capacity-limited, and require working memory to operate (Cole et al., 2018; Nigg, 2017), introduce a second stream
PROCESSES of RESILIENCE and VULNERABIITY



Figure 27.5 An episodic account of seven steps in the internal dynamics of motivational resilience and vulnerability in which (1) students either undertake or avoid challenging academic tasks and then (2) during ongoing engagement and disaffection with academic work, students (3) encounter problems or obstacles that exert a downward pressure on their motivation and (4) generate reactivity. In turn, through (5) a variety of regulatory and motivational processes, students either (6) rebound and reengage in learning activities or they withdraw, forfeiting opportunities for learning and satisfaction, which (7) feeds forward into subsequent episodes of task choice and engagement. (Adapted from Skinner et al., 2020).

of influence on actions that interacts with the bottom-up forces that shape action tendencies. It is as if these executive processes create a place *above* action (i.e., the cognitive plane) where students can hold alternative goals in mind (using working memory), shut down distracting action tendencies (using behavioral inhibition), and switch attention away from prepotent goals and toward alternatives (using executive attention).

To productively reengage with challenging academic tasks, students must use their burgeoning volitional capacities to bolster, curb, or redirect prepotent action tendencies. Coping (i.e., regulatory strategies. see Figure 27.4) represents tools that students can use to attempt this. Adaptive strategies allow students to more effectively deploy actions (e.g., via problem-solving, strategies of selfregulated learning, or other modes of organizing and sequencing behavior) and support motivation (e.g., via self-encouragement and commitment). Students regulate their action not only via their own cognitive and behavioral processes (like problem-solving or selftalk), but also through accessing "extrinsic" regulatory resources from trusted others (e.g., via help or comfort-seeking).

In some cases, however, these developing behavioral and cognitive regulatory tools are no match for the action tendencies generated by stress. Then, prepotent responses can take over, and students may flee (e.g., via escape) or "fight" (via venting or blaming others), shift into self-protection (e.g., via concealment or self-pity), or fall into rumination, confusion, or helplessness. As can be seen in Figure 27.5, some ways of coping (or regulation) lead students back to constructive reengagement with academic tasks and some make disengagement and disaffection more likely. From this perspective, coping responses observed on the ground are locations where prepotent stress reactions meet regulatory forces. Therefore, poor coping can be a regulatory issue - the product of extremely strong stress reactions and/or immature or incapacitated regulatory systems. As a result, research

on regulation that can explain the nature and development of these regulatory processes is of great interest to those studying and supporting academic coping.

Qualitative Shifts in the Development of Regulation and Academic Coping

One way to uncover the forces that shape normative age-graded shifts in academic coping is to analyze how underlying regulatory processes themselves develop and converge during different developmental periods. In general, the development of self-regulation is a lifelong process that proceeds through multiple qualitative stages, and is scaffolded at every step by relationships and contexts (e.g., social McClelland et al., 2015; Nigg, 2017). It begins already before birth, as underlying neurophysiological and temperamental foundations are laid down prenatally that will eventually make the task of self-regulation (and coping) easier or harder (e.g., Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck. 2016). The fundamentals of executive processes, such as attention and working memory, are present in newborns but they undergo qualitative transformations as infants and toddlers develop (Brownell & Kopp, 2007; Kopp, 1989). The healthy progress of these biobehavioral subsystems, such as the emergence of executive attention and the expansion of working memory capacity, is dependent on experiences in safe and rich social and physical worlds, including dependable care, secure attachments, and opportunities for stimulating interactions (Boldt et al., 2020; Pallini et al., 2018).

Early Years

Even with these nurturing conditions, however, executive processes do not coalesce as a force that has the capacity to make a dent in prepotent responding until the third year of life, when the developmental task of selfregulation becomes central (e.g., Diamond, 2002; Kopp, 1989; Zelazo et al., 2008). A key process that contributes to its emergence is the development of representational capacities in language (McClelland et al., 2015). As children learn to "use their words" to express desires and feelings, they can discuss and reflect on these motivational and emotional states, consider alternative goals suggested by others, employ words to take on those goals, and encourage themselves to focus on and enact these new behaviors. During early childhood, regulation undergoes perhaps its most important qualitative shift - it becomes voluntary (Brownell & Kopp, 2007; McClelland et al., 2015). This can be considered a shift from self-control or compliance based on coregulation with adults to genuine selfregulation, initiated by an autonomous and agentic self. Again, the normative development of all of these neurocognitive processes is shaped by the quality of home and preschool contexts. Young children learn and exercise their regulatory capacities when they have structured opportunities to follow routines and rules, respond to adults' requests for appropriate behaviors, and constructively negotiate interpersonal friction with peers. The transactions most relevant to coping are those, like emotion regulation, that take place in hot situations, involving young children's emotions, goals, and conflicts with others (e.g., Thompson, 2015).

Despite these normative trends, the developmental timing of the emergence and growth of such executive processes varies dramatically across children, based on temperament, other neurophysiological factors, and the nature of early experience. Given the centrality of language, attention, and working memory to executive processes, students who have attention difficulties or delays in language or cognition (which sometimes result from early experiences of adversity) will likely need additional support for self-regulation and coping. As a result, even before the first years of formal schooling, children show a wide range of regulatory capacities, and these differences are robust predictors of subsequent educational success (Duckworth et al., 2019; McClelland & Cameron, 2011), across levels of contextual risk (Distefano et al., 2021). As a result, executive processes, and self-regulation more generally, are often the targets of preschool programs designed to promote school readiness (Bierman et al., 2008; Blair, 2016; Blair & Raver, 2015; Diamond & Lee, 2011; Ursache et al., 2012). To the extent that they target hot regulatory capacities, these programs may also provide support for the development of academic coping.

Primary School Years

By the time they start formal schooling, children's regulatory capacities have already undergone multiple transformations, but they still have access only to basic executive processes (McClelland et al., 2015). Starting in

middle childhood, students begin to strengthen and build on these capacities, combining them into higher-order regulatory processes like action-oriented problem-solving. Research on the development of regulation documents a hierarchy of executive processes (Best & Miller, 2010; Nigg, 2017), and these continue to show progress all throughout primary school, becoming increasingly more differentiated, complex, and context independent. A key transformation during middle childhood is the "cognitive revolution" – when self-regulatory strategies that were previously expressed as actions become more and more "cognitivized," that is, reconstructed on the psychological plane (Holodynski & Friedlmeier, 2006; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). As a result, students have access to new regulatory capacities - for example, they begin to be able to intentionally reappraise stressful events in ways that shape their emotional reactions and coping choices. This allows them to integrate their emotional and motivational urges (now also accessible to cognitive reflection) with their executive processes. making selfregulation smoother, more autonomous, and less effortful. These developments also enable the emergence of more complex executive processes, like strategizing, sequencing, and planning.

The Middle Years of School

Starting in early adolescence, metacognitive capacities emerge, allowing more advanced forward-looking executive processes that can encompass longer-term goals and anticipate problems. These newfound capacities also permit students to more deliberately and flexibly use executive processes to coordinate their actions with the changing demands and resources available in specific situations. Coping capacities become more organized and flexible as these regulatory abilities emerge and are consolidated (Skinner & Zimmer-

Gembeck, 2016). The general picture seems to underscore developmental advances, but it is important to note that the hot regulatory processes used for coping are more challenging for children and youth to employ at all ages and also develop more slowly across the entire age range (Botdorf et al., 2016; Cohen et al., 2016). Early adolescence, especially, seems to be a time when heightened emotional and motivational sensitivity to certain hot environmental events, like rewards, threats, and social relationships, creates internal challenges to regulatory capacities and results in dips in selfregulatory functioning despite steady improvements in executive capacities (e.g., Casey, 2015; Cohen et al., 2016; Steinberg et al., 2017). In fact, some researchers propose that such heightened emotional and motivational reactions provide opportunities for adolescents to exercise and strengthen their growing regulatory and coping "muscles" under these hot conditions (Casey, 2015; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016).

The Development of Self-Regulated Learning and Help-Seeking

Research on self-regulated learning (SRL) and adaptive help-seeking pick up the thread of regulation at the end of childhood and extend it all the way through emerging adulthood (Karabenick & Gonida, 2018; Schunk & Zimmerman, 2013). Self-regulated learning, which embeds regulation in educational activities, refers to "the cyclical processes through which learners organize and direct their behavior, actions, and thoughts in order to attain specific goals" (White & DiBenedetto, 2018, p. 208). Self-regulated learning that takes place during stressful or hot academic tasks overlaps with academic coping (Pintrich et al., 1993). A primary goal of research on SRL has been to identify a range of learning strategies children and youth can use to plan, guide, reflect

on, and improve their learning (Schunk & Zimmerman, 2013). The identification of learning strategies expands our understanding of the members of the problem-solving family of coping, but their use is cognitively demanding: The strategies themselves (e.g., concept mapping) are cognitively complex: their acquisition entails a protracted effortful process (e.g., Zimmerman & Cleary, 2009); they require metacognitive capacities to deploy (e.g., awareness of whether one has learned the material or needs help); and students must use their developing volitional capacities to get themselves to enact them, also based on a protracted process of internalization (Zimmerman & Schunk, 2011).

Across all the years of school, these complex cognitive and metacognitive capacities, which overlap with advanced executive processes, show regular age- and experience-graded progress as children and youth learn and then become able to apply these cognitive strategies more efficiently (as they become routinized), effectively (as students can better match strategies to tasks), and flexibly (as they modify and combine them), resulting in qualitative shifts from lower-level strategies (e.g., re-rereading) to ones involving deeper processing (like summarizing; Alexander et al., 1998). Although little research has explicitly examined agegraded developments in SRL, researchers generally agree that by late adolescence, students typically have the capacity for more refined use of SRL due to their ability to set appropriate proximal and distal goals, more accurately estimate competence, utilize more efficient and flexible cognitive strategies, delay gratification, and effectively regulate their affective responses to academic tasks (Wigfield et al., 2011). However, as they enter adolescence, students nevertheless evince declines in the performance of these actions - they show decreases in both help-seeking and selfregulated learning (e.g., Ryan et al., 2001).

655

These surprising trends, which parallel declines in academic coping, have led researchers to conclude that a full account of SRL and help-seeking must go beyond the examination of cognitive and metacognitive executive processes (e.g., Zimmerman & Schunk, 2009).

Summary: Development of Regulatory Capacities and Academic Coping

Viewing coping as action regulation under stress allows researchers to benefit from research on the development of self-regulation and self-regulated learning. Although distributed over multiple areas, studies converge on a picture of age- and experience-graded changes in the capacities of children and youth to selfregulate, and hence to cope with academic challenges and problems. This work suggests, first, that academic coping can be challenging. The regulation it entails requires children to use complex and effortful executive processes to intervene in (sometimes unproductive) impulses generated by deep-seated neurobiological and psychological subsystems. Constructing the coping capacities and tools needed to accomplish this task under stressful conditions represents a protracted developmental process. Second, the development of academic coping relies on the healthy development of a range of regulatory processes - like language, memory, attention, problemsolving, reflection, cognition, and metacognition. An important way families, practitioners, and interventionists can prepare students to cope adaptively is to support the early development of these processes, already in preschool (McClelland & Cameron, 2012; Ursache et al., 2012) or even before (Blair & Raver, 2015).

Third, across the primary and secondary school years, the dominant picture is one of progress as the regulatory capacities of children and youth become more complex, internalized, efficient, and tailored to internal and external conditions (Diamond, 2013; Carlson et al., 2013). In fact, these normative advances in executive capacities may underlie the positive age-graded changes in coping seen during early school grades. Despite students' burgeoning regulatory capacities, however, starting in early adolescence, adaptive coping drops and maladaptive reactions rise. These trends parallel findings for self-regulated learning (e.g., Zimmerman & Schunk, 2009), suggesting that an understanding of the development of regulatory capacities is not sufficient to explain the development of academic coping.

2. Psychological level. A key way to support the development of academic coping is by nurturing underlying motivational processes

Transactional models generally acknowledge the importance of motivation in explaining individual differences in coping, as is apparent in research on academic coping, where predictors are often drawn from motivational theories (see Figure 27.1). For example, studies indicate that students with higher self-efficacy and more mastery-oriented goals are more likely to appraise setbacks in educational tasks as challenges rather than threats and to utilize adaptive coping responses like effort exertion and strategizing (Skinner & Saxton, 2019). Developmental systems conceptualizations expand the incorporation of motivational processes by considering their role in both action tendencies and regulation, and exploring their development as a potential force underlying age-graded changes in academic coping. The central idea is that motivational processes can promote constructive action tendencies and infuse regulation with energy, direction, and tenacity. As a result, normative losses in motivation can undermine adaptive coping.

Intrinsic Motivation and Action Tendencies

A first way motivational processes shape coping is through their effects on students' action tendencies. Almost without exception, theories of self-regulation endorse a dualprocess model that, as described previously, includes (1) bottom-up prepotent impulses and (2) top-down executive processes. Studies of self-regulation, however, focus almost exclusively on the functioning and development of executive processes; much less research has been dedicated to understanding the origins of action tendencies (Duckworth & Steinberg, 2015). Theories that do focus on these processes tend to label them as "impulsive" or "impulsigenic," emphasizing their role in interfering with more appropriate goaldirected behaviors and undercutting selfcontrol (see Sharma et al., 2014, for a review).

Theories of motivation, which by definition focus on the energy, direction, and persistence of human action (Ryan, 2012), take a very different view. They consider such impulses (or, as action theory would label them, such action tendencies) as developmentally adaptive. From this perspective, humans come with an innate source of energy, sometimes called *intrinsic motivation*, that from birth propels an active curious intentional neonate and later an inquiring agentic busy toddler into exploration, learning, and focused interactions with the social and physical worlds. These interactions are goal-directed, in that even during their first years children have ideas about what they would like to accomplish (e.g., get all the tissues pulled out of the box before Mom arrives), but goal-directed actions are not yet steered by voluntary executive processes. Instead, they are guided by the intrinsic motivation system, which can be referred to colloquially as the "yum" and "yuck" system because it creates compelling urges (i.e., action tendencies) to approach interactions that are attractive (e.g., interesting, delicious, fun, enjoyable – "yum") and to withdraw or avoid interactions that are repulsive (e.g., worrisome, boring, frustrating, disgusting – "yuck"; Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). These bottom-up emotional and motivational systems, scaffolded first by implicit and then by explicit appraisals, are decidedly good news. They fuel the hundreds of thousands of interactions through which children learn and develop, moving them toward constructive and away from dangerous encounters, and keeping them engaged despite obstacles and setbacks.

Research in the academic domain confirms the importance of intrinsic motivation to students' engagement, learning, and achievement (Taylor et al., 2014). Despite its central role, however, longitudinal studies indicate that motivation for learning in school generally declines, starting in late middle childhood or early adolescence (Scherrer & Preckel, 2019). Hence, to promote the development of optimal academic coping, children need support to maintain intrinsic motivation and to bias it toward action tendencies that are constructive. that is, toward prepotent responses that are active, curious, interested, cooperative, and prosocial, even in the face of greater and greater educational demands. Such a bias is introduced via early experiences in calm, loving, dependable, and stimulating environments that dial down neurophysiological subsystems that subserve stress reactivity (e.g., HPA axis, amygdala) and buffer them with secure attachment relationships (Hostinar et al., 2014). To the extent that their initial reactions to academic challenges are positive and fueled by intrinsic motivation, students' regulatory systems have much less work to do. The task of coping becomes less one of pushing an unwilling rock up a steep hill, and more of channeling enthusiasm, fine-tuning strategies, and getting help from trusted others when needed.

A systems view, which highlights the motivational processes underlying regulation (see Figure 27.3), identifies the maintenance of intrinsic motivation and the development of positive action tendencies as crucial building blocks in the development of constructive academic coping. From this perspective, educators and program developers should carefully attend to the kinds of academic tasks students are asked to undertake. Educational activities that tap intrinsic motivation include those that are project- or problem-based, cooperative, fun, interesting, enjoyable, connected to community concerns, and relevant to students' everyday lives and individual passions. Such academic tasks naturally fuel engagement and tenacity, and provide rich opportunities for students to exercise and strengthen their regulatory and coping muscles. For example, in a study of sixth through eighth graders, teachers' use of motivating tasks (interesting classroom activities and assignments) was associated with higher use of strategizing and lower use of projection, suggesting that keeping tasks interesting may have increased the overall ratio of resources to demands students were experiencing (Subasi & Tas, 2016).

Extrinsic Motivation and Autonomous Regulation

A second way motivational processes contribute to academic coping is through their effects on the development of autonomous regulation. In contrast to the study of motivation that is intrinsic, much research focuses on extrinsic motivation, that is, on how to motivate students to engage in educational activities where no spontaneous interest or desire exists. Participation in these tasks, because prepotent responses are at best neutral (and, at worst, urge avoidance), requires effortful regulation. One of the most useful accounts of the development of extrinsic motivation is provided by self-determination theory (SDT; Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2020), which is centered on the notion of *autonomy*, defined as the experience of volition or willing endorsement of one's own actions. The alignment between one's actions and one's genuine desires creates a feeling of authenticity, authorship, or ownership (i.e., autonomy) that taps into underlying motivational energy, and so fuels constructive engagement, commitment, well-being, and productive persistence (Ryan & Deci, 2017).

From this perspective, both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation can be autonomous. Intrinsic motivation is inherently autonomous, since people willingly engage in tasks they find fun and enjoyable. And educators can hitch a ride on this energy by embedding extrinsically motivated tasks (like memorizing math facts) into intrinsically motivating formats (like games) or projects that require them (like running a store). However, extrinsic motivation itself can become autonomous, when students internalize the value of certain activities and so willingly endorse their participation in them. According to SDT, the process of internalization proceeds along a gradient from heteronomous to autonomous, starting with (1) amotivation, or absence of energy or desire; and moving to regulation that is (2) *external*, based on pressures or threats from others (e.g., "because my teachers make me"); to (3) introjected, based on pressures from the inside (e.g., "because I would feel bad about myself if I didn't"); to (4) identified, based on internalized values (e.g., "because it is personally important to me"). When the value and importance of tasks are thoroughly internalized, participation becomes autonomous. Such volition contributes to more constructive action tendencies, and regulation requires less energy because engagement is willingly endorsed. This connection is underscored by multiple studies documenting a link between students' autonomy orientations and their coping – with an identified orientation showing positive connections to adaptive and negative connections to maladaptive coping, and an external orientation showing the opposite pattern of associations (Skinner & Saxton, 2019).

Hence, a second motivational pathway that can be used to support academic coping is by nurturing the development of autonomous self-regulation. According to SDT, and consistent with research on the internalization of principles (e.g., Hoffman, moral 1994: Kochanska et al., 2010), such regulation can be facilitated by close, warm, and secure attachments to adults (Kim et al., 2015); consistent demands, guidance, and support for living up to rules and expectations; and especially autonomy support. Practices of teaching (Ahmadi et al., 2022) and parenting (Grolnick et al., 2019) support autonomy to the extent they validate students' perspectives and feelings, prioritize students' desires and interests in teaching and learning, provide choice, facilitate open exchange and communication, and jointly establish rules and expectations; and do not use power exertion or love withdrawal, or otherwise try to coerce, shame, or control behavior.

A great deal of research has been dedicated to identifying interpersonal, pedagogical, and management practices that support autonomy in schools and at home, and establishing their experimental and correlational connections to students' autonomy, engagement, learning, achievement, and well-being (Grolnick, 2016; Grolnick et al., 2019; Reeve & Cheon, 2021). Although some parents and teachers may worry that autonomy support undermines important dimensions of practice, like adult authority or other aspects of structure (e.g., clear expectations for mature behavior, consistent limit setting, appropriate demands and consequences), it turns out that the most effective teaching and parenting seems to be high on both (e.g., Cheon et al., 2020; Grolnick et al., 2014). Caring, structured, and autonomy-supportive parenting and teaching cultivate the internalization of prosocial values, and lead students to endorse the hard work of learning and mastery; hence, they contribute to the development of autonomous regulation and coping.

Development of Academic Motivation and Coping

Over the last several decades, studies examining age-graded differences and changes in multiple indicators of student motivation have documented significant declines starting in early adolescence and continuing across the teenage years; for example, consistent declines have been found in markers of motivation like engagement, intrinsic motivation, enjoyment of learning in school, and key self-appraisals, such as self-efficacy, perceived control, achievement values, and mastery orientations (Wigfield et al., 2015). These normative losses do not seem to be solely the result of maturational factors associated with early adolescence (such as puberty or other neurophysiological changes). Instead, studies comwho attended paring students schools organized in different ways, namely, those that included kindergarten to eighth grades versus those that included transitions in sixth or seventh grades, reveal that drops in motivational indicators are found at whatever age school transitions take place (e.g., Eccles & Midgley, 1989).

One explanation for these problematic trends relies on the theory of stage– environment fit, which postulates that such declines are the result of a growing mismatch between the changing needs of adolescents and the affordances offered by their new schools (Eccles et al., 1993). The changes students often experience over the transition to middle or junior high school (such as fewer high quality relationships with teachers, more performance-oriented and competitive learning goals, harsher discipline, and fewer choices and challenges in schoolwork) are not a good match for adolescents who, based on stagerelevant developmental tasks, are increasingly ready for closer relationships with nonfamilial adults, more mastery-oriented goals, and greater challenge and autonomy in learning. If these motivational losses play a role in concomitant declines in academic coping (as suggested by studies indicating that students' engagement and disaffection predict changes in their coping over the school year; Skinner et al., 2016), then efforts to prevent or counteract such losses by providing experiences in the upper grades that are more attuned to the needs of adolescents (Eccles & Roeser, 2009) could also have a positive impact on the development of students' coping.

Summary: Motivation and Academic Coping

As shown in multiple studies, students' motivation contributes to individual differences in their coping by shaping motivationally relevant appraisals, such as perceived control and valuing of school (e.g., Figure 27.1; Skinner & Saxton, 2019). A systems perspective suggests that underlying motivational processes can also influence coping through additional channels: by helping to generate constructive action tendencies; by infusing regulation with energy, direction, and tenacity; by harnessing the power of intrinsic motivation; and by scaffolding the development of autonomous extrinsic motivation. Moreover, the normative losses that have been documented in students' academic motivation and engagement during early adolescence may help to explain the parallel declines found for academic coping during this same period; and

intervention efforts to prevent or reverse those losses may also help to buttress the healthy development of academic coping.

3. Interpersonal level: social partners are part of the academic coping system

Current research on academic coping has identified multiple ways in which social partners, like parents and teachers (and to some degree peers) can contribute to the academic coping of children and youth. Consistent with transactional perspectives, students who experience higher levels of emotional and educational supports from parents and teachers (e.g., more involvement, structure, mastery goal orientations, support for learning, autonomy support) also show more constructive coping; in contrast, children and youth who report unsupportive experiences with parents, teachers, and peers (e.g., rejection, inconsistency, coercion, authoritarian practices, lack of support for learning) are more likely to show maladaptive ways of coping (Skinner & Saxton, 2019). A systems perspective, which considers social partners to be *parts* of the coping system, expands a consideration of the role of interpersonal relationships in at least three ways. As pictured in Figure 27.6, it highlights social partners' direct participation in coping interactions as episodes unfold; it draws attention to parts of the process that take place both before and after coping proper; and it underscores the role of social relationships in shaping the development of personal assets, like regulatory and motivational resources, that underlie students' capacity and willingness to cope with academic challenges.

Social Partners Participate during Episodes of Academic Coping

Social partners are most visibly part of the coping system when they participate in coping



Figure 27.6 Seven ways in which social partners and interpersonal resources can influence steps in the coping process; they can (1) calibrate demands; (2) suggest appraisals; (3) coach and participate directly in coping episodes themselves; (4) offer interpretations of the outcomes of coping efforts; (5) discuss episodes once they are over; (6) look forward and plan for future encounters; and (7) strengthen underlying personal resources, like regulatory or motivational capacities.

episodes themselves. This includes parents, teachers, and peers who are actually present while children and youth are dealing with academic demands. During such encounters, partners can encourage continued engagement, actively recommend strategies, offer commiseration and emotional support, and bolster commitment and self-confidence; or partners can make things worse by blaming, rejecting, and coercing students instead. In contrast to adults, who provide direct support and help, peers are more likely to participate in coping episodes via "parallel play," that is, through their presence and companionship, and their own enthusiastic, engaged, and constructive coping with the same academic tasks (see Chapter 22, this volume).

An important entry point through which social partners can influence ongoing coping involves appraisal processes. This occurs partially through social partners' own appraisals of whether academic tasks are a *challenge* to be overcome through the application of abundant resources (e.g., hard work, strategies) or a *threat*, where demands exceed available resources. Social partners' appraisals may initiate a cascade: If adults or peers appraise stressors as threatening, this may add stress or evoke negative appraisals from children. Especially interesting in this regard are studies that link the support provided by parents or teachers to student catastrophizing, a kind of appraisal that magnifies the distressing implications of negative events (e.g., "When something bad happens to me in school (like not doing well on a test), I feel totally stupid / like nobody will like me / like it's all my fault") and makes coping more difficult (Skinner et al., 2013; Skinner & Saxton, 2020).

Although little observational work has explicitly examined interactions between students and their social partners when they are actively coping with academic stressors, research focused on children's self-reports of the interpersonal resources available to them and their subsequent coping actions provide a window into the structure of these transactions. For example, if a child's parents regularly offer them effective strategies for dealing with their homework, those children may be more likely to turn to parents (e.g., use helpseeking) when they run into trouble; children may even be more likely to problem-solve on their own. Similarly, teachers who are warm and friendly may show students that they can be relied upon for emotional support (e.g., comfort-seeking) during academic challenges. It is easy to imagine how a parent or teacher who is actively involved in a student's learning and supporting a child's genuine interests could have an effect on coping, and not just in-the-moment coping actions - but also through the accumulation of such experiences over time. Future research could build upon these findings by explicitly examining actual dyadic coping interactions using intensive observational methods and linking them to longer-term assessments of developmental trajectories of coping.

Research on emotion and coping *coaching* also provides some information about how social partners can engage directly in coping episodes. Here social partners, especially teachers and parents, scaffold children's

coping actions by helping them deal with their emotions constructively and suggesting taskappropriate coping strategies (e.g., Power et al., 2021). Coping coaching interventions focused on instructing students in effective ways to manage stressors in other nonacademic domains have demonstrated how knowledgeable adults may be able to directly teach children how to cope constructively (Compas et al., 2010). Other interventions teach caregivers themselves how to encourage adaptive coping in their children or students, guiding adults in how to offer struggling children effective strategies (Power et al., 2021). If this type of research were combined with observations of coping dyads it could provide evidence of the specific mechanisms through which social partners have an impact on coping during the stressful transaction itself.

Role of Social Partners before and after Academic Coping Takes Place

Many of the stressors studied in research on coping in children and youth (like parental divorce, health problems, or bereavement) are out of the control of the adults in children's lives. In this regard, coping in the academic domain is very different. Here social partners actually create the "academic stressors" children encounter during their educational experiences. Because the nature of the stressor itself plays a big role in how individuals cope (e.g., Tolan & Grant, 2009), teachers, and to a lesser degree parents and peers, can influence coping based on the academic work they assign – the types of tasks, their difficulty level, and the social and motivational conditions (in the home and classroom) where they are tackled. Teachers and other school officials are in charge of these educational activities, specifically whether they are engaging, intrinsically interesting, and attuned to the academic and developmental level of the child. From

663

this perspective, interpersonal contexts influence the larger coping system before the episode even begins, through the calibration (and recalibration) of academic tasks and demands.

Coping Climate

Parents, teachers, and peers likewise have an impact on the local contexts in which academic coping takes place. For example, coping can be shaped by the achievement goal orientation in a student's peer group or in the whole classroom, with constructive coping more likely when that atmosphere is focused on mastery and learning goals (e.g., Brdar et al., 2006). Or authoritative parenting as well as parenting that is high on developmentally appropriate limits and structure is associated with greater use of strategizing and less use of projection, while neglectful parenting is associated with the opposite profile of coping (Raftery-Helmer & Grolnick, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007). Such connections suggest that the overall classroom climate sets a tone for coping, just as parents can set an overall family climate, determining whether children have a safe, supportive, lowdistraction environment and plenty of time for homework.

Classrooms and home environments as a whole can also communicate to children what is at stake in educational activities that are challenging and during which students may struggle or make mistakes. For example, research on growth mindsets (Dweck et al., 2014; Dweck & Yeager, 2019), mastery goal orientations (Friedel et al., 2007), and unconditional parental regard (Assor & Tal, 2012) suggest that adults can set up environments that amplify the threatening aspects of academic difficulties, by communicating that such struggles imply inadequate amounts of fixed abilities, inferior performance compared to others, or loss of adult regard that is conditional on high achievement. In contrast, adults can set up more developmentally promotive climates that communicate the natural and helpful role of exertion, failure, and effective strategies in growing one's abilities, the intraindividual progress involved in mastery, and the steady caring and affection students can count on, even (and perhaps especially) when they struggle or fail.

Postcoping Assessment, Interpretation, and Reflection

Social partners can also play important roles after coping episodes are over. They may offer interpretations that frame mistakes and poor coping as opportunities for learning, and thus influence what children take away from stressful encounters. These postcoping assessments can influence how children view their own coping actions, providing realistic postgame reviews (e.g., where things went wrong) that still support positive self-conceptions (i.e., that preserve the child's view of themselves as worthy and capable). As part of the joint processing of these events, partners can help children come up with alternative actions for next time, encouraging them to learn from maladaptive coping episodes in order to expand their repertoires toward more proactive and effective coping in the future.

Research on interventions aimed at improving children's coping provide some support for the importance of such debriefing and reappraisal processes because they demonstrate how teachers and parents can help students reframe and learn from past experiences (e.g., Compas et al., 2009; Lochman & Wells, 2002). Although many of these interventions focus on helping children cope more constructively with difficult life events (like a parent suffering from depression), their success in shaping future behavior through reflection on alternative ways to handle past negative events suggests that social partners can also impact the coping system through their discussion of and reflection on coping episodes themselves. Combined with successful interventions that teach parents and educators how to intervene with children directly (e.g., Power et al., 2021), this suggests that postcoping analysis and support may be fruitful avenues for fostering the subsequent development of children's coping.

Social Partners Contribute to the Development of Students' Resources for Academic Coping

A multi-level model of coping not only highlights the role of interpersonal relationships and social contexts as top-down influences on students' academic coping, but also suggests that social contexts influence the development of coping from the bottom up - by shaping the constituents of the coping system (see Figure 27.3). That is, social factors influence the development of action tendencies and regulatory capacities at the level of action, as well as the psychological and neurophysiological resources (from the levels below) that children and adolescents call on when they need to cope with academic challenges. As described briefly in previous sections, the development of the components of action regulation, namely action tendencies and executive processes, emerge from of a history of interactions with others (Sameroff, 2010). Social partners, especially parents but then later teachers and peers, have an essential role in the development of regulation, scaffolding its use as young children practice it themselves, and then slowly removing external supports as regulatory processes become more internalized as children get older.

Psychological Resources

Parents, teachers, and peers also shape the development of the psychological resources children use to cope. As discussed in the section on motivation, students' self-appraisals (such as self-efficacy, autonomy, or mastery

goal orientations) can be seen as resources that support adaptive academic coping (e.g., Raftery & Grolnick, 2016, 2018; Skinner et al., 2013, 2016; Zimmer-Gembeck & Locke, 2007) and its development (Skinner & Saxton, 2020). All of these motivational appraisals have large bodies of research attached to them that examine the interpersonal influences that shape their development. The same can be said for the other the psychological resources that underlie the action tendencies and regulatory capacities that constitute coping (see Figure 27.3). In addition to motivation, these include emotion, attention, language, cognition, and metacognition, all of which can be considered psychological assets or liabilities that shape processes of academic coping. Each of these psychological processes is part of a larger body of research on their social determinants, examining how social partners and local microsystems contribute to their development. All these literatures reveal the centrality of interpersonal forces in shaping psychological resources and, through these pathways, likely also shaping the development of academic coping.

Neurophysiological Resources

Although we have not provided a detailed account of the role of neurobiological factors in the development of academic coping, nevertheless, as depicted in Figure 27.3, multiple such processes are central to the threat detection, stress reactivity, and regulation that comprise coping (Engel & Gunnar, 2020). All of these subsystems show regular age-graded changes that are "experience expectant" (Greenough et al., 1987) in that their healthy development relies on the presence of safe, loving, dependable, and stimulating social and physical environments (Lupien et al., 2009). As a result, social partners and the homes and classrooms they create are integral development to the of these neurophysiological systems, and through them to academic coping. Social experiences shape how vigilant and reactive students' brains and bodies are to stress, how open their physiologies are to be comforted by others, and how intact the neurocognitive systems are that underlie attention, memory, language, regulation, and reasoning (Engel & Gunnar, 2020; Gunnar, 2017; Hostinar et al., 2014).

Summary: Social Partners and Contexts and the Development of Academic Coping

Social partners play an integral role in shaping the development of children's academic coping. They participate directly in coping episodes on the ground, but they also bookend coping encounters by shaping the demands and appraisals that precede them, and the interpretations and takeaways that follow. They also contribute to the local home and school contexts in which academic coping takes place and communicate to students the meaning of such encounters. Moreover, interpersonal factors are alive in every aspect of the regulatory and psychological processes that feed into students' coping from the bottom up. In fact, interpersonal forces shape the very neuroanatomical "machinery" children and adolescents use to cope. From a systems perspective, it is clear that other people are a crucial component of the system that gives rise to students' coping on the ground.

4. Societal level. The development of academic coping is shaped by higher-order macrosystem

Macrosystem forces, like the educational, economic, political, health care, and criminal justice systems, are considered parts of the larger coping system because they permeate and organize each level below. Structural forces differentially drive resources and risks into children's schools, homes, neighborhoods, and communities, creating stratified niches within which diverse children and adolescents develop. These structures magnify inequality because they are based on status hierarchies organized around socially constructed categories like race, class, gender, sexual orientation, immigrant status, and so on (e.g., Spencer, 2006). Their operation is underpinned by entrenched myths about the inferiority of people on the lower rungs of these hierarchies and cover stories, usually focused on meritocracy, about people on the higher rungs. Because the effects of risk and stress are cumulative (e.g., Evans et al., 2013; Munsch & Wampler, 1993), some students, especially those low on multiple status categories, grow up in conditions that are objectively hazardous to their development. At the same time, as described by strengths-based models, marginalized families and communities, because they prioritize children and youth, protect their development, and through the creation of culturally specific adaptive practices ensure that the majority show positive and resilient trajectories (e.g., Garcia Coll et al., 1996; Spencer, 2006). Most of the traditional literature on coping overlooks these higher-order forces. However, small but important bodies of work have begun to examine them more closely (see Spencer, 2006; Chapters 23, 24, and 28, this volume) and they can be used to identify multiple ways higher-order contexts influence academic coping and to inform interventions designed to support its development.

Stratified Niches and Entrenched Myths about Academic Struggles

A focus on macrosystem forces starts with the recognition that, because they shape all the other parts of the larger coping system, interventions to transform these higher-order factors are essential. Most central to academic coping are the higher-order contexts that shape educational systems - their organization and funding, the state of school buildings and educational infrastructure, the quality of teachers' training, and the academic orientation of curricula. All impact the classrooms where children's schooling takes place, and also spill over into the family, as children bring home academic work or school-based stressors. Macrosystems also impact the resources social partners have available to carry out all the important tasks described in previous sections and, more specifically, their capacity to support students as they learn to deal with challenging academic work. Objectively hazardous local contexts also get "in the head" and "under the skin" of students by shaping psychological and neurophysiological processes that contribute to stress reactivity, coping, and learning (e.g., Evans et al., 2013; Lupien et al., 2009). They also influence students' prior academic preparation, and so determine how stressful educational tasks will be and the resources students have to deal with them.

Societal Defaults

A range of societal defaults in educational systems can be critiqued with respect to whether they make coping easier or more difficult. These include practices that rachet up the stakes (e.g., assumptions about what academic problems reveal about ability), learning tasks that isolate children from social scaffolding, and grading that does not allow students to improve their performance. Such practices can interfere with constructive coping and the corresponding messages (e.g., about the purpose of school, the nature of ability, and the inherent capacities of students from specific subgroups) can become lodged in teachers' and students' mental models about the meaning of academic struggles and coping.

Societal Change

An analysis of the pervasive and unequal impacts of macrosystem forces leads to the conclusion that one of the most effective intervention levers for supporting academic coping can be found in large-scale economic and educational transformations that create more developmentally supportive conditions for all students. Because the impacts of higher-order systems are present at all levels of the larger coping system, these types of structural interventions are an important goal for researchers concerned with how children manage academic demands and how their coping systems develop over time.

Lifting the Macrosystem Off the Development of Students' Academic Coping

Until such societal transformations are complete, a second way awareness of macrosystem factors can guide work on coping is to encourage interventionists and educators to create what Spencer calls "pillar-like supports" (e.g., 2006) to lift the pressure of these forces off of students as they develop. This chapter sketches an initial game plan for such efforts by referring to larger literatures that have identified multiple layers within the classroom that can incorporate supportive practices: (1) interpersonal environments comprising warm, caring, and vibrant communities of learners who share affectionate relationships; (2) mastery-oriented learning contexts, characterized by challenging, intrinsically motivating educational activities and mastery grading that rewards effort, allows for "do-overs," and insists on success; (3) fair disciplinary practices based on mutual respect, that contribute to the development of autonomous regulation and ownership; and (4) community contexts that focus on the importance of education's central mission to "incubate a better world in the hearts and minds of our students" (Benjamin, 2016).

667

Multiple lines of scholarship converge on this picture, including especially research on mindsets (e.g., Dweck, 2017), mastery learning orientations (Urdan & Kaplan, 2020), and self-determination (Rvan & Deci, 2017). These recommendations overlap with research on the development of executive processes. regulation, motivation, and academic coping itself (Skinner & Saxton, 2019). Interestingly, they also converge with research on the kinds of experiences that have been found to reverse or counteract the effects of early adversity on the development of neurophysiological systems involved in stress reactivity, regulation, and learning (Boparai et al., 2018; Sege & Browne, 2017). Such work suggests that these local climates and interpersonal supports may be especially important for students who have or are experiencing the downward pressure of multiple macrosystem forces.

The Meaning of "Maladaptive" Coping

As explained throughout this chapter, students' capacities to deal with academic challenges and demands are enabled and constrained by their developmental histories. Their past experiences create the system's current limitations and potentials. Hence, a systems perspective may help teachers and interventionists rework their mental models of the meaning of "academic struggles" and "maladaptive coping." Instead of individualizing and pathologizing unproductive coping, many researchers now prefer the terms "stressaffected" or "stress-adapted" (Wadsworth, 2015), and characterize coping as "reactive" to the experiences and messages children encounter in schools as well as in the broader society (Spencer, 2006). These same researchers highlight the malleability and resilience inherent in coping systems (e.g., Wadsworth et al., 2018). From this perspective, ways of reacting to and coping with academic stressors are not primarily the result of an individual student's bad attitude or problematic traits. Instead, they can be considered diagnostic of the whole system, providing actionable information about where in that system (past or present) strengths and areas for improvement may lie. This recognition can help social partners to view "maladaptive" coping, not as an irritating disruption, but as a visible entry point into a fascinating menu of options for supporting students' development. In this way, they can use their understanding of the coping system, from the state of students' stress neurophysiologies to grading practices and peer relationships, to guide their next steps in nurturing its growth and resilience.

Incorporating the Macrosystem in Interventions to Support Academic Coping

A third way that a focus on higher-order contexts can inform programs to support academic coping is by considering that goal more wholistically. Interventions can benefit from a consideration of how families and communities have (historically and currently) buffered children from these forces, and fold students' experiences of these higher-order factors into their design. Interventionists can work to strengthen existing community-based supports, learn from parents and communities about how to best nurture the development of diverse students, and consider wholistic interventions that target the development of coping as part of larger efforts to promote positive youth development (see Chapter 29, this volume).

Targeting the Mesosystem

Interventions may consider targeting the level of the mesosystem, specifically, strengthening meaningful connections between schools, families, and peer networks (an issue of longstanding interest in education science, Skinner et al., 2022), and recognizing that the assets of each can complement the working of the other. For example, schools can bolster the family microsystem against stressors by providing meals, enriching activities, and ideally a safe, monitored place where children can be during the workday (DeJonckheere et al., 2017). In reciprocal fashion, families and extended communities bolster the school microsystem through school involvement, neighborhood solidarity, and the promotion of community identity and belonging (McIntosh & Curry, 2020). The functioning of the mesosystem may itself be facilitated or hindered by the exosystem of parents' places of work, which may enable or constrain their involvement in school or assistance with homework.

Building on Adaptive Cultural Practices

Moreover, macrosystem factors may also shape how social partners provide supports and whether certain strategies of support are more or less effective. Research focused on ethnic-racial. emotional. and coping socialization emphasizes that caregivers. extended family, and community members shift these practices depending upon environmental conditions (Dunbar et al., 2017, 2022; Hughes & Johnson, 2001). For example, African American and Black parents seem to become more involved or shift their parenting strategies depending on the levels of discrimination their children are experiencing at school. Specifically, African American mothers who perceived their children's kindergarten or first-grade teacher as being more discriminatory became more involved in their schooling (Rowley et al., 2010). Similar work with older children demonstrates that African American parents are more likely to socialize their children using preparation for messages about bias when their children discuss discriminatory experiences they have encountered at school (Hughes & Johnson, 2001). This work provides examples of how communities experiencing accumulations of stressors adaptively

shift their socialization strategies to encourage resilience in their children in the face of difficulty, and how the manifestation of such supports may be qualitatively different when compared to communities who are not experiencing the same structural inequities. Such fascinating work, in addition to indicating the need for more situative and phenomenological investigation of the ways social partners prepare diverse children for and support them in demanding academic situations, can provide interventionists with a better road map for how to add to and support parents in their efforts. By examining the assets and adaptive cultural practices developed by marginalized communities (e.g., Garcia Coll et al., 1996), educators and interventionists can contribute to, learn from, and build on them in their own efforts to help create more supportive systems.

Incorporation of Efforts to Reform Macrosystems

Finally, an analysis of higher-order factors suggests that interventions to support the development of academic coping may need to take a more wholistic approach. Some coping interventions are highly specific, for example, they drill down on individual coping skills or strategies of self-regulated learning. Although such tutorials may be helpful for students whose larger coping systems are already optimized, a broader perspective may be more effective for the majority of students. Over the last several years, researchers have made important connections between the development of coping and programs designed to foster identity development and social action (e.g., Chapter 23, this volume) and positive youth development (e.g., Chapter 28, this volume; Tolan & Grant, 2009; Tolan et al., 1997, 2003). For example, a multi-pronged intervention that shows promise in buffering adolescents from both neurophysiological and psychological effects of exposure to high levels of poverty-related stress was designed to teach of a broad range of engagement coping skills as part of a larger project to support the development of a positive social identity and collective social action to empower youth with the ability to connect with members of their communities and cope with poverty-related stress in positive and collaborative ways (Wadsworth et al., 2020).

Summary: Macrosystem Factors and the Development of Academic Coping

Systems perspectives emphasize multiple ways higher-order structural conditions influence the pathways along which students' academic coping will develop. Societal forces constitute and organize the stratified niches made up by schools, homes, neighborhoods, and communities. They shape the immediate ecologies of the classroom and home, where coping takes place, and the resources and assets their social partners, like parents, teachers, and peers, can access to support students in their coping efforts. Cumulatively, such perspectives contribute to more effective interventions to support the development of academic coping by targeting societal changes that transform these higher-order structures; build pillar-like supports within schools and neighborhoods to lift these pressures off the development of children and youth; and design coping interventions that, learning from diverse communities and caregivers, build on the strengths and assets they provide to illustrate the power of individual and communal coping actions.

5. Developmental systems. The academic coping system is reciprocal, dynamic, and nonlinear

A systems perspective on the development of academic coping highlights not only its multilevel complexity, but also its dynamics – the reciprocal and recursive interactions among its elements that give rise to changes and qualitative shifts in the coping system. In this last section, we highlight three examples of these dynamics: the feedback effects of students' academic coping on the social supports and stressors they subsequently experience; the centrality of coping episodes themselves as a site for the development of regulatory and other capacities; and the notion that the interpersonal coping system itself undergoes qualitative shifts from early childhood to emerging adulthood.

Feedback Effects: Academic Coping Shapes the Stressors and Social Supports Students Experience

Dynamic developmental models are all fundamentally based on the premise that interactions between individuals and their social partners (e.g., other people, tasks, objects) are the engines of development, with each interaction partner mutually influencing the other over time (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 1998; Rvan & Deci. 2017: Sameroff. 2010: Skinner et al., 2019). These reciprocal exchanges suggest that in addition to feedforward effects of social partners, like parents and teachers, on children's coping, there may also be *feedback* effects in which children's coping influences the responses of their social partners (e.g., Skinner & Edge, 2002). More specifically, constructive coping strategies may actively pull in interaction partners, whereas maladaptive ones can push them away or exacerbate already tense relationships. For example, if children consistently come to teachers for help, adults are more likely to offer that child useful strategies in the future, even without an explicit request. In contrast, a child who uses escape or concealment to deal with challenging academic tasks may actively avoid engaging with others, leading to a lack of future support from these same partners.

As these interactions unfold over time, a reciprocal loop may be established that perpetuates and amplifies particular patterns of coping strategies and social reactions. A "virtuous" cycle can be created, if social supports lead children to use more adaptive coping strategies, which in turn result in the provision of greater subsequent supports. Over time, this dynamic should increase a child's ability to constructively cope with challenge. Alternatively, a "vicious" cycle could be established, where a lack of interpersonal supports leads a child to rely upon more maladaptive ways of coping, pushing their social partners further away, and escalating the use of unproductive strategies. If poor coping also contributes to poorer academic performance, which in itself creates more stressful educational experiences (a phenomenon known as stress generation; Liu, 2013), then virtuous and vicious cycles are further amplified. If these proximal processes continue to unfold over time, they may cumulatively impact the longterm trajectory of students' academic coping, functioning, and achievement (Skinner & Pitzer, 2012).

Academic Coping as a Site of Development of Regulation and Resilience Resources

Episodes of coping also feed back to shape the underlying regulatory, psychological, and even neurophysiological processes that gave rise to them. The development of coping requires the exercise of regulatory capacities under stressful conditions. However, there is a curvilinear relationship between stress and coping. If demands are too low, automatic processes are sufficient and no coping or regulation is practiced; however, if stress is too high, regulatory systems are exhausted or overwhelmed and again no growth takes place. Moderate levels of demand provide the kind of just manageable difficulty that creates a "plane of challenge" at which optimal levels of regulation are practiced. However, such participation is not always comfortable or easy to sustain. Social and motivational supports, which allow children and adolescents to practice their regulation at higher levels of demand, can expand this plane of challenge and so create a zone of proximal development. The broader this plane of action, the more and higher-quality learning that can occur. The goal of parents, teachers, and interventionists who want to foster the development of academic coping is to help children and adolescents spend time on the plane of challenge.

This zone - where students wrestle with their participation in demanding academic tasks – is ripe for learning and development, not only for coping, but also for regulation and all its components, including emotion, attention, behavior, motivation, and so on. Research on each of these topics describes the kind of sustained engagement and practice needed to foster their development, and in general these experiences map well onto episodes of coping, as noted explicitly by some researchers (e.g., Barrett & Campos, 1991; Kopp, 1989). In fact, research on neuroplasticity also identifies challenging goal-directed episodes as crucial to the healthy development of neurobiological systems underlying stress resistance (i.e., low reactivity) and stress resilience (i.e., quick recovery; Baratta & Maier, 2019; Chapter 5, this volume; Fleshner et al., 2011). As a result, episodes of coping can be considered high-value sites of developmental significance for fostering the growth of regulation and other capacities.

Qualitative Shifts in the Academic Coping System across the Educational Lifespan

Finally, a conceptualization of coping as a dynamic system alerts researchers and practitioners to the transformations academic coping may undergo as students progress

through their educational careers. As depicted by research on regulation, extrinsic motivation, and internalization, the coping system undergoes qualitative age-graded shifts in the roles played by social contexts, especially caregivers and other adults (e.g., Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2016). Caregiving changes, for example, from "external coping" during infancy (when caregivers take coping actions on the infant's behalf, based on the child's cues) to co-regulation during toddlerhood and direct participation during preschool age, followed by cooperation during middle childhood, coaching in early adolescence, and moving to monitoring and acting as a backup as adolescence progresses. The image here, as in many theories of scaffolding and apprenticeship (e.g., Sameroff, 2010), is one in which social contexts successively step back as children take on more and more responsibility for their own regulation and development, perhaps integrating the participation of friends, other peers, and then romantic partners at successive age grades (Barthel et al., 2018; Falconier & Kuhn, 2019; Valiente et al., 2020; Chapter 22, this volume).

Summary: The Developmental Dynamics of Academic Coping

The coping system is multi-level and dynamic, in that it includes not only feedforward effects in which processes from higher and lower levels influence the development of coping, but also feedback effects, in which coping episodes themselves influence the social relationships, stressors, and supports as well as the underlying regulatory, psychological, and neurophysiological subsystems that give rise to them. These reciprocal loops can create virtuous and vicious cycles that shape developmental trajectories of academic coping, and cumulatively can contribute to qualitative shifts in how the larger coping system is organized – for example, a shift in coping's center of gravity from external co-regulation or co-coping with social partners to coping that is increasingly intrapersonal, agentic, and autonomous. A multi-level and dynamic systems view can help researchers, practitioners, and interventionists appreciate the complexity of the task students undertake as they deal with setbacks and obstacles in their schoolwork. Given the promise and potential of coping as a part of academic achievement and resilience, such perspectives also remind adults of the opportunities and challenges they face in trying to support its healthy development.

References

- Ahmadi, A., Noetel, M., Parker, P., Ryan, R., Ntoumanis, N., Reeve, J., ... & Lonsdale, C. (2022). A classification system for teachers' motivational behaviours recommended in selfdetermination theory interventions. Unpublished paper, Australian Catholic University, Sydney, Australia.
- Alexander, P. A., Graham, S., & Harris, K. R. (1998). A perspective on strategy research: Progress and prospects. *Educational Psychology Review*, 10, 129–154. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1022185502996
- Assor, A., & Tal, K. (2012). When parents' affection depends on child's achievement: Parental conditional positive regard, self-aggrandizement, shame and coping in adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 35(2), 249–260. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2011.10.004
- Baratta, M. V., & Maier, S. F. (2019). New tools for understanding coping and resilience. *Neuroscience Letters*, 693, 54–57. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neulet.2017.09.049
- Barrett, K. C., & Campos, J. J. (1991). A diacritical function approach to emotions and coping. In E. M. Cummings, A. L. Greene, & K. H. Karraker (Eds.), *Life-span developmental psychology: Perspectives on stress and coping* (pp. 21–41). Erlbaum.

- Barthel, A. L., Hay, A., Doan, S. N., & Hofmann, S. G. (2018). Interpersonal emotion regulation: A review of social and developmental components. *Behaviour Change*, 35(4), 203–216. https://doi.org/10.1017/bec.2018.19
- Benjamin, R. (2016, June 26–29). Incubating a better world in the hearts and minds of our students.
 Keynote address at the International Society for Technology in Education Conference & Exposition, Denver, CO.
- Best, J. R., & Miller, P. H. (2010). A developmental perspective on executive function. *Child Development*, 81(6), 1641–1660. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01499.x
- Bierman, K. L., Domitrovich, C. E., Nix, R. L., Gest, S. D., Welsh, J. A., Greenberg, M. T., ... & Gill, S. (2008). Promoting academic and social-emotional school readiness: The Head Start REDI program. *Child Development*, 79(6), 1802–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467–8624 .2008.01227.x
- Blair, C. (2016). Developmental science and executive function. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 25(1), 3–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0963721415622634
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2015). School readiness and self-regulation: A developmental psychobiological approach. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 711–731. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev-psych-010814-015221
- Boldt, L. J., Goffin, K. C., & Kochanska, G. (2020). The significance of early parent-child attachment for emerging regulation: A longitudinal investigation of processes and mechanisms from toddler age to preadolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 431–443. https://doi.org/10 .1037/dev0000862
- Boparai, S. K. P., Au, V., Koita, K., Oh, D. L., Briner, S., Harris, N. B., & Bucci, M. (2018). Ameliorating the biological impacts of childhood adversity: A review of intervention programs. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *81*, 82–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.04.014
- Botdorf, M., Rosenbaum, G. M., Patrianakos, J., Steinberg, L., & Chein, J. M. (2016). Adolescent risk-taking is predicted by individual differences in cognitive control over emotional, but not non-

emotional, response conflict. *Cognition and Emotion*, *31*(5), 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02699931.2016.1168285

- Brdar, I., Rijavec, M., & Loncaric, D. (2006). Goal orientations, coping with school failure and school achievement. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 21(1), 53–70. https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF03173569
- Bridgett, D. J., Burt, N. M., Edwards, E. S., & Deater-Deckard, K. (2015). Intergenerational transmission of self-regulation:
 A multidisciplinary review and integrative conceptual framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, *141*(3), 602–654. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0038662
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (1998). The ecology of developmental processes. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (5th ed., Vol. 1, pp. 993–1028). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Brownell, C. A., & Kopp, C. B. (2007). Socioemotional development in the toddler years: Transitions and transformations. Guilford Press.
- Carlson, S. M., Zelazo, P. D., & Faja, S. (2013). Executive function. In P. D. Zelazo (Ed.), *The* Oxford handbook of developmental psychology: Body and mind (Vol. 1, pp. 706–742). Oxford University Press.
- Casey, B. J. (2015). Beyond simple models of selfcontrol to circuit-based accounts of adolescent behavior. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 295–319. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015156
- Cheon, S. H., Reeve, J., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2020). When teachers learn how to provide classroom structure in an autonomy-supportive way: Benefits to teachers and their students. *Teaching* and Teacher Education, 90, Article 103004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.103004
- Cohen, A. O., Breiner, K., Steinberg, L., Bonnie, R. J., Scott, E. S., Taylor-Thompson, K. A., ... & Casey, B. J. (2016). When is an adolescent an adult? Assessing cognitive control in emotional and non-emotional contexts. *Psychological Science*, 27(4), 549–562. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797615627625

- Cole, P. M., Ram, N., & English, M. S. (2018). Toward a unifying model of self-regulation: A developmental approach. *Child Development Perspectives*, *13*(2), 91–96. https://doi.org/10 .1111/cdep.12316
- Compas, B. E., Champion, J. E., Forehand, R., Cole, D. A., Reeslund, K. L., Fear, J., Hardcastle, E. J., Keller, G., Rakow, A., Garai, E., Merchant, M. J., & Roberts, L. (2010). Coping and parenting: Mediators of 12-month outcomes of a family group cognitive–behavioral preventive intervention with families of depressed parents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(5), 623–634. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020459
- Compas, B. E., Connor, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. (1999).
 Getting specific about coping: Effortful and involuntary responses to stress in development.
 In M. Lewis & D. Ramsay (Eds.), *Soothing and stress* (pp. 229–256). Erlbaum.
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: Problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Forehand, R., Keller, G., Champion, J. E., Rakow, A., Reeslund, K. L., McKee, L., Fear, J. M., Colletti, C. J. M., Hardcastle, E., Merchant, M. J., Roberts, L., Potts, J., Garai, E., Coffelt, N., Roland, E., Sterba, S. K., & Cole, D. A. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of a family cognitive-behavioral preventive intervention for children of depressed parents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77(6), 1007–1020. https://doi.org/10 .1037/a0016930
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E. & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams,

E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, *66*(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/10 .1111/ajpy.12043

673

- Coping Consortium (I. Sandler, B. Compas, T. Ayers, N. Eisenberg, E. Skinner, & P. Tolan) (Organizers) (1998, 2001). New conceptualizations of coping. Workshop sponsored by the Arizona State University Prevention Research Center. Tempe, AZ.
- DeJonckheere, M. J., Vaughn, L. M., & Jacquez, F. (2017). Latino immigrant youth living in a nontraditional migration city: A socialecological examination of the complexities of stress and resilience. *Urban Education*, 52(3), 399–426. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0042085914549360
- Diamond, A. (2002). Normal development of prefrontal cortex from birth to young adulthood: Cognitive functions, anatomy, and biochemistry. In D. T. Stuss & R. T. Knight (Eds.), *Principles* of frontal lobe function (pp. 466–503). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof: oso/9780195134971.003.0029
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual Review of Psychology, 64, 135–138. https://doi .org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Diamond, A., & Lee, K. (2011). Interventions shown to aid executive function development in children 4 to 12 years old. *Science*, 333(6045), 959–964. https://doi.org/10.1126/science .1204529
- Distefano, R., Grenell, A., Palmer, A. R., Houlihan, K., Masten, A. S., & Carlson, S. M. (2021). Self-regulation as promotive for academic achievement in young children across risk contexts. *Cognitive Development*, 58, Article 101050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2021 .101050
- Duckworth, A. L., & Steinberg, L. (2015). Unpacking self-control. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(1), 32–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cdep.12107
- Duckworth, A. L., Taxer, J. L., Eskreis-Winkler, L., Galla, B. M., & Gross, J. J. (2019). Self-control and academic achievement. *Annual Review of*

Psychology, 70(1), 373–399. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev-psych-010418-103230

- Duckworth, A. L., White, R. E., Matteucci, A. J., Shearer, A., & Gross, J. J. (2016). A stitch in time: Strategic self-control in high school and college students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 108(3), 329–341. https://doi.org/10 .1037/edu0000062
- Dunbar, A. S., Leerkes, E. M., Coard, S. I., Supple, A. J., & Calkins, S. (2017). An integrative conceptual model of parental racial/ethnic and emotion socialization and links to children's social-emotional development among African American families. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/10 .1111/cdep.12218
- Dunbar, A. S., Zeytinoglu, S., & Leerkes, E. M. (2022). When is parental suppression of Black children's negative emotions adaptive? The role of preparation for racial bias and children's resting cardiac vagal tone. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 50(2), 163–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-021-00779-z
- Dweck, C. S. (2017). *Mindset updated edition: Changing the way you think to fulfill your potential.* Hachette UK.
- Dweck, C. S., Walton, G. M., & Cohen, G. L. (2014). Academic tenacity: Mindsets and skills that promote long term learning. Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.
- Dweck, C. S., & Yeager, D. S. (2019). Mindsets: A view from two eras. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(3), 481–496. https://doi .org/10.1177/1745691618804166
- Eccles, J. S., & Midgley, C. (1989). Stage/ environment fit: Developmentally appropriate classrooms for early adolescents. In R. Ames & C. Ames (Eds.), *Research on motivation in education* (Vol. 3, pp. 139–181). Academic Press.
- Eccles, J. S., Midgley, C., Wigfield, A., Buchanan, C. M., Reuman, D., Flanagan, C., & MacIver, D. (1993). Development during adolescence: The impact of stage-environment fit on adolescents' experiences in schools and families. *American Psychologist*, 48(2), 90–101. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0003-066X.48.2.90

- Eccles, J. S., & Roeser, R. W. (2009). Schools, academic motivation, and stage-environment fit. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology: Vol. 1. Individual bases of adolescent development* (3rd ed., pp. 404–434). Wiley.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Guthrie, I. K. (1997). Coping with stress: The roles of regulation and development. In S. A. Wolchik & I. N. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention* (pp. 41–70). Plenum Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-2677-0_2
- Engel, M. L., & Gunnar, M. R. (2020). The development of stress reactivity and regulation during human development. In A. Clow & N. Smyth (Eds.), *International review of neurobiology* (Vol. 150, pp. 41–76). Academic Press.
- Evans, G. W., Li, D., & Whipple, S. S. (2013). Cumulative risk and child development. *Psychological Bulletin*, *139*(6), 1342–1396. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031808
- Falconier, M. K., & Kuhn, R. (2019). Dyadic coping in couples: A conceptual integration and a review of the empirical literature. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 571. https://doi.org/10 .3389/fpsyg.2019.00571
- Fleshner, M., Maier, S. F., Lyons, D. M., & Raskind, M. A. (2011). The neurobiology of the stress-resistant brain. *Stress*, 14(5), 498–502. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2011.596865
- Friedel, J. M., Cortina, K. S., Turner, J. C., & Midgley, C. (2007). Achievement goals, efficacy beliefs and coping strategies in mathematics: The roles of perceived parent and teacher goal emphases. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 32(3), 434–458. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.cedpsych.2006.10.009
- Garcia Coll, C., Lamberty, G., Jenkins, R., McAdoo, H. P., Crnic, K., Wasik, B. H., & Garcia, H. V. (1996). An integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children. *Child Development*, 67(5), 1891–1914. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131600
- Greenough, W. T., Black, J. E., & Wallace, C. S. (1987). Experience and brain development. *Child*

Development, 58(3), 539–559. https://doi.org/10 .2307/1130197

- Grolnick, W. S. (2016). Parental involvement and children's academic motivation and achievement. In W. C. Liu, J. C. K. Wang, & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), *Building autonomous learners* (pp. 169–183). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-981-287-630-0_9
- Grolnick, W. S., Caruso, A. J., & Levitt, M. R. (2019). Parenting and children's self-regulation. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of* parenting: Vol. 5. The practice of parenting (3rd ed., pp. 44–65). Routledge. https://doi.org/10 .4324/9780429401695-2
- Grolnick, W. S., Raftery-Helmer, J. N., Marbell, K. N., Flamm, E. S., Cardemil, E. V., & Sanchez, M. (2014). Parental provision of structure: Implementation and correlates in three domains. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 60(3), 355–384. https://doi.org/10.13110/ merrpalmquar1982.60.3.0355
- Gunnar, M. R. (2017). Social buffering of stress in development: A career perspective. *Perspectives* on *Psychological Science*, 12(3), 355–373. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1745691616680612
- Hoffman, M. L. (1994). Discipline and internalization. *Developmental Psychology*, 30(1), 26–28. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649 .30.1.26
- Holodynski, M., & Friedlmeier, W. (2006). Development of emotions and emotion regulation. Springer.
- Hostinar, C. E., Sullivan, R. M., & Gunnar, M. R. (2014). Psychobiological mechanisms underlying the social buffering of the hypothalamic– pituitary–adrenocortical axis: A review of animal models and human studies across development. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(1), 256–282. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032671
- Hughes, D., & Johnson, D. (2001). Correlates in children's experiences of parents' racial socialization behaviors. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(4), 981–995. https://doi.org/10.1111/j .1741-3737.2001.00981.x
- Karabenick, S. A., & Gonida, E. N. (2018). Academic help seeking as a self-regulated learning strategy: Current issues, future

directions. In D. H. Schunk & J. A. Greene (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance* (pp. 421–433). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315697048-27

- Kim, S., Boldt, L. J., & Kochanska, G. (2015). From parent–child mutuality to security to socialization outcomes: Developmental cascade toward positive adaptation in preadolescence. *Attachment & Human Development*, *17*(5), 472–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2015 .1072832
- Kochanska, G., Koenig, J. L., Barry, R. A., Kim, S., & Yoon, J. E. (2010). Children's conscience during toddler and preschool years, moral self, and a competent, adaptive developmental trajectory. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(5), 1320–1332. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020381
- Kopp, C. B. (1989). Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(3), 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.343
- Laurent, H. K. (2014). Clarifying the contours of emotion regulation: Insights from parent–child stress research. *Child Development Perspectives*, 8(1), 30–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12058
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping.* Springer Publishing Company.
- Liu, R. T. (2013). Stress generation: Future directions and clinical implications. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(3), 406–416. https://doi .org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.01.005
- Lochman, J. E., & Wells, K. C. (2002). Contextual social–cognitive mediators and child outcome: A test of the theoretical model in the Coping Power program. *Development and Psychopathology*, 14(4), 945–967. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0954579402004157
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10, 434–445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2639
- Masten, A. S., Lucke, C. M., Nelson, K. M., & Stallworthy, I. C. (2021). Resilience in development and psychopathology: Multisystem perspectives. *Annual Review of Clinical*

Psychology, *17*, 521–549. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev-clinpsy-081219-120307

- McClelland, M. M., & Cameron, C. E. (2011). Selfregulation and academic achievement in elementary school children. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 133, 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.302
- McClelland, M. M., & Cameron, C. E. (2012). Selfregulation in early childhood: Improving conceptual clarity and developing ecologically valid measures. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(2), 136–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00191.x
- McClelland, M. M., Geldhof, G. J., Cameron, C. E., & Wanless, S. B. (2015). Development and self-regulation. In R. M. Lerner (Series Ed.), L. S. Liben, & U. Mueller, U. (Vol. Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science* (pp. 1–43). Wiley. https://doi.org/10 .1002/9781118963418.childpsy114
- McIntosh, R., & Curry, K. (2020). The role of a Black church-school partnership in supporting the educational achievement of African American students. *School Community Journal*, 30(1), 161–189. http://www .schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx
- Metcalfe, J., & Mischel, W. (1999). A hot/coolsystem analysis of delay of gratification: Dynamics of willpower. *Psychological Review*, *106*(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X .106.1.3
- Munsch, J., & Wampler, R. S. (1993). Ethnic differences in early adolescents' coping with school stress. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 63(4), 633–646. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/h0079482
- Nigg, J. T. (2017). Annual Research Review: On the relations among self-regulation, self-control, executive functioning, effortful control, cognitive control, impulsivity, risk-taking, and inhibition for developmental psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 58(4), 361–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12675
- Pallini, S., Chirumbolo, A., Morelli, M., Baiocco, R., Laghi, F., & Eisenberg, N. (2018). The relation of attachment security status to effortful self-regulation: A meta-analysis. *Psychological*

Bulletin, 144(5), 501–531. https://doi.org/10 .1037/bul0000134

- Pintrich, P. R., Marx, R. W., & Boyle, R. A. (1993). Beyond cold conceptual change: The role of motivational beliefs and classroom contextual factors in the process of conceptual change. *Review of Educational Research*, 63(2), 167–199. https://doi.org/10.2307/1170472
- Power, T. G., Ramos, G. G., Guerrero, Y. O., Martinez, A. D., Parker, L. A., & Lee, S. (2021). Evaluation of a program to help low-income, Latina mothers help their children cope with stress. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 42(3), 257–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-021-00632-5
- Raftery-Helmer, J. N., & Grolnick, W. S. (2016). Children's coping with academic failure: Relations with contextual and motivational resources supporting competence. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 36(8), 1017–1041. https://doi .org/10.1177/0272431615594459
- Raftery-Helmer, J. N., & Grolnick, W. S. (2018). Parent and teacher effects on academic coping and classroom engagement: Testing a motivational model. *Motivation and Emotion*, 42(5), 638–652. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-018-9676-4
- Reeve, J., & Cheon, S. H. (2021). Autonomysupportive teaching: Its malleability, benefits, and potential to improve educational practice. *Educational Psychologist*, 56(1), 54–77. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2020.1862657
- Rowley, S. J., Helaire, L. J., & Banerjee, M. (2010). Reflecting on racism: School involvement and perceived teacher discrimination in African American mothers. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *31*(1), 83–92. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2009.08.001
- Ryan, A. M., Pintrich, P. R., & Midgley, C. (2001). Avoiding seeking help in the classroom: Who and why?. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(2), 93–114. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1009013420053
- Ryan, R. M. (Ed.). (2012). The Oxford handbook of human motivation. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195399820 .001.0001

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54–67. https://doi.org/doi:10 .1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Selfdetermination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10.1521/978 .14625/28806
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *61*, Article 101860. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860.
- Sameroff, A. (2010). A unified theory of development: A dialectic integration of nature and nurture. *Child Development*, 81(1), 6–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01378.x
- Scherrer, V., & Preckel, F. (2019). Development of motivational variables and self-esteem during the school career: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Review of Educational Research*, 89(2), 211–258. https://doi.org/10 .3102/0034654318819127
- Schunk, D. H., & Zimmerman, B. J. (2013). Selfregulation and learning. In W. M. Reynolds, G. E. Miller, & I. B. Weiner (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology: Educational psychology* (pp. 45–68). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118133880 .hop207003
- Sege, R. D., & Browne, C. H. (2017). Responding to ACEs with HOPE: Health outcomes from positive experiences. *Academic Pediatrics*, 17(7), S79–S85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2017.03 .007
- Sharma, L., Markon, K. E., & Clark, L. A. (2014). Toward a theory of distinct types of "impulsive" behaviors: A meta-analysis of self-report and behavioral measures. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(2), 374–408. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0034418
- Skinner, E. A., & Edge, K. (2002). Parenting, motivation, and the development of coping. In L. J. Crockett (Ed.), *The Nebraska Symposium* on Motivation: Motivation, agency, and the life

course (pp. 77–143). University of Nebraska Press.

- Skinner, E. A., Graham, J. P., Brule, H., Rickert, N., & Kindermann, T. A. (2020). "I get knocked down but I get up again": Integrative frameworks for studying the development of motivational resilience in school. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(4), 290–300. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025420924122
- Skinner, E. A., Kindermann, T., & Mashburn, A. (2019). Lifespan developmental systems: Metatheory, methodology and the study of applied problems. Routledge.
- Skinner, E. A., Pitzer, J., & Steele, J. (2013). Coping as part of motivational resilience in school: A multidimensional measure of families, allocations, and profiles of academic coping. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(5), 803–835. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0013164413485241
- Skinner, E. A., Pitzer, J. R., & Steele, J. (2016). Can student engagement serve as a motivational resource for academic coping, persistence, and learning during late elementary and early middle school? *Developmental Psychology*, 52(12), 2099–2117. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000232
- Skinner, E. A., Rickert, N. J., Vollet, J. W., & Kindermann, T. A. (2022). The complex social ecology of academic development: A bioecological framework and illustration examining the collective effects of parents, teachers, and peers on student engagement. *Educational Psychologist*, 57(2), 87–113. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2022.2038603
- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2019). The development of academic coping in children and youth: A comprehensive review and critique. *Developmental Review*, 53, Article 100870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2019.100870
- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (2020). The development of academic coping across late elementary and early middle school: Do patterns differ for students with differing motivational resources? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(4), 339–353. https://doi.org/10 .1177/0165025419896423

- Skinner, E. A., & Saxton, E. A. (in press). Coping as an essential process of everyday motivational resilience in school. In A. O'Donnell, N. C. Barnes, & J. Reeve (Eds.), Oxford handbook of educational psychology. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199841332 .001.0001
- Skinner, E. A., & Wellborn, J. G. (1994). Coping during childhood and adolescence:
 A motivational perspective. In D. L.
 Featherman, R. M. Lerner, & M. Perlmutter (Eds.), *Life-span development and behavior* (Vol. 12, pp. 91–133). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2007). The development of coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 119–144. https://doi.org/10 .1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2016). The development of coping: Stress, neurophysiology, social relationships, and resilience during childhood and adolescence. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41740-0
- Spencer, M. B. (2006). Phenomenology and ecological systems theory: Development of diverse groups. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (Vol. 1, 6th ed., pp. 829–893). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Steinberg, L., Icenogle, G., Shulman, E. P., Breiner, K., Chein, J., Bacchini, D., ... & Fanti, K. A. (2017). Around the world, adolescence is a time of heightened sensation seeking and immature self-regulation. *Developmental Science*, 21, e12532. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12532
- Subasi, M., & Tas, Y. (2016). The role of motivating tasks and personal goal orientations in students' coping strategies in science. *Asia-Pacific Forum* on Science Learning and Teaching, 17(2), Article 16.
- Taylor, G., Jungert, T., Mageau, G. A., Schattke,
 K., Dedic, H., Rosenfield, S., & Koestner, R.
 (2014). A self-determination theory approach to predicting school achievement over time: The unique role of intrinsic motivation.

Contemporary Educational Psychology, 39(4), 342–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2014 .08.002

- Thompson, R. A. (2015). Relationships, regulation, and early development. In R. M. Lerner (Series Ed.) & M. Lamb (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science: Vol. 3. Socioemotional processes* (7th ed., pp. 201–246). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118963418
 .childpsy306
- Tolan, P. H., & Grant, K. (2009). How social and cultural contexts shape the development of coping: Youth in the inner city as an example. In E. A. Skinner & M. J. Zimmer-Gembeck (Eds.), *Coping and the development of regulation* (pp. 61–74). Jossey-Bass. A volume for the series, R. W. Larson & L. A. Jensen (Eds.-in-Chief), New directions in child and adolescent development. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.242
- Tolan, P. H., Guerra, N. G., & Montaini-Klovdahl, L. (1997). Staying out of harm's way: Children's coping with inner-city life. In
 S. Wolchik & I. Sandler (Eds.), *Handbook of children's coping with common stressors: Linking theory, research and interventions* (pp. 453–479). Plenum. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-2677-0_16
- Tolan, P. H., Sherrod, L., Gorman-Smith, D., & Henry, D. (2003). Building protection, support, and opportunity for inner youth and their families. In K. Maton, C. Schellenbach, B. Leadbeater, & A. Solarz (Eds.), *Investing in children, youth, families, and communities: Strengths-based research and policy* (pp. 193–211). American Psychological Association. http://doi.org/10.1037/10660-011
- Urdan, T., & Kaplan, A. (2020). The origins, evolution and future directions of achievement goal theory. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 61, Article 101862. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101862
- Ursache, A., Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2012). The promotion of self-regulation as a means of enhancing school readiness and early achievement in children at risk for school failure. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(2), 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00209.x

- Valiente, C., Swanson, J., DeLay, D., Fraser, A. M., & Parker, J. H. (2020). Emotion-related socialization in the classroom: Considering the roles of teachers, peers, and the classroom context. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 578–594. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000863
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(2), 96–100. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12112
- Wadsworth, M. E., Ahlkvist, J. A., McDonald, A., & Tilghman-Osborne, E. M. (2018). Future directions in research and intervention with youths in poverty. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 47(6), 1023–1038. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2018.1485108
- Wadsworth, M. E., McDonald, A., Joos, C. M., Ahlkvist, J. A., Perzow, S. E., Tilghman-Osborne, E. M., Creavey, K., & Brelsford, G. M. (2020). Reducing the biological and psychological toxicity of poverty-related stress: Initial efficacy of the BaSICS intervention for early adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(3–4), 305–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12400
- White, M. C., & DiBenedetto, M. K. (2018). Selfregulation: An integral part of standards-based education. In D. H. Schunk & J. A. Greene (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation of learning* and performance (pp. 208–222). Routledge/ Taylor & Francis Group.
- Wigfield, A., Eccles, J. S., Fredericks, J. A., Simpkins, S., Roeser, R. W., & Schiefele, U. (2015). Development of achievement motivation and engagement. In R. M. Lerner & M. Lamb (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science* (pp. 657–700). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470147658 .chpsy0315

- Wigfield, A., Klauda, S. L., & Cambria, J. (2011). Influences on the development of academic selfregulatory processes. In B. J. Zimmerman & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), *Handbook of selfregulation of learning and performance* (pp. 33–48). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/ 9780203839010
- Wolchik, S. A., & Sandler, I. N. (Eds.). (1997). Handbook of children's coping: Linking theory and intervention. Plenum.
- Zelazo, P. D., & Carlson, S. M. (2012). Hot and cool executive function in childhood and adolescence: Development and plasticity. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(4), 354–360. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00246.x
- Zelazo, P. D., Carlson, S. M., & Kesek, A. (2008). The development of executive function in childhood. In C. Nelson & M. Luciana (Ed.), *Handbook of developmental cognitive neuroscience* (2nd ed., pp. 553–574). MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/7437.001.0001
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M., & Locke, E. M. (2007). The socialization of adolescent coping behaviors: Relationships with families and teachers. *Journal* of Adolescence, 30(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.adolescence.2005.03.001
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Cleary, T. J. (2009). Motives to self-regulate learning: A social cognitive account. In K. Wentzel & A. Wigfield (Eds.), *Handbook of motivation at school* (pp. 247–264). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/ 9780203879498
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Schunk, D. H. (2009). Motivation: An essential dimension of selfregulated learning. In D. H. Schunk & B. J. Zimmerman (Eds.), *Motivation and selfregulated learning* (pp. 1–30). Routledge.
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Schunk, D. H. (Eds.). (2011). Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance. Routledge.

28 Youth Programs and the Development of Coping

Sydney C. Simmons, Julia M. Augenstern, and Patrick H. Tolan

Introduction

There has been a multiplicity of efforts since the mid-1900s to facilitate programming with children and adolescents that provides developmental support, engages youth in prosocial activities, and connects youth with caring adults. Such efforts, referred to as "youth programs," aim to provide a place for youth to spend time after school, offer opportunities for youth to connect with a positive social group, or establish a setting in which youth can learn and hone personal talents, interests, and civic contributions. These efforts are generally offered universally, centering on a given neighborhood or geographic area rather than engaging youth based on more selective criteria (Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003, 2016). Prominent examples in the United States include Big Brothers Big Sisters (BBBS), Boys and Girls Clubs of America, and 4-H. In addition to regional facilities for these and other national programs, many communities provide local recreational, vocational, civic, or religion-affiliated efforts that can be categorized as youth programs (Larson et al., 2006). Thus, youth programs reach a significant portion of young people with engagement of children and adolescents across diverse racial/ethnic groups, residence types, gender identities, and socioeconomic strata.

Many descriptions of youth program principles, goals, and components specifically refer to helping youth with the stress and challenges of their day-to-day lives, suggesting that youth programs may be "coping" promoting. Coping, which can generally be understood as a process through which individuals manage the impact of stressful events and circumstances, has been extensively studied and is considered an integral skill for healthy adaptation across the lifespan (Masten, 2001). Reviews of the research on child and adolescent coping indicate that youth incorporate new strategies and refine their already existing skills as they age, applying these strategies and skills in an increasingly methodical manner to address developmental and environmental challenges (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). In addition to investigating the processes of coping, research has demonstrated that effective coping is linked to a host of positive outcomes across educational and social domains, as well as associated with lower rates of both internalizing and externalizing symptoms of psychopathology, underscoring its importance in healthy development (Compas et al., 2001).

Despite the apparent overlap between youth programs and coping interventions, few links have been drawn between the study of youth programs and stress-coping frameworks nor is there much mention of such types of programs in the coping literature. Given that youth programs engage many more children and adolescents than specific coping interventions, this linkage may have important implications for optimizing the reach and impact of developmentally supportive interventions.

The present chapter is intended to provide such linkage, describe the basis for and value

of integrating these areas of interest, and suggest particularly opportune foci for future study. Coping intervention methods and approaches are examined as applicable to youth programs, and youth programs that are amenable to a coping perspective are discussed, emphasizing existing overlap and shared goals between the two areas. These discussions form a basis for proposed future directions for further integration. Closer alignment between coping interventions and youth programs could provide important new insights into youth development, enhance understanding of coping in natural settings, and expand the reach and effectiveness of vouth programming.

Coping Interventions

As growing evidence suggests that coping is essential for healthy development (Modecki et al., 2017), researchers have called for the creation and evaluation of interventions to promote these skills and to apply stress-coping frameworks to understand broader intervention effects (Compas, 1998; Compas et al., 2001). As such, interventions have been developed based on the theoretical literature and tested to teach, build, and/or enhance vouth coping skills with an adjacent goal of more generally understanding the benefits of coping interventions for youth. While the theoretical organization and specific approaches to coping interventions have varied (Compas, 1998), across studies there has been emphasis on the impact of the differential purpose of the youth's applied coping strategy (problemfocused versus emotion-focused: Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), the role of the youth's goals (primary versus secondary control; Rothbaum et al., 1982), the degree to which the youth is engaging with their stressor (engagement versus disengagement; Compas et al., 2001), and the youth's developmental stage (Losoya

et al., 1998). Many of the specific interventions referenced in this chapter draw from these distinctions in their goals and design.

As is extensively covered in other chapters in this handbook, coping is a complex area of study, and there are numerous existing interventions, which fall beyond the purview of this chapter. Because the purpose of this chapter is to frame the possible linkage between stresscoping frameworks and youth programs, only select coping-specific interventions, as they are or may be related to youth programs, will be reviewed. However, some basic information about the current state of the coping intervention field is necessary so that informed comparisons regarding the makeup, goals, and impact of coping-specific interventions to youth programs is possible. The following section will provide a summary of coping interventions, highlighting elements relevant to youth programs.

Scope of Coping Interventions

Coping interventions range in intended impact from targeted treatment (i.e., for youth identified with psychopathology; Compas et al., 2001) to prevention (i.e., for youth identified at-risk). These interventions have been applied in schools (e.g., Frydenberg, 2004), afterschool settings (e.g., Danish et al., 2004; Petitpas et al., 2017), and medical contexts (e.g., Compas et al., 2012; Wagner et al., 2011). Coping interventions have been implemented in person (e.g., Compas et al., 2010; Frydenberg, 2004) and online (e.g., Boring et al., 2015; Douma et al., 2019; Whittemore et al., 2012), with individual components (e.g., Barrett et al., 2001) and in groups (e.g., Compas et al., 2010; Douma et al., 2019). Additionally, they have been both youth- and youth and caregiver-focused (e.g., Compas et al., 2010; Wagner et al., 2011). Youth programs, which can be categorized as preventive interventions, often occupy similar spaces as coping programs, such as after-school settings (e.g., Daud & Carruthers, 2008). They also apply similar approaches, including individual and group activities (Larson et al., 2006) that are conducted primarily in-person for children and their families (Catalano et al., 2004), although they are also potentially amenable to online platforms (see Ettekal & Agans, 2020 for examples of such efforts during the COVID-19 pandemic). These areas of overlap denote practical feasibility for the integration of coping interventions and youth programs.

Coping interventions have been intentionally designed to address stressors associated with myriad challenges, including physical (e.g., epilepsy; Wagner et al., 2011; diabetes; Whittemore et al., 2012) or mental health (e.g., depression and anxiety; Hart Abney et al., 2019) diagnoses. While most are developed to target a specific stressor (e.g., stressors associated with juvenile incarceration; Rohde et al., 2004), some more broadly target children and adolescents who may be vulnerable to stressors related to their identification with marginalized groups (e.g., LGBTQ+ youth; Craig & Austin, 2016) or those who are generally considered at-risk for negative developmental outcomes due to systemic or environmental factors (e.g., low socioeconomic status; Raviv & Wadsworth, 2010). Regardless of their approach, these interventions are more often targeted rather than universal, only reaching subsets of youth populations with specific characteristics or circumstances that qualify them for intervention. While youth programs differ in that they are more universal than targeted, this means they capture a diverse range of participants (Larson et al., 2006). Individuals within these programs may face a range of the aforementioned specific (e.g., a physical or mental health diagnosis) or more general (e.g., affiliation with a historically marginalized group) stressors. Thus, the broad reach of extant youth programs suggests applicability to a variety of groups, including those already targeted in coping interventions, and sets the stage for linkage between fields.

Approach to Intervention

Coping interventions vary in the mechanisms through which they attempt to promote effective coping and subsequently positive developmental outcomes. Most programs involve some form of psychoeducation, direct skill instruction, modeling, discussion, and practice. Often, the approach to psychoeducation and skill-building varies based on the intervention's framing (i.e., as problem-focused versus emotion-focused, primary versus secondary control, engagement versus disengagement, or a combination thereof), the specific stressor(s) participants are facing, and the participants' developmental stage(s). While there may be inherent overlap in the skills that are addressed across interventions, different strategies may more closely align with one framework, a specific stressor, or a particular developmental level. Regardless of the specific skills highlighted, these skills are often promoted through didactic instruction, video review, modeling, role-playing, and homework or other forms of guided practice; some interventions employ all of these approaches to skill development within the same program (e.g., Compas et al., 2010).

Peer engagement is meant to function in different ways across programs, though many include a social engagement component. In some programs, social support is identified as key to the coping process (Wilkerson et al., 2017). In others, group discussion is applied simply to highlight similarities among program participants and normalize challenges (Douma et al., 2019; Frydenberg, 2004). With either approach, because many coping programs are offered in a group format, there is ample opportunity for connection.

Lastly, practice activities, whether guided or naturalistic, are implemented to promote the development of healthy coping skills through naturally occurring means (e.g., sports programming; Friedrich & Mason, 2018) or homework (e.g., Compas et al., 2010). Coping-specific interventions and youth programs share many structural similarities, such as offering social support as a means through which to promote positive developmental outcomes. On average, youth programs are often less structured, however, and rely more heavily on naturalistic experiences (Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003).

Research on Coping Interventions as Related to Youth Programs

Many coping interventions were developed with the intent to test their impact across developmental domains and, as such, there are a plethora of studies that have been conducted ranging from pilots to rigorous randomized controlled trials, some of which are detailed in other chapters within this handbook (e.g., Chapter 26). For our purposes, it is notable that the desired outcomes tested in these coping interventions often parallel those of youth programs, again suggesting that coping-specific interventions align in both intent and organization with youth programs. Both aspire to promote positive developmental outcomes (e.g., academic achievement or prosocial behavior) or relieve negative symptomatology (e.g., internalizing or externalizing psychopathology), for children facing both normative and specific challenges in their ecosystem.

One commonly cited meta-analysis that examined the effects of coping interventions on multiple developmental domains indicates that, while effect sizes are small-to-medium (0.02-0.12) on average, the overall trend

points to improved psychosocial functioning among youth through coping intervention, with smaller effects for internalizing symptoms and larger effects for academic functioning (Clarke, 2006). However, the author of this meta-analysis also reported that variation in active coping only accounts for less than 2% of the variance in adolescent functioning across domains. Thus, programming should be expanded such that it addresses factors beyond simple coping instruction (e.g., social support). Youth programs may serve as an opportune venue through which to promote both coping and other factors that drive positive outcomes across psychosocial domains.

If this integration of stress-coping frameworks into youth programs were to occur, other research provides additional information regarding the types of coping that are effective and under what conditions. Results from a meta-analysis and narrative review of 212 studies of coping-specific interventions affirmed the relation between maladaptive coping and internalizing symptoms, as well as revealed that certain forms of adaptive coping were related to lower rates of externalizing symptoms (Compas et al., 2017). More specifically, based on their analysis, some forms of coping showed benefits for lower symptomatology in different domains (e.g., engagement/approach coping was associated with fewer internalizing symptoms, problem-focused coping was associated with fewer externalizing symptoms, and emotion-focused and primary/secondary control coping were associated with fewer symptoms across both domains). In contrast, other coping strategies were associated with higher symptom levels, such as coping through emotional suppression, denial, and avoidance. Thus, while these findings suggest that coping promotion is associated with symptom reduction and possibly other unmeasured, broader positive developmental outcomes, it is notable that the form and approach to coping may be

differentially impactful. This coping research can be immensely beneficial to inform which forms of coping promotion and skill development might be most applicable within youth programs.

Currently, it seems that even if coping skills are not explicitly addressed in youth programs. they are implicitly or informally being promoted in those interventions. Coping programs are based on the contention that stress is inevitable and multidimensional, that coping methods can have an impact on youth development, that the most effective coping skills can be trained, and that this training can be based in practical life challenges. Similarly, youth programs also approach intervention as an opportunity for children and adolescents to build and practice interpersonal skills, gain support and connection to others, and engage in thoughtful problem-solving that can mitigate stress, contribute to optimal development, and lead to lower risk and improved capabilities in academic, behavioral, and social functioning (Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003). In the following section we explore the current scope of youth programs, as well as similarities in the approaches between coping intervention and youth programs. Highlighting these points of overlap may promote further integration between these areas of study.

Youth Programs as Coping Interventions

Youth development programs arose as practical efforts to help support youth in managing stressful circumstances by connecting them to caring adults and emotional resources, as well as providing them with a safe and supervised setting for peer-to-peer interactions (Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003). To effectively compare coping-specific interventions with youth programs, it is important to understand basic background information about youth programs.

Scope of Youth Programs

Through the study of existing youth programs, some common and defining features have been identified (Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003). First, these programs are often strengths-based and developmentally grounded; they are intended to support youth in garnering and learning the skills and capabilities necessary for healthy development (Lerner et al., 2011). Unlike most coping interventions, which explicitly train the use of particular responses to an identified stressor or stress in general, the goals of these programs are less specific, but they generally aim to foster competent functioning, connection to adults and institutions, confidence, and the pursuit of goals, often across multiple developmental domains (e.g., academic, psychological, and social; Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003). The implicit theory of many such programs is that by promoting talents, providing support, and helping guide alignment of capabilities with resources, successful development is more likely with resultant decreased risk for academic failure, problem behaviors, and mental health concerns (Benson et al., 2006). Further, through youth programs, children and adolescents are often connected to high-resource, supportive, and competent adults meant to help scaffold healthy development (Sullivan & Larson, 2010). Through these relationships, youth can identify prosocial role models, gain social capital, and solidify connections to other resources (Jarrett et al., 2005). While not a necessary part of youth programs, coping development can be an explicit or implicit component of such programs, especially as youth programs intrinsicoffer many naturally occurring, ally developmentally appropriate opportunities for coping (e.g., disagreements between peers and the experience of losing in a sports game).

A second key feature of youth programs is that these programs tend to be established as

settings rather than prescriptive programs with deliberate interventions (Larson, 2000). In other words, youth programs are offered as naturally occurring environments in which vouth already interact. Common examples may include engagement with local Boys and Girls Clubs, interactions with an assigned mentor, or participation in preexisting afterschool programs. Youth programs intentionally choose these settings, as they are meant to center the youth and inherently serve children and adolescents from a variety of backgrounds (Nicholson et al., 2004). Engagement in these programs may be based on location of residence, age group, or adverse life circumstances (e.g., qualifying socioeconomic status). Thus, while environmental risk may be a criterion for participation in some cases, children and adolescents often engage in youth programs irrespective of their individual risk, a key difference from coping programs. Further, the nature of youth programs as settings allows for extensive reach. In fact, some of the most popular youth programs, such as the Boys and Girls Clubs of America, alone reach millions of children per year according to their annual report (Boys and Girls Clubs of America, 2019). Thus, youth programs serve as optimal settings for understanding youth development across diverse samples of children and adolescents.

The stated purpose of youth programs can vary, and most refer to an intent to bolster youth's identity development (self-esteem, confidence, purpose; see Eichas et al., 2015), sense of social and personal responsibility (see Salusky et al., 2014), and/or civic connection and engagement (see Stoneman, 2002). Across programs, the role of adults is described as aiding youth-directed developmental progress, providing examples of appropriate behavior, and facilitating supportive connections with others. These shared and consistent central intents of youth programs have been distilled into а framework of positive vouth development (PYD; Guerra & Bradshaw, 2008). Through the PYD framework, healthy development is operationalized as the expression of five specific characteristics (5 Cs): competence, confidence, connection, character, and caring (Lerner et al., 2005). These five aspects of positive development include constructs central in coping theory (e.g., competence, connection) and those that are closely aligned with or consistent with coping conception applied to youth (e.g., caring).

Research on Youth Programs

Formal evaluation of youth programs, such as through randomized controlled trials, has been less frequent than that of coping-specific interventions in part because most operate as services rather than as scientific projects, and there is significant variability in the youth experience within programs, impeding confident evaluation. More commonly, programs are evaluated through qualitative descriptions or case studies (Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2016). However, some empirical evaluations of programming have been conducted as a response to inquiries in the field of youth development, as well as an increased emphasis on data-based funding (Arnold & Cater, 2011; Lerner & Chase, 2019; Yohalem & Wilson-Ahlstrom, 2010). Youth programs, such as those reviewed in later sections, are starting to measure their impact on coping even if there is no inclusion of explicit coping instruction.

Proposed Rationale for Integration of Stress-Coping Frameworks and Youth Programs

Despite some differences in focus, it is apparent that there is significant potential value in linking stress-coping frameworks with youth programs. Although not formally utilized, most youth programs incorporate what can aptly be characterized as a coping approach; they include procedures for identifying stressful experiences and circumstances, and they provide support for building and applying effective coping strategies at developmentally appropriate levels. Already, many youth programs make direct or tangential reference to coping principles either in their aims (e.g., "build ... resiliency to help them thrive today and tomorrow" [4-H, n.d.], or "learn positive ways to manage stress" [Boys and Girls Clubs of America; National Youth Outcomes Initiative, n.d.]) or in their outcome evaluations (e.g., or "higher collective efficacy, use of refusal skills" [G.R.E.A.T., n.d.]). Thus, coping research and youth program development may be complementary, and there is mutual advantage in intentional integration with resultant positive impacts on developmental theory and the children and adolescents served bv these interventions. Additionally, because both literatures offer promise for being culturally tailored and culturally responsive, there is reason to believe that integration is feasible and appropriate for use with youth from diverse backgrounds.

With enhanced integration between these approaches, scientists may gain a new understanding of the mechanisms through which to promote positive youth development and how coping may be applied to and utilized in naturalistic contexts with diverse youth. For instance, if coping researchers either examine how youth programs are already promoting coping skill development, regardless of intent, or implement/evaluate an existing coping intervention within the context of a large youth program, they may learn more about coping development and how coping facilitates positive youth development. Additionally, youth programs generally offer an opportunity for more extensive reach and evaluation of stress-coping frameworks. While coping interventions tend to be small and targeted, youth programs can access millions of children per year; thus, with even more explicit integration, there is increased opportunity to evaluate differential effects of coping and coping-adjacent skill development for different subpopulations.

Lessons from Extant Youth Interventions

Coping Programs as Youth Development-Promoting

Coping programs already include multiple factors that promote youth development. First, they have been connected to key skills and competencies associated with positive outcomes for children and adolescents. Coping interventions have been shown to increase knowledge and understanding of coping skills (Wagner et al., 2011), use of primary and secondary control coping (Craig et al., 2018) or other active/engagement coping (Douma et al., 2019), and problem-solving skills (Plante et al., 2001). They have also demonstrated effectiveness in decreasing depressive symptoms, the appraisal of stress as a threat (Craig & Austin, 2016), externalizing behaviors (Rohde et al., 2004), and maladaptive coping strategies (e.g., withdrawal and nonproductive tension reduction; Eacott & Frydenberg, 2009; Frydenberg, 2004). Additionally, preventive coping interventions have been linked to better academic achievement (Frydenberg & Lewis, 1999) and overall psychological functioning (Douma et al., 2019). There is evidence that some coping programs increase self-esteem and healthy self-expression to adults (Rohde et al., 2004), as well as self-efficacy for facing challenges (Bugalski & Frydenberg, 2000). Because these interventions bolster skills that promote youth short-term and long-term success, coping promotion can be seen as a mechanism for healthy youth development.

Second, many coping interventions already operate from a strengths-based perspective, using children and adolescents' natural strengths, interests, and experiences to build new skills. Most programs promote flexible coping and encourage youth to select variations that best fit their individual interests and needs. For example, programs may promote "seeking diversion" as an effective coping mechanism but allow youth to determine how they might choose to apply this skill in practice (Craig et al., 2018). Other coping interventions center around specific aspects of a youth's identity or experience. For instance, the AFFIRM intervention, an eight-module coping skills intervention for sexual and gender minority youth (SGMY), includes significant attention to the unique stressors faced by SGMY (Craig et al., 2018). Further, other programs, such as the Best of Coping (BOC) and Coping for Success interventions, begin by examining youths' existing coping patterns, either altering (if maladaptive) or strengthening (if adaptive) skills (Frydenberg & Brandon, 2007). Thus, there are many existing ways of applying strengths-based, individualized approaches to coping programs that also serve to promote broader healthy youth development.

Third, many coping interventions involve elements meant to transform youth into active agents in their own development. Not only do coping interventions almost universally provide some form of psychoeducation regarding the makeup and utility of coping skills, but most also involve the provision of relevant information. stressor-specific There are examples of programs that provide psychoeducation about depression for children with depressed parents (Compas et al., 2010), statistics and reasons for divorce for youth coping with parental separation (Boring et al., 2015), or prevalence rates and factors that affect seizures for youth with epilepsy (Wagner et al., 2011). This information lays the groundwork for the application of healthy coping skills (e.g., fact-based cognitive restructuring), and it transforms youth into active and informed participants in their own lives, subsequently increasing their ability to select appropriate coping strategies.

687

Further, many coping programs involve explicit discussion about how to seek information to support active coping. For example, within the Op Koers Online coping intervention for preventing and reducing psychosocial problems in youth with chronic illnesses, two learning goals include information-seeking/ information-giving and increased knowledge of self-management and medical compliance (Douma et al., 2019). In one session, group leaders ask participants to document questions they have about their medical condition and "look for answers." Later, they evaluate sources of information as a group to increase efficacy for obtaining reliable information. In another session, youth are prompted to find information about treatment and noncompliance. They then work through personalized examples to problem-solve and improve coping. The Op Koers intervention not only bolsters effective coping, which has been shown to increase medical compliance and psychosocial functioning (Blount et al., 2008), but it also promotes skills for gathering and applying information to overcome future challenges. Similarly, the Children of Divorce-Coping with Divorce program (Boring et al., 2015), a self-paced online intervention to improve coping in youth facing parental separation, transforms youth into active agents in a different manner, leveraging user input to tailor the content provided to each individual. In this intervention, youth develop a personal goal and provide feedback to customize program content to address the issues that are most important to them (Boring et al., 2015). Thus, youth are required to reflect on and
advocate for their own needs and preferences. This practice increases engagement and centers the youth's voice in the learning and development process, a concept that is central to youth programs (Ward & Parker, 2013).

Fourth, many coping interventions recognize the importance of bolstering coping selfefficacy (i.e., the belief in one's ability to productively cope with situations; Bandura, 1997; Park & Folkman, 1997). The concept of coping self-efficacy parallels the goals of many youth programs that aim to increase a child or adolescent's confidence in their capacity to face challenges (Lerner et al., 2005). Selfefficacy is posited to align with skill development; Bandura's self-efficacy theory suggests that improving coping skills through education and practice will improve self-efficacy for applying these skills and thus for generally managing stressors (Bandura, 1986). Extant coping interventions promote self-efficacy in a variety of ways with all attempting to, at a minimum, increase knowledge of coping skills. Further, many provide direct instruction on or exposure to new coping techniques (e.g., relaxation exercises), problem-solving approaches to determine how to successfully apply skills in new situations (Weisz et al., 2003), and cognitive restructuring methods to increase overall confidence in one's ability to use skills across contexts (Wagner et al., 2011). For example, the BOC intervention (Frydenberg & Brandon, 2007), a school-based group coping skills curriculum, touts the ultimate goal of promoting the self-confidence and competence needed for youth to proceed through challenging situations with mastery (as defined by Seligman et al., 1995). This program builds understanding of and strategies for coping, and it also engages youth in developing competencies for effectively communicating, solving problems, making decisions, setting goals, thinking optimistically, and managing time (Frydenberg, 2004). An

evaluation of the program demonstrated that participants' coping self-efficacy significantly increased compared to nonparticipants (Frydenberg, 2004). These broad skills can foster capabilities essential for thriving in youth and beyond, as well as confidence for managing inevitable future challenges.

Finally, while many coping interventions center around bolstering skills for coping with a particular set of demands or within a specific context, these skills can also be generalized and applied to a variety of challenges, thus contributing to overall positive development and future success for youth. Framing coping skills as developmental assets emphasizes the ongoing gains youth receive from garnering this set of competencies. Many programs, even those that target a specific stressor, involve some discussion to generalize skills to broader contexts. For example, the AFFIRM intervention for SGMY involves session activities particularly designed to promote hope and self-efficacy for future coping, including preparing youth to "respond to discrimination or harassment in social situations" (Craig & Austin, 2016, p. 139). Thus, while rooted in present stress and skill development, coping programs are well-suited to promote long-term and adaptive skills that can benefit youth far beyond the bounds of these interventions.

In sum, many coping programs, though not self-identified as youth programs, are already operating from a broader developmental, thriving perspective. These coping programs' overarching goal of facilitating the development of adaptive coping responses to stress parallels the goals of many youth programs. By developing individual competencies, using personalized and strengths-based approaches, working to augment coping self-efficacy and empowered engagement in the context of challenges, and fostering future-oriented thinking, it is clear that coping programs contribute to the preparation of youth as well-rounded, active agents in their development. Thus, it can be beneficial for coping researchers to think of coping as the individualized, active engagement of youth when faced with challenges and in the management of their own development.

Youth Programming as Coping-Promoting

Just as coping programs can be used to foster vouth development, lessons from youth programs can be used to bolster coping interventions. Extant youth programs offer insight into how to harness strengths in naturally occurring environments to promote youth engagement and growth. Further, the social nature of many vouth programs may lend itself to enhancing coping outcomes through the facilitation of peer interactions and high-quality relationships with supportive adults. Finally, many youth programs have already begun to recognize coping both as a mechanism to promote positive youth development and as an indicator of successful vouth programming. Thus, lessons from the design, implementation, and evaluation of youth programs can be used to strengthen existing coping-enhancement efforts.

While the standardized or modularized approach of many coping interventions allows for implementation fidelity and skill specificity, this form of intervention occurs outside of a child or adolescent's real life and instead within a more regimented environment (e.g., online modules, hospital-based groups). Given the strength of other youth programming approaches in accessing young people in their natural contexts, it may be helpful for coping researchers to integrate lessons from broader youth programming to inform their methods and setting selection. Moving coping development from regimented intervention environments to more naturalistic settings (e.g., schools, after-school programs, community centers) may increase youth engagement and better facilitate the generalization of these skills into "real world" settings.

Some coping programs have already taken a naturalistic more versus standardized approach to coping promotion. One example is the Coping Through Football intervention, which engages individuals with chronic mental illness in small soccer games facilitated by mental health practitioners and soccer coaches (Friedrich & Mason, 2018). Applying a qualitative approach, researchers assessed the effects of this free-form intervention on participant coping and self-reported outcomes. Participants acknowledged that this intervention improved their relationships and emotional well-being, provided opportunity for diversion and exercise, and increased their passion for the game. They identified many of these themes as boosting their ability and self-efficacy for coping with their mental health challenges, which parallels results of prior qualitative evaluations of coping through sports interventions (e.g., McElroy et al., 2008).

Other youth programs that operate in these natural settings have also examined their role in coping development. Two sport-focused after-school programs showed that taking an assets-focused approach to coaching resulted in improved coping as evidenced by youth selfreport of the use of positive coping skills (e.g., coping through energy/tension release through play), better emotion regulation (e.g., after losing a game), and decreased use of maladaptive coping strategies (Danish et al., 2004). Further, both studies highlight evidence that coping functions as a promoter of positive development by building character (e.g., sportsmanship), competence (e.g., effectively managing stress through physical activity, self-regulating during frustration), and connection (e.g., teamwork, teammate relationships). In sum, youth programs can simultaneously

promote coping and broader positive development through existing activities and in natural settings.

The social nature of youth programs, including both peer interaction and engagement with nonfamilial adults, offers an important supportive base through which to promote coping skill development and practice. Social support theory suggests that greater social support results in resilience, easier ability to access skill sets, and increased aptitude in navigating challenging contexts (Boyce, 1985). In other words, social support is posited to buffer against adversity and to promote skill development. This supposition has been reflected in coping research with evidence to suggest that the availability of social support can increase the likelihood that youth will use social or other-oriented coping skills (e.g., talking to someone or seeking help with problem-solving). Further, social support can improve youth self-esteem, autonomy, and self-efficacy for using coping skills (Masi et al., 2011; Uchino, 2009). Many of the extant coping interventions operate in the group environment with developers positing that sharing emotions and experiences, as well as developing peer relationships, can positively affect coping and adjustment in the context of stressors (Clarke & DeBar, 2010). However, these groups are often limited by low participant numbers and scheduling challenges. Youth programs often have greater capacity for reaching youth, because they are situated in naturally occurring settings (DuBois et al., 2011). These programs offer similar benefits through organically forming youth relationships in a supportive environment. Further, in comparison to stressorspecific coping programs, broader youth programs may include children and adolescents with a greater variety of natural coping skills and/or who have already dealt with some of the challenges other participants may be

facing. By viewing supportive peer and youth–adult relationships as assets for promoting positive development and working to foster these connections, coping programs can better facilitate skill development and thriving among children and adolescents, as well as provide longer-term supportive relationships (Donlan et al., 2015).

Further, mentoring interventions, one of the most widely applied forms of youth programming, serve as another avenue for coping development through meaningful relationships with supportive adults. Some mentoring interventions have begun to explore their role in coping development. While more investigation is needed, results of program evaluations present preliminary evidence for the ways in which mentoring relates to coping and positive development. Three evaluations of various BBBS organizations offered brief references to the role of coping in their programming. First, Grossman and Tierney (1998) hypothesized that mentoring would inhibit youth substance use and delinquent behavior by "providing youths with good role models, helping them to cope with peer pressures, to think through the consequences of their actions, and to become involved in socially acceptable activities" (Grossman & Tierney, 1998, p. 413). Second, Dolan et al. (2011) proposed that mentoring programs serve to improve participants' perceived social support. which in turn increases their ability to cope effectively with life stressors through use of these social connections. Third, DuBois and colleagues (2002) suggested that when mentors form a strong enough relationship with youth, it can serve as a venue through which youth can develop "important psychological and behavioral assets, including ... abilities for coping" (DuBois et al., 2002, p. 24). They posited that this process occurs when mentors help youth navigate challenging life events through modeling or providing instruction on

appropriate coping efforts. These three evaluations highlight relationship quality as key to facilitating this process and cite research linking greater perceived social support to the development of more active, solution-focused coping (e.g., Petersen et al., 1991). An evaluation of a wilderness mentoring program also championed the importance of positive youthadult relationships for promoting coping and ultimately thriving, emphasizing the additional role of "enriching life experiences, which are both structured and voluntary, that the youth and mentor can share" (Norton & Watt, 2014, p. 339). Research suggests that these enriching collaborative activities, coupled with mentorfacilitated reflection can promote healthy coping skill development and support subsequent resilience and positive development (Russell, 2006). Overall, extant youth programs that apply a mentoring approach highlight that the social support of the mentormentee relationship and application in reflective real-world scenarios can promote youth coping skill development.

Similarly, the promotion of known youth development constructs can be used to bolster coping development. For example, Erdem and colleagues' (2016) evaluation of a BBBS program identified PYD competencies, conceptualized through the 5 Cs model (Lerner et al., 2005), as mediators of the relation between mentor support and coping skills among other indicators of emotional and behavioral functioning. Finally, Zhu and Shek (2020) describe their quasi-experimental evaluation of a cultural adaptation of the Positive Adolescent Training through Holistic Social program as aiming to "cultivate and enhance youths' PYD attributes, which enable them to cope with developmental challenges in an adaptive manner and maintain healthy functioning," suggesting that a focus on PYD capabilities and resources can bolster the development of coping (Zhu & Shek, 2020, p. 2). Thus, there is evidence that coping and youth development are strongly intertwined and that the promotion of either one will reinforce the other.

Many youth program developers are beginning to recognize the benefits of coping promotion as a conceptually central process for promoting positive development and as an indicator of healthy development. Some youth programs that follow a more prescriptive, curriculum-focused approach to promoting broad youth development competencies have included coping instruction within their programs. For example, the Positive Youth Development Collaborative (PYDC) included a session on "understanding and coping with stress and learning stress-reduction strategies" (Tebes et al., 2007, p. 240). This curriculum (see Tebes et al., 2007 for more details) was integrated into an after-school program that involved engagement with cultural and community organizations and fostered adultyouth partnerships. Thus, the PYDC is a strong example of how youth programs might integrate more direct coping skills instruction while maintaining natural opportunities to promote coping through community engagement and social opportunities. As another example, the Bicultural Competence Skills Approach (BCSA; Schinke et al., 2000) is an intervention of 10-15 sessions that provides direct skill instruction in communication. coping (e.g., positive self-talk, relaxation), and decision-making through an integrated lens of both Native American and popular American cultures. This program aims to bolster social support networks through engagement with prosocial peers, family, and tribal members. The BCSA demonstrates aspects of quality youth programming through its accessible community setting, social support focus, and cultural strengths perspective while integrating explicit coping skills training (i.e., instruction, modeling, coaching, feedback). Both of these programs resulted in reductions in substance use and healthier attitudes toward drugs and alcohol (Schinke et al., 2000; Tebes et al., 2007). In sum, many youth programs have recognized the benefits of coping for reducing risk and fostering positive development.

However, although one can find reference to coping in some program descriptions, in most cases (including those already listed), there is no available curriculum or guidebook outlining specific instructional activities. In most cases, coping is mentioned as one of several positive development goals and is linked to adaptive outcomes but not analyzed separately for its impact on these outcomes. Thus, while youth programs have engaged in clear preliminary efforts to recognize the value of coping and integrate coping skill instruction into their interventions, more work is needed to understand the role of coping in these youth development processes.

Overall, the youth programs literature suggests coping enhancement interventions would benefit from implementation in children and adolescents' natural contexts and from greater emphasis on the promotive nature of positive peer and youth-adult relationships. Similarly, there is opportunity for youth programs to better integrate activities from coping interventions (e.g., psychoeducation, discussion, direct skill instruction) or to reinforce existing opportunities for coping development (e.g., self-regulation in the context of losing a game, coping with peer conflict in different situations, managing school stress, turning to their mentors for advice) in naturally occurring activities or contexts. Even without changes to their existing activities or curricula, youth programs should strongly consider assessing their impact on the development of coping due to its essential role in youth development and its promise for helping participants reach these programs' desired goals.

Cultural Considerations in Coping Interventions and Youth Programs

Both coping interventions and youth programs serve children and adolescents from diverse backgrounds. Thus, it is imperative that they consider culture at all points of contact. There is growing acknowledgment of the bidirectional interrelation between individual and environment at multiple ecological levels (Bronfenbrenner, 1992) and the impact of on youth development these processes (Lerner et al., 2009). Further, there is immense research underscoring the need to consider cultural factors in youth programming and intervention design (Overton, 2015; Tolan & Grant, 2009; Wiium & Dimitrova, 2019). Cultural consideration can inform intervention selection. support the enhancement of intervention effects, and facilitate the identification of cross-cultural elements that may promote generalizable effects (Williams & Deutsch, 2016).

Both the coping and youth development literatures, as well as some resulting interventions. have already demonstrated thoughtfulness and attention to cultural considerations. The coping literature, for instance, emphasizes the importance of promoting individualized coping with the acknowledgment that there are both cross-cultural similarities and distinctions in coping. Research has identified cultural differences in stress and resilience pathways and coping mechanisms, and suggests that acculturation, self-construal, individualistic-collectivistic identities and impact coping approaches (Kuo, 2011). While many aspects of identity can influence coping, the most prominent variations have been examined across different national and racial/ethnic populations (e.g., Kuo, 2011; Ungar et al., 2007). For example, extensive work has been conducted to explore identity as an aspect of coping in African American youth, highlighting religious and spiritual engagement, racial socialization, and cultural pride as contributors to healthy coping, resilience, and positive development (Spencer et al., 2003). Similarly, there has been attention to the experiences and coping practices of immigrant and immigrant-origin youth (e.g., James, 1997: Tummala-Narra & Sathasivam-Rueckert, 2016). While the coping field values and aims to promote culturally specific coping approaches, recent work has also focused on universal aspects of coping that are beneficial across cultures (Kuo, 2011). Future coping interventions should be thoughtful about culture within their intended samples and be sure to promote both culturally specific and cross-cultural coping approaches (Clauss-Ehlers, 2008).

Many youth programs also have an existing culture-specific or context-specific focus (e.g., for African American males, for youth living in low socioeconomic status urban communities; Williams & Deutsch, 2016). These programs often explicitly acknowledge that the vouth they serve are facing circumstantial and structural stressors/impediments and that coping with these is essential to strong identity formation and successful development. For example, many youth programs target specific populations facing environmental- or identityrelated challenges. Programs have been created to support LGBTQIA+ groups (e.g., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017), racial and ethnic minorities (e.g., Neblett et al., 2012), families facing community violence or living in poverty (e.g., Tolan & Grant, 2009), and HIV-positive communities (e.g., Arnold & Rotheram-Borus, 2009). Further, these programs have been widely implemented, and efforts have been made to responsibly adapt these interventions to function effectively in their cultural context (e.g., Wiium & Dimitrova, 2019). Researchers developing new interventions should consider

who their intervention is for and in what context it should be implemented, integrating lessons from prior research.

Youth programs also operate from a cultural strengths approach, framing community and culture as resources for promoting positive development (Lerner, 2009). The idea of harnessing youth and community strengths to foster positive development in the face of cultural, identity, or general developmental challenges is aligned with and complements coping. There is a burgeoning discussion of the ways in which culture can be harnessed to serve promotive and protective functions. For example, Neblett and colleagues (2012) identify racial and ethnic identity, ethnic-racial socialization, and cultural orientation as key pathways for promoting positive development in minority youth, particularly for improving self-concept, healthy cognitive appraisals, coping strategies, and overall adjustment. Greater attention is needed to examine promotive youth development processes for individuals from even more groups and varied backgrounds.

Work by Smith Lee and colleagues (2020) offers an example of what culturally responsive integration of youth development and coping in a high-risk population might look like. This study, though not an intervention, examined religiosity and spirituality as cultural assets in a sample of 31 Black male young adults and how these assets interacted with traumatic loss through homicide to impact their development and mental health (Smith Lee et al., 2020). Through qualitative interviews, these authors identified religious/spiritual coping as a means through which young Black men can "a) ... process pain in the aftermath of homicide, construct meaning, and find hope, b) reduce fear of fatal victimization, c) protect against retaliatory violence and trauma recidivism, and, d) foster posttraumatic growth" (Smith Lee et al., 2020, p. 8).

This work offers a great example of how to view culturally specific coping (in this case religiosity and spirituality) as a positive developmental asset appropriate for promotion through youth programming.

Overall, culture and community needs must be taken into consideration when integrating stress-coping frameworks and youth programs, as they can be used to provide a more enriching and effective experience for youth development (Institute of Medicine, 2002; Thomas, 2004). Program developers must consider systemic barriers and cultural and identity stressors that intended populations might be facing. They should adopt a strengths-based approach to highlight and amplify existing personal, community, and cultural resources to promote adaptive coping and youth development. These considerations should be apparent in design, implementation, content, and measurement (Clauss-Ehlers, 2008).

Future Directions

The present chapter was intended to show the clear overlap and mutual compatibility of youth programs with coping study and highlight the advantages for coping researchers of focusing on youth programs. To help move toward more collaboration between coping scholars and youth programs leaders, we suggest several areas of work be prioritized.

First, we recommend that coping researchers collaborate with relevant youth programming representatives (e.g., program directors, designers, and evaluation experts) to learn about how youth programs are structured, uncover the basis for youth engagement in organized programs, and explore the intended impact of such programs on children and adolescents. The goal is to develop and apply a formal conceptual model of youth programs utilizing coping concepts and frameworks. This undertaking may include qualitative description efforts and a rich exchange that results in not only a sensitive and sophisticated model but also a shared language that can be used as the basis for meaningful and scientifically sound evaluation. Currently, youth program professionals may neither formally conceptualize helping youth as entailing specific coping processes nor be aware of stresscoping frameworks.

Further, as coping researchers learn more about the variation in how youth programs are structured, the types of necessary evaluations and the best approach to studying these programs using experimental design can be understood. This collaboration is likely to make evaluation not only more sensitive to any impact but also more useful for practice, as results may be rendered from an evaluation that reflects the practical considerations that can guide community-based youth programming. The mutual understanding that will come with such collaborations can help researchers overcome challenges, such as recognizing that what appear to be different processes of helping may reflect some underlying shared coping-promoting procedure. For example, a youth might be gaining support for problem-focused coping from the patience of a counselor when disputes arise in a basketball game, as well as working with other participants on how to obtain access to the court during busy times. In sum, greater familiarity between coping researchers and youth program leaders will increase all professionals' understanding of the nuances of each area, increase their awareness of shared mechanisms of influence, and support them in developing a common language for moving youth development efforts forward.

While such information is broadly accessible in the literature or may be discernible apart from specific experiences, there are likely to be individual differences between programs that warrant specific attention. One important challenge is the heterogeneity of experiences within the same youth program. One individual may be benefiting by practicing new social skills with prosocial peers, another may be learning problem-solving skills through sports, and a third may be experiencing dependable adult support through a mentorship relationship with an adult staff member. Coping researchers can clarify the multiplicity of possible coping processes in a given setting, as well synthesize the shared process of impact of what, at face value, might appear to be divergent activities.

Second, through this collaboration, we recommend coping researchers work to better study the naturalistic coping opportunities that occur within youth programs. Because there often are not prescribed activities or set curricula in such programs, there may not be any specific task that is designated as "coping training." Instead, coping may be occurring naturalistically in many instances and through various relationships. As coping researchers are investigating youth programs, ample thought must be put into how to evaluate time spent on coping development and how to identify opportunities for coping if coping is not explicitly built into the program or curriculum. One approach may be to conduct observations and note naturally occurring opportunities for coping. For example, if a group of children is playing basketball at their local Boys and Girls Club and one child steals the ball from another player, there exists a natural opportunity for coping skill use. Researchers should note such instances/opportunities in an effort to gain an exhaustive understanding of coping in the context of youth programs. With that information, coping researchers can consider how to more intentionally promote coping development and use. To continue the same example, if sports are identified as an opportunity for coping, there may be an opening to provide structured time to process the results of winning or losing a game within the youth program's model.

These two foundational steps can provide direction for the explicit formulation of a program's impact as coping promoting and guide evaluation that can measure the efficacy of a program on its intended goals, including variations in impact by exposure level, participant characteristics, and program implementation (i.e., what of the expected activities are implemented). This more formal evaluation should not only serve scholarly interests but also provide more sound and informative evaluation results for practitioners, administrators, and funders. Additionally, it will be important to study how formalizing or increasing emphasis on coping support and skill improvement could be undertaken in vouth programs. testing if such explicit attention to coping enhances impact for children and adolescents. Relatedly, evaluation efforts could help clarify how program participant characteristics and needs relate to impact, and conversely, how program approaches and activities might be better attuned to diverse needs. These findings are likely to provide some of the more effective and useful directions for the training and manof staff agement in such programs. Identification of what staff skills, approaches, and perspectives are related to impact can be translated to preferred training and employment emphases.

Summary and Conclusion

Due to existing overlap in their goals and approaches, as well as their benefits for children and adolescents, connecting these two areas of importance in promoting healthy youth development – stress-coping frameworks and youth programs – seems likely to yield rich understanding and multiple practical improvements for both areas of work. More specifically, integration between coping interventions and youth programs may clarify or illuminate new mechanisms that promote positive youth outcomes, bolster scientific awareness of how coping develops in naturally occurring settings, enhance the effectiveness of preexisting and future youth programming, and expand the reach of a wide range of coping-promoting interventions. Extant theoretical literature and program evaluations lend support for this integration.

References

- 4-H. (n.d.). 4-H programs at a glance. https://4-h .org/parents/programs-at-a-glance/
- Arnold, E. M., & Rotheram-Borus, M. J. (2009). Comparisons of prevention programs for homeless youth. *Prevention Science*, 10(1), 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-008-0119-4
- Arnold, M. E., & Cater, M. (2011). From then to now: Emerging directions for youth program evaluation. *Journal of Youth Development*, 6(3), 80–92. https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2011.176
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Freeman.
- Bandura, A. (1986). The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. *Journal of Social* and Clinical Psychology, 4(3), 359–373. https:// doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359
- Barrett, P. M., Sonderegger, R., & Sonderegger, N. L. (2001). Evaluation of an anxietyprevention and positive-coping program (FRIENDS) for children and adolescents of non-English-speaking background. *Behaviour Change*, 18(2), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1375/ bech.18.2.78
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Hamilton, S. F., & Sesma, A. (2006). Positive youth development: Theory, research, and application. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed., pp. 894–941). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470147658 .chpsy0116
- Blount, R. L., Simons, L. E., Devine, K. A., Jaaniste, T., Cohen, L. L., Chambers, C. T., &

Hayutin, L. G. (2008). Evidence-based assessment of coping and stress in pediatric psychology. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *33*(9), 1021–1045. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/ jsm071

- Boring, J. L., Sandler, I. N., Tein, J. Y., Horan, J. J., & Vélez, C. E. (2015). Children of Divorce– Coping with Divorce: A randomized control trial of an online prevention program for youth experiencing parental divorce. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 83(5), 999–1005. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039567
- Boyce, W. T. (1985). Social support, family relations, and children. In S. Cohen & S. L. Syme (Eds.), *Social support and health* (pp. 151–173). Academic Press.
- Boys and Girls Clubs of America. (2019). *Annual report*. https://www.bgca.org/about-us/Annualreport
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1992). *Ecological systems theory*. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Bugalski, K., & Frydenberg, E. (2000). Promoting effective coping in adolescents "at-risk" for depression. *Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools*, 10(1), 111–132. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S1037291100004180
- Catalano, R. F., Berglund, M. L., Ryan, J. A., Lonczak, H. S., & Hawkins, J. D. (2004).
 Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 591(1), 98–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0002716203260102
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017, November 28). LGBTQ youth programs-at-aglance. https://www-cdc-gov.proxy01.its.virginia .edu/lgbthealth/youth-programs.htm
- Clarke, A. T. (2006). Coping with interpersonal stress and psychosocial health among children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 10–23. https://doi .org/10.1007/s10964-005-9001-x
- Clarke, G. N., & DeBar, L. L. (2010). Group cognitive-behavioral treatment for adolescent depression. In J. R. Weisz & A. E. Kazdin (Eds.), *Evidence-based psychotherapies for*

children and adolescents (2nd ed., pp. 110–124). Guilford Press.

- Clauss-Ehlers, C. S. (2008). Sociocultural factors, resilience, and coping: Support for a culturally sensitive measure of resilience. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 29(3), 197–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2008 .02.004
- Compas, B. E. (1998). An agenda for coping research and theory: Basic and applied developmental issues. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 22(2), 231–237. https:// doi.org/10.1080%2F016502598384351
- Compas, B. E., Champion, J. E., Forehand, R., Cole, D. A., Reeslund, K. L., Fear, J., Hardcastle, E. J., Keller, G., Rakow, A., Garai, E., Merchant, M. J., & Roberts, L. (2010).
 Coping and parenting: Mediators of 12-month outcomes of a family group cognitive– behavioral preventive intervention with families of depressed parents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(5), 623–634. https://doi .org/10.1037/a0020459
- Compas, B. E., Connor-Smith, J. K., Saltzman, H., Thomsen, A. H., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2001). Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(1), 87–127. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.127.1.87
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunn, M. J., & Rodriguez, E. M. (2012). Coping with chronic illness in childhood and adolescence. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 8, 455–480. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143108
- Craig, S. L., & Austin, A. (2016). The AFFIRM open pilot feasibility study: A brief affirmative cognitive behavioral coping skills group intervention for sexual and gender minority

youth. Children and Youth Services Review, 64, 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth .2016.02.022

- Craig, S. L., Austin, A., & Huang, Y. T. (2018). Being humorous and seeking diversion: Promoting healthy coping skills among LGBTQ + youth. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 22(1), 20–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19359705.2017.1385559
- Danish, S., Forneris, T., Hodge, K., & Heke, I. (2004). Enhancing youth development through sport. World Leisure Journal, 46(3), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/04419057.2004.9674365
- Daud, R., & Carruthers, C. (2008). Outcome study of an after-school program for youth in a highrisk environment. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 26(2), 95–114.
- Dolan, P., Brady, B., O'Regan, C., Russell, D., Canavan, J., & Forkan, C. (2011). Big Brothers Big Sisters (BBBS) of Ireland: Evaluation study report 3. UNESCO Child and Family Research Centre. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.2088.1288
- Donlan, A. E., Lynch, A. D., & Lerner, R. M. (2015).
 Peer relationships and positive youth development.
 In E. P. Bowers, G. J. Geldhof, S. K. Johnson, L. J.
 Hilliard, R. M. Hershberg, J. V. Lerner, & R. M.
 Lerner (Eds.), Advancing responsible adolescent development: Promoting positive youth development: Lessons from the 4-H study (pp. 121–136). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17166-1_7
- Douma, M., Joosten, M. M., Scholten, L., Maurice-Stam, H., & Grootenhuis, M. A. (2019). Online cognitive-behavioral group intervention for adolescents with chronic illness: A pilot study. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology*, 7(1), 79–92. https://doi.org/10.1037/cpp0000274
- DuBois, D. L., Neville, H. A., Parra, G. R., & Pugh-Lilly, A. O. (2002). Testing a new model of mentoring. *New Directions for Youth Development*, 2002(93), 21–57. https://doi.org/10 .1002/yd.23320029305
- DuBois, D. L., Portillo, N., Rhodes, J. E.,Silverthorn, N., & Valentine, J. C. (2011). How effective are mentoring programs for youth?A systematic assessment of the evidence.Psychological Science in the Public Interest,

12(2), 57–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1529100611414806

- Eacott, C., & Frydenberg, E. (2009). Promoting positive coping skills for rural youth: Benefits for at-risk young people. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *17*(6), 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j .1440-1584.2009.01109.x
- Eichas, K., Meca, A., Montgomery, M., & Kurtines, W. M. (2015). Identity and positive youth development: Advances in developmental intervention science. In K. McLean & M. Syed (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of identity development* (pp. 337–354). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/ 9780199936564.013.020
- Ettekal, A. V., & Agans, J. P. (2020). Positive youth development through leisure: Confronting the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Youth Development*, 15(2), 1–20. https://doi.org.10 .5195/jyd.2020.962
- Erdem, G., DuBois, D. L., Larose, S., De Wit, D., & Lipman, E. L. (2016). Mentoring relationships, positive development, youth emotional and behavioral problems: Investigation of a mediational model. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 44(4), 464–483. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcop.21782
- Friedrich, B., & Mason, O. J. (2018). Qualitative evaluation of a football intervention for people with mental health problems in the north east of London. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 15, 132–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa .2018.10.002
- Frydenberg, E. (2004). Coping competencies: What to teach and when. *Theory Into Practice*, 43(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15430421tip4301_3
- Frydenberg, E., & Brandon, C. M. (2007). *The best* of coping: Trainers manual. OZ Child.
- Frydenberg, E., & Lewis, R. (1999). Academic and general well-being: The relationship with coping. *Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools*, 9(S1), 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1037291100002971
- G.R.E.A.T. (n.d.). Evaluation of G.R.E.A.T. https://www.great-online.org/Account/About/ Evaluation

- Grossman, J. B., & Tierney, J. P. (1998). Does mentoring work? An impact study of the Big Brothers Big Sisters program. *Evaluation Review*, 22(3), 403–426. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0193841X9802200304
- Guerra, N. G., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2008). Linking the prevention of problem behaviors and positive youth development: Core competencies for positive youth development and risk prevention. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2008(122), 1–17. https://doi.org/10 .1002/cd.225
- Hart Abney, B. G., Lusk, P., Hovermale, R., & Melnyk, B. M. (2019). Decreasing depression and anxiety in college youth using the Creating Opportunities for Personal Empowerment Program (COPE). Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association, 25(2), 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078390318779205
- Institute of Medicine. (2002). Speaking of health: Assessing health communication strategies for diverse populations. National Academy Press.
- James, D. C. (1997). Coping with a new society: The unique psychosocial problems of immigrant youth. *Journal of School Health*, 67(3), 98–102. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.1997.tb03422.x
- Jarrett, R. L., Sullivan, P. J., & Watkins, N. D. (2005). Developing social capital through participation in organized youth programs: Qualitative insights from three programs. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 33(1), 41–55. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20038
- Kuo, B. C. (2011). Culture's consequences on coping: Theories, evidences, and dimensionalities. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 42(6), 1084–1100. https://doi.org/10 .1177%2F0022022110381126
- Larson, R. W. (2000). Toward a psychology of positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 170–183. https://doi.org/10 .1037/0003-066X.55.1.170
- Larson, R. W., Hansen, D. M., & Moneta, G. (2006). Differing profiles of developmental experiences across types of organized youth activities. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 849–863. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5 .849

- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping.* Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9_215
- Lerner, J. V., Phelps, E., Forman, Y., & Bowers, E. P. (2009). *Positive youth development*. John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Lerner, R. M. (2009). The positive youth development perspective: Theoretical and empirical bases of strengths-based approach to adolescent development. In S. J. Lopez & C. R. Snyder (Eds.), Oxford handbook of positive psychology (2nd ed., pp. 149–163). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordhb/9780195187243.013.0014
- Lerner, R. M., & Chase, P. A. (2019). Enhancing theory and methodology in the international study of positive youth development: A commentary. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 48(2), 269–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-018-9485-7
- Lerner, R. M., Lerner, J. V., Almerigi, J. B., Theokas, C., Phelps, E., Gestsdottir, S., Naudeau, S., Jelicic, H., Alberts, A., Ma, L., Smith, L. M., Bobek, D. L., Richman-Raphael, D., Simpson, I., Christiansen, E. D., & Von Eye, A. (2005). Positive youth development, participation in community youth development programs, and community contributions of fifthgrade adolescents: Findings from the first wave of the 4-H study of positive youth development. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 25(1), 17–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431604272461
- Lerner, R. M., Lerner, J. V., Lewin-Bizan, S., Bowers, E. P., Boyd, M. J., Mueller, M. K., Schmid, K. L., & Napolitano, C. M. (2011). Positive youth development: Processes, programs, and problematics. *Journal of Youth Development*, 6(3), 38–62. https://doi.org/10 .5195/JYD.2011.174
- Losoya, S., Eisenberg, N., & Fabes, R. A. (1998). Developmental issues in the study of coping. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 22(2), 287–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 016502598384388
- Masi, C. M., Chen, H. Y., Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2011). A meta-analysis of interventions to reduce loneliness. *Personality*

and Social Psychology Review, 15(3), 219–266. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868310377394

- Masten, A. S. (2001). Ordinary magic: Resilience processes in development. *American Psychologist*, 56(3), 227–238. https://doi.org/10 .1037//0003-066x.56.3.227
- McElroy, P., Evans, P., & Pringle, A. (2008). Sick as a parrot or over the moon: An evaluation of the impact of playing regular matches in a football league on mental health service users. *Practice Development in Health Care*, 7(1), 40–48. https:// doi.org/10.1002/pdh.245
- Modecki, K. L., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Guerra, N. (2017). Emotion regulation, coping, and decision making: Three linked skills for preventing externalizing problems in adolescence. *Child Development*, 88(2), 417–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12734
- National Youth Outcomes Initiative. (n.d.). 2020 national outcomes report: Measuring the impact of Boys and Girls Clubs. https://issuu.com/bgca/ docs/20-yodv-0389-2020_nyoi_national_ outcomes_report_fi
- Neblett Jr, E. W., Rivas-Drake, D., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2012). The promise of racial and ethnic protective factors in promoting ethnic minority youth development. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(3), 295–303. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00239.x
- Nicholson, H. J., Collins, C., & Holmer, H. (2004). Youth as people: The protective aspects of youth development in after-school settings. *The Annals* of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 591(1), 55–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0002716203260081
- Norton, C. L., & Watt, T. T. (2014). Exploring the impact of a wilderness-based positive youth development program for urban youth. *Journal* of Experiential Education, 37(4), 335–350. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825913503113
- Overton, W. F. (2015). Process and relational developmental systems. In W. F. Overton & P. C. M. Molenaar (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science: Vol. 1. Theory and method* (7th ed., pp. 9–62). Wiley.
- Park, C. L., & Folkman, S. (1997). Meaning in the context of stress and coping. *Review of General*

Psychology, *1*(2), 115–144. https://doi.org/10 .1037/1089-2680.1.2.115

- Petersen, A. C., Sarigiani, P. A., & Kennedy, R. E. (1991). Adolescent depression: Why more girls? *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 20(2), 247–271.
- Petitpas, A., Van Raalte, J., & France, T. (2017). Facilitating positive youth development by fostering collaboration among community-based sport and physical activity programs. *The Sport Psychologist*, *31*(3), 308–314. https://doi.org/10 .1123/tsp.2016-0031
- Plante, W. A., Lobato, D., & Engel, R. (2001). Review of group interventions for pediatric chronic conditions. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 26(7), 435–453. https://doi.org/10 .1093/jpepsy/26.7.435
- Raviv, T., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2010). The efficacy of a pilot prevention program for children and caregivers coping with economic strain. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 34(3), 216–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-009-9265-7
- Rohde, P., Jorgensen, J. S., Seeley, J. R., & Mace, D. E. (2004). Pilot evaluation of the coping course: A cognitive-behavioral intervention to enhance coping skills in incarcerated youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 43(6), 669–676. https:// doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000121068.29744.a5
- Roth, J. L., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2003). What exactly is a youth development program? Answers from research and practice. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(2), 94–111. https://doi .org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0702_6
- Roth, J. L., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2016). Evaluating youth development programs: Progress and promise. *Applied Developmental Science*, 20(3), 188–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2015 .1113879
- Rothbaum, F., Weisz, J. R., & Snyder, S. S. (1982). Changing the world and changing the self: A two-process model of perceived control. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 42(1), 5–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514 .42.1.5
- Russell, K. C. (2006). Evaluating the effects of the Wendigo Lake Expedition program on young

offenders. Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice, 4, 185–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1541204006286317

- Salusky, I., Larson, R. W., Griffith, A., Wu, J., Raffaelli, M., Sugimura, N., & Guzman, M. (2014). How adolescents develop responsibility: What can be learned from youth programs. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 24(3), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12118
- Schinke, S. P., Tepavac, L., & Cole, K. C. (2000). Preventing substance use among Native American youth: Three-year results. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25(3), 387–397. https://doi.org/10 .1016/S0306-4603(99)00071-4
- Seligman, M. E. P., Reivich, K., Jaycox, L., & Gillham, J. (1995). *The optimistic child*. Houghton, Mifflin and Company.
- Smith Lee, J. R., Hunter, A. G., Priolli, F., & Thornton, V. J. (2020). "Pray that I live to see another day": Religious and spiritual coping with vulnerability to violent injury, violent death, and homicide bereavement among young Black men. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 70, Article 101180. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101180
- Spencer, M. B., Fegley, S. G., & Harpalani, V. (2003). A theoretical and empirical examination of identity as coping: Linking coping resources to the self processes of African American youth. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(3), 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0703_9
- Stoneman, D. (2002). The role of youth programming in the development of civic engagement. *Applied Developmental Science*, 6(4), 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1207/ S1532480XADS0604_9
- Sullivan, P. J., & Larson, R. W. (2010). Connecting youth to high-resource adults: Lessons from effective youth programs. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 25(1), 99–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0743558409350505
- Tebes, J. K., Feinn, R., Vanderploeg, J. J., Chinman, M. J., Shepard, J., Brabham, T., Genovese, M., & Connell, C. (2007). Impact of a positive youth development program in urban after-school settings on the prevention of adolescent substance use. *Journal of Adolescent*

Health, *41*(3), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .jadohealth.2007.02.016

- Thomas, S. B. (2004). Health disparities: The importance of culture and health communication. *American Journal of Public Health*, *94*(12), Article 2050.
- Tolan, P., & Grant, K. (2009). How social and cultural contexts shape the development of coping: Youth in the inner city as an example. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2009(124), 61–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cd.243
- Tummala-Narra, P., & Sathasivam-Rueckert, N. (2016). The experience of ethnic and racial group membership among immigrant-origin adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *31*(3), 299–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0743558415592178
- Uchino, B. N. (2009). Understanding the links between social support and physical health: A life-span perspective with emphasis on the separability of perceived and received support. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 4(3), 236–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924 .2009.01122.x
- Ungar, M., Brown, M., Liebenberg, L., Othman, R., Kwong, W. M., Armstrong, M., & Gilgun, J. (2007). Unique pathways to resilience across cultures. *Adolescence*, 42, 287–310.
- Wagner, J. L., Smith, G., Ferguson, P., van Bakergem, K., & Hrisko, S. (2011). Feasibility of a pediatric cognitive-behavioral selfmanagement intervention: Coping Openly and Personally with Epilepsy (COPE). *Seizure*, 20(6), 462–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2011 .02.010
- Ward, S., & Parker, M. (2013). The voice of youth: Atmosphere in positive youth development program. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 18(5), 534–548. https://doi.org/10 .1080/17408989.2012.726974
- Weisz, J. R., Southam-Gerow, M. A., Gordis, E. B., & Connor-Smith, J. (2003). Primary and secondary control enhancement training for youth depression: Applying the deploymentfocused model of treatment. In A. E. Kazdin &

J. R. Weisz (Eds.), *Evidence-based psychotherapies for children and adolescents* (pp. 165–183). Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10 .1093/med:psych/9780199226504.001.0001

- Whittemore, R., Jaser, S. S., Jeon, S., Liberti, L., Delamater, A., Murphy, K., Faulkner, M. S. & Grey, M. (2012). An internet coping skills training program for youth with type 1 diabetes: six-month outcomes. *Nursing Research*, 61(6), 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR .0b013e3182690a29
- Wiium, N., & Dimitrova, R. (2019). Positive youth development across cultures: Introduction to the special issue. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 48(2), 147–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-019-09488-7
- Wilkerson, J. M., Schick, V. R., Romijnders, K. A., Bauldry, J., Butame, S. A., & Montrose Center. (2017). Social support, depression, self-esteem, and coping among LGBTQ adolescents participating in Hatch Youth. *Health Promotion Practice*, 18(3), 358–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1524839916654461
- Williams, J. L., & Deutsch, N. L. (2016). Beyond between-group differences: Considering race, ethnicity, and culture in research on positive youth development programs. *Applied Developmental Science*, 20(3), 203–213. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2015.1113880
- Yohalem, N., & Wilson-Ahlstrom, A. (2010). Inside the black box: Assessing and improving quality in youth programs. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 350–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-010-9311-3
- Zhu, X., & Shek, D. T. (2020). Impact of a positive youth development program on junior high school students in mainland China: A pioneer study. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 114, Article 105022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .childyouth.2020.105022
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi .org/10.1177/0165025410384923

Index

Numbers: **bold**=table, *italics*=figure; an additional reference within a span is listed first (e.g. 1333, 1329-1338).

Small words (and, as, for, in, of, through) are alphabetised.

AAI. See adult attachment interview abdominal pain, 313, 359 Abraham, M. M., 88 academic coping core ways (adaptive versus maladaptive), 643 definition, 646 developmental dynamics, 671 motivational developmental model, 642 multi-level systems perspective, 641-679 network of regulatory processes, 651 normative developmental trends, 644 qualitative shifts across educational lifespan, 670 regulation and resilience resources, 670 research (current), 641-645 research (future), 662 stressors and social supports, 669 academic coping (five lessons from systems view), 648-671 action level, 650-656 developmental systems, 669-671 interpersonal level, 660-665 psychological level, 656-660 societal level, 665-669 academic coping system reciprocal, dynamic, nonlinear, 669-671 academic failure, 114 academic motivation, 659 academic stress, 63 academic stressors, 662, 667 acceptance, 357 accommodation, 19, 20 definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 family of coping, 16, 515, 518 hallmarks (as coping family), 21 accommodative coping, xviii childhood and youth (development and efficiency), 389-393

components, 382 conditions and consequences (lifespan perspective), 400 definition, 382 development, 387-389 developmentally-friendly theory demanded, 383 functionality, 382 future research directions, 394-396 not singular process, but category of coping forms, 383 ontogenetic and deferred adaptation, 387-389 pathways to adult ~ (childhood and youth developmental preforms), 393-394 two-process model of developmental regulation, 386-387 accommodative processes measurement, 395 acculturative stress definition. 190 Acquati, C., 70 action (coping level), 24, 647, 648, 649 challenges of academic coping and regulation, 650-653 early years, 653 middle years of school, 654 primary school years, 654 qualitative shifts in regulation and academic coping, 653-655 SRL and help-seeking, 655-656 strengthening hot regulatory capacities, 650-656 action readiness, xii, 9, 11, 14, 27 action regulation, xii, 8-9 definition, 646 action regulation under stress (coping), 648, 650 action tendencies, 8-9, 657-658, 664 definition, 646

active coping, 144, 315, 541, 574 definition, 312 adaptation, 351, 352 goal of coping system, 646 Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model, 560 biopsychosocial elements, 563-566, 566 coping adaptations, 565-566 empirical and theoretical origins, 561-563 guiding ideas, 562, 566 physiologic adaptations, 563-565 Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model (reformulated), 561 balanced approach to coping, 566-571 collaborative coping, 567-568 collectivist coping, 569 empowerment, 570 family coping, 568-569 further research, 573 guiding ideas, 567 implications for interventions, 572-573 social identity, 569-570 adaptive behavior, 188 adaptive calibration, 564 Adaptive Calibration Model (ACM), 563, 565-566, 566 adaptive coping, 5, 83, 97, 117, 641, 644 early life experiences (influence), 317 fostering (intentional practice), 317 adaptive functioning, 18, 187 biological systems underlying ~, 235-245 in health and disease, 240-241 neurovisceral integration perspective, 235-238 adaptive processes, 12, 13, 14, 16 basic ~, 21 adaptive systems, 194, 196 adolescence, 60, 98, 214, 238, 494 autonomy, self-determination and development of coping, 510-537 coping system (development), 35-37 dyadic coping, 68 physiological and social changes, xvii adolescence (psychological and behavioral responses to stress) links with ANS function, 290 links with HPA axis function, 287-288 links with neural function, 283-284 adolescence (stress responses), 276-301 ANS, 289-291 brain structure and function. 281-283

changes, 278-279 HPA axis. 284-288 adolescents accommodative capabilities, 392 autonomy support, 116 intensive longitudinal designs, 157-182 adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), 132, 285 adult attachment interview, 97 adulthood, 60 dyadic coping, 68-71 adverse experiences executive functions, self-regulation, and positive adaptation, 360-362 promotion of executive functions and selfregulation, 366-367 AFFIRM intervention, 687-688 African Americans, 118, 190, 192, 366, 449, 569-570, 586, 627, 668, 692-693 urban mothers, 587 Africultural coping strategies, 191 age. 331 age-graded changes, xiii-xiv, 2, 6, 15, 23, 28, 144, 648, 655-656, 659, 664, 671 agents, 403 aggression definitions, 540 agreeableness, 406, 408, 413 Big Five personality trait, 402 stress appraisal, 411 Ainsworth, M. D. S., 83 Aldwin, C. M., viii, xv, 66, 478, 480 Stress, Coping, Development (2007), 1 allostatic load, 251-252, 255, 563 Altshuler, J. L., 331 Al-Yagon, M., 314 Amat, J., 132, 134, 137-139 ambulatory assessment, 157 amygdala, 24, 140-141, 143, 211, 214, 237, 260, 281, 632 function, 208 particularly affected by stress, 222 amygdala activation, 282-283 amygdala reactivity, 210, 216-217, 219 amygdala volume, 209, 215, 217 amygdala-mPFC connectivity, 217 anger, 337, 355, 359 animal studies, xv, 128, 144, 241 anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), 24, 281-282, 306, 311, 647 anxiety, 172, 366

anxiety amplification, 114 anxiety disorder, 48, 140, 612, 615, 632 appraisal processes, 14, 661 definition. 409 appraising, 326 approach family, 17 APRS. See Adaptation to Poverty-Related Stress Model asynchronous communication definition, 602 Attachment and Biobehavioral Catchup, 101, 261.574 attachment and coping, 81-82 attachment and coping studies, 82-100 adult attachment interview, 84, 89, 97-98 attachment prototypes, 85, 90 continuous scales of attachment anxiety, 85, 91 observational measures of attachment, 83-97 self-reported attachment in childhood, 84.97 attachment insecurity, 83, 100 attachment measures, 84, 99 Attachment Q-sort, 83, 101 attachment relationship, 81, 102 attachment subscales, 87 attachment system kev function. 79 attachment theory, xv, 79, 81, 100 central tenet, 79 overview, 79 attachment, regulation, and development of coping, 79-108 further research, 100-101 take-away messages, 102 attention, xviii associations with temperament and selfregulation, 308 definition, 306, 306 development, 307-311 environmental influences, 315-317 purposes, xii, 305 attention and coping, 312-314 attention networks trajectories from birth into adolescence, 310 attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 307, 313, 360, 622-623, 625-626, 628-629, 630-632, 636 Australia, 416, 616 Autobiographical Memory Test (AMT), 256 automatic processes, 80

autonomic nervous system (adolescent stress responses), 289-291 changes in ANS function, 290 future directions, 290 links between ANS and behavior, 290 sympathetic and parasympathetic systems, 289-290 autonomic nervous system (ANS), xvii, 235, 239, 241-242, 277 ANS-CNS interaction, 235, 237-238 function, 241, 289 two branches, 236 autonomous regulation, 658 autonomy, 20-21, 112-113 conceptualization, 511-513 definition, 492, 511, 658 implications for psychosocial development, 511-513 importance, 110 autonomy and coping developmental model, 510-537, 512 autonomy frustration, 513 age-inappropriate ~, 521 communication style, 521 constraints not experienced equally, 520-522 emotion tone of messages, 522 personal coping resources, 524-527 ways of coping, 510-537 autonomy in adolescents, xviii parenting context as coping resource, 522-524 self-determination and development of coping, 510-537 autonomy support, 112, 119, 121, 524, 659 avoidance, 16, 114, 335, 571 avoidance family, 17 avoidant coping, 82, 118, 315, 413, 433, 473, 475, 478 definition. 312 social media, 603 Ayers, T. S., 312 Babb, K. A., 313 babies, 309, 313, 327 Bai, Sunhye, viii, xviii Baltes, P. B., 65 Bandura, 688 Barahmand, N., 601 Baratta, M. V., viii, xv, 135, 139, 143 Bartholomew and Horowitz four-prototype model, 100 Bartholomew, K., 99-100

Bartholomew's Relationship Scales Ouestionnaire, 85, 99 basal ganglia, 260, 265 basolateral amygdala, 133, 134 Baudat, S., 522 Baumeister, R. F., 307 Baumgartner, E., 331 bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), 134-135, 143 Beesley, V., 65 behavioral control, 128, 241 animals, 129-132 blunting of reaction to adverse events, 142-143 engagement of other mPFC circuits, 140-141 reduction of stressfulness of averse events (discussed), 132 role and circuitry in resilience and coping, 129 role in stress resistance, 128-145 behavioral coping, 469 behavioral immunization, 132, 134-135, 137 characteristics, 132 Bendezú, J. J., viii, xvii bereavement, 194 Berg, C. A., 66-67, 69-70 Bernard, K., 101 Berry, J. W., 190 Best of Coping (BOC), 687-688 Bicultural Competence Skills Approach (BCSA), 691 Big Brothers Big Sisters (BBBS), 680, 690-691 biocultural model, 479-480 biological systems, xvii development of adaptive functioning and coping, 235-245 further research, 242 biological tendencies, 38 biomedical research, 3 biopsychosocial context, 574 Birnbaum, G. E., 85, 90, 99 Blackmon, S. K. M., 192 Blair, B. L., 331 blaming others coping strategy, 114 blood pressure, 69, 171 Bolger, N., 173, 411, 413 Bowlby, J., 79, 97 boys, 280, 284, 286, 406, 436, 457, 478 emotion-hiding, 545 oppositional coping, 542

peer presence, 544 peer victimization, 541 Boys and Girls Clubs of America, 680, 685, 695 Bradbury, S. L., 547 brain, 40, 207-209, 213 brain development, 221-222 effects of stress (dimensional approach), 211-219 further research, 218 brain regions, 133, 281 Brandtstädter, J., 61, 66, 389, 394 Braungart, J. M., 83 Breitenstein, C. J., 70 Brennan, P., 66 Brenning, K. M., 515, 523 Brimmel, N., viii, xix Brody, G. H., 366 Bronfenbrenner, U., 159, 582, 588 Brotman, M. A., 619, 632, 635 dual deficit model, 616-617 Bucharest Early Intervention Project (BEIP), 215-216 Buchwald, P., 607 Building a Strong Identity and Coping Skills (BaSICS), 262-263, 573 bullying, 540, 542 Byrne, M. L., 171 California Verbal Learning Test - Children (CVLT-C), 256 cancer, 68-70, 339, 358, 438, 563 capturing coping, 157-182 cardiac autonomic function, 238 caregiver-child relationship, 248 caregivers, xv, 22, 29, 32, 40, 43, 79 involvement in stressors, 213-216 caregiving species-expected input in human development, 213-214 caregiving environment, 230, 239, 246, 248, 261-262 Carlson, S. M., 331 Carrère, S., 71 case reports, 622, 625, 630 Caspi, A., 313 Catanzaro, S. J., 477 causal coherence narrative dimension, 416 central autonomic network (CAN), 236-237 components, 237 central nervous system (CNS), xvii, 235, 277 set of structures. 236

CGI scores, 624 Chad-Friedman, E., 316 Chaffin, M., 475 challenges, 112-114 Chicago, 588 child emotional disorders clinical treatments, 612-640 child outcomes, 454, 587-588 Child Protective Services, 261 childhood, 60 attachment and coping, 81 dvadic coping, 66-67 childhood adversity central thesis, 246 conceptualizations and definitions. 246-248 development of coping, xviii, 246-275 future directions, 261, 263-267 inflammatory processes, 252-255 neurobiological function, 259-261 neurocognitive pathways, 256-259 neuroendocrine function, 250-252 psychological processes, 248-250 take-home message, 266 translational implications, 261-263 childhood trauma, 209 Child-Parent Psychotherapy (CPP), 101, 262 Children of Divorce-Coping with Divorce program (CoD-CoD), 687 Children's Coping Strategies Checklist, 499 Children's Perception of Interparental Conflict, 500 Children's Report of Parenting Behavior Inventory; Acceptance and Rejection, 500 China, 361 Chinese Americans, 453 Christianson, J. P., 142 chronic illness, 61, 73, 81, 357, 437, 470, 687 Cicchetti, D., viii, xvii, 254, 256 research works, 268-269 circuit plasticity, 138-139 classroom processes, 368 clinical interventions, xix child emotional disorders, 612-640 Coatsworth Competence Scale, 500 code-switching, 191 cognitive avoidance coping strategy, 114 cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), 145, 612, 618, 620, 621-622, 626-627, 630-635 cognitive contextual framework (CCF), 496 cognitive coping, 366

cognitive restructuring, 357, 359 cognitive revolution (middle childhood), 34, 654 cognitive skills, 278, 328, 330, 351, 360, 366, 478.494 Cognitive Theory of Stress and Coping, 111 Cohen, L., 510 Cohodes, E. M., viii, xvii Cole, P. M., viii, xviii, 332 collaborative coping, 567-568, 574-575 definition, 567 importance, 574 collective coping, 27, 43, 191, 195, 369, 569-570 collectivist coping definition, 569 college students, 65, 86, 283, 358, 404, 430, 433, 478 comfort-seeking definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 family of coping, 16 communication style, 54, 521-523, 525 community, 561, 567-568, 570-573 community coping, 195 community engaged crime prevention through environmental design (CE-CPTED), 571 community resilience, 194-195 Compas, B. E., 1, 185, 193, 277, 447, 493, 503, 562, 567 compensatory secondary control definition, 61 competence, 111-112 definition, 492 need for ~, 111 conditional probabilities, 136, 144 conditional stimuli (CS), 141 Conduct Disorder (CD), 615, 627 conflict, 651 Conley, C. S., 65 Connor-Smith, J. K., 315, 352-353, 355-356, 404-405 conscience, 33, 42 conscientiousness, 403, 405-406, 408 active engagement strategies, 412 Big Five personality trait, 402 stress appraisal, 411 Constantine, M. G., 569 context of stress framework (McLoyd), 561 contextual coping model, 491, 496, 502, 504-505 application to adaptive coping, 493-496 integrative conceptualization of children's coping with IPC, 490-496

contingency space, 136 control definition, 129 controlled functioning, 511 conventional domain definition. 520 conversation, 32-33 Cooke, J. E., 448 cooperative coping, 32 coordination, 16, 38 coordination with demands (middle childhood), 35 coping benefits, 1 bio-psycho-socio-cultural process, 646, 647 conceptualizations and measurements, 80 definitions, 7, 80, 184, 351, 427, 447, 493, 538, 567, 581, 613, 645 definitions (developmental models), xii definitions (early childhood), 328 developmentally-friendly conceptualizations, 645-648 developmentally-graded ways, 22 early childhood (age differences), 330-336 early childhood (link with later years), 341 everyday perspective, 430-434 executive functions and self-regulation, 351-381 future research (map to follow), xix moderating and mediating processes, 362 more than sum of parts, 6 multi-level adaptive system, 646-648 multi-level conceptualization, 10 neurobiology, 207-234 neurovisceral integration perspective, 235-238 outcomes (short-term versus long-term), 430 problem-focused versus emotion-focused ~, 80 social influences, 538 subtypes, 80 temperament and personality traits (development in childhood and adolescence), 401-423 terminology (barrier to developmental study), 2 usage of concept, 144 coping (emergence from integrated multi-level system), 7, 23-28 integrated system, 27-28 neurophysiological and psychological processes, 23-25 social forces, 25-27

coping adaptability definition, 430 coping and adjustment, 470-471 coping and regulation, 7, 9-11 impulsigenic processes, 11 integrated models of regulation, 11 coping and resilience, 7, 11 definitional evolution, 185 literatures, 185 coping as action regulation under stress, 6-9, 7 coping as developmental process, 10 coping as episodic process, 10 coping as interactional process, 10 Coping Assessment Questionnaire for Children, 97 coping capacity, 43, 60, 240 contruction of new repertoire, 2 coping categories higher-order ~, 16 coping checklists, 159-160 addressing drawbacks, 160 coping coaching, 32, 662 coping crews definition, 547 coping development, 684 everyday interpersonal process, 427-446 take-away messages, 428 see also development of coping coping effectiveness definition, 430 coping efficacy, 66, 71, 494 cross-sectional studies, 62 Coping Efficacy Scale, 500 coping efficiency, 62-63 older adults, 65 coping effort, 60, 65-66 coping episodes, 4, 159, 167, 511 topographies, 173 coping equipment, 28 coping expeditions definition, 547 coping families accommodation, 19, 518 delegation, 19 escape, 18 four types (autonomy frustration), 513, 514 helplessness, 18 information seeking, 18 isolation. 19 negotiation, 19, 517 opposition, 19, 516 problem-solving, 18 self-reliance, 18

coping families (cont.) submission, 19, 514 support seeking, 18 coping flexibility, 163, 494-495, 519 adolescence, 36 definition, 572 Coping for Success (CFS), 687 coping in daily life, 427-434 broadening investigations of coping, 427-446 coping with everyday stressors, 429-430 future research directions, 440-441 intervention applications, 439-440 reactivity and recovery from everyday stressors, 427-429 coping interventions, 681-683 approach, 682 cultural considerations, 692-694 future directions, 694-695 research, 683-684 scope, 681 Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations, 100 coping measures, 84, 100 coping microprocesses, 172-173 sampling, 172 visual illustration, 161 Coping Orientations to Problems Experienced (COPE), 81, 98 coping process definition, 158-159 ILDs, 174 long-term consequences, 514 coping programs as youth development-promoting, 686-689 coping repertoires, 567, 572 coping responses adaptiveness, 430 coping skills, 403, 684, 688 coping strategies, 60, 102, 351, 403 better deployment, 60 conceptual and empirical links with executive functions and self-regulation, 352-360 definition, 401 links with temperament, personality traits, stress, 407-415 problem-focused versus emotion-focused ~, 61, 63-64, 72 processes linking ~ with personality traits, 407 self-determination theory, 113-115 structure (consensus lacking), 404 Coping Strategies Rating questionnaire, 81

coping styles attention, self-regulation and ~, 311-315 coping subscales, 87 coping system accomplishes five basic tasks (big idea), 7, 12-15 developmental potentials, 15 difficulty of changing ~ (reasons), 38-39goal, 646 levers (parts), 39-41 levers (wholes), 41-43 prevention and remediation, 40 coping system (development), 28-38 adolescence, 35-37 building out from neurophysiology and social contexts. 37-38 early childhood, 33-34 infancy, 31-32 initiation of coping proper, 33 middle childhood, 34-35 neonatal period, 29-31 phases, 37 qualitative reorganizations (birth to emerging adulthood), 28-37 shifts in means of coping (broad outlines), 30 toddlerhood, 32-33 transformation from interpersonal to intrapersonal process, 33 Coping Through Football, 689 coping training, 695 coping transactions, 41 sites for development of coping, 41 zone of just-manageable challenge, 42-43 Coping, Appraisal and Resilience in Aging (CARA), 62 co-problem solving definition, 549 core of coping, 237 co-regulation, 32, 67, 81-82 cortical thinning, 238 corticosterone, 132, 142, 214 corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), 132, 134, 140, 142, 284 cortisol, 142, 208, 214-215, 251, 256, 263, 286, 364, 547, 574 definition, 544 stress hormone, 428 type of glucocorticoid, 250 cortisol awakening response (CAR), 285-287 COVID-19 pandemic, 186-187, 195, 583, 588, 590-591, 601, 682 risk, resilience, coping (new realities), 590

Cowell, R. A., 257 Cracco, E., 279 C-reactive protein (CRP), 253, 255 Creswell, J. D., 283 critical consciousness (CC), 570, 573 cross-sectional studies, 102, 120, 291, 315, 331, 335-336, 390, 392, 394 cultural frame switching, 191 cultural level. 25 cultural strengths approach, 693-694 cultural-assets framework, 569 culture, 118-120, 569, 686 coping interventions and youth programs, 692-694 phenomenological perspective, 581-594 cyberbullying, 602-603, 607 cytokine activity, 253, 255 Daddis, C., 521 Dahlquist, L. M., 358 daily diaries, 161, 164, 166, 166, 414 Davies, P. T., 498 Dawson, A. E., 84, 89, 98 De Meyer, J., 522 de Zambotti, M., 290 Deci, E. L., 605 Decker, C. L., 68 defensive coping, 116 dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), 252, 285 Del Giudice, M., 564 delayed gratification, 338, 364, 564 delegation, 19, 20 definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 Demers, L. A., 259-261 Demeusy, E. M., 257 dendritic spines, 139 denial coping, 541 Deniz, M. E., 85, 92, 100 Department of Human Services (DHS), 251 deployment of responses, 2 depression, 68 deprivation, 212-213 Derella, O. J., 619, 627, 633-634, 636 development context coping placed within ~, 172-173 development of coping application, 597-608 attachment, regulation and ~, 79-108 attention (environmental influences), 315-317

attention, temperament, self-regulation, 305-324 autonomy, self-determination, and ~, 510-537 biological systems underlying ~, 235-245 child emotional disorders (clinical treatments), 612-640 childhood adversity, xviii, 246-275 children (interparental conflict), 489-509 culture, diversity, context and ~, xviii, 581-594 income inequality and community, 560-580 methods for studying ~, 157-173 neurophysiological and experiential bases, 207-222 parenting, emotion socialization, and ~, 447-467 peer presence and peer selection process, 543-547 peer stressors, 538-559 phenomenological perspective, 581-594 psychological foundations, 305-318 sensitive periods, 238-240 social context and psychological needs, 109-127 social contexts, 427-441 social media and stress, 597-611 support and remediation, 38-43 systems perspective, 43-55 temperament and family context, 468-488 theoretical perspectives, 59-72 translation to practice, 38-43 youth programs, 680-696 developmental cascade, 246, 514, 524, 527, 564 developmental connections, 9, 12-13, 21, 23 Developmental Education for Families, 262 developmental perspective, xii, 159, 543, 600 adolescence, 600 early childhood, 600 emerging adults, 600 middle childhood, 600 developmental processes, 13 developmental psychology, 384 ontogenetic versus deferred adaptation, 388 processual turn, 384-385, 395 developmental psychopathology, 240, 614 developmental regulation two-process model, 386-387 developmental science, xi, 159, 370 developmental study of coping barriers, 2-3

developmental systems, 650, 656 academic coping, 669-671 academic coping (feedback effects), 669 academic coping (resilience resources), 670 qualitative shifts (educational lifespan), 670 developmental systems approach (five ideas), xiv, 2, 5-28 coping as action regulation under stress, 6-9, 7 coping emerges from integrated multi-level system. 23–28 coping operates between regulation and resilience, 9-12 coping system accomplishes five basic tasks, 12 - 15ways of coping as families in action typology, 15 - 23developmental systems conceptualizations of coping, 3-5 desiderata, 13 developmental systems theory, xii, 2, 185-186, 193, 196 developmental timing, xviii, 144, 187, 208, 211, 219, 222, 257, 654 stress exposure, 216-218 developmental trajectories, 59, 384, 387 developmentally-friendly conceptualizations, 2 diabetes, 68, 317, 335, 437, 563, 682 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders (DSM-5), 615 Dialectical Behavioral Therapy (DBT), 623, 630-631 diathesis-stress model, 239 Diehl. M., 66 differential choice-effectiveness model, 413 differential coping-choice model, 411 differential susceptibility, 239 Dimensional Change Card Sort, 335 disappointment, 123, 329, 333, 339-340, 391 disciplinary practices, 666 discrimination, 190 disengagement coping (DC), 247, 249, 353, 355, 359-360, 362, 404-405, 470, 480, 613 disruption hypothesis, 406 Disruptive Mood Dysregulation Disorder (DMDD), 620 features, 615 key findings and limitations, 621 remission rates, 635 treatment studies, 620-634 distraction, 35, 354, 357, 492 coping strategy, 312, 358

divorce, 687, See also parental relationship dissolution Dixon, R. A., 62 Dolzani, S. D., 135 domestic violence, 213 Doom, J. R., 254-255 Doran, J., 115 dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN), 131, 140 role in mediating behavioral effects of inescapable shocks, 133 dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), 281, 283. 311 dorsolateral striatum (DLS), 137, 140 dorsomedial striatum (DMS), 137-138, 140 Dozier, M., 101 DRN 5-HT neurons, 133, 134, 142-143 DRN 5-HT neurons (failure of escapable shock to activate ~), 134-139 circuit plasticity, 138-139 differential input to DRN, 134 top-down inhibition from medial prefrontal cortex, 135-138 drop-outs, 167, 628, 645 Dual Process Model of Coping with Bereavement, 194 DuBois, D. L., 690 Dunbar, A. S., 455 Duvenage, M., 161 dyadic coping, xv, 61, 66-72 age differences, 69 assessment, 438 benefits, 69 definition. 69, 436 further research, 71-72 positive versus negative ~, 69 relationship-duration differences, 70 Dyadic Coping Inventory, 70 dyadic processes, 367 dynamical systems perspective, 235, 239 dysregulated coping, 307 early childhood, 219 coping and emotion regulation (age-related differences), 330-337 coping system (development), 33-34 definition, 325, 329 development of coping, 469-470 development of emotion regulation and coping, 325-350 emotion regulation (key messages), 326 selected studies. 331 stress and emotion, 326 Early Coping Inventory, 83

early life stress, 239-241 ecological momentary assessment (EMA), xviii, 157, 170, 221, 439, 503, 550 ecological momentary interventions (EMI). 439-440 Ecological Systems Theory (EST), 582, 588 chronosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, mesosystem, microsystem, 588 Edmiston, E. E., 211 effortful control, 306, 310, 312-313, 328, 403, 406, 412, 414, 448-450, 471 contributes to adaptive coping, 314 temperament trait, 402 effortful disengagement, 277, 280 effortful engagement, 250, 277, 280 EFs. See executive functions Ehrlich, K. B., 255 Eisele, G., 167-168 Eisenberg, N., 332, 450, 453-454 electric shocks, 130 Electronically Activated Recorders, 438 emergent identities, 585 PVEST component, 584 emotion conceptualization (early childhood), 325 definition, 237 emotion coaching, 452-454, 662 emotion dismissing, 453 emotion dysregulation, 242, 280, 282-283, 430, 614, 634 emotion expression, 356 definition, 355 emotion regulation, xviii, 6, 61, 66, 277, 290, 405, 415, 620, 630, 633-636 and coping (distinct but related phenomena), 339-340 conceptualization, 327 conceptually linked with coping, 80 coping and irritability, 613-616 definition, 80, 145 developmental progressions, 340-341 early childhood, 325-350 early childhood (age differences), 336-337 early childhood (link with later years), 341 early childhood (next steps in research), 338-341 research (theoretical and empirical), 543 wide range of situations, 80 within-person processes, 340 emotion regulation and coping (early childhood), 327-330 positive emotion, strategies, interpersonal regulation, 329

stress and emotion, 329 voluntary, conscious control, 328 emotion regulation and expression, 354, 355-356 emotion socialization, xviii direction of effects, 456 measurement considerations, 456 mothers and fathers, 456 overview. 458 parenting, ~, and coping, 447-467 promotion through intervention, 453 emotion socialization (next steps for research), 454 457 cultural and racial considerations, 454 456 developmental changes, 456-457 emotional action regulation, 32 emotional maltreatment definition, 247 emotional reactivity, 309, 543 emotional security theory (EST), 496 emotion-centered racial coping, 455 emotion-focused coping, 329, 335, 478, 493, 600-601, 604, 613 definition, 80 emotion-related regulation further research, 454 emotion-related socialization practices, 450-453 discussion of emotion, 453 heuristic model, 451 parents' own emotions, 450 parents' reactions to emotions, 453 empirical studies, xix, 115, 117 empowerment, 570, 572-574 Endler, N. S., 100 energy management, 62, 71 engagement coping, 249, 252, 287, 404-405, 470, 480 environmental appraisal, 162 environmental conditions, 67, 163 episodic processes, 9, 13, 23 Erdem, G., 691 Erikson, E., 584 escapable shock (ES), 130-132 conclusions, 143 failure to activate DRN-5-HT neurons, 134-139 sex factor, 139 escape, 17, 18 definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 family of coping, 16 escape learning, 137 Eschenbeck, H., 312

ethnicity, 71 ethnic-racial identity, 191 ethnic-racial socialization, 190-192 definition. 191 dimensions, 191 eudemonia, 64 definition. 598 Evans, G. W., 562, 574 Evans, S. C., 615, 627, 633-634 everyday life, 171, 176, 188, 200, 235, 279, 298, 351 everyday perspective conceptualization of coping, 430-432 measurement of coping, 432-434 everyday resilience, 7, 12, 193 everyday stressors, 427-430 executive attention, 31, 39, 306-307, 309-311, 313, 315-317, 652-653 definition, 306 executive functioning, xviii, 431, 436 executive functions, 278, 351-381, 391 adapative versus maladaptive ~ (reconceptualization), 365-366 assessment, 351 conceptual and empirical links with coping strategies, 352-360 coping-relevant ~, 369-370 definition. 351 dvadic, family, classroom, communal processes, 367-369 equitable and inclusive assessments, 363-365 hot versus cool ~, 356 key issues, 364 mediator of adversity, 361-362 moderator of adversity, 360-361 new research directions, 363-370 exercise, 142 experience sampling methodology (ESM), 157-158, 161, 164, 167, 433 Experiences in Close Relationships (ECR) questionnaire, 100 experiential canalization theory, 564 explicit appraisals, 32 exposure targeted model, 617-620, 631 components, 617-618 extended family, 25, 35, 668 extended-time repeated measures designs, 172 external coping neonatal period, 29 externalizing versus internalizing coping strategies, 114

extraversion, 403, 405-406, 409 active means of coping, 411 associated with challenge appraisals, 410 Big Five personality trait, 402 extrinsic motivation, 658 Fabes, R. A., 333 Facebook, 598 families of coping, 16-21 coordinating actions and contingencies, 17, 18 coordinating preferences and options, 19, 20 coordinating reliance and social resources, 17, 18 core categories, 18 developmentally-graded family members, 22 lower-order instances, 16 familism, 569 family, xviii, 435-436 family and temperament (protective contexts), 476-478 family socialization of coping, 477 family support, 477 positive parenting, 476 social support, 477 family conflict, 368, 468, 472-473, 566 family context development of coping (conceptual model), 469 family context and temperament (development of coping), 472-476 family conflict, 473 income, 473 maltreatment, 475 parental mental health, 475 violence exposure, 474 family coping, 194, 568-569 definition, 568 family reframing, 569 Family Stress Model, 561 family stressors, 581 family support, 477 fathers, 452, 457 fear, 140-141, 328, 339, 471 fear of missing out (FOMO), 605-606 feedback effects academic coping, 669 feedforward effects, 13, 669, 671 Fields, L., 335 fight or flight responses, 27, 208, 238, 258, 264, 289 Flachsbart, C., 315, 404-405

Flamant, N., 515 flexibility in coping, 519 Flexibility of Goal Adjustment (FGA) questionnaire, 389 Folkman, S., 80, 111, 158, 184, 492, 599-600, 613 Forman, E. M., 498 foster care, 215, 574 Frankenhuis, W. E., 367, 566 Freud, S., 3, 183 Friedel, J. M., 116 friendships, 64, 68, 255, 521, 539, 546-547 qualities, 544 frontal lobe volumes, 259-260 frontolimbic circuitry, 210, 212, 214, 217, 221-222 frustration, 339, 480, 620 exposure targeted model, 617 frustration reactivity, 471 frustrative non-reward, 616 fun. 546, 657-658 functional adaptation, 249, 261, 473, 561, 563, 565-566, 566

Gamble, W., 334 Garcia Coll, C., 159, 189 Gaylord-Harden, N. K., 366, 569 gender, 551 Germany, 63 Ghana, 119, 362 girls, 249, 251-252, 255, 279-280, 282-284, 286, 406, 457, 477-478 familial risk for depression, 287 peer presence, 544 peer victimization, 541 rumination coping, 542 glucocorticoids, 208, 250, 255 receptors, 208-209 resistance, 253, 264 goal-directed learning, 138-140, 143 goal-directed system, 137 gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), 279 Gonzalez-DeHass, A. R., 117 good coping, 43 Gordon, A. M., 171 Gordon, E. W., 189 Gottman, J. M., 71, 453 Graber, R., 543 Grant, K., 429-430 gray matter, 282 volume, 211, 216

Gray, J. A., 314 Great Recession (2008), 588, 590 Greece, 191 Greve, W., viii, xviii Grev, M., 317 Grolnick, W. S., viii, 116-117, 119-122 Gross, J. J., 613 Grossman, J. B., 690 Gu, J., 526 Gutierrez, L. M., 570 Haase, C. M., 387 habit learning, 136 habit system, 137-138, 140, 144 Hajal. N. J., 67 Halpern, L. F., 333 Han, S., 100 Hardy, D. F., 118 Harmon, S. L., 359 Haslam, D., 369 Haslam, S. A., 570 Havighurst, R. J., 584 Hawks, J. L., 616, 619, 628, 633-634, 636 Hayward, R. D., 66 Hazan and Shaver's Attachment Scale, 85, 100 Hazan, C., 99-100 heart disease, 358, 375, 563 heart rate, 313 heart rate variability (HRV), 235-236, 238, 241 Heckhausen, J., 61 Helmreich, D. L., 132 helplessness, 16-17, 18, 21 definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 help-seeking, 655 coping strategy, 113 Heppner, W. L., 526 Herbers, J. E., 316 hierarchal linear models, 169 higher education, 64 Hilt, L. M., 472 hippocampus, 24, 209, 211, 216, 260 function, 208 particularly affected by stress, 222 volume, 219 historical overviews, 3 Hocking, M. C., 313 homelessness, 316 Horowitz, L. M., 99-100 hot executive functions, 8, 36 hot executive processes, 9

hot situations, 33 hot system adaptive in two ways, 8 working with regulatory processes, 8 Howard, J. M., 83, 84, 87 Hoyo, Á., ix, xviii human adaptation, xvii human development theory, 592 Hurricane Andrew, 63 hyper-masculinity, 586 hypocortisolism, 255 hyporesponsivity, 29, 31, 35 hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, xvii, 24, 132, 142, 213, 215, 217, 239, 241, 253, 262, 277, 326, 544, 563-565, 574, 646, 647 dysregulation, 251 functions, 284 hyperactivation, 250 hypoactivation, 250 inflammatory processes, 264 neuroendocrine function. 264 hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (adolescent stress responses), 284-288 changes in HPA axis function, 285-286 future directions, 288 links between HPA and behavior, 287-288 identity, 581 coping and diverse youth, 582-586 identity development, 190 Identity-focused Cultural-Ecological (ICE) perspective, 582, 584, 592 ideographic models, 170 ILDs. See intensive longitudinal designs Immunologic Model of Self-Regulatory Failure, 253 implicit appraisals, 31 impulsigenic processes, 11, 651 income, 473 income inequality, xviii, 560, 575 independence distinguished from "autonomy," 111 indicators of functioning, 5 individual coping, 33, 194 interplay with connective coping, 195 individual resilience assumptions, 186-187 Indonesia, 454 inescapable shock (IS), 130-132 conclusions, 143

infancy, 83, 213-215, 218-219 accommodative responses, 395 attachment and coping, 81 coping system (development), 31-32 infant attachment quality, 83 infants, 23, 29, 79, 210, 308, 314 inferential appraisals, 33 inflammatory processes, 252-255 take-home message, 264 information-seeking, 18 definition, example, function (academic domain). 643 family of coping, 17 infralimbic (IL) region, 140-141 inhibitory control, 33, 136, 236-238, 241, 256-257, 260, 265, 270, 307, 310, 332, 354, 371, 379, 618, 620 Instagram, 598 institutionalized care, 217 instrumental learning, 137 purpose, 144 insular cortex, 142 integrated system, 27-28 Integrative Model of Racial and Emotion Socialization (IMRES), 455 intellect, 403 intensive longitudinal designs, 157-182 advantages and disadvantages, 175 benefits and limitations, 157 capturing stress and coping process in vivo, 160-164 event-contingent sampling, 168 future research, 168, 171-172 how to measure coping, 168 implementation in field, 164-166 key points, 174 measurement, 174 most useful feature, 162 piloting "crucial," 166 planning for multitudes of nested data, 169-171 psychological literature, 157 range, 160 studying coping with ~, 166–172 techniques, 157 timing of measurement, 167-168 value, 174 intentional action regulation, 31 interactive process, 9, 13 internal coping strategies definition, 541

internal working models, 21, 31, 52, 79, 82 internalized racism, 192 definition, 192 International Affective Picture Go/No-Go, 260 interparental conflict, xviii children's responses after separation and divorce (coping lens), 496 children's coping process, 490-493 children's coping strategy items, 499 children's development of coping, 489-509 contextual approach to intervention, 504-505 contextual coping model, 491 coping profiles, 499, 501 indirect effects, 502 integrative conceptualization, 490-496 interaction effects (with coping profiles) on children's outcomes, 502 perceived threat and distress, 499 post-divorce ~ (children's coping), 498-503 research (future directions), 503-504 research (new), 498-503 research (prior), 496-498 study measures, 500 take-home messages, 490 interparental conflict (children's coping process) appraisals, emotions, behaviors, 492 interplay of person-specific and contextual factors, 490 selection of coping strategies, 493 threats to basic psychological needs, 492 interpersonal conflict, 34 interpersonal environments, 666 interpersonal level, 26, 647, 648, 649, See also social partners academic coping (systems view), 660-665 coping climate, 663 neurophysiological resources, 664 post-coping assessment, 663 psychological resources, 664 interpersonal perspective on coping, 434-439 conceptualization of coping, 436-437 coping as interpersonal process, 434-435 coping in family, 435-436 measurement of coping, 437-439 Interpersonal Psychotherapy for Mood and Behavioural Dysregulation (IPT-MBD), 622 Interpersonal Psychotherapy Treatment (IPT), 630-632 interpersonal relationships, 25 interpersonal resources, 661

intersecting identities, 478-480 intimate-partner violence, 217 intrinsic motivation, 657, 659 inherently autonomous, 658 involuntary disengagement, 277, 280, 475, 477 involuntary engagement, 287 involuntary stress responses (ISRs), 247-250, 258. 264-266 IPC. See interparental conflict irritability, 612-640 coping, emotion regulation, and ~ (children and adolescents), 613-616 further research, 634-636 non-DMDD ~ in children (treatment), 628-634 severe symptoms, 627 transdiagnostic symptom, 612, 614-616, 618, 620 irritability (conceptual frameworks), 616-620 exposure targeted model, 617-620 translational neuroscientific model, 616-617 irritability (treatment interventions), 620-634 DMDD, 620-634 irritability model, 619, 620 Işik, E., 85, 92, 100 isolation, 19 Israel, 63, 99, 368 item-response-theory (IRT), 160

Japan, 519 Jedd, K., 260 John Henryism, 192 definition, 192

Kangas, M., ix, xix Kappes, C., ix, xviii Karreman, A., 449 Katz, L. F., 453 Kauai, 188 Kayser, K., 70 Kerns Security Scale, 84, 97 Kerns, K. A., 84, 88 Kidman, R., 591 Kiel, E. J., 438 Kilby, C. J., 411 kindergarten age, 325, 433 Kircanski, K., 621, 631-632, 634-635 exposure targeted model, 617-620 Kliewer, W., 68, 117 Klimes-Dougan, B., 548 Knee, C. R., 116

Kopp, C., 330, 340 Krause, N., 66 Lagattuta, K. H., 334 language, 32 latent profile designs, 160 lateral habenula (LHb), 134 Latinos, 431 Latinx families, 569 Laurent, J., 477 Lazarus, R. S., 80, 111, 158, 184, 492-493, 599-600, 613 Lengua, L. J., ix, xviii, 413 Lerner, R. E., 122 Lessing, N., 333 leukemia, 63 Li, J. B., 457 life events, 1-2, 173, 193, 210, 225, 263, 316, 361, 401, 407, 409, 416, 562, 645, 663, 690 life satisfaction, 62, 412, 598 lifespan change in coping (longitudinal studies), 63-66 adolescence and emerging adulthood, 64-65 childhood, 63-64 mid-life and later adulthood, 65-66 lifespan developmental theory, xv, 59, 65 lifespan perspective accommodative coping, 384-385 lifespan theory of coping development, xv, 59-78 adolescence, 60 adulthood, 61 early life, 59 major conclusions, 60 lifestage-specific coping outcomes, 585 PVEST component, 584 limbic system, 208, 211 limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (LHPA) axis, 208, 214, 222 Limerick City, 570 Linke, J., 622, 631 Locke, E. M., 116-118, 523 locomotion, 31, 42 locus coeruleus (LC), 133-134 longitudinal designs, 121, 160, 341, 361-362, 417, 433 longitudinal studies, 59, 71, 116, 284, 288, 291, **331**, 335–338, 361, 393, 657 accommodative coping, 394 Losoya, S., 334, 335 low-and-middle-income countries (LMICs), 365, 369

Lunkenheimer, E. S., 452 Lussier, Y., 100 Machmutow, K., 603 Maciejewski, D. F., 172 macrosystem forces, xviii, 665-669 adaptive cultural practices, 668 development of academic coping, 669 incorporating ~ to support coping, 667-669 lifting ~ off students' academic coping, 666-667 maladaptive coping, 667 reform efforts, 668 societal change, 666 societal defaults, 666 stratified niches and entrenched myths, 665-666 targeting mesosystem, 667 magnetic resonance imaging, 259 fMRI, 259, 625, 632 Magro, S. W., ix, xv Maier, S. F., ix, xv, 130, 132, 136, 143 Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), 615 maladaptive coping, 97-99, 116, 644 Malin, H., 64 Maloney, L., 433 maltreatment, 475 Maltreatment Classification System (MCS), 247, 251 Maltreatment-Coping Pathway take-home messages, 110, 264-266, 490 Marbell, K., 119 marital satisfaction, 69-71, 437 Massey, E. K., 168 Masten, A. S., ix, xvi, 183, 185, 194 research works, 199-200 mastery-oriented learning contexts, 666 maternal negativity, 473 Mauras, C. P., 119 McAdams, D. P., 402-403, 415 McCoy, D. C., 366 McEwen, B. S., 240 McNamara, N., 570 means of coping, xiv, 28 broad outlines of developmental shifts, 30 medial prefrontal cortex, 135-140, 209-211, 214, 241 circuitry (manipulations leading to resilience), 141 mPFC-amygdala connectivity, 215 other circuits, 140-141

medical procedures, 329, 336, 338-339 mediodorsal thalamus (MDT), 137-138 memory processes, 256 Mendes, W. B., 171 Menninger Clinic, 1, 183 mental disorders onset during childhood, 240 mental health, 490, 560-561, 566, 574, 682 cyberbullying, 602 mental health disorders, 106, 215, 490, 612 mental modes of coping (middle childhood), 34 mentoring, 690-691 mesosystems, 588, 667 messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA), 132 meta-cognitive capacities, 36 methodology, xvi Mexico, 412 microsystems, xviii, 668 middle childhood, 97, 361, 494 coping system (development), 34-35 development of coping, 469-470 Miller et al. (2018), 622, 622, 630-632, 635 Miller, P. A., 497 mindfulness, 439, 630 definition, 526 meditation and ~. 310, 317 personal resource for coping with autonomy frustration, 526 missing data, 164-165, 169 definition, 165 Modecki, K. L., ix, xvi, 168 modelling, 67 Modular Approach to Therapy for Children (MATCH), 628, 633 Moltrecht, B., 634 moral domain definition, 521 Morris, P. A., 159 mother-infant dyads, 62, 67 mothers, 116, 118, 122, 450, 453, 457 motivation, 8, 641, 656, 660 age-related changes in ~, 61 motivational interviewing (MI), 621 motivational resilience and vulnerability seven steps (episodic account), 652 motivational theory of coping, 511 mPFC. See medial prefrontal cortex multi-level modeling (MLM), 170 multi-level systems, xii, 23-28, 169 academic coping, 641-679

multisystem framework, 184, 187 basis for integrating resilience and coping science, 195-196 study of coping, 194-195 study of resilience, 194 multisystem processes, 196 multisystem resilience, 196 Murphy, L., 1, 14, 183 MyBPLab app, 171 narrative identity, 404, 415-416 National Child Traumatic Stress Network, 195 National Institutes of Health, 79 Native Americans, 691 natural disasters, 63, 186 Neale, J. M., 168 Neblett Jr, E. W., 693 need-supportive contexts autonomy support, 115 involvement, 115 parental autonomy support, 116 parental involvement, 117-118 parental structure, 116-117 negative coping, 64, 334, 413-415, 541 negative emotionality, 306, 332, 406, 409, 471, 476-478 temperament trait, 402 negative feedback, 114-117, 123, 208, 285, 606 negotiation, 19, 20, 43 family of coping, 16, 517 hallmarks (as coping family), 21 neonatal period stress reactivity and external coping via caregiver, 29-31 neonates, 22 nested models, 169 net stress engagement, 583, 585 net vulnerability level PVEST component, 582 Nettle, D., 566 neural circuitry, 132 schematic diagram, 131 neural function, 210 neural mediation uncontrollable stress (behavioral effects), 133-134 neural structure and function (stress responses), 280-284 brain (changes across adolescence), 281-283 brain regions involved, 281 future directions, 284, 288, 290

neural structure and function (stress responses) (cont.) links in adolescence between neural function and behavioral responses to stress, 283-284 neurobiological function, 259-261 take-home message, 265 neurobiological systems, xvii, 574 effects of stress, 209-210 further research needed, 208 neurobiology, 571 future directions, 219-221 implications for clinical policy and practice, 221 multimodal, multidimensional approaches (importance), 219-221 underlying stress and coping, 207-234 neurocognitive executive processes, 33 neurocognitive pathways, 256-259 take-home message, 265 neuroendocrine function, 250-252 take-home message, 264 neuroimaging, 220, 281, 310, 358 neurophysiological level, 23, 24, 646, 647 neurophysiology, xvi, 29, 36, 327, 664 neuroticism, 315, 403, 405-406, 409, 413-414 associated with threat (rather than challenge) appraisals, 410 Big Five personality trait, 402 description, 410 disengagement coping, 412 vicious circle, 412 neurovisceral integration model (NIM), 235-238 Nichols Lodato, B., ix, xviii, 590 Nigeria, 367 Norris, F. H., 194-195 North America, 188-189, 191

O'Hara, K. L., ix, xviii Obradović, J., ix, xviii observational measures, 81, 97 observational studies, xvi online coping, 163, 168 online disinhibition theory, 602 online social comparison, 603–604 Op Koers Online, 687 open clinical experimental trials, **625** open pilot trials, **621**, 632 openness to experience, 403, 405, 413 Big Five personality trait, 402 challenge versus threat appraisals, 410

opposition, 19, 21 definition, example, function (academic domain), 644 family of coping, 516 Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD), 615 optimism, 315 Orbital Frontal Cortex (OFC), 632 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 598 organizational constructs, 2, 158 Outten, R., 570 overgeneral memory (OGM), 256 pain, 358 Palestine, 368 Paley, B., 67 Pallini, S., 448 Panel Survey of Income Dynamics (PSID), 590 parallel play, 661 parasympathetic nervous system (PNS), 24, 39, 289-290, 564, 647 function, 289 paraventricular nucleus (PVN), 132, 142, 284 parent management training (PMT), 619-620, 630-631 parental deprivation, 215-216 parental disciplinary strategy, 449, 458 parental emotion-related socialization practices, 458 parental functioning, 561 parental identities, 587-591 African-American urban mothers, 587 coping, context, and identity development, 588 parental mental health, 475 parental relationship dissolution children's development of coping, 489-509 parental structure, 121 parent-child relationship, 67, 448, 458, 561 parenting, xviii, 360-361, 363, 435, 659, 663, 668 coping and emotion regulation (early childhood development), 337-338 coping resource, 522-524 emotion socialization and development of coping, 447-467 positive ~, 476 protective factor, 317 socialization style, 523 parent-management training (PMT), 618, 621-622, 631-632, 634-635 parent-report questionnaires, 417

parents, xv, 67-68, 110, 116, 392 communication style, 522 parietal cortex, 212, 281, 316 Park. C. L., 64 Parker, J. D., 100 passive sensing, 158, 161, 167, 171-173 pediatric irritability. See irritability peer groups and friendships influence within ~, 547-550 peer presence, 551 soothing and distracting \sim , 544–546 peer rejection, 282, 298-300, 401, 412, 542-543, 546 peer relationship dynamics, xviii, 538-559 stressful experiences (coping required), 539-543 take-away messages, 540 peer relationship quality, 550-551 peer selection, 546-547 peer social support, communication, disclosure, 548-549, 551 peer stress, xviii peer stressors, 165, 538-559 further research, 552 prevalence and impact, 540 processes of coping, 542-543 take-away messages, 540 ways of coping, 541-542 peers, 35-36, 61, 72, 521, 661 social problem-solving, 549-550 peptides, 132 perceived control, 21, 111, 116, 129, 386 perceptual aversion, 387 Perepletchikova et al. (2017), 623, 630-632, 635 periaqueductal gray (PAG), 133 Perry, N. B., 67 perseveration, 358 personal domain, 516-518 definition, 520 personality, xviii, 315 definition, 402 three distinct layers (actors, agents, authors), 402, 404 personality development, 402 personality psychology, 98 personality traits associations with coping strategies, 404-405 Big Five ~, 402, 404, 406, 410 development in childhood and adolescence, 401-423 empirical links with coping strategies, 404-407 links with coping strategies, 407-415

person-centered approaches, 160 phenomenological perspective, 581-594 phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST), 190, 582-586, 584, 588, 590-591 components, 582 phone calls, 164-165, 166 phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinase (pERK), 138 physical abuse, 216-217 definition, 247 physical health, 572, 574 physical neglect definition, 247 physiological adaptation (stress response), 276-301 physiological systems (stress responses) ANS, 289-291 brain regions, 281 HPA axis, 284-288 Piaget, J., 335, 384, 395 plane of challenge, 670 plasticity, 65-66, 72, 140, 144 critical site, 138 plasticity proteins, 138 police recruits, 65 polyvagal theory, 39 positive adaptation, 360-362 Positive Adolescent Training through Holistic Social (PATHS), 691 positive emotionality temperament trait, 402 positive thinking, 357 positive youth development, xiv, 572, 668, 689, 691 five Cs, 685 Positive Youth Development Collaborative (PYDC), 691 Posner, M. I., 308 theory of attention, 306 posttraumatic stress disorder prevalence, 128 poverty, xviii, 316-317, 430, 472-473 poverty-related stress, 561-562 prediction error, 618-620 definition, 617 two-component theory (Schultz), 617 prefrontal cortex (PFC), 24, 61, 213, 216, 238-239, 242, 259-260, 291, 362, 647 activation, 258 executive hub of brain, 209

prefrontal-amygdala connectivity, 212 prelimbic (PL) region, 135, 138-139, 141 prelimbic activation, 135 prelimbic neurons, 138-139 pre-post designs, 628, 630 prepotent responses, 651, 657-658 preschool age, 335, 337-339, 355-356, 358, 360, 389, 391-393, 406 primary control, 386, 404-405 primary control coping, 276, 280, 353-357, 354, 414, 493, 563, 574 comparable to 'problem-focused coping', 613 definition, 566 primary control engagement coping (PCEC), 247-248, 287 Prinz, R. J., 335 problem-focused coping, 66, 71, 98, 100, 329, 335-336, 414, 474, 493, 601, 606, 694 definition, 80 processes, 599 social media, 603 problem-solving, 18, 22, 34, 42-43, 69, 353-355, 354, 359 adaptive strategy, 16 coping strategy, 113 definition, 353 definition, example, function (academic domain). 643 family of coping, 16 problem-solving skills, 695 process models, 641 productive coping, 8 Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies (PATHS), 454 promotive factors, 360 protective factors, 360 definition, 565 proximity seeking, 31 PRS. See poverty-related stress psychiatric disorders, 240 psychoanalysis, 3 psychoeducation, 440, 621-622, 630, 682, 687, 692 Psychoeducational Parenting, 262 Psychological Abstracts, 1 Psychological Bulletin, 1 psychological foundations development of coping, 305-318 psychological level, 24, 25, 646, 647, 648, 649 development of academic motivation and coping, 659

extrinsic motivation and autonomous regulation, 658-659 intrinsic motivation and action tendencies, 657-658 motivation and academic coping, 660 nurturing underlying processes, 656-660 psychological needs, 109-127, 490, 492-493, 495-496, 513, 542, 605 psychological processes, 23 childhood adversity, 248-250 psychological resources, 664 psychological stress definition, 4 psychology, 189, 510 stimulus-response versus action-outcome, 136 psychopathology, 221, 416 autonomy disturbances 'often critical factor', 513 psychopathology pathways, 266 psychopathology risk, 239, 250, 279, 316, 325, 471, 476, 513, 614, 616, 635 opposition coping strategy, 517 rumination, 515 psychophysiological perspective, 235 psychosocial adjustment, 453, 513, 518 psychosocial processes childhood adversity (take-home message), 264 psychotherapy, 630 puberty, xvii, 35, 276, 281-282, 286, 544, 574 predictor of stress responses, 279-280 public speaking, 551 PVEST. See phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST) PYD. See positive youth development qualitative research children's coping with IPC, 496 quantitative research, 497 Quested, E., 113 questionnaires, 121, 162, 527 racism, 189, 455, 477, 570, 583, 585 radar, 12, 14, 15, 15 definition, xiii radar equipment neonates, 14 Raftery-Helmer, J. N., ix, xv, 112, 116-117, 120 Raine, K. E., ix randomized controlled trials (RCTs), 622-623, 625-627, 630-632, 683, 685 Rapee, R. M., ix, xix

rats, 130, 137, 140-141, 145 Rauch, A. V., 283 reactance definition. 516 reactive adjustment of preferences (RAP), 390-394 reactive coping methods operationalized, 585 PVEST component, 583 reactivity, 6, 651 heightened ~, 35 rich developmental literature, 9 reactivity and readiness, 12 definition, xiii reactivity-regulation, 306 readiness. 14 recovery, 12-14, 14 definition. xiii re-evaluation, 12-13, 14 definition, xiii regulation, xii, 6, 12, 14, 21, 27 definition, xiii dual process models, xii, 646 integrated models, 11 primary concerns of research, 9 pro-active ~, 36 rich developmental literature, 9 regulation processes, 646 regulation targets, 11 regulatory abilities, 102 regulatory capacities, 656, 664 regulatory interference, 248 regulatory processes, 613 adaptive, 8 Reicher, S., 570 Reindl, M., 548 relatedness, 111-112 definition, 492 need for sense of ~, 111 relationship satisfaction, 68-70, 73 relationship-focused coping definition, 69 religious coping, 61, 65-66, 75, 405, 455 remediation, xiv, 40 Renner, G., 389 Repetti, R. L., ix, xviii, 438 Reschley, A. L., 115 resilience, xiii, xvi, 11, 21 animal literature, 128 definitions, 128, 184 definitions in relation to coping, 186-188 three-hit model, 239, 242

resilience and coping children (marginalized racial groups), 189-190 ethnic-racial socialization, 191-192 immigrant youth, 190-191 more research needed, 192 potential costs (marginalized groups), 192-193 socio-cultural contextualization, 188-193 resilience and coping in development (pathways to integration) key points, 184 resilience and coping research future directions, 196-197 shared roots, 183-186 resilience and coping science (pathways to integration), 193-196 multisystem framework, 195-196 multisystem framework for study of coping, 194-195 multisystem framework for study of resilience, 194 resilience factors overlapping with adaptive processes (coping), 187 resilience theory, 184, 186-188, 193, 196 resistance, 651 resource management, 62 resource scarcity, 560 respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), 289-290 Responses to Stress (RTS), 247 reward processing deficits, 616 risk and resilience, 12 rodents, 215, 240-241 Rodriguez, I., 195 romantic partners, 36, 72, 99 romantic relationships, 66, 68-69, 71, 392, 409, 526 Rothbart, M. K., 314 Rothermund, K., 61, 66, 394 Ruble, D. N., 331 Rudolph, K. D., x, xvii, 280 rumination, 114, 290, 355, 358, 360, 410, 472, 515 coping strategy, 114 distorted thinking pattern, 526 rural versus urban areas, 65 Rutter, M., 183, 185 Ryan, R. M., 605

Saarni, C., 545 safety signals, 142 definition, 142 require use of insular cortex, 142 Sandler, I. N., 413, 492-493 Santiago, C. D., 542, 568-569 Saxton, E. A., 68, 516 Sayfan, L., 334 scaffolding, 21, 65, 67, 435, 437, 449, 453, 469, 476, 592, 664, 671 Schultz, W., 617 Schulz, R., 61 Schümer, M., 607 Schut, H., 194 scientific communication bidirectional ~. xvi SDT. See self-determination theory secondary control, 21, 386, 404 405 secondary control coping, 276, 353, 354, 357-359, 414, 474, 480, 493, 563, 613 definition, 566 secondary control engagement coping (SCEC), 247-248 secure attachment, 29, 32-33, 40, 81-82, 97, 101, 214, 248, 448-449 Segerstrom, S. C., 315 selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), 612 self-appraisal, 584 self-assessments, 81 self-awareness, 40, 249, 328 self-blame, 255, 546 self-control, 409 self-determination, 20-21 personal resource for coping with autonomy frustration, 510 self-determination theory, xv, 511, 605, 658 autonomous self-regulation, 659 basic ideas, 110 culture and context of coping, 118-120 future directions, 122-125 internalization process, 658 need-supportive contexts, 115-118 perspective on coping, 111-113 self-efficacy, 116, 603, 688 self-encouragement definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 Self-Perception Profile for Children, 500 self-regulated learning, 655-656 self-regulation, 306, 307, 351-381 adapative versus maladaptive ~ (reconceptualization), 365-366 conceptual and empirical links with coping strategies, 352-360

coping as ~, 447-448 coping-relevant ~, 369-370 definition, 307, 351 development, 307-311 dual-process models, 657 dyadic, family, classroom, communal processes, 367-369 equitable and inclusive assessments, 363-365 key issues, 364 mediator of adversity, 361-362 moderator of adversity, 360-361 new research directions, 363-370 self-regulation continuum, 111 self-reliance, 18, 20 self-report checklists, 159 self-report measures, 98, 263, 395 limitations, 121 self-report questionnaires, 4, 390, 417, 439-440 self-reports, 166 self-reports of attachment in adolescence and adulthood continuous measures of attachment, 100 prototype approaches, 99 self-system processes, 111 self-worth, 111 Seligman, M. E. P., 130, 143 sensitive developmental periods description, 238 sensorimotor cortex, 137 serotonergic (5-HT) projections, 133 SES. See socioeconomic status severe irritability and mood dysregulation (SIMD), 627, 633 severe mood dysregulation (SMD), 622, 626 sex, 208, 255, 279, 282 sexual abuse, 216, 251, 475 definition, 246 sexual and gender minority youth (SGMY), 687-688 shame, 255 Shaver, P., 99-100 Shek, D. T., 691 Shiffman, S., 159, 167, 173 Shift-and-Persist model, 197, 252-253 Shiner, R. L., x, xviii shock termination, 136 siblings, 478 significant others, 61 Sigrist, C., x, xvii Silva, P. A., 313 Simmons, S. C., x, xix

Skinner, E. A., xix, 1, 68, 80, 121, 158, 172, 193, 277, 313, 389, 492, 495-496, 516, 525 sleep, 291, 363 smartphones, xvi, 157-158, 164, 171, 173 Smith Lee, J. R., 693 Smith, R. S., 188 Snapchat, 598 SNS. See social networking sites social action, 573-574 social and personality psychologists, 101 social comparison, 607 definition. 603 social connectivity costs and benefits, 597 social context, xv-xvi, xviii, 43, 59, 60, 62, 70, 72, 109-127, 427-441, 619, 664 phenomenological perspective, 581-594 social context, psychological needs, and development of coping take-home messages, 110 social defeat, 129-132, 134 social domain theory (SDT), 520-522, 524 social ecology of coping development, 66-71 adolescence, 68 adulthood, 68-71 childhood, 66-67 social experience, xvii social forces, 25-27, 38 social identity, 569-570, 572, 574 Social Identity Model of Intergroup Dynamics of Stress (SIS), 570 social inequality, 582 social isolation, 16, 20 definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 social learning, 392, 619 social media, 432, 541 stress, 597-611 usage statistics, 597 social media (coping liability), 604-607 addictive tendencies, 604 prevention from learning other ways to cope, 605 psychological dependence, 604 social media as stressor, 608 social media (coping resource), 606-608 social media as stressor, 606 social support, 607 social media misuse definition. 598

social media use associations with well-being, 598 childhood, adolescence, early adulthood, 598-599 daily ~, 598 developmental perspective on coping, 600 further research, 608 stress and coping perspective, 599-607 social media use (adaptive way of coping), 600-601 information-seeking, 601 online social support, 605 social media use (maladaptive way of coping), 602-604 cyberbullying, 602 online social comparisomn, 603 social networking sites, 597-598 social networks, 68, 190-191, 412, 574 social partners, 25, 29, 31, 33, 43 academic coping process, 661 contexts (academic coping), 665 contribution to students' resources for coping. 664-665 part of academic coping system, 660-665 participation during episodes of academic coping, 660-662 role (before and after coping takes place), 662-664 social referencing, 14, 18, 434 social skills, 356, 695 social support, 438, 585, 601, 605, 690 key to coping process, 682 social media as coping resource, 607 socialization, 67, 187-188, 435, 668 multilingual ~, 394 response to stressful situations (modalities), 249 socialization of coping, 448-453, 547-550 emotion-related socialization practices, 450-453 further research, 454 parental disciplinary practices, 448-450 parent-child relationship quality, 448-449 societal level, 26, 647, 648, 649, 650 academic coping (macrosystem forces), 665-669 societal stress, 63, 575 societal stressors, 26 sociocultural context, 395 sociocultural model, 478, 480 socioeconomic status, 316, 561-562, 586, 685
socioemotional learning, 43 socioemotional selectivity theory, 62 Solberg Nes, L., 315 Spain, 97 Spangler, G., 83 Spencer, M. B., 189-190, 582, 584-586, 666 PVEST conceptualization, 582 Sperling, J., 438 Spinrad, T. L., x, xviii, 456 sport, 689, 695 SR. See self-regulation SRL. See self-regulated learning Staff, H. R., 70 Stage-Environment Fit, 659 standardized manual treatment (SMT), 628, 633 Stanton, A. L., 61 State-Space Grid, 367 statistical power, 221 Stevenson, C., 569 Stevenson, H., 586 Stifter, C. A., 83 Stoddard, J., 625, 630, 632 Stone, A. A., 159, 167-168, 173 Stop Now and Plan (SNAP), 627 storytelling, 455 Strange Situation, 83, 98, 101 Strayer, F. F., 331 Strength and Vulnerability Integration (SAVI), 62 stress, xii, xvi coping 'broad regulatory response to ~', 80 cutting-edge research, xix effects on developing brain (dimensional approach), 211-219 effects on neurobiological systems, 209-210 extreme reaction, 8 intermittent versus cumulative ~, 173 life cycle-model, 39 links with coping strategies, 407-415 net ~, 581 neurobiology, 207-234 processes linking ~ with personality traits, 407 stress and coping model (Lazarus and Folkman), 80 stress exposure, 211, 240 caregiver involvement (deleterious impact), 219 developmental timing, 216-218 dissociable effects, 212-213

timing, 219 types, 211-213 stress generation, 409, 670 stress inoculation, 241 stress neurophysiology, xi, xiv-xv, 24, 31-33, 39, 42,651 stress of failure, 110 divergent responses, 109, 122 stress reactivity, xii, xvii, 8, 40-41, 280, 646 neonatal period, 29 stress resilience processes, xv, 128-145 stress responses, xvii, 207 conceptualization, 276-277 definition. 277 development, 276-301 stress responses (physiological systems), 280-291 ANS, 289-291 HPA axis, 284-288 neural structure and function, 280-284 stress responses (psychological and behavioral), 277 - 280changes across adolescence, 278-279 puberty as predictor, 279-280 stress sensitization, 218 stress system, xvii Stress, Coping, and Development (Garmezy and Rutter, Eds., 1983), 1 stress-affected adaptive processes, 19 stress-affected coping, 8 stress-coping frameworks integration with youth programs (rationale), 685 stressor appraisal, 162 stressor controllability paradigm, 131 stressors caregiver involvement, 213-216 interactions, 219 primary versus secondary appraisal, 111-112 stress-related circadian dysregulation (SCiD), 251 stress-sensitive frontolimbic circuitry, 209 Stroebe, M., 194 structural inequities, 192-193, 363, 570, 668 submission, 19, 21 definition, example, function (academic domain), 643 family of coping, 514 substance abuse, 64, 475, 478, 490, 615, 690, 692 substantia nigra (SN), 137 suicide, 165, 602

super-system, 27 support for feeling coping strategy, 113 support-seeking, 17, 18, 21, 23, 312, 335, 354, 356-357, 359, 478 adaptiveness, 435 definition, 356 surgency, 477 temperament trait, 402 survey research, xvi sympathetic adrenal medullary (SAM) system, 24, 253, 264, 563-565, 647 sympathetic nervous system (SNS), 290 function. 289 Syrian refugee children, 362 systems perspective aspects, 2 development of coping, 43-55 tailshocks, 130 take-home messages, 110, 264-266, 490 Tang, Y. Y., 317 Tanzania, 365 task-oriented approaches, 65, 100 teacher behaviors, 116 teacher-child relationship quality, 357 teachers, xv, 35, 109-110, 117-118, 522 teaching practices, 659 temper outbursts, 614-616, 618, 620, 622, 626, 630-631, 635 temperament, xviii, 6 connection with maladjustment, 314 definition, 306, 471 development in childhood and adolescence, 401-423 development of coping, 471-472 development of coping (conceptual model), 469 dimensions, 306 links with coping strategies, 407-415 temperament and coping, 314-315 temperament and personality traits change and stability of ~ (effects of coping strategies), 414-415 future research directions, 416-418 interaction with coping strategies to shape outcomes, 413-414 stress responses adopted by youth, 411-413 youth's appraisal of stressors as challenges versus threats, 409-411 youth's exposure to stressors, 408-409

temperament traits, 403 definition, 402 temperamental reactivity definition. 312 temperamental system, 306 Temporary Assistance to Needy Families, 251 text messages, 165-166, 169 Thayer, J. F., 235 Thoits, P. A., 68 Thomas, D. E., 455 Thompson, R. A., 39 Thompson, R. S., 132 threat, 113-114, 208, 212-213 Threat and Worry Appraisal Scale, 500 threat detection, 207 threat processing, 617 Tierney, J. P., 690 TikTok, 598 toddlerhood, 213-214, 309, 313 coping system (development), 32-33 Tolan, P., 429-430 Tools of Mind, 454 Toth, S. L., 262 Transactional Model of Stress and Coping, 158-159, 162, 171, 599, 599 transactional models, 12, 23, 645, 656 dominate field of stress and coping, 3 transactional process, 4 transactional theory, xiv, 2, 82 transactions proximal processes, 159 trauma, 64, 213, 221 caregiver-related ~ (impact on brain and behavior), 214-216 treatment as usual (TAU), 622, 624, 626-627, 630, 633 triadic design, 130 Trier Social Stressor Test for Children (TSST-C), 285, 287, 428 Troop-Gordon, W., x, xvii, 280 Tudor, M. E., 625, 630-632, 635 Tuning into Kids, 454 Turkey, 100 Tur-Porcar, A. M., 84, 89, 97 Tyrell, F. A., x, xvi UCLA Center on Everyday Life of Families, 438-439 Uink, B. N., 544

uncinate fasciculus, 211–212, 216

uncontrollability, 128, 143 uncontrollable stress behavioral effects (neural mediation), 133-134 Unified Protocol for Children (UP-C), 628, 633-634 United Kingdom, 569 United States, 98, 100, 102, 119, 221, 352, 361-362, 365, 367-368, 454, 479, 582, 680 accommodative coping strategies, 519 census data, 589 COVID-19 pandemic mortalities, 591 divorce, 489 irritability in youth, 615 poverty, 560 social media use, 598 universalism without uniformity, 119 University of Minnesota, 79 university students, 167, 171, 410, 413, 519, 525 Upchurch, R., 69 vagal circuits, 40 vagus nerve, 236, 253, 289 Valentino, K., 256 Valiente, C., 118, 452 Van Petegem, S., x, xviii, 525 VanZomeren, A. A., 254 Vasilev, C. A., 290 vector autoregressive (VAR) models, 170 venting, 114, 333, 406, 541, 653 definition, 335 ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC), 281-283 ventromedial PFC (vmPFC), 212, 236-237, 241 vicious cycles, 670 video recordings, 433, 438, 522, 542 vignette methodology, 523 violence exposure, 474 violent crime, 363, 366 virtuous cycles, 670 Vögele, C., 290 Vohs, K. D., 307 volitional coping, 276-278, 280-285, 287-288, 290-291, 434 volitional functioning definition of 'autonomy', 511 volitional processes, 80 Vollet, J. W., 548 voluntary action regulation, 33 von Salisch, M., 543 Vondra, J. I., 83, 84, 87 vulnerability definition. 592 ingredients, 128

Wadsworth, M. E., x, xviii, 473, 562, 565, 567-569 Waller, J. M., 549 Wang, M. C., 189 Waxmonsky, J. G., 626, 630, 635 ways of coping, 4 families in action typology, 7, 15-23 responses (types), 5 Ways of Coping Checklist, 81, 85, 99 wearables, 157-158, 167, 171 Weinstein, N., 526 Weiss, J. M., 130, 143 well-being definition. 598 Werner, E. E., 183, 188 Western, B., 587 white matter, 209-212, 282 willpower, 6, 50 Wilson, B. J., 334 wishful thinking, 413, 469, 480, 542, 565, 571 withdrawal coping definition. 541 within-person regulation, 327 Witkiewitz, K., 160 Wong, M., 334 Woods, W., 170 working memory, 258, 283, 358-359, 651 working memory capacity, 31, 353, 653 World Health Organization, 195 Wright, A. G., 170 Wrosch, C., 387 Xu, Y., 479-480 Yap, M. B. H., 477 young adulthood, 98, 101 young people, xiii sharing daily personal experiences, 166 Young, S., 314 youth diversity, 582-586 youth participatory action research, 572 youth programs, xix, 680-696 aims, 680 as coping interventions, 684-685 as coping-promoting, 680, 689-692 cultural considerations, 692-694 defining features, 684 future directions, 694-695 integration with stress-coping frameworks (rationale), 685

lessons, 686–692 purposes, 685 research, 685 scope, 684–685 social nature, 690 Yuksel, D., 291 yum and yuck system, 657 Zhu, X., 691
Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., xviii, 1, 116–118, 172, 193, 313, 389, 415, 450, 495–496, 503, 523, 542
Zimmerman, M. A., 565, 570
zone of just-manageable challenge, 42
Zuckerman, A., 411, 413
Zuckerman, M., 116